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No.1. 

Notice of contest. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
County of Edgefiel(Z: 

To Hon. ROBERT SMALLs: 
Bm: You will please take notice that the undersigned claims that at 

the recent election, held the 7th day of November, 1876, he was legally 
elected a member of the Forty·fifth Congress for the term of two years 
commencing 4th day of March, A. D. 1877, from the fifth Congressional 
district of South Oarolina, embracing the counties of Edgefield, Aiken, 
Barnwell, Colltlton, and Beaufort. 

That the board of State canvassers have committed gross frauds in 
canvRsaing the votes of said Congressional district, making up false 
statements, by which the yotes of said counties are falsely represented 
to be aggregated as follows: In Colleton County, 4,232 votes for Smalls, 
and 2,904: for Tillman; in Beanfort, 7,612 votes for Smalls, and 2,231 
for Tillman; in Barnwell, 2,792 votes for Smalls, and 3,939 for Tillman; 
in Etlgefieltl, 3,120 votes for Smalls, and 6,252 for Tillman; in Aiken, 
2,194 \"otes for Smalls, and 3,190 for Tillman; aggregating 19,9i4 \"otes 
in the Congressional distriot for Smalls, and 18,516 for Tillman. 

That the certificate of election fraudulently given yon, the contestee, 
by the secretary of state was based upon the afoTt'said fraudulent can· 
Vll8lling of the Yotes, and the undersigued will oontest your claim to a 
seat in the Forty-fifth Congress from the fifth distriot of South Oarolina, 
on the followilJg grounds, to wit: 

1. That the State board of canvassers of South Carolina, in making 
the canvass of returos of election and statements upon which your cer­
tificate of electiou and title to your seat was determined, acted contrary 
to law, in this: That the said board did not compare the statements of 
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the county canvassers with the statements of the mauagers of eler;tion 
of the different election'precincts, and did otherwise act contrary to law, 
so that they, the said members of the said board of State canvassers, 
rendered themselves amenable to the process of the supreme court of 
said State for contempt for 110t obeying its mandates in a case depend. 
ing before it, by reason of which neglect and refusal to make a proper 
canvass thi8 contestant fa.iled to receive a return of the legal votes cast 
for him. 

2. That ill the county of Beaufort the managers of election held the 
poll required by law to be held at Gardner's Corner at Sheldon l)lanta­
tion, three miles distant from Gardner's Corner, whereby this contest· 
ant lost the votes of those who would have voted for him had the polls 
been opelled and held at the place required by law. And the managers 
of election at said precinct were political partisans of the contestee, and 
opeued and held the polls at this precinct at a different 1)lace than that 
fixed by law, and advertised to the Yoters, with the view to defrand the 
supporters of this contestant of his and their legal rights to vote and 
be voted for, and all the votes cast at Sheldon were illegal, and shonld 
not have been counted for any candidate. 

3. Thnt in Beaufort County, at the polling'precincts of Beaufort 
Court·House and Woodlawn, at which precincts six-sevenths of the 
votes cast were received by you, aud where the voters repeated their 
yotes time and again, so that no fair and legal election was held at said 
precincts, you, the contestee, received at least five hundred illegal votes 
at said precincts by your partisans repeating votes. 

4. That at Myrtle Bush l)recinct the managers of election (lid not open 
the polls until 9 o'clock a. m., when the law required them to be open at 
6 o'clock a. m., whereby voters went away and did not express their 
choice by ballot; and two of the managers of said precinct, designing 
to commit fraud, refused and failed to be sworn, and wflre not sworn, so 
that they were not legal managers, and all the votes, amounting to 
over two hundred and twenty.five, that were received and counted for 
you at said preciuct were illegal, and should uot have been counted for 
any person. 

5. That at Gray's Hill and Hilton Head precincts, in the connty of 
Beaufort, the utmost confusion, intimidation, and terror prevailed, so 
that colored men who desired to vote for the contestant were insulted, 
clubbed, and beaten and driven from the polls for daring to assert their 
rights as freemen to vote for the candidate of their choice, and were 
compelled by force either to ,"ote for the contestee or uot to vote at all, 
and in this way I lost a large number of votes, amounting to several 
hundred at least, and you, the contestee, received them and had them 
counted for you. 

6. Tbat at Paris Island precinct, in the county of Beaufort, the polls 
were closed at 4 o'clock in the afternoon, when tbe law reqnired them to 
be kept open until 6 o'clock p. Ill., whereby numbers of voters were de­
barred the privilege of voting, and this was done in fraud of the ,"oters 
and of this contestant., and all the Yotes cast at said Paris Island pre· 
cinct were illegal and should not have been counted for either candi· 
date. 

7. That at Gray's Hill precinct, in Beaufort Couuty, the supervisor 
of elections on the ~ide of the Democratic party, appointed by the 
district judge of the United States court, was beaten, ill.used, bis cre· 
dentials taken from him, and he run off by the infuriated partisans of 
tbe contestee, and voters desiring to vote for contestant were thns in-
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timidated by seeing the law set at defiance, its officers put to naught, 
and they dared not to cast a free ballot. 

8. That at Hilton Head precinct the person appointed to distribute 
tickets to Democratio voters, upon which tickets this contestant was 
being voted for, was captured by the partisans of the conte~tee, carried 
away from the polls, and in their fury they tore palings from the ad­
joining fences and beat him severely, until he was rescned and taken to 
his residence. 

9. That iu the whole county of Beaufort a widespread system of in­
timidation and terrorism prevailed among the partisans and personal 
and political friends of the contestee against all of those who wished to 
vote for this contestant, so that no fair or just election could have been 
held in said county, and the result of the election, by repeating, fraud, 
violence, intimidation, and terrorism, whereby over three thousand more 
votes than was ever before polled in said county were counted for the 
contestee, and the ticket upon which he ran, shows the whole election in 
Beaufort to have been a gross and palpable fraud. 

10. That the board of county canvassers of election in Beaufort 
Connty did not aggre~ate the managers' returns and publish the result 
of the election until the following Monday after the election had been 
held the previous Tuesday, thus ,)ostponing for the period of seven days 
to declare the election, for the frandulent purpose of ascertaining how 
many illegal votes were necessary to give the contestee the majority in 
the fifth Congressional district of South Carolina, and to supply tho&e 
illegal votes. 

11. That at Blue House precinct, in Colleton County, general intimi­
dation and terrorism was practiced by the friends and partisans of the 
contestee, so that colored voters who desired to vote for contestant 
were frighteued, insulted, clubbed, beaten, ami driven away from the 
polls, or were forced by violence to vote for contestee, whereby the con­
testant received only 210 votes at said precinct, and the contestee re­
eeired 691 votes, when the contestant would have received a majority 
of the votes at said precinct if there had been no intimidation and 
terrorism. 

12. That in Colleton Connty, at Rantoul's Station precinct, where 256 
votes were polled for Representative in Congress, of which this contest­
ant received only 61 votes, aO(I contestee received 190 votes, the votes 
-:ere not at any time counted by the managers Of election at said pre­
CInct, as required by law, but were only counted by the board of coonty 
eanr8RSers of election, on which account the whole vote at said precinct 
8bonld have been thrown ont as illegal and counted for no candidate. 

13. That precinct No.2, at Edgefield Conrt-House, which was ordered 
by the board of commissioners of election for said county to be held at 
the office of the county auditor, was oat held there, but was removed 
without notice more than balf a mile from said auditor's office by the 
managers of eleciion at said precinct, and was held at a place called 
Macedonia llhurch, con trary to.the orders and against the express wishes 
of the commissioners of election for said county, and all the votes cast 
at said precinct shonld have been rejected as illegal, and not counted 
for any candidate. 

14. That at precinct, No.2, at Edgefield Court-House, in Edgefield 
Conoty; at Rantoul's Station precinct, in Colleton County; at Paris Island 
precinct, in Beaufort County, and at SheMon, illegally used as a voting­
precinct, instead of Gardner's Corner, in Beaufort County, you, the con­
testee, received more illegal votes than your majority over me, as de­
termined by even board of State canvassers of election. 
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15. That United States troops were used to intimidate white voters, 
mostly Democrats, and my political friends in every county of the Oon­
gressioual district, while no federal troops were employed, except at the 
single precinct of Beaufort Oourt.Bouse, to protect colored Democrats 
against intimidation from t.heir own race in the whole of Beaufort 
County, where a large colored vote resided, and very many colored men 
in Beaufort County, about two thousand in uumber, implored the officer 
commanding the regular troops in South CaroHna to protect them agaiust 
imtimida~ion by their owu race, but implored in vain, and many promi­
nent white citizens, Democrats, likewise begged said officers to l,rotect 
colored Democrats iu their right to vote as they pleased in Beaufort 
Oounty, but begged to no purpose. 

16. That you, the contestee, received more votes from colored Demo­
crats by the intimidation of their own race, and by the tyrannical use 
of United States troops, than your l)reteuded majority of 1,43~ votes, 
as fraudulently counted by the board of St·ate canvassers. 

17. That you received more fraudulent votes by your partisans repeat­
ing and by ballot-box stuffing in the single county of .Be.'mfort than your 
said pretended majority. 

18. That the illegal anll unconstitutional use of the troops to control 
the election in your behalf should make the Bouse oust you as a Rep­
resentative of the fifth district in the Forty·fifth Oongress, and give 
the seat to your opponent and contestant, or to vacate the election and 
order a new election to be held. 

G. D. TILLlIAN. 
DECEMBER 21. 1876. 

No.2. 

Answer to notice of co,~test. 

STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Beaufort Oounty, Fiftl, Oongressional Dutfiet: 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
against 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

The contestel", answering the notice of the contestant so far as be is 
advised that it is necessary to answer, says: 

First, that he denies each and every allegation in said notice, except 
as hereinafter admitted; and further, the 'contestee alleges fraud, vio­
lence, and intimidation at the several polling-precincts in the counties 
comprising the fifth Oongressional district, more particularly described 
in Exhibit A, hereunto annexed, and made a part of this answer. 

'First, as to the general charge npon which this notice of contest is 
based, tItis contestee denies that the contestant was elected 8t all, 
at the election helt! on the 7th day of November, A. D. 1876, for 
mem bers of the }'orty·fifth Congress from the fifth Oongressional district 
of South Oarolina, composed of the counties of Edgefield, Aikl"n, Barn­
well, Oolleton, and Beaufort. 

The contestee admits that the term for which the contestant claims to 
have been legally elected was for two years, and commences on the 
4th day of MilfCh, A. D.1877. 

This contestee denies that the State board of canvassers committed 
8ny frauds iu cauvassing the votes in said Congressional district. 

This contestee admits that the aggregate count in Oolleton, one of the 
counties of said Congressional district, was 4,232 votes for tbis coo-
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testee, and 2,904 for the contestant; but denies that the said statement 
is false in any particular. 

This contestee admits that the vote 1lS canvassed by the State board 
of canvassers for Beaufort, one of the coontiel' of the district aforesaid, 
was 7,616 for this contestee, and 2,231 for the contestant; but denies that 
said statement is false in any particular. 

This contestee admits that the vote in Barnwell, one of the counties 
oCthe district aforesaid, and was 2,792 for the conteste~, and 3,939 for the 
contestant, as cam'assed by the State boaad of canvassers; but denies 
that the said canvass is false in any particular. 

This contestee admits that in Edgefield, one of the counties of the 
district aforesaid, the vote was 3,120 for this contestee, and 6,252 for 
the contestant, as convassE\d by thc State board of canvassers; but this 
contestee avers that the vote of the contestant is largely in excess of 
the Democratic vote in that county, and was obtained by fraud, violence, 
and intimidation of republican voters at polling-precincts at Edgefield 
Court-House and divers other voting-precincts in said county. 

This contestee admits that in Aiken, one of the counties in the Con, 
gressional district aforesaid, the vote as declared by the State board of 
can"assers was 1,19-1 for this contestee, and 3,190 for the contestant; 
bot a\"ers that the vote for the contestant in said county was greatly in 
excess of the Democratic vote iu said county, and was obtained by fraud, 
Violence, and intimidatiou at the polling-precincts of Graniteville, Fouu­
iain· Academy, Miles' )IilJ, and divers other polling-precincts iu said 
connty. 

This oontestee admits that the ,ote, as call,assed by the State board 
o~ canvassers, for the several counties comprising the fifth Congressional 
district aforesaid, did aggregate 19,95-1 \'otes for this contestee and 
18,516 for the contestl\nt. (Jontestee also admits that the certificate 
gi\"en him by the secretary of state was based on the statement of the 
board of State canvassers, but denies that said canvass was fraudulent • 
. As to the specific charges made in tbe notice, tbis contestee, answer· 
109 80 far as he is advised it is necessary for bim to answer, says: That 
as to the first charge, the State board of canvassers did compare the 
connty cau ,"asser's returns with the precinct managers' returns, yet this 
contestee denies that they were required by law to so do. As to the 
charge tbat they acted otherwise, contrary to law, this contestee says 
that the cbarge is too vague and uucertain for him to answer. 

This coutestee denies that the State board of canvassers did at any 
time refnse to obey any mandate of the supreme court of the State of 
South Carolina in a canse pending before it, or were at any time in con· 
tempt of said court, and avers that this contestee, and contestant, 
did receive the full number of votes cast for bim without regard to 
whether the same were legal or illegal so far as the cam'ass of the State 
board of can vassers was concerned. 

A8 to the second charge, this contestee denies that tbe managers of 
election held the poll required to be held by law at Hardner's Oorner at . 
Sheldon Station, tbree miles distant therefrom, and avers tbat it was 
held at Sheldon's }fill, whicb iR:at Gardner's Corner, the place required 
by law for the bolding of electious for Gardner's Corner precinct, and is 
the place where all elections have been held since reconstruction. 

Thi8 contestee denies each and every other allegation in the second 
8ection of the contestant's notice of contest, and further denies each and 
every allegation contained in section three of said notice. 

As to section four, this contestee admits that the law requires the 
polls to be opened at six o'clock; but a\'ers tbat be bas no means of 
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• 
knowing at what time the polls opened, bnt submits that if it be true 
that the polls did not open until nine o'clock, it was a mere irregularity 
and cannot vitiate a poll. This contestee denies each and every other 
allegation contained in said section, (four;) and further, this contestee 
denies each and every allegation in section five. 

As to section six, this contestee admits that the law reqnires the polls 
to be kept open nntil six o'clock p. m.; but avers that he has no means 
of knowing at what time they closed, and submits that if said statement 
were true, and if the polls closed at four o'clock, it is a mere irregularity 
and will not vitiate a poll. 

As to sections seven, ei6:ht, nine, and ten inclusive, this contestee de­
nies each and every allegatiou thereof. 

As to section eleven, this contestee admits that the number of votes 
received respectively at Blne House precinct, Oolletou Oounty, was 210 
for contestant and 691 for contestee, and avers that the number of votes 
received by contestant was the highest Democratic vote ever polled at 
said precinct, and the smallest Republican vote; and further, this con­
testee denies each and every other allegation therein contained iu said 
section, (eleven.) 

As to section twelve, this contestee denied each and every allegation 
therein contained. 

As to section thirteen, this contestee admits that at Edgefield Court­
House, one of the polling-precincts W8S mo\"ed from one point to another 
in the same town; but avers, first, that, the la\v does not require the 
poll to be beld at any particular place, and, secondly, that the change 
was rendered necessary by the fraud, violence, and intimidation by the 
partisans of the contestant, and, further, that it was an irregularity that 
will not vitiate a poll. 

AS to sections fourteen, fifteen, sixteen, seventeen, and eighteen, in­
clusive, this contestee denies each and every allegation therein con­
tained. 

This contestee furtber Iwet'S that the State board of canvassers erred 
in counting the vote of Edgeti£'ld County for either party, as it was car­
ried by fraud, violence, intimidation, and repeating I>y partisans of the 
contestant. 

ROBERT Sl'IALLS, 
~r/~";"" Per W. J. WHIPPER, 
." ~ ~ ~ Attorney. 
i~,~.'.fi. _ EXHIBIT A. -I-( ..-~~~ 

The con~ arges fmud, violence, intimidation, and repeating at 
the following polling-precincts in Edgefield County by partisans of the 
contestant: Edgefield Court·House Nos. 1 and 2, Meeting Street, Trapp's 
?rlill, Haltiwanger's Store, Johnson's Depot, Uidge Spring, Perry's Cross­
Roads, Coleman's Cross-Hoada, Talbert's Store, Chl'atham:s Store, Shaw's 
Mill, Cnrryton, Landrum's Store, Lil>erty Hill, Hed Bill, Mount Willery, 
Richard80nvilll', which canst'cl the throwing out of the vote in said 
county tor members of the senate and house of representatives, as well 
as State and county officers. 

Also, at the following polling-precincts in Aiken Connty: Aiken Court­
House, Beach Island, Silverton, Hamburg, Jordan's Mill, Boyde's Store, 
Miles's Mill, Merrit's Bridge,Graniteville, Fountain Academy, Windsor. 

Contestee further alleges that the Hamburg massacre Bud Ellenton 
riots were gotten up by partisans of the contestant for the avowed pnr­
pose of enabling them to carry the election in Aiken Oounty by l"iolence 
and intimidation. 
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Contestee charges fraud, violeuce, repeating, and intimidation at the 

following polling-precincts in Barnwell Oounty: Allendale, Barnwell, 
Blackville, Buford's Bridge, Barker's Mill, Erhard's Mill, Graham's, Mil­
let, Midway, Canian's Fair Church, Robbins, Red Oak, Williston, Bell 
Dock, and Bam burg. 

ROBERT SMALLS, 
Per W. J. WHIPPER, 

Attorney. 

In the matter of the contest between George D. Tillman and Uobert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OP SOUTH CAROLINA, -
Beaufort Oounty : 

To W. J. WHIPPER, Esq., 
Ootc1Ulel for Robert Smal18, Beaufort, S. 0.: 

SIR: Since making with you the agreement dated 30th January, 
by which we consented to fix the 4th day of March next as the day from 
which the contestant in this case should be allowed forty days to take 
original testimony, I have ascertained from Washington that the Com­
mittee on Privileges and Elections of the House of Representatives con-. 
sider the amendment to section one hundred and seven of the Revised 
Statutes ot' the United States, approved l\larch 2,1875, to be manda­
tory in character, and that the parties to contested-election cases cannot 
by consent extend the time for taking testimony beyond the time stated 
in said amendment. This being so, our agreement becomes, of conrse, 
null and voilt, and neither party can be bound by it, however much we 
may desire it. I am compelled, therefore, to notify you that Mr. Till­
man considers the agreement to he at an end, and that he will at th, 
time hereinafter stated proceed to take his original testimony in accord­
ance with law. 

You are therefore hereby notified that the contestant, George D. Till­
man, will examine the following-named witnesses, all of whom reside 
in Beaufort Oounty, relatiye to and touching the matters and things 
set forth in his notice to the contestee, Robert Smalls, that he would 
contest his right to a seat in the Oongress of the United States, to which 
the contestee claims to have been elected at the election held on the 
7th day of November, 1876, for the fifth Oongressional district of the 
State of South Oarolina, before M. R. Oooper, ('sq., notary public in and 
for the State of South Oarolina, at the Mansion-House, in the town of 
Port Royal, in Beaufort Oonnty, in the said State, on the 12th, 13th, and 
14th days of February~ 1877, between the hours ot' 8 o'clock a. III. and 
6 o'clock p. m. of said days, or so much thereof as may be necessary 
for the examination of said witnesses, to wit: 

W. J. Drayton, John McFall, H. B. Van Ness, Abram P .• Jenkins, 
John F. Porteous, ,V. H. Nevin, Peter Jones, Andrew McFall, O. B. 
Kirk, H. O. Pollitzer, Randall Heyward, Nathaniel Lightbourne. Juo. 
J. Allen, Nelson Priley, :Morris Scott, 1\'1. Borck, W. J. Verdier, John G. 
Barnwell, B. B. Sams. 

Very respectfully, 
WM. ELLIOTT, 

. Attorney for Goo. D. 1'illman. 

I accept due RDd legal service of the within notice npon me, at Beau­
fort, S. U., this 8th day of February, A. D. 1877. 

. . W. J. WHIPPER, . 
.A ttomey for OonteBtee. 
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STATE OF SOu'.rH CAROLINA, Beo/lIlM't OOtlftty: 

Bon. ROBERT SMALLS: 
You are hereby notified that I will examine the following-named wit 

nesses, all of whom reside in Beaufort County, relative to and touching 
the matters and things set forth in my notice to you that I would con­
test your right to a seat in the Congress of the United States, to which 
you claim to have been elected at the November election of 1876, for the 
fifth Congressional district of the St-ate of South Carolina, before M. R. 
Cooper, notary pnblic in and for the State of South Oarolina, at the 
Mansion House, town of Port Royal, in said county and State, on the 
14th, 15th, 16th, and 17th days of February, 1877, and thence to be 
adjourned from day to day until said examination be completed, between 
the hours of 8 a. m. and 6 p. m. of said days, or so much thereof as may 
'be necessary for the examination of said witnesses, to wit: 

W. S. Drayton, John McFall, H. B. Van Ness, Abram P. Jenkins, John 
F. Porteous, Peter Jones, Andrew McFall, C. B. Kirk, H. O. Pollitzer, 
Randall Heyward, Nath. Lightbourne, John J. Allen, Nelson l")riley, 
Morris Scott, M. Borck, W. J. Verdier, John G. Barnwell, B. B. Sams, 
John Bird, H. G. Judd, London Bryan, S. J. Bampfield, O. O. P. Bean­
fort County; H. M. Fuller, Pompey Jones, .Tack Freeman, William 
Price. 

GEO. D. TILL1IAN, 
Per WM. ELLIOTT, 

. Attorney. 

I accl'pt senice ot' the within notice on me, at Port Royal, S. C., this 
12th day of February, 1877. 

W. J. WHIPPER, AttOl·ney. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
Smalls. 

STA1'E OF SOUTH OAROLINA, Beattfort Oountg: 
To S. J. BilIPFIELD, Esq., 

Olerk of the Oourt of Oommon PlMs for Beaufort Oounty: 
You are hereby summoned to appear before me at Beaufort, in said 

county and Stat('l, on the 26th day of February, 1877, at 8 o'clock a. m., 
to be then and there examined nnder oath by me respecting the contest 
by George D. Tillman of the right of Rohert Smalls to a seat in the 
Congress of the United States, and to. bring with you the oaths of all 
managl'rs of election at the geueral election held o.n the 7th day of No­
vember last now on file in your office, and all bo.oks or other records of 
your office containing proof of such filing. 

You will not tail herein under the penalty of twenty dollars. 
Given uuder my hand and official seal, at Port Royal, this 17th day of 

February, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL., M. R. COOPER, . 

:Notary Public. 

In the matter of the contest between Geo.rge D. Tillman and Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

It is agreed between the parties to this contest, that the examinatio.n 
of the witnesses for the contestant, of whose examination notice has 
already been given the contestee, be aujo.urned until the 21st instant, 
at 9 o'clock a. m., at the town of Beaufort, at which time and place 
the examinatio.n of said witnesses will be resumed without further no-
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nee to the conttlstee, except 8S to the building in which such examina· 
tion shall be held. 

Dated at Port Royal, S. C., 17th February, 1877. 
GEO. D. TILLMAN, 

By WM. ELLIOTT, 
A ttorlley. 

ROBT. SMALLS, 
By ALI!'RED WILLIAMS, 

Witness: 
Of Counsel. 

11. u.. COOPER. 

Fifth Congressional district. 

iii ~ :a oS 

s Jl !:iI 
Counties. rn 1'1 

.... E:: .;:: 
... S Q> A .D ~ 0 

t:i <) 
~ rn 

------ --
CoJletoo ......................... """ ................... ·.1 4,lIJ2 2,904 ..... . 
Beaufort....... ...... ...... •.•••• .......... ...... .... ...... 7,616 2,231 1 
Barnwell •••• ...... ...... .... ...... .. .... .... .... .... ...... 2,792 3,939 .... .. 
Edgefield .................................................. I 3, 120 6,252 ..... . 
Aiken ..................................................... I....:.~ 3,190 1 __ 1 

Total ........ _ ............... _..... .... .... .... .. .... 19,954 18,516 2 

We do hereby certify that this statement of the whole number of votes 
given at the general election, hel<I on the 7th day of No\"ember, 1876 
for member of Congress from the fifth Congressional district, is made np 
from tile certified copies of statements made by tile several boards of 
connty canvassers, and that the same is correct. 

H. E. HAYNE, 
Secretary of State. 

F. L. CARDOZA, 
Treasurer &uth Carolina. 

THOS. C. DUNN, 
COJl'ptroller· General. 

H. W. PURVIS, 
Adjutant and Inspector·General. 

EXHlBIT B. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA. 

Office Secretary of State: 
I, H. E. Hayne, secretary of state, do bereby certify that the fore· 

going is a true and correct statement of the certificate and determina· 
tion of the board of State canvassers as to the election of the member 
of Oongress from the fifth Congressional district; and that the statement 
of the vote cast in Barnwell County does not include the vote at Rob­
bins precinct, which was not counted by the county Bnd State board of 
can\"assers, and forms no part of the aggregate stated herein. 

Given nnder my hand and the seal of the State, at Columbia, this 
26th day of February, 1877, and in the 101st year. of American Inde­
pendence. 

[SEAL.] H. E. HAYNE, 
Secretary of State. 

Digitized by Goog Ie -



10 TILLMAN VS. SlrIALL@. 

I certify that the inclosed is the document presented in f!estimollY by 
the contestant, George D. Tillman, and marked" Exhibit B." 

M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Public. 

Vote by precinctB for Oongre8B»&an, fiftl& district, 1876. 

Beaufort County. 

Woodlawn .•••••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••.•••••••••••••. 
Varnsville ••••••.•••.•• , •.••.•••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••. 
Peoples .••••••••••••••••..•.••••••••••••.••.••••••••••••••••••• " 
Pocotaligo .•.•••••••••••••.•••••••••••.••••••..•••••.••••••••••••• 
Port Royal ••••• , •••••••••••.••...•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Paris Island ..•••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••. 
Matthews' Blnff •.•.••••.•••••••••••.••••••••••••••.••••.•••••••••. 
llyrtle Bush ••••••••••••.••••••.•.••.•••••••..•••••••••••••••••••• 
Mitchelville •••••• ~ •.••••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••.••.•...•.••••. 
Levy'a Cr088·Roads ..•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••• 
Lawton Church ••••...•••••.••••••••••••.•••••••.••••••...••••...• 
Lawtonville ••• , ••••••••••••••.••••••••...•••••••...•.••••.••••••. 
Guini88'a Cr088-Roada ...•••.•••••••••••••••••••••..••••••••••••••. 
Hardeeville ••••.•.•.•••••••••....•••••.••••••••.•.•.••...••.•••••. 
Henni88's Cr088-Roada ••••••.•.•••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••. 
Grahamville ..••••••••.••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••.•••.••••••.•. 
Gilleaonville .•••••••••••••.•••.•.••••••••.••••.•••.••..••••••••••. 
Gardners' Corner •••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••• , •••.•••••••.•••••• 
Graves Hill •••.•••. " •••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••• '" •••••••••••. 
Chisolm'a Landing •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Coffin Point ••••••••••.•••••.•••••.•••••••••••••••• , ••••••••••••••• 
Bluffton .••••..•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••••• 
Bellinger's Hill ••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••.••••.•••••••••• 
Brighton .•••••••••.•••••••••••••••.•••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Beech Branch ••••• ~ ••••••••.•••••••••••••••• " ....••••.••••••••••. 
Black Creek ••••.•...••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Brunson ......................................................... . 
Beaufort .•••••.•••••••••••••.•••••••••••••.••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Brick Church ••••••••.••••••••••••••••••.••••.•.•.•...••••••••.••• 
Nixville ......................................................... . 

iii :; 
r2 
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~ 
---

312 
98 
71 

211 
121 
141 
174 
~ 
446 
447 
180 
311 
142 
141 
64 

2.12 
224 
553 
472 
261. 
16A 
348 
407 
194 
22 
10 

317 
661 
717 
36 
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259 
187 
t!9 
48 
12 
40 
5 

10 
M 
41 

12'l 
11 
6Ii 
91 

10..'4 
173 
59 
9 

39 
21 

103 
28 
91 
73 
4 

226 
114 
16 

112 

Total •• •• •• .• . .. •• ••• • .• •• • .. •• •• .• .• •• •••• •• . . .• •. .• •• •• •. 7. 616 2. 231 
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Vou by precin.cfl for Oongr"aman, ftft'& diBtrict, 1876. 

Barnwell County. 

Allendale •••••••••• •••••• •••••••••••• •••• •••••••••• •••• •••••• •••••••• 448 675 
Barnwell •••••••••••••••••• """ •••••• •••••• •••••• •••••• •••••• •••••• 209 293 
Blackville •••••• •••••• •••• •••••• •••••• ••••••• •••••• •••••• •••• •••••••• 691 467 
Buford'. Bridge •••••••••••••••••••••• """ •••••• •••• •••• •••• •••••••. It!7 197 
Barker's Mill. •••••••••••••••••••••••• """ •••••• •••••• •••••• •••••••. 142 183 
Erhard's Mill ••••••••••••• """ •••••• •••• •••••• •••••• •••••• •••• •••••• 48 177 
Graham'. ••••••••.••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••. 66 221 
Mille& •••••••••••••••••••••••••••• ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• •••••• 143 301'1 
Midway ••••••• , •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• "" •••••• •••••• 435 235 
Canian'. Fair Church-""" ••••••••••••••• , •••••• , ••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Robbin •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••• 1,317 
Red Oak ••••••••• ,. •••••• •••••• •••••• •••••• •••• •••••• •••••• •••••••••• 200 246 
Williston """ """ •••••••••• •••• •••••• •••••• •••••• •••••• •••••••••• 129 452 
Bell Dock •••••••••• """ ••••• , •••••• •••••• •••••• •••• •••••• •••••••••. 92 184 
Bamburg .,.. •••••• •••••• •••• •••• •••••• •••••• •••••. •••• •••• •••• •••••• 2 301 

Total •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• """ •••••••• 4,109 3,939 

• No poll opened. 

Vote, by preciflCll,/tW COflgreumafl, fifth diBtrict-I876. 

Edgefield Couuty. 

Corryton •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Mount Willing ••••• """ •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Cheatbam's Store ••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••••• , 
Haltawauger's Store ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••. 
Edgefield Court·Bouae No.1 ••.••.••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••. 
Edgefield Coort·HoUle No.2 •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••..•.••••••. 
Landrum's Store ••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••.••••••••.•••..•••••. 
Richardson .••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••.••••••••.•••. 
Liberty HilL •••••••••••••••.•••••.•••••••••••• ", •••• ~ .•..•••••.••••. 
Red Hill .••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• """ ••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Trapp'eMill. •••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••• 
MeetlDg Street .•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Pl'rry's Cr088·Roade ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••. 
Ridge Spring •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Johnaton' •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••. 
Tolbert'. Store ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Sbaw's ••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••. 
Colemao's •••••••••••••••••••••.••••••••••••••••••••••••••••..•••••••• 
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218 
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286 
227 

9 
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210 
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342 
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602 
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245 
601 
316 
209 
320 
345 
3\!G 
5:J7 
249 
156 
682 
444 
3'0!8 
382 
231 

---
Total •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• : ••••••••••••••••••••• 3,120 6,2S:! 
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Aiken County. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------,-----,----
Aiken Court-Holl8e. ••• ••• ••• ••• • ••••••• ••• ••• .• •••• •••• •••• ••• ••• •••• 69iI :r.l 
Miles' Mills ••••••••••••••••..•••••••••• •••• .••••• •••••• •••• •••• •••••• 35 U~ 
Hamburg •••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••.••••••••••••••••••••• ~. •••••. 635 24t' 
WiudllOr ••••••••.•••••••••••••.•.•••••• , • •• •••• •• •••• •• • • •• •••• •••• •• 71 :m 
Silverton •••••• •••• •••••• .••••• •••• .••••• •••••••• •••• •••••• •••• •••••. 2:1"2 Ie! 
:Ptlerritt's Bridge.... •••••• •••. .•.. •.•••• •••• •••• •••••• •••• .••• •••• •••• 6~ 31~ 
}<'onntaiu Academy.. .••••• ••.• . •••••• •••• •••••• •••• ••• ••• •• •••• •••••• €6 lti1 
Boyd's Store...... •••• •••• •••• ••.• •••• •••••• . •••••• •••• •.•• •••• •••• •. 266 Ii.' 
Jordan's }[ill. .••• ••• ••• •• •••• •••••• •••• •••• ••.• •••• •••• ••• ••• •••• •••• 124 2'i~ 
Beech Isla.nd ..•••.••.•• , •••••• •••••• • • •• •• • ••• ••• •••••• •••••• •••••• •• 302 236 
Graniteville, (not on file) .••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••..••••• 

--I-­
Total •••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• :2, 41i i 2, ~OO 

Votll, by precincu,/or CongrtBBlllan,jijl1& diltricl--l876. 

Colleton County. 

.! 5 
Ii E e 
~ e:; 
~ ;: 
Q • 

Cl:: " ------------------------1-.-
'VaUcrboro' ••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Summerville ••••••••..••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Sniders' •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Smoke's Cross· Roads .••••••••••••• ~ ••••••• , ••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Rantowle's •••••.••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Ravenel'8 .••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Ridgeville .•••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Preacher'8 Mill .•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Maple Cain .•••••.•.••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
J ackllOn boro' .••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••..•••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Iron's Cro88·Roads .................................................... . 
Horse Peu .......................................................... . 
George'8 •••• •••• . .••••• •••• •••••• •••••• ••••• • ••••••••• e ............ . 

DeLemar'8 Cross· Roads .............................................. . 
Blue House ..••.•••••• , •••••••••••••••• e ............................ . 

BeIl'8 CrOS8' Roads ................................................... . 
Adam's Run ......................................................... . 
A8hepoo ............................................................ . 
Maple Cain .•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• '" •••••••••••••••••••• 

285 
4~ 

11 
16i 
190 
207 
163 
100 
117 
196 
187 
50 

468 
88 

691 
35 

413 
437 
117 

3U 
l~ 
1(1; 
23Ii 
til 
F3 
~ 
161 
lib 
r. 
43 I 
1~ . 
451j1 

Bi 
210 
103 
!tI 
96 

116 
1----1--

Total .......................................................... 4, 349 3, IJ20 
I 

VQtefoJr got1enwr, Beaufort OOUrltg, 1870-'12-'7-1-'76. 

1870. 
R. K. Scott... . . . . . . • • • . . . . . . . . . •• . . . . • . .• • • • • ••• •• . • •. . • . .. 6, 1~ 
R. B. Carpenter. • . . •• . • • • • • • • . • • • • . • • • . • • •• • . • •• • • • •• •• •• • . • 999 

1872. 
F. J. Moses, jr .••.••••.•••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••.•••. , 4, 99~ 
Ruben Tom tinson .••• • • • • •• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • .• 1, UJ 
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1874:~ 
D. H. Chamberlain. _ ...... _ .....••.•• _ •...••.••• , .....•. _ .•• _ 4, 778 
John T. Green. _ •..••••.• _ ...•....• _ ... _ • _ .•..• __ ••. _. . . .. .. 2, 076 

1816. 
D. H. Chamberlain .•••. __ ..• _ .••. - ••.•.•.. __ . _ .••••.. _ • _ • . .. 7, 60! 
Wade Hampton • _ • . • • • _ • _ •.•••••••••.••• _ •.•.. _ . _ • _ •.. _ .• _ 2, 21! 

EXlUBIT C. 
STATE OF SOUTH CA'ROLINA, 

Office Secretary of Btate : 
I, H. E. Hayne, secretary of state, do hereby certify tbat the forego­

ing is a true and correct tltatement of tbe votes cast for Congressman 
in the several precincts of the counties comprising the fifth Oongress­
ional district, and also the vote cast for governor ill Beaufort COllnty at 
the general elections of 1870, 1872, 1874, and 1876, as appears by tbe 
returns on file in this office. 

Given under my band and seal of the State, at Columbia, this 21st 
day of Febrnary, 1817, and in the one hundred and first year of Ameri­
can Independence. 

[SEAL.] H. E. HAYNE, 
Secretary of State. 

1 certify tbat the inclosed is tbe document presented in testimony by 
the contestant, George D. THUman, and marked "Exhibit C." 

BEA.UFORT COUNTY. 

M. R. OOOPER, 
Notary P1lblic. 

In the contest between Geo. D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat in 
the Congress of the United States. 

STA.TE OF SOUTH CAROLINA., 
Beaufort County: 

W. H. NIVER, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant upon 
doe notice to tbe contestee, deposes as follows in reference to questions 
propounded by contestant: 

Question. Please give your name, age, residence, and occupation.­
Answer. W. H. Niver; about thirty years old. I live on Paris Island, 
Beanfort Connty, and State of South Carolina. I ama planter by occu­
pation. 

Q. How long have you resided there '-A. Abaut tea years. 
Q. Where did YOll reside previously'-A. In Columbia County, 

New York State. 
Q. Wbere were you born '-A. In Columbia County, New York. 
Q. Did you come from Columbia Oounty to Paris Island '-A. Yes. 
Q. At what precinct did you attend at the election on November 

last T-A .• At Paris Island. 
Q. State what occurred at the poUs during the day, and whether there 

were any interference with the electors at the poUs.-A. I weut to the 
polls about seven o'clock. I was there some time before the poll opened. 
The managers could not get into the church, so they opened the poll in 
the school· bouse. I staid there all the forenoon, until about ten or 
ele\'en o'clock. At that time I gave a ticket to a colored man to vote, 
and it was taken away and torn up. After that I went back and sat 
down. Another colored man came in, and I offered him a ticket. When 
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• I offered him the ticket, I W88 strock and polled and haoled around, 
and while tbe foss W88 going on tbe man went oot of doors and did not 
vote at that time at all. I then sa~ down on a desk and W88 strnck with 
a stick on the back of my shoolder and head, tbrough a window, which 
gave Ole a headache all the afternoon. I had not voted up to this time. 
After tbe fuss quieted down I voted and went home. I did not think it 
was safe to vote before that. I went home because I felt badly. I staid 
at home until about four o'clock, when I returned to the polls, and lOOn 
after I got back they counted the votes. 

Q. What ticket did you vote !-A. The Democratic ticket. 
Q. What ticket did you offer to those colored men !-A. The Demo· 

cratic ticket. 
Q. Who was the candidate for Congress on the Democratic ticket t­

A. George D. Tillman. 
Q. Were the candidates for all tbe offices voted for on the same tick· 

ett-A. Yes. 
Q. To wbat party did these men belong who took away the tickets 

and tore tbem up 1-A. To tbe Repnblican party. 
Q. Who did they support for Congress !-A. Robert Smalls. 
Q. Please state the nnmber of Republican and nnmberof Democratic 

votes polled at that precinct.-A. One hundred and forty·three Uepnb. 
lican and twelve Democratic. 

Q. How many white mell lived on the island at that time !-A. Three 
besides myself. 

Q. State about what the population of the island iB.-A. Abont foor 
hundred. 

Q. HoW' many colored votes were cast at that precinct !-A. All bot 
six were colored. 

Q. By whom are tbe lands on that island chiefly owned '-A. By col· 
ored people. 

Q. Under wbat titles'-A. Government tax· sales. 
Q. What government '-A. United States Government. 
Q. Who struck you !-A. John Bull they call him on the island, but 

I think his name is John Bumis. 
Q. To what party did he belong !-A. He was a boy under age, abont 

nineteen or twenty years 01<1, and did not vote at all. 
(The counsel for the contestee having bere made objection to the pres· 

ence of contestant~s witnesses other than the one nnder examination, it 
W88 agreed between tbe respective counsel, William Elliott for contest­
ant and W. J. Whipper for contestee, tbat all witnesses be exclnded, 
except the one under examiuation. Tbis agreement to apply to all testi· 
mony iu this case taken before auy officer, whether in cbief, In reply, or 
in rebnttal.) 

Q. In the interest of wbat party W88 tbis man John Bull at the poll!­
A. The Republican party. 

Q. Wbat did he strike yon with !-A. A clnb. 
Q. How ]oug and thick W88 it !-A. About three feet long, and abont 

one or one and a half inches through. 
Q. How many colored men had clubs there that day f-A. I don't 

know' most all of them had sticks. 
Q. What were they doing with them !-A. They did not seem to be 

doing anytbing with them except the one that struck me. 
Q. Did yon see them flourish them about !-A. I diel not notice them. 
Q. How many colored men were around you at the time that yon were 

struck !-A. Aboot thirty or forty when I was first struck. 
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Q. What else did they do with you besides strike you '-A. They 
grabbed me up amI crowded arouud me. 

Q. Did you attempt to escape from them '-A. Yes; I got away from 
them, and went back. and sat down. 

Q. What was the cause of this violence '-A. My going up and offer· 
iD~ the ticket to a voter. 

Q. What did' the crowd say at the time of this yioleoce'-A. They 
said they would oot let any of the colored people vote the Democratic 
ticket, and that he should not yote that ticket. 

Q. How much noise and violence was there '-A. Quite a good deal. 
Q. Did or did it not interrupt the voting, and for how long, if it was 

interrupted I-A. It did interrupt it for fifteen or twenty minutes, or 
perhaps half an bonr. 

Q. In what bnilding, if any, did this take'place '-A. In the school· 
house. 

Q. Was it in the room in which the voting took place '-A. Yes. 
Q. How far from the ballot· box T-A. Five or six feet. 
Q. Were there allY women at the polls that day '-A. Yes. 
Q. How many, and what color '-A. About twelve colored women. 
Q. ,Did they joiu in this noise and violence T-A. Did not see any at 

the time they were·after me. 
Q. Did they at any timeT-A. Yes. 
Q. State what they did.-A. I saw them take one mau that was 

goiog to vote the Democratic ticket, and put him out doors. 
Q. What was their general behavior I-A. Very noisy. 
Q. Were there any boys under age at the polls, and if so, how 

maoyT-A. Yes; about seveu or eight. 
Q. Were there any threats made against Democratic voters at the 

polls that day; and if so, what were they I-A. They said all those that 
TOted the Democratic ticket could not stay on the island, they should be 
driTen off. 

Q. Were the threats that were made there that day sufficient, in your 
opinion, to have intimidated men of ordinary courage T . 

(Question objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. I think they were. 
Q. Do you know of any such threats haYing beeu made before the 

day of election against Democratic voters T-A. I (10 not. 
Q. Did these tbrE'ats keep any men from voting the Democratic ticket 

who otherwise would have voted it I 
(Question objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. I think they did. 
Q. Would the result of the election have been different at that pre· 

cinct, but for these threats '-A. I think it would. 
Q. To what party did you belong before this late election '-A. I al· 

ways voted the .Republican ticket. 
Q. Were the polls open on that day when you got there, and at what 

time did yon get there I-A. They were not; I got there about seven 
o'clock. 

Q. At what time were they opened I-A. About half an hour after I 
got there. 

Q. At what time were the polls closed, and what time did the count 
commence !-A. About four o'clock. 

9- Please give the answer as to time more definitely.-A. I a.m cer· 
tain it was not later than half past four. I think it was four. 

Q. Were voters sworn before voting I-A. Think they were. 
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Q. Do you know of any that were not sworn !-A. I don't recollect 
of any. 

Q. At what time were yon absent from the polls that day !-A. From 
about half past one until foor o'clock or aboot. 

Q. Did you hear any colored meo on that island say they were going 
to vote the Democratic ticket, before the election !-A. Yes; I heard. 
quite a nomber say they were going to vote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. How many T-A. Twelve or thirteen. 
Q. Did yoo speak to all the voters on the island aboot their votes !­

A. I did not speak to them all, but spoke to a good many of them. 
Q. How many colored men did vote the Democratic ticket, as far as 

yon know T-A. Six. 
Q. Did you prosecnte this man John Boll, or any other man, on acconnt 

of the violence done towards you '-A. I did not. 
Q. Why not f-A. I did not think I could get any justice under the 

present state of affairs. 
Cross·examined by W. J. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 

Q. How long have yoo lived on POllY Island !-A. About ten years· 
Q. How many elections have you attended on the island T-A. All the 

elections since I have been there. 
Q. Was there. any wore violence at this election than at any former' 

-A. There was. 
Q. Had you any violence at any former election f-A. Not that I ree­

ol1ectof. 
Q. Was there any violence at this election before you handed a Demo­

cratic ticket to a voter '-A. None, except that man they put oot doors. 
Q. How was this man put out doors, and by whom I-A. Picked up 

and poshed out by the women. 
Q. How close were yon to the scene at the time that it occorred !-A. 

Twelve or fourteen feet. 
Q. Do yoo know the names of any of these women! If so, please tell 

the officer.-A. I do not know as I can call any names. I took no 
notice who tbey were. 

Q. Do you know tbe man that they put out! If so, give bis name.­
A. I do; John Bird. 

Q. Was he pnt out in a violent, rode, and angry manner, or was It 
done tbrough jest !-A. I could not say. 

Q. Do yoo know wbether or not Jobn Bird \"oted that day!-A. I did 
not see bim vote, but I tbink he voted. 

Q. Was John Bird a Democrat or a Republican t-A. He pretended to 
be a Democrat. 

Q. Was he a white or colored man '-A. Colored. 
Q. Who was the man to whom you gave the ticket that they tore 

np !-A. ThE.'y call him Smart. 
Q. Who was it that tore up the ticket !-A. Ned Bee grabbed and 

tore np the ticket. 
Q. Was tbat ticket taken from him hy force, violence, and against his 

will, or was it merely taken from his hand and torn up I-A. 1 should 
judge it was taken by violence; he took tbe ticket from me willingly and 
the otber Ulan grabbed it from bim. 

Q. Have YOIl any otber evidence that it was taken by violence eXCE.'pt 
the fact tbat he took it frOID you willingly and tbe other man grabbed 
it; if 80, wbat is it I-A. I don't know that there is any except I heard 
thE.'m Ray that be should not vote that ticket. 

Q. Do you know whether or not he voted at all that day f-A. Yes; 
they gave bim a ticket and pushed him right along to the box. 
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Q. Who was the second man that yon offered a ticket toT-A. Moses 
NelsoD. 

Q. Who was it that struck you at that timet-A. I· could not tell who 
struck me first.· 

Q. Were you struck more tban once at tbat time T-A. Only once; but 
I was kicked by John Bull. 

Q. Had you or not had a difficulty with .\ahn Bull before that day out­
sille of political affairs T-A. [ bad not. 

Q. YOIll4la~ed in the direct examination that tbe man to whom you 
gave tbi~ ticket did not vote at that time; do you know that he voted 
at all T-A. I did not see him vote. 

Q. Have SOD any other means of knowing that he voted T-A. I don't 
know that I bave. 

Q. Did not you vote yourself some time afterwards !-A. I did. 
Q. You voted the Democratic ticket!-A. Yes. 
Q. You stated in your direct examination that yon went back there 

about four o'clock; how long after yon went back \vas it before they 
comrnenced to count the votes I-A. Uommenced coDntiug as soon as ~ 
got there. 

Q. Were you an officer of any kind on that dayT-A. No. 
Q. Was there anyone voted or offered to vote after they cummenced 

counting f-A. None that I know of. 
Q. Was it after you went back this time that yon were struck with a 

eIQ"f-A. I was struck WIth a club before I voted, and I voted before 
I went home at first. 

Q. Do you know of anyone 011 the island eutitle" to vote wbo had not 
vol:t.'fl that day; anel, if 80, who T-A. I Mard them say that there was 
one man who had not voted; that he staid home with his wife because 
she was sick. 

Q. Don't yon know tbat the polls were closed becanse there were no 
more votes to be polled that day f-A. I do 110t. 

Q. How long were they counting the votes T-A. I don't think over half 
an hOllr. 

Q. How 800n after the votes were connted did they leave the polling. 
placet-A. They left rigbt away. 

Q. You stated tbat the whole nnmber of Republican votes was one 
hundred and forty·three, Rnd the Democratic twelve, did yon not T-A. 
Yes; one hllndrt.'d and forty·two or three Repnblican and twelve Demo· 
crats. 

Q. Yon stated that there were fonr white men on the island at that 
time, (Ii(l yon noU-A. Yes . 
. Q. Will yon state if youknow whetber or not all those men were en· 

titled to vote and did not vote or notT-A. Two besides myself were 
entitled to vote and did vote; the other one was not there. 

Q. Did yon state that six colored men voted tbe Democratic Mcket!......, 
A. Yes. 

Q. How do you account then for twelve Democratic votest-A. There 
were three other white men that came tbere to vote. 

Q. Who were they!-A. Cooper, Allen, Rnd C. W. Niver. 
Q. Where did they reside at that time !-A. Niver Ii ved on Dow's 

Island, and Cooper and Allen at Port Royal. 
Q. Were there any others that came there to vote, black or wbite T­

A. I think one colored man came from Beaufort. 
Q. Did you state that the wbole nllmber of the popnlation of tbe 

island is tonr bundred T-A. To the best of my knowledge. 
Q. Do you know w.hat the voting population of that islaod Is! If 80, 

H. Mis. 11--2 
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what is it !-A. I think they generally poll about one hundred and sixty 
votes. 

Q, Do you 8wear that they have poUed one hundred and 8ixty votes 
since reconstruction !-A. I tbink so. . 
~. What has been the Democratic vote on that island since recon· 

struction at former elections !-A. I think there was one polled the time 
Green was nominated. 

Q. And there has never blen but one Democratic vote at any election 
in the ten years that you have been on the island before this election!­
A. Only one that [ know of before this last election. 

Q. How old is this John Bull, or Burnis, that 8truck you with a stick! 
-A. I should think he was about nineteen or twent.y years old. 

Q. Don't the people on this island usually carry sticks when they go 
to meeting, religious, politioal, or otberwise I-A. A great many of them 
do. 

Q. Did the sticks on this oocasion differ in number or character from 
those that they usually carried f-A. The one differed in cbaracter that, 
got over my bead. I don't know tbat the rest did or not. 

Q. Was any except this olle used differently from wbat the~ usually 
use tbem!-A. Not that I saw. 

Q. You state that there were thirty or forty men arollnd yon when 
you were struck. Were they tbere when the fuss commenced or were 
they drawn there by it I-A. Some were there aud some came in after 
it wall Jloing on. . 

Q. What portion of them were there when the fUBS commenced !-A. 
I should thillk about half. 

Q. W!loR not a large portion of them your own busine8s or personal 
friendsf-A. A great many of them were. 

Q. You have stated tbat you believe the result would have been 
different were it not for those threats. What leads you to that conclu· 
sion f-A. [heard voters say that they intended to vote the ticket that 
J gave them. 

Q. You stated that thE-re were twelve told you that. Did not six out of 
the twelve do as they told you f-A. It was twelve or thirteen besides 
those six that I had reference to. 

Q. Can you give the names of ihose twelve or thirteen f-A. I don't 
know that I could give the names of tbem all now. 

Q. Give the names of those you call, if any.-A. Nero Bam well, Ansel 
Snipe. Cuffie Snipe. Can't think of any more just now. 

Q. How long did this disturbance last either timef-A. I should tbink 
about ball' an bour. 

Q. There was no other disturbance or violence except what you have 
de~cl'ibed !-A. None that 1 saw. 

Examined in reply by council f<'r contestant: 
Q. You 8tated that there were three white men went to the island that 

day to vote. Please state in what capacity Mes8rs. Cooper and Allen 
went there !-A. Mr. Allen held some office in connection with the elec­
tion·commissioner, I think, and Mr. Cooper came with him. 1 don't know 
what for. 

Q. Which is the voting precinct of C. W. Niver !-A. Parris Island. 
He has always voted there. 

Q. Was the colored man from Beaufort a Republican or Democrat t­
A. He was a Republican from the way he worked. 

Q. Yon spoke about former Democratic votes on that island. Baa 
there ever been an election tht're' before this la8t~ in which the Demo-
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cratic patty put out a ticket I-A. I had reference to Green. I took 
him to be a Democrat. 

W. H. NIVER. 
Sworn and subscribed to before me this 12th day of February, A. D. 

1877. 
[SEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 

Notary Public. 

The examination ia here adjonrned to meet at 9 o'clock a. m. to·mor­
row, 13th instant. 

M. R. COOPER. 

In the contest between Geo. D. Tillman and RobE'rt Smans for a seat ill 
the Oongress of the United States. 

MA.NSION HOUSE, 
Port Royal, 8. 0., February 13,1877. 

STATE OP SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beaufort: 

MORRIS SCOTT, colored, a witness of legal age, produced by contest­
ant. upon due notice to the contestee, deposes as follows in reterence to 
qnestions propounded by contestant'8 cou08el : 

Qnestion. Plpaae state your name, place of residE'lIce, occupation, Rnd 
age.-A.nswer. I am forty·two years old; my name, Morris Scott; I live 
00 P'iri s Island; I am a planter. 

Q. Where did you vote at the last elE'ction, in November I-A. At 
ParriR Island school·honse. 

Q. What tilDe did you get there I-A. At 7 o'clock, and left before 6. 
Q. What time were the polls opened '-A. At 7 o'clock. 
Q. Wbat time did the pollll close anfl they commence to connt the 

votes T-A. Thpy commenced to count about 5 o'clock. 
Q. Was tbf\re Rny violence at the polls that day' If so, state what it 

was.-A. The first violence that day was the row with John Bird. Just 
888000 as be got in the hOllse them women Rsked him if he was a Dem­
ocrat. HE' saill, " Yes, I am." Soon after they picked him right oft' his 
feet aud pot him out of doors; before he was down, my wife caught 
him by the collar a~ helped him up on bis feet. Then came John Bull 
in tbere with a row, cussing and sqneE'zing through tbe gang to get to 
the "in dow after Niver. I I\aid to Charles Grant, "Take that boy out of 
here with bis confusion." Then he put him out of doors, and he came 
round to the window, while Niver set thert>, and knocked him ill the head 
with a Slick. Sam Gilliard then took bim off from the window. Now on 
tbe ,"oting line, tbis fellow Anal'l, I don't know be name-any how be 
belong to our county. He came there to vote. They wouldn't let him 
votE'. I gave William Howard a ticket. Tbey took it way from bim 
and wouldn't let bim.. \'ote it. I ga\'e old Neptune Robinson a ticket, 
and tbl'Y "ooldn't let him vote it. I gave Sam Midliton a ticket, uDll 
tbey wonldn't let him vote. I gave Jacob Green a ticket, and tbey 
wouldn't let bim vote. 

Q. Wbat kinct of tickets were these you gave them to vote I-A. 
Democratic tickets. 

Q. Wbo took tbe tickets away from them '-A. Yon couldn't tell,. 
the wbole crowd was round them calling out" Democrat ticket! " "nem­
ocrat ticket!" aue! went on so tbat I got up on a bench and asked 
them," Boys, is not tbe man of age, wby not let them vote as tbey want to '" 
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Q. Were t1rese men wbo took away tbe tickets Democrats or Repub. 
lic ins '-A. Republicans. All Republican mens. 

Q. Were tbey frientls of Gent"ral Smalls' '-A. 0, yes. 
Q. How long did this row and confusion last '-A. This row and con­

fusion laated, at tbe lowest calculation, for tbree bours. 
Q. Were the tickets of yoters examined tbere before tbey Yoted' If 

so, state how it was do.ue'-A. Tbe Republican stand right to the lloor, 
and every man came in they asked "Wllo gave you that ticket!" 

Q. Who dill tbey say that to '-A. Every man. It' they said tbey 
got their ticket from John Bird, London Bryan, or Morris Scott, they 
would say," You must not vote that ticket" and would take it away and 
give them a ticket and say" Vote my ticket." 

Q. What kind of tickets dId they give tbem '-A. RepnblicRn tickets. 
Q. Would they let a man come in with a J>t"lDocratic ticket T-A. If 

they knew what ticket he had he couldn't come in. If they knew be 
had a Democratic ticket tlley would uever let him come in. 

Q. What was the behavior of this crowd '-A. The crowd was yery 
dissil)ated. I never saw such going 011 since I been voting on Paris lsi· 
and, since I Hrst ,·oted. 

Q. Do you mean that they were angry and violent '-A. Yes, they 
was going on all the time, jawing about Democratic tickets. 

Q. How long did this continnet-A. About three hours, right hot. 
Q. Oouhl you Eet men to come up with Democratic tickets after 

that '-A. I couldn't do it. I had a reason to say so, because I had a 
)~st of tifty Olen on my list that say they woulcl vote the Democratic 
ticket, and that day I could not get but six. 

Q. Why would not the others vote '-A. Because they, the Republi. 
cans, would not let them vote. The way the six happened to vote they 
voted in the morning be tine tbe fuss commenced. Before the crowd 
gathered. I was the first one vote, and then the rest voted. 

Q. Give the name of some of these men, or as many as YOll can, that 
sait! they would \"ote tbe Democratic ticket '-A. Ansel Snipe, Nero 
Barwell, Wrent.y Gillison, Daize Look, Billie Fields, Cyrus Bl'yan, 
Ned Taylor, is all I can remember right now. 

Q. Did you hold Democratic club·meetings on Paris Island during tbe 
campaign I-A. Yes. . 

Q. How many men attended tbose meetings, or about how many T-A. 
Lots of Republicans as well as Democrats, and thOde that joined with 
us signed. 

Q. How many signed your roll '-A. About fifty; London Bryan 
had the roll. 

Q. Would these men all have voted the Democratic ticket that day 
but for this violeuce I-A. Yes, the.v would. They were all responsible 
men to their word. I know them all. -

Q. Were Democrats threatened by H.epublicans that day'-A. No. 
No threats, only quarrelling and going on and taking away tickets. 
John Bull is the only one I heard make threats 800(1 he struck Ni\"er. 

Q. Were you threatened tbat day I-A. No .. But I was threatened 
before tbat day. They threatened t&at they would lick me. 

Q. Did you hear others threatened before that day '-A. No. I did 
not hear auy. I suppose tbey tbreatened John Bird and London Bryan. 
They stay on different parts of the island. 
. Q. Has anytbing been done against you because yon werea Democrat' 
-A. Yes, they bring up tales against me, and turned me out of the 
church,oll the 12th of November, and I get my seat again this last Sat-
urday. . 
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Q. Was that tbe day you were summoned to appear beref-A. Yes, 
tb .. same day. 

Q. Do sou know whetller or not any women on the island bave threat· 
ened to leave tbeir busband8 if they voted the Democratic tickt>t '-A. 
I don't know; I never beard any say so; I must tell the truth about it. 

Cross-examined by A. H. Ezeikel, counsel for contestee. 
Yon Atated tbat the polls were opent>d at 7 o'clock; wbat mt'an8 bad 

yon for knowing'-A. It is 6 o'clock before day, clean good, before sun­
rist-, b~ tbe almallac. 

Q. That was tbe only "'ay you cou\(1 tell that it was 7 o'clock '-A. 
Yes; at 7 o'clock the sun been rise high; I know by the account the 
almanac gh-e me. 

Q. DicI, or did you not, in your direct t'xarnination, say that you were 
mId by a strauger that it was 7 o'clock by bis watch f-A. It was 
tbat e,·t'ning. . 

Q. What time did you lea\"e the poll8 f-A. By the watch of thi8 
atranj!t'r, he said it WIlS some four or fi\"e minute8 after 5 o'clock. 

Q. Were, or were you not, present during tbe counting of the votes f­
A. I was out side on the grllss laying down. 

Q. At wbat time did they commence to count the vote8 f-A. I think 
about half past 4: or about 5 o'clock. 

Q. Wbat time did t.hey finisb f-A. About half past 5, I think. 
Q. How long after the votes were counted did you leave f-A. I fol­

lowed tbe box right down. 
Q. T'u.~~· started from there immediately after they had counted the 

vOltllf-A. Yes, and I followed them right down. 
Q. Do you read and write f-A. A little; it is nothing that I can brag 

on. 
Q. Yon spoke of violence down there that day; you spoke of John 

Bini'!! row; who 8tarted it f-A. The row IItllrted by the womell. As soon 
asJohn Birtl came ill, the womell said, "You are a Dt'mocrat," and pusbed 
biOI out of' tbe door, and my wife caught him by the collar and helped 
bim IIp on hi8 feet. 

Q. You stated in your direct examination that a strange man came 
to tbe (lolls to vote and they would not let biOI f--A. I said a strange 
man that lived in our county. 

Q. How do you know he lives in our county f-A. He used to live hi 
BeaUfort, and caDle to Paris Isiand to work. . 

Q. Yon stated that you gave William Heyward, N~ptnne Robinson, 
Samuel Middleton, and Jacob Green Democratic tickets to vote, and that 
they were taken away; did you notT-A. Yell. 

Q. What mealls did you have of knowing f-A. As they came to tbe 
~oor they were asked, "What ticket is dat!" "Who gave you that 
tieket!" "Did Scott gi\"e you that ticket!" And it was taken away, 
Iud they were given another one. 

Q. By whom was it taken away; can't you give the name f-A. No; 
I,ooultl not_ The whole crowll of RepUblicans were saying, "Wbo 
t!cket is that f" "Did Scott give you that ticket!" "That ain't the 
ngbt ticket." "Don't vote that ticket." 

Q. How 10nJ,t have you lived ou :Paris Island f-A. Every since I been 
born. I was born there. 

Q. Yon spoke of the tickets being taken away by Republican~, and 
tbat they were friends of Gent>ral Smalls; wt'J;e not they friends of Mr. 
T!lIman's also f-A. I suppose so; I collld not tell. I ne\'er saw Mr. 
Tillman iu my life before. I saw Smalls; he used to come dClwn to speak 
foUl. 
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Q. Did yon bear any of tbem express tbemselves otberwise than being 
friendly to Mr. Tillman '-A. No. 

Q. How many elections have you attended on the island f-A. I 
really could not tell. I tbink there were four or five. I was attending 
them every siuce they were beld. 

Q. You spoke of being turned out of the oburcb on account of your 
Democratic principles; were you not turned out for violating sowe role 
of the church '-A. That's what tbt>y hring in against me i said I vio· 
late the rule of the cburch; some said I cussed. 

Examined in reply bY'counsel for conu>stant : 
Q. Yon were Rsked about these Republicans being friendly to Tillmani' difl you hear bis name called at all that da,)"-A. No, I did not. 

heard Hayes' and Wbeeler's name called that day. 
Q. Wbat party does Mr. Tillman belong to !-A. Mr. Tillman belongs 

to the Democrat party. . 
Q. What party did these men that took away the tickets belong to T­

A. The Republican party. 
MORRIS SCOTT. 

Sworu and subscribed to before me tbis 13th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

lSEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Public. 

Iu tbe contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a 8f'at 
in the Oongress of the United States. . 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
OounCy of Beaufort : 

FEBRUARY 13, 1877. 

.JOHN J. ALLEN, a witness of l('gal age, prodoced by contestant upon 
due notice to contestee, deposes as follows, in reference to questious 
propounded by contestant's coonsel: 

Question. Please state yoor name, age, place of residence, and ocen· 
pation.-Answer. John J. Allen; age, fifty; reside at Port Royal, Beau· 
fort Count,)', South Oaroliua, and I am a mllllufacturer of oyster-shell 
lime. 

Q. Do JOO bold aoyofficial position at present; and, if so, wbatf­
A. I alii at present intendant of tbis town of Port RO.fal. 

Q. Wbere were yoo at the election on the 'Ith of November last ,­
A. At tbe voting· precinct on Paris Jsland. 

Q. In wbat capacity '-A. As United States supervisor. 
Q. At what bour did you reach tbe polliug-place I-A. At a little he· 

fore 6 in the morning. 
Q. At what time were tbe 1)0118 opened '-A. At 'I o'clock. 
Q. Why wele thElY not opened sooner I-A. I don't know tbat I could 

state. There was 1I00ne talk between the managers all() tbe citizens as 
to whether t1u.'y sbould hold the election iu tbe school·house or in the 
cburch. 

Q. How many managers wp.re tbere at that precinct, and to wbat party 
diel they belongf-A. Tbere were three managers, one white, belonging 
to the Democratic party, and two colored Republicans. 

Q. When were the polls closed '-A. At 4 o'clock in the evening. 
Q. Did you observe the time as to the opening and closing, and are 

you certain as to tbe bours '-A. I did, and I am certain as to the 
hours. 
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Q. Did you return to Port Royal that evening' And were or were 
not the polls at Port Royal opeo when you returned '-A. I did returo 
to Port Royal, aod the polls were open for some time after I returnee'!. 

Q. State whether or not the voters at Paris Island precinct were 
swom before voting.-A. They were not all sworn. Tbey did not begio 
to swear until the seventy-first vote was polled. . 

Q. I understand, tben, that the first seventy voters were not sworn ,­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Please state the manner in.which the election was conducted­
whether quietly or otberwise.-A. I';or a short while in the morning it 
was quiet. About 10 or 11 o'clock they began to get considerable ex­
citement and confnsion, and continued so until along in the afternoon. 
I noticed that at one time they had a mlln or two dragging arooud 
through the bonse, and the whole house and crowd was in confusion; 
clobs were brooght out and threats wflre made. 

Q. By whom and to what party did the pf"r80nS belong that were 
making the threats, and against whom were they made '-A. The par­
ties that were making threats belonged to tbe Republican party, 8nd 
they were threatening those wbo voted the Democratic ticket or who 
propolM'd to vote it. 

Q. Were the tickets beld by ¥otPr8 f"xamined by other persons' And 
. io what way f-A. They were. They were taken hold of by parties 
and brought up, and their vote taken and examinerl. 

Q. What was done with them if they were Democratic votes '-A. I 
eoold not see them. They tore up some tickets and ga\'e them others, 
and some they gave back to them. 

Q. Was W. H. :Yiver struck at th('l polls; and, if so, witll whatf­
A. He was struck at a number of times. I conld not tell wbether they 
bit him or not, there was 150ch a crowd aronnd him, and some striking 
at him, and some dragging him around. 

Q. What was the cause of this violence towards Niver f-A. He was 
bringing up a colored man to vote what I thought to be a Democratic 
ticket. I coold not see it. 

Q. Was Ni¥er working in the interest of the Democratic party there 
that day '-A. He was. 

Q. Was the voting suspended at any time; and, if so, for what cause, 
and bow long!-A. Yes; it was suspended for about an hour, on acconnt 
of tbis riotiug and confusion in the house. . 

Q. Did all this occur in the room in which tbe polls were held '-A. 
Yes. 

Q. What was the g('neral demeal/or of this crowd, and did you appre­
ht>odseriousriolence'-A. It was ,"ery boisterous and threatening, and I 
did apprehend serious violence. They were cursing and swearing and 
waviog their clubs, and crowding around the table, some with clubs 
up inside and some beating on the house outside, and some were up on 
the benches trying to qniet and quell them. This state of things lasted 
from about 11 until 2 o'clock, at some times more violent than others. 
A large number of these persOIlS were women 811 well as men, and this 
cursing and threats were made against those who had voted or intended 
to vote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Was this violence sufficient, in your opinion, to bave kept men of 
ordinary courage from voting the Democratic ticket '-A. In my opin­
ion,it was. 

Q. Did it, in yonr opinion, affect tbe result of the election '-A. In 
lUy opinion, it (lid. 

Q. State any fact within your knowledge hearing to this point.-

DigiliZedbyGOOgle ~ 



24 TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 

A. A number of colored. men told me they intended to vote the Demo· 
cratic tick(lt, and I am s"tisfied that if the election had been conducted 
peaeeably and quietly that they would ha.ve done so. 

Q. Is it or not yonr opinion that more colored lOell would have voted 
the Democratic ticket if the ))01ls had been opened at the proper time !­
A. I think they would. 

Q. Did you attempt toenforce order '-A. I called upon the managers 
to preRerve order, but they coultl not quiet the people. 

Q. Were you able to properly disc~arge the duties of your office ,­
A. I was not. 

Q. Please state whether or not the candidates of the resp€'ctive par­
ties were all on the same ticket.-A. Yes. 

Q. Who was the candidate for Congress on the Democratio frOID 
this Congressional distriot '-A. Mr. Tillman. 

Q. Who on the Republican '-A. Mr.l;malls. 
Q. Were yon at any time apprehensive of serious injnry to yoorself, 

snd, if so, from what caU8e !-A. I was at Olle time, from the v"rious 
threats that I heard. 

Q. Was it or l/ot thi~ that prevent~d you from discharging the dnties 
of your office, as liItlltt>d '-A. I dill not, under the circumstltnces, think 
that it would be safe for me to undertltke it. 1 did not think 1 coulll do 
an.y good. 

Q. Do or do you not know that there were any peraons who "oted 
there that were under age '-A. There were some that \'"oted that looked 
to llIe like they were untler age. Objection was made to their voting 
by some of the colored people, who said they were under age. 

Q. Were they permitted to vote '-A. Yes. 
Q. Do yoo know their names '-A. No; I don't remember them. 

Cross· examined by W. J. Whipple, counsel for contestee: 
Q. For what 1)8rty were yoo supervisor on that day T-A. I doo't 

know that I was for any party. I received a summons from George 8. 
Bl'san to act as supervisor at that time. 

Q. What were youI' politics at that time '-A. Democratic. 
Q. What :lomber ·of perSOllM were on the grounds when the polls 

opened '-A. I suppose twenty.five or thirty. 
Q. Do yoo know of anyone leaving before the polls opened '-A. I 

do not. 
Q. Did you state that the polls opened at 7 o'clock '-A. I did. 
Q. At what hour in the day did they cloMe '-A. At <1 o'clock in the 

afternoon. 
Q. How many persons were at the polls when the polls closed !-A. 

I would suppose there was two hundred and fifty, men and womeu,_ 
altogether. . 

Q. What portion of thoMe present were l€'gal voters '-A. 1 don't 
know hardly how to approximate. I suppose seventy-five or oue huu­
dred men. 

Q. Do you know of any party entitled to vote at that election who 
was deprived from doing so by the polls opening at 7 and clOSing at 4: ; 
and if so, who '-A. I do not. 

Q. Why, then, do you state that you think yoo would have received 
more Democratic votes than were polled there that day'-A. I think 
that had the polls been opened ('arlier, before this excitement got up, a 
good many would bave voted the Democratic ticket who did not. 

Q. What time did the polls close at Port Royal !-A. 1 was not pres­
ent when they closed. 
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Q. What time of the day was it. that they commenced swearing the 
votes at Paris Island '-A. I think it was about 10, or halt' past. 

Q. Why was it that the manngers did not swear them before that 
timet-A. Because they did not see fit to do so, or did notswear them. 

Q. Did you, or anyone else, bring it to their attention before these 
10 vo~s were cast '-A. I did. I read the instructions sent out reo 
lJeatedly to them. 

Q. Wbat, if any, excuse did they gi\"e for not swearing them '-A. 
Tbey did not give auy nt all. 

Q. Was it not your duty to Sl'e that all the provisions of the law were 
compliec:l with '-A. I don't know what my duty was. 1 did not have 
any force to carry ol1t my instructions. All I could do was to read the 
law to thl'm as I ha\-e stated. 

Q. What wall it that tinally induced the managers to commence 
swearillg the voters '-A. The seventy-first vote was a boy that there 
1'88 80me trouble about, aud the managers swore him; and they then 
commellced to swear most of them that voted after that; some voted 
aftl'r "ho were not sworn. 

Q. Were these thr~e boys that were said to be undl'r ajle sworn before 
they were allowed to vote, to be of lawful age '-A. Yes; they took 
the oatb; I believe it says thl'Y must be of lawful age. 

Q. III wbat particular were you prevented from discharging your 
duties 8S a supervisor of election I-A. In all particulars. 

Q. Was there auything done to you ~ither as an officer or as a citizen, 
or dl'monstration made toward you '-A. Indil-idually, nothing; as an 
official, I gave them the il18tructiolls amI my construction of the law, 
and wbere they did not comply I don't know what their intentions or 
reasons for 1I0t complying were. 

Q. You speak 1I0W of the manajlers or of the partil's creating the con· 
(uRion and excitement !-A. I spl'ak of the parties making the confusion. 

Q. Do you speak of the managers Y-A. I read the instructions to the 
managel'8. 

Q. How do JOU distinguish between the colored Republicans Rnd 
colored Democrats '-A. When I see men tbat say -they are Democrats, 
I go by what they say; and when they say they are RepUblicans, I go 
by what they say, or take them to be what they say. 

Q. Do JIIU know what kind of tickets they were that were taken from 
parties and torn up '-A. I do not. 

Q. When Niver was surrounded. do yon know whether it was by his 
friends or by his enemies, or both '-A. From the way they were hand­
ling bim, I would take it to have been by his enemies. 

Q. You stated in your direct examinatio,n that you believe a number 
01 eolorl'd men would have voted the Democratic ticket but for the con­
fusion aud excitement. Can you give me the names of any of them ,­
A. I think not. 

Redirect examination by counsel for contestant: 
Q. Aloe you not a stranger to the people on that island generally ,­

.1.1 am. 
Q. You say nothing was done to you indi\"iduRlly; did you use 80y' 

efrort to procure vot~s for tile DAmocratic party '-A. I did not_ 
~ If you had, what, in your opinion, would have been the result ,­

A. I believe it wonld have bl'Ought on a difficulty the same as Niver 
W38 in. 

Q. Though you did not see what tickets were torn up, have you any 
donbt in your mind, from all that occurred, that they were Democratic 
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tickets I-A. I believe, from the circumstances, that they were Demo­
ol'atic tickets. 

JOHN J. ALLEN. 
Sworn and sl1bscribed to before me, at Port Royal, this 13th day of 

February, A. D. 1877. 
/SEAL.} M. R. COOPER, 

Notary Pvblio. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in the Oongress of the Uni!ied States. . 

STATE OF' SOUTH CAROLJNA, 
OOUftty of Beaufort: 

FEBRUA.RY 13, 1877. 

JOHN BIRD, (colored,) a witness of legal age, produceil by contestant, 
upon duc notice to contestee, dcposes as follows, in referenoe to questions 
propounded by oontestant: 

Question. Please state your name, age, residence, and occupation.­
Answer. John Bird; 43 years of age; reside on Paris Island; I am a 
ste\'edore by occupation. 

Q. :At what preoinct were you on the 7th of November last I-A. 
Paris bland precinct. . • 

Q. Were you at the polls all day; if not, how long were you absent 1-
A. I was absent from, but in sight of, the pon only about twenty min­
utes during the day. 

Q, Was there any violence at the polls I If so, state what it was f­
A. Yes; the first riot at tbe poll was, they seut in 1\ lot of women after 
me, and they took hold of me and orought me out before the door, and said, 
"Kill him; be is a Democrat mau." And Mrs, Scott came up aud said 8he 
was "a I>emoc1'8t womall," and if they killed Bird they would have her to 
kill. In tbat time Paul Green came up and pulled out a knife about a foot 
long, and said, "Kill bim; he is a. Halllpton man." Jimmie Gooding 
said, "Ally man kill him got me to kill; I am a Hampton man, too; " 
and at that time everybody got into it. Tbe row then continue() about 
two hours. In tbat time a Republican got up and made a 8~b to 
them, and told them to keep quiet, or if not 'the poll would be thrown 
out; Raid he was from WaRbington, Columbia, or somewbere or otber; 
that be came there to give them advice not to vote for Hampton; that 
if they \'oted for Hampton they would not go into slavery, but they 
woultl bave been better in slavery, for they would be treated like a ()og. 
But he would ad\"itle tbpm not to interfere witb Mr. Bird; that be did no 
harm, and had a rigbt to electioneer for Hampton or any otber m8n he 
saw fit. They still cried, " Oarry Bird away from here; he come here to 
carry Soutb Carolina Democrat same as he carried Savannah." I then 
walked away from the party and wellt over toward the church. Mr. Niver 
called me at that time to come to dinner. 1 tben went into tbe scbool­
house. Wbile eating, he asked me if I bad a. tIcket. I told him I had, 
I guess, ten thousand. He theu sent a man to me to get a ticket; be 
wauted to vote a DemoCl'a.t ticket. In banding him the ticket, alld as 
sooo as he took tbe ticket, about three bundred men, women, and boys 
surrotlnd~d him and took tbe ticket away; The man cried ont then 
tbat be desired to vote a Democrat ticket; and the crowd crowded him, 
took tbe ticket and tore it up, and made him vote a Republican ticket, 
and told him, "If you don't vote a Repuhlican ticket, we will put Hfty 
lashes on your bebind." In that time Mr. Niver went up and said, U Let 
him alone; he has a right to vote for Hampton or anyone else wbo be 
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IBM fit to vote for." They crowded Niver about tbat time. I jumped in 
between tbem and pushed Niver behind me, and one of them kicked Mm 
iu the pit of his stomach. Niver cried, " Men, save me; don't let tbem 
kill me." We threw Niver on the desk, and a party ran outside aDd 
Itnlck at him, and drove tbe stick into the wood. It would have killed 
bim if it bad tltruck him. I said then, "If you want to tigbt, give us 1\ 
fair sbow." Tbere came in theu another man to vote, and the managers 
of election swore him. Tbe subcommittee-man got up to tight tbe man: 
agers, and said they bad no right to swear tbat man that came to vote. 

Q. A committee· man of wbat party !-A. Of tbe Republican party. 
Tb~ manager then swore it was his duty to swear every man that came 
tol"ote. They then got kind of quiet and the polls were closed about 4: 
o'elock. 

Q. Wbere were you wben you said the women took you out '-A. I 
1f1l8 in tbe school·house wbere the poll was beld. 

Q. Wby did they take you out '-A. They said I was a Democrat, and 
tbat I, Hampton's tickets should not be di8tributed Ob tbe island; no 
ODe should vote it." 

Q. Is Paul Green a Republican or a Democrat !-A. A Republican. 
Q. Were other tbreats made by Rt'publicans against Democrats !-A. 

Yes; Robert Smalls went there on Monday before the election and made 
I speech, and said to the womeD that if their husbands voted the Demo­
eratic ticket to tbrow them out of the bouse. ., When John went to 
MI8l!& Hampton and pledged his word to vote for him and returned back 
home bis wife told him 'She would not give him any of that thing if 
yoo "'ote for Hampton.' John gODe back to Mltssa Hampton and said 
I MI88a Hampton, I can't vote for you, for woman is too sweet, and my 
~ire says if I vote for you she won't give me any.' And, ladies, I think, 
If yoo all do that, we won't have a Democratic ticket polled on Paris 
Island." (These are the words of Robert Smalls.) ".John Bird, the 
great leader of tbe Democratic party, wi1l1eacl all of your busbands into 
8!avery. I have a hound at bome. I wouldn't bave him to come to feed 
my bonnd." 

Q. Were any other threats made at tbe polls by Republicans toward. 
Ilfmoerats !-A. Yes; all kind of threats. 

Q. What tbreats did tbey make in words f-A. Tbey said they 
~ould kill any "damn Democratic son of a bitcb that went on tbat 
Island to vote tbe Democt:at ticket." Q. Did these threats cbange the 
result qf the election at tbat poll f-A. Yes. 

Q. In what way!-A. We had a Dt'Dlocratic club with fifty names 
enrolled, and tbey would have all \"oted tbe Hampton ticket but from 
t~e threats that they would kill anyone that voted the Democratic 
ticket. They refused to vote it. They sent word to 8pring Island and 
~Id them to look out for me and my committee, and if' we came there to 
give U8 three thonsand lashes on our aftle, amI throw us in the river. 
!bi8 was ten days beflJl"e the election. I bad Mr. Oooper's boat to travel 
Ib aDd they went down to the landing aO(I cut out all the seats, and 
aftl'r tbe election tbey carne down and cut my boat up. I have been 
griuding at tbe go\'erllment mill and they refuse to let Illy children grind 
tbeir com, saying" No damn Democrat should grind on it." And told 
my son "to tell bis daddie he wonld meet bim at tbe landillg." This 
W~ Sam Gilliard that said so. This \V8S done yesterday. 

Q. Did yoor children come back witb the corn unground f-A. Yes. 
Q. Did this int,imidation and violence at" and betore the election keep 

colored Dem(x:rats from \"oling the Democratic tickets f-A. Yes. 
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Q. How many, in your opinion f-A. We had fifty in the clnb and only 
about four voted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Do you know of any threats made on any other islands f-A. No; 
only on these two islands and by the~e same parties from Paris hiland .. 

Q. How many voters al'e there on Spring Islan(l f-A. I think there 
is one hundred and fifty voters on that island. 
. Q. ·Were you present at the Hampton meeting at Beaufort, on the 26th 

·of October last T-A. I was, sir. . 
. Q. Was that meeting broken up; and, if 80, by wbom f 

(Question objected to by A. H. Ezeikel, couusel for contestee.) 
A. Yes; the meeting was broken up by Langley saying, "General 

Hampton could speak, bnt that .rudge Cook could not speak." 
Q. Who is Langley, and to wbat party does be belong. and is be an 

office·holder f-A. He is a Republican. He is a colored man. Yes, he 
is an office· bolder. 

Q. State whettter or not be is one of the leaders of the Republican 
party in this county.-A. I believe he is a leader in that party. 

Q. State whether others joined with him on this occasion and to wbat 
parry did they belong. 

(Ohjected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. Great deal joined with him on this occasion, and they were all Re­

publicans. 
Q. About how many Republicans were present at that meeting I-A. 

A large lot of tbem; I believe. the mOl!t that were there were. 
Q. Was Judge Oook permitted to speak T-A. No, sir; he was not. 
Q. How was be prevented f-A. Langley got the crowd to make a 

grt'at rlt'al of 1I0ise and hissing, and tbey would not bear him. 
Q. State anything else that the crowd did.-A. They had a row 

among theUlselv&!, and had oue Democratic man carried to the guard· 
hOllse, because be J!'ive three cht'ers for Hampton. I gave three cheers 
for Hamptoll and the marshal came to me and told me if I cheered again 
he wouhl carry me to the guard· house. I told him this was a free coun, 
try and I would do 8S 1 saw fit. 

a Q. State whether or not he shook his club or fist in your face.-A. He 
sbook his club ill my face. 

Q. What WIIS his name, and to what party did he belong f-A. He 
was a Re)mblican; Cohen was his name . 

. Q. To what party did all the policemen belong that were there.f-A. 
To the Uepuhliean party. 

Q. About how many policemen were present f-A. I think about 
tweh't'. 

Q. Was the intendant present, and to what party did he belongf-A. 
Yes, be was present. He is a RepUblican. 

Q. Did they make any effort to stop the Republicans from breaking 
up the meetiug!-A. No, they did not. , 

Q. Was the meeting finally broken up f-A. Yes; the meeting was 
broken up. 

Q. Was Mr. Tillman present, and was be expected to speak f-A. Yes, 
he was }lfe8ent; and there was two or tbree speakers still to speak. 

Q. Were they allowed to speak f-A. No; tbe meeting was broken up. 
Q. Dill' auy of these attempt to l111eak, and could they l1peak f-A • 

. Judge Cook tried to speak and couldn't. They wouldn't hear bim. 
Q. Where (fo General Smalls 30(1 Lieutenant·Governor Gleaves reo 

side f-A. In the town of Beaufort, where tbis riot occurred. 
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Q. Was Governor Gleaves present, and did be make Rny etTort to stop 
the row I-A. I did not see bim. 

Q. Have you ever seen a Republican meeting in tbis county broken 
up by D~mocrats t-A. No, I n~ver ba\"e. 

Q. What was tbe temper of the Republicans on this occasion Y-A. 
They seemed to bav~ been very mad, by tbe way they actt-d. 

Q. Did auy Democratic speakers try to speak before Judge Cook and 
were stopped I-A. No. 

Q. Were they interropted I-A. Yes. 
Q. Was Mr. Yomans interrupted f-A. Yt"s; be was. 
Q. Was he or not forced to stop speaking I-A. Yes; amI be in\'ited 

Langley op 011 the stand to speak, and Langley told him he did Dot 
want to get on the stand. 

Q. What was the etTect tb,at the breaking up of this meetiog haci on 
the Democrats; did it encourage tbem.or intimidate tbem I-A. It dis­
couraged them. It was dOlle for tbat. 

Q. Would or not there heen more Democratic votes but for this I-A. 
YIl8; there woold; but tbat discouraged them. 

Cross·examined by A. H. Ezeikel, coollsel for cootestee: 
Q. On what day of the week did the 7th day of November last fall I 

-A. Tuesday. 
Q. What poll did yoo attend on that day'-A.. Paris Island poll. 
Q. At what bour did you arrive at the poll I-A. At six o'clock. 
Q. At what hour did you leave '-A. At half past four; the polls 

were closed at four. 
Q. At what bour were they opened I-A. At seven o'clock, or little· . 

arter. 
Q. Wbat time did tbe counting ot' tbe votes commence I-A. About 

two o'clock, by Mr. Linden's watch; that they could t('I1 me bow many 
Democrats bad voted and bow many Republicans at. tbat time. 

Q. Were you preStmt at tbe counting of tbe votes '-A. I were. 
Q. How much time did they occupy in counting'-A. Not O\'er half 

an bour. 
Q. What were you doing when the women took hold of you t How 

many were there, and what were tbeir names I-A. 1 just had g'en a 
man a Democrat ticket. . 

Q. Did be take it freely I-A. Yes; he asked for it. 
Q. Who was the man I-A. Nelson Moses. 
Q. Where is he now I-A. He is on Paris18land, now, I gat'ss. 
Q. You said in your direct examination ye>\terllay that you w~re sarA 

~Dlltled by aboat three handred men and about 10,000 Democratic 
tlck~t8·taken from you.-A. Yes; womens and nil; it looked like more 
than that to my sight. 

Q • .Now, Mr. BJ'id, (lid or did yoa not, without any indaeemt'nts or 
threats, give up tbe tickets voluntarily and freely I I put you on your 
gnsrd.-A. No, sir; I did not; they were taken away from me. 

Q. Did you expect to poll these ten thousand tickeua I-A. No. 
Q. For what purpose did you have tbem there I-A. To give to my 

committees any time they would come to me for tickets. 
Q. How long have you liveci on the island I-A. Six years, sir. 
Q. How many votes were polled on that day I-A. Tweh'e, to my 

knowledge-Democrats. 
Q. How many Rt'publican votes t-A. I don't know. I took no notice. 
Q. How many votes in aU '-A. If 1 aID not mistaken, it is a bundred 

and fifty voters, or may be more or may be uud.,r. 
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Q. C3n't you state more definite the Dumbert-A. Yon see they goes 
away to Savannah River and comes back and fortb. 

Q. Bow far is tbe Savannah Rivf'r from Paris Island t-A. I suppose 
it is about sixty mil"8, somewhE're alon~ therE', by water. . 

Q. Did or did you not say you had tlfty members in your Democratic 
club t-A. I did, sir. I 

Q. Give their names.-A. I couldn't give their Dames by knowledge 
lesten I had the list. 

Q. Can't yon give any of them t-A. Yes; London Byran, Cyrus 
Byran, two; Jimmie Gooding, Moris Scott, Paris Dawson, Grimes Daw· 
8On-six. Call't think of thE'm l~ten I had the list. 

Q. Did yon hear General Smalls's SI)88Cb on Monday, 6th November 
last !-A. I did, sir. 

Q. What did he mE'an when he said, "Don't give your husbands any of 
that thing, ladies t "-A. I thought it was a very vulgar word to use 
among ladies. 

Q. Wt'll. wbat do you think he meant by it '-A. He must to have 
meant that the wOOlen must not let their husband have any connection 
with them; that if they vote the Democrat ticket they should kick them 
out of the housE'. 

Q. Are you and Geueral Smalls friendly t-A. Were until about a 
month before the election. 

Q. You state in your direct examination yesterday that pistols were 
drawn; if 89, by whom !-A. Yes. There was a geutieman, Mr. Gil· 
liard, had a double·barrel pistol in his hanc}, If I had of struck either 
one of the women or mell, no doubt he would have killed me. 

Q. Are you suppo&ing he would have killed yon, or did he tell you he 
would f-A. He told me he would do it; he would put more holes through 
rue than doctor could patch. 

Q. What part of the island was t.his t-A. Be told me that right be­
tween the two churches, on the day of the election. 

Q. Did he not tell you that with a view to keep you from striking 
some woman !-A. No; there was no woman round us at that time at all. 

Q. Where had they gone !-A. They had not gathered round the place 
yet; that was early in the morning. 

Q. Wbat do you mean by saying that he would have killed you if you 
had struck any of the women !-A. Be had his revolver all the time in 
his brf'.8st. 

Q. Were you not threatening to strike some woman whE'n he made 
tbelle threats!-A. No; 1 had no cause to make any threats at all. 

Q. You sJloke of threats being made before tbe election at t.hat place. 
In wbat manller!-A. Wby, they said they would" lick ally Democrat 
son of a bitch that come on t.bat island to vote the Democrat .ticket." 
As for me, tht'y say they would put tbree hundred lashes on my rasa. 

Q. By whom were tbese threats made !-A. By Sam Gilliard and 
86veral otbers; he is the ollly man 1 heard; but they sent me word to 
my house. 

Q. Did you make any thr(>ats !-A. No. 
Q. Was ,Judge Cook a Republicnn or a Demoorat!-A. He w(>1'8 a 

Republican, sir. He told me five or six times he was a Republican man. 
Q. Why was he 1I0t heard to spE-ak I-A. Because tbey said he was a 

Reform Republican, and be was a bigger Democrat than any of them. 
Q. Was not Judge Cook intoxicated on tbat dayt-A. Not to my 

knowing. 
Q. Could he have been witbout your knowing it t-A. No; if a man 

is ulldt'r tbe influence I ought to know, or if he was tight. 
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Q. Did or did he not raise a disturbance among the crowd '-A. No 
sir. 

Q. Yoo spoke of a dozen policemen, and that they were RepublicRns. 
What means, if any, had you for knowiug'-A. They told me they were 
Chamberlain men, and I know that Ch"mberlain is a Republican man. 

Q. Give thfl names of those that told you so.-A. I don't know tbe 
name of all of them. Simmons for one; this }Iiller there, to the botel, 
be is another one. Israel Cohen is another, and they were all standing 
up together. The reason I know they were Chamberlain men is by the 
words that came out of tbeir mouth. 

Q. Bow came they to tell you that they were Chamberlain men !-A. 
I were pll88ing along, going tlown the street, and they were picking them 
out for police, aud while standing together they were saying who they 
would support, that they were going to support Chamberlaio. 

Q. Did you not say a moment ago that thl"Y told you so '-A. They 
have told me that abont two months before the election who they were 
going to support, and I told them who I was going to support. 

Q. Who is the intendant of the town of Beaufort !-A. Williams has 
been at that time. 

Q. Is he a Republican or a DemocraU-A. Republican. 
Q. Bow do you know!-A. He told me so. • 
Q. Bow many meetings of RepUblicans have you ever attended !-A. 

~,l don't know; I ha\"e attended several of them; all their mass-meet· 
lng and cane os, such like that. 

Q. How many Democratic meetings have you ever attended !-A. I 
attended twenty. 

Q. In Beaufort Connty'-A. III B(>aufortCounty club- m(>eting, though. 
Q. Are you a member of any Democratic rifte-cluht-A. No. 
Q. What are yoor politics '-A. Democrat • 

..I Q. Wbo told you to say all that you swore to here yesterday and to. 
uayl 

(Laughed at by witness.) 
A. I was summoned bere to tell all that I saw on the 7th of Novem· 

ber last at the polls, and I have explained that that I see done by Ue· 
publicans, and no more. -

Redirect exltmiuation : 
Q. Yon stated that at Paris Island precinct the count commenced at 

two. Do you !Dean that the voting ceased at that time and that the 
bol was opened '-A. The voting stopped at twelve. The box, I will 
most attest or sW(>8r, was opened about two o'clock, or p(>rhaps earlier. 

Q. Diu yoo bave a. watch '-A. I bad a watch in tbe morning, but it 
stopped, but I got the time from Mr. Snider. After I left the polls I 
met two of tbese naval officers aud they asked me who was ahead and 
bad the polls closed. I told them yes. 'They asked me wbo was ahead. 
~ told them the Republicans were abead ber(>, and asked them what time 
It.,88. They said a qoarter to four, and about half au boor later I saw 
the manager coming down the road witb the box. 

bill 
JOHN + BIRD. 

Witness: 
mark. 

W .. S. DBA YTON. 

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 14th day of February, 1871. 
lBEAL.] M. R. COOPER. 

Notary Public. 
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In the contest between George D. THiman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in the OOllgress of the United States. 

STATE OP SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beaufort: 

FEBRUARY 14, 1877. 
WH. S. DRAYTON, a witness of legal age produced by contestant, 

upou due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to ques­
tions propounded by contestaut: 

Question. What is your age, residence, occupation, an(l name !-An­
swer. Nearly thirty-two years of age. My uame is Williams S. Dray­
ton. I resided, at the time of tbe election ill November last1.. at Hilton 
Bead. At present I reside at Rose Hill plantation, lIear Blunton, Beall­
fort Oonnty, South Oarolina. I am a farmer by oCCUl)ation. ' 

Q. Did YOll plant on Hilton Head Island last year t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When did you remove from the island of Hilton Head t-A. 

About tbe 8tb or 9th of November last. 
Q. Why did you leave Hilton Head t-A. I got so disgusted on the 

day of the election that I made up my mind to quit there. I wouldn't 
live there any long(>r ... 

Q. Do I underliitand-that you have left there permanently I-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. Is this on account of the political condition of things on the island I 
A. Yes. _ 
Q. At what precinct were you on election-day '-A. At Mitchellville, 

Hilton Head Island. 
Q. Did you occupy any official position on that day I-A. Yes, sir_ I 

occupied the l)osition of State manager of election at that precinct. 
Q. Had you been appointed to any other position for which you did 

not qualify f-A. Yes, sir; I was appointed United States supervisor 
of elect ion. 

Q. Who were the other managers, anc1 to what party did they be­
lougf-A. There were two others, O. P. Gardiner and the Re,·. Mr. Pee­
plelll, both colored, and belonging to the Republican party. 

Q. Please state abont how ma.ny white and how many colored votes 
were cast that day; how mallY Republican and how many Democratic. 

(Question objected to by W. J. Whipper, counsel for contestee.) 
A. There were fonr hundred and seventy-six votes, sixteen whites 

and four hundrell and sixty colored, to the best of my memory; elt>ven 
Democratic votes cast, and four bundroo and sixty-five Republican were 
polled. . 

Q. Please state the entire white and colored population of the island 
as best you can. 

(Question objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. I think there are about twenty-five or twenty-six white people, 

and about twenty-eight hnndred or tbree thousand colored peoplt>. 
Q. Were the lands on that island held at that time uuder United 

States direct-tax titles, aDd by whom chiefiy f-A. Part of them wert', 
aud part of them were not. Part of them were held by their ohl owners, 
R. C. McIntire, the Sea Island Cotton Oompany, Valentine. These are 
all the }It'rsons that I know who did own land at that. 

Q. Were the lands 011 tbat island sold during the war onder the 
United States direct-tax sales '-A. I have heard 80, and I know that 
our property was, and bought in by the government. 

Q. Please state the manner in which the election on the 7th of No-
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l"ember wai' conductetl, what was' the conduct of the respecti\'e l>arties 
at tbe polls, and whether there \Vas any violence and intimidation.-A. 
I arri\"ed at the voting·precinct at Mitchelh'ilIe at about half past six 
b'clock a. m., and then about twenty or thirty votes had been already 
casted. Tbe first thing that I did was to \"ote myself. I heard a few 
remarks outside, laughillJr remarks, jeering that the Democrats need not 
come there to \"ote, that they would be badly beaten, but paid no atten­
tion to it at the time until about half past nine. McFall came up and 
told me that things were looking squally, and that he was afraid he 
would have to apply to me for protection; that the parties distributing 
RellUblican tickets contested the right of him (::\IcFall) distributing 
Democratic tickets. I told them that they couldn't prevent him from 
doing it, amI that if they attempted any force or violence I would read 
the law governing riotous behavior at eleetions. In about fifteen min· 
utes or half bour.afterward McFall came to me and applietl for protec­
tion, saying that unless we did afford him protection he would be mad.e 
to leave the ground or run the ,risk of being beat~n or lose his life. I 
then appealed to Gardiner and the Rev. Mr. Peeples to speak to the peQ' 
pIe, and tell them that Mr. McFall had as much right to distribute his 
tickets as they, the Republicans, had. Gardiner told them tllat certainly 
lIr. Mcl<'all hac,l the right to distribute his tickets, and Mr. Peeples went 
out tbe door to speak to the people himself, when they said to him he 
had better mind his business, and go back and stay in that house or they 
would make him. I saw then that they were determined to take Mr. 
McFall off by force anyhow, and concluded that the best thing that I 
could do wonld be to read them the law affecting elections. I did so, 
when they informed me that it was nothing but a damn Democratic 
paper, and that I and the law could go to hell, anll, what's mort', that I 
was a damn son of a bitch. . 

Q. Where were you at the time '-A. At the managers' table at the 
polls . 
. Q. What law dill you reall f-A. The 'Gnited States law; the instruc· 

tIODS to sl1peryisors. 
Q. By whom were these remarks made !-A. By seyeral out in the 

CroWll. 

Q. By wbite or colored men, and to what party did they belong~­
A. By colored men, belonging to the Republican party . 
. Q. What was the general aspect aud behavior of the crowd at that 

time !-A. Extremely boisterous, and I don't care to be placed in such 
a position again, either. 

Q. Please go on and state what occurred further '-A. After cursing 
me a son·of·a-bitch they informed me that if I came out there they 
~ould beat my head to a jelly. I informed them that I was not a. fight-
109 man, and that I was manager of election; that their talking did 
not scare me at all. Abont this time two colored men took Mr. McFall 
and forcibly carried him oft· from the polls. The tumult,about this time 
had attracted the attention of the women, and they snrrounded Mr. 
llcFall, armed with f{'nce·pickets and barrel·sta,yes, and, as well as I 
could see, struck at him several times, and abused him in the most vio­
lent language. 

Q. State their language.-A. They cursed him for an old rebel son of 
a bitch and other epithets that I could not make ont at that distance; 
threatened to kill him· it' he did not leave, and the last I saw of Mr. 
McFall he was being escorted in the direction of my place by a squad 
of men and women. About fifteen minutes after Mr. McFall was car­
ried away from the polls Mr. Kleim and Henry Politzer came up, when 

H.Mis.ll-3 
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the polls were completely surrounded, (the entrance to the polls,) and 
the U,epublican electors declared that no more damn Democrats should 
vote at that poll. Politzer said he would be dam ned if he wouldn't, 
and was pushing his way forward when Kleim and himself were sur· 
rounded and prevented from so doing. Dr. F. E. Wilder in the mean 
time rode up, and I called upon bim to insist that the Democrats should 
be allowed to vote. 

Q. Were Kleine and PoJitzer white or colored, northern or southern t­
A. They were white men, of northern birth. 
. Q. What position in connection with the election did Dr. Wilder 
bold t-A. He was a commissioner of election for the county. 

Q. Do you know wbether or not he was chairman of the board !-A.. 
I do not. 

Q. To what party did he belong, and did he hold any other official 
position !-A. He belonged to the UellUblican llarty, and held at that 
time the position of trial·justice. 

Q. State what was then done about Kleine and Politzer.-A. After 
allling upon Dr. Wil(ler to read the law upon election to those who iu· 
sisted in preventing any more Democrats from voting there that day, 
and after Dr. Wilder complied with my request and told them that they 
must allow Democrats to Yote there or the box would be thrown out, 
they concluded to allow AIr. Kleine and Politzer to vote, but abused 
them while doing so. 

Q. 'Vere any declarations made as to whether colored men shonld 
vote at tbat place the Democratic ticket !-A. 1 beard several of them 
@ay that theywonld let the white Democrats vote, but any damn nigger 
they caught "oting the Democratic ticket they would beat him to death. 

Q. Were any threats made at that time against the wbite people on 
the island t-A. Yes; I heard some of them say that there were too 
many white people on that island anyway, and they would clear some 
.of them out. 

Q. Do you know that any attempt was made against the Ji\"'es of any 
.of the ,vbite pt>ople there soon afterward I-A.. 1 was told by !\Ir. lIc· 
Jntire that Ite bad been shot at. 

Q. To wbat party did he belon~'-A. To the Democratic. 
Q. Northern or Southern man T-A. Northern maD. 
Q. 'Vas be well known on the island as a Democrat !-A. Yes. 
Q. Did he vote the Democratic tillket t-A. Yes. 
Q. Where is he 1l0wT-A. He is dead. 
Q. Howl-A. Killed by some unknown person wbile walking iu his 

Btore. 
Q. When T-A. A little after dark. 
Q. How long since T-A. About six or se~en days ago. 
Q. Is there anything that occurred at the polls tbat day of any im· 

portance' Were threats made against li~es of Democrats generally'­
A. Yes; threats were made agaillst tbe life of Mr. }IcFall, aDd I ba\"'e 
already answered in reference to threats to kill any colored Ulall who 
voted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Were these threats genernl throughout the dayf-A. No; they 
",ere from about 9 until 2 o'clock; tben everythin{l quieted dowll. 

(~. Did any Democrats attempt to ~ote after 2 o'clock !-A. No. 
Q. Wben was Mr. McFall dri",en away from the polls, and did he reo 

turn T-A. He was driven oft' about 10 o'clock, and did not return. 
Q. Did anyone distribute Democratic tickets after he left T-A. No. 
Q. Was it safe tor a man to vote the Democratic ticket on tbat day f­

A. It was np to 9 o'clock. 
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Q. How afterward Y-A. It required some pluck to do it. 
Q. After the row commenced Wag it or not possible for a colored man 

to \"000 openly the Democratic tickeH-A. No; it W8S not. 
Q. Would it have been safe for a colored man to have votell the Dem­

ocratic ticket before the row commenced f-A. Ne; not in my opinion. 
Q. Did any colored men express their inten tion, before the election, 

tol"ooo the Democratic ticket. '-A. Yes; several of them. 
Q. You stated that several had expressed their intention to vote the 

Democratic ticket; can you state how many of them f-A. About 
twenty that I know of; I might add that more would have done 80 had 
they Dot been afraid. 

Q. Do you know the greater portion of til" people on the island !-A. 
~o, sir; I know abont one·third of the \'oting population. 

Q. Did these men vote the Democratic ticket. If not, why not f-A. 
Oolyone that I know of; the rest were afraid. 

Q. Is it or not yoor opinion that the result of the election W8S cbanged 
by these threats and violence at that precinct '-A. Yes, sir; I believe 
the Democratic party would have got a great mallY more votes but for 
the thream and violence. 

Q. About how many women were at the polls !-A. I suppose there 
were some thirty or forty in the vicinity. 

Q. Do you know whether the managers were sworn that day f-A. 
~Oj I was sworn, but don't know about the others. 

Q. Were the voters at that poll known to you to be qualified voters T­
A. To the best of my knowledge they were .. I think there was some 
repeating dooe, but could not swear positively. 

Cross-examined by A. H. Ezeikel, couosel for contestee: 
Q. How long have you lived on Hilton Head '-A. Nearly two years. 
Q. How long have you ceased to live there Y-A. About three months. 
Q. Wby did you leave '-A. Because I was disguste<l with it. 
Q. What caused you to become disgusted T-A. After having live(l 

nearly two years npon the islaod in friendly relations with all the col­
ored people and then to he cursed and abused as I W88 on election· day 
for ooly carrying out my duties as a mauager of electiou, was enough 
to disgust me. 

Q. And that was why you left t-A. Yes. 
{~. Are you a married man i-A. No. 
Q. Did or did you not make np your mind previous to the election to 

le.ave the island ou account of there not being any society f-A. No; I 
did Dot. 

Q. Did you say so after the election !-A. Yes; I did say that there 
IrllS DO society 00 tbe island to induce an intelligent and cultivatecl man 
to remain there, but that was not the cause that drove me away from it. 

Q. Wbat did the colored people mean by saying there was no use for 
Democrats to vote bere, aod that they would be badly beaten f-A. At 
that time I think it was merely a speech of bravado. 

Q. YOll spoke of being abused, and said that the abuse came from 
Republicans; how do you know tbe.r were Republicans !-A. Because 
I was abused by them and called a damn Democrat, and it is very natu­
ral to conclude that a man of your own party would not curse a.nd abuse 
YOD. 

Q. Are you a Republican or a Democrat f-A. I am a Democrat, sir. 
Q. Were you e\"er allied with tbe Republican party Y~A. I dill try 

two years ago to work in the party in opposition to J. Douglas Robert­
@QD, but found the contact so obnoxious that I withdrew ill disgnst. 
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Q. Were you el'er a member of a,'UepubJican convention f-A. So; I 
was not; I ,vas sent there as a delegate, but was not admitted. 

Q. Were YOil sent by Hepnblicans T-A. I was sent by ltepublicans 
and Democrats; meu who called themseh-es conservatives. 

Q. Have YOll en~' made a RE'publican speech I-A. Yes; I think I 
have. 

Q. Where, and on what occasion !-A. I made it iu tbe convention, 
in Beanfort, two years ago. 

(~. Was that a Republican convention T-A. Yes. 
Q. You stated that you would lJot like to be placed in the position as 

manager of election again. Was it or was it not through duplicity that 
you were afraid Y-A. No. 

Q. Then state why.-A. On account of the boisterous and riotous pro­
ceedings of members of the Republican party. 

Q. Give the names of some of the party that struck at Mr. McFaIl.­
A. I could not gh-e the namE's. I saw a wbole crowd of them. leonId 
not swear to their names. 

(~. Gi \'e the names of some that escortelll\Ir. l\lcFall to your bouse.­
A. Sam Black, and I think a )Irs. Norris. I could not see well who 
they were; could not swear to Mrs. Norris. 

Q. 'Vbat was Sam Black's politics T-A. ]o'roru bis conversation to 
me I think he leans more to the Democrats tban Republicans. . 

Q. How long have YOll known l\lclntire f -A. For two years or more. 
(~. Did you ever know him to attE'nd a Republican convention f-A. 

No. 
WM. S. DRAYTON. 

Sworn and subscribed to before me tbis 15th day of February, 1877. 
[SEAL] :rtl. R. COOPER, 

Notary Ptlblic. 

Tbe court herE' adjourned to 9 o'clock a. m. Thursda~', the 15th instant. 

THURSDAY, Feb-ruaryI5, 1877-9 a. m. 
Court met pursuaut to adjournment, at tbe Mansion House, Port 

Royal, Sontb Carolina. 
Present, George D. Tillman, contestant, and William Elliott, his coun­

sel. 'V. S. Drayton presented himself for completion of bis cross-exam­
ination. Neither the contestee nor his counsel being present, the ex­
amination was postponell until 10.30 a. m., at which hour, neither 
contestee nor his counsel appearing', the witness, W. S. Drayton, was 
discharged, and the examination of the contestant's other witnesses 
resumed. 

~I. R. COOPER, 
Nota,'y Pu-blic. 

In tbe matter of the contest between George D_ Tillman and Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of tbe United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
COI/Ilty of Beaufurt: 

FEBRUARY 15, 187i. 
nANDALL HEYWARD, (colored,) a witness of legal age, pro(luced by 

contestant upon due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference 
to questions propounded by contestant's counsel. 

Present, William Elliott, connsel for contt'stant. 
(~uestion. State your nam£', age, resilience, and occupation.-Answer. 
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Randall Heyward; aged about thirty years; li ,'e at Hilton Head; I am 
an engineer by occupation. 

Q. At what precinct were you at the election on the 7th of November 
last!-A. I was at Mitchellville precinct, on Hilton Head Island. 

Q. When did you get there and when did YOllleave T-A. I got there 
abont 10 o'clock and I left about 3 o'clock. 

Q. What were the peol)le doing when YOll got there '-A. When I 
first got there, sir, I heard the riot amongst the colored folks, and I gets 
up; I listens, and see what the riot was ahout. 

Q. About how many people were there f-A. About nearly on to two 
hundred head of people, sir. 

Q. Did yon see l\Ir. Mclfall there '-A. No, sir. 
Q. State how much of a riot was going on f-A. There was a right 

good riot going on. 
Q. By white or colored people '-A. By colored people, sir. 
Q. Did they bave any arms or sticks f-A. They had sticks; walk-

ing-sticks, as usual, sir. . 
Q. Did you hear any threats against Democrats !-A. When I first 

got tbere I heard the riot. I 'stinctly axe(l what it was about, and it 
'las to my ears that Mr. McFall had been tbere wid some fraud tickets, 
and I said to dem what did he mean by dnt; and when I said to him 
lIhatdid he mean by it, he give m0 de answer; and when he give me 
de answer about £lese fraud tickets, I made an answer, ". ell, ef there 
iuoy here show me one, and he didn't. "."ell! I was del'e from 10 to 
3 o'clock; seen no fraud tickets at all dat day. 

Q. Who was this you asked-:\Ir. McFall T-A. No. I did not see 
)[r.llcFall at all that day. It was a Republican I axed, and it was 
past in my hearings no Democrat should vote dat day, aud before the 
~leetion came on they said so. I was rllnning my engine, and they had 
come around where I was at work and had made use of words tbere dat 
de Democrack shouldn't vote. I made an answer to 'em tIat the\" were 
ignorant speaking that away; dat we bad been \"oting and ne,:er has 
l'I'Ceired aoy good yet. . . 

Q. What did they threaten to do to men that ,otell tbe Democratic 
:ieket T-A. They said dat dey wouhl kill de lass one dat vote a Dem­
:>erat ticket. 

Q. Was tbis said before the election aud at tbe polls T-A. Yes, a 
iood little while before de election, and at de polls, too, and I sail! at 
Ie time that I think we all better ,"ote for one of our own men. 

Q. How long did this riot at tbe polls last I-A. Lasted about two 
1001'S after I got there. 

Q. Were there aoy women tberef How many, and what were they 
loiugT-A. Yes, there was 1:\ lot of dem there had stip-ks, coming from 
I[r. Drayton's side up towards de polls. I axed one of them where she 
leen. Said she went to run Mr. McFall, and I laughed at her. 

Q. What were they dOing; were thpy making this riot !-A. Tiley had 
:on lIr. McFall and were coming !lack to the polls, and as they walked 
~p Air. Rile,--
.Q. Was Riley a white man and a Democrat I-A. YeFl, sir; thpyasked 

hIm was he ~oing to vote. He said, " Yes." "What side is ;rou going 
10 rote?" He says, " I don't know yet." Tlll'Y said, " 1f you don't vote 
dt Republican ticket yon sha'u't \'ote at aU." He says, " YeR, I will." 
They says, "When you do vote we'll see what ticket you vote." 

\A. n. Ezeikel, counsel for contt'stec.>, bere appeared, 1~ o'clock m.) 
.A. He said, " I doil't care n dum who kllOws wht're I vote. I'll ,-ote 
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to-day; and I will vote the right ticket." They said, " You better vote 
de right ticket; if you don't, we wiII give you de devil." 

Q. Did you see ?tIro Politzer come up to vote f-A. Yes. 
Q. ,Who was with him T-A. lir. Lightborne, lir. Kirk, Air. Kleine. 

Soon as he got to de window he waH surrounded, and they said he 
shouldn't vote. In de mean time he walked off from de window. They 
followed him, seeking him what ticket he was going to vote. Finally, 
he said that he was going to vote the Democratic ticket. They said. 
"No, you won't; not to-day." He said, "Yes I will; rll vote just as I 
dam please." "No, you won't, sir; not bere, to-day." In the mean time 
Doctor Wilder ddes up, says, "Boys, keep quiet." lIr. Politzer goes 
back to the window, with a wbole passel of men aroond him, dung ill 
his vote, walked away from the window, jumped in his buggy, and left. 
l\Ir. Drayton was inside of de house,.just about when as I was goin to 
make my time to vote. They got so hot out doors--

Q. Who do you mean by they '-A. The people. de Ulen folks out 
doors. Says," Ef you don't keep quiet out of doors ,:--

Q. Who said that f-,-A. Mr. ])rayton-'· Tbat I will have you ar· 
rested." The use of word was made back to him, " You come out dat 
hoose, sir." He give no answp.r-there was no answer given, and there 
was 110 more said to him. "'hen I went to vote I was axed to look at 
my ticket. 

Q. They wanted to look at your ticket !-A. Yes, sir; the men out­
side. I says," No, sir; no one sees my ticket;" in de mean time another 
man said Heyward was all right. 

Q. How did you manage to vote t-A. Me' I had to put in my vote, 
sir. on a sort of a sly. I had a reason to do it. 

Q. State the reason.-A. The threatens what's been mude on the ground 
at the election-poll. At once I hael an idier not t.o vote, bllt ater I went 
there I thought I would like to vote, and did cass my vote, thro' all of 
de big threatens what's de give. I lIidn't mind any of it. 'cause I didn't 
think that there was any man on lie ground better that I was. 

Q. You said you voted on the sly; how did you do it f-A. Well, sir, 
I went Ul) to the box to cass my vote-the reason that I say I voted ou 
a sly is because I heard what was passed before I did vote. 

Q. What ticket did you vote !-A. I voted the Democratic ticket. 
Q. Did you let the people aronnd you see the ticket '-A. ~o, sir. 
Q. Why not '-A. Well, sir, they give such threatens \vhat they 

woold do with a man if he did vote it, is my reasons. 
Q. Could a colored man have voted the Democratic ticket openly there 

that day f-A. I don't think he could, sir. 
Q. Do :\"ou know of any men that would have 'Voted the Democratic 

ticket that day but for the threats t-A. Yes, sir; I know three. 
Q. Can you give their names '-.-\.. Yes, sir, if it is necessary. 
Q. Do you object to gi.ing them 't-A. Yes, sir; bot I suppose I can 

give them. 
Q. Why do you obj('ct to giving them f-A. Because I don't feel dis­

posed of giving their names at all. 
Q. Can't you give the reaHon why you don't want to give their namest 

-A. Yes, sir; my reason is this: They dou't waut the people on Hilton 
Head to know that dey was going to vote as I did. 

Q. Why '-A. Well, sir, there is a sort of a dread since I been sum­
mons for here. 

Q. Does the dread there last as long as this from the election !-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Has any Democrat be('n killed down there since the election' 
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(Objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. None only Mr. }Iclntire. 
Q. When was he killed f-A. On l\IolHlay night, sir. 
Q. Is it known who killed him f-A. No, sir. 

39 

Q. Do yoo know how he was killed T-A. I heard he was shot, sil'. 
Be was killed in his store, sir, going f1'om the store into his office. 

Q. Night or day '-A. Night, sir; about quarter past seven. 
Q. 1)0 you know whether or 110t he had ever been shot at before T­

A. Yes, sir; he told me he had. 
Q. Since the election T-A. Yes, sir; since the election. 
Q. You lIaid that there wt>re three men that would have voted tbe 

Democratic ticket. Were there not more that would '-A. Yes, sir; I 
think so, but these are all that I am certain of. 

Cross·examined by A. H. Ezeikel, counsel for contelltee : 
Q. Who told you that McFall bad bogus tickets on the grouud T-A. 

Wen, I helud it; no certain person; a lot of them mentioned it. 
Q. Can't yoo give the names of any of the parties f-A. No, I can't; 

there was so many of them that I can't answer that. 
Q. Bow loog have you lived on the island '-A. Four years. 
Q. Do you koow mallY persons on the island T-A. Yes; I know a 

good many by face. 
Q. Do you know any by namel-A. Yes, a few. 
Q. Was any in the crowd who told you of these bogus tickets T­

A. Yes, but there was so many'speaking to me. 
,Q. G!ve the names of those whom you know.-A. Well, I don't think, 

811', I wlll. 
Q. Bow do yoo know they saw McFall T-A. I heard it. 
Q. Who asked Riley if he was going to ,'ote !-A. A passel of women. 
Q. Who said they woold see his ticket, if he voted '-A. Some men 

folks . 
. Q. Can you gi\"e the names of any of them Y-A. Well, not exactly 

ngbt. 
Q. Who said that Politzer should not vote T-A. Well, sir, there was 

a wbole crowd that said so. 6-

bQ• (Jan you gh'e the names of any T-A. No, there were' so many of 
t em. 

AQ· Can you give the name of one or more who sorrounded him T­
. No, I can't, there were so many. 
Q. Who asked him wbat ticket he was going to voteT-A. Well, the· 

same crowd that was round him. 
QQ' Who said he shoold not vote as he damn pleased T-A. Noone • 
. ' Who said that he should not ,"ote at all '-A. The whole. crowd 

said so. I couldn't pronounce any certain one. 
,Q. Can you give the names of' any that was in that crowd T-A. I can 

give th~ name of soDle, but they may not be the right ones. 
J ~ Give their names.-A. There was Jack Dailey, Josiah Wright. 
~ t ,Riley, Isaac Jenkins. They were in there. and plenty more. I 

r 3mly saw them. . ' 
I Q. Where are they now '-A. They are at Hilton Head, or was when 

came away. 
QQ. ~\re you a Republican or a Democrat T-A. I am a Democrat. 

, Were you ever a Republican f-A. Yes. 
Q. Bow long have you been a Democrat t-A. This is the first year. 

tb~i/S lir. Politzer a Rt>publican or a Democrat !-A. A Democrat, I 
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Q. Was not l\lr. Politzer trying to create a row on that dayT-A. ~o. 
Q. Wh9 asked you to let them look at your ticket I-A. Edward 

Murray. 
Q. 'Vho said that Heyward was all right '-A. It was a mau that 

lives there in Mitchellville. He knows me, but I don't know his name. 
Q. Is he a Republican or a DemocraU-A. Republican. 
Q. Who made the threats that caused you to hesitate whether you 

would vote or not T-A. I can't teU you who it was, because there was 
a lot of tbem. 

Q. Can't you gi\"e t\le names of one or more of them '-A. Xo, I 
can't. They spoke it for e\"erybody to hear. 

Q. You spoke of being afraid to vote. Why did you tbink afterward 
that there was no man on the ground better than yourself f-A. "~ell, 
sir, I thought I was a free man. 

Q. Were you sworn before depositing your voteT-A. Yes. 
Q. Why do you think a colored man could not ha\"e voted the Demo­

cratic ticket publicly T-A. Because the threats were made so bea\"y 
beforehand. 

Q. You stated in your direct examination that three would have Toted 
were it not for threats; will you gi\"e their names T-A. Aco Fioger80n, 
Jack Mungen, and a man they call Shaky Bob. 

Q. Where are these men now!-A. Two of them is to Hilton Head; 
the other went off last Friday. 

Q. Gi\"e the name of the one that left on last Friday.-A. Bob, 
Shaky Bob. 

Q. Where did be go T-A. To SI\\"annah; I heard him say so. 
Q. These three men you spoke of, are they Republicans or Demo­

crats '-A. Republicans now. 
Q. Did they tell you that they did not want the people on Hilton 

Head to know that they intended to '\"ote the Democratic ticket!­
A. Yes, they did. 

Q. Wby T-A. I didn't ax their reason. 
his 

RANDALL + HEYWARD. 
mark. 

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 15tb day of February, A. D. 
1R77. 

[SEAL.j M. R. COOPER, 
},' otal'Y Ptlblic. 

In the contest between Geo. D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat in 
the United States Congress. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
COllnty of Beaufort: 

FEBRUARY 16, 18;7. 
CLARENCE B. KIRK, a witnl'ss of lawful age produced by contestant, 

upon due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to questions 
propounded by counsel for contestant. 

Present, William Elliott, counsel for contestant. 
Question. State your name, age, residencl', and occupation.-Answer. 

Clarence B. Kirk; forty,one years of age in l\1ay next; reside at Bhlft'tOO, 
Beaufort COllOty, South Carolina. Cotton-planter by profession. 

Q. Where were yon at the election on Xoycmber last, on the sc\"entb 
day of No\"ember !-A. On Hilton Head Island. 

Q. \Yerc you employed there at that time T-A. I W8S, sir. 
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Q. What precinct, if any, did you \"ote at on that ~ay t-A. At Mitch­
ellville. 

Q. State when you arri\'"ed at the polls and what took place while you 
were tbere.-A. I arrived there about two o'clock; on my way, just be· 
fore I got to the polls, I met Capt. John McFall, who told me it was no 
use for me to go to the box because I being a Democrat I would not be 
permitted to vote, and asked if we were al·med. I stated 110. I asked 
Captain l\lcFall what was the matter. He stated that the women had 
roo him off of the ground with sticks and clubs because he was n. 
Democrst, and advised me not to go; that they would kill me if I did. 
I told him I would vote or die ill the attempt to do so. 

(A. H. Ezeikel, counsel for contestee, here arri\'"ed.) 
Witness continues: 
I went on to the box. When I arrived t.here, I was immediately sur­

rounded by a number of women and men, black people, all having clubs 
and sticks iu their hands. I was llot known at first by the people. I 
was soon, howe\"er, recognized by some of them as their former owner. I 
did not vote immediately, because both men and women on the ground 
swore tbat no (lamn Democrat should yote at that box. In looking 
toward tbe polls about thirty paces from ,,""here I was then standing I 
88W a crowd of mE'n armed with clubs completely surroundine; Mr. 
Politzer and Mr. Kleine and a Northern man formerly of the United 
States Navy, and from their threatening attitude-still swearing that no 
damn Democrat shonld vote there that day-caused me to approach the­
party a little nearer to bear what was the trouble; I learned that this 
Nortbern man-whose name I forget-desired to \"'ote, Mr. Kleine and 
lIr. Politzer arguing with the negroes that he had a right to vote, 
the negroes swearing with the most terrible threats that he should not 
vote and tbat they would not let him vote, amI he did not vote. Sbortly 
after I saw 1\Ir. Politzer go up to the box to vote. Be was followed and 
snrrounded by a number of negroes armed with:sticks and clubs, and 
when he attempted to put his yote in the box I saw a powerful negro, 
with a stick, standing in his rear, who cursed him and told him that if 
he put tbat ticket in the box he would kill him. llr. Politzer told him 
be would be damned if he wouldn't vote it, and did vote it. After Mr. 
Politzer ,"oted he told Dr. Wilder who was trial-justice on the island, 
that be should arrest that man not only for intimidatillg him but 
for tbreatening his life. Dr. Wilder did not arrest him. 

Q. Did he give any reason for not arresting him '-A. No; not at 
tbat time, lSir. I did not yote immediately, because tbe poll was com­
pletely in the possession of about a hundred negrof's armed with clubs, 
swearing that no damn Democrat should vote there. In the mean time, 
while waiting for an opportunity to vote, I was accosted by 8e'-eral 
negroes wbo advised me not t.o attempt to vote while the crowd was 
tbere, or I wonld certainly be killed; thltt they too desired to vote the 
~mocratic ticket, but was afraid to do so. As soou as t.he crowd had 
dIspersed from the window where the box was held, I went up and \"oted. 
As soon 8S I voted, Mr. Kleinf', M,·. Politzf'r, and I got into our wagon 
to leave the ground. I heard Mr. Politzer tell the lDan who threatened 
bis life that if there was any law ill the land he would prosecute him. 
This man replied, "Yon had better go, for don't you know what is going 
on at Blufftou'" The rumor then had reached us that there was terrible 
fi~hting going on at Bluffton. We dro,"e over to Mr. Robert C. ?tIcIn· 
tIre'S store. After we got thf're Dr. Wilder came in ; 1\lr. Politzer 
asked him (objected to by counsel for contestee) why, as an executiye 
officer on tbe ground, he did 110t arrest this man. Dr. Wilder repliell 
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that if he attempted to do so that it would have created a terrible riot 
or row. 

Q. What time did you leave the polls f-A. 1 think about one o'clock. 
I would judge it to have been about that time. 

Q. Did this condition of things last while you were there T-A. The 
whole time, sir. 

Q. Was it or not possible, in your opinion, for a colored man to \"'ote 
the Democratic ticket openly at the polls that tlay!-A. ~o, sir; it was 
not possible. 

(Objected to by contestee's connse1.) 
Q. What, in your opinion, would ha,pe been the result of the attempt!­

A. The death of the man who made the attempt. 
(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) 
Q. ·Was the result of the election changed by tbese threats aOlI 

violence!-A. Yes, sir; in my opinion it wus. 
(Objected to.) 
Q. State the grounds of your opinion.-A. Well, sir, becanse I know 

colored men who would ha\"e \"'otetl the Democratic ticket if they had 
been permitted to do so. 

Q. What was the feeling of Republicans toward Democrats on that 
island prior to the election f 

(Objected to.) 
A. Tbe feeling was very bitter, sir. 
Q. How indicated '-A. It was indicated by plain, open tbreats, pre­

vious to the election, that they would kill any damn DemoCl'at who. 
voted. I heard this time and time again before tbe election. 

Q. Was these threats made 11l1blicly '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What is the condition of Hilton Head Island as to civilization and 

good orderf-A. Well, sir, I shouldn't say it was in a \"'ery healthy 
condition. 

Q. Did you hear any threats against Mr. McIntire on the day of 
election or previous to the election' 

(Objected to by contestee's couD8e1.) 
A. I can't say that I diu, sir, on the l1ay of ~he election. I had heard 

negroes say previous that he was a damn Democrat. 
Q. What has become of lir. llcIntire 7-A. He has been m.urdered, 

sir. 
Q. What is the general belief in the community as to the cause of bis 

murder' 
(Objected to.) 
A. Well, sir, I ba,pe beard parti~s say that lIr. McIntire, in tbeir 

opinion, was killed for fear of his political influence at tbe next elec­
tion-which ,vas considerable on that island. I can't say tbat this is 
the pre\"'ailing opinion. 

Q. What were bis politics Y-A. He was a Democrat, prominently so. 
Q. l\[r. Kirk, on Hilton Head Island, and otbers of these Rea islands 

similarly situated if repeating at the ballot-boxes were practiced by 
Republican \"'oters, would it or not, in your opinion, have beeu possible 
for the opposite party to prevent or detect it f-A. I don't tbink it is 
p08sibltl under the existing election Inw to prevent it. 

Q. Please state tbe provisions in tbe law referred to.-A. In tbe first 
place the commissioners of election are generally Rel)ublicaus, and tbe 
managers, genera)]y, also. My observation bas been that they ratber 
encourage ilJegal \"otes than otherwise. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VB. SMALLS. 43 

Q. Is there any registration reqoired prior to elections in this Statel­
A. Yo, sir. 

Q. Are '\'oters requiretl to \"ote at the precinct near which tbey re­
side, or can they ,"ote at any }lrecinct in the coonty I-A. They can vote 
just where they please, sir. They are not required to \"ote at the pre­
cinct near which tbey live. 

Q. How far is Bilton Heatl from Bloffton; Paris Islllnd from Hilton 
Head; Port Royal from Paris Island; Beaofortfrom Port Royal; Ladies' 
Island. from Beaufort I-A. Hilton Head, from Blull'ton, is about foor 
miles to the nearest point. Hilton Head. to Paris Island is about two 
miles. To tbe nearest point Paris Island to Port Royal is about two 
miles and a half; and from Port Royal to Beaufort, about five miles; 
and from Beaufort to Ladies' Island is aboot one mile. 

Q. 'Vhat is the general means of communication between these 
placea 'f-A. By boats; row·boats'and sail·boats. 

Q. From your knowledge of the political fe~ling on Hilton Head Isl­
and, would it, in your opinion, be safe for a coloretl man on that island 
to proclaim bimself a Democrat at tbis day, or to state publicly that he 
desired to vote that ticket at the late election' 

(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) 
A. I do not think, sir, that it would be safe for a colored man to pro· 

claim himself a Democrat on that island. 
Cross·examined by A. H. Ezeikel, counsel for contestee: 

Q. ,V bere do you reside Mr. Kirk !-A. At Bluffton. 
Q. How long have yoo resided there f-A. All my life. It has always 

been xny home. I have lived temporarily from it for a year or so. 
Q. A boo t what distance were the pons at Bluffton from yonr hoose T­

A. I do not know, sir. I was not at Rluffton on election-day. I was at 
Hilton Head. I don't know the house in which the poll was beld. 

Q. 'Vbere di(l you yote at the election held in 1874 I-A. I think I 
,"ote(} at the Fording Island precinct. It has since been broken up. 

Q. Did you see lIr. McFall on election day; if so, where '-A. I did 
meet bun coming from the polls in November last. 

Q. ~bere were you coming from '-A. From Seabrook's wharf, Hil· 
ton Head Island, going to the polls. 

Q. Did you hear the men and women say yourself that no damn Dem-
ocrat should vote at that }loll !-A. Yes, sir; I did. . 

Q. Can yon give any of their names t-A. No, sir; I don't know that 
I can. I kuow bot \"Ilry few there. 

Q- Can you giye the names of any of the parties that surrounded Pol­
itzer I-A. I don't tbink 1 cun. I don't think 1 remember any of them. 

Q. About how many were they T-A. I think upwards of 25 or 30 at 
that t.iIDe. There were a great many more on the ground, of course. 

Q. ~here are these men now T-A. On Hilton Head, I presume, sir. 
I ba ven ~t seen any of them since. 

Q. Can yon give the names of any of thfl men who pre\"ented the man 
in McIntire'8 employ frem voting I-A. I do not think, sir, that I can 
gi'\'e tbe names of those who made the threats, for they were strangers 
to IDe. 

Q. ~ere yon at the polls the entire day I-A. No, sir. 
Q~ What time did you get there, and what time ditl you lea\"e Y-A. I 

think sir, it was about 10 o'clock when we got there, and about 1 when 
we left. We bad no time-piece. 

Q. How do YOll know that this man did not "ote before you got 
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there f-A. Because he went with me. We went in the same cart to· 
gether. 

Q. Were you together the whole time after your arrival !-A. No, sir. 
But we were never more than ten paces apart, I don't think. He was 
never out of my sight. 

Q. Tben he could have ,oted without your knowing it !-A. No, sir. 
Q. Where was he when you voted !-A. He was standing at tbe cart 

that we came in, when I voted. 
Q. Did yon leave togethert-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Give the name of the man that stood in the rear of Politz{!r and 

told him he should not vote that ticket.-A. I do not remember it. He 
was a stranger to me. I heard l\[r. Politzer call bis name that day, but 
I don't remember it now. 

Q. Did Politzer vote!-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What ticket did he vote f-A. He voted a Democratic ticket, sir. 
Q. Where is Politzer now f-A. I belie\'e be is on Hilton Head, sir. 
Q. Then he was not killed, was he I-A. No; not yet. 
Q. Gh-e the names of some of the persons that advised you not to 

,"ote the Democratic ticket or you would be killed, and that they de· 
sired to vote that ticket but were afraid to do it.-A. 'Yell, sir, I don't 
remember their names. They knew me. I had not seen them before 
since the war, and did not know their names. . 

Q. Why do you say tbat it would have been death to any colored 
man to have ,oted the Democratic ticket !-A. " ... ell, because I have 
heard colored men before the election swear that they would kill any of 
them wbo ,oted the Democratic ticket, and I heard many of them say 
so on that day at the polls. 

Q. Oan you give the names of any who you heard say so I-A. No, 
sir; they were all strangers by name to me. 

(l\Ir. Alfred Williams here appeared and stated that he was counsel 
for the contestee, and was authorized to accept service of any papers for 
him.) 

Q. Did you hear anyone say that no Democrat should vote there; 
and, if so, what are their names !-A. I ha,e already stated that they 
were strangers to me! and I can't give names; but I heard a great many 
say so.' 

Q. What ticket did you ,"ote T-A. I ,oted the Democratic ticket, 
sir. • 

Q. Give the names of the colored men that said they would vote the 
Democratic ticket, but were afraid.-A. I think of one just now. His 
·name was Jack Manuel. There were several,but I did not know any 
more names. 

Q. Oan you give the names of some of the negroes whom you heard 
say McIntire was a damn Democratf-A. No, sir; it was before the 
-election, and I don't remember. 

Q. How do you know that McIntire was murdered '-A. I bave heard 
so from men who saw bim, an(l who was there after he was killed. 

Q. Then YOll don't know of your own knowledge that he was killed T­
A. Yes, sir; I do know that he was killed. 

Q. 'Ybo told you tbat he was killed on account of his political opin­
ions !-A. No one told me so; I have not made that assertion. 

Q. Did you not state, in your direct examination, that you were told 
fiO in conversation with others T-A. No, sir; I don't think I said so. 

Q. Was he killed before or after the election T-A. He was killed after 
the election. 

Q. How long after !-A. Two or three months. 
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Q. Was Mr. McIntire at the polls on election.day '-Yes, sir; but he 
was not there when I was there. I knew him to ha\'e been there. 

Q. Do you kDOW what ticket he voted '-A. He told me that he voted 
the Democratic ticket, sir. 

Q. DOD't you know that the canse of McIDtire'~ death is a matter 
which the .corouer's jury have beeu 'unable to decide. and shrouded iu 
mystery '-A. No, sir; I did Dot know it, because I had not seen a report 
of the jury. I ha'-e just heard you state so. 

Q. Do you know why he was killed f-A. No, sir; I can't say that I 
do know. 

C. B. KIRK. 
Sworn and subscribed to befllre me this 16th day of February, A. D. 

1877. 
[SEAL.] )1. R. COOPER, 

}I otary Public. 

In the contest between George T. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a scat 
in the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
County of Beaufort: 

FEBRUARY 16, 1877. 

JOH:i lIeF ALL, a witness of legal age, produced by coot('staut upon 
due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to qnestions 
proponnded by counsel for contestant: 

Qnestion. Please state Y9ur name, age, occupation, anel residence.­
Answer. John McFall; about 50 years old; reside at Port Royal, and I 
amafarmer. 

Q. At what precinct were you at the last election held on the 7th of 
Sovember last '-A. At Mitchellville. Hilton Head Island. 

Q. Had yon resided on Hilton Head; and, if so. w hen and how long f­
A. I went to Hilton Head in January, 1876, staid there until after the 
election in November. 

Q. In the interest of what party dill yon attend at that precinct T-A. 
Dell10cratic party. 

Q. State whether or not all the candidates of each party were voted 
for on the same ticket.-A. Yes, all voted for on the same ticket. 

Q. Who were the candillates for Congress from this district on the 
Democratic and Republican tickets respectively f-A. George D. Tillman 
Democratic candidate, and Robert Smalls Republican candidate. 

Q. State what time you arrived at the polls, and what occurred while 
~ou were tbere.-A. I arrived there fifteen or twenty minutes after six 
1n .the morning, amI tbere was about teu or fifteen people there, and I 
thmk there had been some twenty or thirty votes given in. 'Villiam Reed 
asked me if' I was going to vote the Democratic ticket' I told him I 
was, and some one of tbe crowd, I don't know who-I know Reed and 
one White-said that I had better vote soon, that there wouldn't be many 
Democratic tickets polled there that day. About that time Wrenty 
Grea\'es walked up; I remarked that I bad promised Wrenty two years 
ago; that I would vote for him for the legislatnre at the next race. I 
took oot a Democratic ticket, and erased one of our candidates' name, 
aud pot on Wrentie's name, and voted for it. In the conrse of a half 
hour I suppose there was fifty or sixty voters came on the ground. 
Some people from Spanish Wells-l tbink Campbell was the name of 
one of them. 

I was talking to Read and others, and he told me to hnsh, they dill not 
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allow any Democrat talk on that island. I was telling a political anecdote 
I had heard. Read said that he had known me for fonr or ft ve years, and 
I had never meddled in politics, and he did not think I was a bad man, 
and that he did not think I ought to be insulted. Some one asked me if 
I had any Democratic tickets; I told them yes, plenty; and they Sl5ked 
me for one. I gave one to two or three to each of them, and told them 
I knew they would not vote them, but for them to take them home and 
put them in their Bibles for future reference to see who their officers 
would be. 

A good deal of excitement was gotten up about that time and hard 
words used by this Spanish Wells crowd. About that time Mr. McIn· 
tire and Mr. Riley (O'Riley, I believe his name is) dro'\"e up, and the 
crowd had collected to a goodly number. I suppose there was two hun­
dred there by that time, and they got up a muss with Wrenty Grea'\"e8. 
They found ont that he \vatt scratching Robert Smalls' name off of the 
Republican ticket, and Greaves had to give up his tickets; and they 

. placed five guards around the polls to see that no more scratched tickets 
went in, and they had tickets in their hands to distribute, Republican 
tickets. They goardf'd against scratched or Democratic tickets, and 
allowed none but Republican tickets to pass. 

The colored people had to vote the straight Republican ticket. J gave 
lIr. O'Riley some of my tickets to distribute, and found that e'\"ery ticket 
we gave out was destroyed by this circle of police, and none bnt Repub­
lican tickets allowed to pass. About that time I was surrounded by 
about half of the crowd and ordered to leave, that my presence was 
obnoxious. They commenced shoving me and knocked my hat off. I 
made my way to the polls and claimed protection from the managers, 
and Mr. Drayton, ,vhom I thought was United States supervisor. He 
called the attention of the crowd and read the law on the subject. The 
crowd sung out that he was a damn liar, that there was 110 such law as 
that, that it was a fixed-up job by the Democrats in Beaufort, and that 
if he thought that he could arrest anybody just to come ont and try it; 
that they would cut him up and stamp bim in the sand. 

I got hold of a colored man by the name of Riley, and asked him to 
walk off out of the crowd with me and keep the crowd back. I ex­
plained my position, told them my instructions from our Democratic 
club, and he got up and told tllem tbat I had a perfect right to dis­
tribute my tickets, a1l(1 not to bother me any more. Tbings got a little 
quiet tben, and I walked off down to Gardner's store, ab~ut sixty yards 
off, I reckon, and got a drink of water, whell a crowd of women, backed 
by men, surrounded me with sticks, garden-palings, and sta\"es, and one 
thing and another, and commenced beating tbe ground all round my 
feet. Some one of them hallooed at them to knock my specks off, then 
I couldn't see, and then tb~y woulu gi\"e me tbe devil. 1 asked them 
what in the world they meant; tbey said they intended to ron me off 
from there. I told them I did not reckon they would do it, and I backed 
up against" cart tbat was standing near by, and they commencffl job­
bing me with sticks and palings, and one got through the lal>el of my 
coat and another got tbrough the back of my coat. 

I got hold of one of the women; Harriet, I tbink her name was. I 
thonght I had better be in among them instead of on the outer edge. 
I then saw. an opening for Gardner's store, and tbought 1 would go in 
there, but the negro men got on the steps and guarded the door, and 
told me not to come in there. I then got on a pair of steps to a shed 
alongside of the store; they were about four steps high. As I was 
going up the steps I passed Sam Black, a colored man, and I asked him 
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if be was going to let those people murder me, amI he said he would 
try and keep them from murdering me, and got on the bottom step in 
front of me, and a colored woman of the name of Nobles got on the 
otber side of me. They kept the licks off of me uutil we had a compro­
mise, which was that I was to lel\ve tbe ground and not to come back 
until six o'clock, that if I did, I was to die in ten minutes. 

I then left and went oyer to 1\lr. Drayton's, three-fourths of a mile off. -
When I had beeu tbere about a balf hour, I suppose, when I beard a 
yell. Summer Christopher, a colored man, went out to the road and saw 
a procession coming with a Hag, aud hallooed to his wife to lock me up 
io tbe lomber-house ; that he expected they were' after me. 

(Objected to by A. H. Ezeikel, coonsl'l for contestee, on the grouml 
that cont'ersations with third persons away from the polls are imma­
terial.) 

I was locbd np in the htmber-house for about an hour and a balf. 
Samoel Black and Christopher forbade the mob from coming on Dray­
too's property, and kept them from coming oft' of the road on to Dray­
ton's property. 

Q. Could you hear what was going on T-A. Yes, every word. 
Q. What was tbe mob sayingf-A. That they wouM not aHow any 

damn Democrats to come on that island. That it was a Republican 
i3land. 

Q. Why were yon locked up in 'tbe honse f-A. For safety; they did 
not know where I was; they thought I was at Drayton's big bouse. 
They left in about an bour, or· au bour and a balf, and went back to 
Mitchellville. I was then let ont and went o\-er to Drayton's house 
until about half past four or fixe o'clock. Doctor Wilder came over and 
wanted me to go o\"er to llitchell\"ilIe witb him to the polls; I declined 
on account of the armistice not being out until six o'clock. I was afraid 
to go back. 

Q. Wbo is this Doctor Wilder: to what party does he belong, and 
wbat position did he bold in reference to the election !-A. Be is a far· 
mer; politician; more of a politician than farmer; belongs to the 
Republican party, and was commissioner of election. 

Q. Did yon return to the polls t-A. :No, sir. About dusk Mr. ?tIc­
Intire drove over in his buggy, and I weut rOllnd Mitchellville and over 
to Bilton Head. 

Q. At what time were you dri ven from the polls; and was there any 
one left there to distribute Demooratic tickets f-A. I was driven off 
about ten o'clock, and Mr. O'Rill'Y was the only one left who had Dem· 
ocratic tickets. 

Q. State what threats, if any, were made against Democrats at the 
polls.-A. A great many threats, especially against McIntire, Drayton, 
and myself. They said t.hey had to clean the island of all the whites, 
e~pecially the damn Democrats, if they had to kill them and chuck them 
iuto Broad River. Some of them remarked that Dr. Wilder was a 
good man and a good Republican, and some of them doubted it, and said 
be was too tbick with llclntire. 

Q. Who was )[r. McIntire, and what was bis politics f-A. Democrat 
tbis year. He had beeu a Oonservativo man before. He voted the 
~traia'ht Democratic ticket, with the exception that he scratched Simpson 
and t'oted for Gleat'es for liellten8nt·got'ernor. 

Q. Was the prominent in politics1-A. No, be was very quiet, aO(I 
popular with the colored people up to the election. He was always called 
a Democrat. 
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Q. Was ill feeling stirred up against him in connection with the elec­
tion f 

(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) 
A. Yes, there was strong feeling against him, so much so, that I ad­

yisell him to leave the island that niogbt; that I had never S8W such an 
infuriated crowd before. I bad seeu rows, but I bad never seen such 
as this in an:r country. 

Q. Whl\t bas become of bim Y 
(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) 
A. lIe bas since been killed. 
Q. Please state when.-A. I belie\'e he was killed abont the night of 

the fifth of this month. 
Q. Do you know whether he was pre\"iOllsly shot at' 
(Objected to by counsel for contestee.) 

. A. Yes; he was shot at in December, and slightly wounueu in the 
shoulder. 

Q. Was it safe for a Democrat to vote at that precinct that day' 
(Objected to.) 
A. Yo' it was not safe. A colore(l Dcmocrat could not ha\"e looted 

there unJer any circnmstances. To show you that I believe the mob 
was in earnest, I left all lily goods and chattels there, and hayen't been 
back after them since, and won't go without a crowd with me. 

Q. ))0 you know of any colored me::l who where prevcnted from yoting 
the Democratic ticket by these threats '-A. Yes; I know of several. 

Q. Is or is it not your opinion that the result of the election was 
changed by these threats at that precinct 1-A. Yes, it was. 

Examination a(ljourned until to-morrow morning at 9 o'clock. 

MANSION HOUSE, 
Port Royal, S. 0., February 16, A. D. 1877. 

In pursuance of the order of adjournment, the taking of these deposi­
tions was resumed. . 

Present, '''m. Elliott, counsel for contestant. !\o one appearing for 
the contestee, the matter is postponed until 10 o'clock. 

The examination is resumed at 10 o~clock. 
Present, Wm. Elliott, counsel for contestant. No one appearing to 

cross-examine the witness John .McFall, for the contestee, he is dis­
charged, and the examination of the contestant's other witnesses re­
sumed. 

After the completion of the examination of C. B. Kirk, by consent of 
the contestant's counsel, John McFall was recalled for cross-examination 
by Alfred Williams, counsel for coutestee. 

Question. State upon what grounds you base your opinion that the 
result of the election was changed by these threats.-Answer. On the 
ground that the crowd around the polls swore that no damn Democrat 
should vote, and threatened to kill any that voted, and that the police 
around the poll examined all the tickets and stopped Wrenty Greaves 
from scratching Smalls' name; so much so, that I advised this crowd­
Kirk, Kliem, and Politzer-not to go up to the polls or th(>y wonld be 
killed. C. B. Kirk, Henry Politzer, F. Kliem. 

Q. Were all these white personsY-A. Yes; and Lightborn(>, ('.sptain 
of the boat, was with them, too. 

Q. Do yon know that they voteel subsequcntly'-A. Yes, sir; Dr. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VS. SMALL~. 49 

Wilder told me in the afternoon that they had voted; that they came very 
near /lettiug iuto a serious difficulty at the polls. 

Q. Do you know, of your own knowledge, that they were prevented 
from 'roting while you were present T-A. I was not there when they 
were. 

Q. Do you know of any persoos who were prevented from voting the 
Democratic ticket I-A. I know of a good many persons who started to 
'·ote the Dl'mocratic ticket, and the pickets took them and tore them 
up, aUll made thelll vote the Republican ticket. 

Q. Please give the nallies of those persous.-A. I could not gh'e 
tbl'ir lIames. I know that they were persons that lh'ed on Dra.Ytoll'~ 
pIllet,. I don't lmow the oames of all the people on the island. 

Q. Do you know the names of these parties f-A. I do not: 
Q. 1>0 you kno\v whether cor not these persolls had voted tliat day ,­

A. Tbey bael not vote(l bt'fore that. 
Q. How do 'yOII koow they had not voted T-A. Bt'canse I saw them 

\'I)te afterward. 
Q. Do you know what ticket thl'Y voted I-A. Yes; the Uepubliean 

tit,ket. 
Q. Diet YOll reael that ticket at the pollt-A. I read the ticket t~:e 

pickets bad. 
Q. Then YOll did not reall the tickets they deposited in the box T­

A. No. 
Q. If ~·ou dill 1I0t read the tickets th~y put in the box, yon conld not 

tell whether they were l{epublican or Democratic tickets, conld you ,­
A. You could jndge pretty well by the number of Democratic tickets 
thatc:\rne ont of tbe box. 

Q. Do ~'on know bow many Democratic tickets came out of the box!-
A. Only from the managers' returns. . 

Q. 1>0 you know of your own knowledge how many votes were cast 
for Mr. Ttlhnall, member of Congrt'ss '-A. No, sir. 

(~. Do you know of any 8'rowed snpporter of Mr. Tillman fur Congre88 
tbat was pl'e'rented from VOtill~ on that day f-A. I tbink I am the only 
man on the island that knew Tillman. There was no special avowt'd 
8UJlJlorter of Mr. Tillman ou tbe island. The straight Democratic 
ticket, which had Tillman's lIame on, would hal'e bet'll "oted by a great 
many if it had not been fOl' threats, and if Wrenty Greave8 had not 
been stopped from 8cratcllillg, a great many would have scrakhetJ Smalls 
olI of their tickets. He had scratched about fifteen ticket8 before they 
(olilld out he was scratching them, when they made him stop it. . • 

Q. NalDe anyone, Mr. McI<'all, that would not have l'oted the 8traight 
Republican ticket.-A. Wrenty Greaves's faction, which i8 about half 
tbe people on the island. 

Q. Name one or more members of that faction who would have votetl 
the tlCrutcbed ticket.-A. Not being acquainted with the voters, I cau't 
l8y. 

Q. Then it is merely a matter of opinion of yours a8 to the number 
of vott'~, and not from your own knowledge, was it '-A. No; it was 
kOllwll'Clge that I gained from 'Vrent.y Greaves. 

Q. Was Wrt'llty Greaves a candidate for public poaition on the Re· 
publican ticket beadt'd by Uobert Smalls jor COllgress '-A. He wa-s on 
th" lower end of the ticket. 

Q. Do you know whether or 1I0t Wrenty F. Greave8 was elecLed to 
any IJOi>lic pol'lition at the lallt election Y-A. Yes; he was elected cOllnty 
oommissioner, I belie\'c. 

Q. DI) .\"1)11 know the number of voters on Hilton Head T -A. Fual' 
H. )Iis. 11· -4 
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hundred and sixty or seventy, sixty or se\'enty.four. That includes 
Dawfuskee and one or two small ishlOds. 

Q. Do you know hO\v many Republican voters there are there '-A. 
I do not, on Hilton Hl'ad proper. 

Q. Do you know how many Democratic ,"oters there were at that 
election !-A. There wl'r~ tt'll votes cRRt-Democratic \'oteR. 

Q. Do JOU know how lIlany Democrats there were on Hilton Head 
on the day of elfction !-A. Ten voted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Do you know, Mr. McFnll, of any Democrat on the iRlan<l who 
was prevented or hindt"rt'd from voting 011 that day !-A. There was 
Done up to the time I It"ft. 

Q. Were.lou 1I0t a bitter partisan of Mr. Tillman at the laRt election' 
-A. No, sir. 

Q. Were you not a partisan in favor of the Democratic ticket !-A. 
Yl's, sir. 

Q. Have you lIut te8tifie(11lrior to this date that you were a strong 
partisan f-A. Strollg aud bitter are diiJt>rent things. 

Q. Were JOu a strong partisan !-A. I was a tolerable strong party 
man. 

Q. You had ne\·l'r been a strong partisan prior to the late election, 
had you T-A. I bave never taken much interest in elections until tlds, 
since the war. 

Q. State whether or not you were (listributing a counterfeit or hni· 
tation Rl'publi(~an ticket on tile tillY of' the election.-A. I did not dis· 
tribute or peddle out allY connterfeit or imitation Republican tickets 
on the day of election. 

Q. State whether or not you distributed a Dl'mocratic ticket, priott>d 
in imitation of the Rt>public3n ticket, on the dny of election.-A. I dis· 
tributed a few red Democratic tickets that looked something like the 
Republican ticket, but al ways told the parties to whom I gave them 
that they were the pure and unadulterated Democratic ticket, Hampton 
ticket. 

Q. Do you know wbetller any of tbt'f'e tickets were voted or not t­
A. There was one ill the box, but I did not give it out. I WitS told 
when I was gh'en theRe tickets, not to fool any oue with them. 

Q. Did you act on those instructions T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. ,Vere these tickets bt'adt'd Democratic tickets, or Rt>lIublicau 

tickets T-A; Thl'Y wt're hl'adt.>d Union Uepublican tickets, sir. 
Q. Did sou see any Republican tickets on that day !-A. Yes, sir. 
~. How wl're the Republican tickets headed !-A. The same way, I 

think. 
Q. Was the ink with which they were printetl the same color !-A. 

Yt>M~ sir; \'ery nearly the Rame color. 
Q. Cuuld you distinguish the difference in the two tickets without 

rt'atiing them T-A. No, sir. They were printed in imitation of the Re­
publican ticket, to protect the timid colored people that wanted to vote 
tht' Democratic ticket, from the mob. 

Q. How do you know that fact f-A. Because it was publicly pro­
claimed that no colored mall shonld \'ote a Democratic ticket 00 theae 
islands, el'lpecial1y 011 Hilloll Head and on Parry lI;land. 

Q. Do yon know who hud theloe tickett! printed !-A. I snl pose the 
StRte t'xeculive cODlmittt.>l'. 

Q. Do you know of lilly 1Ilt'lIlber of the Democratic Jlart~· that di· 
rt'cted that tickets shoulll be pl'iutt'd iu imitation of the Rellublican 
tiel,et, to )Jfotect culm. d 1111'11 who \'ol.-d Ihe Democriltic tit~kt't T-A. 
1"11. 
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Q. Do yon know where these tickets were printed '-A. No. 
Q. Then why do you 8ay these tickets. were printed to protect colored 

meo, as stated '-A. That was the instructions thl\t I got from onr 
club. . 

Q. What club was that i-A. The Port Royal Democratic Club. 
Q. Were not these tickets used at Port Iwyal as well as at Hilton 

Head '-A. No, sir; I was not thert'. 
Q. Do you know where these tickets came from '-I do not. 
Q. State whether or 1Iot, Mr. McFall, tbese imitation Republicall 

tickets bore snch a resemblance to the regular Republican ticket that a 
person who could not read or write could be deceived in them.-A. 
They might be deceived. 

Q. Did tbese imitation Rt'publican tickets contain the name of any of 
the Republican candidates t-A. I think not. 

Q. Were there auy other Democratic tickets distri1>utefl at Hilton 
Head other than these t-A. Y 68. 

Q. Was there not great indignation expressed by Republicans on the 
day of election when they found that you were distrilJUting a. counter· 
feit Republican tickett-A. I did not distribute a counterfeit RepUblican 
ti~ket. . 

Q. Was there not great indignation expre$sed on the da.y of electiou 
,,'hen they (liscovered that you were distri1>uting a Democratic ticket 
printed in imitation of the Republican ticket t-A. Well; right there is 
where the scene opened. I gave this re(l ticket to four men on the Pope 
place j I can't give their name..q; one'd name was Brown. They got up 
to the pickets that were guarding the polls, and th(>y were demanded to 
.how their tickets. This fellow Brown rcfus.,d; 1>l1t the Ilext olle to 
him showed his ticket and said it was a Democratic ticket. Tben the 
mob became infuriated, forced tbe tickets away and tore them up; 
and they put tickets in their hands and marched them to the polls. 
After th(>y had voted the~' demanded where they had got those tickets. 
They said they got them from me; amI then they surroundl'd me, aud 
commenced to shoye rue, and knocked my hat oft', and treated me in a 
very brutish manner, threatening to kill me. I then saw Uilt"y, 1\ tall 
fellow-(Oounsel for cOlltestee o1>jects to tbe aDl~\Ver given to this queM, 
lion for the reason' that the notary objected to the witness repeating 
what he bad already stated in his (Urect testimony; aud upon the wit, 
ness proceeding with the answer, new matter being discovered, the 
notary iosists upon recording the answer. Witness continues)-stalld, 
ing ill the crowd, and asked him to walk oft' to a pile of lumber and 
keep the crowd back; that I wished to explain my llosition to him. I 
explained my position, aod he sung out for the mell 011 the Pope place; 
Brown was one of them; he called him np and asked him if he got that 
ticket from me for a Republican ticket. He said no; tbllt I gave it to 
him for a Democratic ticket, and read the names 011 it to him, and that 
he stUfted to the polls with said ticket, and it was taken away from him. 
Riley then told the crowd that I was not to 1>lame, that I was not try­
ing to deceive the colored people, and it was a free country, and I had 
a right to dlstri1>ute any ticket 1 pleased. 

Q. Tben tbere was imlignation exprl'sscll t-A. Oh! hefore; yl's. 
Q. Thi::l happened some distance froUl the polls, did it not I-A, About 

ninety teet. JUgt across the street. 
Q. Dill yon suffer on this occasion allY bodil,v hurt or illjury f-A. 

Notbiug serious. Had it not been for Sam Black and Mrs. Nohle (tl\'O 
colored peoplf.') I think I would have bl'en killed. 
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Q. After all this occurred, Mr. McFall, you cheerell for Hampton and 
Tilden, didn't you T-A. No, sir. 

Q. When WIIS it you cheered for Hampton and Tihlen T-A. In our 
armistice in which I WRS to leln'e the grounds in ten minutes I claimec.l 
the right to cheer for Hampton and Tilden, at the Drayton place, after 
six o'clock. 

Q. Did you ever make any complaint before any trial justice against 
the parties who committed this violence T-A. 'No, sir. J have not from 
the reason that I COli sider that we haven't any law in this country to give 
a man jnstice if he is wbite. 

Q. Don't ;\·ou know of colored men having been hnng fur killing white 
men T-A. Y .. s; one or two I have hearel of, and I have h .. aOO of about 
twenty mote hllving been tnrlled loose for killillg them. 

Q. Wh('n wl're tlJl'se twenty turned loose that you speak on-A. 
Very latl'ly in this connty; at the last tt'rm of court. 

Q. Don't yon know at the last term of court thRt Mr. TilingbRst, a 
membl'r of the Democratic party, was prosecuting attorney, and had a 
flol. P'·08. enterl'd against these persons T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know of any wbite person ha\'ing been convicted of ba'\'ing 

killed a negro in this COUllt.'" I-A. I do not. 
Q. Haye you e\'er been denied jnstice at the bands of any of the 

officers of the law ill this connty T-A. No, sir; I have never asked jus. 
ticI'. 

Q. Did ;you 1I0t 011 the day of election otf~r 100ner to l,arties to vote 
the Democratic ticket f-A. I did not. 

Q. State whetber or n(lt you were a residt'nt of Hilton Head at that 
time.-A. I was, up to tbe day ofelectioll. J left the next day, and have 
not mOYl'd my property frOID there np toO this time. 

Q. Your family were residing at Port Royal at tbe time of the elec­
tion T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Then yonr resitlenCA Wi\S only temporarily at Hilton Head '-A. 
No, sir; I went tbere to live, and the treatment of the negroes on the 
tiay of election sat.isHed that I could not live there, !lnd I gave up 
my land to the man I bought it from and left. 

Q. Have you suffered any \'iolence at the bands of the p(ml)le of Hil­
ton HeHd since the day of t'lectioll !-A. No, sir; 1 hayell't seen but 
very ffoW of them 8ince; my potatoes and pindars have. 

Q. Di<l you snffer from any yiolence at the hRnds of the colored peo­
ple of Hilton Head prior to the election I-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you take Rny trouble to conceal yonI' political ptt>ferl'lIcl'S 
prior to the election !-A. No. sir. 

Q. Had you publicly avowed that you were a Democrat !-A. Yes. 

Redirect: 
Q. 1\11'. McFall, were all the Repnblican tickets at the polls printed 

the same way! If not state the dilfl·rl·nce.-A. There were two kinds 
that I saw, and I hparll there was a thinl. One was red and one was 
black without any heading-jnst like the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Please state why the illlitRtion ticketM were gh'en to voters.-A. 
They ",(Ore giYl'1l to the timid voters to protect them from the mob of 
the rabid Repnblicans. 

Q. Were t:Jey used fur any other purpose !-A. No, sir. 
Q. You sl\ic1 thnt there were ten Democrats at the polls that day; do 

you mpan that there were no others that "'iMbed to vote the Democratic 
ticket t-A. Yes; there were lots of them tbat would ha\'e voted it but 
for the intimidation and violence. 

JOHN McFALL. 
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Sworn and snbscribetl to before me this 16th day of February, A. D. 
lS77. 

[SEAL.] 1\[. R. COOPER, 
Notary Public. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
ill the Congretis of tho United States. 

}'EDRUARY 17, 1877. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

County of Beaufort: 
MANSION HOUSE, 

Port Royal, 8. a., February 17, 1877. 
The t..lking of depositions was rermmed pursuant to alljournment. 
Prt'sent, William Elliott, counsel for contestant. Neither contestee 

Dor his counsel being present, the examination is adjourned until 9.30 
a. m. 

At 9.30 a. m. the examinatiou is resumed. 
Present, William Elliott, couusel for contestant. 
H. ~I. FULLER, sr., sworn, 3 witness of legal age, produced by contest­

aut upon due notice to contestee, deposes aM follows in reference to 
questions prollounded by contestant: 

Qoestion. Please state YOllr name, age. place of residenct', anll occo· 
pation.-Answer. H. M. I"ullt'r; age~ 42; reside at ~heldon Station, 
Beaufort County, South Car"oHM. I am a fnrmer. 

Q. At whatpfecinct wer~ yon on the 7th of November last, and in 
what capacity, at the t'lection in November f-A. Chairman of the man­
agers of election at Gardiner's Corner precinct, in this county. . 

Q. At wbat time were the pollM opened, Rnd when were they closed!­
A. At about 7 o'clock, I should say when tht'y opened, antI, to the best 
of my knowledgt', tht'y were closed about balf Pllst 5. 

Q. Why were the polls not opened at 6 o'clock f-A. Because all of 
th(l\ managers wt're not there. 

Q. Who wt>re the managt>rs'-A. l\fyt't'lf Ilnd Benjamin Deyeaux and 
Harry Ret'd, both colored. 

Q. Who was the last manager to arrive I-A. Ben Deveaux. _ 
Q. How many persons were at the polls when they were opened T-A. 

A comliderable crowd. I should say there was fifty. 
Q. Do you know wbeth~r or not the Dl'mocratic voters commenced 

to vote as soon as the polls wt>re opt'ned f-A. I have every reason to 
believe so. Tbt>y were there in Il body when I arrived on the grollnd, 
there was qnite a rush for the polls, and as soon as they were opened 
tried to vote as soon as possible. There was such a. rush, aUlI tbe polls 
were so entirely surrounded. that I bad the box takt>n from one side of 
the road, and removed to 1\ honse on tIte OPllosite side. All who were 
present made tbe rush. 

Q. Do yon know why the Dt'tnocrats wanted to vote early '-A. I was 
requested previously to be thert> t>arly: 3'1 tht>y wishpd to vote early ill 
order to avoid a collision with tlte Rt'publicau ,'oters. 

Q. Was any complaint made by any leaders of tbe Democrats about 
the polls not being opene(l at the proper time f-A. I will state that I 
WAS met 011 the way by a colored Dt'lnocrat, urging me to ride quickly. 
Wben I arrh'ed there complaint was made tbat the polls not being 
opened in the proper time considt'rable votes were lost to the Demo­
cratic party. 

Q. State wbt>tber you had hearil any threats in that vicinity made 
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against Democrats. What Wf.'re they, and what was tbe general condi­
tion of the connlry before the ell'Ction '-A. I had heard several times 
vile threats puhlicly made bS colored men to kill all the damned Demo­
crats. The country had been, previous to that, in tbe most excited and 
riotous condition. 

(Mr. Alfred Williams bere appeared as contestee's counsel.) 
Tbe witness continues: For some time previous to the election, bodies 

of men went through the country calling themselves strikers, and tnking 
up other colored men and women. 

(Connsel for contestee objects to witness stating anytbing except from 
his own knowledge.) 

Witness further states: I do know tbese facts, but I was not present 
at any particular occasion. I know by testimony taken in court. On 
one ()(,,casion I certainly saw one of tIle men who was beaten, or said to 
ha,'('1 been bf.'uten, and the parties who had been arrested charged with 
the beating. I SllW Congrl!ssman Smalls speak to the men, and the 
prosecution was dropped, and the parties returned home without fnrtber 
prosecution. On anothf.'r occasion I saw a number of pf.'rsons arrested 
for beating other colored persons. Tht'y were ilischargetl by a jury of 
colored men. I was not preKent, but 1 do know of a trial-justioo an:! 
deputy sherifI' being struck by a mob of colorell pf.'rsons. 

Q. State whether or not there were strikes in that section prior to tbe 
election, and whether the parties were pnnisbed, and what was the gen­
eral effect upon thfl community as to lawlessness. 

(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) 
A. There were strikes which extendt'd over a considerable body of 

country and for a cOJJsiderable length of tillie, and no one WIll$ or bas 
since been punished to my knowledge. I know of tbree instances in 
which bodies of Olen Wf.'re arrestt'd, and ill one iUlltance acquitted and 
in the other two discharged. I obtained my information in general 
abont these strikes from telegrams that I saw from the go\·ernor. I was 
advised by my agent to come over; that the laborers were threatened by 
tbe strikers. I was prelolent at R trial justice's court on two occasions 
where parties were brought up for trial, and on the third occasion I saw 
tbe men when they were bronght up, but they were discharged and not 
tried. 

Q. Were they discharged in all of tbese cases '-A. Yes; when Isay 
they were discharged I mean they were not punished. 

Q. To what party ilid the officers belong by whom tbey were dis­
charged '-A. TIlt'y all claimed to be Rf.'publicans, or were reported 
to be. 

Q. At what place were they discharged, and by what officersf-A. 
By Trial Justice Carlton, at Beaufort. 

Q. Is he a Republican T-A. He has always bet'n belieyc(l to be a 
Republican, and has always acted with the Republican party. 

Q. Do you or not kllow whether the strikers \V~re generally sustained 
by the UepubJican party in the town of Beaufort t-A. They were cer­
tainly countenanced. 

Q. Please state more particularly what was said and done by Con· 
gressman Smalls on the occasion referred to . 

. (Objected to by cou118l'1 for (lOntestee upon the ground that it had no 
cOllnection with the election helel in November last.) 

A. I did not hear what be said, bnt saw him speaking to the party 
beaten while surrounded by the 1)8rties arrested for the beating, and 
soon all left amI retul'lIed to their homes. 

Q. On wbat oc~ion WRS this and wbere f-A. In tbe to\vn or Beau-
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fort, in front of the trial1ustice's oftiC'.e, on the occasion of their ueing 
brought there for examination. 

Q. Were tlley at once discharged I-A. They aU left. 
Q. How large a crowtl were present on this occasion I-A.. I should 

say between twenty and thirty men were present in all. 
Q. Were they or not apparently sympn,thizing with the accused f-A. 

It st.ruck me so. 
Q. Did you distinguish any remarks made by the crowd f-A. I did 

DOt. I do not recollect at present. 
Q. What was your impression at the time of the behavior of Congress­

man Smalls, and the object he wi~hed to accomplish' 
(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) . 
A. It is 80 lon~ that I do not remember how I got the imf)ression or 

information, but 1 do know that he induced a pal't~· beating Billy Beau­
bit'n to drop the snit. 

Q_ At what time in the day was this '-A. Between 9 allllll o'clock­
about 9 o'clock in the morning. 

Q. Were yon present at the time of the trial before Trial Jnstice Carl­
ton of the rioters from Mr. Richardson's plantation f-A. I was. 

Q. Was there an~-thing sail} by a p,rominent Republican on that oc­
C88ion that attracted your attention 1-A. There WIlS. I do not remem­
ber the exact remark, but testified to it at the time to the conrt, show­
iDg that he was a prejudiced jnryman, and he wall discharged. 

Q. Was he discharged or did he conclude to withdra.w !-A. !\iy im­
pression is that he was discharged. 

Q. Who was this person '-A. Ira Robertson. 
Q. Was be elected to any office at the last election; if 80, what '-A. 

Ho was elected to the house of reprt>sentati'\"es of South Carolina on the 
Republican ticket. 

Q. Can you not gh'e bis remark or the general purport of it '-A. I 
tbink, to the best of my recollection, it was that the Democrats wanted 
to Pitt these men in jail to get rid of their votes-something to that 
effect .. 

Q. 'Vhat was the general effect upon the country around Sheldon ot 
what yon have abo\-e testifie(l to f-A.. I think the general feeling was­
certainly it was on my part-that we were withont the protection of 
law. 

Q. Wbere were the threats againHt Democrats of wbich you ba'\"e 
spoken made '-A. Made in front of the store at Sheldon Station. 

Q. On bow many dilferellt occasions '-A. I can speak absolutely of 
tbree, but am nnder the impres~ion that there was at least balf a dozen. 

Q. What was the general feeling of colored Republicans against 
Democrats '-A. It has been anel i~ now "ery bitterly hostile. 

Q. Was this also before the election T-A. Yes. 
Q. What state of mind has tbis produced ill coloretl Den:ocrats' 
(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) 
A. I know it prodnced upon them the nece8~ity of being cautious to 

avoid all opportunity or occasion of' being injured or mobbed by parties 
entertaining this hostile feeling-Re}lUuliclln parties. 

Oross·examined by Alfred William!!, counsel for contestee: 
Q. Mr. I"uIler, how many yenrs ha\'e ~-ou rel'hl('d ill the ,-icinity of 

Gardiner's Corner T-A. It i:~ my nllth-e plnce; I r('gard it as sllah. 
Q. What is your politicll, Mr. Fuller T-A. ])emocrlltie. 
Q. Were you appointe1lmllnagt>r of election because of ~'ol1r politics l­

A. Yea, sir; I prl'sume 80. 
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. Q. Did you act in tbe capacity of manager of election at Gardin~r's 
()orner on that day f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do YOIl know of any Democrats wbo voted at. that Ilrecinct on tbe 
day of election f-A. In counting the votes I found sixty had \'oted. I 
think tbat is the number. 

Q. Do you know of any Democrat who was prevented from voting at 
that prt'cinct the late election f-A. I cannot speak of my ownknowledlte. 

Q. Do you know whether or not all persons wbo came to tbe polls 
voted I-A. It would be impossible for me to say; being manager, attend· 
ing to my own duties, I could not say positively that all who came 
"oted. 

Q. Do you liDow any person, Democrat or Republican, wbo was pre· 
vented from \'otinlt f-A. I will answer that I liflOW of two persons that 
were interfered witb. 

Q. State wbetber not these two pt'rllons to whom you refer voted.­
A. Tbpy did. 

Q. Were tbe ballots of all perMons wbo apl,lied to \'ote at Gardiner's 
Cornt'r received T-A. Yes, sir; there was not a single ballot ol~ected. 

Q. Do you kl)oW of any persons who were debarred tht! right to vote 
because the polls were not opened before 7 o'clock I-A. I can't say of 
my own knowledge. . 

Q. These strikers to wbich YOIl refer in your direct testimony were la· 
borers in the rice fields, were they not f-A. They were laborers iu the 
rice and cottou fields. 

Q. Bad tbis strike anytbing to do with the political matters then be· 
inJr discussed '-A. As a matter of opillion, I should say undoubtedly. 

Q. As a matter of fact, don't you know tbat tbese strikes were caused 
by the laborers iu the rice and cotton fields bpcause of their being com· 
pelled to work for checks and Dot for mOfle~' f- A. No; positi \'el)', no. 
My own belief is that it bad a political origin, because the originator 
stated ·tbat he had a paper from some leadillg persons in Beaufort re­
quiring them to strike. I know tbis upon information by a man by the 
name of Obarlps Green; this was in the latter part of June. Because 
the check system has been in use on several of the plantations e\'er since 
the war, and on several of the plantations on which the strike occllrred 
cash bad been in\"aribly paid. 

Q. How long was it prior to the t'lection tbat thpse strikes occurred !­
A. Tbey cOlUmellced aooot the middle of September and continued on 
until abont the latter part of October. 

Q. Was it not notoriously known that these strikers demanded bigbt'r 
wa~es, and that they refused to work tor cbecks' -A. It would be dif· 
ficult to say what was their groond of complaint. I admit that the 
cbecks was one, 'but 011 the Hicharlison place, at which the striking was 
carried to the greatest excess, cash was being paid at tbe rate they de· 
mandell. 

Q. Were YOlt present at any of these strikes f-A. I was not; but in 
this laUt>r case was informed by Mr. Richardson and by one of the col· 
ored parties injured. 

Q. Tben, if you were not present Ilt the~e strikes, you bad 110 means 
of knowing what the complaints of tile strikers were, except from bear· 
say I-A. I know from admission from the strik ers themselves, and I 
was present at tbe trial-justi~ court when tbey were examined. 

Q. Wbat were tbe a(lmissioDs matle; by whom were they made, and 
where were they made f-A. Admissions wert~ made hy parties publicly, 
at Sheldon Station, in conversation among themseh'es whicb I o\·er· 
beard, that on se\'eral places cash bad bee II paid; one l>arty by the 
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Dame of John Geddes told IDe casb was being paid at a place upon 
wbich be had beeu working and was forced to leave. 

Q. Don't you know that; Mr. J. B. BiSl!ell pa.id his hands in checks 
payable in 1880 I-A. I don't kuow of my own knowledge. 

Q. Do you. kno\\' of any parties wbo paid tbeir labor in checks '-A. 
Yes, several; it is done with a "iew to prevent stor~kePllers frow tak­
ing tbfm in 0.0(1 presenting them in large amounts. 

Q. Tbpn these checks, 8S a general thing, could only be ose(1 at the 
plautation stores, on which the people were em p10yed f-A. Gencrall~' it 
1I"as 80. 

Q. What was the usual amount pahl ~r day for labor in t.hese 
ebecksf-A. Cbecks are not usually given for day's work, but paid at 
so much per acre. 

Q. How much do tbey receh'e per acre I-A. Various amountR, from 
a dollar to a dollar and a half i sometimell as high as two, according to 
wbat ill being done. . 

Q. State wbetber or not this strike was in existence the wel·k of elec­
tion or on the day of election f-A. I cannot say it was in existence 
daring the wet."k or on the day of election, blltno stOll had b<'>t'll pnt to 
it up to that time. 

Q. When did it stop I-A. As far I\S I know, when the bal',-esting 
ceased. 

Q. When was tbat time '-A. I cl0 not know when e\·<.>ry one c('ase.d 
harvesting. 

Q. State whether or not YOI1 know of allY person who wOlllel have 
foted the Democratic ticket that was prevented from 80 doing on ac­
eoant of these strikes f-A. I do not know of ally ont!. 

Q. State whether or not tberesnlt of the electiull WIIS changecl at 
Gardinea-'d (Jorner h.v reason of not opening the polls until 7 o'clock in 
the mOnling I-A. 1 have reason to belie\'e so. 

Q. If ,JOD ba'-e reason to believe so, state in what way the resuitw8s 
changed.-A. On the night previolls to that, a considerable crowd­
Dombers of men-met at the Democratic club, and asked lIIe to be there 
early 80 that they could vote before the crowd a!;sembled.· When I ar­
rind t.bere 1 was informed by 8e\'eral Democrats that in colls('qnence of 
the lateness of the opening of the polls tbey had lost 20 or 30 votes. 

Q. ~o you know of any pprsolls, members of that club, who came to 
fote and did not vote T-A. [did not know the uames of the colored 
members of the club. 

Q. Were. you a member of that club T-A. Yo, sir. 
Q. Then how do YOll know whether there \\'el'e any colorell members 

of tbat club I-A. Only by what 1 hln-e told yOIl; by wbat they said. 
Q. Name the persoll or persons who told you thut there were sc,"el'al 

persons that did not \'ote who came to vote.-A. Pompey Jones met me 
00 tbe way and told me to hurry on, that I WIlS losing votes. ~everal 
gatberecl around me upon my arrh·al. Among them was Mr. Henry 
}'uller and Mr. Bissell, saying tbat in cOllsequt'nce of' my delay a 
Dumber of Yotes bad been lost. 

Q. Did they give the names of any of the party t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Wbo is Pompey Jones I-A. A colored man. 
Q. Wbere does he l'eside, nud what is his politics I-A. He resides 

at Uardiner's Corner, and be is a Democrat. 
Q. What lime did you arrive at the polls that morning T-A. I was 

told it was balf l,ast 6. . 
Q. Then in founding ~'our opinion that t.he result W8S cbanged by 

tbepolls not opening until 7 o'clock, is based OI)Oll bearsay and not upon 
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facts that came nnder your actnal observation '-A. Yes; it was bear­
saY,80 far as tbe remarks were wbicb I repeated. 

Q. Was there any fact that came undel' your obst'rvation that caused 
you to form this opinion '-A. None, Kir. 

Q. Do you know of any arrests being made among the strikers f­
A. Yes. 

Q. Were tbey arrested by tbe sheriff of Beanfort County or his 
deputy'-A. I don't know of my own knowledge. 

Q. Then most of tbe information thHt you possessed in rt'lation to 
those strikes is based npon rumor and hearsay, and not from actual 
knowledge of the facts '-A. I was not an eye-witness to all the strikes, 
but my inlormation is from the best of authority. As I stated before, 
I gailled my information in the trial-justices' conrt-Trial Jnstice R. K. 
Carlton's court at Beaufort. I do not know the parties to the case. 
The titate against the rioters, I believe. 

Q. You too Ie quite an interest in tbat CRst', dill you not f-A. Yes; it 
was a matt r t.hat involved the interest of everybody almost. 

Q. Do you know the nantes of any of the parties, or the name of the 
prosecuting witn('ss T-A. There were two cases, one in which 1\Ir. Rich­
ardson was, and 'in the other, I think, Renton was. 

Q. Were tht'lle strikers to whom you referred discharged or acquitted 
lIpon examination aud trial '-A. In the first case I know that they 
were acquitted by the jury, and in tbe second case I heard so. 

Q. You stated in your direct examination that YOll heard threats made 
by the strikers against Democrats.-A. I did not say by the strikers. 

Q. Where and by whom were these threats made' Please give the 
Ilames of the I)ersons who made these threats.-A. They were gener­
lilly made by pel'sons who assembled in f!'ont of' the store. I know two 
oCthe persons, Jack Jenkins and Gabriel Robertson. 

Q. You say in your direct uamination that you saw telegram!! from 
the gon'rnor; wc>re tht'y not in rf'ply to tt'legrams sent to him f-A. I 
could not say, but suppose they were. 

Q. Did you suffer any violence or injury during the last election be· 
cause of your political opinion '-A. None whatever, sir. 

Q. 8tate whether or not you looted ou the day of election, and how 
you voted.-A. I did vote an honest, fair Democratic ticket.. 

H. M. FULLER, SR. 

Sworn and subscribt'd to before me this 17th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

l SEAL·l ]\f. R. COOJiER, 
Notary Publir. 

In the contt'st b('tween G('orge D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for n seat 
in the Congress of the United States. 

MANSION DOUSE, 
Port Royal, S. 0., February 17, 1~77. 

STATE (F SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Ooulltyof Beaufort: 

A. C. McFALL, a witnes8 of It'gal age, producf'd by cont('stant upon 
due notice to contestee, deposes as folIowlll in rett'rence to questions pro­
pounded by contestant: 

Question. Please state yuur name, ngt', residence, and occupation.­
Answer. A. C. Mc"li'all; reside at Port Royal, Beaufort COUlIty, Sontb 
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Carolina; I am twenty·six years old; I am clerk of council and treas­
orer of the town of Port Royal at present. 

Q. State a& what precinct you were at the election on the 7th of No­
\"ember last, and in what capacity.-A. I was manager of election a' 
Myrtle Bush precinct in this county. 

Q. What tim~ were the polls open there that day, and when were 
tbl'Y eloaed f-A. They were opened about half past 9, and closed at 6 
o'clock. 

Cross· examined by Alfred Williams, counsel for the contestee: 
Q. What time did you arrh'e at the polls that (lay 1-A. About half 

past 9. 
Q. How many votes were polled at that precipct '-A. I don't remem­

ber, sir. 
Q. State whether or not the result of the election at that precinct 

11'38 changed by reason of the polls not opening until half past 9 oclock.­
A. In my opinion it was, but I don't know whether it was or not. 

Q. Do YOI1 know of any persons who came to vote at that preciuct 
\Tho did not vote iu consequence of the polls not being opened until 9 
o'clock 1-A. I know of persons who told me that they would have voted 
the Democratic ticket had I been there at 7 o'clock. 

Q. Did these persous to whom you refer vote at all that clay'-A. 
Yea, sir. 

Q. Can you remember any of their names '-A. Fraser-Daddie Fra-
8ef, is all the name I know him by; I don't remember the name of the 
otbtr . 
. Q. What is your politics, Mr. McFall T-A. Democratic; I voted that 

ttcket. 
Q. Do you know of anybody that was pre\'ented from voting at Myr-

tle Bnsh precinct on the day of election I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Who was it I-A. I don't know the name, sir. 
Q. Was he colored or white I-A. Colored. 
Q. How was he prevented from voting 1-A. Because he was not, in 

tbe opinion of the managers, eligible to vote. 
Q. Do you know of any person being prevented from \"oting at Myrtle 

Bu~ precinct that was legally qualified to vote T-A. No, sir. 
A. C. MoFALL. 

Sworn and subscribed to before me this 17th day of February, 1877. 
(SBAL.] M. R. COOPER, 

Notary Public. 

By consent of counsel 011 both sides the examination is adjourned to 
meet at Beaufort on Wednesday, the 21st instant, at 9 o'clock 8. m. 

l\'I. R. COOPER, 
Kotary Public. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Sm~lls for a seat 
in the Congress of the United States. 

LAW BUILDI~G, BEAUFORT, 13. C., 

SUTE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oount!/ of Beaufort: 

Febru(lJ'U 21,18.7. 

POl'llilant to adjournment the examination is resumed at 9 o'clock a. m. 
Pl'eIlent, William Elliott, connsel for contestant, and W. J. Wbipper, 

wUDsel for contestee. 
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POMPEY JONES, colored, a witness of legal agt>, produced by contest-­
ant upon and dne notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to 
qoestiobs propounded by counsel for colltestant: 

Question. State your name, age, resideo('.e, and occopatioo.-Aoswer. 
Pompey Jones; abont thirty-one yeara old; reside at Sheldon plantae 
tion, in this county; I am foreman of the plantation. 

Q. Where were you at the election on the 7th of No'\"ember last !-A. 
I was at Gardiner'g Corner precinct, in this county. 

Q. Did YOll vote tbere that day'-A. I voted there that evening. 
Q. Wbat ticket did you vote, and wby did yoo not vote sooner I-A. 

I voted the Democratic ticket; I did not vote sooner, b~\ose the l)arty 
I weot down witb was a very large one, and the polls were not open; 
and when it did open the crowd was so large I couldn't vote at the time. 

Q. Were you, or oot, afraid to vote sooner f-A. If I was not afraid 
to vote I would ha\'c t"oted soouer; but I was afraid; it was such a large 
crowd, that it wonld make some confusion. 

Q. Who were yoo afraid would trouble yoo f-A. That striking party 
were Ol1t there then. . 

Q. Were they Democrats or Republicans' -A. They were Republicans, 
Q. Explain whom you mean by striking pal'ty.-A. It was a whole 

crowd of people that got np a strike oot there just before harvest, and 
would go roond on the plantation and catcb every foreman, and if they 
did not agree with them they woold cowhide yoo; the only way yoo 
bad to do was to go along with Ulem. 

Q. Did they whip anybody, and how mflDY '-A.. Yes; they whipped 
one man right by me, and several others I didn't know; there was a man 
lived right by me named Billy Bobine; they thrashed him severely, and 
he bad to come to the doctor once or twice. 

Q. How long did these strikes last I-A. Until little after harvpst. 
Q. Was any attempt made to arrest the strikers I-A. Yes; Mr. Sams, 

who was acting in the place of Mr. \Vilson, the sberiff, went ont there 
and he take two mens with him from Beaufort, Moody Williams and 
Moses Fraser and myself, and several others-I don't know the names 
of them now; we started to arrest them, and we got into a fight and 
they run us away. 

Q. Was auy trial·justice there f-A. Yes; Mr. Fuller \l"8S there; he 
was one of the posse. 

Q. Was allY of the posse beaten; and if so, who !-.A.. l\J r. Fuller 
and myself and a young lUall named Gabriel Greeu were tbrasbed. 

Q. Was the deputy sberiff struck '-A. I dou't kllow whether h~ was 
or not: be had to run. 

Q. Have tbese men eyer been punishe(lf-A. No, sir. 
Q. What was the effect on the couutry arounel there at that time f­

A. It was pretty much stirred up; a man could not tra"el abont. as he 
had a mind to. 

Q. Wby not f-A .• Becanse, the strildng party, if th'ey met you, would 
cowhide you if yon didn't go with them. 

Q. Oould YOll bave them puni~bed by law, and why flott-A. You 
couldn't at that timl'. The captain of them said be had a strip that was 
the law from the gO\'ernor, that if you didn't go along with them, tha' 
they would put one hundred and eigbty lashes on your backside. I 
asked them who is the captain. Thl'y call about fifty men wid these 
plat cowhide, and they tell you those were de captain. 

Q. Were any threats made before tbeelection by RepUblicans against 
Democrats f-A. A great deal of them; the strikers said they know tba' 
every damn one of llS that did not go with them were goinJr to ~ote the 
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Democratio ticket, al111 that every oue of os w0l11d be ki1l~d 011 the day 
of the election. 

Q. How many tilDes were thp8e threats made Y-A. They would start 
on MoodilY aocI go round on til Thursday, aud start again next Munday, 
and everywhere they had been ronnd .voo need not start to work, he­
caose they woold run you oot of the field, and it' they catcb you they 
would cowhide yoo. 

Q. Were any threats made againllt DemocrAts after tllf~ IItrikt>s RlHl 
before the election, and what were they !-A. Yes; as I tolll you heff)Tl', 
they said they would sleep to the polls on :Monday ni~ht and would he 
there Tuestlay morning, Illld before we shonld vote the Democratic tickl't 
we shoulll not ,"ote oone at all • 
. Q. Wf're any threats made on the day of election T-A. Not mllny. 

What were made were made early in the morning. '1'hey threatened to 
whip mt', and said they would take away my horse nud buggy if they 
did not whip me, aod they dill take it. 

Q. Where were yon going in yonr buggy '-A. I had been np the 
road and brooght Mr. Yates to vote the Democratic ticket, antI was going 
back op the road, and I soppose they thoo·ght I was going to bring 
somebody else, anlI they took it away from me. 

Q. Were these})emoorats or Republicaus that took away yoor boggy Y­
A. Rt>poblicaDs. 

Q. How long before you got yonr horse and boggy back !-A. Tbe 
lIext day. Sam Bolite turned the horse loose the next day, but I did 
not get bim till the day f'ullowing, and I asked them why they worry me 
80 much abOtit my election_ They tell me that wbile they vote for 811)alls 
I 'Vote for Whipper, and while t.hey vote for })elarger 1 voted for Bowen, 
and I neyer see Imch worrying in my life. I asked them if 1 could not 
vote 88 I chose. 

Q. Were any tirreats made awny f'rorn the polls!-A. Yes. 
Q. Do yoo know why they were not made at tbe polls '-A. They said 

they were advised Dot to figbt or make any fnss 8t the polls, for if they 
fight they would counterfeit tbe po)). 

Q_ What was the state of miud of the colored Democrats in that 
county before aD 11 at the time of the election, in conseqoence of tbella 
threats and violence Y-A. Well, we had to keep very close, 80(1 oonJtl 
Dot go about as ,we desired, and had to meet at night. 

Q. Were there any persons kept from voting the Dernocratic ticketT­
A. Well, not right at the polls, bnt the threats the.v had made in the 
morning frightened them, and about eighteen of thern that belong to 
tbe Democratic club went off and would not vote all, because they said 
if they voted them fellows would thra~h them io the eveDing if they 
voted. Ttlf'ly asked if I iutended to vote. I told them yes, I would 
Klay amI try to do so in the evening. , 

Q. Were the Republicans at the polls armed that day!-A. No, sir; 
I did not see any of' thern armed. They bad the!le RllIDe striking clubs 
with nails tlrOl-e into them mul lead to the bead; had them slung on the 
wri~t with IItrings. 

Cross examined by W. J. Whipper, coulJsel for contestee: 
(~. On the mornh:g of the election yoo lIay there was a largA crowd 

Wt'lIl with YOIl. Who were they I-A. I can't tell the names of them all. 
Q. Wt'lI, tell me the names of thOS8 ron can.-A. Mr. George Bissell, 

Hellt:;1~111J8r. Henr.v Aulhegotir, Edward Ht>yward, William Middleton, 
Francill AIlJton, Juhu l(illlllml. These is alJout all the names I can reo 
mellllH'r jlll\t now. 
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Q. How many more were there besides theso names yon have called!­
A. I.suppose about twenty. 

Q. What portion of yoor crowd were white men !-A. About six. 
Q. These names that yon have mentioned are about all that yoo know 

in this crowd !-A. Yell. ~Ir. John Lncas-I know him. I did not 
think to call his namt'. 

Q. Ho\v many of these names are white men !-A. Only three that I 
remember of. 

Q. What was the politics of your crowd !-A. To vote the Democrati. 
ticket. 

Q. All of them I-A. All that went in my crowd-that belong to my 
olub. . 

Q. How did you know bow they intended to vote!-A. They were 
members of my club. 

Q. All of them !-A. All of them-e\'ery one of them. Not all of the 
twenty. 

Q. What portion of this other twenty were members of yoor club!­
A. I suppose about seven. Some that were members did not go, because 
they were afraid to go along with the rest of us. 

Q. How do you know that the balance of this twenty intended to vote 
the Democratic ticket '-A. I know that they were going to vote it, 
becanse they belong to other clubs, and they came there to go with me 
10 that they coulcl get to the polls early. ~. 

Q. To what club or clnbs did the rest of them belong !-A. Hobony 
clnb. 

Q. Then, I understand that these clubs all DIet at your house !-A. 
Yes. 

Q. Met there the night before ~-.A . Yes, sir; IDet there after the 
met-ting on Monday night, and went to the election next morning. 

Q. Did this crowd of yours ha\'e any sticks !-A. 0, no, sir; they 
never did ha\'e any sticks. \ 

Q. Ain't it a very common thing for people in the country to carry 
lticks when they go to church or political meetings '-A. Walking-sticks 
and fighting-clubs are two different things. It is a common thing for 
men to carry walking-sticks. 

Q. Do you mean to say that your crowd did not have them !-A. Yes, 
lir. 

Q. What time in the morning did yon get to the polls !-A. I go~ 
there about six o'clock. It might have been a little earlier. 

Q. What time was it that this large crowd that you speak of came 
npt-A. They came np about quarter past six. When they came up 
the pOlls were just opened, though. 

Q. About how wany of them were th~y !-A. I suppose there was 
about two hundred in the crowd, and they kept coming right straight 
along. 

Q. Did they all ha\'e stickst-A. Not all of them. The greater par~ 
of them did. 

Q. Were their sticks all these fighting.sticks that you speak off-A. 
All of them were, pretty lUuch. 

Q. What, if anything, did they do with these sticks !-A. They did 
not do allY thing at all right to the polls. 

Q. Did they do anythiug around or about the polls I-A. Not that I 
know of. 

Q. Do you know of them committing any violence with them that 
day'-A. No; they cussed a good deal; but I did not see them put 
hand on anybody that day. 
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Q. What were their politics ; do you know!-A. Republicaus. 
Q. How do you know that I-A. Because they said so. 

63 

Q. All of them t-A. No; but there was a talk all around that all of 
tbose had them club were the badge of Chamberlain. 

Q. Dill any of them threat<>n any violence to you or any of your party 
if you voted the Democratic ticket, Rnd if so, who did it f-A. There was 
a crowd that I met dowu to the railroad just betore the election.day that 
~aid that they were coming to Beaufort, alul tbat they would get fixed 
fur all of liS Oil election daS; that they would meet us; but that did not 
scare me Rny. 

Q. How long before election WIIR that I-A. Ahollt a wef:"k. 
Q. Who were these men !-A. One lOan named Sanko Willia.ms, and 

Pbilip Brown; 1 knowed them. 
Q. Those were all that ~'ou know f-A. Yes; greater part of them was 

oft' of Combabee, lower down. 
Q. Then I understand that· there \VI\S no threats made against your 

party on the day of election I-A. Not durillg the day, but eady in the 
moroing. 

Q. Who made them !-A. A party of fellows we met up by tbe 
Sheldon bridge. 

Q. Can you name allY of them !-A. No; I know them if I see their 
fact', but can't name them now. 

Q. State what they said that you construed into threats.-A. Th<>,. 
Mid tbey would meet us down thPfe and liee what we all ill tended to do. 

Q. Did that scare you f-A. That did not scare me; it takes a heap 
to scare me. 

Q. Well, now, was there any tbreats made at the polls by this two 
buodred or any of the Republicans 011 the day of election '-A. The,. 
were corsing around there, just abusing us ail, but I did 110t call tha$ 
tbreats. 

Q. Did your party do any cursing f-A. No; they were afraid to do 
a~y much; they had to keep like the rats do when the eat's around the 
bouse. 

Q. Yon SRY you did not vote at that time. Did any of sour party 
foret-A. All of the whites did; \"ery few of the colored olles did; only 
a rew that were not remarkable did; those that were like me couldn't. 

Q. Yon say that you are not easy to scare. How was it that you 
were afraid to vote when there was neither violence or threats used to 
yon or any of your party'-A. I thought that if I voted right at the 
time tint they would commence to quarrel, and wouhl create confusion. 

Q. Bow long have you lived in that voting· precinct t-A. I have been 
there ever since the war; some time in '66; I am not certain • 
. Q. You koow the people around there generally, do you !-A. Yes, 

81r. 
Q. This whipping that you spoke of in connection with the strike, bow 

long wall it before the election !-A. I did not stop long before the-I 
could uot say the regular time; little after harvest. 

Q. You say the strike was ov<>r before the election, but you don" 
know bow long !-A. I don't know how long. 

Q. At what time and upon whose place did this strike commence ,­
A. I don't know upon whose place it commenced qn, becaose it com· 
menced in Colleton anel then come over in this county. 

Q. ])0 you not know tIJis Mtrike was occasiollt!d .by low wages and 
IIIlJ~lIg the people ill checks f-A. I believe it collstitute from that; but 
11. dill lint cHrry out ill the WH,\" it ought. 

(l. TlwlI it bad nothing to do with POlitiCll, and WilS over before the 
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election, was it not '-A. The strike was over, but the nature of the 
strike wasn't over. 

POMPEY JONES. 

Sworn aud subscribed to before IDe this 21st day of Fpbruar;v. 1877. 
[SEAL.] )1. R. COOPER. 

Notary Public. 

A.djourned to meet at 9 o'clock to· morrow morning. 
M. R. COOPER. 

In the contest betwet'll George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in the Congress of the Ullited 8tates. 

Punmant to an adjournment, tbf'l examination is resDmed at the Jaw 
building, Beaufort, 8. e .. at 9 o'clock a. 10., l<~ebrnary 22ft. 

PJ'eSl'lIt, William Elliott, counsel for contestullt, and W. J. Whipper, 
coullsel for contestee. 
STA'l'E OF SOUTH CA.ROLINA, 

Oounty of Beaufort: 
A. P. JENKINS. (colored ,) a witness of h·gal age, prod ueed by con testallt 

after due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to questiODS 
propounded by contestant's couusel: 

Question. State your namt', agt', rt'siot'nct', and occupation.-Answer. 
Abraham P. Jenkins; 21 years old; lh'e in the town of Beaufort; my 
occnpation is waiter. . 

Q. Where did yon reside doring the last political campaign '-A. At 
Bt'aufort, sir. 

Q. To what party did you beloug'-A. To the Democratic party. 
Q. State what position you held in the party, and were you a candi­

date for any omce'-A. I was a memoor of the executive committee of 
the Bt'allfort Dt'mocratic club and delegate to two county conventioDs 
auci a cundidate for the general assembll' on the Democratic ticket. 

Q. What was the feeling of Rt>llUblicalls toward yourself and other 
colored Democrats, as t'xhibited by their words and actions '-A. Their 
feeliugs were hateful to me Rnd all otbers of that party, aod showed 
it el'ery day by words amI actions. They would meet me on the street 
in the day and at nigbt and call me a damn Democrat.; that I bad sold 
out my rights. I have been cursed e\'ery day siu('e Ijoined the club 
until now. 

Q. Were any thrt'ats made before the election against Democrats, 
and by whom and what f-A. YeN; by men belonging to the Republican 
party. They said that if they could Dot get me before the election they 
would :ret me, if it was six months to come. 

Q. What did they mean by tbat expression, "would get you '~-A. 
It means they would lay way to mob me. 

Q. Did you make public I!llleecbes during the campaign '-A. I made 
one at. Uarclinf'r's Corner. 

Q. Did the nl')luhlifmns illterff're with this mt'eting '-A. Yt's, sir. 
Q. Was there auy rea8OI1 why you did not make more spet'ches f-A. 

YeN, sir; bt'Callse it was not safe for colored men to make public speechl"S 
in bl'half of' the Democrats, for fear that they would be mobbed. 

Q. Do you know whether any Democrats were kept fl'Om voting 011 the 
da~' of the electioll h,\' the"e tbreats; and, if so, bow many I-A. Yes, 
sir; there was t.hre .. 011 Ladit's' INland; there WitS thirty or forty colo~d 
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members of the Beanfort Democratic club; but I was not here on the day 
of the election. 

Q. At what polls were you on the day of election !-A. At the Wood· 
lawn polls, sir, on Ladies' Island. 

Q. Was there any Democratic club on Ladi('s' Island; and, if so, bow 
many membersT-A. Yes, sir; there was one there with tlfty·fi.\"e memo 
bers. 

Q. How mallY colored meo voted the Democratic ticket at tbat poll !­
A. Not oyer six; I tbiuk it was six. 

Q. 'Vas the tickets of voters examiued at that precinct before th('y 
were cast; aud, it' so, by whom f-A. Yes, sir; they were examined by 
some of the Repoblican mell. 

Q. State bow they w('re examined.-A. They stood at the gate, and 
they had to show their ticket before they go to the polls. Tbem that bad 
the Democrat ticket they would snatch them out tbeir hand and gh'e 
tbem the Republican ticket. 

Q. Where were the }lolls held '-A. In a little corn-bouse, inclosed by 
a fenct'. 

Q. How many mf'ans of entrance were there T-A. Only one, sir; tbat 
was throngh the gat£'. 

Q. Was there auy person who specially made threats against you be­
fore the election; if so, who was it I-A. Yes, sir; Amos Barnes. 

Q. StHte what the thr~ats were alltl when they occurrell.-A. The 
tbrt'ats wer~ on the 26tb of Octoher. He called me a damn black Demo· 
cratic son of a bitch; I can't see bow a damn black man like me can go 
Democrat. "If you don't cha.nge your politics," he says, "I will get you 
jf it is six months to come. If I don't get you before the election I will 
get yon after." 

Q. Was there any public meeting at Beaufort on that day, and if so, 
what was it T-A. Yes, sir. General Hampton spoke here that day and 
otber gentlemen, aOlI I took a very active part that day in the meeting, 
enlisting to get all the colored folks I could to go up to bear him. 

Q. Ditl he ever carry out his threat, aud if so, how !-A. Yes, sir; he 
laid way me on the street and beat me half to death. He mention the 
same words that he said to me on the 26th of October. He came up to 
me aud throw hid hand in my collar, aud calleel me a damn black son of 
a bitch, and that he long wanted to get hold of me, aud he Rsked me, 
wbile he was beating me, if I would cbange my politics. I told bim DO, 
I would not. 

Q. Was this night or day, and what time !-A. At night, sir; between 
half past ten and eleven o'clock. 

Q. Frow where and to whel's were you goiog !-A. I was from church, 
going bowe. 

Q. Was anyone with you at the time you were attacked !-A. No, 
Bir; no one. 

Q. Was anyone with him T-A. Yes, sir; I saw one man. 
Q. How severely were you beaten T-A. I was beaten very severely, 

sir, indeed. 
Q. Did you require and receive medical attention, and when !-A. 

Yes, sir; that same night. My mother a.nd wife bro~ght me down to 
Dr. Stewart and got him to prescribe for me. 

Q. Were you ill auy other way iIl·treated before the election '-A. Yes, 
sir. 1 had my hoose brick.batted, and I hud threatening letters in my 
piazza directed to Ole, sir; cursing me for a damn black Democrat sou of 
a bitch. 

Q. Have you got the letter !-A. Yes, sir. 
H. Mis. 11-5 
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(Letter producert and objected to hy counsel for the contestee on the 
ground that"an anonymous communication cannot be iutroc:luced as evi· 
dence.) 

The following is a copy of t.he letter produced: 

., BEAUFORT, S. C., October 10, 1876. 
"Ahram P. Jenkins: You dam Democrat sunvE'rbitch, how dare yon 

to go Democrat; if you dou't change your political opinion by Saturday 
lIight we will kill ,you 1 but Sou must wolk v('ry strate; if IIOt we will 
kill you, ifit is not unttl6 mouths. 'Ve waut Smawls to be our Congress. 
mall, and you vote for 'filman. We are going to "ote for Hayse and 
Wbt'eler and the. I (lare )'OU going around and telling the people 
to vote for Tilman aud Hem]rix. If we can't get you before the election, 
we will get you after it, if it is six months to come." 

The lettl'r is hereunto annexed as au exhibit and marke(1 " M. R. C., 
Exhibit 1." 

Cross·examined by W. J. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Q. How many colorNI members did you say were in the Beaufort 

Democratic club T-A. Between thirt.y and forty. 
Q. You were one of those members T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How do you tell that there was between thirty and forty'-A. I 

tell by counting. 
Q. If you tell by counting, wby is it tbat you cannot tell tbe exact 

numbed-A. About two weeks before tbe election we counted up the 
colored members and tbere was tbirty·five, amI after tbat some more 
joined. " 

Q. How do you know tbat there was tlft,\'·6ve members of tbe Ladies' 
Island club Y-A. That was tbe roll brought over to us by the president' 
of tbe club. 

Q. You were at Ladies' Islan(1 on election· day '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What was your business there T-A. My bURiness was tbere to try 

to get as many "otes as I could for the Democratic party. 
Q. You "'ere distributing Democratic tickets alsoT-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were yon molested in any way tbat day T-A. I was molested by 

having agood deal of abuse by SODle of tbe men. 
Q. 'Vas there any violence or threats used against you tbat day or 

against any of your party; if so, what were they, and by wbom f-A. 
"There was no strikin~, but tbere was a good deal of cursing and abusing. 
If we give a man a Democrat ticket they would snatcb it Ol1t of their 
bands, amI after they agreed to vote my ticket and was ou their way 
going to tbe box. 

Q. Well, tbat was all that was done in the way of threats and ,-io­
lence, was it T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you ~t any time go in tbe gate of this inclosure where the 
voting was going on T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You could go in and out as yon pleased, couldn't yon Y-A. Yes, 
sir; I could go ill and out, but was afraid also-was pretty timid. 

Q. Don't you know a mao could go in there without sbowing his 
ticket, if be wanted to T-A. \V ell, they make tbf!w show it. 

Q. Wbat means did they use to make a lDan show his ticket '-A. 
They speak to tbem; says" Less see :s our ticket;" hold a man and says, 
., Less see your ticket." 

Q. Did tbey make any tbreats or use any violence to make a man 
sbow his ticket before going in tbe gate; if 80, who done it, and to whom 
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was it doneY-A. The men of the Republican party. They done it to 
three or four men there that I don't know the names; I just know them 
by si~ht. 

Q. III what did this yiolence consist '-A. Consist of talking, cursing. 
Q. What were the threats made f-A. They saiel you can't vote for no 

Democrat. We ain't going to allow no colored men to ,'ote for a Demo­
crat. 

Q. Were the six men that voted the Demoeratic ticket over there that 
day disturbed ill auy way!-A. They was, sir; they cursed them as 
same as they do the rest., unt they went tbrough and yoted. 

Q. You stated that there were three men on Ladies' Island that would 
have votecl the Democra.tic ticket. Who ,vere they, and how were they 
prevented !-A. One of them by name of Lauten. I don't know his 
other name. He said if he could not vote for who be pleased he would 
not ,'ote at all. I don't know the names of the other two. 

Q. Was there anything more done to them thau WIlS done to the 
rest l-A. No, sir; they was pulling them and take their ticket out of 
their hand. 

Q. You say that you were threatened llere by Amos Barnes before 
election. How long before election was it !-A. On the 26th of October. 

Q. WaR that your first difficulty with AmOK Barnes I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did not that grow out of a personal difficulty, and ball no refer­

ence to politics in tbe first instance !-A. It did not, sir. I and him 
was very friendly np to that day. 

Q. Do you mean to swear that it was not about personal relations 
that this thing started '-A. It was not, sir. 

Q. Tben you mean to say it started purely out of politics !-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. Who commenced this attack, BarneR or yourself!-A. Barnes, sir. 
Q. Did not yon call Barnes a son of a bitch, at bis shop, on one occa­

sion, ami at Crofut's store, before be whipped yon 011 the Green '-A. I did 
Dot, nntil after be cnrsed me. Then I turned it back to him. 

Q. Did not you lll\\-e him arrested and taken before the United States 
court for intimidation f-A. I did, sir. 

Q. You went before tbe grand jury there, dillllot yon f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Anll your case was thrown out, was not it !-A. The grand jury 

brought in no bill at that court, but it is not done yet; we will haye it 
o,-er again at the next term of eourt. 

Q. Who was that man with Barnes when be whipped you !-A. I do 
not know who he was. ' 

Q. How long was it after election that you were whipped f-A. Be­
tween tbree weeks and a month after. It was on the 3d of December. 

Uedirect: 
Q. Why was it that you did not prosecute Barnes before the State 

court f-A. Because it was intimidation againKt the United States elec­
tion; ancl because I could not getjl1stice in the State courts. 

Q. Why couldn't you get justice in the State courts '-A. Because 
they were all Republican officers and a Democrat could not get justice. 

A. P. JENKINS. 

Sworn to before me this 22d day of February, A. D. 1877. 
l SEA.L.] M. R. COOPER, 

Notary Public. 
Adjourned to 3 o'clock p. m. 

M. R. COOPER. 
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EXHIBIT 1, M. R. C. 
BEA'CFORT, S. 0., Oct. the 10, 1876. 

Abram P. Jenkins, you (lam Democrat sunyerbitch, how dare sucb a 
dam black negro like you to go Democrat; if you don't change yoor 
political opinion by Saturday night we will kill you j but you must walk 
very strate, if not we will kill you, if it is not until 6 months. We Wllut 
Smawls to be our Congrf'ssmon and you vote for Tilmon; we are goiog 
to vote for Hayse and Wheller; and th~ idear you going around and 
telling the people to yote for Tilmon and Hendrix; if we can't get yon 
before the election we will get you after, if it is six months to come. 

ABRAM P. JENKINS. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in th~ Congress of the United States. 

STA'l'E OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
County of Beaufort: 

BEAUFORT, S. C., Februat"1/ 22, 1877. 
H. G. JUDD, a witness of legal age produced by contestant, UI'OIl due 

Dotice to contf'stee, dt>poses as follow!! in reff'rence to questions pro­
pounded b~' contestant's counsel: 

Question. State your name, agt>, reRidence, and occuJllIotion.-An. 
swer. H. G. Judd, Beaufort, South Carolina; attorof'Y at law; fifty-tour 
years old. . 

Q. How long haye you resided at Bpaufort !-A. Since the litb of 
March, 1862. 

Q. Where did ~-ou reside pre\'iOllsly !-A. The last five years previous 
in the State of Vermont; previous to that in New York and other North­
ern Statf'K. 

Q. What official position have you lately occupied in this State j from 
what time to what time, if any '-A. I baye been clerk of the court of 
common plf'as and geueral sessions iu this county from the 1st of Sep­
tember, 1868, to the eyeuing of the 6th of February, instant. 

Q. Please state whether any, and what, oathS of the commissioners 
and managers of election for the general elpction held on the 7th day or 
Novembpr last were filed in your Imid office '-A. The oaths of the three 
commissioners, Dr. Wilder. Dr. JohuEOu, and Mr. J. W. Brown, were 
duly filed on the 26tb or 27th of October last; other tban those, no oaths 
of the officers of tbe last election were filed. I was under the impression 
that others ball been filed, bot, after ill\'estigation, find that no others 
were filed. 

Q. Do yon state that the oath of office of none of the managers of the 
sard ele(:tilln prescribed by the cOllstitution were fi1t'd in your office 811 
county clerk '-A. In referring to the impreSllion of my mind, ~poken of 
in answer to the previous qnelttion, I found that none were filed except· 
ing the three commissioner!>' oaths. 

Q. Is your office also known as the office of the county clerk !-A. It 
is, and has hitherto had a sign with those words on the door. 

Q. Do yon keep a book for entering and the filing of papers in your 
office, and were any of the oaths of said managers of election entered 
therein as filed !-A. I do keep a book. It is ealled the file· book, and 
the oaths of managers of election were not filed therein. 

Q. At what precinct were you at 011 the day of the general election in 
November last !-A. From half past ten in the morning uutil half past 
twph'e, I was about fifty yards from the brick church on Saint Helena 
Island-Brick Church precinct. 
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Q. Do you know whether or not the \"oters at that precinct were sworn 
before tbey voted !-A. I do not. 

Q. Did you see them sworn !-A. I diel not; nor hear them. 
Q. Were yon in a position to see that they were sworn !-A. I could 

see the "oters, but saw no manager. I could 1Iot hear, nor could not see. 
Q. Is there any circumstance connected with the voting from which 

you could judge whether they were sworn or not! 
(Question objected to by counsel for contestee, on the ground that it 

is simply asking an opinion amlnot for his own knowledge.) 
A. There is thi8: that voters, with ballots in their hauds, followed 

each other so rapidly in depollitillg their votes that I could not see how 
an oath could be administered, unles8 it were done collectively. 

Q. Was there any violence at that precinct on that day; if so, by 
whom, toward whom !-A. I saw but one act of personal violenct>. I 
could not name the parties who committed the act, as there were at least 
twenty engaged. The party who was assaulted was known to me as 
Freeman. His clothing was very nt>arly all torn oft' his back; his coat 
entirel,\" torn off. 

Q. What was the cause of this violence !-A. The only words I heard 
used were," Damn the Democ~t," and" We won't have any of those 
damlled votes u~d here." 

Q. To what party did Freeman uelongT-A. From my own knowledge, 
I am unable to say. 

Q. To what party did he belong by general reputation' 
(Objected to by contestee's coul1se1.) 
A. I have since known him to be classeu as a Democrat. It was patf>nt 

to me there at the time that he was a Democrat, and was abused on that 
account. 

Q. Were his assailants white or coloreu Democrats or Replllllicans f­
A. 'fbey were all colored, Ilnd I l.Ielie\-e them to be all Republicans. 

Q. What finally became of Fc('eman '-A. The last I saw of him he 
was cared for by several of the colored meu who appeared to b~ very 
quiet, who went uown toward the white church with him, picking up 
tho pieces of clothing as he went along. 

Q. Were there any threats or curses made against Democrats at that 
precinct '-A. I heard no threats lleyonu the expression already made 
use of, "That no damn Democruts should .ote here," which wcre con-
8tantl,\' repeated in .arious ways. 

Q, Do you remember the result of the vote at that precinct; how 
many whites, how many colored, anu how many Repuulicans and how 
many Democl'atsT-A. J think there were about twenty white votes and 
about seven hondred colored. I could not say how many Democrats or 
how many Republican!!. . 

Q. Please state the number of white alld coloreu voters respectively 
ou the following islands: Saint Helena; Ladies'; Port Royal, out.~ide of 
the towns of Beaufort and Port Hoyal; Paris Island, and Hilton Head. 
I mean the usual voting population T 

(Questioo olljectecl to, as it will include polling·precincts not specifi­
cally mentioned in notice of cootest, as required b,\' law,) 

A. 00 Saint Hf>lenll auout one thol1sand colored ami twenty-four 
"hites. Lndies' Island, embracing se.eral small islands, thrce hundred 
and twenty-five colored and from five to seven whites. Port Royal Is­
land, ootsiue of Beaufort town and Port ROYlll, six hl1urlred and t.hirty 
colered aud about ten whitt>s. Paris Itlland, two hundred and flfty col­
ored and five whites. Hilton Head, four hundred and thirty colored 
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and twell"c whites. I wish to be understood that these numbers are ap­
proximate to the truth, as Ulany are in the habit of voting at l)recincts 
other than their OWII. 

Q. Please state the diRtanct's betwe('n the foUmt'ing precincts: Coffin'lI 
Point to Brick Church, Brick Church to Woodlawn, Woodlawn to Beau­
fort, Beaufort to Port Hoyul, Bt'aufort to l\Iyrtle Bnsh, Myrtle Bush to 
Gray's Hill, Myrtle Bush to Port Royal, Port Royal to Paris Island T­
A. From Coffin's Point to Brick Church, five miles; Brick Church to 
'Voodlawn, eight miles; Woodlawn to Beaufort, three D1ilt'R; Beaufort 
to Port Royal, fil"e milt's; Beaufort to M~"ft1e Bl1sh, six miles; Myrtle 
Bush to Gray's Hill, se'·en miles; 1\Iyrtle Bush to Port Uoyal, about two 
miles; Port Royal to Paris Island, two and a half miles. 

Q. Under the election laws of this State are '\"'oters required to vote 
at tht'ir lJt'arest precinct, or can they l"ote at anyone precinct in the 
county!-A. Tbey can "ote lIt anyone precillct in tlte county. 

Q. If rt'peating were practiced on these sea islands, would it be possi­
ble to prevent it under the existing laws and circumstances or to detect 
it !-A. I think it would be utterly impossihle to prel"eut or to detect it. 

Q. Please state the increase in the '\"'ote of this county at the last gen­
eral election over that of any previous election.-A. In round numbers 
it was tbirty-two bundred over the higbest vote ever cast before in the 
county. 

Closs·examined by counsel for contestee: . 
Q. You state tbat the '\"'ote is thirty-two hundred more than was e\'er 

cast before; do you speak from statistit~s or from fPcollection I-A. 
Partly from each. 

Q. Has there been 3 Democratic ticket rltn in this county lIinca recon­
struction, or any ticket that would naturally call out tbe Democratic 
vote !-A. In 1872, what was known as the bolter's ticket was fUD, and 
I tbink it called out a good Dumber of Democratic ,·otes, although the 
ticket was not tecbllically called a DE'mocI·atic ticket. 

Q. Were the bolters, by their platforms and tbE'ir candidates or cam­
paign speeches, less radical in 1~72 than the' party known as the regu· 
lars '-A. I think that they w('re. Led by such men as 1\Ir. Tomliuson, 
I think they were. 

Q. Have you any me;·ns of knowing what number of Democrats Snl'­
portell tbe bolter's ticket in 1872 '-A. I have none. 

Q. Is that the only election in your judgment that would have been 
likely to call out the Democratic vote since reconstruction f-A. I tbink 
there was a go()(l deal of feeling ill 1870, which would naturally bring 
out a good muny Democratic votes, and that those votes would be brought 
out more 011 the color question. 

Q. Were not the gubernatorial candidates and Congressional candida~s 
in this State in the years 1870,1872, and 1874, in other words, every elec­
tion since reconstruction, except 1876, OPE'" aud avowed Republic3us at 
the time of their candidacy, and are they Dot the sllme to.day, 80 many 
of thpm as are li'\"'ing Y-A. They did and do profess to be RepUblicans. 

Q. What, if anytbing, is tbe increased Republican vote in this connty 
over any past election '-A. I can't answer that question. 

Q. What if anything hilS been tbe Democratic vote in this county be· 
fore 1876 !-A. 1'bere being no straight-out Democratic ticket, I callDot 
answer. 

Q. Was not the campaign in 1816 of such a character as to brio:;t out 
all the available strength of both parties '-A. I think it was, nnques­
tiollably. 

Q. What oaths are usually filed in the office of clerk of court in e1ec-
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tion !-A. In 1870 and in 1872, I think very nearly all the oaths of com­
missioners and managers were filed, and ill 1874 about two-thirds of 
the managers, and all the commissioners, and in this laUer case they 
wt're filed by the commissioners as they came ill. 

Q_ Who, if anyone, is required by law to file the oaths of t.he man­
agers f-A. I think it is the mauagers themsel\"el!. 

Q. Is there such an office known to the law as clerk of the county!­
A. I think it is not &. statutory term, although used in the statutes. I 
think in this very cnse the term is used. 

Q. You have stated that it was Jour impression that these oaths were 
filed, but wben you searched for them they could not he found; Wlt.S it 
possible for them to be abstracterl from your office '-A. Yes, it was 
possible, but in my mimI not probable, for tbey were in an obscure place. 

Q. Did it ever occur to you whether or not the voters at Brick Church 
precinct, Saint Helena, were or were not sworn before YOIl were called 
on to testify in this case '-A. I can safely say it did. It occurred to 
me immediately. 

Q. Did it occur to you at the time !-A. Thi~ occurred to me: that it 
was wonderful if anyone could read the oaths so fast. Yes; I can safely 
say it did. 

Q. Has it not been the custom, and at Saint Helena particularly, to 
swear tbe '\"oters in squads, witbout regard to numbed-A. I can't say 
as to Saint Helena particularly, but I have seen them sworn in squads 
at Beaufort precinct. 

Q. You state that you were about fifty yards from where the '\"oting 
was going on; were you in company or conversation with anybolly; if 
so, who !-A. No particular conversation with anyone. 

Q. How long were yon sitting in that position !-A. About two hours. 
Q. You state that yon saw one act of violence at that time; do you 

know wbat gave rise to tllat act of violence !-A. I do not, except by 
inference from the words usell. 

Q. You state that it was upon a man by the name of Freeman, his 
first llame JOU do not know; at what place dol'S he reside'in Saint He­
Jena!-A. I do not know his residence, but tbink it to be Land's End. 

Q. Pll'ase d(>scribe the man, his business at that time, since, and for 
SOlDe reasonable time before.-A. He is a stout, strong man, broad face, 
uncommonly foIl face. I dOll't know his business, aud be was distribut­
ing Democratic votes that day. I don't know wbat business he was or 
is in at pl'esent. 

Q. Are you well acquainted with the people from the island !-A. 
Yes, generally; most of the younger men that are growing up now; I 
don't know their names. 

Q. Do you know any of those that were engagl'd in this melee !-A. 
I do Dot. It began in among so wany that I could not distinguish any 
of them. 

Q. Do yon know whether it grew out of any political differenc.,s or 
not-this distnrbance '-A. I only know from what I heard: "Damn 
the DemocratE-we won't have any of them votes here." I only know 
what could be inferred from tbeir language. 

Q. Do yon know whether this attack was made upon him by aRe­
pnblican or Democrat '-A. No, I do not. 

B. G. JUDD. 
Sworn to before me this 22d day of February, 1877. 
[SEAL.] M. R. COOPER. 

Notary Public. 
The examination is adjourned to 9 o'clock a. m. to-morrow. 

M. H. COOPER. 
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In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
County of.Beatifort: 

BEAUFORT, February 23, 1817. 
The examination is resume«l pursuant to adjournment. 
Present, William Elliott, counsel for contestant, and Alfred Williams, 

counsel for contestee. 
JAOK FREEMAN, colored, a witness of legal agl', produced by contest­

ant, upon due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to 
questions propoonded by contestant's counsel: 

Question. State your age, residence, occupation, and name.-Answer. 
Jack Freeman is my name; age, about forty·seven; reside on Saint 
Helena Island; my occupation is boating and farming. 

Q. What part.y did you support at the last general election I-A. 
Governor Hampton. The Democratic party. 

Q. Were yon ever cOT8ed or abused during the campaign j and, if so, 
by whom! I mean because of your being" Democrat.-A. Y t's, sir; 
tbe first was about the 6th of October. I was in the town of Beanfort. 
I had a little talk with this fellow Morgan, a Rppublican. in the stn>ets. 
We had a little arguing about politics. I told him 1 would support 
Hampton for ~overnor j then this constable came along and said I must 
shut up, that they did not allow any Democrat to come here to speak 
ill Beaufort. He was a policeman in the town. I told him 1 wouhl Jlot 
shut up; that I was not disturbing the peace of the town j that I think 
a Democrat had as mucb right as a Republican. Then be ~rabbetl me 
hold and said I mllst come on to tbe guard· house. I refused to go, anti 
the cl'owd ~athered round me Knd dragged me to the guard·bouse. That 
was about six o'clock in the afternoon, and tbey kept me there until next 
morniu~, and made me pay three dollars, or else 1 had to work on the 
streets for three days. . 

Q. To what party did this policeman, Joe Robinson, belong !-A. To 
tbe Republican party. 

Q. To what party diel all of this crowd belong !-A. Republican party. 
(,J. Was anything done with Morgan !-A. No, sir. The next tilDe 

they troubled me was on the 6th of Noyewber, the night before the 
election. They had a meeting in town, anti Congressman Smalls was 
speaking. I asked him where was Go\'ernor Ohamberlain when the riot 
was in Hamburg. His reply was, "Put a corn·cob in that Democrat's 
Dlouth." As soon as be said that I was crowded alld knocked down and 
strock with a stick. Here is the mark in my head now, and I was 
wasbetl in blood. They then took me to tbe guard. bouse. I was there 
about two or three hours, and some gentlemen, Mr. Kressel, Mr. Elliott, 
and some others, came there and took me out and brought me to Mr. 
Harrisou's store, lind gave me somptbing to pnt on the wound, and then 
I went down to get my boat to start for bome, amI they bad stolen aU 
my sail and oars and had n.y boat sonk full of wKter. I then got in with 
Mr. Van Ness and two other men, and went cross the ferry anu went 
cross to Saint Ht-Ieua. 

Q. How big a crowd attacked YOIl on this occasion !-A. Some eight 
or ten, as well as I could see; they had me co\'ere«l. 

Q. Bow many times were you struck !-A. I was strock twico 011 the 
head witb a stick; bere is tbe mark now. Some three or foor strock me 
with their fists. 
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Q. Were these men Republicans or Democrats '-A. Well, they claim 
to be Republicans, far as I know. • 

Q. Were any of those that struck you arrested f-A. No, sir; I ne\"er 
seen any; I was put in a room by m~·self. I never seen any arrested. 

Q. Were any threats made against you during the campaign because 
yon were a Democrat '-A. No more than what I have stated already. 

Q. Were threats made against Democrats generally f-A. At that 
time they stated to me that they would not let Democrats speak. 

Q. Was ansthing said what would be done with Democrats for voting 
the Democratic ticket I-A. No, sir; they never said anyt.hillg to me. 

Q. Was anything said to other Democrats I-A. I don't know, sir; I 
ne,"er heard them say. 

Q. Was anything said about putting Democrats through, or such Ian· 
guage !-A. They didn't use that to me, no more thau what I stated. 

Cross·examined by counsel for contestee: 
Q. Did you vote on the day of the election I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Bow did you vote I-A. I \"oted for Governor Hampton. 
Q. State where it was I-A. On Saint Heleua. 
Q. Thig attack that you speak of was made upon you at a Republi· 

ean meeting, was it not !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You had interrupted the meeting by asking questions, had you 

nott-A. Well, I did not think it was interrupting; I only asked that 
que'Jtiou. 

Q. It was at this meeting that you were told that they would not 
allow Democrats to speak, was it not f-A. No; that was the time when 
the policeman arrested me. 

Q. Were you tried the next morning after yonr arrest by the town 
autborities I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. How long was that prior to the election I-A.. I think it was the 
6th or 7th of October. It was in that month. . 

Q. You say at the meeting sou were attacked by eight or ten persons 
who claimed to be Republicans. Please give their names I-A.. I could 
not tel); the crowd was so big. I only heard Smalls speak. I know it 
was the marshal amI policeman that carried me to the guard·houst'. • 

Q. Then these persons who made the attack upon you were officers of 
the peace, were they!-A.. No. 

Q. How do you know whether the~' were Democrats or Republicans f 
Had 'you allY conversation with them before the attack '-A. No, sir; 
I bad no conversation with them. I only judge it to be. As soon as 
Smalls said, "Put a corn-cob in that Democrat's mouth," they crowded 
me. That is how I know. 

Q. Had you not had some difficulty with some persou in the crowd 
before these parties attacked you t-A. No, sir; ouly what I stated at 
fil'8t. . 

Q. Have you not seen just such quarrels among Republicans at mcet· 
iugs !-A. No, sir; I never seeD just such ODe as this on me-ten or 
twenty men get up on one. 

Q. How do you wish to be undcrstood' Was there eight or ten, or 
ten or twenty!-A. As far as I could see, Ijudge it to be abont teu; 
may be more. 

Q. This was at a Republican meeting where there was se"eral hun· 
dred present, was it not '-A. Was at a Republican meeting, sir. 

Q. Large attendance !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know who it was that struck you f-A. No, sir; I could 

Dot tell. 
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Q. In this crowd of eight or ten Were were se\'eral Democrats that 
came to yonr assistance, were there not '-A. No, sir. After the fuss 
they did. Mr. Kressel and others took me out of the guard.honse. 

Q. If you did not Imow any of the crO\vd that attacked you, how do 
you kuow that there ,vere no Democrats among them I-A. I only judge 
by tbe word of Smalls that t,hey were Republicans. 

Q. Were there other Democrats at that meeting '-A. 1 never seen 
an~'. After I was taken out of the gUllrd·house, I sa\v Mr. Kressel 
and several others. 

Q. Then you only supposed these persons .wbo attacked yon to be 
Republicans becanse they attacked YOIl at a Republican meetiug '-A. 
I judge it to be by the word of Smalls. As soon as he said, " Pnt a 
corn·cob in that Democrat'l5 mouth," I was struck. 

Q. Name some I'ersons whom you saw at that meeting.-A. On the 
stand I seen Smalls, Bamfield, Sammy Green, Lawrence, and there was 
seven or eight hundred meu there. I couluuot tell. 

Q. Yon !>oy you saw Mr. Kressel and Mr. Van Ness there '-A. After· 
wards I did. 

Q. Now, name some others that were there.-A. I couldn't. There 
was so many. I saw hundreds. It was in the ni~ht. I conldn't see. 

Q. Who was it arresteu you on that night. Gh'e his name.-A. Joe 
Cohen, marshal, was one. 

Q. Do you know how many voters there are on Saint Helena lsI· 
and Y-A. No, sir; I never ha\"e taken any particular account of them. 

Q. Do )"ou know whether it is a large Republican precinct or not ,­
A. 1 believe it is a large Republican precinct. 

Q. Wbat ticket did yon vote at that precinct the day of election t­
A. I \'oted for Go\'ernor Hampton-the Democratic ticket. 

JACK FREEMAN. 

Sworn and subscribed· to before me this 23d day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.] 

-Adjourned to 3 o'clock p. m. 

M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Public. .. 

M. R. COOPER. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a sent 
in the Congress of the United Stated. 

STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beaufort: 

Examination is here resumed,pursuant to adjonrnment,3 o'clock p. m., 
23d February, 1877: 

S. J. BAMPFIELD, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant, upon 
due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to questions pro· 
pounded by counsel for contestant: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 
S. J. BampfieJd; age, tweuty·se\'en; reside in the town of Beanfort. I 
am clerk of the court of common pleas and general sessions of Beaufort 
Connty. 

Q. How long ha.\·e you beld that officeT-A. I succeeded Mr. Judd 
the 13th of this month. 

Q. Is your office a.lso known as county clerk t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Are there on file in your office the oaths of the commissioners aml 

managers of election for the general election held on the 7th day of 

Digitized by Coogle 



TILLMAN va. SMALLS. 75 

November last. or any of them t-A. The oaths of the three commis· 
sioners are on record, but none of the manllgerR. 

Q. Do you testify after examination of your file· book and other official 
l'eC.-ords f-A. 1\ly attention was t'specially called to the oaths of the 
commissioners by Mr. Judd, who said the others were not there. I ha,-e 
made no personnl examination. 

(The witness was here called upon to produce his tlle·book and other 
official pal.ers relating to the filing of the oaths of commissioners and 
managers of ejection, and the same are produced.) 

Q. PI~ase stute whether you have examined yonr file· book and otber 
official records, Bnd whether you find any other oaths than those above 
stated ban' been filetl ill yonr office.-A. I ha"e examined, and the only 
papers I dnd in connection with the late election are these three oaths 
of tbe commissioners of election. There is no e,-ideDce of a.ny others 
having been filed. 

Cross examine.l by Alfred Williams, counsel tor contestee: 
Q. State whether or not you know if these managers' oaths were evt'r 

filed iu your office.-A. I understood Mr. Judd that they were brougbt 
there for filing. and were taken away again. 

(Objected to.) 
Q. Did llr. Judd make that statement to you in turning oyer the office 

to you by way of accounting for these oaths' 
(Objected to.) 
A. After re.~eiving the subpwna to bring the official r~cords here, I 

spoke to Mr. Judd about it, and in explanation I understood him to say 
that tbey w ... re brought there, and the clerk of the boartl, Mr. L-lwS, said 
that be wanted them for some purpose and took them into his office. 

Q. Did YOll succeed Mr. Judd to the office of clel'k of the court!-A. 
YE'S, sir.· . 

Q. Please consult your file-book amI state whether or not it has been 
tbe custom to file such oaths in tha.t book. 

(Objected to.) 
A. I fioel nothing in the flle-book relating to the elections. 
Q. 18 it unusual to allow papers 011 file ill the clerk's officI:' to be taken 

oot by respollsible persons with the promise to return them f-A. I ha\"e 
only held the office from the 13th of this month, a.nd could not an­
tlwer frOID my personal knowledge. 

Q_ • by W8S it that you did lIot enfer u»on tbe discharge of your 
dnliP8 as clerk of the conrt outil the 13th of tbe prest>nt month f­
A. Because llr. Judd formerly refused to turn oyer the office, claiming 
tbat the election for county officers behl on the 7th of No\"ember was 
uDaut.horized, and never turned it o\-er to me until the supreme COUlt 
declared that the election was ,'a lid. 

Q. State wbether or not Mr .• Jud.l was a candidate for clerk of the 
court at the last election '-A. He was, sir. 

Q. Was he defeated f-A. HI:' was, sir. 
Q. Upon what ticket was he a candidate !-A. Upon the Democratic 

ticket. 
Redirect: 

Q. 'Vere you electecl to your present position at the last election, and 
on what ticket I-A. I was; on the Hepublican ticlret. 

Q. Do you reside with Congressman Smalls, the contestee in tbis 
case '-A. I do, sir. 
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Q. Did Mr. Judd state to you that all the oaths of the managers had 
been filed '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did he state that a part only bad been filed '-A. My recollection 
is that be nsec.l the word" papers." He did not say "oaths" especially. 
He stated tbat in reply to a question of mine as to where I could find 
tbe records of the election. 

Q. Did he say that any oaths of the managers had been filed in his 
office f-A. No, sir. I did not ask especially for tbe oaths. 

Q. Do you not know that he was referring' to the statement of the 
resnlt of the election, which Mr. La\vs bad filed in his office '-A. No, 
sir; I do Dot. 

S. J. BAMPFIELD. 
Sworn to before me this 23d day of Febrllary, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] . M. R. COOPER, 

Notary PubUc. 

The examination is adjourned to 9 o'clock R. m. to-morrow. 
M. R. COOPER, 

Notary Public. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman amI Robert Smalls for a Sl'at 
in the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beaufurt : 

LAW BUILDING, BEAUFORT, S. C., 
February 24, 1877. 

Examination is resumed, pursuant to adjournment. 
Present, William Elliott, counsel for contestant, and Alfred Williams, 

couDsel for contestee. 

JOHN F. POR'i'EOUS, a witness of legal age, prpducec1 by contestant, 
upon due notice to contestel', deposes as follows in reference to ques­
tions propounded by cOllnsel for contestant: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Ao­
swer. John F. Porteous; age, fifty-one; reside 011 Saint Helena. Island 
in this county i school-teacher by occupation. 

Q. At what Ilfecinct were you at the general election heh! on the 7th 
of November last, and in what capacity Y-A. At Gray's Hill precinct, 
and was United States supervisor of election. 

Q. What time did YOll arrive, and when did you leave '-A. We ar­
rived about half past 6 o'clock in the morning, and left about 11 o'clock 
tbat lIight. 

Q. Wbtm were the polls opened aOlt when closed '-A. Opened at 
half past 6 in the morning aud closed at 6 ill the e\"ening. 

Q. Please state whether any violence occurred at the polls, and by 
whom, toward whom Y-A. The voting proceeded very quietly for an 
hour or two when the negroes became very violent, declaring that it 
was a Repuhlican poll, and that tbey wot.ld allow 110 Democrat to hl\\"e 
anything to do with it. I heard them say that neither I nor Mr. Van 
Ness (the other Democratic white person that was there) should return 
to Beaufort with our lives, I\nd that any negro who was fool enough to 
vote the Democratic ticket should have his brains knonked out. The 
only white man who came there to vote, that I saw, said to me, that he 
,vas afraid to go np to vote on account of the crowd there, fearing his 
life. 

(Objecte(l to by contestee's counsel., 
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After the l"oting was (lone tbey crowded into the house while the 
votes were being coon ted, and were so violent ill their manner, swearing 
that they would sbow that it was a Republican place, and no Democrat 
should be aUowel1 tbere, that I was obliged to can on Mr. Samuel 
Greene, Robt.'rt Hamilton, anil other head men of the Republican party, 
to keep thp.m quiet for us to get throogh with our labors. 

Q. Did t.he white lUan that yon spenk of vote at that precinct '-A. 
No. sir; he did not. 

Q. How large a crowd was present at the pon at the time this dis­
turbance was going on f-A. I should say between three and four bun­
drell; I could not say accurately. 

Q. Was any violence done towards you' If so, describe it.-A. I 
went out of the dnor and was speaking to one or two of them about 
history, answering tbeir questions, when I was violently accosted by oue 
or two of them, and asked why I had come out there to cheat them, and 
I was set upon then by some fifty or sixty of them, and Imstle(l and 
otherwise roul!hly treated, until by the aid of some of the oltler u(>groes 
llresent, I got back iuto the hOllse wht.'re the ballot-box ,vas being kept. 

Q. Did YOll inform them of ~-our position as Unitt.'d States supel'vi. 
sor '-A. Directly, as I was violently accosted in this manner that I 
spt'ak of, I took out my instrllctions and attempted to read thcm to tbem, 
when it was ~ml\tched from my hand by a negro and taken away, and I 
saw no more of them. 

Q. After you got back into the boose did you again venture out f-A. 
No, not again. 

Q. From tbe demeanor of the crowd, what, in your opinion, would 
have been done with YOll if you had come out' 

(Objectt.'d to.) 
A. Tbt'y said if I went out they would kill mt.'. It is not a matter of 

opinion. 
Q. Were allY curses made against Mr. Van NeRsand yourself! If so, 

state wltat they wer ... -A. \Ve were called damn rebel Democrats, aud 
threatened that our lives would be taken; that we shouldn't leave that 
place alive. 

Q. What position ditl Mr. Van Ness occupy!-A. Manager of tbe 
election-one of the managers of the election. 

Q. Did YOll lea\"e there before the crowd dispersed T-A. No. When 
we le(t there the crowd had dispersed. 

Q. Were you, or not, prevented by this violence from properly dis· 
cbarging the duties of your office I-A. I was for some time. 

Q. Were threats made generally against Democrats f If so, what 
were tlJeyT-A. As I have stated in the beginning, threats were made 
that no Dl'mocrat should ,"ote at that poll. 

Q. Were tbese tltrt'ats made openly, and how often, and by how 
many f-A. Openly, repeatedly. and by a good many. 

Q. By what party !-A. By the Republican party. 
Q. Was it safe for a man to \"ote the Democratic ticket openly !-A. 

No, it was 1I0t; decidedly not. 
Q. Was it possible for a colored mlln to \"ote the Democratrc ticket 

openly!-A. Yes, it was possible, but not safe. 
Q. Were the crowd ar I ed in any way'-A. They were armed with 

sticks an,1 clubi. I saw no fire· arms. 
Q. Prior to the election, did you hear any threats against DenlOcrats , 

If so, state what they were, and hmv frequently made.-A. On tbe Sat· 
urday previously to the election I was told by a young man out here at 
the Swamp plantation that his company meant to go to the polls on the 
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day of tbe election to prove that it WIlS a Republican poll and not a 
Democrat. I askcd them what poll they were going to. 'fhey said, 
"Gray's Hill." 

(Objected to.) 

Cross-examined by Alfred Williams, counsel for contestee: 
Q. Yon say the voting proceeded quietly for an hour or two, wbf\n tbe 

negroeR became violent; what was tbe cause of that violence !-A. 
They declared tbat they were being cheated by the Democrats. 

Q. Did they not at that time discover un imitatiou of the Repuhlican 
ticket with the names 1l1)on it of the Democratic candidates I-A. 
'Vhether they had just disco\"ered it or not I (Iou't know, but th~y said 
the D~mocrats had tried to cbeat tbem with false tickets. 

Q. Was this ticket sucb a close imitation of the regnlar Rppnblican 
ticket that any person who could not read woulcl be deceivcll iuto 
voting itT-A. Yes, it was. _ 

Q. Then tbis dissatisfllction arose throngh fear that some of the per­
sons had \"oted this ticket through miRtake, did it not I-A. I ha'-e no 
means of saying yes or no. They said that they were being cheated, 
but they did lIot say that any hall boon cheated. 

Q. Do you know of anybody who was preveuted or obstrncted in cast­
ing their vote at that precinct on tbe day of election f-A. 1 know of 
this white man certainly, and I know of several negroes wbo t.old m& 
they wertl going to ,"ote there, but I don't know whetber tbey voted or 
not. 

Q. Who was tllis white man f-A. A Mr. Hammond, a section-master 
on the Port Hoyal Railroad. 

Q. Do YOIl know where he reside(l prior to bis employment on the 
Port Itoyal Railroad T-A. No; I do not. 

Q. Do ~-ou know \"bether or not he was legally qualified to \"ote in 
the State of South Cluolina '-A. I know he was a 80uth Carolinian. 
He had been in tbe confcclerate war. He was a soldier. 

Q. Do you not knqw that he was a citizen of the State of Georgia 
and disqualified to \"ote in this State f-A. No; I cIo not know that, and 
I doo't believe that. 

Q. Do you wiRh to be understood as Rwearing positively that be was 
not a citizen oCthe State of Georgia '-A. No; I do not swear anything 
of the kind. I state my b~lief, but not my knowledg(ll. 

Q. State whether or not you know that Mr. Hammon() has a family 
and wht're they reside.-A. Yes; b(ll hal! 1\ family, and 1 kllow where 
they reRide. • 

Q. Where '-A. He resides near five miles from Gray's Hill: on the 
railroad. He bal! a house there and a wife and some children. 

Q. How WilS he prev~nted from ,'oUng f Did anybody assault him or 
offer any ,-iolence to him T-A. I saw 110 attempt to assault him, bot 
they were so violent at the window where they were voting that he was 
afraid to go up-violent in their threatR that no Uemocrat sbould go 
there. 

Q. Were any Democratic "otes cast at Gray's Hill on tbe day of the 
election f-A. Yes; tllere were uine. 

Q. Uo YOll know how many Democratic "oters there are at that pre· 
cinctt-A. No; I do not. 

Q. Do you know of any other besides Mr. Hammond who WRS pre­
nnted from \"oting on the day of the election '-A. Of my own knowl· 
edge I do not. 

Q. When this rlolence was offered yoo, were yon struck by any ODe ,-
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A. i dill not feel-any blow; but when I came out my hand was bleeding 
1\8 if it had been struck or scratcbed. 

Q. Then, at the time you were hustled, you were having an argument 
with persons in the crowd, were you not f-A. No; I bad not. It was 
jost before this rough treatment that my iustructious had h~tlu tol'U out 
of my hauds, 

Q. What were these questions of history' Wbat did tbt'y relate 
to f-A. The questions were whether or not it was not Capt. Johu SlDith 
that first brought slavery to this conntry. My answer was that what 
history tells us Capt. John Smitb was long before shwery; that he was 
one of the first settlers of Virginia,. 

Q. It was at the time of this historical discussion on slanry thllt you 
were violently accosted, was it noH-A. No; it was after that. 

Q. 'Vas it any part~f'your duty as tmpervisor of election to discuss 
historical q uestionll at the polls f-A. No; it was not, nor did I discuss 
them. They ignorantly asked me thtl question, which I hall the knowl· 
edJre to auswer. 

Q. J)itl you offtlr to distribute any tickets on the dAY of the election'­
A. [did not. I took some tickets trom Mr. Van Ness as a politeness, 
and Jll1t them on tbe window, and said here are ticket8 tbat YOlt can 
vote if you like; not that you must vote, but simply tbat bere are tickets 
that you can vote. 

Q. Were these tickets printed in imitation of the Repuhlican tickets 
and likely to deceive f-A. I Ilid not observe these tickets at all; I did 
not .k DOW whether they were Repl1 blic3n or Democratic tickets; I asked 
no qnestions about them, hnt I simply put tbem on the window. 

Q. Was Mr. Van Ness a Uepuhlican or Democrat ill politics Y-A. So 
far as I know he voted with the Democratic party ill this election; that 
is, be ,vorkell with them, and I suppost> he voted with them. 

Q. Did you "ote ou the day of election, aUlI where !-Yet!; I voted at 
Gray's Hill. 

Q. What ticket !-The Democratic ticket. 
Q. You say that you callp.d on Samnel Green and other head men of 

tbe Republicau party to quiet the crowd. Did they act willingly '-A. 
I called upon them as the United States official at that polls, and they 
acted willingly. 

Q. Are you well known at Gray'll Hill precinct Y-A. I am. 
Q. Please give the nAmes of some of the fifty or sixty whom you Ray 

bnstled and otbf'rwise ilI·trt>ated yon t-A. I am not able to do so. 
Q. Do you WiRh to be understood as stating positively that Air. Ham· 

mond did not vote on the day of election, or that you did not see him 
,"ote'-A. I wish to be oDllerlltood us saying posithTely that be did not 
vote at the Gray't! lIilI poll, as it was unsafe, in hill opinion, to do so. 
It was clearly unsafe, from wbat he saw, to (10 so. 

Q. Did anyone attempt to strike Mr. Hammond, or offer him any 
injury!-A. He was' not assaulted or struck by anyone, but be wa~ 
afraill to go up to ,·ote. . 

Q. Wbo was it that said if you went out they would kill you Y-A. It 
was said by the crowd outside, by no one person part,icularly, but bS' 
the crowd. 

JNO. F. PORTEOUS. 

Sworn and suhscl'ibed to before me this 2!th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[sEAL.l M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Public. 
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Redirect: 
Q. Did you offer any of these imitation tickets to voters !-A. No; 

. I did not. 
Q. Was there any person at the polls distributing Democratic tickets 

of any kind t-A. No; there was not to my knowledge. 
Q. Were there or not more than one kind of Republican tickets at the 

polls T-A. I can't say that there was, I think there was, but I am not 
sure. Tbere was one printed in red ink, and I think there was one in 
darker ink. 

Q. Do y(\U know whether or not the violence at the polls kept anyone 
from voting the D(>lDocratic ticket besides Hammond '-A. No; I do 
not know. What I believe is another thing, but I do not know. 

Q. What is your belief on the suhject! 
(Objected to.) 
A. I believe that there were. 

JNO. F. PO!iTEOUS. 

Sworn to before me and subscribed this 24th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

(SEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 
Nutary Public. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in the United StateR Congress. 

STATE OF SOUTn CAROLINA, 
County· of Beaufort: 

LAW BUILDING, BEAUFORT, S. C., 
February 24,1877. 

The examination is resumed, pnrsuant to adjournment. 
WILLIAM PRICE, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant, upon 

due noti(',e to contestef>, df>poseB as follows in reference to questions pro· 
pounded by oonnsel for contestant: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 
My name is William Price; 1 am about t\\"enty·four years old; I reside 
at this time out here at the Atlantic Saw Mills; I ha\"e been workiog at 
the mills. 

Q. At what precinct did you,"ote at the election in No,"ewber lasU-
A. At Gardiner's Corner precinct. . 

Q. What ticket did you vote !-A. The Democratic ticket. 
Q. Did the crowd see what ticket you voted !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State what hapPf>oed immediately after you voted.-A. Directly 

after I ,"oted there was some fifteen or twenty of thl'm that said they 
were going to take me up and whip me for voting the Democratic 
ticket. I told them if they wanted to whip ml', to go ahead; that they 
were more than me, one; that I could not do anything with the party 
of them. They followed me from Gardiner's Corner to Sheldon Station, 
and I believe with the intention of whipl)ing me. 

Q. Who w~re those men-white or colored' Democrats or Repub. 
Iicans '-A. They were colored Republicans. 

Q. Did thl'Y ha\"e weapons of any kiml I-A. Some of them had 
switchl's. 

Q. Did you leave Gardiner's Corner immediately, and how did you 
leave !-A. I left immediately, on horseback. 

Q. Did they follow you to Sheldon Station !-A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. Bow far is Sbeldon Rtation from Gardiner's Corner !-A. The best 
I can tell, it is about a mile and a half. 

Q. Where were you and what were you doing when they got to the 
station !-A. I was in the stable, fet'ding and attending to my horse. 

Q. State what occnrred thereY-A. They came up and askell where I 
was, and they told them I was in the stable. They came to the stable 
and !laid they were going to take me out and whip me also for voting 
the Democratic ticket. I told them if they wanted to whip me to j nst 
tire away, and that I was not afraid of them or any of the crowd. 

Q. Do you know any of these mell !-A. Yes, sir; I know two of 
them; one named Billy Heyward, and Jacob Cuthbert. 

Q. What kept them. from carrying ont their threats !-A. I don't 
know, sir, what kept them from it. 

biB 
WIILLIAM X PRICE. 

mark. 

Sworn and snbscribed to before me this 24th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

I SEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Publio. 

The examination is here adjourned until 3 o'clock p. m. 
• M. R. COOPER . 

. The examination is not resumed in conseqnence of non·appearance of 
wltne88e8, and is hereby adjourned, to meet here on Monday, 26th in· 
stant, at 9 o'clock a. m. 

M. R. COOPER. 

In the contest between George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in the Congress of the United States. 

STArE OF SOUTH CAROLINA: 
Oounty of Beaufort: 

LAw BUILDING, BEAUFORT, S. C., 
February 26, 1877. 

The examination is resnmed pursuant to adjournment. 
Pl'tsent, William Elliott, counsel tor contestant, and Alfred Williams, 

COuusel for contestee. 
B. B. VAN NESS, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant, upon 

due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to questions pro· 
pounded hy contestant's counsel: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Allswer. 
B. B. Van Ness; age, thir y-seven; I'esidein Beaufort, Beaufort County, 
Sooth Carolina; carpenter by occupation. 

Q. Bow long bave yon resided in Beaufort Oounty, and where did 
yon reside previously!-A. I have resided in Beaufort Coonty abont 
twelve years. I was born in Hutlson, Columbia Oounty, New York 
State; I have always resided in that State before coming here. 

. Q. Did you serve in the late war, and in what command !-A. I served 
under Kilpatrick, in the United States Army. 

Q. At what precinct were you at the election on the 7th (If November 
last, and in what capacity!-A.. I was at Gray's Hill precinct, and was 
one of tbe managers of the election. 

Q. Were the voters at that precinct sworn before voting, and in what 
H.Misll-6 
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wayf-A. Yes, they were sworn; sometimes three and four at the same 
time. . 

Q. Was there any violence at the polls that day; if so, by whom, to· 
ward whom f-A. Yes, sir; they used Mr. Porteous prett.y roughly, and 
an old colored man also, named Hamilton, the Republican precinct 
chairman. This was (lone by the colored people-the Republicans. 

Q. What position did Mr. Porteous hold f-A. He was United States 
supervisor of election at that precinct. 

Q. Please state just what was done to him !-A. They had him out 
there pulling him-dragging him backward and forward with their clubs 
raised over him; and 1 heard them call out., "Knock his damn brains 
out;" that he was "an old rebel and a Democrat." 

Q. Did YOll see Mr. Porteous attempt to read any papers to them !-A. 
No, sir; I did not see it. . 

.Q. What became of him finanyf-A. They opened the back door and 
got him inside of the house. 

Q. Why was he taken inside of the building f-A. To rescue him from 
this crowd. 

Q. How many were in this crowd f-A. Some two or three hundred, 
or more; I don't know exactly; there was a pretty big crowd. 

Q. Did Porteous go out again !-A, No; I advised him to stay inside, 
ami he did not go out again until the election was over und we left for 
Beaufort. 

Q. What was the degree of violence and riotous conduct at the polls, 
and what stells did you take in reference to it f-A. They threatened. 
myself and Porteous that ,ve shouldn't leave that buihling alive; ., that 
if we. came out there they wouhl mash oor damn brains out and bury 
ns ill the sand." I then called Dick Bright and told him he had better 
take the horse and come out to Beaufort and tell them to Meud out troops 
there to protect us; that it was not safe there. And Bright came back 
and told me that he had sent in word to Beaufort for troops. If I had 
thought it sate to have gone olltside of the building, I would have left 
and come back to Beaufort myself. 

Q. Were curses made against you and Mr. Porteous!-A. Yes; they 
cursed us for "God damn Democrats;" that we "should never leave the 
building alive." 

Q. Were any threats made against Democrats generally at the polls 
that day f It' 110, describe them .-A. Yes; they said that 110 one shouid 
vote the Democratic ticket there thl\t day; that if they did, they 
"would mash their God damn brains out anti bury them right at the 
polls." 

Q. These threats made to the colored men particularly!-A. Yea; 
they were. There was no white men there. The only two white men I 
heard them say were there went away without voting • 

. Q. Was it safe for a colored man to vote at the polls that day the 
Democratic ticket! 

(Objected. to.) 
A. No, sir; it was not. . 
Q. Was the result of the election at that poll cbanged by this vio· 

lence f-A. I could Dot tell, sir. If I was a colored man and wanted to 
vote the Democratic ticket I would not ba\-c voted it there that day. 

Q. What time did you leave the precinct that night !-A. It must 
have been tweh'e or one o'clock. We got in here about two o'clock. 

Q. What were you doing until that hoor !-A. We were counting the 
votes and making oot the returns.' 
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Q. Did yon make ont and forward the proper returus '-A. I did, to 
the best of my knowledge, sir. 

Q. Was Rny application made to you subsequeutly to sigu other 
papers' If so, state what and by wbom it ,vatl made.-A. Yes; some 
time after Dr. Wilder brought a blank filled out for me to sign of 
the election at Gray'lJ Hill, 'anti Atate'l that tbere had been a mistake in 
the filling out of the blauks there, and that he wished me to take au 
affidavit to the same, and I refused to do either. A few days after that 
McGill brought the same blank to me to sign, and I told him I had 110 
right to sign any other returns, Rnd I did not sign them. 

Q. Who is Dr. Wilder '-A. He is county treasurer here, I believe. 
Q. To what party did he belong, and what position did he bold in 

colJllt'etion with the election f-A. I believe he belongs to the Repub­
lican party. He acts with them. I don't know what position he held 
in connection with the election. 

Q. Did he read you the papers he wanted yon to sign '-A. No, sir; 
he started to read them, and I couldn't understand them, and I told him 
to let me look over them. He ga\'e them to me; I looked over them, 
and I told him 1 conld not sign them; that it was a return from Gray's 
Hill, and that I had already made the return from there. 

Q. Did he show a willingness to let you have the papers for exa'.Dina· 
tion '-A. Yes, sir; he dill not object to my looking at the papers. 

Q. Who were the other two managers at that precinct, and to what 
party did tbey belong '-A. They were both l{,epublicans. McGill did 
not get there iu time, and they swore in another man by the name of 
Lawrt.>nce in bis place. I don't remember the name of the other one. 

Q. Did Lawrence act as manager; and, if so, how long I-A. He did; 
from the time the polls opened until they closed. 

Q. Who swore him in '-A. Mr. Porteous. 
Q. Then McGill did not act at all '-A. No, sir; he merely kept ac· 

count of the vote there. 
Q. Who selected Lawrence '-A. The chairman of tbat precinct and 

two or three other colored men, all RepUblicans. 
Q. Did Mr. Porteous hold any other office tban that of supervisor 1-

A. No, sir. 
Q. How long did this violence and riotous conduct at the polls con· 

tinue f-A. Two or three hours. 

Cross-examined by Alfred Williams, counsel for contestee: 
Q. Yon say that you were threatened and told that you should not 

leave the place alive; who made these threats '-A. Some of tbe colored 
people outside. , 

Q. Give their names.-A I don't know them. 
Q. Were you in the bUilding all this timeT-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How do you know tbat the people olltside were making threats 

against you and Mr. Porteous t-A. They came right to the window where 
we were sitting and made them. 

Q. Did they make them agaiust you specially I-A. Yes; they did. 
Q. Did you suffer any injnry or violence at their hands I-A. No, sir; 

I did not, because I didn't give them a chance. 
Q. What was it that provoked these people against you '-A. I can't 

tell yon that, sir; 1 don't know. 
Q. Did you distribute any tickets at the Gray's Hill preoinct during 

the election '-A. I did not distribute any; I took tickets there but did 
Dot di8t.ribQt~ any. ' 

Q. What kind of tiokets were they '-A. Democratio tickets. 
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Q. Did you band any of tbose tickets to Mr. Portpous, tbe supl'I'Tiflor, 
for distribution !-A. I don't remember wbetber I banded tbem to Mr. 
Port('ous or not; what I bad I either handed to Mr. Portt'Ous to put on 
the table where the ballot-box was, or I put them there myself, I don't 
kuow which; tbat was before tbey commenced voting. 

Q. Were not these tickets printed iu imihrtion of Republican tickets 
and likely to deceive llersons wbo could not read T-A. I don't know 
that; I don't know ,,"hether the Democrat's tickets were printed in im· 
itation of the Republican printed in imitation of the Democrats; 
tbl'Y w('re '\'ery much alike, except the namcs. 

Q. Were not they hoth printed in the same colored ink T-A. Yes; I 
think tbey w('re; in fact I never paid any attention to that at all. 

Q. Were not these Democratic tickets b('aded '''itb tbe words" t7niou 
Republican ticket," tbe same as the Republican ticket '-A. I could not 
tSay ; I took no notice of tbat until the tickets were all gOIle. 

Q. Was not tbis violent language caused by tbe discovery of these imita­
tion tickets '-A. I could not tell you that. Tbe foss was ootside. The 
first I knew of it was tbey were pulling and hauling Mr. Porteous about. 
I was iDl.ide. 

Q. Did yoo not hear them charge 1\lr. Porteous with trying to cheat 
them f-A. No; I did not bear tbem charge him, but they asked me if I 
brought any Democratic tickets out there. I told them I did, and they 
said I bad no business to bring Democratic tickets out there for them 
to '\'ote. 

Q. Were these red tickets'-A. I had retl tickets and black tickets 
both. 

Q. In speaking of these tickets they referred to the rt'd tickets 
eflpecial1y; did they not T-A. No; I did not understand tbem that it, was 
the Democratic ticket; I beard that in Beaufort afterwards, though. 

Q. Was there any violence used before tbe disco\'ery of tbese Demo· 
cratic tickets f-A. I don't know; I don't know when they discovered 
them. It was about half past eight when they commenced the row, I 
should think. 

Q. How long dill this loud aud angry talking last '-A. I should 
think two or three hoors.' 

(~. Do you know of anybody being hurt or injllred during that time' 
A. Well they haul('d and jerked Mr. Porteous round; I dOll't know 

whether they hurt him or not; and there was an old negro there that 
they handled pretty roughly. 

Q. Do yoo know who he was T-A. He was the precinct chairman 
there; Hamilton, I believe, was his name. 

Q. What did they charge bim with f-A. I don't know. 
Q. Did you bear them say '-A. No; it was outside. 
Q. Were there any Democratic votes polled at--Gray's Hill that day T­

A. Y cs, sir; there were nine. 
Q. Do you know how many white votes there were poned '-A Two. 
Q. Then there must ha"e heen seven colored men who voted the 

Democratic ticket at Gray's Hill '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were any of those colore(l Democrats hurt or injured to your 

kuowl('(lge f-A. Not to my knowledge. 
Q. Do you know of any person who was prevented from ,"oting 

through fear of violence at Gray's Hill precinct on the day of the elec­
tion f-A. No, I don't know of anyone myself, only by hearsay. 

Q. Did you see Mr. F. D. J. Lawrence at the polls that day T-A. 
Yes; I saw him there about 1h'e minutes. 

Q. Did yO"l bear any of the people charge Mr. Porteous with trying 
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to cheat them with these red ticketa '-A. I diel not hear them if tbc.>y 
did. 

Q. When were yon informed by Dr. Wilder tht a mistake had been 
made in filling ont the vote at tbe Gray's Hill precinctLdid yon make 
any effort to investigate or correct the mistake f-A. ~o; I did not. 
He told me tbat thc.>re was one blank that was not filled out corrc.>ctly. 
I told him if one was correct tbat they most all be, for J had copied one 
from the otber. I also told him that I did not think I hatl any right to 
sign any blank then; that it was after el~ction. 

Q. Was it not your duty to make a correct retorn of the votes polled' 
-A. I don't know if it was my duty to make correction after tht'y had 
been signed by the other managerli and Bent in or lIOt, and this coming 
by a private anthol'ity, so I did not know what Dr. Wittler had to do 
with it. J had no right to sign it for him or any other man. 

Q. Don't you think it was your duty to correct a militake after being 
informed that a mistake had been made t-A. I think it was my duty 
to correct a mistake provided the original blank had been brought to 
me and the mistake pointed out, and the otber managers present to cor­
rect it, but not right to sign a document that was drawn up by I\ny pri­
vate indh'idual. 

Q. Don't yon know that Dr. Wilder was olle of the commissioners of 
election of Beaufort Coanty, and appointeli to cam-lUIS the voteli '-A. 
No; I 110 not. 

Q. Did not Mr. McGill, one of the managers of election, inform you 
tbat mistakes had been made '-A. No; he did not inform me; he 
said he was asked to bring that paper to me to sign; that Dr. Wilder 
said there was a mistake; and be said that he did not see anything 
wrong iD the returns that we had made out. 

Q. Did be say he had examined the returns '-A. He had looked 
tbem over before they \vere signed. 

Q. Did you make any inquiry into the alleged mistake T-A. No, sir; 
I did not. 

Q. State your politics, and wllich ticket you votell on the clay of the 
election, and where you \'oted '-A. I am a Democrat. I voted that 
ticket at Gray's Hill precinct. 

Redirect: 
Q. How many kinds of Repu btican tickets were at the polls that day T­

A. There were two; a black anu a red ticket. 
Q. How /Dany kinds of Democratic tickets '-A. There were two; a 

a black and a red one. 
H. B. V AN NESS. 

Sworn and subscribed to bt.'fore me this 26th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 
Notary ~ublic. 

The examination is here adjourned to half past two o'clock p. m. 
M. R. COOPER • . 

In the contest between George D. T.lIman ancl Robert SmLUs fc)r a. seat 
in the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
, OO,"I"Y of Beaufort: 

BEAUFORT, S. C., February 26, 1~71. 
Tbe examination is resumed pursuant to adjournment. 
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Pre8(>nt, William Elliott, counsel for contestant, and couDsel for con­
testee, Alfred W imams. . 

M. BOROK, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant upon dne 
notice to contestee, deposes as follo,vs in reference to questions pro-
pounded by counsel for contestant: . 

Question. State yonr name, age, rcsidence, and Occupation.-AnRwer. 
My name is M. Borck. Age(\ sixty"three. I reside near Gray's Hill, 
Beaufort County, State of South Carolina, and lam by occupation a 
storekeeper. 

Q. Vfhere did yon vote at the election on the 7th of November last t­
A. I voted in the town of Beaufort. 

Q. Why did you not vote at Gray's Bill t-A. On the 7th of ~ovem­
ber I got up ,"ery early anll took a colored man with me I\nd went to 
Gral'l4 Bill to vote. I Relit that colored man clown to get me a Demo­
crat ticket, and while he was gone I heard them colored meu-there 
was about two or three hundred of them there, thick as bees out tht're­
f'aying that if auy damn Democrat come there to vote that they would 
kill him. They had sticks ami clubs, and I got scared amI came in to 
Beaufort to vote, and brought tbis colored man with me, and we both 
voted here in Beaufort. 

Q. How far is Beaufort froID Gray's Bill I-A. It is seven miles. 
Q. Was Hibb~8, this colored man, afraid to vote at Gray's Hill !-A. 

Of course; and he told me the best thillg we could do was to coOle and 
'"ote in Beaufort. 

Q. What tilUe did you get to Gray's lIm precinct I-A. I went there 
soon; about quarter of seven. 

Q. Why did yon go 80 soon !-A. I wanted to get there before the 
crowd got there; that is 'fby I went so soon. 

Cross-examined hy Alfred Williams, counsel for contestee: 
Q. Do you live in the vicinity of Gray's Hill I-A. Yes; not quite two 

miles from there. 
Q. How long have you been keeping store in that neighborhood '-A. 

About eigbt years. 
Q. Are there many white resideuts in that vicinity f-A. No, sir; 

oul)' myself. 
Q. Have you ever suffered any bodily hurt or injury because of your 

political opinion !-A. Only in my trade; they say they wouldu't buy 
anything from a " damn Democrat." 

Q. Did you transact any business in Beaufort on the day of the elec­
tiont-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Then you came iuto Beaufort 8S much for business as to vote T­
A. Y('s. It' I had got a cbance to vote ont there 1 would have voted 
out there, and would not have bothered with this voting here. 

Q. If ~\"ou had got a chlluce to vote out there you would still have 
come to Beaufort to transact your other businessf-A. Yes, I would. 

Q. Did auybody pre\"eut or hinder you from votiug at Gray's Hill f­
A. No. I was about fifty yards off, aud I heard the threats, aud I got 
ticarl'd and came 011 to Beaufort. 

Q. Do you know of anybody being prevented from voting at Gray's 
Bill l)rel!illct on that day T-A. No; only that threatening is all I 
heard; I couldn't say. 

Q. You are abont the only Democratic voter at that precinct, are 
YOIl T-A. Yes; and that colored m311, William Gibbes, that Ispeat of. 

Q .. Wbo W88 it that made these threats I-A. That is more tban I cau 
tell you. I heard that talking is all 1 can teU. 
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Q. Do yon still reside and do business a.t that precinct t-A. Yes, sir; 
the election commissioners appointed me manager of that precinct out 
there, and as qnick as I heard it I came rigbt in here and resigned, be­
cause I know what kind of people there is ont there, and I would not 
have anything to do witb it. 

Q. Yon being a storekeeper ancl dependent on these people for trade 
is the reason yon did not want· to h8o\'e anything to do with it, it is notf­
A. Yes; a white man bas got ne chance out there, and my friends don't 
want me to stay ont there, especially since they heard of llcIntire's 
death. 

Q. If a white man has got no chance ont tbere, how is it that yon can 
stay tbere I-A. I got to stand 110 great deal. I got to bite a sour apple 
eometimes. 

Q. Do yon come into Beaufort quite oCtent-A. Yes; sometimes 
every day, and sometimes every otber day. 

Q. The road is qnite lonesome from your place to Beaufort I-A. Yes; 
sometimes I find quite a crowd, thougb. When they working 011 the 
road they catch hold of my wheels, and I got so I have tv carl'y my 
weapon in my pocket. 

Q. Yon never sntlered any violence on the ~oad, have you t-A. No, 
sir. 

Redirect: 
Q. Wonld not some of the colored people vote the Democratic ticket 

if they were not afraid '-A. Yes; Dic~ Bright said he is a Democrat, 
and said he will vote the Democratic ticket. I don't know whether he 
voted it or not. 

M. BORCK. 

Sworn and snbscribed to before me this 26th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

lSEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Public. 

In the contest between George D. Tilhnn.n and Robert Smalls for a seat 
in the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beaufort : 

BEAUFORT, S. C., February 26, 1877. 
JOHN G. BA.RNWELL, a witness of legal age, prodnced by contestant 

npon due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to ques-
tions propounded by counsel for contestant: I 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occopation.-Answer. 
John G. Barnwell; age, forty·five; reside in the town of Beaufort, in 
tbis oounty; occnpation, attorney at law. 

Q. At wbat precinct were you at the election on the 7th of November 
Iut, and in what capacity I-A. I was at Beaufort precinct, and I was 
United States supervisor of election. 

Q. How did the vote at that precinct compare in nombers with the 
rote of previous years '-A. It was very considerably larger. 

Q. In consequence of this increased unmber, did you make inquiry 
as to the residence of the voters; and what WitS tbe result I-A. 1 did 
make inqniry, but not in consequence of the increase in nnmber, but in 
COnsequence of the number of strange faces that apl}enred at the polls 
soon after I got there, when persons appeared that 1 never bad seen be­
fore-I suppose a hundred at least-where they resided, uearly all stated 
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that they were from Lsulies' Island. Upwards of a hundred, I snppose, 
said they came from Ladi&s' Islaud. There were more strangers whom 
I did not ask. 

Q. Is tbere a polling·precinot on Ladies' Island '-A. There is. 
Q. By how large a stream is Ladies' Island separated from Beaufort'­

A. I suppose the stream is about three·fourths of a mile wide. 
Q. If repeating were attempted by Republican voters on tbe sea­

islands of this county, would it be. posNible for the opposite partyeitber 
to prevent or detect it; and, if not, why not '-A. 1 don't s~, under our 
law, bow they could l)revent or deteot it. We have no registration, and 
there are within ten miles of this place about six precinctll, besides the 
Beaufort precinct, at anyone of which any voter in this connty could 
vote. 

Q. Wbat is the character of tbe Dopnlation of these sea·islands as 
to color '-A. I suppose, outside of the towns of Beaufort and Port 
Royal, ninety·nine out of a bundred are negroes. 

Q. State whether or not the original owners of these islands have 
been dispossessed of their lands under the United States direct·tax act, 
amI whether or uot said islands are now generally beld nnder such tax­
titles. 

(Ohjected to.) 
A. They were, almost without exception; amI I don't think, outside 

of tbe towns, there are balf dozen persons who own by any other title 
than the tax·titles. 

Q. What class of persous generally own these lands '-A. Negroes. 
Q. What Is the usual meuns of commuuication between these islands, 

and is there any regular course of tran~1 by colored people '-A. The 
usual mode of tra\"el is by smull boats and canoes, and there are a great 
many different landingp from which they start on different islands.· 

Q. State whether the tickets of voters were examiued at the last elec­
tion at Beaufort precinct before they wel'e cast.-A. Many of them were. 

Q. State by whom and how was it stopped '-A. I saw it done by two 
or three persons. The only name I call remember was Joe Cohen. I 
think I saw West Morgan also. And I spoke to Oohen and told bim if 
he did any such thing again I would report him. 
. Q. What position did Cohen occnpy f-A. Town marshal. 

Q, Where \"8S he stnnding when this was done '-A. IIe was seated 
on the sill of the window through which the votes were passed and de-
po~lted in the box. . 

Q. How long did he remain there '-A. Nearly all day. 
Q. Did you ohser\'e that other officials occupied somewhat similar p0-

sitions '-A. WeH, all day one of the marshals stood at the window. 
Q. To what party did these officials belong!-A. They were all Re­

publicans. 
Q. Was there anything else that especially attracted yoor attention 

at th('l polls f-A. I do not remember any other thing. 
Q. Were there any United States troops in the town of Beaufort on 

that day T-A. There was, sir. 
Q. What effect did this have on the election at this precinct I-A. I 

think it ma(Ie e\·erything go oft' good.humoredly; quietly, I mean. 
Q. 'Yere there troops at any other precinct in the county f-A. Not 

that I know of. I think not. 
Q. 'Vhy were trooplJ sent here'-A. Because many of tbe wbi~ 

were apprehensive of a riot, as the language of the negroes pre\'ioosly 
was yery threatening. 

Q. Threatening towards whom !-A. Towards the Democrats. 
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Q. Do you know whether or not more than one call was made for thpse 
troops before tbey were sent '-A. Yes, there were; several parties were 
sent to Columbia to try to obtain tbem. 

Q. In response to the call of what CI38S of persons were they finally 
sentT-A. In response to the call of several Northern mercbants. 

Q. Were calls made for troops for otber precincts in tbe county!-A. 
Yes, there was; and the invariable answer in reply was that none could 
be spared. 

Q. Wbat was the state of feeling before the election of Republicans 
towards Democrats in this community, as evidenced by their acts and 
words f-A. The feeling was very bitter and threatening. 

Q. Did you hear auy threats made against Democrats; how often aud 
in wbat places f-A. I heard them very frequently on tbe streets in 
Bt>aufort, and several times at Sheldon Depot; they were general threats 
that th(>y would "kill every damn Democrat, and that tb(>y onght to 
have their throats cut," amI various otJIer expressions of that kind tbat 
I don't remember. 

Q. For how long before the election was this kept up '-A. I did not 
notice any for a longer period tban about a month before the election. 

Q. Do you know whether or not the ladies of Democratic families were 
insulted on the streets of Beaufort, in consequence of their political 
sympathies' 

(Objected to.) 
A. I did bear of some instances at tbe time. 
Q. Was tbis feeling by Republicans towards Democrats exbibited at 

any pnblic meeting' If so, state tbe oircnmstances and tbe oCC8sion.­
A. At the time of the Hampton meeting here severa] of the speakers 
were not allowed to speak, in consequence of tbe interruptions and 
booting and jeerings, made by a crowd of Republicans, who collected 
around in front of tbe would·be speakers. 

Q. Was tbe meeting finally broken up by them '-A. It was. 
Q. Were any Republican officials prominent in this! If so, please 

state who tbey were.-A. I observed two: L. S. Langley, county auditor, 
and Mundy Williams, a United States deputy marshal. 

Q. Did this latter make bimself particularly conspicuous, and how!­
A. He did, by interrupting the speakers and by urging others to in· 
terrupt them aOlI make a noise, and by resisting the efforts of the town 
police to keep them qui~t and to keep the crowd from pressing in on the 
8pt'akers. 

Q. Was he at the poll on election·day as United States deputy mar· 
sbal f-A. I did not ~ee him on that day. 

Q. What is tbe general conduct of Republicans of Beanfort at tbe po. 
Iiticalmeelings of their opponents !-A. They are generally very turbn· 
ll'nt. I remember two occasions; one was the Reform movement in 
1870, when tbey prevented several speakers from making their speeches 
by cbtffiring and making considerable noise. 

Q. Who was the Ueform candidate for Governor that year, and was 
he one of these speakers T-A. Judge Carpenter was, and he was one 
of the speakers. 

Q. Was be permitted to finish his speech !-A. He was not. 
Q. State any other instance.-I remember on another occasion when 

United States Senator Sawyer attempted to speak and was not allowed 
to utter a word. Thi~ was in 1872, when be was in opposition to the 
regular Republican ticket. 

Q. Bow long have you resided here !-A. I have lived bere all of my 
life except during the war. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



90 TILLMAN VS. SMA.LLS. 

Q. Are you a son of Hon. R. W. Barnwell, former United States Con· 
~ssman and United States Senator !-A. I am. 

Examination is here adjourned to 9 o'clock B. m. to-morrow, 27th 
instant. 

M. R. COOPER. 

Examination is resnmed, pursuant to adjournment, at 9 o'clock B. m., 
February 27.1877. 

Present, William Elliott, connsel for contestant, and Alfred Williams, 
counsel for contestee. 

The examination of J. G. Barnwell is continued. 
Q. What was tbe total vote at the Beaufort precinct at tbe election 

in November last !-A. From what I can remember, it was six hundred 
and seventy-eight. 

Q. What was it in any previ9us election !-A. In 1874 it was about 
two hundred less. 

Q. Was the vote at Woodlawn precinct, on Ladies' Island, at the elec­
tion in November last, an increase over the usual vote; if so, how 
much '-A. Yes; there were about one-third more votes polled there 
than ever were polled before. 

Cross·examined by Alfred Williams, connsel for contestee: 
Q. What were yonr duties as supervisor of election '~A. To watch 

the vote for member of Oongress and keep tally of the vote east. 
Q. You say you compared the.vote of Beaut'ort with that of previons 

;years. Can you state the number of votes polled at Beaufort precinct 
In 1868 !-A. I cannot. 

Q. Can yon give the number of votes polled in 1870 !-A. I cannot 
state the exact vote of any previous years, but I will state that I ex· 
amined the return of the ,-ote of this precinct for previous years, aud 
found in no instance that it had reached five hundred. I except the 
year 1868. I was not here, and don't know anything about the return 
then. 

Q. Don't yon know that the limits of the Beaufort precinct were ex­
tended 80 as to include territory adjacent to and outside of the limits of 
the town of Beaufort '-A. I never knew that precincts had any limits. 

Q. Any persons resident of any portion of the county, who had re­
sided one year in the State and sixty days in the county pre\-iotls to the 
election, were entitled to vote at any precinct in the county, were they 
not !-A; They were. 

Q. Does the State law require each voter before depositing his bal· 
lot to swear that h~ is duly qualified to vote and that he has not voted 
at any other precinct !-A. It does. . 

Q. Did these persons who appeared strangers to you take that oath 
on the day of election before depositing their votes !-A. Tbey dirl. 

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge of any person who voted at 
the Beaufort precinct voting at any other precinct in the countY!-A. I 
know of l)erSOIlS of the same name voting at more than one precinct, 
but wbetber they were identical I can't tell. 

Q. It is uncommon to find colored persons bearing the same name f­
A. It is not. 

Q. Please give the distance from the northern to the southern bound­
ary of Ladies' Island.-A. I should suppose it was about six miles. 

Q. How far is the Woodlawn precinct from the southern boundary. 
line of the island !-A. I suppose it is about four miles. 
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Q. How far is Beaufort from the southern boundary of Ladies' 
bland t-A. I should say it was about the same distance. 

Q. Is Woodlawn to tho north or to the south of Beaufort f-A. I 
shonld say it was about due east. 

Q. How far is it from the western boundary of Ladies' Islaud to the 
town of BeaufortT-A. Aboutthree·quarters of a mile, I suppose. 

Q. Then Beaufort would be the nearest precinct for a portion of the 
people living on Ladies' Island, would it not f-A. It would. 

Q. You say tbat you saw Joe Oohen and West Morgan examine the 
votes. Did they do it at their own option, or at the request of voters 
who could not read '-A. They did it at their own optiou. 

Q. Did Cohen or Morgan prevent or hinder anyone from voting as 
they saw fit I-A. Tbey did not. 

Q. Were not the marshals placed around the polls to preserve order 
and to prevent crowding the poll '-A. He said that they \vere. 

Q. Was there general quiet aOll order on the day of election, as much 
80 as nsua1 on fluch occasions '-A. There was. 

Q. Was it tho wish of both Democrats and Republicalls to have 
troops present 011 the day of election t-A. Well, it was the wil;h of 
lDost of the whites of both parties. 

Q. Were the services of the troops needed to preserve the peace on 
the day of the election f-A. They were 110t. 

Q. Do you know of any Republicans who inflicted upon Democrats 
allY violence at Democratic meetings, or because of their political opine 
ion prior to the "election f-A. I do not. 

Q. What is the general character of the colored people for peace and 
order '-A. I should say they are generally peaceful unless excited. 
Tbey are generally quarrelsome then. 

Q. Are tbey what may be called mq,licious ·people f-A. They are not. 
Q. You say you heard threats on the streets of Beaufort and Shel· 

dOli. Can you give the names of the persons who made these threats t­
A. I cannot. 

Q. Do you know of any political meetings beld in the town of Beau· 
fort at which Republicans aud Democrats spoke iojoint discussion t-A. 
I know of one during the last campaign. 

Q. Did the speakers have fair attention from the lhlteners t-A. Tbey 
did. 

Q. At tbis meeting at tbe club,house, wbo were the speakers I-A. 
General Bllmpton, Judge CbOke, Youmans, and Gibbes. 

Q. Did General Hampton have a fair hearing '-A. He did. 
Q. Did not the interruptions of the other speakers come through tbe 

Asking and answering of quel:ltions T-A. Partly from tbat and partly 
from there being 80 much noise made that they could not be heard. 

Q. Did yon ever compare the colored vote at the last election with 
the State census taken in 1875 T-A. I did not. 

Q. Did you compare the white vote with the census of 1875 t-A. I 
did Dot. 

Q. Was not the number of Democratic white votes at Beaufort cast 
on the day of election larger thall that of any previous election since 
1868 I-A. I believe it was. 

Q. Please state your politics aud what ticket you voted on the day of 
the elt'.ctiou.-A. I am a Democrat, and voted that ticket. 

Q. Ba\'e you ever suffered any hurt or injury because of your politi. 
cal opillion I-A. No, sir; I have not. 

Q. What is the population of Ladies' Island !-A. I do not know. 
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Q. Do YOll know how the vote of Ladies' Island in the last election 
compared with the vote of 1868 t-A. I do not. 

Q. Was not the last campaign rather a bitter and earnest one !-A. 
It was. 

JOHN G. BARNWELL. 
Sworn and subscribed to before me this 27th day of February, A. D. 

1877. 
[SEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 

:Notary l'ublic. 

In the contest between Geo. D. Tillman and Robert Smalls for a seat in 
the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA., 
Oounty oj Beaufort : 

LAW BUILDING, BEA.UFORT, S. C., 
Februarg 27,1877. 

W. J. VERDIER, a witness of legal age proouced by contestant upon 
due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in reference to questioncl pro­
pounded by counsel for contestant: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-AnRwer. 
William J. Verdier; aged about thirty.five; reside in the town of Beall­

fort, this county and State; attorney at law by occupation. 
Q. At what precinct were you at the election on the 7th of No-

vember last '-A. At Beaufort. . 
Q. How did the vote at that precinct compare in nnmbers with thA 

vote of any previous yeart-A. It exceeded, as far as I know, consid­
erably. the vote of any previous year. 

Q. State the vote at Beaufort precinct in 1874.-A. From memo­
randa kept ot" the votes, I find that the vote at Beaufort in 1874, was fOllr 
hundred and thirty.fi\·e. 

Q. What was the vote in 1874 at the following precincts: L'\flies Isl­
and, Myrtle Bush, Gray's Bill f-A. Ladies IlIland two hnnclre<l anti 
twenty· three; Myrtle Bnsh, one hnndred and sixty-four; Gray's Hill. two­
hnndred and forty. 1 state these not from memory, but from memo­
randa. 

Q. Is Ladies Island the same as that now known as Wood Lawn !-A. 
I think it is. I know it ill. 

Q. W as ~'our attention in any way called on election day to voters 
coming to Beaufort from Ladies Island, and if 80, how I-A. It was re­
peatedly reported to me on that day that voters were coming across at 
White Hall ferry, and across to Wilson's Mill. I was ahlO told that 
they bad boats running regularly between Wilson's Mill and LacHes Isl­
and bringing over voters, and vehicles took them from Wilson'IJ Mill 
into the town of Beaut'ort. 

Q. What is the character of the population of these islands!- A. 
With very few exception9, colored-almost entirely colorecl. 

Q. Please describe the general situation of the sea islands of this 
county; how they are separated from each other, and what he the o81lal 
means of communicatiou.-A. They are divided generally by streams 
of water, some of them very small. Between Saiut Helena and Ladies 
Island there is a bridge, but the usual mode of comm unication is by 
small boats, batteans, and dug-outs. It is very easy to get from one to 
the other. There are numerous landings, and yon can land almost aoy. 
where. 

Q. If repe.'lting were attempted by the colored voters of these islands, 
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would the above circumstances be favorable to its accomplishment f­
A. Highly so. 

Q. Would it be possible either to prevent or to detect it t-A. Ex· 
tremely 80. I don't think it would be possible to prevent it, uneler the 
existing Jaws. I think it would be equally difficnlt to detect it. 

Q. St.ate whether, ItS a general rule, tbe colored people of these 
islands are individually known to the ,,,,bite 'people.-A. I don't tbink 
they aN'. They go by difterellt names. 

Q. Please state what was the feeling by Republicans toward Demo­
crats in this vicinity during the last camJ)aign.-A. It was very bitter, 
especinlly as to colored Democrats. 

Q. How indicated f-A. By curses, threats, insults on the streets. 
Q. How frequent and how long a time before the election I-A. Almost 

every day for three weeks or a mouth befort! the elt'ction. 
Q. Can you state some of the tbreats, or their character I-A. Only 

from wbat has been told me, not from my own personal knowledge. I 
have myself beard on the streets, as Democrats oug~ to be killed, 
,. Lass one of dem ought to be kill out." I was ne\'er personally curseel 
or abused uutil the morning of the election, when I was cursed by some 
negro womt'n standing at the corner of McBride'S store, on Bay street. 
I was simply ,valkiug along untill got near enough to know that they 
meant me, and they kept 011 cursing me until I got out of bearing of 
tbem. 

Q. What corses were used I-A. I don't remember aU of them, sucb 
as "UnRs~d rascal" and ,; cnssed debbil, you walk now like you want 
nij!"ga;" "Democrat rascal," and so on. 

Q. Wbat was the general effect of these threats and curses upon col· 
ored "oters inclined to vote the Democratic ticket t-A. It prevented 
them from doing 80. 

Q. Was tbe result of the election in this vicinity affected thereby' 
(Objected to.) 
A. 1 think it was, dechledly. 
Q. Wbat degree of courage did it require for a colored man to vote 

openly the Democratic ticket on these islandsY-A. More than is usually 
p088essed by ordinary human beings. Had I been a negro I should 
never have voted the Democratic ticket. 1 should have been afraid to 
do it. 

Q. Was this intimidation carried into all the relations of lifet-A. 
From all I can learn, it was. 

Q. Were the ladies of Democratic families insulted on the streets in 
Beanfort in consequence of theil' supposed political sympathies f 

(Objected to.) 

A. I can only speak from ht'ars8Y tbat they were. On one occasion 
I heard abQl~h'e Janguage directed to Democratic ladies as a bodr, This 
was on the day that General Hampton spoke at Beaufort, and it pro· 
ceeded from negro women. There were a number of Democratic ladies 
occnpying tbe hotel steps and piazza dul'ing the meeting, and it was 
against tbem that this abuse was uttered. 

Q. What was the lallguage used f-A. I do not remember all of the 
expressions. "White devils," .. white bitches," were among tbe expres· 
siolls. 

Q. Was this language publicly used I-A. Yes; it was that, in con· 
nection with the abuse or the Reverend l\'lr. Jones, while he was offer· 
jng prayer at the meeting, induced me to call the attention of one of the 
CODstables to it and ask him to put a stop to iii. 
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Q. What was the language used towards Mr. Jones t-A. He was 
called a "Democrat rascal;" tbat Goel would not listen to any socb un­
just people as Democrats; that he had better pray to the devil; that 
God bad nothing to tlo with the Democrats; that he hat! not even waked 
up God yet. 

Q. How did this Hampton meeting, of which you 8peak, terminate' 
-A. It was turbulent, ana very neal'ly approached a row. 

Q. Oaused by what t-A. The oPP08ition by Republican8 to hear cer­
tain 8peaker8; not to allow certain men to speak. Judge Oook, for an 
installCt'. 

Q. Wbo were prominent ill this opposition t-A. I cannot name all of 
them. I saw among them Mnndy Williams, who was 8aid to be United 
States dt>pnty marsbal. L. S. Langley was also among them; he is 
county Ruditor. I was tolel tbat tbe intendant of the town," prominent 
:Mr. Williaml1, was quite active in a quiet way in llrOmoting opposition 
to the speaker8. 

Q. Do you how whpther Mundy William8 acted on the day of elec­
tion as Unite<l States deputy mar8bal !-A. I do; he did 80 act. 

Q. Was the meeting finally broken up by the Republican8 t-A. I be-
lieve it was. 

Q. Did General Hampton make any 8tatement to that effect t 
(Objected to.) 
A. Yes, he did. He al80 told tbem tbat be would cheri8h no ill feel­

ing toward tbem; tbat wben he got to be governor he would come down 
and 8ee tbem again. 

Q. Wbat was the feeling a8 to apprebension of violence among the 
white people of Beaufort prior to the election t-A. They were very ap· 
prehensive. 

Q. Apprehen8ive of whom t-A. Tbe colored Republicans. 
Q. To wbat ('xtent was tbis apprehension felt f-A. To the extent of 

applying to General Ruger for troops, aud also to their requesting the 
commander of the Navy here to do what he coulel to. avert \"ioleoce. 

Q. Was more than one application made to General Ruger I-A. Yes; 
I know of two. . 

Q. By what class of persons was the la~t and successful eft'.)rt m:\t\e f­
A. B.v Northern residents here in Beaufl)rt, m)st, if not all, of the Dl 
Republicans. 

Q. Wbat effect did the presence of troops at this precinct have !-A. 
In my opiuion, it alone prevented violence. 

Q. From whom toward whom !-A. From colored RepUblicans towart! 
colored Democrats. 

Q. Were troops sent to any other part of this county!-A.. I believe 
not. 

Q. Do you know of any previous occasion at which tbe RepUblicans 
in the town of Beaufort broke up the meeting of their opponents f-A. 
I think there were other occasion!!. 

Q. In 1870, was Judge Oarpenter, the Ueform candidate for governor, 
permitted to speak in Beaufort !-A. He was oot. 

Q. Wbat treatment did United States Senator Sawyer receive in 1872 
when he attempted to speak here f--A. He was not permitted to speak; 
tbe platform was pulled from uoder him, and he was t.hrown ont of a 
wagon. 

Adjourned to 3 o'clock p. m. • M. R. COOPER. 

The examination is resumed pursuant to adjournment. 
M. B. COOPER. 
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Q. Were yon at tbe polls on election in any official capacityf-A. 
None wbatever. 

Q. You say tbat you compared the vote of the last election with the 
vote of pre\""ious years; what was the vote of I}eaufort precinct in 1868 f­
A. I did not say any such tbing; I do not know the exact Yote of 1868. 
I haye twice acted as manager ot" election at Beaulort in municipal elec­
tions, and I knoW' pretty well the average vote. 

Q. At the municipal elections only residents of the town of Beaufort 
were allowed to vote; were they not 1-A. That was the intention ot" 
tbe law. 

Q. At the gf'neral or State elections, are not voters outRille of the town 
limits entitled to vote at this precinct f-A. They are; but the number of 
voters ontsiue of tbe town limits, to wbom this is the most accessible 
poll, are very few in number. 

Q. Uan you give the vote of Myrtle Bush, Gray's Hill, La(lies' Island 
for any other year pl'ior to 1874 f-A. I cannot at present; I would bave 
to refer to memoranda to be able to do 80. 

Q. Tben tbe memoranda to which yon referred in your testimony was 
only for the year 1874 !-A. Yes, only for 1874. 

Q. Was not the democratic vote polled at Beaufort precinct larger at 
this last election than at auy previous election I-A. I do not remember 
at any preV'ions election of there being a strict party vote-Democratic 
party, I mean-since 1868. We have usually supported the least objec. 
tional wing of the Republican party. 

Q. Was not the white vote polled at Beaufort larger than at any pre· 
vious election-Democratic white vote !-A. I do not tbink it was. At 
tbis election. a good many wbite RepUblicans voted witb us for State 
officers. 

Q. Were all voters at Beaufort precinct required to swear that they 
were dnly qualifie(l to vote and that they had not voted at any other 
precinctf-A. I was so required; I do not know as to others. Not accu· 
I,ying any official position at the poll, I was not entitled to a placs in 
the building, and the colored Republicans so throngell around the poll 
llS to render it impossil>le for me to see or get near enough to know 
wbat a voter was required to say when be deposited his. 

Q. Oan you state of your own knowledge any person who was pre· 
vented from voting through fear or violt'!nce at Beaufort precinct during 
tbe election '-A. I cannot. I saw one man-do not know his name­
wbo was being conducted to the poll by a Democratic runner, and who 
was 80 set npon, pulled about. ani} his way obstructed by the Republi· 
cans, that be turned aud fled from the poll, being cbased a short dis· 
tance. I don't know tbat he returnNl or not. 

Q. Please give the name of the Democratic runner you speak of.­
A. I will not l>e pOSitive, but I think it was 1\lr. Braidy, one of the work· 
ng committee of tbe Beaufort Democratic Club. 

Q. Can yon give the names of any of the Republicans who hindered 
or obstrncted bim f-A. I cannot now. I did know at the time. They 
were colored. It was an occurrence that was quite frequent on that 
day, but not in any other case carried to such an extent. I don't mean 
to say tbat there was any. actual violence to them, but tbe conduct was 
8uch as to deter voters • 

. Q. Were you prevented or obstructed in casting your vote on the day 
of election f-A. I was not. I am a white man, and I know of only one 
white man that was obstructed, and then only by words; bis name was 
Cunin~ham. 

Q. Was Mr. CUJingba:n a resilent of Beaurortf-A. Not at that 
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time j he spent some of his time here. He was only courting here, I 
belie\'"e. 

Q. Do you know of any Republicans iuOicting any violence upon any 
Demo(:rat at any Democratic meeting in this county !-A. I do not. 

Q. What is the general disposition of the colored people as to peace 
and order '-A. From my knowledga of the colored people they are 
pl'aceably and quietly di~posed whl'n left alone, bnt under their leaders, 
colored and principally white, I regard them as turbulent and disor­
derly, and very easily incited to riot. 

Q. Do you know of any meeting held in Beaufort during the last can­
vass at which Democrats spoke in joint discussion '-A. I have personal 
knowledge of only one participated in by two whi te Democratic speakers. 

Q. Did the Democratic speakers on this occasion have fair attention 
given them '-A. I believe they had. I know of only one interruption, 
and thnt was by a white Republican. A few insulting remarks were 
matle by a negro at some distance, but not sufficiently near to cause in­
terrl1ption. Numerol1s constables kept passing to and fro through the 
crowd kel'ping order nnd quiet. 

Q. Can you gi\"e the names of any persons who uttered threats on 
the streets toward Democrats '-A. I cannot now remember man\". I 
have hear,1 them from one man by the name of Larey, and one by the 
name of Orelions j I think he was drunk at the time. I, also, on one 
occasion, applied to Intendant Williams to put a stop to the cursing 
and auuse by one Robert Byt.hwood, and others, of a colored Democrat, 
on Bay street, by the lIame of Solimon Washington. On another occa­
sion violent and threatening language was nsed by one Daniel Jenkins, 
a colored Republioan, and 1 called upon the town marshal to take notice 
of it. which he did. This was done at the time of the arrival of the 
United States troops. 

Q. Do you know of anyone in the town of Beaufort, prior to the last 
election who suffered hurt or injury because of their political opinion T­
A. I cannot at present call to mind any particular case. I have heard 
of Jack Freeman sulfering twice, but have no personal knowledge. 

Q. Oan you name any case in which intimidation was carried into all 
of the different relations of HfeT-A. As I have before stated, I have no 
personal knowledge, and could only speak from hearsay as to that, my 
opinion bt'ing formed from what I heard. . 

Q. What are your politics, and what ticket did you vote T-A. Straight. 
out Democrat, and I voted that ticket. 

W. J. VERDIER. 
Sworn and subscribed to before me this 27th day of February, A. D. 

1877. 
[SEAL·l 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beaufort County: 

M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Ptlblic. 

In the matter of the contested election in the fifth Congrt>ssional district 
of South Carolina for Representath-e in the Forty-fifth Congress of 
the United States, in which George D. Tillman is the contestant and 
Robert Smalls is the incnm bent. 
I, 1\1. R. Cooper, a notary public within and for the connty of Beau­

fort aud State of South Carolina, do hereby certify that the aforesaid 
depollents, being duly summoned, to wit: W. H. Niner. John J. Allen, 
William 8. Drayton, O. B. Kirk, H. M. Fuller, Pompey Jones, H. G. 
Judd, S. J. Bampfieltl, John F. Porteous, M. Borch, W. J. Verdier, 
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Morris Scott, John Bird, Randall Hp.yward, John McFall, A. C. McFall, 
Abram P.Jeukius, Jack ~'reemaD, William Price, H. B. Van Ness, John 
G. Barnwell, prOtloced by said contestant, personally appeared before 
me, at the Mansion House in the town of Port Royal, and at Law 
Boilding in the town of Beaufort, both in the county of Beaufort, in the 
State aforesaid, anrl being first severally cautioned and sworn to speak 
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing bllt t,he trutb, in tbe matter of 
Baid contested election, gave tbe foregoing depositions by tbem respect· 
ively subscribed. 

That I caused the testimony of said deponents, with the qupstions 
propounded to them by the cOllDsel and agents of Raid parties, to bo 
redllced to writing in my presence and in the presence of said depon~nts 
and of tbe counsel and agents of said part.ies, except as hereinafter 
mentioned, and caused tbe said testimony to be carefully read to said 
deponentll, and also to be duly subscribed and attested by said deponents, 
respectively in my presence. 

That the contestant, George D. Tillman, was present at the examina· 
tion of all snid depon(>nt8, by bis agent and couusel, 'William Elliott; 
and the contestee, l~bt>rt Smalls, was pres(>ut by his agents ami coun· 
sel, W.J. Whipper, A. H. Ezekiel, and Alfred Williams, esqs., save aud 
except at a part of the examination of H. M. Fuller. . 

That prefixed to t,be foregoing depositions is the original notice of con· 
test served by said contestant on said contestee, and the answer 
of said con testee tbereto. 

That also annexed hereto are the following docum(>nts, exbibits, or 
papers relerred to aud described in the foregoiug del'ositioDl~, to wit: 

Paper markt'd " M. R. O. 1," produced by the cOllte~tallt, and referred 
to in the deposition of Abram P. Jenkins. 

A certified statemt'ut of the number of votes given at the general 
election beld on the 7th day of November, 1876, for member of Congress 
from the fifth Congres~ional district, alld marketl "Exhibit B," the 
same being the determination of the board of ::;tato can vassers as to the 
votes cast at said election • 

..l. certilied statement of tbe number of votes cast for Congressman in 
the several precillcts of the counti(>s composing the fifth Congressional 
district, and also of the vote cast for go\'erllor in Beaufort COllnty at the 
general elections of 11:170,1872, 11:174, and 11:176, and marked" Exhibit C." 

And I further certify that the examination of said deponent wa!4 com· 
menced ou the 12th day of l!'ebl'uary, 1877, at the Mansion HOIu,\e, in the 
to\fn of Port ROJal, and was continued from day to day until the 17th 
day of the same mont.h; that it was then adjourned, by consent of coun· 
sel, until the 21st day of said month, at the town of Beaufort, at which 
time and place it was resumed and continu(>d from day to day, until and 
inclusive of the 27th day of said month of Febl'uary. 

And 1 do further certify that the fees of the aforenamrd witnesses in 
behalf of George D. Tillman amount to the Sllm of $67.20. 

Witness my baud and official seal ut BeaufOlt, in the State aforesaid, 
this 1st day of March, A. D. 1877. 

[SEAL.] M. R. COOPER, 
Notary Publio. 

SOUTn CAROLINA, 
Beaufort ()ounty : 

No.2. 

BEAUFORT COUN1T. 

I, Jetl" Warren, notary puulic ill allli for Lhe State of S ... uth Caroliua, 
11. ?fIh). 11-7 
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do bereby certif.v that the annexed depositions of E. H. Peeples, C. B. 
Willcox, E. F. WarreD, Anurew ~oward, Zack Daniels, John T. l\lorri· 
son, Flander or Phlander McZean, J. D. Jobnson, D. B. Uobagan, James 
Hamilton, F. J. Mnlligall. Peter Johnson, W. M. Smith, J. H. Ruddell, 
Josepb M. Lawton, B. M. Stone, J. E. Kittles, E. S. Stuart, W. G. 
Roberts, Steven Black, Joe Grabam, 'Y. 'f. Blount, J. A. Tison, Soutb· 
wood Smith, S. E. Blonnt., '.fho&. Datz, were taken on the days of 
Febrnary, instant, 1877, as rt~specti\'ely certified to above in detail, , 
pnrsuant and in all things conformable to the attached notices, between 
tbe bours of 8 o'clock a. m. and 6 p. m. of said respecth'e days. That 
contestant was prt>sent himself pal't of the time, and all the wbile by 
bis counsel, Jobn E. Laruey, at the examination, aucl that (:ontA-stee 
was represented' at said examination b.v his counsel, A. G. Tbomas. 
Tbat thE' said witnesses wbose depositiolls are hereunto att.acbed and 
wbose names are contained in Mid notices, were by me first dnly 8worn, 
according to law, to tell the truth and nothing but the truth, toncbing 
the matter in contro\'ersy between the parties, aud their f'xlllUinatiou 
and testimony, togetbel' with the questiolls propounded to them by tbe 
parties and reduced to writing by me amI in my presence, and in the 
presence of the rt>spective attorne,Ys of contestant aud contestee, and 
after being carefully l'e.ad over to wit.nes8es were by them attested, by 
signing 'their names or making their marks to their respecth'e deposi. 
tions in my presence. 

In tel:ltimony whereof I bpreunto affix my name and official seal this 
1st day of March, A. D. 1877. 

Is. s.] JEFF WARREN, 
Notary Public, Bea!ifoJ't c:::;.,,»_ty, SQvtll Carolina, 

STATE OF SOUTH CA.ROLlNA, ' I.;:~ V"1 ~ • 
Beaufort County: ~. ~~ 

To Hon. ROBERT SHALLS: ~~ 
You are hereby notifJed tbat I will examine tii "Iowing,named wit· 

nesRes, all of whom reside in Beltnfort County, relative to and touching 
the matters and things set fort.h in my notic(> to you that I would oontest 
yonr right to a seal ill the Oongretls of tbe Unitecl States, to which you 
claim to have bf'Cn elected at the No\'ember elect.ion in 1876, for tbe 
fifth Congressional ui<ltrict of the State of South Carolina, before Jeti' 
Warren, esq., notary publio in and tor the State of Sonth Ollrolina, at 
E. H. Pf'eples' store, in the town of Lawtonville, of tbe conoty and State 
aforesaid, on the 16th, 17th, 19th, !!Otb, and the next succeeding days of 
February instant, A. D. 1~77, between tbe hours of 8 o'clock a. m. and 
6 o'clock p.m. of saill da,Ys, or so mnch tb~reof aa roay be necessars, 
by adjourning from dllY to day, for the eXliminatiou of &airl wit.nesses, 
to wit: F. 'V. Johnson, ~1. D. Ellis, D. B. Gohagan, Ii'. J. Mu1li~an, 
N. W. Ellis, jl'., Jame~ Hamilton, Peter Johnson, lteuben Beckt't, Peter 
Roberts, Guy Williams, Thomas Holmes, Da\'e Gordon, O. H. Wilcox, 
E. H. Peeples, E. 11'. Warren, B. W. 810man, Lawr(>nce Bostick, ItWIc 
Williams, Zack DanielN, 'Villilun Wallacf', .John T. Morrison, Prince 
Graham, E. '1\, Roberts, l\I. Upchurch, Joe Lllwt.oll, Dr. 11 •• Rullell, Jllck 
Kettles, 8amuel Oink, Jno. A. Tison, \Villiam Smith, Southward 8mith, 
Moses Bntlel', Andrew 8hig. Pl'ince Gillison, Ephraim Ridgway, .James 
Humilton, Vnrtis Gillbons, lien Grant, Shac!\'ilI" Fields, David Gi\'eos, 
A masa Polite. . 

G. D. TILU.IAN, 
Pf'r Wlf. ELLIOTT, 

Alto,.",.,. 
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I aCCt'pt legal service of the within notice tbig 13lh February, 1877, 
at Port Royal. 

W. J. WHIPPER, 
A ttorney fur Contestee. 

STATE OF SUUTH CAROLINA, 
, County of Beaufort: 

To Ii'. W. Johnston. M. D. EI1i~, D. B. Gohagan, F. J. l\Iullil!lln, N. W. 
Ellis, jr., James Hamilton, Peter Johnson, Reuben Becket, Pet~r Rob· 
ertM. Guy WillialUs, Thomas Holme!!, Dave Gordon, O. H. Wilcox, 
E. H. Peepll's, E. F. WarrPlI, B. W. Sloman, Lawrl'nof'l Bostick. Isaac 
Williams, Zack Daniels, William Wallace, John T. Morri!lon, Prince 
Graham, E. T. U.oberts, M. Upchurch, Joe Lawton, Dr. JJ. Ruddell. 
Jack Kettels, Samuel Olark, John A. Tison, William Swith, Sonthward 
Smitb, Moses Butler, Andrew Shig, Prince Gillison, Ephraim Ridg· 
way, James Hamilton, Curtis Gibbons, Ben Grant, Sbaltville Fields, 
David Givens, and Amasa Polite, greeting: 
You and eacb of YOIl are bereby summoned to appear belore me, at 

Lawtonville, in said county and Stllte, on the 16th, 17th, 19th, 201h, and 
the next succeeding dnys of 'February instant, A. D. 18i7, between tbe 
bonrs of 8 o'clock a. m. and 6 o'clock p. m. of said days, or so lUuch there· 
of as may be necesRary~ by adjourning from day to day, 'to be tl1l.'n and 
there examined nnder oatb by me r-espt>cting the contest by George D. 
Tillman of the right of Robert Smalls to a seat in tbe Oongress of tbe 
United States. You will not fail berein under tbe penalty of twenty 
dollars. 

Given under my hand and official seal tbig 13th Febrnary, A. D.1877. 
fL. s.] . JEFF WARREN, 

Notary Public, Beaufort County, S. C. 

STATE OF SOlTTH OAROLINA, 
Beaufurt County: 

To Hon. ROBERT SMALLS: 
You are bpreby notified tbat I will examine tbe following-namt>d wit· 

nesses, all of wbom reside in Beaufort County, relative to and touching 
the matters an<l tbings set fortb in my notice to you that I would con· 
test your rigbt to a seat in tbe Oongress of the Unitl>d Statl's, to which 
yon claim to bave been elected at the No'-ember elt'ction in 1876, for the 
fifth Congressional district of the State of South Carolina, before Jeff 
Warren, e~q., notary Imblic in and for the State of South Oarolina. at 
E. H. Peeples's store, in tbe town of LawtouviUt>, of tbe county and 
State aforesaid, on the 16th, 17th, 19th, 20th, amI the next succl'eding 
days of Febrllaty instant, till the 28th February inclusivt>, between the 
bours of 8 o'clock a. m. aud 6 o'clock p. m. of said days, or 80 much there· 
of as may be neCf>ssary, by adjourniug from day to day for the examina· 
tion of said witnessf's in addition to the witnesses alt'eady servt>d on the 
13tb }t'ehruary, 1~77, upon the proper party, \V. J. Whipper, cOIJIlsel for 
contl.'stee, to'wit: Dave Gohagin, T. A. Oarsey, E. S. Stewart, B. Stoup, 
Ben Curry, Tom Jl'nkinN, 'V. T. Blont, Stpphen Black, Joe Graham, 
Tom Datz, Curtis Gibbon, Qnash Polite, Guy WiIliaws, Flander McZeas, 
John T. Morrison, and Mellichamp Mikell. 

G. D. TILLlf AN, 
Per I. E. LARISEY, 
Of Couf&8el for Oontestant. 
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I accept sen' ice under protest, at Lawton\'iIIe, of this paller, previous 
notice having bl'eu sl'rved upon W. J. Whipper of witnesses to be ex· 
.amined at Lawtonville. 

LAWTONVII.LJo~, February 17,1877. 

STATE OF SUU1'H CAROLINA, 
Coullty (1/ Beau/ort : 

A. G. THOMAS. 

To Dave Gohagon, T. A. OaU!~ey, E. S. Stewart, B. Stone, Ben Cnrry, 
Tom Jenkins, W. '1'. Blunt., Stevens Black, Joe Graham, Tom Datz, 
Curtis GibboU!~, QuaMh Politl', Guy Williams, Flander McZine, Jobn 
'T. Morrison, and l\lellecham p Meike)), greeting: 
You atHi eacb of you are herphy summoned to appear before me at 

Lawtonville, tn saill cOlluty anel Stah', on the 16th, 17th, 19t.~, and 
20th, amI the next sllccet'liing days of February, instant, till the 28th 
F-ebruary, instllnt, 11i77. inelusive, between the hours of 88. m. o'clock 
and 6 p. m. o'clock of said days or 110 much t.hereof as may be necPRsary, 
by adjourning from day to day, for the examination of each and all of you 
then amI there to be held hy mfl, after first duly swearing you, respoot· 
iug the contest by Gl.'orge D. Tillman of the right of Hobert Smalls to 8 
sl'at in the Congrt'ss of the United States. You willllot fail herein under 
the pl'lIalty of $20. 

Gil'en nnder m~' band and· official seal at LawtoD\'ille this 17th Feb­
nlary, 1877. 

JBFF WARREN, 
Xotary Publie, Beau/oI·t COlmfy, Soutl~ Carolina. 

Deposition of E. H. Peeples in the matter of the contest betwl'en G. D. 
'!'iUman, contestant, Ulld Hobert Smalls, contestee, for a seat in the 
Congress of the Unit~d States. 

SOUTll CAROLINA, 
Beau/ort County: 

E. H. PEEPLES, of the legal age, a witness, deposes aM follows, be be· 
ing produced as a witne8s by coute8tant upon due notice to cOllt~stee: 

(A. G. Thomas, of counsel for cont('stee, ohjects to testimony. as tbere 
is no specific ulleJ!atiuu in the notice of contestant as to tbill I!eCtion of 
the county of Beaui'Ol't.) 

Question. Wbere do you r('side; what is your age, and wbat is your 
occupation '-AIII~wer. Bt'anfOl't County, Lawtonvillf', Sonth Carolina; 
born and raised here. Sixty-six years of age. Planter and a mer­
cbnnt. 

Q. Are yon a large planter, and do you not know almost e"ery one in 
this portion of the count~·, white and colored !-A. I am the largest 
planter in thill section, anll all I plant is untlt'r my immediate supef\-is­
ion. I do know the mo,st of tllt'm, aud some of them too well. 

Q. Where was the Lawton\"ilIe poll beld on the day of tbe last ("lfc­
tion, mlll wbere W('re YOIl 011 that day I-A. In my store in Lawton"ilIe, 
and I was prf'8ent all the while. 

Q. Do you know jfthe managers were sworn and who swore them T-
A. I do not. 

Q. W ('re the ,-oters sworn! - A. Y cs. 
Q. 'Vall t\.Je Bible or Tt'stHlllt'nt lUwd T-A. Yl'S, I tbink 110. 
Q. no you know at whHt hour the poll opeued and cJOl'l'.I, and wu 

there IUI~- intermil.lllion or adjournment t-A_ It open('d lit the proper 
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honr and close.l the same, I suppose. There was no adjournment or in­
termission. 

Q. When were the votes counted I-A. After 6 o'clock. 
Q. Do you know of any intimidation being l)racticed before, doring, 

or since the election' and if 80, by whom and toward whom; when, 
where, and how' 

(Counsel for contestee objects to anything being stated as to what 
occurred prior to or after election.) 

A. For weeks before the election (say four weeks) parties told me they 
could not do otherwise than vote the Republican ticket. for their lives 
would be in c1anger. On theday of the election they, the Uepublican voters, 
came up to the poll ill a body singing, waiving their llagR and sticks, 
and the man who 8eem~d to be their leader wa\'ed the stick alld gave· 
Be\'eralcommands, whiclJ was obeyed by thecrowd. It was difficult forany 
Democrat to get up to the polls, who were hustled out anll otherwise in­
timidated by the Republicaus, and the officers of election could do nothing 
with them. On the day of the election one colored man said to me, 011 
tbat day and otbers since, that he would vote the Democratic ticket. 
bnt that his life would be endangered if he did so, and therefore voted 
tbe Republican ticket. I asked a colored mall who had promised to vote 
the Democratic ticket to show me his ticket. Another Rt>publicau col­
ored man came up and abruptly ordered him not to show his ticket; 
took him by the arm and carried him to the polls, and his vote was put 
in the box; pulled him along forcibly to the box. 

Q. Was there any abnsive or threatening language used by Repub. 
licans on the day of election toward Democrats '-A. Yes. One :&t>pub­
lican said to a Democrat (colored) who was going to vote the Democratic 
ticket, "Damn you, jf you don't vote as I want you, you have got to get 
away from here." He also voted the Republican ticket. Did not par­
ticularly notice any others. The general conduct, movements, and ap­
pearances indicated tbat many colored men woulel ba\""e voted the Demo­
cratic ticket, but by fear they were prevented trom doing so. On my 
plantation near this place there were fifty colored voters, who bad 
promised me that they would either vote tbe Democratic ticket or stay 
at bome on the day ot' election, ouly one of whom "oted the Democratic 
ticket. All the others, except oue who was sick, voted the Uepublican 
ticket~ 

Q. Why do you think be was sick T-A. I tbink he feigned sickness 
to avoid coming out. '. 

Q. ·Was there not a great number of colored Democrats who attended 
the public meetings and barbecues of Democrats around in those pre· 
cincts' I Olean from other plantations than yours '-A. There was. 

Q. How man.v colored Democrats, to the best of your knowledge, 
voted at Lawtonville precinct '-A. I do not know. 

Q. nut for the violence and intimidation of the R<'})nhlicalls at Law· 
tOll\'ille on·the day of election, wouhl not the result of the elt't:tion at 
tbat poll have beeu \""ery different' 

(Objected to by contestee's counsel.) 
A. Yes, very dift"erent. 
Q. How many more votes would Democrats have got lit this poll on 

tbe day of election but for this violence and intimidation' 
(Objection by contestee's counsel.) 
A. At least one bundl'ed to whom I had spoken, and fully expected 

to vote Democratic tickets. 
Q. In giving reasons, did all.Y of these colorell persons who had prom-
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ised to vote the Democratic ticket, give any other reasons besides fear 
for not voting Democratic ticket T - A. Yes; they gave a rE.'ason that 
thE.'ir wives would not recognize them as husbands, and would not sleep 
with them, and some actually stated that their wives had threatened to 
kill them if they voted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. 'Vere there any women hel'e on the day of election, and if so, how 
many, and were they violent in their demonstrations '-A. Yes; I think 
I saw about tweuty present, and they were pretty fussy. 

Cross·examined by A. G. Thomas, ot counsel for contestee : 
Q. You say, on the day of election that the managers, as far as you 

saw, did their duty '-A. Yes. 
Q. Ml'ntion the names of the parties who told yon that tht'y were 

compelled to '·ote the Republican ticket on the 7th November; that is, 
those who told yon at any time, before, aftt'r, or during the t'lt'ction.­
A. Richard Brown, John Jackson, S(>lIbonrne Chisolm, Robert GreE.'o, 
Edward l>ollin, Daviel Bostick, Sam Barnes, Frank Farmer, Monday 
Adkins, George JackMon, others whose names 1 do not recollect 1 I 
altio recollect Ned Falligan. Cannot name any more without referrlDg 
to memorandum. 

Q. Yon say that you cannot name any more withont referring to book; 
how came those names on the book 'I-A. I took them down especially 
80 as to l'emewbt'r t.hem. 

Q. Did you put them down because they promised yon to vote the 
Democratic ticket '-A. Yes; tht'y had promised to do so, or remain at 
home. 

Q. Is this book on which these names are entered a book of acconnt 
on which you have charged supplies or anything of value taken out of 
your store 'I-A. No; it is not. 

Q. What is the book '-A. A little monthly pocket·journal, which I 
think I can go and find. 

Q. Did you put these names on that hook for the pnrpose of bearing 
it in your miud as to the promise they made yOli to vote the Demo· 
cratic ticket '-A. I did. 

Q, You say, on the day of election that a large crowd came up to the 
polls, siuging and shontiu g, and wRving flags; what namt'R, if any, 
were there on those fhlgS !-A. Fignres 1876; do not remember any· 
thing else. 

Q. You say th(>y had sticks an(l cudgels in their hands; did they 
dift'er in size or character to the -sticks usually carried by those people 
at public meetings or public dpmonstrations other than elections !-A. 
Sticks appeared to have been some time nsed, not cnt that day, but were 
dangerous weapons if used; could have killed a man easily. 

Q, Have yon ever witnessed a religious gathering of these people!­
A. I have only passed near where their religious meetings were held; 
ne\"er attendt'd them; gave them an acre of land on which to build a 
church anel scbool.house, with the condition in t.be dE.'ed that said land 
shoul<1 not be useel for any other purpose, as political gatherings, traffic, 
or barter. 

Q. Have you e\"er seen tht'se persons with sticks at these meetings, 
and, if so, diel they differ in size and character to those you saw on the 
day of election T-A. Those sticks I saw on the day of election were 
sticks they uSl1ally carry; but do not know that they carry them to their 
religious meetings • 

. Q. You say there were parties at the Lawtouville poll that wt're there 
to kel'p things in order. Who were they and what office did they hold 
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on tbat day !-A. John T. Morrisou was one. I think he was United 
Statt>s deputy marsbal. I heard Mr. Morrison sl\y that he could not 
possibly control tht>m, and that he did not know wbat to do, when 
spoken to about the conrtuct of the Republicans. 

Q. You say it was difficult for Democrats to get to the window, and 
tbat Democrats were forced away. Do yon know of any Democrat in 
tbi8 vicinity, ql1alitie(l to Yote, wbo by this force di(l not vote on that 
day at Lawtonville or any other poll I-A. Efforts were made to keep 
tbem off; but tbere was sho\-iug, and Democrats were shoved out; but 
by persistent t>fforts we did snccecd iu voting. There was moch dis· 
turbance, and a riot was onl.v preventetl because we Democrats were de· 
termined to ba\'e no disturbance. The Democrats were determin~d to 
bear anything to avoid 1\ riot .. 

Q •. Then YOII do oot know of any voter known to be a Democrat in 
this vicinity wbo did not \-ote 011 that day I-A. I ~o not, except tbose 
colored deterred by threats. 

Q. Who was the man who yon asked to let you look at his ticket !­
A. Da\-id Bosti~k, a man who has beeu on my place for a number of 
years. 

Q. How do you know that he voted the RE'pnblican ticket I-A. Be· 
cause I a Republican give him his ticket, and he refused to 
sbow it. 

Q. Wbo was the colored man to whom another colored man said, "If 
you don't vote as I want"you to Yote, you will have to go away from 
here !"-A. David Bostick. 

Q. How did you know that David Bostick was a Democrat I-A. Be· 
eause he told me that he was tired of the party thnt he had previously 
voted for; that he would vote 8S I did. 

Q. You sal' that RepUblicans usecl abusive languag~, and cursed, say­
ing damn you. Did you hear a Democrat curse on that day I-A. I 
dou't think I did. . 

Q. Are aU the Democrats in this vicinity Christians T-A. Christians 
are few and far between. 

Q. Did you say that some colored persons gave as a reason 
wby they did not vote the Dt'mocratic ticket that their wives 
would leave them, would not Rlt'ep with them; can you give nle any of 
tbeir names '-A. Jack Greatheart-and others, whose names I do not 
recollect just now; I do remember Mordecai Gibson. . 

Q. Where is Jack Greatheart now I-A. Jack Grt>atheart and Mordecai 
Gibson botb reside on my place; have seen Jack Greatheart during the 
last 'tI'l'ek·. . 

Q. You say tbat tbe women on election-day were pretty fussy j is it 
not your experience for tbe last fifry years tbat wom~n are pretty 
fll88Y alwaysf-A. Yf'S; I have seen it, to my sorrow, exhibited by the 
colored women at political meetings. 

Re exa,!Dined by contestant: 
Q. Coonsel COl' contestee asks you if yon know of any Democrat 

Who was kept from voting by fear 011 tbe day of election; did you not 
know 8 great many newly-converted Demo~rnt8 who were kept from 
voting the Democratic ticket Rnd forced to vote the Republican ticket 
because tbey were colored I-A. I do. 

Q. How many colored Dt>mocrats voted at Lawtonville on tbe day of 
election '-A. Very few; do not recollect the exact Dumber, but much 
fewer than I t'xpected. 

E. H. PEEPLES. 
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Sworn to before me this 16th day of Febrllar.v. 1877. 
[L. s.] JEFF. WARRES, 

Notary Public, Beaufort County, 8. O. 

Deposition of C. B. Willcox, in the matter of the contest between G. 
D. Tillman and Uobert Smalls for a seat in Oongress of United 
States. 

STA.TE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beaufort Oounty: 

O. H. WILLCOX, witness of legal age,produced by contestant,opondne 
notice to the contestee, deposes as follows in ref~rence to questions pro· 
pounded by the contestant: 

Question. Where were you born, allll where reared !-Answer. Born in 
the State of Rhode Island; finished my education in Massachusetts; 
then moved South. 

Q. Bow old are you, amI where do you resitle!-A. Thirty·eight 
years old; reside in Lawtonvill~, Beaufort County, South Carolina. 

Q. What is your occupation !-A. Planter and merchallt. 
Q. Are you well acquainted with the people, colort'd and white, in 

this vicillity, and in this portion of the county !-A. I am. 
Q. How long have you lh·ed in this portion of Beaufort County f-A. 

Eilxht years. 
Q. Had you anything to do as an officer at the last election f-A. 

WIU~ olle of the Democratic managers at this precillct. 
Q. Ho\v mallY DelUClcrats and how many Uepllblicans were pot on 

commissioners of election for each county and board of manllgers for 
each precinct, in or throughout the State !-A. Oue Democrat and two 
Republicans. 

Q. Was there not. a great many of tholle designated as Democrats 
really RepUblicans. who tilled or were appointed to the office of commis· 
Eioner of election or managers of election' 

(Question objected to.) 
A. I only know from hearsay. Hu\'e heard it saitl that there was. 

None that I am acquainted with. 
Q. Were the mllnllg~rs qualifie(l t If so, when and by whom !-A. 

Managers were sworn in at tbis poll on the morning of the elect.ion. I 
acted as chairman. Think Mr. E. F. Warren swore me in. Mr. E. F. 
Warren is a notalj public. I swore in the other two managers mYBf'lf. 

Q. Did Rny of you subscribe to a written oath t-A. I think so. My 
recollection is that I subscribed to a written or printed oath. 

Q. Did the other manugers suhscribe to the same oath with your· 
seU!-A. I am not positively ct'l'tain that I subscribed to aoy written 
or printed oath; do not know whether the others did so or uot. If I 
did, presume they did. 

Q. If you subscribed t.o any written oath, what was done with it t­
A. Every paper that was signed was flut back in box. Do Dot know 
positively that we signed affidavit, excp.pt the retarn of Presidential 
election. which was taken in charge by United Stl\tes deputy margbal. 
To make myself more clearly nnderstood, every paper that we signed 
before we commenced taking votes was put back in the box, but the 
return of the Presidenthll election, which was signetl after we had 
counted votes, was taken in charge by United States delmty marshal. 
Understood him to say that he had to seud it to some one in Charleston. 
United States deputy marshal said he was here to guard the int4.>rests of 
United States Governlllent in the election, and not to interfere with 
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county and State electioJls. He said, wben negroes were turbulent, and 
I requested him to clear piazza, and be did so, that he was cloing tbat 
which he had no right to do; that he was only calIed upon to interfere 
in the event of cases of open \'iolence at the polls. 

Q. What was the name of that assistant United States deputy mar· 
shal !-A. John T. Morrison. 

_ Q. Was or was there not such opl"n violence as cursing, elbowing, 
and shoviug Democratic voters f-A. There was so much interference 
tbat colored men wbo came up to vote with a Democratic ticket in tbeir 
band were compelIed to leave, and afterwardli brought back-guarde<l 
back-aud voted the Republica.n ticket; and further than that, there was 
no colored man whose intentions were known to be tha.t he would vote 
the Democratic ticket but what in every instance was surrouncled by 
radical negroes before be got to the polls; and when they did vote 
Democratic-or I mean to say when they came for that purpose-they 
came up trembling and crying. When tbey attempted to vote the 
Democratic ticket, their arms were jerked back, and they were after­
wards brough t back, or came back, surrounded by Republican negroes, 
and voted the Radical ticket, some of tbem trembliug and crying. Such 
W8S the turbulence and interference that very many times during the 
day we had to cease taking the votes; halloaing, pushing, and swearing, 
and hauling, so tbat it was imllossible to continue. Before the election 
nt'groes came to me and inquired bow they would be able to get here to 
vote Democratic ticket, as the roads would be picketed. Negroes 
had sworn to them that none of tbem should reach the place- alive to 
Tote tbe Democratic ticket. 

Q. A great many colored Republicans who bad previously voted Re­
pUblican ticket' Had tbey at any time said anything to you of their 
intention to vote for the Democrats j if so, how many f-.1. great many 
gave their reasons for abandoning the Republicans, and told me that i~ 
was their intention to vote Democratic tickets. Their reason was tbat 
dnring the season before they were nearly starving and bad- appealed to 
their Repnblican leaders for assistance to no purpose, no help came, and 
that thousands of bushels of corn had been given to them by Democrats 
in this section alone, by which they were kept from perishing; aud, in 
many cases, tbey had their corn-houses closed f'or tbe non'payment of taxes 
by the Republican officers, notwithstanding that they held receipts for 
taxes in their pockets, and were in many cases advised by the offi(',er 
who held execution against them for taxes to compromise it rather than 
ftght the tbing through. I know this also of my own knowledge, because 
I had myself paifl tbe taxes for many who came to we for money to com­
promise and have their corn·houses opened. For many of them 1 had 
tax receipts in my own possel:l8ion. 

(Counsel for contestee objects to above testimony as contrary to sec­
tion 121 of the Revised Statutes of the United S~ates, and becailse a 
great portion of it is hearsay evidence.) 

Q. Did you see these tax executions against these colored RepUblicans T 
-A. I saw most of the executions myself, as the constable who had them 
in possession was collector of my store-accounts. One of the sawe voters 
whose corn· house had been nailed up a few days before the election for 
nOD-payment of taxes, notwitbstanding I held his tax receipt and whom 
I had instructed to open his house and promised to stand betweeu him 
and all <lamagt's, afterwards wellt to Beech Branch and voted Demo­
cratic ticket; went to Matthews's Bluff and voted Republican ticket. Told 
me that be clid so, because he feared if he did not t.hat he would not 
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be safe. He votell the seco~d ticket to blind the Repuulican voters who 
laad threatened his life. 

(Oounsel for contestee ohjects to above testimony as contrary to sec­
tion 121 Revised St.atutes United States.) 

Q. Has this colored man told you since tbe election that he voted 
twice' If so, what is bis name !-A. He bas told me so; name, Nw. 
Adkins. 

Q. You spoke of destitution among freedmen last year. What was 
the cause of it '-A. Severe drought last year and the year before. 

Q. Abont how mllny colored Republicans was 1\ tax ch.imed from last 
year wbo bad already paid tax '-4. Do not know exactly; cases were 
frequent, and in many instances the lands of many Republicans were 
advertised for sale to pay taxes which had already been paid. 

Q. Did this course, pursued by Republican county officials, cansl' the 
colored Republicans to break off from the party!-A. Many of them 
gave that as their reason. 

(Counsel for contestee objects to testimony as contrary to section 121 
Revised Statutes United States.) 

Q. How many colored men voted Democratic ticket at this place at 
last election '-A. I do not think over twenty or thirty; certainly on· 
der fifty. 

Q. Did those colored men who voted Democratic ticket do so openly 
or slyly!-A. Most of them came early, and all did 80 slyly. Only 
when they had white friends aronnd them and strongly protected did 
they vote openly, leaving after voting as soon as possible. Some of 
them told me that they left because they feared to remain. 

Q. In consequence of this violence and turbnlenoo.at the polls, do yon 
think the Democrats lost votes f-A. I do. I know that forty or fifty 
who work for me and are nnder my control were deterred and prevented 
from voting the Democratic ticket. Many remained at home because 
they feared to come out, roads having been reported picketell. I mean, 
when I !lay those whom I control, those whom I have assisted and 
advised, and whom I have helped from my store with supplies and 
advances, and who come to me for advice. 

Q. Was the result of the election at this pon changed by intimida· 
tion !-A. It was. The election here was a farce, and such a di81)lay at 
the North, in any election, wonld not have been couutenanced. A Dem­
ocratic negro was frightened half to death; that is, I mean all Demo­
cratic negroes were so frightened. They made many attempts to get 
their votes in before they 8ucceeded in getting Democratic tickets in 
slyly. 

Q. About how many told you that they wOl1ld vote tbe Democratic 
ticket !-A. A large majority of all colored Uepublicans with whom I 
was brought in contact told me that they would vote Democratic tick­
ets on account of the corruption of the Republican party, but remain 
as Republicans. 

Q. What class of colored men were crowded and pll'Jhecl from the 
polls that day !-A. Most of those wbo claimed to be Republicans but 
declared they would vote the Democratic ticket on account of the oor­
ruption of Republican party in South Carolina, were pushed and jostled 
as I have before stated. 

Q. Have yon been a zealous Democrat t-A. I have been very anx­
ious for a change of gOl"eroment, and ha\-e done all to etfect it that I 
.conld honorably. . 

Q. During the last canl"ass did you electioneer against Rtopoblican 
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party!-A. I did, openly and strongly; and the gr(>atest obstacle 1 bact 
to contend with was thll anxiety of the colored Repuhlicans to know how 
thl'Y could t"ote the Democratic ti(\ket without the knowledge of the 
other colored Republicans; I mpan this anxiety was expressed by those 
who desired to change their politics or to vote for Democrats. 

Q. Hat"e any circumstances occurred since t,he t'lt"ction which will 
make you think that Republican leaders have become yonr enemies on 
account of your etr..,rtIJ to effect a change in the officers of the 8tate 
and county' 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. Two days before the election my gin.house was lmrned, aJl(I I have 

e,"ery renson to believe the burniug resulted in consequence of the staml 
I bad taken in favor of the Democratic party. About two wl'eks aftel 
my stables and barn were hurned, I am satisfied, for the sallie causf'. 
Circumstances pointed very strongly to certain violent Republicans as 
thl' inl~endiaries. 

Q. Have you taken Rny steps toward baving the parties you have rea· 
son to be(ie\"e guilty of the burning brought to justice amI punisbed ,­
A. I have not, as previous experience witb the courts in this county 
bas con\"inCt'd me tbat it is impossible to get a just verdict without 
bribing the jury. 

Q. What Rum \vould recompense thA dl\mage you hlwe snstaitw(l hy 
this burning '-A. I could not replace the property for less thau five 
thousand dollars. 

Q. If there had been a fair election at the LI\wtollville precinct, with· 
out any intimidation, which party would h;1\'e reet'i\"etl the greater 
votet-A. I felt certain ull to the timA we commt.>nced to poll the votes 
and witnesse(l the intimidation that t.he Democrats would hlH'e carried 
the elf'Ction by a large majori ty. 

Adjourned until to· morrow, 8 o'clock 1\. m. 

Met pursuant to adjournment. 
FEBRUARY Ii, 1877. 

Direct examination con tin ned : 
Question. Can you recollect any iustance that impressed yon with tbe 

impoNsibility of getting justice before It jury ill Beaufort' 
(O\~ection by A. G. Thomas, cOllnsl'1 for contel'ltee.) . 
Answer. I at one time had a case before tbe grand jnry for its consid­

eration; during the time one of the colored grnnd jurors left grand jury 
room, culled me to one side, and offered to secnre a true bill for me if I 
would give him a certain amount of money with whinb to fee bimself 
and other colored members of the grand jury. He further Rtated that I 
was throwing money away when I "teed" a lawyer; that be, the said 
colored grand juror, WRS always there, aud could control all the colored 
men of the grand and petit juries, and could at nny time get any ver· 
dict if he had twenty"tollr bours' noti(IA to work iu; that most of the 
jury was composed of colored men frolU Port Royal and adjacent islands; 
that be was personally acqnainted with them and could control them, 
aDd by giving them a few drinks of liquor the night before call do any­
tbing I pleaRe with them-the liquor, in addition to a little money with 
wbich to bribe, as I stated before. 

Q. Does it not frequently bappen that the grand jury and petit jury 
are compol5ed entirely of negroes T-A. Cannot anSWl'r positively; but I 
bave ne\,t.>r seen but very few white persons on any jury in this county 
@ince reconstructiol!. And it is an exceedingly rare occurrence for any 
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wbite citizen from tbis section to be on eitber jury. Tbis section has a 
large white population cOlllpared witb the otber portion of tbe county. 

Q. In wbat portion of the county do the principal tax· payers reside' 
(Objection by A. G. Thomas, counsel for contestee.) 
A. Tax-collector informs me tbat beaviest taxes come from the opper 

portion of county, which inclndes tbis precinct. 
Q. Who was the defendant in the case in whicb grand juror approched 

you and offered to reeeh'e a bribe !-A. A colored man. 
Q. Is it not almost impossible for a white prosecut.or to convict a 001-

ored man of any crime whatever in this county f-A. We cousider it al­
IDOSt useless to prosl'cute a colored man in a civil or criminal action, 
particularly tbe latter, as we seldom get a verdict in our favor, no mat­
ter bow strong tbe evidence may be in our bebalf. 

Q. Were lDany strangl'rs at the poll voting on tbe day of election; 
I mean colored persons !-A. There were lOany strange colored faces 
here. Aud quite a number of them who appeared to be under age, but 
-e\"'ery one found a number of tbeir own color to swear that tht'Y were of 
age. They all voted Repnblican ticket, except one whom I coutinued to 
impl't>ss with the risk that he was running if he committed Jletjury; after 
8e,'eral minutes' hesitation be withdrew without putting in his vote; 
there being wbite men present who knew him and inlormed him that 
they would investigate the matter and have him prosecnted if he did 
perjure bimseU: 

Q. Do yon or not know the face of e\"'ery colored man or most of tbe 
colored men wbo vote at this, Lauton\"'ilIe, precinct'-A. I believe that 
I do. 

Q. Were there any strange wbite voters bere on tbat day tbat yoo 
did not know '-A. There wus one from North Carolina wbo \'"oted here. I 
think be voted tbe Radical ticket, and I know of one colored man from 
Georgia who al80 voted Radical ticket. I opposed their right to vote, 
bllt was overruled by tIte two other managers, who were Radicals. The 
North Oarolinian-II. white man or mulatto, as he had a dark ap­
pearance-came tbrough witb a tobacco-wagon; he voted only for Presi­
dpltt,l tbink. Tbe Georgia colored man voted full ticket. I know that 
Savannab is bis home. Other managers allowed him to vote becaose he 
stated that he had not voted in Georgia. My impression is that other 
colored mt'n from Georgia were permitted to vote; bot my recollection 
is not /010 "i\·id as in cases last referred to. 

Q. Was the vote at tbis precinct mnch larger than yon had ever known 
it before or not '-A. Much larger. Some of tbe negroes who voted at 
tbis poll passed otber polls to do so, whlcb looks suspicious of repeating, 
as nothing at the polls which they passed could in any way ha,'e inter­
ferred witll their voting as they pleased. 

Q. Is it or is it not your belief that many ('.alored Republicans voted 
bere ou that day who had voted elsewhere or were not entitled to \'"ote 
at all' 

(Objectpd to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. I·'rolD ,vbat. I sa.w myself on the day of election, and information 

tha.t [ han~ since receit'ed, I believe tha.t many of the Republican votes 
cast w{'rtl illegal. 

Q. 'Vere there any i11l'gal Democratic votes cast at this poll on the 
day of election T-A. Not one. I think that 1 am fully acquainted .of 
the fact tbat e"ery Democratic voter who polled his vote at this "Iace 
on tbat dllY ,,"as entitltd to votl'. I am personally acquainted with al­
most e,-ery one. 
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Q. About bow many illegal Republican votes do yon think were cast 
here tbat day t-A. I cannot apuroximate. The question was so fre· 
quently bronght ur about the illegality of votes, aud in every instance 
my objections were overruled by my Hadical colleagues, that I ceased to 
oount. 

(Objection.) 
Q. Was there any druID.beating or marching' If so, was there any 

one commanding the rrocession, and who was it' I mean marching to 
and fro past the polls T-A. There was. Lient. Scipio Allbright, of the 
State militial, was in command; their marching to amI fro continued at 
intt'rvals for a considerable space of time during the da~·. Allbright 
and bis command came from below, and was joiot'd at this place, a few 
hundred yards above there, by a company from above. Their presence 
!Wmell to give confidence to a few hangers.on, who interfered very much 
during tbe day with colored Democratic ,·oters. 

Q. Was Lieutenant Allbright monnted '-A. He was not. 
Q. Did he have his sword T-A. He was dressed in uniform, but if he 

had weapons tbey were collcealccl. It was rnmored and believed that 
their arms were concealed near the polls. The Democrats had reason 
to believe and did believe tbe report. We bad been frequently informed 
that tbey intended to prevent colored voters from voting the Demo· 
cratic ticket at this poll 011 day of election. 

Q. Was there anyone mounted who seemt'd to control the llaradeT­
A. There were numbers of persons coming in on horseback, and passing 
to and fro. I do not know that any olle mounted exercised control. 
Mack Pattersoll, mounted on a horse, rushed to meet evei'ycolored man 
who came in, and wbom he suspected to be a Democrat, and this with 
the intention to cbange his \'ote; he was "ery turbulent. Mack Patter· 
lIOn is a colored man and a fugith'e from justice. 

Q. How were the managers of ele(~tion sworn, If you can recollect posi· 
tively since your attention was called to the matter yesterday' Are 
you posith'e that the notary public first swore you, and that JOu then 
~wore t~e other two managers f-A. I am not positive, but that is my 
impreSSIOn. 

Cross·examined by Mr. Thomas, counsel for contestee: 
Q. You were the Democratic manager at this precinct on the day of 

the election, were you not f-A. I was. 
Q. Were the other two members of the board RepUblicans t-A. I 

believe them to be. . 
Q. Are you acquainted with the commissioners of election and pre· 

cinct managers in other counties in this State I-A. ".I am acquainted 
witb some of them. 

Q. Of the thirty·two coontit's in this State, how many managers do 
you know '-A. I am unable to say. 

Q. How then do you know that mallY of those appointed as Demo· 
crat Wt're fishy Democrats '-A. If I said so I did not mean to conyey 
that imprcsMion. 

Q. You say you have no distinct recollection bow you and the rest 
oCthe managers qualified f-A. I have no positive recollect.ion, but at 
tbe same time I feel quite confident that E. 1<'. Warren, a notary public, 
Sltore me and I swore the relit of the managers. 

Q. Did you not receive written or printed instructions witb the bal· 
IOI·!Jox as to your duties as managers I-A. We did, and endeavored to 
carr~ ',ut the instructions to the bCllt of onr ability. 

Q. I)iu ~Oll nut tell Mr. Peeples in conuucting that election )·ou in· 
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tended to abide by the law T-A. I migbt bave done so; such was my 
intention. 

Q. You cannot state posith"ely whether tbe oath signell by you as 
manager was aftenvaJ'd placEld in tho ballot· box '-A. It was. 

Q. Was J. T. Morrisou a deputy Uuited States marshal or a snper· 
visor of election I-A. I understood he was a United States deputy 
marshal. 

(~. Was J. T. l\Iorrison a Rellllblican or DemocratT-A. I sUIlPose he 
was a Democrat; he told me he got no pay as a deputy marshal, or in 
whaten'r official capacity he did act. 

Q. You say ;you understood he sent a paper to Chal'leston. Dill you 
as manager 8ign that paper f-A. I did. 

Q. Did you rt'ad it amI know what it contained I-A. I did. 
Q. What did it cOlltain f-A. It contained a !;.tatement of the electoral 

vote; dou't remember if it contain~d tbe vote for Oongress. 
Q. Did the board of DlRnagers send, in addition to other statemt'ots, a 

statement of tbe electoral vote and vote for Oongressmen to B ... aufort' 
-A. I am not positive. but whatever papers we sent to Beaufort signed, 
were Aent iu tbe box with the vote. 

Q. Can you or can yon not say that a AiDlilar rellort to that wbich J. 
T. Morrison sent to Charleston was placed in tbat box T-A. I don't 
tbink so; I am satisfied we signed no duplicate returm\ to any of the 
elections. 

Q. Then, if the paper sent by J. T. l\lorri80n containt'd a statement of 
the nUlllbel" of votes cast lit Lawtouville precinct for electors arad Con· 
gressmen, no sucb statement was sent to Beaufort I-A. It may bave 
contained a Aimilar statt'ment; I think 1I0t, however. It certainly was 
not an exact duplic~ate of tbe paper sent to Oharleston by J. T. Morrison. 

Q. Did not J. T. Morrison clear tbe piazza. several times 80 tbat yoo 
could go on with YlJur business T-A. He made tbe attempt, but was not 
at all times succ('ssful. 

Q. Were thel'e at any time wben be cl('ared or attempted to clear tbe 
piazza any of the supporters of G. D. TiIllDan on it I-A. There may 
have bet-n, but if thAre was, they were not interfering with the voters 
to emharrass the manager in receiving votes. 

Q. How do you know that the colored men who you say were com· 
pelll'd to leave, were going to vote the Democratic ticket f-A. They 
had the Democratic tickt't in some cases in their hands, auft the conver· 
sation between them and the R;\dicals around them indicated too clearly 
tbat thes inteudell to do so for me to be mistaken. 

Q. Whose-name was on the tickets in tbeir hands for Congressman' 
-A. G. D, Tillman. 1'here was sucb a decided difference between the 
appeal'llUce of the tickt'ts that a. glance was sufficient to determine be­
tWl'l'n them. There were only two candidates for Congress voted for 
at this precinct, or at any other precinct iu this Congressional district, 
('ltcb party, Democrat aud Republican, ha"ing nominated its own can· 
didate. 

Q. Were you near enough to these colored men before mentioned to 
see whetber the name of G. D. Tillman was or was oot Acratched oft" tbe 
tickets tlley beld t-A. I could uot see that it was not, but the colored 
pt'ople at these polh! "ery seldom ever vote a scratcbecl ticket. 

Q. Was tbere not used at this poll an imitation Union Republican 
ticket, printt'd in the same color of iuk, with a similar cut at tbe head, 
but ha'''ing the names of Democratic candidates thereon t-A. Th('re 
wusnot. 

Q. Was tbis elbowing and pu,hing at the polllt llDy ditf~rcnt to th~ 
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elbowing and pUI;hing at any other gathering of the 8HIlle class of peo· 
pie I-A. I am unable to say, except that they are )Jot accustomed to 
do 80 in the company of white men; it is "ery certain tl1$t theil' intl'n­
tion was to prevent the colored men from voting tbe Democratic ticket, 
and was only annoying to the managers when a colored man WitS making 
his way to the polls whom all snpposed was about to vote the Demo­
cratic ticket. 

Q. Wbat ticket did those "ote who came up to the polls trembling 
and crying I-A. Sometimes they votet! Democratic; sometimes they 
were carried oft by colored men and made to change their vote. 

Q. You could 1I0t hear w l1at W8S said to those tbat were carried away 
for an hour or so !-A. In my lust answer, wl1icb was not written down, 
tbat is tbe expression, "an hour or s'.>;·' I will say, perbaps more or pl'r­
ba)l8 less time. In one instance a prominent negro U1all wuited tbe entire 
day to get a chance to put bis \'ote in the ballot-box, and by the illter­
ference of t~ose wbo surrounded tbe polls, (I mea~ the Uel'ublican ne­
groes snrrounding the polls,) and whose language was perfectly andible 
to me, was prevented frOID vuting until a late hour. I certainly could 
not hf>ar wbat was said to those carric(l beyond ear·shot. 

Q. Have you auy actual an" personal knowledge of the roads lead-. 
ing to the Lawtonville precinct heing picketed '-A. I do not know from 
personal obSf!rvation, having been manager at the polls all day. 

Q. Do you kuow of any person entitled to ,'ote in this vicinity who 
was prevented from voting at all '-A. I do not kuow only frOID what 
they told me. I look u))on it as being. a physical im llossibility, as I 
could not be here and elH6whereat the same time. 

Q. You bave DO other w~yof ascertaining the intentions of the col­
, orad men wbo were going to vote! the Democratic ticket, only from 

what they promisl'd you '-A. There were many things which convinced 
me of their intention to do ao, which I could not recall. 

Q. About Ned Adkins, how many times did he tell you he. voted ;; 
where and for who '-A. 'fwice; once at Beech Branch, in tbe morn­
ing, in the afternoOD at Matthew~'s Bluff. He voted a Dl'mocratic ticket· 
at .Beech Branch; a Rt'llUblican ticket at Matthews'S Bluft: This was 
his stateDlent to me.. . ' 

Q. To tbe best of your memory, how many colored men voted the 
Democratic ticket at Lawtonville '-A. Can't say, positively; but under 
fifty; perbaps thirty w.ould come nearer the number. 

Q. You say they did it on the sly. Was 1I0.t the poll held at a public 
place ill the village of Lawtollville '-A. It was held at a.public place. 
They seemed to desire to dillguise the character of the ticliet they 
voted. This.is what I mea .. by voting on the sly. 1 do not wisb to con­
vey the imlJNSsion that all voted on the sly. 

Q. You say tbat your gin-house wad burned two days before the elec­
tion. Did that circ~mstance take any from G. D. Tilh,oan-any votes 
he would otherwi8~ bave got '-A. I cannot say what the eftect was on 
otberK. I have no right to suppose anything. . ' 

Q. Do you believe that this occurrenc.e added a single vp~ to the 
\"otc that Rouert Smalls would l1ave received but for this occurrence!-
A. I do not know that it did. . 

Q, WliS.it burued in the day-time or at night !-A. In the day-time. 
Q. When ,YOU say that but for interference the resnlt of ~be election 

at Lawtol1\"ill~ wouldJlave been cbauged, you give that as your opine 
.. 011. UO you not t-A. I do. 

Q. Yuu C811110t d~ID(!ngtrate it in figures, can you T-A. J have not 
prt'tlel','ctl IlIIl .luta til go by, autI cRn't tiay that I ('ould demOl1stl'ate it 
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by fignres, but cases which changed the yoto were "ery frequently 
brought to my minll. 

Q. You neither remember tbe total vote cast for ,eacb llarty, Demo­
crat and Repuhlican, at this election, or the previous election, two years 
"gof-A. I tbink I remember abont tbe vote polled at this election, and 
weU remember that tbere were very many more people voting here tban 
at previous electionll. 

Q. Have you any knowledge of fewer votes being polled at otber poll. 
tng-precincts in tbe upper portion of this county than at tbe previous 
ell'C.:tion !-A. I ha,-e no knowledge only from hearsay, but my impres­
lion iM that more votes, Republican votes, were polled at tbe precincts of 
which ~'()u speak than were polled in elections llrevious. 

Q. You mentioned yest.erday a circumst·ance where you were ap­
proached (or perhaps in your examination this morning) to assist in tam· 
pering with a jury ill this county. Did you take any steps at that time 
to make an example ot the man wbo made the proposition to you !-A. 
I did not, because I consillered it useless to attempt it. 

Q. 'Vito was the judge on the bench at tbat time f-A. Judge 1\Iaber. 
Q. Did you not have sufficient confidence in Judge 1\faher to believe 

that if his attention had been called to tbe matter that be would have taken 
sncb Stt.'llS to prevent such a grievous outrage I-A. I belie\Oe that he 
would haye dOlJe so, but t.hat it would bave had no beneficial effect 
among a class of citizens who considl'r the man a hero who bas snffered 
imprisonment for his misdeeds. Among colored men the biggest man 
out is tho man who is last rl'leased from prison. 

Q. When yon speak of tbe upper portion of tbis county, where do 
you draw the line between the npper and lowt>r portion f-A. Some few 
mill'S north of Sayan nab and Charleston Railroad. 

Q. Then the upper portion has the largest area of land '-A. I sup­
pose it has. 

Q. Are the lands assessl'd for taxation higber in the npper than the 
low"r portion of this countyt-A. My impression is, in regard to their 
market value, that they are. 

Q. 'fhen you cOllsider the lower portion the ricber portion of the 
county a~ to value of lanil f-A. Locality in each section has much to 
do with the \"alue of the land. I do not think I can answer questions 
defiuitt'ly \vithont giving you a misconception of my Yiew~. 

Q. You say that defendant in the case before the jnry in which yon 
Wl'rt3 apl)roached was a colored man. 'Vas the man who approached 
you a culoreu man '-A. H~ was; do not know his name. 

Q. You say it is almost impossible to punish crime cmnmittl'd by a 
colort'd man against a white man in this county. Is it witbin your 
knowledge of the last two years where colored ml'n have been hung for 
the muult'r of white men in thi~ coulItvf-A. It is. ~'or the murder of 
Thoma.~ H. Behn and General Howard. In these ca~es proof was 80 
yery )lollitil'e t.hat it could not be got aroun.l. I kllow of instances 
where they have got clear when they should have bel'n hung. Instance 
the case of f:;tratan, who was waylaid anil murdered last year. 

Q. Do you know of a single instance sillce reconstruction in Beao­
fort Cuullty where a wbite man chargee I with the murder of a colored 
DIan has bt'en convicted aud punisbed I-A. I know of no CQSl'S of coo\-ic­
tjulI, but will here state that w hen I refel'rl'fl to Cl'llUe I alluded t.o cuses of 
larcens, burglary, arson, and rascality gent'I'al'y cOlllmitted by tbe col­
orflcl man again~t the wblte mltn; alld this iI~ owing also to the ease 
with which a. colored man can manufacture testimony in his own behalf 
by aid of his race. 
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Q. Oan yon mention any of those instances spoken of at the com· 
mencement of yoor previous answp.r '-A. J said I knew of no cases of 
cODl'iction. 

Q. Are yon not aware that Judge Wiggin, at tho term of court held 
in Beaufort (luring this month, sentenced, for terms of from three to five 
years, seven colored men con\"icted of burglary and larceny for enter· 
iog the premises of white men f-A. I know nothing of what passed at 
this term of the conrt. I find, however, no fault with the sentences of 
the judges; bnt of the difficnlty of convicting colored lDen who com­
mit crimE', and the ease with which they evade pnnishment-the very 
small per centage of conviction compared with the amonnt of crime, 
wben positive proof is brought to bear upon the case. 

Q. You say that many colored blen with youthful taces voted at this 
precinct. Did not they take the prescribed oath, which declares them 
entitled to vote !-A. They did; and I know of one who did take the 
oath, and, when warned of the conseqoences of perjury, backed out anti 
did not vote. 

Q. Did no white Democrats ride past the polls and come back fre­
quently during that (lay '-A. None that 1 saw, except for the purpose 
of bitching horses. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. Were any candidates voted for for Congre88 in this Congressional 

district, except the two nominees of the Dl"mocratio and Republican 
parties !-A. I heard of no others. Smalls and Tillman were the only 
candidates voted for that I have heard. 

Q. Was not every candidate of the Democratic party, from President 
and gOt'ernor down, voted for on one ticket '-A. With the exception 
of probate judge, there was but one ticket for all candidates. 

Q. Was it not the same with tbe Republican tickets I-A. They had 
bot one ticket that I saw. 

Q. When any Repnblican voter or Democratic voter cast a ballot for­
any candidates of his party, did he not, nnless be scratched the ticket, 
bave to vote for all the candidates of his party f-A. He did. 

Q. Have the white people-the tax-payers of Beaufort County-had 
any representation in the legislatnre and jury·box since reconstruction! 
-A. In the legi~lsture, never; county offices, never; sometimes in the 
jury-box. 

C. H. WILLCOX. 
Sworn to before me this 17th Febrnary, 1877. 

[SlUL.] Notaf1J Public, Beaufort OOUftty, S. O. 

Deposition of E. F. Warren in the matter of contest G. D. Tillman, 
contestant, against Robert Smalls, contestee, for a seat in the Congress 
of the United States. 

SoUTH CAROLINA, Beo.ufort OOUftty: 
E. F. WARREN, of the legal age, a witness, deposes 8S follows, he 

~jng produced as a witness by contestant, on due notice to contestee, 
lD reff'.rence to qnestions propounded by contestant: 

Question. What is yonr name, residence, and occupation '-Answer. 
NamE', E. F. Warren; reside In Lawtonville, Beaufort County, South 
Carolina; lawyer by profession. 

Q. Where did you vote at the last general election I-A. At Lawton· 
\"ilIe precinct. 

Q. Who, at said election, was voted for as Oongressman for this con­
B.Mis.l1-8 
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gt'essional district f-A. G. D. Tillman on tho Democratic ticket and 
Robert Smalls on the Republican ticket. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced, at or before fl8.id eleu· 
tion, by Republicans, which tended to deter or did deter any voters from 
voting the Democratic ticket", ho designed 80 doing !-A. In a general 
way, I kllow of a few cases. 

Q. State what you know of the matter of intimidatioll.-A. I saw, 
upon the occasion of the election, a colored man named Miller who said 
he intended to vote the Democratic ticket, and 80 said in my presence. 
He went to the polls with a ticket in his hands that I saw given him. 
It was a Democratic ticket. In a few feet of the box be was pushed 
aWflY by two colored Republicans, Mack Patterson and Cnsler Rob· 
erts •. lle went up to the polls a second time to vote, aud was then 
carried away by the arms by colored Republicans, and shoved out of the 
piazza by Mack Patterson, who said that he would kill him or allY other 
damned negro who "oted Democratic tickets. A good many others were 
round the polls and round him. This was said in a loud tone. At tbis 
time there was a commotion, loud talking, cursing, and e\"cry indication 
of a general row; thought there would bf.'. . 

Mr. John T. 110rri80n, who was Uniterl States supervisor, and several 
otbers weut out and talked to the crowd anrl succeeded in sOOle ten min· 
utes in festoring quiet. This occurred, ifmy memory servf.'S me correctly, 
between twelve and two oclock. During this (1isturbance three wbite 
persons weut to Miller amI told him to vote flS he pleased flJI(l they 
would protect him with their lives. Threats were made by othpr ne· 
groes. '1'he third time he was polled up to the polls, one colored man 
holding each arm, and he voted the Republican ticket. Miller, in con· 
versation with myself and others after he had voted, Raid he would have 
t'oted tht' Democratic ticket but he feared that he would be killell orilljured 
by colored Republicans. Lawrence Bostick, also a colored man, on the 
day of election and since the election, told me that he would have voted 
:Democratic ticket, but Ihat his wife had tbrt'Rtened to leat'e him if he 
did, and he feared his wife'" family. His wife is the sister of l\lack Pat· 
terson. Tavo Frazee, another colored man, told me al~ that be would 
have \"oted the Democratic ticket. (he had promised to vote Democratic 
ticket,) but tbat he bad been threatened with expUlsion from tbe church, 
and that his life had also been threatened if he "ote(1 Democralic ticket. 
He did not \"ote. . 

I do not know of any others who were directly threatened; that is, Of 
my own knowledge. I have heard since the election several others­
balf dozen or more-say tbat tbey would hat'e voted Democratic ticker, 
but that they had been threatened. Threats were general at this place 
on the day of election, made by colored men against colored men, who 
\\"oul(\ \"ote Democratic tickets •. MallY said that the damnf.'d Degroes 
wbo \"oted Democratic tickcts were "oting to put them back into sla\"ery 
again. That all the damned Democratic negroes ollght to be killed, 
and thtlt they would and sllOuld suffer for voting the Democratic ticket. 
Particularly Zack Daniels; they were very hard upon him for \"oting 
tile Democratic ticket. 

Q. Was there any musteriDgon theday of the election I-A. There was 
by colored Hepllblicans at this precinct, from ten steps to two hundred 
yards from the polls. Drilled about one hour, somewhere about midday. 

Q. Did yon see the proclamations of the governor and President 
ordering the disbanding of military organizations in October; and, if 80, 
did they tend to embolden Republicans, and to intimidate tbose wbo 
were going to \"ote the Democratic ticket or de~ired to do so, (I Dlt-ao 
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colored men f)-A. In this way I know tbat there were a great many 
m('u wbo. pre.ious to these proclamationfl, declared that they would \'ote, 
afterwards said they would not vote, but did not gi\'e this as a portion 
of .their reasons as I know of, (I mean colored men, of course-colored 
men who said they would vote Democratic tickets, and afterwards did 
not \'ote it.) 

Q. If it had not been for the threats, ,'iolent language, turbulent 
actions, and the general intimidating conduct of the colored Hepubli­
cans, together with these proclamations, would the result of the elec­
tioll hlwe been different t-A. I think it would have been different. 
There certainly woult! ha\'e been fifty or se\'euty-fi\'e more democratic 
colored votes at this place. 

Cross·examined: 
Q. Were you a member of 1\ Democrat club' If so, state wbat club.­

A. I was a member of the Lawton\'iIle Democratic club. 
Q. In the month of October or the eady part of November, did not 

that club pass resolutions and ha.e tbem,printed ill the Jonrual of Com­
merce and tbe News and Courier not to employ or rent lautl, or g'il'e sup· 
"lies or credit ~o colored men who vo'ed, the republican ticket '-A. 
Not that 1 kuow of. I rend the .News aud Courier and Journal of Uom­
meree regularly amI ha\'e 110 recollection of seeing such resolution pub­
lisbed from this clol>. 

Q. Did you hold auy official position in this club' And, if so, wbat 
it was.-A. I did uot. 

Q. Ha.e you enr read resolutions of a similar import in the upper 
part of this county '-A. No. 

Q. You ba\'e no other means of ascertaining tbe intcmtion of colorell 
men to \'ote tile Democratic ticket 0111y from what they Pl'olllised '-A. 
No. 
Q~ Do tbose persons yon refer to make promises they do not keep f­

A. I have known some to do so autl some not. 
Q. Have you ever heard it talked around this vicinity thllt colorecl 

men who did not vote the Democratic ticket need upect allY em­
ployment, supplies, or other assistance from Democrats unless tbey 
voted with them '-A. Not as a general thing. 

Q. Was this plan recommended by the Democratic press of this 
State'-A. Not that I know of as a general tbing. I took two Demo, 
cratic papers and did not con8trlle their language in that way. 

Q. Yon read the Charleston News and Courier and J(\urnal of Com· 
merce; if I construed their leading articles during the campaign to ad­
vise t1le adoption of the plan mentioned, you and I must COlltltrne the 
English language (lifferently, don't we f--A. I certainly did not under· 
stand them to ad.ise sucb a course; on the contrary, the News and 
Conrier particularly statetl on se.eral occasions that every m!m had a 
right to prefer his own laborers and those to whom tbe merchants 
IIhould advance to. 

Q. You say Tabo Frase diel not vote at all; do you menn he did not 
vote at the Lawtonville prflcinctt-A. I mean that he tlid not \'ote at 
this pr('cinct, Ilud he @ays he did not \'ote at all. 

Q. You say some six persons say they have \'ote(1 tbe Democratic 
ticket; call you give me the names of tbose parties f-A. I tltatec1 some 
half·dozen or more woulll have \'oted t1le Democratic ticket it' they 
IJad 1I0t bl'cn tllreatened; some of t11t~ir names are Denis Percy, Romeo 
Lawton, Cnptain Buckner, FortuM Butler, and se\'eral OthCl'l!I, lint d&n'r. 
recollect tht-ir names and don't know the names of othl'r~. If I batl 
time wonld recollect others. 
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Q. Is Zack Daniels n land-owner T-A. Not that I know of. 
Q. Is he not a worthless fellow,. and takes every opportunity to get 

elrunk f-A. On the contrary, I look upon him as one of the best men in 
the country. He will take his tf-a wben he gets it. 

Q. Is it lIot your experience that a few turbulent characters are gen· 
erally present on public occasions wbo curse around and tbreaten pe0-
ple !-A. Sometimes there is, at others not; but tbey are generally 
Uepublican colored meD who are said to be leaders in tbis part of the 
countr .... 

Q. In tbis vicinity is there a single Democrat who curses !-A. Oer-
Wn~ -

Q. Was not election-tIny a cold, raw, 'damp day T-A. It was rainy in 
the morning, not very cold. 

Q. Diel these Republicans yon mention have any gllns with them, 
drilling and mustering, on day of election !-A. None that 1 know of. 

Q. Did they not simply go Ulrollgh the infantry foot drill f-A. They 
marched nrouud without guns, with drummers at ht:ad of column beat· 
ing same. . 

Q. Prior to election were there any other organizations (rifle or saber 
clulls) ill tbis vicinity T-A. After proclamation of Ohamberlain there 
was Doue that I know of exCt.'pt one company of State militia which had 
been disbanded amI reorganized same day. This company was colored. 

Q. Do you not know that the cause of their disbanding was that they 
had completed the three years'service for which thpy were ml1stered, 
had expired, and that they immediately reorganized for three years' ser· 
vice in State militia I-A. I have DO means of knowing. 

Q. Did the proclamation of GO\'erDOr Cbal\lberlain and President 
Grant prohibit the drilliug of the State militia T-A. I don't remember. 

Q. Could the colored men you melltion as being affected by tbese proc· 
lamations read; alld, if so, have you any knowledge that they read tbese 
proclamations '-A. Some of them could read,otbers not. I bave heard 
some of thew speaking of the proclamations. They must ba\"e read or 
beard them read. 

E. F. WARREN. 
S\vorn to this 17th day of February, 1877. 
[SEAL.] JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary Public, Bealt/ort Ou'Untg, ~out1, Carolina. 

Deposition of Andrew Howard, (colored,) ill the matter of the contest of 
G. D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 10r a seat in the Oongress of the 
United State.s. . 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beaufort County: 
ANDREW HOWARD, a witness of the legal age, deposes as follows, he 

being produced by contestant, Oil due notice to contestee, in aU8Wt'1' to 
questions propounded by contestant or his attorney: 

Question. Where do you live' Where were you born aud reared , 
Ho\v old are you T Where did you vote at the last election !-Answer. 
I live on Mr. Tuten's place, near Lawton ville, Bt'aufort Oount.\', South 
Oarolina. I was born and reared at Mr. BOlitick's place, nt'ar Lawton· 
ville; about thirty or tbirty.five years old. I ,"oted at LawtoD\"iJle pre­
cinct. I aID a laborer. 

Q. Do yon know of any intimidation practiced by Republicans, colored 
RepubJicRmt, toward those colored men who were going to ,'ote Demo­
cratic tickets at the last general electic7n at this precinct (Lawtonvi1lt') 
either before, at, or since tbe election T-A .• Tbe day of the \"otiug I had 
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to get )Ir. Thomas to come that morning with os; we heard tbe threat 
that any colored man who ¥oted the Democra tic ticket woold be met by 
a club Oll the road at the school-house, who woold dooble-bank and give 
them one hondred lashes apiece. I asked Mr. Thomas to lend os his 
mules and come with os as a protection for 0 s, and he did 80. We came 
on horsebnck from Mr. Thomas's to the l)ollS. and Amos l\liller said I 
was a damn son of a bitch; that I voted the Democratic ticket for corn 
and bacon after I had voted; my brother Thomas, Bob Owens, and 
Grady Brown, and Mr. J obo Tho mas. a wbite man, came witb me; alco 
Miles Rapley, all colored, except Mr. Thomas. 

The colored Re[)uhlicans were on the road in clobs at the school-hoose 
where I beard tbey would be; did not disturb os that morning; I did 
vote Democratic ticket; before I voted, colored Republicans said tbey 
would go round in clubs to the houses of colored men who voted Demo­
cratic tickets and give them oue hundred lashes. This before the eIre­
tion was repeated at the polls election-day. A great many colored men 
were present; they had company in line at the time, and spoke it dis­
tinctly; many heard it at the tilDe. Some said their necks ought to be 
cracked, some said they ought to be hung, some said they ought to be 
shot if they ¥ot.ed Democratic tickets. These Republicans were armed 
with sticks and pistols; one had a sword. 

I would not have come to the polls if lfr. Thomas bad not come with 
me, because I ftlared these men woulel beat me. They hall said that all 
the Democrats should live with the Democrats. I heard that we would 
be beaten. Amos Miller told me that they would heat me if I diet vote 
the Democratic ticket. The other men who came with me tolcl me they 
would not come without Mr. Thomas came with os, as the.v were afraid 
of heing beat. This crowd of lOen at the school-bouse told me be/ore 
that they would beat me if I voted the Democratic ticket. I remained 
in Lawtonville until night. Mr. Cane. a white mall, came to the box. 
Mack Patterson and these colored men brandished their sticks and said 
that they had heard that Grant would send out troops in a few days to 
l)rotect tbem in tbeir undertaking; that they were now at Gillisonville, 
!tnd "'ould di\"ide the land-cut it up and dh'ide it so that every Repuh­
licar. woul.1 have a home, and DO Democrat shonld ba¥e one. 

Q_ If it had not been for the threats and intimidation that you "peak 
of, would more of tbe colored men have voted Democratic tickets !-A. 
Yes, sir; t.hey said they would do so; but for the threats, Democrats 
would have got many more votes. I know of my own knowledge many 
who did Dot come. and some who did come and voted Republican ticket 
llDwiIlingly. Of those who staid away and did not vote, [ know of 
about twenty; and of those who came and voted Republican ticket I 
know of some ten more that they would have got; I mean Democrats 
would have got tbese votes if the colored men who remained nt home 
had not been kept away from t.he polls by fear. nnd those I mention as 
voting R~publican ticket unwillingly had not been forced to do so 
through fear. 

Cross examined: . 
Q. Yon live on Mr. Thoma&'slaod, do you !-A. No, sir; 00 )lr. Tu­

ten's land. 
Q. What made yon go to Mr. Thomas, instRad of Mr. Tuten for pro­

tection Y-A. I was "living with Mr. Thomas at that time. 
Q. Do you expect to rent land of Mr. Thomas this yearY-A. I do 

lIot. 
Q. At thA time of election you were living with 1rlr. Thomas l-A. 

Yes, 1 was living with Mr. Thomas under contract for labor. 
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Q. Did not Mr. Thomas talk to you about voting DeDlocratic ticket ,­
A. YE'S, sir; he asl{cd me what ticket I would \"ote; 1 told laim Demo· 
crat,ic ticket. 

Q. Did not Mr. Thomas or Mr. Tuten ten you it would be better for 
you to yote Democratic ticket, amI then you could have all the land, 
with supplies, that you wanted I-A.. No, sir; they neyer huYe told me 
an~·thillg of that kind. 

Q. Did not you h('ar that Democrats in this vicinity said so f-A. 
No, sir. 

Q. No one rreventNl you from going lip to the polls on day of ('Iec· 
tioll and pntting DE'mocratic ticl<et ill box I-A. Noone; I \'oted early. 

Q. Did Bob Owens, Grady Brown, and Willis Peeples vote Demo­
cratic ticket f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Dielyou see Ilny one prevent them from putting Democratic tickets 
iu the box f-A. No, sir. 

Q. YOll say that that company that. was drilling, some of them laad 
guns that day t-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. If E. F. Warren says that be did not see tbem witb gnns; he could 
not have noticE'd them particularly on that (lay t-A. If hc did not see 
any guns he could not b8\'e uoticed very particularly. 

Q. Don't you know a large nnmber of the men that w('re drilling tbat 
da~' I-A. 1 have seen tbem, but do not know their names; I know 
Miller. 

Q. Dill Amos MiIl('r bave 1\ gun on that day t-A. No, sir. 
Q. 1Vhat was the club you saw at school·bollse I-A. It was tbo 

same men t.hat were drilling. 
Q. Did you e\"er bear any of those men say before election, or wben 

~'on lDet them at the school·house, that they would put olle bundred 
lashes on you f-A. I heard Amos Miller say so at the poll, aud beartl 
it also before I went for Thomas. . 

Q. Has Amos Miller or any of them put a' single stripe on YOll '-A. 
No, sir. 

Q. Was this said bcfore YOll '\"otNl or after yon voted f-A. Before I 
voted and after I voted. Amos Miller told me so, and I heard the 
thr('at gen('rally talked of. 

Q. Did not you 8uy that this company run Amos Miller '-A. Yes, sir; 
I did. 

Q. What ticket did Amos Miner vote '-A. I don't kno\v; be had two 
tickets in his baud. 

Q. Was llotAmos Miller a captain or lieutenant ill this company YOll 
8awl-A. No, sir; one of the ranks. 

Q. Yon sllY that Amos Miller threatened to put a hnndred lashes on 
YOll, and yet tbe saine <:ompany run him '-A. YE'S, sir. 

Q. How many of tbis company did yon see with pistolsl-A. I saw 
two of them. 

Q. Wh('re w('re these pistols '-A. In back pants pocket. ~ 
Q. Yon say five or six promised to vote Democratic tiel.ets. Oi\"o 

me their namest-A. Billy Barnes, Sam. Barnes, Howartl Barne.q, Ca­
hleb Wallace, Bob Owens, George Owens, Rueben Fields, Ned SUder, 
and others. 

Q. Whose place do they live on '-A. Peeples and Morrisse.\· plaOt'R. 
Q. You say llbout twenty \'oters never came to the polls. "'bo are 

theyf-A. David Conncil, Jobn -, Ben. Black, Charles Thompson, 
Peter Thompson, Little Peter Tbompson, (1 do not know whether he is 
of age or not,) July Ti~on, old man Tison, David BrantJey,Oliver Brant-
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ley, Flander Maxwell, William Davis, John D3vil'-aU I can remember 
just now. There are others I could remember if I could study over it. 

Q. Did you visit any other poll dnring day of election t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Then these men you have mentioned may I1M"e voted elsewhere t­

A. I take their WOrdli for it that they did not vote. 
hi' 

ANDREW + HOWARD. 
mark. 

Sworn to before me this 20th February, 1877. 
[SEAL.) JEFF. WARREY, 

Notary Public, Beaufort Oounty, South. Oarolina. 

Deposition of Zack Danieltt in the matter of the contest between G. D. 
Tillman against Robert Smalls for II. seat in the Congress of the 
United States. 

SoUTH CAROLINA., 
Beaufvrt Oounty : 

ZA.CK DANIELS, (colored.) witnesss of tbe legal , deposes as fol· 
lows. being produced as a. witneSl:l by contestant upon due notice to 
contestee: 

Question. Where do you live, what is your occupation, and where did 
you vote "t the last election, anel what is your name !-Answer. In Beau­
fort County, near Lawtonville; am a farmer; voted at Lawtonville pre· 
cinct; Zack Daniels •. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by the Relmblicans to­
wards colored Democrats, or those colored men who wanted tQ vote Dem­
ocratic tickets, at, before, or since the last electiou !-A. The Republicans 
tried to take me 011' from the stand at Lawtonville for speaking in the Dem­
ocratic interest; said they would take me dC?wn and kill me; was a large 
nnmber l)reRent; Raid" Tl\ke damned Democr"tdown," " Dou't let him 
speak,"" Kill him." They were kept from carryingthreR.ts intoexecutioll 
by the interference of others; friends prevented it. I had to quit. 
Would not let me speak. Attempted to do the same thing at Brighton, 
bnt were again prevented. Said those men who voted the Democratic 
ticket should be whipped and be turned away from the church. This 
was a general thing among the Republicans of this neighborhood. Said 
if a colored Democrat were to die. would not bury him. 

These threats were 80 violent that I was nfmid to go among them. 
Said that at the election would have United States troops to support 
them, anel woulll show Democrats that colored men should not vote 
Democratic 'ticket. Would get troops from Grant and Chaw bel'lain. 
Said, also, that tbe colored men who voted Democratic ticket were vot­
ing to put the negro back iuto slavery. A great many who belonged to 
the church were deterred from voting because of threats of expUlsion 
and beating. On the (lay of tlte election, Republicans drilled near polls; 
hac'l clubR; cursed and abused colored men who would vote Democratic 
ticket. Heard no threat of killing directly at the polls that day. They 
took Democratic tickets from one and gave him another, a Republican 

. ticket, followed him, and lrightened him until he did vote the Republi­
can ticket. They cursed and abused all who did vote the Democratic 
ticket. 

Q. Was there anything else which happened on that day calculated 
to illtimidate t-A. Do not know; do not remember any more happening 
that day. 

Q. If those colored men who intended to vote Democratic ticket bad 
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not been thns intimidated Rnd left to themsell"es, would tbey ba\'"e '\"'oted 
Democratic ticket I-A. Tbey would; (some did vote Democratic 
ticket wbo feared to ha\'"e it known-fear to ha\'"e it known e\'"en yet;) 
that is, at tbis time are afraid to ba\'"e it known. 

Q. Would the result of thtl election have been different at this pre­
cinct if they had been unmolested; that is, colored voters, if they hatl 
been unmolested, and if the1'e had been no such interferen~e 8S afore­
said I-A. Yes, sir; the result would bB,'e been different. Democrats 
would ha\'"e got Ho great many more yotes; fifty or seventy·fi\'"e-perbaps 
ei([hty more votes. 

Q. Then this intimidating influence practiced hy Republicans tended 
to create a general terrorism among those who intended to "ote Demo­
cratic ticket, (1 mean colored men,) did or did it 1Iot I-A. It did most 
assuredly. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Were yon not a (lele~Rte from this vicinity to the Republican con­

vention in September last I-A. I was, sir. 
Q. Abont wbat time were you converted to democracy I-A. In Octo­

ber some time. 
Q. Whose land do you live on !-A. T. 0, B. Wood's land. 
Q: Did T. O. B. Wood ever slleak to you about changing yonr politi­

cal principles I-A. No; he has never asked me to chang~, nor 81lOken 
to me about changing; have talked about corrnption of the governm~nt. 

Q. By what party was tbe meeting called wben you say they threat­
ened to take you from the stand I-A. One of the meetings was called 
by Republicans; the other by tbe Democrats. 

Q. In what month were these meetings held t-A. Botb ill October. 
Q. At the Republican meeting, was it geuerally known that you had 

turned Democrat t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Are you a church member '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Who threatened to turn otbers out of the church t-A. I could not 

now name persons, but they were colorell Republicans. 
Q. Can you give the names of those wbo were so threatened I-A. 

Tavo Fraser. I do not know names of others; it was rumored and &;(>u­
erally understood. 

Q. Tben it was from rumor that ~'ou know that others were tbreat­
ened T-A. Yes, sir; except that Tavo Fraser told me he was. I did 
not attend church often. 

Q. What ticket did Tavo Fraser vote I-A. He did not vote at alJ. 
He was not at Lawtonville poll, an(l said he did 1I0t ,'ote. 

Q. You saitl in direct-examination that a great many who belonged 
to tbe cburuh said that becanse they would be turned out of church they 
would not vote. Can you give me the names of any of this great 
many!-A. It was current rumor; did not charge my memory with 
names. 

Q. If you had been left to yourself, without any interference either 
from Democrats or Rt>publicans, what ticket would you have ,,",oted t­
A. I would have voted a part of the Democratio ticket. After I was 
threatened by RepUblicans I was determined to show them I would ,"ote 
the whole Democratic ticket. 

Q. Would you have voted for Robert Smalls for Congress !-A. No, 
sir. 

Q. Then, whether you had been threatened or not, you would not 
have ,"oted for Robert Smalls for Congress '-A. I would not have \'"oted 
for Robert Smalls under any circumstance whatever. 
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Q. Did you see any personal violence used by anyone, or on nnyone, 
by Republicans, on the day of election f-A. No, sir; except pushing, 
pulling, and rudely jerking. I saw 110 one beaten on the day of election. 

hi8 
ZACK + DANIELS. 

mark. 
Sworu to before me this 20th February, 1877. 
[SEAL.} JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary Public, Beaw/ort County, &utl& Oarolina. 

Deposition of John T. Morrison, of Lawtonville precinct, in the matter 
of contested election by G. D. Tillman against Robert SmaI.ls for a 
8f'.at in the Congress of the United States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beau/ort 001lnt1l: 

JOIDi T. MORRISON, a witness of the legal agl', being produced by 
contestant, on due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in answer to 
qnestiolls propounded by the contestant: 

Qnestion. What is your name' What your age' Where do you re­
side t What is your occupation t And did you vote at the last general 
election T If so, at what place did you votet-Answer. My lIame is 
John T. Morrison; am 35 years old; live near Lawtonville, Beaufort 
County; school· teacher and farmer; \"oted at LawtoD\'ille precinct. 

Q. Did you hold any official position at the last election; and, if so, 
were you sworn, and by whom t-A. I was appointed United States 
assistant supervisor by Poineer. Was sworn in by W. J. Vansey. Do 
not know if he was a notary public or trialjustice, or either. I am not 
certain who swore in managers. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by Republicans on the 
day of election, previous to or subsequent to that day, against colored 
men who desired or intended to vote Democratic ticket t If so, state 
it in detail.-A. I heard nnmbers of colored Ulen say that they were 
afraid to '\"ote Democratic ticket before the election. It was a COUlmon 
talk among colored men in the neighborhood that they wonld '\"ote Dem· 
ocratic ticket if they were not afraid. One reason was, that they 
woul(1 be turned out of their churches; would be socially ostracised; 
would be whipped by the colored Republicaus. Some also saht that their 
li'\"es had been threatened; that Republican leaders had also exactecl an 
oath from colored men soon after the war. TheRe were given as reasons 
wby they f{'ared to vote. I will give as a single instance, that on one 
occasion, previous to {'Iection, a colored man working in my field was 
asked by some colored Uepublicans how be would vote. He replied 
Democrat, wben they immediately made violent threats. (These Repub. 
Iicans were passing near my field at the time.) 

(Objection by counsel for contestee to questions asked at this point 
Dot placed on record.) 

The proclamations of Chamberlain and Grant, ordering the disbanding 
of riDe·clubs and othf'r militnry organizations, made a decided change. 
Pre'\"ious to these proclamations we thought-felt satisfied-that we 
woold carry the election. The colored men rode with us; wore Demo­
cratic badges; promised to vote with us. These proclamations at once 
drew a line of distinction between white aDd colored; the colored men 
could not be approached on tile subject. Those colored men who had be· 
fore affilliated with us and had ridden with us to l)ublic meetings discon· 
tinued. We had no military organization in this precinct. 
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It was" general talk also among colorecl people that they might be 
punished by the government, by Grant and Chamberlain, if they voted 
Democratic ticket. If I had been a colored man and a Republican I 
would have been afraid to vote Democratic ticket at any precinct in this 
neigh borhood. On the day of election I was uneasy that an outbreak 
would occur ou the part of Republicans; reports were general tba.t arms 
would be brought by colored Itepublicans. I met the Republican man­
agers at the polls, two Republican managers and one Democratic man­
nger. Every thing passed off quietly until about eight or niue o'clok a. m. 

A large bod. v of colored Republicans, in ,Ulilitary organization, properly 
officered, commanded by au officer in full uniform; officers had clubs 
in their bands; marched UI) near the l)ol1s and performed military evo· 
lutions. These came from tbe neigbborhood below, and were joiued at 
this place by a similar party from above, all coming in in military order. 
They halted, broke up in a mass, rushee} in to the poll.:i, crowding 
arounel so that I found it difficult to keep tbem from torcing me out. I 
had on my hat, badge of office, which tbey could not fail to see. There 
was no peace officer on the ground at the time. 

Q. During the drilling, aud after they hall broken line, was there any 
shouting, brandishing ot' sticks, or other weapons displayed !-A. Tltere 
was a number of sticks bralldisheel; much hollooing. Tbey were \'cry 
threatening ill their demeauor. Wheu a colored man attempted to vote 
Democratic ticket he was taken off by them. They reformed, l)laced 
him in front, doubled·quicked him to the polls, and he would \'ote Repub­
lican ticket. This, I mean, they did in one instance twice; that is, 
doubled·quicked him up twice. The second time he was brought up he 
\'oted Republican ticket. There was one colored man that I saw taken 
off from the polls by two colored men with clubs. He seelDed much 
alarmed. The same who was after\vards double-quicked. 

Q. What effect did this system of intimidation have upon those col· 
ored men who wanted to \'ote the Democratic ticket I-A. It made them 
vote Republican ticket. Tbe only colored men who voted Demcratic 
ticket were those who \'oted very early in the morning before this crOWl} 
arrived or late in the e\'ening. 

Q. What would have bet"n the difference in t.he result of the election 
at this precinct if no such intimidatiou had been practiced by Republi· 
cans T-A. The result would ha\'e been very differE'lut; after supen'ising 
the election, I was surprised, and would say, that it wotlld 1Ia\'e been 
an open question wbich party would ba\""e been ahead; think it \'ery 
likely Dernocrats would have carried election bere. . 

Q. How many more votes would Democrats ha\'e received if no in· 
timidation had been practiced '-A. A great number more. 

Q. What did yon do with the oath you signed as superviRor f-A. I 
retained it; either have it at home now or burned it up a few nighw 
ago; did not return or forward it. 

Q. What did you do with your return as supervisort-A. Forwarded 
it by mail to Poineer; did not swear to return. 

Q. Do you know of any other intimidation, I mean generallyf-A.. A 
night or two previous to the election there were runners throngh the 
country, who, by threats of some punishment from the government, 
caused colored people to fear to vote Democratic ticket, something 
which entirely changed the phase of the election. 

Cross-t"xamined: 
Q. As supervisor, did you not endeavor to carry out your instrnctions 

to the best of your knowledge and ability T-A. I did. 
Q. All that you know about threats of being turned out of church 
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anll whipping, is wbat bas been told you, is it not t-A. Yes, s1:r; by 
tbe parties threatened telling me. 

Q. How far were you from tbe men \\'110 threatened men plowing in 
your field t-A. About one bundretl and fifty yards. 

Q. Dill you hear the wordtt used !-A. I did, but do not now remem­
ber the words. 

Q. Did you read proclamations of Ohamberlain and Grant t-A. I did. 
Q. 'Were there any ritle or saber clubs in tbis section otber than the 

State militia '-A. I know of no clubs armed with ritles amI sabers; 
know of 110 weapons in this country, other than sporting guns. 

Q. Do you knO\v of any military clubs that were not armed '-A. I 
do not. 

Q. 'Was there anything in those proclamations which forbade the as­
sembly allll drilling of t1l6 State militia. !-A. I do not remember. 

Q. Was there any thingin those proclamlLtions which forbade the peace· 
able assembling of political clubs '-A. I do not think there was, but 
the impression created IImong some was tbat tbere might be some dan-
ger in tbe meeting of clubs. ' 

Q. Do you know ill what month those proclamations were i~sued !­
A. I think in October-September or October. 

Q. After that time did tbe Democratic political clubs yon spoke of 
discontinue holding meetings '-A. After finding our meetings could not 
or was not embraced in the proclamations, 've continued to meet. 

Q. Ho\v SOOIl after did tbe right of peaceable assembly for a 
lawful purpose was not abrogated by tbose proclamations l-A. The 
proclamations were tliscu8sed at our next meeting, and we found tbat 
our club was not embraeed in tbe proclamations, and we continued to 
meet. 

Q. You say tllere were rumors of impending outbreaks. Dill you hear 
tbese rumors from Democrats or Republicans '~A. I heard danger was 
anticipated by both parties. 

Q. Do yoo mean by that, that eacb party were afrai(1 olthe otber'­
A. The Democrats were afraid a disturl>auce would be brought about I>y 
RepubJicans who would beat alld maltreat those wbo were going to vote 
Democratic tickets, (colored men, I meau.) 

Q. Had tbese men voted at the time you say they marched up to tbe 
polls '-A. No; not at this poll. 

Q. Do yon 'know, at this precinct, on the day of election, if anyone 
was strnck or received bodily injury 1-A. I do not know of anyone. 

Q. Who was the man \vbom ~·ou say was carried off from tbe polls, 
and afterward brougbt back and \"oOOd tbe Repablican ticket '-A. Amos 
Miller. 

Q. Who was the man yoo say was taken away and afterward voted 
tbe Republican ticketT-A. The same mall. 

Q. Did 1I0t tbe Democrats at this precinct, 8S a general thing, voto 
early on that day'-A. I think they did. 

Q. How many Democratic \"otes were polled on that day t-A. I do not 
know; I tbink one bnndred and forty. 

Q. Do you know how many white Democrats voted here on that day!­
A. I cannot state; 1 fear I overstate(l the amount the Democrats re­
cei\"ed. As nearly as I can recollect., there was about one hundred and 
twenty Democratic \"ote~, and two hundred and thirty Republican. 

Q. On what do you base your impression that 80me terrible threat 
cbanged the whole phase of the election !-A. A surprise on part of 
Democrats seeing so many of tbeir employes in the ranks of tbe com­
pany who \"oted the Republican tick,et, and the indisposition on tbe part 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



124 TILLMAN VS. SMA.LLS. 

of colored men who had promised to \"ote Democratic to talk or ha'\"e 
anything to do with us a few days before the eJection. 

Q. On what impression do you base the impression that runners were 
out that only traveled through the night f-A. I heard both parties 
speak of it. 

Q. Was 1I0t there a general disposition ou the dny of election to re­
spect your authority as super\"isor at this precinct f-A. Not at first, 
but afterward there was. 

Rellirect eXllminatiom : 
Q. You that say Amos Miller was tile party referred to that was taken 

off from the polls by two colored men with clnbs. How was he brougbt 
back to the polls, and was he followed by others '-A. He was brought 
back by a colored company of Republicans, at the double·quick, wbo 
were bralldishing their clubs and using threatening language. Tbis 
waR repeated twice. 

Q. Yon Ray your authority as snper\"isor was not at first respected; 
explain what you meaD by at first" and whether your authority was dis­
regarded by Democrats or RepubliC'.ans.-A. It was disregarded by the 
Republican company, who endeavored to pusb me from the polls, and it 
wonld ha\'e been hazardous for me to have challenged a \"ote. 

Q. What circumstance later in the da~' caused the colored Hepubli­
calis to recognize yoor official authority T-A. Because the Democrats 
called 00 me to keep order, und the Republicans saw me taking down 
names. 

JNO. T. :r.rORRISOY. 
Sworn to before me this 21st day of February, 1877. 
[SEAL.j JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary PlWl-iC, Beau/ort COUIt'Y, S. C. 

Deposition of Phlander lIcZeane, (colored,) in matter of contest by G 
D. Tillman against Robert Smalls for a seat in the Congress of tbe 
.United States. 

SOUTH CA.ROLINA., 
Beau/ort Ooun.ty: 

PHLANDER MCZEA.NE, (colored,) a witness of the legal age, produced 
by contestant on due notice to contestee, deposetl 8S follows: 

Question. What is your name T Where do yon live' What is your 
occnpation,and where did you \"ote at the lapt election T-Answer. PlIlan­
der McZeane. I live near Lawtonville, Beaufort County, Sonth Car­
olina. I am a farmer and laborer. I did not ,'ote at the last gl"neral 
election. 

Q. Wby did yon not vote '-A. Because I was afraid to '\"ote. 
Q. Why were yon afraid to vote. and would you lIave voted if you 

had not been afraid, and for which party f-A. Because I was threat­
ened so baei by colored Republicans that if I did not vote a Rf'publicao 
ticket, or if I came to the polls anll \"oted a Democratic ticket, that. 
they would whip me to death. Also, at Brighton, before the l"lection, 
other colored RepUblicans threatened me so that I was afraid. There 
were so many Republicans who threatened me at different times if I 
'\"oted Democratic ticket they would beat me. Some threatened to beat 
me aod some threatened to kill me. I would have voted the Demo­
cratic tieket if I had not been afraid. I did not attend the polls. 

Q. Were there any other colored men who were going to vote the 
Democratic ticket; or who desired t.o do so, threatened by colored Re. 
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pnblicans; and, if so, how many I-A. Y(>s, sir; there were others who 
wanted to vote Democratic tickets that I know of who did not attend 
the polls becRm~e of prior threats; about teo that I know of remained 
at bome in consequence. Fh'e that I know of came to polls aod did not 
\'ote at a\l for same rl:ason. I did not attend the poll, and do not know 
irany voted Republican tickets who intended to \"ote Democratic. 

Q. Were the threats made by colored Republicans general or spe, 
eialf-A. The threats were general throughout this portion of the coun· 
try, beard from a good many men and in a good many places; heard 
others thl'eatened besides myself. 

Q, Wbat was tile efii.act produced on colored men by the proclamations 
of Chamberlain and Grant in reference to the disbanding of military 
orgaDizations, rifle Rnd saber clubs I-A. There was a general talk 
aruong colored Repnblicans that Chamberlain amI Grant would send 
troops 00 day of election to make the colored men who wanted to vote 
Democl'atic tickets vote Republican tickets. This talk WIIS before the 
~Ieetion, and we beard that the troops were at Gillisonville. Colored 
P.ellublicans said if colored men ,'oted Democratic tickets they would 
be taken up by the troops. This deterred them from voting-that is, 
maDY from voting-and caused others to vote Uepublican tickets who 
deljired to \"000 Democratic tickets.. , 

Cross-examined: " 
Q. Whose land do you live on I-A. T. O. B. Wood's. 
Q. Ha\"e any colored people left hilS lands Mince election I-A. William 

Edish and his fumily. 
Q. Whose land did thev mO\"6 to I-A. To Mr. Holcombe's laod. 

Also, oM man Sam Daniels and his f.:mily have gone to Brullson. These 
are all. 

Q. Give me tho names of thofle who threatened you I-A. Oliver 
Bl>atty for one. Once in tbe road, coming from cburch, and 011 the day 
oftbe election in llr. Wood's yard. 

Q. Are these the only times you were threatened I-A. I was threat· 
eDt'll by others at different times. 

Q. Have you heard of anyone being killed in this neighborbood for 
l'oting Democratic I-A. I have heard of no one being killed, but have 
beard of three being badly whil)ped for it. 

Q. Give me the names of' some of the ten who staid at borne.-A. Tavo 
Fraser, Bob -, don't know his surname; can't think of any other 
lIames just now. 

Q. Bow do you know there were about ten I-A. I did not take down 
tbe names, as I did lIot expect to be called on to testify, but know of 
that number. 

Q. Gh'e me the names of those five who went to the polls and did not 
l'ote.-A. Da\"id Beatty wasolle; don't remember others for salile reason. 

Q. Bow do you kno\v there were five who went to the polls and re, 
turned witbout voting '-A. Heard them say so. 

Q. You say tbat you heard others threatened. Give me some of their 
Dailies '-A. Zack Daniels, Bill Russell; all I recollect the names of just 
now. 

Q. Wbat did Grant say io his proclamation I-A. I only heard that 
he was going to send a troop through on day of election to wake all 
oolo1'l'd men vote Democratic ticket. 

Q. You say there was several wbo\"ote(} Republican ticket who \vanted 
to \'ote Uemocratic ticket; can you give me tbe lIames of any of tbemT­
A. I am unable just now to recall all the names. 
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Redirect examination: 
Q. Can you read or write T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you take a newspaper T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you not depend for your knowledge of the proclamation of 

which ~ou speak upon what colored Republicans told you T-A. Tbat 
was ooly tbe means I had to know. " 

Q. Do not colored people in this county frequently change their sur· 
names '-A. Yes, sir j they do, and particularly about election times. 

Q. How is it tbat you do not remember more names T-A. Because of 
this frequent CbltDge, and because I did not charge my mind witb it. 

Q. Yon speak of being tbreatened at different times; was the parties 
so threatening alone '-A. Generally in a crowd. 

his 
FLaNDER + McZEANE. 

mark. 
Sworn to berore me this 21st ,1871. 

JEFF. W AnREN, 
Notarg Public Beaufurt Cuunty, 8. O. 

Adjourned to me"et at 8 o'clock a. m. to-morrow morning. 

LAWTONVILLE, S. C., 
February 22, 18;1. 

Met pursuant to adjournment and proceMed to take deposition of J. 
D. Johnson. 

Deposition of J. D. Johnson, in matter of contest by G. D. Tillmall 
against Robert Smalls for a seat in the Congress of tbe Unital 
States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beaufort Oounty: 

J. D. JOHNSON, a witness of the l('gal age, being produced by con­
testant, on due notice to contestee, deposes as follows in answer to 
questions propounded by contestant or his attorney: 

Question. What is your name: what is your age; what is your occu­
pation, residence, and where did you ""ote at the last general election T­
Answer. J. D. JohnROn; 50 years old; farmer, and con stahle, and dep­
uty sberift; (special deputy j) [ live near Staft'ord'd Cross-Roads, Beaufort 
County; voted Democratic ticket at Lawtollville precinct. 

Q. Have you an extensive acquaintance ill this county, colored and 
,,-bite T-A. I am personally acquainted with almost every mun, wbite 
and colored, in this section of Beaufort County. 

Q. Do you know of tile existence ot any system (If intimidation prac­
ticed by colored Republi".ans toward or against colored Olen who wanted 
to vote Democratic ticket' If 110, state briefiY.-A. On tile clay of elec­
tion an old colored man who had, for the purpORa of escape from voting 
Democratic ticket, gone into the garden of Capt. E. H. Peeples, was 
brought to polls and forced by bribery and intimidation to ,'ote Repnbli. 
can ticket; he was promised by these colored men five dollars if he ditl 
so, and threatened if he di4 not. Another colored mall, Amos Miller, 
callie into tile piazza and said be wanted to vote Democratic ticket. 
Be was jerkecl from the piazza and told by colored men, in a lond ""oice, 
that they would give any colored man the devil who voted that ticket. 
They abused him and spoke very angrily. Drums were bt'ating and the 
colored men were marching to and fro. I saw some gun!! and clubs 
anlong the colored men; drilled on til late in the evening. 1 beard them 
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fl'fqo('ntly a~sert in a 100(1 voice that they would whip and give any 
colored man the devil who voted Demeocrntic ticket; before the elec· 
tion I heard colored Republicans threaten all oyer the neighborhoocl 
that they woold whip any colol'ed man who voted Democratic ticket. 
I b('ard the threats g('nerally tbrough the country; did not charge my 
nlt~mory with the names of the parties threatening. 

Q. Do JOU know of any of these threats lJaving been carried into ex­
ecution f-A. I do; one Peter Jobnson, a colored mau, who lived at tbe 
time on my Illace, was whipped by colored Uepublicans for voting Dem· 
ocratic ticket. I heard Peter Roberts say that th('y, the Rl'publican 
color('(l men, had threatened to whip him for voting Dt'mncratic ticket. 

Q. Did '\"ou see constable arrest anyone for whiPI>ing ~olored men 
for votillg'Democratic ticket '-A. I did, uuder or by authority of 8 
warrant iSlmed by Trial·Justice Mulligan, arrest colored man and at· 
tl'mpted the arrest of otbt'rs; trial· justice directed me to pres8 three or 
four men to assist in the arrest; I did so; I arrel!ted a colored man, 
Frunk Brant, with gun in woods. 

(Coun!'el for contestee objects to any further testimony on tbis snb· 
ject on the ground tbat it is not material.) 

I carri('d bim to trial.justice and left him in cbarge of otb('r parties; 
I tht'n returnt'd and arrested another eolored mlln, Moses Grant, placed 
bim in the custody of Franklin Oansey; I then arrested Washington 
Brown; I placed him in custody of Medicus Ellis; a colored man, 
Tobe .10hnson, was next arrested; he promised me that he would reJlOl·t 
to Mulligan. I tht'n proct'ooed to tbe bouse of Moses Perry, jr., attended 
by my Ilssistants, (Shlltnan, Deloach, anll Ellis.) 

Passing tl~rough a field I heard a yell, and saw a .crowd of colored 
persons approaching. 1 had no one witb me und~r arrest at the tillll', 
having sent them forward. I comlllandl'd peace. These colored men 
fired about twt'nty guns into my posst',and killed one of my poss(', John 
Shuman. Another of my l1088e, Abram Deloach, wss also shot and 
stabbed in several places' with a bayonet. These colored Ut'publicans 
also attempte(l, aller guns were discharged, to throst a bayonet into N. 
'V. Ellis, another of D1~·I)OS8t'. Prisoners ,"ere released from trialjustice 
L~' force, and colored Republicans, armed, concentrllted in force, defying 
arrest. 

We telegral>hed for sherift· of the connty, who arrived, aotlat the 
head of a "er~' large posse of white men dispersed the colorl'd men. I • " 
rode arountl tbe count.ry, and ascertained that these colored men were 
being rapidly re-euforced, bot cannot say how maoy were concentrated. 
A nomber were disarmed, but I am satisfied that a great nnmber of 
them escaped with arms throngh the woods; have no positive knowl· 
edge of tbe numbrr, bot a large number. Tbt'ly offered no resistancE" 
to 8heriff and his pOMSe. I SIlW some of the officers who cnme to mt'et 
we on road, and said that if Sherift' Wilson demanded any they would 
give them up. , 

Q. But for the general intimidation and particular threats of which 
Jon speak of being l>rBcticed and made by colored Republican8 toward 
colored wen who wanted to \'ote Democratic ticket, woold the r£'sult of 
the election bave heen changed f-A. I think it woold ha\"e been \"ely 
difr~rent. 

Cross·examined: 
Q. How do you know that Amos Miller wsnted to vote Democratic 

ticket !-A. He said 80 at the time. 
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Q. Dit) you Ree Peter :Johnson whipped f-A. I did not, but saw him 
directly a.fter he was whipped. 

Q. Was there not a colored man shot and killed before Shuman was 
killed I-A. There wa~ after firing was commenced by them. 

Q. Are yon not under bond to appear at the June term of the coort 
for his being killed I-A. 1 am. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. You speak of a colored man having been killed before Mr. Sbu­

man was killed. Was he killed before the firing was commenced by the 
colored men on your posse I-A. No, sir; he was not. The colored Re­
publicans commenced th" firing, and bad fired at least a dozen goos 
before tbis colored mao was shot. 

Q. Have these colored men been acquitted for the murder of Shuman' 
-A. They have not been tried yet. 

J. D. JOHNSON. 
Sworn to this 21st day of February, 1877. 
(L. s.] JEFF. WARREN, . 

Nutary Public, Beaufort Oounty, 8. O. 

Deposition of D. B. Gohagan, in the matter of contest of G. D. Tillmao 
against Robert Smalls for a seat in tIle Congress of the United 
States. 

STATE 011' 8om.'1I CAROLINA, 
Beatl/ort Oouty: 

D. B. GOHAGAN, a witne8s of legal age produced by the contestant 
on due notice to contestee, depose8 as follows~ 

Present: G. D. Tillman, by counsel, J. E. Lan8ey; and A. G. Thomas, 
of cOl1nsel for conte8tee. . . 

Question. State where you lh-e, yonr occupation, and age.-Answer. 
I live in Lawton Township, Beaufort County. I am a farmer; age, thirty­
fi\'"e. 

Q. Were yoo a man8ger at the last election; and, if so, at what pre· 
cinctt-A. I was a manager at the place knowu 8S Lawton Chnrch 
precinct. 

Q. Were roo regularly sworn in as a manager of elt>ction, and if so, 
by what officer; and were the other managers 8worn in, and, if 80, by 
WhOUl I-A. I was 8worn by Trial-Ju8tice II'. J. Mulligan on my way to 
polls. Just before daylight I called at Mulligan's, and was sworD. 
After I reached the 110lls I swore the other two managers. (I stopped 
at )Iulligan's and told him to swear me in.) 

Q. Who was chairman of tbat board of managers at that precinct, and 
who appointed chairman; when, wllert\ and how was be appointed f­
A. John B. Bascom was chairman. Myself and the other managers, 
after we got to the precinct on day of election, agreed, a8 Bascom had 
managed elections before, that he would be the best and bad .better act 
8S chairman. John B. Bascom is a colored Republican. 

Q. After Bascom was elected chairma.n, did he 8wear the other man· 
agers in I-A. No, sir; I swore Bascom and George Lawton; theotber 
manager, George Lawton, is also a colored Republican. 

Q. Ho\v did Trial-Justice l\fulligan swear JOu; did you 8ign a. writ­
ten oath; ami, if so, did be administer an oath to you before yon signed 
the same f-A. He wrote oW the oath, and I signed it; be swore as be 
usually takes an oath, I belie\·e. He had 110 Bible. He handed me the 
oath and I signetl it. I am not positive whether I hele! my hand up 01' 

not. 
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Q. What did you do witb that \\"fitten oath that you took '-A. I put 
tin tbe ballot·box. 

Q. Yon say you swore in the other managers. When did you do it, 
how did you swear tbem, and what was done with the oath, if it was a 
written oath I-A. After we got on the election-ground, just before we 
opened tbe polls, I swore in tbe otber managers. I read the oath to 
them. Tbere was no Bible; tbey held up their hands, and signed a sep­
arate oath from the one I bad taken. Tbis was also put in the ballot­
box before we locked the box. 

Q. Wben did ~ou open the polls T Wben were they closed tWas 
there any adjournment or intermission T-A. I suppose we opened the 
the poUs about seven o'clock. 'We closed polls about six-that is about 
snnset. There was some little adjoul'Dment, but all the managers did 
not quit the polls at anyone time. 

Q. Wbo swore tbe ,"oters 011 tbat day f-A. nascom did the most of 
it. Sometimes I administered the oath, and sometimes I don't know if 
Lawton did not. 

Q. Bow many voters were sworn at the same time; and how many 
did yoo and Lawtou swear f-A. One at a time. I administered the 
oath l!everal times during the day; can't say how many. 

Q. Wheo, where, and bow did you count the votes; and "'ere there 
any informalities f-A. After we got through we opened the box and 
proceeded to coont. We counted out the votes; and we got bothered 
in connting. Bascom mo\-ed that we shoultl close th~ box for that night, 
and meet at Staftord's Cross-Roads the next day, about six miles off. We 
closed the box, according to the motion of Bascom, and we met the next 
day at Staft'ord's Cross-Roads and completed the coimt. 

Q. How many votes bad been cOllnted IIp to the time ~-ou got hoth­
ered, aod what was the cause of this botheration t-A. After opening 
the box we found how JIlany ,"otes were in tbe box. 'Ve could not get 
it arranged-the number of Yott's for such and such men. There was a. 
large crowd tbere, aod tbe~- got bothering us so that we could not keep 
the cooot; tbe crowd was so large Rnd bothered so tbat we could 
IIOt keel) the count for the candidates; I mean for each candidate. 
Bascom moyed that we should adjourn. 

Q. Yon say you found out how many \"otes were in tbe box; how did 
you find that out !-A. After we had closed the polls Bascom nnlocked 
the box, and we turned the ,"otes out on a table. 'We then connted tbe 
number of ballots; ooe man counted red tickets, another counted out 
the other color. 'Ve soon after closed the box. We ascertained by the 
color of tbe tickets. We decided how many for the Republican and 
how maoy for the Democratic llarty. 

Q. Did you count the ballots by calling the Dame of each palty who 
lr88 \'otOO for upon that ballot, and haloing regular tellers at tbat time, 
or how did you count t.hem f-A. The tickets were arranged by the 
rolor, as we coul£l tell wbich was ,"oted for Ohamberlain and which for 
Hampton. After we got tbrough we picked op the Ohamberlain colored 
tickets and put tbem in a pile-Hampton's vote in a pile. We counted 
them by tbe heading of the tickets. We undertook then to tally them, 
bot got botbered, and did not. 

Q. What caused the botheration t-A. In the crowd we could not 
regulate the count; some tickets were scratched, and we-the crowd 
botheriog ancl the scratched tickets, we adjourned to Stafford's Cro~s­
Roads, six miles distant. 

Q. By wbom, or what party, were you pressed on that night-how 
near did they crowd round the tablet-A. By the Republican party. 

H. Mis. 11-9 
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They were near euougb to take off or push in "otes, but I did not see 
any attempt to ~o that. 

Q. Were you one of tbe party who had charge of some of the vote8 
poured on the table, and how many other parties had charge of batches 
of ballot8 T-A. I was; jnst the managers and supervisors had charge 
of the batches. 

Q. Did each one have a B.-parate batch, anll how many piles were 
they f-A. Each one that was connting bad a separate pile-four piles 
that I remember. 

Q. How mallY Republican and bow many Democratic piles were 
tbeyf-A. I think, as well as I remember, that olle man would hand, 
wheD he found a Republican ticket, he would hand it over to three Re­
publicans, aud the Democratic ticket to one Democrnt. . We counted by 
sight-color of ballot. 

Q. You say there were many Republicans near enough to the table 
to abstract or put in votes or ballots; could you have seen anything of 
this kind if it had taken place at all the different piles including your 
own i-A. I COUlll have discovered it at my own pile, but I never no· 
ticed t.he others. 

Q. Were there maDY ballots scratched I-A. Right smart of them. 
Q. Was there most scratching on the Republicau or on the Demo· 

cratic ballotsT-A. On the Republican; there were a good many Dames 
on the Republican ballots which were scratched. 

Q. Who suggested to have the ballots turned on the table I-A. 1 
do not remember that anyone suggested it. Bascom unlocked it and 
turned the banots out. 

Q. Who took charge of the box that night I-A. Jobn B. Bascom. 
Q. Who bad charge of the key to the box, and what was the charac· 

ter of the lock T-A. The lock W88 a small box or little trunk lock; did 
not examine it to see whether it was safe. I believe Bascom had charge 
of the key. 

Q. Was the lock of that character, do you think, tbat one could open 
it with a nail or connterfeit the key f-A. I do not know that oue could 
have openeu it with a Dail without breaking it, but think one coulu 
have got a key to fit it. 

Q. Do you not think that a number of keys could have been found in 
the neighborhood to fit this lock '-A. I have seen a number of locks 
and keys which resemble it. 

Q. What time the next morning at Stafford's CroBS·Roads did you 
commence to count votes I Who were present! In what manner did 
you proceed and when diu you get through I-A. About 9 or 10 o'clock 
a. m. :l\Iyself, others, the managers aDd supervisors were present. We 
opened the box; don't recollect who unlocked it; ballota. were poured 
out on a counter, and we piled them, dividing by the color 88 we did tbe 
night before, until we got the Republican tickets to themselves and 
Democratic tickets to themselves. Then we tallied them, one at a time; 
one Ulan called out the names and two men kept tally. Got through 
about 2 o'clock p. m. 

Q. How were the names called out, 'and were the scratched names 
only caUeu or were all the names called !-A. All the names were 
called. 

Q. How many votes were polled, and how many were found in the 
box f-A. Two hundred and thirty-seven votes were poJled, (237 names 
I mean on the poll.lists.) We found when box: was opened at Lawton 
Chnrch precinct, 241 in box. We found at the church two tickets rolled 
up together. Four of these rolls made eight ,"otes. We threw foor 
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from tbem away. Wben we opened it tbe next morning at Stafford's 
Cross-Roads we found 237 votes. 

Q. If tbere bad been any change in the votes which were not scratcbed 
could you bave discovered it when the \"ote8 were counted at Stafford's 
Cross-Roads the next morning '-A. I could not have told that. 

Q. Were tbe votes that were folded together Republican or Demo­
cratic '-A. All four of the rolls, two together, wert> Republican. 

Q. What number of \"otes were cast for eacb party '-A. One bun· 
dred and ninety·five Republican and forty· two Democra.tic. 

Q. 'Vas that the ,'ote for Congress '-A. I do not recollect exactly. 
Tbese flcratchetl tickets cansed a. little flaw. Think it was abont that. 

Q. Was tbat the vote sent to Beaufort'-A. Yes, sir; olle hundred 
and ninety-five Republica.n and forty-two Democratic. 

Q. Explain the scratched tickets.-A. When we got to the polls, Re· 
publican tickets having given out that was sent tbere for Bascom, and 
he sent oft' and got Rome old tickets tbat were got for the governor at 
the previous election, and bad tbem brought and tbe men took them. 
There were on tbese tickets some of tbe names that were running at 
this time and some names that were not. They scratched off names 
that were not candidates at this time and added other names. 

Q. Did they have any scratching for the county officers and State 
officers, and where was most scratching done '-A. Tbe scratching was 
done throughout the ticket for county officers, State officers, United 
States Officers, and aU. I do not recollect any scratching on tbe t.ickets 
printed for this campaign. The scratching was, I think, confined to 
the tickets used when tbe sopply of new tickets bad given out. 

Q. Was there any cbange in the vote as yoo gave it when it got to 
Beaufort I-A. I have heard:'-(objected to by A. G. Thomas)-there 
was a difference of twelve votes. There were said t(} be twelve more 
Radical \"otes. I ne,'er went to Beaufort with the \"otes, and saw no 
report in newspapers. 

Q. Wb(} was the man who called oot the votes when counted at Staf. 
ford's Oross·Roads '-A. S. F. Elli&. 

Q. Was he a manager or supervisor '-A. Whether he was appointed 
or not I do not know. He a88isted os the day before at Lawton church. 
He is said to be a Democrat. He is a wbite man. 

Q. Was tbere any disturbance at the polls' If so, by wbat party'­
A. Ye.s, I should say there was. The Republican pa,rty-that is, the 
negroes-bad freshly·cot clubs about two feet long, I do not know the 
number; all did not ha\"e them. The negroes with clubs met negroes 
as they came to the polls aud would gi\"e them the ticket they wanted 
them to vote; that is, club-fellows did. One colored man wanted to 
vote the Democratic ticket, but they worried bim a long time, and did 
not let him rest until he voted tbe Republican ticket. Another colored 
man that did vote the Democratic ticket, and they tried to beat him 
witbin fifteen feet of the polls, and swore vengeance for bim when tbey 
caught bim oft-. Another colored man who wanted to vote tbe Demo· 
cratic ticket who did not vote; said he feared tbat. tbese men would 
injure him if be did so, and that be feared to remaiu; be went home 
withont votiug. There was a great deal of whooping and ballooing 
around tbe polls by the Repu bHcan party. These colored men were threat· 
ening all day that they would wbip out tbe Democrats. 

Q. What time in the day was it wben the second man wbo desired to 
vote the Democratic ticket (I mean colored man) was tbreatened T-A. 
Some time in the middle of the day; do not recollect exactly the hoor. 
Trial.justice Mulligan carried him off; they even followed him to his 
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bttggy, and one colored man would have struck him if another man 
had not got between them. 

Q. Did these parties who had clubs, after giving tickets to others, 
carry them to the pollst-A. if they knew them to be Republicans they 
merely gave them tickets j that is, they knew they would vote that day 
the Rt>publican ticket. TO those whom they doubted, or whom they 
knew were Democrats, they gave the ticket and followed them to the 
polls. There were right smart of the colored men who before and after­
wards expressed tbemselves to the effect that they (lesired to vote the 
Democratic ticket, but feared to do. One or two colored women came 
with their husbands and carrit>d tbem up to the polls and made them 
Yote, saying thE'Y would see that their husbands voted for no one else. 
Two colore.l men brought guns, who said they were going hunting, but 
tht>y remained at the polls until night. 

Q. Did you Nee any pistols or other concealed weapons T-A. I do not 
recollect that I did. One colored man bad a sword. 

Q. Was there any marching, mustering, beating of drums on that 
day, or a few days previous' Were- there any wearing uniforms I-A. 
They l)fougbt a. drum there late in the afternoon, beat it before they got 
there, coming to the place. After they got there did not beat drum 
until after adjourning; did hear drnm about that time. The man who 
beat the drum wore a red jacket; said it was bis uniform. I did not 
notico clothing particularly, bot saw that some had stripes on the arm 
as sergeants and corporals. I do not know that there was any muster­
ing at that immediate place, but for several days previous to "Iection 
and for some time there \vere mustering and drum-beating at Roberts­
ville, and all through the neigbborhood, by colored men. 
o Q. Did these Republicans who had clublil go up to the polls in a body 
011 t.hat day 'I-A. They were in a body at the polls. I do Dot recollect 
seeing them come up. 

Q. What did the man who had the sword do upon that occasion !­
A. He marched about with those who had thA clubR during the day. 

Q. Did you see him carry up any persons whom you or they suspected 
were going to yote the Democratic ticket T-A. He was in the crowd 
with the men with clubs, and that was their business the whole day. 

Q. The mustering that took place through the neigbborhood aronnd 
Lawton church and at Robertsville, was it among the Republicans or 
Democrats, and ditl they have State arms Y-A. It was among the Re­
publicans; they had State arms; breech.loading rifles. 

Q. Was there any such organization among the Democrats '-A. If 
there was I never beard of it. 

Q. Did Governor Chamberlain on or about the 7th of October ortler 
all rifle-clubs to disband; and, if so, was not another proclamation 
issued by President Grant on the lith October to the same effect !-A. 
I believe there was. 

Q. Did or did uot these proclamations forbidding the assembling of 
any such organizations tend to embolden the Republicans and to intimi­
date the Democrats and those who intended to vote Democratic tick ... ts f 

(Objected to by A. G. Thomas, counsel f<)r contestee.) 
A. A great many of the colored men were afraid of them on that ac­

count. 
Q. Did these proclamations and thi" mustering prevent any yoters 

who were going to vote Democratic ticket from doing so, from your own 
knowledge 1-A. I have heard parti~s say that they could not go against 
the color, as they had threatened them. . 

Q. Do you think but for these llroclamations and threats and moster-
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t~ring, and the actioll of those armed clubR that the result of the elec­
tion at that poll would bave been differeut Y 

(Objected to by A. G. Thomas, couusel for contestee.) 
A. I .believe we woulll ba,'e bad a great many' more Democratic votes 

in the poll. 
Q. From the promises which the Democratic clubs had from tbese 

colored men, aud fl'om their affiliation with Democrats in their meetings, 
the manner aud bearing of the colored meu, are YOll not certain that the 
reRult of the election at the Lawton Church precinct would have been 
different bnt for the intimhlation referred to f-A. Yes, sir; I am certam 
that the re~ult wonld have been different. 

Q. How many of these colored mtm were affiliatiug and made theso 
promises to the Democratic clubs, and that the Democrat!:! expected to 
get at that precinct before the election f 

(Objected to by A. G. Thomas, counsel for contestee.) 
A. I do not know the exact number, but a great many. 
Q. Were there not a great many colored Rt>publicans who said they 

would Yote for the Democrats in this particular election, bnt would ad­
here to tbeir politics-would not desert the Republican party '-A. 
There was a great many who said they would vote for Hampton in this 
election and see if the DemoCl'ats would not do better thau the Repub­
licans had done; that they wished to try the Democrats for two years. 
If tbey did not tbey WOUlll uot vote for them any more. If tbey did 
they would stick to the Democrats. I heard a number of them say 
that thE'Y wanted to try a new government. 

Q. Would or were not all such colored Repnblicans as these intimi­
dated, or almost all such intimidated, and thus forced to vote the Repu&­
lican ticket t-A. 1 believe the most of them were. 

Q. Was there a colored Republican company mustering around Rob· 
ertsyille before the election t-A. There was. 

Q. How many more votes were polled at Lawton Church precinct than 
was eyer polled in previous elections there T-A. I ne,'er voted at that 
precinct before, but I heard John B. Bascom, colored manager, say it 
was much larger than it hOO eyer been before; that he was glad of it; 
it would giYe him anotber delegate from that precinct to the party con· 
vention. 1 heard others say that the vote was a great deal larger. 

(Objection to abo'·e answer by A. G. Thomas, of counsel for contestee.) 
Cross-examined: 

Q. Are yon not a Democrat, and did you not support G. D. Tillman 
for Congress at the last election '-A. I am a Democrat., and did support 
G. D. Tillman at the last election. 

Q. Is Trial·Justice F. J. Mulligan a Democrat. and whom did he sup· 
port for Congress at the last election '-A. He is a Democrat, and sup­
ported O. D. Tillman at the last election. 

Q. When you took the oath before l\Iulligan, had YOll at that time 
any actual knowledge who was to be chairman of the board of mana­
gers !-A. I did Dot know. 

Q. Were not tbe Democratic tickets printed in black ink on white 
paper, and the Republican tickets in red ink on white paper '-A. The 
Democratic tickets were printed on black ink on white paper. The Re­
publican tickets were printed on ,vhite paper in red ink; these ·having 
been exhausted, the surplus tickets left over from a previous election 
were used, these in black iok on white paper. 

Digitized by Coogle 



134 TILLMAN "S. SMALLS. 

Q. When you took the oath, did you not determine to do your duty 
as manager to the best of your abiJity and knowledge !-A. 1 did, sir. 
. Q. Betore Mr. Bascom put the motion to adjourn, was anything said on 
the subject, by you or the other managers, about adjournment !-A. 
'.rhere was not. 

Q. Did you object to the adjournment '-A. I did not. 
Q. ]n couuting the ",otes, did you find auy Democratic tickets witb 

the name of G. D. Tillman for Congress scratched !-A. I uon't remem­
ber auy. 

Q. Did you assist in making up and signing the report sent to Beau-
fort '-A. I was present and signed the report. , 

Q. Do you recollect the number of ",otes certified to on that rellort for 
Mr. Tillman for Oongress '-A. J do not remein\.)er. 

Q. Do you remember if any of the Republican tickets, printed in red, 
had the name of Robert Smalls scratched '-A. I uo not recollect. 

Q. Do you remember if RobP.rt Smalls ran for Oongress two years 
ago '-A. Yeti, sir. 

Q. Was the name of Robert Smalls on the tickets pl'ocured by Bas­
com after red tickets had been exhausted f-A. 1 don't remember. 

Q. Whose name was on the additional tickets procured by Bascom for 
governorf-A. I think the name of Chamberlain; am not positive. 

Q. Did you a8slst in taJlying the ",otes at the Cross-Roads !-A. I did 
not keel) tally, but helped to pile them off. 

Q. Did the Democratic tickets give out at all that day t-A. No, sir. 
Q. The night of the election, were there any Democrats present when 

the box was opened !-A. There WIlS. 
Q. Where were they 8tanding !-A. They were some standing and 

BOme sitting near by. Very few wel'e there; mORt of them had gone 
home. 

Q. Were any of them sitting or standing near enough to touch the 
table !-A. I don't know that there was any that near. 

Q. You say that night you had four piles or batches of tickets on the 
table, and that the supervisor was sorting one batch. Who was that 
supervisorY-A. B. A. Causey. 

Q. Is he a Democrat; and, if so, did he support G. D. Tillman Cor 
Congress !-A. Be is a Democrat, and he supported Tillman. 

Q. Did you see any oC the party present, eXCel)t managers aod super­
visors, touch a ticket after they came out of the box that night f-A. I 
did not. 

Q. Who kept the poll.list that day!-A. Mr. S. F. Ellis. 
Q. Is he a Republican or Democrat; whom did he support for Con­

gress '-A. He is a Democrat, they say. I am not able to say wbom be 
supported for Oongress. 

Q. Do you know 'of aoy Democrats in tbis portion of tbe county wbo 
voted for Robert Smalls for Congress t-A. I do not. 

Q. What number of names were on tbe poll·list that day !-A. Two 
hundred and tbirty-seven. 

Q. Were tbe Democratic ballots scratcbed at all that day '-A. They 
was; some of them. 

Q. Was the name of 'fill man scratched from aoy f-·A. Not tbat I re­
member. 

Q. You are not certain that Bascom bad the key of tbat box that 
nigbt t-A. I am Dot certain that he kept the key that nigbt, bot am 
certain that he locked the box. 

Q. Did S. F. Ellis, wbo called off the voles at Staffonl's Cross-Roads, 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VS. I:lMALL!1. 135 

bat'e any official connection with the board of mana.gers '-A. He acted 
as clerk. 

Q. Can you give us any idea of the number who had clubs at Lawton 
church on electiou-dayt-A. A large crowd of them, comparatively; 
twenty or twenty-five. 

Q. Did you see auy person on tbat day struck with those clubs '-A. 
I saw no one strock witb the clubs. 

Q. In what building, if any, was the poll held on that day'-A. In 
the church. 

Q. Where was tbe bOK placed l-A. Near the door; two or three feet 
from tbe door. 

Q. How far does tbe cburch stand from tbe road, and does it ron past 
tbe door f-A. Between fifty and one hundred feet; road runs directly 
past the door; door is on the side of the building. 

Q. From where you sat as manager, how far up and down the roa.d 
on each side conld you see t-A. Some two or three hundred yards on 
either side; place is open, tolerably clear of trees. 

Q. Yoo say tbere was a colored man who was worried a long time, 
and finally voted the Republican ticket; what was his name '-A. Guy 
Williams. Colored men change their names so often it is hard to tell 
wbat names they go by. 

Q. Who was the colored man whom you say they threatened to beat 
who had voted Democratic ticket '-A. Peter Roberts. 

Q. Can you give me tbe name of the colored mau who wanted to 
vote the Democratic ticket, and went home because he was arl'aid '-A. 
Thomas Jenkins. 

Q. What time did he leave the poll '-A. He came ill the morning 
abont 8 or 9 o'clock and staid an hour or two, amI he left and said Ite 
would come back again, maybe the crowd would leave. He came back 
in the evening and found the crowd still there. They immediately got 
after bim. He remained perhaps balf an bour and left again without 
voting. Polls soon closed. 

Q. How did they prevent him fl'om \'oting t - A. Tbey crowded 
around him, from twenty to twenty·five would, and tell bim it would 
not do to vote the Democratic ticket, am1 tbreatening bim. I did not 
see anyone offer to knock him. 

Q. Did you hear a Democrat whoop on that day I-A. I di,l not, sir. 
Q. Was there anyone on that day who called out at the polls, "Hurrah 

for Hampton '''-A. I did bear such, but it was done by the Repub­
licans, in derision or slurr; not by Democrats. 

Q. Give me the names of those six or seven colored men who, before 
election, said they wanted to vote the Democratic ticket but were afraid t 
-A. Jane Stafford, Tom Beemer, and two Doar boys j do not recollect 
tbeir given names; Tbomas Jenkins, Guy Williams; Williams, how­
ever, did vote the ticket. 

Q. Were there auy Democrats that remained around the polls all day 
that da~- '-A. There was a few who remained all day. 

Q. Did any of them have guns, pistols, swords, or sticks I-A. I saw 
DO swords, no guns, nor other weapon curried by a Democrat; if they 
had pistols, I did not see them. 

Q. You speak about musterings; did yon attend anyone of them !­
A. I did not make it my bnsiness to attend them, but in passing these 
pllblic places I bave seen them there mustering; I mean colored men. 

Q. Do you know if those who were tbere mustering do not form a por­
tion of the State militia '-A. I have bear(l so. 

Q. Ho\\' long was this before the election, and at wbat place '-A. 
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For a fortnight or ten days before election, at Brighton. I also saw 
them at Ibler's Cross-Roads. 

Q. Have you ever seen the proclamation of Governor Cham~rlain or 
President Grant, of which you speak '-A. I have heard other men 
read it. 

Q. In wbat month '-A. Last fall; some time ill October; I don't 
know the tIate. 

Q. Do you remember if there was anything in those proclamations 
forbidding the mustering of the State militia f-A. I remember at that 
time Vincent Scott~ who had commanded a company of State militia, 
telling a party of men that he called his company togetber and dis­
banded them, but told bis men th~y could keep tbeir arms. 

Q. Yon say you heard the proclamations spoken of by you read; do 
you recollect if there was anything in them about tbe State militia f­
A. I don't remember hearing the State militia mentioned. 

Q. Do you know of any military organization other than the State 
militia iu tbis section f-A. I don't know except tbis; that is, tbese 
men held their arms and mustered. 

Q. If no such organization existed in tbis section, wby did tbose proc­
lamations bave any intimidating efiect 011 t.be people of this vicinity t­
A. It had effect on tbe colored Repnblicans \vho intended to ,'ote the 
Democratic ticket. 

Q. Can these colored Repnblicans read f-A. Some can; some cannot. 
Q. Tben these prcclamations largely circulate(l throughout this sec· 

tion f-A. I heard a great deal of talk about tbem. 
Q. Do you know of any threats being made by Democrats that resulted 

in these colored men promising to \'ote Democratic tickets f-A. I nevel' 
beard a Democratic man make any threat" or threaten a colored mao 
about his vote. ' 

Q. Was it not generally talked througbout the canvass tbat the col· 
ored people might expect no more laud and supplies in the future if they 
voted the Republican ticket !-A. A good many colored people bave 
asked me the same question. I have answered them that I hat) never 
employed tbem on my place, and did not know anything of it. I have 
heard some talk of it, but not as a general thing. 

Q. Do you linow the total number of votel'l polled at Lawton cburcb 
in the years 1872 and 1874 I-A. I do not. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. Did you b8.\'e the key of tbe box on the night when you acljoul-ned 

tolmeet at Stafford's Cross·Roacls uext morning; I mean key to ballot· 
box f-A. I did not. 

D. B. GOHAGAN. 
Sworn to before me this 23d day of February, 1871. 
[SEAL.] JEFF. WARREY, 

Notary PI/blie, Beaufort Oounty, S. O. 

Deposition of James Hamilton in the matter of contest G. D. Tillman 
against Robert Smalls, for a seat in the Congress of the United 
States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beaufort Oounty: 

JAMES HAlIILTON, a witness of tbe legal age, deposes as follows, he 
being produced by contestant as a. witness on due notice to contestee~ 
W questions proposed by tbe contestant: 
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Question. What is your name; place of residence; where did you 
vote at the last election; and what is your occupation, and what is your 
age !-A. James Hamilton; reside near Stafford's CroHs·Roads, Beaufort 
County. rvoted at Lawton church at the last election; was supervisor 
of election. I am a farmer, and thirty·six years old. 

Q. For what party were you supervisor t-A. I have been supervisor 
for the last four years. By Samuel T. Poineir I receh"ed myappoint­
ment. Was appointed for Republican party, I suppose. 

Q. Did you take an oath, and before whom t-A. I merely signed an 
oath which was sent blank. I signed and returned the oath to Samuel 
T. Poineir. 

Q. Were you present at Lawton church on day of last election; Rnd, 
if 80, what time were th~ polls opened '-A. I was present. I cannot be 
exact, but they opened some time after. 6 o'clock a. m. They closed at 
6 o'clock p. m. 

Q. Were you present the whole day; and, if so, did you witness any 
irregularities !-A. I was present the whole day. I witnessed a. great 
many interruptions. Many went to the polls and were taken oft· and 
talked with and generally interrnpted. 

Q. How lDany votes were taken f-A. Two hnndred and thirty-seven. 
Q. Was there any intimidation practiced by colored Republicans 

against anyone who intended to\"ote the Democratic ticket' Did yon 
witness any such intimidation t If so, state what it was.-A. There 
was intimidation. I saw clubs wa\"ing, and I also saw one sword. I 
saw one colored man come up who attempted to put in his vote; he was 
taken away by colored Repnblicans. He said he. intended to \"ote 
Democratic ticket., but through fear of men of his own color he could 
not do it. He said afterward that he had \"oted the Republican ticket 
through fear. I was at my I)Ost, and could not tell whether there was 
aoy more. When a colored man voted Democratic ticket, he was 
taken op aud clubs were shaken o\"er him. 

Q. Was there any women there on that occasion '-A. There were a 
good many colored women at the polls, who carried their husbands np, 
aud when they had induced them to vote Repnblican tickets would re­
mark, "All right; we will sleep with you again to·night." 1 beard none 
of the women say that they would quit their husbands. . 

Q. Were there not a great Dlany colored voters present who wonld ha",e 
voted Democratic tickets if it had not been for this intimidation that you 
speak of I-A. I could not tell exactly, but have every reason to belie"e 
that there were a great many who would have done so. Can't say how 
many. 

Q. Upon what ground do you base those reasons !-A. I don't suppose 
I coulll give them all, but the majority of the crowd armed with clubs, and 
meeting those who came, and the demonstratiolls made, caused me to 
believe that. the partie.~ coming intended to "ote Democratic tickets. A 
great many had promised to vote Democratic tickets aod affiliated with 
Democrats, wore the Democratic badge, and yet voted Republican ticket. 
Some of them, colored men of course, wore the Democratic badge on day 
of election, but removed them and voted Republicau tickets. Also 
threats and waving sticks over those who had yoted Democratic tickets 
deterred others. 

Q. About how many of these colored Republicans told you they would 
"ote the Democratic tickets and try Hampton two years, and still ad· 
here to their party '-A. A great many-some forty or 6fty. 

Q. Would the result of the election have been different at this poll 
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but for the intimidation '-A. I would say that it would have been dif· 
ferent. 

Q. 'V ere vou tbere when votes were counted f-A. I was. 
Q. State ·how the counting of tbe vote took place, both" at Lawton 

chnrch and afterward at Stafford's Oross-Roads.-A. We closed at 6 
p. m. Soon after, J. B. Bascom unlocked tbe box and poured votes on 
the table. They commenced tben to count, one reading and the others 
tallying; J. B. Bascom reading the votes. That appeared to consume 
too much time. Tben commenced aasorting tbe votes. Tbere were a 
good many scratched tickets. We commenced taking names off the 
scratche(l tickets. We found an error, and J. B. Bascom proposed we 
should close for tbe night and meet the next day at, I think, 10 o'olock 
a. m., at Stafford's Oross-Roads. We met at Staftbrd's Oross·Roads thtl 
next day and then completed tbe coont. We met at Stafford's 01"088-
Roads at, perbaps, 10 o'clock a. m. 

Q. Was there any discrepancy in the count at Stafford's Cross-Roads 
and tbe count at Lawton cburch '-A. We did 110t read o\"er all the 
names on tickets. We counted the red tickets Republican, black tickets 
Democrats, except that we counted and read Republican scratched tick­
ets. There was more voters on some talleys than on the others. Oould not 
agree. Oompromise on two hundred and thirty-seven. Highest count 
was two hundred and forty; lowest, two hundred and thirty-three. At 
night we were talking on two hundred and thirty-six. Look on the 
fioor, found a vote and put it in the box, and counted two hundred 
and thirty·seven. 

Q. What created the confusion in the COUllt '-A. At Lawton church 
the colored l)cople were all around us, and up on tbe joiSts, all trying to 
count. This cauRed confusion. Bascom proposed the adjournment and 
we adjourned. 

Q. At that time bad not tbegreat mas!'; of Democrats gone !-A_ Most 
of the Democrats had gone home; very few ,,.ere present, and none 
around tbe counting at all. 

Q. Wbo took cbarge of the box that night, and wbo ha(t possession 
of the key '-A. J. H. Bascom bad charge of tbe box and key. 

Q. State the discrepancy of tbe nnmber of votes compromised or 
agreed upon by the managers, and the number that Bilscom retnrned 
to Beaufort.-A_ Twel\"e votes for the Republican party. I mean they 
had increased 12 votes for the Republicans after they left Sblfford's 
Cross-Roads, by the time return got to Beaufort. 

Q. Could there have been any cbange in the T"otes in the ballot-box 
during tbe night in the possession of Bascom witbout the knowledge of 
the managers f-A. Yes; becanse we had not gone tbrougb with the 
count, and only completed count the next day at Stafford's Cross­
Roads. 

Q. Do you know anything of a colored man being beat by Republicans 
for having voted Democratic ticket' If so, state what you know about 
it.-A. On the night of tbe 14th or 15th of No\"ember a colored man­
Peter Johnson-came to m~- hooseabout two boors before daylight. 
woke me op, and stated that a parcel of Republicans bad whipped 
him. I told him to strip and let me see. He stripped, and was whaled 
up badly, tbe blood cut out. I asked him if he knew t1le party. (Objec­
tion to this portion of tbe evidence by A. G. Thomas, of connsel for 
contestee.) He said he knew some of them. He asked my ad\"ice. I 
told him to go before trial-justice and prosecute case. He did so. The 
party were all arrested but two, but were rescued by colored men with 
loaded guns and fixed bayonets. Guns were Army rifles. In the "';l~ 
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one white man-Jobn Sbuman, a Democrat-and one of the posse 
pressed by the constable to assist, \vas killed. 

Cross·examined : 
Q. Yon say you were a super\"'isor at the last election, avpointed by 

Poineir of the Republican party. Are you not a Democrat '-A. I am. 
Q. In acting as super,'isor, bad you not to make up a report to send 

to Oharleston I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What did report contain T-A. Report of the election for electors 

and Congre.ssmen. 
Q. Did it not also contain a statement, nnder your signature, that tbe 

election was a peaceable and quiet one t-A. No, sir; my report did not 
say whether it was peaceable and quiet or not. 

Q. What was tbe size of those sticks, and were they different from 
those usnally carried by that class of persons t-A. Yes, sir; tbey were 
'ery different. Tbey were about two feet long, with a string, and slung 
on the arm; could not be used for walking purposes. 

Q. Did YOll see anyone struck with them '-A. I did Dot, but saw 
tbPlll raised o\"'er their heads. 

Q. How many colored Republirans did you say yon beard promise 
to vote for Hampton' Gi\"'e me tbe names of some of them.-A. I can· 
not give their names. 

Q. Did any of them make that promise to YOll '-A. Yes, sir; a good 
many of them. 

Q. You are acquainted witb most of the colored men in that section 
are you I-A. I am uot. 

Q. How long have you Ii\"ed in that section?-A. Some two or three 
years. 

Q. Wh .. re did YOll liV'e prior to that T-A. On Black Creek, about 
twelve or fifteen miles from Stafford's Cross· Roads. 

Q. Did you consider this promise of so little ilDportance tbat you can· 
Dot remember tbe name of a single Ulan T-A. I do not know the name 
of scarcely any colored man three miles from home. 

Q. Hid any colored men who live at Staft'ord's Cross-Roads \'ote at 
Lawton Church t-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Had anyof them promised you t-A. Yes; the old man that worl.ed 
witb me two years ago. 

Q. What is his narnet-A. Peter Johnson. 
Q. Is this the sume Peter Johnson who was whipperl t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Bow old is be I-A. About forty-five or fifty. 
Q. When you were counting the votes in Lawton Cburch. did you not 

have the ballots di\'ided into four piles T-A. I belieV'e we did. I kno\v 
we did at Staftord's Cross-Roads. 

Q. Before adjournment was not tbe actual number of ballots in the 
box ascertained 1-A. It was Dot deftn;tely decided. 

Q. Were the ballots counted at all that night I-A. Only partly 
COIlnted. 

Q. Were not four tickets fonndAIl that box folded together T-A. Tick­
ets were fOllnd folded together-four, two in each-making eight tick­
et8. 

Q. Were not four ot these tickets cast aside t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did not that leave the total count that night two hundred and 

thirtY-8e'\"'en I-A. Parties differed; could not get at it at all that night; 
some 237 and some 240 and some 233. 

Q. Did not one count make it 241 I-A. Not as I know of. 
Q. Bow many colored men were in the church that night, on the joists 
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and around I-A. Forty or fifty or more; could not say posith"ely bow 
many. 

Q. Did you say all these were cOll11ting at once t-A. I presome only 
those who could see o,·er. 

Q. Did not the red.ea.gle tickets, as you called them, bave t.he name 
of Robert Smalls 011 it for CongressT-A. The one that I looked at bad. 

Q. Did not all the red·eagle tickets that you saw have the name of 
Robert Smalls on them for Oongress f-A. I examined only 011t'. 

Q. Do you know the total number of votes that were returned by tbe 
managers from Stafford's Cross-Roads to Beaufort 7-A.. Two hnndred 
and thirty.seven. 

Q. Have you seen the paper signed by the managers siuce !-A.. I 
have not seen it. 

Q. How, then, came you to say there were twelve more on it when it 
got to Beaufort T-A. From the report I saw in the paper. 

Q. YOll were not present when Peter Johnson was whipped'-A. I 
was not. 

Q. Were you present when John Shuman was killed 7-A. I \\"as not. 
Q. Did you see the men lying in ambush with United States arm~ 

&c.7-A. I saw them when they raised up to rescue the prisoners nnder 
guard. 

Redirect: 
Q. Rose up from where , Were they armed, and how many were tbere! I 

Did they do any flringf-A. Rose up from side of the road, armed, bayo­
nets fixed; some fifteen; six: with gllns; others armed with rails and 
slats. One white mlm was with the prisoner when rescued. This wu 
a part of the same party who shot Shuman. 

JAMES HAMILTOX. 
Sworn to this 19th day of February, 1877. 

JEFF WARREN, 
Notary Publio, Beatifort CouRtl, So C. 

Adjourned to meet at 8 a. 1IJ. on the ~O~h instant. 
)fet pursuant to adjournment, ,lnd proceeded to take depositions, 

Deposition of }'. J. Mulligan in the matter of contested election ofG. U. 
Tillman, contestant, against Robert Smalls, contestee, for a seat in 
the Congress of the United States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beau/ort Oounty: 
F. J. :MULLIGAN, a witness of the legal age, beillg produced by con· . 

testant, on due notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions pro· I 

pounded by the contestant in matters touching said contested election: . 
Question. What is your name; what is your age; where do yon midI': 

what is your occupation' Did: you vote at the last general election f 
And, if you voted, stat.e wher~ aud how yon voted.-AII8wer. My name 
is F. J. Mulligan; 30 years old; Stafford's Cross· Roads, Beaufort Connty. 
I am a farmer, and a trial·justice. I looted at Nixes's Cross.Roada pre­
cinct. 

Q. Who were the parties voted for on that day for Congress t-A. G. 
D. Tillman aDd Robert Smalls. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by Republicans toward 
those colored men who voted or intended to vote Democratic tietg 
prior to, during the election, or sllbsequent to the election' ADd, i(80. 
please state. it in full.-A. 1 do not know of anything before tbe t'lectioD. 
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I left Nixes's Cross· Roads about se\"en o'clock in the morning; saw noth· 
ing like intimidation tbere. Went to Lawton Church precinct. I car· 
ried a colored man with me named Peter Roberta. When we got to 
Lawton Chorch we met from one bundred and fifty to one bondred and 
seventy·five colored men assembll.'d near the polls. As I drove op in 
buggy they gathered around my buggy and asked Peter Roberts (he is 
a colored man) what tickt't he intended to '\"ote. He replied the Demo· 
cratic ticket. Tbey replied that any man who voted tbat ticket would 
steal. Be got oot of the buggy and started to tbe polls to vote. 
Tbese colored republicans gatbere(l around him with clubs, and in 
10u(1 and turbolent language (drum bl.'ating at the time) cursed and 
abnSl'd him, and told him if he voted the Democratic ticket that they 
would kill him if they ever caught him alonl.'. This was sahl in a loud 
tone. Peter Roberts continued to mo,'e toward the door; when he 
re.ached the door James Oben~y drt!w a club o'\"er bis hl.'ad as tbough he 
was going to strike. Mr. F/W. Johnson interfered and told him not to 
do that. Mr. Gohagan, (I think United States supervisor or manager,) 
I recollect now, he was manager, spoke to Cbeney, and Cbeney loosed 
the string tbat attached clob to bis wrist. After Peter Roberts voted, 
I got him to my boggy and we started oft: 1 tbought from appearances 
that it was best to get him away as soon as possible. We started home, 
when some twenty or tbirty of tbem assembled round my buggy, and 
told Peter Roberts, in an angry and ]0011 manner, (loud enougb to be 
heard all around,) that they had marked him and would kill bim if they 
e'\"er met him by himself. Some of the pUl'ties said they intended to 
send him to bell, otbers said they would furnisb wood to burn him. 
As we came up, Gny Williams, another colored man, wbo ball told 
me a day or two before the ell.'ction that he intl.'nded to \"ote Democratic 
ticket. Eight or ten colored men were aroun~l him. Guy Williams 
voted the Republican ticket; came to my bouse the day after tbe elec· 
tion and stated that he voted Republican ticket; that the Republican 
party made such tbreats against him that he was compelled to do it; 
he seemed to regret it. He askt'd me then if I would not be kind 
enough to write on to Oolumbia and have bis vote taken from the box. 
I told him, of course, it was too late to help the matter. The colored 
Republicans mustered at Uobertville aDllllrighton before the election. 

Q. Did you swear any of the managers at Lawton Churcb T-A. I 
swore one of tbe managers at my house before day in tbe morning; 
swore the otber two in tbe afternoon on day of election, about four 
o'clock. 

Q. How did you swear tbem '-A. I simply filled out the blank and 
let them sign it; did not swear them on Bible or by holding up their 
hands. 

Q. Did yon see the proclamations of Ohamberlain and Grant in Octo· 
ber !-:-A. I did not, but heard something about them. 

Q. Woold the result of the election ha"e been diOerent at Lawton 
church if it bad not been for tbe intimidation you witnessed; and, if so, 
to what extent and in whose favor-that is, in favor of wbat party f-A. 
The result would ha\"e been difterent; cannot say positively, but sup· 
pose at least twenty or thirty, Hud may be more, in favor of tbe Demo· 
cratic party. This from what I saw at the polls that day. To this add 
that some eight or ten have since told me that they remained at home 
becaose they feared a difficulty at the polls; (those who live near me, I 
mean.) 

Q. Do yoo know if any of these threats were carried into execution 
as a resnlt of the election; tbat is, as a trial·justice of tbe State, do you 
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know if any of tbe threats have been since carried into execution t-A. 
On or about the 16th of November, after the election, a colored man 
named Peter Johnson came before me and made affidavit that certain 
colored Republicans bad taken bim out in the night.time; had whipped, 
maltreated, and threatened to kill him. I issued a warrant for their 
arrest; sent constable after them in a legal manner. Be arrested one 
of the party, Frauk Grant b.v name, anllieft at my house, at Stafford's 
Cross-Uoads, in charge of Abram Gar\"'in and Sbed Smith. My consta· 
ble, Mr. J. D. Johnson, had returned witb six others, whom he had 
pretlsed to assist him to effect tbe arrest of the others. After he had 
left, and before he returned, twenty or twenty-6ve men and women (ob. 
jection by counsel for contestee tbat what transpired after the issuing 
of warrant has notbing to do witb contest Tillman 'VB. Smalls) came op, 
with guns and clubs, ri6es with bayonets, and demanded the release of 
prisoner, anll stated that they would not submit to anything of the 
kind; that they intended to rule Soutb Carolina. They forcibly released 
the prisoner. They then left, swearing vengeance against Johnson and 
Shuman, constable and Shuman pressed to assist him. Shnman was 
killed that e\'"ening in attempting to effect the arrest of the other partie.s 
in the warrant. l:)heriff of the county was scnt for, and, with a posse 
of between three or foor hundred men, took arms from several com· 
panied who had assembled, colored militia. Do not know the nUloOOr. 
SherifI' Nelson is a Republican. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. You mention about swearing in the managers at Lawton church. 

Y;ou swore them in in the usual way when It. man affirms, did you not t­
A. These did not; I was in a burry. 

Q. Yon ~)Dly noticed two cases of what might be termed intimidation 
at Lawton church, on that day, did you not f-A. I noti"ed two par. 
ticular cases, but considered it a general intimidation from wbat I saw 
and heard. 

Q. One of those you say in spite of intimidation voted tbe Democratic 
ticket 7-A. Yes; he yoted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. The other yon have no knowledge how be voted only from what he 
told yon f-A. Only from what he told me. 

Q. Have not threats bt>.eo made in this section by Democrats to turn 
colored people off their places who did not vote the Democratic ticket!­
A. None tbat I heard of. 

Q. You speak of mustering before the election; was that not companies 
of State militia I-A. It was by State militia. . 

Q. How do you come to the conclusion that the Democratic party 
would have reeeh-ed tWt'nty or thirty more ",otes but for intimidation f­
A. From some that did not vote and others who went to the polls and 
did not vote the Democratic ticket; tbat is, those who promise •. 

Q. Can yon give me the names of those who had promised to yote the 
Democratic ticket and did not '-A. Guy Williams, Jack Godwin, 
Thomas Holmes, Ephraim Ridgway; that is all I remember just now. 

Q. Can yon gh-c me the names of any who staid away from the polls 
that would ha",e voted the Democratic ticket '-A. Thomas Berner, Cal· 
vin Williams, George Williams, Jim Williams, John Prim is. Doo't 
recollect any more at present. 

Q. How do you know if they had gone to the polls they would have 
voted Democratic ticket !-A. They told me so. 

Q. Ha",e you any knowledge if any of them would have voted for 
Tillman in preference to Smalls, although they ",oted the balance of the 
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Democratic ticket T-A. They tolll me they designed voted the Demo-. 
cratic straight out; tbat is, I iuferred it because they told me they would 
vote tbe Democratic ticket. 

Q. In the StatJord's Cross·Roads affair, was there not a colored maD." 
killed before John Shuman was killed f-A I don't koow. There was 
one colored mau killed tbat eveniult. 

Q. Don't you koow that Sheriff Wilson took the arms from the militia 
companies not by being sberill' of this couoty, but 8S colonel of the regi­
ment to which these companies belong f-A. I don't know by what 
authority he took them. 

Redirect: 
Q. Do you reco))ect any remarl. of Sheriff Wilson at your house on. 

the evening that he came in answer to the call with reference to the 
militia in this portiou of the connty f-A. I recollect Sheriff Wilson 
saying on the evening of which you speak that tbere was no regular 
militia compauies in this portion of the county. 

F. J. MULLIGAN. 
Sworn to t11is 20th day of February, 18i7. 
[SEAL.J JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary Public, Beaufort Oounty, South Oarolina. 

Deposition of Peter Johnson, (colored,) in the matter of contest by G. D. 
Tillman against Robert Smalls for a seat in tbe Congress of the United 
States. 

SOUTH UAROLINA, Beallfort Oounty: 
PETER JOHNSON, of the legal age, 1\ witness, deposes as follows, be· 

ing produced by contesta"nt on due notice.to contestee: . 
Question. 'Vhere do yon reside T 'Vhat is your occnpation and namt', 

and where did you vote at tbe last election '-Answer. Near Staftord's 
Cross-Roads, Beaufort Connt.y. I am a farmer; Peter Johnson my 
name; voted at Lawton Oburch precinct, and voted Democratic ticket. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation having been practiced by Repub­
licans toward colore(1 voters wlJo intended to vote Democratic ticket 
previous to tb" election, after tlJe election, or during the election '-A. 
Tbe women said they would whip any colored mau who voted Demo­
cratic til:ket. The men also said they would (10 it; t11at is, before the 
election. They threatened me that they would gi\"e me a severe whip­
ping if I voted Democratic ticket. The threat was general. Heard 
many say they were so threatened. I did Dot stay long at Lawton 
church. Voted very early. Before I left a number of colored men 
came up with clubs. One of them, with a club over me, questioned me 
how I bad voted. Tbesemen were Republicans. I left; did not remain, 
because they were talking roughly to me. I left the poll about 7 o'clock 
a. m. Otber Republicans also threatened me that they would whip me 
after I had voted, because I bad \"oted Democratic ticket. I was 
alarmed. Another colored man who had voted Democratic ticket left 
with me; be, too, waR frightened. 

About a week after the election a number of these colored Republicans 
caDle to my house between midnight and daylight and took me out and 
whipped me severely, and said they whipped me because I voted the 
Democratic ticket. I was working out and put my boy in my place, and 
bad returne(1 home that night. A colored man came to my door and 
called; said he was from Parisburg, and asked directions. Be decoyed 
me out to show him the way. When I came out, and had started to 
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show him the way about three hundred. feet from my door. four men got 
up and seized me, and with a long raw·hide whip beat me and whipped 
me severely. One of them pointed a double·barrel gun at me and 
threa~ned to shoot me. They said they would put me six feet under 
gronnd because I voted Democratic ticket. Th£'y had given me abont 
thirty lashes, when my wife and son hearing the noise came out, and 
they released me and ran off. They cut the blood from me. I went to 
Trial·Justice :Mulligau and made affidavit of the facts, upon which he 
issued a warrant. I recognized the four who seized me. 

Q. From the system of intimidation practiced by tbe republicaus was 
there any colored men kept from voting Democratic ticket, and did it 
cause any of them to vote Republican tick~t t-A. It did; it caused many 
not to vote; some not to go to the POUR, and 80m£' to vote Republican 
ticket who desired to vote Democratic ticket. I know seven rigbt 
round me. 
.. Cross-examined: 
. Q. You were formerly It Republican '-A. I was. 

Q. Do you remember a public meeting at Ihler's Cross· Roads a short 
time before election '-A. I do. 

Q. Were you present at that meeting I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. On that day did you not make a speech aOlI say that you were not 

a Democrat, and if you voted Democratic you wanted the men and wo­
men to come out and give yon one hnndred lashes '-A. No, sir; I told 
th~m that they had said if I voted Democratic ticket I wonld make my 
family slav£'s; but wlJen I made my family sla\'£'s I would gh'e them 
leave to whip me . 
. Q. Gh'e me the names of those who threatened to double-bank yon~­
A. Ben Gillman Hopkins, jr., Moses Grantl Francis Taylor, Washing. 
ton Brown; the rest of the party I did not !tno'''. 

Q. You say others were threatened besides you. Of those that told you 
they had been threatened, give me some names.-A. Samuel Deloach 
and six others, whose names I do not just now remember. 

Q. Who came off from the polls with you t-A. Reuben Beckett. 
Q. You mentioned se\'en otbers who were kept at home.-A. John, 

Sam, and William; others I do not now remember. Surnames are so 
strange among some colored people and so often changed, particularly 
about election times, that it is hard to keep up with them. 

his 
PETER + JOBXSOX. 

mark. 

Sworn to before me this 20th day of February, 1877. 
[SEA.L.] JEFF. WARREN, 

XQtary Public, Beaufort County, South CarnUna. 

WILLIA1I SlUTH, witness of lawful age, produced by contestant upon 
due notice to the contestee, deposes as follows in reference to questions 
propounded by contestant: 
Question. Where do you liv£', and how old are you I-Answer. I U\'e 

on Dr. Ruddell's place, in Beaufort County; will be twenty·two in 
August nf'xt. 

Q. Did you vote at the last election; and, if so, wbat ticket did you 
vote !-A. Yes, sir; I voted the Radical ticket. 

Q. At what precinct did you vote f-A. At PerrY"'iUe, near Matthews' 
Bluff; one mile from Mattbews' Bluff. 

Q. Why did you ,"ote the Republican or Radical ticket !-A. Because 
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I felU'(>(l, from tIle tllreats made, that if I did not vote it 1 would be injnre(l 
or hort some way bodily. 

Q. Would you have voted the Democratic ticket if you ba(1 not feared 
the colol'\'d Radicals f-A. Yes, I would lIa \'e the Hemocrat.ic ticket. 

Q. Did any of the colored Hadicals talk to you aunut it, and wbat 
did they say I-A. They said if I voted the Democratic ticket that tuey 
wllnld turo Ole oot of the chorch. 
• Q. Did they make other threats f-A. They said I coold not be nomi· 
nated with them or orgAonized. After they siLid that, anotber fellow, 
Sandy Green, voted the Democratic ticket, anli tbey went after him like 
the deuce, and when I saw them around uim abnsinlt bim, I got scared 
And went and voted the RadicaLI ticket. Two other men were coming 
dowD to-day-Hellry Fraser and John Mitchell were coming duwll to· 
day-to give testimooy and toake the same explanation I lIlake, but the 
Radicals got around them and scared them. 

Q. Did you hear the Radicals threaten the men !-A. I did, and thl'Y 
threatt>ned me two. 

Q. What did the Radicals do to Sandy Green on tbe day of the elec· 
tion f-A. He bad done voted the D~mocratic ticket. They threatened 
him, and told him if he would come out from the cro\fd of lUen tbey 
woold beat him. 

Q. Did they look like they wanted to bit him I-A. They did cnrse 
him a damo 80n of a bitch, and told him if he come oot they would frail 
him. 

Q. How many were cursing and abosing him I-A. To my remem· 
beraoCt', foor or 6.ve. The relit of the men ad vised them not to beat him, 
and they told him they would oot organize him; not to come back to 
the hoose again or they wooltl beat hiro. 

Q. Do you know of any other colored people who were made to vote 
the Repoblican ticket t~rough fear, that did not want to do so T-A. 
Yes, sir; a heap of them that told me they voted the Republican ticket 
against their will. . 

Q. Did colored people have sticks and gons that day I-A. Most of 
them had sticks; somo had pistols. I SilW no guns. 

Q. Bow many people do you think \'otell the Repoblican ticket that 
day at Perryville who would have voted the Democratio ticket it' they 
had Dot been frightened f I mean colored people. 

(Objected to.) 
A. To lOy certain acknowledgment about fonr; can't say how many 

more. 
Cross·examined : 

Q. Ha~6 yon ever attended any pre~ious election I-A. Yes, sir; I 
have gone there. 

Q. Was it held at the same place I-A. PreciFely. 
Q. Who threatened yoo I-A. Beo. Reed and John Freemall. No one 

ell!e. 
Q. Is BeD. Reed or John Freeman an officer in the church I-A. Ben. 

Reed is a deacon. 
Q. Did he say be would turn yoo ont of the church I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Give me the names of the other men who wanted to ,'ote the Dem­

ocratic ticket I-A. Henry Fraser, John Mitchell, George Retwin, and 
Ben. Corry. 

Q. Did you see these men put their tickets in the box I-A. I did, 
laW the ticket. 

Q. When yoo say that" I should Dot be organized," do you mean that 
H. Mis. 11-10 
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tI ey would not speak to you again, or would not associate with you I­
f.. I mean both ways. 

Q. No one beat Sandy Green, did they'-A. If he had gone with them 
from the crowd they would have done so. He did not go. They did 
not beat him. 

Q. Did you hear them threaten Henry Fraser and John Mitchell '-A. 
Tlu'y told them as they did me, that they would not be organized. 

Q. You say that the rest of the men round tbere ach'ised those who­
were cursing and abusing Sandy Green to stop I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you say all who wanted to vote Democratic tickets did so f­
A. Tbose wbo had protection did. 

Q. The only way you know that these four men yon bave mentioned 
were sCHrl!d or afraid to vote the Democratic ticket is because tbey tolll 
YOlt so T-A. ThE'Y told me so, and 1 beard the tbrE'uts myself. 

Q. Do you think the~e men looked scared f-A. They were scared 
from seeing the treatmE'nt of Sanely Green, and so was I scared. 

Q. YOI1 lIa)' the colored people bad sticks on that day T-A. YE'fl, sir. 
Q. Don't tbey usually carry sticks in that neigb horhood T-A. SoDle' 

men who are 1I0t able to enrry themselves witbout them do, but it is not 
cUNtomnry for liealtby men to carr)' them. I do not. 

Q. Did Sandy Green bave a stick or a pistol on tbat day T-A. No, 
sil'. 

Q. How do you know these men had pistols on tbat day T-A. I saw 
tbem mrself. Two men showed me their pistols. These were all I saw 
on the H,aclical side. 

Q. Did JOU see any pistols 011 the Democrat side f-A. CE'rtainly. sir. 
Q. How many pistols on the Democratic side did you see T-A. Only 

olle; Mr. Warnock had that. 
Redirect examination: 

(~, Do yon think the Repuhlican colorE'd men would ba,-e beat you if 
you had \'otE'd Republican ticket I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was it bt'caus8 you feared tbis that you voted tbe Rt'pllblican 
ticketT-A. Yt.>s, sir. 

Q. How far do you lh-e from here '-A. About eight miles. 
W. ll. SMITH. 

Sworn to before me this 16tb February, 18i7. 
ISJ<~AL.] JEFF. WARREY, 

Nota,'Y Public, Beaftjort Oounty, S. C. 

Dt'position of John H. Rucldell. in the matter of contest pf G. D. Till­
man against Robert Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United 
States. 

STATE OF SOU~I'H CAROLINA. 
Beaufort County: 

JOHN H. UUDDELL, a witness of lawful age, produced by the con, 
tE'~tant upon due notice to contestee, dt'lloses as followd in reference to 
qllt'stiollS propounded by tbe contestant: 

QUl'stion. What is your age, and where do 'yon reside '-Answer. 
Thirt.,""se\"en, and li\'e in Beaufort County. 

Q. Ho,v long bave you resided in Beaufort County, nnd at what Pl'(" 
cinct do you u/lualJy vote f-A. Nearly eleven years. Usually vote at 
Mntthews's BlutI' precinct or poll. 

Q. Are YOll practicing your profession f-A. Have not practiced in 
ten Yl'ars. Practict'd oue year in this county and in the neighborhooll 
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of Matthews'~ Blufi' when I first came here; am a phssician by profes. 
sion. 

Q, Where Wf.'re yon born and reared!-A. In Richmond (Jounty, 
Georgia, near Augusta. • 

Q. Are JOu not a large land·owner in Beaufort County, and a large 
employer of people as agricultural labol'f.'rs-I mean colored people ,­
A, I am, and usually employ a large number of colore(l lallorers. 

Q. Whf.'re did you '\'ote in the last elf.'ction t-A. At PerryvilJe, lIf.'ar 
Matthl'ws's Bluff, at the cross·roads known as Perryville for the lnst few 
years, situatf.' about olle mile and a quarter from Matthews's Bluff, on 
Savannah River. 

Q. Were :\"OU there when tbe polls opened '-A. I was; got tbere 
about daybreak. 

Q. Wht'll and wbere was tbe polls opened' Wbat wns said about 
opening tbem f-A. A few days before we heard tbat the managers in· 
tended opening the poll at Red Hill. Ben Read, a colored man, was one 
of the managers. I beard from Dr. Addison the r('port j it was a com· 

emon rumor. I arrived at Perry'\'ilIe about daybreak and waitf.'d to see 
whether the poll would open at Perryville 01' Matthews's Bluft. Polls 
were opened about snJlri8e at PerrY"i1le, about six or half past six. 

Q. Were managers sworn !-A. I don't know whether they were sworn 
or not. . 

Q. Did you remain until polls closed 7-A. I remained there or about 
there until after the count. • 

Q. 'Vas it a quiet and orderly election all day, or were there disturb· 
ances, turbulance, or violence T-A. With the eXCf'ption of two incidents, 
it was. 

Q. What were those incidents !-A. One of thf.'m as follows: An 
emplo~-e of mine had come to Lawtonville; I told bim to come to Law· 
tonville; after he had voted Democratic ticket he came to Perr,Yville to 
gee me. I was in the back part of the storf.'. 1\11'. MOl'rison rushed in 
aDd asked me to come oot and protect this boy~ Sandy Green. As I 
came to the door Sandy Green rushed in much excited. I asked him 
what was the matter j said the crow(l wanted to gaug him because be 
hall voted D('mocrat.ic ticket. (By" gang" him, he Uleant that the crowd 
woold attack him j it is a word of (~Olllmon ose in this neighborhood 
among that class to express an attack by a mob.) The other iustance: 
John Fref.'lllan, a colored man, attempted to create a disturbllnce. Hfi 
assaolted Lawrence Warnock, a. white man. Thf.'re were vf.'ry few white 
people at the poll, and the colored, ba.ving a heavy majoJity, supposed 
it a good time to get up a row. 

Q. Did many colored persons seem to 8ympathi~_e in the demonstra· 
tion against Sandy Green and Warnock T-A. Some six or eight tried 
to take Sandy Green from his mule, as I understood, but had desisted. 
Green looked very much frightened allli excited, Wurnock was ('001 j his 
object was to 3'\'oid a difficulty; that was the policy of the Democratic 
party on that day. 

Q. Was this nf.'gro that tried to raise the row with Warnock a Rppub. 
liean !-A. Yes, and is a bully in ewry sense of the word; has been for­
ten years j coulll not ba.'\'e lived iu any neijrhborhood bllt this. 

Q. Do you think it was his object to get up a political disturbance!­
A. There can be no doubt. I know that such was his ohject, most em· 
phatically anel unqualifiedly. 

Q. The insult gi'\'en by this bully to Mr. Warnock, was it bard to 
take from a white man !-A. It would not have been taken from a wllite 
man. Warnock would not hin'e taken it from this man on Illlyother 
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day. It was taken beca~8e we had de~rmined to a'\"oid a difficnlty on 
thnt dR". 

Q. 'Vere the colored people armed '--A. I saw some with sticks; some 
twenty or thirty. Saw no arms; I mean no fire·arms. 

Q . .l!~rom the faces, actions, and bearing of the other colorerl Repub, 
liCill!!1 present, were they or not ready to back this bnlly in ltiR attack 
on 1\11'. Warnock, if the latter had. resented '-A. I am satisfied if War, 
nock had rf'sented it, it would ha\"e brought on a general row. John 
.l!~('eeman alone is a coward, but will dare anything when sustained or 
backl'd by otill'rs. 

Q. Do you think the crowd pnt him forward as a l~ader T-A. No; I 
hll.\"e 110 means of kuowing, except that I know that he would not ha'\"e 
IIllSlwcl himself forwa.rd· without a knowledge that be was lmckl'd. 

Q. \Vere any colored persons wbo wanted to vote the Democratie ticket 
that day prevented from doing so at that poll by fear of colorl'd Rt'pnb, 
licaus, do you think I-A. Yes, six or se'\"en that I know of; do Dot know 
how many more. .. 

Q. How do you know !-A. I saw pushing, pulling. and hauling. Th('y 
I had pro!nisec1 on the grollnd to vote tbe Democratic ticket; said they 

desired to do so. Voted the Republican ticket, aUlI said tbl'Y were forced 
to do so by fear of bodily harm and of social proscription! and religious 
proscription, and also a blamed sight of sexual proscription. I sa w a 
woman lead up her husballli to tbe poll and informed him that she wonld 
desert him if be did not vote the Republican ticket. S..>me fifteen or 
twenty colored girls, marching to a drum, met voters at a distulJce from 
the polls and exercised all the Atrategy of whicb woman is capable to 
influence and cause the voters to \'ote tbe Republican tick('t. 

Q, Was the vote polled at Perry\'ilIe or Mattbews'tI Bluff' large on tbat 
day '-A. I don't think it was unusually large; but I ne,'er interestt'cl 
myself in politics until the last election, and am not pOAtt>d as to the 
uumlwr of votes polled at tbat precinct in preceding elt'cHons. 

Q. Were there any colored hoyisb,looking fellow8 there who looked 
like they were minors' Did tbt'y vote '-A. 1 saw some of tbem. Ob· 
jections were mil de to 80m" of tbem. Swore that they were of age aud 
,'oted. One that I kne\\' was not of age found a \'oll1nteer to swear 
to his agf', when bis father assertf'<l be did not know his age. I tolll him 
to be satitlfied that be was twellt~',one, as I would invl'stigate bis age 
and prosecute him if he p('rjured himself. Whl'n I went home I dis· 
co\'ere«l tbat he was only nineteen years old. He hl'longed formt'rly to 
my wi/." hence I ascertaiul'd bi8 age. He did not \'ote. As man~' as 
.h·e or six who looked to be uudt'r age were challengl'd, but ,'oled. Tbe 
rule adoph'd was tbat two of the mana~ers concurring would dt'cidt', 
tbe two Republicalls invariably concurrmg against Democratic'lnan, 
agt'r. 

Q. You are familiar with all, or nearly all, the names or facl'S of col· 
ored ,'uters at that prl'cinctf-A. Yes, sir. I know almost. the fact' of 
ever.,· one. I saw fi'\"e or six strangers lbt're. Tbl'Y voted. Ionders:and 
that the,v were from Barnwell. 

Q, Dul any olle cballenge the;r '\"otes !-A. One or two were cbal, 
-Ienge«}, They were allowl'd to vote ft)r President, go\'ernor, and State 
officers. "Vlo clisco\"ered afterwards that some had \"oled, and perhaps 
haeI vott'd the entire ticket. Tbese are from Barllwl'lI. It bas bl'en the 
custom ht'rt'toforl', that is, in prc'\"iolls electiontl, for all colored l)l'rllons 
to ,'ote Ill. this poll who desired to do so. His right was onqot'slioned 
if be \'oted the Uepublican tickl't. I know se"f'ral bOJs not yet of age, 
(o'ored hoys, who 11a\'e voted at electiontl bef<ne tLlislast. 
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Q. Was or was not tbe re-'lUlt! of the election at Mathpws'3 Bluft', caUeel 
Perryville, ('hanged by intimidation at the polls !-A. Yt'M, sir; it would 
ba\'e het'll clifferent, and if you will remove the intimidution we will 
cany it Democratic at the next election, and would h&\'e canicd it in 
the last in my opinion. 

Cross examination by A. G. ThomaR, of counsel for contestt'e: 
Q. Do I understand you to say that the election of sevent,y-two and 

seventy-four were held ut this place called Perryville '-A. I aID not 
ct'rtain about seventy-two, but /lID pmdtive that it WIIS h,'ld there in 
seventy-four. I h8\'e voted at both places. It is possible that ewn in 
Sf'vents it was held there, but am not certain. 

Q. For how many years has this )1la('e bpen known as Perr~-vi1le T­
A. I do not tbink it was known as PerrY"ilIe before seveuty·two. 

Q, Was this place known as Matthews's Bluft· prior to seventy-two ,­
A. MatthewlI's Bluff is on the Savannah Rh'er, extreme lIorthwest COl'· 

lIer of Bt'anfort County, a landing-place containing aoout twenty acres; 
• has store.house, &(~,; is a public place; Perryville is 1I0t·. 

Q. You ba\'e witnessed other electiolls ill that vicinity '-A, I have. 
Q, With the two exceptions mt'ntiont'd by you, was not tbis as quiet 

au election 8S thol\e which preceded it I-A. No, sir; it was the most 
noisy and (1is~ustillg election I e\'er witnessed tbere or elst'where. I 
have ,already mentioned noisy demonstrations, drum·bt'ating, &c, There 
were no rows there excP)lt as I mentioned, two attempts to get them up, 
in my direct examination. 

Q. Did you see the men trying to force Sandy Green from his mule ,­
A. I have already stated that I did not see them, but was call~d for to 
protect him. 

Q. Yon say tlJere were six or seven who illteode(l voting the Demo­
cratic ticket, who were intimidated so that they voted the Rl'lmhlican 
ticket. Clln yon give the names of those six or s~ven t-A. Oue of 
them is Il'Iadore, living at Matt.hewN's Bluff, Jimmie Fields, Ben. Curry, 
William 8mith, James Gross, Mitchell nnd Riehmolld Bryant" I could 
give you tW~lIty or thirty if I was at home to refl'r to memoranda, 
but theRe are all the names I recollect just now here, since I ha\-e spokeu 
only of those in my memory. 

Q. You mention four or five persoos whom yon thought were under 
age who voted; can )"ou give their names f-A. I cannot just IIOW, but 
can get them if you desire; beard names at the time but <.lid not cbarge 
my ml'mory witb them. 

Q. Did Democratic manager make any objection to them' If so, 
how many t-A. Yes, sir; some four or five of tbem. 

Q. You mention fhoe or six stl'aogt'rs. Dill you see each of them cast 
their vote f-A. I did not see each one do so. Sa\v two who voted; 
heard t.hat tbe others did. 

Q. You only know that they lhoed in Barnwl'll frOID being told !-A. 
I know that they did not live in Beaufort; knew only from what I hea,rd 
that they Ih-ed iu Barn well. I mean that they did not Ih-e in this vi­
cinity. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. What was the relative vote of the two parties at Matthews Bluff' 

precinct at last election f-A. About one bUlICh'ed aud eigbty Republi­
cans, forty-four Dt'mocrats, as well as I reeollect. 

Q. About bow many colored voters voted Democratic tickets that 
day, to the best of your knowledge and beHen-A. I think about I\ix. 

Q. About what number of colored people alliliated witb Democmts 
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before the election in this precinct, (l\fatthews Bluff,) attending met>t­
ingl'l, &c., which cllllseel you to believe that they were in f,,,-or of voting 
1>mnocratic ticket' How many do you think would ha\'e 80 \'oted ,­
A. Some sixts or sevent:r-Ove, 1I0t certain; but feel certain we could 
nave carried the election but for intimidation at that 1l01\. 

J. B. RTJDDELL. 

Sworn to before me this 17th daS of Februar;\'. 1877. 
[L.8,J JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary Publw, Beaufi1rt County, S. O. 
Som.'ll CA.ROLINA, 

Beau/urt County: 
JOSEPH M, LA.WTON, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant, 

011 dne notice to contestee, deposes as follow~ : 
Question. 'Vhat is yuur name, age, occupation; where (10 you reside, 

and where did you ,'ote at the last general election' Ho\v did you 
vote '-Answer. Joseph M. Lawton. I aUl fifty-one ,Yt'ars old; a 
planter. Voted Dl·ruocratic ticket at Perry\-i11e, near Matthews Bluff. 
Rel'\ide six miles below Perryville, Beaufort (Jounty. 

Q. At what time were }lolls opened '-A. I did not have my watch; 
but about RUllril'\e, or a little Jater. 

Q. How far is PerrY\'il1e from Matthews Blufff-A. About one mile. 
Q. Where was the Matthews Bluff poll previolls to this election t­

A. Thill eleClion is the first time I have voted sillce the war; but un­
derstand Matthews Blult· poll was held or opened in pre\'ious el~ctionK, 
as I understand, at l\Iatthews Blulf, with a f"w excel>tiolls; change 
made h.v tuese parties for c luse unknown. 

Q, Wuo were the cllnclidateH for (Jongress at that precinct T-A. G. 
D. Tillman and Robert Smalls. 

Q. What time did you le8\"'e the pollH '-A. I remained at precinct all 
day; left polls when votes were being counted. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by colored men, Re­
Jlublicans, agaillst or toward colored men who were going to vote Demo­
cratic ticket, by threats or otherwise' If so, state bl·iefly,-A. I have 
benrd so, bllt can answer only from hearsay. None to my own knowl­
edge; that is, III/we heard DO one threatened in IUY l)resence. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Is not Pf'rryville a local name that has sprung Ull in the last two 

or three ,yearN f-A. 1 presume ~o; never knew the nlime uutil Mr. Perry 
bought the place. 

Redirect: 
Q. Has Perryville evcr been looked upon 8S Matthews Blulf. either 

betore or 8iDc~ the name Perryville sprulIg upT-A. :Xo, sir; it uusuever 
been collsideretl or known as Matthews Blllff', 

JOS. ll. LAWtON. 
Sworn to before me this 23d day of February, l;i77. 
iL. s.l J"~FF. WARREN, 

Notary Public, Beau/ort ()ounty, 8. C. 

Deposition of B. M. Stone in matter of contest by G. D. Tillman against 
Robert Smalls for a scat in the (Jongress of the Uuite(l States. 

SOU1'H CAROLINA, 
Beaufort Oounty: 

B. M, STONE, a witness of the legal age, produced by contestant on 
duc notice to contestee, deposes as follows: 
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Question. What is your name; wbat is yonr age, rt'~i<1ence, occupn.· 
tioll; wher" sud bow did you \"ote at tbe last ('lection f-Allswl'r. B. l\I. 
Stone. ] am forty·six years 01<1; live 1lt'llr Mattbews Bluff, Beaufort 
County, South Carolina. I am a planter, aud voted on tbe 7th Novem· 
ber last at Perryville; voted Democratic ticket. 

Q. Did you hold any official position at said election t-A. I was a 
mallaa!er. 

Q. Was tbere any poll ollt'ned on tbat day immediately at the place 
called Mattbews BlufIT-A. Not that 1 know of. 

Q. Dow far is Perryville from Matthews BlufI'-A. I do not know 
the exact distance; aboot tbree·quarters of a mile, or perhaps one mile. 

Q. By wbom were yoo and the other managt'rs sworn in, and bow, 
1V hen, amI where '-A. Trial J Ilstice Rusbing, on tbe morning of tbeelt'c· 
tion, at Perryvil1t'. We bad no Bible at the time; did not swear by 
holding up right band; signed blank oath in presence of trialjoMtict'. 

Q. Wben'did ~ou have first meeting as managers, and wbo waselt'ctt'd 
chairmau T-A. Had first meeting at Perryville, on tbe morning of tbe 
dection, and 1 was elected chairman. 

Q. Who were the other managers t-A. Tbomas Bracy and Ben. Reid. 
Q. Who administered oatb to voters T-A. 1.'bolDus Bracy. 
Q. At wbat hour were polls opened f-A. I do not now llositively rec· 

oll('ct; bot it was after six o'clock a. m. Jt was dark and cloudy. 
Q. Has there been any registration of voters in tbe last eigbt years 

in this coonty !-A. None tbat I know of; bave beard of nOlle. 
Q. Who took posseNsion of ballnt·box and key afler votes were 

conn ted !-A. Bell. Reid, a colored Republican. 
Q. How were the vott's counted !-A. Tickets were dt'termined by 

the color of the ticket and the beading of the ticket. If 110 scmtch 
appeared on the ticket it was re~arded a strllight ticket, and 80 counted; 
did not call over the different names on ticket; did not scrotinize each 
name on ballots. 

Q. May tbere not bave been otber nnmt's than tbose yon considert'd 
as the regular ticket, Republican 8r Democrat, on these tickets or bal· 
10laY-A. 'l'here may bave been; would 110t swear tbere was or was not. 
I would say, with reference to scratched tickets, that when a s(~ratch 
was apparent Wf'l gave credit to party in whose favor scratch was made. 

Oross·examined : 
Q. Is not the name Perryville a local name that has sprung up in 

the last few years f-A. I iJelieve so. 
Q. Was not this in consequence of a Mr. Perry's establishing a IItore 

there '-A. It was. 
Q. To the best of your knowledge and belief, did not mana~ers give a. 

fair and sqnare count at tbat poll on the day of election T-A. 1 tbink so. 
Q. Did you notice any bogus tickets used that day calculated to de· 

ceive voters or managers !-A. I do not know of any. 
Q. Wbo were the candidates for Congress voted for on tbat day at 

Perryville !-A. G. D. Tillmao (Democrat) aud Robert Smalls (Republi· 
can.) 

Q. To your knowledge and information, how many yt>ars has poll been 
opened at Perryville previol1sly to this election !-A. 1 think one election 
pre\'ious to this. 

B. ~I. STONE. 
Sworn to this 24th February, 18i7. 
[SEAL.] JE}'F. WARREN, 

Notar!J Public, Beallfort COlllltu, S. O. 
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Deposition of John E. Kittl(>s, in matter of conu>st between G. D. Till­
man, coutesl.3ot, against Uobel't Smalls, contestee, for a seat in tbe 
Oougreps of the UuitOO States. 

SOUTH eAROLIN A, 
Beaufort 00u1lt,1: 

JOHN E. Kn"l'LES, a witness of legal ag(>, produced by contestant 
on due notice to contestee, deposes as follows: 

Question. What is yOUl' name and age; where do you rflsicle; wbat 
ill your occulmtion, a,nd wbere and bow did you vote at the last general 
dection'-Answer. Lives near Mattbews' Bluff; is a fa.rmer; voted at 
Perryville, and vot(>11 Democratic ticket. 

Q, How faI"is Perry,'ilIe from Matthew!! Blllfff-A. Abont one mile. 
(~. 'Vas n poll opened at Mattbews Bind' as well as PerrY\'ille on that 

dayf-A. No. 
Q. Do you know of any intimic.Jation practiced by Republicans towanl 

colored men who were going to vote the Democratic ticket l>efore or on 
day of election T-A. I know of one colore(l man, named Sandy Green, 
who, when he arrived at 'PerrY"il1e, about 11 or 12 o'clock, and made 
tbe tltatement tbat he bad voted the Democratic ticket at LawtoD\'i\le, 
there gathered around him a body of colored RepUblicans with raitlecl 
clubs nud threatened to kill him for so voting; they also cursed him 
loudly and otherwise menaced his person ill a very violent manner, and 
I expected every Illome~t to see him severely bt>aten. An the looters 
around to the amount of iifty or a hundred saw and heard t.his. There 
was another colorl'd man named Edward ji'reeman. I asked him if he 
had vot(>d; he said yes. A iter. that I found he lJad not voted. I asked 
why be hac1lied, anti hti sairl he wanted to vote the Democratic ticket. 
and he and two otht>rs went up to the polls and pretemled th~y had 
voted the Republican ticket to deceive the Ik'publican party who had 
threatened them, aud that thtiy were afraid to vote at all for the fear of 
being beaten. 

1 heard threats lDacle by various colored Republicalls on that day 
agaiust colored men who were going to vote Democratic ticket; tbrl'8ts 
were general. 1 remained until votes were counted. I apprt'heuded 
trouble there, that day. I arrh'ed at the polls about 9 or 10 o'clock a. 
01.; beard threats, alluded to above,made IlS soon as I arl'ived, llnd at 
various tilDt's repeated until polls were closell. 

Q. If it bad not bt'en for th(>S6 threats would the result of the election 
ba\'e been different at thllt pol1 '-A. I think it would ha'"e been very 
different. I am certain that a great many more Democratic \"otes woultt 
have been polled. 1 mean, tbilt a great many who voted Rt>publicall 
tickets would bave voted Democratic tickets, and many who dill not 
vote at all would have voted Democratic votes. 

Q. Has there bt>en any registration or voters in this conntyf-A. None 
since 186;;; only partially then. 

Q. Hid they use any regi8tration books or papers on the day of elt'c­
tion at that precinct T-A. None. 

Q. Were the polls ever opent>d at Matthews Bluff in pre"ious elections' 
-A. I have voted at Matthews Blnff, and the elections were ori~na]Jy 
held there; but fur tbe hl8t six or seven years, for some unexplained 
reason, }>olls ha,'e been opened at Perryville. 

Cross-('xamined: 
Q. Were you pre8t>nt at the Lawtonville poll alsoT-A. I was not. 
Q. Then of your own personal knowledge you don't know how Sandy 

Grtten voted '-A. Ouly what he told me. 
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Q. Can you give me the names of tbose who tbl't'atened the life of 
Saudy Grt'en I-A. Wh~n threats are made in or by a cl'Owd it is impos­
sible to remember all. I do remember John 1.'reemall, Joe Stanly, Bob 
Stanly, Jt'ifrey Curry, and Paul Andertlon, alld othtrs, wbose nuwes for 
abo\""e reasoos I do not recollect. 

Q. Do yon know from personal obsel'\'atil)n that Freeman and two 
o~hel'8 were lterSonally tltr6<'oone(1 '-A. I state what they told m(', anti 
I bf'ard threats myself. 

Q. Are YOll aware tbat there is any statlltor.v law requiring re~istration 
of voters in South Carolina f-A. 1 do not know, but the constitution 
"'quirt''' it. 

Q. WaK not the election fur the M<\tthews Bluft' section of Be:\l1fort 
County hdlt at what you call Perryville in tlte yours 187:3 and 1874 f- . 
A. I do 1I0t remembt>r. 

Q. Did you vote in the years 1872 or 1874 I-A. I did. 
Q. Did YOlt cast your votA at tbe phlce known as l\latthews Bluff 

LandingT-A. No, 1M; in 1872 and 1874 1 voood at Beech Branch pre­
cinet. 

JNJ). E. KITTLES. 
Sworn to this 24th February, 1877. 

JEFF. W ARRE~, 
Notary Public, Beaufort OutU,ty, .Soutll Carolina. 

fL. 8.] 

Deposition of E. S. Stuart in matter of contest hy G. D. Tillman against 
Robert Smalls for Uongress of the Uuited States. 

SOUTH CA.ROLINA, 
Beaufort Oounty: 

E. B. STUART, a witness of tbe legal age, lIavin~ bt'en produced. by 
t'OIItestant 00 due notice to contestee, deposes as follo\t's: 

Question. What is yonr name, wbat is yonI' age, what is your occupa­
tion; where do you reside, and where did )'OU \'ote at the last electioll I 
-Answer. E. L. Stuart. I am tweuty·eight :rears old. I resicle near 
Matthews Bluff', Beaufort County. I am engaged in mercha.ndising. I 
foted at Pel'rJ\'iIIt', Ileal' Matthews Bluff. 

Q. What official position, if any, did you hold at the last general elec­
tion f-A. Supervisor. 

Q. Did you take an oath as supervisor of election !-A. I took DO 
oatb. 

Q. Wbat is the distance between P~rryville and Matthews Blufff­
A. About oue mile. 

Q. Was there a poll opened at Matthews Bluff on the 7th of No\"em­
btor last I-A. Thl're watl II0t. 

Q. Did allY of the managers, or any other parties, speak of mOV.,lg 
tbe box from PerrY\'iIIe to any other point I-A. I beard Ben. Ret'II, who 
1'8S Uepublican mauager some time ~efore elp.ction, tlay that they in· 
tended to move tbe box to Red Hill, S6,'en miles distant. This was, I 
think, about ODe month before election: 

Q. What time was the box openl'd tbat morning at .. lection I-A. I 
do not know. I went oft' on business. Wheu 1 returned the box. was 
open. 

Q. Who swore voters I-A. Thomas Bracey ,swore some of them, and 
Iswore others during the abst>nce of BraCt'y. 

Q. Who acted as chairman of the board of managers '-A. llr. Stone • 
. Q. How were voters sworn f-A. They were !limply sworu without a 

Bible, and without holding up rigbt band; tlte oath was read to them; 
SOUl" bowed, othel's replied, "1 do." 
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Q. How w('re votes connted t-A. Tbere was no tally kept for each 
candidate. Colors of the Republican vote and Democratic vote differed 
ill this: the Uepuhlic:m vote was printed in red ink. Ule Democratic vote 
iu blallk ink. When we took up a Republican or Democratic ballot, we 
considered it a straight-out ticket; did not scrutinize nameK on separate 
ballots. 

Q. What ticket did you votet-A. Democratic ticket. 
Q. Who took charg-e of hallot·box and key after votes were counted !­

A. Ben. l~eed, colored Republican manager. 
Q. Wad there any druIDs or drilling men at the polls on '(lay of elec­

tion !-A. Drum was beat; colored men and women walking up and 
"own in mob order. 

Cross examined : 
Q. When you say Matthews Bluff, don't yon mean Matthews Blolf 

Landing f-A. I me~n tlJat point at the landing- containing warebouse, 
store, and residence of Mr. Bryant; there are also nl'gro hoU!~es. 

Q. How long have you lived in that neigbborhood !-A. Up to tiwe 
of election; about~)Oe year. 

Q. When Ben. Reed Npoke about moving box, do you know whether 
be hart already been lLllpointell m,mager for the la~t election 7-A. I do 
not know when be was appointed; did not know wbo the managers were 
uutill arri'Ved at polls on morning of election. 

E. S. STUART. 
S\vorn to before me this 24th February, 1877. 
[SEAL.] JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary Public, Beaufort Oounty, South Carolina. 

Depositiou of W. G. Roherds in matter of contest by G. D. Tillman {or 
a seat ill the Congress of the United States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beaufort OOlmly: 

W. G. ROBERDS, a witness of the legal age, being produced by con· 
testant on due notice to contestee, dellOses ILS follows: 

Question. Wbat is your name, age, place of residence, your occupa­
tion, and at what place, it' any, did you vote at t.he last general elt-ctioD, 
And how did you \'ote '-Answer. W. G. Roberds; Ih'o near Matthews 
BllIft·, Beaufort COllllt~'. I am a planter, (at a place called Perry\"iIle, 
olle mile distant from Matthews Bluft:) 1 voted Democratic ticket. 

Q. Was there any poll opened or beld at Matthews Bluff ou that 
day!-A. None. • 

Q. 'Was the poll called Matthews Bluff always held at PerrYT'ille!­
A. No, sir; it was formerly held at Mattbews Bluft~ one mile distant 
from Pel'ryville. 

Q. Whell did the change from Matthews Bluff to Perryville occur!­
A. I do not know positively; t>erhaps about '72. I know tbat I voted 
at Matthews Blnffin 18iO; election was beld there at that tilDe. 

Q. Whilt time did you arri\"e at the polls, and did you witness any 
intimidation practiced by colored Republicans on that day toward tbOtMl 
colored men who wanted to ,'ote Rellublican ticket-I mean wbo wanted 
to vote Democmtic ticket f:-A. I have heard threatening remarks msde 
bl'fore the day of election. On that day at tbe polls I witneSl\Bd a rejtular 
organization of colored Repulllicans, both religious and military. They 
appeared with drums, marching continuonsly to and (1'0 througboQt 
the day, making a noise and confusion throughout the day. I saw io 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMA.N VB. SMA.LLS. 155 

several instances the leaders of these colored Repuhlicans force their 
followers to the ballot-box and thrust Rppublican ticktlts in their hantls. 
I would esppcially mention tbe case of Hell. Curry. The wife of Curry, 
assisted by Republican voter~, forced him agaillRt bis will, dragged him 
to the polls, and forced him to ,-ote the Republi(~an ticket, his wife de­
claring tbat she would del~ert him if be did not. Curry was snrrounde(l 
by a nuruber of colored Republicans, and seemed IDllch frightened. I 
saw also, in another instancp, a mob of olle dozell Republican colored 
men gather around a Democratic voter, and tbreaten him with imme­
diate punishment bpcanse he bad yoted Demoeratic ticket, and would 
bave inflicted punisbment bad it not been for the prpSl'nce allll intervpn­
tion of w bite mPlI. Tbe name of tbis man is Sandy Green, colorpd. The 
intimidation of this cbarootpr was general before the electiou and during 
tlJe election. I have beard threats made at differPut timps. 

Q. Do you know of allY irregular'ities in the COUflllct of the ell'ctors ,­
A. I do; the sllpervisor and ODe of the managprs frequently left tbeir 
post and were absent for long intervals; at one time the manllger 
walked from the ballot-box oue-quartet· of a mill'; during tbe ahsence 
of sUllervisor and manager several votes were l.olltlu; this happened lit 
different tim~s. 

Q. Were any votes taken without the oath of voter being taken T­
A. Quite a numbtlr of' them; that is, several votes were poll tid without 
tbe oath of voter; things were loosly condnctetl. 

Q. WlIS tbere any registration of voters in tbis county before the 
el('ction T-A. None that I know of. 

Q. Dow long bave you lived in the "icinity of :Matthews BlutH-A. 
All DIy life, with the exception of nine years. 

Q. Do you or do yon 1I0t know the faces or names of almost e,·ery 
one ill tbllt section T-A. 1 do. 

Q. Did you see any IItrangf'rs yoting or attempting to vote at that 
precinct durillg the day T-A. I did; alJ(l some of th('m (litl vote; Rome 
of them known to be from tbe State of Georgia vottld electoral tickets; 
several strangers also looted entire ticket. 

Q. From the intimidation of whicb you speak and the irregularitif's you 
mentioned, would the result of the election baye been changed had these 
causes bf'en removed '-A. It was tbe opinion of all intelligent persons 
on the ground that but fllr this system of intimidation and other irrPg­
ulnrities, tbat the rel-mlt would hav~ been <1itli.·rt'nt; that the Democrats 
would have received tour votes to one RepubliCi\ll; that is, fonr Demo­
crat, on~ Repnblican. 

Q. 'V11at is the size of this county compared with the State of Rhotle 
Islaud, as to its area '-A.. Tbe area is very nearly the same. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. How do you know tbat Ben Curry wanted to vote Democratic 

ticket T-A. From his own statement bef9re aUlI after and during the 
election. 

Q_ You say he was forced to the polls by colOl-ed Republicans; can yon 
recall their names T-A. His wife, aided by some mell. I did not cbarge 
my memory with the names, and 1 cannot recall them without relIec­
tion. 

Q. Did yon see Sandy Green vote Democratic ticket t-A. I did not, 
but be (:onfessed it openly upon tile grounds that he bad done so, and 
this cOlJft's.~ion immediately brought about the disturbance against him 
by RepUblicans. 

Q. At anyone time was there less than two manager present a.t the 
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polls wbile thpy w('re rl'cei\'ing "otes f-A. I am qnite posith'e that at 
oQ,e time tbe officiall'l of tlle polls were reduced to olle member present. 
B. 1\1. Stone lIe\'er Il'ft poll. 

Q. Did 1\11'. I:)tone eVl'r take a vote when alone f-A, I am not l>08i. 
tively certain, but think he clid.. as matter8, or as tlle voting toward the 
close WllS conducted in a \'ery loose and it'regular manner. 

Q. What lIumlwr do YI)n menn when you sny you saw ,,"oll's polled 
withont l'l"'t'llrillg'-A. About one dozen. 

Q. When did you open your store in Port Royal '-A. In F~bruary, 
1875. 

Q. When did yon lea\'e Port Royal and return to Matthews Bluft'!­
A. In December, 1875. 

Q. Is it 1I0t Jlo8~ihle cluring that time strange.rs might not have ob· 
tainl'd a residence ill that part of the county without yonr knowing 
tlleir names f-A. Very few settled in that locality dnring my absence, 
and I think I became acquainted with most of tlle uew settlers. 

Q. As JOu know the fllees anel names of neal'ly all the people in that 
"icinity, and 8S bnt for intimidation the Democrats would IUl\'e got four 
votes for one, cannot ~'OI1 give me t.he names of more than those yon 
mention who were intimidated '-A. 'I'he intimidation was more gen· 
eral than special, and owing to the consta.ut noise and confusion ruade 
by Republicans it was imJlOl~sible, or rather I faileel to note in nnmerOU8 
other cuses; the case of Sanely Green occnrred towardtl the close of the 
da,v ancl at a time of comparative quiet. 

Q. Do 1I0t yon baRe your opinion at! to the nnmherof ,"otes t.he Demo· 
crats would ha\'e got upon your knowleelge of the Democratic C3nV!\88 
mther thau the iutbnidation you speak off-A. No. 

WM. G. ROBERTS. 

Sworn to before me this 24th February, 1877. 
[L. s.] JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary Public, Beaufort County, 8. C. 

Met pursuant to adjournmeut on 2~d, 1877. 

Deposition of Steven Black, colored, in the ma.tter of contest by G. D. 
Tillwan against l{obel't Smalltl for a seat in the Cougrel:ls of the Unit ell 
States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beau/m·t Oounty: 
STEVEN BLACK, a witne8R of legal age, being produced by contestant 

on due notice to contestee, deposes as follows: 
Question. What is YOllr agp, your occupation, residence, SUfI where 

did ,you \'ote at the last gellPral election f-Answer. I am twenty·two; 
am a farmer; live uear Brighton, Beanfort County; voted at Brighton 
I)recin~t. 

Q. W'hat is your name '-A. Ste\'l'n Black. 
Q. Do you know of any tbreattl or other intimidation made or prac· 

ticed by colored Rt>pubJieuns against.those colOl'ed men who inte-neled to 
vote the Democratic ticket before the election, during the e-lt>ction, or 
since the electiou' If HO, state briefiy.-A. I know of thre-ata made by 
Mlored Uepuhlicalls that ifany colored man voted the Democratic ticket 
they would whip them; that a troop was coming from Bl'Ilnson Stat.ion 
to see that they shoulll not vote the Democratic tieket; by the threats 
made I was afraid to vote the Democratic ticket; I iutended to ,"ote the 
Democratic tieket anellen home with the intention of doing !l0, and after 
I got to the precinct at Brighton I was afraid to do it, frOID the threats, 
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cursing, and sWE'aring made by colored Republicans, aod I therefore 
vote61 the Uepu blican ticket. 

Q. Did yon hear tbelltl threats made frequently before the election or 
not '-A. I did. 

Q. Did these p~ople threaten you and otluors in a crowd; that is, 
were you threateut'd by men who were in a hody T-A. These threat!l, 
made 00 the day of election and bl'fore were marle publicly, in a crowd, 
and b~' a unmbt>r of RepublicRos collectl'd together. 

Q. What time in tbe day was it that the8e thl'eats you speak of were 
made on clay of electi~n T-A. 1 he3l'd threats alJout 8 or D o'clock in 
the morning. 

Q. Did these thrl'ots cause any othE'r colorl'd ml'1l who were going to 
'\"oteDemocratictickets to vott' }{l'pnbliclin tick(·tll f-A. I believe ittlirl, 

Q. Did tbreats you speak of as ha"ing bel'1I made before election,cluy 
cause eolored men who intended to vote the Democratic ticket to remain 
at borne amI not vote 00 election·day '-A. I hl'lieve it did. A. grt'at 
many remained at home-did not "ote at all-and a good many came 
out and voted Republican tickt'ts 00 account of those threats who 
intended to \'ote Democratic tickets. 

Cross,examined: 
Q. Do you own land, rent 18011(1, or labor by contract '-A. I rent land 

alld work for wages. 
Q. From whom do you rent land and for whom do you laborT-A. I 

relit IHnt! from Ben Solomons for Illy labor. 
Q. Do you know what ticket Mr. Solomons "oted T-A He voted the 

Democratic ticket. . 
Q. Do you know of any colored ml'n who vol I'd tht' Republican ticket 

wbo left Brighton recently f-A. 1 do; W~8ley R",lite and nine or ten 
familh.'S besides. 

Q. Do you know what reason tbey left for t-A. I believe they were 
tbe leac1ers of the Republicall party. 

Q. Did not yon bear of thrl'ats made by nemocrnt~ that colored men 
would bave to leave their land uult'8s they Yotl'd the Democratic ticket, 
aud stay at home and Dot vote at all f-A. I never beard it m~'self. 

Q. Was it not generally talkp.{l of in your vicinity I-A. I beard 
Rt'Jlublicans say it W8S, but did not bear it m~·8elf. 

Q. Did not some of those who have left tell JOu so I-A. I believe 
SOllie of them told me that tbey left tor that reasoll. 

Q. You [tRY the Republicans curse and swear on that day I-A. Not 
in my preseuce. 

Q. Hid Dot you 8pe Democrats on that day with pi8tols !-A. I did 
uot 8('(-1 a pi8tol on that da.v alDong eitbt'r party. 

Q. You say tbey were in crowell!. Oan you give me the name8 in that. 
crowll who threatened T-A. Starkt'y was one. Don't recollect others; 
dOIl't koow tbem. 

Q. Can you gh'e me the nnDles of those who \"otec1 t.he R"lmhlican 
ticket in consequence of tht'se threats J -A. l\lyself, Tom Date8, and 
Adam Patterson; this is all I can rt'IDt'mber. 

Q. Did you see TOlD Datt's Ilud AdHm Patterson vott'T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How rio yon know they waoted to ,'ote t.he Democratic ticket T­

A. Tbey told }De beforehand. 
Q. Can you give me the names of those who staid away in conse­

quence of these tbreatS!-A. A few of them; SaID 'Wilson, Horace 
Allen. Tbese are all I call rt'member. 

Q. Do yon know if Sam Wilson or Horace Allen owns land T-A. 
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Sum li,-es on A. Lawton's place, and Horace li~es on F. Davis's place. 
Don't own laud. 

Q. Do JOu kllow what ticket tbey would have voted; and, if 80:how 
do you know it I-A. They spoke like they would have voted with 
Democrats, so as to obviate hard feeling on either side. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. Did they speak anything about threats t-A. No, sir. 
Q. How IIIRn~' parties besides the ones you ha"e named would bave 

voted with Dt'mocrats but for these threat8 '-A. I don't know how 
many, but I think there would have been 8 good-many. 

Sworn to before me this 22d Febrllary. 1877. 

his 
STEVEN X BLACK. 

mark. 

[L. s.] JEFF. WARRE~, 
Notary PIl1Jlic, Beatcrort Ooun(lI, &utl, Carolina. 

DepoFlition of Thomas Dates, 1\ colored man, in matter of cOlltt>st by 
G. D. Tillman against Robert Sma1ls for 8 seat in the Congrl'ss of the 
United State8. 

SOU'.l'H CAROLINA, Bcatifort Oounty : 
THOMAS DA'.l'Jo:S, (colored,) a witness of l(>gal aA'(>, being produced by 

contestant on due llOtice to contestee, deposes as f01l0\\'s: 
Question. What is ~'our name and age; what is your occupRtion; 

wbere do you r(>Ridt', and where did you vote at the last elt>ction'f­
Answer. Tbomas Dates; twent.v·thr(>c, will be in May next. I am a 
farmer and 18\)0['('r. I live near Brigbton, Beaufort COlmty, South 
Carolina; voted at "nriJrhton precinct; voted 8 Rt>publican ticket 
against my will; inteuded to vote the Democratic ticket and was afeaid 
to do it. 

Q. Wh.v werc yon afraid to vote tbe Democratic ticket T-A. Because 
colored radicals uuuJe NO maul' threats that I f~ared to do it. They told 
IDe that tht'S would whip me, and that I should not be countenanced 
ugain. ThiR W811 a ~1'lIeral thing; Ulat is, their threats were general; 
thr(>att'ned ull colorl'd men wbo wanted to vote Democratic ticket. 1 
he81'd theRe threatll befi)re the election, alld was frightened, but weDt 
to the lIolls with the intention to vote Dl'mocratic ticket any bow. 
'When I reaclJed )lrt'cinct 1..'Olored Republicans threatened nil', talking 
loud and cUI":-.i1.g lIU thc ground; said tlley would whip 111111 play work~ 
with an~' colured IlIlin who vot.ed Democratic ticket. I was fright­
ened by the t.hreats, 811(1, as I sRid, voted Republican ticket in conse­
quence. 

Q. Were ~'011 nnd other colored men who were going to '\'ote Demo­
cratic tickets intimidated by the threats made by colored UepubJicclu8 
before auel on day of election '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. \Vould man.'" other colored mell huve voted Democratic tickets at 
Brighton preciu~t ~n :he day of election but for the intimidation pntC­
ticed before 1t1lllclUl'illg the election by colored UepubJicaus; and, if so, 
ahont how malty T-A. There was a good lOany who staid at home­
did not vote at all-who wauted to vote Democratic tickets, but were 
ufraid to go. A good mans "0 (>(1 Republican tickets who wanted to 
vote Democratic t,lck('tll. I cannot say positively how wany; did not 
cburge my mind with the number. 

Cross-exllmined: 
Q. Do JOII 0\\ lJ laud of your own or do you labor by contract' If so 
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on wbose place !-A. I labor by contract on plnce belonging to 1\-Ir~ 
John Solomons. 

Q. Have any families left your neighborliood since election' If f:O, 
how many t-A. Yes, sir; lots of them. 

Q. W~re they Republicans or Democrats I-A. Republicans. 
Q. What reasoll, if any, did they assign fQr leaving Y-A. I do not 

know why they left. 
Q. Can you ~ive me names of any of those families who II ave left t­

A. Yell, sir; Watson Wi1llams, Jake Solomons, H~rcules Zimmerman, 
Jerre Sololl~ons; about-all that I know of as having left. 

Q. Did you not hear about election·time of thl'euts being made by 
Democrats that those colored men who did not vote Democratic tickets 
or refrained from \'oting altogether wonld be refused supplies and be 
pre..~ for the money they owed !-A. No, sir; I dul not. 

Q. Did any man that you can remembl'r threaten to whip you per­
sonally 1-A. Yes, sir r Joe Fraser. 

Q. Uan you give me the names of those scared as yon were '-A. Did 
not cbarge my memory with the names. 

Q. How, then, do you arrive at the conclusion that others were fright­
ened as you were '-A. I heard them say that they were frightened. 

Q. Tbpy told you so, and yet you canuot remember who told you ,­
A. I do not remem ber names. 

Q. Call you gi\"e me the names of all who staid at home on account 
of these threatS '-A. No, sir. • 

Q. How, then, do you know their reason for sta~'ing at home '-A. A 
grPat waDY of them have said so in my presencu, but I did not take 
their names down. 

Q. Do you owe Mr. Solomons any money, or does he owe you any!­
A. I do not owe him, nor does he owe me any mollt'Y. 

Q. Yon mention something about troops. Did any come to Brighton 
on the day of election '-A. I said nothing of troops. • 

his 
THOMAS + DATES. 

ma.rk. 

Sworn to before me this 21st of February, 1877. 
[SEAL.] JEFF. WARREN, 

Notary Public, Be.aufort County, South Carolina-. 

Dppollition of Joe Graham, a colored man, in mattt>r of contest by G. D. 
Tillman agaillst Robert Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the 
Uniteli States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beaufort County: 
JOE GRAHAM, (colore(I,) of the legal agt>, produced by contestant on 

due notice to contestee, depost>s as follows: 
. Question. What is your name, age, residence, occupation. and where 

~Id you vote at the last general tJlection T-Anllwer. Jot' Gmbam. I am 
lU Illy tWt'nt.r-seconJ yf'ar; will soon be twent.y-two. I lh'e at Mr. John 
~lOm01l8!. near Brighton, Beaufort (Jonnty. I voted a Uepublicau 
tIcket at Brighton precinct in the last election. 

Q. Did ~'ou intend to vote Republican ticket f-A. I intended to "ote 
Democratic ticket, but I voted Republican ticket. because I hearel that 
colo~d RepUblicans saiel that they woultl whip colored men who voted 
Democratic ticket. It was talkeel generally among colored men. I got 
to the polls pretty late. 

Q. Were there any other colored men that you know of who intended 
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to vote Democratic ticket who were prevented on acconnt of theBe 
threats !-A. 1 have beard many of them say they were so pren·Dted. 
I do not now remember how many. I do not now remember that I heard 
anyone who had voted Republican ticbt 00 that day at Brigbton ex­
press themReh'es tbat they did so froUl fright at the polls from threat8 
made b.v colored Republicans. . 

Cross·exl1mined: 
Q. Do you rent land or work by contract with Mr. SolomoDs I-A. I 

work tor wa~es wit,b him. 
Q. Did any Republican threaten to whip you p~rsonany I-A. Threats 

WN'e genel'lll. No one threatened me personally that I now recollect. 
Q. Were you ever present when any Uepublican threatened to whip 

any other man if he did not vote Republican ticl.et f-A. Not in my im­
mediate presence. 

Q. You say DO one threatenetI you at the polls t-A. I reached po1l8 
late in tbe dn,y; voted If.t>llublicau ticket. No one threatened me per­
sonally at the polls. 

Q. Did ;\'0!l bear anyone personally threatened at the polls when you 
got there f-A. No, sir. 

Q. Yon say a great many were scared; were you scared at the 
polls t-A. No one frightened me, as I dill not vote the Democratic 
ticket.. 

Q. Mr. Solomons told you he would take you in his h\lg~y to vote 
Democratic ticket '-A. He told me he would take me to the polls. I 
did not go with him •• 

bis 
JOE + GRAHAM. 

mark. 
Sworn to tbis 21st (lay of February, 1877. 
[SEAL,j JEFF. WARREN, 

ltotary Public, Beaufort Oounty, Boutl, Carolina. 

Deposition of W. T. Blount in matter of contest by G. D. Tillman against 
Hobert Smalls for a seat in Congress of the Uni~d States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beau/ort Oounty : 
W. T. BLOUNT, witness of the legal age, being produced by contestant 

on due notice to contestee, deposes as tollows: 
QUt-stiOD. What is your name; where do you live; what is your 0c­

cupation; wbere did YOIl "ote at the last gent'ral election !-Answer. ,V. 
T. Blount. I live lIear Brighton, Beanfort County. I am II. planter. I 
\'oted at, I suppose, at what tbey intended to be Brighton preeiuct­
Ilear Brighton l)recioct-not at Brighton. 

Q. How filr trom Brighton t-A. Three or four hnndred yarc1s. 
Q. Did you boltl any official position; and, if so, what was it t-A. I 

WI\.'4 clerk. 
Q. How were you electE'tI and by whom sworn in f-A. I was elected 

b.v managers and sworn in by chHirmnll. 
Q. What candidates were voted for for Congress '-A. G. D. Tillman, 

Democrat, Illld Hobert Smalls, Republicun. 
Q. At about what time were the pull!! opened at Brighton on the ith 

NO\'ember last f-A. About 8 o'clock. 
Q. Were tbere any irregularities or informalities on that occasion f­

A. One of tbe managers, Daniel .Hrown, mana.ger, a colored man, left 
t11 .. poll and .litltributed Republican tickets in tbe yard to voters. 

Q. How were the votes couuted t-A. The ticket8 were tHkeu from 
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the box, and ulIless tbe ticket was scratched, the first name 011 the 
ticket was called, and from ~hi~ nallle the tally WI~ given Hepublican 
or Democratic candidates as til'St IIllme on ticket indicated. All tbe 
Dalllpli on the tickets were not rtlall out; I lUeall they \lid not tally each 
name. 

Q. How m:lny votes were Jlollet} anll how' IOll~ did it take you to 
count tbe votes f-A. Something over tbree 11l1l1tll'ed as well as I recol­
lect. Counted votes ill less than all hOllr. 

Q. Do you know (If any intimidation practiced by colored RelJUblicans 
toward thOlole colurt>cl men who illtenc1~d to vote the Democratic ticket t 
It' 80, please state wbat you know.-A. I had un my place a colored lUall 
whose lIrothel··in-law threatt-lied that be would kill him if he voted the 
Democrat.ic ticket. I told him til go til tlll~ pl)lIs ILntl vule as be pleased, 
bl1 wouh! be ,)rutected. lle had juilll'd our Democratic cluu pre\·iollsly. 
On tbe cia,\' of election, at t11t~ polls, he saiil he ha.d heeu threatened, aud 
fearetl that he would be killed if be \'oteel t.he ticket, uut did vote it 
wb.'n assured of protctltiuu, but tlcemccl \'ery much eltcit.ed. I would 
mention that. two months before tbe election a crowd of colorecl mell 
were aSl4emhlecl in Brighton; cluring the time n negro or colored mall 
pall8ed; they stoPI)t.~cl him, and tolel him that thf'Y uuclerstoocl that be ill­
tt'D(le(1 to vote tbe Democratic ticket; that if he tlill they would whip 
or kill him. The crllwd wel'e very noi::lY. I was not sufficiently near to 
bear the remarks of the mall, Bascom, who 1\1I'h'essecl the crowd as­
~lIlblecl. The colur('tIlDlLll tbreatened, nallled Calaeh TiIlOU, reported 
t~e threat to me immedjately. I Ilt'ard the noise, saw the crowd, but 
dill not disrillglliHh words. I hl\\"e heartl seveml colort'd men say they 
had uel'D tbrellt('ued, IUlIl it was generally believed ,that colOl'ed H.epubli­
callll woultl wllip those colored men wbo \'oted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Wbo wt're the managers of the election '-A. John Tison, a dem­
ocrat, (whiw,) Daniel Brown, autI Simoll Miller, colored H.~publicans. 

Q. 'W\:o had charge of the key to the ballot-box T-A. Dauiel Brown 
had chal'ge of the kt·y. 

Q. Wbo bad charge of the box tbat night after tbe count and who 
carried the box T-A. Brown-I mean Daniel Brown-carried the box 
to Beuufort. John Ti::lon, liS chairman, contelltled that be had tbe right 
to carry the box to Beaufort, but Brown cont.ended, and Til!on yielded. 

Cross examined: 
Q. HOIl' many yards from the neA.rest place of business in Brighton 

to the place where polls were held f-A. I snppose abont two hnudred 
yards. 

Q. Did YOIl ht'ar the threat of the brother·in-Ia\v made to the man on 
your place t-A. The lIIau reported the t.hreat to me; did not hear it 
made. 

Q. Who was the mlln thrt'ateut'd, and what ticket did he vote '-A. 
Daniel Wutts; voted the republican ticket. 

,Q. You were not near enough to hear the language nsed to Oalaeb 
Tlt!()n on the day ~OU mention '-A. I saw him stopped; did not bear 
the language used; was probably one hundred yards away. Oalaeb 
"oted tbe Democratic ticket. 

Q. You mentioned something about drawing a pistol in front of yon; 
COQld tbe person who was going to vote see that pistol t-A. I thiuk 
not. 
d Q. Did not a great many Democrats ha\"e pistols on that dayt-A. I 
~ Dot know, but suppose Democrats and Republicaus were so armed. 

PIstols are usually concealed; cannot say who were armed and who not. 
Q. Have you not sufficiellt contidenc~ in Col. Jobn. Tison to beevlie 
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that wben he signed bis name as manager he bad given a fair and sqnare 
count for the ,'ote taken at Brighton T-A. I have. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. Might he not have made a mistake '-A. I think not. 

WILLIAM T. BLOUNT. 
Sworn to before me this 21st Febrnary, 1877. 
[SEAL.] JEJ:4'~". WARREN, 

Notary Public, Beaufort Oounty, South Oarolina. 

Deposition of John Tison, a witne8s of legal age, in the matter of con· 
tt-at by G. D. Tillman against Robert Smalls for a seat in the Congresa 
of the United States. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beaufort Oounty: 
JOHN TISON, a witllf'sS of legal age, produced by contestant on dne 

noUce to conte8tee, deposes as follows: 
Question. What is your name, age, re..qidence, occnpation, and wbere 

anti how oid you vote at the la8t gtmeral election '-Answer. John A. 
1'i80n; I am forty-eight st-ars 0111; live near Brighton, BE'3utol't Oounty, 
South ()arolilla; I am by profession a lawyer; I voted Democratic ticket 
at the last general election; yotell at poll lIear Brighton. 

Q. Did you holtl any official position on day of election I-A. I was 
chairman of the board of mallagf'rs at this prE'cinct. 

Q. How were you electell chairman 1 Who administered oatb to 
you, alld who swore other managers f-A. I' ,tllS elected chairman by 
the managers on the morning of the 7th Novemher. 011 t,he evelling 
before, I was sworn by a notary public. As chairman, I 8lhniniKtered 
oath to the other two managers. (They w{'re colored Republicans.) 

Q. A t what hour waR thE' poll opened 1-.A. I C811not Imy the precise 
hour, but about eight o'clock. 

Q. Wbere was the )loll held at Brighton precinct t-A. It WHS not held 
at Brighton, but at the office of La wrellc:e McKE'nzie, three or four bun­
dred yards distant. I imdstetl that the law l't'quired tbe poll to be 
opcned at Brighton! but the rE'publican managers overruled me; re­
plied that th~y had helel it there bt'fore. This, I told tbem, did not 
make it legal. 

Q. What candidates were \'oted for for COl1gr~ss on that occasion 1-
A. G. D. Tillman, Democrat, Hobert Smalls, RepUblican. 

Q. Who took po~sesRion of thc box and key after tbe \"otes were 
couutcd' 'Who carl'it'd box to Bellufol't. and was there any opprn;i­
tiOll made T-A. DalliE'1 Brown, olle of th" Rt'publican managers, and by 
him carried to Beaufort, he being t'h'cted for that purpmre by his own 
\"ote and that of the otht'r Ut'pllblicall ml1llager. 1 contended for my 
right, as chairman, to keel' possession of the box aDd carry it to Beau­
fort. Dalli{'1 Brown and otht'r mallager o\"E'rl"uled mE'. Brown took 
pos.qession of box that nigbt; supPolle he cal'l'ied it to Beaufort; ha"e 
not seen it since. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by Republicans towards 
colored men who wantt'd to vote tbe Democmtic ticket I-A. Dur­
ing the eanyass, and before the 'election, at a R.ellUblican meeting io 
Brighton, at which a large colorf'd audience were assembled, I beard 
the colored speaker in \"iulent mamlt'r tell his audience tbat before the 
J){'mocrat8 tlhould carry the State of Soutb Carolina tbat colored Re­
publicans would make a grll\,,(>-yard of it; and that if allY colored mao 
yotec1 the Democratic tick('t th(' colored Republi('.ans would take bim 
out one side and kill him. Speaker's name, ·10hn Bascom, jr. 
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Q. Was there any informality or any irregularity in the conduct of 
the ejection T-A. I bad it called to my attention that one of the man­
agers was absent distributing tickets among colored men-Republican 
ticket&. 

Q. How were vote~ conn ted '-A. Ballots in the box were counted, 
but a tally-sheet was not kept of each candidate on the tickets. We 
counted when we came to a Republican ballot, recognized to be such b.V' 
being l)rinted in red ink. The first name upon the ballot was called out 
Aud marked opposite first naDle on sheet prepared for respective party, 
Democrat or Republican, 1, amI this was counted lAS oue for each of 
the respective candidates througbout tbat ticket, if the same ballot was 
not scratched; and we thus proceeded to count the entire unscratcbed 
ballots in the box, without calling eacb nam('l on ballot and baving it reo 
corded by tellers. Where a scratcb occurred on hallot tbe candidate in 
whose favor it was scratched received credit in the connt. I examined 
each ballot to see whether it was scratched, but did not examine whetber 
the names on each ballot were the same. Took this for granted from 
tbe color of the tickets. 

Q. What was the number of Yotes polled at that precinct, and what 
was the vote for eacb party I-A. About 288. G. D. Tillman received 
91; Robert Smalls 194. I took a memorandum at the time. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Is Brigbton an incorporated town or village, and has it any spe­

e6e boondarJ '-A. It is not incorporatell, and has no specific bounda­
ries. It is a little connt~· cross-roall village, with two or three stort's 
and two residences j no lines laid out. 

Q. Do yon, of your own knowledge, kno\v of any person wbo desired 
to vote at Brighton who was unable to find the polling-place I-A. I 
know of colored men who went there to vote and did not Yote; from 
what cc'\use I cannot say. 

Q. If YOIl were Ii member of a returning·board and direct uncontro­
verted evidence was given of tbe count in the manner in whicb you 
know \'ote was counted at Brighton, would you not May tbat a fair and 
"IJDare count was had '-A. I would, unless some of the tickets had a 
ditlerent namA on them. 

Q. Ha\"'e you any knowledge that different names were on the tick­
ets '-A. I ha\"'e not. 

Uedirect examination: 
Q. May not some other name have been upon tbose ballots whieh you 

8Ry J"OO did not scrutinize witb reference to names, other tban the 
Dames which the color indicatefl T-A. There may have been a dilJ'erellt 
Dllme on them. I took it for granted that the Republican ticket being 
printed in red and tbe Democrat in black ink, that the names were the 
same as iudicllted by the rellpt!cti\"'e color. 

JJHN A. TISO~. 
Sworn to before me this 22d day of Febntary, 1877. 
[SEAL.] JEF.I!'. W ARREY, 

Nutarg Public. 

Deposition of Southwood Smith in matter of contest by G. D. Tillman 
against Robert Smalls for l\ seat in the Congress of the United 
Slates. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beaufort County: 
SOUTHWOOD SMITH, of the JpgaJ age, produced as a witness by con­

testant on dne notice to contestee, deposes as follows: 
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Question. What is yonr name, age, residence, occupation; wbere and 
how did ~'ou \'ote at the l88t general election T-_Answer. Southwood 
Smith; thirty.seven years old j phYllician ami planter j voted the Dem­
ocratic ticket at Brighton; reside half mile from Brighton, Beaufort 
County. 

Q. When was the poll opened T-A. Between 7i aud 8 o'clock a. m. 
Q. Do yon kuow who administered the oath to ,'orers, if you were 

there T-A. The looters were swom by Tison; that is, all that I saw 
sworu. 

Q. Do you know of any intimillatioo, general or special, practiced 
by colore.l Repnhliclln!l, agaiust colort'd ml'n who t'x)lressed them8eln~K 
as intending to vote Dt'moCl'ntic tickets before, dnling, or subsequent to 
this ('lection T-A. At a Democratic meeting ill Bri~htoll, when Zack 
Dalliels, a colored man, who spoke iu ad vocacy of the O~mocratic can~e, 
a colored Uepublican, Henry Snooks, with a crowd of colort'd men, au· 
nOlluced the intention to pull him from the stand, and the attempt \V88 

pren'nted by a white man, \vho iuformed him that any eff"rt to do so 
would get him and his crowd into a more serious difficulty than he an· 
ticipated. He was onl.Y silenced by the strenuol1s eftorts of this gentle­
man. A large crowd, six or eight hundred men, mostly colored, were 
Ilresent. The threat was spoken in a loull, angry tone, and was heard 
by a large nllmber of personK; loud enough to hn,ve been hel,rd by I'll. 
The whol~ met-bod and mauller of the campaign, al'\ cOlllluctecl by 
RepUblicans in my section of country, WI\S to inlimillat~ colored vott'rs. 
by telling thl'm that in the e\'ent of Uemocmtrc SUccess their rightl5 
would be taken uwuy aud slavery in itl5 worst form re·estllblisbell. 
Freedmen in my employ would, amI dill, frequently tell me that t-be 
colored Hepllblican leaders annollllced to them that. Democratic suc('t'ss 
woultl resllit in the necessity of colOl-ed men procnring J)1\sse8 to travel 
roads. They also frequently informed me that they dared not openly 
avow Democratic prillciples for fear of personal \"iolellce. 

Q_ 'Vhat was the etl'tlct of these threats by colored Republicans upon 
the colored men generally I-A. I Imow iUstuDfIeS where colort'd men 
did not go to the polls, alleging this as th~ reason. )108(,s Says, All· 
drew Shey, 8nd )Ianly Holmes, are three names that I recolll'ct 1I0W, 

alld others, I think. Bur for tile il/tluence of the intimidation of which I 
ha\'e spoken, the general intimidation prllctieed throllghollt the neigb. 
borhood, that the election at Brighton precinct would have rcsultc.l in 
u Democratic majority. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Have you ever been satisfied in your own minfl as to whetlu'lr it 

WIlS the free barbacl1e or the orators of the Democratic party who 
hrollgbt out those eight hlludred peoplef-A. I supposed I>otb bad their 
in ft uence. 

Q. YOII Imo\v of those tbreats except tbose reported to yon '-A. 
Only Slldl as are given hy tbe evidence given ahO\-e. 

(~. Was not the opposition to Z:LUb Daniels 8pol.eu of by yon occa· 
sioned by the fact that np to ~eptemher the 12th he was a RepubliC3n 
and after that time he was SUPI)Osed to be a paid agent of the Demo· 
cratic party'-A. I am not aware whether Snooks kne\v the aoove to 
00 facts; I do not know that he wal4 a paid agent. Suooks and Dan· 
iels lived in different neighborhoods. 

SOUTHWOOD SlIITH. 
Sworn to this 22d February, 18i7. 
[SEAL.] 

Adjourned. 

JEFF. W ARREX, 
Notary Public, Beaufort County, South Carolina. 
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Met pursuant to adjournment. 
Dt>p08ition of S. E. Blount in matter of contest by G. D. Tillman against 

Robert Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 
SoUTH CAROLINA, 

Beatifart County: 
S. E. BLOUNT, a witness of the legal age, produced by contestant on 

due notice to contestee, del'o,",s flS follows: 
Question. What is your name, age, occnpation' Wbere do you re­

Fidet Where and how did you vote at tbe last election '-Answer. S. 
E. Blount; am thirty·one years old; resided at time of the last {'lection 
:lDd previous to election near Brighton, Beaurort County, South Caro· 
lina; voted the Democratic ticket at or near Brighton. 

Q. Did you hold any official position at said election; if so, wbat was 
it !-A. [acted as supel"vi~r; WitS sworn iu by Trial Jnstice Mulligan. 

Q. At wbat time WlUI poll open on dny of election f-A. Between j 
and S o'clock a. m. 

Q. Who swore tbe voters at Brighton on the day of election '-A. 
Tison. 

Q. What did ,\"on do with the written oath you signed when sworn as 
snpervisor I-A. I kept it, nnd have ~ince destroyed it. 

Q. Who took charge or the hox: and key after the poll was closed !­
A. Dalliel Brown, n colore(l Republicall malinger. Tison, as chairman, 
coDtt>nded for the box, but W;1S overruled hy the other two managers, 
ootb colored and Republicans. 1'isol1 is a Democrat. 

Q. How w~re the votes counted t-A. We counted the first name on 
the ballot, and counted it for the whole ticket; that is, called out the first 
DaUle on tbe ballot, and counted it for the whole ticket., withont c;llling 
out the otber names. If we disco\·ered thl~t one nallle was 8cratcheu 
from a. ualJot and the name of another substituted, W;C gave the credit 
to that canllidate who was substituted. 

Q. }lay nut some of the names on these tickp,ts or ba.llots so counted 
bave beeD othel' thull the candidates Dl)OIl the regular ticket, or who 
were regarded candidates of the diffel'tmt parties tor the respecth·e 
offices !-A. It may have l>cell the case, but they wel"t~ generally snp· 
1108e(1 to have bel-n priute(l Pl'Opcrly. Toe U,epuhlicau ticket wallluintetl 
in red ink, alJ(l the Democrat.ic ti(:ket in blllck illk. We did not SCfUti· 
nize ballots as to the lIames 011 them, but !>imply noticed if they were 
scratched. 

Q. Was the poll opened immediately iu the village of Brighton or iu 
its ,-icinity '-A. The cross·roa.ds ill knowlI 1111 Brighton. It was held 
below Bl"ightou, between three and four hundred yards. 

Q. Do you know of any s)·stem of intimidatioll practiced, general or 
special-practiced hy color~d RepuhlicHus IIgainstcolored voters who in­
h'Dded to vote the Democratic ticket' If so, state such briefly.-A. 
There was a good many threatll millIe by colorell Republicans against 
colored persons who intended to vote t.he Democratic ticket; that they 
wonld wbip, tnru uut of the church. and otherwise punished; that troops 
would be in attendance also to "ulli~h those colored men who voted the 
DelOocraticticket. These threats w('re general. I know that some, a 
good many, remained at hOIll~ who intended to voto the Democratic 
ticket,ou account of these threats. Others who attended the polls voted 
the Rt!1)ublican ticket on account of these threats. James Gordon tottl 
IDe that be voted the RellUblicun ticket because colol'ed Illen on Asl>uI'y 
Lawtou'li place bad threntened to kill him if he did not H.cpuu· 
hean ticket. He iutenlled to vote the Democratic ticktlt. I kuow.also 
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three others whose lives were threatened, Andrew Orange, Stephen 
Pinckney, amI Clarence. Oolored men told me that colored Republicans 
bad threatened to kill them if they voted Democratic ticket. Threats 
were general against colored Democrats and again!lt those colored men 
'\tho were going to vote the Democratic ticket. At the polls on day 
of election at Brighton everything went oft· quiet, so far 8S I saw. Col­
ored men assembled in groups and had loud talking at a littl('l flistance 
frOID the l)o11s. Immediately round the polls there was comparath-e 
quiet. 

Q. If it had not been for these threats, would the result of the election 
at that precinct have beeu different I-A. I believe the result would 
have been different. 

Oross·examination : 
Q. How wallY years, to your knowl('dge, have- polls been beld at 

l\1cKensie's offic(', near Brighton I-A. Cannot say positively, but prob· 
ahly two or tbree years. 

Q. Don't you tbink l'rIr. McKensie would say be 1ivecl at Brighton if 
nsl,ed the question I-A. Suppose be would. 

Q. To your knowledge, do you know of any bo~us tickets "oted that 
day so similar in character as to deceive managers T-A. I do not know 
of any bogus tickets. 

Q. In your opinion, was the count at Brigbton fair and square' I 
mean the count of the votes.-A. I thought 80. 

Q. You do not know of threats, ouly from what yoo heard others say f 
-A. I have heard threats made myself. 

Q. Do you know of any United States troops in this portion of the 
count~· !-A. I know of 1I0ne. 

Q. Ciin you give me the names of any of those parties who tbreatened 
and those who were threatenetl T-A. Daniel Watts, .Jenkins Jenkin. 
!lnd others; threats were so g(,Bl'ral I did not cbarge my memory with 
the names. Andrew Orange, 8ttlphen Pincknl'Y, Olarence, anll others, 
were threatenp.tl. 

Q. Oan yon gh'e me the names of those who staid away from the 
polls and would ha\'e voted Democmtic ticket but for tbe~ threats!­
A. It has been some time since the election, and I do not remember the 
names. 

S. E. BLO U~T. 

8worn to before me tbis 2311 day of February. 1877. 
[SEAL.] JEFF. WARREX, 

.Notary Public Beaufort County, South Carolina. 
SOU1'H CAROLINA, 

Beaufort County: 
I, Jl'ff·. Warren, a notary public in and for Soutb Carolina, and the 

officer before whom the above depositiolls of twenty.six witnE'.sse8 were 
taken in the matter of a contested election for a sent in the Forty·fifth 
Congress of the United States from the fifth district of South Oarolina, 
do hereby certify that prefixed to the body of tbe above testimony, whicb 
consists of two bundred and fifty· four pages of mllnuscript, will be foond 
ten other pages of matter relating to said election, consisting of notices 
to take t~stimony, Nos. 1 and 2 respectively, and original summon8 
to witnesses, Nos. 1 and 2 respectivel~', with ncc('ptance of service of 
notice No.1 endorsed thereon by 'Y. J. Whipper, attorney for contestee, 
and acceptance of No.2 endorsed on the same by A. G. Thomas, llated, 
rl'spective1y, said first notice acceptE'd 13th February, 1877, and said 
second notice, dated 17th, 1877. And I bereby further certify that the 
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following interlineations anil erasures were made by me, or by my author­
ity. before signiug and sealiug the same. 

Tbe last six lines 011 page 47 are erased. 
On page 152, last line ou said page erased. 
On page !!54, six last lines erHst'd. 
On page 95, 17th line, the wort! " your" erased. 
On page 17~, betwtleu lines 23 and '4, the word "Republican" inter­

lint'd. 
On page 245, the words" against colored men" interlined. 
[SEAL.] JEFF. WAn,REN, 

Botar!l PubliC, Beaufort Oou.nt!l, Bouth OarolilUJ. 

No. 31. 

COLLETON COUNTY. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
State of South Oarolina, BIl: 

ToFred. La vi say, Dr. Edward Bissell, Cresar PenceRI, Henry Green, John 
MRlltift'r, Tony Coyer, Paul BeR, Isaac Fields. Abraham Kelly, Billy 
Mitchell. Tom McCormick, jr., Da\'id Oweus, M. Barnes, Rohert Fish­
hurof', \V. T. FiNhbnrne, O. P. Fisbburne, L. I. WitRell, W .• James 
Captors. E. \V. Fraser, W. H. Nix, A. C. Williams, Mingo Sanders, 
Benjamin I"I'anklin, and E. Bowers. 
:roo Rnll each of you are hereby required and commanded that, laying 

aSlile all busiuesN Ilnd excuses wbRtsoever, you be and appear before 
me,judge of the probate cnurt of CQlltltou County, at my office in Wal­
tl'rborough, at the cQurt,hoU!~e building, in tbl' said county of Cn11etQn, on 
tbe 21llt day of Fehruary. 1~77, at 8 o'clock in tbe forenQon of said day, 
then alld theJ'tl to testi(v your knowledge in the cQntested election tor 
the fifth cnngressional district £If South Oarolina, now pending, wherein 
George D. Tillman is con tf'8tan t, and Rohert Smalls contestee, ou the part 
orr he contestant; and this yQU are in 11£1 wise to omit unuer the penalty 
oU:!O and imprhlOnment. 

Witness the said judge of prohatf', who hath hpreullto set his hand 
and senl, the ninett!t'uth day of February, A. D. 1877. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, Judge of Probate. 

UNITED S'l'ATES OF AMKRICA. 
State of South Ollrolina, B8 : 

To John Graham. John Jf'ukinH, Gtlorge BiRRell. Jonatha.n Lucas, W. 
W.lkf'R, Henry Proctor, Pompf'~' Bllrns. Alfl'ed Smith, Jim Robertson, 
S. 8. SI\\"Il/Z'f', Rohert WilliamH. Etlwin McTeer, 'J. P. Tbomas, Samuel 
Marvin, Rnoort. Grl'ell, June Grt'en, llenry Ricbltrds. Billy Higgins, 
Sampson Clark, Jack SnilIt>S, Uichard KOyt'r, R. E. Lane, C. H. 
Brownlee. W. W. Clement, Tillman Johnson, Samuel Williams, Toby 
Sargent, Benjamin Simmons, William Rivers, and Jack Holmes. 

You and each of you are hereby reqnired and commanded that, laying 
aside all bnsiness and excus(>s whatsQever, you be and appear before me, 
judge of probate court ofColleton County, at my office in Walt(>rborough, 
at the ('Qnrt-house building in the said county £If Collf'ton, on the 22d day 
of February, 1877, at 8 o'clock in the forenQon of snid day, then and there 
to testify your knowledge in tbe cQntested election tor tbp. fifth Congres­
sOllaJ district of South Carolina now pendiug, wherein Geo. D. Tillman 
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is contestant, and Robert Smans contestee, on tbe part of the contestant; 
and this you are in no wise to omit, uuder the penalty of .20 and impris. 
onment. 

Witnt'88 the said judge of probate, who bath hereunto set his hand 
and seal the 21st day of February, A. D. 1877 • 
• [SEAL.] B. STOKES, Judge of Probate. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Colleton County: 

To HOll. ROBERT SMALLS: 
Yon are herehy notified that I will examine the following.named wit­

nesses, in addition to those named in my previous notice to you, all of 
wbom resiue in Collt'ton Oounty, relutive to anu touching the mattel'" 
and tbings set forth in my notice to you, that 1 would contt'st ~'ollr right 
to a seat in the Congress of the United StatfS, to which ~'ou claim to 
have bet-n elected ut the Nm'ember elt'ction in 1876, for the filth Con· 
gressional district of the State of South OaJ'Olina, before Bt'lIjalUin 
Stokes, jndge of the probate court of Colletou Couot~·, io 1 he State 
aforesaid, at the court-house buildings in the town of Wltlterborough, on 
tbe 22d, ~3d, 24th, 25th, 26th, and ~'ith dltYs of Fl'bruItI'Y, illstant, be· 
tWt'en the hours of 8 o'clock a. m. aud 6 o'clock I'. 10., of sllid da,} 8, or 
I!IO many a11(II;O mnch thereof as may be necessary for the examinatiou 
of said witnesst's, to wit: 

John Graham and John Jenkins, George Bissell, Jonathan LUCHR, ,Yo 
W. Ike, Henry Proctor, POIl1"e~' Buros. Alfred SllIith auel Jim Rub· 
ertson, S. S. Savage, Robert 'ViIlial\l!~, Edwin llcTeer, J. P. ThoIllUM, 
Samuel Man'in, Robert Green. June Ureen, IIt'nr~' RicharllN, BiII~' Bi~. 
~ins, Sampson Olark, Jack Snipes, Richard Koyer, R. E. Laue, C. H. 
Brownlee, 'V. W. Clement, 'J'illman .Tohnson, SlImut'l \Villiallls, Tuby 
Sargent, Benjamin Simmons, William Uivers IIud Jack Holme!;. 

G. D. 'rILL)IAN, 
Per J. J. FOX, C. C. TI{ACY, 

. Of Counsel for Co rdata1tt. 

We aCCl'pt )e~a.l sen'ice of the within notice this 21st day of Feb­
ruary, 1877, at Walterborol1~h. 

ROBERT SlIALLS, 
Per THOS. H. WHEb:LER, W. T. MYERS. 

S'fATE OF SUCTH CAROLINA, 
County of Beaufort: 

Hon. ROBERT SMALLS: 

You are berelly notifled that I will examine the followillg·namffl wit· 
nesses, all of whom reside in Oolleton County, relative to Itud touching 
the matters and things set forth iu my notice to you tbat I would (,'00· 

test your right to a seat in tbe Congress of the Uuitt'd Statt's. to which 
yon claim to have beeu ele.ctt'd at the November election in 187ti, for the 
filth Congressional uistrict of the State of South Carolina, bt'fore Bt'o· 
jamill Stokes, judge of the coort of probate of Colleton COllllt~·, in the 
State afoft'said, at thecourt-houlle boilding in the town ofWIlItt'rborougb, 
on the 21st, 2:!d, 23d, 24th, 2.jth, 26th, and 27th days of February. instant .. 
between the hours .of 8 o'clock a. m. and 6 o'clock p. m., of .said days, 
or 80 many and so much thereof 8S may be necessary for the examina­
tion of said witnesses, to wit: 

Joel Larrissa, Dr. Edward Bissell, Cresar Penceol, Henry Green, 
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John Mn8tjfu~ Tony Coagao, Paul Bee, Isaac Fields, Abraham Kelley, 
Billey Mitchel, Tom 1tlcUormic,jr., David Owens, M. E. BarlJf~s, Robert 
Fishburn, W. J. D. Fishburn, U. P. Fishburn, L. J. 'Vitzell, W. James 
lJapers, E. W. Frazer, W. H. Nix, A. U. Williams, Mingo Sanders, and 
Benjamin Franklin and J. Bowers. 

G. D. TILLMAN, 
Per W M. ELLIOTT, 

Attorney. 

I accept If'gal service of the within notice tbis 1st February, 1811, at 
Port Royal. 

M. J. WHIPPIR, 
Attorney for OontelStee. 

STATE OF SOUTH UAROLINA, Oolleton. Gnu"ty: 
Now, on the 2INt of Febrnary, A. D. 1871, coml's Bt>njamin Stokes, 

judge of prohate of Oullp.ton Oounty, State of South Uarolinll. pursuant 
to a notice of G. D. Tillman, contt'stllnt, Kervt'tl. upon Robert, Smalls, 
cont('stet'. tIle tlaid Stokes relJifling in the fifth Congressional district of 
the Stato of South Carolina, and eXllmines t111~ following-named wit­
nt!lR(>S, nnd takes the following telitimony in the cllse ot' G_ D. Tillman 
against Robert Smalls in the mattt'r of COli test fUI' a seat ill the Houtle 
of RepfI'st>nt31 hoes, Uuited States of America, Forty-fifth Congress, 
from the tlfth Congressional district of the Stawof South Carolina. 

Depositions tak(,JI in the court-house bnihling at Walterborougb, in Colle-
ton OOUllty, the day and year above written, in the above-st.l.ted case, 
as follows: 
Partit's prespnt: T. H. Whrelt'r, of oollllsel fur contestee, and J. J. 

Fox and C.U. Tl'acy, coulIs~1 for contetltaut. 
Cout.-stllllt pl'ellt'uts, in evidt'nce, his notice of time allcl place of tak­

ing tt'StiUlOIIY at this point, service of which saitt notice was ac:cepted 
by W. J. Wbipper, attorney tor contestee, at Port Rolal, 10th Febru-
ary instant. . 

E_ W .•• RASER, a witnt'ss in behalf of COli tt'sta nt in the matter of con­
tt'st for Rt'at in the Fort.,- fiftb Uongress of tbo United StateR from the 
fifth district of South Carolina, testifies 8S follows, after being duly 
sworn: 

• QI1t>stion. Where cliel yon vote at the last general election in Novem-
h(-r 7th T-AIIKwt'r. Vot~tl. Crolls-Roads tlchool-houSf'. 

Q. Were you there when tbe polls opened I-A. Was on the ground, 
but 1I0t immediately at tbe box. 

Q. Wht'll did tbat box open, at what hour the voting commenced f­
A. Voting cOlDmenced abont 7 o'clock a. III. 

Q. TlJat ill about" you meall to say, an hour later than time specified 
by law !-A. Yell, Fir; that is what I mean. 

Cross-examined by T. H. Wheeler, of counsel for cnntestee : 
Q- Bow far were you from the polls at the time the voting corn­

menced f-A. About twenty or thirty stellS. 
Q. Howdid you ascertain or know when the voting comrnencell f-A. 

It was 80 much after daylight that several persons inquir(\d of othel'S 
that bad watcbed what time it was; and among otht'rs inquired of was 
one of the managt'rs, whose answer I did not hear, but, heard several 
otbers say it was about an hour after the time appomtcd by law to open 
the boxes. 
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Q. Do you know, of your own knowledge, what time it·wasl-A. Not 
exactly. I do not. 

Q. Do you know whether all the persons who desired ro vote at that 
poll voted t-A. I think all voted who desired so to do. 

Re·examined by contestant: 
Q. Might not some persons come there before the legal hour ro vote 

and gOlle away before the polls were opened I-A. Possible, but very 
improbable. 

E. W. FRASER. 

Sworn to and snbscribed before me this 21st day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Judge of Probate of Oolleton Oounty, Sout/, Oarolina. 

ROBERT FISHBURNE, a witness, in behalf of conteAtaot, in the 1natter 
of contest for seat in the Forty·fifth Congress of the United States from 
the fifth district of Sooth Carolina, testifies as follows, after being duly 
sworn: 

Question. What is your age' Where were YOIl born and renred 1-
Answer. Thirty.five years of age, and born anti reared in Colletoll 
Couoty. . 

Q. In what portion of the county have yon resitled and doing 
business for the last few years I-A. Lower portion, near the Charleston 
lint". 

Q. Does that portion of the county contain the rice· plantations, where 
the colored population largely preponderates over the white I-A. Both 
ricp. and cotton, and tbe (!olored population preponderates. 

Q. Was it ill that portion of the count,y where strikes occurn>d among 
the agricultural laborers last fall, during the election canvass I-A. 
Y£'s j that is in the lower f,art of the count.y. 

Q. Do you not mean the conn try lying betwet'n the Savannah and 
CbarleHton Railroad and the ocean, and particularly ncar that road, ou 
both sid~ of itl-A. Yes. 

Q. Are YOll not planting rice n('ar tbat road, and, if so, at what 
J,!oiII tf-A. Yes j near Rantowll"s station. 

Q. HO\l many v()ting·precinctK are there 011 tbat road and near it! aOlI 
name tbem.-A. Six: Rantowie's station, Ravenel station, Jacksoll· 
borough station. Asbepoo station j Adams Run precinct, two miles from 
tbe road, anci Blue Boutle, au:mt four milPH from the road. 

Q. What part did you take in. tbe election cam'oEls hlst year T-A. I 
was the D£'wocratic county chairman of Culleton County. 

Q. Wbat portion of the county wpre you in 011 the day of the election, 
ancl how rullllY pr£'cincts did you attend, alld how otten did JOU \'isit 
them T-A. Was on the Savannah and Charlestou Uailroad with a 
chartere(l train j visited four precincts immediately upon, and "iMited 
them two or three times each j and rt"cei\'ed reports trom two other pre­
cincts uy couriers, Blue House and Adams Run, several times througb 
the day. 

Q. Did you see or hear any intimidation of aoy persons desiring to 
,"ote the Democratic ticket! Rod, if so, state wheu and where, gil'injt 
incident by incident, of each person, and what precincbl that they 
occurred.-A. I saw a great deal of intimidation at the Ravenel lIre· 
cinct of persons desiring to \'ote the Democratic ticket, so much so that 
I had started with the train to Adams Run station to briug dowu the 
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United States troops for the protection of Democratic voters, having 
previously arranged with the officer commanding United States troops 
at tbat point to come to our assistance if any disturbance occurN'd, 
wbeo the intimidaters desisted for awhile, but several times doring the 
day renewed their acts of intimidation. I several times spoke to the 
intimidaters, and threatened to have the box thrown oot unless they 
detlisted; that they, the Uepublicans, had a majority in tbe box and 
ougbt to be satisfied, but they still kept up tbe intimidation, off and on, 
during tbe greater part of the day. Benjamin Franklin, a colored 
voter, callie to me just before the polls were opt'ned, stated that be 
desired to vote the Democratic ticket, and would, if he was allowed to rlo . 
60, all soou as the polls were open, and before the crowd collected, as his 
life was threatened if h~ voted the Democratic ticket. .As soon as the 
box was open RCvpral of U8 walked up with him, and he vott'd and went 
immediately off. The next instance-later in the doy-I saw a white 
wan, by the lIame of Johnson, abont being mobbed for voting the Dem· 
ocratic tickt't, and went to his rescne and got him away from the crowd. 
The third iustance noticed, about dusk, }lingo Salldel'!1, a colored voter, 
Cllllle to me and said he would like to '"Ole the Democratic ticket, but 
bis life had been threatened if he did so. I tben marked a Democratic 
ticket and sent it to him by Sam Williams. a colorf'd man, with instruc· 
tiuns to say that he was voting the Republican ticket, which he did. 

Q. About wbat length of time do you suppo~ that YOIl were present 
at tbe Ravenel precinct f-A. Oil' and on. about haIr the day. 

Q. Did you bear any threats against Democratic voters f-A. I did; 
I beard threats made in language thus: "We ought to beat to death 
any damn black son of a bitch who would vote the Democratic ticket;» 
saw clubs being brandished, but no fire.arms; clubs were not ,,'alking. 
sticks, but short clubs. 

Q. Were there any women there that day, and, if so, wbat did they 
say and dot-A. There were a few mixed up in the crowd; do not rec· 
ollect of hearing Qny particular remark from them. 

Q. Were there any boys there that Wf're under age; and if so, were 
tb~ir votes chdllenged, and what was said and done about it T-A. I saw 
several there, young lUen whose votes were chal1ellged, but were allowed 
to vote; did not know tht'ir ages; they were strangers to me. 

Q. Why were they allowed to vote; was it by a majority of the man· 
agers deciding to let thew vote, or did all the managers allow them to 
\'ote f-A. Gt'nerally by a majority of the IDsnagerN. 

Q. Were the majority of the managers at that precinct Republicans, 
and was not that the case of every precinct in the county f-A. Can 
state as to this precinct that a majority of the managers were Rt>pub. 
licans, and I belie\'e that there was a majority of Republicans, as man· 
ageI'M, at aU the precincts in the county. 

Q. As chairman of tbe Democratic party of the county were yoo not 
,"ery a }th'e yourself in the campaign, making speeches and visiting the 
large rice plantations, both by night and dayf-A. I was. 

Q. How many timt's dnrinK tho canvass did you '\"isit and speak to 
voters in the neighborhood of Ra\'enel precinct f-A . .A great many; 
do not recollect how many. I lived between Ravenel and Ran towle's 
precinct, two and one·half miles from the one, and about two miles from 
\he other. 

Q. Wt're any strangers permitted to vote at Ravenel that you think 
were not entitled to '\"ote f 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee.) . 
A. I thiuk there were. I am familiar with names and faces of the 
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most of the voters at that precinct, and I saw twenty-five or thirty 
faces that was generally understood to come from the island. 

Q. Did or not the Republic~n manager~, at all the precincts visited 
by you that day, permit anyone to vote tbat applied, without regard 
to the objections of the Democratic managers f-A. In e\?ery case that 
came under my observation the party challenged was allowed to vote if 
he swore that he was entitled to vote according to law, even when 
proof was offered to the contrary by the Democratic challengers. 

Q_ Did not a great mauy persons, who had previously affiliated with 
the Republican pa.rty, l.romise to try Hampton and the Democratic 
party for two years at the Ra\'('nel precinct; and if so, about what nom­
ber '-A. Yes; at least olle hundred, and I believe that they would 
hll't'e nOlle it if let alolle. 

Q. Would the rE'sult been different at Ravenel's precinct had there 
heen no intimidation practioetl by RepubliMn voters 1-A.. Undoubt­
edly, the Democrats w(luld ha\'e got a ~l'eat many more votes. 

Q. Gh'e us the particular and individulII instauces of intimidation 
pructiof'd at Rautowle's precinct by RE'publicans, that Clime uuder your 
immediate observation.-A. Personally saw none. 

Q. Was n·ot the aggrt.>gate "ote in C~lletin County, at the last election, 
much larger than any vote gh'en sillce the \var 1-A.. It was. 

Q. But for the iutimidlltion practiced at the Ravenel pon would not 
the Democrats have carried the po)) 1-A. No; I do not think we wOllld. 

Q. Was there any illtimidlltioll practiced before the election by Re­
publicans! and if so, give the individual and l)articular int4tance8 at 
that poll.-A. Plenty of it; I remcmber, about a month before the p.lec­
tion, bf.'aring tbreats used against the following persolls: Thomas Field, 
Simon Butler, Jake Ca.lder, EXlIluth \Vashiogton, and others, because, 
it was said, they were going to \"ote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Did you ha\'e a. colored Democratic club raised in the vicinity of 
Ravenel's; and if so, ahout what numberf-A. YelS; about lifty. 

Q. About bow Dlany Democratic clubs in the six precincts that you 
,-isited and bad reports from that day; I mean colored Uemocratic 
cluhs'-A. As far as I know, all colored Democrats joined the wlJite, 
with the exception of the olle colored club mentioned, which was a col­
orc'd Delllocratic ritle-club. 

Q. But for the intimidation practiCE'd by the Republicans, before and 
ou the day of election, would or not tbe Democrats have carried the 
Ravenell)\'l'cinct '-A. I think we wonld. 

Q. Had yon not a grf.'at many colored Democrats, members of the 
wbite Democratic clubs, in the neighborhood of the six l)recincts men· 
tioned; and if 80, abont what numberT-A. We bad a great many, but 
1 am Dot 8ufficit'ntly well informed to give tbe number. 

Q. About what number of the colored Democrats that still voted the 
D~lUocratic ticket atter this intimidation at Ravenel's '-A. I am uoable 
to answer, IIOt knowing the relative strength of tbe two races. 

Q. Was the intimidation towards colored Democrat8 general or only 
partial ill the lower part of the county 1-A. So far as my knowledge 
goes, it was genera.l. 

Q. Was there cousiderable rioting among the colored laborers in that 
portion of th" couuty I-A. 80 far as my knowledge goes, there was 1 

Q. Iu your opinion, did t.he strikes in that portion of the county 
have auy political significance, ami wbat are the grounds of that belief 
if they dill have a politic<\1 signific<\nce' 

(This fluestioll WUIS olUected to lJy counsel for the contestee.) 
A. Think it did; 1 think the strike 'vas gotten up by tbe leaders of the 
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Republican party with a view of arraying the black race agllinst the 
white, llnd cause them to vote the Republican ticket. 

Q. Did, or oid not, the Republican officials attempt to prevent the 
riots; aO(I, if not, was it not in their power to do so, if they had chosen 1 
-A. To the best of my knowledge, they made a pretended effort to do 
so, at the Sllme time instigating the rioters to go on. The~ could cer· 
tainly have put a stop to the riots if they hall been in earnest. . 

Q. When did thl'se I'iots IirMt \)egin, and ho\v long did they continue' 
-A. About harvest time, say the lir~t of September, and, to the best of 
my knowledge, they have not t'nded ~·et. 

Q. What were the characteristics of these strikes, and did not Rome 
take pla('.e on ,ronr plantation, or in your illlmediate neighborhood '-A. 
They were brutal. There was a strike upon my own plantation, which 
was sUI,pressed fJi et armis by tbe planters and ot.hers. They wl're 
snppreKsed with ease 1 simply took their rifles and ran them into tbe river. 

Q. State all the C1rCluDstances atwnding this strike.-A. I was in· 
formed by several of my laborers that there wCl'ecertain parties in the field 
wht-re they were working who had threatened tbat if they did not stop 
work tbey would tlog them out of the field. Tht.>re was a trial.justice 
present who heard tbeir statement, and 1m authorized us, I think, ver· 
hally, to arrest said pl\rties and bring them before him. We immedi· 
atelyarmed our8elves nntl started in pnrRuit of the said partie8, as we 
und"rstood tbat they intended to make tight. We pursued as far as 
tbe Raotowle's Creek j some got across, and the balance scattered in the 
marsh. Dill not sl1cceed ill taking any prisoners. 'l'be reason why, I 
suppose, that they left was! tbat a womall named Susan Ladson was 
prest-ut RUII heard the tria,l justille'8 verbal order to arrest them, aud 
afterward went towards tbese lIIell and told tbem. 

(Counsel for contestee ohjected to witne~s swearing to his supposition,) 
Q, What were the ostensible purpose of thtlse riots, and what wages 

w.erll paid the workingmen at that time, and what .were tbe reasons 
gl,\'en for their high·handed proceedings by tbl' rioters !-A. To tbe best 
of Iny knowledge, the pretext of the rioters was, tbat tbe plantel'8 were 
not paying sufficient wages. The wages were tbe same as had been paid 
for fonr or live years pa.'1t pre\"ious to the strike. 

Q, Tell aU you know of tbe riots that occurred on the plantations in 
the lower Ilart of the county along the 0010 bahee ;and Asbepoo Rivers' 
-A, 1 ollly know that men wen' l:IulDlDoned out to protect pro(,erty on 
theile plantatiolls frOID the rioters, but wus not present at any disturb· 
aoce other than the one I have already mentioned. 

Q. Did you or did you not see any wen who were b('aten, or rice 
wasted by these rioters, anti was tbere not a wide-spread terrorism or 
intimidation of a political nature in that county T-A. There was a wide· 
spreilll terrol'ism among the laborers ill tho lower part of the county duro 
ing the strike j was lIOt preslmt upon the pla.ntations where rice was 
wasted. Saw one man badly beaten-said to be done by strikers. 

Q. Did or did not this wholt'sale intimidatioll change the result a.t 
all oftbese six polls; that is to say, would not tbe result of the election 
have been very different in the aggregate votes that. tbe Democrats got 
and the aggregatd votes tbat the Republicans gotT-A. Undoubtedly. 

Q. State what change, as nearly as you can-what cbanges would 
ha\'e taken place in vote of all these precincts if there had been no in­
timidation either befort.> and during the election' 

(Objected to, upon the ground that witness has no right to testify as 
to his opinion.) 
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A. To the best of my koowl~dge, the D~mocratic vote would have 
been largely increased. I cannot state specifio 1I0mber, without refer­
ring to the returns for each precinot. 

Cross·examined : 
Mr. W. F. M.rers appeared at this stage of the proceedings for eon­

testee as associate counsel with T. H. Wheeler, esq. 
Q. What section of the county did you li..-e in !-A. I lived in the 

lower part of t·he county, near Rautowle's station, on the SlLvannab & 
Oharleston Railroad • 
. Q. Did these scenes of the riots embody that whole section of tbe 

county; and if not, what portion and locality T-A. Not in every local­
ity, most in the Combahee, Ashepoo, and Edisto sections. 

Q. Did it take in all the polls mentioned by YOll in your direct·exam­
ination T-A. AU were more or less afft!Cted by the riots. 

Q. Do you or do you 1I0t know that a reduction of wages was made, 
or attempted to be mad.·, iu tho rice section bt>fore the stl'ike T-A. To 
the best of my knowledge there was an at tempt made in tl1e Combahee 
and Ashepoo sectiooll to reduce the wagt>S of laborers during the sum­
mt'r months, io which the planterd did not succeed. Iu the fall, at the 
commellceruent of the harvest, the h,borers demanded more wages than 
they had hitherto received, whioh the planters refused, and thereupon 
the strike commenced. 

Q. Are 110t the summer months the most important working season 
in the rice section Y-A. Decidedly not. I think the fall the most im­
portant season. 

Q. Are not the snmmer months among the most important of tbe 
working season f-A. 'fhe preparation of the land in the spring alld 
the hal'vesting in the fall are the most important part of the rict>-culture. 
III the summer mouths, in case lahor is short, the fields call he flooded, 
and whnt is known as the water·culture l1setl ; tberefore, I tbink that 
the summer work is the least important in rice·coltore. 

Q. Does 1I0t this process make a less prodncth'e harvest, and is not 
the ose of wau'r culture the except.ion rather thlm the rule '-A. On 
well·drained lands the dry and working culture is uni..-ersally pursued. 
On lands that do not drain well the water·culture iN onh·el'l4llll.v pursued. 
I thiok the culture is about t>qually divided in South Carolina. The 
production is greater on the dry·culture system than the water·culture. 

Q. Was tl1e percf>lItag4' of production greater or lesller than in for­
mt>r years '-A. I think it. considerably less, not only on account of 
the water-culture, which the planters were obliged to USf', but also on 
account of rice lost in cons('quence of the strilies io the rk-e rt'gioD. 

Q. Do you or do you not know that what is termed the check'lIystem 
is general in the rice section, and a great deal of dil'satisfact.ion eXpte88-
cd by the laboft'rs against the lise of these checles T-A. To the best of 
my knowledge, tbe planters in the rioe region generally,issue checks to 
their bauds during the week and cash them ou Saturday night~ I hal"e 
often heard laburers complain that they did not get their money every 
night. It is not Ilsual for a planter to pay more than once a week, as it is 
impossible ill certain SI ctions of the rice rpgion to get money every day; 
because ou large rice plantatiolJs it is hnpussil>le for planters to ascer­
tain what mout>y they will reqoire day by day; antI, as a general thing, 
the rice plantl'rs along the coast [are in I impecunious circuml'tances, 
and cannot hllve a large amount ot money at anyone time on hand. 

Q. Has it not often occurred that checks could not be casbed on Sat­
urday night: that the holderleither had to take it out in provisious Or' 
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walt an indefinite term to have them cashed f-A. Generally the plant­
ers cashed these checks on Saturday night, bot there were certain impe­
conious planters who could not meet their obligations on Saturday 
night, aud therefore obliged to pay their la.borers in 0010 OJ i!\sary goods 

Q. Has not tbis gi\"en J'ise to dissatisfaction among the holders, they 
being likewise impecunious I-A. Oertainly so, where impeconious plant 
era have not been able to pay their checks. 

Q. Are yon or not a.ware that planters, with capital at their command, 
have issued checks bearing 00 their face "redeemable" in some future 
year f-A. To the best of my knowledge there is ODe planter that has 
done so. 

Q. What is the name of that planter !-A. To the best of my knowl­
edge J. B. Bissell issued such checks. 

Q. Was not this check system one of the prime cnnses of the strike 
in Uombahee t-A. To the best of my knowledge the strike in Com­
bahf'e was altogether due to politics, a·nd that the labor qnestion was 
not at aU invoh'ed. 

Q. Was it not one of the alleged causes of the strike '-A. It was 
ODe of the alleged causes, but I do 110t thiuk the relll cause. 

Q. Do JOu not kllow that an apppal was made to Robert Smalls, con­
tetltee in thh~ case, to use his influence to suppress th" riot, aud that he 
did comply f 

(Objected to as irrelevant.) 
A. To the hest of my knowledge Robert Smalls was appealed to, as 

major general of the South Carolina militia, by the citizt~ns of the Com· 
babee section, to nse his authority to SlJpprcss a riot that the counly 
officials said tbey could not suhdue; stloid Robert Smalls went to ~he 
place in Uombahee, where the riot was going on, as major-general of the 
&luth Uarolina. militia. Tberpupon, the strikers, despite his orders, reo 
!ul!ed to di"'pprse; and said that if the said Robert Sm ails attempted to 
I~terfere with them, the strikers, that .. they would tie him up and gi\"e 
hIm one hundrell and fifty lashes on his big, fdot ass." 

Adjourned until to-morrow, at 8 o'clock a. m. 

Q. Did or did not SlOans, notwithstanding this threat, display an 
e.arnestness, and did finally succeed in dispersing the rioters '-A. To 
the be.st of my knowledge, he was earn est in attempting, but did not 
Succeed. 

(Objected to as irrele\"ant aod hearsay.) 
Q. How many cases of intimidation came under your personal ob­

servation at Ravf'lIel polls t-A. Three individual cases; plenty of in­
timidation p.ellerally. 

Q. Were there auy one who desired to vote the Democratic ticket at 
poll that was pre\-elltetl, to 'your own knowledge T-A. One JUan had to 
\'ote secretly, saying that he was votillg the Repnblican ticket; another 
bellged to be allowed to \'ote as soon as the polls were opened and be­
fore the crowd had collected, becaUl~e his life was in danger if he voted 
when the crowd was there, he said. I did not see the crowd ruo any­
body from the polls who desired to ,-ote. 

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge whether those meo voted 
the Democratic ticket '-A. I do; the man Franklin voted in my prps­
eDce; and I marked a ticket and sent it to Mingo Sanders; saw the 
marked tick('t when the votes were being connted. 

Q. Did yon call on the troops to assist, in allowing the vot('r8 to vote 
untrammeled I-A. I did Dot; I started to go for the troops, when the 
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intimidation desisted for a while; would have certainly brought them if 
I had thought they would have commenced again. 

Q. Did not 80me vote the Republican ticket for Hampton for governor 
in place of Chamberlain, at your own suggestion Y-A. 1 think not, at 
that precinct. 

Q. Did not th€'y vote the ticket, Republican I mean, in this form at 
that poll !-A. I think not. Hampton got a majority of \'otes, I think; 
that is, rnn ahead of ticl.et; hut there were a good mallY \'ot<'s ca~t 
only for State ofljcers; that accounts for Hamptun being ahead of his 
ticker. 

Q. What party has always recf'ivell a majority of "otes at this and 
the other polltl on the line of the Savannah and Charleston Raailroad !­
A. The RepubJican part.y. 

Q. When you used the expression in your testimony, both in the 
dirt'ct and cross f:'xamination, "to the best of my knowledge," is it or is 
it not to denote the distinction which yon make l)etweell that which you 
positively kllow and thllt whid. yon b,we hearll or tlt:\t which you belie\'e , 

(Objected to for iudefinitenel\s.) 
A. When I use the words" to the best of my knowledge," I mean 

upon informatiou and belief. 
Q. Have you not, on several occl\8iollS, said that the canvass 10 this 

county was a very quiet and peaceable ODl~ I-A. Up to a certain time 
before the election, I think I did. 

Q. Did you or did yon not say that you did not indorse the Edge­
field policyt-A. I did say that I dill not indortle any violence what­
ever; did not nse the words" Edgefield policy," I think. 

Q. Arc you certain that you did not use the words" Edgefield policy'" 
-A. 1 am not positive, but do not think I did use the words" Edge­
field policy." 

Q. Are you "till chairman of the Democratic party of this coonty t­
A. lam. 

Re<lirect eXllmination : 
Q. Why did the planters appeal to Smalls, atul not attempt to stop 

the riot themselves T-A. To the best of my knowlf:'dge (ubjected to 
on account of being hearsa.y) because Smalls was one of the leaders of 
the Republican pa.rty, and they thought that he coold put a stop to it 
if he so desired. H" also had anthority 1\1'1 major-general of militia. 

Q. What riot '\Tas this' Was it or W8101 it not thc l'iot Ihat took place 
at Ballouville, and 011 what date llid it take pluce !-A. It WitS the riot 
ut Ballouville; do not recollect the datt'o 

Q. Can you approximate that date T-A. I think about a month be· 
fore t,he election. 

Q. At what precinct do these rioters generally vote f-A. At Blue 
Hoose precinct. 

Q. Do you remember the (late at which Governor Chamberlain made 
his proclamatioll directing the rille·clubs to disl}erSe '-A. I do IIOt. 

Q. Did or did not President Grant issue a proclamation on or about 
the lith of October, 1876, following n!) that of Chamberlain' 

(Objected to as leading, as 1I0t being the bel!lt e\'idelJoo of the subject­
matter asked for.) 

A. I recollect the proclamation of President Grant, bot not the date. 
Q. Did or did not the whites obey these proclamations and not at· 

tc>mpt to disperse the rioters themselves I-A. They did, and did not 
attpmpt to disperse the rioters in the Combahee section. 
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Q. When you said that J. B. Bissell issued cbecks, "redeemable at 
some future ,year," did you know it of your own knowledge, or bad YOIl 
ollly heard so I-A. Did not know it of my own knowledge; had been 
told (10. . . 

Q. How. many tickets were run in tbis county at the election in No· 
vember, 1876' What were they, and what were their relation to the 
congressional election '-A. Three county tickets; one Democratic, and 
two Republican; two Congre&!ioual tickets, the Democrats snpporting 
one, and the Hel'ublicans supporting the other. 

Q. Did any voters at the Ravenel'/,! precinct promise and intend to 
vote the Democratic ticket who subsequently voted the Republicau 
ticket; and, if so, what was the CIHlse of such cbange, as far as your 
koowledge extends T-A. As far as my knowledge extends, a great many 
promised to vote tbe Democratic ticket that voted tbe RepubliClm ticket; 
for fear of personal violence was the canse of change. 

Q. Did the thil'd individnal mentioned by you, as intimidated at Rave· 
nel'!! precinct" vote the Democratic ticket iu !lpite of sucb intimidation ,­
A. He did; a number of us collected around and insisted UpOll hi8 right 
to '·ot~. 

Q. Were there not more stren uous efforts made in this campaign than 
in any previous one '-A. There was. 

Q. Is or is not your belief based, sometimes, on your own personal 
knowledge of circumstances tending to the establishment of the facts 
that you state, after the expression" to the best of your knowledge t"­
A. No. 

Recross-examination: 
Q. Was the democratic vote increased at the last election' 
(Objected to by counsel for the contestant as not in reply to new mat· 

ter brought out on the redirect examination.) 
A. I do not consider that there was any Democratic ticket run in this 

county since 1868, the democraUi generally voting a mixed tickf't. 
ROBERT 1.'ISlIBURN. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 22d day of February, A. D. 
1817, the counsel for both contestant and contestee being present, and 
fll'Ilt consenting to the following erasures and illterlineations: on 12th 
page, fourth and fifth lines from top, the words" as I stated before" 
being erdSed; on 15th page, eighth line from top, the word "that" 
~eing interlined; same page, tenth line, the word "expressed" being 
loterlined; same page, elevent.h line, the words" expressed by" being 
erased, and the word" against" interlined; on 19th page, third line from 
bottom, being interlined the word" they i" on the same page, foorth line 
from bottom, the words" one of" being lOterlinec1. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES. 
Probate Juagt. 

TONY KOGER, a witness in behalf of cont.estant, io the matter of coo· 
test for seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States from the 
tifth district of South Carolioa, testifies as follows, after being duly 
sworn: 
_ Question. What is your name, how old Rre you, and where do you 

hvet-Aoswer. Tony Koger; forty-six; live in Hendersonville. 
Q. Where were you working before the election in November, 1876 T­

A. (Jotting rice on the rommocks. 
Q. Were you ever whipped f-A. I was whipped. 
Q. Where were you w.aipped, and by whom T-A. On Bissell's Cypress 

H. Mis. 11--12 
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plantation, in the rice-field, and whipped by the strikers, 170 in a squad, 
consisting of boys, mell, women, and girls, about thirty whipping at 
the same time, aJl(l some of them could not get up to me. 

Q. \Ybat flid they say to you !-A. They askt'd me, " What were you 
doing here '" Told them I was worldng. Asked me what I was getting 
a day. An~wered tlmt I was getting two dollars a day. I was cutting 
rice with s('ythe. I told them I was trying to make an honest Ih-ing ; 
bad come a long ways from home. They cursed me for a. damn Spanish 
Democratic son of a bitch. " I seed you the other night at the speech," 
they said. " You damn Democratic son of a bitch, I will kill you and pnt 
yon in this truuk-run yon in this trunk in the callal." Jetfrt'y BS1'I1well 
said, "Kill him anyhow, nnd throw him in the trnnk anyhow. 'Vo got 
no use for him he1'e; had planted the rice for their own use." 

.Q. What dill they use to whip you '-A. With a raw cow-hide whip; 
beat me with sticks. In this time Tilomas Hamilton came and took me 
away. 

Q. Dhl thfly say anything to you about politics !-A. 0, yes; noth· 
ing but politics. Tht>y said that "you been to that speech the other 
night." I lIaill I hacl heen dere. Asked me what I was doing dere. I 
told them that ]I,Ir . .Bissell had put the horses ill the wagon f·or all to go 
that wanted. 

Q. What party was this speech for-Democrat or Republican' And 
where was it I-A. Democrat. At Green Pond, on the Sa\"'aunah and 
Charl(>ston Uailroad. 

Q. Were you OIncb burt'-A. 0, yes; was beat awfully. In my 
bed for three weeks with my arm. 

Q. Describe all your hUl'ts.-A. lly right arm, and left eye, and two 
places 011 tile head cut aud knocked oft' the skin with a stick; cut my 
coat oft· of me; cut me in the face, and hack, and breast, aud arm; cut 
me all up. 

Q. How long was it before you cou1<l work !-A. Three weeks. 
Q. IIow mallY Ulen were with you t-A. Wilee Laue, Reub .. n Lane, 

lIr. Thomas, DIy son-they run him into the river. Pompey Burns was 
there; he got away. Alonzo Elliott was there; be got away. Tbt'Y 
did uot whip him mucb. Tobe Dessaussure was there; they did not 
whip him much, because they were Radicals, so they say. They did not 
whil) them two \vben they whipped me aud my 80n ~ichard. 

Q. What time did tbis wbipI)ing occnr-what time of the year, month, 
and t.ime of the month T-A. About three o'clock in the day ,on Thnrsday; 
I can't tell what month, whether it was November or Ootober. I know 
that the rice ought all to have been io. 

Q. Was this crowd of strikerll-wera they Democrats, or Repnbli­
cans T-A. Republicans. 

Q. Who apllearf:'d to direct the crowd what to doT-A. The captain 
was $am Washington; the head man of Sam Washington was Jack 
"'iueglass. The general or head of' tbe strikers, he ride a mule. He 
saitl that be had the order from Governor Cham berlain to strike for 
higher wages; and e\'ery fortnight they camE', the strikers, to get thdr 
papers renewed. Said that their orders were in their pockets t.o strike 
for olle dollar lIer h"lf acre. They told Dr. Bissell-that is, Jack \Vine­
glass told Dr. Bissell-that if it was seven years they \vould get it. 

Q. Where was it that Jack Wineglass told Dr. Bissell that I-A. At 
Ballouville store. 

Q. Did you e\"'er have anything else done to you besides tbis ben' 
iug I-A. They threatened my life; they tbreaten now. I am in dread 
of it now. They cut up my cart, shot down one of my hogs. 
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Q. When was this I-A. Just before the election. 
Q. Did they do anything to you on election-da~' !-A. No, nothing 

hut threaten my life, to mob anll kill. Had clubs with na.ils chinm into 
tbem; batchets, bayonets, old pieces of Rwords. Said all the old Dem· 
oer-dt8 couhl vote, but any that join the DtllDocrats to \'ote that ticket 
was to be killed or whipped. In five minutes longer, if the soldiers hnd 
not com ... , there would have been the worse time than ever was known 
about bere. 

Q. What lIOrt of sticks did the Republicans ha"e at the polls '-A. 
Hickory sticks, white oak, with four nails driven cross ill the big end. 
The big end was ahout as hig as my fist. The stick was drawn oft· with 
kuit"e from the big end, like a policeman stick in shape. 

Q. Wha.t sort of head did these sticks hav8, and how long were th~y ,­
A.. Some three t'eet long, some two feet long. They had large heaels, 
and drawn down. 

Q. How many of these men had sticks of this kind I-A. Abol1~ 500 
or 1iOO; and what did not have stickl!l had bayonets, old pieces tlwords, 
hatchets. 

Q. What were the appearance of these sticks! Were they new, or 
0111 r 

,- , 

(Objected to by connsel for contestee, as leading.) 
A. Appeared like they had these stick~ aU the time. Th~y look Rlick. 
Q. Did you see any fire-arms or knives there !-A. Did not see no 

kDiveR or tire·arms. 
Q. Was there any women in this crowd at this precinct on Ellection· 

day T-A. Yes, sir; about thirty. It was said there was seventy. 
(Counsel for contestee objects to the last clause of the a.nswer upon 

tbe ground that a witness has nO'right to swear to rumor.) 
Q. Diel, or did you not, see any women dressed as men at tha.t poll I 
(Counsel for contestee objects to the question as indicating the answer 

de4irecl.) 

A. :No, sir; bnt all the women had clubs; the women swore that if 
tbl'ir hl1sbands voted the Demo(~ratic tic kElt they intended to kill them. 

Q. What kind of clubs did the women have !-A. The same as the 
men bad. 

Q. Were there or not any boys there; and, if so, about what number, 
and were tht"y also armed f-A. There were not many there, bllt what 
"as there bad sticks; one of them that came from the pine-land, his 
mother came, there amI made him throwaway his stick. After the 
IIOhliers came, the women began to throwaway their sticks, and also 
some of the men. 

Q. What time did the soldiers get there I-A. About 11 o'clock. 
Q. Were these boys fussy or notl-A. No; they seemed peaceable 

after the soldiers got there. 
Q. How many men were wbipped by the strikers before the election 1-

A. Six whipped on Mr. Vandarhorst's place; four whipped on the 
CYPret!8, wben 1 was there. Two or three days before I was whipped 
there was one whipped at Combabee ferry. One woman was whipped on 
llr. Vanderhorst's place. A great deal more was whipped, but I can't 
tdl of any more. 

Q. Did or did not the most of these strikers '\"ote lit the Blue House 
poll I-A. Yes, sir; the most of them voted there; the head ones voted 
there. 

Q. Were there or were there not many colored people who promised 
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to try the Democrats for two years who had previously voted the I«>publi. 
can ticket, and still call themselves Republicans '-A. Yes, agoo(l many. 

Q. Were or were not nearly all of these voters frightened from voting 
the Democratic ticket at Blue House' 

(Objected to by counsel as indicating tiJe answer sought.) 
A. Yes, a good many of them never went to the pollnt all; a good 

many would have gone and voted the Democratic ticket, but were afraid 
to go, as they did not wish to get tiJemseives hurt. 

Q. Did or did not a good Dlany join the DelDocraticclnbs-colored 
Repllblicans, I mean-who were subsequently fl'ighteoed oft from voting 
the Democratic ticket '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. The Republicans got between six amI seven hundred votps aod 
the Democrats betwpen two and three hundred \"otes al Blue House; 
how many more would the Democrats have gotten bllt for the intimida· 
tion practicf'd there, botiJ belore and at the election '-A. They would 
1Ia\'e got8 grt'at many more if the Radicals had not ha\'e made spt'echt's to 
them that thf'Y wonld have bt'en Pllt hack iuto flh,,'ery if they voted 
the Democratic ticket, and if they voted the Democratic ticket their 
right would he taken away, and they wonld have to have a ticket to 
sell l\ peck of corn or bushel of rice, ciJickens, and there would be no 
frf'e schools, and put back into sla\'ery. . 

Q. Would or would oot more colored pt'ople have voted the Demo· 
cratic ticket but for the feur of being beat or whipped at that pre­
cinct '-A. Yes, there would have voted more of them if they had not 
been afraid of being beat or wiJipped. 

Q. Yon lIaid something about cursing you a Spanish son ofa hitch. 
What. did they mean by that f-A. ]\Iy father was a Spaniard, and I was 
• h.ll Spani.nl. I was of 'be old Bonaparte pluck, an.l ~ afraid 
~~~~. ~ 

Cross·examined by Mr. l\Iyers, for contestee: - .. "': :~ 
Q. You spoke of bt'in~ whippt'd by the rice·rioters Whl ing in 

the rice-fields. State dl'finitely, if yon know. \vhat was their 0 jl'ct for 
whipping you f-A. I cannot tell, unless it was that I was getting two 
dollars a day j because they cut with the hook and I with the RCytht>, 
and I cut a great deal faster than they could with the hook. TiJf'Y al· 
low for the hook (~) half acre, which was a dollar, that is, to cut Bud 
tie it Ull, and with scythe I cut two acrps and matte two dollars a day, 
at t,hat rate, and the reason why the scythe come iu, the rice was waRt· 
ing, and they would not cut it nor let nobody else cut it. 

Q. In speakiug of being whipped, did the whippers, or strikf'rs, have 
any regard tor party meu, or was their object to pre\"ellt persons from 
working at a certain price I-A. They whipped me because I was a 
Democrat. 

Q. Did they, or not, wh'p a great many of the laborers who were at 
that time, and are now, outspoken Republicans '-A. Yes, thpy whiPlteti 
them too, as far as I know, and the on~ that they whipped they turD 
Democrats. 

Q. Do you know, of your own knowledge, that all of them turned 
Democrats '-A. They said there was no la\\' in the country, and were 
going to try the Democrats to see jf they could not do something for 
them, to see if the law would not be better. They tried the Jaw for 
eight years, and they keep saying that it would be better e\"ery year, 
and it ,vas not any better, and now they were going to try the Demo­
crats. 
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Q. How many did you hear say this '-A. I heard thirty say so that 
oineti our club the ~ight Mr. Tillman was there at Green Pond. 

Q. Have yon eVl'r heard them say that they were not in earnest in 
pledging themselves to the Democrats I-A. No; I never heard one of 
them say so. . 

Q. Did not the laborers say that they had planted and worked the 
rice and nobody should work and cut it for less money than they f-A. 
~Oj never heard anyone say of the like of that. 

Q. Do you understand !,be meaning of the word su bsequent I-A. ~ 0, 
sir; not exactly, unless you will tell me the sense of it. 

Q. Were any Repub:ic8ns or radicals whipped during the strike '-·A. 
Two of tbem whipped, but mighty lightly. 
~. Were any women whipped during the rice-strike that you know 

off-A. Women were wbipPl'd, but not tha.t day. 
Q. Do you not know tbat the payment in checks was complained of a 

great deal by those who received them in payment for tbeir work t-A. 
lu the linlt of the spring was a great deal of complaint about the 
checks. Some wallted money to pa.y their tax, and the sum mel' coming 
00, and there were so mucb cOllll>laint about these cbecks that the 
planteI'M then paid in hard casb, silvl'r. 

Q. Did they keep up this payment in cash among all the planters T­
A. All kept it up, as ti,r as I know. They paid in money when they 
wanted it, and those that wanted cbecks got checks. 

Q. As you stated that yon were only on the UODlbahee twlcl', could 
they not have paid entirely in checks and you know nothing of it !-A. 
Of my own knowledge they paid in silver. 

Q. How long were you at Blue House on the day of election! When 
did you go there '-A. I went there at one-half past six o'clock, and 
staid there until three o'clock. 

Q. You reached there before the box was opened '-A. The polls 
.. ere opened when I got there. The managers went ahead of me, and 
I followed on behind. 

Q. Bad they begun to vote before you got there, or dill you follow 
the managers directly t-A. I followed the managers directly behiud. 
Tbey had just opened and the votillg was going 011 when I got there. 

Q. Did you vote the Democratic ticket on tbat day I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What poll did you vote at, Ashepoo or Blue House T-A; I voted 

at Blne Ho~e. 
Q. How many staid at home on that day, and wbat are their names !­

A. As far as I know, Isaac SUlalls, Jobn Fields, Tobe Roberson, right 
around, close me. 

Q. When you left the poll, at tbree o'clock, wbere did yon go !-A. I 
wl'nt home. 
o Q. Do you know if any person was driven from tbe poll before vot­
Ing,OIl that day' and, if 1:10, name him.-A. No, sir; nollody was not, 
wbill\ I was therl'. 

Q- You left the poll after the great crowd. that were there assembh:'d. 
ro:ed f-A. 'The biggest crowd had done left when I went in, and voted • 
and left. 

Redirect examinat.ion : 
Q. Do you not know that tbe leaders of the strikers said, publicly, 

that they had to go to Walterborough, to the leaders of the Republican 
party, for instruction' 

(Counsel objected on tbe ground, first, of being hearsay; second, 
that it is not in answer to new matter brought within the cl·oss·exami­
nation; third, as being excessh'ely leading.) 
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A. No, sir; I know this much, that the head striker got the paper from 

Shaffer, Jerry, Ohamberlain, for higher wages, and anybody that worked 
for fifty cents a daS had to be whil)ped up to seventy·five cents a day; 
had orllers to that. effect. 

Q. Who is SbafferT-A. He nsed to be clerk of tbe court, and nOI\" 

county treasur,f'r, and the peoj.lle now can him Sharper. 
Q. You say you vote(llate, after the hulk of the voters had left; wIlY 

diel you wait until that hour to vote T-A. The l1ldicals lJad crowded the 
door, with clubs in tht'ir hands, and I would not crowd up, rush in. 

Q. How many peopll' were working with you in rice· field 011 tht'day 
you were whipped, and how many got swarT-A. Thirty hands at work 
with me in the field; all got away but four or fi\'e of us from the pine' 
land. " . 

Q. You mention that nearly all the colored men who were wbipJlf'd . 
joined the Democratic club (colored) at Green Pond; now, about bow I 

many colored men, "to the best of your knowledge, were memllt'rs of : 
the Democratic club at the election T-A. As far as I could nnderstaod I 

it, about sixty or sevent.y. 
Q. You mention the names of three or four colored men who promised : 

and intended to vote the Democratic ticket, staid at home au the day of 
election, tbrough fear; were they or not members of the colored Demo­
cratic club at Green Pond t 

(CoUOI!pl for contestee objects on the folIo winlt gronnds: flrst,oo . 
account of its being leading; second, not be ing in answer to new matter : 
brought out in cross.examination.) I 

4. One belong to tbe lIendel'son\'ille club, one to the Green Pood 
club, and two that did not belong to any club. 

Q. Yon were asked, ill your cross·examination, if women wt're not I 

whipped by strikers. Dill you see any women whipped by them f­
A. No more thau what I 11eard. 

Q. Yon said, also, in your cross-examination, that it seemed tbatthe 
strikers whipped you because you were a Democrat; what matlt' you 
think so T-A. Because I ever was a Democrat since 1865, amI alwayll I 
yoted the Democratic ticket, and they knew it; that malle me tbink so. 

Q. Dill 'Viueglllss tell yon, at any tilDe since the whipping, tbat if bl! 
had been there 11e wonld have whipped yon more., and the reason Le 
gave you for it' 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee as excessivaly leal1ing and Dot 
in allswt>r to new matter brought out in cro~8-ex:tminat.ion.) 

A. I !limply asked him at the electiou-Wine,::-lass, I knowt'{1 yon, aOfl 
what you went on so for that clay; said," You damn son of a bilt!b, it 1 
II ad come there, I would have gi\'en you more." Wiut'glass, I am going 
to try to vote an honest aud square "ote, and did not come ht're for al.~" 
fuss; mind though, nfter election, when everything comes rigbt. if till' 
law ever comes good Iik~ we used to have it, that whipping wonld turn 
de\'il to him, and he said that he would have whipped me more becaose 
I was a Democrat. 

Q. Bow many persous did yon see whipped by the strikeJ1lf-l. I 
saw my son whip(ll'd, amI Alonzo glliott, Tobe Dessu('ssure aud myself; 
that two of them I saw whipped at some distance away. 

Sworn to and snbscribed before me this 22d 
1877. 

[SEA.L.] 

hill 
TONEY + KOGER. 

mr.rk. 

day of February, A. D. 

B. STOKES, 
Probate Jui". 
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I certify that prior to tbe subscription of th~ above, tbe counsel for 
oontestant and con teste., being present, amI both consenting to the same, 
I made the following t>rasures and intel'lineations, to wit: On 2:3d pngt>, 
first line from top, the word "were" intt>rlined; on 24th page, third 
Iioe from bottom, tbe word" turn" interlined; on 25th page, twt>lfth 
line from toP. the word "ill" ern sed ; on 26th page, twelfth linc from 
top, tile words" ohject that" erased; on sixteenth line from top, on same 
pagP", the word" had;" on the 28th page, eighth line from top, the word 
II would" eras('d; on 29th page, fifth line from bottom, the word 
"scytbe," intel'lined; 011 the 30th page, first liue from toll, tbe word~ 
"did they," erased, and on the first line from bottom the word" head" 
ioterlin("(l; on the 33d page, second line from bottom, lettf>r" A" erased. 

[sEALl B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge of Colleton Oounty, South Carolina. 

Adjourned until to-morrow at 8.30 a. m. 
[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 

Probate Judge of Oolleton Oounty, South Oarolina. 

Haviug met pursuant to adjonrnment, at 8l a. m., this February 2311, 
lSi7-present, 'V. F. Myers and J. II. 'Vheder, cou1Jt!cl for contestee, 
and C. C. Tracy and J. J. Fox, counsel for contestant-administcl'e<i 
oath to 1\1. C. Connor to fairly amI impartially act as clerk. 

RICHA.RD KOGER, a witness in behalf of contestant, in tbe matter of 
cootest for seat in tbe Forty-fifth Congress of the Unite!) States from 
tbe fifth district of South Uarolin3, testifies as follows, after bdng duly 
sworn: 

Question. How old are you, and wbere do you lh-e f-Answer. I am 
tWl'lIty-tbree now, and lh-e in Hendersonville. 

Q. Yon ar., a son of Tony Koger'I'I, are you 1I0t '-A. YeN, sir. 
Q_ Do you remember the time when your father was whipped '-A. 

Tell, sir. 
Q. Who whipped bim, and what dill tht>y say Y-A. The strikers 

whipped him, aud they said, "You damned Democrat son of a bitch, 
wbat 'ue you doing here "~ 

Q. Did they whip you 7-A.. Yes, sir. 
Q. To what party dicl tbol'le who whipped yon belong-Democrat or 

Republican I-A. The Republican. 
Q. Do you know what they whipped you for f-A. Because I was a 

Democrat. . 
Q. Did they say that it was because you were a Democrat' 
(Counsel for contestee objected to the leading charact.,r of the abo,-e 

que~tion.) 

A. Yt's, sir. 
Q. Where did yon vote at the election iu November, 1876 T-A. At 

Blue House. 
Q. Did many Republicans vote there '-A. Yt>s, sir. 
Q. Did or did not most of the strikers vote at that precinct !-A. 

The morest of the strikel's. I mean the morest of them in that neigh­
borhood that whipped me. I don't know anything about the other polls. 

Q. How long were you at the polls on election-day T-A. I was there 
from snnrij!e till 3 o'clock. 

Q. What did the Hepublican crowd say amI do on that day '-A 
Some of their wh-cs said that if they voted the Democra.tic ticket it 
would be the death of them before they got home. 
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Q. Did the men say anything about politics !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What did they say 7-A. They asked wbo I was going to vote for, 

and showed them tny ticket-the white and colored Democrats. 
Q. Did, or did not, the Republicans curse and try to scare anyone; 

and if so, what kind of weapons did t.hey have !-e\.. I did not bear 
them curse any oue but my father. They said if they bad hoM of 
him they would beat tbe damned Democrat ont of him. They had 
mllMket~. Had swords tbat were broken off. Had clubs, with nails 
driven through them cross-ways. Tbe women had their clotheR tied up 
to tbeir knees, and had their clubs on their shoulders. Clubs were 
three teet long. 

Q. Would or would not more colored people have voted the Demo­
cratic ticket if they had not heen scaretl T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q_ How many more I-A. Tbree more I know right there that did not 
go to the poll at all. 

Q. What do you mean by right there f-A. I mean right at the place, 
but tbt>re were more. 

Q. You Raid there were three more riglJt tbere who dill not go to the 
poll at all. Now what do you mt'all by right tht'rtd-A. I mecm right 
there in the neighborhood, and there was one mau that; went to the poll 
who did 1I0t \-ote at all. 

Q. About how mauy women were there T-A. About thirty was right 
there. 

Q. Did you, or did you not, see any knives there, and, if so, what sort 
of knives T-A. Dirks, !arge meat-knives about a foot aud l' half long. 

Cross-examined by Mr. T. H. Wheeler: 

Q. Where were you working at the time that you say YOll were 
benten7-A. Down at Mr. BisseU's plantation, on Combahee Ferry­
Cyprt'ss plalltation. 

Q. How long had you been there '-A. I had been working there 
three or four days. 

Q. At what time; where did you live t-A. I lived up at Henderson­
ville; I weut there to work. 

Q. How long had you livf'd at Hendersonville T-A. I been there 
since the sec01l(1 yeur after the war. 

Q. How far is IIendersollviUe, the place where you lived, from Blue 
House precinct f-A. About four mil(',s. 

Q. How llIany men were in the crowd that you said whipped you and 
yonr father 7-A. One hundred and st'venty. 

Q How do you know their numberY-A. Because they said 80. 
~. Who said so f-A. The same ones that had me. 
(~. Had you any other way of knowing their number, other than that 

which you heard '-A. I don't know any other way but what they told 
me. 

Q. Where bad yon been working before you commenced working for 
Mr. Bissell T-A. 1 was working at· home. 

Q. How far is your borne from Mr. Bissell's, the place where yon were 
working 7--.,;A. About fifteen miles. 

Q. Had you been in the habit of working in the rice-fields in the Com­
bahee section t-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. At what place or places '-A. At James Heyward's. 
Q. When and bow long did you work for James Heyward I-A. I 

would go down there Mouday morning, and work till Saturday night, 
get paid off and come back home. 

(~. IIow 10llg dill you work for James Heyward f-A. In the fall of 
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tbe year wben I got done laying by, sometimes I would go down and 
work sometimes a week, and sometimes a fortnigbt. 

Q. In what year, or years, did you work fur James Heyward before ' 
tbe strike '-A. About four years before, aud then I stopped aud came 
back home, and see to my other business on the plaee bome. 

Q. How long did you work for James Deywanl '-A. I woultl go 
down 11nd work a week, and then come back hume, and see to my other 
business, and then I would go down and work another week, and when 
I hatt worked two weeks, and got a little money. I would go home and 
IItay a month, and sbift and cban2e about that way. 

Q. Do you know bow many seatlons you worked there '-A. I worked 
there olle 8e1\80n. 

Q. How filr were yoo from yoor f"ther when the strikers came op to 
your fathert-A. About five feet. 

Q. What did they suy f-A. They did not say anything bot "yoo 
damned Democrat son of a bitch, you must leave down here." They 
were saying a heap, but I coold not hear allY more, for their wbips were 
erdcking. They were aroond me, aud whipping me, and had such a fuss 
I COUlll not bear any more. 

Q. Did tbey ask you how much you were getting for working '-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you tell them '-A. Yes, sil'; I told them I was getting two 
dolluftl a day .• 

Q. Did they tell you that was too little !-A.. They didn't tell me any­
thing at all. I tried to talk to them, but I couldu't. 

Q. Did they say that they had worked the rice, and that no one else 
should cut it '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Have you seen any of tbe checks issue(l by the planters on that 
rived-A. Not at that time; there was nothing there bu~ money. 

Q. Have JOu seen them at any otller time '-A. Yes, sir; I have seen 
them hefore that time. I have been paid off with them myself. 

Q. How long before that '-A. All the time before that they paid oft' 
in checks, and they were exchanged for mOlley. 

Q. You said, a few minutes ago, that you had only beAn working 
there three days, and that you had not worked in that section for four 
years; how do you know that the p(>ople were paid oft' in checks, and 
that their checkM were cashed f-A. They were cashed, because they 
Il68hed mine, and I seen them cashing them. 

Q. 1Ia\"e you heard any laborers grumble about being paid oft' in 
cht'ckM, and lIot in money t-A. No, sir. 

Q. About wbat time ill the year were yon beaten '-A. The nine­
teenth of September. 

Q. How do you know it was on the nineteenth of September !-Be­
caulSe I counted it up. 

Q. When did you count it up '-A. I counted it up the same day. 
Q. Can you read or figure; by figure, I mean count numbers T-A. 

Yes; as far as that was. 
Q. Can you count any furthed-A. Yes; I can count further, by 

counting right straight along. 
Q. Can you read or can you write '-A. No, sir; I can spell some. 
Q. Do you know the duy of the month that to-day is !-A. No, sir; I 

never couuted it np yet. 
Q. Did you yote at the Blue-House poll '-A. 1(>S. 
Q. What ticket did you vote I-A. I voted the Democratic ticket. 
Q. At what time did you vote T-A. About four o'clock. 
Q. Do you knO\v at what time your futher voted; I mean Tony 

Kogerf-A. In a gang, just before I did. They swore ten at a time. 
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Q. Dill you leave the polls at the same time your father left'l-A. 
Yes; we came home together. 

Q. Was there any disturbance or fight at that poll 7-A. No, sir; 
there was no fight, only they would run over each other when they 
were going in the door. 

Q. At what time did you comA to the poll f-A. Sunrise. 
(~. Was that before the polls were opeued f-A. The box was opened 

before I got then'. 
Q. Did you and your father go .there together '-A. Yes, sir.' 
Q. Did you stay at the poll all the time that your father did; I mean 

Tony Koger f-A. Yes. 
Q. How many men had fire-arms or guns f-A. I saw some four or 

five with muskets, some ten or twelve pistols were there. I could not 
see any further because I was on the ground, and there was such a big 
crowd. 

Q. Did the crowd leave that poll; and, if so, at what time I-A. They 
ne\"'er left it till they got through voting, the crowd didn't. 

Q. At what time did the.v get through voting f-A. About fi\"'e o'clock. 
Q. Did they leave then f-A. Yes. sir. 
(l. YO'U have just said that you left at four o'clock (the polls;) how do 

you know that they had finished voting at fi\"'e O'clock, wht'n you had 
gone, and how do you know what time they left I-A. Mr. :McTeer said 
so; he was one of the managers. • 

Q. Was he a Democratic or Republican manager 7-A. A Democratic 
manager. 

Q. Did you tell the crowd there what ticket you intended to vote'­
A. Yt'S; I told the Democrat crowd that I wal!! with I would '\"'ote a 
Democratic ticket. 

Q. Did you tell any ofthe Republicans f-A. No, I didn't tell no Re­
publican. 

Q. Did the Republicans know what ticket you intended to vote !-A. 
I don't know whether tlley did, right there, or not. 

Redirect examination by C. C. Tracy, esq., (white) for contesL'\Ut: 
Q. Whose Jand do you live on '-A. Mr. Haskell's. 
Q. Does or does not yonr father own land' 
(Counsel for contestee objects, because it is not in reply to new matter.) 
A. Did use to own that same piece, but it was sold from him; he 

bought it back, but has not paid for it. 
Q. What did you cut rice with 7-A. A cradle. 
Q. Can you cut much more with a scythe than with a reaping hook ,­

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You said that yon '\"'oted about four o'clock; why did yon vote 80 

late !-A. Because I could not get in. 
Q. Did the Democrats have to stand aside to wait on the Republicans, 

or did they vote right along with them f-A. No, sir, they didu't vote 
right along with the Uepublicans; the Democrats had to stand aside 
and wait on the RepUblicans. 

Q. You said, in your cross·examination, that the people about the 
polls run over one another in going in the door; which was rllO over 
most, Radicals or Democrats f-A. The Radicals run over one auother. 

Q. You also said that there was no fighting at the polls that day j 
didn't it look like there would be a fight when the soldiers arrived '-A. 
Yes, it looked very much like it. 

bis 
RICHARD + KOG En. 

mark. 
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Sworn to and snbscribed before me this 23d day of February, A. D. 
1877, the counsel for contestant and contestee, being present, first con­
senting to the following erasnres and interlin6\l.tions: On thirty.ninth 
page, fourth line from bottom, letter "A" being erased; forty-fifth page, 
fifth line from bottom, words" was sold" interlined. 

[SEAL. 1 n. STOKES, 
. Probate Judge of Oolleton Oountg, Bout], Oarolina. 

ALFRED SMITH, (colored,) a witness in bebalf of contestant in tbe 
matter of contest for seat in the Forty-fifth Oongress of' the United 
Statt's from the fifth district of South Oarolina, testifies as follows, 
after being duly sworn. 

C. O. Tracy, esq., for contestant. 
Question. Where do yon live '-Answer. At Mr. Bellinger's planta­

tioll. 
Q. Wbere did you vote at the election in November, 18761-A. Blue 

BousE'. 
Q. How far is that from wbere you live I-A. Oounted to be five 

miles. 
Q. How long were you at the polls on election-day I-A. From soorise 

till balf past three o'clock. 
Q. About what time of the day did yoo vote I-A. Half past three. 
Q. Did you see any weapons tht're-arms, guns, orclubs, or anything 

of tbat kind T-A. 1 saw two men with guns there, but they didn't 
come np to the polls. 'fht're were sticks with a large bott at one end, 
witb nails driven through the but.t. 

Q. Did you see any women there; and, if so, how many I-A. Saw 
about thirty, to my remembrance. 

Q. Did they have any arms of any kind I-A. They did j some had 
hatchets and large sticks. 

Q. Did you hear them make any threats or (10 any cursing I 
(CouDsel for contestee objected to this question as leading.) 
A. I did sir. 
Q. State what they saill.-A. They said if any voted for Wade 

Hampton they should be slaughtered that da.y j that they expected to 
knock down. They said that in the morning before many of us were 
tbert'; for we Democrats expected tolerable tilDes, aOlI we all went 
togetiwr. 

Q. What sort of tolerable times did you expect Y-A. We expected 
tolerable timl's of fighting. 

Q. Would or would not a great many more colored men have voted 
for the Democrats if they had not beeu afraid of the Republicans at 
tbat poll '-A. Yes, ~ir; they would. 

Q. What ticket did you "ote T-A. The Hampton ticket. 
Q. Do you know of any who were kept away by fear of the Republi­

cans from that poll, and who did not vote at all; and, if so, how many 1-
A. I know of two who did not vote at that poll on regard of the Re-
pUblicans for the threats they had made. • 

Q. Were YOIl much frightened at t.he polls; anll, if so, what was the 
cause of such fright !-A. I was much frightened a.t the polls, becausA 
tbcre was a man aRked me who 1 was going to vote for. I told him I 
was going to vote for Wade Hampton, and he said I had better look 
out, I wou1ll carry a bloody head back home; and after that I had to 
8~al my chance.to cast my vote. No one did not see my vote; I kept 
it 10 my pocket tilll got to the box. 
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Cross-examinatio~ by T. H. Wheeler, esq-, for contestee: 
Q. Have you been working in the rice"fields '-A. No, sir. 
Q. How far do )·ou live from the rice-fields '-A. Nine miles, sir. 
Q. How many of you went to the polls togetlier f-A. About se\-enty. 
Q. Were you all Democrats '-A. Yes, sir; white and black. 
Q. How many were at tbe polls wben you arrived there '-A. I think 

about two hundred, as near as I can rt>mt>mber. 
Q. Do you know Tony Koger!-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was he thereT-A. Yes, "dr. 
Q. Did he come with you, or was he there before you '-A. We went 

together, sir. 
Q. Did all the Democrats at the }loll that day vote '-A. They all 

did, to my remembrance. I don't know of any that didn't vote. 
Q. You said that there came near being a row; b3tween whom d() 

you mt>an T-A. Between the Democrats and Republicans. . 
Q. At what time in the day was tbis1-A. It was about half past ten 

or eleven. 
Q. Who stopped it, if it was stopped '-A. Tbe deputy sheriff did all 

be could to keep tbe peace tm tbe milit.ary soltliertl came. 
Q. How many men were there armed 1-A. There was not anyone at 

the polls armed, but a little ways oft" t.here were two meu with gUllti. 
Q. Do you know wben 'fOllY Kogt-r voted; if so, when !-A. I do not 

know exactly the time when he voted, because we had to vote separated, 
amongst tbe white people il.S well as we conld. 

Q. Did any Democrats have arms or sticks'-A. We did 1I0t, sir. 
Q. Did auy of the white Democrats have revolvers f-A. It" they did, 

I did not see any. 
Q. How do you know that a great many colored men would ha\'"e 

voted the Democratic ticket if they had not been afraid '-A. I ha\'"e 
beard them say tbat they were afra.id of the Republicans, was tbe rea­
sou why they did not go to the polls. 1 know two men who did not go 
to the polls OD this account. 

Q. Give me the names of those who told you, and tbe Dames of the 
two that staid awayt-A. Alonzo Elliott and Bose J!'rasier staid awil.y. 
Another one by the Dame of Joe Eakham did not vote. 

Q. Is that all the names you know f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You said, a few minutes ago, that no one except the Democrats 

knew how you were going to vote. 
(Question withdrawn, as a mistake in statemflnt of wbat witness said.) 
Q. To how wany persons did you speak concerning the manner you 

intended to vote '-A. I spoke to three of them before I voted. 
Q. How long did you stay there after you voted '-A. 1 thiuk I staid 

thc.>re a quarter of an hour after I voted. 
Q. How do you know that the men whom you speak of <lid not vote ,­

A. They told me 80, and they wereuot at thep01ls, for they wert> Ilotseen. 
Q. Could they not have voted at some other poll !-A. :x 0, sir; I 

know that olle man was absent too late from home to get. here to 'Val­
terboro' or to the Blue House; the other two eaid that they would not 
vote"for any side. 

Redirect examination by C: C. Tracy, csq., attorney for contestant: 
Q. You said that there were no men armed at the polls, but a little 

way off there were two meu with guns; by being armed d ill you mt.>an 
baving something to shoot with, ha\"ing clubs and hatchets !-A.. They 
bad notice not to bring their guns with them, or they would get into 
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trouble, so tbt'y carried them a little ways bac~ and bid them, but don't 
know whether tbey intended to use tbem or not; but it looked like it. 

biB 
ALFRED + SMITH. 

mark. 

SworD to and subscribed before me tbis 23d Ft'bruary, A. D. 1877, 
counsel for both sidt's being present, and first cODsenting to the follow· 
ing erasures and interlineatioDs: On page 51, 11th line from bottom, 
the words" vote for" bt'ing interlined, and the word" on" erased; on 
17th lint', same page, tbe word" not" being interlined. 

[BEAL.J B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge of Oollettl1& Oounty, South Carolina. 

JOEL LARESCEY (wbite) sworn and examined on the part of contest· 
ant: 

Question. Where do you live '-Answer. Seven miles from bere, on 
tbe Blue Uon~e road. 

Q. Where clid you vote at the election on November 7,1876 '-A. 
Blne House. 

Q. 'What· is your age and occupation '-A. My occupation is planting 
or farming, and seventy·two next No\'ember. 

Q. Wht-re were you born and reared f-A. In Colleton. 
Q. How long were you at t.he polls on the day of election f-A. My 

im"re~i()n is I left there about. 4 o'clock p. m. 
Q. What time did you get there Y-A. Betw~en daylight and sunrise. 
Q. Do you know of any threats being nsed or intimidation practiced 

• by the Repuhlicans betore or on the day of the election '-A. Previolls 
, to the ell:'Ction, for some weeks, I hnd bt'en making an effort in my 

neighborhood to swell the Democrats' ranks by getting voterl!. They 
told me, I mean Alfrt'd Smith, Henry Proctor, Jim Roberson, and An· 
thony Gadsen, they conlcl not vote for or join the Democrats because 
tbey were afraid of the Republicans of their race, and all they would do 
for the cnUMe was to stay at home. I promised them protectinn if they 
would join the party and vote the Democratic ticket. They agreed to 
do so; went with tbem to the Blue House togetber; I gave tbem the 
Democratic votes, anll desired to see them put in, but I saw they were 
afraid, the way tbe.v voted, to put in their. \'otes publicly, by keeping 
them concealed, and I asluld them if this was not so, and they said it 
was; and some of them are afraid to come up her~ to·day to testity, to 
wit, Henry Proctor and Pompey Burns. I saw a display of sticks at 
the day of the t'lection. These things that I have stated are the evi· 
dences to my mind that there was intimidation practiced. 

(Counsel on the part of contestee objects to the first part of the answer 
8S being hearAay.) 

Q. Did you see any arms among the RepUblicans on the day of tbe 
election; and, if so, nalDe the difterent sorts, and describe them f-A. I 
do not recollect of seeing any arms. 

Q. Did the Republicans have any weapons f-A. They did ha'\"e sticks. 
Q. DeRcribe tbe sticks. and all the weal)ons they had.-A. Pretty 

hard to describe 200 or 300 stioks; they were large and dangerous wea· 
pons to be used; some of them had nails driven crosswise in the bottom 
part of the stick, the end next to the gronnd; I saw one with an old 
bayonet on the end of it. 

Q. How were these sticks shaped Y-A. The most of tbem were about 
three feet long, tbe biggest end towards the bottom; a good many of 
them, as well as I conld see, were brought down nearly to the bottom 
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to an eight square; the nails were first driven in on one side, and then 
reversely driven in frolD the other side, formmg a square; I meau drh'eo 
across each other. 

Q. Would not the "Democrats have gotten a much larger colored \'ote 
at this poll, but for the intimidation practiced tbere botb before and at 
the election t-A. I think so; I thougl:t at the day of the election there 
were one bundred and fifty white Democrats, and tbere was but a little 
over two hundred votes of the Democrats in tbe box, and I am satisfied 
that there should have been near three hundred. 

Q. You say, sir, that you are satisfied that there shouM ha ve been near 
three hundred Democratic votes in the box. Do you speak from ~"oor 
own kuowledge of men that yon have spoken to, and who had promised 
to vote the Democratic ticket Y-A. I speak from my knowledge regard­
ing the number of white men there; there may have been more than 
one hundred and fifty. 

Q. Did you see any women at t,he pons; and, if so, how many!-A. 
Yes; about twenty, or thirty, or forty; it was a hard matter to teU in 
that crowd. 

Q. Did they also han sticks or not '-A. Some of them had; I could 
Dot say how many. 

Q. Did you see any women in men's "clothes 'f-A. If they had on any 
I did not know it. " 

Q. Were there any United States troops tbere; and, if so, who sent 
for tbem T-A. They were there, but I don't kno\v how tbe~' came therei 
I think 1 heard Mr. Fishborne say that he had made application for 
them. 

(Counsel for contestee objects to this answer as being hearsay.) 
Q. How large is this county T-A. I do not think that I can ILnswer it 

correctly. I should say that it is ahont thirty mileH across-[ waH think­
ing of the parish-I should say sixty miles in length for the whole county, 
which formerly consisted of three parishes, which were formerly political 
sub.divisions; the width is irregular; it is about forty or forty-five miles 
wide. 

Q. You are an old man, and Iiv('d all your lifA in the county. How 
many voters do you know by sight Y-A.. That is a hard question for me 
to answer. I know a great wallY; tbat is all I can say on this subject. 

Q. Are there 110t a great many that you don't know T-A. Yes, sir. 
(~. Do one·balf of the white voters of this large county know the other 

half; 1 mean, are they perKOually acquainted T-A. I think not. 
Q. Is not the same true of tile colored voterll f-A. Yas, sir; only 

more so, probably. 
Q. Has there e\"er been any registration law patlSed since the COb­

stitution of 1~68, 8S required by sectiou third of article eight of uitl 
constitution T 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee, on the ground that the witness 
cannot furnish the best evidence of the fact.) 

A. I have seen no such law, but I was required to register at Ashepoo 
Feny, in 1868, but not since. 

Cross-examination by W. F. MyeIII, esq., colored: 
Q. In speaking of securing votes to swell the Democratic ranks, what 

class of m~n did you try to persuade Y-A. I tried to make con\"ertls of 
tbe colored people; the white people were pretty well all Democrats in 
my section of the connty already, excepting a few who had sold out 
themsel\"es about Walterborough. 
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Q. Why do you say that those few white'men had sold out them· 
selvesf-A. I say 80 because I know it to be a fact. 

Q. Being a fact, in what respect; is it because tlttlY voted in opposition 
to the Democratic party of tbis State T-A. My answer to that, I say 
no. 

Q. What reasons have you for saying a few white men sold out !-A. 
I know men an over the county that ha'\"e sacrificed the interests of 
county and State for the hope of getting office. 

Q. Did the men you named in the direct·examination, in expressing 
their fear to you, name any particular person or persons they were fear· 
ful of jf they voted the Democratic ticket T-A. No, sir. They spoke in 
a]]usion to those individuals who wel'e whipping them in Oombahee. 

'Q. Do these men live on the Combahee, or are 110t they, or ~ome of 
them, your tenants '-A. They do not live on Com bahee; neither do I 
consider them my tenants. They have titles for land that belong to me 
for four l'ears, and are as free 8S I am in every respect. They pay me 
no rent. 

Q. Do you mean to say hy this that there is no consideration for their 
li'\"ing there, such as cl('aring lands and other improvements that may 
be made during the time mentioned '-A. They clear, fence, and build 
for themselves, and, at tlte end of four years, turn over the same to me, 
or pay me rent. . 

Q. Did you or not, at any time during the canvass of J876, threaten to 
turn any of them oft' jf they refused opeuly to vote the Democratic ticket, 
or for Hampton '-A. No, sir; I did not. I told the tenants I had upon 
my Fish-Pond place that none of them would be required to move on 
account of tht'ir politics. 

Q. What occ8siolled you to make this pledge '-A. BecaUl~e I had 
llelud, and they heard, that some people had talked that way, and I 
wished to remove that impresflion. as far as I was ('oncerned; that all 
of them, or nearly all, I believe, vott'd the Republican ticket, and are 
Republicans now, and are still liviug on my place. 

Q. How do you know that the one hundred and fifty white men you 
saw at the Blue House '\"oted as an entirety the Democratic ticket '-A. 
I explained that fully when I spoke the woi'ds, in my direct examiuation, 
tbat the county was in a blllze of excitement, and I did not know of a 
single white man in that whole county but what was a Democrat. 

Q. 'Vhy are you satisfit'd there should have been three hundred votes 
at Blue House for the Democrats t-A. I came to that conclusion from 
the whites I thonght, or knew, were thert', and from the nnmber of col· 
ored Democrats I suppost'd to be there; frow the iuformation I had reo 
ceived from the various Democratic clubs. 

Q. Who owns the greater portion of land in your section of the coun· 
try, white or colored f-A. The white people. 

Q. Are the colored people mostly tenants of these lands '-A. I sup· 
pose they are, but do not know the contracts their employers made with 
~~ . 

Q. Were you near the polls on the day of the election T-A. Yes, sir; 
all the time. 

Q. Did you hear nny complain of not being able to '\"ote T-A. No; 
I did not hear anyone complain; but it was difficult, at times. for them 
to ~et to the box, on account of the press at the entrance, till after the 
soldiers got there; and I do not know if they would have been allowed 
to go to the box if it had uot been for the United States soldiers. They 
paid no regard to instructions to" keep the way to the polls open." There 
were such a crowd, a way had to be kept open for the vott'rs to walk to 
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the polls. The officer commanding ordered hialieutenant to take charge 
of "that man," and drew his sword, as if intending to strike, until the 
crowd gave way, totlching with his sword and pushing many, and bSld 
frequently to raise his sword, as if intending to strike, before the crowd 
did give way, and a passage opened-and kept it open. The crowd 
was large. 

Q. Did you see anyone there that day who desired to vote, but could 
not do sot-A. No, sir. 0 

Q. Is it not usual for the colored men in that section of the county to 
carry (llubs or sticks t-A. No, I don't think so. 

Q. Were any of the Democrats armed there that dayt-A. ~ot as I 
know of. I saw no gun on the ground. 

Q. Could they not have had ijmal!-arms and you not know it f-A. 
Certainly they could. 

Q. Were you armed '-A. Yes, I had a pistol in my pocket; the on1y 
one I ever carried in my life. I borrowed it in the morning and returned 
it in tohe evening. 

Q. Did you witness any demonstrations of arms on that day by either 
party t I mean Democrats or Republicans Y-A. No, sir. 

Q. What is the relative strength of the parties in ~ool1r, or Blue Boost", 
precinct f-A. There was a littlP, short of one thousaQd votes taken, and 
a little over two hundred Democratic votes in the box. 

Q. Can you approximate the nnmber of white voters at the Blue Honse 
precinct T-A. 1 have already said abont one hundred and filt~·. 

Q. By whom were you appointed a trialjustice f-A. By Hampton. 
Redirect examinatIOn: 

Q. Why did you borrow and carry that pistol the day oftbe election ,­
A. Because it was expected that there would be a row there, and I was 
advised by my sons and other people that I shouhl come to Walterbor­
ougb; thatI was too old a man; I would not take the advice, becau'16 I 
considered my duty I would perform, and I carried it to protect myselt~ 
and for no other purpose. 

Q. ,\-Vhat caused the impression to get abroad tbat there would be a 
row there that day!-A. Because at that time there wlllta great deal of 
feeling from tbe colored Hepublicans to the Democrats, Iltl shown by 
their conduct at Ballinville. 

Q. What sort of Republicans was it, the rice-strikers, that principally 
exhibited tbis feeling' 

(Counsel for cont.estee objects on the ground that tbe qnestion implies 
tbe answer sought.) 

.A. It was tbe rice-strikers, but there was a strong body of them at 
Bloe Hoose or its neighborhood. 

Q. Was it Republicans or the Democrats who had the possession of 
the polls when the troops arrived' 

(Counsel for contestee objects, because the question is not in reply to 
new matter.) 

A. The way was blocked np by Republicans. 
Q. Did not the arrh'al of the troops prevent a riott-A. That was my 

impression. 
Q. Did or did not a great many Republicans wbo voted at the Blue 

Bouse promise to vote for Hampton and tbe Democratic nominees, 80 
as to try the Deruocrats for two years, but were deterred from 80 voting 
by intimidation T-A. I came to that conclul4ion. That was my impres­
sion. 

JOEL LABESEY. 
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Sworn to and subscribed before me this 23d day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Probate Jutlge of Oolleto" Oounty, South Oarolina. 

I certify that prior to the subscription of the above, both counsel for 
contestant aud contestee being present and consenting to the same, I 
made the following erasures and interlineations, to wit: On 59th page, 
13th line from top; the word" that" erased, aOlI the words "that impres. 
sion as" interlined. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge of Oollcton Oounty, Soutl~ Oarolina. 

Adjourned until to·morrow morning 9 o'clock s. m. 
[SEAL.) B. STOKES, 

Judge of Probate. 
Met pursuant to adjournment. 
JOHN MUBTIFER (colored) sworn and examined. 
Qnestion. Where did you live last year '-Answer. Newport plant&. 

tion. 
Q. Where did you vote at the election iu November, 1876 '-A. At 

Blue Bouse. 
Q. How large a crowd of Republicans was there'-A. Pretty big 

crowd. 
Q. State all you know about any intimidation practiced at that (loll, 

either before or at the election. I mean by intimidation--
(Counsel objects to the latter part of the question as irrelevant, and 

it was withdrawn.) 
A. The only thing I know about the practice of intimidation before 

I went to the polls, the last meeting we held in the camp-ground, Mr. 
Robert Smalls give us to uuderstand any gentleman courting the ladies 
to not marry them until we get through voting. If a gentleman vote 
the. Democratic ticket, to don't marry them. Dose what is married 
" don't ser\'ice to them in bed." He got a little wife, and if he was to 
talk of voting the Democratic ticket, his wife would throw hot lead in 
his throat when sleeping; and in going to the polls, he wants every 
womens to follow her husband with her club in her hand, and dare him 
to vote any Democratic ticket, and all our mens that fail to vote the 
Republican ticket, and the womens to make a row, amI all colored mens 
what vote the Democratic ticket selling their wives and children. I 
ask him myself, "1'se no land, and no home; how should I live, and I 
has no land and no home'" I employed to Mr. Haines, right 'side of 
him. Haines said to me, " Go to Mr. Shuman, and Mr. Shuman would 
show you the government land, and build there, and allow you three 
lears to pay for that land." . 

Q. Was it; or was it not, a religious meeting at which Smalls made 
this speech, or was it just a meeting of the colored people, and where 
was it '-A. A meeting that we had at White Hall, at the public land· 
ing. It was a political meeting. 

Q. Did you, or did you not, see any arm!!, sticks, or any weapons of 
that kind, among the Republicans at the Blue House poll, on the day 
of election '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Please describe all the different kinds.-A. Womeus had sticks; 
DO mens were to go to the polls nnless their wives were right alongside 
of them; some had hickory sticks; some had nails-fonr nails drive in 

H. Mitl. 11--13 
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the sbape of a cross-and dare their busban<ls to vote any other than the 
Republican ticket. 

Q. Did tbey haye-men or women I mean-anytbing else that could 
hurt people besides sticks T-A. A few pistols aod razors they had j th~t 
is all that I seed. 

Q. Were many women there T-A. Lots. 
Q. About bow many Y-A. The least calculation was oyer a hundred. 
Q. Did you see any women in men's clothes 7-A. T}le furthest that I 

saw tbem with men's clothes, when tbe women went up with their hus· 
bands when they voted. No; I did not understand the question at first. 
I did not see women dressed in men's clothes. 

Q. Did you haye anything to do with the strikes on the rice-fields f­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Who did you get your instructions from, and what did you baye to 
do with the strikes f-A. All that I had to do with tbe strikep, pays me 
myoid price. I done with it, and soon as I see Mr. Heyward he paid me 
my price, I stopped with it. Nothing more I bad to do with it. I did 
Dot get no instructions from no man. That strike was raised on tbe 
plantation. 

Q. You say that wben you got your price you quit f What do you 
mean by getting your price 7-A. Dollar a day. 

Q. Did, or did you not, mean by " quitting" that you left tbe strikers; 
and, if so, did not the rest still keep on; the rest of the strikers I mean f­
A. Had nothing to do with the strikers. I strike myself. The rest of 
the strikers keep right straight through. 

Q. You said" the rest of the strikers kept rigbt straight tbrough jt! 

what were they doing f-A. They make you go in whether you are will· 
ing or no. Take any you got. If they want your "mule" they take it. 
If they want your" field:' they take it. 

Q. What made them keep 00 f Who made them keep on f-A. Abram 
Holmes. 

Q. Who is Abram Holmes f-A. The school· teacher. He promised us, 
if we would keep the strikes up, the government would ration us; raise 
up a petition, bring it down to Uaptain Shaffer, he would send it up to 
Columbia, and they did do it. 

Q. What did Holmes say he wanted the strikes kept up for !-A. Demo­
crats running a ticket in the field, and save the money to buy all of us 
up that vote the Democratic ticket; must either make them paJ us our 
price or lose their crop. '1'hat's what be said to me. 

Q. Is Abram Holmes a Republican or a DemocraU-A. Republican. 
Q. Is he, or is he not, a big man in the Republican party in this 

county'-A. A big man. 
Q. Who is Captam Shafftlr that you refer to f-A. He is a friend to 

all of our Republican party. 
Q. What office doeM be boll1 T-A. He used to bold tbe treasurer's 

office. 
Q. Did Holmes e,'er bold IIny office T-A. Was a trial·justicl'. 
Q. Was he or was he not trial·justice at the time tbt'se strikes were 

occurring, or the time you said he got them 0ll T-A. No, sir; be was 
not trial·justice. 

Q. Did or did not Go\'erllor Chamberlain appoint him as trial·justice 
while these strikes were going ou Y 

(Objected to lJy couosel for contestee, on the ground that hearsay e\"j· 
deuce is not admissible to pro\"e a record, when said record can be ob­
tained.) 

A. I don't kno\v. 
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Q. Is not Holmes a friend of Shaffer !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was Holmes ever a member of the legislature before these 

strikes T-A. I don't know. 
Q. Did or did not the threats and intimidation, and display of arms, 

which YOll said the Republicans practiced beforE) and at the election, 
change the result of the election at Blue House poll. I mean did these 
threats not scare and frighten a great many men from voting the Demo· 
cratic ticket T-A. Yes, sir; has been scared one of my sons from ,·oting 
the Democratic ticket. My sister went with my brother-in-law to the 
polls, and swear to God if he voted the Democratic ticket she" would 
kilJ him dead in his sleep." I got a son to.day was to have been mar· 
ried in December; on the cause of his voting the Democratic ticket the 
woman refused to marry him. And many more went to the polls desire 
to vote the Democratic ticket, and on acconnt of these women and the 
threats, they did not vote the Democratic ticl;:et, but voted the Uepubli. 
can ticket; myself has been r~ject lIarch Jackson from voting at Blne 
Honse; he belong to Beaufort County and had no right to vote dere, 
and he would do it. 

Q. You saiel you had" been reject March Jackson ;" did you not mean 
objected to his voting a.t the polls, to the manager' 

(Coullsel for contestee objects as leading.) 
A. To one of t~e managers-Ceasar Roberson j I said toCeasar Rober-

80n, "I don't think it was right (Roberson was on the piazza) for 0111 
man Jackson staying over to Beaufort County. come to Colll·ton poll 
and \"ote allY ticket at the poll here, and he dill do it." 

Cross·examined by T. H.·Wheeler, (lsq., (colored:) 
Q. You were one of the strikers, were you not T-A. Were 1I0t. 
Q. Did you, just a few minutes ago, say that you struck '-A. I struck 

for my money, but was never in no crowd. 1\Ir. Heyward agreed to give 
me a dollar a day and one acre of rice land, and as soou as he refused to 
gh·e me the acre of land, I refused to work for him j aDd I strike upon 
his work, and as soon as he gh-e me the land 1 went to work; but I 
ne\"er was in no crowd; that what 1 believe is a strike. 

Q. Did yon not say that Holmes made promises to us T-A. Not to me. 
Q. Did you hear Holmes yourself make any promises T-.\. Yes, sir. 
Q. Wt're you at the place that be made the promises, or were you told 

of them f-A. I was at the place. 
Q. How many were there t-A. About ten, at the least count. 
Q. Was that before you commenced to work fOl' Heyward, or after· 

ward !-A. lliid not stop with Heyward for but two days; one day the 
strikers made me stop, and the next day I went and saw 1\Ir. Heyward. 
As soon as he agree with me, it was all right. 

Q. Bow much more money did the strikers want than they were get· 
ting !-A. The usual price, tifty cents; will 1I0t work for less than sev· 
enty·fi..-e cents. 

Q. Did the planters refuse to pay them that sum f-A. The old agree· 
meut was tifty cents a half a(,re, and they raised np sets of committee of 
twelve men, went to Colonel Izarll, agreed with him to boe out all of the . 
rice at sixty cents for a half acre; next day tht'y went into )Ir. Izard's 
field and hoed out one hundred and fifty aet'es, at sixty cents for a half 
an acre; then they stoPI,ed, anti not hoe for less than seventy·fi .... e cents 
for a half acre, and that was the time that Mr. Holmes promised to keep 
the strike up . 
. Q. Did the planters then reruse to pay seventy-five cellts f-A. YeEl, 

sir. 
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Q. Ditl you e\'er help to whip anybody I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you encourage or advise anyone to whip auybody T-A. I en, 

couralred every man to go to work and work for the same old price. 
Q. Did you hear any grumbling about being paid oft' in checks at or 

before that time T-A. All my working is checks; I get my checks, and 
I get my pay for them every Saturday night. 

Q. Have JOu heard any other laborers besides yourself, at that place or 
any other place in that section, complain about beiDg paid.oft in checks! 
-A. All ar.ound me get their checks and get them cashed eyery Satur, 
day night. 

Q. Do they e\"erywhere else around y.ou in that section' 
(Question witbdrawn.) 
Q. Do you not carry yourself a large stick '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Is it usual for people in your section to carry large sticks !-A. No, 

sir; I carry stick because of lameness in my rigbt leg. 
his 

JOHN + l\1USTIFER. 
mark. 

The counsel for contestee, before signing, objected to the alterati.on of 
the answer on the eleventh line, from the bottom page 69, from "Yo, sir," 
toO the expression, "I do n.ot know," made by witness after the testim.oDY 
had bel'n concluded, and wbile the same was being read o\"er to him, by 
T. H. Wheeler, esq" (col.ored.) 

Sworn to and subscribed to before me this 21th day .of February. 
1877. 

I SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge of Oolleron OQunty, &utA OaroliJIG. 

TOBY SARGENT, a witness in bebalf .of contestant iu the matter of 
contest for a seat in the Forty.fifth Congress .of tbe United States from 
the fifth district of South Oarolina, testifies as f.oll.ows, after being doly 
sw.orn: 

Questi.on. Where do you live !-Answer. At Rant.owlf's, on RU8IIell 
Island. 

Q, Where did YOll vote .on the day .of election;in N.ovember, 18761-
A. At Rant.owles poll. 

Q. Were you whipped .on that day'-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Wb.o whipped you f-A .. Toby Grant. 
Q. What is T.oby Grant; a Republican .or Democrat !-A. RepubU. 

can. 
Q. What did he whip you for !-A. Because I V.oted the Democratic 

ticket. 
Q. Were there any men helping him '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were they Repnblicans or Dcmocrare f-A. RepUblicans. 
Q. What did he wbip you with !-A. A borse-whip. 
Q. Did he whip y.oU much !-A. A g.o.od deal. 
Q. Did tbey try t.o scare anyb.ody else !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. W.ould n.ot tbe result have been changed-l mean w.ould Dot more 

col.ored pe.ople bave voted the Democratic ticket-if tbey had not beeD 
afraid t.o do it '-A. A good deal was" fraid," but I was n.ot. 

Cr.oss·examined by W. F. Myers, esg., colored: 
Q. When were you whipped, bef.ore .or after the election !-A. After 

I bad thr.own in my ticket. 
Q. At what poll was this f-A. Rant.owle's. 
Q. Did T.oby Grant say he whipped y.oU for voting, or was it fioIIl 
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some other cause '-A. Beeause I voted the Democratic ticket. The 
reason that cause the whipping, when Mass Bob was complain, when he 
was talking to me about voting the Democrat ticket, and I promised 
him that I woulc1 vote it, and he said that the day I voted it be (Toby 
Grant) would whip me; I told him that I would '\"ote it if I was shot; 
and after I threw in the vote and came aWIIY from the box; that was 
why he whip me. 

Q. Do you or do you not live on Mr. Fishburn's place; or do you not 
at times work for him T-A. I am living there. • 

Q. Have you ever heard of any threats to turn off colored people if 
they refused to vote the Democratic ticket T-A. Never heard that. 

Q. Did you at any time trade at l\lr. Fishburn's store T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you owe him now, or was ever indebted to him, for provisions ,­

A. No, sir. 
Q. Who do you call Mass Bob T-A. Mr. Bob Fishburn. 

bis 
TOBY + SARGENf. 

mark. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 24th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Probate Jtldge, CoUtton County, South Carolilla. 

ROBERT FISHBURN, already sworn, recalled: 
Que~tion. Do you know Abram Holmes !-Answer. I know Abram 

P. Holmes. 
Q. Is he not a schoolteacher on the Combahee or in the Dlue House· 

section, and connected with the strikes T-A. To the best of my knowl­
edge he was a school-teacher and was connected witb the strikes. 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee on the ground of being hearsay.) 
Q. Is he or is he not a prominent colored Republican leader in this 

conuty'-A. Oue of the most prominent. 
Q. Did he ever fill any offices in this county; and, if so, what were 

they T-A. Member of the legislature for two terms; has since been 
appointed trial-joRtice by Chamberlain. 

Q. Wben was be appointed trial-justice, tak~n in connection with 
the strikes mentioned in the testimony'-A. To the best of my knowl­
edge, he was appointed during the strikes. 

(Oounsel for contestee objects to the answer upon the ground that it 
was hearsay.) 

Cross-examination: 
Q. Do you know of any other person who was appointe(l trial-justice 

during the strikes; and, if so, who was he T-A. To the best of my 
knowledge, R. H. Oolcock was appointed trial1ustice. 

Q. W 88 he recommended by anyone; and, if IW, by whom T-A. Dou't 
know. 

Q. Do yoo or do you not know tbat he was recommended by the rice­
planters '-A. I do not know, but J. B. Bissell told me that he had 
recommended him. 

Q. Do you kno,," Mr. Colcock' and, if so, state what is his business.-
A. I do know him; he iR a planter. 

Q. Rice or cotton T-A. I think both. 
Q. Are you certain of rice T-A. I am certain. 
Q. Do you know what terms A. P. Holmes served in tbe legislature' 

aud, if so, state tbem.-A. I think from 1870 to 1874. 
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Q. Do yon or not know whether he was a candidate on either of the 
Republican tickets in this county at the last election f-A. He was a 
candidate for member of the legislature on one of the Republican 
tickets. 

ROBERT FISIIBURY. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 24th day of February, 
A. D.187.7. 

[.SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge, Oulletoll Oounty, South Oarulina 

BENJA)IIN SIMMONS, a witness in behalf of contestant in the matter 
of contest for seat in the Forty-fifth COl!grt>ss of the United States from 
the fifth district of Sonth Carolina, testifies as follows, after being duly 
sworn: 

Qnestion. ""here do you li",e and where did you yote at the last elec· 
tion '-Answer. Rantowle'li depot, sir; li",e upon a plnce 1 bought from 
Robert Fishburne. 

Q. Were you a Democrat or a Republican f-A. Hepnblican. 
Q. I mean before the election. What ticket did yon inteud to yote 

at the election when yon started to the election-I mean for IIamlltou 
or Chamberlain t 

(Objected to as irrelevant.) 
A. Ohamberlain. 
Q. Did you hear any threats at the election made by Republicans 

against Democrats, colore(l or white f-A. I do not know; no, sir. 
his 

BENJAMIN + SDIMONS. 
mark. 

Sworn to and subscribed on this the 24th day of February, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] B. GLOKES, 

Probate Judge, Oulleton Oounty, SOUtll Oarolina. -

JACK HOLMES, (colored,) a witness in behalf of contestant in tbe 
matter of contest for seat in the Forty-filth OongrelJ8 of the United 
States from the fifth d iatrict of South Oarolina, t~stifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn: 

Question. Where (lid you Yote at the election in November, 1876 !­
Answer. At Rantowle'li poll. 

Q. What ticket did you "'ote '-A. Democratic ticket. 
Q. ""ere you not a president of a Democratic club-f ml'sn colored 

Democratic club-at Rantowle's '-A. I was a captain of a club. 
Q. Do yon mean to say that you were a Cal)tain of a colored Demo­

cratic rifle-club f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How many men did you have in your club '-A. Sixty·odll head. 
Q. 'Vhat llill you all form yourselves into a rifle-club as well 8S Dem­

ocratic club for 7-A. To protect ourselves. 
Q. To protect yourseh'es from whom and from what f-A. To pro­

tect ourselves from the Hepnblic8n party, the opposite party. 
Q. Had that party malle any threats or abnsed the colored Demo­

crats, or what was it that alarmed you all '-A. That party of COllrse 
made se",eral threats; abused a man that ha\'e just testifiell herl', who 
was a member of my club. 

Q. Did all of JOU men \'ote the Democratic ticket at the election' and, 
if not, state the reason why.-A- The man Benjamin Simmons, who has 
just testified here, did not vote it because his father, after I gave him 
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the ticket at the poUs, said if he did vote it what aU he would not do 
with him. For that reason he handed the ticket back to me, and I would 
not take it. 

Q. Did anybody else get around Benjamin Simmons and try to scare 
him from voting the Democratic ticket t-A. Tbree other men. 

Q. Did they keep him from voting the Democratic ticket by threats! 
-A. Yes, by threats. 

Q. ",\Vere there any other men frigbtened from voting the Democratic 
ticket belonging to your club f-A. Yes, sir. A couple of days before 
the election, Benjamin Austin; his wife threatened him" thst if he voted 
the Democratic ticket she would leave bim," and tbat scared him off. 

Q. How many others of your club were frigbteued from voting the 
Democratic ticket by intimidation f-A. One man by the name of Gage 
Morgan; I believe he did not vote the Democratic ticket from regnlar 
intimidation. 

Q. Did YOIl see any colored man whipped there that day for voting 
the Democratic ticketf-A. Yes, sir; Toby Sargent. 

Q. ",V ere there several in the crowd that whipped Toby!-A. Three 
of them. 

Q. Did they tell Toby at the time that they w('re whipping him be· 
cause be had voted the Democratic ticket '-A. Yes, sir; and they had 
tbreatened bim long before that. 

Q. Did they whip Toby very severely T-A. Not very severely; I took 
tbem off. 

Q. Did or not the whipping of Toby frigbten otber colored men from 
voting the Democratic ticket f-A. To the best of my belief, I believe 
they were. . 

Q. Were any women there; and, if so, were they fussy - making 
threats f-A. Yes, sir; lots of them-were very fussy. 

Q. Were there any clubs or fire·armR among the RepUblicans on that 
day f-A. I never see any. 

Cross· examined : • 
Q. Who furnished the arms for your rifle·club t-A. Our club had no 

arms as yet. 
Q. Why do you say that all the members of that club intended to vote 

the Democratic ticket f-A. Because they promised me so to do. 
Q. Are you living on Mr. Fishburn's place '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Are Jon not bis foreman or head man on the plantation '-A. I am 

his foreman. 
Q. Were you or were you not 00 the excursion·train on election·day' 

-A. Nel"er touch it. 
Q. Did all who desired to yote on election.day do so f-A. Did not. 
Q. Do you know of any' and, if so, name them, and their reasons for 

Dot votiog.-A. I know one Peter Brown, one Oliver Bend~o-because 
tbey were afraid of the Republican party, the reason why. 

Q. Did or did not you get assistance in separating the men from 
Toby Sargent T-A. Did not. 

Q. Yon separated them all by yourself!-A. I did so. 
Q. Do you or do you not know anything of the threats that were 

made against the colored tenants in turning them off from the lands if 
they did Dot vote the Democratic ticket '-A. I do not know, because I 
have not seen any leave the place where I lh'e because they did not 
vote tbe Democratic ticket. 

Q. 'Vas sucb a report current in your section of the country '-A. If 
it is, I don't know. . 
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Q. Was there Rny other fuss on the day of the election besides the 
one you mentioned f-A. No. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. Did or not. a party of men come over froID Charleston County, 

and tried to raise a fuss by threatening colored men for voting the 
Democratic ticket '-A. Three Colleton colored men that had 'Voted at 
Rantowle's, and went over into Oharleston County, and saw how things 
were going on there anll came back, and theu said how the Republicans 
were doing the colored Democrats over in Charleston County, and they 
thought "the same thing ought to be done at our polls." Had 
"knocked down" two men in Charleston County at the Red-top 
church." After they came back to Rantowle's polls, I myself gi\"e them 
a friendly advice, seeming if they did not know what they were talking 
about, when ., one freeman could not vote as he plea.sed, and they would 
just as well had been a slave as before." With that they did not say 
anythiug morf'. But myself, I solemnly believe 'twan't for 80 mnch 
talking before the day of the election, I certain that we may have git t\\"o 
vote to one. 

Q. Was it before or after these men came bnck from Charleston 
County that Tobe Sargent was whipped !-A. Before. 

Q. You say that but for so mllch " talking" before the election you 
solemnly believe the Democrats \vould ha\'s carried the polls two to one. 
What do you mean by so much "talking f" Do you mean threats of 
violence or intimidation Y 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A. What I meau by that, during the campaigu all those who intended 

to vote the Democratic ticket, and those that did not, using bitter lan­
guage against them, speaking of all bitter things that ought to be done 
to them by their so doing. 

bis 
JACK + HOLMES. 

mark. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 24th day of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.J B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge, Colleton County, South OarolifUJ. 

SAM. WILLIAMS, (colored,) a witness in behalf of contestant in the 
matter of contest for a 'seat in the Forty fifth CongreRs of the United 
States from the fifth district of South Carolina, testifies, after being 
duly sworn: 

Question. Where did yon live'-Answer. In Saint Panl'l5, Chamber­
lain Township, OoHeton County. 

Q. Do yon live on yonr own land or some one else's '-A. No, sir; I 
live on some one else's land. 

Q. Where did yon vote at the election in November, 1876 T-A. At 
Ravenel's. 

Q. What ticket (lid yon vote !-A. Democratic ticket. 
Q. Was there a large crowd of Repnblicans at tbat poll 011 that day T 

-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did they have any arms, sticks, or weapons of any kiud T-A. 

Bad sticks, sir. 
Q. What sort of sticks were these' Did they seem new or old !-A. 

Some tbat had been just cut, 'pears like, that morning, and some seems 
a jf tbey bad been cut about a week or such a matter. 
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Q. How did they carry these sticks f-A. Some were in their hands, 
just loose, and Rome had strings tied around the wrist. 

Q. Do you know of anyone who were prevented from voting the Dem­
ocratic ticket from fear of the Republicans at that poll I-A. Yes, sir; a 
good many. 

Q. Can you name some of them '-A. All I do not know, personally, 
by name, but one man, Prince Smalls, and Cbarles Smalls, Mingo San· 
ders. Those all I know by name. 

Q. Was there anybody that the Republicans tried to keep from. voting 
the Democratic ticket at that poll on the day of election f and. if so, 
name them.-A. Yes, sir. A man by the name of Cornelius \Villiams, 
and three men that I have called the namE.ls already. 

Q. What did they do to these men to keep them from voting'-A. 
Knocked them over the h~ad with a stick. 

Q. 'Vere there many women there'-A. A grent many. 
Q. Did they also have sticks f-A. None but the men. 
Q. Did they have any troops there that day'-A. None at Ravenel's. 
Q. Did or did not Cuptain Fishburn start to go after the troops '-A. 

So he did, sir. 
Q. Was there a white man there by the name of Johnson !-A. Yes, 

~~ . 
Q. Did the Republicans try to do anything to him I-A. Wanted to 

whip him. 
Q. Why did they want to whil> him I-A. Because he was going to 

vote the Democratic ticket. 
Q. Did the intimidation practiced before and at the election at that 

poll change the result' I mean these threats, knocks on the head, 
keep the Democrats from getting as many votes as would otherwise ha ve 
donef-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Would not the Democrats llave beaten at this poll but for all of 
this '-A. To the best of my kn()wledge they would. 

Cross·examined : 
Q. How do you know that the Democrat.ic party would have gotten 

more votes at this poll f-A. From the meetings that they generally 
have-had over a hundred and fifty·odd men belonging to the Demo· 
cratic party, and after raising up the crowd of the Repoblican party, 
saying they would whill any man what voted the Democratic ticket, 
then a large number failed to vote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Did you uot on several occasions promise to vote the Republican 
ticket aud then change to the Democrats; coold not others who l>Tom· 
ised to vote the Democratic ticket change to the Republican f-A. So I 
did-not by threat. 

Q. Were you not on the excursion-train on the day of the election f­
A. So I was. 

Q. Did you on that day carry a gon, pistol, stick, club, or any other 
weapon f-A. No, sir; never tote any guns, sticks, or pistols. 

Q. Did or did not many vote the Republican ticket, with Hampton 
for govemor!-A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. How do you know that the men yoo named would have voted the 
I Democratic ticket if they had come out '-A. From the intimidation of 
the people tbe reason they did not do it. 

Q. Did you or did you not see them intimidated, or is it what they 
told you I-A. In the morning, when they came to the polls, the Repub· 
lican party said that "any man voted the Democratic ticket that day 
that they would whip them." 
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Q. Did or dill not the Democrats, or some of them, carry arms !-A.. 
None as I see, sir. 

Q. Did yon yote at Ravenel's f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did }lr. Brownley vote at that poll; and, if so, did he vote the 

Democrat or Republican ticket f-A. I cau't tell. 
SAM.UEL WILLIAMS. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 24th of February, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Judge of Pro~ate of Ool/eton Oounty, South Ca,·olina. 

C. 1'. FISHBURNE, (white,) a witness in behalf of contestant III tbe 
matter of contest for seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United 
States from the fifth distlict of South Carolina. testifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn: . 

Question. Wt>re you or were you not the Democratic manager of elec­
tion at Ashepoo precinct during the election held in No\"ember, J 876' 
-Answer. I was. 

Q. Please state at what hour the polls were ollened at that precinct, 
and what hour they closed, antI also whether t.here was any intermis­
sion or adjournment.-A. About two hours after sunrise, or about half 
pa..qt 8 or between 8 and 9 o'clock a. m., I called out seyeral times 
., where the mauagers were," aud almost made a speech abont it, and 
no other managers were on the ground, and did that from two to four 
hours, and consulted the crowd "what was to be don~;" sending mes­
sage after message to oue of the managers who lived immetliately in 
the neighborhood; after my persisteut efforts at that time, oue came, 
S. Q. A. Gailliard, who told me that he did not know auything abont 
his being a manager, and had not been sworn ill. I told him the after­
noon before the election that he was a manager, but he said that he had 
no notification that he "was a manager by the proper authorities, and 
had not been sworn in." I however accepted him as a manager, although 
throngh ignorance, that is, not aware he was a manager; however, at 
that time he came into the room where I had carried the box, and acted 
as a manager. "~e jointly then went into business-the two. I was not 
satisfied that he was the proper manager, because it was late in the after­
noon on the day before the election. He tolt! me he was not sworn in 
and had not time to go to the trial·justice to be sworn in, and next morn­
ing he did not tell me whether he was sworn or not, but I accepted him 
as manager. Late in the day, about two hours after we had opened the 
polls, the thircl manager came, --- Chapman. It might have beeD 
an hour and a half when he came. 

(Counsel for contestee objects on the grounds, first, that it is hearsay; 
second, that it is secondary evidence.) 

Q. Were there any of the managers at that poll sworn in on the dayof 
the election or before, as far as your knowled~e extends; and, if any were 
so sworn in, by whom f-A. None were sworn the day of the election, 
nor none b~fore, as far as m~ knowledge extends. 

Q. Were you sworn in at any time T-A. Yes; I was sworn in hf're­
I do not know how many days before the election-by Commissioner 
Fox; some two or three days before tbe election, perhaps. 

(~. Who was chairman of the board of managers at Asbepoo I-A. I 
was elected cbairman by my "ote and Gailliard's vote, if he was a 
manager at. all. 

Q. Was or was not Gailliard a candidate on one of the Republican 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 203 

tickets; and, if so, for what office !-A.. He was; for the office of repre­
seutath'e for the legislature. 

Cross-examined: 
Q_ How did you ascertain the time '-A. I had my watch. 
Q. How did you know that your watch was correct, if it was T-A. I 

had railroad-time, Ilnd there were other watches there, and I compared 
my watch with theirs. The cars passed through twice a day, and I was 
right with them. 

,Q. Did all Joor watches agree T-A. Perhaps some nriatioo of a few 
mlllutes' ditf~rence. 

Q. lIow Dlany people left the polls before the polls were opened who 
did not vote '-A. If any left, I never counted them to know how many. 

Q. Do you know of any that left without voting T-A .. I am unable 
to say, as I was in the house pretty nearly the whole day. 

Q, .Are ~·Oll unable to say whether you saw any lea\'eT-A. I am un­
able to say, as I was in the 1I0use, and don't know at all. 

Q. Did you see any leave !-A .. Was not in a position to see. 
Uedirect examination: 

Q. Did not the greater part of the voters assemble before the I}olls 
were Ol)ened, and was or was not the crowd there assembled very im­
patient aboot the polls opening T~A. There was a large crowd, and they 
were crsing out for the opening of the box. Some were very impatient 
and speaking boisterously. 

Q.: You say you were in the hoose the most of the day; what time 
did the polls close T-A. Closed at the regolar hour. 

C. P. FISHBURNE. 
Sworn to Hod subscribed before me this the 24th day of February, A. 

D.1877. 
[SEAL.j B. STOKES, 

Probate Judge of Oolleton County, South. Carolina. 
Adjournt'll ontil 9 o'clock a. m. Mouday, the 26th iustant. 

B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge of Colleton County, South. Carolina. 

IIaving met, p"rsuant to adjournment, at 9 o'clock a. m., this Feb­
rn,ary the 26th, 1877, at the office ot'jodge of probate. Present: Benja­
mID Stokes, probate jlldge; T. H. Wheeler and W. F. Myers, of counsel 
fO,r contestee; C. C. Tracy, for cootestaot, and William J. Fishburne, 
wItness. 

WILLUll J. FISHBURNE r.woro: 
Question. Where did you ,"ote at the election in Noyember, 1876 ,­

Answer. At Asbepoo, for Presidential elf.'ctors only. 
Q. At what time did the polls open at that precinct T-A. At or about 

half past 8 o'clock a. m. 
Q. What fixed the time in yoor mind T-A. Comparison of watcbes. 
Q. Was there a large crowd there before the opening of the polls; 

and, if so, were they quiet or impatient '-A. 'Twas a large crowd. 
There was considerable discossiou whether there would be any voting 
there that day. I remember a rumor which had large circulation, that 
the,Republican managers had opene(l a poll at some distance off, where 
yotmg was being held. This pro\"ed to be incorrect; entirely so. They 
were cl'rtainly impatient and aoxious. 

Q. Did 1I0t this tend to intimidate the Democratic voters t-A. It 
did. That was my firm impression from obsen-ation. 
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Q. Were or were not the colored Democrats tlesirous of ,"oting .. arty 
in the morning, in order to escape the crowd of Republicans t-A. Tbey 
were. The colored voters preseut early in the morning were Demo­
crats-the most of them. 

Q. Dill any colored ,"oters go away before the polls were opened T­
A. Everybody was exceedingly impatient, amI it was nnder discussion 
whether it wonhl better to resort to some other poll for fear of losing 
their vote entirely. It is l)robable that some did, bnt I cannot say that 
any (lid. . . 

Q. Did you see any money offered to voters on that day at Ashepoo 
poll t-A.. I saw something that every appearance of it. 

(Objected to by connsel for contestee on the gronnd of being too in­
definite.) 

Q. State minutely what you saw, sir t-A. The ,"oters at Ashppoo 
came mostly from three directions. The greatest nnmber came from 
the railroad; that is, that I saw bundreds of them. About 10 o'clock, 
or perhaps a little before, I saw Janu-.s 'W. Grace walk up the railroad 
to meet a crowd who were coming. Ite would hail tbem; at least saInte 
them. They would stop and surround him in sqnads of six and eight; 
parley a moment-abont two minntes; appeared to receive something. 
each apparently coming closer before leaving him, as though they were 
receh'ing something; would then proceed to the polls, with the expres­
sion of countenance most fixed and determined. Grace continue(l to 
stalld there the most of the day, and theRe sqnads continnt'd to arrh-e, 
with the same performance being enact('r\. All day there ,vas a rnmor 
prevalent. and generally accepted, that Grace was paying out fifty-cent 
notes, lJnitl'd Stat~ cnrrency-one note to each voter that would yote 
bis ticket~ which was the Republican ticket. Tbey had a large majority 
there. 

Q. Who was this James W. Grace '-A. He was a .Republican, and a 
candidate on his ticket for county commissioner. 

Q. Did tbese squads leave Grace with tickets in their hands, or with­
out tllem f-A. With tickets in their bands, the most of them. 

Q. Was it not generally believed that money WQS paid by Grace for 
,"otes on that day t 

(Objected to by connsel for contestee, on the ground that witness can­
not swear to general belief.) 

A. Y(>s, sir. 
Q. Was there any intimidating threats of any kind practiced by Re­

publicans at that poll on the day of election T-A. I saw one man's 
jacket torn off of his back, but he did not seem to be much frightened. 
It appeared to me to be a. grab for the ticket wbich he had in his band. 
I think they succeeded in getting it, bnt he voted afterwards a ticket. 
He was carried up-led up-to the polls. I saw no such intimidation 
that inspired a fear of immediate actual personal injury, but e"erytbiog 
betokened ultimate trouble. Tbere was a terrible moral pressure. 1 
saw a man with a monstrous stick; bad met him before at Green Pond, 
and remembered bim well. He had a ferocions aspect. am) if a man 
was easily intimidated, would scare him balf to death; was flourishing 
that stick pretty loosely. 

Q. Was this man a Democrat or a Repnblican t-A. Was witll the 
Republicans, and electioneered for them. 

Q. You say YOll saw a man have his jacket torn off in all apparent 
attempt to get his ticlret from him; <loyou know what ticket he had !­
A. I don't know. 
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Q. Did, or clid not, the intimidation, bribery, and late opening the 
polls, ('ach one of them, change the result of the election at that poll j 
or, in other words, would not the Democrats have received more ,"otes 
but for them !-A. It would affect. It did a1l"('ct the result, most un· 
qoestionably. They certainly would. I don't like to swt'ar that the 
Democrats lost certain ,"otes on account ot' intimidation, because I did 
not see the ,"otes in their hands; but the Yoting was attended with 
great turbulence, loud talking-fierce and loud-brandishinl[ of sticks. 

Q. Were any managers of elections candidates on either Republican 
ticket! And, iho, state their names and the offices for which they ran.­
A. Yes, sir; S. Q. A. Gailliard was a caudidate for the ]egillature; was 
also manager of election at that poll. 

Q. How many managers were candidates for office on either Republican 
ticket in this county T-A. I cannot state as a matter of fact except as 
to Asht'poo poll, because many were substituted after being appointed. 

Q. Were any holders of offices in the I[ift of the go,"ernor, commis· 
sioners in this county; and, if so, what offices did they ho]d, what are 
their names, and what party did they belong to! 

(Objected to .by counsel for contestee, for being irre]e\'ant.) 
A. First answer, yes, sir; A. O. Shaffer and O. B. Brock were com· 

missioners of election in this county. A. O. Shafter at the time of his 
aPllOintment of commissioner was treasurer of the county. O. B. Brock 
at the time of his appointment of commissioner of elections was trial· 
justiCt'. ThE'Y were Republicans. 

Q. Were these offices of profit, and were they not appointt'd to these 
offices by D. H. Ohamberlain, candidate for governor on the Republican 
ticket !-A. They are offices of profit, and appointed and held at the 
pleasure of the governor. 

Q. What is the size of Oolleton Oounty!-A. One of the largest 
counties in this State. I think it approxImates the size ot' tbe State of 
Rhode Island. 

Q. Are balf the voters in the county known to the other halfT-A. 
They are not. 

Q. Bas any registration law been pasHed since.he adoption of the 
constitution of ItffiS, and if none bas been passed would not repeating 
be easy and detection difficult! I mean repeating at tbe ballot-boxes.-
4. No registration laW' bas beeu passed. The people in tbe county are 
not koo wn to eacb other except in immediate vicinity. Repeating at the 
polls co uld be practiced with tbe greatest facility. 

Q. What was the number of votes cast at the last election, that in 
1876, ae compared with the unmber cast .at any previous one !-A. To 
my mind there is every indication there was in the neighborhood of one 
thousand illegal votes cast in this county at the last election. 

Q. How many more votes were polled than at the election previous!­
.A. Soroewhere in the neigbborhood of fifteen hundred, is· my impres· 
sioo. 

Oross·examined by J. H. Wheeler, Esq.: 
Q. What ticket did you vote !-A. 1 voted the Democratic electoral 

ticket of the State. 
Q. Were you a citizen of this State and by law qualified to vote for 

the State and connty officers and for member of Oongress!-A. I 
regarded it as an open question at the time, and it being necessary to 
take an oatb tbat I was qualified, I neglected to. vote for those offices. 

Q. Have you always lived in tbis State, and, if not, where I-A. In 
tbe State of Mary]and. 
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Q. How long did you live there '-A. About five years. 
Q. Ho\v long had you been in this county at the time of the election ,­

A. I returned to this county about the middle of December, 1875. 
Q. Did you remain in this county from that time to tbe time of the 

election t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Where had you been residingf-A. Walterborough. 
Q. At what time did you.arrive at the polls; was it before the crowd 

collected f-A. I got at the polls about three o'clock the morning of 7tb, 
carrying the poll·box with me, loug before the crowl] collected. 

Q. How long did you stay there '-A. About tweh'e o'clock tbe fol· 
lowing night. 

Q. Did any leave tbe polls of your own knowledge before the polls 
were opened, or in consequence of their not being allowed to vote at 
tbe time tbey desired; and, if so, how many t-A. I cannot swear to 
this man or that man having left, but can only speak as to the seeming 
nneasiness and anxiety of everyone I came into contact witb, and I in· 
fer it possible, or probable, that some left. 

Q. Did you see any go without votingt-A. Did not see any actually 
go. 

Q. How far were you from Grace when be was standing np the rail· 
road talking to the squads wbich you describef-A. About from tbirty 
to fifty yards. 

Q. Did you see Grace give any voters money '-A. I did not see him 
actually give any voters money, but it had the semblance of it. 

Q. Were tbere not two fllctious among tbe Republicans at tbat poll!­
A. Ye."" sir; as to county ticket; it merged into one as to State officers, 
and as to members of Congress, Presidential electors. 

Q. Was not Grace what is termed a rallierfor one of tbose factionsf­
A. As far as tbe factions contending for county officers, he was. 

Q. Was not tbe rumor of wbich you bave spoken made and circulatll(l 
by the faction opposed to Grace amI cbarging bim with buying or at· 
tempting to buy the adherents of Mr. Driffie T-A. It was everybody's 
rumor as soon as it became such, and met with tbe condemnation of 
everyone, though iVas supposed that the Driffio faction was the suf· 
ferers greatly. 

Q. When you speak of baving tickets in their hands, was that before 
or after leaving Grace '-A. After; but some had tickets before. 

Q. Did Gt'ace have any tickets, amI was he issuing the same !-A. 
He did bave tickets, aud was giving them to everyone that would reo 
ceive them. 

Q. You speak of considerable turbulence; was it between the two fllc­
tions mainly, or was it directed against the Democrllts '-A. I think it 
was mostly between the factions. 

Q. Do you know whether the man whose jacket was torn off was a 
Republican or Democrat '-A. I don't know. 

Q. Have yon any reason to believe that he was '-A. I have no rea­
son to believe that he was committed to either. 

Q. 'Vas it done in what appeared to be a friendly way or in angerT­
A. Not being accustomed to ways and doings of the people down there 
I do not know really what were their intentions, but any community in 
which I have lived I should take it to forebode serious trouble; men 
rushed to bim from different directions, and he seemed to be frightened, 
bnt not much. 

Q. Against whom dill the efforts of the large and ferocious man of 
whom you have spoken seem to be directed '-A. He was making for 
where this row was goiug on. 
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Q. While in Maryland did you participate in voting in the elections 
there I-A. Yes, sir; once, I think. 

Q. Do you know the population of this county t-A. I have made reo 
peated estimates of it before aud after the election, based on the -census 
reports, which I have always thought were. incorrect. I have always 
thought that the voting population about 6,000, and perhaps one or two 
handred more. 

Redirect: 
Q. Were you or were you not born and n>ared in this county !-A. I 

was. 
Q. How long did you Jive here before going to ltIaryland '-A. About 

~l yeal'P. . 
Q. Do yon or your family have planting interest on Ashepoo River, 

near the polls I-A. I have not; my brother has. 
Q. You said in cross· examination that you did not actually see any 

t"oters leave the polls before they were opened. Did you pay particu. 
lar attention as to whether any did so leave' In Qther words, could not 
Dlany have left without your noticing it I-A. I, of course, could not 
pay that attention; Ashepoo is one of the largest polls in the county; 
nombers could have left without my seeing them. 

Q. You said that yon did not see any money pa88ing between Grace 
aod the squads of voters; did not everything have the appearance of 
81lcb being the case I-A. Yes, sir; and it was taken for granted as a 
fact by every one I had any conversation with. 

Q. Were yon not the Democratic rallier at that poll, and. what is meant 
by "rallier" in Ool1eton politics '-A. I carried the poll.box there. I 
took 80me qniet interest in the election, but if I did i88ue any tickets 
do not recollect it; certainly did not act in that sense as a (listribntor 
of tickets. 

WILLIAll J. FISHBURNE. 
Sworn to and snbscrihed before me this the 26th day of Febrnary, A. 

D.lSjj. 
[~W..l B. STOKES, 

Probate Judge of Oolleton Oounty, South. Carolina. 

ABRAHAM KELLY, (colored,) a witness in behalf of contestant, in the 
matter of contest for seat in the Forty·fifth Congress of the United 
States from the fifth district of Sonth Carolina, testifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn: 

Question. Where did you live last year '-Answer. I lived on Mr. Ber· 
nard Elliott's pla.ntation, in this county. 

Q. Wbere did you vote at the last election, in November, 187G t-A. 
At tbe Blue House poll. 

Q. Wbat ticket did you vote, and why did you vote it '-A. I voted 
the Republican ticket, and I voted it bAcause I was compelled to vote it. 

Q. Who compelled you, amI how did they compel you '-A. Some of 
the Republican boys said if I did not vote it they would kill me. 

Q. Did th~y whip or beat you about voting, and, if so, when !-A . 
. \t the election they did not whip me, but threatened me and made me 
dread. 
~. Did they whip you before the election or since the election about 

TotlDg '-A. Defore the election tbey threatened me. 
Q. Wben yon weut to the election that morning which ticket !lill YOll 

Want to vote, the Democratic or Uepublican ticket i-A. I went there 
tl) rote the Democratic ticket. 
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Q. Were the Republicans there that day ar.med, and, if so, what sort 
of arms did they have 1-A. I saw some with guns and some with clubs. 

Q. What dill they do with their guns 1-A. They carried. them iu 
sight of the polls and stacked them np in the woods; and if we don't 
come together and we are compelled to nse them they wonld; would 
nse thE'm, they said. 

Q. You Mid they had clu\ls; what sort of clnbs did they have !-A. 
Short, stiff clnbs, abont as long as my arm, with strings iu them. 

Q. Any nails driven in the clnbs anywhere I-A. I did not see any 
nails, but saw some tacks driven around the head of the sticks. 

Q. Were there any women there; and if so, how many, and what side 
were they on, the Republican or Democratic side 1-A. Yes, sir; there 
was plenty of women there; but I could not number them. They were 
all on the Republican side. 

Q. Did the women have any clubs or arms !-A. Not to my knowing, 
bnt followed their husbands all about to make them vote the Republican 
ticket. I 

Cross·examined by Mr. W. F. Myers: 
Q. How long have you lived on the Bernard Elliott plantation ,-

A. About nine years. 
Q. Who plants the place !-A. Mr. J. B. Bissell. 
Q: Do you or did you not work for Mr. J. B. Bissell 1-A. I do. 
Q. Do you or do you not pay rent to Mr. Bissel, and, if so, in what 

way f-A. I pay him rent in labor. 
Q. Was or was not Mr. Bissell a candidate on the Democratic ticket 

in the last election !-A. That I don't know. 
Q. Did Dr. Bissell run for any office !-A. If he is he never say 80 

tome. 
Q. Do you, of yonr own knowledge, know that he run for an omce !­

A. I don't know. 
Q. Was it not reported in your neighborhood that he was runniog 

for "n officel-A. I never heard it. 
Q. How far do you live from Dr. Bissell !-A. Fonr miles. 
Q. You speak of being threatened; in what way were you threat­

ened, aDd by whom !-A. Threatened by my own color: Joho Scott, 
Robert Scott, William Mitchell, John GreeD; them's tbe ODes I know 
that caused the Republican party to come iu upon me. 

Q. Did you or did you DOt ask oDe of the men for a Republican ticket, 
on the day of election, and if not who gave you the ticket, and how 
did you come by it 1-A. I did get a Republican ticket from one of the 
men. I did not ask forit; he gave it to me. 

Q. Did you or did you not accept the ticket when he, the man, handed 
it to you !-A. Yes, sir; I accepted it from him, according to I was 
obliged to take it. 

Q. When <lid you reach the poll, and how long did you sta.Y !-A. 
Staid there from seven to fi\"e. 

Q. Did you on that daycarryany stick, club, or fire·arm !-A. No, sir' 
Q. Did yon or did you not have a Democratic ticket when the Re· 

publican ticket was handed to you, and, if so, what did you do with 
it !-A. I got the Republican ticket first, and after that I conld not 
take the Democratic ticket when it was handed to me. 

Q. Did or did not a great many men, colored meo, vote the Demo­
cratic ticket on that day !-A. Many voted it, and many more waoted 
to do it and could DOt do it. 

Q. Did you Dot, before the election, say to some of yonr colored 
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friends that yoo intended to vote the Republican ticket f-A. I promised 
to \'ote the De~ocratic ticket and try them another season. 

Q. Did you at any time promise to vote the Republican ticket '-A. 
I all along, but not this time. 

his 
ABRAHAM + KELLY. 

mark. 

Sworn to and sobscribed before me this 26th February, A. D. 18i1. 
[SEAL.J B. STOKE8, 

Probate Judge of CoUeton Cottnty, &"tk Carolina. 

ISAA.O FIELDS, (colored,) a witness in behalf of contestant in the mat­
ter of conte.st for seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States, 
from the fifth district of South Carolina, testifies as follows, after being 
duly sworn: 

Question. Where <lid you live last year, amI where did you vote in 
NOt'embf'r, 18i6 t-Answer. I ]ive(l theu where I have lived since the 
war, at the Bernard Elliott plnntation, on Combahee. I voted at the 
Blue House poll. 

Q. What ticket did you vote I-A. The Democratic ticket. 
Q. Did anybody threaten YOI1 that day for voting it, and, if so, what 

was the character of the threats f-A. Yes, sir; the threat was my life, 
aud my life is still being threatened. 

Q. Ha\'e YOll or not heen t'oting the Democratic ticket ever sinpe you 
have been free f-A. I have been voting it every time; never yoted any 
other. 

Q. Did yoo or not hear colored Republicans threaten other colored 
Democrats on the day of election f-A.. I did hear them; I was among 
them. 

Q. Did you or not see any sticks, swords, llistols, or gllns there that 
day, and, if so, did Republicans or Democrats have them t-A. Repub­
lieans had sticks; Clllbs, aneI half-rails, any amotmt of them, say 500. 
Tbere were women among them, and had the same. . 

Q_ Did you see a,ny nails in any of the clubs '-A. Yes, sir; I saw 
clubs with nails and I saw clubs with lead in them-plenty of theln. 

Q. Did you see any guns or muskets, and, if 80, how many, where at, 
and under what circumstances Y-A. 1 clid; I saw a.bout fifteen guns 
aboat one-half lUile froOl the poll, as near as I can guess at it, nicely 
racked np. I saw one man with a gun iu 300 yards of the poll iu the 
road going to the polls. 'Ve asked him where he Wft,S going with his gun. 
He said he was going to the polls to vote. I heard that there were to 
be guns at the poliN; aud that knowing of the threllts, the reason I asked 
him. I said to the same man, .. Is it not a dangerous place for you to 
carry up t() the crowd a loade(l gun T" Said he did uot thiuk so, if it 
wall dangerous, from the orders he received frOID Captain Shaffer and 
~bert Smalls, for them to carry their arms-Republicans, all Uepub­
heans, said in a speech by Robert Smalls, ma.de at the public landing a 
short time before. 

(Counsel for cOlltest£'e objects to all of the lr,tter part of the above 
answer on the ground of being hearsay.) 

Q. Was there anything said about colored Democrats carrying coffins 
to the polls before the election, and, if so, what, and by whom' 

(Counsel for the contestee objects on the ground of being leading.) 
A. It is a general thing snid at the church, 80 much so that the Demo­

crats could not associate with the Republicans, and that General Robert 
H. Mis. 11-14 
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Smalls said so. I heard him say so myself, standing on the platform at 
the depot. 

Q. Whnt did Smalls say about coffins, aml when and where did he 
say it '-A. As a general thing in passing through from Beaufort 
Oounty on to this. He would ~et out at e",ery depot, and it was llIl un­
derstnnding that there was to be a crowd there to mt'et him always. 
He said that he heard a great mallY wen were going to ,-ote the Dem­
ocratic ticket, and he then said" that they must bear upon their mindli 
(all those who are going to \'ote the Democratic ticket,) to uriug their 
comne"-aU thpse w1;o expected to ",<'te the Democratic tickl,t. 

Q. Dill yoo, before the election, get illto a row at Ballouville or any­
where else on account of politics, and what was said and dOlle to you 
ou that occasion '-A. I did get into a ro\v with RellUblicaus, ill August, 
Itt Ballouville. I planted a "egetable garden, and am a sort of a bluche,' 
on Oombahee Rh·er, and furuisb the people there. Ballou\'iIle store is 
tile place I do my tradiug. In goiog there it was always arranged 80 
us to meet certain customers of mine, it being a ha.If-way gl'ound. My 
customers trade there, and I trade thel'e. Right there came along a large 
crowd of stl'ikt'rs, meu, women, anel child I'en , abont 500 in number. 
These strikers taking some of my produce I bad in the cart, right theu 
I s})oke, alld right there I got into a ''ow. They said, "It did 1I0t make 
a damu bit of dift'crence; that the clawn Democrats bad DO Jaws, no 
how." Never got auy pay for my goods, aDd I was glad to l~t them go. 
88 I was afraid they woold take my life. 

Q. You flay yoo had "another row" like this at the same place "in 
July." Dill they threaten you at that row because you wera a Demo­
crat' 
. (Objected to by couDsel for contestee 011 the following grounds: First, 

irrelt'\'ant j st'cond, leading; third, that there does not appear 011 the 
record the words" another row in JutS.") 

A. Tht'y threatt'uet,l me at that, the row in July, because I was 1\ 
Democrat j that all Democratic SOliS of bitches is what we want to get 
at, black and white. 

(The latter part of the objt>ctioll withdrawn. The omission of the 
wordN "another l'OW ill Jult' was through the inadvertence of the 
judge of 1>robate.) 

Q. Do yoo know anything of Republican "oters threatening to assass­
inate J nile Green, a colore(1 Democrat, for distributing Dt'mocratic tick­
ets on the day of election; and, it' so, give us the pRl'ticulars.-A. I am 
acquainted with that young mall. I was sitting in the buggy by the side 
of the fence. I t was said there, "Is uot he rUllUiDg a great risk of his life, 
issuiolt' them Democratic tickt'ts'" I heard that frequently. Theil the 
,vomen on the opposite side hollowed to gome of th .. men io the crowd 
aod called them ont; they "wished somebody woulel kill JUDe Green, 
aDd if the men would oot do it that they would do it, and teBr up all 
the paJ>Crs (the Democratic tickets) that be was issuing." At the time he 
bad a practice of walking backward alld forward to the llolls, and one 
bundred and tifty yards 011; meeting the persons as they were coming, 
trying to get oft' his tickets. The tickets he did gi\'e to the men tlnit 
intended to vot., them, were not allowt~d to "ote them after they came 
up. Fioally they raised a club of about five men. I was outside. tbey 
were iUflille, and I h('8nl tbeir cOD\-ersatioll; that is, what was pa&JeC1. 
They said, "We will rollo1\' this fellow down the road; this thing woo't 
do." As soon as they said they would follow him down the road, ODe 
of the men says, "Let me ba\'e your pistol. Now when yoo go down 
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yon attract his attention-talk to bim, and just as soon as we knock 
bim down-:>ne talk to him and the other knock him down-be sure 
and get away every ticket he has; take 8way all tbe ticket~. It would 
be a great help to the Republican party at the polls' to kill him and 
tear the tickets up." 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee, on the ground tbat it is bear­
say.) 

Q. Did yon ever bear any body say that the constitution and laws of 
South Oarolina do not permit a colore(} mau to be a Democrat; and, if 
80, who was it; when and where 'I 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee, 8S leading.) 
A. Yes, sir; it is generally run around the county. I heard Smalls say 

80 myself twice. I heard him once at Ballou\-ilIe, at th'e time of the. 
strikes, and once "assing on the train of Savannah and Oharleston 
Railroail, at the White Hall depot. 

Q. HaVl~ yon e\-er heard any body say that soldiers wonld b" brought. 
to &uth Oarolina by Governor Ohl\mb~rlain, to protect Republicans in 
no mattllr what they did to Democrats; aud, if so, when amI where, aUIL 
wbosaid it 'I 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee, on the ground of its being 
leading.) 

A. I dhl, sir; I bt>ard it at Captain Shaffer's meeting about the latter 
end of August, at Stook's Bridge; Captaiu Sbafter said it. 

Q_ What sort of a meeting was that !-A. It was a general Repub­
lican political meeting. 

Q. Hove you ever hearu 8ny one say 80; and, if yea, wben and 
wberet-A. I beard Smalls and Shatl'er issuing it out, and after that 
e\-ery body that I met that was 1\ Republican, say the same thing-that: 
I h:\\"e met since then. I heard Smalls say, passing up and down the­
raih'oad, alltl when he comes in this county, it is known, and a crowd 
gl'uerally meets him. 

Q. Were or were 1Iot a great many colored voters at the last election 
deterred or kept from Yoting the Democratic ticket at Blue House and Ht: 
other precincts, because tbey thollgbt the soldiers would make tbem vote 
the Republican ticket !-A. If it ball not been for the threats and the 
80ldiers that came, the whole couoty \vonl,l have gone Democl"cl.tic, 
and I am certain that we lost 300 votes at the Blue Honse polls by tbe­
tbreatM and tbe soldiers. 

Q. Did you or not ever hear any Hepublican le311er8 tell a largo 
CroWl! of He(mi>lican voters to crush e\'ery Democratic negro '-A. 
Many a time; I heard tbem on the stump. 

Q. Who sllid it '-A. O;'ptllin Shafter was tbe first man I heard say 
it,l\nd other leaders at different meetings. 

Q. Dil) you e,'er hear Oongressman Smalls say anything like that f­
A. I did, sir, at his meetings. 

Q_ At what place did the biggest riot of the rice strikers occur last 
faU, amI bow many rioters, men, women, and cbildren, assemblelt 
theret-A. 011 this side of the river, at Wbite HalJ, the numbl'r WIlS 
tbree or four hundred. 

Q. How far is Wbite Hall from BIlle House poll, and did or not the 
most of the rice st.rikers vote at the Bille House polJs !-A. Six 0 ... 
seven milllS; the most ot' the rice strikers in this county do vote there. 

Q. Did or not a large body of rioters, rice stl'ikers, assembled at 
Ballouville for a riot, and if so, about how maoy \vere eo gaged in it!-
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A. Five hundred men and women. Two days and two nights tho men 
ne\'or went homA; sent their wives home for their p,rub. 

Q. Did those Ballouville rioter~ make any violent threats, ami, if so, 
what were those threats, ,vbat was the cbaracter of them '-A. I went 
to Ballouville to do my trading, as I usnally do. but could not get into 
the store. I fonnd it surrounded. I then laid outside nntil it wa.'4 dark. 
Then they raised a song anll put. out their pickets all around the store. 
All they wanted was the white Democratic 80ns of bitcbes to poke their 
heads ont of the store. There were about forty wbite men shut np there. 
They were run tbere by the strikers. They had to get off of their plllllt,'\· 
tions; agents, owners allli all, had to ~o there. It was the nearest 
course to the Ilille-land; they had to stop tbere. 

Q. While that Ballouville riot was going on, did any depnty sherift·, 
or other peace officer, go there to qnell the riot, and, if so, who was he, 
and what did he say am) do '-A. On the second da~' Ca.ptain Shaffer, 
the deput~· sheriff, he did not do alJ~'thin~ but said, "1\Ien, for GOO'd sake 
stop this riot." But before he left the rallks he said" Bully, boys; go on, 
boys, with the strike IIntil after election; there is no law to do allY thing 
,vith yon. I will stalld to your back aud the Republican party; there is 
no law t.o hurt you." 

Q. While that Ballou\'ilIe riot was-going on, ditl Congressman Smalls 
go there, and, if so, \vhat did he say and do to the rioters '-A. Yes, be 
came there, and went into the house, antI came out and told the people 
they were decidedly wrong. The men then got into a rage, and 1I0ne of 
them could stop them, nntil tbey had a mind to, but none of them did 
not try hard tlno:Jgb. They got outrageous with Smalls; said iu bis 
presence that they" got to ha'-e these damn Democrats ont there if they 
had to bnrn the house IIown." SmaIls'lJ reply then was, "Look bert", men, 
don't talk that way, because if you were to burn it clown now it would 
be known now who did it and how it bappened. You men can born 
down, but say notbing abont it how it bapperel!. Say 1I0thing, and you 
can burn every Democrat in the coon try 001." 

Q. \Vere or were not the colorecl Republicans more violent, and did 
or did 1I0t they threaten colored Democrats more in tbis last election 
than at any election since f!mancipation '-A. l\lost decidedly. 

Adjourned until to-morrow, 9 o'clock a. m. 
[SKU.] B. STOKES, 

Probate Judge of OoUeton. Oounty, South Oarolina. 

Met pursuant to adjonrnment, 9 o'clock a. m., February 27, A. D.1877. 
Present: Judge of probate, B. Stokes; C. C. Tracy for contestaot, and 
Messrs. T. H. Wheeler aod W. F. Myers for contestee. 

Witness, ISAAC FIELDS, already sworn. 
Cross-examination commencecl : 

Q. \Vhere do you live now '-A. Uombahee. 
Q. On whose 1>11100 !-A. W. S. Bissell, the man in charge. 
Q. Is that Dr. Bissell's placet-A. W. S. Bissell is brother of Dr. H. 

E. Bissell. 
Q. Where did you '\""ote on the 7th November lasU-A. Blue House. 
Q. What ticket did you \-ote '-A. Democratic ticket. 
Q. At wbat time did you go to the polls !-A. It was said to be about 

balf' past six o'clock. 
Q. With whom did you go '-A. I went under tbe protection of a few 

white -mcn; that is, tbey overtook IDe and others on the way. They 
o,,"ertook us and said, "IIallo, wen; wbere are you going-to the elec· 
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tion!" To which we answered, "Yes." "Ain't yon afraid!" We said, 
"Not exactly." At the time we were 110t afraid, as we thought ourselves 
out of danger. '.rhere was lIobody else on the way except those who 
orertook os. After we left the White Hall depot there was a party ot" 
about eighty-odd, according to my judgment, were ahead of us. Then 
tbere was a great yowling aud firiug-whooping and tiring continually. 
At tbat time one of the men in my crowd, be came to the conclusion, 
~id ... Look bere; we are rather in n, daugerous fix now; what will we 
doT" I made answer, "Nobody here got anything-nothing to defend 
tbemselves. Let us make anotbl'r arrangement; tbosl" white men, there 
are more of them in that crowd thau we are." And we called to the 
wbite men and they stopped, and ask t.Il~m, "Can you tell me what all 
tbiA firing is allout that are ahead of os!" To which tllt'y replil'd thnt 
tbt'y did not know themllelves-did not understand it. I said, "From 
tbe tbrl.'ats tbat was made to the colored Democratic voters." A f~w of 
my crowil then said, "Look here, Fields; great God, man, w('! can't go 
to tbat place; I swear we clln't go there; let ItS turn back and go home; 
tbt'm 'Publicans that is firing ahead of ns will kill us certain." I said, 
"Then, men, it would be as bad to turn back all to go forward; we 
would be sure to meet tht' sam('! thing if we turn back as to go forward." 
1carue to the conclusion and adl"ispd the crowd it was better to go for· 
ward than to turn back, as we hnd the white men between os, and then 
we woold follow them up. I made a reference to olle of the gentlemen 
in tbe crowd, "Suppose, now," NaYIi I, ·'that tbelle f"lIows shoot ns­
till Oil; we got nothing to protect ourst'll"es; conld you menN protect us 
as far as tbe polls-tbrough and ont from the pons T" They made 
3nSIVt'r to us, "It may be 8 hard matter for UK to protect onrselves." 
Tbt'u tbl.'Y said, "'Ve will give yon an _advice: to bn\'e nothiug to say 
to nobody, injure nobody, aud barm uobody; go along qnietl~', make 
tbe bellt way yon can to the poll~; I eX)lt'ct we all bll\'e to do this from 
tbe firing that is ahead of us." We took tbat advice, and ill my opillion 
a rers correct one, and we got to the polls in tbat way. 

Q. At what time did you vote T-A. In the evening some time. It 
\fas not in the morning, I know. 

Q. Ditl yon stay at the po1ls from the time that yon arrived in the 
morning nntil yon \'oted T-A. I was, or near there, pretty well all day. 

Q. Were yon 1I0t ell'ctiolleering for your ticket '-A. Not there. 
Q. How many men were with you in the crowd tbat YOll speak of; I 

mean tbe crowd that was with YOIl, and what was their names !-A. 
Sereral. Tbomas }lcUormick,Jollll Lessington, Qnogall llrown~ Abram 
Kl.'lIy, myself, anI} a man wbose Dame I do not OIlW remember. 

Q. Then, there were six in your crowd '-A. Yes, sir; along there· 
about. 

Q. Did they al1 \'ote tbe Democratic ticket !-A. Not to my seeing. 
Q. Do you know whetber aoy did not vote tbe Democratic ticket!­

Ahram Kelly did IIOt, RIlII he wellt there with the intention of doillg it. 
Q. Did you get your ticket from Dr. Bissell or from anyone else !­

A. I got my ticket from Mr. Savage, 8 white man. 
Q. How many men were in tbe crowd of wblte mell that you speak 

off-A. Don't know exactly. 
Q. Was it a large crowd !-A. It was not a large crowd. 
Q. Do yon know the names-of any of them! and, if so, state them.­

A. I do not know the names of them, except one that I spoke to. 
Q. Wbat was his lIame !-A. They call him Mr. Blocker. 
Q. Was be the same man that ga\'tl yon the information nod advice!­

A. Yea, sir. 
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Q. You spoke of being "threatened." Can you tell me the Dames of 
those who threatened you '-A. When a man is tItreatened, is gener­
ally 80 scared in my part of the conntry that when a man is threatened 
he generally gets out of the way as fast as he can, and the men who 
make these threats are the ones that you will surely Dot kuow the names. 

Q. Then, you do 110t know the names of auy who threatened you T­
A. I do not know the names. 

Q. How often have you voted before the last election T-A. As Ulany 
times as there were elections. 

Q. For whom did you vote in 1870'-A. I voted for the man I thought 
was tbe best mao. . 

Q. What was his name t-A. I do not remember. 
Q. Did you not, in that year, vote for General Bntler T-A. I don't 

remember in wbat year he ran, bnt I did vote for him wben be ran. 
Q. Did yon Dot vote for Scott in 1872 t-A. Never voted for him in 

my life. 
Q. Did you see at Blue House any Democrats arUled witb guns or 

pistoll'! t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you hear anyone say that tbey had arms' 
(Objected to by counsel for contestlnt 8S hearsay.) 
A. Never. 
Q. Did you see Mr. LaDsey tItere T-A. I don't remember-wbetber I 

did or 1I0t. 
Q. How far were yon from the crowd which you said were "yellingf"­

A. About six hundred yards, behind a bend in tbe road, 80 that I could 
110t tell exactly. 

Q. How many men did you see at tbp. polls with sticks T-.!.. I saw 
everybody there except a few-the most of tbe men aDd women. 

Q. How many I-A. My opinion is about four or fixe hundred. I went 
tbere to vote, not to connt men, therefore 1 c(luld not posith'ely state 
how many. 

Q. Wht>n was it you saw Smalls at the dt>pot, and what dellot was 
it T-A. White Hall. I can't stste precisely the time. 

Q. What did he say t-A. 'Ihe firMt I heard of Itim be saifl this 
., 1\len8, you Republican mens must all keep together," and applied to 
the women who were there at the time, " be sllre and not allow their 
Itusbauds to vote the Democratic ticket; tItllt tlJt>y were selling tht'm 
out aud their children; no colored Ulan was allowed to vote the Demo­
cratic ticket, and 1I01le could be a Democrat; that their wives bad bet­
ter leave their husbands if they do." 

Q. Did he leave the statiou theu f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you staml there tlJe wholo time he WIIS talking I-A. Y ('8, sir. 
Q. Did he not say that anybody conld '-ote as they pleHsetl !-A. 

Ne\'er to my Itt>aring. 
Q. Theu yon are certain that was all be said at tlJat time I-A. At 

tbat time. 
Q. Did yon see bim again; and, if 80, where t-A. Yes; at Btlilou­

ville. 
Q. Did Ite not at that place try to stop the riot I-A. He came ont. 

aud said to the people that he thought they were wI'oug with tbeir car­
ryings 00. 

Q. Did you ever see him after that T-A. I saw him passing up and 
flowu on the railroad train; I go pretty frequently there for ~oods. 

Q. Did you ever hear him make any speeches thereo, or taU.ing, other 
titan tlJe oue yon spoke oft-A. Yes, sir; I have heard him since that. 
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Q. When was It !-A. I ha,"e it not in mind. I cannot keep the time 
exactly. 

Q. About what time was it I-A. I ha'"e no idea. 
Q. What did he say!-A. He allowed that every colol'E'd man who 

wonld vote the Democratic ticket, thnt their wi,"es ought to kill them ill 
their sleep, or )onr hot lead in their ear at night. . 

Q. Yon speak something about th~ Republicans wouM not apsocinte; 
did the Repn blicllns atl vis~ them not to do it '-A. Yes, sir. Let them 
Democrats alone; have nothing to do with them; don't associate with 
them, and as sooo as election the United States will put them where 
they ought to be; e,"ery one of them ought to be here; point them out 
to tbe soldiers. 

Q. Ha'-e JOU not said that theJ'(\ wns no "intimidation" at that poll, 
and that all yon saw was" rough plIlY," peculiar to that neigllborhood, or 
words to the same t'ft't>ct '-A. Never said anything about rough playing. 

Q. Were you one of the strikers '-A. No, sir. 
Q. How long have yon lived in th~ neighborhood of the Blue BOllse 

poll I-A. I livell within ten miles of it thirty years, fully. . 
Q. Are yon acqnainted generally with the lleople iu that section ,­

A. In the lower part I am. 
Q. Was Jnne Green beaten 011 the day of election T-A. He was 110t 

strnck to my knowing. 
Q. You speak of "five men" wbo " were talking inside the polling;" 

what wer~ their names T-A. I am nnable to say; I am not well ac· 
quainted with the people in the upper part of the precinct. 

Q. Bow ruany meetillgs did you attend at wbich Robert Smalls 
spoke T-A. A t one. I did lIot see the man; there was such a crowd 
tllere· tbat is near itS I wanted to get to him. 

Q. How many Republican meetings did you aUeml T-A. I attended 
several. . . 

Q. Where were thE'y!-A. A,t Stock's Roall, White Hull, (Public 
Lanlling,) Blue Bouse. 

Q. Bow often bave you heard Captain Shaffer Ap€'ak during the lust 
campaign T-A. I beard twice; once at Stock's Road, at a meeting, and 
OlJce at Ballou,"i11e, ut the time of the riot. 

Q. Did the rioters threaten to whip Captain Shnffer I-A. Not to my 
knowing. 

Q. Did Shaffer at that place att(>mpt to stop the rioH-A. Be did 
not hard; what he said did no good. ~'he rioters staid there until they 
felt disposed to leave themselves. 

Redirect: 
Q. Yon spoke of Captain Shaffer; is he n carpet"bagger, or nntin· 

born! 
(Objected to by counsel for contestee as irrelevant.) 
A. lIe is a carpet-bagger. 
Q. What do you mean by carpet-bagger.; do you or do you not mean 

CI politician" T 
(Objected to by cou nsel as irrelet'ant and leading. and not in answer 

to auy ruatter brought ont in cross·examination.) 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You say that you saw Smalls on thA railroad, passing up and down; 

did yon not see him a good many times !-A. Frequently, at the depots. 
(O~jections presented by T. H. Wh(>eler, (>sq., counsel for contestE'e, 

against the r(>fusal of the probate judge to allow bim to cross-examine 
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the witness npon the new matter bronght ont in the redirect exami­
nation.) 

bis 
ISAAC + FIELDS. 

mark. 

Sworn to and subscribetl before me this the 21th day of February, 
A. D.1877. 

[SEA.L.] B. STOKES, 
l)robate Judge of Oolleton OOlmtg, South Oaroli1la. 

THOMA.S MCOORMICK, (colored,) a witness on behalf of contestant in 
the matter of contest for lIt'at in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United 
States from the fiftb tlistl'ict of Sontb Carolina, testifies as follows~ after 
being duly sworn: 

Question. Where did you li\"e!-Answer. Live on Oheraw. 
Q. Wbere did you vote at the election in Not'ember, 1876f-A. At 

Blue Boutle. 
Q. What ticket <lid yon vote '-A. I "ott>d the Democratic ticket. 
Q. Did anybody e\'er thrt'aten yon before or Itt the election; and, if 

so, who \t'8S be, and what did he say t-A. Yt'II, sir; there wt're thrt-au 
before 110(1 after. Se\'eral said to Ole before the t'lection that if I voted 
the Democratic ticket I should be kille<l; after a man said to me, if I 
vott'd tbe Democl'atic ticket I would be killt'd, I then concluded I 
would go to a Republican CaUCUS meeting; and wbilst I was going to the 
JUt'eting I aS~t'd olle man to go with Ole; and after I got to the lIIet-ting 
tben Captain Shaft'er got Ul> and be instructt'd the caucus tbat nigbt 
that when thpy going to the polls that each man must take their arms 
with them, and tholle that had not arms, the party must " throw ill so 
mucb to get them;" and wh,,11 they go to the polls, must stop just in 
sight and reach anrl lea\'e some one to gnard tbe arms, bt>eause these 
fellows don't know what we are going to do; Chamb .. rlilin is going to 
disband the rifle-clubs, and they WOII't have any protection; and wb~n 
;you frO up the first fellow that votes the Democrktic ticket give a signal, 
and kill him; after killing three or four the r4'st ot' th"m will be afraid 
to ,'ote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Did you hear Shafter say anything about the 801diers at that cau­
cus, 01' anywhere else; nod, it' so, ",bat did be say!-A. Be says that 
thousands of soldiers is ordt'red to dist.'ibute at t'acb poll, alld tbose 
black people tbat "oted the Democratic ticket will be sent to the peni­
tentiary. I also wellt. to another caucus at Mr. L, Shuman's. He said 
it' IIUY of the black people \'oted the Democratic ticket they would be 
sellt to the penitentiary, because it is against all law that a black man 
should vote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Did or did not Shaft'ersay anything about the soldiertt helping the 
Republicans !-A. Yt's, sir. 

Q. What tlid be say f-A. Be said "the soldiers would be there to 
protect the Rt'publicans." 

Q. You said you were thrt'atened by several men; were these men 
Democrats or Republicans T-A. RepUblicans. 

Q. You said that Shntl'er told the llIen at that secret caucus wbicb YOD 
attended that they must carry tbeir arms to the ]>Oils; did you sec any 
arms there, and, if so, what kind f-A. Some of tbem muskets, some 
double-barrel guns, and just before I got to the polls some oue fired a 
pil'ltol ahead of us. 

Q. Where were these arms placel1 !-A. Was placed a little ways oft' 
from the poll. 
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Q. Did you see any clubs there! and, if so, describe what kind.-A. 
Hickory clubs; they were about a foot aud a half long, with strings 
aronnd the wrist; men and women-I don't know how many of them­
a crowd of them. 

Q. Did or did not these clubs ha¥e nails in them !-A. Yes, sir; they 
were built wha.t is culled eight sqnares with nails driven through them. 

Q. You said that Shaffer told the men in a secret caucus which you 
attended that the soldiers would help the Republicans, and take all the 
colored Demot!rats and put them in the penitentiary; did or did not 
this frighten several men at the polls from voti'1g the Democratic 
ticket !-A. It frightened my brother and Cuffy Scott, aDd Solomon 
Proctor. 

Q. Were there any soldiers at the polls at Blue House that day'-A. 
Yes, sir. It' 

Q. When the colored Democrats or men who intende(l to \"ote the 
Democratic ticket saw the soldiers come were they not still more fright· 
enedt-A. They was, because they said-one of the manag{\rs, Mr. 
Paul, suitl-" There comes the blue·jackets; now we will put them 
through." 

Q. Was Panl a Democrat or Uepublican !-A. Republican. 
Q. Did or did not the n.epubJicans threaten to beat or kill yoor 

brother if he "oted the Democratic tickett-A. Tht'y did before and 
after the eJection. 

Q. What poll do you generally \"ote at t-A. ~\shepoo poll. 
Q. Why did you not \'ote at the Ashl'poO poll in the el(>ction of 

No\"ember, 1876 t-A. Because they said that if I Wl'nt to the Ashepoo 
poll they would either beat Ole to death or kill me. 

Q. Why did you go to BIlle House, then !-A. Because it was some 
protection to go along with the. rest of the Dl'mocrats. 

Q. Do you know anythin~ about the RepUblicans threatl'nillg to kill 
JUDe Green at Blue House fol' "distributing Democratic tickets;" and, 
if so, what do you know!-A. One said they would beat him to death 
anel olle said they would It ill him. 

Q. Did you S66 any women at Blue House on the day of election 
dressed in men's clothes i-A. I did, but their names I did not know. 

Q. Do ~·ou know anything of the riot in Ballouville t-A. Yes, sir; 
Mr. Shaffer went down there and said they must strike, and thl'Y would 
be protf"cted. 

Q. Did you see Congressman Smalls there; and, if so, what did he 
say'-A. He said they must strike. 

Q. Did he attempt or pretend to attempt to stop the riot t-A. He 
said these white fellows told me just now that you all said that you are 
going to burn down these uuildings, and if you are goillg to do it, say 
nothing about it. 

Q. Do you know of any tbreats made since the election against any 
mall who '\'as belie\"ed to haye "oted the Democratic ticket '-A. Yes, 
sir; I do. . 

Q. Who were they made against !-A. John Mustifer; they said they 
would kill all of bis stock. 

Q. Did you or did you not ever hear them threaten Abram Kelly, be­
Rausa they believed he had "oted the Democratic ticket !-A. Yes, sil'; 
I ditl. 

Q. Wbat did they say, and what did he say !-A. They askell Abram 
Kl'lIy if he did not vote the Df"mocratic ticket; he told them" no;" 
tbey told Abram Kelly that" he did," antI he saitI "be ditl not i" there­
were four of them. 
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Q. Did or did they not-these four men, I mean-thrE'aten to beAt 
Kelly if they fonnd out that he had voted the Democratic ticket t-A. 
They did. 

Q. Did or did not the threats of' the .RE'pllblicans, the tear that the 
soldiers would take the colored Democrats aDd put them in the peni­
tentiary, and the arms of the Republicans cbange the resnlt of the 
electioll at Blue House poll-l mean would not the Democrats have got­
ten more votes if the colored people had Dot been afraid of all these 
things f-A. They would. 

Cross· examined : 
Q. On whose place do yon lh-e t-A. llr. Robert Cbisolm's. 
Q. Who bas charge of tbe place t-A. I ha,·e. 
Q. Ha,"e yon charge of the place for Mr. Chisolm, or some one else t­

. A. I have charge of it for the firm of Messrs. Meminger, Pinckney & 
Jervey. 

Q. Who plants the place I-A. There is ,-ery little planting there: 
what little I plant. -

Q. Do you or do you not pay rent for the place I-A. 1 do. 
Q. Did you at any time during the campaign work for Mr. Bissell, or 

trade at any of his stores I-A. I did for t1\'e years before the election, 
and have since. 

Q. Are you or are you not one of bis foremen !-A. I am his sawyer; 
also foreman of the mjll. 

Q. Was or was not Dr. Bissell a candidate for an office at the ~lection 
in November, 1876f-A. He was. 

Q. Did you ever attend any Democratic caucus during the cam· 
paign 'I-A. Yes; I did. 

Q. Were or were not the white ritle·clubs of your section organized or 
formed during the campaign I-A. I do not know. 

Q. Did you ever see them drill before the campaign I-A. I did not. 
Q. Did you ever see them drill, or make preparations for drilling, 

during the campaign f-A. I did not see them. 
Q. \V ere or were not, during the ca m paign, arms sent to your section 

or carried there by individuals I-A. Not a8 I know of. 
Q. Do ;you or do you not know of' the ('xistence, (luring the campaign, 

of ritle-clubs in your section I-A. I don't. 
Q. Did you or did 3'OU not speak at any of the R~ptlh1ican caucns('s, 

or any wily approve or indorse the procl·t'(linglS I-A. I did not speak, 
tor I was not able; Hnd while I was ill that secret caUCUR I was CODl· 

pelled to indorse it. 
Q. Were or were yon not armed on the day of the election, or were 

yon at any time ad\"ised to carry arms I-A. 1 never was before, nor 
then, nor after. 

Q. Do you know positively that Shnman said" they wonld be seot." 
or did he say that they ought to be sent to the penitentiary I-A. He 
said they would be sent. 

Q. Name the men who threatened yon, the timl', and the place.-A. 
I knew one man, Solomon Middleton; Nero Sileights, Cresar White. 
They told me; at the farm place was the place; October of the last year 
the time. 

Q. How near were the soldier!! to the polls on election-dayt-A. They 
went nil to the polls. 

Q. When Paul spoke of the blue-jackets, was be not before trying to 
keep the people in order and prevent the rush at the box and spoke of 
their CI ming in this connection, or did he name any particular mao or 
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set of men T-A. He was on the outside distributing tickets. He was 
not trying to keep the crowd from rushing on the polls, and W8S not try­
ing to keep the people quiet. He was talkiug to Republicantl. 

Q. What ticket did you vote on election.day!-A. Democratic ticket. 
Q. Were any of the Democrats armed either with guns, pistols, or 

other weapons 011 the day of electi01l !-A. I did not see allY weapons at 
all with the Democrats. 

Q. Where is your brother!-A. LiV'ing in the same place I am living. 
Q. Did you hear the threats against Mustifer and Green, or only the 

rt'port of them T-A. The threats. 
Q. Who made them f-A. I don't know their positive names. 
Q. How long tave YOll Ih'ed on the Chehaw, or in that section of the 

country!-A. About 20 renrs. 
Q. HI,,"e you, or have you not, heard many colored ,"oters suy they 

"were only fooling the Democrats t"_A. I did not. 
Q. Do you kuow, or ha,"e you ever heard, the romor among tbe col­

ored people tbat they would be turned oft' the lauds if they did not vote 
for Hampton! 
(Object~d to by counsel for contestant all hearsay.) 
A. I did not. 
Q. Did, or did you not, hONe a conversation with Isaac !<'ieltls, or any 

one else, as to what you ought to testify in reference to the Ballellville 
riot, or anything else connected with your testimony in this case '-A. 
I~oo~ . 

Q. Did you hear yourself, or ol1ly the rumor, that you would "be 
killed at Ashepoo f' If so, gi\'e the names of the parties.-A. I did 
myself, and gave the names of the parties. 

Q. What are those lJa~es T-A. Solomon Middleton, Cresar White, 
anti Nero Speights. 

Q. When, and at what time, was this secret caucRS held at which 
Shaffer spoke T-A. Cbebaw. The time, in October. 

THOMAS McCORMICK. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this tbe 27th Ft>bruary, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 

Judge (If Probat~ of Oolleton OO'Utlty, South Oarolina. 

SAMPSON CLA.RK, (colored,) a witness in behalf of contestant, in the 
math,'r of contest for seat in the Forty·fifth Oongress of the United 
States from the fifth district of South Ollrolina, testifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you li\'"e '-A. On Cheehaw, on Cbisolm\'ille 
plantation. 

Q. Where did you vote at the time of the election in Noyember, 
1876 T-A. At Blue House. 

Q. What ticket did you vote!-A. A Democratic ticket. 
Q. What poll do you mmally vote at T-A. Asbepoo poll. 
Q. Why did yon vote at the Blue House poll this time T-A. Because 

I heard the tbrellt ancl W8S in dread of it. 
Q. Did or not more Democrats yote at Blue House than at Asbepoo T­

A. More Democrats ,"oted at Blue Bouse. 
Q. Did any Repllblicanll threat.en you before or at the election' And 

if ~o, what did they say to YOIl T-A. Captain Shaffer. lie, of courset 
claims to be a Republican, and I have been to his caucus, and I heard 
what he said in his caucus. To get into that caucus I had to I'uSS 
myselCas a Republican. If not so, I never would have got in. 
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Q. What did Shaffer say!-A. We must go to the polls, not one by 
one, but iu squauti, anu d6 remember to takt> our "uns aloug and what 
little ammnnition we have got, vote. and vote often, and any colored 
Democrat that goes there to vote the Democratic ticket, the signal would 
be given to the gnarl} that guards the guns that the governor's orders 
were to disband the Democratic rifle-clubs before this election takes 
plact>, and this rifle·club only mean to make them a coward; but they 
would see that it sha'n't be. The boys must strike, aud keep striking. 
That would help us to carry this election through and elect Daniel H. 
Chamberlain governor. 

Q. Did Cnptain Shaffer say anything abont soldiers; and, if 80, what! 
Oluected to by conn&e} for contestee as leading. 
A. Captain Shaffer said that the United States soldiers will be at the 

polls to protect the Uepublican party. I have kuown that tkere was 
threats made to pre~t-nt the coloreu Democrats from voting. 

Q. Did any soldiers go to th~ polls on the day of election at Blue 
Housl' f-A. Y t-s, sir; they did. 

Q. Did or did not their coming frighten off some colored men from 
voting the Democratic tick~t f and, if so, tell 11S the lIames of the. men. 
-A. Lewisl\lcCormlck weut with intention to vote it and did not vote; 
Ahralll lit-lIy, Soloman Proctor, Cuft) Scott; that what was about what I 
conld recollect, but t,here were se\'eral others. 

Q. You said Captain Shaffer told the ml~n to carry their arms to the 
polls; did you see nny arlDs there! I mean at the polls.-A. Not right 
up to the pol\s, bllt not fur. 

Q. Did you see any weapons, clubs, or sticks. at the polls! 
(Objected to by counsel fOl" contestee as leading.) 
A. I saw one ride up on an ox with saber hung to bis side, and a 

good many with sticks came up. 
Q. What sort of sticks were thl'~e !-A. Mostly newly-cnt sticks. 
Q. How were they made, Ilnd did they ha\'e auything in their he.ads' 

-A. I diu not notice particularly, but think the length was about three 
feet, with oa·i1s strung around and arollnd the heads. 

Q. When the soldiers came up, diu you hl'ar any Republican sayany­
thing about them; and, if so, what !-A. Paul was there when I got 
there; what he said before I got UI) I uon:t know; but after I got up, I 
heard him say that any colored man that would come here to vote a 
Democratic ticket was selling his wife to General Hampton, the Demo­
cratic governor. 

Q. WlIt-re was the secret caucus at which you heard Captain Shafft'r 
speak, and who went there with you t-A. I went there by myself; it 
was on a place that Capt1dn Shaffer owned, the Chaplain place, as it 
was called. 
. Q. Do you know anything of the riot at Ballouville' And, if 80, state 
whether you saw Captain Shaffer and Congressman Smalls there or not. 
-A. I do know something of the riot at Bnllouville. I did see Captain 
Shnffer and Congressman Smalls there; they met me there. 

Q. What did Captain Shafter say to the rioters while attempting or 
pretending to attempt to quiet them' 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee as indicating the answer desired.) 
A. I cannot say what Captain Shafter said without going back to 

Smalls. 
Q. State then, first, what Smalls said.-A. The white mens was 

there speaking to Smalls inside of the yard; after they did do tbat, 
Smalls came outsid~ where the strikers wtlre, and told them that the 
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report he got this morning W38 a threat to burn down the store with 
them in there, but that is against law. If they burn down the store 
01' rice-stacks or rice-mills, of courlle they will be Imnished for it if they 
let it be known. Keep yonI' tongue concealed \vith notice, and go on 
and do what you are going to do; nothing yet to his acknowledge ever 
defiled the body of a lIlan but what is off of his lips and tongne. I 
then came ont of the yarfl a little after he did; I said to the mens, U My 
Lord, it is a shame to see my race aCt in the way they do, from all the 
ad\"ice and all the blind, that they told you and pnt you up to; I am now 
compelled to draw from yon aIL" 

Q. Who were inside the store that they threatened to born down' 
-A. A good many white men. 

Q. How many men, strikers I mean, were ontsicle '-A. About 500 
men, M near as I conld come to it, anll abont 150 women. 

Q. What did Oaptain Shaffer sayf-A. "Go on, men; go on; free fight; 
we will carry the electiou better for all of this carryings ou campaign 
time. 

Q. Did you see or dill you not see any women 11ressed in men's clothes 
. at the polls at Blue Honse on the day of election '-A. Met one on the 

road near to the polll!. 
Q. Did not these threats, the cOlDing of the soldiers til the polls, 

and the sticks and other weapons borne there by the Repuhlicans, 
cbange the re~ult of the election at that poll 7 I mean, would not the 
Democrats have gotten more votes from the colored men if they had not 
been frightened by all these things' 

(Oounsel for coutelltee objects, on the ground that it is leading.) 
A. Pretty certain of it. 

Oross-examined : 
Q. Hllw far do ~'ou live from BlneHouse poll f-A. About nine miles. 
Q. How far do you 11\'e from BalloU\'ille t-A. About four miles. 
Q. What were you doing at Ballonville at the time you say that Con· 

gressDlan Smalls and Oaptain Shaffer were there 7-A. I was doing busi· 
ness for another man. 

Q. Were you olle of the strikers '-='A. Never in my life. 
Q. At what time was that second meeting of which you speak off-

A. Never kt>pt the datt>o • 
Q. About what time waH it '-A. Very nearly the time of the election. 
Q. Where do you live, and how long ha\'e you lived there'-A. On 

Cbeehaw, Chishohnville plantation; about seven years. 
Q. Have you e\"er been in jllil here at Wnlterborouh T-A. Yes; for 

an assault. 
Q. Was that the only offense for which you were imprisoned f 
(Counsel for contestant ohjects to the qnt>stion 3S one which may be 

liahle to compel the "itut>ss to render himself infamous. 
Refnst>d to a1lswer that questioll.) 
Q. How mnlly soldiers came to the polls '-A. Very fe\t'-did not 

keep an account of them. 
biB 

SAMPSON + CLAnK. 
mark. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 27th day of February, A. D· 
18i7. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge of Colleton County, Soutk Carolina. 
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ROBERT FISHBURN, already sworn. recalled: 
Question. Are you or are you not clerk of the conrt of common pleat! 

and general sessions of Col1eton County '-A. I am. 
Q. Will you please say if the book before you is a record in your 

office, alld if it is, what record t-A. It is a record. It is a journal 
of court of general sessions. Clet'k rends: "'rhe State 'l'B. Sampson 
Clark; indictment for burghuy aud larceny. The armignment in tbit! 
CBse having been wah'eel by counsel. after \"ariolls drawings and chal· 
lenges, the following jnry WIlS made up: Belljamin Stokes, Brutus 
Grant, :Selson Stewart! J une ~Ioore, Daniel Hill, Monday Garrett, Barry 
Fields, John Ryews, Washington Handy, Joseph Singleton, Jonas 
Magby, Samuel Garrett; anel they returned a nartliot as follows: '~ot 
guilty,' B. Stol,es, foreman." Entered on page 354. Clerk also read 
from page 359 from tbe samejourllal: "Wednesday, the 24th Febr1lary, 
1875. State "'B. Sampson Clark, indictment for perjury. Nol. proB." 

(Connsel for contelftee ohjects to the answer above on the ground 
that the record has not heen properly proven) 

Q. Do you know from your own knowledge, or frOID a careful inspec· 
tion of the journal in your OffiCl', whether Sampson Clark appears in 
otbpr case or cases as a defendant f-A. Not haloing read the wholeses· 
sions-docket, 1 cannot say. 

ROBERT FISHBURN. 

Sworn to aud subscribed before me tbis the 27th day of February, A. 
D.1877. 

[SEAL.] B. STOKES, 
Probate Judge of Oolleton Oounty, South Carolina. 

Contestant offers in e\"idence an extract frOID a compendium of tbe 
nintb census of' June I, 1870, compiled pursuant to a conCl1rr~llt reso­
lution of Congress, uncl~r the llirection of the S~cretary of the Interior, 
by Francitl "'alker, Superintenclent of the Census, pages 88 and 584, 
showing the total population of countie~ of' Beaufort anu CoJleton I'lld 
tbe number of males of each of the said counties above the age of 21 
years in It170: 

Total population of Bl'aufort" ...•...... _., . . . . .. .. ........ 34, 359 
Total population of Colleton .. . . . . . . . . .. . . . . .. . ...... " _ . . . 25, 410 
Males above 21 in Beautort .................... _ .... .... .. 8,24j 
Males abo,"e 21 in Colleton .... " ......... _ ...... -. . . . . . . . .. 5,656 

(The counsel for contestee objects to the llreSentation of the above 
extract, ou the ground that the contestant ga'-e no notice to the contestee 
that the same wouhl be presented.) 

B. STOKES; 
Judge of Probate, Oolleton Oount!/, South Oaro! M. 

[SEAL.] 

S1'ATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oolleton OOU1&tg, B8 : 

In the case of G. D. Tillman, esq., contestant, against Hon. Robert 
Smalls, returned as member of the Forty·fifth Congress from the fifth 
Congressional district of South Carolina, at an election held on the 
7th day of November, 1876. 

I certi(y thnt for and on t.he behalf of G. D. Tillman, esq., contestant in 
the above-uamed case, I took, at 'Y Illterborougb, the county seat of Colle­
ton County, in the State of Soutb Carolinll, between thtl21st and 27th days 
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of February, both the first and last mentioned days included, the testi· 
monyof Edward W. Fraser, Robert Fishburne, Tony Roger, Richard 
Roger,Alfred Smith,Joel Laisey,Jobn Mustifer, Toby Sargent, Benjamin 
Simmons. Jack Holmes, Sam Williams, C: P. Fishburne, W. J. Fish­
burne, Abram Kelly, Isaac Fields, Thomas )£cCormlck, and Sampson 
Clark, citil'lens of Oolleton County, South Cal'Olina; also, at the same 
tiwt', tbe tlaid G. D. Tillman put in evidence other papers and extracts 
from records, referring to the aforesaid coutested election. The whole 
of said t('stimony compriSing one hnndred and fifty pages of legal cap. 

Witness my band anti se;llof court this the 28th day of February, A. 
D.1811-

[SEAL.] B.STOKES, 
Probate Judge Oolleton Oounty, South Oarolina·. 

No.4. 

EDGEFIELD COUN1'Y. 

Notice to take depositwns. 

SUTE OF SOUTH OAUOLlNA, 
Beaufort Oounty: 

HOD. RoBERT SMA.LLS: 

Yoo are hereby notified that I will examine the following·name{l \vit· 
Dt'sseS, all of whom rt.'side in Edgefield Oounty, relative to aud touch· 
ing tbe matters and tbmgs St.'t forth in my notice to you that I would 
('J)lItfBt your right to a seat in the Oongress of the United States, to 
which you clai m to have been elt.'cted at the November election of 1870 
form the fifth Col1gressional district of the State of South Oarolina, be· 
fore llr. llarsh, intendant of the town of Edgefield, at the court·house 
builtliog in said county and Stllte, on the 24th, 26th, and 27th days of 
Febmary, instllnt, A. D. 1877, between the honrs of 8 a. m and 6 p. m. 
of eaid d;,y~, or so much thereof as may be necessary for the examina· 
tion of said witnesses, to wit: • 

M. W. Gary, D. R. Durisol, George W. Holland, anll Mr. A. Mark· 
ert and o. Sheppard, Wm. Brunson. 

O. D. TILLMAN, 
Per WM. ELLIOTT. 

Attorney. 
W,., tbe connRel for contestee, hereby consent to the t.'xamination of 

O. Sbeppard amI Wm. BrnnsoU', and agree to ",ahoe the required notice 
of eaid examination. 

GEO. W. HOLLAND, 

FEBRUARY 26, 1877. 
OJ' Oounsel for Oontestee. 

1 acknowledge legal service of a copy of the within notice this 13th 
Febmary, 1~77, at Port Royal. 

SUTE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Edgefield Oounty: 

W. J. WHIPPER, 
Attorney for Oontestee. 

To )1. W. Gary, D. R. Durisol. George W. Holland, and 1\1. A. Markert, 'V. H. Brnnson, and O. Sheppard: 
Yoo and eacb of you are hereby summoned to appear before me at 
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tbe Edgefield court·house, in Edgefield village, of said State an(l county, 
on the 24th, 26th, aod 27th days of February, instant, A. D. 1817, then 
and there to be examined under oath by me respecting the cont.>lIt of 
G. D. Tillman, of the right oT Robert Smalls, to a seat in th" Coogress 
of the United States; you willfailnot herein, under tbe penalty of the 
United StatE-s statutes in sucb case made and provided. 

Givp.n uoder my band aod official seal this 19th day of February, A. 
D.1877.. 

fSEAL.J 

STA'1'E OF SOUTH CAROLINA.. 
Edgefield Oounty: 

C. S. B. MARSH. 
Intendant, E. V. 

In the matter of the contest between G. D. Tillman and Robert Smalls 
for a seat ill the Congress of the Unit.>d States. 

Pur3uant to notice serverl on Robert Smalls, whereof dne and legal 
service was acceptell by W. J. Whipper, attorney for said Smalls, ill 
above-stated cause, I convene/l the court to take the test.imony of wit· 
nes!\es named in tbp. Naid notice above mentionel!. 

G. D. Tillman. contt'stant, was represented hy N. L. Uriffin, of collnsel 
for contestaot; Robert Smalls, by George W. Holland, of counsel for con· 
testee. 

The notice abo\'c mentioned was read by N. L. Griffin, of counsel for 
contf'stant, aud admitted by G. W. Holland, of connsel for contestee. 
G. W. Holland moved to adjourn the court until Monday the 26th iu· 
stant, stating he was not ready to proceed with the examination. Con· 
sented to by opposite counsel. 

Examination nrljourned to meet io court·house building 00 Monday, 
26th February, 1877. 

I hereby certify that the foregoing are the proceedings had before me 
this 24th day of February, 1877. 

[SEAL.J 

SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Edgefield Oounty: 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
'VB. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

O. S. B. MARSH. 
IlltendelCt, E. V. 

It in hereby agreed between N. L. Griffin of counsel for contestant, 
and W. J. Whipper, cOllnsel for contestee, thnt the witnesses to be ex' 
amined in aUo\·e·statE'd case, shall he examined in the presence of each 
other unless counsel see proper to obj('ct. in which case witlle8...~R are to 
withdraw. Thitl agreement to hold good in the examination this 26th 

- and 27th of }'ebruary, 1877, and all future examinations held in this 
county in auove-stated cause. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAR.OLINA, 
Edgefield Oounty: 

W. J. WHIPPER, 
Attorney for Oo,.te&t~. 

N. L. GRIFFIS, 
Of Oounsel for Oolttutaat. 

In the matter of the conteRt of G. D. Tillman against Robert Smalls for 
a seat in the Congress ofthe United States. 

D. R. DURIS ON, a witness of legal age, introduced by cont('stant., upon 
due notice to contesteE', depose! as follows: 
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Qllestion. Where do you live '-Answer. At Edgefield Court·Honee j 
age, forty-five years. 

Q. Did yon vote duriog the election 00 November 7, 1876 !-A. Yesr 
Q. Were yon or not olle of the commissioners of election '-A. I was.. 
Q. Who composed that commission '-A. Myeelt~ as chairman of the 

board, G. W. Holland, aod Jesse Jones. 
Q. Previous to the election did your board have a meeting and organ­

izeaccordiog to law '-A. They cUd. 
Q. You appointed the managers to each precinct during the election, 

did you oot!-Y es, sir. 
Q. Did you know that the treasurer's and auditor's office were both 

held in tbe same room '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. In your instructions was there not a precinct known at the trens· 

om's office f-A. Yes. 
Q. Does it come to your knowledge that that boxwils held at that 

office io November, 1876 !-A. It was not. 
Q. Where had that box been formerly heldt-A.. At the treasurer's 

or auditor's office. . 
Q. Do YOI1 know that that box was removed from there that day f­

A. I do. 
Q. Did you, as chairman of the board of commissioners, give notice 

of that box !-A. I did, in connection with the other members of the 
board. 

(Exhibit A hereto attached.) 
Q. Was there sufficient notice given of the removal of that box t-A. 

Xo. 
Q. Does it come within your knowledge where that box was removed 

tor-A. Yes; at the school· house near Macedonia church. 
Q. By wholD was that notice signed t-A. By George W. Holland 

IUd Jesse Jones. 
Q. Did you not, as chairman of that commission, object to the re­

moval of that box t-A. I did, to that poin t. 
Q. Had that 8Chool-honse near the church ever been nsed as a voting 

precinct '-A. Never, in qty knowledge. 
Q. Is not that school-house near the church very inaccessible '-A­

It is not. 
Q. In riding along the public road conld one see that an election was 

beiug beld at that school-house '-A. They could not. 
Q. What is the distance from the treasurer's office, or precinct No.2, 

where the election W8S usually held, to the school-house t-A. Some­
thing Ol"er a half a mile. 

Q. Is there any nearer way of getting to the school-house or church!­
A. SO. 

Q. How far is it from the treasurer's office to the barracks f-A. Not 
oyer two hUlldred yards. 

tl. How far is it from precinct ~o. 1 to the barracks '-A. Not quite 
one hundred yards. 

Q. How many companies were stationed here that day f-A. Three 
companies. 

Q. Did not General Brannon command all the troops ill this county,­
A. 1 tbiuk he did. 

Q. Do you know how many companies or detachments there were in 
the county !-A. Seven. 

(~. Were they riot distributed about the county'-A. Yes; one at 
Sbaw'lI lIiIl, one at Richard80nville, one at Ridge Springs, and one 
at Liberty Hill. 
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Q. How did the election pass oft on that dayt-A. All quiet, as far 
as I kno~. 

Q. Would you have known of any acts oC violence if any had ha\"e 
happened f-A. I would. 

Q. Is it not your opinion that the election could have been held at 
the treasurer's office without any fear of violence or intimidation '-A. 
I think so. 

Q. \Vhy do you think the box was removed f"om the treasnret's office 
to the church, ancI for what purposes I 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee on the ground that it is a matter 
of opinion.) 

\Vituess declines to answer. 
Q. Were there troops stationed at Macedonia church on that day f­

A. Tbere was. 
Q. Does it COIDl' within your knowledge that the troops were used 

here as a means to intimidate colored Democratic voters I-A. No. 
Q. Does it come within your knowledge that any acts of intimidation 

were used by white Democrats as to Republican voters I-A. No. 
Q. About how many votes were cast at precinct No.1 I-A. Not pre· 

. plared to answtlr without reterence to returns. 
Q. About how many at precinct No.2 f-A. Same answer as abo\"e. 
Q. Was there not a larger vote polled here that day than at any pre· 

vionselection f-A. We always polled a heavy vote here. 
Q. Do you know of any acts of intimidation practiced on colored 

Democratic voters by Republicans f-A. Heard of some; one in this 
town on one George Norris. 

Q. What did they do to George Norris I-A. I heard they fired into 
his house. 

Q. Does it not come t.o yonr knowledge that Dick Ware and Mike 
Sargen t were arrested as perpetrators of the act f-A. I have heard of it. 

Q. On the day of election did not most of the colored yoters vote at 
precinct No.2 or Malldown school·house f-A. Yes; but I saw colored 
voters voting at precinct No. I. . 

Q. Was it not an agreement that white yo~rs should vote at precinct 
No.1 and colored voters at precinct No.2 I-A. I know of no such ar· 
rangement by anyone authorized to make it. 

Q. As far as you know, the election on the 7th of November, 18'i6, was 
a fair one f-A. It was. 

By counsel for contestee, W. J. Whipper: . 
Q. How long before the election was the legal notice given of the 

general election T-A. Apout fifteen days. 
Q. Did you at that time have permission to have the box No.2 at the 

treasurer's office f-A. It was designated, as it was better to hold it thert'. 
Q. You bad no permission to hold the box theref-A. It belonged to 

the county commissioners, and they raised no objections, for they 
rented it. 

Q. Did or not the lady owning the property make objection f-A. Not 
to my knowledge. 

Q. Did you not have a. conversation with her on that subject, and 
report to your board of commission f-A. I did not. 

Q. Had you any conversation with any of your board in reference to 
moving that box T-A. I did. 

Q. Was it not agreed by a majority of yonr board that that box should 
be removed '-A. It was. 

Q. Did you dissent from that decision f-A. I did not. 
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Q. How long was this before the election '-A. On Monda,. previous. 
Q. Was it also agreed to give notice of the removal '-A. Not by my 

consent as to the place, which was out of the village. 
Q. By saying out of the village, do you mean out of the incorporate 

limits 1-A. Out of the business limits of the village. 
Q. You agreed to the removal, but objected to the removal to that 

place?-A. Yes. 
Q. Was there any particular reason for removing that box T-A. I 

heard Bellenger say Mrs. Ryan objected to its being held there. 
(Objected to by counsel for contestant.) 
Q. Is Mrs. Ryan the owner of that property f-A. She is understood 

to be tbe owner. 
Q. What relation is Mr. Bellenger aud Mrs. Ryan T-A. Son·in·law. 
Q. How many elections hav~ beeu beld at that place, (treasurer's 

ollicef)-A. I don't know. 
Q. Do you know that there was more than one '-A. Yes. 
Q. Was the attack on George Norris made before the electionT-A. 

Yes; 1\ short time. 
Q. Have you not heard that Norris fired into his own house f 
(Objected to by counsel for contestant.) 
A. Yes; I heard the rumor. 
Q. Do you know what Norris's politics wereT-A. Supposed to be 

Democrat. 
Redirect by ~. L. Griffin, of counsel for contestant: 

Q. lire Durisoe, you say you consented to the removal of that box; did 
you not protest against its being carried to that school· house T-A. I did. 

Q. Where did you consent to its being carried !-A. To Holland's 
bonse, or the place where Mike Griffin's barber· shop is. Holland's house 
is about one hundred and twenty·fit'e yards, and to the shop .one hun· 
dred yards from precinct No.2, treasurer's office. 

Q. In changing the precinct did you consider the notice sufficient, and 
did yon consent to the chaugef-A. I did not. 

Q. Why did you coust:nt to ~he change to Holland's house or to the 
shop, and object to the church !-A. Because it was more convenient 
for the voters, and better to keep down any distnrbance which might 
arise there at the church. 

Q. By holding the pr~cinct at either of those places they would have 
been more nnder the potection of the troops than otherwise !-A. Yes. 

Q. What political party do you belong to' -A. Democratic. 
Q. And the other two Y-A. Rt'publican. • 
Q. Are not the other two commi8sionerK on the board with you colored 

men T-A. Yes. 
D. R. DURISOE. 

Sworn to before me and subscribed this the 26th day of February, 
I8i7. 

[SEAL.] ~. . '~. C. S. B. MARSH, 
~. ., ~.;: Intendant. 

D. R. DURISOE recalled. ij 
Qnestion. Do you know of any wagon with arms, claiming to be a 

Democratic wagon, near precinct No.2 I-Answer. 1 saw a wagon near 
precinct No.2. Stopped and talked with the party at the fire and in 
the wagon. Saw no arms. Saw no other wagon that day at that place. 

Q. Were you in a position to know if there had been a wagon with 
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arms, if on tbe grounds '-A. I W88 passing about through the grounds 
that day and saw no armEl. 

Q. Did you see any Republican voters or colored men armed with 
clnbs or sticks !-.A. I saw a number of colore(1 men with clubs that 
day. On one occasion I saw a company, most of them armed with them, 
larger than a usual walking-stick. At least twenty-fh'e or thirty in that 
crowd. 

Q. Could not the guns have been in the wagon and you not seen 
them !-A. They might have been, but it is very probable that if they 
were that some of the pnrty would have mentioned it to mf',as we were 
on good terms nnd all Democrats. 

Q. Did you or not see white men riding up and down tbe stl'("et with 
guns !-A. Don't remember seeing a white mall, a citizen, that day witlt 
a gun, except soldiers. 

D. R. DURISOE. 

Sworn to before me and subscribed this the 26th day of February, 
18i7. 

[SEAL.] 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
County of Edgefield : 

C. S. B. MARSH, 
]"tendant. 

O. SHEPPARD, a witness of lawful agf', proc1uced by contestant upon 
due notice to contestee, ill tbe matter of George D. Tillmau V8. Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States, deposes as fol­
lows: 

QUl'stion. Where do you live !-ADI'I\Ver. EdgeOeld Court-HouSt>. 
Q. Were yon present on November 7,1876, during the election' If 80, 

state wht're.-A. I was at the school-house Ilear Macedonia chnrch as 
supervisor of election. 

Q. As supervisor of election, does it not come to your knowledge 
that the commissiouers of election ordered the box No.2 to be Iwld at 
the treasurer's office !-A. As supervisor that was my undertltancJing of 
the order promulgated by the commissioners of election, and I eXl't'Ctt'd 
to go to that place to perform my dutif's at tbat box. 

Q. Did you not protest as to tbe removal of that box !-A. I W,li\ not 
consulted with reference to the removal of the box, nor was I noliliNI of 
such removal until about sundown on the evening before the elt'Ctioll. 
I met Mr. Markert on the street and asked him if he had been f)lJalili('C1 
as manager. He replied he bad not. He alld I, at my suggestion, ", .. nt 
to the clerk's office for the purpose of his being qualified, and at Ihllt 
time 1 was first informed by Jesse Jones, olle of the commissiOlll'rs. that 
the box would be held at the school-house near Macedonia church. 

Q. Has it. not been customary to hold that precinct ho" No.2 lit the 
treasurer's office T-A. I have never heen present at any election exel'l,t 
the town election betore, but have always understood that precinct No. 
2 was held at the treasurer's office. 

Q_ Do you not know the fact that the auditor's and treasurer's office 
hat'e always been held in the same rooms T-A. I have always Ulltler­
stood that the auditor's and treallurer's office were held in the Ryan Hotel, 
and have seen tbe auditol's and treasurers bold their office in the SlIme 
rooms in tbat hotel. 

Q. About how far from the place wbere the box was ordered to be 
held is it to the school-bouse wbere it was beld I-A. Nearly three-quar­
ters of a mile, if not quite. 

Q. Is uot that school-house a very inaccessible place to hold an elec-
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tion '-A. I do not think the place is a fit place for the holding of an 
election, because of the fact that according to the best of my knowledge 
and belief that there was only one road by whicb tbe school-house could 
be approached, a part of which was through a long, narrow lane, and in 
my judgment an election could not be held at that place without danger 
of trespassing upon the rights of private individuals. 

Q. Does it not come to your knowledge that, owing to the facts stated 
in the previous answer, a great many voters were kept from ,-oting 
on that day f-A. Being closely confined all day long in discharge of 
my duties as supervisor, I do not know anything in regald to the ques· 
tion. 

Q. Do you not consider the treasurer's office a. mnch better place to have 
held the box !-A. I do; in the first place it is more accessible, and in 
the secoud place there was not near the danger of repeating, if the two 
boxeg had been helel close together. 

Q. How far is it from precinct No.1 to the treasurer's office f-A. 
About seventy-five yards. 

Q. About how many companies of troops were stationed here on that 
day, and where !-A. I tliink there were three companies, but as to 
where they wel'e stationed, for the reason given above, I do not know 
where they were stationed, except I saw a part or the whole of two com­
panies stationed at box No.2 during the day. 

Q. Where were those troops garrisoned, and about how far from the 
treasurer's office '-A. Two of the companies were in the Soludo Hotel, 
I suppose about one hundred and fifty yards from the treasurer's office 
and about seventy·lh-e yards from precinct No.1. 

Q. Dill you consider the notice of the removal of that box sufficient 
notice t~ the voters of the county Y-A. I did not. 

Q. Did you know of any threats of violence or intimidation that could 
cause the removal of that box T-A. I did not. 

Q. Do you know of any threats or of any intimidation on the day of 
election '-A. I do not; being somewhat conversant of the plan of the 
campaign of the Democrats-being secretary of the executive commit­
tee-all of our efforts were exerted for the preservation of the peace. 

Q. Do you know, during the election or previous, of any violence ll8.id 
to have been committed by the Republicans '-A. Of my own. knowledge 
I do not, but have understood, and did understand, that one Gilmer was 
murdered and tbat one George Norris had his house fired into and was 
otherwise maltreated on account of his political principles, as I be­
lieve, on Rcconnt of his Democratic principles. Also, a colored man, 
whose name I do not recollect, who lived on the place of Mr. Nicholson, 
was badly beaten and otberwise maltreated on account of his Demo­
cratic principles, as the assaulting party at the time stated; and also, 
there was a colored man murdered near Mount Willing on account of 
his professed Democratic ))rinciples; and other cases the details of which 
I do not now remember or recollect. 

Q. Does it not come to your knowledge that colored men professed 
to be RepUblicans were arrested for the murder of Gilmer f-A. It does. 

Q. Do you not believe that th~ removal of tbis box from the treas­
urer'g office to Macedonia church school-house was for the pllrpOse of 
repeating f-A. I cannot possibly see why that box was removed, except 
for SOUle sinister or unlawful purpose; more especially when in my 
opinion the treasnrer's office was the most sllitabl~ place to hold it. 

Q. Do you not believe tbat anum ber of colored people were prevented 
from voting the Democratic ticket through fear of their party leaders f­
A. I do believe that a great many colored men who did not vote the 
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Democratic ticket would have done 80 had it not been from fear not 
only from their party leaders, but from the ra.nk and file of the Repub· 
lican party, and even from the females of their race. 

Q. Do you not consider the election held on tbe 7th of November a tilir 
and square election 1-A. 1 do; but know only particulars of precinct 
No.2. 

Q. Were not United States troops during the day in the school·bouse 
and immediately around the box 1-A. They were. 

Q. Were not United States troops stationed around the hoose that 
da.y f-A. I think there were four sentinels posted at the entrance ami 
one at the place of exit most of the day. 

Q. In what manner was the election conducted and in what manner 
were voters admitted to the school· house on that day f-A. 1'he election 
was conducted in accordance with law, and voters were admitted in 
numbers of ten, except on two occasions, when fourteen were adruittro. 

Q. How many Democratic an(l how many Republican yoters were 
polled that day at that precinct I-A. My recollection is that tbt"re 10m 
a few over three hnndred Democrats and something o\"er eight hundred 
Repnblicans voted. 

Q. During the counting of the votes were not some of tbe troop!! 
present in the scbool·honseT-A. Yes. 

Q. Did you and Mr. Markert remain at the IlOlls nt'ar the box during 
the entire day'-A. We did, and saw no acts of \"iolt'nce. 1 went oo~ 
at one time to stop what I snpposed from tbe noise witbout might be 111 

row; when 1 got out I ran up to the crowd and met my brother. Dr. 
Sheppard. He told me that this colored man he bad, bad drawn a pistol 
on Mr. Quailes. He, my brother, acted as deputy sheriff. I told him 
to arrest him aOlI bring him to ja.i1; which he did. 

Q. Did you not on that day challenge a number of ,'oters T-A. Yes: 
white and colored. 

Q. On that day did not Mardenborongh and Holmes take np the box 
and leave tbe school-house 1-A. ?tIro Markert and I got there \"ery early. 
before the time to open the poll~. They were all, Mardenoorongh, Holmes, 
Markert, Norris, and myself, standing inside, preparing for arranging for 
the Yoting, amI without any intimation on tbeir part or knowledge on 
our part, Mardenborougb and Holmes, managers,(RepubJicans,) soddenly 
picked np the box and walked out. We, not knowing what. they 10m 
going to do, followed them and told them that they bad changed tbfl 
voting-precinct one time arbitrarily, and without any notice, (no legal 
notice,) as we believed, with the intention of committing fraod, and tbat 
we did not intencl that they IIhould do it again; that we were there pft­
pared to hold the election, and they carried the box back, aud we beld 
the election at that place. 

Cross·examined by G. W. liolland, counsel for contestee: 
Q. Mr. Sbeppard, were all the \"oters you challenged sworn in f-.\. 

None were challenged until after they were sworn, and two whom we 
knew to be under age, after tbey were cballenged, refused to deposit 
their ballots, though urged by Manlenborough and Holmes to do so. 

Q. Do yon know the names of those who were cballenged and rt'flJ~ 
to vote after they were challenged I-A. I think one's name is Daf'l! 
Oliphant, and the otber was a little bright molatto boy, wbose name I do 
Dot remember. 

Q. Do you know the fact that a great many horsemen were riding up 
and down tbislane which you 81lOke off-A. I do not. From my~' 
tion I could not see the lane at all. 
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Q. Do yoo know of a wagon·load of arms or gnns belonging to Demo· 
crats being placed near box No.2, and were guarded by Democrats all 
that day T-A. I know nothing of soch wagon·load of gous; saw no gons, 
but in connection therewith beard some way or other that Chamberlain 
militia had a nnmberof gO\'ernment guns secreted just beyond that little 
swamp down there. I 

Q. Do yoo know of any colored Republicans being beat ot'er the head 
and otherwise maltreated by Democrats in their attempt to vote at box 
No.2 I-A. 1 do not, sir, except that I saw one colored man, aftl>r he got 
inside to vote, with blood running down bis face. Be voted. }larden­
borougb told bim that l\Ir. David Harris: sr., wanted to see him at his 
house to·morrow, and remarked to me on bis sight that that man is a 
martyr; but as to who struck him I do not llnow. 

Q. How much time was consumed in swearing the ten men let in by 
the guard before another ton were allmitted I-A.. I cannot approximate 
the time. 

Q. Was it before or after the election that tbe man was killed at 
Monnt Willing, as before stated by you T-A. I think it was after. 

Q. Why did you challenge tbe voters I Dill you think they were un· 
der age or non·residents '-A. I suppose I was appointl>d by the district 
judge a supen"isor because be thougbt I was fitted to fill the position; 
anel, tberefore, in the discharge of my duty as supervisor, I cbal1enged 
,"otere for various causes, and, with deference to the court and counsel, 
think the question of the counsel impertinent and irrele\'ant. 

Q. Was it not before six o'clock that you protested against Marden· 
borough and HolmeR moving that box I-A. I think immelliately before 
six o'clock. 

Re·direct examination: 
Q. Dill you see any violent demonstration on thl' part of Republican 

t'oters that day T-A. I walked out at one tim,e about a minnte aud saw 
a crowd of colored men congrt'gated just below the entrance to the door, 
and wbile standing at tbe fartber corner of the house I saw one or two 
colored men cnt down a sapling and cut off a huge club about between 
3 aDd 4 feet long, and approacb with their clubs this crowd of colored 
men standing at tbe corner of tbe house. Tbe crowd seemed to be ex­
cited, and were making tbrt'atening gestures aDd nodding their heads in 
the same manner. I then went back in tbe house to my post immedi· 
ately, and in a very sbort wbile I heard this crowd at tbe corner of the 
house shout with" God d--n you, come on, we are ready for you." I 
raD to the window and told them that they ba<l bettp.r husb; that tbey 
~ere trying to get tbe Democrats into a difficulty, and if they sue.ceeded 
It would not go well witb them. 

O. SHEPPARD. 
SworD to and slIbscribeu bt'fore me this !!7tb day of February, 1877. 
[SEll.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

Edgefield Oottnty: 
In the matter of tbe COllwst of G. D. Tillman against Robert Smalls for 

a seat in tbe Oongress of United States. 
W. H. BRUNSON, a witness oflt>gal age, introduced by contestant npon 

due notice to contestee, deposes as follows: 
Question. Where do you live I-Answer. Edgefield Court-House, S. C· 
Q. Were you present on the day of election November 7, 1876t-A. I 

was. 
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Q. Were ~·ou not supervisor at IlTecinct No.1 '-A. I was. 
Q. Wbat time did you go to the polls tbat day T-A I went there a 

little before 6 o'clock a.m., and remained there all day, until after all 
the yotes were counted. 

Q. 'Vere not tbe colored people masse-d in great numbers around the 
court·honse 011 tbat morning wbere precinct No.1 was held I-A. They 
commenced assembling a little before the polls opened, I suppose a 
thousand strong, about day·ligbt at the court· bouse. 

Q. As super'risor did yon not challenge a number of votes that day T­
A. I challenged a number of both colors; mostly white men. 

Q. Did not certain colored men try to vote at precinct No.1 who you 
believe had already 'roted t-A. I reme-mber distinctly only one. His 
vote was challenged by a party who had followed bim from precinct No. 
2, where the said party saw him vote; one of the RRpublican managers 
complained that a white man bad voted twic('. When it was explained 
that it was one of two brothers who resembled each other very mucb the 
manager was satisfied; I did not know the parties. 

Q. Did not colored voters vote at that box without regard to party on 
that day t-A. ~ey did. 

Q. You saw no acts of violence or threats of intimidation by Democrats 
toward Republicans on tbat dayt-A. None whatever. 

Q. You know of no act of repeating 011 tbe part of the Democrats on 
that day 7-A. None to my knowledge. 

Q. Do you not consider the election held on that day a fair and 
square one !-A. I do; much more quiet than at the two preceding 
Presidential elections, where I W88 a messenger. 

Q. Has not the box No.2 been h(>ld at the treasurel"s office previo08 
to the election of November 7th, 1876, since the establishment of that 
precinct T-A. To the best of my r(>collection it has. 

Q. Was it beld tbere on the 7th NO'rember, 1876 t-It was not. 
Examined by G. W. Holland, of connsel for contestee: 

Q. Do you remember for what cause these white men were chal· 
lenged T-A. For different causes. 

Q. Did you observe many strang(>r8 on that day here 7-A. I know a 
majority of the ,'oters, and did not obser\'e many strangel'l!. 

Uedirect by N. S. Griffin, of counsel for contestant: 
Q. Do you not know that there were a great many colored people 

there that day who were strangersT-A. I do not know. 
W. H. BRUNSON. 

Rworn to amI subscribed to before me this the 27th day of February, 
1877. 

[SEAL.] 

S~A1'E OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Edgefield County: 

C. S. B. MARSH. 
Intewdaflt. 

In the mattl.>r of the contest of George D. Tillman and Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of tbe United States. 

1\1. .A ... MARKERT, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestant 
upon tIue notice to contestee, deposes as follows: 

Question. 'Vhere do you live '-Answer. At Edgefield Court-Bonse. 
Q. You were present and voted on November 7,1876 f-A. I was 

present and \'oted. 
Q. Were you not a manager of the election that (lay Y-A. I was. 
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Q. Who wpre tbe other managers with you T-A. Mardenboroogh . 
and Cbarles Holmes. 

Q. To what party do you belong T-A. To the Democrat party. 
Q. To what party did the other two belong I-A. To the Republican; 

both colored. 
Q. How long ha\"e you li\"ed in Edgefield T-A. About twenty years. 
Q. How many years do you know the precinct No.2 to have been 

hl:ld at tht" treasurer's office Y-A. From '72 to '74. 
Q. Pre\"ious to the Republican party coming in pow£r did you e\"er 

know of two boxes at tbis EdgE'field Court-House t-A. Never. 
Q. Since the holding of tbe two boxes do :}'ou remember of the box, 

precinct No.2, being beltl in any other place than the treasurer's office f-
A. Ne\"er. ' 

Q. Do YOll know of the box, precinct No.2, bping held at that place 
November 7, 1876' -A. It was oot; it was held at the school-bouse 
Dear !Iacedonia Church. 

Q. Did you have aoy notice of the remo\-al of the box to the school­
honse f-A. No; I bad no official notice of it. 

Q. W('re you consulted as to the propriety of remo\"ing that box ,­
.1. I was not. 

Q. Did you not protest to the removal of that box !-A. I did, to 
Jones and Mardeoborougb. 

Q. In your opinion was tbere cause for the removal of that box 00 
acconot of intimidation, violence, threats, or any.thing of that nature ,­
A. :So; none. 

Q. Any contagious disE'ases which woultl cause the removal of that 
box !-A. N on('. . 

Q. How far is it from the treasurel-'s office to the school-bouse by the 
u8ual mode of tra\-el f-A. About one thousand yards, or a half milf'. 

Q. In your opinion as manager would not the treasurel"s office ha\"e 
been tbe better place for holding that box !-A. I think so. 
(O~jected to by counsel for contestee.) 
I thought it would ha\"e been unlawful to move the box from the 

treasurer-'s office outside the business limits of tbe village, as it had 
beeo previonsly adv('rtised by tbe commissioners that it would be held 
at the treasurer's office. I suggestE'd several other I'laces convenient, 
and they said it made no difference whether I consented or not, it would 
be carried to the school-house. The remark was matle by Marden­
borough. 

Q. Who was supervising at that box on tbat day T-A. Mr. O. Sbep­
pal'll and a colored man, whose uame I do not now recollect. 

Q_ Who was clerk there '-A. lIr. Nonis, Democrat, and Dinkins, 
Republican. 

Q. Were there any military companies there' State how they were 
arranged.-A. Yes; they were fornu.,tt in front of school-house in the 
shalle of a horseshoe. Officers in cbarge of tlJe guard would pick out 
the voters by ten8 and atlmit tbem; they were arm ell with rifles and 
bal'ODets. 

Q. Wt're there not a guard of two in the scbool-bouse f-A. No. 
Q. Were the officers not in tbe school-bom;e during the day T-A. Yes, 

bot not regularly. . 
Q. How many Republicans ami how many Democrats voted at that 

box !-A. Over three huntlred Democrats and overeigbt hundred Uepub­
lieaDs. 

Q. Duriog the day the election was conducted quietly and orderly T­
A. Yes; I 8<'1W no acts of violence or intimidation. 
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Q. Who carried the box over to the school· house I-A. When I first 
saw the box Mardenborough had it. 

Q. Doyouknow thatthe treasurer's and auditor'tloffices have been held 
in the same rooms !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. As a manager of the election, ditl you not know that the commis­
sioners of election ordt"red that the box No.2 be held at the treasurer's 
office '-A. Yes; I saw the notice of it in the Advertiser, and considered 
it legal. 

Q. In your knowledge of elections, ao you not tbink the treasurer's 
ottice would have been the best place to hold the polls f-A. I do. 

Q. How far do you think it is from precinct No.1 to the treasurer's 
office, where precinct No.2 was ordered to be held f-A. About forty or 
fifty yards. 

Q. Would it not have heeu easier to have prevented repeating and 
fraud at the treasurer-'tl office than at the school-house f-A. Yes; 1 was 
afraid of their repeat.ing, and that is the reason wby I was so opposed 
to having it over at the school-bouse. We could h8,-e more easily de­
tected repeating if It had been at the treasurer's office. 

Q. Does it come to your knowledge that any registration bas been 
made in tbis county in the last five years T-A. It has not. 

Q. Owing to the fact that tbe colored people bave recently been enfran­
chised, and there being no registration in the ~tate, would it 1I0t ba\""e 
been more easy to repeat than otherwise f-A. I tbink it would. 

(Objected to by COUU8e1 for contestee.) 
Q. Was it not generally understood that the colored people practiCt"d 

repeating!-A. It was. 
(Objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
Q. Do yon not know that colored Democratic yoters bave been intim­

idatetl by Republicaus '-A. Yes; I know wbat Geo. Norris told me, that 
be was sbot at in his own bouse by Republicans; be said they wanted to 
kill him because be was a Democrat. 

Q. Did you bear the firing. and did yon not examine tbe place where 
the ball went in ; was it not fired from tbe direction indicated by Goo. 
Norris T-A. I did bear tbe firing, and examined the direction of the 
ball, Ilml found it did come in the direction indicated by bim. 

Q. What was your impression of the size of the ball !-A. Usnalsize 
of a military rifle. 

Q. Was there on tbe 18tb of October, 18;6, a mass-meeting known as 
tbe Hampton meeting, and about dusk a young man was killetl on tbe 
road borne from tbat meetillgf Pleasestllte tbecircumstances.-A. Yes; 
Gilmer was killed on the road borne, near 1\ hOll~e; he was shot from a 
pine tbicket, a bundred yards from the road. 

Cross·examined by G. W. Holland for contestee: 
Q. Have YOll been a manager of an election bt'fore the last !-A. I 

have not. 
Q. Do you beJie'-e that tbe election at box No.2 was a fair one '-A. 

I do think so. 
Q. Do you know of auy wbite m(>n having Winchester riOes f-A. I 

know of men having them on the street. 
Q. Do yon know of any white persons being passed in at box ~o. 2 

by the guard, witb tbe ten !-A. I saw some white persons go in with 
them. 

Q. Do you know of any Democrats being killed by RepUblicans. '-A. 
Yes; Gilmer was said to be. 
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Q. What time was it you went ont there with General Gary t-A. 
About 8 o'clock p. Dl. 

Q. Was it very dark at the place where Ullmer was killed; could you 
Dot have seen a house near t-A. I think I could, if my attention had 
been called to it. I looked towards tbe pine tbicket several times, for 
fear BOme parties concealed might open fire on me from there. 

Q. Do you know, during tbe campaign, that any RepubJicans were 
killed by Democrats in the countyY-A. I do not. 

Redirect by counsel for contestant, N. L. Griffin: 
Q. Yon spoke of a notice at the court· bouse. Did you consider that 

sufficient uotice I-A. I did not. 
Q. Did you call for the box as a manager, and wben t-A. I called 

late in the afternoon. 
Q. Were yon at tbat time qualified as a managerf-A. Not At that 

timt>. 
Q. Af~r that were you regularly qualified and called for the box f-A. 

I was, and called for the box amI was informed it was in the country. 
Q. In your knowledge as a manager, was it necessary for you to qual. 

ify before calling for the box f-A. It was not. 
Q. When you called for the box what did Mr. Durisoe tell you !-A. 

That Mardenborough bad it. 
Q. When Holland and .Jones informed you of the fact that the man­

agers bad charge of tbe box at the school·house, was it not too late to 
advertise it !-A. Yes; there was no paper printed at that time. It was 
the eveni ng before the election. 

Q. Did not the white rifle· clubs disband in obedience to the proclama­
tion of President Grant f-A. They did. 

Q. Do you know that the colored men who killed Gilmer are to be 
tried in this connty I-A. I am so informed. 

Q. On the night you went out. to see Gilmer, (Iill you expect to be shot 
by a Democrat from the piue tbicket '-A. I did not. 

M. A. lIARKERT. 
Sworn to before me and subscribed this the 26th, 1877. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Edgefield Oounty: 

Intendant. 

In the matter of tlle contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls, 
for a seat iu the Congress oftbe United States. 

If. W. GARY, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestant npon 
doe notice to contestee, delJOSeS as follows: 

Quest.ion. Where do you live '-Answer. In Edgefield, Sonth Carolina. 
Q. How long bal"e yon lived here T-A. Twenty years. 
Q. During the late cftnl"ass were you not cbairman of the Demo( ratic 

eIecntil"e committee of Edgefield Connty T-A. I was. 
Q. Please state the policy of the campaign by yonr party as to pre­

serving the peace !-A. The object was to have a qniet antI peaceable 
election. and to abstain from personal violence to voters. 

Q. As far as yon know, that policy was carried out f-A. As far as I 
know, it was. I knew of no violence. No one was killed on the day of 
election, aod I heard of no serions cases of assanlt and battery. It was 
as qniet and as peaceable as I have known since I bave been living here. 

Q. Previous to the coming ioto power of the Repnblican party, was 
there ever two precincts at Edgefield Court-Honse Y-A. No. 
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Q. In your opinion why were two boxes established here '-A. I think 
it was for the purpose of facilitating election frauds. I think colored 
voters were taught by their leaders that they had a Tight to vote, and 
they did it. I think that voters were drawn bere from Johnson'R, Lapd­
ram's, Red Hill, Cheatham's Store, and ~Ieeting Street-all these places 
within ten miles of this-for the purpose of repeating. After voting 
them here ill the morning. some of them occupied the steps of the court­
house, precinct No. 1. Afterward, the white voters got possession of the 
steps. The colored voters massed in great num bers, one tbousand strong, 
and tried to get possession again of the porch and steps. They then 
went to Macedonia churcb and voted there until the afternoon, when 
about four or five hundred of them came back to try to vote here. They 
were headed by I.Jawrence Cain. Several of them who did vote here in 
the evening were dt'tected as ha\'ing voted at the school.house. 

Q. How many voting'precincts are there in Edgefield County!-A. 
Eighteen. 

Q. How were tbe managers dh'ided at these precincts !-A. Two Re· 
pnblicans and one Democrat. 

Q. How were the commissioners divided T-A. Two Republicans and 
one Democrat. They had full charge of the election machinery of the 
county, besides having seven companies of United States troops and 
four companies of artillery to help them. 

Q. Since the establishment of two precincts here has not box No.2 
always been held at the treasnrer's office '-A. That is my recollection. 

Q. Do you know why the present one was not held there T-A. I know 
of no reason ~by it was taken away from there. Two of the commis· 
sioners, who overruled the Democrats, took it away. The same reason 
for violence would apply to precinct No.1. I am satisfied that it was 
for tbe pnrpose of repeating. But for the Democrats getting bere in 
time they wonld have carried out their plans of voting at precinct No. 
1 in the morning and at the school·bouse in the evening. 

Q. Do you not know the fact that the treasurer's and auditor's office 
have been for years held at the same room '-A. I do. 

Q. Bow far is it from the treasurer's office, where it was ordered to 
be held, to the school·house where it was beld f-A. Between a half aod 
three·quarters of a mile. 

Q. Do you not think the treasurer's office wouItl have been the best 
place to bold the box '-A. I think it would, from the fact that it would 
have been more directly under the supervision of the sberiff, the town 
marshal, and the United States troops who were senOt here to preserve 
order. 0 

Q. Owing to the proximity of the two boxes if held at the original 
place of appointment, do you not think that fraud and relleating could 
have been more easily detected I-A. I do. 

Q. Do you know of any threats of violence or intimitlatiou which 
would have made it necessary to remo're that box from the treasurer's 
office Y-A. I do not. 

Q. Do you know of aoy acts of violence committed by Democrats dur­
ing the campaign '-A. No; none ill my knowledge, except one; on the 
day of the Chamberlain meeting here a young man from Georgia rode 
up against a colored man with bis horse a11(1 knocked his hat in with his 
pistol and drew the pistol 011 the man. I then drew my pistol and told 
him if he shot the colored man I would shoot him; that we did not in­
tend to have a row that day, or did we have one. 

Q. Do you know of any violence being committed by the Republican 
party '-A. On the day of the Hampton meeting a young man of the 
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Democratic party was ambuscaded, Ahot, and kille<l as he was retnrning 
home, which waa eighteen miles from here; a yonng man who was with 
bim named Yeldel was shot in the arm and Mr. Ontz was also sbot in 
the foot. I have no doubt they were pot up to be shot by tbe leaders 
of the Republican party and by Ex-Governor D. H. Cbamberlain. After 
Gilmer was shot I heard a large crowd of colored men left the towu and 
went ont there with guns. I heard them yelling in the woods wbere Gil­
mer was sbot. Mr. Ootz was shot from another place on the road, this 
way from Gilmer, and some time after Mr. Gilmep was. I tbink it was 
done to provoke the Democrats to acts of violence in retaliation and to 
justify their sending United States troops to this coonty, but 110 acts of 
retaliation was done by the Democrats, bot tbey applied to tbe law and 
several persons were arrested for it who were Republicans. 

Q. Do yoo not think that the United States troops were sent here for 
the porpose of intimidating tbe Democrats and to give confidence to the 
Republicans t-A. I do think Pre~ident Grant sent them here for that 
purpose. 

Q. Do you not think that a great many colored Democrats were pre­
vented from voting by the Republicans '-A. I think so. I know that a 
great many wbo did vote the Democratic ticket wished to do so secretly 
and that they were baclly treated by them in many parts of the connty; 
one at Edgefield was shot at, one at Meeting street was badly and vio­
lently assaolted, and one was assaulted with a pistol o!l the Saluda, and 
one whipped at the Ridge. 

Q. Was tbere any fear of ,-iolence if the po11s had b('en helel at tbe 
treasorer's officeT-A. No; 8S I said before it was the safest plan, as it 
was under the supervision of the sberiff and the town marshal and also 
the United States troops. 

Q. Dill you s('e a wagon witb arms in it near l)recinct No.2 on No· 
vember 7, 1876 f-A. I did not. 

Q. Do you not know the fact that colored voters voted at precinct 
No. 1 as well as at precinct No. 2f-A. Yes; they voted at both boxes 
all doring the day. After the colored men came up to box No.2, I ad· 
vised tbe white men to Jet them have that box to themselves, and I 
think they nearly all did act upon my suggestion and gave up tbe box 
to them the balance of the day. 

Q. Do you think it a fair, square election '-A. I think so; the vote 
llOlJed here was the usual vote polled bere since tbey had two boxes. 

Q. Do you think the notice given to the vot~rs of the removal of box 
No.2 was a sufficient olle ~-A. I do not think it sufficient or legal. 

Cross·examined by Lawrence Cain, counsel for contestee: 
Q. At what time of day was it that yoo advised the white men to 

give up the box f-A. I think between 8 and 9 o'clock a. m. 
Q. Are yon aware of the fact tbat during the day, as tbe two were ad· 

mitted, two and three white men were admitted with them '-A. I am 
not. 

Q. Do yoo remember seeing any white men on horseback armed with 
Winchester rifles or shot-gUlls f-A. No; but I saw se\'eral white men 
with pistols. It is customary for our people to go armed, both white 
aud black. 

Q. Do you know of any Republicans being killed for their political 
opinions l,revious to the election '-A. I do not. 

Q. Do you know that any colored meu were attacked on eJection· 
day f-A. I understood that at Macedonia church a colored man strock 
a wbite man and the white man struck him back. 
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Q. Did you not see a great many strangers here on eleetioo-day'­
A. I know almost every mau in the county, and saw very few strangers 
here that day. 

Q. Were you not at the head of a party of horsemen who met the 
men coming from box No.2 and told them they could not vote at box 
No.1 '-A. I \vas on horseback with two or three men and met the men 
from box No.2 and told them that those who had voted had better go 
home; that the law did not allow them to vote but on('.e, and that they 
who had voted could 80t yote at box Yo. 1. One of these men attemptA!li 
to vote at box No.1 and was detected, and confessed the fact of ha\"ing 
voted at precinct No.2 . 
• Q. Were you not at box No.2, off and on, during the day! Was not 
the place very much crowded !-A. They crowded around the box; but 
there was ample time and room for all if those who had voted had gil"en 
way and made room for the rest. There was a field in front of the 
place, and a long lane a quarter of a mile long from the big road. 

Q. Did you not publish a statement subsequent to the election that 
there were six hundred colored men who did not vote '-A. I did not. 

Redirect by U. L. Griffin, attorney for contestant: 
Q. Was it not your object in riding about that day to presen'e the 

peace '-A. My object was to have an orderly and peaceable t'leetion. 
)1. W .. GABY. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 27th day of February, 187i. 
fSEAL.] C. S. B. lIARSH, 

IIItndafit. 
EXHmIT A. 

Electioa Notice. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Edgefold Oounty: 

By the commissioners of electiou for Edgefield County: 
Whereas in pursuance of the constitution and of an act providing 

for the general elections and the manner of conducting the same, ap­
proved March 1, 1870, ameuded by an act approved March 12, 187:?, the 
following-named persons are hereby appointed as managers of elfCtioD 
for Edgefield Oounty at the several precincts hereinafter named to coo­
duct the election to be held ou the 7th day of November, as provided for 
in the coustitution aud acts of dates aforesaid, for Presideutial cleetun. 
one Representative in Oongress, gorernor and lieutenant-governor of the 
State, secretary of stau>, aud other State offiCt'rs, one State senator, fin' 
members of the house of representati\"es, one probate judge, one sheritf, 
one school commissioner, three county commissioners, and coroner, viz: 

Edgefield, box No.1, at the court,house-D. B. Ootton, A. A. Glot"er, 
Abraham Landrum. 

Edgefield, box No.2, at the county treasurer's office-I. C.lIardeD-
borough, M. A. Markert, Charles Holmes. 

Meeting street-Budd Stevens, D. C. Tompkins, Aaron Dean. 
Johnston Depot-P. B. Moore, ThoB. Jon~, Joseph Hammond. 
Shaw's Mills-Sebron Merriweather, Joseph Merriweather, J~rry 

Mackey. 
Ourryton-Joseph Simmous, Pickens Delaughter, Jaa. L. Blair. 
Red Hill-A. J. Lee. B. F. Glanton, W. M. Heath. 
Liberty Hill-Wm. H. Gilchrist, G. J. Sheppard, :Kelson Palmer. 
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Talbert's store-Willis Brunson, R. A. Oocbran, W('sl('y Settles. 
Cheatham's store-Lucian Devore, Felix Lake, jr., Brister J. Yeldell. 
Haltiwanger's store-Tho!;. P. Oarroll, D. H. Tompkins, Levi H. 

Graham. 
Richardson\"ille-Richmond llobley, S. E. Owens, Oharles Johnson. 
Coleman's CrOt~s·Uoad~-Ohs. Linst'y, J. C. Strotber, G('orge Graham. 
Perry's Orass Roads-Edward Butler, Bennett Perry, Millidge Abney. 
Mount Willing, (or Mount Willery, as designated in the act of the 

It'gislature establishing voting'precincts)-Sllmpson Pope, D. J. Gog. 
gans, Hillery Thomas. 

Ridge Spring-M. D. Lott. I. R. Watson, Geor~e Pope. 
Landrum's store-Handy T. Pnnksley, B. R. Tillman, Aaron Miles. 
Trapp's MilI-Jobn Stouks, Jas. G. Pelln, Jasper Booker. 
llanagers of election will call on tbe commissioners for ballot· boxes 

and instructions on Saturday, 4th :November. 
D. R. DURISOE, 

Of lair man Oommissioners of ElectiOJI. 

SoUTH CAROLINA, 
Edgefield Oounty : 

GEO. W. HOLLAND. 
JESSE JO:N1<1S. 

I bereby certify tbat tbe within paper, marked "Exhibit A," is an ex· 
act copy of: tbe printed notice to managers and voters published by tbe 
commissioners of election of Edgefield Oounty at the last general elec· 
tion aud referred to by witness D. n.. Durisoe in his examiuation before 
me. 

Witness my hand and seal this the 26th of February, A. D. 1877. 
ISEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

STATE OF SOUTH OA.ROLINA., 
Edgefield Uounty: 

I, C. S. B. Marsb, intendant in and for the village of Edgefield, State 
af'oresaid, do hereby certify that the annext'<l depositions of D. K. 
DnriSOE', O. Sheppard, ll. A. Markert, W. H. Brunson, and M. W. Gary 
were taken on the 26th and 27th days of FebrulIry, instant, 1877, pur· 
snant and in all things conformable to tbe attached lIotices, between 
the hoors of 8 o'clock a. m. and 6 p. m. of said days, and that 
contestant was present, by his counsel, N. L. Griffin; and that contestee 
was al80 present, by one or all of the following attorneys, to wit: W. J. 
Whipper, attorney of record; G. W. Hollaud and Lawrence Cain, of 
counsel, all of counsel. 

That the said witnesses, whose depositiolls are herewith attached, and 
whose Dames are contained in said notice, were by me first duly sworn, 
according to law, to tell the truth, the whole truth, aud nothing'but the 
truth, tODching the matters in controversy with the parties, and their 
examination and testimony, together with the questions propounded to 
them by the l)arties, and reduced to writing by me and in my presence, 
aDd in the presence of the attorneys and counsel for contestant and 
contestee, and after being carefully read over to witnesses were by them 
attested by signing their names to the respective depositions in my 
presence. 

In testimony whereof I bereunto affix my name and official seal this 
the 3d day of l\Iarch, A. D. 1877. 

[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 
Intendant. 
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CONTESTEE'S PAPERS. 

No.5. 
SOUTa CAROLINA, 

Edgefield COftnty: 

GEORGE D. TILL)IA.N, CONTESTANT, 1 Contested electioncase,ftfth Con. 

ROBERT S:U:A;~S, CONTESTEE. S gressional dh!trict. 

To Hon. GEO. D. TILLMAN: 
You are hereby notified that I will examine the following witnesses, 

all of wbom resitIe in the conn ties of Uicbland antI Spartanburg, Sonth 
Carolina, relative to and touching the matters and things set forth in 
my answer to yonr notice of contest of my right to a seat in the Congress 
of the United States. to which you claim to have been elected at the No­
,'ember election of 1876, for the fifth Congrt>ssiooal district of Sonth Car· 
olina, and io reply to matters and things set forth in saill notice of con· 
test and evidence prodnced by you, before John Agnew, ma~'or of the 
city of Columbia, and ------, intendant in and for the town of 
Spartanburg, at the court·bouse building in said county and Stat.-, on 
the 3d, 4th, amI 5th and 6th days of April, A. D. 1877, between the 
hours of 8 o'clock a. m. and 6 o'clock p. m., and will continue thereafter 
from day to day nntil closed: At Columllia, James A. Beaty; at Spar. 
tanburg, Maj. E. R. Kellogg anll Lieutenant Hoyt. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Edgefield County: 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
"'8. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 
To Hon. G. D. TILLMAN: 

HOBERT SMALLS, 
Per GEO. W. HOLLAND, 

Attorney for COllte8tee. 

You are hereby notified that I will examine the fullowing witnesses. 
all of whom reside in Edgefield Counts, relative to and touching the 
matters and things set forth iu my answt'r to your notice of contest of 
my right to a seat in the Congress of tbe Unitt'd Stales. to which you 
claim to have been elected at the No\'"ember elect iOIl of 1876, for the fifth 
Congressional district of South Oarolina, al1l1 ill reply to matters aDd 
thiogs set forth in said notice of conte~t ltocl to e\'idence produced by 
yoo, before Mr. Marsh, intendant in anel for tbe tOWI1 of Edgefield, at the 
court·honse building in said county and SI att'. on I he 20th, 21st, 22d, 23d, 
and succeeding day!! of March, A. D. 1877, hetwet'll the bonrs of 8 a. m. 
and 7 p. m. of said days, or so much thert'uf as may be necessary, and to 
adjonrn frOID day to day, for the examination of SAid witnesses, to wit: 

Thomas P. Carroll. Levi H. Graham, Da\'id Graham. Aaron Miles, H. 
T. 1.'anksley, James L. Hlair. Coleman Morgan, Robert Chandler, Denllis 
L. SullivRn, Jerry ~lcKet', Sebron Meriweatber. Ambrose Cartledge, Wile 
lis Brunson, WillialD Gilchrist, Thomas Bt'ttis, Burton Stroud, Willis 
Adams, H. N. Doney, Moses D. LoU, Geor~e Jackson, Je ... ~se Jones, Jack 
Pixley, Thomas l\Iatbis, Pleasant Mills, Myer Weldon, Major Jacob 
Kline, Charles Cobb, Jonas llammond, P. B. Moore. 

ROBKRT SMALLS, 
Per M. J. WHIPPER, 

Attorner· 
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Service accepted. 
MARCH 14, 1877. 

B. W. BETTIS, JR., 
Attorney lor Oontestant. 

Yoo aOll each of you are hereby notified aod summoned to aPIK'ar be­
fore DIE', in said county and State, on the 3d, 4th, 5th, and 6th days of 
April, A. D. 1877, between the hours of 8 a. m. and 6 p. m., and from 
day to day until discharged, to be then amI there examined nnder oath 
by me respecting the contest of G. D. Tillman ag"iust Hobert Smalls to 
3 seat in the Congress of the United Sta.tes. You will. not fail herein, 
uueler penalty of twenty dollars flitch. 

Gifen nuder my bUild and seal this the hit day of April, A. D. US77. 
[SEAL.j 0. S. B. MARSH, 

SurE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Edgefield OOUtltg: 

Intendant. 

I, C. S. B. Marsb, intendant of the town of Edgefield, of Edgefield 
County, of the State of South Carolinn, do hereby cert.ify that the an· 
III'Xed deposition of Wiley J. Williams, Jobn Mardenborollgh, D. B. 
Cottt'n, Jesse Jones, Tbomas Mathis, Pies. MiIlR, Willis Adams, T. P. 
Carroll, .Tack Pixley, Meyer Weldon, Levy H. Graham, J.l\IcKee, Sebin 
lleriwether, H. N. BOlley, George Jackson, M. D. Lot.t, H. T. Tankers· 
Il'Y. Bob Ohandler, Cbarlt>,s Cobb, Ooleman l\lorgan, J. L. Blair, Dennis 
Sullh·sn, Torn Bittes, and Burton Stroud, were, on the 3d, 4th, 5th, 6th, 
and to the 28th days of April, l87i, present, and in all things conform­
aole tl) law and the attached notice, between the' hours of 8 a. m. and 
6 p. ID. of said days, and that contestee was present by his counsel at 
the examination, and that contest.ant was prl'sent himself, and that the 
!laid witnesses whose depositions are hereunto attached, and whose 
names are contained in this said notice, were hy me first duly sworn 
aeconling to law to tell the troth aod nothing hut the truth touching 
the matter in controversy between the parties, and their examination 
antI testimony. together with the questions propounded to them by the 
parties, and reduced to writing by me and in my presence, and in the 
I'~"ce of the attorney for contestee; that is, all except the wi tness; 
and arter being cl,refully read over to witness WIlS by them attested by 
8igning their nsmes or making their marks to their respective deposi­
tious in my presl'nce. 

Signed and sealed by me this the 10th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MA1~SH, 

I ntetulant. 

In tbe mattl'r of the cont.est of George D. Tillman againllt Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Oongress of the United States. 

WILEY J. WU.LIAMS, a witness of legal age protluced by contestee, 
DI'()lI due notice to contestant, deposes as follows in reference to ques· 
ti(llls proponnded by attorney for conU'stee: 
Ql1e~tioJ). Where do you !"('"ide !-Answer. Edgefield Court·lIonsl'. 
(~. flow old are J'OU t-A. Twenty·thn>e years oltl. 
Q. 'Vl'rp, ;\'OU a managl'r·of election in November last t-A. I was . 

. Q. For which }lolling·place were you appointed T-A. Polling·place 
)". 1 i at the court-hollse. 

Q. At what time in the morning did you reach the place T-A. About 
t~1I or fiftt'eu minutes before six. 

H. ~lis. 11-16 
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Q. At what place at the court-house were you directed by the com­
missioners to open the box No.1 r-A. Under .the arch of the court­
house. 

Q. Was the poll opened there according to uirections !-A. No, sir. 
Q. State why it was not.-A. The mauagf'r who had charge of tbe 

box w hf'n we wen t to his store said he was not going there; he was going 
up in the court-hooS('. 

Q. Did you try to go to the place designateu, or protest against going 
to the court-room f-A. I askel! the manager if he was going Ululer tbe 
arch; he gave me 110 answer, but went up to tbe court-room. 

Q. Wbat was the condition of the steps and the court-room when you 
entered I-A. The steps au(l the court-room were pretty well crowded 
with red-shirters. 

Q. About how many men were in tbe court-room wben you entered!­
A. About one hundrf'd and twenty-aud fifty. 

Q. Did or dill not you see any fire-arms in tbe court-room that day !­
A. Wheu we first wet in the room in the morning I saw two or three 
men with guns. 

Q. State, if you can, what kind ot' guns these were.-A. Sixteen· 
shooters. 

Q. Were these wbite or colored men wbo had the guns' -A. They 
were white men. 

Q. You stated that the court-house steps aud court-room were crowded 
with men wearing red shirts. Did any of this party act as doorkeeper 
to your knowledge t-A. Yes; two of them staid at the door all tbe 
while. 

Q. State whet.her thf'Y were apllointeu by the managers to act iu that 
capacity.-A. Th~y ,vera uot . 

. Q. Did you know either of the men who acted 8.'J doorkeeper !-A. I 
did not. 

Q. Did yoo notice auy demonstration by the crowu at the door calcu­
lated to preveut colored men or Republicans trom voting I-A. I did. 

Q. State what tbose demonstratiollS were, and aboot what time of 
day did they occurt-A. I saw three or four colored men come to the 
door, and were pre,'ented by tbese parties at the door from coming.in. 
They sait! to them that no negro shoul<l vote there tbat day uuleS8 he 
voted a Democratic ticket; about 9 or 10 o'clock a. m. 

Q. Were these three or four permitted to vott', or did tb<,y ba\"e to go 
back '-A. 1'hey had to lt'ave without \"oting. 

Q. State whether or not you saw any display of arms by those at tbe 
door during the day, soch as pistols or clubs.-A. 1 did not. 

Q. llow many colored men voted a.t box No.1, aud bow many wbite 
men t-A. Twenty-seven colored and about six hundred wbites. 

Q. State how many votes were found tbere in favor of Robert Smalls 
for Congress.-A. Twenty-seven. 

Q. State as near as yon can how many was foond for George D. Till­
man for COllgress.-A. About six hundred. 

Q. Do you know about how many yotes were polled at this box for 
the Republicans in 1874 T-A. About seven or eight hundred, I think. 

Q. Did yoo leave tbe polling-place during the day!-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you try T-A. I said to one of the commissioners of election 

that I was going, and he told me I could not. 
Q. State who that commissioner was.-A. Mr. Roper Dnrisoe. 
Q. Was he the Democratic commissioner for Edgefield Coooty !-A. 

Yes, sir. 
Q. State now why you wanted to leave there before the closing of the 
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polls.-A. Because I saw men who had voted once come up and vote 
again. I protested, but saw it did no good, so I thought I would leave 
and give them up the box. 

Q. Did either of the other managers protest against this repeating T-
A. The other ItepubJican manager did. . 

Q .. I understood you to state that they kept repeating, and that you 
protested, and the other Rt>publican manager did so. State why, if you 
know why, a majority of the ooard could not prevent them repeating.­
A. When we protested against a man voting, whom we knew bad voted 
once, the by.standers would say this man had not voted here to-day, 
and we are going to see that he does vote; these by-staOllers were the 
red-shirters whom I mentioned. 

Q. 'Vhen the by·standers were making the declarations, did they <10 
it ill a threatening manner or civilly !-A. They macIe them in a threaten­
ing manner. 

Q. State whether or not you fl!lt apprehensions of cIanger.-A. I did, 
sir. . 

Q. State whether this repeating continn~d after that.-A. Yes; it con· 
tinued all day nntil tbe polls closed. 

Q. State whether you protested any further against repeating.-A. I 
protested all the time. 

Q. When you use the word" red·shirter," do yon mean white or colored 
men !-A. 1 mean white men. 

Q. Did yon assist in the counting of the votes after the closing of the 
poll"! ~-A. I did. 

Q. About what time in the night was it you completed the counting 
of tbe votes !-A. Abont 11 o'clock. 

Q. Did any other l)luties assist in counting, except the manager's clerk 
and snpervisor '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State who those parties were.-A. Mr. W. T. Gary and W. M. Cobb. 
Q. Were they appointed by the managers to assist !-A. The Demo· 

cratic manager asked me if I did not think it best that he shoulu get 
some one to assist us. I told him no, 1 did not want any oue to help. 
me; if be co·tld not make them out, I could. He said he knew very little 
about it. 

Q. State, then, whether or not yon protested against Mr. Gary and 
Cobb acting.-A. I did. 

Q. During the counting of the votes, was or was not there a crowd 
of red-shirters hanging around '-A. Ther~ wa·s. 

Q. Did you sign the returns there as manager '-A. 1 did so, throngh 
fear of being injnred if 1 clid not. 

Q. If you bad have been allowed to act yonr own free will would yOUl 
have signed those returns '-A. :No, sir. 

Cr088.axamined by Geo. D. Tillman: 
Q. Yon say if yon had been allowed your own free will you would DO't 

have signed those returns. Did any white man threaten you there that 
day; and if so, who was he '-A. 1 was not threatened there by any 
man. 

Q. Did anybody draw a weapon on yon '-A. No. 
Q. Who told you that you conld not leave tbe polls f-A. Mr. Durisoe. 
Q. Does not the law require the polls to be kt'pt open without inter· 

mission or adjournment from 6 a. m. to 6 p. m. '-A. It does. 
Q. What United States marshal was there that day'-A. Mr. Baty 

was up there in the morning; he only staid a few minutes. 
Q. Did not Mr. Baty, United States marshal, return and appear abont 
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the polls that day, and especially about the time you began coooting 
the votes that evening '-A. I did not see him any more after he lef\ 
tb .. re that morning. 

Q. Did not United States Marsha} Baty, in the afternoon of that day, 
oruer a colored man away from the polls who came there to '-ote after 
he had yoted at hox No.2 '-A. Not to my knowledgt>. . 

Q. Did you not see a colored man who lived at Jetl88 Jones's come 
there to vote, and was kt>pt from it on the ground that be had yoted f­
A. There was a colored man who lived at Jesse Jones's come there tAl 
vote; 1\ crowd of white men followed him in and Htated to os that he 
bad \'oted at No.2, and if we allowed him to vote tbere be »"ould be 
J>it(~hf'd ont of the court-bouse. 

(~. Did not tbat colored man acknowledge tbat he bad lOOted. but 
that be saw white men voting twice and he thought he ought to be 
allowf>d to do so too '-A. I did not hf'ar him make any sucb statements. 

Q. Dill not Marshal Baty tell him that he could not Yott>, and order 
-Ililll to 1l'l\ve' 

(Objected to on the ground that the question has been asked.) 
A. Do IIOt remeID ber Reeing Mr. Baty np there but onCt>, and that waa 

in the Illorlling; this was iu the afternoon. 
(~. What time in the morning was be there I-A. Between 10 and 12 

o'clock. 
Q. Did you complain to Marshal Baty about allY thrf'ats or intimid. 

tion wheu he was present that day '-A. I had no talk witb bim; he 
staid in the court·lJOuse ollly a few minutes. 

Q. Did not Marshal Baty have some of his assistant marshald with 
him !-A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Did not he ask the managers and 8ullcnisors if they needed bi! 
assistance !-A. I don't rl'collt>ct bim asking us any questions. 

Q. If you had Rl'en an~·thing going on wroog was it not your doty to 
complain to the United Stutes marshal, and ask bim to COm'Ct itf-~ 
I bad 110 time to make any complaint to the marshal, lor he did lIOHtaj 
in there long enough. 

Q. How many difterent Army officers-I mean commiRSioned oftietn 
-did ~'ou Ree in the court· house that day I-A. I saw two, I belit'l"('. 

Q. Were their nallles Major Kline and Lieutenant White I-A. ( kne­
Mlljor Kline, but did not know the other officer's name. 

Q. Did you not Rl'e Major Klioe and that otber officer in and abonl 
the court-hoUl~e during that day seyeral timesY-A. Yes, sir. Wht'l 
Major Kline was about to 1eave he IUlked D8 could be render us an] 
assistance. We said that we would like for him to stay. He Mid ~ 
could not stay himself, but woulll go down aod scod aoother officer; 
which he did, aud this officer staid until we nearly got througb coontiDI 
the yotes. 

Q. Did you complain to either of those officers abollt any millCOodDrj 
on the part of the Democrats that day; and, if so, what did ~ 
ofiiccr do t-A. I did oot complain to either of them. 

Q. Where do you Iiye-oo whose land or plantation '-A. On La 
rence C.lin's place-. 

Q. How many years baye you beeu living with him '-A. I baye 
sta~'illg at his hoU!~e two years or more. 

Q. Did lie not send you to school before that, and is he not a l" 
particular friend of ;yours I-A. Yes; be seot me to school, aDd 1 t 
him to be a ,"cry particular friend of mine. 

Q. Was he IIOt a cCl.uuidate for the State senate at tbe last elt'Clion . 
A. He was. 
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Q. Was be not also county cbairman of tbe Rl'publican party of tbis 
eonnty'-A.. Yes, sir. 

Q. Were not all the managers perfectly willing to go npstairs in the 
conrt·room to hold the election; Ilnd, if any manager objected, who was 
be, and to wbom did he object, and wben, anll where T-A. They w .. re 
not. Tbe two Republican managers oltiected to Mr. GloV'cr, the Demo­
cratic manager, at his store on tbe morlling of the 7th. 

Q. Ha\"e not all the elections bere, before the 7th of last November~ 
been beld in tbe court·room, when beltl anywb«.>re about the court·house 
building, e\"en when the Republicaus had all three lI1!Ulal!erS allll tbe 
D~mocrats were allowed no managers '-A. No; I lIevcr did see an elec­
tion beld anywhere else except in the conrt·room. 

Q. Wben YOll first went to the court·housl', on the mortling of the elec­
tion, did you not see a vast crowd of colored vot«.>I'S around the court­
bouse and on tbe steps f-A. I did not. 

Q. You mentioned that you saw some white men with gUlls that day; 
gire os the names of some of them, and how many gUllS did you flee 
tbem have about the polls or in the court· bouse 1-A. Don't know the 
Dames of any of tbe men; I saw two or tbree gunR. 

Q. Do you know a wbite man by the name of Nick. Broadwater, who 
Iifl'S foor or fi \"e miles east of this village T-A. I think I do. 

Q. Dul not the same Ullln act as doorkeeper at the court·bouse all 
day !-A. ~o, sir; they kept about two men nil tbe time. 

Q. Was not lIr. Nick. Broadwater one of those two lUen T-A. I did 
not see Mr. Broadwater. 

Q. Wben did Mr. Durisoe tell you you coulll not leave the polls I-A. 
Wben be came np there I called him and asked him if I could leave the 
polls. 

Q. Did he tell you tbat it was the law for you to remain, or did he 
threaten and command you to remain !-A. He made no threats; I guess 
be meant to tell me that it was the law to remain. I told him that I 
thought the men were repeating, and did not want to stay. lie said he 
guessed not; that I must stay-it was my duty. 

Q. Was not the cbief doorkeeper clothed in citizen's dress T-A. I 
don't rt'Collect. 

Q. Are yon certain that the mlln who kept the door bad on a red 
sbirtT-A. I am not positive what kine} of a drt·ss he bad on. 

Q. Was there not a crowd generally passing to and fro in the court· 
room I-A. There was a crowd in there all the time. 

Q. Was not the voting done near tbe judge's bench, in the back part 
Bf tbe conrt-room !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What distance from the entrnnce·door t-A. Eight or ten Mteps . 
. Q. Were yon not kept busy about the polls, so bm~y that ~'ou had but 
htUe opportunity to observe who kept tbe door, and could yon see 
througb tbe crowd so 8S to notice who the doorket'per was !-A. 'Vas 
Dot kept very busy, amI the most of the crowd were sitting clown. 

Q. Yon mentioned that two or three colored men came to the door, 
bot were ordered away by the doorkeeper. What is the name of some 
or al\ of those colored men ordered away T-A. I don't know tbeir 
names. 

Q. How could yon see thl'm through the door !-A. They bud the 
door opt'n wide enough for one man to pass. . 

Q. Who was the man that ordered tbose colore.l men away '-A. I 
do not know what his name was. 

Q. Yon Mitl tbe Dl'mocrabl kt'pt repeating tlJ('ir vOtl'S; gin~ llS the 
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,names of some democrats whom you saw voting twi~.-A. Those men 
who repeated I don't recollect having seen before. 

Q. You said that the by-standers were armed with pistols; gh'e us the 
'names whom you saw with pistols.-A. I don't recollect saying that. 

Q. You said the by-standers threatened Republicans; give us the 
names of some of them.-A. 1 don't recollect saying that by-standers 
threatened Uepublicans. 

Adjourned uutil Wednesday morning, March 21, at 9 o'clock. 
Cross-examination continued by the counsel for contestant: 

Q. When you was counting the ballots, who took them out of the 
flox !-A. Mr. Glover and myself. 

Q. What did you do with the ballots after you read them off '-A. 
We placed the Democratic tickets in one pile, and the Republican in 
another. 

Q. Did not you have considerable botheration in counting the votes; 
and, if so, who helped you to oyercome that botheration !-A. I was 
not bothered. After we had counted the votes Mr. Gary and Cobb were 
troubled in making out the returns; Mr. Gary suggested to put them in 
three piles. 

Q. After the tickets were put in three piles, did not you reconnt 
them !-A. Yes; we called them off again for the benefit of Mr. Gary 
and Cobb. 

Q. In recounting, did not every ticket pass through your hands I-A. 
I think they did. 

Q. Before the tickets were connted the second time, did you not all 
try, and try, and try, without succeeding in agreeing upon what count 
to returu of the election !-A. I was uot bothered, but Mr. Gary and 
Cobb were, and we had to count the votes over in order to get them 
straight. 

Q. In counting the votes, did you do anything except call off the 
names on the tickets !-A. No, sir. 

Q. Who kept the tally· sheets I-A. Mr. Gary, Cobb, and Bronson. 
Q. Did you object to any of them keeping tally I-A. Before we com­

menced counting the votes I objected to anyone having anything to do 
with the count except the managers, clerk, and supervisor. 

Q. Di(l yoo not, when you went to count the votes the second time, 
agrf'e that Major Gary might help !-A. I made no such agreement; be 
commenced as soon as we began taking the votes out of the box. 

Q. Who else kept tally except l\Iajor Gary !-A. Mr. Brunson, sUller­
visor, and Mr. Cobb. 

Q. How many voters are you certain repeate(l there that day; who 
were they; where did they come from; how did t.hey look T-A. I don't 
know how mauy repeaters there were. I do know that seyeral men voted 
there three and four times; I know their faces; don't know where they 
came from or how they looked. I asked some of them where they came 
from; if they lh'ed ill Edgefield County. They said it was none of my 
business where they livelI. 

Q. Did you make any cOlUplaint of this to the Army officer who was 
present Y-A. No, sir. 

Q. Call you giYe the nallle of a single man who repeatell his yote there 
that lla.rt-A. 1 caullot. 

Q. W (,I'e you not born and renred in Edgefield !-A.. I was. 
Q. Dill you not sign the returns of the election as being all right Rnd 

propel't-A. I signell them, becanse if I did not do 80 1 would not Ih'e 
to get home. 
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Q. Ditl any democrat threaten you there that day or night; if so, 
who was it, I-A. I was not threatened by anyone. 

Q. Are you not the half-brother of Oolonel Oain, one of the counsel 
for the contestee in this case, and the defeated candidate for the State 
senate at the late elect~oo !-A. I am half· brother to Lawrence Oain. 

Redirect: 
Q. You stated that you were not threatened by any man; Rtate 

whether or not the general <leportment of the Democrats was not calcn­
lated to caose you to feel apprehensive of dan ger.-A. It was. If I had 
not been I would not have signed the retorns. 

Q. You stated on yesterday yon did not see Marshal Baty but once; 
bow near was he to you when you saw him that time !-A. I don't know 
how far. I saw him standing at tbe bar of the railing. 

Q. Could he not ba\'e been there in such a crowd and yon not see 
himY-A. Yes. 

Q. You stated that you made no complaint to Mr. Baty or the officer 
who was there of the manner the election was being conducted; state 
why it is you di(l not complain to them.-A. I would have complained 
to Mr. Baty, bot he staid such a short time I had no opportunity to 
speak to him. 

WILEY J. WILLIAMS. 
Sworn to hefore me this the 21st day of Marchl..1877. 
[sRAL.l C. !:S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

JOHN ~IARDENBOROUGH, a witness of legal age prodoced by contestee 
npon dne notice to contestant, deposes as follows, in reference to ques­
tions propounded to him by attorney for contestee: 

Question. What is your name, age, occupation, and residence !-An­
swer. My name is John l\1nrdenboroogh; age, tw'enty-five years; lawyer; 
Edgefield. 

Q. Were yoo present on the 7th of November, the day of the last 
election !-A. I was. 

Q. What, if any, official position did yon hold on that day!-A. I 
held no official positioll; none other than of a manager of election. 

Q. At what polling-precinct were you a manager !-A. At poll No.2, 
at lfacedonia school-house. 

Q. By whom, if anyone, were you ordered to open the polls at that 
place !-A. By the commissioners of election. 

Q. From which one of them did you get their instructions !-A. I 
consider that I got it from all three of them. 

Q. Was there any threats, violence, or intimidation at that poll 00 
that day T-A. There was. 

Q. Will yon, in your own language, and without being interrogated 
by ,me, state what it was '-A. 'l'here was a show of arms, beating, curs­
ing, riding over men, barring the door with horsell, threats, and every 
other means which would tend to intimidate a mnn. 

Q_ By whom was this carried on T-A. By white men; Democrats, 
the majority of them, wearing red shirts. 

Q. Did it at allY time become necessary to ask the intervention of the 
mihtan" !-A. It did. 

Q. \\'as it so asked; and, if so, by whom and for what purpose f-A. 
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It was asked; I asked the Unite(l States deputy marshal, because I was 
it wouIll be iml}ossible for colored men to vote did not the soldiers in· 
ten'enE'. 

Q. Was or was there not a large number who were nnable to vote, 
even with the assistance of the soldiertl '-A. A large number of col· 
ored men were 1ll1ll1.lle to vote, e\"en with the assistance of the soldiers. 

Q. Did either the officers or soldiers take allY other part exCt'pt to 
prl'ser\'e the peace '-A. They did not. 

Q. Thl'Y did not assn me to dictate as to who shouhl or shoultl not 
vote T-A. Thl'Y did not. 

Q. FrOID what hour to what bour were you prl'sent at tbat poll I-A. 
From half paNt five o'clock of the morning of the 7th of November uutil 
about one o'clock of the morning of the 8th. 

Q. Did you find it necl'~~l\ry to keep a portion of the soldiers with 
you until you got throngh '-A. I did. 

Q. Why was it necessBl'y '-A. I WIlS afraid that the managers and 
the clerk might be interfered with dnring the counting of the "otes, as 
the Republicans were in a majority at that poll. 

Cross·examined by Mr. Ben. Betts, for the contestant, of cOllnsel for 
contestant: 

Q. How long have you been a resident of Edgefieldf-A. Nearly two 
years. 

Q. Where did you formerly reside f-A. New York City. 
Q. What was your occupation while in :New York City I-A. I was in 

the newspaper business, and a printer. 
Q. What was the nalDe of the newspaper ~-A. The Enterpri~. 
Q. Was that paper published in New York City !-A. In New York 

City. 
Q. Who did YOll read law with, Mr. l\[ardenuorough !-A. C. H. Sllen· 

cer, in New York, and H. W. Seamore, in Charleston. 
Q. How long did you read law before you were admitted f-A. About 

fOllr years j but lIot under Seamore and Spencer the entire tilllf'. 
Q. Where wt're you admitted at, and at what time f-A. Edgefield 

village, about the 2311 or 24th of )Iarch, of last year. 
Q. Before w bat judge '-A. U. B. Carpenter. 
Q. Did you say that the thre(~ conllllj~sioners of election ordered YOll 

to hold the box. at the school·house f-A. I said that I cOl\sid~r~d tbey 
dill. 

Q. Upon wbat ground j what lell you to eonsiller that tbl'yordered 
you to hold the box No.2 at the school·house t-A. Jl'sse Jones and 
George Holland told me in the presence of Mr. Durisoe, the three being 
commi8sioners of lMction,'aud :Mr. Durilloe made no ol~jection to it. 

Q. Did he directly assent t--A. He said llt'ither no lIor yes. 
Q. \-Vhere did this take place f-A. In the office of the clerk of the 

court. 
Q. At what time dill it take plaet', and who else besidt'8 yourself and 

the commissioners of' election were present I-A. On the day I,receding 
the election j many persons were present. 

Q. Name some of those present.-A. I ditlnot know them. 
Q. At what time of the day was it 7-A. I have no idt'a of the time; it 

was the day preceding the elpction. 
Q. Do you know whether it was in the morning or in the eveningf­

A. Between nine o'clock in the morning and three in the tlvening. 
Q. On the day of the election, did you not take box No.1 !lnd ('.arry 

it to precinct No. 2 from the clerk's office without consulting lIr. 
Maskert, the Democratic manager f-A. I did not. 
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Q. Who did carry the box to precinct No.2 '-A. I did, from my res­
idence. 

Q. Where did you go wh~n you went to precinct No.2; in the hous~, 
or did you r('main out of it !-A. I went in the house. 

Q. Did you close the door '-A. I did Dot. 
Q. Was tbe door clollCd f-A. It was not closed generally during the 

day of the ('lectioll. 
Q. Was it open !-A. It was open. 
Q. Did JOu not have a doorke~per f-A. There was a (loorkeeper. 
Q. Did he not open the door at times and let in voters, and then 

close the door while they were casting their votes '-A. He did; and 
ojll'ned immediatl'ly after thl'Y bad cast their votes. 

Q. What did he open it for, to let in others I-A. To let in others to 
be sworn and vote. 

Q. How long did the door remain open at a time to let in voters 1-
A. Long enoogb for them to come in. 

Q. About what length of time did it take them to come in '-A. It 
took white men bnt a little while to come in; it took colored men some 
time, for they were nnder rl'straint. 

Q. Did the officers of the U oUed States Army not remove tbe re· 
atraint I-A. Not until quite late in the day; even tben there were 
white men about tbe doors, and, from previous demoostrations during 
tbe day by wbite men, the oolored men were afraid to come in and vote 
as rapidly as white men did. 

Q. How many white men voted at that box that day '-A. I can't 
gil"e yon tbe number accurately, but I cau guess at it; abont three hun· 
dred and fourteen or twenty-five; somewhere about that. 

Q. How maoy colored men, you think, voted there '-A. A little over 
eight hnndrl'd-between eight and nine hundred. 

Q. How dill you see this violence-cursing, show of arms, and so on f­
A. The building had about two windows. I saw the violence through 
tbem, and heard the cursing. 

Q. What men did you see make any sbow of arms '-A. I saw John 
Swarengeu-him I knew-and many others. 

Q. Yon can't ID('ntioll any other names but one f-A. I cl\n't now. 
Q. What sort of arms did John Swarengen ha\'e !-A. He had a pis­

tol, anti a clut> about twenty-eiJlht or thirty inches long. 
Q. What sort of a pi8tol did John Swarengen have. and where did you 
~ it; on what part of his personf-A. It was a revolver, and he had it 
10 the vicinitv of bis waist. 

Q. About what size was the pistol T-A. The ordinary size of a revol· 
Ter • 
. Q. Was the pistol ill a bolster '-A. I can't recollect distinctly. I saw 
It on his waist. 

Q. Was it outside of his coat or not f-A. He wore no coat. 
'I. Was it covered by any of his clothing f-A. It might have been 

partially. 
Q. Do yon remember seeing the barrel of the pistol t-A. I might 

bave Sflen it. 1 don't recollect. 
Q. Wbat sort of a looking lDan is John Swarengen '-A. He is a tall, 

h('avy fellow. On tbe day of the election he wore a mustache. 
Q. WI\8 John Swarengeu not requested by the United States officers 

to use his efforts to keep order T-A. I don't kllow. I saw him strike a 
colored man with a club. 

Q. Was not Jobn Swarengen appointed to act as deputy sheriff on 
that day by James Richardson, sheriff '-A. I don't know. 
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Q. Don't yon know that Sherifi' Richardson did appoint a numberof 
both white and colored deputy sherifi'd to keep order on that day!-A. 
No, I don't. 

Q. Was not the colored man, at the time Swarengen strock him, at­
tempting to rnsh by and take possession of the polls I-A. He was DOt. 

Q. Was he standing still when Swareugen strock him !-A.. He was 
trying to come in the house to vote. ' 

Q. You don't remember the names of any but Swarengen whom yon i 

saw have arms that day!-A. I do not. ! 

Q. Do you remember seeing any man ride over another that day!-I 
A. I saw a borse over the body of a colored man. I 

Q. Did you see the man before he was on the groond or not !-A.. I 
may have seen him before. 

Q. Where was it you saw this man on the ground and the horse or& 
him I-A. In the vicinity of the window of the school-house. 

Q. On which side of the school-house !-A. Near the left windo .... 
Q. What was the name of the man on the borse t-A. I do not kDOI'. 

Q. Did you see any other man under horses that day !-A. I saw DO 
other man under the body of the horse that day, but I saw some men 
passing under the necks of horses, trying to get in the house to vote. 

Q. These things took place early in the morning, did they Dot t-l. 
Mostly before the soldiers arrived. I don't think the soldiers came be­
fore 10 or 11 o'clock a. m. 

Q. Did the soldiers come as soon as you made requisition, or did they 
delay I-A. They delayed. 

Q. About bow long did they delay I-A. About two hours, or two and 
a half. ! 

Q. About what time did you make the requisition !-A. About t'jght 
or half past. 

Q. Do you know of any man that you know barring the door with hi3 
horse !-A. No; I don't know the name of any of them. 

Q. Do you know the name of any man that you heard cnrsing t.hat 
day T-A. Yes; Swarengen and O. Shepparll. . 

Q. What were the oaths they l1spd I-A. God damn you, damn Radi­
cals, sons of bitches, 1I0g on you, dog gon yon. 

Q. Do you not know all of the voters who live in Edgefield village by i 
name f-A. I 1I0 not. 

Q. Do you not koow the names of the white voters of Edgefield ril· 
lage, and know them when you meet them t-A. I do not. 

Q. Do you not know half of them f-A. I don't know how many 
there are in the village. I 

Q. About how many white voters do you know in Edgefield village!-
A. I think about twentv-five. ! 

Q. Did you see those' white voters at the precinct Yo. 2 on the day of 
election '-A. I did not see all of them. 

Q. Abont bow many of them !-A. I saw Mr. Cobb, Glover, Penn, 
O. :3heppard, Mr. Markert. 

Q. Did YOll see any of these that yOll have seen draw pistols, brand· 
ish clubs, ride over men, or bar 1I00rs with horses !-A. r lIid not. 

Q. Dill any man draw a pistol on you that dayt-A. I don't recoiled 
anyone drawing a pistol directly on me that day. 

Q. Did 1\1. A. Markert draw a pistol on you that day '-A. :No. . 
Q. Did you, or dill you not, swear before any referee or any commIt­

tee in Columbia that l\1. A. Markert drew a pistol on you that dayt­
A. I did 110t. 

Q. You said that you saw men llse every other means of intimidation 
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~8ide8 making a show of arms,' beating, cnrsing, riding oyer men, and 
barring the door with horses. What other means were there f State 
tbem.-A. Riding to and fro, turbulently shonting, bramlishing weal)' 
ons. 

Q. Name those men that yon saw riding and brandishing weapons.-
A. Swarengen, I know. 

Q. Do you think that yon COUlll identify any of tbose men now' 
(Objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. I think I could. 
Q. Could YOIl recognize the mt.>o wbo were committing these acts if 

you were to have soon tbem afterward !-A. Yes, I conld; I saw them 
afterward. 

Q. Did those men who were committing those acts vote at tbat pre-
cinct f-A. They did. 

Q. Were yon at the box at tbe time tbey \'oted T-A. I was at tbe box. 
Q. Did yon hear tbeir names !-:-A. I heard some of their names. 
Q. Did yon hpar balf of them !-A. I think I heard half of tbe names 

of tbe white men who voted tbere tbat day. 
Q. Did you hear half of the names of those men wbom yon say were 

commitiug those acts T-A. 1 can't say I did. 
Q. Was it not your duty to have beard all of those names when they 

were given to the clerk T-A. I think it was my dllty, but I considered 
it unsafe to myself to fulfill it that day. 

Q. Yon did not think ·it too dangerous to remain at the polls, bnt 
tbought it dangerous to hear the names of voters !-A. I did not think 
it dangerous to hear them, but to force them to pronounce their names 
80 as I conld hear it. 

Q. Could YOll not have got closo to the clerk so t.hat if be heard them 
you could have heard them too !-A. I would ask some of them their 
Dames; tbey would tell me it was none of my business, and go to the 
cJerk and say, YOll know my name. 

Q. How far was the clerk's book from the box !-A. Abont six o~ 
eight feet. 

Q. Could yon not haye stood near the clerk, next the box, and beard 
tbe name as they gave it and see the clerk write it on the record !-A. 
I could not hear the name if it was whispered. I could bave seen him 
writ.e it. 

Q. Do YOlt know that any body did whisper their names that day !­
A. I kuow they spoke tbeh' names so low I could not hear them. 

Q. no yon know any man wbo did whisper his name so low yon conld 
Dot bear it f-A. I don't the mall, but men spoke so low I could not 
hear them. 

Q. 'Vas there not a man there who kept a list of the voters, and who 
acted as clerk for the Democratic supervisors !-A. No man acted as 
clerk for tile Democratic supervisors. 

Q. Did yon see lIr. A. J. Norris there that day; and, if so, what. was 
he doing!-A. I saw Mr. A. J. ~orris there tbat tIay; be was writing. 

Q. Did he not keep a list of the \'oters who voted at that precinct, 
and was he not sworn in to keep a correct list I-A. I uelie,"e he [{ept 
a Jist, but be was not sworn to keep a correct list. 

Q. \VlIat was he sworn to do on that day t-A. He took the oath to 
protect the Constitutioll!wf the United States and the Slate. If you can 
tinel any oath requiring Mr. Norris to keep a correct list, I would like to 
!;ee it. 

Q. "'"as there Dot a clerk there appoin ted by the Republican managers; 
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and, ir so, what was his nam~ '-A. There was no clerk there appointed 
exclusi\'ely by the Republican managers. 

Q. Was there any clerk there at all '-A. There was. 
Q. Who was he, and by whom appointed '-A. His name was John 

Dink-illS; appointed by the board of mllllagers. 
Q. Did the Democratic manager agree to John Dinkins as clerk !-A. 

He did. 
Q. Did not A .• T. Norris take the same oath, or, in other words, were 

tlley not sworn in togethert-A. They were not sworn in together. 
DinkinA was sworn in first and Norris aftpr. 

Q. What was the length of time between the time that Dinkins was 
sworn in and the time Norris was sworn in '-A. About one minute. 

Q. Why was !\fr. Norris sworn in at all t-A. Mr. Norris was sworn 
at the rt'quest of l'rlr. :Markert. 

Q. Did !\Ir. Sht'ppard, as Democratic snper"isor,join in the request!­
A. I do not recollect it. 

Q. Why did Mr. Markert re'lllest that A. J. Norris shoulll be sworn 
in as clerk when one clerk had already been sworn in, according to your 
testimony!-A. I don't know. . 

Q. Did Mr. Markert consent that John Dinkins be sworn in as clerk 
before the other managers agreed to swear in l\lr. Norris to act as clerk, 
also f-A. l\lr. Markert consented to Mr. Dinkins acting as clerk; the 
other managers did not consent to Mr. Yorris acting as clerk for the 
bonrd. 

Q. Which other managers did not consent to Norris acting as clerk of 
the board T-A. Myself anll Holmes. 

Q. Who administered the oath to l\lr. Norris'-A. I did. 
Q. You administered to Mr. Norris the same oath that you did to Mr. 

Diukins '-A. I did. 
Q. Why ditl you administer that oath to Mr. Norris !-A. At the re­

quest of Mr. Markert. His motive for it I don't know, 8S the board of 
mana/!ers had already selected their clerk and sworn him. 

Q. Did yon state any objections to administering that oath to l\Ir. A. 
J. Norris Y-A. I made no great objection; I knew it was of no avail, as 
we already had 1\ clerk. 

Q. Did Mr. Norris and Mr. Dinkins both keep a. list of voters who 
voted at that box f-A. I presume Mr. Dinkins did; I don't know wbat 
Mr. Norris did. Q: Did yon Dot sign and consent to Mr. Norris's return as 1\ true and 
correct return of the "otes cast at that precinct 011 that day I-A. Mr. 
Norris had 110 return; I signed the board of managers' return. 

Q. Did Mr. Dinkins become unable to perform the duties of clerk duro 
in/! that e\'ening of that day of election f-A. I don't kno\\'. 

Q. Who did most of the writing tuat day in making out the returns 
aftt.>r the polls were closed f-A. Mr. A. J. YOITis did, at my request, 
and assented to by tbe other managers. 

Q. Did you not sign the return he made out, aOll approve it as a cor· 
rect return !-A. I did, al:l he made it at tbe request of the managers. 

Q. Did be muke out that rf:tllrn b~· tallJing the votes in the box with 
the names of the voters on the poll.list kept by A. J. NorrisT-A. He 
did not. 

Q. From \l hat poll·list did he make out the returns T-A. From the 
one kept by Dinkins, which was turned over to the b08l"d of cOlUlUis· 
siollers of election. 

Q. Did he not compare the list which he kept with the one kept by 
Dinkins, and found that they tallied, before the \'otes were counted j and 
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was tbe list, after IU"'ing been compared, not apl>roved by tM' man· 
agers l-A. No, it did not. I saw Norris make aDlendments to bis own, 
(N orris'tl.) 

Q. How many ameudments did he make T-A. I don't know. 
Q. About bow many did he Dlake Y-A. I don't knowbow many. 
Q. ])0 you know how far it is from the court-bouse to the }Jlace wbere 

box No.2 was kept !-A. I don't. 
Q. About how far is it f-A. I bave no idea. 
Adjourned until Monday morning at nine o'clock. 

Cross-examination resumed: 
Q. When the two poll-lists kept by Norris and Dinkins were read over 

tt) compare them with each other, were 1I0t some correctiolls made in 
Dinkius'l'\ list as well as Norris's !-A. I did not see the list kept by Mr. 
Dinkins corrected. 

Q. Do you or not remembl!r that tllere were some names of voters on 
Norris's list whicb were not on Dinkins's list at the close of the polls, 
but t.hat when Norris read out the names they were transferred to Diu· 
kins's list f-A. I do not remember. 

Q. Who appointed Dinkins clerk of election at that poll' Did the 
commissioners order the managers to appoint him, or did the managers 
appoint him without any command from the commissioners '-A. The 
managers appointed him without any command or suggelStion from the 
commissioners. 

Q. Is Dinkins a white or colored man, is he Republican or Democrat 
in his politics T-A. Dinkins is a white man. I believe him to be aRe· 
publican, but on that election.day he \'oted the Democratic ticket from 
moth'es of personal safety. 

(Words" motives of persona) safety," objected to by contestant's coun· 
sel.} . 

Q. How (10 you know that he did it from personal safety!-A. He told 
me so, in the pres(>ncc of others. 

Q. Is not Dinkins a common drunkard and habitual sot' 
(Objected to by counsel- for contestee.) 
A. I never saw him drunk. 
Q. Was he not drunk while acting as clerk that oay, in the eyeningf­

A. I did not see him drunk. 
Q, Then how came Norris to have to act as clerk for the managers 

for the last eight hours of that day in counting the votes and making 
up the returns of the election f 

(ObjectE'd to on the ground that it assumes what hasllot b(>en proved 
by counsel for'contestee,) 

A. Dinkins, when he was selected to act as clerk for the manAgl'rS, 
said" He had eaten no breakfast," and about the closing of the polls on 
that day he became tired and hungry and asked the managers to re­
lieve him. He was reliev(>d, and immediately afterward 1\11'. Norris was 
requested to, by myself, and assentit'd to by the other managers, to help 
count the ballots and make np the returns for the board. 

Q. Did you not see Dinkins lying drunk in or around that building 
while you were making up the returns and counting the \'otes I-A. I 
did not, 

Q. When did the Dlanagers get through counting the votes and mak· 
ing up the returns '-A. About one o'c)ocl(, I think: on the morning of 
the eighth. 
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Q. bid you see any colored men with clubs and sticks there that 
day!-A. 1 did not. 

Q. Did you see any colored men with gunE' or pistols there that day T­
A. I saw no colored men there with gnns or pistols that day. 

Q. Did you see any colored men make a rush through or over white 
men to get to the polls that day T-A. I did not. 

Q. Did yon hear any colored men make any threats abont voting at 
all hazards that day '-A. I did not. 

Q. Is not Dinkins. the clerk the Republican managers appointed that 
day, the brother·in·lawof John H. McDevitt, the absconding county 
treasurer' 

(Objected to on the ground that there is no such party known to 
the record.) • 

A. Dinkins was the person appointed by the managers as their clerk 
on that day. I do not know that he is related to McDevitt at all. 

Q. Do you not know that Dinkins is a notorious liar, and unreliable 
in everything' 

(Objected to by counsel for contestee, on the ground that Dinkins's 
character is not in question, and, if it was, could not be attacked collat· 
erally.) 

A. 1 do not. 
Q. Do you know anything about his character' 
(Objected to on the grounds before stated.) 
A. I don't know anything about his character. 
Q. Did or not a United States officer, with drawn sword and a file of 

men., with fixed bayonets, enter the buildinr, where you were holding 
the election that day; and, if so, what was his name, and what else did 
he and his men do T-A. They did not so enter the building. 

Q. Did no United States officer or soldier enter the building that day; 
and if so, how many officers and soldiers, and what did they do in the 
building T-A. A United States officer and five soldiers entered the 
building and passed through without impeding the voting. 

Q. Did they have arms f-A. They had arms. 
Q. At what entrance did they get into the building T-A. They came 

in through a window where voters after voting had to pass ont, the 
window being about 18 inches from the gronnd. 

Q. Where did that officer and soldiers go to when they passed through 
the building, and what did they do T-A. They went out through the 
door of the building and dispersed a crowd of armed white men who 
had congregated around the door beating colored men and preventing 
them from voting; the majority of these white men had already ,·oted. 

Q. What did the officer and soldiers do after dispersing these white 
men !-A. They told the men g~nerally to go in and vote. 

Q. What was that officer's name !-A. I don't know. 
Q. Was he or not Captain Kellogg, the same officer who lately entered 

the State· house in Columbia. and had command there while the legis· 
lature was trying to organize! 

(Objected to on the ground that it assumes what is not in proof.) 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did not that officer station a file of men as seminals at inter,'als 

in a semicircle iu front of the door where voters entered T-A. I don't 
know. . 

Q. Did not those soldiers have bayonets in their guns !-A. Yes. 
Q. Did not that officer have a sword dra\vn I-A. I did Dot see it. 
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Q. How many voters were allowed to enter the door at a time to 
vote!-A. Ten; they were sworn toget.her, each one voting aud passed 
ont of the window. 

Q. Did not the officer in command point at or touch ,vitb his sword 
each of the ten voters who were to enter together to vote, throughout 
the whole-day f-A. I don't know. 

Q. Then, do you know how the chosen ten votet·s were selected to euter 
each time '-A. After the ten that were in had voted, the doorkeeper 
would call ten more; ten would come in, be sworn, vote, and go out. 

Q. Were not the ten voters already standing at the door when the 
doorkeeper woold open the door!-A. I don't know. 

Q. Are you certain the doorkeeper called the voters by name, or did 
he just open the door, and after the voters had entered close it t-A. 
He cried oot "ten more;" ten would come in, be sworn, vote, and go oot. 

Q. You spoke of white men beating colored men in front of the door 
that day. Howmany colored men did yoo see so beaten! And gh'e the 
names of some of the whites who beat tbem. 

(Object to tbe question on the grounds that tbe same thing has beeu 
gone through in the testimony of the witness at least twice before.) 

A. I don't know the number of the colored men beaten, but I know 
that John Swaringen did strike one. I can't name any other white man 
1 saw strike them. 

Q. What was that colored man doing when Swaringen struck him !­
A. He was trying to come iu the hoose to vote. 

Q. Were not more votes polled at your box that day than at any other 
prt>Cinct iu Edgefield County !-A. 1 don't know. 

Q. What was the whole number of votes polled at that box !-A. 
Between eleven and twelve hundred. . 

Q. flo," ml,\nyof the white voters did you personally know there that 
day f-A. About 20 or 25. . 

Q. About how many colored voters did you know there that day f­
A. About 100. 

JOHN MARDENBOROUGH. 

Sworn to before me this the 19th day of March, A. D.1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

D. B. COTTON, a witness of legal age, produced by contestee after 
due notice to contestant, deposes as follows, in reference to questious 
propounded to him by contestee: 

Examined by Lawrence Cain, of counsel for contestee: 
Question. State yonr name, age, and residence.-Answer. D. B. Cot· 

ton; twenty-three years of age; in Edgefield village. 
Q. State, if any, what official position yoo held at the last election.­

A. I was clerk of the board of managers of precinct No.1. 
Q. What time did you get to precinct No.1 on the mornillg of N o'-em­

ber 7th last !-A. About fifteen minutes before 6 in the morrring. 
Q. Where was poll No.1 held !-A. In the coort·house, in the court­

room. 
Q. Did the commissioners of election designate any other place to hold 

box No.1 f-A. Yes; they designated the arch under the court·bouse. 
Q. State tbe reason why it was not held there.-A. On the 7th one· 
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of the ~publican managers asked Mr. Glover, one or the managers, 
was he going to hold the box there. Mr. Glover's reply was that it was 
too cold. He said he was going up in the ('.ourt·house. 

Q. Did Wiley Williams, one of the Republican managers, object to 
its being moved up in the court· house I-A. He <lid object. 

Q. What was tbe condition of tbe court·room "heu that. box was 
moved up there 7-A. There was a dense ring formed around the court· 
110use, and on tbe court·bouse steps was a crowd of red·shirters, armed 
with revoh·ert~. 

Q. What was the size of the crowd inside the court· room I-A. About 
one hundred and fifty in the court·room. 

Q. Were they white or colored U1en I-A. They were white m('\n. 
Q. Were any of thi~ party acting as doorkeepers; and, if they were, 

were the.v appointed by the managers I-A. There was no one appointed 
by the managt.>rs IlS I know of. There was a red·shirter kept at the door 
all day. 

(~. Was this red-shirter a. colored mao or white man T-A. He WIl8 a 
white man. 

Q. How many colored men voted there that day '-A. About twenty­
seven. 

Q. How lDany colore(} Democrats aud Republicans ,"oted thf>re that 
day f-A. Twenty·se\"l~n, altogeter; I clln't tell how many of each party. 

Q. Did not the colored Uepnblican manager contend with the Demo­
crat manager that morning that the names of the colored meo should be 
kept ill the column marked" Volored" and the white ones ill the column 
marked ., White" in the poll.list I-A. They did I Wiley Williams and 
Abram Landrum, Uepublican managers, contended for it, aud T. V. Shep· 
pard said no, he wanted them all put together; ami he had thew [Iut 
that way. 

Examination continued by Vain: 
Q. Did Mr. I. C. Sheppard occupy any official position that day f-A. 

He did not. 
Q. You stated you thollght there were about one hundred and fifty 

men in the court·houtle that dllY. Were there any fire·arms stacked 
there f-A. Yes; auout 10 o'clock I went in the uack room, and found 
three guns in there. 

Q. State wllnt kind of guns were they.-A. One was a d(JUuJe·barrel 
gun, and the other two were single· barrel gUlls. I do not know their 
name~. 

Q. You stated tbat the court-bouse steps were densely crowded, and 
that one of this crowd acted as doorkeeper. 'Yere there, to your knowl· 
edge, any efforts made to prevent Uepublicans from voting tht're T-A. 
There wa~, in the afternoon, tbree Rt'publican voters came there, and 
this insicle sentry said to them tbat no Radical could ,'ote bere. (10 off 
to your own box and vote there. 

Q. Were these tbree men admitted to ,"ote, or did they go back !-A. 
They were not admiUt.>d to ,"ote. 

Q. Can you state any other obstruction thnt was put in the way of 
Republican \"oters that day f-A. Yes. 

Q. Please stat.e those obstructions.-A. 'Vllen the Dl'mocrots com· 
menceu ,"oting in tbe moruing, olle or two of tht.>01 uetaincd time about 
a half hour bilking about the constitutioual amendments, and at the 
time some Republicans came to the door and tried to get in, and this 
inside sentry beld the door-knob Ilnd prc\'ented them. 

Q. You stated that there were guns stackt'd in tbe back rOtHII, nnel 
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that there was a crowd obstructing tbe steps. Did you see any display 
of sbort arms, such as clubs, pistols, aud sucb like, by tbat crowd Y-A. 
About 4 o'clock in the evening about four or five bundred Republican 
voters cnOle there to vote, and one red-shirter got one of the guns and 
rcln out on tbe steps, antI some of them drew their revolvers, but I did 
not see any clubs. 

Q. Did any of this four or five hundred yon mentioned come np anet 
vote f-A. Tbey did not. 

Q. You state tbat this was about 3 or 4, o'clock p. m. Did you see 
any demonstration of that kind in the morning !-A. I did not. 

Q. You stated tbat the court-bouse steps were densely crowded, and 
that the collrt-room had abont one hundred and fifty men in it. Did 
not tbese men vote very rapidly in the morning uutil tbey had all got­
ten through '-A. Tht'y did. 

Q. About what hour ill the day did they get through '-A. They voted 
very rapidly until 1 o'clock. After that they voted three and four at a 
time until 6 in tbe evening. 

Q. Were there not intervals of great length between tbe voting of 
tbe.~ crowds of four and five T-A. Yes. 

Q. Did or did they not almost cease voting about tbis time in the day, 
4, o'clock T-A. TbeS did, from 3 to 4. 

Q. State whether or not the court-bouse steps were taken posse!lsion 
of that et'ening, and political speeches made.-A. Yes; abont 4 o'clock. 

Q. By whom were these spee(:hes made Y-A. General Butler and I. 
C. Sheppard. 

Q. This was done at the time tbe voting was going on in the court­
house !-A. Yes. 

Q. How long did you remain there that et'ening '-A. Until 11 o'clock 
at night. 

Q. Did yon witness the connting of tbe votes '-A. I did. 
Q. State, to the best of your knowledge, how many votes were fonnd 

in the box in favor of George D. Tillman and how many in fa\"or of 
Robert Smalls for Congress_-A. Six hundred for Mr. Tillman and 
about twenty-five for Mr. Smalls. 

Q. As clerk of the board, you assisted in the counting of the votes, 
did you not !-A. I did at thf'l commencement. 

Q. State why you did not cODtlllne until the counting was com­
pleted.-A. Because Messrs. J. M. Cobb, J. O. Sheppard, W. H. Brun­
son, and W. T. Gary, of Augusta, countt'd them in my place. 

Q. Were they apl'ointed by the managers to do so '-A. They were 
not. 

Q. Did either of tbese gentlemen occupy any official position as elec­
tion officers '-A. No; except W. H. Brullson, who was supervisor. 

Q. Were YOll, directly or indirectly, threatened on tbe day of election 
by any of these partiesf-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you not make an attem}>t to come out of the court-bollse that 
day, and was afraid to from an apprehension of dangerf-A. I stated 
to .Mr. Sheppard I wanted to go out, and he said no, 1 should not. 

Cross-examined by George D. Tillman: 
Q. When Mr. Sheppard told you you should not go out, was it in a 

tbreatening way-in an angry tone I-A. He simply said I could not 
go out. 

Q. Was his tone and manner that of anger'-A. I could not say; 
afterwards he langhed. 

Q. Wbere was Mr. Arthur Glover at the time Mr. Sheppard told you 
you could not go out '-A. He was there. 
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Q:- Did not yon tell :\Ir. ArtllUr Glover fr~qnent1y during tbe day 
that you appr~htlDded no danger while you were there with him !-A. 
No, sir. . 

Q. You said that Jaml's Cobb, W. T. Gary, J. C. Sheppard, \Tbo\Tf'fe 
not offic£'rs of the e]ecti01l, yet counted or helpt'd count the \"Otl'8. Did 
any of these parties touch or reud a single ballot;, until one of tbe regul~r 
managl'rs had rl'ad aud counted them t-A. While Mr. Glol'I'r took 
th£'m out of the box Mr. Gar~' assisted in sl'paratillg the split tickt'tll. 

Q. Did any person al'01111d the box excl'pt Mr. Gloyer and Will'Y 
Williams, one of the Uepuhlican managers, take any tick£'ts out of tbe 
box T-A. I do not remember that anyone but Mr. Glover, the Dt!mo· 
cmtic manager, took tht'm out of the box. 

Q. 'Vas tbl're not some split tickl'ts-that is, some Democratic and 
some Ul'}Iublican names on the same tickets1-A. I don't remember 
any on the Hl'puulicHn ticket~, but on some of the Democratic ti(~ketA 
.Mr. !Sheppard's name WIlS rubbed off and the Paris Suukeos 
in its place. 

Q. Wtore not all of thOfm split tick£'ts put in a lIi1e to tbemse]\,t's I.] 
Wile~' Williams and Mr. Glo\"l'r T-A. Y£'s; they wen~. 

Q. Dill tlil'se three gentlenltlD do an~·thing more about connting tbl' 
VOWH thiln just to keep tally '-A. Mr. Brunson and llr. Cobb kel'. billy, 
and Mr. Sheppard amI Mr. Gary called. Atter they got tbrough, lIr. 
Gary made out the returns; filled out the blanks. . 

Q. Did Mr. Sheppard and, )lr. Gary call off any excel)t the spltt 
tickets f-A. Th£'y called oft' all of them. 

Q. Before or after Mr. Glover took them out of the box '-A • .Afttr i 

he had taken them out of the box. I 

Q. Were not all three of the manngers present aU the while that the 
couuting was A'oing on '-A. Yl'8; the.\' wer£'. 

Q. Dill not all the managers agree that these gentlemen shoDld help I 

to count the ,"otes '-A. Not that I know of. 
Q. Dill you heaa' any manager object to any of these gent]('men call· 

oft' the split tickets, or keeping tally, or making out the returns !-.\. 
Yes; Wiley Williams ohjected to it. I 

Q. Did not all the managers and yourself, as clerk, sign those n· 
turus f-A. Yes. 

Q. Did you not all certify that the returns were right aud proper r-
A. I ",imply signed the returns. I 

Q. Did you sign them of your own accord, or (li(l anybody compE'] yon I 

to sign them '-A. I signed them after the managers signed. I belit'l""e 
if I had not signed them I would have bl'l'n compelled to do so. 

Q. Did allJbolly order you to 'quit acting as clerk, or did you Slop I 
when you found you had some one to clo the work for you f-A. After 1 
saw they took possession of the whole matter I stopped. No one <-'OUI 

pelled me to stop. 
Q. Did not yon keep tally till all the votes were counted, and did ~ 

your tally correspond with llr. Oobb'!! f-A. I did not; and my tally did I 
not coa-respond with Mr. Oobb's. 

Q. Whose poll·list was signed, yours or Mr. Oobb's T-A. l'he pon.list 
was not signed at ail. 

Q. 00u1d not yon hear the votes called oot, and did Dot you keep your. 
seat all the time f-A. I heard the vows called out, and afterward II 
went around by Mr. Gary and stood by him ontil the returns were mJIde 
out. 

Q. Then did you not keep tally yourself, or stand over Mr. Gary-I 
see him keep tally till all the votes were counted I-A. I did not tHp 
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tally more than five minutes, and kept my seat till all the votes were 
coolJt('d. 

Q. YOIl said a man with a. rt'd sbirt kept tbe door of the court-house 
that day; who was he f-A. I do not know. 

Q. You saill another man with a red sbirt on took a gun ont of the 
room, and came out on the stt'llS; who was he f-A.. I tl0 not know. 

Q. Where were you born f-A. At Port Gibson, Mississippi. 
Q_ How long have you been Jiving in Bdgt'field f-A. About two 

yl'ars. 
Q_ What State did you CODle from wben you came here I-A. From 

the State of Ohio. 
Q. What office was yon bottling at the time of the elt'ction in this 

coonty f-A. I was not holding any offi('t' at all, t'xcept a cll'rk of el('(!tiou. 
Q. Were you not 110 depnty in the office of Jesse JoneM, clerk of the 

('Oort of comnlon pleas and general sestlious for the county '-A. I was 
dl'Jluty clerk for him. . 

Q. WIIS not Jones beaten for clerk at the last elt'ction, aml11avfl you 
not lost your position thereby '-A. Jones WIIS beahm, but 1 would not 
ha\"e lost my position it· his office had not been usurped. 

Q. Ha,'e YOIl not been readiug hlW preparatory to admission to the 
barf-A. No, sir. 

Q. Yon said the cODlmissiollt'rs of elt'ction ordt'red the box No.1 to 
be held under the arcade entrance to the bast'm~l1t of the court-house. 
What commissioner ordered tbe box to be held there, anel when I-A. 
Jt's...;e Jont's, and Holland, and United States commissioner. 

Q. Is not that entrance to the court· house at the end of a long pas-
88ge, where there is always a draught of wind T-A. Yes, it is 110 mighty 
cool place. 

Q. Has Dot evt'ry election tbat bas ever been held here, been held up 
in tht'court-rootn '-A. I do not know. 

Q. Ho\v many men will the court-room hold t-A. About four or five 
bundred. 

Q. You said tllere waR a hundre<l aud fifty whiteDl('n in the court-roolD. 
Were they not all sitting down on tbe lfencbes qu ietty T-A. They were 
allstandiDg up except four or five; they were lying down 00 the benches 
asleep. 

Q. Did an hundred and fifty white men stay iu the court-room all the 
wbile duriDK the election '-A. No sir; after they vote(l they w('nt out. 

Q. Name allY hour of the day when there was a hundred anel fifty 
whitt! ml'n in that room '-A. At six o'clock in the morning. 

Q. How many were in tbe court-room at seven o'clock in the morn­
ing I-A. I do not know; they commenced voting at six and weut out 
a8 they voted. 

Q. At how many different times during the day diel you obser,"e as 
IDaDyas one hundred and lifty men in that court-room-I melll) white 
meDt-A. At six o'clock ill the morning. 

Q. How many Republican votes were cast at that box T--A. About 
twenty-five. 

Q, If the red-sbirt doorkeeper would not let Republicans enter, how 
came twenty-five to vote tbere. 

(Objected to by L. Cane, attoropy of contestee.) 
A. I do not know 1. but I saw three that were told to go to the other 

box; that no damn &dicals could vote here. 
Q. Don't you know the fact that Mr. Glov(,f, the Democatic manager, 

~bt mells(,lIgers to tell the Republican ,'o(;('rs on the public fquare, aud 
to box No.2, to come up aDd ,-ote; and don't you know the nam6S of 
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some who were sellt f-A. I never henrd Mr. Glover selld anr messeD' 
ger!l. If there wt>re any messages sent, I do not know it. 

Q. Don't you know the fact that tbe United States marshal, with t\\"o 
or tbree soldiers, came up and asked, if they wanted anyone to keep order 
or to protect anyone in the right to vute '-A. I know the Ullitt'd Statt's 
marshal, llr. Baty, came up and brought two or three men; tht'y,"otM 
and wt>n t out. If there were any soldiers there, I did not see them j none 
inside the cuurt·house. 

Q. How far is it from box No.1 to the Sal.udy hotel, where the 801· 
c1iers were then qUl\l'tered and are now quartered '-A. About ODe hun· 
dred .vards. 

Q. You said that white men crow(Jed arouud and on the court· 
house sh'ps, and that Butler and Sheppard made speeches; ('ould any 
one pass up or down, iu and out of the court·room that wanted to f­
A. No j no one coulll pass in or out; coulll not get in fifteen feet of 
the house for horselJlen and footmen. 

Q. Oau't a man walk through a crowd 7-A. No oDe could walk 
through that crowd without walking O\'er them. 

Q. Was not Sheppart! and Butler called on for speeches late in the 
evening, becanse the voting was all over and the crowd had nothing f'll5tl 
to do T-A. I do not know j bnt while the speaking was going 00 I 
walked to the window and saw four or five hundred Republican "oters 
ill front of the Salndy hotel. 

Q. By the Saludy hotel, (10 you mean where the United States sol· 
diers wt're quartered T-A. At that time the United States soldiers were 
etationed there. 

Q. What were the four or five hundred Republican votf'rs standing 
about the Saludy hotel for t-A. Waiting patiently to see whether they 
could get to vote at box No.1 or not. 

Q. Dow do you know but that those Republicnu voters hacl already 
votet! Itt box No.2 T-A. I know that if they had voted at box No.2 
Oolonel Oain would not have brought them there to \"ote. 

Q. Who was Colonel Ollin, and what is he doing now t-A. Lawrence 
Cain; here as counst'l for Gener161 Smalls. 

Q. Was he county chairman for the Republican party at the last can­
vaHK '-A. He W8S. 

Q. He carried those Republican voters to tbe Saludy house to get 
United StateR Army officers aud soldiers to aiel him iu hs\"ing thOl56 
\"oters cuter the court·house and bave them to vote at box No.1, did 
he not' 

(Objectell to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. I do not know. 
Q. Did or 1I0t an Army officer or United States mar8hal take some of 

those Rt>publican voters who were at the Sahuly house and carry them 
up into the court·house to see that they should vote, when it WIIS proven 
t1lat tht'y had already voted at box No.2 '-A. If the officer made auy 
attempt to bring them there, he ue,'er brought them in the court·hoose. 
As far as proving that any who voted at box No.2, thl'Y ne\'er IIroveU it 
in the court· house. 

Q. Did not you bear some Democrats cbarge some RepUblicans with 
trying to vote a second time, and those Republicans dhl 1I0t cleny it, al· 
though they were in the act of "oting, and withdrew without voting, 
and had not Ito Unittd States marshal carried them up there t-A. Ire­
membt>r that a crowd followed one Press Baxley up there and cbarged 
him, \\ ith baving \"oted at box No.2. I asked him had he "oted at box 
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No.2. He said :1 No;" tlley wonld not let him vote tllert'. He was a 
one·armed man. Did not see tile United States marshal bring him there. 

Q. Don't you rememher t.hat when those men were standing around 
the Saludy bouse that Mr. William Penn cballenged lIome two or tlil'e6 
Rt>publican voters 011 the. ground that they had already voted, and they 
did not cleny it, and witbdnHv without voting f-A. I remember that 
William Penn was one who came with Baxley and ohjected to bis vot­
ing. There was no men around the Salndy house at that time. 

Q. Did Baxley vote at box No.1; amI, if not, did be decline on Ilis 
own accord, or did the managers prevent him T-A. Baxley did not vote. 
I don't remember the managers saying anJthing, hut tbe crowd said be 
should not vote. They said that he had voted at box No.2. Some 
said, "Pitch bim down the steps." 

Q. If there was any obstruction or intimidation against colored Repub­
licans voting at box No.1, why di(} not the troops interfere, just as they 
interrered at box No.2, to prevent alleged intimidation of colored Re­
pUblicans !-A. I do not know why soldiers were not ordered to hox 
No.1. . 

Q. Were there not, several times during tIle day, not more than fifteen 
white men around the box No.1 in tbe court·bouse f-A. I do not remem­
ber. They voted rapidly till tbe afternoon. About tben twenty voted, 
and one or two went out, and, after the others got through, tbese two 
came hack and voted again. 

Q. Wbat were tbe names of those two men who repeated '-A. I don't 
know tbeir names, but recognize their faces. It took one of them one or 
two mingtes to think of his name. 

Q. You do not rememl>er the names of eitller of tbese two men '-A. 
No, sir. 

Q. Did they vote the RepllblicRn or Democratic ticket !-A. They 
voted the Democrat ticket. Mr. Sheppard hRnded them these tickets. 

Q. How could you see what Mr. Sheppard did and then write as clerk, 
and men voting rapidly'-A. Mr. Sheppard WIlS writing on the same 
desk that I was, on the tickets, "Constitutional amendment-~o." 

Q. How many of the voters that \"oted there that day do you know f­
A. I don't know. All that I know live around the village. 

Q. Can you namA any of the twenty voters in the afternoon among 
whom were those two repeaters Y-A. No. 

Q. As yon are acqnainted with so few people in Ec1gefield, and have 
been here so short a time, do you tbink yourself a fit person to be a clerk 
or manager of the court· house precinct of so large a county as Ellge­
field I-A. I do. 

Q. Yon spoke of Mr. Cobb keeping tally and helping count the ,·otes 
in the evening. Was he not regularly sworn in as one of tile clerks of 
the election hy the Democratic supervisor T-A. No; if be was, be was 
Dot sworn in there. 

Q. Did not Mr. Cobb keep a poll· list and tally-sheet as well as your­
selfT-A. Yes; he kept a poll-list of his own. 

Q. Was not Mr. W. H. Brunson the Democratic supervisor wllo helped 
to count the ,'otes at that precinct T-A. He was. 

Q. How many ballots were in the box more than names on the poll­
list t-A. Fh'e or six. 

Q. Were tbey not all Democratic ballots, and were they not 1111 de­
stroyt'd, witbout putting the Republican ·tickets and Democratic ticl.ets 
all back in the box and sbaking tbem up, as rt'quired by law, and drawing 
out tbe surplns tickets to be destro~'ed T-A. 1 do not remember wllether 
they were l,nt in the box. They were destroyed. 
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Redirect: 
Q. Yon stated you signed the returns of the election at box No.1 be· 

cause YOll believed yon won III have been compelled had you refused; 
was not there" crowd hanging aroullrl the court·hollse, so late at uight 
as ten or eleven o'clock T-A. Yes; there was about forty. All the work 
I did through the day waM under (iurCSll. 

Q. Somel hing was said by the counsel fur contestant about yoor certi· 
fying as to the correctness of the retul'us; are not those words printt!d 
011 the returns, "I certify that the above is correct r'-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Are you sure that you w{'re acting as clerk for Mr. Jones on the 
7th of November lastY-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You stated tbat l\fr. Jont>s was heat en at the last election; \vIlS he 
a candidate for the office of clerk; and if not, why not T-A. lie was 
not a candidate; he held the office for four years from the unexpired 
term of l\'[r. Rllmstly. 

Q. Can you state whether he holds acoUlmission from Governor Cham· 
berlain which {'ntitles him to hold his offiee until his successor is elected 
and qualified in st'\'t!uty'eight f-A. Yes, sir. . 

Q. At what election was Mr. JOlles elecled clerk of the conrt f-A. 
In seventy·four. 

Q. You stal{'rl that Baxley was followed by a crowd, and when objected 
to did not vote; was not this crowl1 acting in rather a threatt-ning atti· 
tude f-A. Yes; they were cursing. 

Q. Do you not bl'lieve that their 1Il0de of threatening was calculllted 
to frighten and intimidato almost any voter from the polls t-A. Yes, 
by tbA way th{'y conducted themselves. 

Q. III wbat way did they conduct themselves !-A. By swearing and 
yelling. 

Q. 'Vere not white Democrats obj(~cwd to by the Republican managers 
011 the ground that they had voted there that day 1-A. Yes; tht>y were 
objected to by the two Uepllblicau managers. 

(Ohjected to by counsel for contestant.) 
Q. State why they said they knew these men.-A. They said they 

recognized tht'ir faces. 
Q. Did tbt'y vote notwithstanding tbat objection' 
(Objected to 8S new matter.) 
A. They did. 
Q. Do you not know the faces of se,·eral pe1'sons who Iin~ in the ,oil· 

lage Hud the vicinity whose names you do lIot know; thtlir faces are 
familiar to you f1'om the fact that they came to office of clerk of court 
when you were clerk f-A. Yes. 

D. ll. COTTES. 

Sworn to before me this the 20th day of March, 1871. 
lSEAL,] O. S. B. :&IARSH, 

Intt'1lda.t. 

In the matter of the contest of Geoorge D. Tillman again~t Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congrelis of the U uited ~tates. 

JESSE .TONES, It witness of It'gil1 agt', prorluct'd by contestef." npon dne 
notice to contl'stant, deposes as follows in reference to qnestions pro­
})Ounded by attorn{'y for conwstee : 

Qne~tion. Where do yon reside anll what is yonr age~-Alls\\"er. Edge· 
fleld Court· House ; bl'tw(,t'n twenty flll1l' and Ih'c ~'l'/tr8 old. 

Q. 'Vere yon an election officei' on ~o"elllbel' last !-A. I was. 
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Q. What position did you bolel '-A. Commissioner of election. 
Q. State th~ names of the othpr commissionel's associated with yon.­

A, George Hul1all(l alltl D. R. DlIrisoe. 
Q. Ditl the commissioners gh'e noticll of the election pre"ious to the 

7th of Yovember '-A. Yes, sir. 
'Q. State through what medium that notice was gi\"en.-A. Througb 

tbe E.lgt'fit'ld Advertist'r. 
Q. State wh~ther or not, through that notice. the court-room of the 

conrt·honse wa~ designaed as the place for holding tbe poll,.box No. 
I.-A. No. . 

Q, Yon know that the box Yo. 1 has previously been heltl in the court­
room. Wby was it that the arch under the conrt·house was designated 
for the plection in 1876 '-A. I do lIot know that the box was pre\'iol1sly 
beld in the court·room. Bt>cause I hall cha.rge of the furniture in court­
room, and becl\use it WI\S previously agreed Ul)OO to hold the electIOn 
iu the archway under the court-house. 

Q, By ,,,hom ,vas it agl'eed upon T-A. It was agrt'e(l upon by the 
commissioners of election and the United States commissioner, who tmg­
g~sted thllt it ought to be pillced there so as the voters could pass 
through as they \·ot~d. 

Q. Was not the treasurer's office in the Rsan Hotel designated in that 
notice as the place for h"ltling twx: No.2 I-A. It was. 

Q. State, then, why it was that box No.2 was changedlto lIacedonia 
I!Cbool·hollse.-A. We were iuforlD(~d by the chairman of the boarci of 
commissioners of election tbat she (Mrs. Ryan) would 1I0t allow the box 
to be belel in the treasl1rer'~ office. 

Q. I~ MI"!'. u.yan the reputed owner of the house where the treasurer's 
offit~e is '-A. She is. 

Q. Wben the chairman of the hoard of commissioners informpd ,Yon 
that )Irs. Ryan would 1I0t agree to the box being heltlat the trel\~nrer's 
office, did he agree that you should select another place t-A. He did. 

Q. Dill he snggt'st any other place T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Wbat place did he suggest !-A. George 110111\1111'8 house as oue 

of the plact's. 
Q. Did any of the other two commissioners agree with bim as to that 

place T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Failing to select that place, dill he sl1ggest any other place f-A. • 

Yes, sir. • 
Q. St.ate what place.-A. Martin Griffin's bal·ber.shop. 
Q. Did any of the other two commissioners agree with him as to that 

placeT-A. No, sir. -
Q. Do yon consider either one of those places suitable for holding 

an .. l('ctioll I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Ho\\' many of the commissioners agreed to a change of the box 

from the tn.·asUl'er's office, after finding they could 1I0t hold it there, to 
llac('tlonia school-bouse T-A. All. 

Q. Please give the ullme of the chairma.n of your boa.rd of cOllllDis­
siolll'rs !-A. D. R. Durisoe. 

Q. Is lIr. Durisoe a Republican or a Democrat !-A. Democrat, 
straight·out. 

Q. T:-'en I ull{lerstand you to sa~' that the chauge was made by a 
unanimons vote of the board t-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Slate whether or lIot ~'ou were present at Edgefield Court·Hol1se 
on the dlly of the elt'ction.-A. I WI\S. 

Q. Stllte whether or 110t yon saw any armed men on the stl'eet or 
around the polliug.placell 011 that day T-A. I tIid. 
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Q. Were tbey wbite or colored mE'n '-A. White. 
Q. What was the deportment of tbese armed men you speak of !-A. 

They were cursing, swearing, pistols drawn, swearing that no damn 
Chamberlain man I!hould vote. 

Q. Dill YOll vote on tbe day of election T-A. No, sir; I did not, for I 

fear if I went in my life would be taken. . 
Q. Did you make an E'Wort to ,"ote at box No.1; if 80, what pre\'ented 

yon !-A. I made an efiort, and was told if I did I would be killed. 
Q. Were there any other parties witb you when you tried to \'ote'­

A. Yf's. 
Q. Wl're they trying to vote too T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. About how mllllY Olen were witb you when you made the trial'- I 

A. About tbree hundred. I 

Q. Do you know whether this crowd voted or not that day T-A. Tbfy 
did not. 

Q. Stilte. if you can, some of tbe namf'S of tbis party wbo Wf'l'l' with 
rou.-A. George Holland, I believ .. , was one; Wash. COllnf'r, I thill\;, 
waH another; CharleH Outz, I think, was anotber; great many more I 
can't think of right now. 

Q. State in wbat way JOll and this crowd were lll'eVf'llted from reach· I 

ing box No.1 to ,,"ote.-A. By armed mell who blockaded the way, and I 

~aid if we attE'mpted to \'ote they would l\ill us. 
Q. Were tlVlSe men on horses, or were they dismounted T-A. Soml' 

011 horses anfi some on foot. 
(1. WE're thE'S white or colored men T-A. White men. 
Q. You say that tiJere were about three hundrffi men with you. Were 

thf'Y Democrats or RepublicalU~, white or black T-A. IWpublicaus: 
bhwk. I 

Q. As commil!sion<:r of f.'lection, were not all 01' most all of the county· 
boxes delivered to you hy the OlanagE'rl! T-A.. No, sir. 

Q. To whpm were they delivered f-A. I found them in possession of 
Mr. Duriso4.'. 

Q. Did or did not the commissioners of election examine the returns as 
made by tbe managers T-A. In no sinA'le instance did thf.'Y e'l8min~ 
them; that is, they never counted tbe ballots o\'er, but dit! examine tht 
retll1'llS so as to IlgA'regate them. 

Q. State, Mr. Jones, bow many managers signed tbe retnru8 from 
Holtf.'WRnger's store.-A. One, I think, sir. . 

Q. How Ulany of the managers signed the returns from Curry ton !­
A. I think two. 

Q. Do JOU consider the election behI in Edgefield last a fair election !­
A. I do 1I0t. 

Q. State, then, why it is that YOIl signed the returns as being correc' 
tbat were forwarded to the Sf'cretary of state.-A. I believed I 1I'01lltl 
have bf'E'D munlered bad I re1'u84.'d. 

Q. Wby did you apprebf.'l1(l danger t-A. Threats, sir. 
Q. State wbethf.'r or not there were crowds of white men at Edgpfieltl 

Yillnge for fOllr or fh'e days after the electioll.-A.. Yes, sir. 

Cross·examined by George D. Tillman: 

Q. You say the com mi~sioof.'rs of election ordered box No.1 to be hl'!J 
at the arcade entrHnce to the basemE'nt to the court·house; wb:tt l"Om· 
missioner T-A. All thrf.'e of the commiNsioners. 

(~. When did tIlt'y agree to do so T -A. Previous to tbe eleetioll. 
Q. flow long before the election t-A. I think it was meutioued aboot 

a week before. 
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Q. Mentioned by wbom, when, and how'-A. I think it was bronght 
up tbe day when we were speaking of moving box No.2. I suggested; 
Mr. Durisoe and Mr. HoJland agreed to it. I think it occurred in the 
clerk's office. 

Q. Did you determine to make that cbang~, and agree in writing or 
verbally'-A. I tllink it is in the minutes of the board. 

Q. In how many different issues of the county paper, the Edgefield 
Ad,'ertiser, did the notice of the commissioners ordering the election 
appear b ... fore the election came ofl"-A. I am not able to say, as the 
paper is a weekly paper. 

Q. Did not that notice appear at least twice in the Advertiser before 
the election t-A. Do not think so. 

Q. Did not the notice to voters, al:l publisbed in the newspaper, des­
ignate the places where box No.1 and box No.2 at Edgefit'ld Court­
Honse should respectively be held '-A. It designated Eugefield Court­
HouSf', box No.1, and box No.2 at treasurer's office. 

Q. 'Vas that advertisement in the paper ever changed, so as to inform 
vott'rs that box No.1 was not to be held in the court, room, and that 
box No.2 was not to be held in the county treasurer's office '-A. It 
neyer was advt'rtised that box No.1 shoulu be helu in the conrt-room, 
but at the court house at Edgefield, box No.2. Notice was given of 
tbecbange. 

Q. What sort of notice was given of the cbange of place for holding 
box No. ~ '-A. Postal notice. 

Q. W hat sort of postal notice '-A. Posted by commissioners of elec· 
tion. 

Q. Where was this notice posted, and in how many places '-A. At 
Edgefield Court-House, in one place, day before the election. 

Q. What time in the day '-A. In the forenoou, I think. 
Q. Did 1\Ir. Durisoe, the Democratic commissioner, sign that notice; 

and, if not, why not '-A. He did not sign it. After agreeing that it 
should go up to the school-house he changp.d his mind and would not 
sign the notice. 

Q. Did not yourselfand the other commissioner of election agree with 
Mr. Durisoe to postpone determining the place where box No.2 should 
be held nntil 4 o'clock p. m. of the uay previous to the election '-A. 
Don't think so. 

Q. You said the original notice of the election was not published but 
once in tbe newspaper, to the best of ~'our recolleetion ; do you 110t dis· 
tincrly remember that it was also published in hand-bill forUl Ilud stuck 
up in uill'erent places !-A. I do not. I thiuk one or two hand·bills were 
struck off for the use of the commissioners for reference to the mana· 
gers. 

Q. Was t11e change of places for holding boxes No.1 and 2 for Edge­
field Court·House made in that hand-bill notice T-A. I think it was a 
verbatim statement from the advel·tisement in the newspaper. 

Q. Is not the arcade entrauce to the basement of the court·house a 
ver~· bad place, very cold and dark in bad weatlier Y-A. I dou't thin k so. 

Q. Is it not a 101lg, 1Iartow, and unlighted hall between the public 
offices T-A. Not more so than the court-room up stairs. 

Q. How wide is the court· room u1' stairs t-A. I am not prepared to 
say bow wide. 

Q. IK it forty feet '-I never measored it. I can't tell. 
Q. Is it thirty feet Y-A. Same answer as above. 
Q. Is it twenty feet '-A. Can't tell; I never measured; I don't kuow 

that it is ten teet or 1h'e 1eet. I neyer measured it. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



266 TILLMAN VB. B1ULLS. 

Q. Is not the court·room op stairs tbe whole width of the b1lilding!­
A. 1 SUPI)08e so. 

Q. 18 not the basempnt story dividecl by the clerk's office on ooe side, 
the shet'i ft's office on t bl~ OIlPosi te side, and the arca.de eu tri\uce ball, whpre 
tbe elf'ctioll was to be beld, llet\v~n tholte two public offices !-A. It is. 

Q. How wany windows to the court· room up-stail'8 '-A.. There oa 
eacb side. 

Q. fIow many window8 to th8t passage· way down·stairs t-A. :So 
windows; jUHt Il door at each end. 

Q. You said the United States commissioner advised yon to hold the 
electioll down in the basement hall; what was his name f-A. Wrigbt 
is his name. 

Q. What business did he ha\"e here, and what did he ha.ve to ,to with 
tile election !-A. There were some colored mell murdered op the country. 
and 1 think he was sent bere to investigate the matter. 

Q. Did he also investigate the best place for hohling the election !­
A. No. !lir. We aske(} his advice in reference to the matter. 

Q. Did he likewise advise you to change the box. No.2 from the trea· 
suret-'s office to Macedonia school·house '-~o, sir. 

Q. Who asked his advice about what part of tbe coort·boose building· 
in ,vbich box No.1 should be held t-A. 1 did. 

Q. Why did you ask him !-A. I thought he was experienced in such 
matters. 

Q. Did the other commissioners ask his advice also f-.1.. I think ~Ir. 
Holland did. too. 

Q. Wbo first sogge~teel Macedonia school·boose as a proper place to . 
wbich to remove box No.2 Y-A. After Mr. Dnri80e asked to bave it ear­
ried to Mr. Holland's private c1welling, 1 suggested it. 

Q. Whc>never a general (>lel!tioll has been hehlultywhere in thf' coort­
house building bas it not always been held in the coort·room '-A.. :Sot 
to my knowledge. 

Q. In what part of tbe court·bouse was the election held in 18U '-A. 
don't know; I was not tbere. 

Q. In what part of the bnilding was it held in 1872 I-A. I don't tbiok 
it was held there at all in 1872. -

Q. Was not the room at tbe Ryan hotel, where the treasorer'" antI 
auditor'li offices were kept at the time of the election, rented by tbe 
county commiRSioners for public use f-A.. 1 don't know. 

Q. Did Durisoe, th~ Democratic commissioner of election, agree to tbe 
removal of box No.2 to the school·hou86 !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. When did he agree to it Y-A. I tbink it was a day or two before 
the election. 

Q. Di(l not Durisoe want the two boxes to be helel as near to t'a:h 
other as he could convenieut.ly t-A. He did agree to the box being 
taken to the scbool·holHw, and after he changed his mind he wanted tbe 
boxes held as near togetht'r as he coulcl get them. 

Q. Yuu said you saw arms about the polls; at what OOX was tbl't!­
A. At box No.1, in the court·house. 

Q. WIlt'II, at what hour or bours in tbe day t-A. I saw from (; o'clock 
a. m. till 6 p. m. 011 November 7th. 

Q. 'Vhat kind of arms T-A. Some Remington rifles, 8ixteen-8hoote~, 
and some with three or four pistols. 

Q. How mlllly of eacb kind of rifles did you see; how many io all t­
A. About six in all that were strapped 011 tbeir backs. 

Q. Can you gi\"e us the names o,f some of those six men !-A. No, sir. 
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Q. HO\v many men did you see with pistols that da.y f-A. I don't 
think I saw one without olle. 

Q. Did you see allY colored men with gUlls or pistols that dill' !-A. 
I !laW nOlle with gllUIi; I saw one or two with pistols. 

Q. Give the names of some of the white men you saw that day with 
pistols.-A. If the court call give me assurance tbat my life \vill be pro· 
tected in the court·room and outside, I will give some of the names. 

Q. You state that some of the white meu that day had drawlI pistols. 
Will you name one of those mell !-A. I shall ask the court to eXCUS6 
rut! (rom answering the question on the same ground as betore. 

Q. You statell tbat some of the white IDt'n said there tbat day that 
no darun Chamberlain man should vote. Will you name some of the 
white men who saill that !-A. I beg the court again to excuse me froUl 
spl'Ci(,"ing names. 

Q. You 880id )"on tried to vote at box No.1, but were pre\"ented. Who 
p~\"ented ~ou I-A.. I ask the court again to excuse me from answering 
rbat question, as be was among one of the first men in the county. 

Q. You ~aid that you were told that day if you voted you would be 
killed. Who tolll you so !-A. Beg the court again to excuse me. 

Q. Wbere were you all of the 7th of November, when t~e election 
occurred f-A. Finlt at box No.1 and box No.2. 

Q. At which box did you spend the most of the day f-A. At box 
No.1. 

Q. Did you go inside of thecourt·room tbat dayt-A. I could not get in. 
I dill not go in. 

Q. What time of tbe day did yon 'try to vote at box No.1 f-A. At 
6 o'clock a. m., and tried from six till ten, and went to the other box, 
No.2. 

Q. Did rou try to vote at box No.2; if so, how often, and wbf'n T­
A. I got as fal' as the window, and heard Mr. O. Sheppard Rsking all 
~rt8 of questions of \"oters, and I got tired waiting and came back to 
box No.1. 

Q. Did you try to vote again at either of the boxes; Rnd, if so, when 
and how olwn f-A. After 1 came back to box No.1, I tried again. I 
was prevented by the same process from voting. 

Q. Did yon apply to the United Slates mar8hat or United States om· 
C('r to prott'ct YOII in your right to vote !-A. I did before I left box No. 
1. I applied t,o the marshal. 

Q. Wby did yon not vote then f Was it not because there were so 
mnny t'olers standing ahead of you waiting to vote f-A. It was because 
Ibt're were so many men stancling on the swps who bad already voted 
and stood on th~ steps to prevent otbers from voting. 

Q. How t10 you kllow that tbt'y bad already voted, as you stated you 
ne,'er went up in tbe court·bouse that day f-A. I saw them go in tbe 
COllrt·room and go out, Rud stand on the steps. 

Q. Could not the marshal or a United States officer have carried yon 
up if other voters bad not have been ahead of ~·ou waiting to cast tbeir 
ballots T-A. I suppof!le so, but I don't believe tbey were waiting to vote. 

At1journed to Thursday, March the 22d. 
Q. Could yon see up in tbe court. room from the ground where you 

\I'~re standibg f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was it not a rainy, cloudy, windy cold day!-A. It was ill the 

early portion of the day, rainy 8m1 cloudy, not windy. 
Q. Were tbe sash in these windows of the court."house up or (1own.­

A. I do not reruemuer. 
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Q. Was tbe door of tbe court-bouse open '-A. It was open wben I 
saw it. • 

Q. On which side of the court·house building were you standing 80 

tbat you could see up into the building aDd ascertain wbo bad voted and 
who had not voted I-A. In front of tbe buildin". 

Q. Are there any windows to tbe court· room on tbe frout side of tbe 
building '-A. There are side·lights to the door. 

Q. Witb sasb and !llass '-A. Th('lY had glass lights. 
Q. If there was a big crowd in front of tbe court·room and yon could 

see to the back side of the court· room to where tbe voting was going 00. 

how far were you from the court-bouse door '-A. Can't say bow maoy 
yards. 

Q. About bow many yards !-A. About tbirty or forty, may be fifty 
yards. 

Q. "\Yas not tbere a large crowd on the steps, in tbe court·room, and 
about t.he front of the court·house, especially iu the portico eut.rance a.~ 
a general thing all day!-A. The court·bouse steps and the portico was 
completely blocked all day, or most of tbe day. 

Q. Then how could ~'ou see through tbat crowd, as you were on the 
front side of the buililing, 80 as to ascertain who hnd and W 0 batt Dot 
voted !-A. One a sufficient distance froUl the court-house can see alwObt 
every thing going on in the court·room. 

Q. You could see the crowd moving about, but could you identify .'hat 
any particular person was doing '-A. I could see parties go inl'hle the 
court· room and come back to the, door and stand on the l)Ortico pur· 
posely to prevent parties coming )Jp. 

Q. You mention that a largp, number of Republicans as well as your· 
self were kellt from voting tbat (lay by intimidation. How do you kooW' 
but what those Rppuhlicans had previously voted or voted after tbe time! 
that you were witb them !-A. They had not voted, and I know they did 
not vote afterwards. 

Q. How do you know it' Were you with the same crowd of Repub­
lican looters all day, and did you keep your eye 011 evety lOao of tht'm 
to see what they did throughout the day 1-A. They wel'e witb me all 
day; if they had have voted I would have known it. 

Q. How many were witb yon 7-A. I think there were about two 
hundred. 

Q. Give us the Dames of as many of those intimidated Yott'rs who ""('ft 
with you all day as you can rernem ber T-A. Oharles Ontz, George HoI· 
laud, Wash. Conner. I ha\"e a long list of tbem, but cannot remember 
any more now. 

Q. Wbat length of time did yon spend that day at box No.2 !-A. I 
am not prepared to say exactly how long. 

Q. Htate about how long l-A. Perhaps an bonr, or it might hare 
been a half bour; can't state exactly. 

Q. Waat time of the day did you go to the scbool·house or box ";0. 2! 
-A. It migbt have been after ten or a little before. 

Q. Did yon go around by the public road or through tbf! fieMs and 
lots T-A. Went rouod by the pnbJic road off and 00 all day-returned 
uotillate in the afternoon, wben I wlls at school·bouse box, and m5/1tlC 
and lIr. Holland came back througli' tbe fields and lots. We left then! 
about the time the polls closed. ' 

Q. How many tim(ls through the day did yon go from boJ: No. 1 up 
t.o box No.2 J-A. It might have been four or five times or six or sel'eJI 
times. 
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Q. Who went with you the drst time you went up '-This crowd of 
men that I spoke of. 

Q. Do you mean the two hundred men '-A. Yes; there might have 
been more or ]e~s; I don't spt'ak accurately. 

Q. Did a hundrt'd and fifry of these intimidated voters go with you 
that time f-A. These same men that I spoke of; I am not accurate as 
to the number. 

Q. Did one hundred men go witb you the first time '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Give 11S as many of their names as you can '-A. I had a list of 

those parties. I have givt'u the names of some two or three, but I dou'li 
remembt'r the names of any others now. 

Q. How ]on~ did you and they remain at box No.2 before you came 
back to box No.1 f-A. It might have been an hour, a half hour, or 
three-quarters of an hour. I am not accurate. 

Q. Did two hundred come back with you to box No.1 t-A. I think 
so. 

Q. Dill YOIl count them t-A. No. 
Q. You said you ball a list of U,epublican voters who were prevented 

from \"oting that day by intimidation. WlIen did you make out that 
list T-A. I d"n't remember exactly what day. 

Q. Name the day ou which you made out that list as near as you can I 
-A. A day or two after the election. 

Q. For what purpose did you make out tbat list '-A. For tbe benefit 
of tbe State board of canvassers 

Q. Who helpt'd you to make out that list I-A. Judge Boney. 
Q. Did anyone else help you t-A. Oolin Oane, l' think. 
Q. Ditl no olle else but yon, then, belp to make out the list t-A. I 

am not prepared to say; there might have been more. 
Q. Who called out the names that went on that list t-A. I answer 

the parties would com" up and give their names. 
Q. Were you acquaintt'd on tbe day ot election with balf the lDen 

whose names wel'e on that list I-A. I could anRwer that question if I 
had the Jist before me; not ha\'ing it, cannot answer it now. 

Q. You said the way to box No.1 was blocked up by white men; give 
us the names of ~ome of those wbite mell.-A. I beg the court to excutle 
me from giving the names. . 

Q. Did.you try to pass througb the crowd to \'ote at box No.1 I-A. 
Yl'S, sir. , 

Q. If you were pusbed back from voting, \vbo pusbed you back !-A. 
I was told that if I :lnll tl1at crowd who were with me made further at· 
tempt to \"ote at box No.1, God damn us, we would be killed. We were 
told furtht'r, that that box no damn nigger sbouhl vote at it; that it 
was for the white people ,'oting, and in reply tothequestion I said I know 
of no law that required boxes to be specially assigned for white mtln to 
vote, and that I would attempt to vote; the reply to me was, we can 
damned easy kill you. I made further attempts to ,'ott', WiJt'1I the men 
were ordered to dismount aud defend themselves-the wbite men 1 mean. 

Q. 'Yho ordered the white men todismount alld detend themselves t­
A. With great respect, I again ask the court to excuse me. 

Q. Who told you they could da'!lned easily kill you f-A. I beg the 
court to excuse me. 

Q. Who prevented yon and yonr crowd from voting up at box No.2!­
A. As I wtmt to box No.2, the Democrat supervisor there would alilk 
from twenty to thirty 801111 forty questions before olle voter could vote, 
aud I saw very little chance; hence I returned to box No. 1. 
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Q. Where did you eat dinner that day I-A. Did not eat a mouthful 
that da~'-dillner, breakfast, or supper. 

Q. Wby did you not eat that (lay; were you sick I-A. I don't kuow 
that I wa,; sick; fraud and intimidation of the Democrats tilled me up. 

Q. Did you not s}ll'nd a part of that day at home I-A. I did not. 
Q. Did you not spend a part of that day in the bouse of somebody 

else '-A. I did not. I went to the door of Mr. Hards and came right 
out again, right on the street, on the road between box No.1 and No. ~. 

Q. Did you apply to any marshal, Army officer, manager of dectioll, 
or supervisor to protect you in your rights to vote that day I-A. I al)' 
plied to the marshal. 

Q. At wbat precinct, and what hour of the day I-A. Court houst', 
box No.!' I don't remember the hour, somewhere about 9 or 10 o'clock 
B.m. 

Q. Did he refuse to protect you I-A. No. 
Q. Then did yon not fail to vote because there were so many other 

,"oters waiting ahead of yon at the time I-A. I failed to vote, not be­
cause \"otl'rs were waiting to \"ote, but they were there to block the way 
to kl'ep me frolll voting. 

Q. Wt'I'e tbere 1I0t seven companies of United States ll'oops in Edge, 
field County on the day of election I And conld not, and would not 
those troops ha\"e protected you if you had asked it I-A. I can't sllenk 
as to the number of companies in the count.y. As to my asking the 
troop~, I knew of no law requiring me to ask them to protect me. I wa.'I 
undel' tho imprl'ssion it waR the duty of marsbal, therdol'c I did not deem 
it my dllty to ask tlie officers fOl' protection. 

Q. Did not tbe marshal spend nearly all bis time that day up at box 
No.2, and did be not lea\"e Army officers to represent bim at box No.1 
in his au~ence Y-A. I don't know that be did detail Army officerlt to 
repres~nt bim at box No.1, and think he did spend most of hid time at 
box No.2. 

Q. Have you not been clerk of tbe court of Edgefield County, and 
tberefore are you not pretty well acquainted with the names and faces 
ot' the wbite voters of the county I-A. I nm still clerk of tbe court of 
Edgt'fi~ld County. I was elected in 1874, and the term of the office is 
for four years. I all) pretty well acquainted with tbe namell and faces 
of our wbite \'oters. 

Q. Were you not elected to fill an unexpire(l term of the clerk I-A. 
The sn(lreme court has decided that Lhat term was no unexpired term . 

. Q. Was not Mr. O. F. Oheatham elected clerk at the last election by 
tbe Democratic party I-A. Am not aware tbat Mr. Cheatbam was 
elected or tbere was no, election ordered, but he was voted for, and duro 
ing my absence took posst'ssion of tbe office, and now holds it. 

Q. Is be not recognized as de facto clerk of the court by Judge R. B. 
Carpenter, of tbis circuit, and by the other officers of the county and by 
the people genl'rally I-A. I answer he is not. 

Q. Has not Judge Oarpenter held court here three days this week, 
and has any other person but O. F. Cheatbam acted as clerk of tbe 
court '-A. I answer upon the express agreement of counsel in ch·iJ 
cases, he has. 

Redirect by Lawrence Cain: 
Q. You stll~d that the court·honse (Ioor was opened. When you saw 

it, bow long did you look at it as beiug o)len I-A. A short while. 
Q. How ot'ten dnring the day did you Ree it so wide open as yoU 

eXl)ressed in your cross-exllmination '-A. Once or twice. 
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Q! Yoo 8ay l\fr. O. F, Chf:>atham took possession of your office during 
your absence; in what way did he take possession of it 1\8 told to you by 
your deputy! 

(Objected to a8 bearsay and irrelevant.) 
A. I wa. .. informe(l hy my deputy' that Mr. O. F. Chf:>atham came into 

tbeoffice and told bim, Bill, I like you Vf:>ry well, and don't care to have 
allY fuss with you, but I demand po~session. He told Mr. Cheatham in 
reply, please to wait until I came bOUIe, as be bad 110 rigbt to give UI) 
the offiCt'. Mr. C. {laid it was 110 ose talking, hy GQd he was going to 
bave it; fllstened up the windows and took the key from the door Bud 
locked it, and he wall{ed ont before the cloor was locked. 

Q. Wl're yoo a candidate for office of clerk of the court at the last 
l'1l'Ction !-A. I was 1I0t. 

Q. State if yoo ba\'e not a commisldon from Go\"'ernor Chamberlain 
which ill gh'en you ill view of a decilliun of the supreme court given in 
~ of Wright against Charll's, wbich comwission entities JOU to the 
8Ilid office until 18iM I-A. Yes. 

Q. You declined to gil'e names, wht'n cross-examined by the contest· 
8nt, aud stated tbat you coolll 1I0t unless the court would gh'e ~-ou 
8eCurity for your safety in and ont of the ('..oort. Wby did you decline 
to auswer the.~e qnestions and gi\"'e their nawes'I-4. Because of the 
threats J bave beard. 

JESSE JONES. 

Sworn to me tbis tbe 22tl day of Marcb, 1877. 
C. S. B. MARSH. 

Itltendant. 

In the mattl'r of the contt>st of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

THOMAS MATHIS, a witness of It-gal 8Jl:l', being introdnct'd by the 
contl'stee after dne notice to contestant, after being <1oly 8\\"orn, depost's 
as follow.8 to questions propounded to bim by attorney for contestee: 

Qn('stion. Where do YOll reside!-Answer. In Edgt'field Connty. 
Q. How 10llg have you lived in this connty !-A. Six year~. 
Q. How far from the court-bouse do you resid~ f-A. Three and a 

haIr miles. 
Q. Where were yon on the 7tb of No\"ember last, the day of election' 

-A. I waR here at the coort·honse. 
Q. What time did YOIl reach bere !-A. Abont daylight. 
Q. Did yon go to eitbt-r one of the polling-places to ,'ote, and if so 

wbich place, and what time did you get there f-A. I went to the COlll't­
bouse steps about sl1nrise. 

Q. Did yon vote tbere that time I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did yoo try to vote !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State why yon did not vote.-A. They told me to wait nntil the 

white people got througb voting; tbere was borses and men crowded 
arOlmd the steps; thell tlley tolll me to go to the school-house. 

Q. Did you go to the 8chool,bouse I-A. Ye8, sir. 
Q. Did yon vote np tbere !-c\.. No, sir. 
Q, Did you come back to tbe court-bouse, box No.1, during tbat 

daY'-A. Ye!'l, sir. 
Q. Did yon make another eft'ort t9 vote there !-A. Yes, eir. 
Q. Did yoo slwceed the second time '-A. No, sir. 
Q. State what obstacles were in the way.-A. No qnicker t.ban there 
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was onlers given for us to go to tbe court·bouse tbere were 80 many men 
on horses ahead of us we could not get to tbe step!4 or tile polls to ,"otf'. 

Q. How near to the court·bouse, or box No.1, did you get tbeseoond 
time '-A. Right to tbe steps. 

Q. Did allY one say anything to you to pre"ent yon from going up. 
or put allY obstaclt's in the way I-A. They saicl if I bad Dot ,"otOO at 
the school·honse J could not vote bere. 

Q. What was the condition of tile court·bouse steps at tbat time Y­
A. The lUen were up on the ste[)s as thick as ants 011 a stump. 

Q. \Vere there any mounted men around or n('ar the court·hou~ 
stt'ps f-A. YeN, sir. 

Q. About what number '-A. Tbere was a large number; I cannot 
tell how mally. 

Q. \V t'l'e tbese white 01' colore!l men that you speak of, and ho ... 
drt'ssed I-A. White men, dressed in red shirts. 

Q. Did you see any fire·arms among them, such as pistols 01' guns ,­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you see any dhplay made \vitb these arms; bow did you see 
them' 

(These questions objected to.) 
A. S;\\V them in their hands. 
Q. State wh~ther or not you voted that (lay t-A. No; did not \"otf 

thut day. 
Q. State wbether or not yon made another attempt to vote, and if!\O 

what time \vas it and who were you with '-A. Did not make ftllotbtr 
attempt after the second time; I went back to the scbool·honse I thint: 
about thrC'e o'clock, with Rich Thompson, Ned 'Vea\'er, Isaac Frazier,' 
Giles Frazier, AlIllertlon \Vt'3vpr, John Waldo. 

Q. Bow 10.lIg did you stay up tbere at box No.2 I-A. I staid tbere 
till ImnclowD. 

Q. Were YOll with the parties yon named there during the remaiudffi 
of tbe evening f-A. Y ('8, sir. I 

Q. State whether or not, if you can, thot'e parties voted that day f­
A. They did not vote. 

Q. Were they witb you whf'n you made the two at~Dlpts to ,"otea!. 
box No.1 f-A.. They were with me. 

Q. You stated in tbe beginning that when you reached the court· I 
bouse steps they told 'you to wuit until the white ID(,11 It0t tbrough. 
Who told you this I W('re they white men or colored meD !-A. TMr 
w('re white men. 

Q. About what time did you leave the town that day to go home!-
A. At sunset. I 

Q. You did IIOt get to vote at all '-A. No, sir. 
Q. If yon had votl:'d would you bave voted the Democrat or Republi· 

can tieket T-A. Republicau ticket. 
Q. You tltat('d that those parties had tbeir .,i~toI8 in their band .. 

State if they said anything to ,'oterl! wheD they were approachiDg.-A.j 
They were whooping and hollowing, alld said if we bad not voted. aI 
the school·honse we coulll not vote bel·e. 

Q. State whether or not Republican voters were tiareateDOtI by D~1DC)o 
crars that day in your presence.-A. I saw some struck. . 

Q. State who you saw struck, and who struck them.-A. I say lui 
m!'D struck, don't know tbt·ir names; don't kllow who strnek them. . 

Q. Where were they whell they were struck I-A. One was strock: I. 
the street-near rtlr. ll(\nt'y'd-ut the entrance of the laDe, going to tilt 
school honse. 
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Cross·examined by Mr. B. Bettes for contestant: 
Q. About how far from allY voting·box WE're tbeH6 men when they 

were strnck I-A. About three bundred and filly yards-the fir6t; the 
other Ilhoot three hondred yards. . 

Q. Whf're did you comefrorn when you came to E(lgefield Coonty f-
A. From the npp~r part of Georgia. . . 

Q.What part. of E.lgefipld Oounty hl\\"e you lived in since you came 
hl're f-A. In Blo~ker, Pickens, and Moss Townships. 

Q. Have you lived in any other JlRrt of the county I-A. I have been 
in other places, but have not lived there. 

Q. Are you not pretty well acquainted in the county I-A. Tolerably 
", .. II. I was raisetl in this couutry. 

Q. Bow many mell did you see when yon reached the court·house 
steps the first time I-A. So many 1 cannot tell how many. 

Q. Did you see anyone man that yon knew '-A. I did not. I might 
have if they had been iu citizPfls' clothes. 

Q. They told you to wait till the whites got throngh voting. Did 
the whites not get there before yon did, alld were they not waitiug 
to vote '-A. I mE't them there when I came. 

Q. ,Who told you to wait I-A. I don't know who, so many honoaed. 
Q. Did you wait at box No. lnntil thoNe who were ahead of you had 

"Oled 1-A. I can't tell whether they had got through or not. 
Q. Did you not see men going up the steps as long as you staid 

theref-A. The white ml'n was 011 tbe steps; some would go aud \'ote 
and others come and fill their .places. 

Q. Who told ~'on to go to the school·bouse and vote I-A. Uuited 
8tates Marshal Bently. . 

Q. Who went to t.he court-honse steps with you abont sun-u1l '-A. 
Rich Tompson and Charles Oritz. 

Q. About what time did you go to the scbool·houset-A. A little after 
10 o'clock a. m. 

Q. Who went there with yon f-A. Rich Tompson. 
Q. How long did you stay theret-A. Until about half after ten o'clock. 
Q. How came you to leave them !-A. They were getting along so 

slow in voting. Colonel Oain told me to go to the court· house. 
Q. 'Vere Jon not voting tell at a timet-A. Yes; I believe they were. 
Q~ How close to the school·house door did YOll get t-A. About fifteen 

steps. 
Q. Why dill you not go on to the door and vote I-A. There was so 

ma~ly men betwet'n me and the door, 1 could not get the~. . 
Q. Were they colored men or whitet-A. Both. 
Q. Were there many white men between you and the school·house 

doorf-A. Not as many white 8S colored. 
Q. 'V('re there near 8S many I-A. 1 don't think there was. 
Q. What sort of white men were they between you and the door; 

what was thl'ir uuiform t-A. Some red shirts; the balance were United 
8tarea troops. 

Q. Was there an officer among the United States troopst-A. LookE'd 
liked there might have one or two; I saw one with stripes on his shoulder 
ane! a s\\'ord. 

Q. What was he doing with that sword t-A. He had it in his hand. 
Q. Did you not see him point out the voters who were to votef-A. I 

saw him pointing at the men, bot did not know what it meant. 
Q. Did tbose men he pointed at go and vote immediately after be 

poioted at them f-A. As sooo as orders we.re given for ten more, a good 
H. Mis. 11-18 
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mnll.V were making for the door, he pointed with his swonl, and counted 
ten and they went in. 

Q. How tbick were they standing around the door'-A. As thick as 
men could stand. 

Q. Were they not pushing forward to g:et to the door as quick 88 they 
could f-A. I saw men tryiug to get to the door, but did not see them 
pusbing:. 

Q. What kept them back'-A. The United States troops. 
Q. Wbat did these troops have in their hands '-A. Muskets. 
Q. Ditl the muskets have bayonets on them I-A. Yl'S, sir. 
Q. Were they not walking up and down in frout of tbe crowd with 

their muskets in their hands I-A. Some were, and some were standing. 
Q. When they culled for ten more voters, would tbe wbole crowd pa~ 

hy these soldiers, or woultl the officer not point at the ones who were to 
go and ,·ote'-A. Bl"ing so far back, I cannot tell what was done in front. 

Q. Coultl sou see whether the whole crowd went to the door or not f­
A. Can't tell you that. 

Q. Did all the men ill front go to the door when two voters were 
called thr f-A. I only saw ten men go in the door. 

Q. You said you coold see the soldiers walking up and down witb 
Dluskets in :tbeir hands, and bayonets 011; could you see anybody be· 
tween the soldiers amI tbe door '-A. No. sir; I could Dot. 

Q. Did the officer point at the men while they were in the door or be· 
for" they rt'ached the doOl' I-A. I saw the officer poiuting at the men 
before t hey got to I he door. 

Q. Did yon see the men bl'fore they reached the door at whom be 
poilltt'11 t-A. Sometimes I could aod sometimes I could 1I0t. 

Q. You say yoo saw the men some time before they got to the door; 
hall tbey passed the soldiers before he pointed at them or not t-A. 
Can't h'lI you that. 

Q. You saw the officer point at the men; saw the men poioted at; 
saw the soldiers standing b.v; could you 1I0t tell whetber tbose men 
pointed at had passed tbe soMiers or not f-A. Cannot tell that .. 

Q. Could you not see wbetber they had passed on '-A. Could Dot 
setl wbether thAY had passed or hot. 

Q. Was the sword Dot drawn out oC his scabbard '-A. When [ sa w-
it, it was onto . 

(~. Did allY voters go up to the door except those pointed atf-A. 
Canoot tell you. 

Q. You said you came to the court·bousefrom the school·bonse. Wben 
you were ordered to come to tbe court·bouse, wbo, and wbat ri~ht did 
unybody bave to order you to the court·hoose I-A. Colonel Cain tol<1 
Uti to come, that we could vote bere. I cannot tell tbat. 

Q. Did he tell the men generally to come to the court·houset-A. He 
said, "1\Ien, some oC you go to the court·house; some of you CUD \"ote 
tbN'~ now." 

Q. What time was thll.t t-A. About half after 2 o'clock p. m. 
Q. Dill the men lea\"e 800n as they voted, or would they stand around 

and talk awbile f-A. I cannot tell you tbll.t. 
Q. '''ben you came to box No.1 the second time to \"ote, how long 

did you remain I-A. As soon 8S I heard tbem say, "If you have Dot 
voted at tbe school· bouse ~'ou cllnnot vote here "--

Q. Wbo told you that I-A. I cannot tell; I heal d it spoken. 
Q. How far were yon from the court·honse steps wben be told yoo f­

A. I~igbt at the toIteps. 
Q. Black or white man tell you '-A. A white man spoke ~he words. 
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Q. You say you saw gons and pistols that day. Who bad them f­
A. White men bad tbem. 

Q. What were tbt>ir names I-A. Cannot tell yon wbo they were. 
Q. 'Vho came bac:k with )'ou from the school·boUl!~e to the court· 

hoo~ t-A. Rich Tompson, Ned Weaver, Con 'Vando, Isaac l!'razer­
others whose names I do not remember. 

Q. Wht>n did tbt>se parties get with yon f-A. We came from home 
to~ether that morlling. 

Q. Yon said that Rich Tompsoo went to t.be court·house steps with 
yon tbe first time you went there. Where were these other parties at 
that time I-A. We all were togetber. 

Q. Did you see those parties all the time during tbat day I-A. From 
the time we met bere in the morning till we left bt>re in the evening we 
were all togetiwr. 

Q. Yon say that wben you were at the school· bouse you were crowded 
all aronnd by men; were any of those men crowding around you 80 
thick, white llIen I-A. Yes, sir; there were some. 

Q. Wt>re they nt>ar you f-A. None right against me. 
Q. Who wt>re ill front of you; were tht'y white or colored men I-A. 

Tht>y Wf>re colored men. 
Q. Did thoNe colorf'd men right in front of you get ont of your way 

or not f-A. They did not; they were trying to get to the polls as WI'Il 
as I. 

Q. Did yon ask them to get ont of your way f-A. No, sir; I knew 
it was no use. 

Q. Why waR it no nse I-A. If there was a piece of meat oot there, 
and you wanted it and I wanted it, would you get out of the way for 
me to get itt 

Q. Then they wanted you to wait for tbem to vote I-A. They wanted 
to get there and I wanted to get there. 

Q. Did you not filld things to exist at the court· honse, when you 
reached there, excl'Jlt there were a crowd of white mell instead of colored 
men in your way'-A. Yes, sir. 

Adjourned to Friday, the 23d day of March, 1877. 

Q. You said that YOIl saw two men struck, olle about thr(le bundred 
sards frolll box No. ~, the otber about thne hUl1dred and fifty yards 
from box No. ]. How far were you from tbose IDt>n when they wt>re 
struck T-A. The firt~t one; I \vas between teu and fifteen steps-about 
ten steps from th'" second one, when they wera struck. 

Q. How do you kuow that Rich Tompsou and Ed Wl'aver, Isaac 
Frazier, and John Wando did not \"ote that day T-A. We were together 
all daVe 

Q. Did the same circulllstances keep the others from ,"otillg which 
kellt .you from voting T-A. I think so. 

Redirect, by Lawrence Cain: 
Q. Yon stated to the counsel for the conteRtant that yon came from 

Georgia; you afterwards stated to him that you were raised in this 
collntry. State now bow this bappelled.-A. I was sold at nineteen 
JeafS old from here to a U1un in Georgia, and when I was free I came 
buck here. 

Q. I nnderstRncl you to mean that yon were born and raised in this 
county and St.'lte f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You a180 stated to the counsel for contestant that you did Dot 1,oow 
the Olen who turned you back when you went to the court· bouse ~telJlJ 
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Why is it that you did uot know tht'se men !-A. By my not commonly 
st'eing thE'm I did 1I0t know them. . 

Q. Did they have on regular eitizens' dress !-A. ThE'Y bad on red 
shirts. 

Q. You Rtated tbat wbt'n you went to the school·house that Rich 
Tompson was with him. Were not other parties with you besides Rich 
Tom pHon '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You also stated tbat tht're was a crowd betwt'en you and the school· 
bouse door wben you attempted to vote. State now whether or 1I0t tbere 
were any wbite men in this crowd, and were they armed and on their 
horses! 

(Objection to this question by attorney for contestant, on the ground 
that it is new matter and a leading question.) 

A. There were some in the crowd, and I saw pistols buckled around 
them, and the troops bad muskets in their bands; tbey were on ho~s, 
except the troops. 

Q. Speaking of the officer picking out ten men at tbe school-house 
door to vote, were tbese ten all colored or were there white 8S wtoll 8S 
colored men f-A. They were mixed; sometime!! I saw whites and some­
times no wbites. Sometimes they were all colored, I think. 

Q. You said that you saw the officer pointing his swor(l at the meo. 
State now, if you can, whether he was soliciting ten more to vote or was 
he counting ten men to \'ote f-A. I thought he was counting; I don't 
kuow. 

bis 
THOMAS + MATHIS. 

Ulllrk. 

Sworn to before me this the 23d day of March, 1877. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In t.be matter of the cootest of Geo. D. TIllman a~ainst Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

PLEASA.NT MILLS, a witness, of legal age, introduced by contestet>, 
after due notice to contt'stant, deposed 8S follows to questions pro· 
pounded to him by coullsel for contestee: 

Question. Wbere do you reside '-Answer. Two or three miles from 
the village. 

Q. Are yon a nath'e of thhl State and eountyt-A. WitS not torn and 
rllil'led hert', but have heen here for thirty or forty years. 

Q. How old are you T-A. Between forty.iil·e and fifty. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th of November last, the dllY or election!­

A. Here Ilt the cOIU't-houl4e, at 6 o'clock in the morning, near the srep8. 
Q. State now if you voted that day; and if not, whS .-A. I did not 

vote that day. I tried to vote, and got down before breakfllst. There . 
wpre other~ ahead of me, who Raid they were going t~ vote to.day. aod 
I !!tood }Jack until about 10 o'clock. At 10 o'clock there came along a 
troop of soldiers, and I follo\ved them to the 8chool·bouse. I W8lJ sick 
all the time before the electibn. I got up to hox No.2 nt>arly OUt~t', Rnd 
callie nt>llr fainting, and I ga\'e back. I stood around there until \\'01'11 

Ilame up there that I could vote at thf! conrt-house. I came down \"itb 
a crowd, allli met Mr. Shepparcl uocl Mr. Ware talking togl'ther. llr. 
Sheppard and Col. Cain were talking together, and Mr. SheJ,pard said 
he would see thl\t we had a chalice to vote. "'e followed him till we 
met hilS brother and a crowd, and he had a shot-gun (Dr. Sheppard.) 
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He said he be damn~d if we should VOtA at this box ber~ to-(1ay. We 
ball a cbance at the otber box all day. Then we went back till after six, 
anrl dhl not get a chnDce to vote. 

Q. Which Mr. Sheppard was it that 001. Cain was talking to '-A. 
Mr. John ShpPllard, the lawyer. 

Q. When be met his b"other, the doctor, that you speak of, w('re 
there any other parties with the doctor '-A. Numbers of them with 
bim. They had a line drawn across tbe str~t.>t. 

Q. Were any of these parties al'lDed except Dr. Sbel)pard '-A. I 
saw thf'm han' pistol!!. 

Q. WhpD the crowd whicb wu following Mr. John Sh('ppar(} met the 
crowd that was with Dr. Sheppard, wbat did Dr. Sheppard's crowd do 
and say T-A. Tht.>y ballooed, and said they had os. Be cursed, and 
said )1('1 b~ damnpd if we should vote at this box to-day. 

Q. Wbat did Mr. John Shpppard, tb~ gentleman who bronght you 
there an(l said be would s~e that you sbould vote, do '-A. Be turD~d 
aronnd with bis fHee towards us and stood there. 

Q. Did be sa~' anytbing T-A. I did not h~a}' him say anything. 
Q. St.ate wby ~'ou did not pass by tbat crowd and go to box No.1 

Rnd vote as you illtpnded to do '-A. It would be a rigbt bard matter 
for a fellow to go into tbe muzzle of a gun Dot having any himself either, 
as tht.>re was nOlle III ollr crowd at that time. 

Q. Were tb~re any in the crowd at any other time during the day ,-
A. Not any as 1 kuow of. • 

Q. State as near as ~'ou can how many guns and pistols you saw in 
that crowd witb Dr. Sh~ppard '-A. Bet\\'~en tweh'e and firteell I know. 

Q. 'Y~re they making any demonstration with these arms '-A. They 
bad thelO in their hauds. 

Q. Could you see around and aboot the court-house steps at tbat 
timet-A. No, sir; could not see the steps. 

Q. Why could you not see the steps I-A. So mauy people on them, I 
conld not. 

Q. Were these white or colored '-A. White. 
Q. When yon attl"U1pted to vote at the court· bouse in the Dlorning, 

wbat was dOlle or said to prevent you f-A. 1 started up in tbe court­
bonse aud th~y pllsbecl me back; it was said to me to wait uutil· ten 
o'clock and I could get a chance. 

Q. Do you know who it was pushed you back and told you to waitt­
A. I don't know. 

Q. You diel not vote tbatday at a117-A. Did not vote that day; staid 
from six till six. 

Q. If you had voted, would you have voted for G. D. TiJlmau or 
Robert SlOans '-A. For Robert Smalls. 

Q. Ahout how many was in the crowd with you wb~n yoo were met 
by Dr. Shl'ppard and turn('d back'-A. Twelve. 

Q. Name as DlallY of that twelve as you can I-A. Myer Weldon, 
Jor()l\n Simkins; call't rememb('r any oth~rs. 

Q. Yon t;poke of a crowd being around the court·hoose. Was this 
crowd mounted or dismoonted I-A. A part of them were and part were 
not. 

Q. Were they white or cttlore<l men '-A. AU white, as far as I could 
see. 

Q. How were they dresse<l Y-A. Red sbirts and r~tl coats. 
Q. State wbethl"r you saw any guns or pistols in this crowd near the 

court-house steps t-A. 1 did not get uear enoogh to see in the evening; 
I saw them in the morning. 
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Q. Whf'n you were torned back by Dr. Sheppard, was the whole crowd 
torned InwK !-A. All of os turned back. 

Q. Did any of that crowd get to vote that day !-A. Not that I know 
of; I don't think they did. 

Q. State whetber or not you S3W any other demonstrationR, other than 
those yoo bsv(I\ spoken of tbl\t day, made by tbe Democrats that were 
calcnlawd to intimidate Uepul>licans and keep them from tbe 1)()11S.­
A. I saw se\'eral efforts made by the crowd wbich I was in, in saying 
that we would slip around and get-to the school-house and get a chance 
to voIR. E\"ery time we would start tbose borsemen would rlln aroond 
and get between.us. We did that two or three times, and they woold 
follow os. 

Q. Were tbose borsemen at the school-bonse as well as at the court­
house !-A. When I got there they were there. 

Cross·examined by llr. Bettes, for contestant: 
Q. Are you well acquainted in Edgefield County t-A. I am. 
Q. Did you kllow many of tbe white men whom you SllW on election· 

day !-A. I did not recognize a great many of them tbat Ila~-. 
Q. About what time did you go from box No.1 to box No.2 that day' 

-A. Between ele\"en and twel\'e o'clock. 
Q. How long did you stay at box No.2 before yoo started back !-A. 

I bave no idea; I had no wlltch. 
Q. Tbe first time you went from box No.1 to box No.2, was it be­

tw~en the hoors of eleven and tweh'e o'clock f-A. To the best of my 
knowledge; I had no watch. 

Q. When you came back from box No.2 to hox No.1 YOll Ray that 
you met Mr. John Sheppard; had you met Dr. Sbeppard before that or 
Dot t-A. No, sir. 

Q. Was there any person with Mr. John ShePI.ard when you met 
bim T-A. When I SIlW him Colonel Cain was talking with bim. 

Q. Where was Mr. John Sht'ppard standing I-A. In frollt of the 
lawYt'rtl' offices, down there. 

Q. Ijid yuu go where Dr. Sheppard was, or did he come where yon 
were I-A. I followed bis brother to where he waM. 

Q. liow far did you go before yoo met him !-A. Nearly across one 
block. 

Q. Was he standing still, or was be coming toward" you '-A. He was 
standing still till we got pretty close to him. 

Q. Did you meet any otber crowd before you got to him !-A. None 
at all. 

Q. While yoo were standing in front of those law-offices could yon 
not s~e up tbe street in which Dr. Sheppard was standing I-A. No, sir. 

Q. Wby could you not 7-A. Honses were between us. 
Q. Did Dr. Sbepl.ard have bis guu cOllcealed, or was he bolding it ont 

where any olle conld see it !-A. Had it in tbe position of present nrm~ 
Q. Was h~ fadllg toward you, or did he ha\'e his back to Jon !-A. 

He was looking rigbt at U8. 
Q. Were tbe men with bim fronting toward yoo, or dill t.hey hat'e 

tbeir hooks tnrned toward you '-A. With tbeir faCt's toward lilt'. 
Q. Di(l th(>3' ha\"e tbeir pistols in their hands, all those wbowere with 

Dr. Sbeppard I-A. I don't say tbc>y did. I suw some of them with 
them-with their pistols in tbeir hands. 

Q. Did you see any wbo did not have pistols in their bRUlls !-A. 
There was a large crowd, and I coulll not see the halllh~ of all of them. 

Q. How many pistols did you see T-A. Between twel\'e and fifteen; 
that I am certain I saw. 
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Q. Were those men who had l)istols in their hands standing in front 
of the crowd, so tbat you couhl see tbem plainly, or not f-A. Tbl'Y 
wpre. 

Q. In what part of the str'*'t were these men with Dr. Sheppard who 
had pistols in their hands f-A. In the cross street, by Holson'lI store. 

Q. At what end of tbe cross·street WE're they standing; the one nt-ar 
Bolllon'lI store, or the one near Oo]onel Oain's house f-A. The one near 
the store. 

Q. DoeR tbis cross-!\treet not ron perpendico]ar to the street in which 
you met Mr. John Sheppard I-A. Yes; it does. 

Q. It' yoo bad passed Dr. Sheppard, would yoo 1Iot have heen com­
pelled to turu at a right angle wben you reached tbe entl of the crOS8-
street. iu order to have gone to a prt'cinct I-A. Yes; I wonld. 

Q. Yoo say you met Mr. John Sheppard in front of the law·office; 
bow far is that law·office from the corner of the street at (;ain'lI house 
wbere yoo turned, and in wbich yoo met Dr. Sbeppard !-A. Between 
sevellty.five and a hundred yards. 

Q. Was Mr. John Sheppard standiog in front of the law·office when 
you came up to where you were !-A. I was standing thel'e talking to 
Colonel Cai n. 

Q. Where were you coming from wben you saw him standing 
there I-A. From over to tbe IIcbool-boulle. 

Q. Did you hear Colonel Cain ten him tbat you coold not vote at tbe 
8Cbool-hou~ on account of the crowd over thel'e !-A. Dill not hear 
him. . 

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Sht'ppard knew that you had come from 
the school· hoose, and why, or not I-A. Don't know. 

Q. Did yon not come by Colonel Cain'" bonse when you came to 
where Mr. Sheppard was talking to Colonel Cain f-A. I dill. 

Q. How far ill the law-office, where MI'. Sheppard was standing, frOID 
the barracks, where the United States troops were quartered f-A. 
About seventy·Ove or a hundred yardM. 

Q. Are the barracks 011 the same street upon which Colonel Cain and 
llr. Sheppard were standing i-A. Yes; it is. 

Q. How far are the barracks from the court· house f-A. About sev­
enty-five or one bundred yards. 

Q. Is there not a straight street running from the barracks to the 
court·bousel-A. There is. 

Q. Suppose you hall not turned the corner at Colonel Cain's house, 
could you not have gone on down the street until you came to the next 
cross-street, and have gone to tha next cross· street to precinct No. :!, 
without going out of your way t-A. 1 don~t know that there is any 
difference. 

Q. Was there no nparer way to the court-hoose, from tbe phwe where 
Mr. Sheppard was standing, than by Mr. Boisou'll store t-A. There 
was a lIt'arer wa);. 

Q. Was it sundown wben you saw Dr. ShE'ppard standing in tbe 
street, near Mr. Holt.lOn's store'-A. Not Sl1ndown. 

Q. Wbeu you got to the corner of the street, at Colonel Cain's bouse, 
did you see anybody between you alld Dr. Sheppard t-A. Not that 1 
remember, but his brother, who was before me. 

Q. Were yon walking direotly behind his brother, or could you see 
UI) tbe street ahead of you f-A. I could have soon as much another 
man. 

Q. When you were at the corner of the street at Oolonel Oain's 
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Jlouse, did yo~ look up the cross-street before you turned to go up !-A. 
I think I did. 

Q. Did you see Dr. Shepprml and his men. wben yon looked np, with 
thl'ir I)isto]s and ,,;uns !-A. I saw the wen, but did not see their g01l8 
and piRtols until I got near them. 

Q. How far bael you gone up the cross· street before you saw the gons 
and piMtols !-A. Half-way, or a little o\-er. 

Q. Coold yoo not have turned around then and gone another way op 
to the b.ox !-A. Yes; I could. . 

Q. When yolt wput It» to wbere Colonel Oaill was talking to Mr. Shep­
pard, Mr. Sheppard imluediatel~- turned you back, and carried yoo the 
way )·ou had comp, ulltil you got to CO]OIlP] Cain's houMe, and tbeD 
ttll'npd yoo np a cro!ls'!ltrppt, and carried yoo up to a body of armed 
mpn, did he not T-A. He did. 

Q. Do you helie\-e tbat.l\fr. John Sheppard was sincere when be told 
Colonel Gain that ho would give you a chance to vote I-A. I thought 
he was siu(,l're at first. 

Q. Did Oolonel Caill leave before yon IItarted back from tbe office 
with Mr. Sheppard !-A. I turned my back on him, to follow Mr. ShE'p­
p~l[(1. 

Q. Who did you get word from to come over from the school-bouse 
to the coort··house T-A. I don't rewember wbo; I jUgt heard it going 
tbrough the crowd. 

Q, Do yon know wbether Colonel Caill knew that you could Dot \"ote 
at tbe scbool·hollse or not'-A. I imagined he knew it by bis sending 
word. . 

Q. Was thE're any crowd of men in front of yon ill the street towanl 
the court-house when YOIl were standing at the office !-A. There were 
some down tbl're. 

Q. Was there enollgh to mllke thestrE'et impassable, and did they look 
as though tbey would prevent yoor going along the stre6t !-A. Tbey 
did. 

Q. How far were tbpy from yon '-A. Ten or fifteen yards. 
Q. Did yon know allY of them t-A. I CRu't say I did. I did not 

know any of them. 
Q. Did yon hear them say anything I-A. They were talking like 

eVE'ry body t"11!IE'. 
Q. Do you rem~mher anytbing they said I-A. No, sir; I don't re­

melllbf.>r anytbing 1hf.>)" said. 
Q. How many men CRme np there with YOll to where Mr. Cain aOtI 

Mr. Sheppard were talking !-A. Eleven came with me; I was the 
twelfth. 

Q. Why did not ~'on or Colonel Cain, or some one of tbe crowd with 
you, tel1 .Mr. Sheppard, wben YOll saw bim carrying yon away from pre· 
cinct No.1 towaru precinct No.2, that you could not vote at precinct 
No.2 on acconnt of the crowd tbat was over there!-A. I knew be 
was not. going to the school.house; he aOtI Oolonel Caiu were talkinlt 
there together, and I said tbere were so many at precinct No.2 that we 
could not vote there. . 

Q. Diel be 8I\y all~·thing to make yon know that he was uot goin~ to 
the scbool-housa !-A. I bad just come from the schoo]·honse, and be 
said be would see DIe vote. 

Q. Was it nndergtooll by the crowd that you were to go to the school· 
house or to the court-bouse f-A. We thought we were going to the 
court-house. 
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Q. Did yon not think that he was going a ver.v roundabout way to 
the court·bousel-A. I (lid not think much Ilbout it. 

Q. Don't you think now that be was going a very roundabout way to 
the court house f-A. It did not look like he wa~ going the nearest way. 

Q. Yon said tbat there w~ a nearer way to tbe court-house than by 
Colonel Cain's and Mr. Holson's store. Did YOI1 or Uolonel Oain, or 
anyone iu your party, suggest to Mr. Sbepp Ird to go the uearl'r way to 
the court-bouse when he started frOID where be and Oolonel Oain w~re 
standing f-A. I did not bear anyone suggest it. I did not. 

Q. \Vhen you started from the place, did you not go in almost an op­
pOlSite dirl'ction from the direction of the court-housef-A. Yes. 

Q. Wben ~'ou alld Mr. Sheppard came up to where Dr. Sheppard and 
his meu were, how long did yuu Ktllnd there before you turned around 
alld wellt back I-A. Five or ten millutes. 

Q. Did yeu see anyhod~' ill the street when you turned around to go 
back !-A. I SIIW those who were with • Did not see anybody else 
that 1 reml'mher. 

Q. Wbl'll you got to Colonl'l Oain's house, which way did you go f­
A. 1 went bl\ck down the hack strel't toward No.2. 

Q. How far did you go up that street before you turned ont of it f­
A. \Vent up to Mr. Bacon'lI, got over tbe fence, and weut through the 
fields. 

Q. After you got to Oolonel Cain's did yon see anybody betwl'en you 
Rnd the ,)lace where you got o\"er the fencet-A. Ollly those with 
Did not lIee anybody else. 

Q. Did you go tbrougb t.he fields all the way after you got over the 
fence uutil you got to hox No.2f-A. Until I got to the church. 

Q. Did you see anybody in the fields \"hile you were going through 
there, except ~'our OWl) party t-A. No, !lir. 

Q. How far is the Macedonia church from the school-house T-A. 
About fifty or sixty yards. 

Q. Where did YOIl go when you got to the church T-A. I went down 
to the school-house as near as 1 could get. . 

Q. Wbat prevellted you from gettillg nearer T-A. Horsemen and 
footmell were crowded around the place. 

Q. Yon Wl're then at the crowd of men, standing around box No.2, 
were you not f-A. I was at them when I got to them. 

Q. Did any crowl] of men get before you after you left the chnrch, 
and bl'fore yon got to the crowd standing around the door I-A. I met 
no crowd; tbl'Y were all one crowd. 

Q. You say some of those lDen were mounted and some on foot; were 
the footmen aud mounted men standing around promiscuously, or were 
they mixed up '-A. The horsemen were neareKt the house mostly. 

Q. Did you go up behind horsemen or footmeu T-A. I went up be­
hind the footmen. 

Q. After JOIl left the crowel of men where Dr. Sheppard was, did yoo 
go anywhere else than by Colonel Oain's, dO\vn tbe back street, to the 
place whl're yon got over the at Mr. Baclln'3, through the field to 
the cburch, and from there to precinct No.2 '-A. No. 

Q. After you got to precinct No.2 this second time, ditl yoo leave 
there before 6 o'clock tbat evening f-A. I did not. 

Q. Why diu you leave there at that time T-A. I' saw there were 
80 many there, aud I was told the time was out. 

Q. Yon said in YOllr direct examination this morning, "After we ll'ft 
the crowd iu whIch Dr. Sheppard ,the crowd that I was in made 
several efiorts to get to the school-house, and those horsemen would run 
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around and get before us." When did tbose horsemen do tbis f-A. 
That was in the morning, wben I made the first start to box No.2. 

Q. Do you know the names of any of tbose men who were with Ur. 
Sheppard, and had pistols in their bands I-A. I did not. 

Q. About wbat tillle of day was it wben you left the crowd where 
Dr. Sbeppard was t-A. Late in the evening. 

Q. You say at the time you and YOllr party came up to where John 
Sheppard and Oolouel Cain were stanciing, the court-bouse st:.t.ps were 
crowded; did YOtt Ree any of tbose men on tbe steps moving about f­
A. I don't say I did; I was not close enough. 

Q. You do not know,-then, whether they were voting or notf-A. I 
could not tell that. 

Q. When you got word to COlDe from the school·house to the court­
house, ditl you come ttP tbe back street or Main street t-A. Part of, 
tbe way of Main street. When I got to Dr. Morisee's I turned in to the, 
back street. 

Q. You say tbat you remained undl'r tbe court-house steps until about; 
10 o'clock, when you saw United States soldiers come out of the bar·· 
racks aud go over to the school.house, and that you then went o\-er to: 
the school·house with them, did you not t-A. I did. 

Q. Up wbat street did you and the United States soldiers go f-A.· 
W6 Wf'ut up Main street. 

Q. Did you stop anywbere on the way between the court·house anll l 
the school-bouse t-A. Did not stop anywhere nntil I got to the crowd I 
at the school·honsf'. 

Q. Did the soldiers permit anyone to trouble you on the way t-A. 
They, the D~lDocrat party, like to rode over me a time or two while I 
was going witb the soldiers. 

Q. Did you keep close up to tbe soldiers or not '-A. As close as I 
could, running out the way of the horses. 

Q. Did horsemell ride up bebind you, or did tbey come up from in 
front of you '-A. After we started tbey came out of a side street aod 
rode up amongst ns. 

Q. Where did tbat take place '-A. The side street below the hotel 
Q. Tht>y rode promiscuously among you tben, dhl they not !-A. Tbt'y 

mixed nl) with us; we ran to gtlt out of the way of them. 
Q. Which way did yon run '-A. I run out 011 the left. 
Q. How IOllg did the horsemen stay tbere !-A. They remained Dntil 

tbe crowd got to the scbool bouse. 
Q. Diel you stuy there 8S long as they remained '-A. The horsemea 

remained in tbe crowd until we got to the school· bouse. 
Q. Afwr the horsemen rode among YOll at tbe cross-street, the t!t'Owd 

togetber witb the hor~emt'll proceeded over to the school-houSl", did tiM'y 
not T-A. A portion of tbe horsemen remaiued with us until we got tben. 

Q. About how long did YOll stay at the cross· road where tbe hOl"llt­
men rode amoug you before yon moved on f-A. We went 00 immeii· 
ately after. 

Q. Did you stop any time after that between the cross-street aoo the 
school·house '-A. 'Ve mlldtl the best adva.ncc in our power. 

Q. Did yon keep up witb the solditlrs f-A. As close as we coold kerf 
to tht'm. 

Q. Did the soldiers get ten steps in front of the crowd following them I­
A." No, sir. 

Q. Of the crowel following them f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did the soldiers baIt at any time afttlr they started to box No. 2 

before they reached there '-A. They did not. 
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Q. Did the erowd whieh you were in stop at 'Rny time after starting 
with the soldierl4, except when you were iutarrupted at the cross·st.'eat 
before you reached tbe scbool bouse '-A. I lle\"er have reached the 
scbool-house, but did Dot stop until I reached the crowd at the school· 
house. 

Q. How many times did you leave box No.2, after you got there tbe 
first timet-A. Once. 

Q. When yon left tbat time YOIl came over to where yon saw Mr. Jobn 
Sheppard and Colouel Oain talking in front of tbe law·office called 
,. Law Range," did you not I-A. I did. 

Q. 'When you reacbed the court·hoDse early in the morning and was 
told to wait until 10 o'clock berOl'e you could vote, did you attempt to 
go away from the court·house until 10 O'clock, when you saw the United 
States soltHers going over to the school.bouse, or not I-A. Was pressed 
and was giving back. I did DOt attempt to go to the school· bouse. 

Q. You said yt'sterday, in your direct examination, that evt'ry time 
your crowd would start to the school, bouse, saying to Jourselvl's that 
you would !'lip around and get to tbe school·houstl allel gl't a chance to 
vote, those horsemen would run aJ'Ound aud ~et before JOu, alld that 
you did that two or tbree times. Tell liS where tbose tbings bappened, 
and wben.-A. Did I not tell YOIl yesterday that I was fl'eble ami not 
a' lie to get around good' I did 1Iot attempt JD~ self, but saw my crowd 
tr ... , and every·time tbe horst'men would get in their wa~·. In the 1D0rn­
lng. Between the court-house and the bridge, at tbe Dobson turnout. 

Q. ]n your examination yest('rday ~ou said tbat you went to thl:' 
school·house about t(,11 o'clock with the United States liIoldiers, and that 
after you first rf'acht'tl there you did noL ll'ave there but one time (luring 
tbe day; you also said that you Wl'nt over to the school·bouse betwf'eu 
the hours of ('leveD and twelve o'clock,and again that JOu went o\"('r there 
in the evelling, late, after you left Dr. Stwp)lard with his crowd ofllrmefl 
men; how does it bapilen tbat ~'ou eould have It'ft the school·bouse only 
ollce aOlI bave gone tbere three times f-A. I did DOt go over there 
tbree t.imes. 

Q. You said that there were no m('n in yonI' crowd who had arms, 
wben you reacbed Dr. Sheppard and his crowd, and tbat you ollly reo 
member the IJames of one or two of the men witb you. How do you 
know that tbe men witb yon had no armsl-A. They had none that I 
know of. 

Q. Did you know that crow(} of Olen who were witb you well '-A. I 
did not know all of them. I knew the two lDen whose naUles I men· 
tioned. 

Q. Did that crowd of men who were with yon at that time, twelve or 
1Htcen in nUlllbl'r, enlOe with yon to the court·house wheu you first came 
there I-A. One of them came witb me, 

Q. Where did you first get witb that crowd of men who were witb 
;YOl1 wb .. n you ml't Dr. Sheppard l-A. I got with them ill tbe street 
when 1\11'. Sheppard and Colonel Oain WAre talking. 

Q. 'VIlS that bf'fore 1I00n or after Doon'-A. Aftf'r noon. 
Q, When you It'ft Dr. Sheppard and went to the school·bouse did thoRe 

men in your crowd whom YOIl did not know, mingle in the crowd. or did 
they Rtay with ~'ou the remaillder of the evenillg '-A. I don't know 
that they dill. Don't know whether 1 saw them 01' not; because I would 
have recognized thf'm. 

Q. Yon have said in yonr direct testimony tbllt the crowd whom you 
were with, you don't think voted that day. If ~ou did not see tbose 
men until the afternoon; did not know but two of them wben ~·ou did 
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flee tllem, and did not ~f>e any of them after you got back to the school· 
house except the two wbolll yon know, how could you form any opin. 
ion 813 to wbt'ther that crowd had voted or not I-A. Because they 
were trl'ing to vote. 

Q. Did you know the name of the man WllO pushed you back oft' the 
steps tbat morningf-A. I dIll not. 

Redirect by Lawrence Oain, for contestt>e: 
(I ohjt>ct to all of the qut>stions 011 the last ei~ht or ten pages aske(l 

hy the counsel for the cOlltpshlllt, 011 account of rrpl'titioll of questions, 
aud the other gl'Ollnd that the snid Illlestions are irrelevunt amI impt'r. 
tinellt and a!lkt'd for the npparent pnrpose of dt'lay. I sa:\' the apparent 
I)urpose of delay, becnuse the couusel has detainl'({ the wituess 011 the 
cross·examination 1111 of the afternoon session of yeNtt'ulay and all of the 
forenoon sessioll of to·da~·, an f>lItire rIllY of om' sittill~, while the ",it· 
ness "'as ollly detained one-half bour by counsel for conteste~ in his di· 
I'ect t>"amination.) 

Q, You stated you thou~bt Mr. Sbeppard was sincere at first in prom­
ising to see that you should vott>. Now state what you thought: when 
you .nnd your crowd was cOllfl'Onted by Dr. Sheppard and his armed 
cl'Owc1.-A. I (Jiel 1I0t thillk he wllntt>ll to see me \-ott>. 

Q. You alRo stated that when Colonel Oain and Mr. Sheppard were 
standing talking, nine or ten men came up; waR 1I0t tbl're a very large 
crowd of UeI)Ublicans standing within sight of llr. Sheppard and Col­
onel Oain awaiting the result of that interview' 

(Objected to by coullsel for contestant on tbe ground of ne\v matter.) 
A. There was. 
Q. You stlltt'd that whl~n yon were on your way from tbe court-bonse 

to the school·bouse yon wt>re jnst bebind tlIe soldiers, and that there 
was a crowd of borsemen who tI'iec1 to ride over you and that you would 
bave to step aaid.. to get out of tlIeir way; were these horsemen wbite 
Democrats Y-A. 'rhl'Y were. 

(Objt>cterl to on the ground tbat it was a leading question.) 
Q. Did tht>y do anytbiug or make any· hostile demonstrations to pre­

vent your going to box No.2 to vote' And, if so, state what those 
demollstrations wl're.-A. They were on their horses, riding ulld tUfn· 
iug abont, cursing. 

Q. Wbat dill they say'-A. Hurrab for Hampton. 
Q. You were alSked if the soldiers permitted any on('l to trouble yOI1 

while on YOUl' way UJI tbere; yon have stated that the troops were 
ahead of you; could not Nome one ba,\-e troubled you without the knowl· 
edge of the soldiers '-A. I think tbey could. 

Q. Yon staterl that you did not see the crowd who went with you to 
the ~chool-house. 'Vas there not a great deal of anxiety among tbe 
crowd about voting, Knrt could not they have bl'en near ~-ou witbol1t 
your seeing them T-A. They could ha\'e near we and I could not 
have spen them. 

Q. You stated yon went to the school·house about ten o'clock, and be­
tween elevt>n and twelve, and again ill the evelling, and yt>t yon state tbat 
you did lI'lt leave there bnt once after the first timt>.-A. I started for 
box: No.1 between ten and eleven; that was the fil'lJt time; I came back 
in the afternoon amI went back again, and left tbereafter 6 o'clock p. m. 

bis 
PLESENT + MILLS. 

mark. 
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Sworn to before me this the 23d day of Murch, 1877. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In tbernatter of the eonteRtof George D. Tillman against Robert 8malls 
for a scat in tbe CongreslI of the Uuited States. 

WILLIS ADAMS, a witness of h.-gal age, bt>ing duly sworn, deposes 
88fllllows, in reference to questions propounded to bim by contestee: 
. Question. Where do you live'l-:-Anllwer. On the l\Iartin Town road, 
\\I tbe county of Erlg(·field. 

Q. How far from the court-hoolZe 'I-A. Niue miles. 
Q. Were ~'oo born and J'aised ill this COllllty '-A. Yes. 
Q. How old are you 'I-A. Fifty·two years old. 
Q. Wbere wert" ~'on 011 the 7tb of Noveml>er lust, tbe day of the elee­

tioof-A. I was bt>re, on the hill. 
Q. State, to the hest of your recollection, what was done to you, and 

wbat you saw tbat day.-A. That day at tbe school-bouse I attempted 
to ,·ott'. As I got on the first step of the door Mr. Swartmgen struck 
lOe with a stick, and he bled me mightily. At last I got in aud "oted, 
and earneDut agaill. . 

Q. Where did he IItrike you at 'I-A. Here, on my head, [poillting to 
the scar.] 

Q. I uuderstand you to mean tbRt this was before you voted. State 
wb~tber anythiug was said to ~-on tlten or before .lou were struck; and, 
if so, what was said T-A. Nothing particular, as I could hear. 

Q. What Swarengen was it that struck you I-A. John Swarengen. 
Q. Did you see anybody eille struck that fillY '-A. No, sir; 1 did not 

Jttl any ooe else struck. 
Q. When you went to the school.bouse (loor amI WIlS struck by Mr. 

Swarengell, was there any other persons with him Y And, if so, state 
if tbey were white or colored, armed, mounted ordismountetl.-A. Yt's, 
~ir. Tbey were wbite men. Not that 1 can say. They were on borse­
back; not armed in particular. 

Q. How near the school-house door were their horses standing '-A. 
About five feet of the door. 

Q. Were there many horses tbere I-A. As much as a half-dozen thl1t 
elOl<e. • 

Q. Nothing was Rai(l to you about voting that day 'I-A. No, sir. 

Cross-examination by Mr. Bettes, for contestee: 
.Q. Did you attempt to vote as 800n as you got to the 8chool·house, or 

.1Id yon wait a whilef-A. We waited a whilt'. 
Q. Did not you see a DernoCl'at staoding near the door, who told the 

crowd you were with to come on Ilnd yote 1-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you see the doorkeeper, and was he a white IUlln o~ colored 

Ulall f-A. J did not Mee tbe doorkeeper 
Q. Who were the men you saw with S:varengan '-A. Don't know. 
Q. Was there not II. patb aloll~ by the lIille of the school-house where 

"otl'rs went in and '\'oted Y-A. Not thell. 
Q. Were there a great mauy men there then '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were they mounted f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were they nenr the dool" f-A. About half a dozen right at the 

,lour. . 
(~. W~re these hRlf.dozell separate or were they with the crowd !-A. 

Pretty much all together. . 
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Q. Conld yon get between the horses and the door I-A. Yes; after 
shoving up to the door. 

hiB 
WILLIS + ADAMS. 

marlr. 
SworD to before me this the 23d day of Marcb, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intetldafd. 

In tbe matter of the contest of Geor~ D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Oongress of the United States. 

Taol\lAs P. CARROLL, a witness of legal age. introdllood by con· 
testee after due notice to contestant, deposetb us follows to qnestioDs 
Ilfopounded by attorney for contestee: 

QU('Rtion. Wbere do YOll lh'e '-Answef'. Edgefield County. 
Q. How long ha\'c you Iivtlrl in tbis COllDt.V I-A. All my life. 
Q. How old are YOIl !-.t\.. TwelltY'RevOO yt>urs old. 
Q. Wbere wt>re you on the 7th of November, election day, hist f-A. 

At Holliwangt'r's storf'. 
Q. Hatl you any official connection with the election !-A. I WIlS 

malla~t>r tbf're. 
Q. Wbat time in the morning did you reach the store I-A.. At 6 

o'clock in the morning. 
Q. State now, 8S near as you can, wbat took ]llace at tbat poll that 

day.-A. When I arrived there in tbe morning, in sigbt of the III ace, I 
had about one hundred and twenty·four colored Republicans with mt'. 
I was n~t by a band of Democrats. a.nd tbey were singing, " We will 
hang Tom Oarroll t.o a sour· apple tree;" some snying," Where is he!" 
Hnd some said. "Yonder be is. a son-or·ll·bitch, on the lower sid('." This 
time we all rush togetbt'r in front of the store·house door. Some said, 
" Why ain't yon bel'e sooner, YOll cowardly son·of·a-bitch f" I snid to 
1\lr. Tompkins, the Delllocmt manager, 1 tho't, to my judgment, tbat I 
was in tiUle. Be said, "Yon are too late; we can't have anyelt>Ction 
Iltlre." I said," We will go Oil and baveit Ilnybow. I think it will be all 
right." He said, "No; we are going to ha,-e the hox throwu oot; we 
are going to throw it out." I told him no; if the el('ction W;IS illegal 
be bad better wait. and let it.J>c thrown out at ]~dgefiehl Oourt-HouSt". 
At this time, the other manager, Levi B. Graham, took the box Ollt of 
the wagou. Tbtlll him and Mr. Tompkins started in the bouse, and I 
I'igbt behind tht·m. After they were in the store, I askell Mr. Hotte· 
wangpr for a private room to organize the managers and elect a clerk. 
De told me to go into a room alongside the store aDd organize. My· 
8elf', Graham, and Mr. Tompkins proceeded to elect a cbairman of the 
board, allli we elt>lHed 1\Ir. Tompkins. Tbe next tbing, we elect~d (Japt. 
I. H. Brooks as ~l~rk. After this, I allked ~fr. Tompkins to go out alld 
bring 1\1,. Brooks in t(J take the oatb. He came ill with Oaptaill Brooks. 
Then Uaptain Bl'Ooks I(aid," Tom, I understand you have elected me clt-rlt 
of electi()n." 1 told him yes; I tbougbt him a proper mall to Itet as clerk. 
He said, "Do you think tbat I would act 88 clerk fOl' a set of God· 
damned dogs like you fn I said, "Captain, I don't think tbt're is Rny ose 
of that; YOII have known me to() long to treat me this way." He Raid, 
"Wben I think of my children sitting in your Illp teacbin,s: you-to fol· 
lnw up slleh damned rascals as Lllwrt'nee Cain and Guv.·, nor Obambt.'r· 
lain, it makPs me feel like putting a Iight.hole tbroll~h yon. God·damn 
JOu." I said it is DO use treating me tbis way. He says ... Treat you 
\\hat way, you damned puppy, you." Tbis time he walketl out. 
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Q. Is Mr. Brooks a white man I-A. He is, and a Democrat. 
Q. Did I\ny other parties do or say anything to you that day '-A. 

Some of them came and kicked the door open and said," Yonder be 
stands" on~ of them bad a pistol in bis band-tbey were botb strangers to 
me-and placed himself iu position to fire or attempt to fire. And then 
they w('nt out; 8S they went out of the door I got out of the window; I 
got over the fence and called several of the RepUblicans to where I was 
standing and. told them I thought we had better leave there, anl1 go to 
Richardsous\'ilIe, where we could vote as we plellsecl and for whoever 
we pleased. Some of them asked me why. I think 1 told some of them 
from the way I was treated. in the Outset I believed I would be murdered 
or badly hurt if I did stay there. 

Q. Did they go off as you requested '-A. They said they would never 
lea\'e until he did. 

Q. Did you go back in the room where they were holding the polls ,­
A. At that time Mr. Hipps spoke to me and said, "Tom, what is the 
matter!" I said, "It seems I am going to be imposed upon; would you 
protect me f" He said, " Yes; go on back; I will stick to yon if no oile 
else wont." Then I asked him, "Would he keep bis men quiet; that my 
people had come there to do uo harm, bntjust to vote;" he Maid, " I can't 
I,romise you that, because every man can do as he pleases, but I tell you 
I will stick to yon." 

Q. Did you go back in the room f-A. After Mr. Hipp and I had talked 
he stepped otI and bronght Capt. J. H. Brooks. C"pt. Brooks said to 
me, "Tom, I did speak to yon too hastily while ago; I was thinking of a 
l)6rsonal matter which has nothillg to do with to-das; go back and let's 
proceed with the election." lsairl to him, "Wou't you and Mr. Hipp try 
and ket'p your party quiet' I can keep mineso." I knowCaptaiu Brooks 
said, "1 cau't promi:;e you; every man is his own man and yours had 
better be quiet." Then I went back in the house; then the board of 
managers elected Mr. Geo. Holtewanger as clerk. 

Q. Did be acceptf-A. Yes; be did. 
Q. Is Mr. Geo. Holtewanger a Democrat f-A. He is. 
Q. About wbat time of the day was it when you went back'-A. I 

thilJk it was half after six in tbe morning. 
Q. Do you mean to say that it was half after six that you opened tbe 

polls at that place !-A. Yes; after discussing several qnestious )l'itil 
the other party, which I think consumed about a half hOlllJS time. 

Q. State it' you saw auy fire·arms in this rooUl, and, if so~ how many 
ami wbat kind T-A .• I saw some double-barrel shot-gUlls and Mome old 
Willfield musketK; tbey were behind the conuter. I would lJot like to 
tell bow many; there were more than two. 

Q. How long after you went into tbis room tbe second time did you 
stay in thl're f-A. I think until about eleven o'clock a. m., bt'fore I 
W!'lIt ont again. 

Q. Was there any threats made against you and the other Repnblican 
mauager while yon w('re in tbere!-A. Mr. Eldrecl 8. Addison walked 
up to ml' and, said, "Tom, arE' yon a good Uepublican f I am one. It' yon 
are a Uepuulican we will both vote for Chnmberluin." H~ said, "If ~-Oll 
are mean enough to vote for him you will kill me to-night." I told bim 
no, I wODld not have that much against him; he suill, ,. Well, Go(l clamn 
you, wou't have the chance lifter a little;:' he said~ .. By God, we are goiug 
to take care of allsncb radicals as yon." Did not have Ilnything to say to 
him after that. 

Q. After yon left the box at 11 a. m., did you return again '-A. I 
returned again in two minutes. 
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Q. State whl'tber yon were threatened again.-A. About tbis time 
some strangers came iu; I don't know wbo they w('re. All tbey came 
up I heard a Democrat negro say, "Her(' comes our Newher-rycllvalrYi' 
thpn one of them, as he walked by tbe window so I could see him, lIIlid, 
" How are you getting along witb yonr managersf" Who hI' spoke to 
I cannot say. One suid, " We will keep them here nntil night, and if 
they don't eertily to this election while we "ote 8S we damn plea@e, as; 
many times as we damn please, I will pnt a light-hole tluougb him,antli 
he won't certify to an~·thing else." 

Q. How much longer e1id yon stay in there t-A. About three-qoarter,. 
of un bour. I 

Q. Did you return thpre any more that dayt-A. Xo, sir. 
Q. Why is it yon left there and did not returu f-A. Because I beliend: 

tht'Y would do as they said they would. . 
Q. About what time of the day do you think it W8S when yon leftf-! 

A. About a quarter arter twelve. I 

Q. Did you leave the other Uepnblical) manager there, or did he lea\'~ 
with you I-A. I left him there. I 

Q. 'Did you leaw the Democratic manager there, too f-A. Yes, sir. : 
Q. As mallager did you not certify to the corrtlctness of the ret.orn~ 

at that place t-A. I did not. j 
Q. Tell, if yon can, how many of the managers did certify to the I'f' 

tnrns.-A. I saw the poll.list ill the office of the secretary of stale a 
Co urnbia, a few weeks ago, Ilnd only saw one name. I 

Q. Whose nalDc was that f-A. Mr. Danl. H. Tompkins. I 

Q. Was he the Democratic manager for that place I-A. Yes,sir. I 

Q. State, Oarroll, whether or not you were offered any money if yo~ 
would do a certain thing there that day.-A. Not that day. I 

Q. At any time prior to the election!-.A. Yes, sir. Captain Brook$ 
told me onee if 1 would \'"ote with them and use my influeuce with m~ 
llllrty,he would guarantee me a preUygood sum; did not flx theamooDtj 
he would ~ua)'antee me 0 home, aud he never would betray me. I 

Q. What did you say to ORI,tain Brooks f-A. I told him DObodYri 
my party would do that; but whoremongers and liquor-drinkers. 

Q. State whether or not, to your knowledge, any party or parties l"O 

under assumed names there that day I-A. Three did 80 that I know. 
Q, Cun yon give their names f-A. Yes; All'. D. A. J. Bell was on] 

Mr. Abuey Cleg was another, Mr. Pierce Mathews the tbird. 
Q. Oan ~'ou give their assumed nOlllest-A. Mr. Bell \'"oted as Alfr 

Bell, Mr. Ol{~g voted as Hem'y Jackson, Mr. MathewtI voted lUI T'l 
Delong. 

Q. How long have you b~en acqoainted with these partied-A. 1 •• 
hired to Mr. Bell ill the year sixty-four. My8elf and Mr. Clt"g's baDcl 
worked togl>ther that yt'ar. Ml'. Oleg was o\'"erseer for Mr. Bell. I hlJ' known Mr. Math .. ws ev~r since sixty·two. • 

Q. You fil'an to say that you were personat'y acquainted with tb ' 
three mt>D, were you 1I0tf-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State wbetbt>ror not th~tle tbree gentlemen, oreitber of them, v 
by their real names while you were prel!lent at the pollillg-placef­
Tbpy did not. at that box. 

Q. Did Sou challenge their votes when they voted ondt>r tbeir 
SUWl'd namesf-A. I turuelL to Mr. Tompkins, the Democrat maDlg 
alld said thes6 wen ha\'e changed their lIl,meg. He Mid to me yoo tUI 

bettel' keep ~'our damll month. Did Dot suy an~·thing more to him a 
it, b,lt took their nalDes on a piece ot paller aud pnt it in my poetet. 

Q. You stated that \vheu you arrived there in the morning . early 
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1'I\fe met by a band of Democrats. What was the attitude of tbis banlt 
of Democrats '-A. Singing "We will hang Tom," &0., slapping their 
bands and shouting. 

Q. State whetber this band of men was armed; and, if so, wbat were 
they doing with tbose armsf-A. Tbeyonly had small· arms, sucb as 
pistols. Ijndged from tbe belts some of them I could!'ee had pistols. 

Q. I understand you that some of tbem bad tbeir pistols drawn f-A. 
!lone of them at that time; tbere was a large crowd of colored men be· 
twfen me and them. 

Q. Did you at any other time dnring the day see tbem with tbeir pis· 
tols drawn I-A. Only wben we were in the room trying to organize the 
hoanI and elect a clerk. 

Q. Yon stated that You left the place about twelve o'clook ; where 
did yoo go to then !-A. I went from there home. 

Q. Did you go directly from the poll home f-A. Not exactly. 
Q. State wbether or not you were pursued after lea.ving the polls '-A. 

ID about two miles from the polls I carne to Mr. Deloach's field; there 
was a woman alld some children picking pease; this woman said to me, 
!OQ better not go t.hrough this fil:'lIl, becauRe a crowd of Red Shirts 
p!88ed through bere, and hSked jf I bad seen you, and said they intendt'u 
to kill you if tbey could fiud you this evening. I saw tbree of tbem 
aeross the field; they were going from me. 

Q. Did yon get home before or after dark T-A. I got bome before dark. 
Q. Anu is that all yon know about tbe election !-A. That is all. 

Cross.examint'd by Mr. B. Betts for contestant. 
Q. Was not the 7tb of November last a dark, cloudy morning ~-.A. 

Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you have a watcb !-A. No, sir. . 
Q. Could you see the sun shiniug Y-A. No, sir. 
Q. How did you know then the time of day it was when yon reached 

lIr. Holtewanger's store I-A. On the morning of the election, I stopped 
al a hoo~ wb"re they hild a clock; tbe man of the hous6 said it was half 
afttr foor. 

Q. What was this man's name t-A. I think his name was Silas 
Brown. 

Q. How far did yon live on tbe day of election from Holtewanger'g 
store I-A. About five miles. 

Q. Did you go directly from borne to the polls Y-A. I did, except 
I'bl'D I IStol)ped at Mr. ~ilas Brown's houRe. 

Q. Doesllr. Silas Brown live on the 1II08t direct road from yo or bOllse 
to ~lr. Holtewanger's store T-A. He does. . 

Q. How far does Silas Browu live from your hOllse '-A. Two ruil('s 
and three.qllnrters . 
. Q. Yon say, in going frOID your house by Silas Brown's, the distance 
~ aboot five miles.-A. About five miles and a half. 

Q. Uould you see well wben you got to Holtewanger's store f-A. 
About a bnndre<lyards. 

Q. Did yon go right on from Silas Brown's house, or did you stop 
there f-A. I stopped tbere about a half·honr. 

Q. It had been day some time when you got to Holtewanger's store, 
had it not f-A. Day broke ou me abont a mile of the place. 

Q. Yon say that you left Brown's house about one hour and a half 
bl.'tore day !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Brown's house wa.."\ about two miles and a half from Holtewangel"13 
~tore, was it not 1-A. Yes; I tbink about that. 

H. Mis. 11--19 
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Q. As day broke on yon when yon were within a mile of Holtewanger's 
store, must yon not have been an hour and half trl\\"'eling a mile and a 
qnarter '-A. I thiuk I was about tbat. 

Q. You traveled the same speed all the way from Silas Browu's to 
Holtewang~r's store !-A. I did nutil day broke. 

Q. How were yon travelingt-A. Walking. 
Q. Did you run after day broke, or did you increase or dimillish yoor 

Sl)t'ecJ I-A. I walked as fast again. 
Q. When yon came iu sight of Holtewanger'1J store did the crowd whom 

yon tlaw there in front of bis Mtore leave their position or not f-A. Tbey 
did. 

Q. Did all the crowcllea\'e !-A. I think all left except Capt. J. H. 
BrookR Rnd WilIialD IIoltewanger. 

Q. Were you in front of the men with you or behind th"lm f-A. I was 
walking by the side of them. 

Q. Was anybody between yoo and the crowd at Holtenwanger's 
storeY-A. ThelJe colored men who were witb me werf'. 

Q. Was the crowd at the store not standing in front of the store f­
A. When I first saw them they were. 

Q. How far were yoo frOID them when yoo first saw them I-A. Aboot 
hvo hnndred yards. 

Q. Oonld yoo tell whether they were white or colored men when yon 
first saw them I-A. Wben I got in a hondred yar(ls of them I coold. 

Q. Yon came within a hundred yards of them before they moved, did 
you uoU-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did the road by which yoo went If'Rd directly np in front of the 
st01'e T-A. It does not, bot passes by in front. 

Q .. Which way does the hoose frontt-A. Near abont sooth. 
Q. Then the road runs north aud sooth I-A. It rOils sootheast and 

northwest. 
Q. Is the store north or south of the road '-A. North. 
Q. Your men came op thA road, walking in a column, and you at their 

Aide, did they noU-A. Tbey came op in no military position; they 
werc walking all o\'er the road. 

Q. On which side of the crowd were yoo I-A. On the sooth side. 
Q. 'Vere you at the front or rear end I-A. About middle way of 

tbe men. 
Q. Tben yo or men walked op between yoo aO(I the crowd at the store, 

did they nott-A. The crowd at the store came mooting os, except two. 
Q. How many of ~'our mt'n were between you aud tbe crowd of white 

men when yoo mett-A. About the time the crowds met my crowd 
stopped, and I walked round in front. 

Q. How close did the white men come to you I-A. Right op to os; 
some of them among us. 

Q. Ooold you see them good !-A. I did. 
Q. That was the time, tilt'n, tbat you lJaw the pi8tols in their belts 

which you alluded to ill yc.ur direct examination, was it not I-A. About 
that time and after that time. 

Q. Yoo said in your direct testimony that when yoo, coming op to 
the stort', saw tbe crowd of Democrats there, yoo saw pistols io their 
belts; did yoo not allude to the time yoo met them I-A. That was tbe 
time I alluded to. 

Q. You 11180 @aid that a~ tbat time (the time yon met them on tbe 
road) YOIl coold not see whether the Democrats had l)iAtols in their 
baudlJ because your colored wen were in front of yoo. :Sow, yon say 
tbilt yoo walked around to the front of your men, where yoo coold see 
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the men well. Tell us how it was that you could be in front of your 
colored men where yon could see the white men well, so well that you 
conld see pistols in their bt>lts. and yet tbat your colored men should 
still be between you and the white Dlen, so much so that you could not 
see whether they had }>istols or not in t.heir hands !-A. Tbere was 
nothing to prevent me from seeing them after walking around the col· 
orM men. 

Q. Did you see the pistols after you walked around, or before T-A. 
Aftpr I walked around. 

Q. Uould you see them before you walked around !-A. I did not see 
tbem ulltil after I walked around. 

Q. Did you not say in your direct examination that at the time you 
saw the pistols in their helts your colored men were in front of l·oU ,­
A. I, after walking aroulld in front of my men, S8W some of the white 
men walking tbrough tbe crowd witb pistols in their bands, cursing me, 
and sollie of them, and saying what they were going to do with us. 

Q. Were tholle men who came with you not nnder yoor direction and 
control T-A. They were. 

Q. Did they 1I0t have clubs in their bandR f-A. Nothing more than 
ordinary·sized walking-sticks. 

Q. Did the crowd of wbite men remain in front of the door when yon 
wellt in the IItore-with tbe otber managers T-A. Tbey did; alld on tbe 
piazza, as thick as they could stand. 

Q. After you went into the store you wellt into a small room at the 
side of the store. Did that small room not bave a window on tbe south 
side, and was that window not closed !-A. There was no window on 
the south side; there was a door. 

Q. Did you go ilt at that dood-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you close the door '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q_ You conld not see the crowd after you went in the small room!­

A. Not after I went in aud closed the door. 
Q. Did tht'l other managers go in the room before you, or did you go 

in tirst!-A. We all started at once, but I do not remember who en­
tered tbe door first. 

Q. As you went in you shut the door, did yon not !-A. I did. 
Q. Did you or one of the other managers shu t it t-A. I did; and 

fastened it. 
Q. Did you look back at the crowll in front of the dood-A. Not 

aftt'r I started ill the ruom. 
Q. Did not all the Democrats crowd around the door t-A. I heard 

tht'm yelling and walking in the larger store, but could not see tb~m. 
Q. Did you see I:\oy of the Democrats while ~·ou were io the room T­

A. None; except the managers and two or three who broko the door 
open. 

Q. You said that while you were in Mr. Deloach's ftehl you saw two 
or three meo with red shirts on; were ~'ou passing through or just out 
of it at the time f-A. Just got io the .field. 

Q. You said in yonr (lirect testimony that you l1aw one or two guns in 
the store-room in which you held the election; did you look at them to 
see what kind were they T-A. Since thinking of it. there were two piles; 
but bow many were in the piles I don't know. Tbey looked like they 
had been lately put there. I had been in the store before, and had not 
eeen them. 

Q. How many guns, about, did you see in those piles T-A. I can't 
say how maoy; about seventy-five or a hundred. 

Q. You say you had been in the store otten before that time '-A. 
About once a month during the year. 
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Q .. Had you e\"('r looked to see if those guns were there before I-A. I 
hall not until that day. 

Q. Wb~n those two or three men broke open the door to the small 
room at the side of the house, did they not get out of tile door before 
JOu Ipi't the room I-A. They did. 

Q. You say that your crowd had walking,sticks when they came up 
to the store; how many of them had stickK I-A. About nine or teo. 

Q. Were they fresh cut 1 - A. I remember seeing olle of them cut ODe 
before he got there. 

Q. You said in your direct testimony th'lt some men rode np to the 
store, and you heard some one halloo, ., There comes our !liewberrr 
cal'alry;" did Sou see the man who amid that f-A. I saw him. 

Q. Do you know his Dlnne I-A. I know his given name. 
Q. What is his giveu uame '-A. They call him Calvin. 
Q. Was he a Democrat or Republican I-A. He was a D~mocrat Dig' 

gl'r; I saw him ,'ote. 
Q. Do you know bow many votes were polled there that day before 

you left T-A. 1 don't lmow uny more thau wha.t the clerk told me, and 
as regards the colored men who came with me! I guess their ,'otes were 
all right; and ns many more came with tbe Rl'}>nblican supervisor; tbey 
all voted except two, who were challeuged because they were nol of 
age. 

Q. Bow many votes did the clerk tell you had been polled before yon 
left there!-A. I think he said two hundred and t.wenty,fin, or thirty 
Republican. 

(J. Ditl you see any other RepoWicans there except your crowd Boot 
those who came with the sl1pervi~or I-A. There was about twenty,lile 
or thirty who come froUl Oambridge; the most of them vo~d. 

Q. There was a large crowd of Democrats tbere in the lDonling wbt'D 

you got there, was there botT-A. Yes; 1 tbink about olle hundred 1111} 
tWt'uty,th-e. . I 

Q. How many Democrat \"OteA did the clerk tell you had lx>en poIlfd 
before YOIl leftt-A. About two hondred and seventy,til'e or eighty: 
somewhere along there. 

Q. The Democrats were ahead, were they not I-A. Yes; in the ny I 
the)' hlld voted they were. I 

Q. Did you e\'er Ret as sberift' of Edgt'field while the Republicans 
were in powert-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did any money e\'er come into your band while YOD were actiDg, 
sht'rilU-A. Yes, sir. i 

Q. What became of that money, ami how much WAS it T-A. I Ifas 
rohUl'd of the largest amount; it was five thousant1 dollars. 

Q. Did you every p"y it back f-A. I lIe"er ha,'e. _ 
Q. Wht're were you robbed, and who did it f-A. About fifteen mJl~ 

abO\'e herl', on the road; don't know who did it. I 

Q. Was there more than one t-A. 1 only suw two, and it was in the 
night. 

Q. Were YOD walking or ridingt-A. Walking. 
Q. How far WIIS you from your home f-A. About eight miles. 
(J. Was anybody with you I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Ha\'e the parties to whom this money was due ever got one 

of it T-A. Not that I know. 
Redirect hy Lawrence Oain : 

Q. You stated you bad no watch on the 7th of No\'cmht>r lasti ca 
you t .. ll ahont wbat time in the morning 6 o'clock comes in ~o\'ember 
A. About a half hour after daylight. 
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Q. How long was it after daylight yon opened the polls a.t Holte­
waoger's store t-A. Wbt.>n I commenced it was not 6 o'clock, Itbink. It 
was ba1f after six before we got the board organized and opened the 
polls. 

Q. You say day broke on yon wben yon were about a mile from the 
8tore; wbat do you mean by day broke t-A. I just could discern day. 

Q. The threat you met when you got there early in the morning, 
how near to the store was itt-A. About se\'enty-ftve yards when we 
met. 

Q. You said in your croRs·examination there were nine or ten sticks 
of ordinary s!ze in your crowd; is this numbfor more tban is usually car· 
ried by a crowd of that size '-A. Nothing like as many as is usually 
carried. 

Q. Therfl were a great many old colored men in your"crowd, were there 
pot t-A. Yes, sir. 

T. P. OARROLL. 
Sworn to before me, tbis, the 28th (lay of March, 1877. 
[SEA.L.J O. S. B. MARSH, 

I ntend.ant. 

In the mattf'r of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congl'ess of the Unit.ed States. 

JA.CKSON PIXLEY, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestee, 
aft.t>r dne notice to contestant, deposl's as follows to questions pro­
potllldro to him by contesl;(>e's attorney: 

QIlt'stion. Wbere do you rp.side '-Answer. Edgt.>field Oounty. 
Q. How far do you live from the court-house t-A. Two wiles and a 

b~t . 
Q. How long hln-e you livt.>d in this county '-A. All my life. 
<l. How old are you f-A. Sixty·two ~-ears old. 
Q. Wbel'e Wfore ~-ou on the 7th of November last, the day of elec-

tioll !-A. At Edgefield Oourt·House. . 
Q. Stute at what time in the morning you reached the court·houSt.>.­

A. About a qnarter before six a. m. 
Q. To which of the two boxes di(l you first go to '-A. To the one at 

tht' conrt,hlluMe, No. 1. 
Q. Stah' if you vot~c1 at the conrt·holl!le that morning; and, if not, why 

not t-A. I (till IIOt "ote; when [ (lame to vote the crowd was so big that 
I could not get to vote. I th~n waited, first and last, nutil ten o'clock and 
:after. I tlt('l1 found there was no chl\lI(\e, and we were ordered up to No. 
~ box. I th!>n staid there until three o'clock and past, trying to vote there. 
I SIlW no chance there; tried har(1. After staying there as stated, we 
""Pore orllered to cOllle back down to No. 1. I tl'ied again h~re to vote, 
and I foolld it the same thing; no chance to do MO. I staid until about 
NlllItlOWIi. I then II II ally ga,'e it up. 1 went down to the barracks; and 
from tht-ra went home. 

Q. Wben you carne down from the school·house that afternoon, were 
there any parties with you; alltI, if so, how many '-A. Over two hun-
tired. I was in the rear of them. • 

Q. State why it is you and that crowd did not vote at the court·hollse 
box ~o. I.-A. When I got along by Mr. Lynch's store, there was such 
a ra~()g of the men at the court-boo'se our men all stopped; and the 
word reached me throogh thfl crowd that there was DO chance of voting. 

Q. What crowd was it raging so f-A. The white people. 
Q. Was this crowd all at the court· house, or all over the street I-A. 

Ou the court· house and all o\'er the street. 
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Q. What did they do '-A. I heard a good deal of carsing. 
Q. Did yoa see any arms among them' If 

~ (Objected to on the grounds of a leading question.) 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were tbese arms guns or pistols '-A. I saw one Remington rifle, 

se\"eral shot-gnns, and lots of pistols. 
Q. What was the position of these arms which you saw'-A. Some 

of tbem were drawn and some were not drawn. 
Q. State at what place you saw these parties with drawn arme.-A. 

At the court-house. 
Q. State whether you were with the crowd wbo started with Mr. John 

Sheppard to the court-house.-A. I was not with the crowd. 
Q. You say you did not get to vote that day T-A. No, sir; I haye 

got my tickl't in my pocket now. 
Q. If you had votp.d would you ha"e \"oted for G. D. Tillman or Rob­

ert Smalls Y-A. j<'or Mr. Robert Smallg. 
Q. Yon spoke of there being a crowd on the court· house steps. 'Vere 

these white or colored men '-A. White men-next to tbe court-house. 
Q. State whether these lllen were on horses or not.-A. Some on hortlt"d 

and some on foot. 
Q. How near to the court· bouse steps were their horses standing ,­

A. Very close up, on tbe side next to the jail. 
Q. You also spoke of a crowd being at No.2. Was there any white 

men in this crowd '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State whetber they wele mounted or not.-A. Some were on horses 

and some on foot; most of them on borses. 
Q. How near to the school-bouse door were their horses stalldingf-

A. Tbey were all round in front till the Yankees back eel tbem out. 
Q. Did you see any fire-arms ill that crowd T-A. Yes, tlir. 
Q. Were they guns 01' pistols f-A. All pistols, tbat I saw. 
Q. What were tbey doing with tbeil'pistols T-A. Some bad t.hem out 

and som" did not. 
Q. State now, Mr. Pixley, wbetber or not yon were QS8Ralt .. d by any 

Democrats previous to the election; and if so, by whom, and where at.­
A. About the 14th of October I was going to a m~ meeting here; iust 
before I got to the two·mile post, a couple of mell, riding horsel>al:k, 
one lIawed Frank Sbarpton, halted me, jammed me in the corner of the 
fence, and asked me if I had a pistol; I told him, ,. No, sir." I told him 
I had not toted one in torty yeJU's; he said I was a dOOln liar; he then 
snatched my coat npt'n to search rue. I had two knives to butcher 
with; he robbed me of them; he searched me tbree tirul's before I got 
home. Olle of the party took my stick from rue. I wag crippll'tl in my 
back and knee; one of them struck me on my arm; there was a dozen 
in the crowd; did not know who he WilS. 

Q. Did they say anything to you abont your politics '-A. Yes, sir; 
t.bey askt'd me who I was going to vote for; I tolll them I diJ not knuw 
that I should vote for anybody, and olle of the part,y called me a damn 
liar; some of them then said tbat I would vote for Cbaml>erlain. I told 
them if J could not \"ote quietly I did not know that 1 wonld vote for 
anybody. They said so many wonhl to me I don't remember all they 
said abusing me. They tried to make me give my name that I would 
\"ote tbe Democrat ticket; I contended against it, and would not give 
my name; they then ma.de me get up behind one on hig horse. I sur­
rendered very kindly to them. I asked them please let me go home to 
my family, that I was crippled and not well; about that tillle Mr. Gus 
White came np; told them to let rue alone. He said he had known me 
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for six years; said I was a good old neighbor who never tronbled any­
body. Tbey rode me on then np to my gate, something over a half 
mile, and they pnt me down; I went home. . 

Q. Did they have pistols. and if so, how T-A. They drew them and 
presented them right at my body. Never felt death nigher. 

Cross examined by lIr. Betts, attorney for contestant: 
Q. Do yon 110t live on land known 8S the promise land f-A. Yes, sir· 
Q. Did tbe Republican party not let you bave that land 'f-A. Yes, 

&ir; the State government did. 
Q. Did they not ll:'t you have it on credit, and how long f-A. Yes; 

eight years • 
. Q. Havl:' yon paid anything on it yet '-A. Yes, sir; some of the 
IDterest. 

Q. How mnch interest have you paid T-A. I do not remember. 
{l. Did you have any property before you bonght this land from the 

State government administered hy the Republican party f-A. No, sfr. 
Q. Did yon giVI:' the State government auy secnrity for tbe purcha..~­

mon('l~-and interest on it T-A. They beld the land nnder mortgage until 
paid for. I gave them no security. . 

Q. Dill any other persons purcbase lands from the State on the same 
terms as yon did f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. About how many of them T-A. There were seven hnndred acres 
orland cut np in twenty-five-acre lots, and several parties purchased. 

Q. Do yon know of Rny other tracts of' lanel bought by tbl:' State and 
sold on those terms I-A. Yes; Mr. Burnes, lIr. John 'Yalker, and lIr. 
Whit Jennings's tracts were so bought and tlillposed of. 

Q. !bont what si2-6 were these last three tracts f-A. Don't know. 
Q. Do yon know whether any of the other parties who purchased 

land from the State government ha\'e paid for it or not f-A. Don't know. 
Q. Bow many Yl'ars since YOll bonght that land T-A. About se\'en. 
Q. Did yon pay the interest on the money last year !-A. Don't think 

I did. 
Q. Why did yon not !-A. The dronght and losses on my crop was so 

8e\'l're I could not. 
Q. Did yon pay the year before last !-A. I don't remember. 
Q. Tell us bow ~ny times you remember to have paid on that land. 

-A. Think I have I)aid three times. 
Q. Bow mnch intt>rellt do you pay t-A. I do not know how mnch; 

I think I have paid fifty.od(l dollars. 
Q. Tell me who yon paid it to.-A. Mr. Wolley got the best part. 
Q. Whom did you pay the rest to !-A. Think I paid sollle to )Ir. 

Caio. 
~. Did yon tell Mr. Cain that it was interest '-A. I. paid some as 

pnncipal and some as interest; don't recollect telling Mr. Oain that I 
'"as payillg' for the land. 

Q. How came yon to pay it to Mr. Cain !-A. He was sent ronnd by 
the land·agent to collect. . 

Q. Bow do yon know that T-A. He tolel me so . 
• Q. Yon say that you went frolll the court-house to box No.2 on the 
.tb of~ovember, about ten o'clock; did yon not go with a file of United 
States soldiers I-A. I went on a little ahead of them. 

Q. Yon say.these soldiers backed the crowd away from the school­
hnuse door; did they have guns in their hands and bayonets on their 
gnos '-A. Yes, si r. 

Q. How did they back the crowd back 7-A. I could not say, but they 
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wpnt in near the door and formed a sort of a square, and the soldiers 
walked Dp and down the line. 

Q. Did YOD see many men leave there after the soldiers came there' 
-A. ~ome wbite meD left and some staid; in fact a great many left, and 
a great many staid. 

Q. YOD say the soldiers were walking op and down in a line in front 
of the door; did a crowd of men press up close to the soldiers t-A. 
Yes, sir. . 

Q. Were not the most of that crow(} who pressed Dl' together Dear 
the soldier!'! in front of the door, colored men I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you see any wbite man in that thick crowd that was crowded 
up close to tbe soldiers in front of the door I-A. Not in front of the 
door. 

Q. Was the crowd not a large one-t'ery denset-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. After tbe soldiers wellt thpre did voters pass by them going to 

'\"ot~ at their pl«'>8snre, or were they pointed at before they paAAed the 
soldiers f-A. They were not allowed to go as they pleased; tbf'Y were 
pointe!) ont by the soldiers and went in teu at 1\ time. 

Q. Did not the voters go principally, in fact almost entirely, from the 
deuse crowd in front of the soldiers when they went into tbe scbool­
house to votet-A. Yes, thpy callie in that way. 

Q. You say after you staid at box No.2 a long time you got orders to 
come back to the court·house. Did YOD not act under Colollel Cain'g . 
orders that day f-A. I did, late in· the evening. 

Q. You say that yon came from the school-honse in the rear of about 
two hundred. Was Blis Mills and Myer Weldon in that crowd t-A. I 
think 80. 

Q. Which way did yon come wh«.>D yon came from the school· house to 
the eonrt-honset-A. Down l\Iain street. 

Q. Did you come all th~ way down Main street I-A. I did, as far a8 
the corner of Mr. Cheatham's store. 

Q. Did the crowd remain in frout of you until yon got to Mr. Cheatham's 
stol'e f-A. A great many of them did. 

Q. Were you standing in front of Mr. Cheatbam's store, or in front of 
the all~y by 1\11'. LYllcb's '-A. I was stauding near the corner of Mr. 
Chentbaw's store, lIear tbe alltoy. 

Q. Were tbecrowd ofm«.>nwhom yon spoke of in your direct teRtimony 
as baving guns and pistols, when yon came to the coUlt-house in the 
('\-ening, betwt'en you and the court-house, or were they in the all~y !-A. 
I IIp\·<<.>r saw any iu the alley. 

Q. Did the crowd of colored men who came in frout of yoo to Mr. 
Cbeatham's store remain ill front of you as long as YOD staid tbere !-A. 
Tbe greatest portion of the timp. 

Q. Do YOD .know tbe name of Rny person in the crowd between yoo 
aud the court· bouse, or upon the court-bouse tltel's, wbolD yoo ImW ba\'6 
a gun that day, or a pi!'!tol f-A. ~ 0, sir; not particular. 

Q. About how long did it take yon to come from the school· house that 
(,\"«'>Iling to Mr. Cbeatham'K store f-A. About tweuty-fit'e minDtes. 

Q. Which way did you go whell you left tbere t-A. I went bome. 
Q. Did YOD set' a crowd of armed men block the alley!-A. No, sir; 

I did not pay any attention to the aUey but kept my eyes in front 
of me. . 

Q. Were YOD standing in front of the alley by Mr. Cheatbam's store!­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Could you have seen down tbe alley if you had looked !--A. 
Yes, sir. 
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Q. Did yoo hear any corsing down there to attraot yoor attention 1-
A. No, sir. 

Q. You said in your direct testimony that the crowd of horsemen near 
the court-house were standing to the left of the steps. Was there not a 
crowd of footmen in front of the court-house steps I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Are you a butcher f-A. Have been thirty years. 
Q. Why is it you carry butcher·knives to public meetings; do you 

butcher there I-A. Sometimes; I get jobs around town so,netimes. 
Q. Yon said there was about a dozeo men with Mr. Frank Sharpton 

when he took your knives away from you f-A. There was; Mr. Gus 
White was the head man. 

Q. Did those men see lIr. Sharpton back you np in the corner of the 
felice I-A. They came np afterwards. 

Q. How many of thf'm were with him f-A. One other. 
Q. Bow far were the rest of the crowd from you f-A. About two 

hundred yards, bothering with a drunkeu man in the l'oad-one pf their 
own crowd. 

Q. They were drinking, were they not I-A. Yes, sir; one or two badly 
drunk; I saw one or two fall off on the grouod. 

Q. Did you se-e any of them take a driuk I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did they offer you a drink f-A. No, sir. . 
Q. Tbe.\" took you up on a horse and carried you home to your gate f-

A. Yes, sir. . 
Q. Did Mr. Gos White aod his crowd, SOOI1 after Mr. Sharpton backed 

yon up in the ftm::e, come up to where you was '-A. Yas, sir. 
Q. Did he let them trouble you '-A. He told them not to, but they 

did; they hit me one lick. 
Q. When you got to the court·house early in the tnorning, was there 

not snch l\ crowd in front of you that Sou could not get to the box to 
vote f-A. There was. 

Q. Was the crowd oot going up aDd down I-A. Now and then I saw 
some white men going up and down. 

Q. When you went over to the s(~hool·house, were you not kept from 
voting because there was sucb 1\ big crowd of colored men before you 
that you could not get to tbe box: to vote I-A. Colored and white men 
before meo. . 

Q. Were not colored men crowde-d up immediately in front of yon ,­
A. I did not stay in one place; I moved about. 

Q. Everywbere you went YOli found a crowd before you I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. SometimeK tbat crowd would be white, and sometimes colored men, 

would tbey nott-A. Yes, s~r. 
Q. Do you think you would have voted that day if there had not been 

8Ueb a crowd you could Dot get to the poll '-A. If they had got out of 
the way as they voted, I belie\"e I would. 

Q. Wheo they voted they go and get in the way, would they Dot'­
A. It looked so to me. 

Q. It W88 at the school·homre that you saw the men doing this '-A. I 
saw them vote and stand aronnd in the orowd. 

Q. Yon said yoo Raw very few vote at box No.1, did yon not t-A. 
Yee, sir; the crowd was so thick 1 could uot see. 

Q. So far as you could see did they not start early in the morning, and 
vote rapidly all day, at Edgefield Village until the polls was closed ,­
A. Could not tell particularly; they stood packed, and worked in and 
oot slowly all day. 

Redirect, by Lawrence Onin : 
Q. In your cross·examination you stated that at the school· house ten 
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men were pointed at a time. Was this man counting them, or was he 
s~lecting them !-A. He took the first that came; don't know that he 
counted them. 

Q. Were there at any time any whites with the ten who went in ,­
A. I did not see any whites with tbe black men. 

Q. Yon said yon was acting from orders from Colonel Cain in the 
evening; did you hear him give any orders!-A. I heard you say that 
the best pat:t of them could vote at the court-house, and they had better 
go down there. 

Q. You stated that when yoo made an attempt to vote in the evening 
you reached the corner of Oheatham's store; state why you weDt no 
furtber. 

(Objected to on the gronnds of new matter., 
A. A voice reached me that I could not vote from the front; I beard 

loud cursing and gave back. 
Q. You state that there was a crowd of footmen near tbe court-bouse; 

were they white or colored !-A. White and colored; white men near 
the steps. 

Q. You stated that yon would bave voted wben they got out of the 
way; wbo were tbey!-A. Tbey were wbite men on tbe steps. At one 
time at the court-bouse I tried, amI once at the school-bouse. What I 
saw at the scbool-house 1 saw looking through the window. 

bis 
JACKSON + PIXLEY. 

mark. 

Sworn to oofore me tbis the 26th day of March, 1877. 
[SEA.L.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

IntendaJlt. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

MYEB. WELDON, a witness of legal age~ was introduced by contestee, 
after due notice to contestant, deposes as follows in reference to ques­
tions propounded by attorney for contestee: 

(~ul'Mtion. Wbere do yon reside T-Answer. Edgefield County. 
Q. How long bave you lived ill this county T-A. All my life. 
Q. How old are you !-A. About thirty-two. 
Q. How far do you lh-e from Edgefield Court-Honse T-A. About 

tbree miles. 
Q. Where were you on tbe 7tb of November last, the day of elec­

tion T-A. At Edgefield Oourt-House. 
Q. About what time in the day did you reach the court-hoose f-A. 

About six o'clock in tbe morning. 
Q. To wbich one of the looting-places did you go to first I-A. To Yo.l 

box at the court- house. 
Q. State, now, what condition things were in when you got tbere, 

and wbat came under your observation the entire day.-A. 'Vhen I got 
to box No.1 I expected w VOtl', and tbe box was 80 crowded I did 
not get a cbance. Tbe place where I tbougbt the box was, under the 
court·bousl', it was not there. I waited a good while, still after A while 
General Butler came down out of tbe court-house and said to the United 
States marsbal, "Just let these colored men be easy; tbey sball have a 
chance to vote aftl'r a while; as they have been voting first. all the time 
before, I think we have the right to vote first this time." I still waited 
yet a while, thinking and depending on bis word that I could \"ole 
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after a while. It was my intention to vote and get out of the way 
80 8ft to give others a cha.nce. I still waited, depending on the words 
of General Butler, and it was getting late in the day; it had been 
raining that morning. and I was wet and cold. I thf':n went down to 
some of the neighbors' houses and staid tbere until I got pretty well dry, 
8S warm 8S I could. I came out "'gain, that time to No.1, and when I 
got to No.1 it was no better. About half past ten o'clock the mal1lhal 
ordered a file of soldiers to the school· honse, and I, aft~r seeing the 
801diers and about two or three hundred colored men 1Z0ing, went too, 
thinking I could \"ote there and get out of the way. When I got there 
I found a great crowd there, and I unelertook to press my way through 
tbat crowd. I pressed and pressed and packed, but could not get in, AO 
I fell back anel I went up and tried it! and in that time the way was 80 
crowded with hor@emen tbe marshal brought in ten soldiers and opened 
the way. He would count ten himself and let them go in. I still tried. 
Now, it was getting late, aud I staid there until half }last three o'clock. 
This time Guntoll Cain came up atHi said it was gettiug late, amI said, 
"There a great many of you here, seven or eigbt hundred; I think if 
you, a good many of you, go to the court·house you will get lIo chance 
to vote tbere." I was glad of tfle chance and made my wa~' back, aud I 
was coming up the street, I got in about one hundred and fift.y yards of 
the court-house, and by this time General Butler had lIo crowd of red 
IIhirts, and they had crossed the street, and he rode right up to me and 
said, "Whare is LaureJlce Cain!" I said, "He has gone on to bis 
hoose." He said, "Could not you vote at tbe school·honse '" I then 
turned to tbe right; he went to Colonel Cuin's honse ami then said, "If 
you did not \'ote tbere Sou cannot vote bere. I don't propose to bave 
any more fooling about it. I intend to have a conple of rounds." I 
went 011 the") und just 8S I got to the house I saw Colonel Cain and Mr. 
John Sbeppard talking; then he called us, lColonel Cain,) he said •• , l\lr. 
t)beppard, these men have not voted." And he (Mr. Sbeppard) Raid, 
"Ar~ ,you certain of it'" CRin said, "I believe it." And Mr. Sheppard 
said, "Who has not voted t" I pulled out my ticket and showed it, 
with se"eral others. and Mr. Sheppard said follow me, and Mr. Oain 
said follow him. We followed him op to the end of tbe street, and 
wben we got there his brotber, Dr. Sbeppard, halted us and said, "These 
mell have voted over to the scbool-house." And he pulled out his pistol 
and saiel, "Damned if you can vote her~, tben." We turned and went 
back to the school-house witb a crowd. I staid there until six o'clock, 
then returned to Colonel Cain's bouse. He asked me bad 1 voted; 
I told him I had IIOt; told me, weIl, go on home, I had done my duty. 
I went then on hOlDe. 

Q. You did not lCet to vote tbat day'-A. No, sir. 
Q. When yon met Dr. Sheppard you saill he pulled out bis pistol. 

Were there any other parties with bim; did they ha"e pistols and draw 
them'-A. Yes; there was a crowd with him. I did not see their 
pistols. 

Q. Was this crowd with bim wbite or colored men '-A. They were 
white men. 

Q. State whether anyone said to you tbat day tbat you could vote if 
you would vote a certain way.-A. I was at the school-bouse wben Mr. 
Swarenllen said to me, " You call go and vote if you will vote the Demo· 
crat ticket; vote for Hampton, who is an honest man." I said to him I 
would ratber vote my own ticket. 

Q. Had you been allowed to vote, would you have voted for Tillman 
or lor Smallsf-A. I would have voted for Robert Smalls. 
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Q. State, now, whetber you saw any other white men with gnDs, 
pistols, or other weapons tbat day on the streett-A. 1 saw one "'bite 
mau with one of these Remington rifies, bnt do not know who be wus. 

Q. When you were met by Dr. Sbeppard and his crowd RDd tnrned 
back, what did l\Ir. Sheppard (who was leading) say or dot-A. Be 
turne(t round and said to us, "If yon have voted, why have you come 
here!" and his brother said to bim, "Yon are too damn smart, any­
how." 

Cross· examined by Mr. Bettes for contestant: 
Q. At what time of day did you get to box No.1 !-A. Abont six 

o'clock in the morning. 
Q. What was the crowd doing wben you reached box No.1 f-..A.. 

Th«.>y were going up and down the steps. I think the.v were VOtill~. 
Q. 'When di(l you leave the court·hollse '-A. At half past ten o'c:lock. 
Q. Who CRllle to the court·ltoul'le with you T-A. A good crowd. 

G{'orge Frazier, Will Landram, Ned Simkins, Barney Perry, Mose Pixley, 
and a great mallY more I dOIl't remember. 

Q. Did all of this crowd go nnder tbe court· bouse steps with you !-
A. The biggest pal't of them did. • 

Q. Do you remember to have seen PleasAnt Mills in the crowd '-A­
Yes, sir. 

Q. Did he come there with tlJe crowd f -A. I think he came tbere 
with the crowd. 

Q. Do you remember seeing him in the crowd before you reached the 
court·bouse'-A. I think he was in the crowd. 

Q. Did Pleasant Mills remain with the crowd and go under the court 
steps with them or nott-A. There was Ruch a crowd I cannot t.ell. 

Q. You tlaid you went with the solditws over to box No.2. Were you 
halted ou the way when you were going to No. 2!-A. No, sir. 

Q. You say when you got to the scbool·house YOll found a great crowd 
there, and pressed and I'relltlecl and could not get through the crowd t4> 
vote. What kind of men were those whom you were trying to press 
through '-A. The crowd on horseback. 

Q. 'Vere JOU interrnpted at any time while on your way to the school­
house with the soldiers I-A. I don't rewembt>r it. 

Q. You said that the marshal would count ten men himRelf and let 
them go in to vote at the school·house. What time of day did be com· 
mp.nce amI how long did he contiuue it !-A. As near as ] cau recollect, 
it was about twelve o'clock, aud continued as long itS I staid there. 

Q. Did the marshal not go over there with the soldlersT-A. I tbink 
he did, sir. 

Q. Did he commence counting the ten men who were to vote 8S ~00l~ 
as he got there !-A. As soon us he could make the arrangements after 
he got there. ' 

Q, Did he connt the men before they started in or aftE'r they started!­
A. One at a tiwe came out of the crowd, and counted them, let them in. 

Q. Were not United States soldiers standing before the crowd to keep 
them hack t-A. They did. 

Q. Were these men pointed at before they passed the soldiers or 
not f-A. They were. 

Q, Did the man who pointed at them have a sword or noU-A. I 
think so. ' 

Q. How long di<I you stay at box No.2 t-A. Abont half past three 
in the evening. 

Q. Who came back with you, and abont bow many I-A. Two hundred 
Bnd fifty or three hundred. 
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Q. Do you remember whether or not PIes. Mills was in thatcrowd!­
A. I am certain he was ill that crowd. 

Q. When General Butler met you with this crowd of "red shirt8," 
could you st>e the court·house T-A. Yes; I saw it, and the steps were 
crowded with people from bottom to top. 

Q. Were these men on the steps not apparently waiting to vote !-A. 
They were speaking, and Mr. Sht>})pard said, "We have got the election 
fairly; dismount your hor8t>s and dt'fend your l'ights." 

Q. Which way did you go wben you Illet General Butler t-A. Down 
the street to 00100t>1 Cain's bous~. 

Q. Ditl you go dowu the cross· street to Colonel Cain's, by Mr. HoI· 
1011'S Ator~ !-A. Yes, sir. , 

Q. Did Pies. Mills go with you T-A. Y(>s, sir. 
Q. Was Uolont'l Cain wit.h you when you saw Mr. John Sheppard!­

A. He went on in front and was talking to him when we saw him. 
Q. Where were MI'. John Sheppard and Colonel Uain standing talking 

wben you saw them T-A. In the streett between Colonel Oain's house 
80cl tbe barra~kM. . 

Q. WasPletl. MiIlM in the cro\nl wben you w(>ut up to wbE"re.Jobn Shep. 
pard anel Uolonel Cain were talking '-A. I am certain he W8S. 

Q. How many wcre in the crowd with yon at that time f-A. About 
fifty orsixty •. 

Q. Did Uolonel Cain pick out of tbat crowd of fifty or sixty and send 
tbem anywheref-A. He did. 

Q. Was it before or after Mr. Sheppard left your crowd !-A. He bad 
left our crowd and was at the court·holltle speaking. 

Q. Wht'n Mr. Sheppard said" follow me," tlitl he lead you back np tbe 
8treet by Colonel Uain's house and turn in the cro8l!l·street toward Mr. 
Bolson's store !-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did he notleRtl you in atlirectl.V opposite direction towarel tbe court· 
house and carry you hy the barracks t-A. lie startt'd in an opposite di· 
rection from Uolonel Cain's house, but turned up the alley to tbe street 
leading to the court-house, between Lynch'~ and Cheatham's store. 

Q. Did be lead yon up that alley !-A. Yel!, sir. 
Q. How many men were with you when yon met Mr. Sheppard be· 

tween Mr. Lynch's and Mr. Uheatbam's store I-A. About fifty of us at 
tbat time. 

Q. How many lDen besides Mr. Sheppard did you see have pistolsf­
A. I saw his pit!to\, but saw no others. 

Q. Were you in a position to see tbe men around him in the street 
wbo were IWXt to your Cl'owtl Y-A. I saw a good many with him. 

Q. Do JOu think you would have seen their pistols if they had had 
the III in their hands '-A. I tbink I coultl have st'en tbem. 

Q. Did those men form a line across tbe street who were witb Dr. 
Sheppard or not T-A. Tbey were in a crowd. 

Q. Was PIes ~Iills in the crowd with you wben you went up to where 
Dr.8ht'PI)ard was standing T-A. YAS, sir; he was in the crowd. 

Q. 'Vas he in front of yoo or not f-A. He was walking by my side. 
Q. Was anybody between you and Dr. SbePl,ard but Mr. John Shep· 

pard '-A. No, sir. 
Q. 'Vas Mr. Jobn Sbeppard any more before you tban he was before 

PIl'sl\tillsf-A. I can only say be was in front. 
Q. Did he obstruct your view'-A. He did not obstruct my view. I 

saw Dr. Sbeppard and bis men plainly. 
Q. When Dr. Sheppard drew his pistol wbere did your crowd go ,­

A. We went to Colonel Uain's,Rnd be sent twel\"e of U8 back to try again 
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at No.1 box, and found Mr. John Sheppard speaking on the court­
house steps. 

Q. Did you see Dr. Sheppard the .second time you came back '-A. I 
did not see bim. 

Q. Was Pies Mills in this crowd of twelve men sent back the second 
time '-A. Yes, sir. I RIO certain be was in the crowd. 

Q. What prevented you from voting the second time t-A. The 8t'Co 
ond time I came around by the barracks the red-shirts told me we could 
not· come there, and then I returned to the school-house. 

Q. When you got to the school-house this time. why di(1 yon not 
vote '-A. The crowd of white and colored people waS' so great that I 
could not get to the polls. 

Q. J)id you at any time during the dRY go in a crowd of men witb 
Pies Mills by Oolonel Cain's, boose op the cross-street by Mr. Holsen's 
store, and WitS met at the end of the street, by Mr. Hoisen'ti store, by an 
armed body of men who had a gUll or pistols or not '-A. I don't think 
I did. 

Redirect: 
Q. You say wben you went to tbe school-house iu the morning' that 

you met a large crowd there. State if there were any white DeDlocrat8 
in this crowd and if they were mounted.-A. There was a large crowd 
of mounted white men there. 

Q. State if these Ulell were armed and if they made any display with 
their gons or pistols. 

(Objected to by. attorney for contestant on the ground of new matter.) 
A. In the morning when 1 was there I saw a young man come ridiog 

up with a gon and 1 saw pisto)~ in thAir hands. 
Q. Did you know any of that crowd with pistols in their hands '-A. 

I saw Jerry Gardner with a pistol in his hand, and others 1 did Dot 
know. 

Q. State whether or not yon, and other colored men in company with 
you, met at any time during the day an armed body. 

Question recalled. 
MYER WELDON. 

Sworn to before me this the 26th day of March,1877. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARCH 

I"tendaat. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

LEVY H. GRAHAM, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestee, 
on doe notice to contestant, deposes as follo\\'s to qnestions propounded 
to him: 

Qnestion. Where do you live T-Answer. Cooper's Township, Edge-
field County. 

Q. How 101lg have you lived in the connty I-A. About two years. 
Q. Are yon a Dative of this State T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How olll are you I-A. Twenty-two years old. 
Q. Where were you on November 7 last., the day of the election!­

A. At Holtewanger's store some portion of the day. 
Q. Were you connected with the election in any way'-A. Yes, sir. 

I was a manager. 
Q. What time on the morning of the 7th did you reach Holtewanger's 

store T-A. About six or a little before. 
Q. What was the condition of things when you arrived tbere '-A. 
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When I arrived at the polls we were met by a gang of red.shirters, 
yelling and singing that "We will bang Tom Carroll on a sour apple 
tree." 

Q. Did thi8 gang say anything to you T-A. The first thing I heard 
them say was, "Damn if we should hold any election there." 

Q. Did they have any fire·arms I And, if so, state what position those 
arms were in.-A. They had fire·arms in the back part of the store 
where we held the poJIs. 

Q. Did that gang that you mC"t bil.ve any arms; if so, what did they 
do with them T-A. Yes, sir. When I and the other Republican mana­
ger entered tbe house we were Olet by some of them with revolvers in 
their hands. We then went to the Democratic manager anrl spoke to 
him, and told him we wish he wonld try to quiet his people, his men, in 
order that we Dlay organize the board of managC"rs, and proceed to the 
election. His reply was tbat be did not care whether there was any 
election held there or not; t.hat was his first reply. We then spoke to 
the owner of the store, Mr. Holtewanger, all(l got the privilege to go in 
the room to organize the board. 

Q, At what time did yon open the pol1s.-A. Abont six or after. 
Q. Did you stay in that room all day, where you held the poll that 

dllY T-A.. No, sir. . 
Q. How long did yon stay there I-A. I think I staid there nntil one 

or two o'clock. 
Q. Why did you leave the polling·place at that time I-A. Because we 

were threatened by the Democrats, that would mob us if we did not 
agree to let tlH'm ,'ote just 8S they pleased. 

Q. Did you see auy gUlls in this room where you held the polls T-A 
Yes, sir; they were pointed out to us; and tbey said if we did not do as 
they wanted us to do they would use them. 

Q. What kind of guns did you see T-A. Some double·barrel shot­
guns and rifles, and 1 think some sixteen·shooters among them. 

Q. About how many guns did you see in that room T-A. I think there 
WAS about seventy·five or eighty. 

Q. When you left the polling-place at 3 o'clock did you return any 
more that dayT-A. No, sir. . 

Q. Did you not, as manager, certify to the returns of the election at 
Holtewanger's store T-A. No, sir, I did 1I0t. 

Q. What was the name of the other Republican manager T-A. 
Thomas P. Oarroll. 

Q. State wbether he left the polling·pJacA before you did T-A. Yes, 
sir, he left first. 

Q. What was the name of the Democratic manager for that box !-A. 
Daniel H. Tompkin8. 

Q. Then you left him alone f-A. Yes,8ir. 
Q. Did you inform him that you did not intend to retnrn !-A. I did 

not; I thought it nnwise to do so for my own personal safety. 
Q. Did you notice any person voting under assumed name8 there that 

day I-A. Yes, sir; a great many did. 
Q. State, if you can, 80me of their names, (assumed.)-A.. Mr. Pierce 

Mathews voted a8 T. J. Delong; Mr. A. J. A. Bell only gave his name 
as Alfred Bell; Mr. Abner Cleg voted as Henry Jackson. Those are all 
the parties I can name. Uur clerk was a Democrat; and a grt'at many 
would not give any name at all. In fact we, the managers, challenged 
several; asked them if they were residents of this county; they said to 
U8 it was none of our damn busines8. 

Q. Bow would the clerk manage to get their name8 ou the poll-list if 
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tbey would not gh-e anyY-A. We saw several of them holding up tbeir 
bauds and showing so many fingers. I was V&y close to the clerk and 
noticed him a great deal; and it was said by several of them if I did 
not quit noticing the clerk they intended to blow my brains out. 

Q. Diu you have to desist 7-A. Yes. 
Q. State whether you are acqoainted with Messrs. Bell, Mathews, and 

Cleg.-A. Never was introduced to them, but know them when I see 
them. 

Q. Are you very well acquainted in tbat neighborhood l-A. 0, yes, 
sir j very well acquainted in that neighborhood. 

Q. State whether you noticed many strangers there tbat day.-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. Did these strangers vote there that day before yon left 7-A. A 
great mauy of them did. 

Cross-examiued by George D. Tillman: 
Q. 011 wholle land did ~'ou Ih-e tbell, and on wbORe land do yon lil"e 

now 7-A. John R. Tolbert's land, on the day of election, and do yet. 
Q. Is that laod in Ahbeville or Edgefield Oouuty 7"':"'A. [0 Edgefield 

. County. 
Q. 00 whose land (tid Tom Carroll live at the time of tbe election f­

A. On Mr. Donevent's. 
Q. You said you had been in Edgefield abont two years; from wbat 

county in the State did you come wheo you settled in Edgefield Oounty f 
-A. From Newberry Connty .. 

Q. You stated that they said you should not hold any election at 
Hottewanger's store. Who said so f-A. Mr. Eldrid S. Addison said 80 
for ooe, and a great many I did not pay any attentiou to; they were 
all around in a crowd. 

Q. Cannot you give us tbe name of anyone otber man who Mid 80 f­
A. I did not pay any attention to them, because we were looking for 
them to fire upon us every minute from the way they were going on. 

Q. You mention that you saw Reventy-five or eighty gu II II. Were 
they in the store behind the counter or in the room f-A. '.rhey were in 
the store. 

Q. Were they rusty or bright gons f-A. They were bright gnUR j 
looked to be in very good order; the Democratic manager carrie.d hill 
gun down on bis shoulder. 

Q. How far does the Democratic manager Ih-e from the polls t-A. 
Five or six miles. 

Q. 'Vere the gllns that yon saw in the store IItacked up in one comer 
of the building, or wer., they lyill~ on tbe floor or lying on a shelf, a 
table, or the counter I-A. They were on the floor. 

Q. Did the mnzzles all point one way I-A. I did uot look at them 
80 much as to see that. 

Q. About how many of the muzzles pointed one way f-A. I don't 
know; tbe democrats pointed at them and told us they intended to 
carry the election with them. I never looked at them much. I Wall at­
tending to DIy official business. 

Q. Did any ODe stand guard over those guns tbat (lay I-A. I guess 
they were standing guard, for there were forty or lifty men in the bouse 
aU day, or, that is, as long as I staid there, and did not allow a colored 
mall to COlDe io, except the maDllgerll. 

Q. You stated that when YOIl entered tbe hoose they met you with 
revolvers in their bands. Who met vou with a revolver in his haud T­
A. Capt. H. Brooks, Mr. Hipp, Mr. Eldrid S. Addition, and Pierce Adlli 
son I am certain did; and the whole Democratic house. 
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Q. How many met you with pistols; forty or fifty '-A. A great 
mallY; the hoose was full and more were trying to get in. 

Q. Did the,V l)oint their pistols at ;\'OU '-A. Not at that time; not 
immediately they did not point their pistols at me. 

Q. Then when did they point their pistols at yon; how many of them 
did it, and who were they!-A. A short time after that, seven or eight, 
who came np to vote; they were not reRidents of the county. When 
this party came np to vote the democratic party holloed, " Newberry 
bas come over to help us." ThE'Y came to be sworn; the UepublicRn man, 
agers objected to their being sworn, and the Democrat manager said he 
be damned if they shoulrl 1I0t vote; he swore them, and they voted 
without the consent of the RepubliClm managers. I spoke to the 
clerk and told him to mark them challenged; the other Republican 
managE'r did the same. 

Q. Do you remember any of their uames'-A. No, sir; because we 
did not know thf'm. ' 

Q. Is not RottE'wangE'rs prl'cinct in one corner of Edgefield, next to 
the Newherry linef-A. YE'R, sir; divided, I think, by Saluda. ll.iver. 

Q. Who carril'd the polling,box to Hotte\\'allgeIJ:t that morning ,­
A. W" two Rt>publicnn managers. 

Q. You Raid you o))enetl the polls about six o'clock; how (10 yon 
know it was abont six o'clock !-A. When we got there we nsked thtl 
Democratic manager what time it was. He looked at his wi\tch, and 
sairl it lackerl a quarter to six then. 

(~. How bigh was t~e sun at that time I-A. I don't know, from the 
fact I coultll1ot sel' the sun; it was drizzling rain. 

Q. How high do you think it was '-A. If it was up, that was all. I 
don't think it was up. 

Q. How many Republican ,"otes had been polled when you left the 
polls T-A. I can't say any number; I disremember. 

Q. How many Democratic ,"oteK were polled T-A. I expect there was 
a j:reat muny, for there waR a great deal of repeating. 

Q. Had not nearly e\'ery voter deposited his vote, Democratic and 
Republican, berore you quit and went homeY-A. No; there were a great 
many ~publicans run 8way by the Democrats, amI told if they votE'd 
there thl'Y intended to kill them. 

Q. Name some of the Democrats who tolll the Republicans that.-A. I 
can't name them, for the Republicans were down in a piece of woods, 
while we managers were up in the house. 

Q. Then, if you were in the hOllse and the Repu ulican voters were in a 
piece of woods, bow do you know tllI,t Republican voters were run away 
from tbere that day by Democrats i-A. I heard them from the hoose, 
whooping allll holioing, trying to make them go away, anrl saying if 
they did not \'ote their ticket they shou1l1 not stay there; and they went 
away on the grounds that if they Ktaitl there the.v would be lynched. 

(~. How many colored Uepublicalls Wt'nt away, through f'l'nr, without 
voting '-A. I think there was about twenty who lefr, through fear, 
without voting. 

Q. Give their names.-A. Henry ::\Iartin, Smith Holloway, Wyley 
DeanE'-I can't identify the balance of their namell. 

Q. Did not over two hundred colored Republicans vote there that 
day f-A. YE'S, sir; from the poll·Jist there WI\S over two hundred, 
and from the Republican tickets in the box. 

Q. Did you see any white man threaten or attempt to use any vio, 
lence at the polls or arouml the box to prevent ony.colored man from 
voting as he pleased' If 80, name the white man, th,e colored mant 
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and state what the white said or diet-A. From the first Mr. Frank 
Oooper, Democratic supervisor, stated to keep all the l~el)ublicans ont 
of the house; if there was any colored Democrats who wanted to vote, 
to let them iu, and the Republican managers should not object to it. I 
and the other Repuhlican manuger stated we had already al:reed for 
them to \"ote through the window, and we thought it best for all to do 
80. Mr. Oooper said they would ,'ote as they damn pleased nnd where 
they damn pleast'd. and no lIigger could not prevent 'it. We stated til 
him it was only our business to discharge our dnty according to la ... 
Yt's, I saw a white DIan threaten and intimidate a colored man. lJis 
lIame was Eldrid 8. Addison. He spoke to Johnson Glover. He said 
to him if be did not vote the Democratic ticket be hail to lelwe his place, 
and said the same things to several others who worked on his .,lace. At 
another time a crowd of recI shirters ran up an,l said the Republicans 
are going to vote, and l~t's rUIl them away from the polls. Then 1 went 
out on the porch allli told them not to leave until they ball deposited 
their ballots, aud they staid and vott'd. 

Q. Did Johnson Glo\"er vote that day' If so, what ticket did be 
vote7-A. Yes, sir; be voted the Republican ticket. 

Q. Did not a grellt many colored men vote the Democratic ticket 
that day t-A. No, sir; they said if they could not get a chance to vote 
the Repnblican ticket, they would not vote any. 

Q. Did not the colored lllen who voted the Democrlttic ticket associate 
with the while people T-A. They were followed up by the white people 
to compel them to \"ote their ticket. 

Q. Were there not a great many colored men there with red shirts 
on T-A. Yes, sir; I saw a few there with red shirts on. 

Q. What time in the day did you quit the polls 7-A. About two 
o'clock, or it might have been thret'. 

Q. 'Ya@ not tile voting all pretty well o'-er when you went away'­
A. They had ceasM voting, but at the time I left there was some Demo­
crats CHUle in to vote again, .in~t before I left. I stated to them that 
they hud voted, amI did 1I0t tbink it right to vote again; one said be 
had "oted, and would vote a hundred times if he wanted to. 

Q. Wllo was that one Democrat 7-A. I did not know him, but tne .. 
. bis face, and knew he bad yoted thpre all hour or so before. 

Q. When you left the poll~, which }>arty was ahead in votes f-A. 
The Democrats, I suppose; tbey had repeated enough to be so. 

Q. Did you lIot quit the polls in consequence of the Democ ..... ts being 
aht'ad T-A. I did not. 

Q. What time in the day did Carrol, the otber RellUblican manager, 
quit the polls f-A. About a half·hour before I did. 

Q. What time in the day did the Republican supervisor quit tbe 
polls, and who was he 7-A. He quit about a half-hoor after I left. 
Lewis Williams ils his name; at least be told me he quit abont a bale· 
hour after I left. 

Q. You stated that it was threats by Democrats which made yoo qoi~ 
the l)olls; give the names of the Dt'mocrats who threateued yoo, and 
what were the tllreats.-A. I can't identify who they were, bllt it was 
stated in the hou!le that if we did not sign the returns of tbe election, 
that it was fair they would kill liS that night. 

Q. You stated that a crowd of Democrats told yon they would mob 
you if you did not let them \"ote as they plea..~d. Give tbfl J1am~ oe 
I1S many of those Democrats as yon can.-A. I am unable to give tbe 
names of any of them. 

Q. Who poioted out the guos to yon, and said if you did not do 81 
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yoo were wanted in regard to the election that the guns would be used 
agaiost you f-A. It was done by the Democrats, but I am not able to 
state their names. 

Q. Can't you state one name f-A. No, sir; from the fact that they 
were men not residents of tbe county, a great many of tbem. 

Q. How many white men do you know in Edgefield Oounty f-A. I 
am Dnable to say how many [ do know in tbe county; [uever counted. 

Q. Do yon know a hundred f-A. I gUtlSS I do. 
Q. Do you know two hundred !-A. I don't know exactly ho.w many 

I do know in the county. 
Q. About how lUany shot4 gnns did you see that (lay I How many 

rilles, how many muskets, amI how many c"rbines I-A. I cau't testify 
to any number. 

Q. Did you see any white man with a shot· gun in his band that day I 
If so, who was he, ami wbat time in the cla.y (lid you see bim '-A • 
.About ten o'clock a company of men came tbere on horses. Some of 
them had shot-guus, or guns. We were unable to recoguize them. 

Q. How many of that party hat! guns, and what did they do with 
their guns I-A. They came in and placed them in a positiou in the 
back part of the store. I am unable to say bow many, for I did not 
connt them. 

Q. Did you see any gnns in a box or wagon that day I-A. No, sir; 1 
did not. I was in the house all the time. 

Q. How many pistols did you see in all tbat day f-A. I saw a great 
many, bnt how many I can't tell. I did not count them. 

Q. Hive the names of as many men as you can who had pistols.-A. 
Mr. Addison; Mr. Tompkins, Democrat manager; Mr. Wynn; can't 
thiuk of any other names. 

Q. Did you see the pil!tols, or guess they had them I-A. I saw them. 
Q. Did not some of the colored men have pistols wbo were there 1-

A. They might bave had, but did not see them. 
Q. How many colored men bad sticks in their hands I-A. I gness 

there was twenty-five or thirty men who had sticks. 
Q. Did yon not see a great mauy fresh·cut sticks t-A. I did not. 
Q. Was any colored man struck by democrats there tbat day about 

Toting or anything else I-A. Not as I knows of. 
Q. You said a great many white men "oted under assnmed names 

and repeated those votes. Give tlle naIDes of Mome of their white men, 
and how do you know they repeated those vote8 T-A. Mr. Bell, Mr. 
Cleg, and l\fr. AlathewR. TlIey Yote(l under assuwed names. I know 
they voted at other polls. 

Q. How do you know that they voted at other places !-A. Mr. Bell 
and Mr. Cleg stated that they voted at Trap'M mills. . 

Q. When and to whom did Mr. Bell Rnll Mr. Cleg a(lkllOwledge that 
thl'yvoted at Trap's mills I-A. To Mr. O. H. Wright, the commissioner, 
some time in November, a short time after the election. 

Q. Are you certain that Bell aud Cleg voted at Holtwllnger !-A.. 
Yes, sir; I am certain. 

Q. Are yon certain tbat Mathews voted there'-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How Dlauy other white men ,"ot.ed under a!!sumed names, aud re­

repeated their votes there that day I-A. I don't know whether there 
f.ere any others who repeated, or voted under assnmed names. There 
were a great many whom we wet'e unable to recognize, for we did not 
Iinow them. 

Q. Wbat nnmber of white men were there that voted whom none of 
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you managers knew I-A. I clid not take anJ certified copy of them, 
from the fact that I supposed that there was from thirty-five to forty. 

Q. You say a great many white Democrats voted there that day who 
'Would not give any name at all; about bow many did thatf-A. There 
was a vast multitude of them; I don't know ho\v many. I know there 
was about forty who gave no names. 

Q. You stated tbat you cballenged a great many Democratic voters 
that day by asking if tbey were residents of the coonty; if yoo were 
afraid of yoor life being taken, bow could you be so bold as to do that!­
A. I proposed to discharge my duty according to law as far as I could, 
bot I t1aw after that that I was in a very dangerous condition. 

Q. You mentioned that you staid at the polls until two or three o'clock 
in the afternoon, and until the voting bad about ceased; if you were 
afraid of violence, why did you not leave earlier in the day I-A. De· 
cause if I had bave left amI been seen by the Democratic party, I would 
bave been nstlassinated or mobbed. 

Q. You stated that no colored man was struck there that day byany­
body; was any colored man sbot at that day by any Democrat I-A. 
Not 8S I know of. 

Q. You mention that you caogbt se\-era.l Democrats holding up tbeir 
bonds, tlbowing their fingel's; what did they do that for f-A. 1 tbink 
they must have did it in order to instruct the clerk bow many nalDes to 
write down for tbem. 
. Q. Name some of the white Democrats whom you caoght holding 01> 
their hands and showing their fingers.-A. I am onable to name them. 

Q. You stated that several Democrats told you if yoo did not qllit 
noticing the clerk of the election they would kill yoo; who were some 
of the Democrats that told you so I-A. I ask the court from gil-iog any 
certain name, for fear tbat I will be killed. 

Redirect by L. Cain: 
Q. You Rai" in ;\-onr cross·exnmination tbat Republicans were ordered 

by Democrats to leave the place, and that they were a piece from the 
bouse when they did this; how far were tbey I-A. I sllppose they were 
about fifty yards. 

LEVI H. GRAHAM. 

Sworn to before me tbis the 29th day of March, 1877. 
C. S_ B. l\[ARSH, 

I llt~"dtJ"t. 

In the matter of tbe contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

JERRIE M. MoKIE, a witness of legal age. introduced by contestee after 
dne notice to cOlltestaut, deposes as follows to questions propounded to 
bim by Cain: 

Questioll. Where do you reside !-Answer. Edgefield County. 
Q. IIow long have you lived in the county !-A. All my life. 
Q. How old are you I-A. About fifty-two. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th of November last, the day of election' 

-A. At Shaw's mill. 
Q. Were you any way connected with the election officially!-A. I 

was appointed there as a manager. 
Q. Did you act as manager f-A. I did not. 
Q. Did you go there to act as managerf-A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. What time in the morning did you reach there '-A. Good day­
light. 

Q. State now "why you did not act as manager that day.-A. I was 
objected to. 

Q. By whom'-A. Mr. Joseph Meriwether. 
Q. Oan you give his gronnds of objection I-A. That I conld not act 

because I was not sworn before the clerk here. 
Q. What clerk T-A. The county clerk, where he was sworn. 
Q. Did he raise any other objection '-A. No, sir. 
Q. How long did you remain at the polling-place that day T-A. _ 

About an hour, to the best of my recollection. 
Q. State whether or not you saw any fire-arms there that day, and 

who had them.-A. Yes, sir; I saw some just at daylight. I 1)I\ssed 
by th"em, and only know two that had them-young Mr. Thom~ Meri­
wether and Robert Holsonback, a colored man. 

Q. Is Holsonback known as a Democrat or Re,)ublican '-A. A Dem­
ocrat in this camllaign; was a Republican before that. 

Q. About how many guns did you see 7-A. About fifteen. I just 
passed by. They did not interfere with me. 

Q. You saw these gnus while on your way to the polling-place !-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Are you certain they were carried to the polling-place, Shaw's 
Mill f-A. Yes; they were carried there. 

Q. State, if you can, what kind of guns these werl'.-A. They 'v ere 
long arms; cannot tell what kind they were. 

Q. How long ha,-e you lived in the neighborhood of Shaw's Mill t­
A. All my life. 

Q. You are well acquainted in that neighborhood, are YOll not !-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q, State whether or not you saw any strangers at that polling-place 
on the day of the election; and if so, how many Y-A. I saw "three, to 
my knowledge, the length of time I stnid ther~. 

Q. Were these white 01' (Iolored mell I-A. White. 
Q. Did YOll see these strangers vote '-A. I did not. 
(~. How near to the Savannah River do you Ih-e I-A. Right at the 

crossing-place, in four hundred yards. 
Q. Are you acquainted with any of the citizens of Georgia. who lit'e 

on the other side '-A. YeK, sir. 
Q. Did yon see any of them on this side of the ri\'er at Shaw's Mill 

on the day of election T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. About how maoy Georgians do you think you saw there T-A. 

Thret'. 
Q. Did you see these Georgians vote T-A. I did not. 
Q. You say you remained at the polling-place oue hour, did you 

not I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How mallY times have you voted at Shaw's Mill in YOllr hre t-A. 

Tbree times. 
Q. Can you ten ahont the m~jority the Republicans had always before 

at that place I-A. 1 cannot tell. 

Cross-examined by G. D. Tilhnan: 
Q. Did anybody say anything to yon abont swearing you in as man· 

ager; if so, who, when, and wbere f-A. Nothing, except that Mr. 
Merhvether objected to me becalls~ I had not been s\,"orn in. 

Q. Were you present when the ballot-box waR opened pl'('pnratory for 
the voting to begin '-A. I was there when it was opened. 
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Q. Was tbere not a blauk onth ill that box for you to sign as manager, 
and was not Jesse Jones:s name signed to that oatb, certifying that as 
clerk of the conrt of Edgefield County, that you had taken the mana· 
ger's oath before him, and uoes not Jones reside at the coort.JJOust', 
twenty miles from Ferry's Ferry, where yon reside'-A. I know notbing 
about it. I was only told thel-e was an oath in the box for me to sign. 

Q. Did you not see a company of United States soldiers there tbat 
dayt-A. I did, at thp.ir camps. 

Q. Was not theh'cnmp abont a llundred yards of the polling-place and 
in full view of itt-A. It was in that distance, but not in full view. 

Q. Did you or not consult tbe omcers in command of tbose soldiers 
about your acting as a manager' And if 80, state wbat be said to you 
and what occurred.-A. No, sir; I did not. 

Q. Does it not come witbin your knowledge that some other Repub. 
lican consulted him, and what occorred '-A. He said I could not be a 
manager, 110t being sworn. 

Q. What time diu you reach the mill '-A. About, good dayligbt. 
Q. Wbere did yon pass Holsonback and Meriwether wben you RaW 

tbem witb guns !-A. Coming out of the pines where tbey had camped, 
to the road. 

Q. Were yon not acqnainted with all the men, both wbite and colored, 
tbat YOll saw with Meriwether and Holsonback; and if so, can ~ ou not 
name some other men who had gUliS, if as many as ten or fifteen of 
them bad guns t-A. I cannot naUle any but those two, because it wall 
1Iot good daylight and 1 did not get close to them; those two were on 
the side of the roatl next me. 

Q. Might not what you took to be guos ha\'e been tbe staffs of Demo­
cratic flugs or bannerettes '-A. I am satisfied they were guns, although 
thl'Y dicInot sboot. 

Q. Did) ou 8(>e any guns at Shaw's Mill, except what the United States 
soldiers had; if you did, who bad them, bow many, and where were 
they f-A. Ye8, sir. Do not know how many. I suppose ten or fifteen. 
Don't kllow "'bo had them, except the two I mentioned on tbe side of 
the road. I saw them in their haods; saw them put them in the boose. 
All was quick; saw no more. 

Q. Is not Sbaw's MilIllrecinct the lar2est voting-precinct gem'rally, 
except the court-boose, in the count.y T-A. Don't know anything about 
tbat, sir. 

Q. Do not most of the \'oters at Shaw's Mill usually come from tbe 
east side of Big Stevens Creek, aud do you not reside 011 tbe west side 
of tbe creek t-A. I don't know anything about that, only I know I am 
on the west side. 

Q. Have you not until tbe last two or three years resided 8 miles or 
more from Shaw's Mill !-A. Don't know anything about the distance; 
only I know that the last two or three years 1 resided two mile~ and a 
half nearer the mill. I tbiuk you are right in the distance, bot doo't 
know for certain. 

Q. You spoke of seeing a great many strangers at Shaw's Mill on tbe 
day of election. Were there not hunureds of voters, both white aod 
colored, frOID tue east side of Big Ste\'('ns Creek, wbo were strangers to 
you T-A. There were a great many strangers frOID that side, but I only 
spoke of three Georgians. I 

. Q. Wbo were those three Georgians t Give os their names.-A. Two 
of tbt'm were Joncses, tbe other, I baye forgotten his name. 

Q. Was not the name of the other, wbose llame you bave forgotten, 
George Boswell, and that he owns a plantation in Edgefield County, and 
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was on bis way to the said plantation that day !-A. I don't know wbat 
bis name was. 

Q. On whose land were you living at the time of the election f-A. ?tIro 
George Dearman's. 

Q. Does he not own the ferry known as Ferry'li, across the Savannah 
River, where the Joneses came over that duyt-A. He does. 

Q. Are not the Joneses the brothers·ill·l;,w of DearmanY-A. One was 
a brotber-in-law and tbe other a nephew-in-law. 

Q. 'Vere they not Oil a vi!dt to him, and did they not ride down to 
the election with him that day liS his guests Y-A. I thought they did, 
as they usually do. 

Q. Did yon not see a great many colored men at Shaw's Mill tbnt day 
who wt>re strangers to you Y-A. I did. 

Q. Did you 1I0t see a great many colored mt>n with red sbirts tbat day Y 
-A. Some dozen or more; not a great many, unless they gathered after 
I left. 

Q. Did you not see or hear of colored Republicans bl\ving guns stacked 
OD an island in Big Creek near Sbaw's Mill that day Y-A. I did not see 
it, but I heard it. 

Q. Did. you \"ote that day, aud if not, why not '-A. I yoted; I was 
the eighth mao. 

Redirect: 
Q. You say, McKie, that the officer said you could not act as mana­

ger because you had not been sworn. Did you hear bim or was you 
told he said it t-A. I was told he saill it. I did not bear bim. 

Q. You say you beard the colored people had guns stacked a sbort 
distance from the polling-place. Did not some parties go down to that 
place where the guns were reported to be aud cOlDe back and rellOrt 
t.hat nooe could be found Y-A. 'l'hey did. 

J. M. McKIE. 
Sworn to before me this the 29tb day of March, 187i. 
(SEA.L.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Inten(7ant. 

In tbe matter of the contest of George D. Tillman agaillst Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

SEBORNE MERIWETHER, a witnells of lega.l age, introduced by con· 
testee after dne notice to oontestant, deposes as follows: 

Question. Where do you resideY-Answer. Edgefield County, on a 
place I rent from Mr. Joseph Meriwether. 

Q. How long have you Ji\"ed in Edgefield County Y-A .. All my life. 
Q. How old are you now T-A. Thil·t.\·-eiRht years nnd ten months. 
Q. Where were you 011 tbe 7th of November last, the dny of elec-

tioll f-A. I was at Sbaw's Mill. 
Q. Were YOIl in any way officially connected with the ('lection; in 

wbat wayY-A. I was a manager. 
Q. At what time in the morning ~id you reach the mill Y-A. About 

dayliRbt. 
Q. What time did yon open the poll !-A. I had no time.piece with 

me. though it was Jater than six, I suppose. 
Q. How long after daylight was it !-A. It was a ",ery rainy time; I 

could 1I0t tell wbat time it waR. 
Q. Are you a Uellublican Y-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Bow many Republican managers had you that day Y-A. One; 

only ODe sworn. 
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Q. Was not there another Republican appointed by the commissioners 
of this county t What was his name t-A. Yes, sir. Jerre Mackee. 

Q. State wby he did not act.-A. It was contrary to the reading of 
the election-law. 

Q. Contrary in what way T-A. The managers should be sworn by the 
clerk of the court, or by the secretary of state, or by any officer author­
ized to administer an oath, and that immediately filed with the clerk of 
the court of the connty. 

Q. Did you as manager ohject to Mr. Mackee because he had not sub­
scribed to his oath before the clerk of the court T-A. No, sir. 

Q. Who objected to him t-A.. The colonel of the Yankee soldiers 
(lown there. 

Q. How did you know he objected; did you hear him I-A. No, sir. 
Myself and Mr. Jost'ph Meriwether, tbe other manager, seut the sUI~r­
visors clown to see the offict'l' with the election-law in their hands. Tb e 
colonel read it and said to the supervisors that according to that law Mr. 
Jerre l\lackee could 1I0t. manage. 

Q. Did you not as manager read that law very carefully yonrse]f '.­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you remember reading in that law a clause allthOl:izin~ one 
manager to administer the oath to tbe other manager and the clerk, 
after the oatb shall hlwe been administered to him by the commissioner 
of elections !-A. No, sir; not well. 

Q. Did you not carry that oath down there for Jerre Mackee to ~ub­
scribe to yourselff-A. Yes. 

Q. If you knew it was contrary to law for him to do 80, why did you 
carry it down tbere T-A. The clerk of tbe court told me to carry it to 
8W(>ar the other manager in by. 

Q. Did the clerk of the court'tell YOll who tbis manager should go 
before to subscribe to this oath f-Yes, sir; he told me I could sW(>ar 
him in myself. 

Q. By whom were you sworn t-A. By tbe clerk of the court. 
Q. Do you know whether he I!ubscribed his name as clerk of the 

court, or commissioner of election f-A. I understood from him and he 
toltl me tllnt he was commissioner oi election. 

Q. Yon ~ay you think it was after six o'clock before yon opel.ecl the 
polls; state wbether you left that pollillg place before 6 p. m.-A.. 
Yes; a 8hort space of time. 

Q. About what time in the day was it you left t-A. The first time, 
in about fifteen minutes after the box opeuetl. 

Q. How long tlid you stay f-A. Near thirty minutes. 
Q. Bad any ¥otes been polled before you left this tilDe f-A. A few, 

sir. 
(~_ Wilen you left tbe polling-place with wbom did ~-ou lea¥e the 

box '-A. llr. Jost'ph Meriwether. 
Q. Wben yon left there were tbe lDen voting !-A. They were not. 
Q. Tbey suspeuded, theil, did tbey not f-A. I don't know or th(>ir 

voting while I was gone. 
Q_ Why did you lea,-e there that time f-A. I was told by the white 

men that my men bad some gUlls stacked abont forty steps 00' tbe )lolls, 
and weut to have tbem removed if they were there. 

Q. Did YOIl fiud any guns I-A. I did not get to where the guns were 
said to be. I went to the colonel's qnartel's and asked him to have tile 
guns remo¥ed if allY were tbel·e. lle sent olle of tbe soldiers to look 
for the gUlls. They told me he was a lieutenant. He reported to the 
supervisor that he found uo guns. 
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Q. Then yon went back to the polling.place did you not '-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. When you reached there this time were they voting '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Stat~, then, what was done when you got back to the box '-A. 

We nnlocked the box and started new to voting. 
Q. What did yon do with tbe balJot.'J which you took out of the box 

wbieh had already been voted '-A. Took out the ballots which were 
polled before I left and threw theOl away. 

Q. Tbis was the second time that you opened the polls there that day, 
was it not f-A. Ye.s, it was. 

A. About what time in the day do you think it was when you opened 
the polls the second timet-A. I think it was about three· quarters of an 
hOllr, or less, after we opened the first time. 

Q. And you said you think it was something after six: when you 
opened first '-A. I had no time'piece, but was told it was. 

Q. State whether you left there again auy time before 6 p. m.-A. A 
short wbile, just before the polls closed. . 

Q. Wby did you lea"e this time '-A. I went to the fire to warm, 
being very wet and cold. 

Q. Was the voting carried on upst.airs or downstairs t-A. Down· 
Blairs. We started to hold it upstairs, but as my colored men were not 
willint. they moved it do\Vnstairs. 

Q. Were you npstairs, acting as managers '-A. I was; bot there 
lras no "oting done up there. Mr. 1fIeriwetber, the Democratic mana· 
ger, wanted it up there so we would not be so much crowded, but the 
men ol~ected and we mO\'ed downstairs. 

Q. Was that box at any other time during the (lay ont of your sight, 
eI~pt the two times you went 01l·'-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you see any fire·arms at this p6l1ing.place that dayf-A. I saw 
Done at the polliug·place. 

Q. titate if you saw any at all; if so, how near the polling·place f-A. 
I can't say that I SIlW any. 

Q. Dill you not state to a party in this village to.day, that yon saw a 
gun there that day f-A. I don't know that I did. 

Q. Yon say you lived in that lleighborboou all your life. You are 
w~1l acqnainted there '-A. I am very well ncquaintt'd. 

Q. titate whether you saw any strangers there that day.-A. I saw 
Mme 1 could not call the names of; don't know young men lately 
grown up. 

Q. State whether or not parties'voted there that day who refused to 
gife their names when asked by the manager~, but would say to the 
e~erk "You know my name."-A. I don't know anything about that, 
BIr. 

Q. Did you see any men over there that day who liv-e in Georgia f­
A. Dou't know any men who live in Georgia, any further than Mr. Henry 
Sterlingtl, in Augusta, and others. 

Q. How near do you live to the Savannah Rivel' '-A. Abollt five miles. 
Q. And you don't know any of the citizens residing on the other side 

of the river '-A. Not one. 

Cross· examined : 
Q. When yoo say you lived about five miles from the Savannah River, 

do yon 110t mean that it is about that distance by the usual route of 
t~a\"el by the roac1 to Ferry's ferry, where people cross the riverf-A. 
hs, sir; that is what I mean. 

Q. Was there any voting do De upstairs at all that day f-A. I was 
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gone away to the colonel's quarters a short while; there was nODe wben 
I went away, and 110ne when I came back. 

Q. Then you were just making arrangements to vote w,hen you went 
to the colonel's quarters f-A. Yes, sir; when I went to see about reo 
movinlr the gUlls. 

Q. Was that not the first time you left the polls, mentioned in your 
dirt'ct examination !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. When you left the polls in the evelling to go to the fire, how many 
minutes were you absent f-A. Very short while. 

Q. About how many steps was it from the box to the fire f-A. About 
twenty-one or twenty. three, 8S near as I can come at it. 

Q. Could you not see all that was going on at the box trom the fire f­
A. I ne,'cr tried to see, sir, lea"ing my supervisor there till I returned. 

Q. Who carried the box to the mill that day I-A. I carrit'd it. 
Q. You stated that after you returned from your first absence tbe box 

was unlocked and everything but the ballots were thrown out. Did 
;\,ou mean anything more by that than to say that the box WIUI turned 
upside down to clean it out, preparatory to rt'locking it and commencing 
the election f-A. We destroyed all that was in it and looked it up and 
commenced voting. 

Q. Was there not a blank oath in the box for Jerre }lackee, the other 
Republican manager, to sign; and if so, did you destroy that oath, or 
what was done with it I-A. I think Mr. Meriwether put it in his pocket. 

Q. Was, or not, the name of Jesse Jones, with the lettersC. C. C. P., 
Sigl)t'd to that pa}l('r after the words" sworn to and subscribed lwfore 
me t"-A. I did 1I0t closely afterwards examine the paper, as the col· 
onel said he could not act 8S manager according to law. 

Q. When and wbt're were you sworn in as manager of that t'lecuon, 
and by whom t-A. I was sworn by Jesse Jones, clerk of the court, in 
bis office, on Saturday before the elt'ction. 

Q. At the time he swore you did Jesse Jones tell you anything about 
swearing Jl'rre Mackt't', the other Republican msnRg('r, nnd did he say 
anythinlr about a blank "ath being in the box t-A. Yes, sir; be put it 
in the box and told me to swear the other manager in by that oath. Be 
was signing pa.llers, but whether he sighed that one I do hot remember. 

Q. Did he, or not, tell you all Jerre Mackee had to do was to sign that 
paper f-A. I disremember whether he told me t.bat or not. 

Q. 'Vben you took that oath ont of the box at tbe mill, was not 
Jones's llame signt'(l to it, eitber as clerk of the court or as commissioner 
of election t-A. I don't remember now, baving 80 many things to 
think of. 

Q. Did not Jesse Jones tt'1I you that all that was necessary to be 
done was for Jerre Mackee to sign that paper and send it to him. and 
he would put it on file in the clerk's office!-A. Don't remember that. 

Q. What did you mean by up·stairs when you spoke about tbe col­
ored people objecting to hold the ('It>ction up there!-A. It was not up­
stairs in a roolD, but up a fiight of steps six feet high, on a platform 
open under the mill·house, which could be seen by all standing around. 

Q. Was tbe platform anything more than a passage·way to the cotton­
press !-A. No, sir; not where tbe box was. 

Q. Is the lower story of tbat mill· house all open or is it planked np f­
A. All open. 

Q. Could not the voters amI by.standt'rs see all that was going on f­
A. All standing Ilear enough to see coultl as well as they conld if they 
had been in the opt'n air. 
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Q. How high is it from the gronnd to the first fioor of the mill·hoose!­
A. I never measured it, but think it is near nine or eleven feet. 

Q. Is it not nearer fifteen or eighteen feet !-A. I hardly think it is. 
Q. Is 1I0t Stevens Creek in a fresbet a very angry stream '-A. Yes; 

right severe in time of big rains. 
Q. It! not the lower story of the mill·hoose unweatherboarded and the 

first floor high up from the ground to guard againHt damage to tbe mill 
from freshetsf-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Whf'n complaint was made to Colonel Falk by the colored people 
about tbe box being held U1) on that platform, did Colouel Falk not 
order the box to be brought down on the ground by the platform '-A. 
Be did order it to be brougbt down, sir. 

Q. Ou which side of' the platform was tbe voting done, 00 tbe east 
Bide or on the west side T-A. On tbe east side. . 
. Q. HO\v many fef.'t down was it from tbe platform to tbe ground 
wbere the voting was done !-A. I suppose near about six feet. 

Q. How wal!! tbe box and tbe table brought down and wbo brought 
thew down f-A. I don't remember now bow we brooght them down. 

Q. Dill anybody carry the box away from tbe polling.place aftt'r it 
was cleared out and locked .preparatory for the voting to begin, uutil 
after the "oting bad ceased in tbe evening!-A. No, sir. 

Q. Have you ever given I1n affidavit that the box was carried around 
the honse by Mr. Joseph Meriwether while tbe election was going on, 
and kept in his exclusive possession for abont thirty minutes T-A. If I 
have I do not remember it now., . 

Q. Have yoo not stated to Mr. Willie Meriwetber that yoo were 
ukecl for such an affidavit, but that you refused to give itt-A. I don't 
remember that, sir. 

Q. Do YOIl ever remember swearing to any affidavit before Jesse 
Jones, clerk of tbe court of commoll pleas for Edgefield County, except 
wheu he swore you as ma.nager of election at Sbaw's Mill, last Novem· 
bed-A. Yes, sir; I remember one. 

Q. Is tbis the a.ffidavit, which I will read from Congressional Record 
Forty.fifth Congress, second session, volume fifth, page twenty-one: 

"SOUTH CA.ROLINA., Edgefield County: 
"Personally appeared before me, the undersigne(l deponent, Seaborn 

Meriwether, manager, who, being dnly sworn, made oath us follows: 
That Joseph Meriwether, Democratic manager, took the box from him, 
&aborn Meriwether, Republican manager, and then Joseph Meriwetber 
had both box and kt'y, nnd Joseph Meriwether carried said box off A, 

sbort distance lind took ont the blank oath which was for tbe other 
RepUblican manager to take, and thereby defeated him acting as sllch 
manager that day. The voting was commenceci down·stairs and Joseph 
Meriwether tpok tbe box and carried it up·stairs and had it in Ids 
exclusive posset1sioll for abont tbirty minutes, while I and the United 
States marshal were protesting against carrying said box up·stairs, and 
when the box was brougbt down it was carried behind tbe bouse and 
tbe tnble and cbair were brought down the same way they went Ull. 
Joseph Meriwttther carrie.d the box around tbe bouse; deponent was in­
timidated and not allowed to challenge any voter except a colored man 
who be though t was an illegal voter; tbat whi te voters came up and refused 
to give their names and said to the clerk, who was a Democrat, I you 
know my lIame.' When the poll was closed Joseph Meriwether took 
the box off without sealing it aud witbout locking it, 80 far as be knows, 
aDd he did not feel safe in qnestioning anything tbat Joseph Meri· 
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wether did; that he pronounoos tbe election at Shaw's precinct or 
polling-place unfair, and it should not be counted. Herein he enters 
his solemn protest against the same. 

" SEABORN MERIWETHER. 
"Sworn to before me November 13,1876. 

"jESSE JONES, 
"Clerk of the Court of COlnmon Plea.t 

Q. I mean to ask is the affidavit just r('a<l a COllY of the 00(\ you S\fOre 
to before Jones, besides your oath in writing 8.8 manager !-A. I reo 
m(,lllber a portion of the same words, the date and my name, and I do 
not rt'member a portiou of it, though I migbt have said it. 

Q. You are made to say ill the affidn\"it that you were not allowed to 
cballenge any voter except a colored man wbom you thought lin illegal 
voter. Did not you and the colored snpervisor challenge a great many 
white voters that day in regard to their age and residence and rigllt to 
\"ote '-A. At the beginuing of the \"oting we did challenge some; 
afterwardH I was afraid to so do, thinking it would be nnsafe for me. 

Q. Did anybody thr('aten you; if so, who did it '-A. Not at that 
present time. 

Q. Did anybody threaten you before tbe ('lectioo; if so, wbo was it, 
where was it, aod what did he say '-A. When we went up-stairs and 
I heard the colored men had guns posted within forty st('ps of the polls, 
}lr. Jos('ph Meriwetber said to me, "If I am fired 00 frOID that island 
by yoor colored Oleo I mean to kill yoo." No one ever threatened me 
before the election with my life. 

Q. Was any otber tbreat made against you tbat day by anybody; if 
80, by wbom '-.A. NJ, sir; no ooe at all. 

Q. Did not you and the colored Republican supervisor challeoge 
wbite voters, off and on, all day lon~, ollly that yon challenged more in 
tbe forenoon than in the afternoon f-A. No, sir; we did not do it all 
day. 

Q. Dill Mr. Joseph Meriwetber threaten you about anything elsef­
A. No, sir 

Q. You stated tbat no ooe else tbreatened you; tht>u did yon not fail 
to challenge wbite \"oters in the evelling becaostl you did not 8('e any 
white mall offering to \"ote except tbose you tbought were entitled to 
vote '-A. No, sir; that was not the cause. 

Q. Tell os the canse.-A. 1 was afraid of tbose red-shirt men I 88W 
aboot tbere. 

Q. You said nobody threatened YOIl; did YOll see any red·shirt Dlen do 
any violence to any colored men, or strike anyone that day f-A. :S-o, 
sir. 

Q_ Did not Mr. Meriwether, the Democratic manager, tell you tbat be 
woold protect you, and yoo not havealargecoOlpany oCUnitedStates 
soldiers there to protect you f-A. I know the soldiers were there, bnt 
don't remember what Mr. M('riwether said about tbat. 

Q. Did not the colored '·oters crOWl) aroond the polls so as to break 
down plank and otber barriers thnt tbe managers put nJl to keep tbem 
from pressing too closely on the votiug place '-A. Don't remember 
wbat tbpy broke, but know they crowded us pretty bud, uutil we seot 
for soldit>rs to keep them back. 

Q. Did not an Army officer remain at tbe polls for 8e'-eral bonrs tbat 
day at tbe reqoest of tbe managers, to keep the colored voters from 
pressing on the box in a disorderly manner '-A. Yes, sir; he kept back 
both wbite and colored. 
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Q. Did not that officer alternately direct that three white men should 
l'oteand then three colored men shoo Id vote, and so 00 throughout the day f 
I mean more explicitly to ask, if he did not require that three Repnbli· 
caos should vote at a time together and then three Democrats '-A. I 
(loo't remember any such being spoken. 

Q. Were not all the Republican ,""oters massed on the side of the polls 
dowu the creek, and the Democratic voters on tho side of the polls up 
the creek '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. While that officer stood there to regulate things, did not three voters 
step out from the Republican side and deposit their ballots, then did not 
three Democratic \'oters step out from the Democratic side and deposit 
their ballots, and then three more RepUblicans, then three more Demo· 
crats, aod so on '-A. They sometimes mixed, but that was the arl'ange­
ment of the men. 

Q. Did not a great many colored men vote the Democratic ticket that 
day f-A. I can't tell; every man voted his ticket folded up. 

Q. Did you Dot see a great many colored lUen there with red shirts OD, 
and did they not vote from the place where the white Democrats massed" 
-A. Reveral did, but I can't say how many. 

Q. Except when you went to the fire late in the evening, did you not 
remain tlear the box from the time you opened the polls Dutil you got 
(looe couDting the votes and signed the returns of the election r-A. I 
don't have any remembrance of doing any other way. 

Q. Did you not see the votes all counted ami help to count them Y­
A. Yf'S, sir. 

Q. Were they not fairly couDted '-A. As well as I could see, they 
were fairly (:Quuted. 

Q. Did not you sign the returns of the election, certi(ying that it had 
been properly held I-A. I did not understand the signing to be alto· 
gethl'r that way. I thought I had to sign them for them to come back; 
that iR, to the court-bouse. 

Q. Wbich party pressed strongest on the polls to get to vote that day, 
the Df'mocrats or Republicans '-A. From down the creek among the 
colored men was the strongest pressure. 

Q. Did you not catch a colored man trying to vote two tickets that 
day'-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was he a Republican or Democrat '-A. lIe was a Republican. I 
opened his tickets and looked at them. 

Q. How many Unitod States marsbals were there that day; was 
there any but Cole Kinner, and was be a Republican or Democrat, col· 
ored or white I-A. Cole Kinner, colored, Republican. No other. 

Q. Was not Cole Kinner very active that day in distributing Republi-
can tickf'ts T-A. I don't know that he distributed any. . 

Q. Did not Cole Kinner, United States deputy marshal, go to Colonel 
Falck Ilnd ask him to order the polling·box to be brought down from the 
platform to the-ground, and did not Marshal Kinner come to the polling. 
place and order the box to be removed by authority of Oolonel Falck ,­
A. I think be did. 

Q. How Dlany more tickets were there in the box than namf'S on tbe 
poll·list, and what was done with those tickets Y-A. I remember we 
drawing the tickets down according to law by putting them all in the 
box and sbaking them up and destroying tbe excess. 

Re(lirect: 
Q. Do you remember having challenged any voter in the afternoon 

at all '-A. Don't think I did. 
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Q. The connsel for the contestant in olle of his questions nsed these 
words: ., Yon are mad~ to say ill this affldavit that yon were not allowed 
to challenge any voters exC(>pt a colored man whom yon thonght AU ille­
gal voter." State whether or not you were made by anyone to sip this 
aftida,"it, or did yon do it ot' yonr own accord '-A. I signed it or my 
own frf'e will. 

Q. You said the soldiers "'ere sent for when the voters were crowd­
ing; who sent for them f-A. Mr. Meriwether And myself. 

Q. You said in your cross-examination that you do not remember 
now whether Mr. Meriwether told yon on the day of election that be 
would protect you. Do :you know whether Mr. Meriwether could hll\"8 
prott'cted you from the a~Ral1lts and violonce of the refi-shirters who 
were there that day '-A. No, sir; I don't know. 

Q. Did not the soldiers have to keep red·shirters back from crowding 
the polls as well as Repnblicans'-A. Yes, sir; he said he conld Dot 
speak to one side without speaking to both. 

Q. Might there not have been some red-shirters in the crowd of Re· 
publieans that were massed ou the side of the polls down the creek 
that you might not ha\"e seen f-A. Yes; it was not possible that I 
could see everybody. 

Q. Yon stated that ,fon assisted in the connting of the votes, alld 
siglled the returns. Had you detected any unfair and improper coont­
ing of the votes would you have felt saf~ in questioning or ohjt>Cting 
to them '-A. No, sir. 

Q. I understood you to say- that you took out the blank oath that 
was sent to McKie when you first opened the box. State, now, whether 
or not there was anything in the box when you cleaned it out tbe sec· 
ond time except the eight or ten votes that you mentionetl.-A. Not Ill! 
I can remember. 

Q. You said that you were crowded at the polls by the voters. State 
jf 'you were not crowded by both white nnd colored.-A. Yes; we were 
crowdt'!rl by both, but by the colored the most. 

Q. You sny you assistecl in counting the votes. Was the bOl[ sealed 
in your presence after the votes were conn ted !-A. Yes, sir; 011 tbe 
next morning. 

(Objected to.) 
Q. Did the box go out of your presence tbat night, antI jf so, who 

took it' 
(Objected to on the ground of new matter.) 
A. 1\Ir. Meriwether, the other manager, took the box and I the key; 

in fact it was nearly morning when we quit counting. 
SEBORNE MERIWETHER. 

Sworn t() before me this 30th day of March, 1877. 
[SEAL.) C. S. B. MARSH, 

I ntefltuJf.t. 

In the mater of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congre&s of the United States. 

H. N. BONEY, a witness of legal age, being introducetl by contestt>e 
after dne notice to contestant, deposes as follows to questions pro­
ponnded to him: 

Question. Where do you reside !-Answer. Edgefield Court-House. 
Q. How old are you I-A. Twenty-eight. 
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Q. \Vhere were you on November 7, last, the day of election '-A. At 
Ridge Spring. 

Q. Were you there all day long '-A. From half I)ast 8 till abont 4: 
o'clock p. m. 

Q. State if you saw any irregularity or any threats towards Republicau 
voters there that day.-A. About 1L o'clock a crowd of Republican vote 
ers nnmbering about two hundred came UI) to the polls cheering the can· 
didate..q of tbeir cboice, Cbamberlain and Hayes; there were Democrats 
who met tbem and or.lered them to desist cheering, amI tbey did not; 
they tbreatened that if tbey did not they should Dot be allowed to come 
up; that this was a white man's government and tbpy meant to maintain it 
as sucb, saying tbat they were not voters of Edgefield, and they should 
not vote tbere; heard some say that the lines had been cbanged, and 
some of them had not paid their poll. tax and they were not proper vote 
ers, and if they voted there the.v would do 110 illegally, and they would 
have them put in the penitentiary, and that Chamberlain's goverument 
was not strong enongh to protect them. 

Q. What WllS the result of those tbrel'ts !-A.. A great many of tbat 
crow.1 refused to vote aDd camll to me asking me hl\d tbe lines beeu 
changed, and wel'e they compelled to pay their poll·tax before voting. 
I endea\'ored to satisfy them that the connt.y Iiue bad not been cbanged, 
and they still refused to vote for fear that they would do so illegally. 

Q. State whether you were on tbat day tbreatened, <lit'ectty or indio 
rectly.-A. I saw Mr. CarDele call a colored man to him anti I)ointed at 
me and heard him say, "Go tell bim right now it is best that be leave 
here;" this man came to me andtleliveretl the message, wbich was that 
he came there to kill me, and if I crooke.! my finger he would 110 it. 

Q. Was it in consequence of these threats that yoo left tbe place 
about 4: o'clock !-A. Yes, sir; because it was repeated. 

Q. What position did you hold in this county in November last I-A. 
Probate judge. 

Q. Prior to your election to that office, did you not reside at Ridge 
Spring !-A. I did. 

Q. Are you not well acquainted with the inbabitants of that neigh, 
borhood !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. I3tate whether you saw any strangers there on the 7th of Novem, 
ber; and if so, abou t bow many f-A. Yes, sir; I sa w strangers. J udg. 
ing from the crowds that came up horseback, there were about two 
hundred. 

Q. Did you see any of thes8 strangers vote while you were there f­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Were )'OU there at the arrival of any of the Angusta 01' Columbitl 
trains !-A. Yell, !!lit. 

Q. I3tate whetber or not you saw any strangers get off of tbose trains; 
and if 80, about how many!-A. Between twenty amI thirty during tb~ 
(lay on different trains coming from towards Augusta. 

Q. Did you see any of these parties vote '-A. Did .not 1'100 any of 
them off the trains because I ditl not go in the house. 

Q. Were you not a manager at this polling·place ill 1874: I-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. Do yon remember bow many Democratic votes were polled there 
at that timet-A. Yes, sir. Up to the time th~ box Wlllj destroyed, 
tbree hundred and seventy,one; aud everybody had qoit votil,lg there 
about two hours. 

Q. Can you state how many Democratic votes were poled there on 
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the 7th of No'\"ember, 1876 '-A. I know six hundred and somethiog; 
but don't remember the fraction. 

Q. Did you see any fire·arms there on tbat day; and, if so, in wbat 
position were they'-A. Did not see any in any position. 

Q. You are satisftetl by statements made to you by Republican voters 
that a number left tbere without voting '-A. Yes, sir; saw a gn'8t 
many Republican voters go 011'. 

Cross·examined by George D. Tillman: 
Q. Where were you bOI'n '-A. Richmond Connty, Georgia. 
Q. How long have you been living in EdgefieJd '-A. Since the 6th 

of Jun .. , 1873. 
Q. What made yon leave Richmond County'-A. Because I Celt like 

it, and it was a pri\"i1ege of mine. 
Q. Were you treasurer of any society of colored people there before 

you left f-A. Never was, of any society. 
Q. Were there any warrants out against yon cbarging yon with any 

crime at tbe time you left Richmond County '-A. I can defy tbe rt'COrds 
of tbat connty, or auy other county in that State, or auy other Statl', ul' 
to tbe tillle I (~ame to tbis State, to sbow a warrant issned against me for 
any offense, or that I eVl'r was arrestt'(l for any oWense. 

Q. At the time you left Uichmond Connty were you not in tronble 
about baving spent some money whicb yon had in your bauds as tl'118t· 
funds' I meau were you not a defaulter, clmrgetl witb embezzll'mrnt: 
after trust !-A. No, sir; and any man who says so make.s an oonr·: 
ranted, mendacious, and lIlalignant statement.. I 

Q. When were you in Augusta last '-A. About tbe latter part of last 
summer. 

Q. How long did you remain there Ilt tbat time f-A. From tbearrinl 
of tbe morning train until the del>artnre of the evt'ning train. i 

Q. How mllny times bave you re\"isited Augnsta, Ga.. since yon I~ftl 
and mo\-ed to Edgefield-in the day.time, I mean f-A. Before I mo\"(~d 
my motber and father from there, which was something over two Y4llVl 
after I It.'ft, I don't know that I missed two consecutive moutbs \"isiting 
the city of Augusta, Ga. . I 

Q. When you revisited Augusta bat'e you appeured on Bros(l street ial 
the day·time 7-A. Yes; and on every other street. Have staid tbm 
two weeks at, once; ba\-e visited tbe cbief of police twice on bnsiut'llll, 
in company with Augustus Harris once, and A. W. Simkill!\ once. Aa 
known uy the cbief of police; be and my father were boys together, 
and raised np together. I 

Q. Tben did you not leave Richmond Connty because yon f~Jt like I 
seeking all office in Edgefield Count~·, South Carolina '-A. No, sir. 

Q. You say tbat you came to Edgefield in June, 1873. Were yoo DOt 
elected judge of pIObate for this connty shortly after your arrh·aJ beref­
A. Going near on to two years it was. 

Q. When were you elected jndgeof probate '-A. In ~01"ember'18a'l 
Q. Were yeu or not a candidate for re·election to the same office Il 

the general election last November '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Then for what office were you a cantlidate at the last t'lection ,­

A. I was candidate for the office of sberifl", and was eleetM, jnstJy. 
Q. Have you received your commission as sberiff' of this count.)'; and, 

if so, from wbom, and wbo is now acting as sberiff of tbe ooDntyl-A. 
I bave rt'ceived no cO"rumission, because tbe State board 0( C80V .... 
gave certiticatl's of election to 110 ol1e, on account of the gross b ..... 
whicb appeared to them. I tbink Jobn T. Gaston, esq., tbe Dtmoera 
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candidate for sheriff, is acting under a commission of General Wade 
Hampton. 

Q. You stated that about, eleven o'clock a. m., about two hundred Repub­
lican voters came up to the polls at Ridge Springs cheering for the can­
didates of their choice, Chamberlain and others, and that certain Demo­
crats ordered them to desist, which tbe Hepublican voters refused to do, 
and that then tbe Democrats told them that if they did not desist from 
cheering they should not vote. Now, were not tbat large crowd of Re­
publican voters or some of them cursing Hampton witb one breath and 
cbeeriogOhamberlain with another at tbetime the white Democrats spoke 
to the crowd, and did not the wbite Democrats speak to the crowd of 
RepUblicans to stop the curses which were being heaped upon Hampton'­
A. I heard none of that crowd cursing Hampton. The only colored man 
I beard curse Hampton was one Democratic colored man, who took ten 
Democratic tiokets from Mr. Watson to give out to colored voters and 
brought them to use, and asked me to say nothing about it. My reply 
to him was, "You could better curse him by voting against him." He 
said he had voted for him, and that he was compelled to do it. 

(Objected to as hearsay.) . 
Q. What was the name of the colored Dlan that brought you those 

tickets and told you that f-A. Joe Barnes. 
Q. You stated that some of the white Democrats who ordered that 

crowd of Republicans to desist cheering said that this is a white man's 
government and that they intended to maintain it as such. Give the 
names of those white Democrats who saiel tllat.-A. I do not feel safe in 
doing 80, but I know the parties. 

Q. You mentioned that a lot of Republicans in that crowd refused to 
vote. Give the names of as many as you can of those who refused to 
vote.-A. I do not remember now that I know the names (but I then 
knew the names) of but one old man, Steven Our. 

Q. Does it or not come within your knowledge that Steven Our then 
lived in Aiken Oounty, about two bundred and fifty yards beyond the 
.Edgefield line I-A. No, sir. 

Q. Do you know, then; that he li\"ed within the line of Edgefield 
County I-A. No, sir; and becanse of tbe nncertainty which side of the 
line he lived on, 1 did not insist npon his yotiug, though he was satis-
8ed that he lived in Edge6dd, and went off professing that he. wished to 
vote. 

Q; Were a good many Republican voters refused permission to vote 
because. the managers thought said voters were residents of Aiken 
Countyl-A. Don't know, sir. 

Q. Was any colored man struck that day or shot or pushed or stabbed, 
to prevent him from voting as be pleased f-A. I saw none, sir. 

Q. Was there not a commissioned officer of the United States Army· 
with a detachment of soldiers there stationed near the polls that day !­
A. Did not ~ee auy, Ah·. 

Q. Do you not remember passing a hoose a time or two that day 
where the troops were quartered !-A. No, sir. 

Q. Was there not a colored United State.s marshal named Samuel 
Youngblood there that day to overlook the election f-A. Yes, sir; he 
was there to presel've the peace. 

Q. Was there any disturbance there that day to mak~ it necessary to 
call opon the marshal or the troops I If so, ghoe the particulars.-A. Yes, 
sir; but it was o\"er so quick they were not called for; it was the occur· 
rence that took place aboot ele,"eu o'clock, which made a great many 
Republicans lea\"e without voting. 

H. llis. 11--21 
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Q. How many colored Republicans left without voting on account of 
that occurrence I-A. Between twenty and thirty; probably more. 

Q. Did they leave immediately; if not, wben did they leave T-A­
No, sir; they stood around awhile and talked with me, stating tbat they 
did not feel that they would be safe in voting, and dropped off, one and 
two together, until they were all gone. 

Q. How far does the Aiken line run fl"Om the Ridge Spring precinctt­
A. I suppose in the neighborhood of three miles in the nearest place. 

Q. Did not most of the voters who went away, telling you they did 
uot feel safe to vote, live near or beyond the Aiken line I-A. Some of 
them lived near the line. 

Q. Did not most of those voters, or all who told you they did not feel 
safe in voting, and who went away without voting, do so because the 
Democrats told them they lived in Aiken Oounty, and that if they t'oted 
in Edgefield Oonnty they would be sent to the penitentiary for it T-A­
No, sir. 

Q. Did not some of those voters tell you that they were afraid to vote 
for fear of being sent to the penitentiary, because they lived in Aiken 
Oounty, if they voted in Edgefield I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did not a majority of them tell yon that I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know precisely where the boundary·line rnns, between 

Aiken and Edgefield Oounties, through the territory whence the voters 
from near the line came who t'oted at Ridge Spring that day f-A. Don't 
know it all the way. 

Q. Did not both white and colored Democrats, in the afternoon, stand 
in the door of the store-house where tbe voting was going 00, and again 
and again call upon Republicans to come up and voteT-A. No, sir; not 
that I heard. 

Q. You let't the polls, did you not. early iu the afternoon, and went 
two or three hundred yards off to a friend's hOllse, where you remained 
the rest of tbe day!-A. Did 110t go until four o'clock, after a cont'ersation 
with Mr. Watson, in which I stated to bim that I had received two mes­
sages from Mr. Carwile, threatening my life, and that I did not know bnt 
that he would uudertake it. As the l{ellublicans were all gone nearly, 
and that I thought I had better go j he joined in my opinion and ad· 
vised me to go. About dark he (Mr. 'Watson) came to where I was, 
and said to me he wished my safety, and that he did Dot tbink it W88 
prndent for me to go where the votes were being counted. 

Q. Have you not said to several people in con\-ersation, that the elec­
tion at Ridge Spring was a quiet and peaceable one, and did yon not 
say so on the night of the day when tbe election was beld'l-A. No, sir. 

Q. You stated tbat a colored man after talking with Mr. Oarwile came 
to you and told you that Mr. Oarwile said he came tbere to kill yoo, 
and if you crooked your finger he would do it. What is the nanle of the 
colored mau who delivered that message to you I-A. Don't remember, 
but think it was Joe Barnes. My attention \\"88 called off qoickly to a 
voter who had been refused permission to enter the bouse where tbe vot­
ing was going on, on the ground that he WIlS too young. 

Q. Was not Mr. Oarwile drill king T-.A.. DOli 't know; did not get close 
to him but once. 

Q. How do you know tbat Joe Barnes delivered Mr.Oarwile's message 
correctly I-A. All the evidence tbat I have is that he pointed directly 
at me and the mellsenger came directly to me. . . 

Q. You said you received two tbreatening messages from Mr. CarWile 
that day. Wbat was the second message, who brought it, aod what 
time ill the day f-A. As near 8S I remember, the messenger said I bad 
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been there long enongh, and that I had better hide ont; this was about 
three o'clock; don't remember who bronght the second message. 

Q. At what honr of the day did you receive the first me8llage from 
Carwile !-A- I think about eleven in the forenoon. 

Q. You said you remained about the polls until four o'clock in the after. 
noon; had not the voting all pretty well all ceased when you went 
swayt-A. Yes, sir; except as crowds of mounted men would come in 
occasionally and go in and vote. 

Q. Did you not remaiu at your friend Jim Rusford's house iu the 
tillage of Ridge Spring, or somewhere else in the village. until all the 
l"Otes had been counted and the result of the election declared !-A­
Yes, sir. 

Q. As soon as you heard the result of the election at Ridge Springs 
that night, did you not mount your horse aud come on to. the court­
hoose to ascertain further newlS of the election t-A. I did come on to 
the 6Ourt·house. 

Q. Did yon not tell Mr. Robert Watson that night that yon would 
go to the coort·house if every red·shirt in the county was in the road ,­
A. Don't remember that I did or did not. 

Q. Did you or not try next day after the electiou to get the Republi. 
can managers of Ridge Spring box to swear that they had been forced 
to sign the returns of the election '-A. No, sir ; and know of no one 
who asked them to do so. 

Q. You spoke of seeing" great many strangers at Ridge Springs that 
day; did yoo not see a great many black men who were strangers to 
yoo, as well as white men '-A. I saw a few. 

Q. Yon spoke of seeing twenty or thirty white men get off of the 
evening train from Augusta, and other trains from that direction. Do 
you remember seeing crowds of colored men get off of the trains which 
came from Columbia, and if so how many were in the crowds '-A. Did 
not soo any, sir. 

Q. Has not the population of the village of Ridge Spring largely 
increa~ within the last two or three years f-A. I dont thiuk it bas, 
sir. 

Q. Are there not a great many more white voters there now, and in 
the ncinity, than when you lived there three or four years ago '-A. I 
know cases connected with the history of that place why there should be 
more Democratic voters now there than when I staid thera. 

Q. Are there not a great many more houses there now than then T­
A. There are more houses, I will admit; but don't know about a great 
many. 

Q. Did not a great many colored men vote the Democratic ticket on 
the 7th of last November at Ridge Spring t-A. I know some did; but 
don't know a great many. 

Q. How many colored men voted the Democratic ticket in the previous 
elections thereT-A. I suppose between five and ten at the election next 
preceding the last. 

Q. Between the election in 1874 and that of 1876 did not the large 
land·owners in the neighborhood of Ridge Spring discharge their colored 
laborers and introduce white laborers in their stead who voted at Ridge 
Spring in 1876 '-A. I know of several instances, I believe, that a great 
many colored voters who did leave thA Springs and go into Aiken, and 
I know that white men were put there in their places, and I presume 
they voted the Democratic ticket at the last election. 

Q. What relation is George BastlUg to yon, and was he or not presi. 
ent of a colored Democratic club at Ridge Spring during the last can-
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vass !-A. He is no kin to me, and don't know that he was president of 
a club. I know that he professed to be a Democrat. . . 

Q. Do you not know that he wore a red shirt and voted the Demo 
cratic ticket f-A. I know he wore a red shirt, but ha\"e heard him 88y 
that he did not vote the Democratic ticket, because he had a Repoblican 
ticket 01> his sleeve and ran the Republican down ill 'his hand and 
voted it. 

Q. In the last canvass was there not a colored Democratic club, with 
headquarters at Ridge Springs, consisting of about thirty members, of 
wbich George Basting was president or a very acti\"e member'-A. 
Only heard that he was, and heard he was president before he told 
meso. 

Q. Dit! yoo not threaten George Basting, on the day that General 
Bampton spoke at Edgefield Court-House, that if he (lid not quit acting 
8S preRident of that colored ;Democratic club at Ridge Spring, that yon 
would have him arrested by the sheriff, and break the club up for \"io­
lating the Republican law of the land, which prohibita a colored man 
from joining the Democratic party'-A. No, sir. 

Q. During the last political campaign did you not say to Maj. J. A. 
Dozier that if the negroes ",('re defeated in the election and expelled 
from office, you would recommend them to use the secret bullet aDd ap­
ply the miduight torch against the property of the whites, or words to 
that effect 1-A. No, sir; and he will not say so. 

Redirect: 
Q. Something was said by contestant in relation to the message sent 

you by Mr. Carwile. Did you not ~tate in your direct examination that 
you heard some of the words used by Mr. Carwile '-A. Yes; I did. 

Q. You said in your cross-examination that some of the colored labor­
ers had mQved off and supplemented by white laborers. Did these 
white laborers emigrate from other States or countries, or were they 
natives of this county, or were they here in 1874, at the election '-A. 
I don't know. 

A. W. BANEY. 
Sworn to before me this the ~~~ of March, 1877. 
[SEAL.] ';:!..~,., C. S. B. MARSH, 

. ~- ':. I.tnd4at. . . 
In the matter of the contest of G~;~ D. Tillman against Robert Smalls, 

for a seat in the Cong~ss of the United States. 
GEORGE JA.CKSON, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestee, 

after due notice to contestant, deposes as follows to questions pro­
ponndOO to him: 

Question. Where do you reside '-Answer. At Ridge Spring, in Edge­
field County. 

Q. Bow long have you lh-ed there T-A. I ha\"e 1i \'00 there et'er sinee I 
was eleven years old. 

Q. Bow old are you now'-A. Going on fifty-six years old. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th of November last, the day ofelection!­

A. At the Ridge. 
Q. Were you connected in any way officially with the election !-A. I 

was supert'isor. 
Q. What time in the morning did YOll open the polls !-A. At six o'clock. 
Q. What time in the e\"ening did you close '-A. At six o'clock. 
Q. Did you remain at the polling-place during the entire day,-A.­

Yes, sir. 
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Q. State if yon saw any fire-arms in the possession of anyone tbere 
that day '~A. Not any more than body arms. 

Q. What do yon call body armsl-A. Pistols bung around tbe body. 
Q. State whetber yon saw any displays made by anyone I-A. I never 

saw any. 
Q. In wbich position were they when you saw them f-A. In tbe way 

they usnally took them. . 
Q. State whetber you heard any threats made by Democrats to Re· 

publican voters that day I-A. No furtbertban I beard ROme insinuations 
passed, that if you vote yon will bave to leave my place. 

Q. Were those words spoken out so that anyone could hear them 1-
A. Very opcnly. 

Q. State whether you saw any other demonstrations made tbat were 
calculated to keep Republicans from voting f-A. Not at all, sir. 

Q. How long bave you lived in tbe vicinity of the Ridge f-A. Ever 
since I was ele\'en. 

Q. Yon are well acquainted in tbat neighborhood, are you not I'Did 
yonsae any strangers there that day, and if so, how many I-A. Yes, sir. 
I can't tell how many strangers I did see. 

Q. Did yon see any of these strangers vote '-A. I saw lots of them 
vote. 

Q. Were they challenged by the managers or by any one'-A. Not 
at all. 

Q. You dill not challenge any of them as supervisorf-A. No, sir. 
Q. State why you did not '-A. I did not feel that it was required for 

me to interfere. 
Q. What do you mean by the word required '-A. I did not feel it 

W88 ri2ht. 
Q. Do yon remember wbether or not any parties refused to give their; 

Dames when they voted there that day '-A. I do. I saw one man in 
particular, when asked, say, "You k~ow my name." . 

Q. To whom was be speaking when he said," You know my llamef"-
A. To the clerk. 

Q. Was the clerk a Democrat or a Republican '-A. Democrat. 
Q. Give his Dame I-A. Samu('!l Cartelege. 
Q. Did you witness the counting of the votes after tbe polls .were 

closed '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State then in wbat condition you found the ballot·box, that is 

whether the ballots in the box exceeded the names on the poll. list, and 
if BO, by what number I-A. There was one hundred and thirteen over 
the number on the poll·list. 

Q. Were any of these ballots folded together when you opened the 
box f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. How many do yon remember haloing seen in anyone package 
folded together I-A. From two to three. 

Q. When yon would find as many as three folded together what dis· 
position was made of them I-A. Throwaway one and counted the other 
two, thinking they certainly would not try to put in tbree. We believed 
they got hung together. 

Q. Did yon find them folded together in a great many instances or 
were there only a few instances f-A. It was frequently two; and an 
nncommon thing to find three, though we sometimes did. 

Q. Were these folded ballots on examination found to be in favor of 
the Democratic candidates or the Republican I-A. In favor of the Dem­
ocrats. 

Q. Yon stated that the nnmber of the ballots found in the box were 
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in excess of the poll.list one hundred and thirteen; do yon mean that af· 
ter throwing away those found three together that yon had one hundred 
and thirteen to put back in the box to draw from, over the filling of poll. 
list I-A. After tbrowing away one when we found three together we 
had then one hundred and thirteen left. 

Q. Wbat disposition did yon make of the 113 that were in excess of 
tbe names on the poll· list I-A. We put all back in the box aDd drew 
them out according to law. 

Cross·examined : 
Q. You mentioned that you saw men there with pistols; clid you not 

see a great many colored meu tbere with pitltols, as well as white DIeD t 
-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You spoke of seeing a great many strangers there that day; did 
you not see lots of colored strangers tbere T-A. Not altogether like I 
did white men. 

Q. You stated that some of those white strangers voted; did not a 
good many of the colored strangers vote also; if not why I-A. When 
tbere was any out of another county they would not allow him to vote, 
but there were colored men there whose names and faces I did not know 
and who voted. 

Q. Did yon or not see fifteen or twenty colored men get off the train 
from Columbia and try to vote there that day T-A. No, nothing about j 
never heard of it. 

Q. ))id not the Reverend llr. Kaufman, of Leesville, in Lexington 
COllnty, come to the polls at Ridge Spring and stop two colored men 
from voting by telling tbem tbey had already voted in Leesville !-A. 
I did not hear him say so, although he might bave done so. 

Q. You mention tbat you heard one man refuse to give his name to 
lhe clerk except to say, "You know my name;" did yon hear any other 
say tbat f-A. Not particularly tbat I noticed. 

Q. Did not the clerk write down that man's name immediately, as 
though he knew it !-A. He wrote it down immediately; I won't say that 
the clerk did not know bim, but I did not. 

Q. Was tbere not a commissioned officer and a detachment of soldiers 
there that day; and, if so, how far were tbey from tbe polling.place I-A. 
Across the street a hundred and twenty·five yards. 

Q. You stated that two and sometimes three Democratic tickets were 
folded together or hung together, as they were taken out of the box to 
be coonted; did you 110t find a single Republican ticket wbere two 
or three bung or folded togethert-A. Never found three; I found two 
together seven times. 

Q. Whicb party, tbe Democratic or Republican put in the first bun· 
dred or bundred and fifty votes; or in otber words which voted the 
heavit>st in the early part of tbe day I-A. The Democrats. 

Q. Who took the votes out of tbe box to coont them I-A. Colonel 
Bates and George Pope. 

Q. Bow far were yon from the box wben they were conntiDg the 
votes f-A. In arm's reach of tbem the whole time. 

Q. Please say how may times, as near 88 you can, you fouDd three ! 

ticket,s folde<J or hung togetherf-A. If I say a dozen timeR, don't think 
I would tell any tale. 

Q. You stated you found two Republican tickets folded together seven 
tiweR. As you remember the exact number of times you detected dou­
ble Repuhlican tickets, specify, as near as you can, the number of times 
you found two Democratic tickets folded together.-A. If I W88 to say 
au hundred and fifty times I don't think I wonld tell)lPY taJ~. 
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Q. You say there were a hundred and thirteen tickets more in the 
box than names on the poll-list. Did you count to see whether most of 
those tickets left in the box were Republican or Democraticf-A. We did 
not particularly count them, but I know the majority were Democrats. 

Q. Were not those votes fairly counted, and did you not sign the 
retnrns of the election, certifying that it had been properly held f-A. I 
ai~ed the retnrns, bnt never said it was fair done. 

Q. When you drew the snrplus votes out of the box to destroy them, 
about how many Democratic and how many Republican votes were de· 
stroyed f-A. As near as my memory ser\'es me, there was sixty some 
odd Republican and forty some odd Democrats. 

his 
GEORGE + JACKSON. 

mark. 

Sworn to before me this the 31st day of March, 1877. 
[SEAL.J C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In the matter of the contellt of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat iu the Congress of the United States. 

M. D. LoTT, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestee after due 
notice to contestant, deposes as follows to questions propounded to him: 

Question. Where do you li\'e, and how old are you f-Answer. Edge­
field County, and twenty-three. 

Q. How long have you lived in this county f-A. Twenty-two years. 
Q. Where were you on the jth of November last, the day of elec­

tion f-A. At Ridge Springs. 
Q. Were you connected officially with the election there that day·f-

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What position did you hold '-A. I was manager at Ridge Springs. 
Q. At what time did you open tbe polls f-A. At six O'clock. 
Q. What time did you close in the e\'ening f-A. At six o'clock. 
Q. Did you notice any hostile demonstrations on the part of the Demo­

~rat8 toward Republican voters, such as to intimidate and prevent their 
voting f-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you see any fire-arms at the polling-place that dayf-A. I did. 
Q. Who had them '-A. Democrats. 
Q. In what position were tbey f-A. In the scabbard around the waist. 
Q. Did you bear any threats toward Republican voters, and if you say 

yes, state what those threats were.-A. I did not. 
Q. You say you have lived near the Ridge Spring near twenty-two 

years. You are well acqnainted in that neighborhood, are you not!­
A. lam. 

Q. State whether you saw any stranger there that day; and if you 
say yes, state what number.-A. Yes, sir, I did; about forty or fifty. 

Q. Did those strangers vote there !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you as manager raise any objection to their voting !-A. No, 

sir, I did not. 
Q. Did anyone '-A. No, sir, not anyone. 
Q. Ditl you think they had. a right to vote there !-A. No, sir, I did 

not. 
Q. Why is it that you raised no objection '-A. My reason for not 

raising any was tbat they were white men, and I thonght if I did I 
might get myself hurt. 
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Q. Did you ask any of those strangers to give their names I-A. I 
dW. . 

Q. Did they do 80 I If not, what did they do I-A. They would say 
to the clerk" You know my name." 

Q. Would the clerk write down names. for such parties!-A. He did. 
Q. Who acted as clerk that day I-A. Samuel Oartelege. 
Q. Was he a white or colored man I Democrat or Republican 1-

A. White. Democrat. 
Q. As manager, you assisted in counting the votes, did you not !-A. 

I did. . 
Q. State now what condition you foond the ballots in, when yon on· 

locked the box.-A. We found from two to three folded in each other. 
Q. Were these folded tickets in favor of the Republican or Democratic 

candidate I-A. The Democratic candidate. 
Q. When you woold find as many as three ballots folded together, all 

being for the same candidate, iu what way would you dispose of them 1-
A. Throwaway one and count two. 

Q. Do you know what the election law directs you to do in cases of 
that kindl And if you say yes, what doE'S it direct !-A. The law is 
when you find two or more ballots folded togetber to destroy all bnt 
one. 

Q. State wby it is you did not execllte the law when you found bal­
lots folded thus.-A. Iu my opinion, if I had bave executed the law I 
would have been burt. 

Q. Did any object to throwing away two of those ballots' And it 
you say yes, state wbo objected.-A. The Democratic supervisor, Capt. 
Jack Bates. 

Q. Wheu you got through counting the votes and destroyin~ those 
you tbought illegal, what did you do with the legal votes I-A. Placed 
them back in the box. 

Q. Did the number returned to the box excee(l the names on the poll. 
list I And if you say yes, state wbat nomber.-A. Yes. One hundred 
and tbirteen. 

Q. How did you dispose of tbe excess I-A. Put them back in the 
box, and drew them out even with the poll-list. 

Q. What was the Democrcltic vote at Ridge Spriug on November 7th 
last !-A. Something more than six hundred. 

Q. Do yon know how many was polled tbere by the Democrats before 
at elections previous to that I-A. I do not know. . 

Q. Something bas been said here by witnesses about colored laborers 
leaving the Springs vicinity since the election in 1874:, and their places 
being filled by white laborers. Do you know any cases or this kind' 
And if yon say yes, state abont what number of cases.-A. About 
fifteen or twenty have left, and their places filled by white men. 

Q. Are yon personally acquainted with the white men who took these 
places T-A. Yes, some of them. 

Q. State, if you can, whether these white meu emigrated from other 
States or countries, or whether they resided in the \"icinityof the Ridge 
in 1874.-A. Those I am personally acquainted with resided in the vieio· 
ity of the Ridge in 1874. 

Q. At the polling-place, on tbe 7tb of No\"ember last, did you uotice 
any maneuvers being made by Democrats in the way of holding up or 
singling out two or three of their fingers in sight of the clerk when they 
were about to vote I-A. I did. 

Q. In what way would tbey make these demonstratioDs I-A. Hold· 
ing two or three fingers to the side of their head. 
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Cross·examined by George D. Tillman: 
Q. When will you be twenty· three years of ageT-A. On the 25th of 

Jnly coming. 
Q. How many times hal"e you voted at Ridge Sprillgs f-A. Only 

once. 
Q. On whose land did you Ul"e in November lastf-A. On my own. 
Q. Your own land or your father's f-A. I consider it my own; I helped 

pay for it. 
Q. How far is that land from Ridge Springst-A. Five or six miles 

on the north side of Ridge Springs. . 
Q. Did not you and the other Republicau manager agree to appoint 

lIr. Cartelege clerk of the election f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How many different men did you see holding up their fingers to 

the clerk f-A. About two or three. 
Q. Give their names.-A. I 63n't do so. I don't know them. 
Q. Did not you hear a colored Republican tell the clerk "You know 

my namef"-A. I did not. 
Q. Do you not remember that a colored Republican was caught trying 

to vote two ticketsf-A. Don't know. . 
Q. What manager got the names from the voters and called them out 

to the clerk so they could be entered f-A. J, myself, did it. 
Q. Did yon see Mr. Cartelege enter any names on the poll. list, except 

those you gave him f-A. I did. Some five or six. 
Q. Were they not men with whom Mr. Cartelege was weH acquainted !­

A. I don't know. 
Q. Has not Mr. Cartelege been a merchant, residing at Ridge Springs 

for many years I-A. Yes, he has. 
Q. About how old is Mr. Oartelegef-A. About thirty. 
Q. Did I understand you to say that nearly every Democratic tioket 

was folded two or three togetherf-A. No; I never said so. 
Q. How many times did you find three Democratic tickets folded to· 

&etberf-A. Nothing under fifty times. 
Q. How many times did you find two folded together!-A. Ten or 

twelve times. 
Q. You stated that the reason yon did not destroy the excess of tickets 

wben you found two or three folded together was because tbe Democratic 
supervisor, Capt. Jack Bates, objected to throwing away any tick fits or 
destroying them; how mauy times did Oapt. Jack Bates object to de­
stroying tickets wheu there was au excess of them !-A. I said he ob· 
jected to us throwing away two when there was three; wheu th~re was 
two he would throwaway one. 

Q. You stated that in your opinion, if you bad attempted to execute 
the Jaw you was afraid you might have beeu hurt; of whom were you 
afraid, Oaptain Bates I-A. I was afraid of the Democrats. 

Q. Did anybody iu a single instance threaten yoo that day for trying 
to do your duty in enforcing tbe election law; and, if so, who was it and 
wbat aboutf-A. I challenged a young Democrat vote and was very 
rashly cursed for it. I (lon't know who it was cursed me; after tbat I 
stood back. 

Q •. Did the Democratic supervisor or Democratic manager threaten 
you for insisting on destroying two Democratic tickets when three were 
foJded together f-A. They did uot. 

Q. Did you see any colored Republicans refused the privilege or 
voting that day, except on the gronnds that he was too yoong or lived 
in another CO\lDty, such as Aiken or Lexington !-A. I did not. 
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Q. You stated that you saw a great many white men with pistols that 
day; did yon see aoy colored men with pistols, also '-A. I did. 

Q. When that crowd of about two hundred Republicans came up to 
the polls, did they not have two boggies with shot·gons or ritles in 
them '-A. I don't know anything about that. 

Q. You spoko of seeing a great many white strangers there; did you 
not see many colored strangers there, also '-A. I did. 

Q. You stated that you know of tlfteen or colored voters having 
left the Ridge Spring neighborhood since the election in 1874, and that 
their places were supplied with white laborers. Do yon not know that 
several hundred colored laborers have left that neighborhood and that 
the land·owners have employed white men from Newberry and Lexing. 
ton in their places since 1874, and before the last election '-A. I do 
not know whether there were several hundred, bnt there are a great 
many more, white men, and less colored men than before the last elec· 
tion. 

Q. Do yon not know that Mr. Robert Watson, onEi single land·owner in 
the neigh borhood of the Ridge, discharged aboot tlfty colored laborers 
since 1875, and has em»loyed white men instead '-A. I hardly ever go 
to Mr. Bob Watson's-have only been to the Ridge once last year, and 
that was to chorcb. 

Q. Did not a great many colored men \"ote the Democratic ticket 
there that day '-A. Yes, sir' they did. 

Q. Were there Dot several hemocratic colored clubs whose members 
voted at Ridge Springs that day '-A. I don't know anything about the 
clubs. 

Q. How did yon find that you had more votes in the box than names 
on the poll·list '-A. We counted all iu the box, and the poll.list caUed 
for one thousand and twenty names, and we found after counting the 
votes we had 113 votes over that nnmber. 

Q. Did you take that 113 votes ont and count them to themselves, or 
did you count all the votes in the box before you made a calculation of 
what the excess was.-A. We counted the 113 to themselves. 

Q. How many times did you count 113 votes out of the box I-A. We 
only counted them once. 

Q. 'Vas that when you drew out the 113 to destroy them '-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Did yon not first count every vote in the ballot-box, pnrgiog the 
poll as you went along, and after compnting the connt, then, 00 a 
recount of the banots, did yon Dot find that there were 113 more tickets 
than names on the poll·list '-A. We counted the baUots from the box 
np to 1,020, and that was the number on the poll·list. Then there were 
ballots in the box yet. We counted tbem out to themselves. aod the 
number was 113. We pnt all back in the box, and drew this 113 oat, 
and destroyed them. 

Q. In counting that 113 surplus ballots, how many Republican tickets 
did you find folded together and how many Democratic tickets were 
folded together t-A. About six or se\"en RepubJican and tweh'e or 
fourteen Democratic8. 

Q. In counting the 1,020 tickets, how many Republican tickets did 
you find folded together and about how many Democratic tickets did 
you find folded together '-A. Aboot fifteen or twenty times Bepob­
Jicans, I guess; about fifty or sixty times, the number woold not come 
nuder that, for the Democratics. . 

Q. Were tbe Democratic tickets Dsnally folded two or three togetbert­
A. Three, sir, most frequently. 
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Q. How many times did you find three Republican tickets folded 
together I-A. I ne\'er saw that nary time. 

Q. Which party voted heaviest early in the morning; that is, abont 
how many of the first two hundred l"otes were cast by the Democrats'­
A. Of tbat number, they put in about one hundred and thirty or forty. 

Q. Did not the Democrats monopolize the voting for the first two 
hours in the morning '-A. They did the most of it, I know. 

Q. Did you keep any tally of the folded votcs respectively cast by 
the .Republicans or Democrats t-A. I did that. 

Q. Did anybody keep a tally t-A. If they did, I {lid not know it. 
Q. Did yon not remalu by the box all day, until the voting was ol"er, 

and until the l"otes were counted, and until the returns of the electiou 
was wlitten out; and did you not sigu those retnrns, certifyiug that the 
election was properly held '-A. I remained by the box all day, until 
the votes were counted and the returns made out, and I signed the 
returns.; but if I had uo.t been a little doubtful abont .getting hurt, I 
wonld not hal"e Edgned them. 

Q. Did not the Republican managers and supervisors an(1 United 
States marshal, when they went tocount the votes, insist that all voters, 
both white and b!ack, should withdraw from the polls, and was not the 
storehouse locked, the votes connted, and retnrns written out without 
tbe presence of anybody, except the State and Federal officers and 
United States marshal! I mean by officers, election·officers.-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. After completing yonr duties as election·officers and you came ant 
of the house, was not the place deserted, except a few who lingered 
there to hear the result of the election t-A. That was so. 

Redirect by L. Oain : 
Q. You said in yonr cross-examination that no one threatened you 

while destroying one from packages when you fonnd three. State 
whetber or not auy one objected to it.-A. Yes; Captaiu Baltes did. 

Q. State how many colored men you saw with pistols.-A. About 
twenty·fil"e or thirty. 

Q. You "tated in your cross-examination that you saw colored men 
there who were strangers to you; did any of tbese colored men refuse 
to give their names wben asked, and would say t~ the clerk, "You know 
my name t"_A. Tbey did not. . 

Q. You said tbat wben yon were proceeding with the count you 
would destroy one ballot when three were fonnd together. If YOIl had 
included those destroyed in that way, to what extent would tbe ballots 
on tbe poll· list exceed the ballots iu tbe box t-A. Something near 
three hundred. 

Q. You say wben you commenced counting tbe vote tbat all were ex· 
cluded from the room except the officars of election. Did you see any 
parties standing around when you went ont; and, if so, wbat numberT­
A. About five or six. 

Q. You stated you wonld not ba\'e signed tbe returns bad you not 
been Ii. little donbtful about getting burt. What do yon mean b~­
being doubtful about getting hnrt Y-A. I mean I was a little fearful of 
being hurt. 

M. D. LOTT. 

Sworn to before me tbis tbe 2d day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intmdant. 
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In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Oongl'e88 of the United States. 

H. T. TANKERSLY, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestee after 
due notice to contestant, deposes as follows to questions proponnded tD 
him: 

Question. Where do yon live '-Answer. Wise Town~hip, Edgefield 
Connty. 

Q. How long have yon lived therel-A. Born and raised. there. 
Q. Bow old are yon now '-A. Going on twenty-se\"en years. 
Q. Where were yon on ·the 7th of November last, the day of elee· 

tion I-A. At Landrum's Store. 
Q. Were yon in any way connected with the election officially!-A. 

I was manager of the box. 
Q. What time did yon open the box that morning I-A. I bad no 

time-l)iece; I think it was about six: O'clock; between daylight and SUD­
up. 

Q. What time did yoo close in the evening I-A. Abont six o'clock. 
Q. How many managers acted there that day I-A. Two. 
Q. Why is it that the third manager did not act f-A. He was be­

lated. 
Q. How long after six do yoo think it was wben be got there '-A. 

Between seven and eight. 
Q. Did yon object to his acting after be arrived I-A. I did not. 
Q. Did yoo not insist that he sbould be sworn and allowed to act f­

A. I did. 
Q. Who objected to his being sworn I-A. I don't know that anyone 

objected to his befng sworn. 
Q. Did anyone object to his acting as manager that day I-A. The 

Democrat manager said to him: "IDles, you are too late; bnt wait ontil 
I see what the election law says about you coming up here this time of 
day." Then me and him consulted, and he agreed for him (Aaron Miles) 
to serve; and when I called for him he was gone. 

Q. Bow long was it after Aaron Miles made bis application before 
the Democratic manager came to this conclusion I-A. Abollt teD 'r 
fifteen minutes. 

Q. You were at the polling-place the election-day, were YOll not'­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State whether you saw any fire-arms there.-A. I saw one gan 
there in the evening; saw no pistols. 

Q. State, if you can, who had this gun.-A. Don't know; it \Tal • 
white man. 

Q. Did you hear any threats toward Republican voters there that 
day'-A. Did not. 

Q. How many Republican votes were polled there that dayt-A. 
Two. 

Q. Bow many Democratic votes I-A. Two hundred and eleven. 
Q. Can you tell bow many Hepublican votes were polled. there in 

NOTember, 1874 f-A. One hundred and eighty. 
Q. Bow many Democratic votes were polled there in 1874!-A. I 

think one hundred and four. 
Q. You say you lived near Landrum's Store all your life; yoo are well 

acquainted there, are you not '-A. I am. 
Q. State whether or not you noticed many strangers tbere on the 7th 

of November Iast.-A. 1 saw a great many strangers there. 
Q. Did these strangers vote I-A. All voted but four or Ive. 
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Q. Did any ont' object to their voting tbere f-A. No objection. 
Q. Did you not look upon tbose strangers. or a great many of tbem, 

as non-residents of Edgefield Oounty f-A. They were strangers to me, 
bot I thougbt at tbe time they were citizens of the connty. 

Q. Were tbese strangers wbite or colored men f-A. Colored and 
wbite. 

Q. Did the colore(l strangers you saw there '\"ote t-A. Some of them 
did and some did not. 

Q. How many colored men '\"otOO there tbat day·'-A. I think there 
was eighteen or twenty. 

Q. A great deal bas been said about an affidavit wbicb it was said 
was made by you. I desire to read an affidavit whicb purports to bave 
come from you, and want to know wbetber you ever signed such an 
affidarlt. I read from the report of the Senate committee on tbe elec­
tion of Soutb Carolina, 2d vol., page 19, report of the State cauvassers' 
documents: 
"STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA. 

"Edgejield County: 
"Personally appeared before me H. T. Tanksley, wbo, being duly 

sworn, made oath as follows: 
"That be was a manager at Lanham's Store precinct, in said State and 

connty, oftbeelection held on the 7th Nonmber, 1876; that he was born 
and raised in tba' settlement, and knows very near or quite every voter 
in said settlement. And a great number of white ruen voted at tbat 
precinct on said day at said election that he ne\"er saw before in his 
life, and he bas never heard of tbeir names before said day; that he 
has been informed that Marshal Mays, who looted at said precinct, 
voted elsewhere; tbat tbere was only 2 managers, one Republican and 
one Democrat; that the otber Republican manager was refused by the 
Democratic manager, who was chairman of the boar(l; tbat be wanted 
the other manager to act; that the otber manager went off when be 
was refused the right to act by t11e Democratic manager; that when 
the ,",otes or tickets were counted, they outnumbered the names by 
allPut eleveu or twelve; tbat the clt"rk was a Democrat, and sat behind 
t1k managers all the while. 

"HA,SDY TANKERSLY. 
" Sworn to before me No\"ember 14, 1876. 

"JESSE JONES, 
"C. C. C. P." 

A. I did sign it • 
. Q. Wa~ tbere, ~r was there not, a great crowd present when you 

SIgned tbls affidaVIt '-A. There was a great crowd in the house. 
Q. Oan you give the names of any who were present 1-A. Aaron 

Miles, Lanrence Cain, and Boney, Robert Chandler. That is all I can 
remember. 

Q. Tbis affidavit purported to have been signed before Jesse Jones; 
do you remember having seen him there that day 1 Could he have be~n 
in that crowd without your seeing him t-A. He might have been there, 
but I did not see him. 

Q. State whether or not you remember baving seen Paris Sinkins 
and Charles Ryon in that room that day 1-A. I did not see Paris 
Sinkius in the room; saw him on the piazza; don't remember seeing 
Cbarles Ryon. 

Q. Did you see G. W. Holland there that day '-A. Did not. 
Q. You stated that tbere was a "ery large crowd in the room; conld 
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not Jesse Jones have been near you in your rear and seen you sign 
that affidavit without your noticing him f-A. Yes, he could have been 
in there, but I did not see him all day. 

Q. Was not there a great deal of stirring about and noise iu the room 
at the time you signed the affidavit I-A. Yes, a great deal of noise and 
fuss. 

Q. Did anyone force you or urge you to sign that affidavit, or did 
you of your own accord sign it f-A. I did of my own accord. 

Cross·examir.ed by George D. Tillman: 
Q. You stated that there was a large crowd in the house and on the 

piazza when yon signed that pal)er purporting to be an affidavi~ 
before Jesse Jones. Whose house waIJ it f-A. Laurence Cain's hoose, 
the lawyer who has been examining me. 

Q. Who wrote that paper I-A. Boney wrote it, the late judge of 
probatE'. 

Q. Was the paper read over to YOll I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When you signed that l)aper did anybody make yon hold up your 

hand or make you kiss the Bible '-A. Boney did. 
Q. Did you take off your hat f-A. Yes, at the time Boney swore me. 
Q. You are positive, theil, that Boney swore you, and not Jesse Jones' 

-A. Yes, I am positive Boney swore we. 
Q. After you signed your D6me to that paper purporting to be an affi· 

davit, did Boney take his pen and write anything f-A. Could not say. 
Q. When Boney was writing out that affidavit, did not Cain try to get 

you to swear that the Democratic manager at Landrum's Store would 
not let Aa.ron Miles, the other republican manager, serve! and did you 
not refuse to put that in the affida\it and did you not tel Cain that it 
was Miles's own fault that he did not serve as managed-A. No, sir; 
Cain did not. 1\ly statement was to Boney, when Cain was present, that 
I did not blame allY one but Miles himself for not serving. Miles tolll 
me tbat be came off because Mr. Tillman objected; Mr. Tillman, who 
was the DemocratIc manager. 

Q. Did you not bear all that passed between Mr. Tillman and Miles 
about tbe latter serving as managerf-A. Yes, sir; I heard all. 

Q. After yon told Boney, in Cain's presence, that yon did not blame 
anybody but Miles himself for not acting as manager, did you not also 
tell him that you were not going to tell any lies about the election, and 
after you said that and signed the paper, did not Cain tell yon that he 
had no further use for you, and said that you need not go to Columbia as 
a witness '-A. No, sir; did not say that. Cain said he did not know 
whether he would have much use for me or not; but if he needed me 
he would send for me; that is, to ~o to Columbia. 

Q. Have you been to Columbia as a witness f-A. I went down there, 
but was taken sick and came home. 

Q. Did you see anything of Bob Chandler thera that day-the day of 
election, I mean I-A. No, sir, did not see him. 

Q. Was not Bob Chandler selected by the Republican party to dis· 
tribute their tickets at Landrum's Store, and were any U,ellublican tickets 
there that day for distribution T-A. I heard him there was no Be· 
puhlican tickets there for distribution that day. 

Q. You said that there were two Republican votes cast there that 
day. How did they make out their tickets, and who were the meu who 
voted those tickets f-A. Myself and my brother Sam Tankersly. Johu 
Briggs came up there from Curry town with one, and Mr. Tillman tuld 
him that he had better let him have that ticket, he wanted to see it; be 
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wanted to write one for Sam to vote. I told him to let me vote that 
otber. Be said, "All right." 

Q. Did not a great many Republicans go to Laudrom's to vote, and, 
finding no ticket, come on up to the village to vote '-A. Yes, they did. 

Q. You stated that yon saw a great many white men who were strano 
gers there that day; did yoo not also see a great many colored men who 
voted the Democratio ticket that were also strangers to yoo '-A. I 
saw several. 

Q. You stated that flfteeo or twenty colored men voted there that 
day; did yoo mean by that, that flfteeu or twenty colored strangers 
voted, antI no more colored men voted t-A. There were a great lDany 
colored men who yoted there that day, bot fifteen or twenty were strano 
gers to me. 

Q. After yoo and the Democratic manager con sol ted aboot Miles act­
ing as manager, did yoonot call for Miles and send for some one to hunt 
him !-A. Yes, we sent )Ir. Mose Harris to hont him. 

Q. In the morning, before the voting commenced, did yoo or not ap· 
pointthe Democrat manager yoor chairman '-A. We did. 

Q. Did not the Democratio manager offer to let you be chairman, 
and did you not decline it '-A. I did decline. . 

Q. Did you not vote with the Democratic manager to elect Mr. James 
Lanhan as clerk, and was not Mr. Lanhan sworn to act as clerk i-A. 
I did, and he was sworn in as clerk. 

Q. Before the voting commenced, was not the box cleaned and locked; 
and, if so, who kept the key I-A. The box was cleaned out and locked, 
and I kept the key. 

Q. How long did yoo keep the key '-A. From the time the poll was 
opened ontil nine o'clock next morning. 1Ve came to Edgefield Court· 
House. 

Q. Was not Mr. John Wise the regolar Demooratic soper visor at yoor 
poll !-A. He was. 

Q. You stated that all the strangers, except foor or five, who came 
there voted. Were not those four or fl\'e refused the privilege of vot· 
ing, either because they were under age, had already voted, or were not 
residents of the coonty I-A. One was refused becaose he was onder 
age, the others did not offer to vote. 

Q. You mention that you saw one shot·gun there that day; did not 
that gun look as if it looked to somebody who had brought it to shoot 
game going to and returning from the election '-A. I don't know, sir; 
it was a Winchester rifle; they asked no qoestions, and I asked none. 

Q. Did anybody threaten yoo there that day, or any other Repoblicau 
there'-A. Not 8s I know of. 

Q. 'Vho helped yoo to count the votes I-A.. The Democratic man· 
ager and the clerk; the supervisor was present. 

Q. Do you, or not, consider that the votes were fairly counted and 
the election was fairly held t-A. '1'0 my knowledge, it was. 

Q. Did you not sign the returns of the election, certifying that they 
were all right, of your own accord and without any compulsion '-A. 
Of my own accord. 

Redirect by G. W. Holland: 
Q. You said in your cross·examination that Cain said to you that he 

did not know t.hat he had any ose for yoo as a witness, but if he wanted 
you he woold send for yoo; did he afterwards send for yoo to go to Co· 
lumbia, and did yoo not go !-A. Whether he seot for me or not, but 
the message came and I went. 
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Q. You said you got sick and came back; did you see Cain before yoo 
left Columbia, and did you or not ask him for money to pay your yay 
back home Y-A. I did not see him. 

Q. Did you pay your own way home or did some one else pay it for 
you; and, if yea, who paid it '-A. He paid my way down there and I 
paid my way back. 

Q. Are you positive that Robert Chandler was not there at tbe polls 
at any time during the day distributing Republican tickets !-A. I don't 
know j did not see him. 

Q. Conld yon have seen every person about the polls that day !-A­
I could not. 

Q. Might not Chandler have been' there distributing Republican tick­
ets and you not see him f-A. I don't know. 

Q. Did the Democratic manager vote there that day; if 80, who 
swore him, and did you vote, and who swore you '-A. We swore each 
other. 

Q. Was the man who had this Winchester rifie on foot or on horae­
back '-A. Ou horseback. 

Q. When he saw you after you hacl come from Columbia, did be or not 
tell you that he was sorry that you came home before he 88W you I-A. 
He did. 

HANDY TANKSLY. 

Sworn to before me this the 3d day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

I"Untdnt. 

In tbe matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls; 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. : 

ROBERT CHANDLER, a witness of legal age, introduced by eootestee~ 
after due notice to contestant, deposes as follows to qnestioDs pro-! 
pounded to him: 

Question. Where do yon live !-Answer. Edgefield County. 
Q. How long have yon lived in this county '-A. Fifty years. 
Q. How old are you '-A. Abont fifty one or two yeal'8 old. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th of November last, the day of the eIee-'1 

tion !-A. At Mr. I:.andmm's store. 
Q. Were yon in any way officially connected with the election t-A., 

Yes, sir j to distribute Republicau tickets. 
Q. What time in the morning did you get there '-A. As near as I 

can guess, half ·past 5 o'clock a. m. 
Q. Were there a great many persons there when you reaehed thf 

polls !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were the most of them Democrats or Republicans !-A. Themost 

. of them at that time were Democrats. 
Q. Did you notice any hostile demonstration on the part of the Dem­

ocrats toward Republican voters such as were calculated to inti!nidah! 
them and keep them from voting !-A. Yes, sir. When I got tIt«e 
that morning I was snrrounded by the Democrat party. Mr. Job 
Swarengen said there should not be a Repnblican tiqket distributed 
there that day. If it was, it should he done through blood. I did DOt 
distribute any Republican tickets there that day, because the Demoent 
party there threatened my life. 

Q. Were yon personally threatened with violence on that day by 
Democrats' If so, state what those threats were.-A. Yes, sir. TIley 
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drew tbeir pistols on me. Benny TiJlman said they bad been the rnlers 
of Carolina, and they intended to rule it. 

Q. Did yon remain there all day' If not, wbat time did you leave 
tbat polling-place f-A. I left tbere at a quarter of seven by Dr. Jen­
ning's time. 

Q. Were these threats made to you by the Democrats the cause of 
your leaving the polls '-A. Yes, sir; they was. 

Q. Did you attempt to vote there any time before you left '-A. Yes; 
I tried the second time, and the Democrat party would not let me. -

Q. Did yon see any other colored Rt>public8ns prevented from voting, 
and who left the polls without voting'-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you see any fire-arlDs at the polling. plnce that day f-A. Yes, 
sir. Alfred Holmes had two. He opened his coat and silo wed tbem to 
me. He said if the Democrat party did not carry the election this time 
they were going to take it. 

Q. Did you see any more pistols besides those two '-A. Yes, sir; I 
saw a great number of pistols that day. 

Q. Did you see Imy guns '-A. No, sir; I did not see any that day. 
Q. Did you vote anywhere on the day of election; if so, where '-A. 

No, sir. I left :Mr. Landrum's to come up here. When I got np here it 
W88 wusser here than it was there. 

Q. Was the general demeanor of the Democrats at Landrum's Store, 
on tbe day of the election, when you arrived there, quiet and ordt'rll, or 
was it disorderly and boisterouR '-A. 'fhey were whooping and hollow­
ing. John Oarpenter he drewd his pistol. Jerrie Whitlool{ he come 
a running wid his pistol in his hand. Hart Quarles he wanted to shoot 
anyhow. Several of them caught him. Tbat'd all I saw and kuew tbere 
that day. 

Cross·examined by George D. Tillman: 
Q. When yon reached Landrum's Store the morning of the elpction, 

who did you talk with and who were they'-A. Obaril's Ryans, William 
Wood, Aaron Blocker. I never got in fifty yards of the store·house. 

Q. Did you 1I0t get nearer than fifty yards of the store· bouse auy time 
that day '-A. No, sir; I did not. 

Q. Dit! you talk witb any white men at the store that morning; and 
if 80, who were they '-A. No, sir; I did not talk witb any. 

Q. Did allY white men talk with you there that morning; if so, who­
were they '-A. I want to tell you the reason I diel not talk with any of 
them. I was just allowed such a distance, and if I come any turlb~r I 
would come through blood. 

Q. Who told you that you wonld bavA to come through blood '-A. 
John Swarengen was one of the men; Beuuie Tillman, Alfred Holmes, 
John Oarpenter, Dr. W. D. Jennings, jr., Jerrie \Vhitlook, Hart Quarles, 
and many otherH I dou't know. 

Q. How many of those men are colored men f-A. T\vo that I have 
named. 

Q. What time in- the morning did this occur f-.A. It was about half 
afrer 6 o'clock a. m. 

Q. What did you do then '-A. J just give back a little, and stopped 
and studied. I then decided to come to Edgcfi~ld Oourt-Houstl. I 
studied about SE-ven minute:>. 

Q. Did you ofli-r auy of the managers a ticket to vote' Did you offer 
to '·ot~ T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you go back any time that day and offer to vote a second 
time '-A. Yes, sir. 

H. Mis. 11-22 
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Q. What time in the day WaEI it and who ·was with you and wbo 
stopped you f-A. The second time I went back I got in twenty or 
thirty yards from the polls; the same party stopped me. I said, 
"Well. if I can't get to tbat poll I will make to Edgefield." 

Q. What did you do with the RepublicRn ticket@! you had tbat 'day f­
A. About five weeks ago, when I was driven off from Jerrie Gardner's, 
my son took forty; the rest are in my press at home now. 

Q. If you offered a single Republican a ticket there tbat morning, 
wbo was he '-A. They threatened my life 80 I had to get away from 
there, and I did not ha\"e a chance. 

Q. On which side of tbe store did you stop, and how long did you 
stO) there '-A. On a little red bill, near a cbiny.tree, tbis side of the 
store. I stopped tbere about seven minutes. 

Q. Bow long after yoo got in tbe neighborhood of Landrum's Store 
did this party meetY-A. About halt'past five or six o'clock. 

Q. Which one of the party came meeting you and spoke first I-A. 1 
can't tell wbich spoke first. 

Q. Bow mahy Democrats were they tbere '-A. Tbere was twenty· 
five or thirty. , 

Q. Was tbe 8un up tben '-A. Yes, she was near abont rising. 
Q. You could see !til their faoes then plainly, 80 yon could tell each 

one '-A. Yes, I could see tbeir faces plain; there was some 1 did not 
know. Tbose wbom I knew I caned their names. 

Q. Bow close did anyone of that party come to you, who was it, and 
what did be do '-A. John Carpenter, in twenty·five or thirty steps of 
me; be pointed his pistol at me; be told me not to come any farther; I 
sbould not go to tbe poll. Jerry Wbitlock Was next; he pointed a pis­
tol at me, too. He said I was a damn fool, voting for a man I did not 
know anything about. Tben I had to get out of the way; tbere was 
such a whooping and boUoing, I looked for some of tbem to sboot 
every minllte .. 

Q. Did Mr. B. R. Tillman say anything to you; if 80, what did he 
say t-A. He said he was manager. and he would see any Repnblican 
ticket that was thrown there that day. 

Q. Did he Sl)eak to you after Oarpenter and Whitlock did I-A. Yes, 
sir, after tbat. 

Q. Who, on horseback, of that crowd, was it I -A. There Was none of 
tbem on borseback. 

Q. Wbo was it out tbere in tbat field trying to shoot at yon I-A. I did 
not see Bny of that. 

Q. Wbo did you bave tbe longest talk with tbat morniog I-A. I did 
not talk witb any of tbem; they would not let me. 

Q. Do you know where tbe election was held tbat day I-A. In the 
new part, wbere there is a window. 

Q. Did Mr. John Swarengen say anything to yon that morning, and 
what did be say, and wbat did he doT-A. He did not say anything to 
me in particular; be only said there should not be a Republican tictet 
polled there tbat day. 

Q. Whf'n did be say that, wbat time in tbe morning I-A. Directly 
after I got tbere. 

Q. W bo spoke to yon first, of the Democrats, that momiDgt-A. 
That's hard to say, so Dlany men coming up aU at once. 

Q. You stated that Mr. Alfred Holwes opened bis coat and sbowed 
you two l)istoJs; what did be say I -A. He opened his coat, and IJAid, 
.. Damn it, tbis is Alfred Holmes." 

Q. Was that all he said I-A. Yes, that was alL 
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Q. Was the sun shining thent-A. Don't know. . 
Q. How high was tbe suu, or wbat time of day was it I-A. It was 

abont six o'clock. . 
Q. Wbo was the last man who spoke to you, in that party t-A. I 

eao't ten you, there was so many. 
Q. Did anybody try to sboot you that morning, and who was he, and 

Ihocanght bilD t-A.. John OlLrpenter was tbe man; he come breaking 
10 the crowd; don't know who stoppecJ him. 

Q. Did Bandy Tanksley come up to the court·honse that day '-A. 
So, sir. 

Q. Did not you tell the Senate committee in Oolumbia that Handy 
ranksley came up to tbe court· bouse f-A. No; tbat's a mistake. I 
said Sam Tanksley. 

Q. How many Republican votes were cast that day '-A. Dou't 
know. 

Q. When you came up to the court·house, did you tell Oain that he 
bad better do something about tickets at l~andraeu's I-A. No, sir. 

Q. Who was it told you tbat morning of tbe election that tbis was a 
,bite man's co.ontry, and they intended to keep it so '-A. Dr. Jen­
bings Mid Edgefield belonged to the wbite folks, and it sbould remain 
10. 

Q. Did you say anything to the Democrats, white or black, that 
morning; if so, what did you say, and to wbom did yon say it f-A. 
y~ sir. When the party got after me I said to tbe party, the polls are 
Bpened bere to-day, and all men bave a rigbt to vote. 1 never bad any­
thing more to say. When a man threatens my life, I have no time to 
talk. 

Q. Did you and your party keep straight on to the polls tbat mOl'ning 
IIDtil YOD met those Democrats '-A. We did. 

Q. Wbat time W8S tbi\t f-A. Near about six o'clock. 
Q. How long did yon and your party remain there parleying with the 

Democrats when they were threatening you f-A.. About seven minutes. 
Q. Did you and your l>arty leave in seven minutes '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were the Democrats standing in the road wben you first saw 

them I-A. They were standing around the store·door when 1 first saw 
them. Theu they came meeting us, walking past. John Carpenter and 
'erry Wbitlock, they were the leaders. 

Q. Did you tell any of the Republican leaders that they ought to send 
IODie one to Landrum's store with tickets that I could distribute '-A. 
No, sir. The next day after the election 1 told tbem that we could not 
vote tbere. 

Q. Wbat time did you arrive at the court·house that day'-A. Be· 
tween 9 and 10 o'clock a. m. 

Q. Was it not cold, cloudy, and rainy that day until 9 or 10 o'clock 
L m. '-A. Now I am going to tell it just like it W88. It was rlliu· 
lng, and tolerable cold rain, and just about the sun rose that morning, 
and 1\ wbileafter that, it rained until some time in the day. 

Q. Was it raining when thelJe white and colored Democrats were 
threatening you and your partyf-A. It was drizzling rain. 

Q. For bow long a time did you and your party remain in the neigh. 
borbood of Landraeu's storeT-A. From half past live until a quarter of 
ilt\'en. 

Q. Did you remain within 80 yards olthe store all that time '-A. No; 
we came up to the big road and staid there some time. 

Q. If it~was drizzling rain, would the Democrats have been standing 
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out at the door while your party was comiug up '-A. When I saw tbem 
they were coming meeting U8. 

Q. Was it or not about 8un op when this threatening parlt'y occurred 
between the Democrats and your party '-A. About six o'clock. 

Q. Was it sort a clear and red in ttte east when this threatening 
parley occurred '-A. It was near about six o'clock. 

Redirect by G. W. Holland: 
Q. You said, in your cross·examination, that four or five colored 

Republicans were with you. Was it not the reason that they had ReIIUb­
liean tickets with them that you did not gh'e them tickets '-A. No, 
they had none. 

Q. Might you not have given them tickets on that day, and thi<4 great 
len/.:th of time after the election yoUl' melllOl'y tloes not serve you now'­
A. No, I had no chance to give them tickets; the Democrats would not 
let me. 

Q. Are yon sure that Dr. Jennings did not say, "This is a white 
man's country," and might you not have forgotten wbat his exact word" 
were '-A. He said Edgefield belongs to the white folks, and should 
remain so. 

Q. Did he not also ose the words, " This is a white man's country t"­
A. Yes; he saht this country. 

Q. You said that you and your party remained there about seveu 
minnws studying what to do. Did you not Ree, during that time, !lucb 
hostile demonstrations made on the part of Democrats that you aud 
yonr party would not be safe ill staying there f-A. No, sir; we would 
not have been safe in staying there. 

Q. You said that you did not have any talk with any of them; they 
would not let you. Do yoo mean to say they were colored men or :pem· 
ocrats t-A. They were colored and white Democrats. 

his 
ROBERT + CHANDLER. 

mark. 

Sworn to before me this the 3d day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Inter&daflt. 

In the rnattt'r of the contest of Gporge D. Tillman against Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

CHA.RLES CODB, a witness of It'gal age, introdoct'd by contt'stee after 
dne notice to colltestant, deposes as follows to qoestions propounded to 
bim: 

QueRtion. Where do you live'-Answer. Edgefield County. 
Q. How long ha\'e you lived hereT-A. I wasraisetl here. 
Q, How old are you now'-A. I have not got my age t'xactly, but 

am abont thirty. 
Q. Where were yoo on the 7th November last-the day of election f­

A. I was at John/jon's early in the mOl'lling. 
Q. W('re YOll in any \vay connectit·d witb the election omciaUy,-A. 

I was appointed United Shltt>S dC'pllty mlll'Mbul. 
Q. What time in the morning did JOu arrive at Johnson's I-A. About 

half paRt six. 
Q. Did )·ou act RS dt'poty UDi~t'd Statf'R marRbal tbere tbRt dayf­

A. 'fhat was my business thert', hut I did Dot Ktay there to do it. 
Q. State wby ~'ou did lIot stay there and act.-A. I WIUI threatened 

by the D~mocrat party. 
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Q. What ~ime did you leave there that morning!-A. About half past 
86\·en. 

Q. At the time you arrived there in the morning, did you see a great 
many Democrats tbere!-A. Yes, a great many. 

Q. Were there many colored Republicans there !-A. A great many 
RepUblicans tbere. 

Q. Were you personally threatened by anybody; if so, who were 
they I-A. I don't know who they were, but know they were Demo· 
crats. 

Q. Did you vote at Jobnson's !-A. I did not. 
Q. Did you see on the part of the Democrats there that day any 

demollstrations calculated to intimidate or frighten RtopubJican voters 
from the pons !-A. Not while I was tbere. 

Q. SO, then, you do not know wbetber any othE'r Rf'lpublican voters 
were intimidated or frigbtened so as to dellist from voting at that 
placet-A. Don't know. 

CroBB·examined by George D. Tillman: 
Q. Wpre you or not a candidate for tbe legislature on tbe Republican 

ticket at the last election !-A. I was candidate for nomination on the 
Rt-publican ticket, but was defeated. 

Q. Who appointed you United States deputy marshal to act at the 
Jobnson box I-A. I don't recollect. The name was 011 the appoint­
ment. 

Q. Where is your commis8ion as deputy United States marshal! 
Wbo dt'Jivered it to you' Where di<l be deliver it to yoo, and when 
aud bow t-A. It is at home. Lawrence lJain delivered it to me some 
days bt'for6 tbe election at his bouse, under an oatb by the clerk of the 
court. I brought it o\"er to him, Je!lse Jones, and he swore me. 

Q. Wben you reacherl Johnson's tbat morning, what official acts did 
you undertakfl to accomplish tbat the Democratic voters objected to!­
A. I went IIp where they were votillg, up-stairs, and when 1 came down 
and was giving out the Rt'llUbJican tickets to tbe voters, I started back 
up tbere where tbt'y were voting again, aud some of the Democrat 
party were clustered around the door; tht'y object(>d to my going back 
up there. I showed tbem tbe badge I bad wearing, and they clus· 
tered around me and curtled me, anrl threatt-ned that the. v would kill 
me, and 1 offered to pull my authority, but they said they did not want 
to see it. 

Q. Who w(>re some of the men wbo threatened you!-A. J don't 
know wbo any of tbem were. 

Q. Did you see any of those men with arms '-A. I did not. 
Q. Tell tbe IJames of some colored RepublicsulJ who heard tbem curs· 

inll you.-A. I can't gi\"'e the namt's. 
Q. lJannot you give the name of one colored or wbite man who heard 

tbotle people (~u,·se you !-A. lJall't tell. 
Q. If' ~'ou did not vote at Jobnson's tbat day, where <lid you vote'­

A. At Etlgt'tield, box No.2. 
Q. 011 whose plantation did you reside last year I-A. On Mr. Bur. 

nett HnlJand's place. 
Q. What was tbreatenE'd whicb made you leave Johnson's !-A. Say' 

iog tbat if I did not leave thtlre they wonld kill me. 
Q. Did you offer to vote at al\ at Johnson's j and, jf so, did anyone 

pre\'ent ~ ou or tt'll YOIl yon shonhi not vote !-A. I did not ofter to 
vote, and 110 one told me I should not vote. 

Q. Bow do you know it was Democrats that threatened yoo, if yoo 
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cannot give some of their names'-A. They said we Democrats were 
going to carry this election. . 

Q. Did you or not distribute your Republican tickets t-A. When I 
went up the first time I laid down a big pile on the manager's table, 
and after comiug dowu I gave out some to the voters. 

C. COBB. 
Sworn to before me this the 4th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. ~-IA"RSH, 

I NteJ&daat. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalla 
for a seat in the Congress of the United Stutes. 

COLEMAN MORGA.N, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestA!t, 
after due notice to contestunt, deposes &i follow8 to questions pro­
poundoo: 

Question. Where do you live '-.Answer. Edgefield Connty. 
Q. How long have you lived there'-A. Always lived in Edgefield 

County. 
Q. How old are ;you '-A. Twenty.eigbt. 
Q. Wh"J"e w(>l'e you on the 7th of November, the day of electiont­

A. A t Cllfl'~'ton preciuct. 
Q. Did you bold any position there that dayt-A. Yes; I W88 mar· 

shal there that (lay. 
Q. Were you United States deputy marshaU-A. I was. 
Q. At what time in the morning of tbe 7th did you arri\"6 at the poll. 

ing-place t-A. About seven o'clock. 
Q. Wben YOll arrived there was the poll open and were the mea 

votingt-A. The poll was opt'ned and tbe men were yoting. 
Q. Dowmany managers did you find there, and wbo was itt-A. Oal,. 

one; his name was Pick Delallghton. 
Q. Was Ite the Democrntic or one of the Repnblican managerst­

A. Democratic manager. 
Q. When you arrive.I at the polling-place how ,,'as the l)lact'in regard 

to order f-A. They were voting; tb~re was no disturbance at t~ 
time. 

Q. Did yon see any fire-arms there tbat day, and who had tbemf­
A, I saw some there, btu do not know who bad them. One double-bar­
rel Rhot-gllll, one or two rilles, one or two pistols-that was all 188w. 

Q. What were they doillg witb them '-A. Nothing; jUgt bad them 
tber~. 

Q. Did you remaillattbatpolling-placeallday!-A.No. sir; notall 
day. 

Q. At wbat time of day did you le3ye th(>r~; wby did you leave, and 
where did you ~o f-A. 1 1f'ft about 9 o'clocka. m. I did not feel aatiB­
fled there. I went to Sbaw's mill. 

Q. What do YOIl 1Ot'8n by not feeling satisfled there f-A. I did DO~ 
think I would be safe by staying tbt're. . 

Q. 'Vhy did you apprt'belHI danger !-A. I bad not conv(>rsed WIth 
any of the men who bad the guns at that time; alter that 1 t.alked with 
them, Bud weut back from Shaw's mill to CUlTyton with t.hem. 

Q. What time in the day did you return to Curry ton from Shaw's 
mill f-A. About half past uine o'clock. 

Q. Did yon remain there tbeu until tbe closing of the polls tbateven­
ing f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you see either of the Republican managers there at any time 
during the day f-A. No, sir. 
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Q. You are persouallyacquainted with tbe men appointed I-A. I 
only know one of them. 

Q. Did you witness the counting of the votes f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Who assisted )lr. Delaughton. the Democratic manager, in count· 

ing tbe votes f-A. I don't know, sir, who did. 
Q. Were the parties assisting him strangers to yon f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. After connting t.he votes the returns were signed by one manager, 

were they noH-A. Yes, sir; by one. 
Q. Was tbe box sealed in your presencef-A. No, sir. 
Q. Who took the bbx, the key, and the poll.list after the votes were 

counted I-A. I don't know. Mr. Delaughton mnst have taken them, 
88 be was the only one there who was a manager. 

Q. State, if you can, bow many Republican votes were polled there 
that day '-A. Only 2. 

Q. Bow many Democratic votes were polled '-A. I think there was 
106. 

Q. Do you remember bow many Republican votes were polled there 
in 1874f-A. I do not remember. 

Q. You state that you saw men with guns there; were they white or 
colored f-A. White men. 

Q. What was their dress '-A. All of them had on red shirts or red 
coats. 

Q. You are well acquainted there, are you nott-A. Not very well. 

Oross·examined by B. Bettes: 
Q. Who appointed you United States marshal !-A. Mr. Bentley. 
Q. Before whom did you take the oath of oftice'-A. By the clerk of 

the court. 
Q. Did you read the appointment I-A. No. sir; I had it read. 
Q. Did you understand your duties as United States marshal f-A. 

By the way the document read I understood it. 
Q. What did it tell you your duties were '-A. It told me my duties 

were to observe the peace. 
Q. Was that all it told you '-A. It told me if any man violated the 

law to arrest him. 
Q. You were therl', then, to see that everything was fair and quiet, 

were you not '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You did your duty in that respect, did yon nott-A. Yes, sir; as 

near as I could. 
Q. Yon had no occasion to use yonr authority as United States mar· 

shal, did you '-A. No, sir. . 
Q. So far as you saw there, at that place, everything was fair and 

quiet !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You did not see anything unfair in the election, did you '-A. No, 

sir. 
Q. After you came back from Shaw's Mill did you notice to see 

whether there was one, two, or three managers there I-A. Yes, sir; 
there was but one manager there. 

Q. You said yon did not know but two of the managers; how, then, 
do you know that the one you did not know was not present T-A. I 
88ked the one I did know and he said he was not present. 

Q. Which one of the managers did you ask '-A. Mr. Peck Delaugh. 
ton. 

Q. Tbe Republicans mostly went over to Shaw's Mill to vote that 
day, where the troops were, did they not '-A. I don't know. 

Q. Did you vote at Shaw's Mill or at Ourryton l-A. At Curry ton. 
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Q. You would not have voted if you did not tbink it fair there, wonld 
you '-A. I thought it correct; I mean everytbing is right. 

Q. ])0 you know Mr. Tom Sbaw'-A. No, sir. 
Q. Don't yon think anybody conld have voted tbere that day who bad 

a right to vote '-A. I saw no objection. 
Q. You did not see anything to keep anyone from voting if they bad 

wanted to I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Yon did not see many Repnblicans there that day'-A. Not many 

that I knew. • 
Q. Did you see many at Shaw's Mill f-A. I don't know; saw a great 

many lleople at botb places. 
Q. Bow many colored men did you see at Curry ton '-A. Can't tell 
Q. Did you see any colored people voting at Curry ton I-A. I don't 

remember seeing many vote at Curry ton. . 
Q. All the colored people who were at Curry ton voted, did tbey 

not I-A. Don't know. 
Q. You saw a great many colored people at Shaw's Mill, bnt a few ~ 

Curry ton I-A. I saw a great many at both places. 
Q. While at Shaw's Mill, did you see any colored people have fire· 

arms T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Yon witnessed the counting" to see it was done right, did yon Dot!­

A. All was right which I saw. 
Q. You staid in the house after yon came from the mill aU the time, 

did you not T-A. I was out doors 88 often as anywbere else. 

Redirect by L. Cain: 
Q. Are you certain whether it was Beatty or Judge Geo. S. Brran 

who gave yon your commission as United States marsbal I-A. I am 
not certain, but think it was Beatty. 

Q. What ticket did you vote I-A. The Repnblican ticket. 
Q. Yon statt.'d that yon did not know whether aU the colored men 

voted at Cllrryton or not; did not a grt.'.at many of the colored mt'D 
accompany you to Shaw's Mill, and you left them there I-A. Not many; 
one or two. 

Q. You say that everything was conducted fairly there, as rar as yOIl 

know. As you were out of the house a great part of the day, could Dot 
things have been condncted unfairly without your knowledge I-A. .As 
rar as I know, I say. 

bie 
COLEMAN + MORGAY. 

mark. 

Sworn to before me this the 5th day of April, 1877. 
1 SEAL.] C. S. B. HARSH, 

Ireterul4.t. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Sma1Ii 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

JAMES L. BLAm, a witness of lt.'gal age, introduced by contestee after 
due notice to contestaot, deposes as follows to questions Pl'Opouded: 

Question. Where do you reside I-Answer. Edgefield Oouoty. 
Q. Bow long have you lived here t-A. Three years. 
Q. Bow old are you t-A. Twenty·five years old. 
Q. W t're yon in any way officially connected with the election' ADd 

if you say yes, state what position you held.-A. I was manager or Car· 
rytou box last Novem ber. 
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Q. By wbom were yon appointed !-A. By Jesse Jones, clerk of 
courL 

Q. Was be not commissioner of election !-A. He was. 
Q. Wbo informed you that you were appointed manllger !-A. Cole· 

man Morgan informed lIIe tbllt I was. 
Q. Did you Dot subscribe to your oath 8S manager j if 80, before 

whom !-A. Yes, sir j I took tbe oath bt'fore Jesse JODes, clt'rk ot' court. 
Q. nid you 1(0 to Corryton and act liS manager 00 the 7tb of Novem· 

ber last '-A. N 0,1.41r j did not get tbere. 
Q. Why did you not get there !-A. I was on my way to Curry ton to 

attend to DIy duty, and wbt'n I got io about fonr Dliles and a ball' from 
tbe poll a crowd 0" red·sbirt wbite men mt't me and baited me and asked 
me wilt-re was I going, and [ told tbE'm I WIIS J{oillg to Curry ton, and tbey 
asked me for wbat. I told thelll I W8S a manager for Curry ton box. 
Tben thpJ bt'l(an with cnrses, and abused me for all the damn Hayes 
and Chambt'rlain sons of bitcbE's, and drew thE'ir pistols, aOlI said if I 
went any further tbe.v would mob lUe to death, and said we will have 
yon damned Radical tbieves to know that we Democrats intend to rule. 
Then they said [ could go any way I wanted to-tbrougb the woods or 
tbe foot.putb-lmt we Will meet yon there and show you bow we will 
mob you. Tbt'y went tben toward tbe Curry ton box, and 1 took tbem 
at tbeir word and went 011 back. 

Q. Wl're tht're any colored men witb yoo '-A. No, sir; by myself. 
Q. Give tbl' names, if yon CRlI, of sOllie of this party who tbus treated 

Jou.-A. I did not know any of them j tllPY all St'emed strangers. 
Q. Did you see any guns !-A. Yes; seven or eigbt of them had 

gnDs. 
Q. ""heu you torned back wbere did you go to !-A. I went to Sbaw's 

Mill. 
Q. Were these men you saw mountf'd '-A. Yl's; on horses and mull'S. 
Q. After you wt're tUl'Oed back aud waM 011 your way to Shaw's Mill, 

did yon meet Hny Rt'publicans going toward C',rryton !-A. No, sir. 
Q. You stilted tbat tht're were Mevpn (lr eigbt guns in the crowd. 

What kind were tbtly!-A. They looked like Remington riOes. 

Cross-examined by Bettes: 
Q. Where did you live before you came to Edgefield Court-House t-

A. Iu Georgia. 
Q. How llJOJ{ had YOIl bE'en here before the election !-A. Two years. 
Q. What did you lea\"e Georgia. for !-A. Bt'cauMe I felt like leaving. 
Q. Wbtln did yoo tHke the oath before Jesse Jones as mauagerT-A. 

When he was giving tbe boXt>s oot to go to these places. 
Q. Wbo rt'ct'ived yoor box !-A. Peck Ddaughtou. 
Q. Ahont what time did yon get to Shaw's Mill !-A. Abont 6 

o'clock a. m. 
Q. Did ~'ou stay there all day; if not, how long T-A. Not aU day; 

until two or three o'clock ill the e,-ellillJ{. 
Q. Did you see Cole: Morgan there T-A. Yl's; at a distance. 
Q. Did you speak to him any tillle during that day !-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was be 1I0t United States depoty marshal '-A. He was. 
Q. Was it not his bosiness to see tbat the managers were protected T­

A. I dOIl't know. 
Q. Did you tell an~'body about these men halting and abusing you t­

A. No, sir. 
Q. When you got to Shaw's Mill, why did yon not go to the United 

States autborities, coosisting of United 8tates officers and marshal, and 
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ask that you be protected as manager of the Onrryton box f-A. I was 
afraid to say anything about it-atraid those men might get hold of it 
and kill me for it. 

Q. About what time of day was it those men met you in the road t-
A. Before six o'clock. 

Q. How long before six f-A. About a half hour, I suppose. 
Q. How far was you then from Shaw's llill I-A. About a half mile. 
Q. How far is Shaw's Mill from Ourryton I-A. About five miles. 
Q. Did you see the other Repu blican manager who .was to manage the 

box at OurrJton that day f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you attempt to go to Curry ton any more that day f-A. No, . 

sir. 
Q. Did you inquire of anybody that day how the voting was going 

on at Curry ton f-A. No, sir. 
Q. It was about a half mile from the United States troops these men 

met yoo, was it Dot f-A. Yes, sir, about. 
Q. You did Dot go to the United States marshal and ask his protec· 

tioll f-A. No, sir; I was afraid to do so tor fear these l»oopie would get. 
hold of it, and kill me some time. 

Q. Was everytbing perfectly quiet and peaceable at Shaw's lUll! 
while you staid there I-A. No, sir; it did not seem 80 to me. 

Q. Did you know the name of a single one of those men who metyoo 
in tbe road f-A. No. sir. 

Q. Did not the troops and the United States marsbal Dot keep tbings • 
quiet at Shaw's MilI1-A. No; they were in a quandary about guild 
a while. I left them quiet when I left. : 

Q. Where were those guns tbey were fussing about f-A. I did DOt i 

aee them; they looked for them bot did not find them. 
Q. How do you know tbey did not find them f-A.. They came back! 

and said they did not. . 
Q. Did you see tbem when tbey came back f-A. Yes, sir. i 

Q. Did they have gUDS when they came back I-A. They did not I 
ha\Te the guns. 

Q. It was the United States soldiers who went off and aearched for! 
the guns and came back without them '-A. They did not carry aDY; 
with them or bring any back. I 

Q. After the fuss about the guns was over all was quiet, was it not t- i 

~~~ ~ 
Q. Y",u saw nothing wrong after that, did yoo '-A. Saw nothing! 

wroDg, except a little grumblin~ about the guns the white people hadi 
there; had no more row as long as I staid there. I 

Q. Any and evel'y body could vote there who had a right to, could I 
tbey f-A. Yes; thf'Y oltjected to one m~n on account he broke jail. 

Q. How many men met you in the crowd four miles u"Om CIlITY"1 
ton I-A. About twenty. I 

Q. Were they coming toward Shaw's Mill, were they not I-A. Yea, 
• I 

m~ I 

Q. Wben they met YOll, did you tnrn back or .clid they torn baek. '-I 
A. We both torned hack, they to Corryton and I to 8haw'. lIill. I 

Q. Was that crowd stauding still or moving I-A. The,)' were coming: 
toward me. I 

Q. Did ~'oo know anyone of those twenty men I-A. No. air. . 
Q. Are you certain you did not intilDidate tho~e twenty men &lid turn 

thelll pack '-A. I don't know whetber they got frightened or Dot, bus 
I got frightened at them. 

Q. Before the day of election, when was the last time yoo bad .. 
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the other Republican manager '-A. I had not seen bim since I left the 
coort-house, the time 1 took my oath. 

JAS.L. BLAIR. 
SWOtD to before me tbis the &lh d&y ef April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

l.tendaat. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

DENNIS SULLIVA.N, a witness of legal age, introdoced by contestee 
after dne notice to contestant, deposes as follows: 

Qnestion. Where do you live '-Answer. Edgefield Coort-Hoose. 
Q. How old are yoo '-A. Thirty-eight. 
Q. Where were yoo on November 7th last, the day of election '-A. 

At Shaw's Mill. 
Q. Did you hold official position that day' If so, state what it was.­

A. Yes, sir; I was supervisor of election. 
Q. At what time did yon get to Shaw's Mill '-A. A little before six. 
Q. What was the condition of things there; were tbey quiet or dis­

orderly'-A. All qoiet when I arrived. 
Q. Did it remain 80 all day I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Tel1 ns, then, what occuJred f-A. They got to disputing where to 

pot the box; the Democrats carried the box: upstairs, any how, against 
the will of the Repoblican manager. It was reported to their colonel 
who bad the soldiers in charge. The Democrats brought the box down 
by ord~r of the colonel. 

Q. Was that the only disorder yon saw that day f-A. No, sir. 
Q. State what else occDrred.-A. There was a crowd of men had some 

goDS, Democrats; they brought them there and pot them io a house. 
Dr. Shaw reported that the colored people had guns on the island, and 
Mr. Joe Meriwether said that if there was a gon fired there he would 
kill me and Seaborn Meriwether, the Republican manager. Then Dr. 
Shaw asked the colonel to have them removed. The soldiers searched 
for them and could not find any. 

Q. Were you there when Jerry Mackee came up and wanted to sob-
scribe to his oath' 

(Objected to on the grooml it is a leading question.) 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was any objection made to Jerry Mackee; and, if 80, by whom ,­

A. Mr. Joe Meriwether. 
Q. Was Mr. Meriwether the Democratic manager, or Repnblican f­

A. Democratic. 
Q. State whetber or not the Repnblican manager was willing for Jerry 

Mackee to act.-A. Yes, sir; he was. 
Q. After you returned from the colonel's quarters, did you remain at 

the polling-place ontil six: o'clotk in the evening !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State whetber or not auy parties, when attempting to vote, refused 

to give tbeir names to the clerk or maoagers.-A. Yes; they did. 
Q. Wbat did they say '-A. "The clerk knows me." 
Q. Was this clerk a Democrat or Republican' Yon witnessed the 

coonting of the vote8, did yoo not '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State whether or not the box was sealed in yonr presence.-A. It 

W88 not. 
Q. Who took the box: off after counting tb~votes and poU-lieU-A. 

lIr. J. Meriwetber, but gave the key to Seaborn Meriwetber. 
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Q. Soon after the election did you not make an affidavit setting forth 
the unfairness of the election at Shaw's Mill I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State whether or not anyone has been to yon since the makiDat of 
that affidavit with a copy of it, and tried to get you to sign a counter·atl· 
davit, or to deny that yoo made snch an aftidavit.-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State who the party was who came to you.-A. Mr. Josepb Merl· 
. wether. 

Q. Did he leave that copy with you or did he retain it T-A. He left 
it with me. 

Cross·examined by Mr. Bettes: 
Q. Was the voting carried on at Shaw's Mill in a hoose or Dott-A. 

It was not. 
Q. How, then, did the United States colonel of troops order the box to 

be brought downstairs I-A. Because it was upstairs in a house, and 
voters could not get to it. 

Q. How many Republican votes were polled there that day and hoI' 
many Democrats I-A. I did have a list, but have lost it; can't say now. 

Q. The votes were counted and tile returns made out at the precinct, 
were they not '-A. The votes were counted, but the returns not made 
ont there. 

Q. Do you know where the returns were made ouU-A.. No, sir. 
Q. Did not the Republican mallager who acted sign the returns as 

correct T-A. He did not do it there .. 
Q. Did he not go away from there with Mr. Joe Meriwe~her I-A. ~o; 

he went the next morning to meet him. 
Q. Did not be tlign the returns next morning as correct f-A. I don't 

know that he signed them at all. 
Q. Did you not sign a return to the Ullited States marsbal and for· 

ward it to him T-A. I signed nothing but that affidavit. 
Q. Who did you send that affidavit to f-A. Did not send it to any· 

body. 
Q. Who did you make it before I-A. Before Colonel Cain. 
Q. Did you send a return to anybody after the election I-A. No, sir. 
Q. When the votes were counted did they not tally with the poll·list 

kept by the clerk t-A. They did not. 
Q. When those men would say the clerk knew them, would tbe clerk 

not write down their nllmf.',s f-A. I don't know whether he was writiog 
their name.'\ or not; he woold write sometbing. 

Q. In which way did the vote not tally with tbe poll.list I-A. There 
were more tickets than names on the list. 

Q. How many more tickets than names was tbere I-A. Twenty· 
seven. 

Q. Wby did Mr. Joe Meriwether object to Jerre Mackee as man. 
ger t-A. He said it was not lawful for him to be sworn tbere. 

Q. Had Jerre Mackee been sworn before I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Except when they objected to Jarre Mackee, and wben tbflY "'~l'fJ 

quarreling about the guns on tbe island, everything went on qnietly, 
did it not '-A. No, sir. 

Q. What did tbey do t-A. There were tbree men who were qoalified 
to vote, and they would not l('lt tbem. 'l'hey went off qnietly. Tbat wa' I 

fOilS enough; a man could not vote who was qualified to do 80. 
Q .. Did you not vote there !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see any others wbo could not vote there except those 

three I-A. I saw others who wanted to vote and could not; but dOD" 
know tbat tbey were qualified. 
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Q. Tell me t.he names of all yoo 88W who were qualified to vote and 
could noU-A. Randal Middleton,Conway Lamar, Robert Kenner; don't 
know tbe rest. 

Q. They were objected to wben tbey went to vote, were they not I 
Who objected to them, and on what grounds I-A. Joseph Meriwether 
objected aoel Nick Hancock; tbey said they were not old enough. 

Redirect by Cain: 
Q. You say they bad not finished making out the returns wben tbey 

left tbe polling· place the nigbt of the ejection. State, then, wben and 
wbere tbey did make out the returns.-A. I don't know.-

Q. You stated yoo made tbat afUda,vit before Colonel Cain. Was not 
Jesse Jones present when yoo made that affidavit I-A.. Yes, sir. 

Q. When yoo Rtate that yoo made that alHdavit before Colonel Cain, 
do you mean to say that he administered the oath, or tbat be was pres· 
ent I-A.. He W88 present, bnt did not swear me. 

his 
DENNIS + SULLIVAN. 

mark. 

Sworn to before me tbis the 5th day of A.pril, 1877. 
[SEAL.] '0. S. B. MARSH, 

I fltendaflt. 

In the matter rof the contest of Geo. D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

THOMA.S BETTES, a witness of It"gal age, introduced by contestee after 
doe notice to contestant, deposed as follows to qoestions propounded to 
him: 

Question. Wbere do yon live '-Answer. Edgefield County. 
Q. How long have you lived in this connty '-A. AU my life. 
Q. How old are YOIl I-A. Twenty-four. 
Q. Where were you on last November 7th, the day of election '-A. 

At Liberty Hill. 
Q. Were YOll an officer of election that day '-A. I was United States 

depnty marshal. 
Q. Were you at the polllng-pl3ce during the entire day '-A. Yes, 

sir. 
Q. Did yoo notice any disorder among the voters; if so, by whom ,­

A. There was no disorder there that day; beard no threats. 
Q. Did yoo see any gUlls or pistols there that day' If so, state who 

bad them.-A. Yes; I saw pistols tbel'e, in the white men's sides by a 
belt. 

Q. Yon say yoo Jived in that neighborhood all yoor life. You are 
well acquailJted, then, are you not I Did you·tWe many strangers at 
Liberty Hill that day'-A. Yes, I am pretty well acquainted; saw a 
good OIaoy strangers there. 

Q. Did tbese strangers vote f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did any olle ask them their names as they voted '-A. Yes; Wil· 

liam and \Vade Uilchrist. William Giluhrist was supervisor, and Wade 
was manager. 

Q. What anRwer would these parties give when asked tbeir names ,­
A. They gave their names. 

Q. Were ~'ou there after the pons closed, and at the counting of the 
voteg did you st'e them counting tbem I-A.. Yes, sir. . 

Q. State whether or not you saw ballots taken trom the box; and, if 
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so, wbat was done witb them after the poll· list was roll I-A. Mr. George 
Sheppard toOk some out and Pllt in his pocket. and some be threw be­
bind the connter. 

Q. Who was Mr. Sheppard I-A. He was the Democratic manager. 
Q. When Mr. Sheppard took those ballots from the box, did anyone 

speak to him about it I 
(Objected to on the ground that it is not evidenoe.) 
A. William Ohancy spoke to bim about it. 
Q. Did you bear William Obancy speak to him I-A. Yea, air; I was 

right tbere. 
Q. Wbat did William Chancy 88y to Mr. Sheppard about thOle votes, 

and wbat did Mr. George Sbeppard do or say I-A. Be said, " Mr. Shep­
pard, I think there are some tiokets down on the floor," and then be Cook 
the lamp to look bebind the counter. Mr. Sheppard said " Yea, I believe 
there is a whole raft of them down here." 

Q. Did anyone tell Mr. Sheppard that he had thrown them there f­
A. Yes; William Chanoy did. 

Q. After these tickets were discovered on the floor, what became of 
them f-A. William Chancy took them up and put them in tbe box. 

Q. When Mr. Sheppard was told by Chancy that he had taken the ~ 
tickets out the box and thrown them down there, what did he say t-A. 
Wben Chancy took the lamp to show him the tickets, Mr. Sheppard' 
said" Yes, there i8 a whole raft of them." 

Q. You say yoa saw Mr. Sheppard take these votes out, did you • 
notf-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Upon examination were the tickets found to be Republican tickets 
or Democratic t-A. Republican, sir. 

Cross-examinated by Mr. B. Bettes: 
Q. Who appointed you United States deputy marshal I-A. I think 

Mr. Cain did. 
Q. Was not Mr. Cain a caudidate for State senate Jast election !-A. 

I don't know. 
Q. Was be a candidate for any office I-A. I don't know. 
Q. Was his name on the Republican ticket I-A. I cannot read, aDd 

do not know •. 
Q. How do you know that you was appointed United States mar­

shal I-A. Because 1 know 1 was. 
Q. Did anybody ever swear you in office, and who was It I-A. lfr. 

(Jain. 
Q. What were your duties as United States marshal I-A. It " .. my 

duty to keep order. 
Q. About how many pistols did you see there I-A. I can't tell bow 

many there were; all bad them who come there of the white meD. 
Q. Yon knew a great many there that day '-A. Not a great muy. 

I knew some; there was not many there from around the neighborboocL 
Q. Can you tell me tbe name of a single man who had a pistol there 

that day'-A. After the thing was over, I saw Mr. Yeldel have ODe; 
don't know anyotbers. 

Q. Did you see anybody have any before that I-A. I t.eIl yoo tbeJ 
were there all day. 

Q. Could you see the box good while Mr. Sheppard was counting the 
vote I-A. 1 did; tbe box was setting on tbe couuter. 

Q. Was !tIro Sheppard behind the counter or not I-A. He was behiDd 
the counter. 
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Q. Where was the other two managers standing I-A. In front of the 
oounter. 

Q. Where were you standing I-A. By the side of them. 
Q. Where was the Republican supervisor standing I-A. He was 

setting right by the box on the counter. 
Q. How many votes did Mr. Sheppard take out of box at a time f-A. 

Don't know. 
Q. Which side of Mr. Sheppard were you standing I-A. Right in 

front of him. 
Q. Bow many votes were there thrown ont on the 1I00r I-A. About 

forty. - . 
Q. Did he throw any more out after he was told of it T-A. No, sir; 

hedid not. 
Q. You say Cbancy picked them up and put them back in the box T ...... 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were the votes folded up or open I-A. They were open. 
Q. Did they look like tbey bad been folded I-A. Sowe were aDd 

solDe were not. 
Q. He put all tbose forty back in the box I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When Chancy picked those votes up from behind the counter, did 

he put them back in tbe box immediately or not i-A. He did notbing 
more tban count them and put tbem back. 

Q. Can Chancy read l-A. Yes, lJir. 
Q. Are you certain Mr. Sheppard threw all those tickets out of the 

box, ,1108('1 not folded and those folded I-A. I am certain. 
Q. How do yon know tbat tbey were already on the 1I00r f-A. I saw 

none there wben they commenced to count, and I saw bim throw them 
down there. 

Q. Are you certain that you looked good bebind tbe connter and saw 
no votes- tbere f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. When they commenced to count the votes was tbere any lamp 
there except on the counter I-A. Yes, sir; tbere was two. 

Q. Where were tbose lamps I-A. One was hanging in the center of 
the store, and one was on the counter. 

Q. By the light of tbose lamps tbat tht're was no tickets on the floor 1-
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Were the lamps moved during the counting I-A. Yes; one was, 
to look for the votes on the 1Ioor. 

Q. You were standing in front of the counter from the commencement 
of the counting, were you !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. If, by tbe lamp on the counter, you conld see that tbere were no 
votes behind the counter, how does it happen that the Republican man­
ager had to take the lamp to look for them f-A. He saw tbese; then 
be took the lamp to look nnder the counter to see if there was any more 
there. 

Q. It was from under the counter the manager got them !-A. After 
those from behind were taken up be found some under tbe counter. 

Q. You said you were standing in front of the counter at the com­
mencement of the counting of tbe votes, and that tbere were no votes 
in tbe place wbere the Republican manager found tbose forty votes. 
How could you see under the counter to see ~hether tbere were any thore 
or notf-A. We were sitting on the counter and tbe box was on the 
table. Before it was moved to the counter, tbe lamp showed so we could 
see down there; the lamp was sitting on the counter. 

Q. How can a lamp sitting on tbe counter shine under it I-A. It can· 
not do it. 
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Q. How was it that the light sbowf>d so tbat you could !tee uudt'r tbe 
counter where you saw the votes I-A. Wheu we went in the room we 
lit tbe lamp, and brought it back to sit it on tbe counter. We 88wtben 
there were no votes there. I was standing in front of Mr. Sheppard~ 
and saw him drop tbose tickets on the floor. 

Q. Did you see him tal,e the tickets out of tbe box I-A. Yee, air. 
Q. Could you see the tickets in his hand f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was the tickets folded or not when he took them out of the box! 

-A. They were folded, but were so stiff they would spread out. 
Q. Those which did not spread out remained folded, du1 they not '-1 

A. Yes, Rir. 
Q. If some were folded and some were spread 011t, bow is it thfyl 

were all open when you found them t-A. I said some were folded and 
some Wf>re spread out when we found them. I 

. Q. Was Mr. Sheppard's hand open when he took the votes oot oftbei 
box t-A. Between his fingers, where they could be seen. . 

Q. Standing in front of two Republican managers. one p'nited States. 
deputy marshal and supervisor of election, a Democrlltic maoager opeJl. 
Iy took Republican tickets between his fingers, so that you could all Bee! 
them, threw them behind the counter, alld as soon as he was told aboutl 
it consented to pnt them back in the box and let them be counted, did 
be, or did he not t-A. Yes, he never said anything. The Repnbliddll 
manager put them in the box. . 

Redirect by L. Cain. 
Q. You say there was a center light or lamp. Did it give a brigb~ 

light t State if the oonter·light was so bright tbat any onecoold5t1l 
under the counter '-A. Yes. 

bis 
THOMAS H. + BETTES. I 

mark. 
Sworn to before me this the 6th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

I"teJuIat, 

In tbe mattt'r of the contest of George D. Tillman agaiost Boben 
SwaIls for a seat in the Oongress of the United States. 

BURTON STROWD, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestee. 
after liue notice to contestant, deposes as follows to questions pro­
pounded to him: 

Question. Where do yon live t-Answer. EdgeOeht Oonnty. 
Q. Ho\v long ha\"e you lived here T-A. Four yurs. 
Q. How old are l'on f-A. Tbirty.t wo years old. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th of November lalst, tbe day of election 

-A. At Edgefield village. 
Q. Did you vote here that day I-A. No, sir. 
Q. State to os why you did not vow.-A. I tried to vote at th 

court·house and coulu oot. I heard we cool<l vote at the school·boule 
and wenL over there. When I llrKt got there they were ha\'ing a 
and there was such a crowd there I could not get in. 1 staid there DA­
til dark trying to vote and could not. 

Q. You only made olle trial at the court-hoose then !-A. Yes, only 
one. 

Q. What time in the day was it you tried to vote at the coort-houel­
A. About 8 o'clock. 

Q. How near to tbe steps did you get here I-A. I got to the &tepa. 
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Q. How were YOll prevented from going up to votet-A. It was 
crowdt'ci. 

Q. Did any ofthis crowd SIlY anythingto yon threatl'ning to prevl'nt 
yon from going np, or /luy one with yoo I-A. NQt to me particl1IRrl~-, 
but they did to some of the party with me; they said tbt're was 110 
chance to get up hl're; they were cursing, amI we ga\'e back. 

Q. The mell crowded on the steps, were they white or colored '-A. 
White men. 

Q. Were there any monnted ml'n I\t or near the court·bonse ste()s f­
A. Yes, sir; they were off a little from the steps. 

Q. Wt're these men who were mounted white or colored !-A. White 
mt'lI; there were two or three colored men, Democrats. 

Q. Did thelle two or three colored men have 011 red shirts t-A. Yes, 
8i,,; one bad on a red sllsb. 

Q. Did you see aoy fire-arms here that day f-A.. Yes, pistols I saw. 
Q. Wbo had them f-A. White men. 
Q. Did they make an.v hostile demonstrations with their pistols!­

A. It tbe school· house tbey did. I saw them striking with them; tbey 
strock Willis Adams. 

Q. Do ~-on know who.it was struck bim '-A. I don't know. 
Q. State, oow, wbether you were interfered with before the election 

on account of your l)olitics or oot; alld, if you so,.v yes, by whom, antI 
wbat did they do to you !-A. James'Voods and, Lewis Woods aoel 
Guise Woods started it on the 11th of October. I went up to Guise 
Woods's to pick cotton about eight or Dine o'clock. There waR a little 
boy ill the fiel" b.V the name of Stluling. Lewis \Voods, Guise \Voods's 
son, Raid to Starling, "You don't look like picking cotton this morning, 
you have got too much God damn H.adical iu ,You." Them Starling said, 
"1f I was oltl enough, Mass Lewis, I would yute the Radical ticket." 
Lewis Woods snid to bim, "If you say that ngain I will knock you down 
and stomp you to death, God damn you." Then Lewis !laid to me," Bur­
ton looks like h~ was going to have old Ubamberlain make a speech Sat­
urday." He said, h Burton, YOll have not tohl us wbat you are, but I 
think yon are going to vote for Uhamberlain." Mr. Guise \Voods saitl 
then, "I ha\-e a. speech to Dlake in my cotton-patch 8atnrtlay, and I 
\\'Uuld 3(h-il~e you, Burton, to stay away from the village. You gQ down 
to tbe village to bear Uhlunberillin make 1\ spel'ch, and coming bome 
some fellow will say, as YOll come home, there is Burton; bl'en to hear 
Chamberlain speak; and he will shoot you dead." Then, on the 12th, I 
\\'38 ill the woods gtltting boards; Guise Woods came down there amI 
said, h Why in hell ain't you lll) yonder picking cutton fUI' me;" and he 
strock me, and jumped 011 his mule and silid to me," I urn going to 
huve you killed, you damneli Radical son ora b-.': . 

Q. Is Mr. Woods Ito white or colored man I-A. White mao. 
Q. Did he or all.V otber white mlln try to get you to joio tbe Demo­

cratic club I-A. Yes; Lewis Woods did. He said if I did not I wouhl 
bave 00 protection. They (Lewis and .Jim Woods) callie to my house 
and sbot at me and ballooetl to IDe, " We will kill yuu, God damn ~ OU, 
alld put your heatl on a pole, and then you will vote )'our next ticket lu 
bell." They said to my wite, " We ha\'e been trying to get sour hll~' 
band to join our club all the year, but now he shan't be either Democrat 
or Radical DOW;" because they intended to kill me. 

Q. Did you remain iu that settlemem; to gather your crop, or did YOIl 
have to leave it !-A.. I had to leave; alld lost all my crop, for fear of 
being killed. 

H. Mis. 11--23 
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Cross-examined by Mr. B('tt('s: 
Q. Wbere did yon come from wben yon came here !-A. Cbesttl 

County. 
Q. Where did yon go when yon It'ft yonr crop !-A. To the vmaet'. 
Q. How far did yon live .. rom the village when you left yonr crop, aod 

who were you lh'ing with f-A. ji~igbt miles from tbe village, on .. pia.,. 
WOodM r('nted froID Mr. Scott Allen. 

Q. D~ you know wbere tbose men live now who tbreatened 100 I-A 
No, sir. 

Q, They tbreatened- and commencld shooting at yon as 800n 88 tliE1 
saw you, did tbey not!-A. Yt's, sir. 

Q. Bow far were they from yon when tbey shot tint !-A. Abool 
thirty-five yards. 

Q. you ran off as soon 8S tbey commenced shooting, and they shot II 
you ran !-A. Y ('s, sir. 

Q. You say yon were lying in the weeds and heard tlmm tell yOU! 

wife that tht'y intendl'd to kill you !-A. Yes, tlir. 
Q. These men went in tbe bouse as soon as tbt'y 20t 01' to the hool!e!­

A. Tiley rode by the house first after me and mi88t'd me, but came bad 
Bnd w('ot io. 

Q. Wf're they in the hOllse when they told yonr wife they illteodfll 
to kill JOu, and sbooting and cnrsing all the time !-A. Y"tI, sir. 

Q_ You say you were lying oft' ahout seventy yards in the 1Fet'd8.aD~ 
could lwar these two mt'lI, who were cursing aud ~booting, in tbe hou..~ 
May to your wite that they intended to kill you I-A. Y 1:'8, sir; I beard 
that. 

Q. Tbey did not by tht'ir threats prevent you from coming to the po/W 
to "ote, did they '-A. No; they did not. 

bill 
BURTON + STROWD. 

mark. I 

Sworn to berore me this the 7th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Ifttead··t.
1 

No.6. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

County of A ike" : 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTEST AN'!', ~ 
",. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. I 

To Hon. G. D: TILLMAN: 

Yon are bereby Dotifted 'that I will examine the following-named '"' 
nestles, all of wbom reside io Aikeo Couuty, relative to and touchingt .. 
matters aud things set forth in my answer to your notice of yoor tOot~ 
of my seat ill the Congress of the (JuiWd States, to which yoo claill ~ 
bave been elected at tbe November election for IH76, for the fifth Col 
gct'llsional district of tbe State of Sooth Carolina, and in ""ply to matt 
and tbings set forth in said notice of COlltest, before N. R. Williaml, 
a notary pnblic in and fOl' said State, in the town of Aikt'D, at tbe t 
hall, on the 20th, 21st, 22d, and 23d dal8 of March, 1877, betweeu 
boors of 8 a. m. Bnd 6 p. m. of said days, or 80 much therool88 81.,­
necessary for the examination of said witnesses, to wit: 

John Woolley, Alexander Williams, Thomas W. W('rt, Firmaa 
Brodie, Joseph E. Coleman, W. T. Rodenback, Cyrus Wiggins, He 
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Lawrence, Aaron W. Gilbert, E. P. Stoney, Peter A. Waggles, D. W. 
Johuson, Isaac Johnson, G. G. Brodie, L. W. JameM. 

ROBERT SMALLS, 
Per 8. J. LEE, 

Attorneg /0'1' Oontestee. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

OO'll1&tg 0/ Aiken: 
Contested election for seat in tbe Forty,fifth CongreSM. 

G. D. TlLLMAN, OONTESTAN'l', ~ 
"". 

RoBERT SMALLS, OONTESTEE. 
Personally appeared ISAAO JOHNSON, who, being duly sworn, deposes 

and suys: . 

Questions by Mr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Qqe~tion. State YOllr namp, residence, agt". and occullation.-Answer. 

18m&<: JobnMon; Aiken County; 30 years; farmer. ' 
Q. Where wt"re you on the 7th day of Novemut"r, tl1e day of the last 

g~lIeral election I-A. I was at two polls on that daly; M~rrill'lI Bridge 
and }<'onntaill Academy on tbat day. 

Q. Wbat time wel'e you at Fountain Academy-between what hOllrs' 
-A. I was tht"re the last time about halt' past tive. I left after the 
)lolls cIOllt>d. , 

Q. Did yon spe a band of armed men there during your stay '-A. 
Yt'ti, a crowd came there after nigbt, turned; about twenty or twenty­
Ih'e c'ame there. 

Q. Was it after the time for clONing the polls '-A. Tbat was what 
tbechairman said. He sai.l it Wl\8 after the time. :l dun't know myself. 

Q. How long did they remain there !-A. 1 left them tbere about 
ei~ht o'clock. 

Q. Did tht'y vote f-A. YeM, sir; all bot one. 
Q. How did they conduct themselve", orderly or disorderly '-A. The 

ltest I,art conducted themselves pretty bllcl. Fool' or five came up on 
horseback aoc1 went in the houMe before the crowd got there. Oue of 
tbl'1D had a gun in his hand. The crowd came up and were'toM they 
C1JQItJ not vote, as it was after six o'clook; commenced cursing anel 
,oing. and told him to "shut his daOln mouth ;" they voted all but one; 
Jobllll()II tried to close the poll; put his hand over the hole. 

Q. Was their conduct sucb as to prevent the poll being closed f If 80, 
state what it wa~.-A. Crowded off the colore.l luen b.v pushing them 
na)'. Tbey came away; I llIean the colored men. The whites were 
tuf!!iog and real·jng. 

Cross,examined by Mr. Croft, counsel (III' contestant: 
Q. Huw maoy anti what were tbe Dllomes of the colored .men they 

erOwUffl away from the pon1-A. Ahout tell. 
Q. Had the polls closl'd then '-A. No, sir; he told them the time was 

nil· 
Q. Had these colored persons voted f I Olean the ten that were stand-

iOlr thpre.-A. DOII't know. , 
Q. Were they trying to ,·ote !-A. I never saw them. 
Q. Uid you and Waggles ,·ote there; if so, what time did you f-A. 

Mu-r half past five. 
Q. Were yon armed 011 thllt day I-A. I bad my pistol. 
(~. State who cOlllposed this crowd.-A. Doc Howarll, Jeff Howard, 
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George HOlVard, J .)Ian Mnrry, olle Flyoll, a red headed fellow, Joe 
RyauM, antI several otht>rs I know uut can't recollect. 

Q. When you left the pollM how many people did you leave theref-
A. O\'er olle hundred. . 

The word ., there" iuterlined berore signing. 
ISAAC JOHN80N. 

Sworn to before me this 23d day of March, A. D. 1877. 
[SEALJ N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public South CaroliRa. 
S'rATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

001mty of Aiken : 

Contested election for seat in Forty ·fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
"H. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTRE. 
Perllona))y appeared D. W. JOHNSON, who, being sworn, deposes and 

says: 
By llr. WhipPE'r, counsel for contestee: 

Question. State your illUDe, agE', residenct', and occupation.-Ans\\,er. 
D. W .• Johusoll; thirty-t,wo l"earS; Aiken County; farmer .. 

Q, Where wel'e you 011 the 7th day of No\'emuer last, the day of tbe 
la8t, general elet:tioll Y-A. I·'oulltaill Aeademy. 

Q. In what capacity f- A. A~ chnirman of the boarcl of managers. 
Q. W 61'e you thel"e, alld did YOIl Mee all that occurred that day I-A. 1 

waM. alld did twe IIll that occurred. 
Q. Did an arml'd baud of ml'1I come there that clay f-A. They did; 

about six o'clock whell we beard them collling. 
Q. About bow many were there; what killd of arms did tb('y b3n; 

and what did they do t-A. Tbere wllsabout tw('nty 01' tWl"nty·fj\""e armed 
with pistol8 and guns-douhle-uarreled. Tbey looked to me as pretty 
near all of them had pistols; some was in their brt'Rllt-pocket and some 
in tiJeir holsters. .Just before tbe crowd came up, t.here ClUlle one or two 
ahead to let the Democrat manager know he had a crowd coming bebind 
him, and'l coullI helLr the rl'lIt hollering Ilnd wboopitlg a long ways off, 
and aMked the Delliocratic supt'rvisor who was thelD hollering RO, and be 
Mtated it was bad people, and ill this tiDle the oue or two men who bad 
cOllie al)(>3(1 come in and ofierl'd to \'ott'. I asked him where be wall 
from. He fil'st ~aid from Augusta, then said be was from Lauglt'Y. and 
1 utlJEan to Rllk tbe melllll'ouud if any of tbem knftw bim. TII~II be W88 
qualili,'cl to "ote, sworn I melln, alld he went out and did not ,·ote. At 
this time the crowd came up, and I said it was six o'clock aud you can't 
vote. 1'IIe lUen then commenced rearing and charging anti cllf!ling, 
Thl'y said tlley didu't cure a dllmn, six o'clock or no six O'clock, tbey bad 
come to vote and tht'y was going to do it, and for me to shut up my 
uawned moutb; they wa8n't going to ha\""e any foolillhness about it. His 
box bad beeu smashed llPlLt Langley, anti the." had lost. all day; bt>en to 
Urallitcville, Mile8's Mill, and it was 80 crowded they conld nrt "ote; 
nnd while he was I'('aring and charging so-I Dle311 tbe crowd, bnt I !\pt>at 
of the one that was talking to lUt'--Qne man run in with bis doubl('­
barreled gun, and white ml n gathered around to ~quash th~ fu8..'1. 

At this time the deputy United States marshal ~l'oke to him. and tbe 
D(,lUocratic supel"visor hushecl him up and to\(l him be was 1I0t assignPd 
to that poll, and said to ml', " it was Dot six o'clock hy his watcb." And I 
said the poll had opened by mine and must close by mine, and be &C. 
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cO!l('d me of rouning mine up. The mpu voted anyhow. No, sir, I could 
not Jlrevt'llt it, for I talk .. d until I thought I WIlK going to get killt>d, 
allli I let them vote. Some of them were sworn, and tloUle I was salis· 
fit'11 wprt> not. 

Q. Did you sign the returns I-A. J did. 
O. You knew these mt>n had no right to vole, aud that some of them 

b3llu't bt>en sworn '-A. I did. 
Q. Then why did you I!ligll the returns I-A. I thought from what I 

bat! IIt>t'1I I had bettt>r make my t'scape from there the bl'st way I could, 
and in onlt'r to keep down thl' fut's. 

Q. Would you ba\"(~ refusl'd to sign the returns if YOll had thonght 
yon woult! bal'e bt>en safe in doing so f-A. I would. 1 thought about 
Dot signing them when the row was going on. . 

Cross examined by O. O. Jordon, counsel for contestant: 
Q. What party was in the IDlljority as managers at poll t-A. Repuh­

liean. 
Q. How many votl'S wete polled at that precinct t-A. I disrememher. 
Q. Dit! Ilny colored people vote the Demodratic ticket at th1l.t poll ,­

A. Ont>o t1wt I know of. 
Q. What was the largest number of persons I\t that poll at anyone 

tim~ dllriug the dllY T-A. [have lIO idea. 
Q. What time at night did YOIl fiuish counting the votes I-A. Eight 

or Hiue o'clock. 
Q. What hecame of this crow •• you speak of in your direct examina· 

tion l\rtl~r they vote" I-A. Don't know what beellln~ of them. 
Q. At Rixo'clock in the afternoon about how many men werl'labout that 

poll t-A. Thel's was a. pretty large crowd abo:lt there-a hundred or 
more. Tht"re might have been more. 

Q. Did the men that voted there in the morning remain there all day' 
-A. Tlw\' did Dot. 

Q. What was the Dumber of men that cnme up in that crowd at six: 
o'cluck that you spoke of T-A. Twenty or twenty·til'e. 

Q. Did they remain until the pollR were closed I-A. Some I think 
\fer~ about till-re. 

Q. How many men w('re I>reSl>lIt whf'U tbe retnrns were signed '-A. 
Ten, filtt>en, twenty, or they may be more. 

Q. Did lbey have double· barreled guns I-A. They did uot. One was 
8itting ill the corner. 

Q. Was anytbing said to you as a rnanogt"r of l'lt"ction to induce YOll 
to sign the returns '-A.. There was not. I did not want anything said 
to rut>. I thought there was too much said to me already. 

Q. Was allY act of \'iolf'lIce committed on Jour p .. rtlon to induce you 
to sign the returns I-A. Yes, sir; the man cnrst'd me, and I thought I 
bad better sign them and get away the lll'st I could. 

Q. What time was it that this man cursed sou t-A. A few minutes 
after six o'clock. 

Q. Was this man IneRent when you signell tbe returns t-A. I dou't 
think he waa. I thought he was somewhere behind him. 

Rt'clil'ect: 
Q. Who urought that box to Aiken t 
(Question withdrawn by COllnsel. ) 
Tile "onls •• about" and" of violl'llct,,, iuserted before Rigning; also, 

"on.!! that 1 kllow of," "t,,", flftt'en, or there lIIay be morl'," "somewhere 
behulIlllle," "twenty.five" stricken out. 

D. W. JOHNSON. 
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Sworn to before me this 23d day of March, 1877. 
[SEAL.) N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, 80uth Oarolirul. 
Si'ATE OF SOUTH OAROLTNA, 

Oounty of Aiken: 
Oontested election for seat in Forty.fiftb Oongress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, OONTESTANT, ~ 
"'8. 

RoBERT SMALLS, OONTESTEE. 
Personally appeared E. P. STONEY, wbo, being duly sworn, deposea 

and says: 
Examined by Mr. Whipper, counsel for contestant; 

Question. State yonr name, residence, age, and occupation.-Aliswer. 
Edward P. Stoney; Aiken; tailor; 39 years. 

Q. Where were yon on the 7th day of November last, the day of tbe 
laMt. gl'neral election I-A. At Sih'frton. 

Q. Were yon there in any official capacity f-A. No, sir. I was a 
candidate for senator from thi~ county. 

Q. Did yon sl'e tbe votes couuted at that precinct on the 7th day of 
November last f-A. I did. 

Q. State, if yon know, how many votes there were for Rolx>rt Smalls 
for Oongl'ess, ami how many for G. D. Tillman !-A. Roi>t>rt Swails, 
t\"O hundred and thirty· two; Tillman ODe hllndred and eighty·two. 

Q. Do ~'OU know if those \'otes cast at Siln'rton precinct were foott'd 
up, signed, attested, and forwarded to the county board of canvassers as 
r(>quir(>d by law f-A. I do, sir. 

Q. 00 yon know if they reached the county canvassers or not I-A. 
Mr. DUlluar aud myself took charge of the poll.box with the returDS 
aud brougbt tbem here. 

Q. Stat(>, it' yon know, to whom it was delivered f-A. I can't. say 
posith'ely to whom it was delh'ered; it was put among the otber boxes 
from tbe differeut precincts. 

Q. Where was that !-A. At the Oourt-Honse. 
Oross·examined by Mr. Oroft, counsel for contestant: 

Q. On what ticket were yon a candidate for senator f-A. On the 
Rl'l'l1blican ticket. 

Q. no yon know W. T. Rodenbach, who was United States deputy 
marshal at tbat precinct on that day f-A. I do. 

Q. What were his politics f-A. Rl'pnblican. . 
Q. Where did yon stay dnring tbe votingf-A. Sometime inside and 

sometime outsidt> where the box was kept. 
Q. What was the politics of the managers at that box I-A. One 

Democrat and two Rt>pllblicllns. 
Q. Were you. elected senator from this county t-A. I beliel'e I was, 

takiug ont frands an(1 repeating, bnt th~ otber man was connted in. 
Q. What was the politicl'I of the connty board of caUVilsser8 for tbis 

conllty'-A. One Democrat and two H(>pnblicans. 
Q. Was everyone permitted to go in wbere the box was kept, or were 

yOll p(>rmitted on accollnt of your caudillacy I-A. Not e\'ery one was 
permitted; some few were allowed to pa:'s in and out. 

(~. Did you protest or contest the election for ~nate senator from 
this county f-A. I did. 

Q. Bt'tore what body did yon make this contest or protest f-A. 
Belore the State seDate. 
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Q. What party is in the majority in. the State senate I-A. Republi. 
can; very small, thou~h. 

Q. How did the.v decide upon your contest I-A. No decision. 
Q. Has that body been in session since election I-A. They ha\'e. 
Q. Well, you can state what they have done in your case.-A. They 

have not completed it yet; the senate adjourned before they finished 
tbe evidence. . 

Q. Have you not withdrawn your protest or contest !-A. I did not. 
E. P. STONEY. 

Sworn to before me tbis 22d day of March, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] • 

STATE OP SOU'l'R CAROLYNA., 
Oounty of Aiktm: 

Contested election for seat in Forty·fiftb Congress. 

G. D. TILLMA.N, (lONTESTANT, ~ 
"8. 

ROBERT SMALLS, (lONTES'l'EE. 
Personally appeared before me ALEXANDER WILLIAMS, wbo, being 

duly sworn, deposes and says: 
Questi~n. State your name, residence, occupation. liud age.-Answer. 

Alexander \VilIiIiIllS; 26 years; shoemaker; Aiken town. 
Q. Where were yon on the 7th day of NO\'ember last, the day of the 

last gPlleral election !-A. At GrallitevilIe. 
Q. Were you there all ofthat day!-A. I was. 
Q. What, if auy, official capacity did you act in !-A. A manager of 

election. 
Q. What were the conduct of aifllirs at that poll; good or bad !-A. 

Well, sir, a kiud of mitldlillg. There was no fUSR that I saw. I did not 
see any fuss. I saw t.bis man LesM Courtney Rnd some colored man bav· 
ing a few wordM. I thiuk the colored mau's name WRS Ed. Patterson, if 
I mistake not. Tbey were cursing one another around there. Less 
Courtney attempted to draw hid pistol, but I don't think he did. That 
was nil the fuss I seen about there. I Reen crowds of men coming in all 
day hollering and whoopillg. 

Q. Do yon remember how many votes were polled on that day I-A. 
There were eight hundred and some sixt.v, seventy, or eighty. I have 
Dever thought over tbe matter siuce. Eight hundred and sixty·six, 1 
think. 

Q. Do you remember what number were Republican; wbat number 
Democratic I-A. I think there was seven Ly· fiye Republicans; seven hnn· 
drt'd and something Democratic. Gau't say how many. 

Q. Stau>, it' you know, if there was allY repeatin~ at tbat box on tbat 
day.-A. There was one I was pretty certain was a repeater. Olle K. T. 
Tyler; he voted nnder the assumed name of Lamar. I know bim per· 
8OIlall~·. 

Q. Do yon know of any others who repeated T-A. The list that I got 
from here was the only olle that voted. Tbey WitS another one that 
voted under an assumed namc.'. I don't know bis right lIame. 

Q. There Willi another one that voted under an assumed nalD~ there 1-
A. Yes, sir; Borton Jordon. He voted there 8S Jumes H. Jordon. 

Q. What do you wean uy the poll-IiMt that yon got from here T-A. A 
list of nawes that ~h·. Clyde sent me from here. 

Q. Was it a liMt of men tbat had voted at this poll-Aiken poll !-A. 
Yes, sir. 
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(~. Are yon acquaintl"d with the voters in the vicinity of Graniteville 
generally T-A. Very few of tbe whites. 

Q. W l're you ever manager there before I-A. J was not, sir. 
Q. Did you a8~ist in tooting lrp tbe returlls and did you lIign the 

sameT-A. I sigllt'd them, sir, and was tbere at the time tbey was footed 
up. The clerk dOlle the tooting Ill). 

Q. Did you refuse to sign the returns in the first instance or sign 
them witb reluotn.nce f 

(Objected to by Mr. Croft~ counsel for cOlltt'~tant. "I ohject to the 
questiun on the gl'ouml that it is a leading question and that be has 
ulreatl.v answered it.") 

A. I refust't1 at first. 
Q. Wby did you refuse in the first instance T-A. Because, under tbe 

electioll laws that they gave me, that the managers were to he p('rft'ctly 
IIlttill6ell witb e\'erytbing that wellt on that day; I understood it that 
way; and I was not exactly satisfied with the wa.y tbe things went on 
that da,} ; in fi\ct, bOYliIllad voted there tllst clay that was not of age. 

Q. Any other reason f-A. Tbere was no otber. 
Q. How ruany ho~'s \Outed there that dllY to your knowledge f-A. I 

could uot say how many; there looked to me as if there was a good 
IInmhl'r of theUJ. 

Q. About how many; approximate it as nl"ar as yon can T-A. I don't 
like to say how ~any, because I don't know any of their agos; I ouly 
judged by their looks that they were hoys-by thl'ir lookR. 

(~. Who were the managers at that poll besides yoursclff-A. JQhn 
Woolley and Pope Padget. 

Cross by George W. Croft, counsel for contestant: 
Q Was they a large crowd ill Grnniteville that Ila.vf-A. They "lUI. 
Q. You saw no disturhance othl'r than that of which you h~\"e sllOkeof 

-A. I seen them confusing some colored IUan about voting . 
. Q. I mean lights or anything of the kind.-A. I did not see any 

fights. 
Q. On your board of managers, how many Democrats and how IDany 

Rt'publioans T-A. One was a Democrat aud two Republioans; tbey said 
Mr. Woolley was a Republican. 

Q. Did you allow all to vote who were entitled to do 80; did yoO 
not I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you ever make an affidavit in regard to the election at poll for 
Mr. Porter '-A. I remember here, at the J anuar.v term of collrt, sign· 
hlg the tall.v·lillt. 

Q. Anything else T-A. He reat! it to me and state,1 that the returns 
of the Graniteville box had 108t, and tha.t I recognized that as the tally· 
list of the Graniwville box. 

Q. Well, I suppose what was Oil that I,sper was so, or yon would not 
bave signed it tor Mr. Porter '-A. YeR, Nir. 

Q. When ~·ou Rpeak of Tyler as repeating, you lDean that he voted 
once or twice I-A. He only voted once at tue uranitville box. 

Q. Yon live in Aiken; when dill YOIl leave Grl\niteville to come bact 
to Aiken t-A. On the morning of the 8th, on the half past ninll o'clock 
train; I mean the 8th of No\'ember. 

Q. Do you not kllow that the white popnlatioll in aud aroond G1'3nite· 
ville far exceeds the number flf the black!!! T-A. Not to my knowledge 
that the wbites exceeds the blacks. but [ believe they do. 

Q. You speak of Mr. Clyde Bending YOIl a list; do yon know in what 
capacity Mr. Clyde acted during the election f-A. I thiuk he W88 Ii 
clerk, sir. 
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Q. Had you. any United States deputy marshals at Grauite"iI1e (lur· 
jog the electionf-A. MI'. (J)elll ~atterthwaite was there; they sa.id be 
was one. 

Q. Wht'n diel you sign that return '-A. Tbat night. about twelve 
o'clock, I judge it was, tlir. 

ALEXANDER WILLIAMS. 

Sworn to before me this 20th day of ~Iarch, 1817. 
[SEAL] N. R. WILLIAMS. 

Notary P..,blic, Boutl' Oarolifla. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

OOU1&tU of Aike-n : 

Contested election for seat in Forty·fifth Oongress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
va. 

ROBERT SXALLS, CONTESTEE. 
Personally appeared before me JOHN WOOLLEY, who, being duly 

sworn, d .. poses and says: 
Qnestion. State yonr name, rC'Aidenc<" occupation, and age.-Answpr. 

John Woolley; Graniteville, Aiken County, South Carolina; trial-jus· 
tice i 52 years. 

Q. WbE'fe were you 011 the 7th day of lust November, 1876, the day 
of. the last general election T-A.' 1 was ill George Hatcher's store, 
Graniteville, as a. malll\ger of election and chairman of the board of 
manngers. 

Q. lhen Hatchpr's store was the place for holding the election for 
GT"dllitt'\;l1e precillct!-A. Yell, sir. 

Q. Wbat was the number of vote~ polled at that poll on that c1a.v ,­
A. :;even hUlldred and twenty·one whites alld one hundrtul nnd sixty­
one colored; eight hundred and eight,y-two ill 11.11. 

Q. How mally of those were Re[lUlllicans f-A. Seventy-five; the bal· 
anr.e Democrat~. 

Q. Are you acquainted with the people around Granite\"iIle gener· 
~llY'-A. Yes, !lir; have been livillg there the last twenty yenrsj have 
hfl'd there steady for the la~t twenty years . 
. Q. Have you attended each general election there since reconstrllc, 

1I01! ! .. -A. Every time. . 
Q. Can you. tell what was the largest previous white Democratic vote 

at tbat poll since yon have been there '-A. I don't know as I caD tt>ll 
exactly, but I think it was about three hundred and fifty; except the 
la~t, which was the largest. 

Q. Bat'e yon any way of accounting for this large vote at the last 
ell'Ction; if so, what is it '-A. I don't know, unless it was repeating, 
wbich I believe it was done. 

(Objected to hy Mr. G. W. Croft, counsel for contestant, on the grounds 
that it is his bl'llief, which is incompetent, auel that he must state facts.) 

Q. You Ray YOll have U\'e(l ill Graniteville for twent.y years; were any 
~ollsiclerable number of white Democrats who voted that day strangerd 
]u that place 1-A. Yes; and some black ones, too. 

Q. About what proportion of the Democratic voters who were strano 
gers !-A. I can't say as to the number, lUI I did not take them down; 
hut there WIIR a good mlluy strangers voted tb~re. 

Q. Are yon acquainted with John Murray f-A. YeR, sir; he is a sou 
of Frank MUl'ray. 
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Q. Did he vote at Graniteville that day!-A. Yes, sir; he voted 
there. 

(ObjE'cted to by Mr. Croft, counsel for contf'lstant, on the grouBds that 
the poll-Jist is the best evidence, and should be produced.) 

Q. Are you acquainted witb Toliver Heron !-A. Yes, sir; have been 
for many years. 

Q. Did be vote at Graniteville on that day-the 7th of November' 
(Objected to by Mr. Croft, on the same grounds as abo\"e.) 
A. He did. After be voted, be stepped back and said. "Woolley, we 

have got you, and will make yon cut wood for 30 cents a cord." I.w 
him vote. 

Q. What was Heron's and Murray's politics !-A. They have always 
been Democrats, and have alw3Js known tbem to be 80. 

Q. Are you acquainted with Car Haney t-A. I am acquainted with 
ODe Cur Haney, who has a cloven foot. Hi8 feet turn in. 

Q. Did be vote at Grllniteville on the 7th day of November last' 
. (Objected to by Mr. Croft, the same as above.) 

A. He did, certain. I know the man. Have known him from a boy. 
Q. Whllt was his politics !-A. J judge him to be a DemocrHt. 
Q. Do you know George Palmer !-A. I do; he is an intimate friend 

of minE'.· 
Q. Did he vote at Graniteville on the 7th of November last '-A. He 

did,8ir. 
Q. What ticket did he vote on that day !-A. I can't 8ay. 
Q. With ",bat party did he affiliate before the last election '-A. I 

am 8llti8lied be did not \"ote tbe Republican ticket. 
Q. Are you acquainted with Jerry Whitlock !-A. I am, sir. 
Q. J)id be vote at Grani~ville on the 7th day of last November '-A­

He did, sir; be had a red sllirt on. 
Q. Are yon acquainted with George W. Howard !-A. I am, sir. 

Known him from a clliJd. 
Q. Did be vote at Granite"ille on the 7th (lay of November last!­

A. He did, sir. The rE'ason why I know be vot('d, 1 cballengt>d his vote 
on the grounds of non·residencE', he bt>ing a ft"sident of Georgia, and his 
businE'KS being in Georgia. He swore hi8 \"ote in, swearing that be 
lived ill the State one year and in the county sixty days. 

Q. Where did he regide at that time f-A. To the be8t of my knowl· 
edge, he residt·d in Georgia. 

Q. What was his politics !-A. I ne¥:er kn~w anything bot a IHmo­
crat. 

Q. Do yon kllow Doctor Howard !-A. I know a gentleman named 
A. J. Howard. They call him Doc, on acconnt of his being named after 
his uncle. 

Q. Did he vote at Granite,"me on the 7th day of last Novemberf-A. 
He did not, sir; he is too mnch of a geutleman to do that, I tbink. 

Q. Wbere doE'S he reside f-A. Angollta, Ga. 
Q. Dicl he reside there on the day of the last general election f-A. 

Bis family did, 1 believe, sir. 
Q. Do yoo know Josepb Ryan !-A. Yes, flir. . 
~. Did be \'ote at Graniteville on the 7th day of November la8t!-A­

Yes, sir. 
Q. State, if yoo know, what was his politiC8t-A. It was not Repub­

lican, and I don't think he knows himselt: 
Q. Do you know O. H. Cbaff~e f-A. 1 don't know if I would know 

him it' I tl8W him. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 363 

Q. Do JOu know William WalkerI-A. I know hibl. He is a one· 
eyed man; bat'e known him for eigbteen years. 

Q. Did be vote at Graniteville on the 7th day of November last ,­
A. lIe did, sir. 

Q. What was his politics I-A. I don't know, sir. He was not a Re· 
pub:ic8n to my knowledge certain. 

Q. Are you acqdaintetl witb Jobn .Jacobs I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Are you acquainted witb George F. Wilson I-A.. Tbere is a young 

man at Langley by the name of Wilson. I forget bis Ohristian name. 
Q. Hid he vote at Granitet'ille on the 7th day of NOt'ember last I-A. 

Yl'S, sir. 
Q. ~tate, if you know, what were his politics '-A. I never heard 

bim say, to my recollection. . 
Q. Do you know wbat ticket he votf'd that day I-A. I do not. 
Q. Are you acquainted with O. N. Butlerl-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Where did he reside on the 7th day of November last I-A. Do 

Dot know. 
(The abot'e questions were objected to by Mr. Croft, counsel for con·' 

testant, so far as relates to who voted at Graniteville, as the poll.list is 
tbe best evidence and sbould be produced.) 

Q. Mr. Woolley, did you keep or bat'e kel)t a list of the voters at 
Graniteville precinct on the 7th of Novt'mber lastt-A. Yes, sir. . 

Q. Have you in your possession, and can you produce, tbat listf-A. 
Yes, sir; it is bere. 

Q. Do you know from your own knowledge whether that Jist is a cor· 
rect one I-A. I belie,oe it is. It was compared with the otber and 
found to be correct. It was compared with the one kept by the reg· 
ular clerk. 

(Tbe following paJX'fS were submitted to the coullael for contestee 
and contestant, marked A, 1 to 20, botb inclusive.) 

(Objected to by Mr. Croft, counsel for contl'stant, upon the following 
groulJds: First, that the papers are inadmissible as et'ideDl~e on tbe fol· 
lowing grounds: Because the original poll·list is the best evidence and 
sbould have been produced j second, because they bave no official cere 
tificate that they are true copies.) 

Q. Are there any names in this list who swore in their votes that yon 
know to be residents of Georgia. Y-A. George W. Howard. I chal· 
lenged his vote on tbe grounds that he was a. resident of Georgia. He 
is, to the best of my knowl~dge. 

Q. ])0 you know of any other !-A. No; I am not positive. 
Q. By wbom were t.hese parties challengt'd whose lIalUes appear on 

page 20 of Exhibit A I-A. Ohallenged by different parties. 
'l. Oan you point out the name8 who you challenged f-A. G. W. 

Howard. I dOll't see any other. 
Orossoexamilled by Mr. OrC?ft, counsel for contestant: 

Q. Rtate the manlier ill which you conducted the challenges j did you 
allow a man to ,"ote who swore be was entitled to, or did the board of 
mauagers pass upon bis ri~bt to vote I-A. When a man was challt'llged, 
the grounds was ask ell. Some was non·residents; that was the ground 
they was challenged on, and otbt'rl Oil the grounds of being minors. I 
think in all ca8e8 but two or three tbey were allowed to 8wear thf'ir 
vote in. . 

Q. Did 1I0t the board of managers refl1se to take men's votf's-Dem· 
ocratlS-after they had sworn that tbey were entitled to \'ote f-A. I 
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think they was two or thrl'e cases. I recol1ect one in particlllllr-I for­
get his nallle-whf're we was sutisfied tbat he was a non-rt'sideut. 

Q. Did you allow a mlln to vote when you were satisfit'd be was not 
entitled to \'ote f-A. III the case of Mr. HO\vard, was the ouly olle that 
I was satisfied he was a uon-resident. We did not allow one to \'otAl if 
we wer~ positive of the fact. 

Q. When YOIl were in doubt, did a. majority of YOlil' board decide the 
qUt'stioll !-A. They did, sir. The boa.rd worked ill harmony. 

Q. What was the politics of the mlljority of your board of wanagers'­
A. Two Republicaus antI one DemOflrat. 

Q. Was not the vote polled .in NO"ember last tbe largest vote ever 
polled in this county I-A. I think it was, sir; to tbe best of my knowl­
edge. 

Q. Was not tbe can vass-tbe last one-an earnest and vigorous one f­
A. Ye!ol, sir. 

Q. You have already stated that the large white vote pol1ed at Gran­
ite\TilJe at the last election was tile largest polled since recollstrllction; 
was not the black vote the largest OIlEl, too f-A. No, HiI'; 1 don't think it 
was. 

Q. Whell WI18 the largest !-A. In 1868. 
Q. Did 1I0t /Dore colOl'ed peoplA vote the Democratic ticket than ever 

vowd it there betore!-A.. Yes, sir. 
Q. How many colored people voted tbe Democratic ticket at the last 

election at Graniteville f-A. More than voted t.he RepUblican. I think 
the whole colored "ote was one.hundre;l and sixty-one, and only se\'t~nty­
fi \'e U"pu blican votes. 

Q. You statt'd yestf'rday that tlJree hundred and fifty votes WRS the 
largeMt white Dt'mocratic majority ever bad at GrHnite\'ille. Do yOd 
mean the largest vote or the largest mlljorit~ T-A. I mean the majority. 

Q. Do you know tbat heretofore that Langley was a poll in the SIlme 
township that Granite\'ille was in f-A. In 1~14: a poll was etltablitlhed 
there. 

Q. Do yoo not know tbat tbere was no poll at Langley at tbt'llast elee­
tion '-A.. A wajol'ity of the Langley l)eople came and voted at Granite­
ville. 

Q. Do yon know of any family by the name of Lamar tbat resitle in 
this county '-A. Yes, Hir. 

Q. Wen'! the number of whites wbo votpd the Repobli(!8n ticket.as 
large Btl at the III'e,-ions elections f-A. No, sir; except '74, of which 
year I have 110 recollt:>ction. 

Q. How Ulany white Republican votes were cast at Graniteville at the 
last election I-A. 1 only know of Olle, my,.elt'. 

Q. Call you state the number of white Republican votes cast at Gran­
iteville in '72, '74 t-A. '74, I cannot. '70, there was twenty·Jh-e. 'i:!,' I 
forget the number; 1 KlJonld tlJink from ten to fifteen. 

Q. Do yon know whetht>r the ]lolls in this l'ollnty werp ft:>wl'r in nllm­
ber tban they were in '74 T-A. I know of olle leKs-the IJallgll'~' box. 

Q. Do ;yon know what year the Langlt'y factory dam was brokt'n!­
A. I dou't recollect. 

Q. Dou't you know that it was in the last fourorfiveyearsf-A. Yell; 
it is inside of tbat timf'. 

Q. 8il1l~e that dam bas been repaired, that factory bas been in fun 
operation f-A. I think so; I know nothing to tbe contrar)-. 

Q. Have not quite a Dumber of people mo\-ed to Langh~y siuce the 
factory has been Jlut in operation !-A. Yes, Kir. 

Q. Are not tbe operatins nearly all wbite !-A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. What is the population of Langley village !-A. Nearly eight hun. 
dred, or in tbat neighborhood. . 

Rt>direct: 
Q. You state that tbere was but one white Republican vote at Gran· 

itefillt' at the last election.-A. I don't know of but one. 
Q. Who was that one '-A. Myself. 
Q. lligbt there aot bave bee 1D0re '-A. Yes, there may haye been 

more. . 
Q. What is the generalllolitics of the inhabitants of Langley !-A. I 

do lIot know of one lwpublican. . 
Q. What is tbe population of Langley, their comillexion '-A. Whites. 

JOHN WOOLLEY. 

Sworn to before me this 21st day of March, A. D. 1877. 
[SKU.J N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, SoNtil Carolina. 

ALEXANDER WILLIAMS recalled. 
By W. I. Whipper: 

Qoestion. Are you acquainted with Willil,m Chaffee !-Answer. I 
am, sir. 

Q. Did he vote at Graniteville on the 7th day of ~ovelDber last f­
A. Ht' did, sir. 

Q. What was his politics, Democrat or RepUblican '-A. I think 
Drmoerat. 

Q. Do you know Kinloch Ohaffee '-A. I do, sir. 
Q. Did he "ote at Graniteville on the 7th day of November lastf­

A. He did, sir. 
Q. Stat .. , if y(>u know, his politics.-·A. I think he is a Democrat; he 

votfd a white ticket .• 
(ObjecW to by Mr. Oroft . on tbe fonowing grounds: That he must 

state facts and not belief 8S regards politics.) 
Q. Do yon know Robert Ohaffee '-A. I do, sir. 
Q. Did he vote at Graniteville on tbe 7th day of November last f­

A. HI' did, sir. 
Q. What were his politics !-A. His politics were Democrat, for be 

@aid be voted for Hampton. 
Q. Did or did nClt all three of thes('l Ohaff .. (>s helong to and affiliate 

with the red·shirts on that day Y-A. Tht'y did affiliate with them. 
Cross·examined by Mr. Croft, counsel for conll'stant: 

Q. Did yon know of your own knowledge wbt'thel' these Chaffees are 
Democrats; or do you judge by their clImpll'xion, or by the company 
tbey ket'p !-A. I judge Mr. R.oller ... Chatl'l'e hr his saying that he "oted 
for Hampton, and judge the others b.v theil' .coming with a crowd of 
r~hhirts, ami wcal'ing red shirts tbemselves, aUlI "oting the wbite 
ticket. 

(OI~I'(:f.('d to by Mr. Croft, counsel for contestallt, on the grollnds that 
the poll·list is tbe belSt evidellce and should be produced.) 

ALEXANDI~I~ WILLIAMS. 

Sworn to before me this 21st day of MArch, A. n. 1877. 
[SEAL.J N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, South (JaroliIlfJ. 
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STU'E OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Oounty of Aiken : 

Oontested election for seat in the Forty·flfth Oongress. 

G. D. TiLLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
17'. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

Personally appeared. ROBERT OOLEMA~, who, being duly sworn, de· 
poses and says: 

Question. State your name, age, occllpation, Rnd residence.-Answer. 
JO!4cph E. Ooleman; 32 years j Graniteville; cook. 

Q. Wbere were ~ou on the 7th day of No\'ember last, the day of tbe 
last general election '-A. At Miles's Mill. 

Q. In what capacity was you tbere'-A. As a manager of elt'Ction. 
Q. 'V ere you obstructed or interfered with as a manager of election; 

how, if so, and by whom f-A. I was, sir; I don't. kllOw the gentlemen. 
A crowd of gen tlemen came n p tbt>re after the polls had been opened abont 
an bour aud a half; Mr. Willie Chaliee, and Mr. C. E. Sawyer was an· 
ot,her, ancl two or three others; I did not. know their names. ODe of the 
tbl'ee of the last mentioned was the olle that interfered with me byask. 
ing for some of the RepUblican tickets; J handed bim the ticket!!; be 
tOl'e them in two, and said, "The idea of any damn son of a bitch hantl· 
ing a whit,e gentleman a 'y such tickets aN those were." They then took 
some of the tickets (Democratic) and saill they wanted (I mean be) to 
vote, and saill. "Come up boys, let's vow," and pushed t.he latch from o\'t'r 
the hole. I then said, "Gent.lemcn, please be sworn;" this same gt'otle· 
man said," Who is going to ILdminister tbe oath'" I told him tbat I 
would, and be said, " All right, go abt·ad." Those men voted there (6\'e 
or more) and then went out. 1:he next was, one of the first fi"e along 
toward tbe middle of the day came back toward the ., Old Mill;" tbey 
caDle across :\lr.Delevan Yaws, the supervisor, alllI they hl\(lsom~ words 
with bim, but don't know what tbey was. After Mr. Yates had come 
in the building, this young man came up to th~ door and begged bim 
to come out and they would whip him. They told Mr. Yates tbat if be 
would just cheep he would come in there and mash bis moutb. ".Any 
God damned white man tbat would vote the Radical ticket was a God 
damned thief," and other words pretty much of tbe same nature; then 
lJe turned to me, the same yOllng man, and asked me wbat 1 thougbt of 
Mr. Yates. I told him I dill not know much about Mr. Yates; tbat I 
judged Mr. Yates, as I jl~dged him, to be a gentleman. And be said 
Mr. Yates was a God damned rascal, and 1 was on,' too if I did 
not think so; he tben asked IDe how I Iilied him for wariog up tbe 
tickets; I told him tbat I didn't know, but I can't say that I don't like 
it. Be said, "If you don't like it, all yon will bave to do is to say 80.~ 
But he said he was going otl", and he would let us go on witb our bn~· 
ness. They went oft· to Mrs. Cab ii's bouSt', in a skirt of woods, and staid 
there about two bours and one.half; and then tht>y got on tbeir bOl"8elt 
and calDe back, and called lor that .. 10nJot-Il'gged manager," and told nle 
to tell Yates that be coud conle out and make water, if he w8ntro tOj 
tbat they had kept U8 in tlJere long el ollgh; tbt'Y gut>.s..~ our bladd~ 
would burst dirt'ctly, and to corne out. Tben they went on to tbe mill 
near by wbere the polls were bdd; stuid about oue·quarierot'aD hOllrllll.d 
tben cume back in front of the door, with their gUlls I~ing ael'088 thl'lr 
horses, anti cUfSl'd tbe managers and supervisors some more. Tbt'o tbl'Y 
followed tbis lDan Sam Stewart off, anft I ne\'er seelJ allY more oC tbem 
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Q. Were there any other armed bands there that dayf-A. Yes, sir; 
another crowd came there in the middle of the day. 

Q. About how many and who were they f--A. About eight or nine­
not less than eight nor more than ; on~ of them WIIS A. J. Butler, 
and young Getzen, son·in-Iaw of Robert Butler, aDd young Anderson. 
I don't know their first names. They were al80 armed, and said that 
they had come to vote; and there was one colored man in t.here and 
theyaMked him how they were going to vote, a Democrat or Rt-Jlubli­
can ticket; he said," Rppuhlican," and one otthat crowd told bim that he 
couldn't vote there, as he was from Georgia; aDd Sam Stewart, who was 
the man, told him that he wasn't from Georgia, and appealed to me to 
prove t.hat be wasn't. from Georgia. Thl"Y said that it did not make any 
differencl', that he could not vote there. They came up there and voted, 
and thpu 'went up to OahU's house, and at three or four o'clock thl'y went 
off, corning by the old mill; yelled and cheered, and said that they in· 
tended to have a "white man's government." 

Q. Were yon, as managers, or were you not, prevented from doing 
your duty that day in fear of those ml'n !-A. We were. 

Q. Could you, with safety, rt"fuspd or challenltf'd the votl'S-
with safety to yourselves-that you thought to be illegal !-A. No, sir. 

Q. State whether or not you know O. N. Butler, what was his poli. 
tics, and whetber be voted at that poll on the 7th day of November 
last .-A. 1 cannot say tbat I know O. N. Butler pprsonally or not. I 
know him when 1 see bim, and he voted the Democratic ticket at Miles's 
mill on the 7th day of Novemher last. 

Q. Are yon acquainted with Jessie Nappier, Ira Nappier, and George 
Palmer I-A. I am, sir. 

Q. State whether they voted at Miles's mill on the 7th of last Novem­
ber, and what was their politics.-A. They voted the dl'mocratic ticket 
on the 7th day of November last. 

Q. Do you know John Palmer, Toliver Herron, Jerry Whitloek, Reu­
ben La hom, Arthur Burton, W. B. Whitlock or Medlock, John Jacobll, 
John Morry, W. F. Wilson, GeorlZe Howard, Doctor or U. T. Howard, 
States or H. U>t', George Fagin, Ned I'agin, Jost'ph W. Ryall, Stt'pht-n 
Hill, Diek or Bock Satcher, Darling Jackson, '\~i1ham Chllifee, Ual' 
Haney, W. M. Walker, Horton Quarells, Peter Rene\v !-A. Yes, sir. I 
am acquainted with all of them. 

Q. 8tate, if you know, what were their politics, and if they vott>d at 
Miles's mill on the 7tll dllyof November last !-A. They did vote at 
Mil .. 8'8 mill, and voted Democratic tickets. 

Q. Did you not know at the time that some of them were voting ille­
gally at tbe time, and why didn't you stop tbem !-A. On account of 
their actions, I was afraid to do it. I asked the Democrutic manager, 
Mr. Bt'll. to challenge tbem; he answered tbat it would be alt bad tor 
bim to 110 it aR it would for me. . 

Q. Who were the othl'r managers !-A. T. L. Brodie aud John M. 
Bell. 

Q. Wbo was the supervisors f-A. Mr. Lanbam, Democrat, and Dele­
van Yates was tbe supervisor on the Uepublicau side. 

Cross· examined by Mr. Croft, counsel for contestant: 
Q. What were the politics of the managers at Milp,s's mill '-A. Two 

RepUblicans and one Democrat. 
Q. In all matters tbat came before the board, did a ml\iority decide!­

A. A mlljority decided. 
Q. Was there a United States deputy ma.rshal at that poll !-A. Yes, 

sir. 
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Q. Was he a Republican or Democrat '-A. He voted a Republican 
ticket. but not straight. 

Q. Who was be f-A. James Pow~lI. 
Q. Who was chairman of tbe board of managers T-A. I was. 
Q. Who wal5 tbe clerk f-A. George Thorpe. 
Q. Was any "iolence done your llerl50n that day by those men you 

speak of Y-A. Tht>rt> was not, sir. 
Q. Do you state that these live mf"n yon spoke of were all armed !­

A. Y 4.'11. lIir; they all bad guns, and pistols, too. 
Q. Who W811 the man who took the tickets fWIIl yon, or tbat spoke to 

you·'-A. I did not know bis name. 
Q •. no yon know his name now '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Tell Ole the name of tbe man who said tbat Sam Stewart was froID 

Georgia aud that be could not vote.-A. I don't kuow his name. 1 woold 
know it it' I bt>ard it called agaill, for I tl'ied to kt>ep it in remembrallCle. 

Q. Vlas tbat remark to Sam Stewnrt Dlade in the presence of young 
Getzen anel A. J. Butler, of wbom ~"on have spoken '-A. Y 4.'S, sir. 

Q. Nobody WI\S bnrt in your presenL"e bbat day at that poll f-A. No. 
sir; 1I0t in my I)regence. 

Q. Yon say ~'OI1 were afraid to discluuge yonr duty as an offiCf>r; io 
wbkt way did you neglect your duty f-A. I was afraid, and I nt'glt'Cted 
DIy dutS by letting Pt'1'80IlS yote wbo were not citizf"ns of South CIl1'O' 
lina, and children wbo were to ~'oullg too VOle. 

Q. Name thoKe who voted wbo were not citizens and tbose who voted 
who were too young to ,"ote.-A. John Jacobs Iivt>s in Augusta; Slt>pbl'D 
Hill lives in Augusta; C. T. or Dr. Howard lives in Augusta, and alllO 
G. W. Howard; Artbur Burton was not old enongh; Reubf!n Labom 
was not old enougb; William Watson was not old enough; Vorgus 
}'ranklin's two sons who voted were; Buddy Brown WII.8 not old eooogb; 
Buck Satcher was not old enough; aDd then there was a big ooloretl 
"man who stays in a grocery st.ore in Augnsta; his name is Peter; I 
forget the last name; this is all that was too yOllng to vote. 

Q. Did ~'011 at auy time tbat day call OIl the United States dt'put,y mar· 
flhal for protection !-A. I did not directly, bnt did indirectly. I toM 
~Ir. Powt'll the way those mell was going 011 the men couldn't vote; 
that tbe men wonld be scared off from the polls; be said that he wooltl 
attend to it, but tbey sboved the box about, and he did not do anything 
to tbem. 

Q. Were there any colored Democrat Votes polled at that precinct!­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What meanR have you of knowing tbe ages of tbose parties that 
voted under age. tbat you SIlY were under agel-A. From tht>ir ap' 
pearancE'; tbey WE're Il0t large than Willie there, (pointing to a boy 10 

court who is not more than tUtt-en years of age;) soUle of them were 
stonter. but not any taller, but they were boJs. 

Q. Under what name did the man "ote to whom you banded tht' 
tickets' I meall the man who tore up the tickets.-A. I don't tn?" 
wbat his Dame was or under what name he voted; I was afraid to wnte 
it down at that time, and when 1 was ready 1 bad forgotten it. 

(Mr. Croft objected to so much of the evidence as relates to who voted 
at ~\lile~'s mill, O,l the grounds that tbe poll.list is the best e\"'ideUl:e aUlI 
should be prodnced.) 

JOSEPH E. COLEMAS. 
Sworn to before me this 21st day of March, A. D. 1871. 
rSEAL.J . N. R. WILLIAMS. 

/),' otary Public, &"tA C/JrolilUl. 
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty oj Aike1& : 

Contested election for a seat in the Forty-fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
1:B. 

ROBERT S)[ALL8, CONTESTEE. 

369 

Personally appeared W. T. RODENB.1.CK, who, being sworn, deposes 
and says: 

By lIr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Question. State your name, occupation, age, and residence.-Answer. 

W. T. Rodenback; teacher; Aiken; twenty-two years. ' 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of November last, the day of the 

last general election t-A. In Silverton preci~ct. 
Q. In what capacity were you there f-A. As a deputy United States 

marshal. 
Q. Were you present at the time, the returns were footed up at that 

precinct !-A. I was. 
Q. State, if you know, how many votes Robert Smalls received for 

Congress, and how many G. T. Tillman received.-A. Robert Smalls 
received two hundred and thirty·two; G. T. Tillman, one hundred and 
eighty-two. 

Q. State, if you know, whether or not tbey were properly footed up, 
signed, attested, and forwarded to the couuty board of canvassers as 
required by law '-A. They were. 

Q. Do you know whether or not they rEached the county board of 
canvasse-rs f-A. I do not. 

WM. T. RODENBACK. 
Sworn to before me this 22d day of l\Iarch, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.l N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, Bout/, OaroUna. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of A ike,,: 

Contested election for seat in Forty-fifth Congress. 
G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 

1:B. 
ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

Personally appeared ]'IRMAN L. BRODIE, who, beiog duly sworD, de­
poses and 88J's : 

By llr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Question. State your name, residence, occupation, and age.-.Answer. 

Firman L. Brodie; Tabernacle Townsbip, in this county; farmer; twenty­
two years, three months, and eighteen days. 

Q. Where were you on the 7th day of November last, the day of the 
last general election f-A. At Miles' Mill. 

Q. In what capacity were you there '-A. As a manager of election. 
Q. Were you as a manager interfered with in any way in the discharge 

of yoor duty' If so, how and by whom t-A. I was. A crowd of men 
on the train-I suppose between 7 and 8 o'clock-they got off and came 
down to the mill, and they asked who was the managers there. I 
told them who they were; they said they wanted to vote. The chair­
man of the board said: "We swear first;" they said, "What are you 

H. Mis. 11-24 
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going to swear about!" They said, ,( I am a citizen of the United States 
certainly," and cursed all the time the chairman was administering the 
oath, and did not recognize the oath, and eight or ten '\"'oted then. Next 
crowd was six or more men, mounted. They came armed with guos aod 
pistols and cartridge. boxes. One of them was talking with the super· 
"'isor. The supervisor came in the room where I was. This man came 
in and said he wanted some of the Republican tickets, and the chair· 
man of the board ga'\"'e him some of the tickets. He then tore them 
in two, and asked if it was not a "da m ned shame i" told him to say 
it; he knew he thonght so; and afterwards he got a Democratic 
ticket, and voted without recognizing the oath. He then pushed the 
box about, and said he wanted to see if there ""as any votes in it; 
and said, "Mind, boys, they will forge boxes on ," and" If you do, 
W~ will hang you." 

'This man also came to the door and tried to get the supervisor out of 
toe room, and dared him to cheap; if he did he would come in there 
and mash his mouth. He told him if he would come out be would 
change ends with him and stand on his own protection i said be did 
not care anything about the deputy marshal. He said also the pier· 
bead would also be a good place to put some of them in tbe room. Be 
then went up to l\lr. Cahil's house after that, and came back with a 
large new pistol buckled around on the outside of his coat, and asked 
the supervisor if he was in there yet. He asked the cbairman dido't 
he thillk be was as mean as hell, (the supervisor he meant,) and a mao 
of his color to vote the Republican ticket. He then left and went back 
to this house, him and the crowd all mounted, and rode by the mill 
a piece and stopped about fifteen minutes. Then they came along baet 
by the room we was in in the mill, and told that" long·leggt'd" lDanager 
to tell Yates to come out from there, aud that he could blake water and 
straighten his joints, for they were going to leave now; and before they 
left there was a colored man in the room and asked how he was going 
to vote; and Mr. Bell told him he was not entitled to vote, that he was 
from Georgia i so he left, aud some of the crew fo llowed him off and 
whipped him. I did Dot see the whipping. They said they was going 
to have a " wbite man's government." 

Q. Could you discharge your duty as a manager without danger to 
,,-ourself !-A. I could not. 
• Q. Did you not kuow of men who '\"'oted illegally that yon dare not 
stop T-A. I did. 

Q. Do JOU know whether or not the following men ,"oted at 1tIilell's 
Mill on the 7th day of November last: Horton H. Jordon, Tolh'er Heron, 
Jerry Whitlock, 1\1. B. Medlock, John Murry, 'V. F. Wilsoo, George 
Howard, Car Haney, W. M. Walker f-A. I do; and one Chdee, wbich 
Olle I do not know. 

Q. Would it ha"e been safe for you or any of your board to baye tried 
to prevent anyone from yotlng f-A. It would not. 

Cross-examined by O. C. Jordon, esg., connsel for contestant: 
Q. Where was the election i in what building, if a building at all !­

A. In the room of the mill. 
Q. Did you remain in that room all day f-A. I did, sir. 
(~. Were any votes polled at that precinct that YOIl did not see put in 

the box f-A. I don't think there were any polled but what I saw. 
Q. You can't answer that positively i-A. I willsny none were polled 

but what I saw. 
Q. Did you as a manager ,"ote at any time 0110n the eligibility of any 

ODe offering to '\"'ote f-A.. I did not. 
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Q. Did all men ,,"ote at that poll that offered themseh::es !-A.. All 
except two colored men. 

Q. Was there any difficulty at that poll upon that day'-A. There 
was. 

Q. Did yon witness it !-A. I did. 
Q. What was the natnre of itt-A. Cursin~ and makin~ great tbreats. 
Q. By what means do you know tl1at Horton H. Jordon, Toliver 

Heron, Jerry Whitlock, 1\1. B. Medlock, Jobn .l\furry, l\f. F. Wilson, 
George Howard, Car Hanf:'Y, W. M. Walker, and one Chaffee voted at 
tbat precinct !-A. By hearing them give their names to the clerk. 

Q. From your memory YOll remember these names' You bave no 
writing or anytbing in your possession f-A. I have no writing. 

Q. Were they white or colored, e\'ery oue of them '-A. 'Vl1itf:'. 
Q. How many were thel'e!-A. I don't exactly remember how mallY 

there were. 
Q. Can yon name them '-A. I can't name tbem all. 
Q. Name as many as you can.-A. Car Haney, Walker. 
Q. What Walker '-A. I disremember the initials. 
Q. Is that all you can name '-A. I believe it is. I know the names 

wben I bear tbem called. 
F. L. BRODIE. 

81rOrn to before me this 22d uay of llarch, A. D. 1877. 
ISEAL., N. H. WILLIAMS, 

SUTE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
County 0/ Aikell: 

Notary Public, Soutlt Om·ofilla. 

Contested election for seat in Forty.fifth Congress. 

~. D. TILI.llAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
1.'8. 

roBERT SllALLS, CON1'ESTEE. 
Personally appeared U. G. BRODIE, who, being sworn, deposes and 

ays: 
By llr. Whipper: 

Question. State your name, a~e, occupation, and residence.-Answer. 
i. tj. Brodie; 23 years; Aiken Count~'; school· teaching. 
f~, Where were you on the 7th day of November last, the day of the 

lilt general election !-A. l~ountain Academy, sen~n miles from this 
Ilace. 
'1. In what capacity were you there !-A. As a manager of election 

t tbat precinct. 
Q. Was there, at any time during the day, a band of armed men come 
~ere t-A. There was. 
Q. Go on and state wben they came, what they did, and bow they 

emeaned themselves generally.-A. About six in the e\yening they came 
IlSbing into the house. Mr. Johnson, the cl1airman of the board, said 
Je time is ont; it is now six o·clock. The Democrat mana~er or super, 
isor, llr. (Jonrtney-both were "Courtlleys"-says to 1\11'. Johnson, 
Yon have run your watch up; it is not qnite six by my watch." And 
Ir. JohDtlon said, "I did not open by your watch, nor I won't close by 
,~ The crowd that came to \'ote saiu tl1at t.hey hall been-they suid 
lat tbeir poll or box at Langley Mill had been broken up, anu they 
ad come on down to Granite\'ilIe aUlI l\liles's .Mill, and the places were 
• tightly crowued that they coulu not \'ote there." One gentleman said, 
~ be God damued it' he llillll't intend to \·ote. We agreed to let tl1em 
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vote. I think there was about six we had to swear in at once, and 
every man there that hadn't voted of that crew that came last r1l8hed in 
and voted nnsworned. I would ask them if they had been sworn; they 
all would say, "Yes." 

Q. Why did you allow these men to vote without being swom I-A. 
I thought it would be best in order to keep down a foss or row. 

Q. Were those men all armed; and, jf so, what did they have!-A. 
The most of them bad pistols; one had a double-barreled gun. 

Q. How did they condbct themselves, good or bad I-A. Bad. 
Q. What did they do T-A. Oursing and going on. 
Q. Did you at the time know that those men were not entitled to vote, 

or some of them I-A. I did not. I knew it was after the time, and aome 
were not sworn. 

Q. Oould you or could your board, with safety to yourseh'es, compel 
these men to be sworn or preyent them from voting f-A. I don't kooll 
as we could. 

Q. You knew, as a manager, that it was yoor duty to do it, and wb~ 
didn't you T-A. I believe they wQultl vote any way whether we wBnted 
them to or not. 

Cross·examination by Mr. Oroft, counsel for contestant: 
Q. What were the politics of the board of managers at that poll !-A: 

Two Republicans and one Democrat. 
Q. Did you hal'e there a Democrat and Republican supervisor' If ~ 

state their names.-A. Courtney was the Democrat, and W. F. (Jarste~ 
the Republican. I 

Q. How mallY men came up in that crowd at six o'clock f-A. TweDt~ 
Q. Do you call those men bad because they cursed 80 mnch !-.!. 1 

call them bad because they said they intendelt to vote whether \\~ 
wanted them to or not. I 

Q. Did they beat, bruise, or hurt anybody I-A. Not to my tno\fin~ 
Q. Give the names of as many of those men 3S yon can that \"ott1 

without being swortl.-A. I did not know anyone of them. ~ 
Q. Who had the double·barrel gnn I-A. I don't know \"ho he wlllj 
Q. Who had the pistols I-A. I don't know them, either. i 

Q. Where did they have them f-A. Some would haye them in thtil 
breast· pockets and some in their holsters. I 

Q. Did you try to prevent those men from voting f-A. No, sir; di~ 
not. , 

Q. Where was the box when they voted I-A. On a table; I had mj 
hands on it. ' 

Q. Did you have it where it was during the whole day f-A. We di~ 
Q. How long after they voted before you opened the box aDd ~ 

menced to count the ballots f-A. Some tew minutes. I 

Q. Did you foot up the returnR and forward tbem to tbe COIlD~ 
board of canvassers at Aiken as required by law !-A. Yes, sir; westal 
tbem to Aiken. 

Q. By wbom f-.A. Mr. Oourtney, the manager. 
Q. Did you all sign tbem as required by law T-A. We did. 
Q. Did you tell them not to vote when they said they noted t~ 

vote'-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you use any force to prel'ent them from voting f-A. No, si~ 
Q. Tben there was no l"iolence on eitber side f-A. No, sir; wl 

worked to prevent it. I 

Q. Did Courtney's watch differ in time from .Tohuson's watch; 1 me~ 
the manager's f-A. 1t did; so he said. . 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VB. SMALLS. 373 

Q. Did they Dot dispute about this time, and Courtney accuse John· 
son of pushing ull his watch t-A. There was no dispute between them, 
but Courtney accused JohnSOll of pushing up his watch. Johnson gave 
him no answer, and denied it afterward. 

Redirect: 
Q. Yon state you all signed the returns !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did }Ir. Courtney sign the returns; the Democratic manager, I 

mean I-A. He did. 
Q. Who brought the box: in from Fountain Academy to the court· 

housef-A. ?tIr. Courtney, the Democratic manager. 
Q. Did this armed band stay there, or any portion of them, until the 

returns were signed I-A. Not to my knowledge. 
Q. You have stated that you knew a portion of these men voted with­

out being sworn, and you believe it was unsafe for you or your board 
either to prevent them from voting, or be sworn. Why, then, did you 
sign tbe returns I-A. I (lid it in order to get away safe. 

Q. Did I understand you to say tha.t you regarded your life to be in 
danger if you did not sign them I-A. I really did. 

Cross-examined to redirect by Mr. Croft, couDsel for contestant: 
Q. You bave stated that there were no one around there wben yon 

signed tbe returns; of whom were you afraid; armed men I mean.-A. I 
was afraid of my opponents, white men. 

Q. You have stated that you were afraid that your life was in danger 
if you did not sign the returns; state if anyone threatened you, either 
by word or gesture, if you refused Y-A. Not threatened. 

Q. Did you not ha\"e, in addition to the two United States super\"is· 
ors, also a Republican .deputy marshal at that poll I-A. They had been 
there all day, but they was gone. The Democratic supervisor was 
there. The deputy marshal was not inside the house, but can't say he 
11'38 Dot there. 

Q. How many people were around there when you signed the reo 
turns I-A. Only two inside of the house, colored. Twenty whites, or 
over, were in the house. 

Q. Who was your clerk !-A. Robert Smoot, colored. 
Q. IOU had five colored men, then f-A. No, sir; only three with 

myself. 
Q. Xame as many of these white mp.n as you can !-A. Mr. Court­

ney, Democratic manager, Jahus Courtney, sllper\"isor, Edward Sieg­
ler i tbat is all that I know. 

Q. State how many were armed, if so, and what kind f-A. I ca.n't 
tell definitely bow maDY were armell. All that I could see standing 
before me had pistols. 

Q. How many could you see f-A. About ten that I could see. 
Q. Did you have a pistol '-A. No, sir. 
The words" time," "then,"" not,"" know," ., ed," and" was not inside 

~be bouse, but can't say he was not there," were interlined before sign­
log. The word" was" was erased before signing. 

G. G. BRODIE. 

Sworn to before me this :!3d day of March, A. D. 1877. 

.~. " . . .~, 

~. R. WILLIAMS, 
},'otm'Y Public, South Carolina. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



374 TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, Aiken Oounty : 
Contested election for seat in Forty.fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
'V8. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

Personally appeared S. I. LEE, who, being duly sworn,deposes and 
says: 

By Mr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Question. State your name, resi<lence, age, and occupation.-Answer. 

Samuel I. Lee; age 32 years; Aiken; attorney at law, and solicitor of 
second circuit, South Carolina. 

Q. How long have you lh'ed'in Aiken County I-A. Since the forma· 
tion of the county; October 4, 1872. 

Q. Did you live in this vicinity before the formation of the coonty of 
Aiken I-A. Yes; I 1ived at Hamburg, 16 miles from the town of Aiken. 

Q. And you have been acquainted with the territory comprising the 
county of Aiken tor a number of years T-A. I have. 

Q. You will please to state the location of Miles )[ill, Graniteville, and 
Fountain Academy. I mean their relati\"e location and distance from 
each other '-A. Graniteville is five miles west from Aiken town, on the 
Oharlotte, Columbia and Augnsta Railroad. :Miles :Mill eight miles north 
from Graniteville, on the same road. Fountain Aoademy is abont eight 
miles east from Miles Mill on the " Two·notch " road, public highway. 

Q. By the ordinary roall of tra\'el is the distance the same as yoo 
have designated I-A. The distance I ha\"e given is the ordinary route 
of travel. 

Cross·examine(1 by )Ir. Croft, counsel for contestant: 
Q. State whether there is a public highway leading from Miles lliU 

to Fountain Academy f-A. There is not; only what is called tbe 
"Neighborhood road." 

Q. Have you been from Miles Mill to Fountain Academy !-A. I have. 
Q. State what railroad is nearest to Fountain Academy f-A. The 

town of Aiken; it is seven miles from Fountain Academy, on the Sooth 
Carolina Railroad. 

Q. Is Hamburg on the same railroad that leads to the town of Aiken ,­
A. It is on both the South Carolina and Charlotte, Columbia and Au· 
gusta Railroads. 

Q. By what authority were the Aiken County polling'prl'cincts estab­
lished f-A. By an act of the general assembly of this State. 

Redirect: 
Q. You hale stated in your cross-examination that thl're was no pub­

lic, but a neighborhood road leading from Miles l\1i1l to Fountnio 
Aca(lemy. State if that road is open or not, and is it the general roote 
of travel.-A. It is open to the public, anel is the general ronte of trBt'el. 
When I say public road I mean a road kept up and W'orkNI by the 

. public. 
(The words" South Carolina Railron(1/, inserted before signing.) 

SAMUEL I. LEE. 

Sworn to before me this 23d day of )farch, A. D. I8H. 
[SEAL.] N. R. WILLIAMS, 

.. Votary Public, SOllth Carolilla. 
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty Of Aiken: 

Contested election for seat in Forty.fifth Congress. 

G.D.TILLMAN,CONTgSTANT, ~ 
-rB. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

375 

Personally appeared THOMAS W. WEST, who, being duly sworn, de­
poses and says: 

By Mr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Question. State your name, residence, age, and occllpation.-Ans\ver. 

Thomas W. West; Aiken; waiter; 33 years. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of November last, the day of the 

last general election I-A. Miles Mill precinct. 
Q. In what capacity were you there f-A.. I was there as one inter­

ested, and according to the arrangement of the different candidates one 
was to be at each polling'precinct. . 

Q. Was there any dhsturbanoo there that day!-A.. None. 
Q. Were you present there at the polls all day !-A. I was, from about 

five minutes after the polls opened until they closed. 
Q. Were there any bands of armed men about there that day !-.A._ 

There \vas when we arri\"ed thel'e in the morning; when we arrived 
there there were parties with pistols. About nine o'clock a train came from 
Augusta or from that way with about seven or nine men-a freight-train 
had cotton on-and among those men was a man that walked club­
footed, ancl a stout man with one arm, said to be named O. N. Butler 
Be jumped oft· the train and came down to the mill. They all had re­
,"olvers on. Butler had on two. When he came to the door, which 
was open, he turned around, pulling his pistolJIl front of him, and said 
to the men, ,; Come in here and shut the door." He then went up to 
tbe chairman of the board of managers and said, "'Ve want to vote." 
The chairman told him to hold up his right hand, and as he commenced 
to administer the oath he asked him, "Butler, are YOll a citizen of the 
United States r' He answered, "I always have been." He then asked 
bim, "Are you a citizen of South Carolina t" He said, "I aill't got 
time; I want to \'ote." 

Q. Did he vote f-A. He did, and the men with him. 
Q. Did they take the oath, any of them f-A. The chairman of the 

board went on administering the oath, and I think before he got through 
they said we must vote and get away from here; the chairman then took 
bis hand from the box and they voted. . 

Q. Where did they go to from there '-A. They went on the train to­
wards Edgefield; they said they were going to Edgetleld. 

Q. From what you saw, would it ha¥e been safe for the ma.nagers to 
bave tried to stop those men from voting f-A. It would not; before those 
men got there, I said to the manager, Mr. Coleman, "Don't yon see some 
boys voting here; you have a majority of the board; why don't you stop 
them '" After those men W(>l1t there came an old colored man there and 
when he got there, and a white man told him he wanted to see him, the 
colored man went with him. The white man asketl him where his son 
was; he said his son was afraid to stay there, and bad gone to Aiken. 
This man talked to him awbile and then I saw him band him a ticket. 
The old man asked him if that was t.he " right ticket;" he told bim "yes, 
it was;" the old man said he wanted the" Radical ticket;" tIle white lOall 

then turned oft' and came to me amI asked me if I had any tickets; I 
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told him I had, and gave him one. He then started to the mill, and 
asked him if he was going to vote that ticket i he said he was; the man 
told him that it would not be safe for him to do It. The man asked, "Why 
won't it be safe'" He replied, "We don't intend to have many of those 
tickets voted here," and said, "Damn you, if you vote it we will see yon." 
He said, "I will vote it if I die." l'he next crowd of men that came 
there were armed with pistols, between twelve or thirteen; one man I 
knew; his name is John Murry; he stays at Langley; he came in and said 
to Coleman; "I want to vote; our polls are so crowded I couldn't vote 
there;" himself and those men voted; I can't tell the exact number. 
When the colored men would come up to the polls, one or two at a 
time, and vote and go oft', I asked ODe man if there was not more colored 
peoille living in that section. 

Q. You did not know any more except this man Murry I-A. I didn't 
know any other. 

Q. What tickets did they vote !-A. Democratic ticket. There was, 
in my judgment, several boys, both white and colored ones; I challenged 
their votes; he, the manager, Joseph E. Coleman, thought so too; I 
called the attention of the supervisor, Mr. Yates. 

Q. Did they come up in charge of any ouel-A. They came up with 
men. 

Q. Did the boys vote, and what ticket did they "ote I-A. Voted the 
Democratic ticket; I did not know their names; they were nil strangers 
to me. 

Q. You could tell the Democratic ticket from the Republican ticket, 
and bow could you tell f-A. They was all white tickets, until later in 
the day a gentleman came to me-I did not know him-and said "Let 
me see the color of your tickets;" I handed him one; when these two 
colored men came up, I saw him take them aside and talk to them j 
they then came to the polls; these two men voted tickets-imitation Be· 
publican; these were the first tickets of that kind I saw. 

Q. What was the color of the tickets these boys voted I-A. White 
tickets; the Republicans had no white tickets; I carried the ouly tickets 
that were carried there; I gave them to Mr. Yates; he was afraid to pre· 
sent them, and gave them to me ; then there came up a crowd of fi\"e­
a white man, two colored men, a white boy, and a colore(l boy; I chal· 
lenged the votes of two boys; they stated tllat they were old enoogh, 
and votet! the Democratic ticket; after a while came up some more 
men, and among them was some boys; I told the boys, aud managers, 
that I objected to their voting, on the ground that they were minors j 
he said he could not prevent tllem from Yoting; I then threw the pack· 
age of tickets down, and said if he could not manage any better than 
that I would go home. 

Q. Could he with safety have preyeul;e(l those parties from votingf­
A. He could not; I carried in my pocket a }lencil and paper to take the 
names of parties challenged, and from the looks that was given me I was 
afraid to use them; when a man came up to vote with another crowd­
I did not know his name-which I thought had voted before, I went to 
Mr. Yates, the supenisor, and said to him, "There is that mao with a 
red shirt, black cap alU] pauts, that Yoted ouce before; he is going to 
vote again;" he said "I will-" and tbe mau did yote again. I came 
out the house then; a colored man cllme up to the fire-by the DBme 
of Sam Stewart-asked me if I had any Republican tickets; I told him 
Manager ColeDlan bad them; he went into the house, and I went to tbe 
frout of the door to see if he was going to vote and what ticket he would 
vote; he said thE'Y would not allow bim to vote, because, they sahl, he 
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was from Georgia; I heard tbem say be was from Georgia; "You can't 
vote bere." Wbile be was talking to me there came up a crowd of 
seven or nine men; two or three had shot-guns; tbey stopped at Mr. 
Oahil's house, and then tbey all came to tbe polls; I did not know but 
three of them; one was Mr. W. H. Chaffee j' Mr. Kinloch Chaffee, and 
Mr. Henry Getzen; I know him very weI ; he threaten('d to kill me 
while I was sp('aking on the StUID}> at Beecb Island; th('y were all 
armed; they left their guns at the store; they did not come to the polls 
armed. 

Q. How far W8S it from the polls tbat th('y left their guns f-A. About 
two hundred or two hundred and fifty yards. 

Q. Did these men votef-A. I don't know; 1 went into the mill after 
these men came out. " 

Cross-examined by O. C. Jordon, esq., counsel for contestant: 
Q. Were you a candidate on the Repu blican ticket at the last election 

for office I-A. I was a candidate for county commissioner. 
Q. Were l"OU elected or not f-A. By the dpcisioD of the board of 

State canvassers, we were not elected. 
Q. By wbat majority were you defeated in Aiken County'-A. I 

could not state; I saw in the papers that the Democrats carried the 
county by a majority of 742. 

Q. Have you contested the election in Aiken County, or Dott-A. 
Not y('t. 

Q. Was any viol('ncp uBerl by any p('rson upon anybody at Mileti's Mill, 
actnal violence f-A. No, sir; not 8S I "et-n. 

Q. Did you ('xercise the right as a citizen in challenging voters at 
Miles's 10lill as they oftered to voteT-A. I did not, sir. 

Q. As a matter of fact, did you cballenge anyone ofteriug to vote f-
A. I did, sir. 

Q. Were you molested for so doing f-A. I was not. 
Q. Do you know Toliver Heron I-A. I do not, sir. 
Q. Do you Jmow Horton H. Jordon T-A. I do, sir. 
Q. Did he vote at Miles's :Mill T-A. He did not, sir, to my knowledge. 
Q. Did yoo know Kinlock Chaftee, and did he vote at Miles's Mill f-

A. He was there, but did not see him vote; I was standing outdoors. 
Q. When you left tbe mill and went to the honse for water, was Hor­

ton H. Jordon and Kinlock Chaffee tbere I-A. They was not, sir; Hor­
ton H. Jordon did not come Ilear the polls; I did not see him at all. 

Q. What was the greatest number of persons at the poll during the 
dayT-A. Not more than twenty-five or thirty; all of' tbem wbite except 
myself, Boston Weaver, and the two managers, who were colored; the 
other colored were afraid to stay. 

Q. Did either of the last four named receive any harm from remain­
ing there all day I-A. They did not. 

Q. Did any colored boys vote there llluler the age of twenty-one 
years T-A. I dou't kuow; none to my knowledge; chaUt'nged their votes 
on grounds of being minors; tbey were strangers to me; cballenged one 
in particular that I thought to be It minor. 

Q. Did all those who you thought under age vote the Democratic 
tick et I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you see a colored man receit"e a w~ipping there that day ,­
A. I did not. 

Q. Were you very attentive as to what \t"8S going ou there tha.t 
day'-A. I was, sir. 

Q. Was there any man or number of men that \'oted there that day 
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that you did not see '-A. There might have been some; I was away 
for four or five minutes. 

Q. What number of votes were polled at lIi1es's Mill '-A. One boo· 
,Ired and forty.two Democratic and thirty·four Republican. One Re· 
publican candidate received thirty·five, either Lawson or mYklf. 

Q. How many colored men voted at Miles's :Mill !-A. I can't teU. 
Q. How many colored men voted the Democratie ticket !-A. I don't 

recollect. 
Q. There was a numbt'l' of colorerl men voted tM Democratie ticket! 

-A. There was; can't tell the number. They came on horseback and 
in wagons. 

Q. Miles's Mill returned a Democratic, or Republican majority two 
years ago f-A. I don't know. 

Q. Has the num ber of precincts in Aiken County increased or lessened 
since the last election '-A. Lesst'ned, sir. 

Q. Do you remeDlber how many election·precincts there were in 'il! 
-A. Fifteen. 

Q. How many were there in '70 T-A. Eleven. 
Redirect, by Mr. W. J. Whipper: 

Q. You stated in your cross·examination that Jordon tlid not vote to 
your knowledge. l\Iay he not have voted without your knowing !-A. 
He might. 

Q. Is not the same true as regaf(ls Kinloek Chaffee'-A. YE'S. sir. 
TBOS. ""'. WEST. 

Sworn to before me this 22d day of March, 1877. 
[SEAL.] . N. R. WILLIAMS. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
CQunty of Aikn&: 

- Xotary Public, South Carolill4. 

Contested election for s('at in Forty.fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
t·8. 

ROBERT SlIALLS, CONTESTEE. 
, Personally appeared AARON W. GILBER1', who, being dnly SWOMI. 

deposes aud says: 
By Mr. Whipper, counsel for coutes:ant: 

Question. State your name, residence, age, and occupation.-A . .Aaron 
W. Gilbert; Aiken; 3;j years; trial.justice. 

Q. Where were you on the 7th day of Noyember Jast, the day of tMj 
last general election T-A. Sih'ertoll precinct. 

Q. In what capacity were you there f-A. Clerk of the board of man­
agers of election. 

Q. Dhl you as such clerk make up and attest the returns from that: 
precinct f-A. I diu. 

Q. State, if yon know, how many votes tbere were for RobertSmallsfor 
Congress, and how mallY fi.)r George D. Tillman.-A. Sma118 ~inod 
two hundred and thirty.two, and Tillman one hundft'd and eighty.tWo.l 

Q. Were the returns bearing these numbers forwarded to the board 
of county canvassers, as required by law t-A. tbey .·cre. 

Q. By wbom !-A. By the managers. 1 
(~. Were you called upon to gh'e testimony in ft'gard to those before 

a committee 10 Columbia f-A. I was. 
Q. Statl', if you know, what was the tJifticulty and what g&\"e ri5e f 
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the necessity for your testifying I-A. I am unable to state what was 
the difficulty. I saw a dispatch requesting the managers and clerks to 
appear there. 

Q. Do you know whether or not those vote~ were accredited to Mr. 
Smalls or not by the coonty or State board of canvassers T-A. I think 
not. 

(Objected to by Mr. Croft, counsel for contestant, on the grounds that 
the returns are the best evidence, and should be prodnced.) 

Q. Hal"e you any means of knowing why they were not '-A. I have 
not. 

Q. Are you certain that they were cast at Silverton precinct on the 
7th day of N ovem ber last, footed up by the managers, attesterl by your­
self, and forwarded to the county board of canvassers '-A. I am cer· 
tain. 

Cross·examined by Mr. Croft, counsel for contestant: 
Q. You stated that Mr. Smalls, yoo thooght, had not been credited 

with these votes. What means have yoo of knowing that it is so !-A. 
I heard the secretary of state say that he had not received the Silver· 
ton vote. 

Q. Did you hear the secretary of state say that he had not received 
the vote of any other precinct in Aiken County T-A. I did not. 

Q. Were yon pres(>nt when the State board of canvassers footed op 
the retnrns and declared the election to the Forty-fifth Congress for the 
tifth Congressional district in South Carolina I-A. No, sir; I was in 
Aiken. 

Q. Were you present when the boar<l of coonty canvassers footed up 
8nll declared the vote that Robert Smalls and G. D. Tillman received 
for Congress in Aiken County at the last election '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Then your statement as regards the vote that Robert Smalls re­
ceived at Silverton is only what you think '-A. Is what I believe. 

AARON W. GILBERT. 

Sworn to before me this 22d day of lIarch, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL. I N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, South Oarolitla. 

STATE OF SOUTH CA.ROLIN A, 
Oounty of .A ikM : 

Contested election for seat in Forty-fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMA.N, CONTESTANT, ~ 
1'8. 

ROBERT SlIALLS, CONTESTEE. 

Personally appeared PETER A. W AGGILLS, who, beiug duly sworn, 
deposes and says: 

Examined by Mr. Whipper, counsel for contestant: 
Question. State your name, residence, age, and occupation.-Answer. 

Peter Waggills; Aiken; twenty-nine years; United States deputy mar-
~~. . 

Q. Where were you on the 7th day of Xovember last, the day of the 
last general election '-A. At l!erritt's Bridge precinct until half past 
fonr in the evening; then 1eft and went to Fonntain Academy. 

Q. What. time did you get to Fountain Academy!-A. About twenty 
or twenty-five minutes to six. 
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Q. How long did you remain there I-A. About half past seven or 
eight o'clock. 

Q. Was or was there not a body of IU'med men caDle there doring your 
stay 'I-A. There was. 

Q. At what time did they come 'I-A. About ten minotes to six. 
Q. Had tbe pons closed when they got there 'I-A. No, sir. 
Q. How long after they got there before the polls closed 'I-A. Twen· 

ty·1h"e minutes to seven by my watch when the polls closed. 
Q. Did those men vote 'I-A. They did. 
Q. Was not the pons kept open by them, and on their account f-A. 

Yes, sir. 
Q. State how they conducted themselves, antI how they managed to 

keep the ,olls open.-A. Ten minutes to six heard a crowd of men 
coming north from the direction of Miles'lS Mill. The first man that got 
in the house was a man by the name of John Murry; lives at Langley; 
be came in and seemed to be very mucb excited, and asked how long he 
had before the polls closed; said he had some men he wanted to vote 
th.-'.re. The manager told them that they would have to vote very quick, 
as it was ten minutes of six, and soon as the hour arrived he would elose 
the poll. At that time another man interfered aDd said it was Dot tien 
minutes to six, it was twenty minutes to six. This man Murry took the 
oath; and after be took the oath the manager said, " Hold on' I want 
to see ifanybody knows you; it strikes me that you baye yot;J before." 
The manager called upon aU the whites around to see if auy ooe kne .... 
"this man Morry." After being identified by Isaac Johnson, who was 
staoding by, be went out and did not vote. As soon as he went Ollt a 
crowd of other men, with pistols in their hands; the manager told them 
that the box mnst be closed as the hoor had arrived. A man by the DJUDe 
of Howard told the manager, corsing him, and said, " My poll has been 
broke op and I intend to vote, and yoo must keep this poll open." Whea 
be began to curse so loud a crowd of white men rusbed into the hoose; a 
erowd was standing outside at the east end of the boose also. I de· 
manded the peace, but was powerless to do any good. After they be­
gan to vote men that I knew were residents of Georgia; I was afraid 
to object to tbem. 

Q. Do you know of those men who voted I-A. I know some of them. 
Q. Wa.~ John Jacobs, C. T. Howard, States or H. Lee, W. F. Wil8On. 

George Howard, Car Haney, Jerry Whitlock, among them, and did they 
vote 'I-A. Yes, sir; they did. 

Q. About bow many were there in this crowd I-A. Aboot twenty or 
twent.\'·fi\"e. 

Q. Did they all vote, and what ticket 'I-A. Tbey all voted Demo· 
cratic tickets; they were wbite; they got them from the manager. 

Q. Did the Republicans have auy white tickets at that poll !-A. No, 
sir. 

Q. State the names and describe the persons who yoo knew were from 
Georgia.-A. The two Howards, a man by tbe name of Beach, a sewing· 
machine agent, a colored IRan by the name of John Jacobs, another man, 
(one·eyed;) he is on the detective force io Augusta. 

Q. What kind of tickets did the Republicans have at tbat poll I-A. 
Red ticket with an eagle at the bead. 

Q. By a red ticket yoo mean it was printed in red ink 'I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Could you or tbe managers, or all of yoo, prevented tbeee 

men from '\"oting I-A. 'Ve could not. 
Q. 'What response did you recei\"e from them wben yon commanded 
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the peace Y-A. No reply from the men, bot one of the soper visors said 
I had no jurisdiction at that poll. 

Q. Which one of the supervisors was it '-A. Democratic supervisor. 

Cross-examined by Mr. Croft, coonsel for the contestant: 
Q. At which poll were yoo appointed for at the last election, as depoty 

marsbal f-A. Merritt's Bridge. 
Q. How many miles is it from Merritt's Bridge to Fountain Academy! 

-A. Six miles. 
Q. Anybody hurt at Fountain Academy f-A. Not as I know of. 
Q. Did you see any actual violence while you were tbere f-A. No 

farther tban corsing towards the managers. 
Q. State particolarly who corsed the managers.-A. Can't state par­

ticularly, but Howard, C. T., started the cursing. 
Q. What did he curse bim '-A. Curse him a son of a bitch. 
Q. You state the reason you did not challenge was because you were 

afraid f-A. I did, sir. 
Q. This corsing made you afraid '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do yon mean that it was si~ o'clock by your watch or by tbe man­

ager's I-A. By both watches. 
Q. What are your politics '-A. 1 am a. RApublican. 
Q. What were the politics of the board of managers f-A. 1 don't 

know. 
Q. Any fire-arms pointed at the managers !-A. :No, sir; but they 

were in their hands. 
Q. State the names of those who had fire·arms in their bands.-A. 

Both of the Howards, both of tbe colored men from Augusta, and others 
who I can't identify. 

Q. Was not the Republican ticket printed on white paper T-A. Yes, 
sir' in red ink. 

Q. Was it not 'white on the back f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What was tbe name of the United States deputy marshal appointed 

for Fountain Academy I-A. E. L. Anderson. 
Q. Was he a Republican I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you or anyone else use any force to preyent those men from 

,"oting f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Who were the Republican and Democratic supervisors '-A. W. 

F. Carsten, Republicao, and Courtney, Democrat. 
Q. You state you do not know the politics of the managers. What 

was their complexion f-A. Two black and one white. 
Q. How did yoo get from Merritt's Bridge to Fountain Academy T­

A. Horseback. 
Q. How many miles did you ride an hour on that day f-A. About 

one hour tbat day in coming the six miles. 
Q. Have yoo not been a sol<1ier in theA rmy '-A. 1 was, sir. 
Q. Have yoo not acted as constable, town marshal, deputy sheri1t~ 

and made 1I0merous arrests I-A. I have. 
Q. Did you have a pistol on the day of election f-A. Yes, sir; I had 

a No.1 cartrhlge sbooter. 
PETER A. W AGGILLS. 

Sworn to before me this 22d llay of Marcb, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] N. R. WILLIAl\IS, 

Notary Public, Boutl/, Oarolina. 
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STATT SOUTH 

()ontested election for seat in Forty·fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, 
'1.'8. 

RoBTTT SMALLS, TTNTTSTEE. 

u.,,';,,; ;';; tTEORGE Nz:~HINGTON, 

poses and says: 
By Mr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 

being 

State name, agn, nnnidence, and nnzmf,latlon 
t,w"nty-eighz: dnnrs; Aiknll 

Q. W you ,,;,,;unty d,H'ind tbe last ;;,,,,,,e;,,;e 

de-

Q. What official position, if any, did yon hold in connection wizb t!:at 
election Y-A. Commissioner of election, sir. 

Q. Who, besides yourself" constituted the board of commissioners or 
election Y-A. Mr. Charles. Edmondspn and S. R S~ncer. 

~~~Htn i;~it~ill:;~:: ~;:rnl:d r;~~~;:':!~nt:::~ :n;~:i~:V:;:Yn1l3;:;;~~! 
canvassing of the ,-ote in Aiken County: the commissioners of election! 
met on Friday, the 10th, and organized the county board of can\"as.'!elS" 
and elected Sam. B. Spencer chairman and N. R. Williams clerk; tben! 
adjounnnd to meet TH00sday at ll;clock, Mondad ' 

~~tll ':t~~t ~:~~d ~~;tt";;;:if0 ;;~~r~r!!!;~:~t 0;Z~beP :~~~;zn0;;;t of 
the vote. went into the clerk's office in the court-house; I foond thel 
boxes in possession of a numberof gentlemen; Charles Edmondson and S. 
B. Spencer were prcsent. George W. Oroft was calling out the retarD! 
from dil'S'H;;tou, and not kHHW wbat it for I k;;;;;w he wu 
not cW;Ilmi;;nioner of deetion. I to and l;im 
what mHIlut. I eut then, 

Q. you beee ymnmoned to them On day!-:if. w; 
nor did they summons me that day. I 

Q. Did you meet here on Tuesday, as adjourued to meetY-A. ~o, 
sir; met ill Columbia. ! 

Q. they presHnt bOU at the repuet the COneth i, ,J&N 

of Q~rn'oe;~~ for eRdn::;: onbmb!.~: ~~~YY;;;n the votes, n;;,1r 
up another report T-A .• Yes, sir; we made another report from a CliP!)' 
of the secretary of state. 

Q. Did you sign that report T-A. I did, sir. 
Q. ton excludf0 tl'f;m that any of H:sults fn)H \) 

the b;)ntfy and, if which one 
(OI0jee,:;t,;q;) to by Ck'Mt, connEd upon the,: 

that It is inadmissible, for that or any other report made by the conDtrl 
canvassers other than the one made at the court-house of the coonty. 
pursuant to law, on the 13th of November, is illegal; secOnd, tbat If I 
the legal it be as it be,gt evid;,n[H'f I 

A. did; we H'S'CmIed the Hf l'Iilen'e Granih;:iHn, s;D,1 
Fonn: ,[Y mcademy, 

Q. "by did you exclude those boxes f-A. On account of fraot ;:Dd

l 
iutimidation. 
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Cross-examined by Mr. Croft, counsel for contestant: 
Q. When and where did you hold this second meetil1gf-A. At the 

State·hoos(' in Oolumbia, about the 16th of No\'ember. 
Q. Who told you to hold that meeting '-A. Spe-ncer and myself 

agreed to hold it. 
Q. Did you summons }fr. Cbas. Eumondston to meet with you '-A. 

No, sir. 
Q. Do you state that you declarell election from a copy of the returns 

you got from the secretary of state T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Who all did you notify tbatyou \vas going to ha\'e this meetingf­

A. Nathau R. Williams, clerk of the board. 
Q. Upon what evidence did yon thl'OW out those precincts'-A. Upon 

affidavits of managl'rs of election, and voters wbo attempted to vote at 
those precincts. 

Q. Were these affidavits made by Republican or Democrat managers t 
-A. By Republican managers. 

Q. 'Vere the affidavits made by the parties who attempted to vote 
made by Democrats or Ik>publicans!-A. Republicans. 

Q. Then yoo made your report ullon ex parte evidence f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you declare the whole Republican ticket in Aiken County 

elected f-A. I think we did. 
Q. By what mlljorityf-.A. I do not remember what mlljority. 
Q. Will you statA what ofticel's are installed in Aiken County; whether 

they are Democratic or Republican; on which ticket at the last elec­
tion !-A. Democrats, except the school commissioner, who claims to hold 
over on the groond that hili opponent did not qnali(v within the legal 
time. 

Q. Did you not receh'e a written su mmons from Chas. Ed mondston to 
meet the county board of canvassers on l\Ionday, the 13th day of No­
vember last '-A. I did not, until the canvassing of the votes were over. 

Q. "'hat time was it that you went into the clerk's office on the morn­
ing tbey were can\'assing the votes !-A. About sun-up. 

Q. How many miles do you resi(le fl'om Aiken !-A. Eight miles. 
Q. If you did not receive the snmmons, what brought you so early to 

the clerk's office where the board of canvassers met !-A. I was here 
at Aikeu on the Sunday night previous. 

Q. Why did you not stay to cauvass the yotes when you saw them 
canvassing them !-A. I had no notice of the meeting, and the chairman 
did not invite me to stay. 

Q. Do you kllow which repolt the ~tate board acted upon f-A. I do; 
Spen~er's and Edmondston':s. 

Q. What candidates were elected by Spencel'd and Ellmondston's re­
port !-A. The Democratic county was declared elected. 

Q. As to Congress, who was elected by that report in Aiken County' 
-A. I dOIl't 

The word" remember" ulluel'lined before signing. 
GEOIWE W.-\SHINGTOX. 

Sworn to before me this 23\1 day of March, 1877. 
[SEAL.] N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, South Cm'oUlIit. 
SAMUEL J. IJEE recalled. 

By Mr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Question • .Are YOll acquainted with Samuel B. Spencer, chairman 

county board of canvassers for the last general election T-Answer. I am. 
Q. Do you know his :signature f-A. I do. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



384 TILLMAN VB. SMALLS. 

Q. Please examine that paper marked "Exhibit B," and see if yoo 
recognize the signature.-A. I recognize the signature in Exhibit B to 
be genuine-I mean Samnel B. Spencer's signature tQ the afllda\"it. 

(The papers marked" Exhibit B" were presented as evidence by cooo· 
sci for contestee and objected to by Mr. Croft, counsel for contestant. 00 
the following grounds: That the papers are inadmissible; wu taketl 
without the opportnnity of cross·examination; second, said Samuel B. 
Spencer resides ill this county, and should haye been examined iu th~ 
court.) 

SAMUEL J. LEE. 

Sworn to before me this 7th day of )Iarch, 1877. 
ISEAL.]· N. R. WILLIA)IS, 

Notary Public, Soteth Caroliltlf. 

EXHIBll' A. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
OOltnty of Ric/tland : 

Personally appears Samuel B. Spencer, who, on oath, says that he was 
chairman ()f the board of commissioners of election in the recent ele\:' 
tion in Aiken Oounty, South Carolina. 

That 011 the 10th day of November, 1876, tbe board of commissioners (I( 
election met and organized as a board of connty canvassers, and elected 
Nathan R. Williams as secretary, and adjourned, after instructing said 
Williams, together with Charles Edmondston, to place the ballot-bolts, 
in a cell in the county jail, to be safely kept nntil otherwise onleJ'fd bYI 
the board; the saill adjournment to continue until Tuesday the lith day 
of November, A. D. 1876, at 10 a. m. On Sunday morning, the 12th dsy 
of November, A. D. 1876, a writ was ser\"ed upon tbe said deponeot by 
George W. Croft, county chairman of the Democratic party, which writ 
is hereto annexed, marked" Exhibit A." 

011 Sunday night, the 12th of NO\'ember, A .. D. 1876, I proceeded to 
Aiken, and on Monday morning, Xo\"ember 13, at six o'clock, the retum 
were can\"assed, tbe board being assisted by members of tbe Demo 
cratic party, as stated in tbe affi<la\"it of :Nathan R. ""illiams, the 9f'ere­
tary of the board, only two Republicans besides tbis deponent beiog 
present. Deponent further says that wben the Fountain AcadE'my 001 
was opened no returns were found in it. Mr. Edmondston thereupol1 
stated that thEl returns and poll·lists were iu tbe possession of W. F. 
Oarston. The returns for said box (Fountain Academy) were shortl 
afterward brougbt in. Tbat in the Windsor box the retnrns of til 
agers for the Presidential electors was not tilled up, except Il8 to 
names of the persons voted for, the number of l"otes not haTing 
put down in words or figures. Mr. George W. Oroft called the DUIliIK 
of votes for the electors from a supervisor's report. This de n ot 
since been informed by affida\'its and reports of the maoag 
shals, and super\'isors of tbe precincts of Granitevile, Miles' ~iII, 
Foulltain Academy that gross frauds were committed at said p ' 0 

on the day of election aforesaid; and had this deponent known f 
frauds at tbe time of cam"using the votes afore aid, he woulU ba\" 
jected to the counting of tbe votes contained in aid bo 

And deponent further says that he would now igu tb ac rol D. II 

supplemental report made by George WashingtoD, one of the ..... 
of' the board of commissioners of election, but for the rea 00 tha 1 r 
the frauds herein name<l were uronght to the official kno led 
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deponent he had signed a return with Charles Edmondston, one of the 
members of said board. 

S. B. SPENCER. 

Sworn to before me this 17th November, 1876, at Oolumbia, S. O. 
[SEAL.] H. H. D. BYRON, 

NotarIJ Public, South Carolina. 

EXHIBIT B. 

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
County oj Aiken: 

To S. B. Spencer and George Wasbington, commissioners of election of 
Aiken County: 

Take notice that at six o'clock in the forenoon of Monday, the 13th 
day of November, 1876, at the Gregg mansion in the town of Aikl'n, a 
meeting of tbe boartl of commisMioners of election for Aiken County 
will be held, to proCCl'tl to canvass tbe returns of managers of ell'ctioll 
in said county; that such returns, with all lIapers cOllnected with the 
e-Iection, sball be forwarded to the secretary of state by the 9.30 u. w. 
train on sa.id day. 

And fnrther take notice that should you fail to be present at snch 
meeting, I shall myself proceed to make out such returns, and to can­
\"888 the returns of said managers of election, and to forward the same 
as aforesaid to the secretary of state as aforesaid, protesting upon yonr 
absence as willful, and a premeditated fraud UpOIl the candidates wbo 
bave received an honest ma.jority in the late election. 

Dated this 11th day of November, 1876. 

No.7. 

CHAS. EDMONDSTON, 
Commissioner oj Election. 

Notice oj contesteejor taking testimony in Barn1l'ell County. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Barnwell Oounty: 

G. D. TILLMAN, OONTESTANT, '\ 
"'8. ~ 

ROBERT SlIALLS, CONTESTEE.) 

To Hon. G. D. TlLLllAN: 

Yon are hereby notified that I will examine the following-named wit­
nesses, all of whom r(>side in Barnwell, relative to and touching the 
matters and thingR set forth in my answer to Jour notice of contl'st of 
my right to a seat ill tbe Congress of the Uuited S13t(>8, to which yon 
claim to have been elected at the November election of 1876, for the 
firth Congressional district of the State of South Carolina, and in rl'ply 
to matters and things set forth in said notiCfl of contest, before ~. u.. 
Williams, esq.,. a notary public in and for saill State, in the town of 
Blackville. at the court-house, on the 26th, 27tb, 28th, and ~9th days of 
March, 1877, betweeu the hours of 8 a. m. and 10 I). m. of said da~'s, or 
80 much thereof as may be necessary for the examination of said wit­
nesses, and from day to day uutil completed, to wit: 

H. Mis. 11---25 
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William Bush, Daniel Mixon, Wallace Bailey, B. K. Matt, A. C. Cave, 
P. B. McKnight, J. T. Hogg, and Hayward Baill'Y. 

Service accepted March 22, 1877. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

nOBERT SMALLS, 
Per N. J. WHIPPER, Attorney. 

G. W. CROFT, 
Attorney for Oonte&t4nt. 

County of Barnwell: 

Contested election for seat in Forty·fifth Congress. 
G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
• V8. ( 
ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. , 

Personally appeared A. C. CAVE, who, being sworn, deposes and says: 

By Mr. 'Vhipper, counsel for contestee: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.­

Answer. A. C. Cave; 27 years; Barnwell County; farmer. 
Q. Where were you 011 the 7th of Novembel', the day of the latlt gen· 

eral election T-.A. In Allendale. 
Q. In what capacity were you there '-A. l\lanagerof the election. 
Q. From what hour until what hOllr were you engaged as managert­

A. Commenced at eight o'clock, and closed at seven in the evening, 1 
think. 

Q. At the time you had closed the polls, had all parties there had an 
opportunity to vote '-A. No, sir. 

Q. About how many were tbey that did not have an opportunity f­
A. I r('ckon tbl'Y was close to rise tbr('e bundred. 

Q. Was there during tbe day any man or set of men that prevented 
Republicans from votiug there, or tried to '-A. There was men there 
that bad books with names in them, and if they could not find the DalUes 
tbt'y would not let them vote. 

(~. About how many of these men were tbey that were stopping 
voters f-A. Tbree that had tbose books. 

Q. Did these men bold any o.fHcial relation there'-A. Nont-. 
Q. How dhl they prevent th('m from voting '-A. By not finding the 

names on those books. They said some cam&.out of Beanfort County; 
some voted after being sworn, and others were not allow('d to vote. 

Q. Wl're these men who compelled them to go ont officers of the elec· 
tion or private citizens !-A. No, @iri thl'Y were prh'ate citizens. 

Q. Wl're they white or black men f-A. White meD. 
Q. Were they RPI>nblicans or Democrats t 
(Objected to by T. R. Bellinger, counsel for contestant, on the ground 

that it is a matter of opinion with the witness and not a matter of fact.) 
A. They was white men. They didn't tell me; bnt that was the way 

they was working. 
Q. Had it not been for these interruptions, could yon not have voted 

all the men present that day'-A. A great part of them could have 
voted. 

Q. By saying a great part, w]:at do you mean; those that went away 
without voting '-A. Yes, sir; a great part wbo went away without 
"oting migbt have "\"oted but for the interruption. 

Q. Was there or not h large crowd of men aronnd the polls tbat day, 
, 
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and was not the military called opon to clear the p:>Us Y-A.. I did not 
see it. 

Q. By saying yoo .lid not see it, do yoo mean that there was not a. 
large crowd aroond the polls, or that the military was not called I1pon 
10 clear them away '-A. A large nomber was al'oond the polh~, bllt I 
{tid not see the military called opon. 

Q. Of whom was this crowd chiefiy composed; white or colored men ,-
A. White men. _ 

Q. State, if yoo know, whether these men were working for the Demo­
erats!-A. That's the way they was voting. They were votiug that 
ticket. 

Oross-examined by Mr. Bellinger, counsel for contestant: 
Q. How do yoo know that the parties preveoted from voting wl're 

RepUblicans '-A. Whites voted first, and that.'s they was votilig; alHl 
that at the time the Republicans was voting these men was stopped. 

Q. Did no Democrats vote after the Republicans began to vote T-A. 
When tbe colored men came in to vote, I coult! not tell how they voted; 
their tickets were foldetl up. 

Q. Did any white men vote after the Republicans began to vote ,­
A. Yes. 

Q. Were the men who were stopped from voting white or colored f­
A. Colored. 

Q. Is that the reason you say they were Republicans '-A. The Re­
polllicans were voting at that time. 

Q. Did or did not any colored men vote the Democratic ticket that. 
dayf-A. A part of the colored people voted with the whites ill the 
morning. 

Q. Why were those who were sworn prevented from voting '-A. All 
that were sworn voted • 
. Q. Did yoo allow any person to vote withoot swearing them T-A. I 

didn't swear them. 
Q. Did the mana~rs swear them '-A. I didn't swear them; what 

"a.~ sworn the 80pervisors swore. 
Q. Do you mean to say the supervisors swore everybody that carne 

op to vote, or only those that were objected to i-A. Only those that; 
were objected to, the supervisors swore. 

Q. Did the board of managers, upon objections being made, decide 
upon the question to allow the parties to vote '-A. When they said 
they couldn't vote, we could do nothing. 

Q. Wby didn't they let them vote Y-A. They said some were toO. 
young. 

Q. Who said so '-A. The supervisors. 
Q. What was the crowd around the polls doing, and how many do 

you call a large crowd '-A. I couldn't tell what they was doing, nor 
can't say how many there was. 

Q. Were they interfering with the voters Y-A. I can't ten what they 
were doing. . 

Q. Where was the United States deputy marshal '-A. I can't say 
where he was. 

Q. Was he around the polls at all '-Yes; he came there during the 
day several times. 

Q. How far were the United States soldiers stationed from the polls T­
.l.. The polls were on one side of the railroad, the soldiers on the oth(>r, 
!bout one hundred and fifty or seventy-five yards from the polls; they 
could be seen from the polls. 

Q. Did any approach the ballot-box f-A. I saw nODe but the captain. 
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Q. Did the managers call on the soldiers for assistance '-A. I dill 
not; don't know whether McKnight or Hogg, the other managers, called 
on them. 

Q. Did the managerM call upon the deputy United States marshal!­
A. Tbey told Hughes to fix a way so that all could vote; he dilln't, or 
couldn't. I don't know which. 

~. Wh~n you, as a mana~er, discovered that parties were beiDg pre· 
veil ted from voting, why did you not call on the marshal or military 
to see that their rights ,vere protel:ted T-A. They told Hughes to fix a 
way 80 that 1111 could vote; it was late in the evening when it was dout', 

Q. Dill Hnghes fix the way t-A. If he fixed it, it was two o'clock 
in the day. 

Q, Did Sou have any occasion to call for the military that day f-A, 
Tlwy told Hughes to fix a way so all could vote. 

Q. Bow many men went away without ,·oting'-A. Three hundred 
or upwards; all colored meo. I don't know their politics. 

Q. 1M it not. a fact that these mell were prev('nted frOID voting becaolle 
the Democrats got there first, and the tim~ expired before thetre IIIt'Ii 

cuuld vote f-A. When theNe nwn commencell voting a great part of 
both parties were there, and the whites voted first. and they did not girl! 
back nntil about two o'clock ill the afternoon; the whites voted uUlil 
that time liS neRr as I come to it. 

Q. Did any Repulllicans vote before two o'clock !-A. Yes; they was 
some. 

Redirect: 
Q. State, if you know, for what purpose the captain came.-A. When 

he came there he removed the whites from the door; that's what tbey 
ld me. 
(Objected to by Mr. Bellinger, counsel for contestant, on the folio"" 

ing grounds, that its hearsay evidence.) . 
The words "who first" interlined before signing. The word "did" 

erased before signing. The word" they" written iB lieu of" we" before 
signing. 

A. C.CAVE. 
Sworn to before me this 27th clay of March. 1877. 
[SEAL.] N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, SoutA Oa"olirttJ, 
STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 

(Jounty 0/ Barnwell : 
Contested election for seat in Forty·fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
'VB. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CON'l'ESTEE. 
Personally appeared before me THOMAS H. MOSES, who, being sworD, 

deposeN and sayM: 
By Mr. \Vbipper, counsel for contestee: 

Question. State Jour name, age, resillf>nce, and occupation.-Answer. 
Thumas II. Mose~; twenty·five years; Bnrnwell County; scbool·teach· 
ing and mecbnnic. 

Q. Where were you on the 7th of November, the day of the last gen· 
e.ral electioll !-A. Allendale. 

Q. In what, if any, official capacity were you there!-A. Sope"isor 
of election. 

Q. You will please make a general statement of what occurred there 

Digitized by Coogle 



TII.LMAN VS. SMALLS., 389 

that day.-A. From some cause unknown to myself the polls did not 
open until eight o'clock. I arrived there at six o'clock in the morning. 
Tbe members were not prt·sent. Mr. Cave and McKnight were not pres­
ent. They commenced polling the votes as soon ()a,-e and McKnight 
got there. There was no way around the door; it was completely 
crowded with Democrats. No olle voted but Democrats until two o'clock 
in tbe afternoon, wben they did commence to vote the Republicans. 
Some private citizen!!, white and colored, insisted that the Democ,rats 
should bring in every fourth- mlln. No one was sworn, unlf'ss he WIlS 

challenged, on either sitle. Had a great deal of trouble with a little 
book called" Qualified Negro Voters." I never saw the book before I 
rt'oohed the polls; did not know anyone had been taking census. 
?tIr. Mixon insisted that I IIhould take the book and finll the townlihip of 
every negro voter-Mr. :Mixon was the Demo(lratic SUllel'visor-the 
llaBle and township of every n('gro voter. I did take the book, as I 
thought it would save us a great deal of trouble; but, upon examining 
it, tbere were several names of pel'sons whom I knew were not th~rt'. 
!fine was not thel'e. Several were challenged whose names w('re not 
down. They were sworn aUlI allowed to vote, with two or three excep­
tions. After they were sworn they were not allowed to vote on the 
grounds that they were minors, and their fatbers were receiving their 
wagt's. 

After their votes was finaH,v objected to Mr. Mixon and myself decideel 
they should go and'bring sufficient witness. They went and returneel 
with witnesses. A young man came to tbe poll with an open vote in 
his band, Republican vote, and a Democratic citizen said he had gone 
back on his word, and he would want to live next year; he said he 
wouldn't vote at all; as he hael been sworn I insisted he should vote. 
A citizen stamling by handed him a Democratic ticket and he \'oted. 

At four o'clock in the afternoon we had voted two hundred H.epublican 
votes. The way to the polls was completely crowded by persons, a few 
of whom had voted. Told Mr. Mixon of this, and he laugbed and said 
nothing; went ont and looked for the marshal and did not find him, 
and I did not see him from 12 m. nntil at night after the polls were closed. 
Found him in a la w~'er's room crying in De\'ant's office. The polls closed 
at six o'clock, precisely. There was some two hundred and filly who had 
not voted, Republicans. The reason why they badn't was because sOllie 
persons who had voted had gone around and got in the doorway, and 
prevented them from coming through as fast as they might have. Did 
not see anyone making preparations for them to vote. Tbe crowd was 
80 thick that a man trying to get in would leave his coat-tail out almost. 

Q. Do you mean, tben, this crowd prevented the two hundred and fifty 
from voting I-A. Yes, pretty much so. 

Q, State, if you know, whether the military was called and by whom.­
A. Don't know, sir. 

Q. State, if you know, what were the politics of these men who gathered 
around and obstrncted the door.-A. Democrats. 

Q. Had the door not been obstructed conld all tbese men have voted ,­
A. A great part that did not vote could have voted. 

Q. How many men were they there with these books known as the 
list of "qualified negro voters T"-A. I saw several. Don't know the 
exact number. 

Q. State whether th('s~ men did not materially hinder and iml)ede the 
progress of voting that day T-A. They did, sir; as they did not have 
all the names of qualified voters. 

Q. About wbat was the average number of white Democrats around 
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the poll that day '-A. About fifteen or twenty in the room wbere tbe 
voting was going on. 

Q. About how Dlany white Democrats were outside '-A.. About two 
hOlldred and fifty. 

Oross·examined by Mr. Bellinger, counsel for contestant: 
Q. What was the number of Republicans outside I-A. About two 

hUlldrf'tj and sevent.y.five or three hundred. 
Q. When the parties objected to returned with witnesses, did tht'y 

prove satisfactorily that they were of age ''':'''A. Their fatbers said they 
were of age, or rather his father,. one only returned; he was sworn aod 
voted. 

Q. When you found the polls crowded why did you not apply to tbe 
military authorities to remove the crowd T-A. It was not in my power 
to do so-I could not find the marshal-except through the marshal aod 
I could not find bim. 

Q. Hid you~see any person present commit any overt act tendingto 
prevent any party from voting I-A. Only by standing there and keep· 
iug lip a con\-ersatiOIl and ballooing. • 

Q. Yon say the progrf'ss of the voting was imperlt>rl by these men, 38 
they did not have down the D:LmeS of aU the qualified voterS; what do 
you mean by this !-A. By the time tbf'Y took to find tbese name.'! WI' 
could have voted two or three men. Tht'ly never did find them; aod 
objections were tben raised, and thiS necessarily impeded the progress 
of tbe> wOl·k. 

Q. You say there was ftftet>n or twenty in the room; wby didn't yon 
have them put ont if they impeded the election T-A. [t was not iu my 
power. 'Vh)', the marshal could not be found. . 

Q. Wel'e there any Repu blicaus in tbe room '-A. Managers two, and 
supervisors one. 

Q. 'Vhat was the size of the room !-A.. Thirteen or fourteen feet by 
tell feet, or a little larger. 

Uedirect: 
Q. You have stated that there was about two huudred anti fifty Dem· 

ocratK and two hundred and seventy-five Republicans onbside; were the 
Republicans doiug anytbing to pre\'eut anybody from cowing in to 
yoteT-A. No; they were trying to get in themselves. 

By ·Mr. BeJliugt'r, counsel for contt'stant, by consent: 
Q. Could the RepUblicans got in if they wanted to I-A. No, sir; they 

baei considerable trouble to get in. 
Q. Are you a Republican or Democrat '-A. RepUblican. 
The word "tail" iuserted before signing. 

THOMAS H. MOSES. 

Sworn to before me this 27t1l day of March, 1877. ' 
lSEAL.] N. R. WILLIAMS, 

STATE OF SOUTD CAROLINA, 
County of Barnwell: 

Notary Public, &uth OarolilllJ. 

Oontested election for seat in Forty,fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTA.NT, ~' 
V.'I. 

ROm.;Rl' SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 
Personally appeared B. G. HUGHES, who, being sworn, depost's and 

says: 
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By llr. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Qnestion. State your namt', age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 

Beujamin G. Hngbell; 38 ~'ear:ol j Allendale; constable. . 
Q. Wbere were yon on the 7th of November, tbe day of tbe last gen· 

eral election f-A. Allendale. 
Q In wbat official capacity, if any, were you there f-A. United StaLes 

deputy marshal. 
Q. Were you appointed specially for that election f-A. I was. 
Q. From what hour until wbat hour were yon on dut,y there t-A. 

From five o'clock in tbe morning of the day of election until six or seven 
the next morning. 

Q. ~tate what, if any, difficulty YOIl had there in discharging your 
dnty T-A. About six o'clock on the moruing of the elt'ction I went to 
the polls. Tbere was abont one hundred and fifty or two hnndred whitell 
prt·sent; five or six colored persolU~ were tbt're. Tbe wbites were going 
on with a grt'at excitement. My attAution wag ca1led by Doctor O'Gil· 
,"ie. He said to me, .. I want yon to act for the whites as well as the 
colored." I answere(l him by sa~'ing tbat I was ueither there to act for 
the wbites or blacks, but would do my duty lUI au officer, whicb I would 
do. About eight or Dine o'clock Mr. Cave amI Mr, McKnight arrh'e,1 
with the boxes. 'fbe whites had made a box by that time. They said 
to me, "Hugbes, can't we go to votingf" I encouraged them to wait 
until .Mr. Cave and McKnight (:ol1le. 1 a~kt'(l Clu-e aud :\JcKuight wby 
was tht'y SO long. Tht'.y said, "Tht'y couldn't be there by the reason 
was the way to Allendale from where they stoppell was stopped by tbe 
whites." 

'Ve tben proC6t'ded to ballot. I was inside the room. 1 then came 
ont, and the crowd of wbites WitS still about two hundred around the 
door. A great many had tbeir pistols ill tbeir hands, cleclaring that no 
Republican would vote there that day. I called Dr. U'Gilvie's attention 
to that. He said, " Hugbes, I mean to do right. The white men nre 
done voting." Then it wa~ near eleven o'clock. He told me to "Go and 
get your men and bring them ~ the polls." In numbt'rs my men was fh"c 
or six hundred. I called them to me by wa\"ing It paper in my hand. 
Th6Y was about fifty yards off. Tbey then come to within 20 feet of 
the polls, where I met them. At that time O'Gilvie came to me and 
said, "Hugbes, stop your men there nntil r can go in and move the 
white voters." He insisted that I should go along with him. When he 
spoke to them he said, "Men, you are about doue '·oting. It is about 
eleven .or twelve o'clock. Lt't the colored people come in and vow." The 
an~wers were returned by voices in the crowd, "You go to hell. \Va 
will do 110 such damn thing:' 

I tlu'u called the attention of Captain McLaughlin to it. McLaugb. 
lin said to DIe, "You go and see some prominent white man among the 
voters," which I did. I went to Dr. O~Hilvie and Jonps \Villiams. Mr. 
""iIliams said he knew it was very wrong. Mr. O'Gilvie went with me 
back to Captain McLaughlin. He was requ(>sted by Captain McLaugh. 
lin to go back and move his men. The doetor went, alld no respect was 
shown him at that time. The excitement bl'gan to be greater. I then 
started out of the crowd. I saw Dr. O'Gilvie across the railroad to· 
warcl McLaughlin'S office, at the hotel. 1 was accompanied from the 
polls to the railroad hy twenty·fh"o or thirty whites, whooping amI hoI· 
lering. I then lookt'd back among them. It seems to me as if fh'e or 
teo pistols were pointed toward IDe. I sai(l to them, "Gentlemen, I am 
doiJlg only my duty." They answered back to me by some" agcaule" 
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white gelltlemens, "ThE'Y shan'.t hurt you. I will carry them back," 
which tht>y did at that time. 

I then went on to l\rcLanghlin's office, and there I found Dr. O'Gilvie 
in conversation with Mr. l\IcLaughlin. He quit his conversation with 
Dr. O'Gilvie, and came to me and asked me what I wantei1. I told bim 
there WllS five or six huni1red colored men out there that wanted to vote, 
and said they were" gaggrd" off by the whites. He said to O'Gih'ie 
and me that" You go back and try to get them to mO\'e away if tbey 
lire done voting. I hate to take my men there, for they might tbink I 
was trying to control the election." McLaughlin, Dr. O'Gilvie, and my· 
self went back to the polls. The whites then quit the door. McLaugb· 
lin said he thought it was all right; go ahead aga.in. They drew tbeir 
],istols as soon 8S :McLaughlin left. Tbe blacks backed out again, anel 
the whites obstructed the door. I then went for Captain McLaugblin 
again, and told him to make the !llen get out the wa.y who bad voted, 
and demanded him to do it in the llame of the Unitecl States, which be 
failed to do. About this time the co]oroo people were leaving to go 
bome. To the best of my judgment, some two or three hundred left 

. !lUll went home; tlaid they had not voted. 
When the polls were closed I was chased by seventy·five or a hnndretl 

white men. I goes into McLaughlin's office, and the captain Sill'S, .. Tou 
stny here, and you call sleep with my boy that waits on me." Being in 
there about all bour, O;Gilvie came in, accompanied with Laurence 
Youmans, anti asked McLaughlin to let me go back to the rooms wbere 
they was going to count the votes, sayjng he was going to protect Ult' 

if 1 staid; he said I might go to where thE\y were counting the votes, 
but he would not say go. I was then attacked by Lawyer O'BrYllnt, 
that him and his crowd did not care a damn for the United State!!, or 
an.Y of the marshals. Mr. Youmans stool1 between me aDd bim, and 
!laid if he want to fight to figbt him, and he would take care of me. 
The door was locked, anti tbe key was handed to me. We staid in and 
kept the rowdies outsidE'. 

Q. 'Vas it necessary, to count the votes, to stay there all night !-A. 
Yes. 

BENJ. G. HUGHES. 
Sworn to before me this 28th day ot March,1877. 
[SEAL.] N. R. WILLIAMS, 

Notary Public, South OaroUlla. 

No.8. 

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Oolleton : 

To G. D. TILLMAN, Esq.: 
You are hereby notified that I will examiDe the following witnesses. 

J. B. Gr('eJl, James "-bite, Titus Burns, J. K. Terry, James Campbell, 
Wm. l\Ioultrie, Prince Smalls, and Richard Campbell, all of whom resitle 
in Colleton County, relative and touching the many things set fortb in 
my answer to the charges made by you in )"our notice to me that yon 
would contest my right to a seat in the Congress of the United States, 
to wbich I waR el('cted at the election of Noyember, 1876, for the fiftb 
Congressional district of the State of South Carolina, before W. F. ~Iyers, 
notar,Y public for the State of South Carolina, at the IItore of Smith LeaQl, 
near White Hall Stlltion, on the 29th, 30th, and :nst days of March. ~~~d 
on the 1st, 2d, 3d, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, and 8th days of April, A. D. IS •• , 
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commencing at 8 o'clock a. m. of said days, and continuing until ad· 
journln6nt ou said days, or so much or so many thereof as may be neces· 
~ry for the examination of said witnesses; sa.id witnesses to be examined 
in addition to those of whom notice has beeu given. 

ROBT. SMALLS, 
PAr THOS. H. WHEELER. 

W ALTERBOROUG~, S. C., March 28, 1877. 
I accept service of the within notice this day. 

THE STATE OF SoUTH OAROLINA. 
O. O. TRACY, of Oounsel. 

Oounty of Beaufort: 
ToG. D. TILLMAN, Esq.: 

You are hereby notified that I will examine the following·named wit· 
DP8S(',s: Jack Snipe, Wm. Higgins, W. A. Paul, T. D. Richardson, A. C. 
Shaffer, A. P. Holmes, T. L. Martin, Cyrus Singleton, A. P. Ca.mpbell, 
Daniel Sanders, Robert Glover, S. Q. A. Galliard, W. B. Scott, B. Sim· 
moos, Robert Talbert, P. A. Ferguson, Joseph Samms, Tobey Grant, 
C. B. Brock, all of whom reside in Colleton County, relative to and 
touching the many things set forth in my answer to the charges made 
by yon in your notice to me that you would contest my right to a seat 
in tbe Congress of the United States to which I was elected at the No· 
tember election, in 1876, for the fifth Congressional district of the State 
ofSonth Oarolina, before Wm. F. Myers, notary public for South Caro· 
lina, at the store of Smith Leach, near White Hall Station, on the 29tlJ, 
3Otb, 31st days of :March, and on the 1st, 2d, 3d, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, and 
~tb days of April, 1877, commencing at 8 R. m. of said days, and contino 
uing until adjournment of said days, or of so many or so much thereof 
as may be necessary for the examination of said witnesses. 

ROBT. SMAIJLS, 
Per THOS. H. WHEELER. 

W ALTERBOROUGH, S. C., JJfarch 26, 1877. 
We accept service of the within notice this day at 12 m. 

THE STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA., 
County of OolZeton: 

To G. D. TILLMAN, Esq.: 

O. O. TRACY, 
°fOoun8eZ. 

J. J. FOX. 

Yon are hereby notified that I will examine the following witnesses: 
~. Rivers, J. W. G. Grant, Logan Williams, -- White, C. O. Rob· 
iDson, Toby Grant, Josepb Brown, Daniel lIill, and Smith Leach, all of 
whom reside ill Coneton Oounty, relative to and touchiog the many 
things set forth in my unswer to the charges madA by you in your notice 
to me that yon would contest my right to a seat in the Congress of the 
United States, to which I was elected at the election of November, 1876, 
for tbe fifth Oongressiomli district of the State of South Carolina, be· 
fore William F. Myer!l, notary public for the State of South Carolina, 
at the store of Smith Leach, near White IIall Station, on the 20th, 30th, 
and 31st days of March, and ou the 1st, 2<1, 3d, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, and 
Ilth da~'s of April, 1877, commencing at 8 o'clock a. m. of said days, and 
<'Ontinning until adjonrnment 00 said days, or of so much or so many 
thereof as may be necessary for the examination of said witnesses. 

ROBT. SMALLS, 
Per THOS. H. WHEELER. 
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'W AL'fERBOROU(m, S. C., March 28, 18ii. 
We accept service of the within notice this day at seven and a half 

o'clock. 

G. D. TILLMAN, OONTESTANT, ~ 'V,. ' 
ROBERT SMALLS, OONTESTEE. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oolletfnl Ootcnty: 

C.C. TRACY, 
Of Couuel. 

To A. Rivers J. W. G. Grant, Logan Williams, James White, C. C. Rob­
imlon, Toby Grant, Joseph Brown, Daniel Hill, and Smith Leach: 
By virtue of this writ of subpreua, to you directed and herewith 

shown unto you, you are personally required to be and appear before me 
at White Hall, (Smith Leach's store!) in Colleton Connt.v, on the 29[h. 
30th, and 31st days of l\Iarch, and the 1st, 2d, 3rt, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, aud 
8th days of April, A. D. 1877, to testif.v in behalf of the contestee, at S 
o'clock a. m., and from day to day until (lischarged. 

Hereof fail not on pain of the penalties of the law. 
Dated at Walterborough, the 26th day of March, A. D. 1877. 

G. D. TILLMAN, OONTESTANT, ~ 
"',. 

ROBERT SMALLS, OONTESTEE. 

Sl'ATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oolleton Oounty: 

W. F. MYERS. 
Notary Public, &netk Caroliu. 

To Jack Snipe, William HiggiUfJ, W. A. Paul, T. D. Richardtilon, A. C, 
Shafter, A. P. Holmes, T. L.l\Iartin, Cyrus Singleton, A .. P. Carnpbt>lI· 
Daniel Sanders, Robert Glm-er, S. Q. A. Gilliard, W. B. Scott, H. Sim' 
mons, Robert Talbert, P. A. Ferguson, Joseph Sams, Toby Grant, C· 
B. Brock: 
By \'irtue of this writ of subprena, to 'you directed and herewitll 

shown nnto you, )'on are personally requirE'd to be and appear before IDe 
at White Hall, (Smith Leach's store,) in Colleton County, on the ~Jtl:. 
30tb, and 31st days of March, and the ht" 2d, 3d. 4th, 5th, 6th, jtb. 
aud 8th days of April, 1877, to testity in behalf of the coutest4.'tl, at S 
o'clock a. m., aud from day to day until discharged. 

Hereof fail not on pain of the penaltit's of the law. 
Dated at Walterborougb, the 26th day.of March, A. D. 187i. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oolleton County: 

W. F. ~IYERS. 
Notary Public, South Caroliu. 

Now, on the 29th day of March, A. D. 1877, comes William F.lIyl'nt. 
notary public for the State of South Carolina. pursuant to a DoUet' 
of Robert Smalls. contestee, served upon O. D. Tillman, contestant. 
the saitl William F. l\Iyers, residing in the fifth Cougressional districl 
of the State of South Carolina, and examined the follo\\"in~'IU,u'lod _it 
nesses, and takE'S the following testimony ill the case of G. D. Tillmlll 
against Robert Smalls iu the matter of contest for a seat ill tbe UOOq 
of Representatives, Forty-fifth COli gress, from tbe fifth (;ollgrt's..-.ioolll 
district of tbe Sta.te of Sontb Carolina. Depositions taken at tbe sto~ 
of imith Leach, near White Hall Station, Savannah and Charleston Raul· 
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road, Colleton Connty, the day and year above written, in tbe above­
stated case, as follows: Parties present, C. O. Tracy, counsel for con­
testant, and T. H. Whe.eler, counsel for contestee. Contestant presents 
in evhlence his notice of time and place of taking testimony at this point, 
service of which said notice was accepted by O. O. Tracy, esq., counsel 
for contestant, and also J. J. Fox, of counsel, at Walterborougb, on the 
26th day of" March instant. 

And now comes C. C. Tracy, counsel for contestant, who attends the 
examination of witnessps on bebalf of contestee, and cross-examines the 
same, before William M. Myers, esq., as ministerial officer, nnder pro­
test, objeet,ing to the action of the said William ~'. Myers as sucb minis­
terial officer, he ha\'ing been of counsel for contestee in the case of G. 
D. Tillman against Robert Smalls, contested election for a seat in the 
)·orty·fiftb CongreSR of the United States for the fifth Congressional 
district of South Carolina, as by rt'ference to the testimony taken before 
B. Stokes, esq., judge of prooote for Ool1eton County, 011 bebalf of con­
testant, will more fully appear. 

W. A. PAUL. a witness ill behalf of contestee in the matter of con­
test for n, seat in the Forty·fifth COllgress of the United States from the 
fifth Congressional district of South Carolina, test.ifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn : 

Question. Wht're do you live, and what position do you hold!­
Alu~wer. I live at Walterborongb, Colleton County. 1 hold the position of 
county anditor. 

Q. Did you or not take an active part in the canvass at the last elec· 
tion f-A. I did. 

Q. Where were you at on the day of election '-A. At the BIue House 
poll. 

Q. Were there many there !-A. There were. 
Q. State whether or 1I0t t,he vott'rs assembled tht're were orderly or 

disorderly; and state whether there was any intimidation of colored or 
white Democratic votl"rs at that 1)011 '-A. They were orderly; as to in· 
thnidation, there was none to the best of my knowledge, hS I know ot'. 

Q. Bow long did you remain there !-A. From 5 a. m. to 12 that 
night. 

Q. Did you or not see anr colored men vote the Democratic ticket ,-
A. Yes; I dId. . 

Q. Were they molested or threatened by anyone !-A. Not to my 
kno~ledge. 

Q. If tbey had been at the poll would YOll or not have seen or heard 
it I-A. Yes; I ought to have seen it. I spoke to several Democratll, 
and thl'Y told me that they Wl"re desirous of voting the Democratic 
ticket, and they thought that they would have some trouble in doing so, 
anill told them that I was at the poll as deputy United States marshal 
for the purpose of arresting any party or parties I found interfering 
\fitb the \'oters of either pnl'ty, Democrats or Republicans. 

Q. Was thl"re or not any disposition, as far as yon could see, on the 
part of the Republicans at that poll to intimidate or molest ill allY way 
colored or white Democratic voters '-A. They were none, as I could 
set'. 

Q. Did any of the crowd there assembled bear arms, and, it' so, how 
many T-A. There were none, to my knowledge. 

Q. Were there any persons there with sticks; and, if so, what kind of 
sticks were they !-A. I did not see any with sticks. 

Q. Do you know Itlaac Fields '-.A. I do not. 
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Q. Were there any women there, and if so bow many!-A. There 
were abont a half-dozen women who came up to the polls between ele\"en 
and twt'lve o'clock. 

Q. Did they or not do anything '-A. They did not. 
Q. Did you remain there the entire day!-A. I did. 
Q. Was I here any disturbance of any character dUI·tng the day at that 

poll !-A. There were nOlle. 
Q. At what time did the soldiers come, and bow far from the polls 

were they quartered !-A. The soldiers arrived at tbe poll between 
elev('n and twelve o'clock, and tbey camped about two or three hundred 
yards from the poll. 

Q. Did tbey in any way iuterfere with or influence the voters at that 
precinctY-A. Tbey did nQt. I requested the lieutenant in charge to 
come up to the poll and assist me in· making a clearance at the window 
of the room that was occupied by the managers of election. My object 
for dlliug so waS that tbere was such a large crowd on the piazza. that it 
was impo&lible for one to deposit his vote. 

. Q. Did you succeed in clearing the window, and did all who desired 
to vote have an opportunity to vote I-A. Yes, I did; and everyone 
that were present voted their ticket. 

Q. Was the cause of the large crowd at the \vindow the desire of 
many persons eager to vote at that time, or was it to pre\-ent DelDocfabJ 
from voting' 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A. They were very anxious to deposit tbeir ~otes and not to pre\"eot 

Democrats from voting. 
Q. Are you acquainted with the politics of the people of this connty f­

A. lam. 
Q. Did or did not the Democratic party poll their full strength at this 

precinct-the Blue House precinct, I mean !-A. They did, to the best 
of my knowledge. 

Q. Do you not know many Dlon who never intended to vote the Demo­
cratic ticket who promised the Democrats to vote with them for the sake 
of obtaining work or favors I-A. I do DOt know of anyone, but I hare 
heard of a great III any . 

Q. Was there or not any advice given to voters before the election by 
Repnblican leaders intending to create a strike among the laborers or to 
('ontinne the same, or to molest, intimidate, or in any way interfere with 
Democratic voters of the county !-A. None that I know of. 

Q. Were you present at any of the meetings at which General Smalls 
spoke; and, if so, where were they !-A. I was present at a meeting in 
Walterborough when he spoke. 

Q. Did he or not there advoeate peaoo, amI advise the colored Repnb­
licans to maintain order on the day of election I-A. He did. 

Q. Was or was not that the advice giv('In to colored RepulJlicans dar­
ing the whole campaign by the Republican leaders !-A. All that I 
know of. 

Q. Do yon or not know of any intimidation practiced by t'.olored Re­
pnblimms directeu against colored Democrats !-A. I do not. 

Q. Was the last campaign a peaceful or a disorderly one I-A. I 
thought a peaceful one; I mean in Culleton (Jounty. 

Q. Was or was not the feeling exhibited in this county confined mogtly 
to the struggle between the two factions of tbe Republican party known 
as the Terry and the Driftle factions f-A. Yes; nndoubtedly so. _ 

Q. Did not many colored men vote the Republicl," ticket with Damel 
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H. Chamberlain scratched, and was 1I0t that the advice of the leading 
Democrats in this county' 

(Objected to as leading, indicating the answer sought.) 
A. They did, and it was the advice of the white Democrats. 
Q. Was or was not in this county a strong feeling expressed against 

wllat is known as the Edgefield policy, and against men from Edgeftehl, 
by leading Democrats f-A. Yes. 

Q. From your knowledge of the politics of this county. did or did not 
the Democratic party poll their foIl strength at the last election '-A. I 
think they did. 

Q. Do you or not kllow the caltse or causes of the strikes in this 
county' And, if so, state it or them.-A. I do. The cause is that the 
llhmters did reduce the wages of t,he laborers in this portion of the 
county, and they struck for higher wages. 

Q. Do you or not know anything of what is called the check.system, 
aDiI walS or was it not the cause of great complaint among the laborers. 
Rntl was or WIlS it not one of the causes of the striket-A. I do, and I 
tlSW several checks that was payable in 1878, which caused a great deal 
of dilSsatisfaction among the laborers in the Oomuahee strike. I belie'-e 
it waR one of the causes of the strike. 

Q. Did any voters lea\'e the Blue Honse poll without voting on ac­
count of nny threats, violence, or intimidation of any character, or were 
l)re\'entetl from rt'achiug the window on account of the crowd you spoke 
of i-A. I did not seo nor did I hear of any. 

Q. Was there not or was ther~ any intimidation that you kuo\v of ' 
pract1ced by Republicans against Democrats before the electiou '-A. I 
know of none. 

Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy for contestant: 
Q. In what part of the county do you live !-A. In Walterborougb, 

the connt~-·seat. 
Q. Ha\'e yon much acquaintance with the Blue House or Combahee 

precinct, a.t which YOlt were on the day of election '-A. I cannot say to 
a great extent that I htwe. 

Q. You said that the crowd at that precinct on the day of Ihe p.lection 
was a large and orderly ont'. Will JOu please state on which side the 
nnmbers prepOlulp.rated T-A. Of course, the Republicans. 

Q. Of what did that crowd chiefly consist; that is, of what class of 
pe.ople as to intelligence t-A. Well, it is hard for me to say; about as 
intp\1igp-nt as the people gt'nerally be in this section of the county. 

Q. ·What is the character of the people of this section as to intelli· 
gen(~'~A. Very good for nn uneducated pp,ople. 
~_ They are tht-n unellucated and ignorant f-A. I will say that they 

are uneducated, but cannot say that they all are ignorant. 
Q. Why cannot you speak as well to the one as to the other I-A. Be· 

CRUMe 1 find that we meet with men e\'ery day of our lives that are mell 
with sound judgments; thert'fore I cannot say a man is entirely ignorant 
that is dE'pri "ed of an t'd uca tion. 

Q. Is it not the general habit of uneducated crowds to be disorderly, 
and more especially the habit of what is known as the Combahee 
crowd f-A. Not genernlly. I have never heard of them being rougb, 
only among their own party. 

Q. What is the gt'nerlll feeling in the Republican ranks toward the 
Democrats t-A. In my opillion the feeling is very good, and I think 
bt'tter than that of the Dl:'lIlocrats toward Republicans. 
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Q. What is the fe~1ing among the Combahee crowd as to Demo­
crats '-A. I am unable to answer. 

Q. Why f-A. Becanse I have hear(t of the whit(>s treating the blacks 
ronghly, and I have not heard of the blacks intrnding upon the fl'eling 
of the white people; not knowing that that is so, I am unable to say 
,,,hether they are on good terms with tbe white people. 

Q. You have never heard, then, of a large pltrty of blltckRsurronnding 
a sma)) body of whites, cnrsiug them, and refusing to allow them to 
leave the store in which thAy were snrrounded I-A. Yes, I heanl of it. 

Q. How did it happen, then, that you never heard of the blacks in· 
truding npon the white people 1-A. I do not call that intrnding. hecause 
they were simply defending themselves from a band of armed white mlln 
that wellt down there for the purpose of arr.-.sting 8S lUan.r, perha)ls. all 
they conld get hold of, for no other cause than that of strikillg for hil;her 
wages. ' 

Q. I~ that your idt'a of defemliug themselws. hy resisting arrest on 
a wllrmnt regularly issnecl, and by ilDprisonilUc, threatening, and corll· 
iug a pOl4se I-A. WaR the WHrrllnt I't'gularly issllel11 AIIII for wholll 
WIIS it issued; waf'! it for a palticnlar wall, or for the Illrikerl! in general, 
011 the Oom bn ht'e , 

Q. How is BIlle Honse poll situated T-A. It is !'itnated on the 0111 
Charleston and Sa"allnah Hoad, about three miles frolll Wbittl Hall Sta· 
tion. 'fhe bouse fal~e8 the north, b.-iug bounded on the east by a road 
leading f!'Om the Charleston Rnd Sltvannab Stllte road to Whitt' B"II 
Station; south, by an old field; and we..'1t by the !'arne field, setting 00 

. the left·band side of the Sa~lInnah and Oharleston old State road~ 
Q. Now, where were the soldiel's cnrn)led T-A. Tbt'y cRm»"11 llboot 

two or thrl'e hllndrl'll ynrus from the Blue House poll, on the old Stat., 
road going toward Jacksonborough. 

Q. 'Ibey then passed by the poll in going from Walterborongh '-A. 
They dill. 

Q. Why did you call on the officer commanding '-A. Becanse wltI'n 
he arrived be sent for me and said that he WlIS there for the Imrpolll' of 
keeping the Ilt'Rce if his servict's were needell, and if I stood in n~ of 
him during the day I must call upon hillllmd he would lIssist Ole in auy 
disturbance that might bave taken place at the poll. 

Q. Yon called on him, did you not I-A. I did. 
Q. If tbe crowd was as orderl.v as you represent it to be, why could 

.you not open a llllRsage for the voters t.o g~t to the window v,'ithout tile 
assistance of the military I-A. Because the crow.\ was large, aDd wll .. n 
I wonld get one portion of them ofl' the piazza, before I ..:ould get to tbe 
other end to keep them off they would rnHh into the piazza agllin, aucl 
after I found that I could not get them off with the assistance of my 
assistant dt'pnty United 8tates lDarshal, I thought it best to call 01'00 
the officer in charge, who came up at once and advised the voters to 
fall back and allow five at a time to go up to the window 80 that th~y 
would ha~e sufficieut room to be sworn and deposit their vOtl'8; be dId 
nothing more; simply came up and advised them to fali back and gh'e 
tbose who were in the front a chance to vote without crowding them. 

Q. Did this crowd in the piazza consist mostly of Republicans or 
Democrats '-A. Cannot say as to whether in tbat particDlar crowd 
tbey were more Democrats than Republicaos or more Republicaos thaD 
they were Democrats. 

(~. What was tbe ratio of Rt-}lublicans to Democrats-that is, what 
was their rl'lative strength !-A. Thl'Y were se~en bnndrro aud sowe 
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odd \"'otes cast for tbe Republicans, and two hundr~(l and some odd cast 
fOl' the Democratic party. 

Q. What do you estimate the crowd in the l)iazza at t-A. Between 
lIe,"en ty· fi ve and' one huntlretl. 

Q. What do you elltimate tbe number of white men 011 the ground 
at f-A. Not over a hundred at a time. 

Q. Were the larger portion of the Democrats white or black '-A. I 
cannot say 8S to the number. 

Q. What do you estimate tbe total number of wbite men wbo voted 
on t,hat day at tbat poll T-A. 1 cannot say. 

Q. Did .'·ou c\"'er go and look at the poll-list '-A. I did not. 
Q. Did you see the votes counted I-A. I did. 
Q. What position were you jn wben the votes were counted '-A. I 

W8S in the room wbere the \"'otes were being counted. 
Q. Near tbem or far from tb('m i-A. I was near them. 
Q. How are tbe poll-lists usually kept; are they not so kept under the 

JJeadiugs of white and colored t-A. tJaunot say, u.s I have never looked 
over lhe poll-list to see its form. 

Q. Werll't JOu a pretty acUl"e politician anclcanvasser in tbe last 
campaign T-A. Yes; 1. spoke in tbe interest of the Republican party 
wherever I went. . 

Q. Don't you understand the modus operandi of elections '-A. I 
cannot say I understand it well, as I bave hall very little to do with it. 

Q. You never considered it worth your while to stud;y it during your 
cal'eer 8S n politician and canvasser Y-A. Yes; I considered it worth 
studying, and expect to a(!quaint myself with politics more than I have 
in the 118tlt, at a future day. 

Q. Do not most of the Combahee men among whom the strikes pre­
\"'ailed vote at Blue House precinct f-A. Yes; I think sO. 

Q. ,Vhieh faction got the largest ,-ote at Blue House precinct; [ 
mean which fAction of the Rt"}lUblican party, the Terry or Driffie fac­
tion f-A. The Terry iaction got the largest nnmber of votes at the 
Blue Honse poll. . 

Q. Do you rpmemher their relative strength T-A. As near as I can 
recollect, the Terry faction got six hundred and some odd votes and the 
Driffie faction got seventy two or three votes. 

Q. Which faction did you belong to f-A. To the Driffie faction. 
Q. Were you in the seerets of the other faction f-A. I was not. 
Q. You asserted just now that the strikes were caused by an attempt. 

of the planters to reduce wages; did tht"y hal"e no politicalsigniticancet 
-A. I 8m unable to anS\fer. 

Q. You heard Robert Smalls make a speech in Walterborough coun­
seling peace and advocating good;fellowship between the parties; were 
they any white men or Democrats to overhear him f-A. Yell; they 
were Democrats on the gronnd. 

Q. You never heard him make a speech entirely to Republicaus with 
no Democrats near Y-A. No; I have ne\"'el'. 

Q. Yon say that you know of or have Iheard of no intimidation or vio­
It>nce or threats used or practiced to colored Democrats by Republicans. 
Did you never hear of Tony Koger having been whipped by a band of 
men nuder pretense of a strike T-A. I have heard of Tony Koger being 
whipped in a strike, but do not know the canse of his being whipped. 

Q. Tony Koger is a Democrat, is he not f-A. I do not know. 
Q. What do you estimate, claiming as you do that you know l"ery 

well the politics of the county, the total number of cplored Democrats 
at f-A. I cannot say as to the exact number. . 
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Q. Who are the two most prominent leaders of the Terry faction t­
A. They seem to be several; it is hard for me to say which are the 
most prominent. 

Q. What are the three names by which the faction goes t-A. I ha\"e 
heard the name of Terry, Shaffer, and Holmes. 

Q. What prominent Democrats stigmatized Edgefield men, and at 
what place and time did they do so T-A. I have heard several Demo­
crats condemning the action of the Edgefield rioters. 

Q. That is what the Republicans pretend to call tbe Edgefield poli~y 
and not mell; I wish to know concerning the men.-A. I do not know 
about the men. 

WM. A. PAUL. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 29th day of March. A. D.1877. 
[L. s.] W. F. MYEKS, 

N oiary Public for 80",t1& Carolina. 

O. B; BROOK, a witneRS in behalf of contestee in the maW'r of cont~t 
for a seat in the Forty· fifth Oongress of tbe United States from the flfth 
Oongressional district of South Oarolina, testifies as follows, after being 
duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you live t-Answer. Wal(;(>rborongh, S. C. 
Q. What ticket did you vote t-A. Tbe Republican ticket. 
Q. Were you in any way active during the last canvassf-A. Yes, 

sir. 
Q. Was there or was there not in this county a peaoofnl election !­

A. 'ro the best of my knowledge, tbAre was. 
Q. Are you acquainted with the politics of this conntyt-A. Yt's, sir. 
Q. From your knowledge, did the Democratic party receive their filII 

vote, especially in the lowt'r country; I mean the lower portion of this, 
Oolleton Oounty'-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did they ever receh'e a larger vote t-A. No, sir. 
Q. I asked a mOIllt'llt ago if the Democrats receivt'd tht'ir foil vote; 

<lid you understand me to meall that they had received all the "otes or 
dill you mean that they had polled or should have polled a largt!r votet 
-A. I mean they should have polled a larger vote. 

Q. Why should t.ht!Y have polled a larger vote !-A. They shooltl 
have dOlle it to get the majority of the voi.es in this county. 

• Q. I soo that yon do not understand me. What I waut to know is 
whether any Democrats were pJevent"d from voting by Rt!public"ul! 1 
(Objec~d to as indicating the answer sought.) 
A. Not to my knowledge they wan't. 
Q. Did the Democratic party have more votes at this election than 

tht'y did at the last' 
(Objected to as leading.) 
A. I helieve they did. 
Q. Was there or WIIS there not any intimidation or thft'ats by Repnb· 

Heans against Democrats 7-A. Not to my knowledge. 
Q. Did or did not the Democrats obtain all the ,'otes they conld pos· 

tlibly get at the last ('lection f-A. They did. . 
(~. Did or did not Ulany who net'er intended to vote the Dl'mocratic 

ticket promh~e to vote ",{th the Democrats for the purpose of obtaioing 
elllplo~'ment or fayors !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did not prominent Dt!mocrats ad"ise the colored pt'ople to vote 
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tbeRepnbJican ticket with the exception of Ohamberlain, and did not 
many vote. that way' 

(Objected to us leading.) 
A. Yell, sir; they did, in my presence. 
Q. Dill not most of the colored men who were called Democrats vote 

that way! 
(Objected to as leading.) 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do yon kno,v anything concerning the strikes in the lower section 

of the county f alld. if so, state the cause or causes of the s8m .... -A. I 
do: the causes of the sLI'ike was a reduction of wages. . 

Q. Did the prominent Republi.can IE'aders and the UE'publican officials 
orlhe connty att ... mpL to SUI)press it and prevent violence f-A. Yes, sir; 
I can Dame them if lIecessary. 

Q. Please llame them.-A. First, L. Shuman, W. F. Myers, T. D. 
Richardson, Hobert Smalls, addressell them, and advised them against it. 

Q. Did or did not Mr. Shaft'ar also, as deputy sheriff, assist in its sup· 
preasi'lD I-A. He did, by warrants issiled by me. 

Q. Did he execute your warrants 'I-A. He ditl not. 
Q. Did you know why f-A. Because tbe resistance was too great at 

that time. He did on one occasion execute one, and the party was 
brought to justice. Tbe case was ditlposed of according to law. 

Q. Did you ever bear Captain Shatl"er acivising the strikers to cease 
committing acts of violence, and using his inOuence to suppress tit" 
rio~! . 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A.I have. 
Q. At wbat place or places '-A. I have heard him advising them at 

Wlilterborougb. 
Q. Did the strikers hl\t"e anything to do with politics; was it only 

a que.8t~on of low wages and checks !-A. It was a question of low wages 
aDd checks, to tbe best of my belief. 

Q. Did tbe Repnblican leaders, throughout the canvass, advocate 
peace! 

(Objected to fiS leading.) 
A. They did, for I was present on several occasions when they were 

addressed in that respect by the Uepnblican lea(lers. • 
Q. Was there any colored Democrats that you know of prevented from 

going to tbe polls or threatened on acco4nt of their opinion '-A. Not 
to my knowledge. The.v couht not be rt'jected by the Republicans, be· 
:ause tbey were too well guarded by the white Democrats. 

Cross-examined by O. O. Tracy, counsel for contestant: 
Q. You say that the Democrats got a larger vote at the last eJection 

;ban ever before. Are you a native of this county!-A. I am; but I 
ras not born in the county, neither the State. 

Q. How long have you been in this county !-A. Abont ten years. 
Q. What part of the county have you mostly lived in '-A. At the 

I)unty·seat, WIlJterborough • 
. Q. Have you et"cr livell in tjle lower section, in the rice.planting por· 
100; and, if so, bow long '-A. I have never lived in the rice·planting 
~tion. 
Q. Are you well acquainted with that section f-A. Not as a whole, 

lut a certain portion of it. 
H. Mis. 11--26 
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Q. Which portion t-A. Round and about White Hall section and 
..Ashepoo. 

Q. In what way have you acq uirell your knowledge of that section t­
A. By working and canvassing during the campaign. 

Q. You said that the Democrats hUll polled their full ,"ote in the Jo\nr 
Election of the county. If you lire cnly acqullillted with a cl~rtaiD part of 
that section, how do you come to make sllch a broad statement as to the 
wholef-A. First, I belie,"c the.v have obtained all the ,"otes they coold 
pOElsibl~' get. The majority of that portion of the cOl1nty are Repnhlican~. 

Q. It is only a matter of belief, theil, and you know no facts 011 which 
to predicate your beliefY-A.. Not particularly. 

Q. You said that you heard Mr. Shaffer ad"ise the rioterR to desist. 
Did you ever hear him when on Com bahee ad"iRe them to tlo so f-A. 
I did not at Comballee, but I have heard him ad\'ise numbers of them 
at. Walterborough. 

Q. In whose presence f-A. In my presence, Merrick Sykes, and nom· 
bers of others. 

Q. 'Vere Rny white men ever.present '-A. Not to my knowledge, at 
that time. 'Vhat drew my aUelltion to his acll ict', he was present in 
my office the time I was trying olle of the rioters. 

Q. You lwlong to the Driffie faction, do yon not f-A. Yell, sir. 
Q. Captain ShalJ'er belongs to the Terry faction, does he not f-A. 

Yes, ",ir. 
Q. 'Were not the two factions "ery much opposed to each otherf-A. 

They were politically. 
(~. Did you know the secrets of the other faction t-A. I did not 

know all, bl1t I knew a great deal. 1 was not extreme agRinst that fac· 
tion politically. 

Q. Were you not a commissioner of election in last No\'ember!-.\. 
I was. 

Q. Did you not then bold the office of trial justice unller an apl)oint­
me1lt of D. H. Chamberlain, tllen governor, and a candidate tor rc·elec· 
tion on the Republican ticket 1 

(Objeded to as irrelevant and having not the Rlightest reference to 
anything brought out on the direct examination.) 

A. I did. 
Q. Did yon receive all the returns, poll·lists, and hallot·boxes, or did 

they come into your possession as such co III missioner , I mean the poll· 
lists, ballot-boxes, and returnlt from all the precincts in this county at 
which the boxes were opened.' 

(Objected to as irrelevant and 1Iot baving the slightest reference to 
any matter or any inference from any matt~r brought out in tbe direct 
examination.) 

A. They came in our possession as a body. 
Q. 'Vas Rantoul's Precinct box among them !-A. I think it VL.'" 

All the boxes except Bennett's Point box, I think. 
Q. Were the ballots in the !tantonl box counted and a return made 

up and signed by tbe managers of that preciuct when it vas first pre­
sented to you !-A. It was not. 

Q. What day was it first presented to you; I mean how many day8 
after t he election was held' . 

(Objected to by coum:el on the gronnds stated in the abo,-e objection.) 
A. 1 do not remembl'r. 
Q. It was certainly one dllY aftt'r, was it not !-A. I am sure of tbat; 

one or more. 
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Q. Were those ballots subsequently counted by the managprs. by order 
of the connty board of election commissloner8, amI included in the gen· 
pral returns of votes for the county'-A. 1 think they were, but am 
not certain. 

Q, Do yon remember wbetller they wer('l nnanimously ordered to be 
eonnted by the board,or, if anyone opposed it, who was be T-A. They 
were ordered by tbo bmnd to be counteti, and 1 do not remember any 
one opposing it. 

(Examined in reply, after objecting to all the questions asked by 
(!ounsel for contestant, the said objections baying been wade at the time 
lit' asking the questiolls described as follows: those questions relating 
to the acts of the county board of election commissioners, by T. H. 
Wheeler.) . 

Q. 'Yhat was the political complexion of the board of county cun· 
vassers '-A. They were two RepUblicans and one Democrat. 

C. B. BROCK. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 29th <lay of :March, A, D 
1877. 

lL.8,l W. F. MYERS, 
Notary Publio for South Carolina. 

At 5.30 p. m. the commission adjourned to meet at 8 o'clock a. m. the 
30th day of March. 

Pursuant to adjournment, the commission met llt 8 o'clock a. m. Pres· 
Ptlt, O. C. Tracy, coulH~el for contestant, and T. H., Wheeler, counsel for 
contestee. 

SMITH LEA(lH, a witness in behalf of contestee. in the matter of con· 
t.-st for a seat in the Forty-fifth Oongress of the United States from the 
fifth Oongressional district of South Carolina, testifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn: 

Question. What is your present occupation '-Answer. Storekeeping. 
(~. Is or is not YOllr store situatecl ill what is called the lower section 

of Culleton COllnty, or what is kuown as the rice section f-A. Yes; it 
is situated near White Hall. 

Q. Whel'e were YOll on the day of the election, or rather at what poll 
clid you vote f-A. I voted at Blue House poll; was there a pal't of til", 
clay; balance, I was Ilt 1IIy store, 

Q. Was there a crowd collected at that poll; and, if so, was it orderly 
or disorderly f-A.. There were a huge number of voters there aud very 
orderly. 

Q. Did YOIl see or hear of any (listurbance or intimidation, or threats 
by Republicans against Democrats T-A. I did not. 

Q. Did any Democrats-colored Democrats I mean-vote at that poll f 
And, if so, state whether or not the~' wel'e disturbed.-A. I was not a 
mauagpr anti cOllld not tell, as the tickets wel'e folded, except by their 
own statement, that they vote(l th~ Democratic ticket; they were not 
disturbed. At elections there is always an excitement by persons de· 
siring to get otl' as many tickets as thElY can for the party tiley repre· 
sent. 

(~. Was that confined to tbe Uepllhlicans or was it true of both Dem· 
ocrats and RepUblicans Y-A. Both Democrats and Republicans. 

Q. Are you acquainted with the politics of the people of this ~ection f 
-A. 1 am acquainted witb the politics of a great part of this (Blue 
House) precinct. 
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Q. Did or did not the Democratic party receh-e their lull vote at the 
last election Y-A. To the best of my knowledge, they did. 

Q. Did you or not see any armed men at the Blue Bouse precinct on 
the day of election; and, if so, how Dlany and who were they T-.\. I 
saw United States troop~ thert'-a squad; I do not know how many. 

Q. Were the colored people there a~eUlbled armt>d either with c1nb.'1, 
swords,or gnns T-A. I ~w no swords or guns; I saw some with walking. 

• sticks. 
Q. Is or is it not usual for the people to carry, on all occasions, walk· 

ing-sticks T-A. It i~ very seldom you see a footman witbout ont>. 
Q. Was t.he election at Blue Hootle precinct a quiet one I-A. So far 

8S 1 saw it was a very quiet one. 
Q. Living in this section, do you know the cause or causes of the riet'­

strikes !-A. 'rhe cause of tbe strike was on account of the redllc~ion of 
wllges; tbe planters for the last four or five yelus paid 00 cents to the 
lnborers and then reunced it to 40 cents. 

Q. Dill ur did not the Republican leauers 800(1 officials in this coonty, 
together witb General Smalls, al\vise and attempt to stop the violence 
theu being committt'd by the strikers T-A. I can only answt>r for ,"hat 
came under my observation. Captain Shaffer, Mr. Terry, and Ro~rt 
Swails, I heard them on diflerent occasions advise the people not to 
meddle with or interfere with anybody that was at work; if they chOO8ell 
to work for ten cents a day let them do it. 

Q. Did or did not the strikers have anything tQ do with politics f-A. 
Not when they commenced; it was on account of a reduction of wages, 
and checks given by the planter, and would not cash them. 

Q. What was the character of'those checks I-A. They were payable 
two years after they were issued, or sooner, at their pleasure; that ill in 
regard to Mr. Bis~ell's cbecks; other planters cashed every SatoldllY 
uigbt. 

Q. Who is the largest rice'planter in this section '-A. Mr. Bissell. 
Q. Can you tell about how lUany hands he employs, and how mltuy 

places he controls or are in his name I-A. I could not tell tbe nomber 
of hands; it is a large number; last year he planted from 8e,'en to ten 
places. 

Q. Diu the presence of the Uniteu States troops stationoo near the 
poll or tht news of their coming have any influence upon the vott>r8 or 
cause them to vote contrary to their opinion, either the Dt>mocratic or 
Uepublican ticket '-A. I do not think it did, for the reason that it was 
"ery quiet before the troops came, and also afterward. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced against colored Dem­
ocrats by Republicans before or on tbe day of the election Y-A. I tuoW' 
of none. 

Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy, counsel for contestant: 
Q. Of what 1)lace are you a native '-A. I was born in Vermont. 
Q. How long ha"e you li\'ed in tbis State and county I-A. O\"er teD 

yenrs. 
Q. Have you Ji\'ed all that time in this section of the couuty'-A. I 

bave not. 
Q. How much of that time '-A. Five years. 
Q. How much of the day were you at Blue House })GO during tbe 

election in last NO"ember f:-A. About six hours, I think. 
Q. What time did you go there and what time did you leave f-A. I 

got. there about suurit!e and I staid about two hours and a half or three 
hours, then came home; and about tweh'e or one o'clock, bearing ,bat 
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Unite(l States soldiers bad come there, I went up to Blue House aud 
staid about three or three and a half hoors. 

Q. Then there was time while yon were absent from the poll for the 
crowd to become disorderly 1-A. They only had two or three hoors to 
do it in without lDy seeing them. 

Q. A dozen men could have been killed in two or three hours, conlel 
tbey not f-A. I have seen a hundred men killed iu less than a minute 
and a balf, but not at elections. 

Q. What precincts are in tbe rice·fleld section '-A. Blue House and 
Asbepoo. I do not know whether you call Jacksonborough in the rice· 
region or not. . 

Q. Was there not a precinct at Stork's Caoseway formerly, in which 
the voting-place was snbsequently remol"'ed to Belllwtt's Point, which is 
Illso ill the rice region '-A. I understaud that the box at Stork's Canse­
IfOy was tbere for only one year-that is two years ago-but was not 
tb~re ill November last. Where it was remol"'ed to I don't know. 

Q. Still there is such a precinct in the rice-rElgion, is it not '-A. I do 
not know. 

Q. now far is Stork's Causeway from where you lil"'e '-A. J ne\'er was 
tbere. I sbould judge about ten miles. 

Q. SO yon live in tbe neigbborhood of such a precinct, and yet don't 
know anytbing about it !-A. Yes. 

Q. Did all the men who voted at Blue House come from that part of 
the precinct, whose politics you arEl acquainted witb '-A. The inhab­
itants, 8S I stated before, voted at Blue Honse. 

Q. What men-colored men I mean-told YOIl that they bad vot('cl 
tbe Democratic ticket at Blne House. and at what time and place did 
tbey so tell you I-A. 8hel1 White, John Mustifer, William Singleton, 
Cornwel1 Cross, several others that I do not know t.heir na.mes; time I 
could not tell when White told me-I think it was the night of the elec­
tion or the next morning; the place was at my store. 

Q. B~ "ery careful In your statement as to White and Singleton, as I 
expect to contradict you as to that .matter.-A. Very well. 

Q. What were your opportunities of understanding the strikes in the 
Blue HOllse section f-A. Ooe was that the sheriff rft>rry) aod Shafft>r 
IItaid here with me three or four night~, and a quantity of pt>ople came 
f'lr advice and information from Shaffer and Terry, also statillJ: their 
trouble and giving their reasons for striking; also a great number ,vere 
lJt'9plp, that traded with me and made their complaints to Dlf>. 

Q. Do Shafter and Terry have any influence with the mt>n in this Blne 
Honse section I-A. I consider that every man has more or less influence. 
lIud suppose they may have some influence in this section on acconnt of 
one reason io particular: Captain Shaffer being connty treasurer and 
aC~Qainted with the people, and is well liked by the colored people, 
tberefore must have some influence. Ike Terry being sberiff, they come 
to him for advice in various matters, therefore he most have SODle illflu­
ence, in my opinion. 

Q. Wbat class of people, as to intelligt>nce and e(lucation, comprise a 
greater part of the voting-population of the Blue House section f-A. I 
IIRve De\-er examiJ.led any of them. 

Q. Do they generally bave leaders, or does every man act and think 
for himself without advice or infloence from any quarted-A. I ha\"e 
already stated they took advice from Terry and Shafter. I suppose 
every man is liabIt> to take advice. I do myself. 

Q. Do they have any recognized leaders T-A. Not that I am aware' of. 
Q. And yet you are acquainted with the politics of this section !-A. 
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I am acquainted with it so far as this: the Terry faction polled six 
lllllltlred amI some odd votes; the Duffle faction twenty, or there­
IlboutN; the Democrats something over two hundred. 

Q. You then know nothing of the politics of the Blue House section, 
except the number of ,'otes polled, which is a matter patent to al\ the 
world t-A. I consider it, that the number of votes cast at a precinct 
decides tbe political complexiou. 

Q, You think, then, politics are pieces of paper with names wrilten 
or printed on them, and not the sentiments, or 01)inions, or ft*linJr~ nf 
the \'oter, either expressed or suppressed by fear or allY other iudu­
ence f-A. I consider that a man's opinion is expressed on a pi...ee of 
pa per or vote. 

Q. You spoke just now of the Terry faction; Terry is, therefore, t~e 
hfad or leader of that faction T-A. He might lJe. 

Q. What time was it tuat Terl'Y and Shaffer staid with you, whtou 
the men came to ask their advice and information from tuem f-.l, 
When the striking fil'l:It commenced. 

Q. Was there any striking after thatT-A. Yes, I am certaiu there 
was striking. 

Q. You say that the strikes did not have auy political signifieanet at 
the commencement f-A. I do not think politics had anything to tit! 
with it, for the reason tbere was Democrats, Duffie men and Terry meu. 
ill the strike; that is the rea.~on I do not think politics bad anythiug 10 
do with it at the commencement. 

Q. The strikes hall 110 political sigoificance at the commenClemen:, 
The strikers asked advice and got information fl'om Shafter aDd fro," 
Terry, the mao after whose name six hundred and odd, out of MOOnl! 
se\'en hundred Republican voters at tile Blue House precinct, wereC<lIle.l 
as a faction. The strik&l coutioued and were not ended after socII 
udvice and information from these heads or lenders. Now, wbat woult! 
~'ou call that, if you did lIot belong to that party; would you not etlll' 

811.h.-r it rather curious T-A. I do not cOllshler that Mr. Terry aDd Cat .. 1 

taill Shaft'er were here at that tim~, only as officers of the 181'- to lin'­

serve peace and order. I did not hAar politics mentioned at all. 
Q. What time of the year was that t-A. I think it W38 ill Juoe, per, 

haps the last of May. 
(~. 'Vas there allY excitement in the country at large at that timt' uri 

in the county, between the factions, or between RepUblicans and DtoWtI­

crats !-A. At that time the Democrats had Dot organized, auld tbl'ir 
popers, daily and weeklies, spoke in favor of Ohamberlaio for re-elrc· 
tion. No excitement ill regard to politics, at! I am aware of. . 

Q. You are a supporter of Mr. Shaftel' and Terry, are you oot f-A. I 
callt my \'ote for them. 

Q. SO 1\lr. Shafter and Mr. 'ferry, beatls of a faction, were ... itb yOll, 
their supporter politically, and alDoog their political frieods for tlJrt't\ 
or four days, and l'et you heard nothing said about politics T-A. They: 
staid here three or four nights, bnt during the days were lrav.,ling frotll 
olle plantation to the other, to quell the disturball~ betwet'o the 8tntl'J"l) 
and planters. At the time they came back at night they spent the tilllt', 
ulltil bed,tim(', in adviSing and counseling parties that were bere to ~eli 
aad'-icl', he being the sheriff, (Tefl·~'.) : 

Q. They might ha\'e talked politics all day without you knowiog auy­
thing aboot it I-A. Oertainly. 

Redirect by T. H. Wheel(lr, cooosel for contestee: 
Q. 'Was, or was not, Mr. Terry a known snpporter of D. H. Cbambt'r" 

lnil.l fOI' governor !-A. He was gellerldly comndered 80. 
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Q. What was the character of the advice given by both Mpssrs. 'ferry 
nnd Shatler to the strikers or to the persollS who asked for advice '-A. 
They advised them, in one respect, that if anyone wished t.o work for 
tell cents a day they must not meddle or interfere with those that 
wished to work. 

SMITH LEACH. 

S'forn to and subscribed before me this 30th day of March, A. D. 
1877. 

rL. s.] w. ~~. MYERS, 
:Notary Public for South Carolina. 

THOMAS D. RICHARDSON, a witness in bt'half of contestee in the mat· 
ter of contt'st for a seat ill the FOlty-fifth Oongress ot' the United States 
frOID the fifth Congressional district of South Carolina, testifies as fol· 
lows, after being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do yon live '-Answer. Walterborough, Colletoll 
County. 

Q. Where were you Oll the day of the election T-A. At the Blue 
HOUKe poll. 

Q. How moch of the clay clid you spend there T-A. All day and the 
greater part of that night. 

Q. Did, or did 1I0t, there occor any riot or distorbance during the day 
of the election I-A. There wa~ nOlle there the day of election. 

Q. Was there quite a crowd of votel's there asscmbled; alllI, if so. 
was it a quiet or a disonlerly one T-A.. There was quite a crowd or 
vot~rs thel'e; larger than 1 have e\-el' seen sillce reconstruction, or I 
may say, in lDy life. They were more ordel'ly than I have ever seeu 
since reconstruction at tuat poll. 

Q. Did the pre~ence of the United Rtates troops or the news tha.t 
th~y were corning have ILIlY influence upon the result I\t tbat poll, aud 
did it det('r any from voting according to their own ollinion, either th~ 
Democratic or Republican ticket V-A. I think 1I0t. 

Q. Are you acquainted with the politics of that poll and of the coonty 
generally f-A. I am. 

Q. Did the Democrats receive their full vote at this poll '-A. A 
larger vote tuau thfly have ever receive,l since reconstruction. 

Q. Did lon see any colored Democrats vote there' and, if so, state 
whether they were molested or tbreatened.-A. I did see colored DelD­
ocrats \'ote there; they wt're not molested nor threatened. 

Q. Did you see any women there, and, if so, were they arme(l with 
clubs, sticks, or any other Wf\apODS I-A. I did see women not very near 
the poll; they were not arlDed; I suppose tht'y might have had Mome· 
thing abont the size of a cune, hardly to be noticed by suy oue; they 
were some old maurners there. 

Q. Did they threaten, or attempt iu any way to intimidate colored 
Democrats I-A. None at all. 

Q. Did you st'e Isaac Fields and June Green there !-A. I did see 
Isaac Fields; don't Iwow June Grepn. 

Q. Did anyone attempt to intimidate, or did anyone threaten Isaac 
Fields while you were thereT-A. None whatever; he was among the 
first that voted. 

Q. Was th('re any intimidation practiced by Repnblicans against 
DplIlocrats t'ither before or after the election, that you know off-A. 
~one whllte\'er to my knowledge. 

Q. Do you know of any person ha\'ing been whipped bt'cause he was 
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a Democrat t-A. None to my personal knowledge; I have only beard 
so. 

Q. Did the strikers whip people because they were Democrats, or 
were they whipped because they would not strike with them for higber 
wages '-A. All that I could gather was that the whipping was 00 
account of they not striking for higher wages; neyer heard that any 

,wtlre whipped because they were Democrats. 
Q. Did not many men wbo never intended to vote the Democratic 

ticket promise the Democra.ts to vote with them for the sake of obtain· 
ing favors or employment' 

(Ohjected to, as leading.) 
A. I was so told by a good number who had made such a promise. 
Q. Did not many colored men vote the Republican ticket with D. H. 

Ohamberlain scratched therefrom, and were tbey not called Democl'l&ta! 
(Objected to, as leading.) 
A. They were a good many vote(l the Republican ticket with Oham· 

berlain scratched, with Hampton inserted, and were called Democrats. 
Q. Did not the Democratic party blwe l~aders whos" ad\'ice they 

took and whose example they followed' 
(Objected to, as leading.) 
A. They did have leaders, and did follow their ad,·ice. 
Q. Was the last election ill thi~ county peaceful or otherwise T-A . .At 

Blue Houseit was very peaceable, with one exception; that is, them were 
guus discoverecl in the woods about seventy·fiV'e yards from the polls, 
in the woods, by some of tbe colored voters; that got up a little excite· 
ment; said to have beeu Democratic guns to kill the colored voters witb, 
or to prevent them from voting. Some said they would take t·he goos 
away from the place; others said let them alone, and they tt'ere let alooe, 
watched, and saw, as I suppose, the committee going back anll forth 
watching the guns; that was all the excitement that appeared there 
that day. 

Q. What was the advice given by Repnbli"ans to the people doriog 
the canvass I-A. On several occasions at several meetings we bare 
had the advice was to be peaceable and quiet at all me~ting~. and par· 
ticularly on the day of election at the polls; that if lDen were Democrats, 
it was no use to be cursing anel fighting them about it; it' they conld 
not advise them to vote the Republican ticket, lea\'e them alone peace· 
ably. 

Q. Did or did not the people follow that advice '-A. I believe they 
did; I neyer heard of any distllrbance because men of color were Dem· 
ocrats. 

Q. How long did the excitement you speak of InRt at the Blne House 
poll '-Not longer than twenty or twenty.fin millutes. . 

Q. Do you or not know the clluse or causes of the rice·strikes in thIS 
county I And, if so, state it or them '-A. The canse, I beliew, was that 
the planters f~II from the price of fifty cents a half acre to forty cents; 
that 'was not paid in cash, with olle or two e.xc('I'tiolls. Tile plante1"ll 
issued checks redeemable in two yeltrs, were not gOOl! in au." otber 
store except th('ir own: if any other merchant took them they woulll not 
be cashed; the geller:ll complaint that they could bllY cheaper Ollt of 
other stores than th~y c.)Uld out of the commissary, and they 'could bot 
well live at it; they contendec1 they must have forty cents cash or fifty 
ceuts ill checks, redeemable every Saturday. nigh t. Th ese caosed the 
strike. . 

Q. Did or not politics have anything to do with the strike T-A. I 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILL1UN VS. SMALLS. 409 

think not on the Rt>publicall side of the question, but it was with Rome 
of the Dt'mocrats, that if they (the colored people) did not ,·ote the Dem­
ocratic ticket tht>y wouM be turned out of employment. I ht>ard one 
Democrat myself state that if they could not vote together they could 
not live together. 

Q. Diel OJ' did not the Republicans in this county, together with Gen· 
eral Smalls-l mean the U,epublican otHcials and what are called lead­
ers-use tht'ir influence in attempting to prevent Yiolence during the 
striker-A. I know the Repnblican officials and those tenned leaders, 
to my personal knowledge, did all they could to avoid any trouble in 
our county, whether by strike or otherwise. I have heard ot' General 
Smalls doing the same on Combabee with Republicans and Democrats. 

Q. Was or was it not the advice of the Democratic leaclers of tbis 
county to colored men to vote their own ticket (the Republican ticket I 
Oleau) with Chamberlain scratched' 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A. They did say just give us Hampton; it is all we want; amI right 

at the Blue House }loll the dny of the elef}tion I was sought, with others, 
by the Democrats to swap; that they would vote for our candidates it' 
we would uile our influence with our friends to get them to vote for 
Hampton. We told them we could not see the point. 

Q. Did or did not the Democratic leaders in this county profess to be 
OJ)I)()sed to the Edgefield policy and Edgefield men !-A. I so nnder­
stood them. 

Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy, counsel for conte1-4tnnt: 
Q. Of wbat place are you a nativeT-A. Colleton County, Sonth 

Carolina. 
Q. \Vhere were yon borD' aud reared !-A. I was born 011 the ":\'Sbe1100 

River, near Bowling Point place, and raised in 'Valterborough t 
Q. Upon what gronnds do you base your knowledge of the politics 

of this countS' T-A. On the grounds of taking an active part for the 
Republica.n party in this county from 1868 to the present time. 

(~. You Bl'e, then, a politician '-A. I do not profess to be a politi· 
ciall, but have beld political positions. . 

Q. Ha\'e you ever Ji\"ed in the Blue House sp.ction t-A. Ne\"er H\"ed 
bere. 

Q_ How, then, do yon specially know its politics !-A. From coming 
in tbi1-4 section of the country frOID 1868 to the present tillle. 

Q. Were you not a bitter opponent of what is termed the Terry fac­
tion in your party'-A. Not very bitter. 

Q. Were you not a participant in a. gen~ral fight between the factions 
on the Court Hill in Walteruorough some time bt:f<>re tbe election f 

(Objected to as irrelevant.) 
A. I did participate in a fight; it was a personal and not a political 

fight. 
Q. Were yon not an ardent snpporter of the Driftle fi,ction and a 

candidate on its ticket t-A. I was. 
Q. Did those factions e\"er admit each other il1to their secret caucuses 

or prh-ate collilcils !-A. Not to my knowledge. 
Q. Which faction polled the largest vote at Blue House T-.A. The 

Terry faction. 
Q. How large was the \"ote polled by them ,-~. I do not remember 

the number polled by them. 
Q. Were yon very intimate with any of that faction on the duyof 
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election f-A. I think I was; I took dinner with some of them, and we 
were very friendly. 

Q. Were you very intimate with the colored Democrats at that poll 
on that day, or with any colored men who were likely to vote the Dtlm· 
ocratic ticket or for any of its candidates f-A. 1 was intimate with a 
wagon-load, I think, from Oolonel Izarll's place; we took breakfast to­
gether; we drank co11'ee ont of one coilee-pot, as we had no cups. Tbe 
only candidate (Democrat) I know was there was Dr. BisseU; he was 
yery friendly; he handed out segars, .and we smoked. 

Q. You are a Driffte man, and took breakfast with the Democrats. 
took dinner with the Terry men; the only persons left for you to take 
supper with, I snppose, were the soldiers f-A.. The soldiers were Dot 
there; they left before supper time; I took supper with my friend Mr. 
Garrett. 

Q. You say that the strike~ had no political significance as to the lk 
publicans, but aR to the Democrats they had. Can you tell me whethl'r 
the Democrats had any able lIIen as leaders or among their rallks in thill 
county during the Inst campaign t-A. I think they did; Mr. Fishhurn 
I consider an able man, Colonel Fox-I believe all the leading Democratll 
were able men, Oaptain Tracy himself. 

Q. You thillk, then, that able men got up a strike orfollterell it, which 
destroyed their cropR, emptied their pockets, and only did not prel'ent 
their succe!ls in the county by their being a split in the Republican pllrt~·, 
all for po-Iitical effectf-A. I think this, that the Democrats were very 
interested in the last electioll, that they were determined to carry tbe 
election, no matter what it emit, for they have so said to me. 

Q. Did you kllow all the colored Democrats, their characterll, and dis­
positions, who were at the Blue House on the day of election '-A. I do 
not. 

Q. Yon were not admitted to the secret caucuses of the Terry party, 
yon did not know all the Democrats at the poll, and yet sou can say that 
the cuming of the lIoldiers had no effect in making any man vote agaiollt 
his convictions, either for the Democrats or Republicans. Can you t('11 me 
how that is '-A. I don't know how to answer that question; the soldiers 
got there abou& 11 o~clock, aud there was perfect peace l\8 could be ex· 
l,ected at that poll for the number of persolls there, and it is no \lncou!­
mOil thing for men in this seeLion to see soldiers, and I don't think theIr 
appearauce there would cause persOlls to vote against their wisbe.~. I 
certainly saw no snch effect. Furthermore, I hS\'e attended meelil~~11 
where it is a very common thing to see mounted men or Democrats WIth 
their, I think, fourteen-shooters, and revolvers, hooping, and firiog off, 
that did not frigbten us so as not to hold our meetings; we bad meet· 
iugs right 011. I do not think tbe few soldiers at Bloe llouse could ex· 
eile either Republicans, or Democrats either, to vote agaiII st their wishes. 

Q. Yoo say that it is not nncommon to see soldiers; when wl&8 the 
last time soldiers appeared at Blue·House poll on the day of ~~~; 
tion I-A. Never before; it would not have been this time, if UDIL('U 
States marshals did not listen to some school-boy. 

Q. What sort of gnns that you said was discovered near the polhl 
on election-day'-A. Wen, there were som£>, I think; I never pDt my 
hands on them, never raked off the bushes; double-barrel shot-gon~; DO~ 
being acqnainte(l at the time with these fourteen shooters, but SIDce 
am impressed they were fourteen shooters. 

Q. Did you ever know a disorderly crowd to be at Blue 1I00se OD elec­
tion-day or any other timet 

(Objected to as irrelcnnt.) 
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A. About six years ago there was a little disorder there, not euough 
to hurt. 

Q. Is not that poll considered al ways as rather a disorderly one f-A. 
No, sir; I cannot say so. I have been there iu every electiou except 
oue: Persous were anxious to ,·ote. Beiug the largest poll in our county, 
they became iml)atient. Never saw anyone kuocked or hiudered from 
votin~ except owin~ to the shortlless of time. 

Q. You have known disorder to occur there, have you not T-A. The 
one I spoke of, it is of no consequence. I bad better explain that. Once 
au old leatier favored a side that some females thought not right, and 
contended against the old man, and threatenetl to whip him if he voted 
a certain way, but never did. 

Q. Were the leaders of the strike Terry men or Dume mell '-A. I 
do not know, sir. 

Q. How do you happen to know any tiling of its causes T-A. Nothing 
more than going around the country, sometimes stOll at a mau's house 
all night, aud happeu to talk about these things among others, heariug 
the general complaint and seeing checks-the plantation checkH. 

Q. You could know, then, nothing of its secret causes, but have only 
lIeard the ostensible cause which was gi\"en out to all the world T-A. 
Nothing more thau the secret groanings, and hunger makes thelu hallo" 
out]ood. . 

Q. Was not the last campaign an active, vigorous, and exciting one' 
-A. Very vigorolls. I do IIOt think very exciting iu this county. 

Q. Did you ever know one in this county 1I10re excited T-A. I think 
the campaign of 1868 was a little more exciting thau this-that is, in 
this county. 

Q. In this campaign, which was only surpassed in one el~ction with 
excitement, at a poll at which disorders have oCCtlrred, witb the lal'gest 
crowd you have ever seen there, with three tickets in the field, the cl'I)wd 
was very orderly'-A. Yes. The election before this last there were 
three tickets in the field. There was no excitement then, anll I uelie,-ed 
that the persons that had their minds made up to \'ote the Democratic 
ticket, with the exception of a few who did not waut any Repuulicau to 
know how they voted. 

Q. At whose request were the troops stationed at the Blue-House 
poll f-A. I think at the request of the Democrats; said to bave been 
to protect the colored Democrats. ' 

Q. Why were the colored Democrats afraid to vote the Democratic 
ticket f-A. I do not think the colored Democrats were at all afraid, but 
the whites were more scared than hurt. 

T. D. IUCHARDSON. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 30tll day of March, A. D.1877. 
[SEAL.] W. F. MYERS, 

Xotary Public jor South Oarulina. 

A. P. HOLMES, a witness in behalf of the contestee, in the matter of 
contest for a seat in the Forty,fifth Congl'ess of the United States from 
the fifth congressional district of Sonth Carolina, testifies as follows, 
after being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you resi(le t-Answer. At Clover Hill, near Green 
Pond. 

Q. Where were you on the day of election I-A. At Ravenel's poll. 
Q. How long during that day did you stay there f-A. From six in 

the mornicg until the yotes were canvassed that night. 
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Q. Was or was Dot there any disturbance during that day f-A. There 
waM none. 

Q. SO far as you saw, you being there the entire day, was or was it 
not a peaceful election '-A. It was a peaceful election. 

Q. Did all the voters at that poll have an opportuuity to vote the 
ticket of their choice without the fear of violence or without being threat· 
ened f-A. Tlu>y did. 

Q. Did you see any colored Democrats vote at that poll; 8ml, if 80, 
were they threatened or molested by anyone '-A. Yes; I MRW colored 
Democrats vote at that poll; they were allowed to \"ote witbout auy 
threats or intimidation whatever. 

Q. Was there quite a number of ,'oters collected there; and, if 80, 
were they orderly or disorderly f-A. As a general thing they were 
orderly. 

Q. Did you s('e any intimidation practiced by Republicans agaillst 
Democrats, or do you know of any that occurred at that poll f-A.. No; 
1 ha\'e never seen or heard of an.v. 

Q. Are you acquainted with the politics of this the lower st'Ction of 
the county known as the rice section '---;A. I am. 

Q. From your knowledge of the political opinions of the people clln 
you tell whether or' not the DelDo(~ratic party recehred their filII vot~ lit 
the Ravenel precinct f-A, They did receh'e a full vote, in fact more 
than at any election prior to this one, ill 1876. 

Q. 'Vhat is your occupation f-A, Merchandizing at prt>sent. 
Q. What W8S yotlr occupation at or about the time of the strikt'~ in 

this s('ction-Blue House f-A. n or about the time the striking com· 
menced 1 was a school·teacher, subsequently I held the position 01" trilll· 
justice. 

Q. Did you or not on any occasion at any meeting or }1Iac(', eitberpri· 
vate or public, either directly or indirectly by allY words or acts gi\"e 
encouragement or aid to the strikers f-A. I have never in the commie­
Hion of any unlawful gathering, neither private, public, nor by wort! or 
action. 

Q. Did you at any private caucuses or public meeting, or l)ri\'8OO con· 
Yersation, make use of the worcls "Go on with the strikes, boys, the 
Republicaos will protect VOll, there is no law that can harm you," or of 
any expressions whose import and meaniog would be the same f . 

(Oouusel for contestant objects to the question on the fitrouud of Its 
being leading, and objects to any witness being contradi(:tl'<i on 80y 
specific point that h(' wouhl be 80 contradicted.) 

A. I have never. I have at different times amI places toM the ml'n 
that were on the strike that while they had the right to slrikt', tlley had 
110 right to interfere or go Oil the premises of any person to iuterfere 
with their laborers. 

Q. Was or was not that the advice given by Republicans g('nerally i, 
I mean H.epublican officials f-A. It was; and I bave never bellrt! 01 
any to the contrary until recently. 

Q. Did or did 110t Oongressman Smalls come into this COllnt.\' RDI1. lInl!­
press the riots then existing, aided by the Republican ofticiall5 01 tb.1I 
cOllntry f-A. He did. 

Q. There were two factions in the Republican party of tbis eouotJ. 
were there not '-A. There was. 

Q. Will you state the name of the candidate for Congress tbllt ('ach 
faction voted fod-A. Each faction voted for Robert Smalls for COlIgft'SS 
aud did all they could lawfully to have him elected. 
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Q. Then so far as relates to the candidate for Congress, the party was 
united, I mean the Republican party in this county T-A. They were. 

Q. W us there or was there not any intimidation of, or threat~ i~sued 
against, Democrats in this county by RepubUcans1-A. Not in this­
Blne HouBe-section or any other that I know of. 

Q. When you speak of the Blue·House section, what section do YOll 
mean, and how far does it extflnd '-A. I mean the whole of the Comba· 
hee, of the Colleton section, I mean, and the Ashepoo region. 

Q. Living in this section as you do, can you tell the cause or the 
caUlSes of the rice strikes in this section 1-A. The cause seemed to have 
been from the low wages, in fact the wages paid labor4'rs was so low they 
refuged to work for it; the strike I regard as an institution to itself and 
had no political signiticance. 

Q. Do yon or not know anything of what is called the check system Y­
A. I know the planters issue checks to the laborers in lieu of United 
States currency, some payable from one to two years atter date. These 
cbecks are made payable to the foremen on plantations and issued to 
tbe laborers. 

Q. Did or did not tbey cause much hardship and complaint !-A. 
They did. 

Q. Did or did not tbey ha\-c any marketable value ontside of the 
plantation or the store of the man who issued them T-A. They had none; 
no one would take them in lieu of money or trade. 

Q. Did or did not those plantation stores charge exorbitant rates for 
their goods, when payment for the same was to be made in checks '-A. 
Sucb was the general complaint; not that I know of from personal 
kno\vledge. . 

Q. How did you regard the last canvass, especially so much of it as 
dirt'ctly related between the Democratic party and the Republican 
party; was it a quiet and peaceful one, or was it otberwise 1-A. In this 
county I regard the canvass peaceable and quiet as between the two 
parties. 

Q. Have not the Democratic party leaders in this connty, whose ad· 
vice they take and whose example they follow T-A. Yes, sir. . 

Q. Have not the Democratic leaders in this county professed to be 
opposed to the Edgefield policy and Edgefield men !-A. They professed 
to an extent to be opposed to it. 

Q. Did not they also advise colored people to vote the RepobliC'an 
ticket with Daniel H. Chamberlain scratched therefrom! 

(OQjected to as ll'ading.) 
A. They did; it has been the general advice of the Democratic lead· 

ers of this connty. 
Q. And did not some so vote, and were they not called Democrats 1 
(Objected to as leading.) . 
A. They were some wbo voted so, amI were called Democrats. 
Q. Did yoo ever hear Congressman Smalls speak at any public meet· 

ing; if so, state where and when 1-A. I heard Oong~sswan Smalls 
speak at several meetings in this connty during the cam"ass; I think 
twice in Walterborough and twice at 'White Hall, and once at Green 
Pond. I do not remember the particular date. 

Q. Did yon ever bear blm or any other Uepublicans at those meetings 
say that Governor Chamberlain would bring troops in this county to 
I,rotect Uepublican voters in no matter what they did 1 

(Objected to as leading, and as tending to contradict a witness who 
was not warned on the cross·examination that be would be 80 contra· 
dicted.) 
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A. I have never heard Congressman Smalls or any of the Republican 
leader~, ill prinl.te or public, give any such adviCl', or say any IImch thing. 

Q. W pre you atBt'lIe'f'ueville the day the strikers there assembled,allu 
the day General Smalls spoke to them !-A. I was not. 

Cross examined by C. U. Tracy, counsel for contestee: 

Q. How long have yon lived at Clover Hill !-A. Since the 15tb of 
Art'iI, 18i6. 

Q. Is 1I0t this-the Blue Honse-section the stronghold of that faction 
of the Repuhlican party which Jerry Shafl'er and yourself are the ac· 
knowlt'dgt'd h('ads t-A. It was. 

Q. You tht>1l ba\'e considerable influence in tbis section I-A. It was 
so considered. 

Q. Have not the people in this section of the conlltry the fasbion of 
following implicitly the ad"ice of those in wbom tbey ha,'e coDfidt'D~! 
-A, Politically they have. 

Q. Have they not also in other instances-church matters, for in· 
I\lllllce!-A. I belie\'e so. 

(~. Were YOll a trial'Justice wben these strikt>s commenced !-A. I was 
not, bnt was appointt>d aftt>rwllords. 

Q. "'ele you not appoiott>d for the allt-ged express pUl'}lOI\e of snp­
pressing tht-sa strik('s, you bt>ing B man of influt>lIce in this 8('Otioll f­
A. I belit-\'a I WIlS; I was so illstroct('d to use my official pow('r and 
private nth'ice to suppress it, and I did so. 

Q. Dill the strikes contillne after yon were appointed a trial·jnstice. 
or did they ever commence afresh at any subsequent time to yonr ap· 
pointml:'nt f-A. Tht-re wonltl be small outbreaks or strikes; it was not 
a continual thing. I have never bad but one complaint made to we 
against the striker!!. 

Q. Did ~'ou am'st any parties for striking in 3 riotous manner; anet, 
if so, what pllnisbmt>lIt did you award against them f-A. I iS8ut'd m)' 
warrullt Jor th~ arrest·, I think of tbree men, for striking in a riotous 
IDnnner, amI before the warrants were retnrned "duly executed" the 
prosecuting witnt>sses came before me and said they desired to urop the 
cuse, and ~Il('y did so. -

Q. \Yt-l'e these prosecuting witnesses, as you call tbem, wbite or col· 
ored t and please name tbem.-A. '1hey were two colored men; one 
name was Hogers; I do not remember his other name; and tile other 
was William Alston. 

Q. Do Jon know whether these witnesses were Democrats or Rl'pnb­
Iicllnsf-A. I am not certain as to their politics; some of the lIeighbors 
call tbt·m lJemocrat~. 

Q So, in a sectioll of country the stronghold of the wing of thl' pam­
of which you are the acknowledged leadl:'r, among a people following 
iItlJllicitl~· the advice of tho~1:' in wbom they ha'f'e confidence, backed by 
th~ officiall'ol'ition of a trial.justice, YOIl were onable to prt'\'ent tbl' 
StJ'i1it'S from constantly breaking ont, nnd never pnnisht>d any man for 
the oftenl'l:'R which yon were expressly put there t.o l)Unish. (Jan yon ('x­
I,/ain thi~ !-A. I can. I did Jlot so understand my clnty, to puni/lh men 
for rt'f'u:;iug to work at wages for which tht-y conld not work. J oillllot 
so understand my duty to punish JOen for striking witbout violating Ibl' 
law, and no case of violation of the law was reported to me but the onl! 
1 have already stated, and was discontinued at the request of tbe J11'Ol1e' 
cutors. 

Q. Are ~'on acquainted with the people of the Rav(>n(>1 preeillct, at 
the 1l01iing-1'laee of wbicb you were on tbe dllY of (>Iectioll t-.l. Jam. 
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Q. Have you ever lived in that section I-A. No, sir. 
Q. How did yon become acquainted witb tl.H~ people of that section t­

A. By constant visits and short stays, for the last five years. 
Q. Did you on that day see no disturbance whateverY-A. None of a 

political character; the only iustanee of any disturbance at the )loll WIlS 
that one of the Democratic managers of the poll was cursing furiousl.,'. 
I think the cause was, a hand·car ran over one of his sons on the rail­
road. 

Q. Do you know a white man by the name of Johnson in that sec·' 
tion !-A. I know a man by tIJe name of Johnson in that section. 

Q. Did YOll see bim there that llay Y-A. I did. I think. 
Q. 'VIJat were the circumstances unller which yon saw him !-A. 

:Nothing special, only I ouser\'ed him there as other mell. 
Q. Did yon not hear MI'. Robert Fishburn, chairman of the D£'mo­

cratic party in tIJis COUllty, threaten to bring soldiers the1'e if the intimi· 
dation was not stopped I-A. I did not, nor did I observe any intimida­
tion there. 

Q. Did you not hear of his baving so threatE'necl , 
(Objected to as hearsay.) 
A. I mi~ht have heard. I do not remember. There was no canse for 

bim to so threat. 
Q. 'Vere YOIl 1\ manager of election or United Statps snper,isor at 

that poll f-A. I was neither, bnt tltere as a represeutath'6 a faction of 
the Republican party of this county: and watcIJed witIJ interest the 
progress of tIJe electiofl at tIJat poll. 

A. P. IIOLlIES. 

Sworn to and subscribed this 30th day of l\farcIJ, beforo IDe, A. D. 
1877. 

[SEAL.J 

Adjourned at 6 o'clock 1'. 111. 

W. F. MYERS, 
:Notary Publicjor South Oarolina. 

Pursnant to adjournment, the commission lDet at 8 o'clock a.m., 
lJarch 31, 1877. 

Present, C. C. Tracy and J. H. Wbeeler. 

T. H. GRANT, a. witnt's8 in behalf of the contestpe in the matter of 
contest for a seat ill tlte Forty-fifth Congress of the United States from 
the fifth Congressiollal district of South Carolina, testifies as follows, 
after being duly Rworn : 

Question. WIJere do you reside t-Answer. At the Blue Honse, Colle­
ton County. 

Q. Where were you 011 the day of election t-A. At the Blue House 
poll . 

• How long did yon remain there f-A. From six in the morning 
until the votes were counted tIJat night; I suppose uutil ten or eleven 
o'clock. 

Q_ Were there a great many voters collected there; snd, if !l0, were 
tIJey orderly or disorderly T-A. A good many, alld I considl'r tIJE'.\" were 
very orderly. . 

Q. \-Vas there any (listnrbance from any cause at that poll during the 
day f-A. No, sir. 

Q. State whether or not any person was prevented from voting tbe 
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ticket of their choice, or whether any were threatened for 80 doing.-A. 
Not to my knowledge. 

Q. You being at the poll duriug the entire day, if any pe-rson ball 
been prevented from \"oting or bad been threatened would you not h.,,"e 
seen or heard of it! 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A. I think I would. 
Q. Di(l or dill not the coming of the soldiers, or the news of tht'ir 

coming, have any effect upon the result at that poll f-A. I think it 
did. 1 think their coming gave peace. Some appreht>lIded troubll'. 

Q. Was the crowd there assembled before the soldiers came orderly 
or disorderly f-A. Quite ordt>rly, I considered. 

Q. Do you know of any illtimidation practiced by Republicans against 
Democrats, either before or on the day of the election! And, if so, state 
it.-A. I do not know of any. 

Q. Was the Republican party in this connty com~osed of t\\""o fac­
tions; and, if so, who did they support for Congress t-A. They were iu 
two factions, and both fnctions sUI>porte«1 for Congress Robert Smalls. 

Q. Then the Republican purty, so far as the canclidate for COIlgt'l'1lS 
was concerned, were unitoo in their support of General Smalls t-A. 
Tht>y Wl're. 

Q. Dill or did not some colored men vote the Republican ticket witl. 
Daniel H. Chamberlain's name scratcbed therefrom '-A. I think tht'y 
did. 

Q. What were those men called !-A. I thinll they called them8f.I\"et! 
Repnblicans. 

Q_ I mean how were they considered by the Repu bUcans generally ,­
A. !oIot as very prompt Republicans, bot they called tbemst!h'es Uepub­
Hcans. 

Q. Do yon know anything concerning the rice-strikes in this st"C­
tion '-A. I do, a little. 

Q. State, if yoo know, the canse or causes of the strikes.-A. The 
causes were the planters reduced their price to forty cents per day, aud 
tbat was less than they really could live by, and tor that reason tbl'Y 
struck for better wages. 

Q. Do you or 1I0t know anything concerning the check system! Anll, 
if so, pll'ase describe it.-A. There was a great many complaints awou~ 
the laborers as to the taking of checks, because they could not (lispose 
of them as they wished, only at the store issuing them. I know lilY­
self. They have come to me and offere«l me a dollar anti Ii half in 
checks for ODe dollar in cash, so as to raise money to go on the tl"din. 

Q. How is it that you would not take it I-A. 1 did from one nt tbat 
offel". 

Q. Were these checks redeemable at the places from which they were 
issued at their full face value in money!-A. It is not always yOll conlcl 
get money, and only on certain days you could get yonr foil \"aloe iu 
trade. 

Q. Would you know one of these checks if yon were to see one '-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Is this one !-A. This is one. 
(The check offered in evidence oltiecte(l to on the ground that DO 

notice was given to contestant, or bis attorneys, that it would b .... IiO 

oftered.) 
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The check is here appended, as follows: 

DUE • 
to TEN CENTS 10 

To S. A. HAMLIN, 
Or bearer, for labor, nnder special contract. 

Payable on the 1st of January, 1880 • 
• J. B. BISSELL. 

(On the back:) 10 cents. Cypress Plantation. 

417 

Q. Di(l or did not the strikes have anything to do with politics '-A. 
They did not, to my knowledge. 

Q. Then, living in this section of the country and knowing the people, 
do yon regard the reduction of wages HUO till' introduction of the check 
system the sole canses of the strikes on the ClIrubahee' 

(Objected to on the grounds that the tllwstion is leading, and that 
witneMS has no right to swcar to his suppositiolls or opinions.) 

A. I know it, as I have had SOliS and daughters in it. 
Q. Did or did not Congressman ::Jmalls, aided by the Republican offi­

cials in this county, suppreM the strikes aud pre"ent violence '-A. I 
think they oid; Oongressman Smalls's advice did a. great deal of good. 

Q. Did you ever hear OOllgreR..'Jman Smalls. during the last Caml)aign, 
speak; aud, if so, where '-A. Yes, sir; at White Hall, Walterborough, 
and Green Pond, on the Charleston and Savannah Rllilroad. 

Q. On those occaAions, what was his ad\-ice to the people '-A. To 
commit no violence on no man's planration; that they had a perfect 
right to get what price they could, but to disturb no man if he choose 
to work for ten ceuts a day. 

Q. Did he, at any of those meetings, or at any other time that you 
have kllown or heard of! ever make use of the expression, " that Gov· 
ernor Chamberlain intellded to bring troops into this county to protect 
Repu blicans in no matter what they did; that there was no law in 
South Oarolilla," or words having the same meaning or import' 

(Collnsel for coilte..'Jtant o~jects to the question as one tending to con· 
tradict a witlle88 who was not warned in the cross·examination that he 
wonld be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. I did not. 
Q. At the HIDe Honse poll was any pt'rson or p.,rsons prevented from 

voting, or molested, or thrt'att'ocd, 011 account of their political opin. 
ion !-A. I do not think there was. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by Republicans 
again~t Democrats, either before or 00 the day of the election '-A. I 
do Dot. 

CroM·examine!l by C. C. Tracy, counsel for contestant: 
Q. In what part of the Blue 1I0l1se precinct do you reside T-A. It is 

called the Catholic Ohurch Hill. 
Q. How far from the poll i-A. One mile and three-quarters. 
(~. How far rrom Oombahee or rice'plantlllg section '-A. Between 

foul' and fi\'e miles. 
Q. Have yOIl always resided in this section '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q_ Were you olle of the strikers YOllrselff-A. No, sir. 
Q. TlJen how do you kuow what might have bet'n its secret causes?­

A. If there was anything secret among the hOllse alld family I do not 
know, but what was Iinne in public I kuow, for I have been among them 

H. }lis. 11-27 
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very often, day and night, OIl the different plantations doring the cam-
paign. • 

Q. Were you a managt'r of election at Blue HOURe poll T-A. No, sir. 
Q. How 10IJg did you continue at the poll f-A. From six in the morn· 

ing until the votes were counted that night; I suppose ten or ele\"en 
o'clock. 

Q. Was tbe last campaign an exciting oueT-A. I do not think it I 

was so very t'xciting; 1 found e\lertbing went peaceably and quiet. 
Q. I did not ask whether it was peaceful or not, but whether it was 

acti\"e, vigorous, or excited !-A. I do not consitler it was excited; that 
is, it was not so to me. . 

Q. How many tickets were run iu this county in the last campaign f­
A. Three. 

Q. How was the vote, large or small t-A. Largest that was fl\"ef 

polled at the Blue House. 
Q. And yet, with three tickets ill the field, the largest vote ever 

polled at that precinct, yoo do not consider the campaign excited; if 
the voters were not excited for the success of their party or faction, wby 
did they torn out 80 strongly !-A. In my estimation, I do not consider 
that it was very excited, for the reason I bave heard talks that some 
people thought there wonld bave been bloodshed, but during the wbole 
campaign I do not know a man in our polling· precinct that e\"er got 
burt. 

Q. You do 1I0t know of any man getting hurt during the campaign; 
bow long did the campaign continue, or rather when did it start I-A. I 
think it commenced about March, and ended in November; nine 
months. 

Q. What time did the strikes O("mrf-A. I think they commentro 
about February; I am not sure. 

(~. What open act was committed in Febrnary or at the commence· 
ment of the strike '-A. I do not know if there WAS anything, only ~ 
people objected to work for a certain price. The Democratic party, or 
planters I mean, had their meetings and there reduced the wages from 
fifty cents to forty. As soon as that was done, the bisger portion oftb~ 
laborers then came together aud agreed that they wonhl not work nntil 
they could get a better price. 

Q. When was this rednction madeY-A. I think 8Om(~ time in ,Jannary: 
I am not certain about the exact time. 

Q. Do you read tbe newspapers '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you e\"er hear of the Hawaiian tl'eaty l'e(}ucing the l1uty on rice 

and sugar as an import !-A. I have. ' 
Q. Do you know when that was passed r 
(Objected to as irrelevant.) 
A. I do not. 
Q. Was this reduction which you speak of made before or after tbe 

passage of this treaty Y 
(Same objection as above.) 
A. I really do not know. 
Q. Do you remember any dates at all pORitively T-A. If yon allode to 

the strikes and the reduction of wages, I do know some dates. 
Q. You said that there was some talk of bloodshed during the tam· 

paign; there was apprehension of violence, then T-A. I do Dot think 80: 
my reason for not thinking so is because I hl\\'e several times on t~e 
road met with a common voter that would say to me, they thought tbls 
would be the worst campaign we have ever bad. I always encouraged 
them by telling them no danger. 
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Q. What is the disposition of the I)eople in this section as to temper; 
are they hot-tempered, quick to resent anything '-A. I do not cousider 
\'ery much 80. 

Q. Ha\'e you not heard some of them say that tbey expected to be 
pat into sla\'ery if tbe Democrats were successfulY-A. No, sir, I have 
nefer heard; tbey ha\'e better sense. 

Q. Are they much de\'oted to tbeir party'-A. In some instances 
they are, 80 long as tbeir leaders lead them right. 

Q. So they follow their leaders implicitly '-A. In some instances 
they do so, long 8S you go right. 

Q. Did you ever see them fight in convention iu support of some par: 
tienlar man' 

(Objected to as irrelevant.) 
A. No, sir; I have seen them barangue, but no particular fight. 
Q. Do they not consider tbat every colored man is prOI)erly a Repub­

lican '-A. They do not. 
Q. Are you a republican f-A. I am. 
Q. Did the striker. continue dUl'ing the campaign '-A. They did not; 

they stopped, I think, some time In May, and I heard no more of it nntil 
some time iu August. 

Q. How did they stop in May if yon heard of them in Angust '-4.. 
The latter part of May aml tbe first of June amoDg the rice· planters 
the work pretty mucb go down, until in August, time for harvesting. 

Q. The campaign commenced in March. Tbe strikes did not continue 
during the campaign, amI yet they did uot stop until )-Iay, and then com­
menced again in August. Tbat is what you stated, is it not '-A. That 
is jast what I have said. 

Q. Do you know Tony Koger !-A. I do. 
Q. Is he a Democrat or a Repnblican '-A. I think he is a Democrat_ 
Q. Don't you know he is a Democrat '-A. I do not, to my knowledge, 

thougb he say so himself. 
Q. Was he whipped dnring the strikes '-A. I do not know; I heard 

10; and I do not tbink it well to state wbat I heard. 
(Objected to, on the grounds that the witness has no right to be inter­

rogated UPOll matters the best knowledge of wbich is obtained by him 
from something he may have beard.) 

Q. Wben did you hear of bis being whipped f-A. Just a few days 
Igo. 

Q. I mean as to the time when he was whipped.-A. I heard a few 
laY8 ago tbat he was whipped some time during the harvest senson. 
(Objected to on the ground of hearsay.) 
Q. When is the harvest season t-A. Commence generally in August; 

roes on until October or November. 
Q. You bad a son and a daughter in the strike, knew all about them, 

IDU heard only a few days ago of Tony Koger's having been whipped 
D last August! Yon heard of no one being burt during the campaign 
rhich commenced in March and ended in November. That is what you 
iid, is it not f-A. It is not. I said there was no one, to my knowl­
:dge, got burt politically. The campaign and the strike, in my estima-
1011, are two differellt things. 

TOBY H. GRANT. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 31st day of March, A. D.1877. 
iSEAL.] • W. F. MYERS, 

Notary Public for Soutll Oarolina. 

, 
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J. P. GREEN, a witness in behalf of the contestee, in the mattpr or 
contest for a seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United 8tatt'8 from 
the fifth Congressional district of· South Carolina, testifies as follows, 
after being duly sworn: 

QUE'stion. Where do yon live !-Answer. At the Blue Honse precinct. 
Q. Where were you at the last election in NovE'mber last! I mean on 

the day of the election.-A. At Blue Bouse, Colleton Oounty. 
Q. Will you state in your own words the character of the election 

there !-A. It was the most peaceable and quiet election 1 have everset'n 
there. 

Q. Was there a large crowd of voters there! And, if 80, state whether 
they were orderly or nolo-A. There was a larger crowd than 1 have 
eVE'r seen. They were very orderly. 

Q. Was there any disturbance at that pull on that day!-A. None 
whatever. 

Q. How long were yon there!-A. Very near all day. 
Q. Was any person, or persons, either Republicans or DemoeratB. 

prevented by \'iolence or threats, 80 far as you know, from v\lting tbe 
ticket uf their choice !-A. None on either side. 

Q. Did you see any colored men there vote the Democratic ticket; 
and, if so, state what was said or done !-A. Yes, there was quite a nnm­
ber who voted the Democratic ticket, but nothing was said or done 
against them. 

Q. Are you acquainted with the politics of the people of this section' 
I mean the Blue Bruse section.-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State whether or not the Democratic party received their foU vote 
. at the last election at the Blue Bonse poll.-A. They got their fuJI 
vote 8S far as I recollect. 

Q. Do you know of auy intimidation practiced hy Republicans against 
Democrats, either before or on the day of election in this county I-A. 
NOlie whatevpr. 

Q. Was the canvass in this county a quiet or disorderly one, or rathl'r. 
what kind of canvass did you have in this county I-A. A \'ery quiet 
and peaceable canvass. 

Q. Bow many factions were there in the Republican party of this 
county!-A. Two. 

Q. Did they support the same candidate for Congress; and, if so, what 
was the name of that candidnte !-A. Yes, sir; they did. Robert 
Smalls. . 

Q. Then the factions in this connty were united in their support of 
Rooort 8m ails for Congress !-A. They were. 

Q. Do you know anythiug concerning the rice· strikes that occurred 
on the Combabee and the rice-regions generally! I mean in this COUDty. 
-A. I was here when the strikes commenced. They struck on aceouDt 
of wages. The planters reduced tbe wages to forty cents, and it was im­
possihie for tbe lahorers to Ii\'e at that, 80 tbey struck for higber wages. 

Q. Did the rice·strikes have anything to do with politics '-A.. Noth· 
iDIZ at all. 

Q. Did tbe Repnblican officials of this county suppress these strikes. 
aidt'c1 hy Congressman Smalls !-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did they attempt to do so !-A. As far as I know, Congressman 
SmHIIs advist'd tbt'm to go home and not use any violence wbate\"er; I 

that if they did not want to work for forty cents no one could make 
tht'lII; that they were free people and at liberty, aOll if tbey bad ma~le 
a contract they must fulfill it; that they must be peaceabll" and not ID· 
terfere with any person's property or trespass on any person's place. 
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Q. At Blue House precinct, on the day of election, did the voters 
come armed or not !-A. They did not. 

Q. What was the advice given by the Republican leaders as to carry· 
ing arms !-A. That they must leave all their arms at home and not to 
carry any. 

Q. Were there any women at that poll; and, if so, bow many t-A. I 
suppO!~e about fifteen or twt>nty women, as Dear as I can judge. 

Q. Did they have any weapons of any cbaracter!-A.- They diel not. 
Q. 'Vere the men ill possession of any arms f-A. None, as I saw. 
Q. Did you see June Green or July Green at the poll '-A. I saw 

June Green. 
Q. State what he was doillg.-A. lIe was distributing Democratic 

tickets to those that wanted them. 
Q. Was he molested or disturbed by anyone f 
(Objected to by counsel for contestant on the ground tbat the question 

tends to contradict a witne.'1S who was not warnell on the cross·examina· 
tion that he would be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. No one as I know ot. 
Q. If he had been, would you not have seen it f-A. I certainly would 

have seen it. 
Q. Did not or did tbe presence of the troops near that poll have an 

influence that would cause the voters at that precinct to vote contrary 
to their opinions' 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A. The voters voted as they pleased; the troops did not molest them 

one way or the otber. 
Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy, for contestant: 

Q. In what part of Blue Honse precinct'do yon residef-A. Near the 
Savannah and Charleston Railroad. 

Q. How long have yon there resided !-A. About four years. 
Q. How old are you !-A. Twenty-seven the 5th of January, 1877. 
Q. Upon wbat do yon base your knowledge of the politics of this sec· 

tion !-A. I was an aspirant for the house of representatives, (State.) 
Q. How long were you at the poll on the day of election f-A. I was 

there from abont balf past six nntil about five o'clock, when I left. 
Q. Yon say it was the largest crowd and the most orderly that you 

ever saw there; how many crowds have you seen there on election-day!­
A. On that election-day I saw one crowd. 

Q. How many election.days haye you seen there !-A. Three. 
Q. How many times have you voted Y-A. Three times. 
Q. How did you come to be at the Blue House poll in 1872, when yon 

have only lived in this section four years '-A. I never said I was there 
in '72, as I know of. 

Q. Did you not say yon had been there on election-day three timesf­
A. I did. 

Q. Do not elections take place every two years, and was not the last 
held in seventy-six't-A. Yes, they do take place every two years; a.n 
election was held in November, 1876. 

Q. _ Then jf elections take plaee every two years, and the laRt was held 
in '76, and you have attended three, must YOll not have lleen there in 
'72'-A. Yes; I was therein '7~, but it slipped my remembrance. 

Q. Well, then, bow did you come to be at that poll in ''j~T-A. If 
there was an election there, certainly I went to vote. 

Q. From what section of the country did you come there to vote ,­
A. From tbis section. 
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Q. But I thought you lIad been in this section only four years, and 
that is nearly 6\'"e years ago.-A. You asked me how long I had been 
living near the Savannah and Oharlestou Railroad. 1 said foor years. 
1 have been living in this county for the last ten years. 

Q. Were you e\'"er in the employ of lIr. Fishburn f-A. ~e\"er was. 
(Objected to as irrele\'"ant.) 
Q. 'Vere you.ever in the employ of a man for whom YOIl were man· 

ager '-A. I was iu the employmeut of a man wbo pIau ted with Mr. 
Fishburn, but I had notbing to do witb Fishbnrn. 

Q. Were you not tllen accused of bteaJing money or checks from lIr. 
Tishburn, or tbe man with wbom be was planting' 

(Objected to as irrelevant.) 
A. No, ne\'"er was; if Fishburn said so, he tells wbat is not so. (Wit. 

ness warned that he will be contradicted.) I will bring my recommen· 
dations from lIr. Haskell to prove that it is no such tbing. Haskell 
is tbe man that was planting with Fishburn. I was in his employ five 
years. 

Q. Were you oue of the strikers T-A. No; ne\'er had anything to do 
with it. 

Q. Migbt they not, tben, have hall secret causes of which yon know 
nothing 'I-A. No; not as I know of. I had nothing to do with them, 
one way or tbe otber. 

Q. Where did you Ji\'"e before you moved near the Sannnah and 
Oharleston Railroad, and bow far is it from Blue House station '-A. A 
place called Price, about a mile and a half from tbe railroad. 

J. P. GREEN. 

Sworn to before me and subscribed this 31st day of March, A. D.lS7i. 
[SEAL.] W. F. MYERS, 

N olary PtWlic lor South Caroliu. 

LOGAN "~ILLIA.MS, a witness in behalf of tbe contestee in the matter 
of contest for a seat in tbe Forty·fifth Oongress of the United States 
from the fifth Oongressional district of ~outb Oarolina, testified as fol· 
lows, after being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you live'-Answer. At Wbite Hall. 
Q. Wbere were 'you on tbe day of election in last November 1-.1. At 

Blue Honse. 
Q. 'l'hat is in Oolleton Oounty, is it not '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What was tbe character of the election tbat day '-A. Very quiet. 
Q. Was there a large crowd of voters there; and, if so, were they 

quiet and orderly, or otherwise '-A. They were very quiet and orderly. 
Q. Were there any women at the pons '-A. Xone that I saw at the 

po)). 
Q. 'Yere the men that were at the poll armed with any weapons of 

any character t-A. Xo, sir. 
Q. Did you see any colored Democrats vote there !-A. I saw them 

there, and tbey said they were goillg to \'ote; but I am not Ct>rtain 
whether they \'oted the Democrat ticket or not. 

Q. State ,;'hether or not they were molested by anyone T-A. ~ot at 
the poll, at all. 

Q. Did you seeJ nne Gr('en there; and, if so, state what be was doingf­
A. Yes, I'ir; I !law bim there, and the first and last be said to me was 
that be was going to issue ont tickets. 

Q. Did be issue out tickets; and, if so, was he moleste(l by anyone f 
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(Counsel for contestant objects to the last clause of the question 8S 
one tending 'to contradict a witnes8 who was not warned on his cross-ex· 
amination that he would be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. He iS8ued out tickets; he was molested by no one as I saw. 
Q. Were there two factions In this county of the Republican party'­

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did both of these factions support the .me man for Congress; 

and, if 80, who did they 8upport !-A. One man, sir, and that was Mr. 
Smalls. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by Republicans against 
Democrats in this county either hefore or on the day of election !­
A. No, sir. 

Q. Did the presence of the troops at the Bloe Hoose precinct, or the 
news of their coming, have any intluence tending to prevent voters from 
voting according to their opiniou , • 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you attend any meeting or meetings at which General Smalls 

spoke !-A.- Yes, sir. 
Q. State when and where.-A. One at \Vhite Hall and one at Walter· 

borongh. 
Q. Was that at White Hall Station, or the public landing I-A. At 

the public landing. 
Q. Did or did not he there say that Governor Chambf!r1ain intended 

to bring troops into tbis county to protect Uepublicans in no matter 
what they did, and that tbere was no law in South Carolina, or words 
having the same meaning or import' 

(Counsel for contl'stant objects to the question as one tending to con, 
tradict a witness who was not warned on the cross-examination that he 
would be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. No, sir; be did not say it. 
Q •. What was the advice, if any was given, iu relation to the carrying 

of armson election-day T-A. No such advice was given. 
Q. I see you do not understand me. Were you told to carry or not to 

carry your arms to the polls, or was there nothing said about it I-A. 
There was nothing said about it. 

Q. Was this a quiet or disorderly canvass I-A. It was very orderly. 
Q. Do you know anything ahout the rice-strike' ADd, if so, state its 

cause or causes.-A. 1 know nothing about it. 

Cross-examined by O. C. Tracy, for contestant: 
Q. How long have you lived in this section of country I-A. I 

have lived here thirty-oue years. 
Q. How large a crowd did you say was at the Blue House poll on the 

day of the electiou Y-A. A very large crowd. 
Q. Are you Ilo political character T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Are you accustomed to seeing large crowds in this section t-A. 

Yes, sir. 
Q. Wbat is the general character of those crowds T-A. Of very good 

cbaf'acter. 
Q. Are they orderly or disorderly, as a gE'neral rDleY-A. They are 

not disorderly at all. 
Q. Was the last campaign an exciting one. Did people get excited 

over it I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Were there no meetings held at which coDsiderabledisturbance,a 
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great deal of noise, pushing, and cursing occnrred T-A. No, sir; not to 
my knowledge. 

Q. Are you very iotimate with all the men who voted the Democratic 
ticket, or bad promiSt'd to do soT-A. I am friendly to all men. 

Q. I do not mean iotimacy as mere absence of hostile feelings, bot all 
close personal relations; that is, are they what you call great friends of 
yours f-A. Yes, lIir; friends. 

Q. Are you acquainted with all tbe Democrats who voted at Blue 
HOllse poll f-A. No, sir. 

Q. You then do not know their characterR, feeliogtol, or dispositions!­
A. Well, 00, sir. 

Q. How, then, can YOll say that the coming of the soldiers to the B1ne 
House poll had no effect upon the minds of anyone, 110 as to make them 
cbange their votes'-A. As far as 1 saw, I did not see aoy chaoge from 
th~ comin~of tbe soldiel'S. 

Q. You do not know; YOll only think that it had no effect '-A. By 
the movements, it had no eft~ct by the soldiers coming. 

Q. SO, in fact, though YOll did not know the men, 1I0r anytlling about 
Some of them, you can yet speak posith?ely as to what they felt !-A. 
Yes, sir; by what I saw. . 

.... L. WILLIAMS. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 31st day of March, A. D.1Sjj. 
[SEAL.j W. F. MYERS, 

Kotary Public for South Caroliraa. 

JAMES WHITE, a witoess in bebalf of the contestee in the matter of 
cootest for a seat in the Forty·fifth Congress of the United States from 
the fifth Coogressiooal district of South Carolioa, testifies as follows, 
after beiog duly sworo: 

Question. Where do you li\"e '-Answer. I live io the Blue Bonse 
precinct .. 

Q. Where were you on the day of the election last Novemberf-a. I 
was to Blue House. 

Q. Were there IDany yoters there; and, if so, were they orderly or 
disorderly f-A. There were wany there. They were orderly. 

Q. Were there any colored Democrats there; and, if so, did Rny oC 
them vote the Democratic ticketf-A. Yes; there were colored J)emo· 
crats there. They yoted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Were they molested or threatene(l by anyone f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you see any women there; and, if' so, did they have weapons 

of !lOY characterT-A. There were women there. They did not have 
any weapoos. 

Q. Were the men collected there armed with any wen pons of any 
character '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you see June Green there!-A. Yes, sir; I did. 
Q. State what he was doing.-A. Dnring the time I saw him be W88 

doing nothing but standing up and getting ready to vote. 
Q. Do you know of any intimidation practiced by nlly IWpnblican 

against Democrats either before or on tbe day of the election Y-A. No, 
sir; oever knew before or on the day of election. 

Q. Did tbe presence of the United States troops, or the news of their 
coming, haye any influence upon the voters of the Blue Bouse pre­
cinct t-A. No, sir; not as I know of. 

Q. Did, at the Blue House precinct, e,oery yoter have an opportunity 
to vote without fear the ticket of his choice f-A. Yes, sir; they did. 
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Q. Do you know the cause or causes of tbe rice-strikes t-A. Yes; I 
do. 

Q. State it or tbem.-A. The cause of tbe rice-strike in May was, 
forty cents was given, when the agreement was first made to give us 
fifty oonts casb, and they fl!ll from that, a1ul afser that we struck for 
higher wllges; we walked about in the road and meddled no one; we 
went from place to place. 

Q. Did yon ever hear General Smalls speak, and, if so, wbere and 
when I-A. Yes, sir; at Public Landing, and he told us not to interfere 
with any man. If tbey wanted to work for ten cents, let tbem work; 
and who do oot want to work let tbem stay until they can get more; 
but do not interfere. 

Q. Were there two factions in this county; and, if so, wbom did they 
support for Congress I-A. Yes, sir; and they supported Hobert Smalls. 

Q. You mean, I suppose, that they were two factions in the Republi­
can party I-A. No, I don't; I mean the Democrats is one party and 
the Republicans tbe other. 

Q. Was tbere not a split in the Republican party in this county t 
What I want to know is, did the members of both portions of the "plit 
support the same man for Congress f-A. There was a split in the party, 
but they supported one man for Oongress; that was Robert Smalls. 

Cross-examined by O. C. Tracy, for Clontestaot: 
Q. You say tbat there was no intimidation practiced by Republicans 

against Democrats in this county; do you know the meaning of the word 
intimidation t-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What does it mean t-A. It means not molesting anyone or kick­
ing up a riot between anyone. 

Q. Then, if I was to curse you and scare you from doing anything, I 
would not be intimidating you, would I I-A. No; not if I intended to 
do anything. 

Q. Wbat was the strike in August caused by I-A. Caused by tbe 
forty cents. 

Q. I thought you said tbe strike in May walS caused by the forty 
cents.-A. The striking was in May. 

Q. Was tbere none in August or September t-A. The striking first 
commenced in May, and after that tbe)' did not strike until September. 

Q. Did you belong to the strikers I-A. Yes, sir; I am one of the 
strikers. 

Q. Did the strikers whip anyb(){ly I-A. No; never whip no one. 
Q. Never whip anybody at all f-A. Not to my knowing. 
Q. Wbo whipped Tony Koger, on tbe Cypress plantation I-A. I do 

not know. 
Q. How long were you at the polls at Blue House 011 the day of the 

election I-A. I was there when the polls first open~d. 
Q. When did you leave '-A. I left twelve o'clock that night. 
Q. What were you doing all that time T-A. I was tbere at the box. 
Q. Just standing there and doing nothing I-A. No; I bad my hand 

at the box, and as fast as men voted I covered the bole. 
Q. What did you have to do with tbe box; were you a manager or 

8npervisor I-A. I was a manager. 
Q. Bow many Democratic votes were polled at that box t-A. If I 

could remember, it was two bundred an~ ten. 
Q. Can you read aud write '-A. No, sir; I cannot. 
Q. How do you know, then, how many votes were polled there if you 

could neitber read them nor write the result f-A. Because they were 
counte<i before me. 
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Q. You only heard some one count them there t-A. Yes; by stand­
ing to the table and seeing it (lone. 

Q. Was there no disturbance of any kind at that poll !-A. No, sir; 
not during the time I was there. 

Q. If you were all the time at the box, how could yoo tell what was 
going 00 ontside !-A. I was close to the window, and coold see "err 
well. 

Q. Could yoo Ree bebiml the honse, on tbe road coming from White I 

Hall side 7-A. No; but the morest body of people was right before the 
window. 

Q. If you WE're attendiug to your duty as manager, how coul,1 you I 

look out of the window '-A. I was obliged to look out of the window, I 

as people were coming up all the time. 
Q. Do you know all the Democrats at that poll '-A. No; I do not I 

know all. 
Q. How, then, can you speak as to the effect the soldiers bad on them i • 

that is, their coming t-A. I saw them. 
Q. What eftect did the soldiers coming have on them !-A. No eifeet ! 

at all, as I saw; they had nothing in their band as I coold see; tbey 
drove rigbt past. 

Q. You do not know tbe meaning of the word effect, then !-A. I do 
not kno\v the meaning of the word. 

Reply, by Mr. T. H. Wheeler: 
Q. You can read and write a little, can you not! 
(Objected to as leading.) 
A. I have tried it. 
Q. You can write your name, can't you' 
(Objected to as leadin~.) 
A. I suppose I can, if I tried it; I do not know. 
Q. You can count money, can you not' 
(Objected to as leading, irrelevant, and not in reply.) 
A. Yes, sir. 

J. WHITE. 
Sworn to before me and subscribed this 31st day of Marcb, A. D.18i7. 
[L. s.] W. F. MYERS, 

Notary Public/or South CarolifUJ,. 

Adjourned at 4 o'clock p. m. to meet Monday, April 2, at 81 a. m. 
Pursuant to adjournment, the commission met. PreaeDt, C. C. Traer, 

counsel for contestant, and T. H. Wheeler, counsel for CODtestee. 
WILLIAM HIGGINS, a witness in behalf of the contestee, in the mat 

ter of contest for a seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States 
from the fifth Congressional district of South Carolina, testifies as fol· 
lOWS, after being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you li'\'e '-Answer. At Green Pond. 
Q. What is your occupatIOn !-A. Wheel wight and blacksmitb. 
Q. Where did you vote at the last election T-A. Asbepoo. 
Q. What kind of an election did you have there '-A. A. quit>t OUf. 
Q. Did or did not every person have an opportunity to vote who de-

sired to '-A. They all voted as they desired to vote. 
Q. 'Vas there any intimidation or threats or violence offered to Dem­

ocrats hy Repnblicans, either before or after the elt>Ctiou, in that &eC­
tion; I mean the Ashepoo section I-A. None during the time I was 
there. 
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Q. Did anybody attempt at any time to intimidate you '-A. No; 
none. 

Q. Die you at any time see 1\ large body of strikers; and, if so, state 
wbere they were.-A. I saw a crowd at BeHevneville about two months 
before the election. 

Q. Will yon please state all that occnrred there that day that you 
sawf-A. The evening before the day I went to Hellevueville there was 
a crowd of strikers at the store, and I went to the doctor for medicine 
for my child, and I could not go in, as one of the women told me if I 
went in I could not come out. I went back home, and came the next 
morning about seven o'clock; and when I gottbere I metSml\lIs, and Shaf­
fer was talking to tbis crowd-that they mnst disband and stop this 
striking. I got my medicine and left; that is all I know of it. 

Q. Do you know, Mr. Higgins, why Tony Koger was whipped' and, 
if so, state it.-A. All I know, I beard that Koger was wbipped. All I 
know about it, he made some threats to the stJikers, and they whipped 
him on }Ir. Bissell's place. I saw him down at Ashepoo Idler the occur­
renee, on the cars. I went in and looked at him. J saw bis face bound 
up. He told me he got it from the strikers. 

(First part objected to as hearsay.) 
Q. Wbat ticket did you vote '-A. The Democratic ticket. 

Oross-examined by O. C. Tracy, for contestant: 
Q. Have you always lived at Green Pond '-A. No; I moved there a 

yMt last February. 1 always liv~d at Bellevueville. 
Q. What is your understanding of the word intimidation '-A. What 

I understand, it is threats or quarreling. 
Q. Who induced you to vote the Democratic ticket' 
(Objected to 8S irrelevant.) 
A. No one induced me. I always voted it since emancipation. 

his 
W1L + HIGGINS. 

mark_ 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 3d day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] . W. Ii'. MYERS, 

Notary Public/or South Carolina. 

JACK SNIPE, a witness in behalf of the contestee in the matter of con· 
test for a. seat.in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States from the 
fifth Congressional district of South Carolina., testifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn: 

Question. Where d? you l,,-e and what is your occnpation '-Answer. 
I live near Green Pond Station. I am a planter. 

Q. Where were you on the day of election in last November '-A. At 
Ashepoo. 

Q. What kind of an election (liel you have there T-A. We had a very 
good and quiet election indeed. 

Q. Was there any intimidation or threats used against or violence 
otIeJ;ed to Democrats by Republicans eitber before or on the day of 
election f-A. No, sir; not a shadow of it. 

Q. Did you see James W. Grace there f-A. Yes, sir. 
O. Were you with bim or lIear him any portion of the day T-A. Yes; 

I was with him about three hours or better, side by side. 
Q. Dill he at any time while you were with him, or to your knowledge, 

buy, or attempt to buy, any Yoters T-A. No, sir. 
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Q. State what he was doing, Mr. Snipe.-A. He was i88uingout tickets 
and so was I-he for the Republicans and I for the Democrats. 

Q. Was that in the morning or afternoon r-A. In the morning. 
Q. What time did you vote and what ticket did you votef-A. I voted 

just after the managers were sworn in; the first one that voted the Demo­
cratic ticket. 

Q. Did you visit any other poll during that day, and, if so, what 
one !-A. I did. I went as far as Ra"t'uel's that day. 

Q. How did you go and with whom !-A. I went down on the excur· 
sion-train with Mr. Robert Fishburn. 

Q. How were things at Ravenel's when you got there!-A. I met 
everything peaceable and quiet; fine times g .. iug on, like at Asbepoo. 

Q. Do you kuow or did you hear of any disturbance at that poll f­
A. No, sir; not during the time I was there. 

Q. Did you know of or hear of any threats made by Mr. Fishburn that 
the box would be thrown out if the people did Dot stop their disturb­
ance' 

(Counsel for contes,tant objects to the question as leading, and 8S one 
tending to contradict a witness, who was not warned on the cross-ex· 
amination that he would be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. No, sir; I heard nothing like that. 

Cross-examined by O. O. Tracy, counsel for contestant: 
Q. What position was Grace in while yon were alongside of him f­

A. We were both standing on the side of th(\ railroad with our tickets, 
and as the voters came they choosed and we gave them. 

Q. Was anyone else with you two distributing tickets I-A. Not right 
at that spot. 

Q. Which direction did most of the voters come from I-A. From 
across the Ashepoo River. 

Q. Passing by you to get to the polls !-A. YeR, sir. 
Q. Who was the Driftle canvasser at that poll r-A. I do not know 

particularly. A great mauy men had tickets. 
Q. Were there any Sh wend men among them I-A. I did not pay any 

attention. I do not know. 
Q. How did the Driffie men come to let you and Grace meet the "owrs 

first, thus getting a chance to get more voters than they did !-A. We 
were not first; there were two or three squads before they could reach 
us. 

Q. How did you and Grace come to let them get ahead of you, then ,­
A. I suppose it was their choice. 

Q. Are you a man of infiuence in those parts !-A. No; very little. 
Q. Did you know whether Grace bought any voters while you were 

away'-A. No, sir; that is more than I can answer. 
Q. Grace and yourself, ~'ou say, belong to different parties f-A. Yes. 
Q. Would it be your custom if you were going to do a dirty political 

trick, or commit an indictable offense, to do it in presence of a political 
opponent '-A. No. 

Q. Wbat is Grace's character, good or bad !-A. I do not knoW'. I 
merely know him when I see bim. 

Q. You would, then, have been considerably surprised jf Grace bad 
attempted to bribe votertl in your presence f-A. Yes, I would. 

Q. Which faction of the Republican party was collsidered to be the 
stronger at ARhE'poO poll before the election I-A. As fllr as I could bear 
the people talk, the DrifHe faction was the stronger. 
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Q. Which faction "got tbe largest vote at tbat box '-A. I am uuable 
to tell yon, but I hear the T£'rry faction was in the majority. 

Q. From your knowledge of the people and of their talk bl'fore the 
election, would you have consi(lered that probable, if underhanded 
means had not been used' 

(Objected to as irrelevant.) 
A. I am unable to say. 
Q. How many times did you go to Ravenel precinct, and how long did 

you remain tbere '-A. I went tbere once; about two hours and a half 
I remained tht're. 

Q. How long did you stay at Ashepoo poll altogetu£'r '-A. From six 
until about half past twelvp. 

Q. SO, tben, you can only speak as to no intimidation having been 
practiced at those polls during the respective times you wer6 at each !­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. How many timl's did the excursion·train. with :Mr. Fishburn, go up 
and down the railroad on el£'ction-day '-A. Once up and once down. 

Q. Did it come from Ravenel's before you went up there '-A. I can· 
not tell wbere it was from; I only saw when they came to Ashepoo. 

Q. Did it come from that direction '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Con seq Il£'n tly, then, it must have passed through Ravenel's twice ,­

A. I do not know. 
Q. Where does Mr. Fishburn live '-A. I am quite unacquainted with 

bis place of residence. 
Q. Where do an the trains that come from that direction start from ,­

A. I suppose from Charleston. 
Q. Is not Ravenel's between Charle!4ton and Asbepoo '-A. It is. 
Q. So a train coming from Oharleston to Ashepoo must have passed 

through Ravenel f-A. Yes. 
Q. SO a fact you did not know at first you now know !-A. Simply be· 

cause there are other stoppin~-J>laces on the road. He may have come 
from Jack80nborough, for all I know. 

Q. Do you know of anything that would not advantage the Republican 
party '-A. I do not. 

J. P. SNIPPES. 
Sworn to and subt!cribed before me tbis 2d day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[L. s.] W. F. MYERS, 

Notary Public for South. Oarolina. 

THOliAS L. MARTIN, a witness in behalf of the cont£'st£'(' in the mat­
ter of contest for a seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States 
from the fifth Oongressional district of South Carolina, testifies as fol­
lows, after being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you live !-Answer. At Waterborough. 
Q. Where were JOu on the day of election in last November'-A. 

Rantowl's. 
Q. State what kind of an election they had there.-A. I went down 

there to carry the box and to act as mnnagpr in place of one of the man· " 
agers that was uot there. On my arrival I found him there; so I be· 
gan issuing tickets. I staid there until two o'clock. During that 
time everything was 8S quiet as could be, with the exception of a white 
man-I do not know his name-who came there in a wagon. He was 
trying to make two colored men vote thp Dt'mocratic ticket. They had 
had Mr. Driffie's tickets, and was going up to the box with them, when he 
tried to fool them. The ticket he had was a Republi('an ticket. I saw 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



430 TILLMAN VB. SMALLS. 

another mao, as I thought, foolish. He was taken arouod the side of 
the depot, and the Driftle ticket taken out of his hand and the Dem­
ocrat ticket put in, and he was shoved up to the box. Before I got ready 
to leave Robert l"ishburn came down there in his train. He 3IIked IDe 
how everything was going. I told him everything W88 quiet. The people 
did not seem to trust me, as they would take none of my tickets. Be 
walked oft· from me. I walked toward the depot, aod he started for the 
train. He asked me if I would care if the votes was not counted. I 
told him 8S far as the county was concerned, what few votes onr ticktt 
got would not make much matter, but would hurt the governor. B~ 
told me he had gotten a. good many votes there, but he did not care for 
it, and" the votes won't be counted, for I have got it 'busted.''' B~ 
said he intended to do that at every Republican poll where tbere was a 
majority. 

(Counsel for contestant objects to all the answer after the words "as 
qUiet as could be," 8S irrelevant, non·resllonsi\""e, and 88 touching matters 
not charged. in the notice of contestant, nor charged or denied in the 
answer of contestee.) 

Q. Did you see any colored Democrats there, and, if 80, what \fetE' 

some of them doing '-A. I saw six or eight of them; there were tl'l"O 

of them distributing tickets. 
Q. Did or did not any person (listnrb, threaten, or molest them in any 

manner'-A. Nobody troubled tbem; whenever anybody came np and 
wonld vote the ticket, they gave them the ticket, and they went in lDd 
voted it. 

Q. Did Fishburn or anybody else have to quiet the crowd there, O~ I 
prevent them from intimidating or molesting Democrats ! 

(Counsel for contestant objects to the question 88 one ten41ing to COli 

tradict a witness who was not warned in the cro88-examintion that b~ 
would be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. No, sir. 
Q. How long did Fishburn stay there f-A. He staid tbere ahoot baIf 

hour, I should judge. 
Oross·examinatiou by C. C. Tracy, for contestant: 

Q. Was there a large crowd at Rantowl's I-A. There was at first. 
and as 800n as they vote(\ they would lea\'e. . 

Q. Was there no intimidation or violence of noy kind practiced [I~ . 

Republicans against Democrats 7-A. No, sir. I 

Q. How long did you stay at Rantowl's f-A. I staid there from SiI 

until about half after one or two o'clock. 
Q. Do you know Jack Holmes T-A. No, sir; I kuow one Holmes tht'y 

call a Democrat. 
Q. Do you know Toby Grant '-A. I do. 
Q. Was he at Uantowl's precinct '-A. Not the ooe I koow W88 Otlt: 

that is, the one down to White Hall. 
Q. Oan you say whether any intimidation was practiced attn yon 

left 7-A. I cannot say, but I can say tbis: before I left the people S3Y 
they were pretty near done \"oting. 

Q. Were tbe voteK counted at that box '-A. YeA, sir. 
Q. Were th('y counted tbat day or nightt-A. That I taow Do&hiog l 

~ I THOMAS L. MABTIN. 
Sworn to and suu8cl'ibed before me this 2d day of April, A. D. 181.. 
[L. s.] W. F. MYERS, 

:Nota,., Public lor &utA Carol-
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H. BUDIONS, a witness in behalf of the contestee in the matter of 
contest for a seat in the Forty-fifth ,Congress of the United 8tRtes from 
the fifth Oongressional district of Booth Carolina, testifies as follows, 
after being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you li\"e '-Answer. In Oolleton Connty. 
Q. Iu what portion of Col1eton County'-A. Abont two aUfI a half 

or t.hree miles of Rantowl's Station. 
Q. Where were yon on the day of the election last Novemberf-A. 

At Rantowl's poll. . 
Q. State what kind of an election did they have there.-A. A very 

peaceable election. 
Q. Was there any intimidation of Democrats hy Ik>poblicans, either 

before or on the day of election f-A. Not to my knowledge. 
Q. Yon know the people pretty well in that section, do yon not '-A. 

Yes, sir; I know them all pretty well. 
Q. Did the Democrats at that poll receive their fnIl ,"ote f-A. I do 

not know the number of Democrats there, and I cannot say. 
Q. Did all the voters at that poll ha\'e an opportunity to \"ote the 

ticket of their choice f-A. I think they had. 
Q. Were there any men-colored men, I mean-who never intended 

to vote the Democratic ticket who joined the Democratic clubs in that 
sectionf 

(Objected to as leading.) 
A. I know men tha.t were with me during the campaign, and lJa\"e 

sworn out they would never vote a Democratic ticket, after attending 
their night meetings, and op to the morning of election. I foond them 
after coming to the poll ready to vote the Democratic ticket, bot for 
what cause I cannot say; they have made a suddeu change. 

Q. I see you do not understand me. Did any colored men pretend to 
be Democrats and yet voted the Republican ticket f-A. Not to my 
kr.owle«lge; mRny men who said they were democrats they claimed after­
ward they did not. 

Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy, for contestant: 
Q. How long were you at the poll on the day of election T-A. Dur­

ing the day I was one of the managers. 
Q. Were you not also a candidate on the Driflle ticket '-A. I was. 
Q. Dill no disturbance of any character take place there T-A. None 

at all. 
Q. Were the votes regularly connted, and retorn made lll> on that 

night, as the law requires! 
(Objected to on the ground that it is not in answer to anything 

brought out in the direct examination, and having no reference to any 
evidence or facts brought out in the evidence of contestant.) 

A. The ballots were counted, and there was some disagrel~ment with 
the managers, so we agreed to place the ballots in the box aUlI take 
them up to the county commissioners of election. 

Q_ That was without the return being made up t-A. The retnrn was 
not made up, only oor agreement was made out and placed in the box. 

Reply by T. H. Wheeler: 
Q. Did all the managers concur in that agreement !-A. We all 

concurred. 
Q. Did the Democrats ha\"e a manager that was a member of the board 

at that poll !-A. Yes. 
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Q. The ballots were placed in the box, you say; was tbat done in the 
presence of the managers I-A. Yes; we were all three present. 

Q. What did you do to the box, if you did auything, after the baJlom 
were placed in tbe box '-A. The box was locked and sealed up, and re­
turned to the chairman of the board that night, to meet me at the train 
the next morning to go to Walterborough. 

Q. Who was the cbairman '-A. Mr. Edward Fishburn, the Demo­
cratic member. 

Q. He was then the chairman of the managers at that poll !-A. Yes. 
HEROES SIMll8-

Sworn to before me and subscribed this 2d day of April, A. D. ISii. rL. s.] W. F. l\IYBRS, 
Notary Public of Soutk CarQliJ14. 

Adjourned at 2 o'clock p. m. to meet to·morrow at 8 o'clock a. m. 
Met pursuant to adjournment. Present, Tracy and Wheeler. 
S. Q. A. GILLEARD, a witness in behalf of contestee in the matter of 

contest for a seat in tbe Forty·fifth Oongress of the United States from 
the fifth Congressional district of South Carolina, testitles as foUo.s, 
after being dnly sworn: 

Question. Where do you li\"e !-Answer. In Oolleton Connty. 
Q. What portion of Oolleton Oonnty !-A. At Ashepoo. 
Q. Where were you on the day of election in last No\"em her I-A. At 

t.he eleetion~}>oll Asbe}>oo. 
Q. State what time you got there.-A. I got there aboot ten minQte~ I 

before six in the morning. I 

Q. How do you know it was about ten minutes oC six t-A. I bad a 
watch. 

Q. Just state all that you said or done before the opening of that 
poll.-A. I was appointed a manager for that }>01l. I desired to baft 
another man in my place, as I did not care abont 8t'rving. After I got! 
there we waited for the man I expected to serve in my place. The time I 

was arriving and he did not come. Mr. Fishburn said to me if the m:Ul 
did not come by six o'clock, and if I agreed not to be sworn in, the poll! 
will ha\'e to be closed. Then I told him I wouhl he sworn io. 11i'3S 

sworn in by bim, as be was a manager and already qualified. Then be . 
out with bis watch and said the time had arrived, and we took up 
the box, opened it, and locked it again, placed it on t.he stand, and tbe 
men began voting, after they were sworn as the law requires. 

Q. Did any voters leave the polls before tbl'Y were opened f-A. Nil, 
sir. 

Q. Then every voter who dt'sired to vote bad an opportunity to Jo 
so'-A. Every voter who presented themselves to the poll ,·ott'd. ex· I 

cept one very youog youth, who was refused, as it was decided he 'u~ 
not old enough. 

Q. Then, if I understand you, you did not (lesire to be a manarer!-
A. No, sir; if I could have avoidell it. " 

Q. You say that you qnalified before Mr. Fishburn, who was eb81r· 
man of the board !-A. I did, sir. . 

Q. Was there any confnsion at the }>011 concern ing tbe opt'uiD~ of II 
or tbe not openingf-A. There was oot. Everybody was wryebefr· 
CuI at the opening of the poll, and tbey immelliately began vot:og. 

Q. What portion of tbe morning was it t 1 wt'an bow dark or bo:" 
light it was.-A. It was a very dull light, as it was cloudy, 8Dd at Sl 
o'clock it was im}>ossible to see but a very short distance. 
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Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy, for contestant. 
Q. What tilDe did you say you got to the Ilolls in the morning '-A. 

About ten minutes to six o'clock. 
Q. Did you not tell Mr. Fishburn, the evening before the election, 

that you hael reeeh-ed no official notitlcation of your appointment as 
mana~t'r and therefore coold not act f-A.· I did lIot. 

Q. When did the third mana~er come to the poll '-A. I think aboot 
seven o't'lock, as near as I cao judge. 

Q. Why can yoo not speltk as positively to tbat as you can to tbe 
time when you got there f-A. The time when I got there I noticed the 
time from my watch, and when he got there I was engaged at the l)oll 
receiving votes and could not give any attention to him or the time ot' 
his arrh-al. 

Q. What did Mr. Fishburn say when yoo came up '-A. He saifl, 
"Let ns open the 1)011," and I told him the time bad lIot arrived, and I 
was waiting the coming of a man to serve in my place, and if he did 
not come when the time arrived I would serve. 

Q. Who did you expect to put ill your,place, and who gave yoo aD· 
thority to put anyone there '-A. I expected to Pl1t one Simon Scott. 
Knowing that the law did not compel me to serve if I desired lIot to, so I 
got a lIIan that was eapable and qualified to serve in my plaue. 

Q. How far do you live from the poll f-A. About tbree-quarters of 
a mile. 

Q. Who was the third manager '-A. Chapman. 
Q. He was a Terry man, rou a Driftle man, and Mr. Fishburn a Demo­

crat, was not that it '-A. I believe so. I know all three of us were 
maoagt'rs. 

Q. What time did you leave home that morning '-A. I left home that 
mornilJ~ about twentytlve minutes to six o'clock. 

Q. What has become of your watch now; I see you wear none '-A. 
The watch I bad wall not mine; I borrowed it for that purpose. 

Q. Who did yoo borrow it from '-A. Cbarles Ward. 
Q. How high was the sun when you got to the poll '-A. When I saw 

the son that day nearly everyone bad voted, as it was late in the day 
before the sun did come out. 

Q. So you might have seen the sun if it hacl not been clondy f-A. I 
could not, not at the time I went to the poll; the sun was not up yet. 

Q. Why did Sou object to acting as manager '-A. Becal1se I was 
a candidate on the ticket, and being relieved from managing I could 
increase strength to my ticket. 

Q. Where was the ballot-box kept for polling votes f-A. On a shelf 
at a window in 'the depot of the Savannah and Charleston Railroad. 

Q. Where were the managers, inside or outside of the house f-A. In­
side. 

Q. How are yoo able to tell, then, whether anybody left without voting 
or 1I0t 7-A. The people went there to vote, and as the poll was opened 
at six o'clock and the manner the people stood arol1nd the poll, I pre­
some they were all satistled; when the poll was opened I knew about 
two-thirds of the voters by face. I was there a little while before I went 
in the depot and many were present when I got there. I am willing to 
sw(>ar that every man who was there voted before he left. 

Q. Were you not sent for before the poll was opened I-A. I was not 
sent for, but was no titled that Oaptain Gr~e had arrived at the poll 
with his ticket, so I thought it was beat to be out there in the iutere~t 
of my ticket. 

Q. Who called you '-A. A crowd of little boys came t() the d()or 
H. Mis.1I--28 
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while I was in the house, and cried ont that Captain Grace W88 issuing 
ont tickets to the men. 

Q. Abollt what time was that '-A. I suppose about half past fi\'8 
that morning, for when I got up and put on my clothes it W88 about 
twenty-five minutes to six. 

Q. You went to the poll tben without breakfast'-A. 0, yes, sir; 
I never bad a mouthful to eat uutil between eleven and twelve O'clock, 
when nearly everyone had voted. 

S. Q. A. GILLIARD. 

Sworn. to and subscribed before me this 3d day of April. A. D. 18'jj, 
lL. s.] W. F. MYERS, 

Notary Pub['ic for South Oaroliu. 

Tn'us BURNS, a witness in behalf of contestee in the matter of COD- . 
test for a seat in the Forty-fifth OongrAss of the United States from tlk­
fifth Oongressional district of South Carolina, testifies as follows, after I 

being duly sworn: i 

Question. Wbere do you live, and what is yonr occupation or calling!' 
-Answer. I live in Ashepoo. I am a licPDSed minister. . 

Q. Where were you on the day of election in last November '-A. Atl 
Ashepoo poll. I 

Q. What time did you get there '-A. Five minutes after six o'clock 
by my watch. 

Q. What kind of morning was it '-A. It was very foggy tbat mom-; 
iog. Mr. Grace met me about four miles from Asbepoo depot that mom·! 
iog, and stopped and talked to me a while; then saying he had to goon! 
to open the offiCe about six, I told him he had a plenty of time, as it D01I'1 

wanted a quarter of five, and he bad about four miles and a half to reach 
the pons. I told him to go on. I would be there directly. I 

Q. What were they doing wben you got there I-A. I met them Tot. 1

1 jng; I met Gilliard with his band in tbe box. 
Q. Bow long did you stay there I-A. I staid there until six o'clock,1 

when tbey began counting tbe votes, and we all left together. I 

Q. Did any person on that day, 80 far as you kuow, beard, or aeen. 
buy or attempt to buy any voters 1-A. No, sir. • 

Cross-examined by Tracy, for contestant: I 

Q. To which faction of the Republican party do you belong f-.A~ 
The Terry faction. I 

Q. Grace, then, waR a political friend of yours '-A. I do not thin~ 
him more fnend to me tban you are. I 

Q. I mean, did he be10ng to tbe same faction tbat you did f-A. ~ 
beHeve be did; I saw him there. 

Q. Wbat time did you meet Grace I-A. It wantoo a quarter of Ii" 
wben I spoke to him, aud told bim he had a plenty of time, at Mooda. 
GanWs bouse. 

Q. Was it in tbehouse or outside f-A. Right on tbe road; we bad 
sick horse on the road when he met us. 

Q. Was it light yet f-A. No, sir; I tell YOD it wanted a quarCtr 
five. 

Q. Did you have any fire or light of any kind there '-A. No. sir. 
Q. How did you find out it was a quarter of five o'clock T-A. I pul 

out roy watcb when he said he wanted to get on, and I told him be bad 
plellt~· of time. 

Q. It was not day, YOD had no light or fire of any kind, you looked It 
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yonr watch, and told him it was quarter of five. That is what you said, 
is it not 7-A. Yes, sir j I told him he had a plenty of time. 

hla 
TITUS + BURNS. 

mark. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 3d day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.J W. F. MYERS, 

Notary Public, South Oarolina. 

AnRAUAll RIVERS, a witness in behalf of contestee in the matter of 
contest fur a seat iu the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States from 
the fifth Congressional district of South Oarolina, testifies as follows, 
after being duly sworn: 

Question. Whe.re do you live, and where were you on the day of elec­
tion in last November '-Answer. I liVA at Fee-farm plantation; I was 
at Ashepoo poll on the day of election. . 

Q. What time did you get there in the morning 7-A. Six: o'clook. 
Q. Bow do you know it was six: o'clock '-A. I saw the managers look 

at their watch and proceed to vote. 
Q. How long did you remain there !-A. I staid there until sundown. 
Q. Did you know of any person or persons buying or attempting to 

boy any voters .at that poll !-A. No, sir. 
Q. If any person had done so, don't you think you would have known 

it or heard of it I-A. I think I would. 
Q. You are a Repuhlican, are you not!-A. I am. 
Q. To what faction did you belong !-A. I supported the DrifH.e fac· 

tion. 
Q. Did any person leave the poll, that you know of, who desired t<> 

vote, without voting !-A. No, sir. 

Oross-examined by Tracy, for contestant: 
Q. Did you soo a watch yourself at the time you say the polls were 

opened T-A. I did; I W8l'l at the window. 
Q. Whose watch did yon see '-A. I saw Mr. Fishburn's watch, one 

of the managel·s. 
Q. How far were you from him !-A. About 10 feet. 
Q. Is Mr. Fishburn's watch a large or a small ODe I-A. About a mid· • 

dling-sized. 
Q. What sort of figures did it have on it '-A. I did not particularly 

notice the figures. 
Q. Is this the figure six, (VIIT) Look at it and see.-A. I dill not ex-

amine the watch. . 
Q. How then can you tell what figure the hallu was on I-A. I don't 

know; I did not l'xamine the watcb. 
Q. How then could you tell the time hy 8f'f'ing Mr. Fishburn's watch T 

-A. I beard it from his own mouth, saying it was six. 
Q. AmI that was jnst as the polls were opened Y-A. Yes; as he said 

that, he proceeded to open the polls. 
Q. Did you 1I0t say just now you bad seen a watch at the tillle the 

polls were opened '-A. I did say I saw a watch, but did not say I ex:­
amined it. 

Q. Are you a political friend or a political opponent of Grace's '-A. 
I am no personal frieud, or a political frielld; jnst as a man. 

Q. Is be lIot a man of very bad character ~A. I know nothing of lI:s 
character. 
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Q. Were all three of the managers there when the polls Wl're opened ! 
-A. No, sir. 

ABRAM RINERD. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 3d day of April. A. D. 1871. 
[L. s.] W. F. MYERS, 

Notary Public, &utA Ca,·olilUJ. 

W. B. SCOTT, a witness in behalf of cont(>stee, in the matter of COD· 
test for a seat in the Forty.fifth Congress of the United States from tb~ 
fifth Oongres~donal district of Sooth Oarolina, testifies 88 follow8, af16 
being doly sworn: 

(At this stage the commission adjoorned (2 o'clock) nntil to-morrow at 
8 o'clock a. m. 

Met pursuant to adjournment. Present, O. C. Tracy and J. U. 
Wheeler. 

Qoestion. Where do yon live '-Answer. At Ash(>poo. 
Q. Where were you on the day of election in last November!-A. At 

Ashepoo poll. 
Q. At what time did you go to the 1>011 T-A. I was oot there at t 

o'clock. 
Q. At 4 o'clock, you say; what portion of the day T-A. Before day· 

light. 
Q. Then you mean 4 o'clock in the morningT-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How long did you stay there T-A. I· staid uutil 6 o'clock that· 

night. 
Q. At wbat time did the polls opeu there '-A. Six o'clock. 
Q. How do you know it was 6 o'clock f-A. Uilliard had a .. ateh. 
Q. What kind of an election did yoo have there '-A. A '"er)" l,leas-

ant el(>ction. 
Q. Did or did you not see or hear of anybody boying \"oten there!-· 

.A. No, sir; I did 1I0t see any. 
Q. Did yoo hear of any '-A. No. 
Q. Was it generally r(>ported at that poll that Captain Grace was pay.: 

ing men to vote his ticket' ; 
(Coonsel for coutestant objl'cts to the question as one tt>nding to coo·: 

tradict a witness who waa not named on the cross·examination tbat bel 
would be so contradicted on this specific point.) . 

A. No. 
Cross·examined by O. C. Tracy, for contestant: : 

Q. What time did you say you got to the poll !-A. I was there at 4; 
o'clock. 

Q. Was tbat before day'-A. Before day broke. 
tl. How did yon know it was 4 o'clock '-A. Becaose Gilliard Iaad al 

watch. 
Q. What Gilliard was this '-A. S. Q. A. GiIliar(1. I 

Q. He was tbere at 4 o'clock !-A. He was there berore 4. : 
Q. How did be come to swear, then, tbat he did not get there until tt'DI 

miuutes of 6 I-A. He told me then he was going 01> for the ticket,..! 
and would be back time enough to vote at 6 o'clock. ' 

Q. How did he then come to swear that he did not get up nntil bal~ 
past 5 '-A. Because he went home aboot ten minutes after 4, andl 
may hl\\"e gone to bed; I only talk as to wbat I saw. I 

Q. You swear l)ositively that Hilliard was at the poll at 4 o'clock; b~i 
swears positively he was there at ten minutes to. 6 _aDd no. eoouet.1 
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Yon can account for that in no other way than yon have accounted 
above I-A. Yes; he was there before 4, went home, and came again, 
as be told me he wonld be back about 6 o'clock. 

Q. Did yon have any light there I-A. We had a large fire there the 
whole night; they had a SUI)per there. 

Q. What time did llr. Fishburn get there-the Democratic manapr, 
I mean I-A. ,e was there the night before, and until the next morning, 
as I saw him come out of the depot in the morning and supposed he 
was th('re all night. 

Q. Which faction did you belong to I-A. I belonged to the Driffie 
factiou. 

Q. Grace belonged to the Terry faction, did he not I-A. Yes. 
Q. Wbicb faction did you exp(>ct to get the largest vote at that 

poll I-A. More tban I am able to say until theu, as 1 did not know. 
Q. Was not that considered a strong Driftle poll then I-A. Not at 

that time. 
Q. Were yon with Grace all day I-A. He did not stay there all day, 

bnt as far 8S he weut I could see, as he could go no farther than the 
river, and I stood on the platform all day watching around. 

Q. You staid at the platform and he went as far as the river, back­
wards and forwards, talking to the voters, eb I-A. I did not see him 
talking to any voter, only walking up and down as other m~n. 

Q. Did he have auy tickets to distribute I-A. Yes. 
Q. As he did not talk to the voters, I don't suppose he (tistributed 

any, did bel-A. Yes; he distributed. 
Q. Just pointed them at them without saying anything, did he I-A. 

I do not know; I never discoursed with him, only saw him with the 
tickets. 

Q. SO you don't know whether he spoke to them or not I-A.. I did 
Dot hear him. 

Q. So tben, in fact, he might have bribed the voters without you, 
hearing them I-A. If he did do anything like that, some of the voters 
wonld have spoken of it, because they were skinning their eyes when 
they saw him abont. 

Q. SO Grace was a man you suspected of doingsuch things I-A. 0, 
no; I bad no snch idea. 

Q. What made the voters skin their ('yes when they saw GrRCe about 
there I-A. Some of them said they never saw Grace down there only 
ro a speech becanse they knew he belonge4l to the Terry faction and 
they knew he would work for the Terry faction, but never had any idea 
about bribery. 

Reply, by T. H. Wheeler: 
Q. When you say that he did no talking to the voters, you mean that 

he did uot make any speech that day, do yon not' 
(Objected to as leading.) 
A. Yes; I mean that he made no speech. . 
Q. Do yon know who gave the supper the night before the election' 
(Objected to as irrelevant and Dot in reply.) 
A. The Democratic party. 

W. B. SCOTT. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 4th day of April. A. D.1877. 
[r.. S.] W. F. MYERS, 

Nutarg Public. 
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P. A. FERGUSON, a witness in behalf of contestee in the matter 
of contest for a seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of the United Stat4>8 
from the fifth Congressional district of South Oarolina, testifies as fol· 
lows, after being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do you Jive '-Answer. I live in Saint Panl Pariah, 
about two miles and a half from Ravenel's Station. 

Q. Where were you on the day of election in last November f-A. At 
Ravenel's Station. 

Q. What kind of an election did yon have there I-A. A \"ery quiet 
election. 

Q. Did every voter at that poll, so far as yon know, have an oppor­
tunity to vote without fear any ticket that he might choose to vote f­
A. Yes, sir; lIr. Altman, one of the Democratic managers, told me DO 
longer than last Thursday that it was the moat quiet election held at 
Ravenel's or since he had been living there. 

(Obj('cted to as hearsay.) 
Q. Was there any distnrbance there during the day I-A. None at all. 
Q. Was there any threat by auy person, or any speech made to the 

crowd that the poll would be thrown out on account of disturbauces f 
(Oounsel for contestant objects to the question as one tending to COD· 

tradict a witness who was not warned on the cro38-examinatiou that be 
would be 80 contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. No, sir. If there was, I was there during all day and very likely 
I would have heard it. 

Q. If there had been any disturbance, would you or not have seen or 
heard of it f-A. Oertainly; because I was there during the day and 
until the next morning. 

Q. Did Mr. l!'ishburn make any spl'ech to the crowd that day'-A. 
No, sir; he did not. 

Q, Did be threaten to have the box thrown out on account of intimi· 
dation of Democrats by Republicans f 

(Connsel for contestant objects to the qnestion as one tending to con­
tradict a witness woo was not warned in the cross·examination that he 
would be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. No, sir; he did not. 
Q. Was there any cause for aoyone saying sol-A. No, sir, there 

was no calise; if there WIlS, I would have BeeO or heard sowething of 
it, as I was kuocking around the whole day. 

Q. Yon say that you live near Ravenel. Are you well acquainted with 
the people in your section I-A. I know nearly every persoD in tbas 
section, and nearly every person knows me. 

Q. From your knowledge of the l)eople, did the Democratio party 
poll their full vote at that poll '-A. They did poll a ~reat deal more 
than I thought they would have polled, and more than they themeelvea 
thought. 

Q. Uo you know of aoy intimidation or threats used by Repnblicans 
of either faction against Democrats, either white or colored. before the 
election T-A. No, sir; jf there was I would have heard it, because I 
knock around that country as much as any otber mAD. 

Q. Did you see any colored Democrats at the Ravenel poll '-A. I 
did, sir. 

Q. Were tbey molested or disturbed in any way '-A. No one molested 
or disturbed them. 

Q. Were there any colored men tbere i88uing out Democratic tickets; 
and if so, who were tbey I-A. Yes, there was oue to my knowl.,dge; 
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there may ba\"'e been more, but I did not see them. Bam Williams is 
the man I saw. 

Q. Did anyone disturb or mol~t him, or tbreaten him for so doing 1-
A. No one 'at all. 

Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy, for contestant: 
Q. You say that you were at the polls all day--election-day. What 

kept you there so long r-A. I was ODe of the managers. 
Q. Were you not also a candidate on the Driftle ticket I-A. I was. 
Q. Where was tbe box kept I-A. Kept in a house opposite the 

deJlOt; I suppose about twenty yards from the depot. 
Q. Were the managers in the house'-A. They were. The table was 

Dear the door, and all three sat around the table; the door WIlo8 wide open. 
Q. Were you at the table all day I-A. I was, except when I was 

necessitated to leave for a few minutes at a time. 
Q. How then can you say whether Mr. Fishburn or any other person 

did or did not make a threat to have the box thrown out on account of 
intimidation I-A. If he did I wonld have beard it, because I spoke 
with him myself. . 

Q. Did you speak to him all the time he was there I-A. Not all the 
time, sir. 

Q. When he was away from you, then he might have made that threat 
witbont your hearing it.-A. If he did I would have heard it, because 
some one would have told me. 

Q. Yon don't know of your own knowledge, then '-A. I did not hear 
bim myself, and I did not hear anyone say that he did. 

Q. Was the entire crowd collected immediately in front of the door, 
or was it scat.tered around it f-A. When the polls were first opened in 
the morning there was a tremendous crowd fighting to get in. 

Q. There was considerable noise and disturbance, then, when the polls 
were first opened '-A. No,sir; we appointed Sam Williams and another 
man sergeant-at-arms to keep the crowd from comiog in, and let them 
oome in two or three at a time. 

Q. Conld you see the crowd-tbe whole crowd-the whole time you 
were there '-A. I could not; as they voted, they scattered oft'. 

Q. SO, then, you cannot say of your own knowledge no intimidation 
was practiced or threats used by Republicans against Democrats on that 
day I-A. If there was I would have heard it, because it would have 
el'eated a disturbance. 

Q. Was DOt the last election qnite an excited one I-A. It may have 
been among the Democrats. There was no excitement to me. 

P. A. FERGUSON. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 4th day of April, A. D. 1871. 
[SEAL.] W. F. MYERS, 

!!rotary Public, South Oarolina. 

J. K. TERRY, a witness in bebalf of contestee in the matter of contest 
for a seat in the Forty-tifth Congress of the United States from the 
fifth Congressional district of South Carolina, testifies as follows, after 
being duly sworn: 

Question. Where do yon live; and what position did you hold before 
the last election '-Answer. I live in Walterborough. I held thep08itiou 
of 8heriff. 

Q. As sheriff, were you ever called upon to quell any distnrbances iu 
thill connty' And if you know the causes of the same, please state them, 
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together with what was done by yoo, or those who aided yon, during the 
time of the di8turbances.-A. I was called upon to quiet the disturb­
ance8 at the Combahee. The fir8t crowd I met was at tbi8 8tore, (Smith 
Leach'8.) I 8topped at Green Pond first. I met more of the rice-plantenJ 
than I did the 8triker8. I held a conversation with them. I met Captain 
Colcoch there at the 8ame time. Mr. Bissell was anxious that 18booltl 
make arrest8 at once. He took out no warrants of arrest. Captain Col· 
coch did not approve of hi8 course in the matter, and agreed with IDfI ' 

it was better to quiet the. thing down without making any arresta, if 
pos8ible. He did not tbink it nece8sary to make any arrests. He Mid 
Bissell was excited. and he thougbt bis course was not the best to tab, 
and we agreed on tbat. I came here and met a crowd of about fifty or ; 
seventy·five. I inquired of them wbat tbeir difficulty was and their 
grievances. Tbe complaint seemed to have been a reduction of wagra 
from fifty cents to forty cents a day. I told them it was tbeir privilpge , 
to work or let it alone, but tbey had no right to interfere with those who 
were disposed to work for forty cents; that they would not be allowed : 
to interfere with them-with those who were di8posed to work for tbe , 
reduced wages. They said to me tbey bad formed themselves into a: 
society or made a rule among themselves to not allow any man to work 
at the reduced wages on tbe rice'plantations; tbat a majority of them, 
were in favor of that, and they thought a majority ought to role. Tbe~' 
seemed to be honest in it that" majority should rule. After talking to 
tbem, I persuaded them that they had no right to interfere with outside 
ers. This is about tbe sum and substanc ... of the conversation tha'! 
night. I spoke to them about an hour or two. i 

Q. From yoor investigation8 CRn you state the causeR of the strikes!! 
-A. I think I CRIl; that is, as I got it from them, the reduction of tbe' 
price of labor. 

Q. Do you know anything conc6rning what was caned tbe check 8Y5-1 
tem f-A. I was going to add iu connection with the above answer, &51 
I got it from tbem, that they were paid in checks by Mr. Bissell, cbeeks 
made payable in two years; tbat tbey could not use those cheeks n· 
cept tbey traded them oot at bis stores; they were sick aod waoted 
medicines he bad not; that they could not raise money 00 tbeir cbeeli:l 
to buy it with; some of tbem told me that. 

Q. Did yoo ever ba\"e any con\"ersatioos with :&lr. Bissell and with 
the people regarding bis checks !-A. I did. 

Q. State wbat it was.-A. After visiting several plRnt.ation8 antI talt· 
ing with tbe people, my mission on the plantations was to qniet tbt'.UJ 
down and persuade them to go to work, if possible. The last of bi~ 
plantations I visited I think is callt.>d the VillE'yartl. I called OD the 
foreman, wbo is a white man, a Mr. Hayne, I tbink; told him my bolfli. 
ness. He called the people up at my request, 80 as I could talk to lb ..... 
In substance, tbey said they could not afford to work for forty cents a 
day in checks, and get no monc>y. I asked them if tbey woold be will· 
ing to work it' Mr. Bissell paid them half casb and balf check e\"ery 
Saturday, or at the end of every week. They said they would. After 
having considerable conversation witb them I then left them, and eaIW 
on Mr. Bissell. I told him in substance the conversatioll I had bad wi" 
the people at Vineyard. I advised Mr. Bissell to accede to tbeir tenaI, 
in order to quiet things down and save bis crop. I told bim I thoaatal 
it was tbe best thing f could do from tbe way I looked at matten.. I 
told him I had done the best I conld with the people, for bis in 
and the interest of the rice· planters. He said he could not do il; 
could. not get tbe money. I might state bere that I bad bad Ii 
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conversations with the people on other plantations; at Mr. Heyward's. 
Captain Shaffer was with me at all of tbese plantations, Heyward's, 
Bissell's, and Izard's, and talked to tbe people. 

Q. Tben Mr. Bissell, from bis own statements, was either a bankrnpt 
or on the verge of bankruptcy'-A. That I do not know. He said he 
coold get goods to pay tbem, bnt conld not get money. 

Q. When were you notified of the strikes '-A. I do not recollect the 
time; it mnst bave been iu June, perhaps a week after they strnck, is 
the first I heard of it. I got the information on a Snnday, I think, 
throngh Oaptain Shaffer. He told me he got it from Oolonel Izard. 

Q. Did the rice-planters co-operate with YOlt '-A. I CRn't say that 
they did give me any 888istance. Oolonel Izard took & little more pains 
to co-operate with me tban anyone. In fact, I cannot say that they 
gave me any assistance at all, except Oolonel Izard. They did not seem 
to like to mix up in the matter. I bardly know wbat tbeir ideas were. 

Q. Wbat wall the condnct generally of Mr. Bissell toward aiding yon' 
-A. He told me bis troubles, but in actions be was perfectly indifferent; 
he put no warrants in my bands for arrests. 

Q. W~o was Oaptain Oolcoch, and what was his politics '-A. A trial­
jostice and a Democrat. 

Q. Were any warrants taken by tbe rice-planters for tbe arrest of aoy 
strikers, and issued by him f-A. I only know from Oolcoch's conversa­
tion with me, they had a warrant hl.'med for one mao; this man went 
on the" Vineyard" plantation and advised tbe people oot to work for 
forty cents a day. 

Q. Did the trial take place, and, if not, can yon tell me tbe reason ,-
A. I only know from what Captain Oolcoch told me; I was oot present. 

Q. What did he tell yon' 
(Objected to as requiring the witness to state hearsay as evidence.) 
A. That he put; him in charge of his constable, and that he was taken 

away by some parties near White Hall. 
Q. Was Mr. Uolcoch appointed a trial-justice in this sectioo on account 

of tbe strikes; and, if so, on whose recommendation I-A. He was al)­
pointed during tbe strikes, to help keep peace and order, but on whose 
recommendation I do 1Iot know. 

Q. Do you know tbe express canse of bis resignation '-A. Yes, I 
tbink I do; he told me tbere was such a state of feelings he could not 
execute the laws; that the rice-planters did not co-operate with him, 
and that he bad no backing; that tbe man Mr. Bissell had arrested, on 
the day of trial Mr. Bissell did not appear, but went to Charleston. 

Q_ Did the strike~ bave any political tlignificance '-A. I don't tbink 
politics bad an~·tbing to do with it, between the two political parties. 
Republican and Democrats politic~ were not mentioned when I first 
caDle down here, to my knowledge. 

Q. Was it mentioned at any otber time I-A. Well, Satnrday there 
was a political meeting at, I tbink, Hickory Hill; I attended that meet­
ing; thonght it wonld be a good place to meet a large body of people, 
and talk with them regarding the strike; a report had gotten out that 
Governor Chamberlain had appointed Mr. Colcocb, and sent me down 
there to make them work for forty cents a day j to convince them to the 
contrary I got up on the stand and read a telegram from Go\'ernor 
Ohamberlain, Ilhowing them that Governor Chamberlain had nothing to 
do or say about wages. 

Q. What part, if 8ny, did Congressman Smalls in assisting rou'-A. 
His assistance came after 1 bad been taken sick. I know that ~ did 
assist Captain Shaffer, my deputy, when I was on my sick-bed. 
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Q. What was the advice given by the prominent Republicans to the 
people concerning the strikes f-A. That was for them to be quiet; 
not to violate law or interfere with those who were disposed to work; 
that if they did not wish to work for forty cents a day they most oot 
interfere with those who did, becaose they would be violating the law 
amI would be punished accordingly. 

Q. Did the two factions in tbis coonty support the same candidate for 
Congress f and, if 80, who did they support f-A. They did; supported 
Robert SmallM. There was two factions of the Uepublican party. 

Q. Are you acquainted with the politics gt>nerally of the people of 
this countyf and if so, state whether or not the Democratic party re­
ceh'ed their full vote at the last election at the precincts situated ill the 
lower section of the county, or what is known as the rice section t-A. 
I thiuk I am pretty well acquainted with the politics of the county, 
baving been.a resident for teu years. I have been in politics aboot 
nine years. In rt>gard to a full vote in the lower precincts they polled 
a larger vote than I supposed they had voters, perhaps in consequence 
of their not turning out heretofore at previous elections; I cannot say. 

Q. Was there auy intimidation that you know of practiced by Repub­
licans of either faction against Democrats f-A. Not any to my knowl· 
edge. 

Q. Did the arrival of the troops in this county, or the news of their 
coming, have any etiect upon the votes f-A. I think not. 

Q. Did the strikes have any effect upon the vote in the lower seCtiOD; 
and, if so, what party was damaged f-A. I think it did, !Wme; and the 
Republican party waa damaged by it, from information I got. 

Cross-examined by C. O. Tracy: 
Q. Were you not very sick in bed during nearly the wbole of the last 

campaign f-A. Doring a part of it. I attended a number of meetings 
before I was taken sick. 

Q. Please state how long.-A. I do not know when the campaign 
opened. 1 was taken sick in Aogust, rthink. I am not certain whether 
it was July or August. 

Q. When did the second strike occur f-A. I don't recollect the time. 
After I was taken sick; I think July or August. 

Q. Did you send to Governor Chamberlain a report stating tbat you 
were unable to suppress the riots f-A. That was not tbe 8t'COQ(1 out­
break; that was the last end of the riots on tbe Asbepoo. That strike 
was on the Ashepoo; the last strike that was made. The strike was on 
Mr. Warley's plantation, planted by C. P. Fishburn. He sent a request 
to me that I should send a colored flt>puty. I carried out bis wishes; 
deputized a man by the name of Sykeg. Sykes sommoned a po88&-: 
aboot a balf.dozen men. He made one or two arrests. The crowd fi 
strikers gathered, took tbe prisoners away from them and ran tbem oft. 

Q. Had you at allY time previous to making guch report exeroiaed 
your prerogative as high sheriff of the county and sum mOiled ont tbe 
posse comitatus f-A. It never had been necessary for rne to do 80. 

Q. Yon then reported to Governor Chamberlain that you were uoable 
to perform your duty as sberiff, although you bad never considered it 
necessary aud never had exercised the powers confel'ftd upon yoa 
by law '-A. From the reports ot' the deputy, I thought it would be 
useless to send a posse clown tbere, as the strikers said if I sellt a po888 
of fifty they would raise a posse of a bundred and I1fty. I tbougbt it 
would be uselt>88 to selld a colored posse. I tben consulud with Jobn 
D. ~wards, Mr. Fox, and Willie Fishburn in regaro to sending a wbite 
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posse; after holding a cOllsultation over the matter, they advised me 
Hot to do it, but report the case to Governor Chamberlain. I did so. 

Q. So then you took the ad vice ot' certain men and reported to the 
g;on~ruor your inability to perform a duty plainly imposed upon you 
by la\v when such inability had not been made apparent !-A. I did lIOt 
report to him that I could not suppress the riots or make the arrests; I 
thought it could be dOlle much easier by the troops than it could by a 
posse of white men, and save bloodshed. Deputy Hiott said he would 
make the arrest with a posse of twenty white men; he would not go 
with less. The result of the consultation W3lil that I bad better not send 
them. 

Q. Are the people in this section, (the Combahee section I mean,) 
credulous or easily imposed ul)on I-A. I do not know that they are auy 
more 80 than in any other section of the country. 

Q. 'Vhy, then, did you deem it necessary to refute the ridiculous story 
which you said was spreading that Governor Ohamberlain had sent you 
down bere to make them work for forty cents i-A. If' there had been 
but Ol1e man who said 80, I thought it well enough to read Governor 
Chamberlain's telegram to refute it, as I did not know how extensive it 
would spread. Sucb a report had reached my ears. 1 thought I had bet· 
ter give it the lie on the start by reading Governor Chamberlain's tele· 
gram. 

Q. You deemed. then, tbat such a report might be credited !-A. Yas. 
Q. Vo you think that auy but an ignorant or credulous people would 

have believed suell a report !-A. 1 do not know if that would be con· 
fined to ignorant people or credulous people; all men are credulous, 
more or less. 

Q. You stated that when you met the planters at Green Pond t.hat 
M.r. Bissell wanted an arrest made, but could get no warrants, Captain 
Colcoch and yourself disapproving of snch a conrse. 

(Ohjected to as misrepresenting what the witness said, he never having 
stated that Mr. Bissell could not get warrants.) 

A. I did not make any sucb statement. 
Q. You will please state what you did say.-A. He thought arrests 

better be made, but did not ask for any warrants iu my presence or to 
my knowledge. 

Q. Will yon please state what you said subsequently as to Mr. Bis­
sell'~ action in regard to arrests t-A. That he bad one man arrested 
by Oaptain Oolcocb issuing a warrant; that wben the day f·or trial came 
Mr. Bissell did not appear, but went to Cbarleston; sol was informed by 
Trial-J ustice Colcoch. 

Q. You say the rice.planters made no eft'orts to assist you in suppress· 
ing the riots; do YOD not mean that tbey would oousent to no compro· 
mise wbich you suggested !-A. There was no riot when I was here; if 
you would say put an end to the strike it would be more proper. I did 
not go ou any plantation where,there was a riot; the people were quiet 
aDd orderly on all tbe plantations I visited, only they refused to work 
for forty cents a day. 

Q. Why, then, did you advise them, as you say you did, tbat theyoould 
Dot interfere witb anyone else in their striking, if they had. as yet showu 
DO disposition or made no overt act in tbe line of such interference f­
A. The reason I advised tbem to not interfere with outsiders, it would 
be in violation of law; that they had no right to do so. 
. Q. They never had, previous to sucb all vice on your part, shown any 
disl)()sition to so interfere !-A. I was informed by the planters that 

• 
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they dhl interfere with those who were disposed to work. That is what 
I wanted to get in before. 

Q. According to your own showing, then, there were no riobl, and 
yet there had been such interferencef-A. I did not say there had been 
DO riots, not to my knowledge, not in my presence, but had been in· 
formed that parties who were willing to work had been interfered with 
and prevented, and in some cases whipped and driven out of the fJeld. 

Q. Then the planters gave you no assistance in suppressing the strikes, 
as they would not conseut to any compromise. Do I understand you 
aright '-A. I said only Mr. Bissell would ilOt consent to a compromise. 
Colonel Izard and Mr. Heyward offered to pay the old prices if the hliuds 
would go to work. 

Q. Had Oolonel Izard ever made any rednction from the old priCleftf­
A. Colonel Izard told me that his foreman had done so; he would be 
governed by James B. Heyward's prices. 

Q. Is not this section the stronghold of the faction of the Republican 
party which goes by yonr name f-A. Well, a pretty strong place; a 
pretty good vote at this poll. 

Q. Did not your faction poll a mnch larger vote at the last election 
than the Holmes faction, of which you were a leader, polled in 1874 at 
this, the Blue House poll '-A. I will explain. There was a 1)()1l at 
Stock's Causeway in 1876. That poll was done away with, and tbe 
voters had to go to Blne House. Taking the two polls together, I don't 
think they polled more than their full vote. 

Q. Did Dot many of the voters from Stock's Causeway precinct vote 
at Ashepoo, having first gone to Bennett'lS Point and finding tbat poll 
closed f -A. I don'tknow. 

Q. Did not the Myers faction beat the Holmes faction in 187t, and 
did not yours or the Holmes faction beat the Myers ill 1876 , 

(Objected to 8S irrelevant.) 
A. I think they did. 
Q. Yon state where the strengtb was gained, if not at Blne HOORe.­

A. I don't think I got any more votes tbere; that is, I mean the Holmes 
got no more votes in 1876 thnn they did in 1874:; that is, taking the 
two polls in consideration. 

Q. Will yon state tbe cause of tbe riot in August, or dllring tbe riee· 
cutting season, if you know su~h caURe of yonr own knowledge f-A. I 
do not know. I tbink I was sick in bt>d about that time. I understood 
tbey wanted an increase of wages, is all I know about it. 

Q. Yon did not unclerHbmd that there hncl been a recluction. did 
you t-A. Not at that time; they wantecl an increase for cutting riee; 
so I was informe(l. 

Q. Then you know nothing, of your own knowledgt', of the sooond,or 
more violent, strikes which occnrred doring the beat of the political 
campaign '-A. No. 

Q. If you were sick doring a great part of tbe campaign yon caD knoW' 
very little of any intimidation practice(l in tbis section of the country, 
eRD you f-A. Not personally; I know of some eRses of intimidation. 

Reply by T. H. Wbt'eler, for contestee: 
Q. What cases were tht'y, and against whom were they directetl f­

A. 0116 was tbe case of Tbomas Fields, a.nother by the name or Sam 
BuUt'r. Tbey were bound over to court for stea.ling calves; bonn.l over 
by Trial·Justice Brownlee for their appt'arance to coort the November 
term. They were told by the foreman of the grand jory, amI ODe other 
member of the grand jury, and other parties, that tbt'y would comp"" 
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mise the matter witb Mr. 8auls, from whom they stole tbe calves; that 
the proof was clea1' against them; tbat they would convict them; but in 
consideration they would se.ttle the matter, and the matter should not 
come before the graml jury, if they would vote the Hampton ticket. 
Tbese are the only two cases that 1 know of personally. 

(Objected as not in reply, and as hearsay, and as Dot touching what 
is charged in the notice of contestant, orcbarged or dellied in the notice 
ofcoutestee.) 

Q. Was it not the gen~ral rumor, and the practice of some Delllocrats 
tbroughout the county, that baults wouhl be discharged or rejected from 
tbeir places, if they voted and did not vote the Democratic ticket 1 

(Question objected to on the same grounds as above, ali(I as leading.) 
A. I beard a good many rumors of tbat kind, and a good many people 

came to me inquiring wbat they sbould do. Tb~y told me that men whose 
land they were living on said they should move off it if they did not 
vote the Democratic ticket. I told them they had a right to vote as 
tbey pleased, they were free, Rnd if they thought it to their interest they. 
bad a right to do so. I told tht>m it was rather a hard case; that if tbey 
were turned off in consequen(!e of voting as they saw fit that I would 
try and find tbem a place to live where people would not turn them off 
for voting or carrying out tbeir wishes. I sent some of tbem to James 
Glover, who would sell them lands. Be w~s a Democrat and was willing 
'hey should vote as they saw fit. My advice to them invariably was that if 
they thought it to the best of their interest to vote the Democratic 
ticket, to do so. 

Q. Who are J. J. Fox, J. D. Edwarcls, and William Fisbbnrn, and 
wbat are their politics1-A. They are all lawyers and Democrats. 

J. K. TERRY. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 4th day of .April, .A. D. 1877. 
[L.S.] W. F. MYERS, 

Notary Public, South Oarolina. 

A. C. SH.~FPER, a witness in behalf of contestee in the matter of con· 
test for a seat in the Forty-fifth Oongress, from the fiftb Oongressional 
district of South Oarolina, oostities as follows after being dnly sworu: 

Question. In wbat position did yon act, whert\ did you go, and wbat 
did you do dnring a portion of the summer and rail of 1876 f-Answer. 
I was deputy sheriff' a portion of the tilDe; I was also down here witb 
the sheriff; I visited the Oombabee in that capacity; I was with General 
Smalls at Bellevneville; I made arrests under warrants placed in my 
hands at Bellevueville; I turtted the parties over to the trial1ustic" 
who issued the warrants, witb the warrants. 

Q. Please give a description of what occurred at Bellevueville tbe day 
Congressman Smalls was tbere, aud state, if yon know, the CRuse or 
causes of tbe IItrikes or their continu811ce.-A. We found an ast1embly 
of colored people tbere, probably a bundred or a hundred aud fifty, in 
tbe road; tbe cause of tbeir being there, as they stated, was that Dep­
uty Hiatt, (sherift"s deputy,) after arresting a party or parties connected 
with the strike, I think, bad beaten them with a wbip after they bad 
8urrendered to him. Oongressman ~malls and myself told tbem to go 
to tbeir bomes, disperse, that these lDen bad their redress under the 
law • We sncceeded in dispersini the crowd, and I arrested tbe prison-
81'11 then and there. I always understood the cause of the strike to be 
a reduction of wages'i the planters wanted to pay forty cents a day, is 
\"hat the strikers to d the sheriff when he came down bere, and the 
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greater majority of them in checks payable in two years, except they 
could trade at their stores. 

Q. Was there any complaint made by the laborers on acconnt of tbe 
prices cbarged at the commiRAary's at which they were compelled to 
deal, if paid iu checks T-A. Yes. 

Q. Did you at any time ever state to a crowd of strikers or aoyother 
crowd, the expression, "Bully, boys; go on with the strike until after tbe 
election!" 

(Counsel for contestant objects to the question as one tending to eon· 
tradict a witness wbo was 1I0t warned iu the cross-examination that be 
would be so contradicted on this specific point.) 

A. No. 
Q. Wbat was the advice given by General Smalls aUtI yonl'8elf 011, 

that and every other occasion T-A. I have always 8(h1sed them, as to 
the matter of wages, that tbey were the masters of that, but try to If·' 
rauge the matter sati8factory with the employers, try and settle mat.~ 

. ters amicably between them, avoid all riotous demollstrations; if th~! 
price offered was not enougb, why, stay at home and not int~rfere in any: 
sbape or manner. My efforts were to get them to work, even for tire! 
forty cents, or anything they could get along with. , 

Q. Upon whose recommendation, if you know, was Oaptain Co1coebl 
appointed, or rather at whose requestT-A. I do not know. I under·, 
stood it was the request of the planters down here, Mr. Bissell aud tllel 
rest of them; I was not consnlted ill the matter at all. , 

Q. Did he ever complain to yon or to Sheriff Terry concerning b~ ioJ 
bility to stop the strikes' And if so, state what causes were alleged'-I 
.A. He did; the cause alleged was he did not get the backing from th~ 
planters he desired. I think he was speaking to the sberiff; it 1ras in 
tbe sh('riff's office. I 

Q. Did the strikers have anything to do with politics !-A. NOj U 
think 1I0t. 

Q. Do yon know of any acts of intimida.tion in this connty on aceooo 
of tbe politioal opiniolls of anyone; and if so, against whom were they 
directed '-A. A number of Republicans did complain to me that Dfa" 
ocrats to whom they were imlebted for lands or pel'8Onal propertY 
threatened to foreclose or force the collect.ion if they did not sap 
the Democratic ticket. 

(Objected to as not tonching matters charged io notice of contestan 
or cbarged or denied in the answer of contestee ) 

. Q. Where were you on the day of election T-A. At Blue Booae p 
cinct. 

Q. What kind of an election did they have tbere f-A. Perle(tl. 
quiet. 

Q. Did you spe any colored Democrats yote there; and if so. 
they molest('d or diMtnrbed by 11ny one f-A. Yes, I I58W them; tbey 1r 
not molt'st('d as I Aaw, not at the precinct. 

Q. How mauy Democrats voted tbert', (colored Democrat8,) aod • 
wbat time did you see most of them yote t-A. [could not state 110-
many; as soon as the polls were opened; all that I saw \'oted at ODt'f· 

Q. ,V 11S there a large crowd there tben I-A. There was. 
Q. Was tbpre any intimidation dnring the day practiced by Rel"ubfi­

cans against ])emocrats '-A. I was at the polls the whole day; I did 
not see any. . 

Q. Did the coming of the troopA, their presence tb('re, hat"e any 
flnence to prevent au~" person from \'oting liS be desired f-A. Tbf'Y did 
not. 
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Q. Ditl the strikes injure either party; and if so, what party'-A. I 
think tbey did; they injured the Republican party. 

Q. Was the crowd at tbe Blue House poll armed with weapons of any 
eharacter !-A. I did not see any. 

Q. Were there any women tbere~ and if so, what did they do'-A. I 
think there were a few women in the road. They did not do anything; 
they were not near the poll and did not interfere. 

Cross-examined by C. C. Tracy, for contestee: 
Q. In what way did the strikes injure the Repnblican party'-A. Po· 

litical capital was made of it through the newspapers, through being 
miRrepresented. 

Q. Did it have any effect in that way in this connty '-A. I think it 
did. 

Q. What class of people dill the newspapers reach in this connty, 
who would likely be infinenced by such representation '-A. The neW8· 
papers reach all classes. 

Q. Are there any cl8.l'lses in this county who wonld be infinenced by 
any sucb representations' And if so, state what class.-A. All; the rich 
aDd poor classes more or les8. 

Q. How do ~'ou know that t.he coming of the soldiers had no infin· 
ence on the voters of the Blue House poll '-A. The rush was princi· 
pally through; they did not get there before eight or nine O'clock, and 
then they mnst ha\'e been five or six hundred yards from the precinct. 

Q. Did Paul ha\'e to obtain their assistance in opening a way to the 
polls for the voters f-A. I don't know that he did; if he did, it was to 
expedite matters and Dot on account of any intimidations or rows. 

Q. Did he not call the lieutenant to come and open a way for them ,­
A. 1 saw the lieutenant open a way different from which they had been 
voting, but I th()Qght no improvement. 

Q. If the rush'was over why was it necessary to open a way'-A. It 
was a little more convenient in swearing the voters. 

Q. Did all the Democrats (colored) vote before the soldiers got there ,­
A. I tbink they did, at least an hour before. 

Q. Then, as nODe voted after they came might not their coming have 
changed some votes T-A. The soldiers did not electioneer or come Dear 
the poll. 

Q. How many strikes were there I-A. I don't know whether there 
was one or more. I cannot state. 

Q. Did not one ebullitioD or breaking out take place in Mayor 
June, and another in August or Septembert-A. There was one some 
time previous to the otber. I cannot state the exact months unless I 
ha,'e something to refresb my memory. 

Q. One was cltused by the reduction of wasees. Was there any re­
dnction made at the time of the other f-A. I do not recollect. Deputy 
Sherift· Hiatt had cbarge of that. 

A. C. SHAFFER. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 4th day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[L. s.] W. F. lIYERS, 

Notary Public, BOttt/, Oarolina. 

STATE OJ..' SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Colleton Oounty: 

In the case of G. D. Tillman, e8q., against Robert Smalls, returned as 
a member of the Fort.y-fifth Congress from the fifth Congressional dis­
trict of South Carolina at an election held on the 7th day of :Xu-
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vember, 1876, I certify that for and in bebalf of Robert Smalls, COD· 
testee in the above-named case, I took, at Smith Leach's Store, near 
White Hall Station, in the connty of Colleton, between the 29th, 30th, 
31st days of March, 1st, 2d, 3d, and 4th days of April, 1877, inclusi\'"e, 
the testimony of William A. Paul, O. B. Broch, Smith Leach, T. D. 
Richardson, A. P. Holmes, T. H. Grant, T. L. Martin, Logan Williams, 
James White, J. P. Green, Titus Burns, Abram Rivers, J. P. Snipe, 
William Higgins, H. Simmons, S. Q. A. Gilliard, W. B. Scott, P. A. 
Ferguson, J. K. Tel'ry, and A. O. Shaffer, citizens of Colleton County, 
in South Oarolina; 8011'0, at the said time and place, WaR tabn in e"'i­
dence one hundred and seventeen pages of testimony, of legal cap. 

[L. B.] W. LI'. MYERS, 
N otaT!/ Public, &ut1 Carolifl4. 

No.9. 
STATE OP SOUTH CAROLINA, 

Beaq/oTt Oounty: 

G. D. TILLMAN, OONTEBTANT, ~ 
orB. 

HOBERT SMALLB, OON'J'EBTEE. 
To Hon. G. D. TILLMAN: 

You are hereby notiOed that I will examine the fllllowing-named wit­
nesses, all of whom reside in Beaufort Oounty, relath-e to and touching 
the matters and things set forth in my HnSWl"r to your noliee of coutelit 
of my right to a seat in the Congress of tbe United States. to wbicb yon 
claim to have been elected at the November election of 1876, for tbe 
fifth Congressional district of the State of Sonth Oarolina, and in reilly 
to matters and things set forth in said notice of contest, and tA> e,-j· 
dence produced by you, before Shepard D. Gilbert, esq., notary public, 
at Mitchellville, Hilton Head, in the county and State aforesaid, on the 
2d day of April, 1877, commen6ing at 8 o'clock a. m., and continuing 
thereafter from dllY to day nntil the following witnesses shall be eXQln­
ined, to wit: Renty F. Graves, Dr. F. E. Wilder, Alfred Noble, William 
Reed, Thomas Frazier, Edward Murray, Pbrenix RobiuROn, G. P. G.ud­
ner, Simon Grant, Fred. Orage,i1saac Joues, W. H. Peeples, Thomas 
Chisolm, Thomas Bell. 

ROBT. SMALLS, 
Per AL~'RED WILLIAMS, 

Attm'IIq. 

In the matter of contest between G. D. Tillman, contestant, and Robert 
Suialls, contestee, for a seat in the Fort.v-fifth Congress of the United 
States from the fifth Congressional district of South Carolina. 

SOHOOL.HoUBE, MITOHELLVILLE PRECINCT, 
Hilton Head, 8. C., April 2,187i. 

At 9 o'clock a. m. the counsel for thl'\ contestee, Robert Smallll, with 
the counsel for the contestant, G. D. Tillman, appeared before me, 
Sht>pard D. Gilbert, notary pnblic, to examine ,,,,ilnesses, all or whom 
reside in Beaufort County, relative to and touchiog matters and tbi~ga 
set forth in the answer of Hoo. Robert SIO"III1, contestee, to the notice 
ot' G. D. Tillman, ooutel4tant, to contellt his right to a seat in thl' Forty­
filth Congress of the Uuited States, to whicb tbe said G. D. TiIlmaD is 
contestaD~ and in reply to evidence produced, 80 far as it relates 10 Lbe 
precinct or llitchellville, Hilton Head. 
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Alfred Williams, esq., appeared as counsel for contestee, and Jobn G. 
Barnwell, esq., as counsel for coute8tant. 
G. D. TILL1!U.N, CONTESTANT, ~ 

'VB. 
:RoBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

~TATE 01.1' SOU1'H CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beau:fort: 

Personally appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary pnblio, 
ALFRED NOBLE, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn ac­
cording to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your namp, age, rt'sidenc(', and occupation.-Answer. 
Alfred Nohlt>; ret.lid~nce, Hilton Head, S. 0.; age, sixty-one; occupa­
tion, a plant.er. 

Q. Did yon \'ote at the recent election beld in 'sovember last '-A. I 
dill, sir. 

Q. At wbat precinct did you deposit yoor vote!-A.. At Mitchellville 
precilwt, Hilton Head. 

Q. How long did yon remain at the polls on tbe day of election '-A. 
From abont sevell o'clock ill the morning until the poll was conn ted. 

Q. Were you employed in any capacity at the poll '-A. None at all, 
except to distribute tickets. 

Q. State whether or not the ('lection passed off in a qniet and 
orderly mann~r.-A. It did pass off very quietly during the day. 

Q. State wbether or not any olle was prevented, bindered, or ob­
structed in depositing their ballot for any particular caudidate.-A. 
None, sir. 

Q. State whether or not Democrats and Repuhlicans alike were snf­
fered to deposit their ballots without molestation.-A. There was no 
hinderance; all \Totetl together peaceably. 

Q. If there had b('en any binderance or interf('renc~ witb voters on the 
day of election wonld yon have heen aware of it '-A. I would, sir. 

Q. How many tickets were there distributed on t.he day of election f­
A. Tltree. 

Q. N:~me them.-A. One straight Repuhlican ticket, one straight 
Dt>mocratic ticket, and one outside ticket-a ticket imitating the Repub. 
liclln ticket. 

Q. D:d not this imitation ticket of wbicb yon speak so clo~ely resem­
ble tbe straight Republican ticket that p('rHons who could not read 
would be dt'Ct'ived into voting the ticket, believing it to be the Repub­
lican ticket t-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was that ticket distriblltt>d to Republicans nnder the pretense 
tbat it was a Republican ticket '-A. It was so, sir. . 

Q. Who was distributing these tickets in imitation of Repnblican 
tickets '-A. Mr. McFall, sir. . 

Q. Were tbere any other persons distributing these tickets io imita­
tion of the Republican tickets on the day of ell'ction '-A. None that I 
MW. . 

Q. Can yon describe tbis imitation ticket !-A. I can. 
Q. Please do so.-A. 'fhe same length, width, and same ink, except 

that the Repnblican ticket was printed on good, substantial, stiff paper, 
and tbe otber was on weak, sickly-looking paper, like the man that was 
issoing them out. 

Q. State wbetber the color of the ink was identical on each paper, 
and wbether the emblem was tbe sam e.-A. Each was red ink antI the 
Mme emblem, and no difference could be told except by one able to 
read. 

H. Mis. 11-29 
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Q. Was there any money offered or paid to any person to vote tbi. 
imitation tick~t f-A. Not to me or in my presence. 

Q. Did this imitation ticket contain the names of any Republicau 
candidate for officef-A. No, sir; it was headed .. Tilden aud Hlln· 
dricks." 

Q. State wh~ther or not this Democmt imitation ticket was beaded 
"Union 1W1Iublican ticket f "-A. I do not recollect how it was headed. 

Q. Do you know of any assanlt being made on Mr. }lcFall on the 
day of election f-A. I know of none; if any, it must ha\'e been a ... y 
from the polls. 

Q. Do yoo mean to say that you know of no one who distribotfd 
. Democratic tickets taken from tbe polls and beaten I-A. I know of DO 

one. 
Q. How did the Democratic vote at the last election compare with 

that 011 former years; was it larger or smaller I-A. Smaller. 
Q. What was the Democratic vote in former years f-A. I cannot say 

exactly. No colored man ever voted the Democratic ticket, to my know· 
ing, here, nor wouldn't. 

Q. If any colored man had offere(l to vote the Democratic tiektt, 
would he lJave been interfered with !-A. No, sir; every man 11'81 
allowed to vote 8S he pleased. 

(Coonsel for contestant expressed desire that wituesses be examioed 
separattlly and apart from each otber, and such request was acceded 10.) 

Cross,examined: 

Q. You were at the polls, yon say, all day '-A. I was there a little 
wbile after the polls opened until the vote was counted. 

Q. Were you there when the polls were opened I-A. I got there 
after they were opened. 

Q. AmI all that time the election passed oft· qnietly I-A. Yt's, sirj 
excel)t that Pollitzer was asked it' he W8S of age, aud insultt>d the 
crowd. 

Q. Do you say he insulted the crowd I-A. He ga,'e no satisfaction 
about his age. 

Q. Was }lr. Pollitzer there all day I-A. No, sir; he was there 100, 
enough to votl', and went off. 

Q. \Vere YOIl at the polls when he came tberef-A. I was, sir. 
Q. Were you there all the tim .. he was there !-A. I was there wben 

he rode up aud when he rode off. As he went away ho said he'd be 
damned it' he didn't do al\ be could against Hilton Head. 

Q. Did be emme back again !-A. I did not see him. 
Q. Was there any excitelDl'nt wbile h(~ was there!-A. Some of tbe 

people were 1I0t satisfied that he was of age, and thought thl'Y had a 
right to challenge him. 

Q. Did the colored pl'ople get pxcited !-A. No. 
Q. Were no tbreats made to Mr. PolIirzt'r I-A. Not tbat I bt'ard of. 
Q. If any threats had been made would yoo bave bearel them '-A. 

I should have heard them. 
Q. You never beard any threats offered wbile you were tbere !-A. 

No, sir. 
Q. No threats against anyhody '-A. I heard Done. 
Q. No cursing !-A. I paid 110 attention wbether there was or Dot any 

cursing. 
Q. You say there were thrt'e tickets there '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see llcl<'all distribute tbe imitation tickets f-A. I .... 

him issue two, one of which he gaye me on my asking for it. 
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Q. Why did yon ask for one I-A. I asked to se~ the imitation ticket 
and he gave me one. 

Q. Did he give yon the ticket in order that you might vote it '-A. 
No. sir, I had voted alrea<ly. 

Q. About what time of day was it '-A. Between eleven and twelve, 
I should think. 

Q. Who were the other persons he gave the tickets to '-A. Tom Bell 
and Jim Giles. 

Q. Did he give them openly'-A. He gave them openly, but they 
did not seem satisfied, and came to the window to ask if they were the 
right tickets, and that is how the cat got out of the bag. 

Q. What time was it '-A. Between eleven and twelve o'clock, 8S 
near as I can guess. 

Q. Was Mr. McFall here all day'-A. He was not. When he was 
detected in giving ont those imitation tickets he went up the road, and 
80Qn after men came up with those tickets and said a white man gave 
them Ol1t up the road, over the bridge. 

Q. Who did yon see come up the roa(l with these tickets I-A. I am not 
sore who they were. Men from the country. 

Q. What way did Mr. McFall leave f-A. I do not know. When he 
was detected. he went off. 

Q. Did you see him go f-A. I saw him go frOID where he was stand· 
ing up the st.reet. Was busy myself giving out tickets. 

Q. Did he go by himselft-A. I do not know. 
Q. Did you hear any pel'l:lOn cursing !Jim that day'-A. No sir, I did 

not. 
Q. Did yon hear anyone threaten him '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Had anyone threatened him or cursed him, would you have heard 

them '-A. I would while he was standing at the polls. 
Q. When you were asked about the heading of the imitation ticket, 

you spoke of the excitemt'nt breaking out; what do you mean by the 
excitement '-A. The imitation ticket being 80 exactly alike. 

Q. Then there was au excitement '-A. I mean the people were hov· 
ering around, looking at the imitation of the ticket; at the moment 
people thooght a grt'at many of them had got oot. 

Q. Was that the time McFall left f-A. He left directly after this 
excitement. 

Q. Did you hea.r any thrt'ats uttered during this excitement '-A. 
There were 110 thrt'ats. People got around asking to look at ODe of tbe 
tickets, laughing and talking. 

Q. Do you know Mr. William S. Draytou '-A.. I do. He was one of 
the managers of election. 

Q. Did you hear him read any paper during the election '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did he attempt to read any pl'per I-A. Not to my kuowiug. I 

was outside issuing tickets. 
Q. If he hBlI read Rny paper to the crowd would you have heard 

hilU T-A. From the time I came, I would. 
Q. Then you swear that lrom the tilDe you came Mr. Drayton read no 

paper to the crowd '-A. Not in my hearing. 
Q. And you were at the po]]s all dayt-A. From seven o'clock until 

the poll was counted. 
ALFRED NOBLE. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 211 day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL. SHEPARD D. GILBERT, 

Notar'/j Public, SQ~tt" Carolilla. 
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STATE OP SOUTH CAROLINA, 
OOUrtty of Beaufort: 

Personally appeare-d before me, Shepartl D. Gilbert, notary public, 
'V1LL1fM REED, a witness for tbe contestee, wbo, being duly sworn 
accordmg to law, depoKes and says: 

Question. State yoor age, name, reRidence, anet oooupation.-Au8wer. 
William Reed; aged 39, in November next; Hilton HMd is my resi· 
dence; by occupation a farmer. 

Q. Did you vote at the election held in N o\'em ber lastl-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Where did you vote'-A. At Hilton HeHd preciuct. 
Q. Is the-ra more than one precinct on Hilton Head Islaud '-A. I do 

not know of more than one. 
Q. III what capacity were you engaged ou the day of election !-A. 

As peace·officer. 
Q. How many kinds of tickets were distribute,l on the day of elec· 

tion f-A. I saw two kinds. 
Q. Wbat were they'-A. One red print Republican ticket, and one 

white Democratic ticket. 
(~. State whether or not there were any DemocNtic tickets on tbe 

dllY of election printed in imitation of the regular Republican ticket f­
A. No, sir; 1 never saw any distributed. 

Q. At what t,ime in the day did ~·ou arrive at the p01ls and at wbat 
time did yoo leave it T-A. At six o'clock ill the morning I arrived at tbe 
pollR, and left aftfor the pons were coootl'd in the eVl'ning. 

(Mr. Pollitzer being present, counsel for contestee requested bis 
withdrawal, inasmuch as he had been summolll'd as a witness for oon· 
testant, and had failed to appear, and might be called in rebuttal.) 

Q. State whether or not the ele-ction passed off in a quiet and orderly 
manner f-A. The election was quiet and orderly. 

Q. 'V .. re any complaints made to you as peact'·officer by any persons 
wbo had been interfered with while at the polls on the day of ell!Ction f 
-A. No, sir. 

Q. Was there any interterence or hinderance on the port of any per· 
son or persons against those who desired to vote the Democratic ticketf 
-A. None, sir. 

Q. Was there anyone at tht> polls on the day of election distributing 
Dt'Ulocratic ticketsl-A. I saw the ticket, but did not aee who was dis· 
tl'ibllting it. 

Q. Did you see :Mr. McFall on the day of ell'ction '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Where did Jon see him I-A. At the poll; he ""311 the second man 

who voted after I got there. 
Q. Was he assaulted in any manner, by anyone, while he was in tbe 

l"icinity of the polls '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was there any violence uNel1 against any peJ'tlOn while in the 

vicinity of tbe polls on the day of the election f-A. None, sir. 
Q. Was any person appointed to distrihute Democratic tickets to 

voters on the day of the election captured by Republicans and carried 
away from the 11011 or injured in Rny manner !-A. None, tbat I knOll" of. 

Q. If auy person blld been interfered with, hindered, or obstroctt'd 
in allY manner, or drit"en away from the pont' while yon were tbere, 
would you have known of it t-A. Yl'S, sir, I would j but there was 
no olle. 

Q. Had any colored man attempted to vote the Democratic ticket 
would he hal"e been interfered with' 

(Ohjccted to.) 
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A. No, sir, I guess not; he wouldn't, because the boys did 8S they 
pleased. 

Cross examined : 
Q. Yon say you were a peace· officer. What was your authority '-A. 

I "BS a trialjuRtice constable, appointed to keep peace at the polls. 
Q. Did Mr. McFall remaiu at tbe polls all day'-A. He did not reo 

maio at the polls all day. 
Q. Did you see him leave '-A. Yes, sir; I saw him walk off some· 

where. 
Q. Do you know why he left '-A. No, sir; I do not know tha reason. 
Q. Was there any excitement in the vicinity of the polld before he 

left I-A. No, sir. . 
Q. Did you hear any talk about the imitation Democratic ticket !-

.\. No. sir. 
Q. Did you 800 Mr. Pollitzer on that day'-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did YOIl llee him vote !-A. Yes, sir; I saw him vote. 
Q. Did anyone object to his Yote I-A. No, sir; no one objected in 

oy prt'8ence. 
Q. If anyone haclohjected would you have known ofitf-A. I ShOllli1 

18Ve known of it; I was back and forward fl'om the store all the time. 
Q. Do yoo know Mr. W. ~. Drayton '-A. Yc>s, sir. 
Q. Was he a manager of the electiou Y-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you bear him l'ead any papal' that daJ 7-A. No, sir; he was 

o8i1le and I was outside. 
Q. Were you there wben Dr. Wilder came '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was tbere any excitement at the polls wben be came I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was everything perftmtly quiet !-A. It was; he asked me if all 

raK quiet, and I told him it was. 
Q. Do you knO\v Nathaniel Lightburn '-A. Yes, sir; I have been 

cqoaillted with bim a few days, since be left his ship. 
Q. Did you know him the day of the election, by sight !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did be vote at tbe election I-A. Not so far as I know; be did 

ot vote iu my presence. 
Q. Do you know wbetber he attempted to vote !-A. Yo, sir; I do 
III 
Q. Was there aoy dispnte at the polls about bis voting !-A. No, sir; 
tbere bad bet>n any dispute at the I)OnS I should have known be at­
impted to vote. 
Q. Was tbere any threatening language used that day at the polls t 
·A. Yo, sir; not ill my presence. 
Q. Did you bear anyauusi,-e language used against any one'-A. 
D, sir. 

Redirect: 
Q. Was1\Ir. Lightburn a resident anll citizen of Hilton Head and en­
It'd to vote bere' 
(Objected to.) 
A. I bad opinion be ought not to vote as he hadn't been ashore loog 
1011gb. 
Q. Do YOIl know in what capacity be bad been employed before 
ruillg to Bilton Head '-A. No, sir; 1 do not. 

hla 
WILLIAM + REED. 

mark. 
Sworn aod subscribed before me this 211 day of April, A. D.IB77. 
[suL.J SHEPARD D. GILBEUT. 

Notary Public, South Carolina. 
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STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA. 
Oounty of Beaufort: 

Personally appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary public, 
SUION GRANT, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn, de· 
poses and says: 

Questiou. State yonr name, age, residence, and occopation.-AIl8wer. 
Simon Grant; aged thirty-five; residence Hilton Head precinct; afarmer 
by occupation. 

Q. Did you vote on the day of election f-A. I did. 
Q. Where did yon vote f-A. At Mitchellville. 
Q. How long did you remain at the polls t-A. From seven to foor. 
Q. Was there any person distributing Democratic ticketa at the polls 

while Jon were present '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Who were they t-A. Mr. McFall. 
Q. What kind of a ticket t Describe its general appearance.-A. He 

had olle straight-ont Democratic ticket, and another ticket looked jU8t 
like the Republican ticket; yon would not know it, except you could read. 

Q. Were there the names of' any Uepublic8ns printed on this imitation 
ticket '-A. On the top of the ticket was printed the words" Union Be­
pn blican." 

Q. Were the names printed on thb ticket the names of Democrats or 
Republicans Y-A. They were naml'ls of Democrats. 

Q. State whether or not Mr. McFall offered yon one of these imitation 
tickets as the straight Republican ticket.-A. After I had refused the 
straight-ont Democratic ticket, he offered me one of these imitation 
tickets, saying, " Bere is one of your lU-puhlican tickets." 

Q. Was it a Republican ticket '-A. It was not. 
Q. How did you discover it was not a Republican ticket t-A. Byex­

amining it. I read the names. 
Q. If yon had not read the ticket would yon not have voted it. think­

ing it to be the Republican ti(lket I-A. I wouhl have voted it, thinking 
it to be the Republican ticket. 

Q. Do you know of any interference by any person with those who 
attempted to vote the Democratic ticket t-A. No, Ilir. 

Q. Were there allY threats made or violence offered to Democrats by 
Repu blicans \V hile in the vicinity of the polls on the day of the election' 
-A. Not in my presence; Dot that I know of. 

Q. Were you at the polls all the time between seven and four o'clock t 
-A. Not very far from the pons, as I was distributing tickets. 

Q. If there had been any violence offered to any person, would yoo 
have been likely to have seen it t --A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you know of any person appointed to distribnte tickets to De!D­
ocratic voters, captnred or carried away from the polls, or beateu or ID­

jured by Republicans '-A. No, sir; not that I know of. 
Q. Do you know why Mr. McFall left the polls on the day of election' 

-A. I do uot know. After his ticket was found oot he went away ; after 
staoding awhile I heard that he and some women had some difficulty 
over at Drayton's. 

Q. How far from the polls i8 Drayton's t-A. About a quarter of • 
milt'. 

Q. Did Mr. McFall live at the Drayton place '-A. I do not kno .. 
where he lived. 

Q. This was after he left the polls t-A. After he had left the polls. 
Oros8-examined : 

Q. Who was with you when McFall gave you the ticket '-A. No one 
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was nearer than five feet, which was the distance of Mr. McFall and 
others from me. 

Q. Did you ask him for a ticket !-A. No, sir; McFall asked me if I 
wanted to vote; I told him yes, and he gave me one of his tickets. 

Q. Were yon distributing Republican tickets at the time !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you have Republican tickets in your hands I-A. I had a few 

of them. 
Q. Did l\'fr. 1tlcFall see those tickets !-A. I suppose so; he could not 

help 8f'eing them. 
Q. You coultl n>oo and did read the imitation t.icket when he gave 

it to you f-A. I did, sir. 
Q. What did you do. when be gave it to you and you bad read it!­

A. I took it and gave it to the rest of the men. 
Q. Did it cause any gleat excitement when yon sbowed it to tbem!­

A. Not very great. 
Q. Did it make tbem angry!-A. Not many, for they appeared to 

know what it was. 
Q. Did ~'ou see anyone allgry aboot itt-A. No, sir. 
Q. You heard 110 I"xpression used about itt-A. What I heard gen· 

erally used was, "That is a Democrat ticket, and I don't want it." 
Q. Did yoo 8ee Mr. McFall leave !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know why he left f-A. I don't know, sir. 
Q. How long after he showed you that ticket before he leftT-A. 

About an hour. 
Q. Did you hear anyone say what be got into the difficulty with the 

women about !-A. No, sir; I beard no one say. 
Q. \Vhpn did you hear about this difficnlty!-A. About a quarter of 

an honr after be left. 
Q. Did you ask anyone what the difficulty was about I-A. Not any 

one at all. 
Q. Did you see anyone vote a Democratic ticket that day !-A. Yes, 

sir. 
Q. Whom did you see vote it !-A. I saw McFall himself vote it. 
Q. At what time did he vote it I-A. He voted it about eight o'clock 

in the morning. 
Q. About an bour after yon got here'-A: Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see many ,'ote before he did '-A. A good many of the 

boys I saw voting. 
Q. The \'oting had got under way, then, before you got there '-A. 

y('~, sir. 
Q. W('re you there when Mr. Pollitzer voted !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see him vote !-A. I saw him at the wiudow, and thought 

be was voting tben. 
Q. How near were you to bim'-A. Abont twenty feet from him. 
Q. Was anything !laid ahout biB voting'-A. A man was speaking 

to him about ages. Don't know wbether he asked tbe man or tbe man 
askf.'d him. 

Q. Was there any interference to prevent his voting!-A. He had 
alr('ady voted. 

Q. Who was th~ man he was talking witht-A. I do not know. 
Q. Did you bear anyone use any insulting language '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you bear anyone challenge bis vote before he put it in I-A 

No, sir. 
Q. Were you at the polls when Dr. Wilder caDle up!-A. I was there. 
Q. Was there any excitement there at that timet-A. Not except 

tbe talk between Mr. Pollitzer and tbe man with whom he was talking 
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about ages. He heard the man ask Mr. Pollitzer if he was a citizen of 
the island. I heard Mr. Pollitzer say he would vote where hp. damllfd 
please. 

Q. You heard no threats against )Ir. Pollitzer'-A. None that I kno1l" 
of. 

Q. Do you koow Mr. W. S. Drayton !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know at what time he re.ad a paper!-A. I do not. I Will 

bosy outside. 
bis 

SIMON + GRANT. 
mark. 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 2cl day of April, A. D. 18n. 
[8li:A.L.] SHEPAI~D D. GILBERT, 

Notary Public, &ut1& Oaron ... 
STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 

Oounty of Beaufort: 
Per!lonaHy appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert. notary JIIlhlie. 

EDWARD :MURRAY, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworo 
according to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your namE', age, residence. and occopation.-Answt'r. 
Edward Murray; residence on Hilton Head; aged about tweuty-eigbt 
years; by occupation" farmer. 

Q. Did you vote on the last election held in November I-A. I did 
vow. 

Q. Where did you vote !-A. At Mitchellville. 
Q. Iu what capacity wel'e you employed on the day of the election t­

A. To digtribute tickets. 
Q. How many different kinds of tickets were there '-A. Three. 
Q. What were they!-A. One straight·out RE'lmblican ticket, Ollf 

straight-out Democratic ticket, and one imitation ticket. 
Q. Was this imitation ticket printed in the same colored ink 8S rbtl 

straight Republican ticket !-A. J don't know. 
Q. Did you see any disturbance on the day of election at or near tht 

polls !-A. I did not. 
Q. Was allY one interfered with in the exerci~ of their right tovott"­

A. No, sir; no one was interfered with at all. Every man cast bl' 
ballot as he dE'sired on that day. . 

Q. At what time did yon arrive at the pons tbat morning f-A. At 
ei~ht o'clock. 

Q. What time did you leave !-A. I left at five o'clock. 
Q. Was any persons appointed to distribute Democratic ticktts tap­

tured by Republicans, or driven away from tbe poUs, bt>atE'n, or other· 
wise injured or insulted !-A. No, sir; I saw none of that done. , 

Q. If any such interference had hapIM.'ned would you bs\'e kno1f11 
it I-A. I should have, as I was there trom ~ven to five. 

Q. Were you away from the polls doring those hours !-A. l.-asSNI 
away. 

Q. Were thn>ats made against Democrats at the polls on the clAY o~ 
election !-A. No threats were made against Democrat8 or Repoblicautl 

Cross·examined: 
Q. Oan you read f-A. I can, a little. . 
Q. Did you read any of the tickets I-A. I read some of tbe tickets:­
Q. How did yon know the imitation ticket I-A. By looking after ItJ 
Q. Who gave roo the one yoo had '-A. ODe of tbe boys gave it to 

me to read for him. 
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Q. Did anyone get mad about it t-A. No one did. Took it easy and 
cool. 

Q. Then this ticket did not deceive anybody '-A. It did not deceive 
me. I cannot say whether it deceived othel'8 or not. 

Q. Then no one was angry about it '-A. No, sir; no one was angry. 
Q. Did you hear any olle say anything to McFall abont it '-A. No; 

I beard nothing said to McFall. 
Q. Did JOU see anyone vote the Democratic ticket '-A. I did not. 
Q. Did you hear any dispute during t1.le whole day '-A. I did not 

hear any dispute. 
Q. Did you hear of auy difficulty between 1\lr. McFall and some 

women '-A. I did not. 
Q. Then tbere was no excitement at or near the polls at all '-A. 

No, sir; none at all. 
EDWARD MURRAY. 

Sworn and Rubscribed b(~fore me this 2d day of April, A. D. 1877. 
lSEAL.] SHEPARD D. GILBERT, 

Notary Public, Buutl, Ourotina. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

Oounty of Beaufort: 
TUESDAY, April 3, 1877. 

Pf'rsonally appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary public, 
PU<ENIX UOBINSON, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly SWOl'll 
according to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State ~'OUl' name, age, place of residence, and occupation.­
Answer. Phrellix Robinson; aged thirty.tour; l'eside on Hilton Head, 
.Marshland plantation; a planter b.v occupation. 

Q. Did JOU vote at t1.le last election, hdll last NO"ember i-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. At what precinct did JOu vote '-A. At Mitchellville, liiltl)n Head 
IslAnd. 

Q. At what time diel you arrive at the poll It, anll how long did you 
remain 1-A. I arrived at eight o'clock in tbe morning anti was here till 
five in the atternoon; then w~nt away and returlled agaill. 

Q. Wert~ you at the poHtlaIl the time betw~en eig1.lto'clock and five ,­
A. I was in sight of the polls all of the time. 

Q. Were yon near enough to the I'0l1s dm'ing that time to see and 
bear all that transpired a.t the polls all of the time '-A. I WRS. 

Q. How many diff~l'ent kind of tickets were there at the polls on the 
day of election '-A. There were two kind of tickets out in the morning, 
one a Republicall and one a. Democrat. 

Q. Was there another ticket. '-A. Yes, sir; there was one came out 
about nine o'clock. 

Q. Describe that ticket.-A. It was an imitation ticket, precisely like 
the Republican ticket. It was one width and one length, and beaded 
"Union Hepublican." 

Q. Did this imitation tick"t, headed" Union Republican ticket," con­
tain the names of auy Repuhlicans '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Is this the regular Republican ticket and is this the imitation 
ticket' (Handing witness tickets hereto annexed, as follows.) 

• 
UNION REPUBLICAN TICKET. 

For President.-Samuel J. Tilden. 
For Vice-P1"eIIident.-ThomRS A. Hendricks. 
}'or President·ial electors At large: Theo. G. Barker, Samuel McGowan. First. dis· 

trict. John W. Harrington. Second district, John Isaac Ingram. Tbird diAtrict, Witl· 
iam Wallace. Fonrth district, John B. Erwin. Fifth dilltrict, Robt:rt Aldrich. 
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For govenlor.-Wade Hampton. 
}'or lieutenant-governor.-W. D. SimplKln. 
}'or secretary of atate.-R. M. Sima. 
}'or comptroller·general.-J ohnsou Hagood. 
For State treaaurer.--B. L. Leaphart. 
For attorney-general.-James Couner. 
For State auperintendent of education.-H. S. Thompson. 
For adjutant and inapector-general.-E. W. Moise. 
For Forty-fifth Congreaa, fifth diatrict.-G. D. Tillman. 
For solicltor,a8COud circnit.-F. Hay Gantt. 
For State senator.-William Elliott. 
}'or house of repreBentatives.-James W. Moore, John Lawton, C. J. C. HatiOn, 

Dauiel Washingt.on, Abram P. Jenkins, William J. Gooding. 
Sherift'.-Owen F. Dnke. 
For clerk of court.-H. G. Jndd. 
For judge of probate.-Charlea E. Bell. 
}'or achool commiaaioner.-H. F. Buckner. 
For connty commiaaioners.-Henry R. Williams, William Ru_II, Cupid Heyward. 
}'or corouer.-W. S. Waahington. 
Constitutional amcndment-YES. 

UNION REPUBLICAN TICKET. 

}o'or Preaident.-Rutherford B. Hayes. 
}'or Viee-Preaideut.-William A. Wheeler. 
}'or Preaidential electors.-At large: Chriatopher C. Bowen, John Winsmitb. Fi!,' 

district, Thomas H. Johnaton. Second distl'ict. Timothy Hnrley. Third district, Will· 
iam B. NRllh. Fourth IHstrict, Wilson Cook. Fifth dislrict, William F. Myen. 

For governor.-Daniel H. Chamberlain. 
}'or lient.enant-governor.-Richard H. Gleaves. 
}'or MCcretary of state.-Henry E. Hayne. 
For comptroller-general.-Thomas C. Dunn. 
For State treasurer ·-}'rancis L. Cardozo. 
}'or attorney-general.-Robert B. Elliott. 
For State superintendent of education.-John R. Tolbert. 
}'or adjutaut and inspector general.-JalUes Kennedy. 
For }'orty-flft.h Congreaa, fifth dilltrict.-Robert SmaHs. 
For solicitor, second cirenit.-Samnel J. Lee. 
For State aenate.--Bamuel Green. 
For houae ofrepresentativea.-Tbomaa Hamilton, llastings Gantt, Joaepb RobiDIOD, 

George A. Reed, Nathaniel B. Myers, Thomas E. Miller. 
For sheriff.-William Wilson. 
For clerk of conrt.--Bamnel J. Bampfield. 
For jndge of probate.-A. B. Addison. 
}'or IIchool commill8ioner.-l'howas H. \Vheeler. 
For county colllmiaaiouers.-Robert J. Martin, Renty F. Greaves, Vincent 8. SeoH. 
For coroner.-Allen W. Muckenfuaa. 
Constitutional amendmeut-YES. 

A. Tbey are tbe tickets. 
Q. Were these the tickets utled on the day o..f election '-A. The ~ 

publicau ticket was uKed in tbe morning ancl also a tltraight Dem~ral1c 
ticket. Tbe other, the imitation Republican ticket, was nt!ed later In the 
dl\~, about nine o'clock or after. 

Q. Who was it distributed tbis fraudulent ticket in imitation of tbe 
Republican ticket t-A. Mr. McFall. 

Q. Were there auy persons, Republicans, who had recei\'ed these 
tickets under the b6lief that they were Republica.n tickets' 

(Objected to.) 
A. A person could not tell that they were not Repnblican tickets 

unless they could read the names and see the difference between tboee 
called Republicans and Democrats. • . 

Q. Was there any oue beside Mr. McFall distributing DemocratIc 
tickets '-A. No one except Mr. McFall. . . 

Q. Did he distribnte these fraudulent Democratic tickets as RepublI· 
can tickets '-A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. How were they discovered '-A. An old citizen, named Thomas 
Bell, a very particular old man, had one given him by Mr. McFall. He 
brought it to the window and asked Mr. Gardner, a manager of elec· . 
liou. if that was right. Mr. Gardner did not read the ticket. but looked 
at the heading. and told him it was. He then did not vote, but took 
the ticket to Renty Greaves, and asked him to read the ticket to him, 
as he got it from Mr. McFall. Mr. Greaves read the ticket, and found 
(lut it was "Tilden and Hendricks." and then the alarm was made that 
there were three tickets in the field. 

Q. How long did Mr. McFall remain in the vicinity of the polls after 
this coonterfeit ticket had be~n discovered '-A. Mr. McFall was not at 
the polls then. The people were coming up rapidly. and Mr. McFall 
was at a store three or four hundred yards from the polls. 

Q. Was there any insults or tbreats made or violence offeredllr. 
McFall while he was in thA vicinity of the polls by Republicans '-A. 
No, sir; there was no olle made disturbance towards him, one way or 
the other, while he had the straight Democratic ticket. When the 
other ticket was discovered he was away from the polls. 

Q. Was any person or persons appointed to distribute Democratic 
tickets to Democratic voters captured, carried away from the polls, 
beaten, insnlted, or threatened in any manner f-A. No one at all, sir. 
~othing of the kind arotlnd this poll. 

Q. Was any Democrat interfered with in any manner while at the 
polls or attempting to vote '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Wer~ any of the managers applied to by Mr. llcFall for protec­
tion t-A. No, sir. 

Q. Do you know of any person having been interfered with or threat­
ened because of their political opinion, prior to or subsequent to the 
election, on Hilton Head '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Were yon present at the polls when Mr. Lightburn offered to 
vote !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did he vote i-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know the reason why he did uot deposit his ballot '-A. 

No,8ir. 
Q. Do you know whether or not his right to vote at this precinct was 

qnestioned !-A. No, sir. 
Q. Had he desired to cast his ballot would he have been interfered 

wit.h t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was there allY distnrbance of any kind at the polls on the day of 

election f-A. No, sir. 
Q. 'Vas anybody appointed to examine by Republicans '-A. No, Rir. 
Q. 'Yere any tickets examined by Republicans, to your knowledge, 

£'xcept at the request of persons who could not read '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Were any threats of any kind made on the day of election against 

persons who wanted to vote the Democratic ticket '-A. No, sir; every· 
body voted as they chose. 

Q. Were you present at the polls when Mr. Pollitzer and Mr. Klein 
eame to vote '-A. No, sir, not directly at the polls, but I saw them 
colDe up. 

Q_ Do you know whether Mr. McFall returned to the polls again after 
he left '-A. I never ~w him. 

Q. Do ,ou know where he went to '-A. No, sir. 
Q. What was the vote at Hilton Head at the last elect.ion '-A. I do 

Dot know directly; I know what the Democratic vote was. 
Q. \Vhat was the Democratic vote' -A. Three white Democratic 

,"otes. 
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Q. Do you know how many white voters there are on the ialandf-A. 
No, sir. 

Q. How many wbite Republican votes are there !-A. Three. 
Q. Do you know of any disturbance taking place between 80Dle 

women and Mr. McFall !-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you see or hea.r of Mr. Drayton leaving bis seat as a manager 

and coming out to read tberiot act, or anythingof that kind, to the pel)­
plat-A. No, sir, not in my presence. 

Q. Were any of the people armed with sticks or clubs, or any kind of 
weapons, any time during the day '-A. No, sir; I saw nothing of tilt 
kind aronnd the poH-not in the village. 

Gross·examined : 
Q. You say yon reached the pon at eight o'clock t-A. Yes. sir. 
Q. Bow do yon know t-A. I met Mr. Greaves and asked him, aDd 

he looked at his watch and toltl me, as I dismounted at the poDs. 
Q. Did yon see Mr. McFall vote t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was he at the polls when you camet-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did yon see him leave I-A. No, Kir. 
Q. ))0 you know when he leftt-A. No, sir. 
Q. How do you know McFall issued the imitation Republican ticke\1-

A. Because the man who ha.d it said he got it from McFall. 
Q. Who told yon so t-A. Thomas Bell. 
Q. What time was this t-A. About Dine o'clock or after; late ill Ule 

day. 
Q. Why do you say latC:" Only an hour after you got there t-A. , 

The poll opened at six. and it was some time after. I 

Q. Bad McFall gone away t-A. Be was missing. I don't kuo" 
where he had gone. 

Q. Did you see McFall issue Democrati~ tickets t-A. No; I saW' him 
issuing tickets. ! 

Q. How long did yon see him issuing tiokets after you got there I-A. I 

About half aD hour, I allow. 
Q. Were all of the votes open before they were put in the box I-A. 

No, sir, Dot 11.8 1 kDOW; Dot to show them 6XCt'I>t for their own satWac· , 
tion. I 

Q. You say McFall was not at the polls when this ticket was i88ued I­
A. 1 say he was away fmm the polls. 

Q. Was there any talk about this ticket before McFall left f-A. ~o. 
si~ I 

Q. Was McFall there when Pollitzer and Klein came to vote I-A. I 
do not know. 

Q. At what time did tbey come t-A. I do not know. 
Q. You saw them comet-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. WS$ it twelve o'clock t-A. 1 don't know, sir. ! 

Q. Was it bt'fol'e or after this ticket was shown that they \"oted '-A. I 
Tbey voted before Tf)m Bell showed this ticket. 

Q. You say it was nine when this ticket was sbown I-A.. About Dine, 
as far as I can tell. 'I 

Q. Do you know what time it was when this imitation ticket ~ 
ont I-A. I do not·. I think it was nine or after. 

Q. What do you mean by " after 1"-A. I don't know whetber it ns 
niue or ten. 

Q. Do you know if it was eleven I-A. I don't know whether it 11'181 
nine or ten. 

Q. Do you know when Dr. Wilder camel-A. I saw him wbeD be 
came. 
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Q. Was that before or after Mr. Pollitzer voted f-A. I think Mr. 
Pollitzer had looted the first time Dr. Wilder came; it was the fifst time 
I saw Dr. Wilder. 

Q. You were not at the polls the whole timef-A. No; it was not 
my business to see every person that came. 

Q. Was there any f!Xcitement at the polls when Dr. Wilder came 
np t-A. No, sir; I saw none. 

Q. Were you neaf the polls when he camet-A. About sixty yards 
from the polls. 

Q. Did yoo hear him say anythingf-A. No, sir. 
Q. Bad there bt'en any excitement ut the polls when Dr. Wilder 

came, woold yon have known it f-A. If there had been a riot I would 
have known it. 

Q. What do yon mt'an by a riot f-A. I mean if any person wanted 
to fight, and other persons tried to prevent tbem. 

Q. Did YOll bear any angry remarks made about this imitation 
ticket T-A. No, sir. 

Q. Was it before or after Tom Bell showed yon tbis ticket tbat Dr. 
Wilder came opt-A. He came up after. 

Q. }lcFall was not about the l)olls after Dr. Wilder came f-A. I did 
not see him. 

Q. 'Did yon hear any talk at tbe polls when Mr. Pollitzer came to 
vote t-A. I did not. I think I was not near enough unless he bad 
hollered. I was resting myself side of the fence. 

Q. Bow near to the polls were you when Ligbtburn offered to vote f­
A. Ahout forty-five yal'tls. 

Q. How do you know he did not vote f-A. Because I beard he did 
'not vote. 

Q. Did you see him go up to the polls f-A. I saw bim come toward 
the window, but not as if be was going to deposit bis ballot. 

Q. Did you hear any discullsion going Otl while be was tberet-A. 
No, sir. . 

Q. If tbere bad been any discussion woold you baye bear it f-A. 
Yf'S, sir. 

Q. Was tbere any excitement at the polls wbile be was there f-A. 
No, sir. 

Q. Was there any E'xcitemcnt at the polls at any time while yon were 
tbere t-A. No, sir. 

Q. Ditl you bear of any disturbance between women and McFall f­
A. I hpard a talk about it. 

Q. Wbat dill you hE'ar f-A. I beard in tbe afternoon tbat Mr. McFall 
and some women had a talJgle in the cane-patch. 

Q. Do you know at what time it took place f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you see Tom Bell show tbe ticket to Gardllflrf-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see him show it to Greavellf-A. Yes, sir. . 
Q. How far was Greaves from Gardner t-A. Greaves was aboot 

25 feet distant from the polls where Gardner was. 
Q. no you know why Bell carried it to Grea\'es after Gardner h3.d 

told bim it was all right f-A. It was because Gardner did not read it, 
I believe. 

Q. Bow do you know Gardner did Dot read itt-A. I did Dot see him 
take it out of Bell's band. 

Q. Then yoo don't know wbether Gardner read it or DotY-A. No, 
sir. 
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Redirect: 
Q. How far is the cane· patch from the polls '-A.. One·quarter or a 

mile. 
Q. Did you hear the cause of the disturbance betweeu McFall and 

the women' 
(Objected to.) 
A. I heard Mr. McFall was trying to get one of the women oft". 
(Couosel for cont{!stee asks the foregoing questiou in explanation of 

an answer made by witnesses on cross·examination with refereuce to 
same matter.) 

Q. Then the disturbance between Mr. McFall and these women had 
nothing to do with the election I-A. No, sir. 

Recross·examination: 
Q. Who told you this'-A. I do not remember who told me; nOODe 

told me ill particular; I heard it around from one to another. 
Q. Where were yon when you first heard it '-A. Over on )Ir. Gard· 

ner's stoop; chUdrfln and other people were talking it over. 
Q. What time of day was it you heard it '-A. I do not know'\fha: 

time of day. 
Q. Was it bt'fore five o'clock or after'-A. It was before five o'clock. 
Q. Before the poll waa closed '-A. Yes, sir. 

, 
hi. 

PHOENIX + ROB~SON. 
mark. 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 3d of April, A. D. 18;7. 
[SEA.L.) SHEPARD D. GILBERT, 

Notary Public, &Jut" Oaroli.a. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA., 

Oounty of Beaufort: 
Pt'rsonal1y appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary public, 

THOMAS FRASER, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn a-} 
cording to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupatiOD.-A. 
Thomas Fraser; born in 1847, September 11; reside on Lawton plaD· 
tation, Hilton Head Island; planter by occupation. 

Q. Did you vote at the election held the 7th of ]ast November !-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Where did you vote '-A. At Mitchellville, Hilton Bead. 
Q. How long were you at or Dear the polls on that day f-A. Aboa' 

ten or fifteen minutes. 
Q. At what time in the day '-~. Between flight and nine o'clock. 
Q. Was there any disturbance at the polls while you were preseot~­

A. No, sir; everything was right quiet. 
Q. Did you see any person distributing Democratic tickets that day 

at the polls '-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you get any Democratic tickets from any person '-A.. Yes. 

sir' I got two from Mr. McFall. 
Q. Was the cause of the disturbance between Mr. McFall and some 

women at the Drayton place a matter of common report and COD\"'ersa· 

tion' 
(Objected to.) 
A. It was common among children and grown people. 
Q. Stute what it was. 
(Oluected to.) 
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A.. I beard they had a riot and great talking between the women 
and Mr. McFan. I heard he asked a woman indecent quet;tions, and she 
went oft' and told otherI.'!; so they began to talk about it. 

Q. Wbat do you mean by riot t-A. I mean a great, aloud talking. 
Q. Bow far was this from the pons '-A. About a quarter of a mile. 
Q. Then this disturbance had nothing to do with the election, had it'-

Lk* . 
Q. WhHe you were at the pons was Rny person interfered with, hin· 

dered, or obstructed in any manuer from casting their ballots '-A. No, 
sir. 

Q. Do you know of any person appointed to distribute Democratic 
tickets being driven from the polls, insulted, or injured '-A. No, sir. 

Q. SO far as you observed was it a frfle and fair elt'Ction f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were any of the voters compelled to show their tickets before vot­

iOJr. by anyone f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you Ree any persou or persons talking with l\lr. McFall wbiJe 

you were at the polls; if so, were they pleasant and good-natured in 
tbl'ir conversation '-A. No, sir; everything went on lovely while I was 
here. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. You say McFall gave you two tickets; what sort of tickets were 

they T-A. They we-re in red ink, in imitation of the Republican ticket. 
Q. How far were you from the polls when McFall gave you these 

tickets f-A. About ten or twelve feet. • 
Q. Did you ask him for them '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see him give them to anybody else t-A. No, sir. 
Q. What made you ask him for them 7-A. I saw him sitting down 

witb them in his hand, and thought I would ask him to let me look at 
them. 

Q. And he gave you two of them '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you read them f-A. Yes, sir; I only looked at the heading 

oftbem. 
Q. What did you do with them t-A. I gave them to a gentleman to 

look at, and have not seen ~hem since. 
Q. To what gentleman f-A. Peter Hamilton, who lives over at Daw­

faskie. 
Q. Dad you heard of these imitation tickets before you asked for 

them !-A. Yes, sir; I had heard that there were two tickets in the field. 
Q. What do you mean by two Y-A. One Democratic and one Repub. 

lican I1traigh t ticket. 
Q. Was there any tnlk made about these tickets be gave you t-A. I 

did not bear anybody talk much about them. 
Q. You hearu no angry expression !-A. I did not, sir. 

THOMaS FRAZERE. 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 3d day of April, A. D. 1877. 
ISEAL.) SHEPARD D. GIIJBERT, 

Notary Public, 8out/~ Carolina. 
STATE OP SOUTH CAROLINA., 

County of Beaufort: 
Personally appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary public, 

FREDERICK ORAGE, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn 
accQrding to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 
lIy name is Fred~rick Orage. I will be twenty·two years old in 1\Iay 
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coming; residence, Pope plantation, Hilton Head Island; a farmer by 
occupation. 

Q. Did you vote at the election held on the 7th of last November!­
A. Y t'M, lIir. 

Q. Wb.ere did tOil voteT-A.. At Mitchellville, Hilton Head. 
Q. When did you arrive at the polls and at what time did yon 

leave T-A. I arrived about nine o'clock and I .. it about half past ODI'. 
Q. Did you see Mr. McFall distributing tickeht at the polls on that 

day t-A. Yes, sir. , 
Q. How many kinds of tickets did Mr. McFall have T-A. Two. 
Q. State whether or not they were both Democratic tickets.-A. 

Yes, sir. 
Q. Describe them.-A. He had a papt'r with a Union Republir.1o 

ticket on top, with an eagle with the word" Victory," wbich was,hte 
the Rt-publican ticket, in red ink. 

Q. Did he ofter you one of those imitation tickets as the re.gular Re­
publican tickt't T-A. Yt's, sir; he offered Ole one when I first came up. 

Q. Did be pay you any monpy to vote that ticket as the RepublicaD 
ticket !-A. Yes, sir; he paid me $1. 

Q. Did you vote that ticket T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Then you took his money, and voted the Republican tickeU-.!. 

A. Yes, sir; be gave me three of them, and I tore one of tbem up, and 
gal"e one to Ort-aves, and the other one I kt'pt. 

9, Describe these three tickets.-A. The first was a black.priD~ 
ticket, the next was one just like the Republican ticket, the third one 
was a true Republican ticket. 

Q. Did he pay you this mon .. y to vote this frandulent Demoeratie 
ticket in imitation of the Ht'publican ticket, or to vote sowe other I 

ticket T-A. He gave it to me to vote the Democratic ticket. 
Q. From wholD did you get ~he ticket that you voted T-A. From llr. 

Renty Greaves. I 

Q. Would YOIl have bet'n prevented from voting the Demooratictieket 
if JOU had felt so disposed !-A. No, sir. 

Q. Was it generally known by Republicans that you had this imita· 
tion ticl,et in your possession before you had. voted '-A. Yes, sir. I 

Q. 'W't're any threats made or ,yiolence off~red to you by RepobliWls 
that prevented you from voting this imitation Republican ticket '-.1. 
No, sir. I 

Q. Then you could ha"e voted n. Democratic ticket openly, withoQt 
fear of molestation or violenoo,'could you not !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was any person illtel·ft.>rp.d with, insulted, or threatened becaD~ 
of their political opinions 011 the day of the election !-A. No, sir. I 

Q. Was any person who distributed Democratic tickets on tbe day of 
"lection captured. carried away from the polls, u6l\ten, injured, or threat­
ened in allY way T-A. No, sir. I 

Q. Was Mr. McFall treatt'd kindly and good natumJly by Repub­
licans while be was in the vicinity of the poUsT-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was thp.re any disturbance of any kind wbile .you were at the 
polls t-A. No, sir. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Were there many people at the polls when yon got there t-A. I 

Yell, sir; there were a good many. 
Q. Were there many there all the time you were there '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How long after you got there did YOIl meet Mr. MeFall I-A. Be 

was the first oue I met at Mr. Gardner'1i dtore. I 
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Q. In wbat part of the store was he f-A. In the first part of tbe 

gardflll.way. . 
Q. What did be say to yon f-A. He called me and asked me if I 

wanted to vote. 
Q. Did he know you before f-A. No, sir. 
Q. How flid he call you, thpn t-A. Tbere were two or three men with 

bim, and when I came \tI' he called us in a cornpr of the garden. 
Q. What did be say f-A. He said if I wanted to vote he would give 

me a ticket. 
Q. Did he say anything else f-A. Yo, sir; not to me. 
Q. What other men were with you f-A. John Grant aud Ned Wigg 

and Aaron Christopher. 
Q. After he said that to yoo, wbat did you do f-A. I walked off from 

bim after I fonnd out he ba.d Democratic tickets. 
Q. Did you make any answer to him before you walked offt-A: No, 

sir. 
Q. Wbere did you go tben f-A. I came np to the poll. 
Q. Did you vote tbt'n f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Wben did you vote '-A. I voted a little while after I bad spoken 

with bim. 
Q. Bow long after !-A. I think abont thrpe·quartprs of an hour. 
Q. Did you see him again before JOU voted f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Where did you see him '-A. Near !Ir. Gardner's door. 
Q. How far from you was be '-A. He was no distance from me. I 

was going up tbe stellS he was sitting upon. 
Q. Was anyone witb you tben '-A. No, sir; except people passing 

backward and forward. 
Q. Did you bave any conversation witb him '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Wbat was tbat conversation f-A. lIe called to me and ssked me 

if I wasn't going to take the ticket. 
Q. Wbat did yon tell bim '-A. I and be walked off a piece. 
Q. Did you say notbing to bim '-A. After be bad asked me tbat I 

asked him wbat be was going to give me to vote tbe ticket. 
Q. What did be tell you '-A. He told me he would give me '1. 
Q. What did he do tben t-A. I told him $1 walm't enoogh. He told 

me tbat was the best be could do. Theu I took the'1. 
Q. Wbat did you do then T-A. I then came right to the poll and 

~~. . 
Q. Ditl yon vote right straigbt oif'-A. Yes, sir; right square off. 
Q. Did you have allY conversation with anybody before you voted f-

A. No, sir. 
Q. What ticket did you \"ote f-A. I voted the Republican ticket. 
Q. Wbom did you get that ticket from I-A. Renty Greaves. 
Q. Wheu did you get it f-A. I got it just before I \"oted. As SOon 

as I coultl get the ticket, I votet1 right off. 
Q. Did JOu ask him for it I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When did you gt't those three tickets from McFall; before or after 

you had voted f-A. Before I had voted. 
Q. Well, what time before; bow long'-A.. I could not tell rightly. 

I had no watcb of my own. 
Q. Did he give l"ou all tbree of those tickets together !-A. No, sir. 
Q. Wbat ticket did he gh"e JOu first f-A. He gave me the white one 

first. 
Q. When did be gh"e you that '-A. He gave it me as SOOIl as I came 

np to the corner of Gardner's store. 
Q. Was anybody tbere when be gB\'"e it JOu '-A. No, sir. 

H. Mis. 11-30 
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Q. Was that the same time you spoke of before-when yoo met him 
at the corner the first time !-A. Yes, sir. . 

Q. What was the next ticket he gave you !-A. The next one looted I 

most like the Rt>publican ticket. • 
Q. When did he give you that !-A. Ho gave me that after I went in I 

the store and came out. 
Q. Where were you when he ga"e it to yon '-A. I was at Gardners 

store. 
Q. Whl"n did be give you the lhird ticket !-A. Ue gave it me a little 

while after he gave me the second one. 
Q. What did he say to you when he gave yon the third ticket '-.A, I 

He said nothing, because I walked off M sooo as he gaye it to me. 
Q. What did yon do with that first ticket he gaye yon '-A. I t~re 

it np. 
Q. When uid yon tear it up t-A. I tore it np soon after he ga\"citto 

me. I had not left him before I tore the llaller. 
Q. What uid you do with the seconu ticket !-A. I carried it bome. 
Q. What did you do with the third ticket '-A. I gave it to Greal'es 

and got one of Greaves' own. 
Q. What sort of a ticket did yon carry home '-A. One most like the 

imitation tickets. 
Q. Was it an imitation ticket yon carried homeY-A. Yes, sir. I 

Q. Did Mr. McFall see YOll tear up the first ticketf-A. Yes, sir. I 

Q. When he gave you the dollar did he gh'e yon another tickeH-!. ! 
He ne\'er gave me the dollar until I had done vote. He gave me an ofl 
these tickets first; then I folded this imitation ticket as if I was going 
to vote it, and I walked off and he followed me, and I went to Greal'ei 
and got ooe of Greaves' papers allu then came to the poll. Then 
McFall stood on the opposite corner, about two feet and a half from me. 
and when I had polled tbe vote, I aud him walked right off, and be wen' 
to Gardner's store and gave me a dollar. 
'" Q. Where was Greaves when yon got the ticket from bim '-A. Right 
in front of the polls. 

Q. Where was McFall when Grea\'es ga\'e you the ticket !-A. About 
twenty feet from me, undt>r a tree. 

Q. Do you know whetherho saw you give the ticket to Greal'es!­
A. No, sir; I didn't know whether he SllW me or not. 

Q. Wbat did Greaves do with the ticket yon gave him !-A. 1 don' 
know; I walked oil' amI left him with the ticket in his hand. 

Q. Did you say anything to him f-A. I told hinl that was a tiete 
that McFall gave to me. . 

Q. What did he say '-A. He said nothing, becanse I walked orr. 
Q. How came he tben to gi"e you aoother ticket '-A. I came rlgh 

up to him and said, "Greaves, give me one of your tickets," and . 
mine to him, and told him this is one McFall gave me, anu I knew 1 

was wrong and I did not tarry at all. 
Q. What sort of a ticket was it you gave Greayes '-.A. I gal'e hi 

the straight Republican ticket. 
Q. Why did you gi\'e it to him, ffit was a straight Republican ticket! 

A. Because I bad dealings with him, and saw he was the wroog maa 
aod did not care to keep anything he gave to me. 

Q. What did l\Ic:b'all give you that dollar for '-A. He gave me 
dollar to vote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Diu you promiso him you would vote it when he gave it to you 
A. Yelil, sir, I told him I would vote the ticket. 

Q. Did you vote before or after he had given you the money! 
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(Objected to by counsel for contestee.) 
A. He gave me the money after I had got through voting. 

Redirect examination: • 
Q. When yon say yon had no conversation with anybody, what do 

you mean by that statement '-A. I mean by it that I did not speak 
with anybody. 

Q. Do you wish to be understood to say tbat yon did not ask for a 
ticket after you saw Mr. Mc~'all t-A. I did not ask for a ticket. 

Q. Did you get this ticket from Mr. Greaves after you had first seen 
Mr. McFall, or after you had seen McFall tbe second time !-A. Mr. 
McFall saw me twice before Mr. Greaves gave me any ticket. . 

Q. When was it yoo got the ticket from Mr. Greaves t After yon 
had seen Mr. McFall the last time f 

(Objected to.) 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Then you stopped on yoor way to the polls and received a ticket 

from Mr. Grea\'es, did you' 
(Objected to.) 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State whether or no lIr. Greaves handed you a ticket as you went 

by, without yoor having any conversation.-A. I come right square np 
to him and hande9 him a ticket this man gave me, and took ooe of his, 
and walked right square away. 

Q. Did Mr.llcFall pay you this mooeyafter you ·had come to him 
and told him you had "oted his ticket, or was it before you had depos-
ited his ballot' . 

(Objected to.) 
A. He gave me the money after I had voted. He followed me to the 

polls to see whether I would vote his ticket or not. A.fter I voted h~ 
did not know whether I voted his ticket or not. He gave me the dollar. 

FREDERICK OHAGE. 
Sworn amI subscribed before me this 3d day of April, A. D. 1817. 
[SEAL.] SHEPAUn D. GILBERT, 

Notary Public, Soutl~ Carolina. 
STATE OF SOUTU CAROLINA, 

County of Beall!Ot't : 
Personally appeared before me, Shepartl D. Gilbert, notary public, 

ISAA.C JONES, a witness for tbe contestee, who, being sworn according 
to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.·-Answer. 
Isaac Jones; about twenty-four ~'ear8 of age. Pope plantation, 00 Hilton 
Head, is my residence, and by occupation I am a farmer. 

Q. State wbetber or not you voted at tbe election beld last Novem­
ber.-A. Yes, sir; I did vote. 

Q. At what precinct did you vote '-A. At Hilton Head precinct. 
Q. State at what time you arrived and at what time you left the 

polls.-A. I arrived about half past seven and I left about four o'clock. 
Q. State bow many kind of tickets there were distributed the day of 

the election.-A. Three. 
Q. Describe them.-A. Two were nearly alike, but one was of stouter 

paper and one was on white paper with black ink. 
Q. \Vbat was the color of the Republican ticket !-A. Tbe color of 

the paper was not bright; the color of the ink was red. 
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Q. Was there allY ticket [n imitation of the Republican ticketf-A. 
Nearly, but the ink was not as bright. 

Q. Who was it that distributed tbese imitation tickets I-A. Mr. 
McFal1 tlistributed two kinds of tickets. 

Q. Did be distribute this fraudulent Democratic ticket printed in 
imitlltion of the Republican ticket I-A. Yes, he did. Said it was the 
right ticket. 

Q. Did you hear him tE'1l voters that it was the rE'gular Republican 
ticket f-A. But tbree or four of us were together wheu he haud~ the 
ticket to IDe. 

Q. What did he flay I-A. He told me, " I am the right man. Come 
ami vote my ticket." 

Q. State whether or not he offered you money to vote the Democratic 
ticket.-A. Yes, he did offer me money, and gave it to me, too. 

Q. How much mooey did he give you f-A. One dollar and eigbty· 
five cents. 

Q. Did you vote the Democratic ticket I-A. No, sir, I did not. 
Q. State whether or not it was generally known that Mr. McFall bad 

offered mOlley to vote the Democratic ticket.-A. It was generally 
known. 

Q. Wl're you threatened with violence if you voted the Democratic 
ticket I-A. No, sir; I was not. 

Q. WIlS any person appointed to distribute tickets to Democratic 
voters on the day of election captured by Republicans, carril.aci away 
from the polls, insulted or beaten in any manner I-A. No, sir; 1 did 
not know of it nor see anything of it. 

Q. Was there aoy disturbance of any kind at the polls on tbe day of 
the E'lelltion I-A. Not that I know of.. I thought it \\'IlS the most peace­
ful election I ever saw on the islaud. 

Q. Was any person hindered, obstrncted, or in auy way inu-rfered 
with in depoditing his ballot on the day of the election I-A. No, sir; 
not that I know of. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Yon sl\y McFall was issuing this imitation ticket f-A. Y 68, sir. 
Q. Did he tell you when be gave you that ticket-the imitation tick­

et-that it was a Democratic or Republican ticket f-A. He made DO 
exception. He said it was the right ticket. 

Q. Did you ask him what sort of a ticket it was I-A. Yes, sir. He 
said I needn't mind; it was the right ticket. 

Q. Did he try to make you believe it was a Republican ticket '-A. 
Yes, sir; he tried to make me believe. lIe kuew I wouldn't ,-ote a 
Democratic ticket. 

Q. Then he wished you to vote that ticket as a Republican ticket t­
A. Yes, sir; he must have wished me as he wouldu't tell me whether 
it was Uepuhlicau or Democratic. 

Q. What did you do with that ticket I-A. I took that ticket bome 
with me. 

Q. From whom did you get the ticket that yon voted I-A. I got it 
from a UlIlD that was issuing them. I have forgotten his name. 

Q. W hat time did he give you that dollar and eighty-til e ceDts !-A. 
Between nine and ten o'clock. 

Q. Did he give you the mooE'Y befofl' or after you voted f-A. Before 
I VOle(1. 1 W88 here some time before I voted. 

Q. Did he gil'e yon the money before or after he gil \"e YOll tbe ticket T­
A. He gn\'e me the ticket tirst. 
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Q. How soon after he gave yon the ticket did he gh'e you the money!­
A. He gave me the ticket and told IDe he would give me the mOlley a8 
BOOn a8 I voted, and I told him to give me the mOlley then, and he gave 
me the mont>y. 

Q. Wt're yon about the polls all the time After you came T-A. I was; 
right between the polls and Mr. Gardner's tltore. 

Q. Was McFall here all day!-A. No,.sir; he WAS not. 
Q. Do you know when he went awayT-A. Yes, sir; I did know. 
Q. About wbat tilDe dill he lea"e T-A. I nevpr noticell precisely. 
Q. How soon after you got bere !-A. Soon after he ga,'e me the 

mouey. It might b'ave bepn ten o'clock; am not sure. 
Q. Do you know why he leftY-A. No, !Sir; I dill not know why he 

~~ . 
Q. Did anyone tell YOll why he Ipft '-A. No, tlir. 
Q. Do yon know when Dr. Welder came to tbe polls T-A. Yes, sir 

J did. 
Q. Was McFall at the polls when Dr. Weliler came f-A. He was not 

at tbe polls. He might bave hp-en at Gardner's store. 
Q. Did yoo see him after Dr. Welder cameT-A. No, sir; I did not 

pay attention. 
Q. Did you bear any talk about these imitation tickets during the 

election T-A. No, sir; not particularly. lleople said Mr. l\Icl<'all had 
the ti(~keta. , 

Q. Was there any excitempnt about it !-A. No, sir; I saw none. 
Q. Do you know when Mr. I>olIitzer voted !-A. I did. 
Q. How neal" were you to him when he voted !-A. I was about twenty· 

fi\"e feet from him. I WAS wrong in what Ijust said. I WIlS nf.'ar by when 
be and Mr. Klein alld }fr. Lightburn came in a buggy. I did not watch 
particularly to see whether he voted or not. 

Q. Was there any excitempnt about either Mr. Pollitzer or Mr. Light. 
burn ,,"oting !-A. No, sir; there was no excitement. Somtl one asked 
jf Mr. Lightburn was a citizen of the island. That is all 1 know about 
that. 

Q. Was there-WAS any loud talking about it t-A. No, sir; except 
Mr. PolIitzer. H., was around damning. He was the only olle who 
damned at the poll. 

Q. Was there any loud talkinf,1 nmollg the colorpd people about either 
of these Ulen voting !-A. No, sir. If there WIlS, I was not here. I saw 
notbing of the kind. It was the most peaceable voting I ever M"W. 

Q. 'Vas there any excitement when Dr. Wilder camet-A. The only 
fxdtement was wben we met Dr. Wilder. and alked him if tbe Demo· 
crats over in Bluffton would not let Republicans vote. 

(~. Was that the only excitement at the polls that day !-A. That was 
all that I S3W. 

Q. Had there hepn any woultl you ha\-e known itf-A. Yes, sir; I 
would bave known it. 

ISAAC JONES. 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 3d day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] SHEPARD D. GILBERT, 

Notary Public, South Ca,·olilur. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Couflty of Beaufort: 

WEDNESDAY, April 4, 1877. 
Personally appeareli before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary public, 
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THOMAS CHISOLM, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn 
accoreling to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 
Thomas Chisolm j aged about twenty-seven years j reside at Sand Hill, 
Hilton Bead Islaud; by occupation a planter. 

Q. Did yon vote at the election held the 7th of last NovemberT-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. At what precinct did you vote T-A. At Bilton Hf'ad. 
Q. State the time you arrived at the polls and the time you I('ft.-A. 

At seven o'clock in the morning, and left at two p. m. 
Q. Bow many different kind of tickets were beillg distributed on the 

day of election f-A. Three of them; one of them was a straight-out 
Democratic ticket, which was white, and another wasHke tbe Republi­
can ticket, headed in the same way, and the straight ~publican ticket, 
headed "Bayes and Wheeler." 

Q. State who was distributillg the DemOC1'atic ticket T-A. Old Mc­
Fall, I believe, sir. 

Q. State who was distribnting the fraudul('nt Democratic ticket, 
printed in imitation of tbe Repllblican.-A. Mc~"all. 

Q. Did he distribute this imitation ticket as a straight Republicau 
ticket I-A. He did; he handed it to me first. 

Q. Do you know of any other perRons who receivetl this imitation 
ticket T-A. No other; I know but old Tbomas Bell. 

Q. Did you hear him offer, or did you see him give money to persons 
to vote that imitation ticket T-A. No, sir; I did not, because I paid no 
attention. 

Q. Was there any disturbance of any kind at the polls en the day or 
the el('ction f-A. Not wbile I W8S pres('nt. 

Q. Were allY voters prpvented by tbreats or violence from voting tbe 
Democratic ticket T-A. No, sir; I don't believe none at all. Men voted 
as they chose. 

Q. Was any person appointed to distribnte Democratic ticket .. cap­
tured by Uepuhlicansj carried away from the polls, beaten, or threat­
eued ill any manner I-A. I did 1I0t see any at all on tbat dllY. 

Q. If there had been any sucb disturbance at the polls would yoo 
have known of it I-A. Yes, sir; I was present from se\"'en to t\VO, and 
I did not know of it, and should have if it had been. 

Cross-uamined: 
Q. Was lIcFall distributing these imitation tickets generally '-A.. 

1 am not certain. After] told him I didn't want it 1 left him. After 
he gave it to 01<1 Bell I don't know wbat he diel. 

Q. Did be give it you near the poll t-A. I was stRnlling near the 
polls. 

Q. Was it generally known among the poople that he was giving 
th('se ticket" out f-A. Atter be gave it to oltl Bell they fouod it out, 
and then it became gen('rally known. 

Q. Did ~'ou tell anyone when he gave it to son '-A. I told the boys 
McFall had two tickets, and better not take it, as I didn't think it w88 
the right one. 

Q. Did you tell e\'erybody you could !-A. I did no~ . 
Q. Did you try to wake it generally known T-A. I did not make It 

known, because I knew he would not give it those who could _, but 
to the old men who could not • 
. Q. Didn't you think it necessary to warn those who could not read f­

A. 1 did think it was necessary. 
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Q. Did you try to do it t-A. I told all I saw at the time. 
Q. Do you know when McFall left t-A. I do not. I was (listribut­

ing tickets that day, and kept toO my business and did not notice him. 
Q. How long after McFall otl'ered you this ticket before you knew 

that he offered it to Bell I-A. About a quarter of nil hour before Bell . 
came up he offeretl me the ticket. 

Q. Did you see McFall after Bell told you that f-A. I did not see 
him myself. I paid no attention to him .. 

Q. Was there any excitement about this ticket'-A. I did not know 
of any at all. I pai(l no attention to McFall. I was issuing mine. 

Q. Did you see Mr. PoIlitzer at the polls that day Y-.A. He must 
have come after I had gone. I did not see him myself. 

Q. Were you near the polls all the time T-A. After Mcl,1~all offered 
me that tick~t I went up the street a little way. 

Q. Did you see Mr. Klein at the polls t-A. I did not see him. 
Q. Did you see Dr. Wilder come t-A. I saw Dl'. Wilder COlUe while 

I was at the head of the street. 
Q. Did you see Lightburn at the polls T-A. I don't know him. 
Q. Did you see Mr. Clarence Kirk f-A. I dit! not see him. 
Q. Where were you when Dr. Willler rode lip on horseback t-A. I 

was up at thf' head of the street. 
Q. Aftt'r you ha(l voted, then, you say yon went away from the polls.­

A. I went to issue ticketil up the head of the street. 
Q. How far is the head of the street from the polls I-A. About three 

or four hundre(l yards, I believe. 
Q. How long were you at the hend of the street !-A. A good while; 

I cannot tell how long. 
Q. Were you there an hour f-A. I mnst hal'e been. I had no way to 

tell the time; it might have been two or three hours. 
Q. Then there might have been an t'xcitement at the polls and yo I 

bear nothing about it 1-A. If there had been I should have heard it. I 
was not so far but what I coult! have heard it. 

his 
THOMAS + OHISOLM. 

mark. 
Sworn to and subi;cribed before me this 4th day of April, A. D. 1877. 
LSEAL.] SHEPAUD n. GILBERT, 

Notary Public, South Oarolina. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA., 

001mty of Beau/ort: 
Per80nal1y appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary pnblic, 

W. H. PEEPLES, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn 
according to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State yonr name, age, residence, and occupation.-A. Will­
iam Henry Pt'eples; aged tifty·two; reside on Gardner's plantation; by 
occnpation a licensed minister of the Gospel. 

Q. Did you vote on the election helli the 7th of last November f-A. 
Yes, slr. 

Q. Where did you vote '-A. At the Mitchellville poll. 
Q. 'Vere you employed ill any official capacity on the day of election f 

-A. I was a mauager of election. 
Q. At what time did you arrive at the polls; and what time did you 

leave '-A. I arrived at four o'clock, the polls opelled at six, and closed 
the polls at 6 p. m., and left at half past eleveu that night. 

Q. Were you at the polls constantly during that time I-A. All day, 
air. 
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Q. Was there auy disturbance of any kind at the pons on the day of 
election I-A. Not any, sir. 

Q. Were Democratic voters interfered with in their right to vote'­
A. NonE', sir. 

Q. Did you hear any threats made by Republicans against Democrats 
on that day I-A. No, sir; none. 

Q. Did you see anyone distributing Democratic tickets on the day of 
election I-A. No, sir; I did 110t. I was within doors. 

Q. Was any application made to the managers of election by any per· 
Bon for protection on tile day of election I-A. None, sir, that I know of. 

Q. Were there any complaints made to tile managers of election by 
any person that they had been interfered with by I1ny person in tbeir 
right to vote I-A. One, I think, sir; Mr. Pollitzer. 

Q. Did he vote I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. State whether or not Mr. Pollitzel's vote was not challenged or 

questioned becanse of his not being a resident of the island. 
(Objected to as a leading question.) 
A. He was challenged as not being a resident of .. be island. 
Q. Was any. violence of any kind offered 1\Ir. Pollitzer I-A. None to 

my knowing, sir. 
Q. 'Vere any threats made against him by Repnblicans I-A. Not as 

far as I know. 
Q. If any threats had been made or \"iolence offered Mr. Pollitzer, 

would )'ou bave known itt-A. Yes, sir; I would have known it. 
Q. Was there any opposition to or interference with Democrats by 

UeJlublicans in depositing their ballots ou the day of election !-A. 
None, sir. 

Q. Do you know of any person appointed to distribute Democratic 
tickets, that was captured, carried away from the polJs, beaten, injured, 
or threatened in any manner I-A. None that I know of, sir. 

Q. BatI anytbing of that kind happened you would have known it!­
A. I would have known it if it bad been near the poll. 

Q. State whether or not the election was conducted in a quiet and 
orderly manner by the Uepublicans f-A. It was in a quiet and orderly 
manner all day. 

Q. State whether or not had any colored man offered to \"ote the Demo· 
cratic ticket, would he have been interfered with I-A. He would not 
ba\"e been interfered with. 

Q. Did you assist in counting the ballots cast on the day of elec· 
tion I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you remember how Illany votes were cast f-A. Yes, sir; foor 
hundred Ilnd sevellty.four were IJOlled. 

Q. How many of those were Democratic I-A. Ten. 
Q. Do you know anything about Mr. Lightburn offering to vote !-A. 

Yes, sir; be did not \'ote. . . 
Q. Do you know why he did not vote I-A. Because he was oot a CltI· 

zen of the county. . 
Q. Was he questioned by the managers as to his right I-A. Yes, SIr. 
Q. Did be state how long he had been a resident of the county and 

State '-A. He did not. He said he was on the light-ship, and tbe!1 he 
was not considered a citizen of the county from his being on the hght-
8hi~ . 

Q. Was the board of managers of election unanimous in that 0pln· 
ion I-A. Unanimou8, I think, in that opinion. 

Q. Was any member of the board of managers a Democrat I-A. Yes, 
sir; Mr. FrillP was the clerk, and also Air. Drayton, one of the maoagen. 
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Q. Was Mr. Drayton of the opinion that Ligbtburn ,vas not entitled 
to \'"ote I-A. Yes, sir. . 

Q. Then the t"ote of l\lr. Lightburu was r(>jecoo(1 by the board of man­
agers because he was not a citizen of South Carolina. and not entitled 
to votEl at this precinct I-A. That was the cause, sir. 

Q. Do yon know how many white residents there are on Hilton He~ t 
-A. I caunot say exactly. 

Q. Are all of the white residents on Hilton Head Democrats, or are 
soDle Republicans f-A. Some are Republicans aud some are Demo­
crats. 

Q. Can you tell how many colored votes were polled 011 the day of 
election I-A. I canllot say exactly; there were more colored than white. 

Q. Do you remember how mauy white votes were polled '-A. I do 
not remember exactly. 

Q. Did yon see Dr. Wilder at the polls I-A. ) did, sir. 
Q. Were all per"ons who deposited ballot.s sworn as to their qualifi­

cations and right to vote at this I)recinct I-A. All persons. 
Q. State whether or not Lightburn refused to take the oath.-A. He 

did not try; Mr. Drayton hindered him and said he was not a citizen of 
Sonth Carolina. 

Q. Was Mr. Drayton the Democratic manager at the polls on that 
day f-A. He was. 

Q. Did yon hear Mr. Pollitzer in any conversation at the l)olla ou the 
day of election I-A. I did not, sir. 

Q. Did yon see any persons at the poll a armed with sticks or clubs or 
deadly weapons I-A. No person that I saw. 

Cro88-examined: 
Q. Can yon read I-A. I can rea(1 print. 
Q. Do you know who polled those ten Democratic votes I-A. I do 

not. 
Q. Did yon see Mr. McFall at or near the polls I-A. I did. 
Q. Did yon see him vote I-A. I did. 
Q. At what time did he vote I-A. Early in the morning. 
Q. How loug after the opening of the polls l-A. I think between 

seven and eight o'clock; he and Mr. Drayton, the manager, came to· 
gether. 

Q. Had many persons voted before him l-A. Not a great many. 
Q. How long after the polls were opened was it before any one t"oted f­

A. About three-quarters of an hour, I guess. 
Q. How many votes do yon suppose were cast before Mr. McFall 

voted I-A. 1 cannot say how many. 
Q. Were any votes C8st before Mr. Drayton got there I-A. There 

was. 
Q. How many I-A. Not many. 
Q. As many as a dozen !-A. I don't think; not much more than the 

managers that were there. 
Q. Did you see Mr. McFall before he voted '-A. I did not see him 

until he came to the poll. 
Q. Did you see him after he had voted '-A. I did not see him. 
Q. You say Mr. Pollitzer complained to you; what did he say '-A. 

He said they hindered him to vote at this poll, and that they said he 
W88 not old enough; not a man of age. 

Q. Did he give any other reason '-A. He said folks tried to hinder 
him; he said he had property here and he thought he had a right to 
vote here. 
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Q. Who challenge<l Mr. Pollitzer's vote I-A. The people aboot the 
polls. 

Q. Can you name anyone person that challenged his vote I-A. I 
cannot. 

Q. How many persolls do you suppose challenged him t-A. I could 
not say how many. 

Q. Could you see any person who challenged him f-A. I could uot 
nnW I came to the door. I said he had a right to vote; that he li"ed 
in Beaufort County. 

Q. What made you go to the door t-A. I went to the door because 
the people were saying to him, "You belong to Beaufort;" "You be· 
long to Beaufort; you shant vote here." 

Q. Is that all you heard them say f-A. That is all I heard them say. 
Q. About what time did Mr. Pollitzer vote t-A. I tbink about teo 

o'clock in the day, as near as I could guess; I did not cbarge my mem· 
ory. 

Q. Wben you went to the door and heard them saying that, did you 
recognize any particular person as saying it t-A. I did Dot. 

Q. Why did you Dot I-A. As soon as I came to the door I beard all 
saying thill. I said, "Huli!b! Mr. Pullitzer owns property at Hilton 
Head," and they all stopped, and I returned t;o my seat, and be was 
sworn and ,"oted. 

Q. How many persons were abont the poll at the time I-A. I think 
there was a heavy crowd; all the people were coming np at that time. 

Q. Was this before or after Lightburn had attempted to votet-A. 
I think it was before. 

Q. How long before I-A. It could not have been a great while, be­
caose wbite men were coming in about that time to vote. 

Q. How many white men voted there that day I-A. I don't knoW' 
exactly now how many. 

Q. Did any white men vote after Lightburn attempted to vote I-A. 
There were some witb Mr. Lightborn. I think Mr. Riley voted after. 

Q. Is Mr. Riley a Democrat !-A. I cannot tell whether he is aDem· 
ocrat or what. 

Q. Were there as many as twenty white votes cast that dayf-A. I 
don't think there were. 

Q. Do yoo know all the white men on this island I-A. I do. 
Q. About how many white men live here I-A. About eight or nine, 

I guess. . 
Q. Do you know Mr. Riley I-A. I know him when I see him. He 11 

one who belongs to the light·ship. 
Q. How long have you known him I-A. Abont fonr years ago. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Clarence Kirk f-A. I do. 
Q. Did yoo see him vote T-A. I don't remember whether I did or not. 
Q. Did any white men vote after .Kiley'-A. I caunot say whether 

they did or not. 
Q. Do you know Randall Heyward '-A. I do. 
Q. Do you know when he voted I-A. I do know wben be voted. 
(~. At what time did he votet-A. Just about between ten aodeleren 

o'clock. 
Q. Where was the poll helli f-A. In a school·house with the door 

closed and a window opened. 
Q. Could you see everything that went on f-A. I conld not. 
Q. Coolll you hear everything that went on !-A. About tbe pull I 

could. 
Q. At what time did Dr. Wilder get there '-A. About nine o'clock 

that; day, I guess, sir. 
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Q. Was tbere any excitement wben be got there '-A. I do not 
know. 

Q. Did be read any law to the people '-A. He dill not to my know-
ing. Mr. Drayton did. . 

Q. What law did Mr. Drayton real] '-A. United States marsba18' 
law. 

Q. Wbat made bim read that law f-A. At the S8Ule time when they 
were hindering Mr. Pollitzer from voting. 

Q. Did he l'ead it aloud f-A. Not very loud. He rea.d it out of the 
door to tbe assembly. 

Q. For whose satisfootion did be read it Y-A. Read it because the 
managers asked him to let the people know he was there as United 
States marshal. 

Q. Wby did the managers want him to let the people know be was 
there 8S United States marshal '-A. Because, after tbey bindered Mr. 
Pollitzer, the managers wanted to let the people know they could not, 
doing thus, interfere with 8 citizen of the county. 

Redirect: 
Q. Were tbf'se instmctions read after or before Mr. Pollitzer had 

voted f-A. After be bad voted. 
Q. What do you mean when you pay they hindered Mr. Pol1itzerf 

Did they make any threats or use any violence toward him '-A. They 
made no violence iu my hearing; they only said be ShODld not vote. 

Q. Tben his right to vote was only questioned by those appointed to 
cballenge voters' 

(Objected to.) 
A. Only questioned. 
Q. Did they make any threats against Mr. Po1litzer '-A. I did not 

hear any. 
Q. Was his rigbt to vote questioned by others than those appointed 

to challenge voters f 
(Objected to.) 
A. It was. 
Q. When YOD say there was a heavy crowd at the door at the time 

Mr. Po11itzer came up and attempted to vote, do you know for what 
purpose that crowd had assembled f 

(Objected to.) 
A. Just about that time a crowd came in frOID the country to vote­

iu pretty heavy, waiting for each other. 
Q. Did that crowd that carne in to vote ba\'e anything to do with 

Mr. PoUitzer, or question his right to vote f 
(Objected to.) 
A. I could not teU. 
Q. State whether or not the majority of the board of managers for 

tbis precinct were present at the opening of the polls.-A. A majority 
was present. 

Q. How Moon after the polls opened did Mr. Drayton arrive f-A. 
About three·quarters of an honl', or an hour; nearly an hour. 

Recross·examined : 
Q. Why did Mr. Drayton read the law to the crowd after Mr. Po11itzer 

had voted' 
(Objected to.) 
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A. Soon after Mr. Pollitzer had been objected to Mr. Riley was 
objected to. I am mistaken about that; it was some of tbe men from 
the Navy; they were O\'er here, and they were objected to, in voting; 
am) tb£'n the citizens of the precinct said that people were coming from 
all about to vote bere, and tbat they should not vote. And tben Mr. 
Drayton was caUed upon to read the law, that the people might knoW' 
who had a right to vote; and be also stopped, the board did, tbe people 
from the naval ship from voting bere. 

Q. How many men from the Navy were heret-A. Sometbreeorfoor 
of them. 

Q. Did any of them offer to vote '-A. Some did vote. 
Q. How many voted I-A. Two, to my knowledge. 
Q. What were tbeir names T-A. I could not tell their names. 
Q. Did they take the oath t-A. They did. 
Q. Did anyone challenge t.heir votes t-A. They did. 
Q. Did the board decide that they could vote T-A. Th£'y diel. 
Q Was it before or after these two men \'oted that tbe law was 

read '-A. Aft£'r. 
Q. Why did tbey read the law then, after these lDen had voted f­

A. To show to the people who should be allowt'(1 to vote-to show the 
people that these men were citizens of Hilton flead precinct, becaU88 
their families were here. 

Q. Bow long after Mr. P01litzer dill these two men vote I-A. 1 could 
Dot say directly. 

Q. Were these two men Republicans or DemocratsT-A. I do Dot 
know. 

Q. Were the men that challenged them Republicaus or Democrats!­
A. Republicans. 

Q. Did these two men vote black·ink or red-ink tickets '-A. I don't 
know what tickets men put in at the poll. 

Q. Did l\lr. Drayton have to read the law twice t-A. He did not. 
Q. Did he read the law then on account of these two Olen or on ac­

count of Mr. Pollitzer '-A. Be was asked by us to read the law to 
show who had a right to vote amI who could not, as we were in doubt 
as to who could vote under the constitntion and who could not. 

hie 
WILLIAM H. + PEEPLES. 

mark. 

Sworn amI subscribed before me this 4th (lay of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] SHEPARD D. GILBERT, 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beaufort: 

Notary Public, South Oarolillll. 

Personally appt'ared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary public. 
TBmas BELLi a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn ac· 
cording to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State sour name, age, residenCt', amI occllpation.-Answer. 
Tbomas Bell; aged over seventy years; reside at Folly Field, IIiltoll 
Bead' by ·occupation a farmer. 

Q. bid you vote at the election held on the 7th of last No,-emberf­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Where did yon vote I-A. At Mitchellville, Hilton Bead. 
Q. How many kinds of tickets were there on the day of election I-A. 

Three tickets were in the field. 
Q. What were they' Describe them '-A. Two tickets were printed 

red, with a red fiag. The other one was white. . 
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Q. State wbether.or not one of these red tickets was printed in Iml· 
tation of the Republican ticket!-A. Yes, sir; and that had "Tilden 
and Hendricks." 

Q. Was one of these fraudulent Democratic tickets, printefl in imita­
tion of tbe Republican ticket, handed to you to vote as the Republican 
ticket I-A. McFall gave me tbis ticket. 

Q. Wbat did be say when be gave you the ticket I-A. He handed 
me this ticket and said he would pay me to vote this ticket. • 

Q. Did be tell yon it was the Republican ticket I-A. No, sir; be 
didn't tell me it was the Republican ticket; he told me to vote it and 
said be would pay me. 

Q. Did you vote that ticket I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Wby did you not vote it t-A. Because I cannot read, and wben 

I usually go to the polls I usually take ·it to some one who can read, and 
I took it to Renty Greaves, and be looked at it and at first tbought it 
was rigbt, but when be turned it over be said it was not the right ticket. 
So he gave me the right ticket, and 1 put the McFall ticket iu my pocket, 
and kPflt it there until it was worn·out. 

Q. What time did you nrrh'e at the polls and at wbat time did you 
leave '-A. I arrived at ten o'clock and I left in the evening near sunset. 

Q. Were tbere threats made of any kind against any voters on the 
day of election I-A. I never saw any at all while I was here. 

Q. WaR it generally known among the people at tbe polls that you 
bad this imitatiou ticket in your possession '-A. Yes, sir; 1 showed it 
them. I showed it to Gardner at the box. 

Q. Could you have voted that ticket if you bad felt inc1ined wit.hout 
interference on the part of Republicans t-A. I could if 1 had wanted to, 
but I did not want to vote it. 

Q. Was the el('ction conducted in a quiet, orderly mannert-A. About 
as quiet an election as I ever saw since tbe war. 

Q. Was any person appointell to distribute Democratic tickets to 
voters captured, carried away from tbe polls, interfered with, beaten, or 
insulted in any manner while you were at the polls I-A. No, sir; I 
never saw any. 

Cross-exallline<l : 
Q. Were you in the ueighborbood of the pons all the time you were 

bere I-A. After 1 bad voted I went and sat down on a porcb about one 
hundred and fifty yards from the pol1s. . 

Q. What time diel you vote I-A. I voted at ten o'clock. 
Q. At what time did it become generally known that you bad tbis 

ticket I-A. Soen after it was given me; before I bad voted; wben I 
bad got the right ticket. 

Q. Was auy talk made about itt-A. No talk was made about it. 
Q. Did you get angry about it I-A. No, sir; I always go and get 

both tickets. The one I want I vote; the other I "ut in my pocket. 
Q. Did you see Mr. McFall leave '-A. I saw Mr. MllFall leave. 
Q. Wbllt time did you see himlt'avel-A. I Ilhouhl tbink about twelve 

o'clock; I had no more to say to him after 1 got the ticket; 1 vote what­
ever ticket I please. 

Q. Uow did you know tbere w~re two rl'll tickets t-A. After I took 
McFall's rt'd ticket and took the Republiclln ticket, I saw there were 
two rtlci tickets in tbe field. 

Q. Yon could tell then that tbe two red tickets were differentT-A~ 
Yes, sir. -

Q. Without being able to reatI I-A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. Yon staid at "Gardner's store until yon left f-A. I s~id at Gard· 
ner's store nntil abont three o'clock, way in the evening; then I went 
home. 

Re(lirect examination: 
Q. How could you tell these two red tickets without being able m 

read them !-A. I told you I carried them to a man to read tbem 
for me •• 

Recross·examination: 
Q. Could you spe any difference in these tickets without reading 

them '-A. No, sir; I said you coul(1 see no diJferenC6 unless you could 
read. 

Q. Well, then, when you said before that you could tell thediffereuee, 
what did yon mean f--A. I did not tell you that; 1 tell I conld tell the 
difference, but I took them to men that could read; I could tell tbe dif· 
ference in the white one. 

Q. Then you did not know there were two red tickets except by wbat 
other people told you '-A. :Not until Renty Greaves told me. 

hie 
THOMAS + BELL. 

mark. 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 4th day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEA.L.} SHEPARD D. GILBERT, 

. Notary Public, &utA Oaroliu. 
STATE OF SOUTH CA.ROLINA, 

Oounty of Beaufort: 
Personally appeared before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary public, 

RENTY F. GREA. VES, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly sworn 
according to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation '-Auswer. 
Renty Franklin Greaves; aged thirty·two; Hilton Head uland; byoc· 
cupation a merchant. 

Q. Did you vote at the recent election held on the 7th of :Sovem· 
berf-A. I did. 

Q. State where you voted I-A. At Mitchellville precinct, Hilton 
Head. 

Q. State at what time yon arrived at the polls and at what time yOIl 
left f-A. I arrived at six o'clock in the morning and I was oft' and ou at 
the polls during the day, but I finally left after the vote was CODUted. 

Q. Did you see 1.'homas Bell on the day of election f-A. I did. 
Q. State whether or not he brought to you a ticket for examiuatioD.­

A. Hedid. 
Q. Tell what took place at that time.-A. After I had examined the 

ticket, I told him it was a Democratic ticket, but it was markt>d " Union 
Republican," and resembled our ticket in every respect except that the 
paper was not so stont as the Repnblican. 

Q. Did it contain the names of Repnblican c!lndidates for office or the 
names of Democrats f-A. All Democrats. 

Q. Would any person who coultl not read be deceive(l into \"oting that 
ticket, belie\"ing it to be a Republican ticket! 

(Objpcted to.) 
A. They would be deceived. 
Q. Did Mr. Bell vote this imitation ticket, or did you give him another 

to vote '-A. I gave him another, a straight Republican ticket. 
Q. In the interest of which ticket were yon canvassing on the day of 

election f-A. In the Republican. 
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Q. Did you see anyone on tile day of election distributing Democratic 
tickets !-A. I did see Mr. McFall. 

Q. Was there any other person distributing Democratic tickets at the 
poUs, beside Mr. McFall '-A. Not as I know of. 

Q. Was there any disturbance of any kind at tbe poUs on the day of 
tbe election !-A. Not as I saw, except they called attention to Mr. Pol· 
litzer. Some t.bought he was a boy, aud some tbougbt be was from Beau· 
fort and had no right to vote here, and tbey cballenged his vote 011 tbose 
grooml". 

Q. Was there any interference witb Mr. Pollitzor, except challenging 
bis right to vote !-A. None at all, sir. 

Q. Was be insulted, threatened, or any violence ofJerell him by Re­
publicans !-A. All that was said was that he bad no rigbt to \"ote; he 
belonged in Beaufort, and must go and vote there. 

Q. Upon bis swearing that he was a duly qualified elector was be per· 
mitted to vote T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was tbere any person preven ted from voti ng on the day of election 
tbrough threats made or violence offered to bim !-A. None to my knowl· 
edge. 

Q. If such bad been tbe cal!e woulu you bave kno\vn of it '-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. Doyou know orany person appointed to distribute tickets to Demo· 
cratic \"oters captured by Repu blicatls, carried away from the polls, beaten, 
or ill treate I in auy manner '-A. Tbere was no iuterfel'ence at the poll 
with any men issuing tickets. 

Q. Were voters compelled to allow tbeir tickets to be examined before 
depositing them iu the ballot· box !-A. No, sir. All that had their 
tickets examined were those that could not reau or write, and after the 
discovery of these counterfeit tickets they would not vote until they had 
their tickets rend over, as thero was so little difference in them, they 
looked so atikt'. 

Q. Do you know how many Democratic voters there were on Hilton 
Head on the day of election t-A. To DIy knowledge about ten outspoken, 
ad"ocating the Democratic cause. I don't klJow how they voted. 

Q. Are thl're any white persons living 011 Hilton Heatl who claim to 
be ReJlllbIiellUs '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did tht>y openly alh-ocate the Republican c8nuidates '-A. They 
did. 

Q. lIow many Democratic \"otes were polled at this precinct on tbe 
"day of election I-A. Ten; uine scratcheli, and olle imita.tion ticket. 

Q. How many Republican \"otes were polled !-A. To the best of my 
recollection, four hundrell and sixty·four. 

Q. Was the number of straight Democratic \"otes l>olIed at the last 
~lection larger or smaller than that cast a.t recent elections since recon· 
struction '-A. To tbe best of my recollection this was the largest vote 
ever polled by the Democrats since reconstruction. 

Q. Had there ever been a straight·out Democratic ticket advocated on 
Bilton Head prior to this election f-A. No, sir; not straight-out. 

Q. What was the general disposition of colored RepUblicans towards 
white Democrats' Was it friendly, or otherwise T-A. Tbere was no 
particular feding. It depended on tbe man; they liked him according 
as their feelings were towards him. 

Q. Coulu a Democrat publicly announce his political convictions with· 
out fear of molestation, insult, or yiolence T-A. They always could, to 
my recollection. I never knew them to be interfered with on any polit­
t:lII account. 
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Q. Were any threats made against colored men in case they attempted 
to vote the Democratic ticket f-A. None at all, to my knowledge. 

Cross·examined: 
Q. Yon state you arrived at 6 a. m., Rnd It'ft tinaJJy after the vote W88 

connted, and wt're oft' and on an day. Explain what yon mean by "011' 
and on."-A. That I was Dot out of sight or bearing of the polls for 
more than three or four minutes during the day. 

Q. Did you see McFall when he came to the polls that day I-A. I did, 
sir. 

Q. Did you see him vote f-A. I did, sir. 
Q. About wbat time did he vote f-A. About half past &eyen o'clock, 

I think. 
Q. Had many persons voted before him I-A. About ten or twel"e of 

tht'm. 
Q. How long was he at the polls before he voted I-A. About ten 

minutes. 
Q. You say you saw him issue Democratic tickets. To whom did you 

see bim is~ue tbem I-A. To several men at the poll. That was the 
straight Democratic ticket. 

Q. Bid you see him i~slle any red tickets I-A. I did not. 
Q. Then you don't kno\" tbat he did i~suc any red tickete I-A. Not 

to my kllowledgt'. 
Q. Did Thomas Ben give you a ticket f-A. Yes; asked me to ~ad 

it and tell him what it was. 
Q. What did you do with that ticket f-A. I handed it back to him 

after rt'ading it. 
Q. At what time was this f-A. About nine or ten o'clock. 
Q. When last did YOIl Nee Mr. McFan I-A. About nine o'clock I spoke 

last to him. I last Maw him in sight about two o'clock. 
Q. What was he doing then f-A. Be seemed to be talking to some 

mt'll. 
Q. How far from you !-A. Abont three hundred yards. 
Q. You saw him with a crowd of meuf-A. Abouttiveor sixoftbem. 
Q. Could you hear t.ht'D1 t-A. Not at that distallce. After they had 

got through talking, I saw him going some way oif, and some womell 
following with him. 

Q. Could not those men have use(l thrt'atening language to him with· 
out your hearing it I-A. Yes, sir; I could not bear what was said. 

Q. Do you know what those women were going oft' with him for !-A. 
No, sir. 

Q. Did you see Mr. PoJlitzer come up to vote f-A. I did, sir. 
Q. How far w('re you from him wbell he voted f-A. About. six feet. 
Q. Dill you hear his vote chaJJeuged f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Who challengt'd it I-A. Some men outside tbere by the poll. 
Q. Did all challen/Ze him together'-A. Only two men challengEd 

him, one at 11 time. Oue said he was a boy, and tbe other 88id be be­
longed in Beanfolt. 

Q. Who wt're those two men t-A. One was named Riley; tbe other 
I forgf't. 

Q. Did you hear anyone read tbe law I-A. Yes, sir; Manager Dray· 
ton read the law. 

Q. What was the caUMe of th(> reading of the law f-A. To /Zh'e satis· 
faction to those who did not know the law. To show tbat ,,-ben tbt'y 
qnaliftt>d, and so fhrth, that. that was suml~ient. 

Q. What caus('d the rt'ading of the law at that time !-A. Because 
Mr. Pollitzer callie up to vote and was challenged. 
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Q. Do you know any men in the Navy who offereel to vote that day'-
A.Id~ . 

Q. Name them.-A. A man named Lightburn I knew. 
Q. Was he allowed to vote '-A. No. sir. 
Q. Did auy Navy man vote that day T-A. No, sir; not to my knowl­

edgE'. 
Q. Had any voted would you have known it '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. W 11K any other la w read that day except the time you m~ntioned !­

A. Not unless in vl'ry short tim~, as I was not away. 
Q. You say you were away from the polls three or four minutes. 

Cuuld not tlJreats have bt'en made during that three or four minutes 
Y(lU WE're ahst'nt without ~'our hearing it f-A. I think not, as very fl!w 
were around tbe }lolls at the times I selected to leave. 

Q. Will you swear that no threatening language could have been 
uttered at the polls witbout your bearing it T-A. No, sir; I woull1 not. 
I could not bear if they spoke out of my hearing, and could not tell 
whether tht'y used threatening language or not. 

Q. You say that only those who were unable to read had their tick­
ets examined at the l)ol1tl. How do you know it was only those who 
were unable to read I-A. Because tbey bronght the ticket to myself, 
llr. Noble, Edward Murray, and Peter Wiley to read for them, and 
would not take ticketK jrow anyone else to vote after tht'S had fountl 
out this imitation ticket. 

Q. Are these men influential men on the island '-A. They are. One 
is clerk in the l\lethodi8t church, tht' other clerk ill the Baptist church. 

Q. Where did tbey stand when they exawined these tickets T-A. 
They were right in the vicinity of tbe polls. 

Q. How many of these tiekl!ts did you examine'-A. I examined a 
good many. 

Q. 1)0 yon know what men vott"d the Democratic ticket that day'­
A. I know one of thew; that was Mr. McFall. 

Q. Do lOU know of any others '-A. Not to my knowledge. 
R. F. GREAVES. 

Sworn and subscribed before me tbis 4th day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.J SHEPARD n. GILBERT, 

Notary Public, South Carolina. 

STATE OF SOll'l'1I CAROLINA, 
County of BeaufOf·t: 

THURSDAY, April 5, 1877. 
Per~ona1Jy apIleart'd before me, Shepard D. Gilbert, notary IlUblie, 

UABRIEL P. GARDNER, a witness for the contestee, who, being duly 
!Sworn according to law, deposes and says: 

Question. State your lIame, age, place of residence, and occupation.­
Answer. Gabrit-'l P. Gardner; agt'd forty-nine years; Mitchellville, 
Hilton Head, is my residence; and by occupation a merchant. 

Q. Did you ,,"oteat the recent election held ou the 7th of last Novem­
ber, at· which 'a member of Congress was voted fort-A. Yes, sh'. 

Q. Where did you dt'posit lour hallot t-A. At Mitchellville pre· 
eluet, Hilton Head. 

Q. Were you employed in any official capacity on the day of the ehe­
tion !-A. Yes, sir; as a manager of election. 

Q. At wbat time (lid you arrive ut the polls and at what time did yon 
It>ave t-A. Before six o'clock ill tbe morning, and left after ten o'clock 
in the night. 

H. Mis. 11-31 
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Q. Were the polls opened at the usual bour, amI in accordance with 
law ~-A. Yes, sir; at precisely six o'clock. 

(l. Wa~ there a fair and free election, and was it condncted in a qoiet 
and orderly manuerT-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. "'as there any .listnrhance abont the pons, or was any l"ioll'nee 
offered to anyone while at the polls on the day of the election t-A. ~l" 
sir. 

Q. State whether or not any persoll was intl'rfered with in their rigbt 
toyote f-A. No, Mir; 110ne but Mr. Pollitzer. Someone asked if bebada 
right tovote here, as they didn't believe he was of age, and he told mebll 
had It right to "ote here, aud I said he had, and I swore him, and bl! 
voted and went off. And thl'n some sailors came np and W811tl'd to 
"ote, and Mr. McIntire said they should not, ami some of the colol't'd 
men who stood outside s&id yes, they had a right to, as they had wins 
here. Mr. McIntire said nOlle of them should vote, because they wer!' 
1I0t citizens, and Mr. LighUlIIl'O, who was working for Mr. Mcintire at 
the time, he came up lIud wanted to vote, 8ndMr. McIntire saiu he pro­
bibited any sailors from voting; that he had 1I0t been in tbe county lOll;! 
(,llOugh. Anu they all went ofl', ami the election wellt on very I!ictlyl 
durillg the day. 

Q. Was anybody prevented from voting on tbe day of election who: 
waM entitled to vote at this })recinct f-A. No. sir; not to my knowinl!' 

Q. How many wbite votes were polled nt this precinct on the day uf! 
the election 'f-A. I could not tell positively. 

Q. Do you know how many Democratic votes were polled '-A. Tfn.: 
Q. Was tbat a larger or smaller Democratic vote than was en'r pollt"l! 

at this precinct since reconstruction T-A. A great deal largt!r Ut!m\)­
Cl'atic vote. 

Q. Was anyone appointed to distribute Democratic tickt>ts to ,'oten 
captured, or driven away from the polls, beaten, injured, or iusulted in 
aJl~' malloerY-A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. If anything of this kind had occurred at or near the pons on rbI!, 
day oft'lection would you have known itt-A. Yes, sir; I sbould bafe 
knowll it, a8 I swore all the people that came in. 

Q. Do yon koow how many Republican votes were polled on the day 
of election Y-A. Y ('s, sir; 464. 

Q. How many difli.·rellt kinds of tickets did you see on the day of tlt'e' 
tion Y-A. Three. 

Q. Can yon describe tbese tickets '-A. Ye8, sir. One straight 1rbit 
Democratic ticket; one straigbt Republican ticket in re«l ink, and 00 

Democratic ticket in red ink, heatled "Ullion Republican." 
Q. Wa8 tbis Democratic ticket iu red ink an imitation of the IU-pu 

Hean ticket T-A. Just alike, only the names were different. AllY 0 

that could not read could oot distinguish them. 
Q. How long ba,'e you been engageu in business at Bilton Head! 

A. About twelve years. 
Q. Are yon acqunioted with the people on the island generally f-.! 

Yes, sir. 
Q. Wbat is their general <1isposition; Are tbey peaceable, quiet, aD 

orderls, or otberwise t-A. Very peaceabltl. . 
Q. Did yon see Mr. l\lcFall on tlle day of the election '-A. Yes. 81r. 
Q. Was be interfered with by Republicans while at or near the I 

on that day T-A. No; sir. He came lip to the polls to vote and t 
ont of bis pocket a straight white ticket alld lay it on the sill or 
window; tben took ont of his pocket a pencil and hollowfll for Bell 
Grea\'es and told Greaves he was going to give him a lift; aud GI'8 
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said, ".A1I right;" and he said to Grt'a\"es, "You and Tom Hamilton rn 
go for e\'ery time;" while he saicl this he eralled some nalDe aucl added 
Gl'eaves, after which he faMed the paper up, WllS IJWOrD, alHI ,'oted, and 
\\'ent away frolD the polls. 

Q. Theu he voted the Democratic ticket openly !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see Mr. McFall near th6 polls lllter he had voted f-A. 

No, sir; after be had voted he weut away. 
Q. 'Vhat time did he vote f-A. Near nine or t~n o'clock . 

. Q. Were all of the voters sworn on the day of the election !-A. Yes, 
sIr; I swore everyone. 

Cross·examined: 
Q. How many managers were preseut when tbe lIoll was opened ,­

A. Two of us. 
Q. How long wali the poll opened before the third manager came!­

A. Abont an hOllr or an hOllr lmrl a half. 
Q. Wbo was the third managed-A. \V. S. Drayton. 
Q. Were many votes polled before Mr. Drayton came I-A. Just the 

people in the village were \·oting. 
Q. Bow many of them bad voted when Mr. Drayton came f-A. 1 

never took any particular account. 
Q. Were ruany persons at the polls when he came i-A. Not many, 

sir. 
Q. Had as many as twent.y votes been cast when he camef-A. I could 

o.01&83fely say. 
Q. Had as mnny 8S ten f-A. 0, yes; I think as many as teu. 
Q. Dill you notice whether any 0110 came with Mr. Drayton when he 

came ~-A. I did uot notice. We sat in the house with a window open, 
and Mr. Drayton came aud knocked at the door; we opened tbe cloor, 
and be came ill. He said he was a. little lated, and I llliked him it' 
Dr. 'Wilder bad sworn him. 

Q. When did you see llr. McFall f-A. Mr. McFall was outsido II. good 
while before he came up to vote. 

Q. Ho\v long after Mr. Drayton caOle was it before you saw him ,­
A. I bacl been some two hours; though I took no particular notice of it. 

Q. Had or lIad not many votes been cast whell Mcli'all voted 1-A. 
Tbt're had been a good many cast; it was late in the day. 

Q. Had you heard of this imitation ticket before McFall voted ,­
A. I saw it, sir. 

Q. Who gave it to you I-A. Tom Bell brought it up to the poll aud 
asked me if it was a Repllblican ticket. Whil~ be opened the ticket I 
looked aud saw it beaded ., Union Republican ticket," ancl told bim 
yes; and then he said no; and after be said 110 I thought it strange lI.uIL 
looked at tbe ticket and saw the names were ditlerent, aud I told him no; 
and be went off for some time and came back with a Republican ticket, 
and voted it. 

Q. You read the ticket be hauded you, then f-A. Yes, sir; I rend tho 
t\TO first names. 

Q. What did yon do with tbe ticket then I-A. I just banded it back 
to him. 

Q. How do you know that Tom Bell \"oted a Republican ticket T-A. 
He said it was. 

Q. Dit.! you ask him f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Wbat time did .Mr. PoIlitzer offer to ,'ote '-A. 1 couldn't say \That 

hour it was .• 
Q. Wali it before or after McFall voted I-A. I am lIot very certain; 
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I think it was before; becanse when Mr. Pollitzer ca11ed on me some 
one said be was not' of age, anll that he belonged ill Beaufort. 

Q. Did 1\'1 r. PolJitzer first SIlY that, or did some oue else say tbat T­
A. l\lr. Pollitzer said he called on me as a citizen of the United Statell 
to ask me if he had a rigbt to l"ote here. 

Q. Did you bear anyone speak about Mr. PoUitzel's l"otillg befure bl' 
asked you tbat Y-A. No, sir. 

(~. Was Mr. Pollitzer's vote cha11f'nged '-A. Some of the Bleo said 
he was not of age, and belonged in Fe"ufort. 

Q. Where were these men when they said so !-A. They were ne-ar 
the po11; not ,'ery far off. 

Q. How many of them wc>re they '-A. I could not tell how many. 
Q. Do you Imow the name of any particular person who challeoj/t'd 

his vote !-A. No. sir. 
Q. Was his vote cha11enged after he spoke t.o YOD !-A. Before! 3~ 

SOOIl as be came up to the polls. He was not around tbe polls any nm~1 
Q. Was his vote cballengf'd after YOD answert'd him f-A. No. sir; 

aftel' be "oted he got in his wagon and went right off. I 

Q. Did you see him go oftT-A. Yes, sir; he went off from the wiodOlfj 
Q. Did you see W. H. Peeples go to tbe door about tbat time !-.\. I 

ueyer noticed bim; I was swt'luing the people at that timf'. , 
Q. Were you swearing the people while Mr. Pollitzer was tnlkiog tG 

you Y-A. Mr. PolIitzer came up anel called me and asked me if be IfaJ 
lillble to ,'ote at this poll, and I told him Yl'S. 1 

Q. Did W. H. Pet.'ph·s go to the door at lilly time durilJg tbe dll~' an 
spt'lik to the peol,le t-A. I lIeYer obser"eti him. 

Q. IIlId he done so would you ha\"e known it T-A. Y ('S, sir. He 11J' not go to tbe cloor about Mr. Pollitzer. 
Q. Did he go to the door allli speak to the pcople about any oue ! . 

A. No. Kir; lIot to my knowing. I 

Q. Was there any excitement at the polls when Mr. Pollitzen otTe~ 
to ,"ote Y-A. No, sir; there was no excitement at all of any COD~ 
qllence. j 

Q. How long after Mr. Po11itzer voted was it before Dr. Wilder camt 
-A. Not very long. 

Q. Did Sou hear Mr. Drayton read any law f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What law did he read '-A. He said bo had power of attorney 

the polls. I 

Q. What was the law about t-A. He read it when Mr. Pollitzer as~~ 
me if be had a right to vote. I 

Q. To whom did he rend it T-A. He opened the door and ftad it ~ 
everyhody who was prt.'seut outside. I 

Q. What caused him to rend it f-A. Some ooe outside told Mr, Po. 
litzer he had DO right to vote; tbat he was not of age, and belonged ~ 
Bt'aufort. I 

Q. Did you see Ligbtburn otTer to ,"otef-A. Yes, sir. ~ 
Q. How loog after Mr. Pollitzer voted was it before Lightbum ofe 

to vote '-A. I could not tell; 1 took no notice. 
Q. Did anyone vote after Pollitzer yoted, and before Lightburn ca 

up f-A. Yes, sir; I belie\'e they did. 
Q. Wh~ challenged Ligbtburn'lt "'ote '-A. R. C. McIntire. 
f../. Was Lightbnrn a Ul'publican '-A. I could Dot teU. J 
Q. Did yon bear anyone say whether he was a Republican or a Of, 

ocrntf-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was McIntire a Republicau I-A .• No, sir. • 
Q. Wal! he a Democrat '-A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. Was Rny law read on the occasion of Lightburn offaring to voteT­
A. rio, !lir. 

Q. Did anybody besides McIntire object to Lightburn "oting T-A. 
Xo, sir. 

Q. Was tht're any excitelDent about his voting T-A. No, sir. 
Q. When clid those sai10rs come up and try to vote; before or after 

Lightbnrn offered T-A. I think it was directly after; I am not cert.ain. 
Q. Did anybody object to their voting T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Who objected !-A. Mr. R. C. McIntire. 
Q. Did anyone else objact T-A.. No, lIir. 
Q. WRS any la.w read about any sailors) or Navy men right to ,'ote T- • 

A. Not to my knowing; not at the polls. 
Q. Wt're any sailors or Navy men allowed to vote,and, ifRo, bowman;\' T 

-A. None to Illy knowledge, ncel)t that l\lr, Riley came up amI wantecl 
to .ott', and Mr. l\lcilltire said he conld becausa he did Dot belong to 
tbe Navy. 

Q. Dill Rny one olUl'ct to Riles's ,'oting I-A. Not to my knowing. 
Q. How long afler Mr. Pollitzer voted WIt.8 it that Ri1ey voted !-A. He 

roled some time after, I belie\'e. 
Q. Were you in the house ull dayt-A. Yes, sir; all day. 
Q. Could you st>e all around the {lolls from where you wereT-A. Yes, 

~r. I sat in the window. 
Q. Did Dr. WiMer reacl any law that dayT-A. If he did it was away 

rom the polls, for I never heard bim. 
Q. Did he tlJ1cak to tbe pMJlle at all T-A. Not to lDy kllowing. 
Q. If he had read IlDy hLW or spoken to the J1Mple during the election 

In that da.y would :;ou have known it I-A. If it wus near the polls I 
ibould ba,'e beeu obliged to ha\'e known it. 

Q. What do mean uy "near the {loUS !"-A. Any way near the win· 
low. . 
Q, Within what distance T·-A. Within thirty, fort.y, or fifty feet. 
Q. Had he read the law or spoken to the J1eople beyond that distance 

'00 ,,"ould not havf! known it, tLaeu T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Then JOB couldn't tell what \\'as going on beyond that distance f­

lo I could see \\'hat was going on, but I couldn't bear what anybody WIlS 
ayiDe. 
Q. Could you see anywhere else except through the \\'indow!-.A. 

io. sir. 
Q. WIIS there any Democratic ticket run on Hilton Head previous to 

be election of'i6t-A.. Yes, sir. 
Q. Wben was that f-A. In the election before '76, when Green and 

:baDloorlain ran. 
Q. Was Green a Democrat T-A. They styled him "Democrat;" I; 

on't know positively . 
• Q. Do )·011 know Renty Greaves, Alfred Noble, William Reed, Thomas 
'raser, Edward !Iurray, Phrenix Uobin80o, Simon Grant, I·'rederick 
):dgt', IS88C Jom>s, W. H. Pet'pJes, Thomas Chisolm, Thomas BeU, the 
rtlnee8es examint'd before Mr. Gilbert I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Are they all RepUblicans T-A. Yes, sir; they all speak Republi. 

an. 
Q. Are tht>y all colored men T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Are you not one T-A. Yes, sir; I am a true Republican and a col· 

red DIan. 

Redirect: 
~. What is the general chnracter of all these men !-A. They all SllS' 

am a good character. 
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Q. Are they such men as you would be willing to trust in doing bosi· 
ne~s !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did l\lr. Drayton come to the door more than once !-A. No, sir; 
not to my knowing. 

Q. When he came to the door, state whether or not he had any con· 
versation in reference to his brother. 

(Ohjected to.) 
A. He said to l\fr. Jesse Wells through the wiD(low to take biRbrotbtr 

]10111(', saying, "You know how he is. He may get interrupted by som~ 
of these people." Mr. Wells toM bim yes, he would. 

Recross·examination : 
Q. Di(l you or did you not say on ;\'our direct examination that lIf. 

Druyton went to the door to read the law to the people! 
(Olliected to.) 
A. I did. 
Q. Did he read the IIlw to the people and speak about bis brother at 

the same time !-A. No. 
Q. Did he go to the door to spea" about his brother I-A. He did Dot 

go the cloor to speak about his brother. 
Q. What did he go to the door for f-A. He went to the door to 1'\".11\ 

the law and let the people know that Mr. Pollitzer had a right to \'ate 
tbere. 

Q. If he went to the door to speak to the people about Mr. Pol\itm·~. 
right to ,"ote, what made birn speak about bis brother !-A. He did bOIl 
sa~ anything about his brother at t.hat time. 

Q. What time was it., then, whf'n be said Iolomething abont his hrolbfr! 
-A. It was at allother time. IIis brother was talking bigh to SOIllf 
lllen across the street, and he spoke to Mr. Wells through the wiodor. 

Q. What was his brotber talking about !-A. I do oot know. 
Q. How far off was he from you f-A. It was about sixty or 8e\"eury 

feet. 
Q. Then a mao migbt speak bigb sixtvor seventy (p.et off and yo'l 

coul<ll1ot tell wbat ht.' was saying I-A. No, sir; not as I was attendiu: 
to my business-swearing the men that came nl). 

G. P. GARD~ER. 
Sworn and subscribed before me thiR 5th day of April, A. D. 18i;. 
[SEAL.] SHEPARD D. GILBEHT, 

l!lotary Publk, &"th Corolial!, 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

Beaufort Countg: 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTAN1', l Coutesied election for St>At in tbe Forty· 

ROBERT S)lA;~~, CONTESTEE. ~ fifth Congress. 

I, Shepard D. Gilbert, a public notary in And for saill coDnty a~ 
State, duly commissioned and sworn, do bereby cerlit~' tbe fofl'goio 
depollitionll, taken in behalf of Hon. l~bert Smalls. eont~tee, were dol. 
taken before 011', ftnd tbat all interlinl'ations amI corrt'CtioDs were rell 
IU'ior to the snbscrillin~ to the same of tbe deposing witut.'sse~ . 

In testimony wbereof I hereunto set my b3UlI and notllrial ~ tbli 
7th day of April, in the year of our Lord one tbousand eigbt ht'ucmd 
anll se,·enty·se,·eu. 

fSEAL.] SHEPARD D. GILBERT. 
},?otary Public, BolitA Ccrroli ... 
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Notice to take testimony. 

Sl'A.'rE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beaufort Oounty: 

G. D. TILLMAN, CON'rESTAN1', ~ 
'1". 

ROBERT SlIALLB, CONTESTEE, 
To HOD. G. D. TILLMAN: 

Yon are hereby notified that I will examine the following additional­
named witnesses, all of whom reside in Bea-nfort Coonty, relathoe to and 
tonching the matters and things set forth in my answer to yonr notice 
of contest of my rigbt to a seat in the CongresR of tQe United Statt's. to 
which you claim to h&\-e been elected at the No\'ember election, ISiU, 
for the fifth Congressional district of the State of Soutb Carolina, and 
in reply to matters and tbings set forth in said notice of contest before 
JJ. S. Langley, esq., a notary public in and for said /:)tat.t>, in tbe town of 
lleanfOlt, at the council-chamber. on tbe 4th, 5th, 6tb, 7th, and 8th duys 
of April, 1877, or so much thereof as Dlay be nt>cessary to examine tha 
tililowillg·named witnt>sses, to wit: W. H. McGill, William Lawrenct', 
Richard HO\vard, William Middleton, Nat Ht>yward, Prince Heyw3rcl, 
aoel N. R. Williams, who resides in the county of Aiken allll Stnte afore­
Rait!. 

W. J. WHIPPER, 
Attorney for Oonte,tee. 

I accept service of the within notice at Beaufort this 3d Allril, ISH. 

ST A'rE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Beaufort: 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
1)'. 

UOBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 
To Hon. O. D. TILLMAN: 

WM. ELLIOTT, 
Ooun,elfor G. D. Tillman. 

Yon are hereby notified that I will examine the· following-named wit­
ness, who reside in Beaufort County, relative to and touching the mat­
ters and things set forth in my an8Wl."r to yonr notice of cOlltest of my 
right to a seat iu the Congrl."ss of the United States, to which you claim 
to lJave_ been 1."1t>cted at tbe No,-ember election of 1876, for tbe fifth Cou­
g-r(>ssional district of the State of South Carolina, and in rl."ply to mat­
t~rs and things set forth in said notice of contest, amI to evidence pro­
duced by you in your behalf before L. S. Langlt>y, esq., notary public, 
in the town hall, in the town of Beaufort, on the 7th day of April, or so 
much thereof as may be necessary for the examination of Jacob Petti­
grew, late of Paris Island. 

ROBERT SMALLS, 
1'er W. J. WHIPPER, 

Oounsel for Oontestee. 
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

Oounty of Beaufort: 
Personally appeared D. \V. Powen, who, being duly sworn, deposes 

ft nd says that he served a copy of the within notice personally on 
"'iI1i~m Elliott, connsel for G. D. Tillman, on the 6th day of April, 1877, 
at 6 o'clock p. m. 

D. W. POWELL. 
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Sworn to before me this 6th day of April, 1817. 
[L. s.l L. S. LANGLEY, 

STATE OF· SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Beaufort County: 

Notary Public, South Carolilla. 

Contested-election case for a seat in the Forty-fifth Congress of tbe 
United States. 

GEO. D. TILLMA.N, CONTESTANT, ~ 
·I)B. 

HOBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 
You are hereby notified that I will examine the following-nnmed wit­

IH~S8eS, all of whom reside in Beaufort Couuty, relative to aud toucbillJt 
tbe matters and tbings set forth in my answt>r to yoor notice of 8S 

to my right to a. seat in the Coogrt'ss of the United Statt-A, to which ~'Oll 
claim to have been ell'cted at the November election of 1876, for tbe fifth 
Congressional district of the State of South Carolina, and in reply to mat· 
ters a.nd things set forth in said notice of conteAt, aud to evidence I"l} 
dllced by you in your behalf before L. S. Langley, esq., notary public. 
in the town-ball, tn the town of Beaufort, on the 4tb, 5th, 6tb, 7th, lIod 
8th days of April, or as much thereof as may be necessary, to wit:' 

Stepney Deveaux, Dick Scott. jr., and Anna Smart, of Paris Island: 
.T. G. Call, an(l Henry Simons, of Ladies Island; Samuel Mack, Ruliu 
B.'yant, J. M. Brown, and llarcus Simons, of M~-rtle BUAh. 

ROBERT SMAI.LS, 
Per W. J. WHIPPER, 

OounBef for Contutee. 
Service accepted this 4th day of April, 1817. 

WM. ELLIOTT, 
Attorney for Ot)ntelJtallt. 

Evidellce in behalf of contcstee. 

BEAU PORT POLL. 

SOUTH CAROLINA, Beaufort Oounty: 
Contested election ior seat in the Forty-fifth Congress. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CON1'ESTANT, ~ 
VB. 

ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 
JOSEPH COHEN Sworn. 
Question. State YClur age, residence, and occupation.-ADswer. Thirty· 

two is my age; my residence, Beaufort, and my occupation is town DUIr' 

shal. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of November last, the day of the 

last general election !-A. In the town of Beaufort, round and about the 
l)oIlS. 

Q. Were you town marshal at tha.t tilDe j and, if 80, what part oft be 
day did you spend at the polls I-A. I was town marshal at tbe time, 
and was at the polls from 7 a. m. till 11 a. m. I then left the poll, lIod 
returned at 1 p. 10., and rema.ined until the polls closed. 

Q. What was the chara.cter of the election held at the Be.'lufort pre­
cinct f-A. I conshle.· the election as peaceful and quiet. 

Q. 'Vas there any disturbance at the polls or any effort Ulade to pre-
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\"ent parties from voting f-A. Tht.'re was no disturbance at all. E\"ery 
person entitled to vote \"oted as he felt disposed. 

Q. State whether there was or could have been any considerable 
number of illegal votes polled at that preeinct on that day without your 
knowledge.-A. There could not have been: I was at the pons most Illl 
dllY, and know most every person who voted there. 

Q. Have you attended the electious at the Beaufort precinct hereto· 
fore since reconstruction f-A. As a general thing. I ha"e attellded 
motlt e\"ery election. 

Q, Is it common for parties to come from the islands adjacent amI 
\"ote at Beaufort ou election-days f-A. I am positive that parties living 
on those islllnds near Beaufort always \"ote at the Beaufort poll. 

Q. Is it 110t a fact that many voters lhoing on those itdands are 
nearer the Beaufort poll than the polls established for \"ot.ing }mrpost's 
on their respecti\"e islands '-A. It is nearer for snch \"oters to come to 
Bt'ftufort by three or four miles. 

Q. Were Jon present at the Hampton meeting held at Beaufort, just 
bef(\r~ the election f-A. I was. 

Q. State whllt was the conduct of Repnblicans generally at that IDeet· 
ing, particularly of yourself, Monday Williams, Alfred Will hUll S, and 
L. S. Langley.-A. The Republicans gt'nerally were peaceable und quiet. 
The parties named tried all in their power to maintain peace. We went 
through the crowd when there was a disposition apparently manifested 
to make a noisp_Land rt'quested that the speakets might have a peace· 
able hearing. When Mr. Le Roy F. Youmans WIIS speaking, L. S. Lanjl­
ley arose and questioned the speaker, which created some excitement, 
bot nothing serious. All the speakers had a quiet hearing, save Judge 
Cook. When he arose to speak the Republicans declined they would 
not ht.'al' him, because he was a traitor to the Republican party. Mr. 
Intendant (Mayor) Williams and myself remonstrated with the crowd, 
who were 80 loud in their ohjections that Judge Cook discontinued. 
The only real disturber of the peace on that OOOKsion was oue Jones, 
(colored,) who claimed to be a Democrat. He came from the spt'akers' 
stand, under the influence of strong drink, (1 mean under the influence 
of whisky,) and commenced to curse the crowd, and struck one Ander-
80n; after which Ben Holmes got into it, and the crowd rU8hed and 
created some excitement. I bad the police force on tbe groond and 
arrested the partie8 making di8turbance, placing them in the guard­
house and keeping them thtre nntil the meeting adjourned, afttar which 
I releASed them. 

Q. What is the color and politic8 of Ben. Holmes f-A. He i8 a col· 
orf'd mao, and acted and voted with the Dtmocrats. 

Q. State, if you know, what Judge Cook claimed to be. a Republican 
or a Democrat !-A. I have known him to be a Republican. He 8tated . 
that day that he was a Republican. 

Q. State if any of the Democratic speakers were prevented from 
speaking.-A. I 8tate po8itively, no, sir. All Democratic speakers were 
bf'ard without being interrupted. Just before the meeting concluded 
Wade Hampton got, up and bid the meeting good-bye, and they cheered 
bim. I would like to state that Judge Oook when he commenced be­
gan by abusing the police officers. I had two policemen stationed to 
l>re\-ent the crowd from coming up on the stoop, and as he bt'gan to 
speak he ordered the policemen to mo\"e and allow the people to come 
up on the 8tep. The police refused, stating they hall order8 to keep the 
people trom oft" the step. He accused them of creating a distlll'bance, 
lind threatened if he bad bis way he would lock them up. 
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Q. What, if any, tickets diel you examine on election-,lay, and bow!­
A. I did not examine auy ticket.'i at all. 1 WIlS stationed at the \loll 
by one side of the window where the hOl: was, for the purpose of ket'p­
ing off persolls already voted and allowing pl'rsons desiring to ,-ote 
to get at the poll. One man came up thel'e with his ticket (Jpellt'd in 
his hand and tried to put it ill the box. 1 told him to fold bis ticket; 
he Heemiogly did not know how to do it, and handed it to me to fold for 
him, and 1 did so. 1 handed it back to him, aDd he deposited it in tile 
box. Ohjection was made to my doing it by Mr. Melvin, a Democrat, 
who was inside tbe room, and I never again took a ticket from aoy olle 
clsl'. 

Q. How many men (Wllite antI colored) were llrouml the poll distri\)' 
nting Democratic tickets I-A. I cannot answer definitely; there \'re~ 
several around there. 

Q. Were any of them disturbed or molested in any way !-A. ~o, sir: 
not to my knowledge. 

Q. State whether or Dot it woul<l have come to your knowledge ifany 
were molested !-A. It would have, as marsbal. 

Oross-examined by William Elliott, counsel for contestant: 
Q. When you reached the polls on the morning of the election. bOil" 

many votes bad been cast !-A. I think it was about ~n or firte~u. J 
don't think it was more. 

Q. Under our laws ba"e not votl'rs the right to vo~ at any preciol:t 
in the county iu which they reside '-A. I cannot state definitely Oil 

that point. Tbere is an oath they are reqnireti to take. 
Q. Did not residents of Ladies' Island vote at Beaufort precinct ~­

A. I state positively, yes. 
Q_ Could they not bave votetl at the polls on Ladies' Island if tbt'Y 

]lad desired, instead of at the Beaufort poll !-A. I statetl tbey could 
ha'-e voted there by pntting themselves to a lODger walk, three or fuur 
mil('s. 

Q. ]s it not true, then, that a. voter can voteat any r.o11 in thf'county; 
that he ,lesires '-A. I cannot answer that question definitely, bt>can..Tlt 
I aID not com-ersaut enough with tbe law. 

Q. Wbat is the custom f-A. The custom is, as I nnd~rstand, if bl:' 
swears that be is a resident of the county of Beaufort and a citizen 1)( 

South Carolina, and has not looted auywhere ell5e on that day, be lS 

allowed to vote. 
Q. At any precinct'-A. Yes, as I understand it. 
Q. Was there any rf'gistration of ,'oters at the Beaufort poll hefon> 

the lallt election '-A. I answer no; not to my knowledge. 
Q. Wben you left the polls at eleven o'clock on that day. how m3ny 

votes had been cast '-A. I cannot state accurately, buL there was .. 
good many "otes up to eleven o'clock. : 

(~. About how many were polled during the day'-A. I cannot startl 
positively, but there was a very large vote polled. 

Q. ])0 you know whether the voters who voted at this Ill"l'Cinct b.d 
not voted at some other precinct before voting heret-A, 1,10 1I0t kII .... 
as to n11, but I am posith-e as to some; conld not have voted at any otlsd 
precinct prior to voting hert'. , 

Q. 'Vhy could they 1I0t have voted at some other precinct prior tol 
~-otillg here f-A. Because, from the time the poll opened to the li_ 
the.\" looted. they conld not have got from any other precinct to this oae. 

Q. Do you know whetber tbey did Dot \"ote at some 01 ber pnocinct 
after voting at this !-A. I do oot koow. 
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Q. 'Vas it not pO'lsible for a man to have voted at se\'eral precincts 
in this \-icinity 011 tbat dilY T-A. Yes. I wonld state tbat it is possible 
for a man to attempt to do it if he felt so dispONed. 

Q. Was it not possible for bim to tIo it '-A. TLat is a question I cnn· 
not answer. 

Q. Could not a man starting at Woodlawn precinct at 6 o'clock a. m. 
have rt>a(·hed Beaufort at 8 a. m.'-A. Such is possible. 

Q. How long would it take the same man to ~o to Port Royal from 
BeaufOlt f-A. He would be at Port Royal at half past nine. 

Q. In what time could he go from Port Royal to M~'rtle Bnsh !-A. 
H", could be there abont twelve o'clock. 

Q. By what time could he be at Gray's Mill from Myrtle Bush l-A. 
BH about tbree or four o'clock. 

Q. What was there there to pre"ent a mau from voting at all of the 
above-named precincts on election·day, had he been so disposed T-A. 
Nothing but his required oatb, if he was so disposed. 

Q. Upon what t.ben do you maktl your statement that no considerable 
number or ilIegl,1 "otes conld ha\'e baen cast at Beaufort precinct ou 
election-day'-A.. From the fact I was at the poll and knew most. of the 
persons who voted, and did not see them attempt to vote tile second 
time at tl1is precinct. _ 

Q. That is all then on which you base your statement '-A. As to this 
precinct. I know nothing as to any other. 

Q. At the Hampton meeting, did not Monday Williams interrupt the 
spt-'akers very often with questions '-A. Not to my knowle(lge. I was 
80 iuformed, but on going to Monday Williams I fbund to the contrary. 
He was tr~-ing to persnade the crowli not to disturh the 8peakl·rs. 

Q. Did you not see him standing to the foot of the steps IIskillg ques· 
tions of Mr. Youmans or Judge Oook !-A. I cannot state posith-ely that 
he did or did 1I0t. 

Q. Was he not standing at the steps directly in front of the 
speakers T-..t\.. He was standing at. the steps directly in front of the 
speakers, for when I went to Rpeak to him I found him there. 

Q. Did you not hear him asking questions of the speakers '-A. I did 
not. 

Q. Were there not a good many qnestions asked Mr. Youmans by 
members of the Republican party T-A. I would state that there were 
lS",veral questions asked him. 

Q. Was he not at one time compelled to stop speaking '-A. He did 
stop speaking, but I cannot say he was compdled to stop. IIe was 
nsked a question which produced a great deal of excitement. After 
the excitement he did not attempt to speak again. 

Q. Did lIot General Hamptoll state to the crowd that the meeting was 
ended in consequence of the disturbance '-A. I cannot Sc'ly that he 
used those exact words, bllt he useel words to that effect. Be said he 
was sorry that they could not get as pt'aceable a bearing here as in 
other parts of the county. _ 

Q. Was the meeting then clo!led '-A. I think not. I think that was 
just after Mr. Youmans retired from the stand, anti afterward Mr. Giblls 
cnme on the stanel and spoke at length. 

Q. Did not General Hampton retire immediately after making these 
remarks !-A. Not tben. He came back on the stand after :\Ir. Gibbs 
flot through, aud bid the crowd good bye, stating when he was electetl 
gO\"el'uor be would come down bere and address them. 

Q. Was it Dot then that General Hampton stated, in effect, that the 
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meeting WRS at an ('nd in consequence of the disturbance !-A. I don't 
know that he stated that at all. I certainly did not hear him. 

Q. Did he 110t at that time call the attention of the crowd to the fact 
that officers of the United States Na\"y were present aud had \Vitu~ll 
the scelle !-A. Y£'s, he diu. 

Q. St;\te fUl'ther what you were about to state in this connection and 
were interrupted. 

(Counsel for contestee objects to answer beibg gi\"en to this question, 
on the ground it assumes what the record does not show.) 

A. I have nothing more to state on that point. 
Q. Were you lIot ahout to state something further on that pointY-A. 

I wus not. I had concluded the answer to tho question. 
Q. Were you not proceeding to state something fluther when iour· 

rll}lted by .the notary !-A. I must certainly answer" No," from the fact 
I (~annot think what it was I was about to state. 

Q. Was it not that General Hampton said he was sorry that the om· 
CtTS had witnt'ssed thiK scene, or words to that effect '-A. He said tbere 
were United States officertl on the porch who had witueskd the &cene 
and would take cognizance of'it. 

Q. Was there not a great deal of singing by Republicans at the meet· 
ing on that day '-A. There was not any singing during the speaking, 
thf're were cheers. Thf're was singing after tbe meeting. 

Q. Who were the cheers for T-A. I cannot say for whom they cheered, 
but they were cheering. 

Q. Whom did you or any of your police arrest on that day f-A. 
Thaddeus Jones and llen. Holmes, tbe two men who created disturb­
ance at tbe meeting. 

Q. Were these all '-A. These are the only two. 
Q. Are not they both Democrats !-A. They profess to be Democrats. 
Q. To what party does Mr. Youmans belong '-A. He is a Democrat. 

He certainly advocated Democratic principles. 
Q. Were JOU called, on the night previous to the Hampton mt'etiog, 

to protect the decorations made for tbe occasion '-A. 1 was called 00 
and I wenl, and stationed a policeman tbere to prevent anyone from tear· 
injl down or interfering witb the boilding in the least. 

Q. At the polls on election.day, did not Mr. Barnw('ll, United StatH 
supervisor, ol1iect to your examining tickf'ts of voters '-A. I state DO, 
that he did not. Mr. Melvin called attention to my folding a ticket for 
a waD, or having anything to do witb it one way or the other. 

Q. Did not llr. Barnwell make some objection to yonr condnct at the 
polls; and, if so, what !-A. No; that was the only instance I was callt."d 
in question. 

Q. To wbat party did you and your policemen, on election-day, belong! 
-A.. I do not know as to the policemen, but I am a Republican. The 
police were not questioned as to whether they 'Were Democrats or Repub­
licans. 

Q. Were the policemen Democrats I-A. I cannot answer d~fioitely. 
Byas Middleton loJelongs, I think, to the Democratic club, and be was 
one of the police. 

Q. Are you sure he was one of the policemen on election-day T-A. 1 
think he was. 

Q. Was he a policeman at the time of the Hampton meetingT-A. 1 
call not state positively. 

Q. Wbo were the polic('men on the day of the Hampton meeting f­
A. I co. nnot state positively as to that now; I have a list of them ill my 
office. 
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Q. Who were some of them '-A. Tom Barnf's was ont'o 
Q. To what party dhl he helong!-A. I can't state wbat Tom is, 

wbetht'r be ill a Democrat or Rt'publicau. 
Q. With wbat pa.rty did he act during t.he last campaigu T-A. I can't 

state that, even; he has been away some time. 
Q. To what party did he claim to belong t-A. I don't know; I do 

know two years ago he voted for Chamberlain. 
Q. Bas he changed his politics since then '-A. I don't know. 
Q. Were not all the other policemen ou that day Republicans t-A. I 

don't know that. 
Q. Mention some of the othen-A. Joe Fi ... lds was one. 
Q. To what party did he belong T-A. I don't know. 
Q. With what party doeli he act '-A. I cannot state that he acts 

with any party. • 
Q. Has he a reputation of bein~ a Democrat T-A. I have never heard 

his political opiniou questioued; I don't know what he is. 
Q. Name some of the others.-A. Toney Green, Hamilton Robiuson, 

Joe Robinson. 
Q. To what P!lrty did they belong !-A. I believe they are Republi. 

cans. 
Reclirect examination: 

Q. Who called on YOll to protect the decorations the day before the 
Hampton meetingT-A. Mr. William" Boot" Elliott, (1 mean W. 'V. 
Elliott,) Mr. Middleton Elliott, Barney Fullt'r, nud lIr. Van :Yess. 

Q. Had there been any threats matle that led to the calling of the 
police force '-A. They stated that boys were going backward and for· 
ward Minging, and as they pass throw brickbats at the decorations. 

Q. Did you· or your force see auything of this kind, or any disturb­
ance whatel'er f-A. I did not see any disturbance, but I did see the 
boys psslling up and down, singing. 

Q. At the time Hampton made reference to the officers, did or did 
not those officers leave T-A. I don't know. 

Q. \Vere or were not the questions askell Hampton aOlI the other 
Democratic speakers asked ill a friendly way and simply for informa­
tion' 

(Counsel for contestant objects to this qnestion as a leadin~ one.) 
A. I cannot state the exact nature of the questions, but I am mther 

impressed that they were. 
Q. How long was this Hampton mt'eting bf'fore elt'ction-da~·!-A. I 

think the meeting was between the 20th and 25tb of October; I cannot 
state the exact day. 

Q. Are you oortain it was not later than the 25th '-A. I don't think 
it was later, bnt it might be. 

The word" tht'rt'," p. 2, the name" Melvin," p. 8," to," p. 14, "that," 
p. 20, "man," p. 22, "singing," p. 27, were interlined before Signing, and 
tbe words" Patterson," p. 8, " from," and the termination" ing," p. 14, 
wt're strnck out before signing. 

JOAEPH COHE:~. 
Sworn and subscribed to this 211 day of April, A. D. 1877, ht'fore me. 
lSEAL.J L. S. LONGLEY, 

Notary Pub1!c, South Oarolina. 
MONDA.Y W. WILLIAMS sworn. 
Qoestion. State your age, residence, and occupation.-Answcr. Age 

is thirty·two; live in New Bllildillg, Beaufort County, and am a con­
stable. 
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Q. 'Vhere were you on the 7th day of November, the day of the last 
general .-lection T-A. In tbe town of Beanfort, Beaufort precinct, a011 
acted 8S United States deputy marshal. 

Q. From what bonr to wbat bour were you present at the poll on that 
day'-A. From 6 a. m. to 9 or 10 p. m. 

Q. What were tbe general demeanor of tbe people and voters arooml 
tbe poll on tbat day I-A. Better, sir, than I ever soon at bny election 
beld here since reconstruction. 

Q. State whetber or not elections at this poll have always been or· 
r1t'rly and quiet.-A. At other electiolls there blls been quarrels or a 
figbt, hut at this ono tbere was no sucb tbing. No one was insulted, to 
my knowledge. 

Q. State whether or not the bar· rooms were closed on that day, or all 
places that 80ki liquor.-A. I believe tbey were all closed. All that I 
been into were closed. . 

Q. State whether or not aoy liquor was around the polls; and if flO, 

who llad it, wbat party they belouged to, and what dispOSition wall 
ma(le of it. 

(Connsel for contestant objects to this question, because it was not £lot 
in issue by counsel for the coutestee.) 

A. My attention was called that there was some one gh·ing away or 
disposing of liquor in some sbal)e or form in a building uot more tban a 
hundred or a hundred and twellty·til'e feet frolU the polls. I went to 
tbat building and tound parties there just in the act of taking a dlillk 
as I entered. Found two small demijohns there, each containing wbillky. 
(allout one· third or half full.) I took charge of the whisky as Uuitpd 
States deputy marshal. The parties in posses!lion of the whisky, 801116 
I recognized and some were uuknown to me. I recognizl'd one Jlrank· 
lin Chaplin and Charles Simmons. I judge they belonged to tbe Demo­
cratic party. I also recognized John Smitb. I delivereel the whillky to 
tbe jailer and told bim to keep tbe samE.', as something might turn III' 
about it. 

Q. Were you present at the Hampton meeting held in this towo 
sbortly before tbe election '-A. I wa~, sir. 

Q. About how long before election WitS it beld !-A. I llisremembt-r. 
There bas been so mucb confusion in the country that I (lou't recollect; 
I should judge it was one or two weeks. 

Q. Wbat was the conduct of RI'publicans tbere generally-yourself, 
Joseph Coben, Intendaut Alfred Williams, and L. S. Langlt'y in partieo. 
lar!-A. I should judge tbat they were in the 011 set '"ery orderly. By 
lllld by they commenC6l1 each one to ask the speakers questioll", (ime-IIII 
dift"erent olles,) wbicb raised a kind of confosion in the cro''fd. Altl'r 
a ',"hile a n.em ber belonging to the Democratic (larty came o'"er and strllck 
one belonging to tbe Republican I)arty; then that raisetl a confusion 
grl'ater than It had beeu belore. That calleel tbe attention of tbe town­
marshal, and the intendant more especially, to pnt a stop to the quarrel" 
ing going on at the time. The intendant took au active part to presern! 
the peace, so did tbe marshal and bis policemen. I took an active Illtrt 
in asking the different speakers questions, toucbing matters they 8110ke 
of. I also took an acth"e part in preserving tbe peace. In regard to lIr. 
Langley, tbe part he took was in asking a few questious, especially to 
Speaker Cook. 

Q. Were those questions asked in a friendly way and with a 'fiew of 
eliCiting information T 

(Connsel for contestant objects to tbis question as leading.) 
A. Yes, sir; I believe thpy were. 8~rore a question was asked the 
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speaker was asked if be would ~'ield to a question or not. If the speaker 
l't'plie(l state ~'our question, then the queslion was asked. There watt 
different speakers who spoke there and obtained 8S good a bearing as 
an)' Ht'publican speaker in the town of Beaufort. 

Q. Would there have been any difficulty there if the Democrats hall 
not struck that blow T-A. 1 don't believe, sir, that there would han~ 
been. All things were goin~ on 10\"ely until that happened. 

Q. State what is the custom hpre at political meetings in regard to 
asking qoestions.-A. The custom· bere, sir, bas been, whenever a 
speaker gets on the staud, etlpecially in opposition to another, he al ways 
gives it ont ill the onset that anyone dettiring to ask questiolls ClUJ do 
so. I won't say for certain, but I think that they stated in the onset 
they were ready to answer any questions or charges ma(le against the 
party. 

Q. State whether or not that meeting was broken up hy thiM fnss.­
A. I don't tbink it W8S. I think the hour for adjournment had arri\"ed ; 
that they bad to go off on the train. Parties then called for three 
cheers for Hampton, when tbe cheers called for were given for Oham· 
berlain, as a heavy majority thel'e were for Chamberlain. 

Q. 'Vas the Democrat who struck this Republican a white or colored 
Iron I-A. Colored. 

Q. 'Yas there lilly partics around the polls on election.day distribute 
ing Democratic tickets; and, if so, about how many T-A. 'There was 
abont twelve or more (listribnting tickets. No less than tweh'e. 

Q. 'Vas they distnrbed or interfered with in any way '-A. As I ba\"e 
stated in the onset, it was the quietest election e\"er beld here since reo 
construction. I base that on the fllct, because tbere was not a quarrd 
to my knowledge among those electioneering. 

Cross·examined : 
Q. How long ha\'e yon been depnty United S~,tes marshal Y-A. I 

can't exactly tell, as I ha\'e not my al)pointment with mt', bnt my appoint· 
ment expired on the 1st of December. I think I was appointed sOllie 
time in October, but can't tell cert.aill. 

Q. Did JOU hold that office at the time of the Hampton meeting in 
Beaufort '-A. I think I did. I think I received notice of appointment 
a day or two before. 

Q. Was it in that capacity you tried to preserve peace at the meet' 
iog !-A. I don't know, sir, exactly; I think I acted the same as any 
good citizen to try to preser\'e the peace. 

Q. Did you consider it l' part of your duty, as deputy marshal, to take 
a prominent part in asking questions at that meeting !-A. I did uot. 

Q. Who was the first person who asked questions at that meeting ,­
A. 1 dou't know. A crowd was there alld I was not stunding close-was 
off near the sea· wall. 

Q. Was it not IJ. S. Langlt'y '-A. I can speak of a certainty, it was 
not, for he cnme up afterward~. 

Q. After what't-A. After the meeting had been going on, and I feel 
8ure I heard questions asked before I heard them asked by L. S. Laug. 
ley. 

Q. Of what speaker were the questions first asked !-A. Disremem· 
ber now, sir. 

Q. Doll't you remember L. S. Lnogley asking questions of LeRoy F. 
Youmans !-A. I can't say 1ol'certl1i11, but it strikes me sillce qllet!tion 
has been pnt to me that I did be~I' questions asked by )Jr. La11glt'~', bnt 
am not positive. 
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Q. Did not Mr. YOllmalls speak before Judge Cook !-A. Ye.~, sir i 1 
thillk he dill. 

Q. To what part.y do Alfred Williams, Josepb Cohen, L. S. Langll'Y, 
and )'ourllelf belong T-A. I can only say for myself; I belong to tbe 
HeplllJlican luuty. Tl1ey haye always affiliated with the Repulllicau 
party. 

Q. Haf'e you any doubt in yonr mind thl\t tbey are Republicans t­
A. I l1ave 110 doubt but they are RepUblicans. 

Q. Wl1ere were you when the coll(usion c('mmellced !-A. I was stanll, 
ing UbOllt !!Iix or eight feet from the sea· wall, and about tlix or eight feet 
frOID tbe lIIan who got struck. 

(~. Who was tbe wan struck !-A. Anderson Reed. 
Q. Where does he live!-A. In town of Beaufort. 
~. Who struck him !-A. A JDaD by the nallle ot Tbaddeus Jonl'lI. 
Q. Do you kllow wby he struck him !-A. Am not positive, but thiuk 

AnU('rSOD Heed called out three cheers tor Ohamberlain, and ullon tbat 
lll~ struck bim. 

Q. Was the crowd cbeering for Chamberlain at tbat time !-A. Not 
certain, sir, but think they were. 

Q. Oheel'ing loudly !-A. Y('s, sir. 
Q. Anci rt'peatedly Y-A. I think about e'iery time a speaker got 

thron,:th tlU'y cb('ered for Cbamberlaiu. 
Q. Duu't JOu know thnt cbeers wcr~ gif'en for Ohamberlain more tban 

once while a Npt'aker was speaking f-A. I tbink wbile some of tb~ 
K)lf'Hkertl w('ra sllt'aking there was more than one chet-r given; not ex' 
Hctly by the crowd, but one or two would cheer. ' 

(l. \Vere not tbe cbf'ers so 10lld as to make it iUlpo~sible for the speak, 
('rN 10 be h('llrd !-A. Sometimes they were-whelle\'er tbe crowd cheereu. 

Q. I understHnd YOll to say the confusion was raised by asking qoes­
t:OIlS; am I correct t-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. If thes" questiolls were asked in a friendly way, as yon baf'e tellti, 
fied. why did tbey make a confusion '-A. When one man asked 8 qoes­
tion, when the answer was given, if it did n()t satisfy tbe crolfll, tbl'l'l' 
was a killd of a ;ff'1l or cheer. 

('~. Do JOU mean to swpar positively that these questions were ask«'tl 
in a friendly wa~', and solely tor the purpose of getting intorruation f­
A. For mYtielf, I ean say yes. I can't say about the others. J Ilikt'd 
tbe crowd to let me pot the qoestions in a proper way. 

Q. Hut they rpfu~f'd f-A. Some dill and some did not. 
Q. We,'e not yon stl\lI<iin,:t at the foot of the steps within a few feet of 

some of the speak('rs f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you not repeatedly ask qupstions of Mr, Youmans and 

othl'rs !-A. I did, tii,·. I don't know exactly about lIr. Youmans, bnt 
1 did Ask questions repeatedly. 

Q. Did ~ ou not ask tbe same question repeatedly '-A. Xo, sir. 
Q. Did YOll IIot seyeral times Hppc.>al to the crowd to be quiet. so your 

qUl~StiOIlS coulcl be beard !-A. Yes. sir. 
Q. Wh~' could tbey not be beard 7-A. At that time Judge Cooke. OP~ 

of tbe speakers, said something that wat' insulting to the marshal a011 
tbe crowd. and it was ahout that time I was putting this question. 

Q. lIow far ,"ere YOll from Judge Cooke T-A. Wben h(' first ~m' 
JIIt'IIced to spl'ak I was standing sowe twelve or fifteen steps from blm. 
He then iuyited the crowd to draw near, and told the marshal to let tbe 
crowd cOllie up near. He then criticizetl the marshaI'd action. J tht'u 
drew as near as eight sh'ps from him. 
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Q. How long have you atteuded l)olitical meetings in Beaufort '-:-A. 
EVl"r siuce reconstruction, sir. 

Q.. Were you present at the Oarpenter aud Butler meeting in this town 
in 1870 '-A. I was. 

Q. Was Judge Oarpenter allowed to speak on that occasion !-A. I 
don't know whether he spoke at length or not, but he did speak, I know. 

Q. Don't you know he could not finish his speech in consequence of 
interruptions I-A. I remem ber now, sir, there was a kind of a row that 
day, but I don't know whether he WM speaking at the time or not. 

Q. Don't you remember that L. S. Langley was conspicuous in inter· 
rupting the meeting on that da,V I-A. Strikes me that he did ask 
questions 011 that day. Afterwards there was another stand erected, 
and L. S. Langley spoke, I think, from that stand. I can't say pOSitively, -
it bas been so long. 

Q. Don't you know that he sJloke from a stand on the opposite side of 
the street while General Butler or some other speaker were addressing 
the audience !-A. I don't know, sir, whethf'.r it was at the same time 
General Butler was addressing the audience or uot. It strikes me it 
was later in the evening. 

Q. At the Hampton meeting, wben it was closed, did not Genet'al 
Hampton state it was at an end in couseqneuce of the illoorruptiolls and 
confusion !-A. I don't remember, I thillk he said" I care not whether 
I get a hearing here or lIot, but I will be governor of South Oarolina." 

Q. Have troops ever been stationed in Bea.ufort during any election 
prior to this last '-A. Not to my kllowledge. 

Q. Does lIot that account in your mind for the last election being 
unusnally quiet '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Was there not more excitement among tbe people in this town 
during the last election than ever befot'e I-A. No, sir. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. How n(>ar were the troopa to the polls !-A. About two blocks. 
Q. Did eithtr officers or 80Itliers interfere with or attend around the 

polls on that day'-A. Nu, sir. 
Q. Was anybody intimidated by the presence of the troops, either 

Democrat or Republican '-A. Not to my knowing, sir. 
Q. State, if yon know, whether it was at the instance of Republicaus 

or Democrats that soldiers were ordered here.-A. It was generally re­
ported that they were ordered here at the instance of the Democrats. 

The words " term of office," p. 38, and "him," p. 44, were strack out 
before signing. The letter" W," p. 30. and the words" stated in the 
onset they," p. 36, and" me," p. 44, and" unusually," p. 49, were iuter­
lined before signing. 

M. W. WILLIAMS. 

Sworn and subscribed to this 3d day April, 1877, before me. 
. L. S. LANGLY, 

Notary Public, South Oarolina. 

PETER RoBINSON, (colored,) sworn. 
Question. State yoar age, residence, and occupation !-Answer. Age, 

cwenty-eight; residence, Beaufort; occnpation, constable. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of November, the day of the last 

geueral election !-A. Bea.ufort; Beauf.>rt precinct. 
Q. From what hour to what hour were you at the polls !-A. From 5 

a. m. to the close. 
H. Mis.;11--32 
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Q. State what was the conduct anrl demeanor of voters and others 
around the polls on that dayf-A. E"erything was qniet and harmo­
nious; so much so, that one of the Democratic distributers remarked 
about its quietness, saying it was more a day of pleasure than an elec­
tion. 

Cross-examination: 
Q. Did you hold any official position on the day of election !-A. 

None. 
Q. Were you constable at that time '-A. No. 
Q. What l)osition did you hold in the Republican party at that 

timet-A. None. 
Q. Had you not been county chairman of the Republican party I-A. 

Never was. 
Q. Had you not been Republican chairman of this precinct '-A. :Sot 

at that time. My successor was elected by the Republican nominating 
convention held in October. 

Q. In the interest of what party were you at the polls I-A. Tbe 
Republican party. 

Q. To perform what part I-A. Distributing tickets. 
Q. Who was the Democrat who made the remark to which you 

referred T-A. John H. Clancey. 
Q. Was the election unusually quiet for Beaufort '-A. Don't kno .. 

that it was more quiet than others; but it was vpry quiet. 
PETER ROBINSO~. 

Sworn and subscribed to thi8 3d day of April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.J L. S. LANGLEY, 

}rotary Public, Bout" CaroliJl/l. 
JAMES H. TOliKING (white) 8worn. 
Que8tion. State your age, residence, and occupation.-A08\fer. Born 

in 1835; residence, Beaufort precinct; occupation, a butcher. 
Q. Were you in the town of Beaufort on the day of the last general 

election '-A. Ye8. I wa8 one of the managers. 
Q. Did or dirl you not see Mr. Cohen examine any tickets on the day 

of the election '-A. Well, not tickets, but I did see him looking a little 
too long, as I thought, at a ticket taken from a voter at the polls. Be 
took it by the tacit consent of the voter for the pnrpose of folding it up 
properly. He was in the habit, during the day, of folding tickets prop­
erly, 80 the box could contain all the votes. 

Q. Did you see llr.Oohen take tickets from anyone at all witbout 
their consent f-A. No, sir. I corrected him in this instance, and told 
him if he attempted to read the tickets again he would haye to Jea\"ej 
I would not allow it. 

Q. Did he attempt to read any other tickets during the day '-A. Be 
did not while I was there. I was tbere all the time except when going 
to dinner. I also was away for a minute or two in the yard twice. 
When I left, two managers were there. 

Q. What party did you represent as one of the managers I-A. Tbe 
Democratic party. 

Q. Did anyone attempt to molest you on that day, when you voted, 
or did you vote at all on that (lay T-A. I voted openly; showed my 
ticket to all who was there, and no one molested me. 

Q. Was f!lection as quiet on that day 38 on previous occasions '-A. 
Well, bf!iog in the hOllse, I am not able to say positively. 

Q. Did you see an~'body molest anyone on thRt day who desired to 
vote the Democratic ticket, or llreyented from 80 doing '-A. Yo' 
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Cross-examination: 
Q. 'Vas Cohen, whom you referre<l to, the town marshalf-A. YeF, 

sir. 
Q. What position at the polls did he occupy during the day I I mean, 

where was he standing !-A. He kept the crowd back and kept order. 
He was standing at the window where the votes were deposited. 

Q. Directly at the window !-A. Sometimes one side and sometimes 
the other. 

Q. Was not ohjection made to his standing in front of and so near the 
polls !-A. Only by me, as b3fore stated, you know. 

Q. Was he not at tbat time quite prominent in the Republican 
party I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Wbile folding these tickets, could he not tell what tickets they 
weret-A. Not to a certainty. 

Q. Were there any other officials occupying similar positions to him­
self at the poUIi !-A. As policemen, there were. 

Q. 'Wbere did they stand t-A. Sometimes oue side of the window and 
sometimes the other. 

Q. To wbat party did they beloog!-A. Republican party, I am pretty 
sure. 

Q. Did not some of them take tickets of voters ioto their hao(ls, or 
otherwise examine them I-A. They migbt have taken them to fold them 
tight, but not to examine them. 

Q. Would it not have been au easy matter iu this way to havfJ 
chauged the ticket held by an ignorant "oter !-A. Oould not have done 
80 without sleight of hand, ~ven or eight people looking at them at 
the time. 

Q. What, in your opinion, would have been the character of the elec· 
tion if United States troops had not been stationed here I-A. There 
being more excitement prior to this eleotion than at any other time I 
remember, possibly the presence of the troops tend~ to preserve the 
peace. , 

Q. If violence at the POUR was apprehended, from what party was it 
apprehended !-A. There was no violence apprehended, in my opinion. 

Q. What was the state of mind as to Democrats of this town, prior to 
election, as to apprehension of violence !-A.. I think a great many felt 
a dread, the Democrats being 80 much in the minority. 

Q. Was there not a good deal of public bantering of colored Oem­
oor-elotic voters at the polls '-A. :Not at the polls, but a little distanc6 
off tber~ \Va.~. The police kept onler there. 

Q. How far from the polls f-A. About ~n feet and farther. 
Q. Was not the pressure against culored Democrats very strongY­

A. Before election, yes; at tbe pollK, no; i. e., within ten feet of tlltl 
polls. 

Q. How wide was the window at which the }lolls were held f-A. 
About three feet. 

Q. How far from the ground I-A. I think from two. and a half to 
three feet. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. You state, at the window the marshal was on one side and police­

men on the otber, and that they belonged to tue Republican parr~·. 
'Vere there any Democrats at the window, either inside or outside, ex­
cept the managers f-A. Yes; Democrats w~re inside, and one of tlH' 
leading Democrats was outside nearly all day, close to~tbe window, and 
challenging votes. ' 
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The words" at," p. 57, and "otber,~ p. 61, interlined before signing; 
one erasure, on p. 59, made before signing. 

JAMES H. TONKISG. 
Sworn and subscribed to tbis 34";day of April, 1877, before m~. 
[SEAL.J ."; . .';~; L. S. LANGLEY, 

.' ,:~i \~ . Notary Public, &."11 Carolina. 
,', ':':'L~ >. 

GEORGE GAGE (white) sworl~~~~ 
QueRtion. State your age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. Forty· 

six; Beautort precinct, and am an engineer; (civil engiuf'er.) 
Q. Were you in the town of Beaut'ort on the 7th day of last :So\"eID­

ber f-A. Yes. 
Q. Did you vote on that day f.-;A. I did. 
Q. While at the polls on the day of election, did you see aoy distnrb­

ance whatsoeverf-A. No. 
Q. Were you at the polls at any election prior to the one held on the 

7th day of November f-A. Yes. 
Q. 'Was tbe electioo on 7th November as peaceable 88 any other elee:­

tion you ever attended in Beaufort t-A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know of anyone attempting to prevent, or dhl prevent, 

anyone from voting on election·day as they pleased f-A. No. 
Q. Did you see aoy Unitt'd States troops on the street on the day of 

election; and, if so, in what part of the town did you see them !-A. I 
think I did. If so, in the Stepheos House, coruer of Bay aod Carlert"t 
streets. 

Q. How far is the Stepheos House from the polls f-A. About si1 
hundred feet. 

Q. Do you know bow many soldiers tbere were io towo !-A. No. 
Q. Were the 8Oldier~ quartered in the ~tepbells Honse, or were tMY 

round the streets f-A. 1 saw nOlle on the streets; I supposed they Wt"l!' 

quartert'd there; tbey were standing near the door; I 88W noue except I 
about the house. 

Q. Did you apprehend any danger prior to the arrival of the troopI 
from political excitementf-A. None whatever; I mean none beyond 
excitement incident to ordinary elections. 

Q. Were you at the polls at tbe time the United Stat@s depnty mar­
shal seized the whisky in the house near the polls f-A. No. 

I 
C~oss-examination : I 

Q. Are yon collector of customs at this place '-A. Yes. 
Q. How loog were you at the polls !-A. From fifteen minutes to haU 

or tbree-quarters of an hour. ~ 
Q. To wbat party do you hf.longf-A. To the Btopubliean; bat 

voted tor tbree Democrats and scratched some th~ or four Repabli 
I voted for Robert Smalls for Oongress. 

The words" prior to," p. 64, and the word" them," p. 66, were striute 
out before signing; the word "none," p. 66, interlined before signing .. 

GEORGE GAGE.. 
Sworn and subscribed to this 3d April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL. 1 L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, So"'" Carolif14. 

GEORGE W ATERBOUSE (white) sworn. 
Question. State your age, residence, and ooonpatiou.-An81fer. Age'l' 

thirty-eight; residence Beaufort precinct, and am a merchant. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VB. SMALLS. 501 

Q. Where were you on the 7th day of last November, the day of the 
last general election t-A. At Beaufort precinct, town of Beaufort. 

Q. State, 80 far as you know, the general conduct and demeanor of 
the people and voters around the poll in the town of Beaufort on that 
day.-A. Very quiet amI orderly. Nothing unusual in any way. I was 
about the polls sevenll times. 

Q. How with regard to the town generally on that dayt-A. Very 
quiet. What we call in trade" a dull day." 

Q. State whether or not there were United States troops in town on 
that day t-A. There were United States troops. 

Q. Do yon know at whose instance the troops were brought here, 
and, if 80, please state.-A. There were quite a number of citizens made 
application for them. I don't know the names of all who made appli. 
cation for them. A telegram was sent, I think, by 1\lr. Lockwood. A 
meeting was held in the bank to consider the matter. The meeting 
consisted of three or four. 

Q. Did you ever see the other application for troops t-A. No, sir; I 
uQderstood that Mr. William Elliott made application for troops, stating 
be tbonght it would be wise to send them here. 

Q. What was the complexion, political and otherwise, of those who 
met at the bank t-A. If I remember correctly there w~re Mr. Verdier, 
Mr. Lockwood, 1\11'. Pollitzer, and myself. I believe those three gentle­
men voted for Tilden and Hampton. I voted for Hayes and Chamber. 
lain. 

Q. State the politics of Mr. William Elliott.-A. I have always un· 
derstood him to be a Democrat. 

Q. State, if you know, the position Mr. Elliott occupied in the Demo. 
cratic party at the time.-A. He was one of the county committee. 

Q. Was he cbairman of the Democratic party t-A. I do not know, 
bnt think he acted as snch sometimes. 

Q. State, if you know, if any colored men (Repnblicans) joined in that 
request for troops t-A. I don't know of any. 

Q. Did YOu see anything in the conduct and demeanor prior to elec· 
tion that l~d yon to believe it necessary to bring troops here J-A. No, 
sir; I did not see anything. 

Cross·examined: 
Q. What was the answer received from that telegram '-A. I did not 

see the answer, but understood it was affirmative. 
Q. How long was this before election·day t-A.. I think it was Friday 

or Saturday; I should say it was Saturday. 
Q. On what day did the troops arrive t-A. Monday; the day before 

election. 
Q. Do you know certainly who else signed the telegram besides your· 

Relt't-A. I am positive of Mr. Lockwood, Mr. Pollitzer, and myself. 
Mr. Verdi~r was there, but am not positive whether he signed it or not. 

Q. Do you remember the words of the dispatch or its general effect t­
A. I cannot recall the words of the dispatch. 

Q. What was its g<'neral purport '-A. That some precautionary 
measures ought to be taken.' 

Q. Do you remember whether that dispatch was prepared for the 
signatures of Northern men only t-A. It impresses me, now that you 
have mentioned it, that it was 80 prepared. 

Q. Are Messrs. Lockwood, Pollitzer, and yourself, Northern men t­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. To what party have Messrs. Lockwood Rnd Pollitzer always he· 
longed 7-A. Mr. Pollitzer has always been a Republican; Mr. Lock· 
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wood was understood to be a Republican, but his politics haa nel"er 
been brought to the test before in a Presitlential cl\mpaign. 

Q. You stated. that you diel not see anythinJr prior to the election to 
render it necessary to bring troops; what WM it that caused this meet· 
ing I\t the bank and the sendinJ[ of this telegram f-A. It was all imago 
ina·ry. No one had any real ground to base apprehension on eXOOI)t feara. 
As troops were in the State they thought it wise to have some of them 
here as a precautionary measure. It was nnderstood that there were 
some colored men in town who wonld vote the Democratic ticket aDd 
this might lead to some row. 

Q. Was it not believed that colored meu would not be permitted to 
vote the Democratic ticket quietly !-A. No evidt'nce was produced tbere 
to show to my mind further than apprehension. It was an experiment. 

Q. Was it not generally believed that this experiment would be re­
sisted. forcibly by colored men !-A. I was not aware that such was the 
general belief. There was a great deal of apprehension, but no firm 
conviction that it would happen. 

Q. Was not that the only consideration that induood you to sign tbtl 
application !-A. I can conceive of no other reason but that; I signed 
it more on the judgment of others than on my own. 

Q. How long were you at the polls on election-day!-A. I loitered 
around some time in the morning; I came around again at dinner, (two 
o'clock,) and chatted some time with George Holmes. 

The word "MeRsrs.," p. 74, interlined before signing, and the words 
"the only,» p. 76, stricken out before signing. 

GEORGE WATERHOUSE. 

Sworn and subscribed to this 3d day of April, 1877, before me. 
rSEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, South OaroliM. 

JOHN N. W ALLAOE (white) sworn. 
Qnestion. State your age, residence, and occupatiou.-A. Answer. 

Am twenty-six; Beaufort l)recinct· and am a grain merchant. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of last November, the day of tbe 

last general election f-A. I was in Beaufort precinct j at the houae 
until 11 o'clock a. m., when I came on to the street. 

Q. Were you in town all day, and what part thereof; were you at tbe 
polls !-A. I came to the polls about eleven o'clock, anel were at the polls 
about one bour. 

Q. State what was the general conduct of voters and others arouud 
the polls on that day.-A. I did not see auy disorder; everything I saw 
was peaceable throughout the day. 

Q. Did you htllp count the votes that night !-A. I kept tally with 
Mr. Lockwood, and suppose I really helpe(l COUllt them. 

Q. Did you soo or learn of any repeating, or any other irregularity 
at this box '-A. No, sir; I did not. 

Q. State whether or not the Democratic party were represented the 
time the votes were counted.-A. Yes, sir; they were representec.1. 

Q. Did they complain of frauds of auy character at the time '-A. 
No, sir; none that I beard of. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. To what party do you belong '-A. To the Republican party. 
Q. Of Northern or Southern birth I-A. Northern; was born in Ohio. 
Q. How long have you resi<1:ed in Beaufort f-A. (Jame bere in 187:?; 
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spent summer of 1874 Nortb, and returned bere, where I have been 
ever since. 

JOHN N. WALLACE. 
Sworn and subscribed to tbis 3d day of April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, South OarolifUl. 

GREY'S HILL POLL. 

WILLIAM LAWRENCE (colored) sworn. 
Question. StaLe your age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. Age, 

twenty-nine; residence, Grey's Hill precinct; occupation, grocer. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th of November, tbeday of the last general 

election '-A. At Grey'll Hill precinct, and one of the managers of the 
polls. 

Q. State what was the general conduct and demeanor of tbe people 
aml voters around the poll on that day.-A. The conduct of voting was 
very quiet. After awhile, nntil about 10 or 11 a. m., Mr. Porteous went 
out and begnn to talk, when some parties got at bim about some money 
he owed them for cutting wood. 

Q. Did any of them stl'ike or commit any violen~ whatever on Mr. 
Porteous '-A. Nothing of the kind I see that day. 

Q. State whether OF not the election was altogether quiet except the 
talk with Mr. Porteous.-A. It was quiet except the talk about the wood. 

Q. State whether or not Mr. Porteous had not employed a large num­
ber of voters of that precinct to cut and get out wood the summer pre­
vious to the election.-A. Be did. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Who were the other managers at Grey's Hill '-A. William Mid 

dleton and William H. McGill. 
Q. Was McGill there when the polls were opened '-A. No, sir; he 

was not there at the time promptly. 
Q. Who did you put in his place '-A. William Lawrence, (myself.) 
Q. Was not H. P. Van Ne88 a managed-A. He-was. 
Q. Who put you in McGill's place'-A. Mr. Van Ness and Mr. Mid­

dleton. 
Q. Then yon, H. P. Van Ness, and William Middleton acted as man· 

agers until McGill came '-A. Exactly, Si!i and I continued to act after 
McGill came. McGill kept poll-list with Mr Va.n Ness. 

Q. Did you act the whole dayt-A. I did, sir. 
Q. Did you sign the manager's returnst-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did McGill sign them '-A. Be did, sir. 
Q. What was Mr. Porteous on that day t-A. He was there to see 

justice; to see that everything went on quietly. Be was supervisor. 
Q. Where was he before be went out into the crowd '-A. Be was in 

the room witb us. 
Q. Did you bear what he said wben he went out '-A. I did not hear 

-wbat he said. 
Q. What was the first thing yon did hear '-A. I did not hear him, 

becanse they were arguing about the wood, difterent ones. 
Q. Why could you not hear '-A. Because he was listening to them 

about the wood. 
Q. He did not say anything then t-A. He did talk after they slacked 

oft". 
Q. What did they say to him '-A. They wanted to know what time 

~e intended to pay them for the cutting they have done. 
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Q. Who were tbese tbat spoke to bim t-A. Well, I don't recollect 
tbeir names so very well. 

Q. Can't you state some of tbe namest-A. Not one of those who 
were talking there. The most of tbem were strangers. 

Q. You had never seen them before t-A. No, sir; not until that 
time. . 

Q. You don't know where they live, then t-A. No, sir; theywere 
strangers to me. 

Q. How long have yon lived in tbat precinct t-A. Ever since eman· 
cipation. 

Q. Did tbey talk to Mr. Porteons in a rnde and angry wayt-A. 
No, sir; but before one could get through another one woulci commence. 

Q. Did tbey not abuse him !-A. Not to my bearing, sir. 
Q. Was there not a great noise and confusion madet-A. No, sir; 

not by that talking. 
Q. What made him come back in tbe honse t-A. Becanse there wu 

where bis business was. 
Q. Did not you or one of tbe managers advise bim to come in !-A. 

I think I was the one that told him not to go out at first. 
Q. Did you not advise him to come back f-A. No, sir; I did not. 

Porteous was outside and I was at the box. 
Q. He could not hear you, then t-A. I did not try. He could hal"& 

beard me. 
Q. Why did yon ad vise him not to go out '-A.. Because bis business 

was in the house at the polls. 
Q. Don't you know that the people there took away from Mr. Por· 

teous the printed instructions that he had t-A. Not at that poll thati 
dayt 

Q. Did you not bear him say so !-A. Never did. 
Q. Did they not pull and shove him about '-A. I neV'81' seen them, 

SIr. They never did • 
. Q. Did they not threaten to strike him !-A. No, sir; not out tbere. 

Q. Did you not see sticks raised over his head I-A. Xothiog of the 
kind, sir. 

Q. Did you not hear them curse bim I-A. Never did, sir. 
Q. Did you not hear them curse Mr. Van Ness t-A. Never did, sir. 
Q. Do you not know that Mr. Porteous was afraid to go oat of the 

bouse afterward on that day I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Were you at the polls in the room all day t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And you swear that during the whole day, with the exception of 

this talk with Mr. Porteous, there was no row or violence of any kind !­
A. I do. 

Q. To what party do you belongt-A. Republican party. 
Q. Did you hold any office in the party at that time; or do you oow'­

A. No, sir. 
The words" of voting," p. 81, interlined before signing. 

WAf. LAWRENCE. 
Sworn and subscribed to this 4th day of April, 1877, before me. 
lSEA.L.] L. S. L.\NGLEY, 

Notary Public, So.tla CarotiN. 

NAT W. HEYW.A.l1D (colored) sworn. 
Question. State your age, residence, and occupation.-Aoswer. I 

don't know my age exactly, but think I was boro io 18-H, 10th A.pril; 
Jive at Grey's Hill precinct, and am a farmer. 
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Q. Where were you on the 7tb day of last November, tbe day of·tbe 
last general election t-A. At Grey's Hill, sir. 

Q. State what part of the day you spent at the polls.-A. I went to 
the polls at half past five in the morning and remained there until 8 or 
9 o'clock p. m. 

Q. Was there any difficulty at tbe polls tbat day; and, if so, wbat 
was it t-A. Was none there to my knowledge, sir. If there was I did 
not kuow. 

Q. Did you see Mr. Porteous there that day t-A. I did, sir. 
Q. Do you know wbat position he held theret-A. I believe he was 

supervisor, sir. 
Q. Did he have any trouble that day t If so, state wbat it was.-A. 

The trouble that I know that he had, sir, was some men was asking him 
for some money tbat he owed them for cutting wood, and they were ask­
ing him for it. 

Q. State whAther or not be }Vas struck, assaulted, or abnsed in any 
way.-A. He was not struck nor assaulted at aU. I tbink I was as close 
to him as two or thrt'e feet off. I indh'idually asked Mr. Porteous (being 
an old master of mine) to go into tbe house, as his busiuess was there, 
and not outside electioneering. The ooly abuse that he got was in con­
nection with tbis W(lod. The abuse was that these meo asked bim for 
tbe money tbat he owed them for chopping wood. He called it abuse. 
I do~'t know what it is myself. 

Q. WI\8 this the only fuss, diftlcnlty, or confnsion at Grey's Hill pre­
cinct on that day '-A. That was the only fuss tbat I know of with 
Mr. Porteous, 80 far as tbe wood is coocerned. After tbe wood matter 
was decided, Mr. Porteous came out again electioneering, and said if 
we would vote for Wade Hampton we would be a man. 

Q. What, if any, fuss did that bring about '-A. Tbe men said to 
Mr. Porteons that we want no man to tell us how to vote. Mr. Porte­
ous went back in the houl1e and said if he had his way about it be would 
kill a half a dozen niggers, and tbt'n the rest would vote tbe way he 
wanted them to. I told bim then he better not speak that word, for no­
body aint going to take tbat word from him. I asked him to please go 
back in the bouse, becanse if the men heard him say that word bere 
they wonld raise a row with him. He started back in the bouse, and 
wben he got upon t.he stAp he returned back again, and came to me and 
brought me a bundle of Wade Hampton's tickets, and asked me if I 
could get tbe men to vote that ticket, telling them that they were Repub­
lican tickets. I told him that I could not do it. He said I did not know 
wbat I was saying, and asked me if I was not tired of working hard 
and some one else toting the money in their pocket. I told him 
tha.t I never tired working for my bread. He said I could make mone.v 
easier than working bard. Then some men came up to us and I walked 
awa.y from him. Some of the men asked him what long conversation 
be and I were on, and I returned back and told them it was a private 
conversation between Mr. Porteous and I. This was the end of the 
trouble that day with Mr. Porteous. 

Q. In aU of this wa~ there any man wbo laid bis haud on Mr. Porteous 
at all '-A. Tbere was none. 

Q. Was he tbreatened in any wayt-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did this fn8s of wbich you speak disturb the election or intimidate 

any voters'-A. No, sir. 
Cross-examined: 

Q. Did you testify before tbe Congressional committee in Charleston 
last fall or wintert-A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. Did you t.estify tbere that }Ir. POl'te~)u8 said he wonld like ro kill 
a half a dozen niggers I-A. I started to testifY, but it was objected. 

Q. Who heard- this remark besid~s yourselft-A. Several. 
Q. Who were theyf-A. Am not prepared to say. There were !le\'" 

eral around, and I did not take notice. 
Q. Was this the private conversation you spoke off-A. No, sir; not 

tbe killing. The voting was the private conversation. 
Q . .Did the talk about the killing take place with the crowd around 

and within hearing t-A. He spoke that in the house. 
Q. Did any person to yonI' knowledge hear the remark I-A. I think 

they did. 
Q. How many, and wbo were they I-A. Cannot tell, sir. 
Q. Was it in the room where the box was I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How many persons were in there I-A. I could not tell, sir. 
Q. How did you get in to the managers' room I-A. I was called in 

there, sir. 
Q. By whom, and for what purpose '-A. By the managers, to gire 

some statement in regard to age. 
Q. Were you the only one called in I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Then you and the managers and Mr. Porteous were all that were 

in the room I-A. At that time. 
Q. Did McUill hear this remark I-A. Am not prepared to say 

whether be did or not. 
Q. Did Willia~ Lawrence hear it, or William Middleton I-A. Am DOt ; 

prepared to say who did hear it. 
Q. Why did you say, then, tbat several heard it f-A. 1 believe, ac­

cording to my knowledge, that several heard it. 
Q. Did anyone say or do anything about it at the time f-A. They 

did not do anything, nor s~y anything. 
Q. You said yon advised Mr. Porteous to go in the house, beeauae 

had been yonr master. How did this cause yon to do it I-A. 1 did it 
because I did not want him to be out door electioneering. 

Q. What had that to do with his having been your master f-A. Thai 
had this to do witb it: he being out of door, and men would be at him 
for the money that he owed them, and he is a short-patience man, aDd 1 
knew he would make a fuss directly. 

Q. Did he make a fUBS f-A. He did not, because I advised him fA) go 
into the house. 

Q. Who were the Olen who spoke to him about the work f-A. There 
was a good deal of men; some fourteen or fifteen men. I 

Q. Can you give their names I-A. I cannot give all of their names. I 

because I was not taking particular notice. I 

Q. Were they strangers to you J-A. Some is and some aiot. 
Q. State the language they. used to Mr. Porteus.-A. The language 

tbey used to Mr. Porteous: ,. Please pay me that money you owe us for 
chopping wood since last spring." 

Q. Did they ask him in a rude or violent manner f-A. Perhaps i; 
may be rude aod violent for the general run of people; don't know bo .. 
to ask for a thing any how. 

Q. Well, were they not rude and violent f-A. I am not prepared to 
say. What you may take for rude and violent, I may not. 

Q. How many whitfl men werEl there at the time at the polls I-A. 
Two; Mr. Van Ness and Mr. Porteous. 

Q. How many colored people about f-A. I cannot say. 
Q. Wel'e there a great number '-A. Not at that time of day. 
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Q. Were tbere two hundred t-A. Am not prepared to say whether 
there were two hundred, or twenty·five, or ten. 

Q. You can't Ray whether there were ten there T-A. I can't say, be· 
cause I never connt them. 

Q. How did you count the fourteen people who talked about the 
wood I-A. I never counted them, according to my judgment. 

Q. I did not ask you if you ever counted them, I aaked you if there 
were not a great many colored people tbere.-A. I say I don't know 
how much; I never counted tbem. 

Q. Was not Mr. Porteous cursed during the day t-A. No, sir; not to 
my knowledge. 

Q. Did you not hear some one curse Mr. Van Ness t-A. I did not, 
sir. 

Q. Did yon not think Mr. Porteous was treated '\'"ery badly by these 
meo wbo spoke to him about tbe wood and did you not 80 testify in 
Charleston t-A. I did not so testify in Cbarleston. So far as he being 
badly treated, I am not prepared to say whether be was or not. 

Q. Don't you know that he was in fear of his life that day I-A. No, 
sir. We were more in fear by his threatening than he was by ours. 

Q. Did he threaten the whole crowd I-A. He did not threaten the 
wbole crowd, but he said" balf a dozen," and we did not knoW' wbo it 
migbt be. 

Q. Did you not see sticks raised over his head t-A. I did not, sir. 
Q. Do you swear that there was no other difficulty or disturbance 

there that day except that already spoken oft-A. No, sir; I don't so 
8wear. 

Q. What other difficulty was there t-A. None, sir. 
Q. Did not the people attack Robert Hamilton t-A. The people did 

Dot attack him, but one man individually did. 
Q. Wasn't there more than one t-A. If tbere was I did not know. 
Q. Did you see the difficulty T-:-A. I did see what 80 called difficulty. 
Q. Can't yon tell how many people attacked him t-A. I saw one. 
Q. Did you not see more tban one t-A. No, sir. 
Q. How did this man attack him; what witb t-A. A man named 

Frank Bolden went to him for a ticket, and he ga'\'"e him a Democratic 
ticket. 

Q. Did Bolden strike bim t-A. He-did not. 
Q. How did he attack bim t-A. Bolden went to Hamilton ami said 

to him, "Yon are tbe precinct chairman, and I asked you for a Repub. 
lican ticket, and YOll gave me a Democratic ticket." I meant he 
attacked him in words. 

Q. Did nobody lay bands on him t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did nobody strike Hamilton t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Wasn~t there some other diOiculty tbere tbat dayt-A. Not to my 

knowledge. 
Q. Was the election at that precinct quiet and orderlyt-A. Just as 

quillt as it ever could be. 
Q. Did you hold any office in the Republican party at that time t-A. 

No, sir. 
Q. To what party do yon belong '-A. I am no party man. 
Q. Yon have always voted with tbe Republican partyt-A. Always 

voted straigbt Republican ticket. 
Tbe words" of voting," p. 81; "that were," p. 100; "to go ioto," p. 

101, were interlined before signing; and the words" Mr. Porteous," p. 
96; "at," p. 101, and one erasure, p. 108, were made before signing. 

N. W. HAYWAHD. 
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Sworn and subscribed to this 4th April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL]. L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, &fdA Oaroli"", 

WILLIAM H. MCGILL (colored) sworn. 
Question. State yonr age, residence, and occnpation.-Answer. Age, 

thirty.four; residence, Grey's Hill precinct. Storekeeper is my OCCIl· 
pation. 

Q. Where were you OD the 7th day of November, t.he day of tbe last 
general election I-A. At Grey's Hill poll; was a manager there. 

~. What was the general conduct and demeanor of parties arouod 
the polls I-A. Good. 

Q. Was Johu F. Porteous prescut; and, if so, in what capacity!­
A. He was supervisor. 

Q. Was there any attack made on him I And, if so, state the nature 
and extent of it.-A. There was no attack made on him to my knowl· 
edge, with the exception he went out and started to electioneer with the 
other ticket, when a great many got around him and commenced to ask 
him about some money he owed them for cutting wood. One to the 
other came up and got round him, consequently a good large crowd gilt 
around him. and he commenced to back toward the door, when myself 
or Van Ness opened the door and let him in, and told him he had no 
right out there. When he got in Van Ne88 asked him if be was not 
scared. Be said, "No. If I had the will of some of tbese niggers I 
would kill a half a dozen of them." 

Q. Did anyone strike or assault him in any way I-A. No one at all. 
Q. Did this distl1rbance interfere with the election or intimidate aoy· 

body f-A. None at aU. We all k~pt right on. We were in the house, 
and everybody was ontside talking. 

Q. State what portion of the day you spent at the polls.-A. I arrived 
there a quarter after six and remained there nntil one that night. I 

, mean a quarter after 6 a. m. 
Q. State whet.her or not there was any other distnrbance there that 

day.-A. No oth~r disturbance to my knowledge. 
Q. State whether or not there was any defiance of the law or its offi· 

cers on that day at the poJls.-A. None. 
Q. Were there any tickets taken from Mr. Porteous forcibly aod 

against his will '-A. N oue. 

Cross·examined: 
Q. How many were around Mr. Porteous when he was outside !-A. 

I guess about fifty. 
Q. What were they doing I-A. They were only talking. 
Q. Was not the talking loud and violent f-A. Not any more than 

usual; they had been talking pretty loud all day. 
Q. Was not their manner angry and rude 7-A. I did not think so. 

Some of them did talk pretty loud about the wood. 
Q. Were they not insulting iu what they sai(} '-A. Good many of 

them talked very loud about that, and sahl if he did not pay them tbt'Y 
would go into the woods and cut wood until they got pay. 

Q. I asked yon if they w~re not insulting in their manner toward 
him '-A. I (lon't thiuk so. 

Q. Was he not threatened during the day 7-A. No. We were 8itting 
alongside of each other all day, except when he went 011t. 

Q. Did you not sce sticks raised over his head 7-A. No, sir. 
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Q. Do you not know that his printed instructions as supervisor were 
taken from him by force !-A. No; we acted all together until we closed. 

Q. Did you hear nothing of it at the time '-A. No. 
Q. Did yon hear nothing of it during the day '-A. No. 
Q. Why WM it necessary for you and Van Ness to open the door for 

him '-A. Because we had closed the door when be went out, and there 
was a large crowd there, and we had to close the door to keep them out. 
He knocked at the door. 

Q. Was it locked or fastened on the inside f-A. Fastt-ned on tbe insidE'. 
Q. Did you not consider him in dangl'rat that time'-A. None at all. 
Q. Why did he back toward the door '-A. BE'Cftuse t,he crowd was in 

front of bim, and I expect be thought he was outdoors long enough. 
And I thought so too. 

Q. They were after him pretty sharp, then f-A. I did not think 80 at 
all. 

Q. Did the crowd have sticks '-A. No; I did not see but few with 
sticks. 

Q. Is it not the custom for colored people in the country to carry 
sticks T-A. Not all of them. 

Q. Is it not with the majority of them '-A. No; I don't think so. 
Q. You live in the country at present, do you not 7-A. Yes. 
Q. Do you swear that the voting was not interrupted on that day by 

any violence that occurred !-A. I do solemnly swear. 
Q. Was it interrupted by any cause '-A. None at all. 
Q. Did you hear Mr. Van Ness cursed '-A. No; I did not hear him 

cnrsed in my life; I did not hear him cursed on that day. 
Q. Did he not express apprehension for his safety '-A. No. We sat 

side by side; he kept one poll. list and I tbe other. 
Q. How many colorp.d people were at the polls at the time of this 

difficulty with Mr. Porteous '-A. I guess about a hundred. 
Q. Did you not bear tbreats that day made against colored men who 

woulel vote the Democratic tickett-A. No. • 
Q. Was there no other disturbance except that with Mr. Porteous, 

about which you have testified t-A. None to my knowledge. 
Q. Did you sign the returns that night f-A. I did, sir. 
Q. Who else signed them '-A. Mr. Van Ness, myself, and Middletol1 

signed them. 
Q. Did William Lawrence sign them '-A. I don't remember that he 

did. After I got through signing, it was pretty cool, and I went to the 
fire. 

Q. Did William Lawrence Dot act as manager that day '-A. He did; 
they swore bim in as a clerk. 

Q. Was he not sworn in before you got there I-A. Yes. 
Q. After the election, was you not applied to by some one to sigu 

other returns from that poll '-A. I did bave a blank from Oolumbia; 
I did not sign it. 

Q. Who asked you to sign it '-A. It was sent from Columbia, I 
think. I dou't r~wemb('r the man's name who sent it. 

Q. Was it not Dr. Wilder, the chairman of the election commission­
ers, who sent it t-A. It was left at my hoose. I heard Dr. Wilder left 
it thert'. 

Q. About how long was this after the election '-A. About two or 
three weeks after. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. You say a f~w bad sticks; what kind of sticks were they '-A 

Th~y were walking-sticks. . 
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Q. State, if you know, if Porteoos had his printed instructioDS all 
day.-A. I do not know. 

Q. Was there any reason assigned fer that second retnrn beiDg pn'­
sented to ~-oo; and, if so, what was it f-A. They said there was some­
thing on the other return not signed; something we had Dot signed. 

The word" two," p. 118, struck out and the word" few," same p., 
interli1led before signing. 

w'M. H. McGILL. 

Sworn and subscribed to this 4th day of Apri1, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.j· L. S. LANGLEY, 

N ofAlry Public, South CaroUaa. 

PRINCE HEYWARD (colored) s\vom. 
Question. State your age, resi<lence, and occopatioll.-Answer. Age. 

twenty-two years; reside at Grey's Hill precinct; and occupation, store­
keeper and farmer. 

Q. Where were you on the 7th dllY of November last, during the iast 
general election I-A. Was at the Grey's Hill poll. 

Q. What was the general conduct of parties and voters around the 
poll there '-A. All right. 

Q. Do you know Johu F. Porteoos '-':"'A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was he there; aod, if so, in what capacity '-A. He was manager 

of election. 
Q. What (10 you uOllerstand by manager of electiou I-A. He lI'as 

there on the Democratic side, I suppose. 
Q. Do you know how many managel'R were there '-A. As far as my 

n-collection concerned, there were Mr. Van N eBB, John F. Porteons, and 
William H. McGill. 

Q. Was there any disturbance of any kind there that day I-A. There 
was no disturbance at all. 

Q. Was John F. Porteous struck, in!Julted, or abused by anyone at 
, all T-A. By no means. 

Q. What portion of the day were you at the polls I-A.. From 6 a. m. 
to 6 p. m. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Was there no noise or confusion around tbe polls I-A. No, sir. 
Q. No loud talking I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did not somebody have a row with Robert Hamilton I-A. No, sir; 

harmoniously, to my knowledge. 
Q. Did anybody have a dispute, harmoniously, with )lr. Porteous!­

A. No, sir. No one had a dispute with lIr. Porteous. 
Q. How many elections did you ever a.ttend at Grey's Hill f-A. I . 

attended two. 
Q. How many times did you ever vote tbere !-A.. Voted there oott'. 
Q. Wben WitS that I-A. Last November. 
Q. Did you see any colored men vote the Democratic there 

that day I-A. I did not see any. 
Q. If they bad t"oted the Democratic ticket, what wonld the people 

have done with them !-A. Hard for me to tell. 
Q. Why can't you tell I-A. I don't know what they desire to do. 
Q. What would you desire to do with a colored man who voted the. 

Democratic ticketl-A. Nothing; let every man to vote their own· 
desire. 

Q. Do all the people there agree with yon abont that I-A. There lI'as 
no agreement; only that it! my desire. 
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Q. Do otbfr.'1 desire the same thingT-A. I don't know. 
Q. Did you hear p(o . .le ont there curse 01' abuse Democrats at the 

last election f-A. Nothing of the kind. 
Q. Did you not hpar people say on election-clay that this is Republi. 

can ground lIn!1 no Democrat should vote there '-A. I did not. 
Q. Can you read aud write i-A. Yes, sir, a little; not much. 
One erasure, p. 127, made before signing. 

PRINCE HE1.""W ARD. 
Sworn and subscribed to this4tb April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAl..j L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, South Carolina. 

RICHARD HOWA.RD (colored) sworn. 
Question. State your age, re8i(lence, and occupation.-Answer. Age, 

twenty-eight; residence, Grey's Hill preeinct, and occupation, a farmer. 
Q. Were you at that precinct during the last election I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What portion of the day were you there T-A. Went there at 7 a. 

m. and left at 12 m. 
Q. Was there any disturbance at that pol. during the time you were 

tberef-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know John F. Porteous t-A. Yes, sir; I know him. 
Q. State if he was there tbat day.-A. H~ was there, sir. 
Q. Was he assaulted or abused by anyone during the time you were 

there t-A. No, sir. 
Cross-examined: 

Q. What made you leave so soon T-A. Because I bad business to 
attend to. I was working on the phosphates at that time. 

Q. Wbat happened after Mr. Porteous came out of tbe house t-A. I 
beard some men asking him something about wood affairs. 

Q. What happened then t-A. In tbe time the men asked him the 
questions he told them he was going to pay them; then he went in the 
house. 

Q. Did they follow him to the dooTt-A. No, sir. 
Q. No one went after him f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did he turn round and walk iu the house quietly t-A. Quietly, 

sir; quietly. 
Q. Did he turn and walk to the house or did he uack to the door' 

-A. Be turned and walked to the house, quietly. 
Q. There was no loud talking t-A. No loud talking, sir. 
Q. How Dlany people asked bim about the wood f-A. I did not take 

Dotice how Dlany people asked him. 
Q. Did not the crowd gather around when they commenced talking 

t-O him T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did not the people have sticks t-A. Not those that were speaking 

with him. 
Q. Did all the ot.hers have sticks:'-A. One or two old men. 
Q. Did any colored men vote tbelDemocratic ticket there tbat day f­

A. I really could not say. 
Q. It would not bave been safe~for them to do it, would it !-A. I 

conld Dot say that. It was safe forlme to vote the Republican ticket. 
Redire.ct examination: 

Q. Was anybody threatened if they voted the Democratic ticket; did 
you hear anybody threatened 7-A. No, sir. 

(,J. If aoy man bad wanted to vote tbe Democratic ticket, could not be 
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have done so just as safely as you voted the Republican ticket '-A. Xo, 
sir; nobody would have hurt him. 

Q. Do you mean to say he could ha\'e voted it safely I-A. That i~ 
what I,mean to say, sir. 

One erasure on p. 131 made before signing. 
RICHARD HOWARD. 

Sworn and subscribed to this 4th day April, 1877, before me. 
rSEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, &utA Caroliu. 

LADIES' ISLAND POLL. 
HENRY SIMMONS (colored) sworn. 
Question. State your age, residt'n('.e, and occnpation.-An8wer. Age 

about forty.five; Beaufort· laborer is my occupation. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of last November, the day of tbe 

last general election I-A. Ladies'Island, Woodlawn precinct. 
Q. In what capacity were you there I-A. I was manager of election. 
Q. What was the general condnct and demeanor of voters and otbers 

arouDtl the pollij on that da)' '-A. Everything in my presence weo! 
very quiet and civilized. There was no disturbance at all. E\'eryont 
voted just as they pleased.. \ 

Q. Was there any Democrats voted there I-A. After we counted the 
vot.es we found eight Democratic votes. 

Q. How many white Democrats have you in that precinct I-A. Xllt 
able to tell; only two white votes. I don't think there was more tban 
one white Democratic vote. . 

Q. Was there anything to ohstruct admission to the polls; I mf'an 
access to and from the polls '-A. Nothing at aIJ, 

Q. What portion of the day were YOll at the polls I-A. From 6 a. m. 
till 6 p. m. 

Q. Yon are certain, then, if there had been anything to prevent Dfmo­
crate voting yon would have known it I-A. Yes, sir; I would baft 
known it. 

Q. Are you equally certain there was no disturbance there that day!­
A. Oertainly not, no disturbance at aU. 

Cross·examination: 
Q. Were the polls held in the house '-A. YeR. sir; in the honae. 
Q. Were you ill the house all the time I-A. Yes, sir; all the tilllt'. 
Q. Where did the crowd stand while at the polls '-A. No particular 

place. Sometimes they come by tens and somt"times by twenties. Tht'y 
wonld vote and back away; I mean go right away. i 

HENRY SIMMONS. 
Sworn and subscribed to this 5th day of April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, &vila Caroliu. 
J "MES G. COLE (white) sworn. 
Qut"stion. State your age, rt'sidence, and occupation '-Aoswer. Ag!. 

36; residence, Ladit"s' Island; OCflUpation, a fllrmer. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of November, the day of the last· 

general election !-A. At the Woodlawn poll on Ladies' Island. 
Q. In what capacity were you there f-A. One of the managftl 01 

election. 
Q. What was the general conduct and dempanor of \'oten aDd olbtr

l 
parties around the polls I-A. Very quiet and peaceable. 
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Q. Was there any disturbance there, or any attempt to intimidate 
voters '-A. None, as I know of. 

Q. Was there a gateor entrance some distance from the polls, through 
which parties had to enter to get to the polls '-A. There was. The 
poll was held inside of the garden. 

Q. Were parties reqnired to show their tickets before they could come 
in the gate or entrance referred to '-A. No, sir; not as I'know of. 

Q. What is your political faith I-A. Democratic. 
Ql'08S-examination: 

Q. Are you acquainted with the politi~alsentiment on Ladies' Island'­
A. I think I am tQlerably acquainted with it. 

Q. What was it on the 7th day of last November, or some time prior 
thereto T-A. I think it was strongly Republican. 

Q. What was the feeling toward Democrats on that island '-A. Bit· 
ter. 

Q. How was it generally manifested t-A. By the conversation of the 
people during the canvass. 

Q. From your knowledge and observation, could colored Democrats 
bal"e voted peaceably and quietly on that island '-A. They could. 

Q. How far was this gate you testified as being near the poll and 
through which persons had to enter '-A. About ten feet from the door 
Df the honse. 

Q. Oonld persons have been required to show their tickets at the gate 
withont your knowing it '-A. I don't think they could. 

Q. Was there. or not particular enmity showu to colored men who 
professed to affiliate with the Democratic party I-A. All I know is hear· 
my. I never heard any threats myself. 

Q. Are you a white or a colored man '-A. A white man. 
Q. Do you know what the vote at Woodlawn was during the last 

~ection I-A. Three hundred and twenty-one. 
Q. Do you know what it was at the previous general election '-A. 

[ think it was about a hundred less. As near as I can recollect, it was 
,bont two hundred and twenty or twenty-dve. 

Redirect examination: 
Q. You state the feeling was very bitter; did it ever manifest itself 

n acts of violence '-A. Only in talk. 
Q. Oan you teU from yolir memorandum how many Democratic votes 

here were at Woodlawn poll during the last election '-A. Eight. 
Q. How many of those were white '-A. One. 
Q. W &8 that yourselft-A. It was. 
Q. When a colored man voted the Democratic ticket, what was the 

eeling around the poll '-A. There was but one man who voted it 
'penly, and he was cheered amid shouts of laughter. 

Two erasures made in p. 144 before signing. The word" any" biter. 
ined (same p. 144) before signing. 

JAMES G. COLE. 

Sworn and subscribed to this 5th April, 1877, before me. 
L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Ptlblic, Sotlth Carolina. 

MYRTLE BUSH POLL. 

UA.RCUS L. SDUIONS (colored) sworn. 
Question. State yonr age, residence, and occupation !-Answer. Age, 

4; residence, Myrtle Bush precinct, and am a farmer. 
B. Mis. 11-33 
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Q. Wbere were you on tbe 7th day of November, the day of the last 
general election f-A. At Myrtle Busb poll. 

Q. In what capacity were you there t-A. As manager of election. 
Q. At wbat bour did the poll open f-A. After seven o:clock, sir. 
Q. Why did it not open at 6 o'clock a. m., as provided by law'-A­

Olle of tbe managers was absent. 
Q. Were you waiting for himf-A. We did, sir. 
Q. Which one of the managers was that f-A. Andrew McFall, the 

Democratic manager. 
Q. How many persons were around tbe poll wben you opened; aboot 

how many f-A. I suppose there were about a hundred; there might 
have beAn more. 

Q. Did any of tbem leave without voting, or did they agree to wait 
until the arrival of the Democratic manager f-A. They did agree to 
wait. None of them left to my knowledge. 

Q. As two managers were present, (a majority,) wby did yon not open 
the poll at 6 a. m. f-A. I did not think it would be legal to open tlui 
poll witbout the Democratic manager being present. 

Q. Did all the voters who wanted to vote have an opportunity to vote 
that day I-A. All did, sir. 

Q. The result, then, at that poll was not affected in any way by tb. 
delay in tbe morllingf-A. No, sir, not as I know of. 

Q. What time did the Democratic manager get there I-A. A littJl 
after seven o'clock. 

Q. Did yon ope::. immediately on his arrival f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was there any complaint made by either Democrats or Repobl~ 

cans abont the poll not being opened at 6 a. m.f-A. No, sir; no one ~ 
all. . 

Oross·examined: " 
Q. How long after seven was it that the poll openecl I-A. Can 

say the exact minute. 
Q. Was it not after eight o'clock I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you not send into Beaufort for instrnctions before openi: 

the poll f-A. I did, sir. 
Q. Did you await those instrnctions f-A. I did; bnt the other m 

ager arrived before the instructions got there. 
Q. How far is it from Myrtle Bush poll to Beanfort f-A. Six mil 
Q. You say there was quite a crowd awaiting the opening of the= 

Can you tell how many there were I-A. I snppose abont a hun 
probably more; my attention was in the bouse; don't know ron 
about the people outside. 

Q. How then do you know tbat they agreed to await the arrinl~ 
the Democratic manager f-A. A majority of tbe voters there viii 
the house and said they thonght they ought not to go to voting beta 
the Democratic manager arrived. 

Q. What became of the minority f-A. I have not heard them ~ 
anything about it. . 

Q. Do yon know whether tbey left or not f-A. I think every 
there voted. 

Q. I asked you whether yon know or not '-A. No, sir; I don't kno 
Q. Then how do you know that tbe result was not aft"ected by 

poll not being opened at the proper hour I-A. Because those that 
there were very willing to wait until the poll was opened. 

Q. Is that all upon which yon base yonr knowledge I-A. Yes, air. 
M. L. SDnlOSS. 
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Sworn and subscribed to tbis 5th April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, /south Carolina. 

ROBIN S. BRYAN (colored) sworn. 
Question. State your age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. Age, 

53' residence, Myrtle Bush precinct; occnpation, a farmer. 
Q. Wbere were you on the 7th day of November, the day of tbe last 

general election T-A. Myrtle Bush poll. 
Q. In what capacity were you there f-A. Manager of election. 
Q. At what hour did the polls open !-A. At balf past seven. 
Q. Why were they not opened at 6 a. m., the time required by law!~ 

A. Because only two were present. 
Q. Who was absent, and what is his name and politics t-A. The 

Democratic manager, Mr. McFall. 
Q. Did you open the poll immediately upon his arrival T-A. Immedi· 

ately. 
Q. Dill anyone suggest that you ought to wait until his arrival '-A. 

Yes, sir; the supervisor, Mr. Benton, who was a Democrat. 
Q. Was that request andtsuggestion generally agreed to by the man· 

agers and voters T-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you hear any complaint about it or any objection whatever!­

A. No, sir; I never heard any. 
Q. Did everybody have ample time to vote !-A. Yes, sir. 

Cross·examination : 
Q. What was your politics at tbe last general election !-A. Repub. 

lican. 
Q. How many voters did yon hear agree to Mr. Benton's suggestion 

not to open tbe poll until the arrival of the Democratic manager!-A. I 
did not bear none; there was none inside there at all; only a few were 
ont in the road. 

Q. What was the feeling at tbat precinct in regard to Democratic 
voters '-A. The feeling was against it. 

Redirect examiuation: 
Q. There was no tbreats there agaiust Democra~, was tbere !-A. 

None at all. 
Q. Was there any Democratic votes polled there '-A. I believe there 

was tiv(>. 
Q. When you say the feeling was against it, yon mean they were Re· 

publicans, don't you T-A. Yes, sir. 
The word" were," p. 155, interlined before signing. 

ROBIN S. BRYAN. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 5th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.J L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, South Oarolina. 
SAMUEL l\!ACK (colored) sworn. 
Question. State your age, residence, and ocoupation.-Aoswer. Age, 

about 37; r('lsidence, Myrtle Bush precinct, and occupation, a farmer. 
Q. Where were yon on the 7th day of November last, the day of the 

last general electiou f-A. At Myrtle Bush poll. 
Q. Wbat time did that poll open t-A. I had nary watch, but to my 

judgment the poll was open a little after seven o'clock. 
Q. Why was it not opened at six o'clock, as required by law !-A. Be· 

cause Mr. McFall was not there at six o'clock. 
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Q. Who was Mr. McFall, and what was he that day f-A. He I'aa 
Democratic manager. 

Q. Did the poll open as soon as he arrived I-A. As 800n 88 he 
(McFall) arrived the voting commen('.ed. 

Q. Was it agreed among the voters generally that they would \fait 
until McFlV1 got there I-A. Yes. 

Q. Were you outside among the crowd I-A. I was ontside. 
Q. Was there anyone who expressed any dissatisfaction at the de­

layl-A. No. 
Q. Did everybody have ample time to vote at that poll I-A. Plenty 

of time. 
SAMUEL liAC:K, 

Sworn and subscribed to this 5th April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

N ofary Public, &tltA CaroliJUJ. 

PARIS ISLAND POLL. 

RICHARD W. SCOTT, Jr., (colored,) sworn. 
Question. State your age, residence, and oooupation.-Aoswer. ~ 

twenty-three; residence, Paris Island, and occupation, a farmer. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of November, the day of the I_ 

general election f-A. At Paris Island precinct. 
Q. In what capacity were you there f-A. As manager of electioD. 
Q. What portion of the clay were yon there f-A. I was there quat« 

to 6 a. m. to a quarter to 6 p. m. 
Q. Are you acquainted with C. W. Niverf-A. I am. 
Q. Was he there that dayf-A. He was. 
Q. Did he have any difficulty there that day, and, if 80, with whom~ 

A. He had, with a boy by the name of John Burns, or John Bull • ..J 
Q. How did this fuss occur, and who commenced itt-A. A maD 111 

• going to vote the Repnblican ticket, and NiV'er handed him a red Det 
ocratic ticket, which resembled the Republican ticket, and some ~ 
detected it, and tolll the man the ticket was the wrong ticket, aDd II 
man said he wanted to vote the Repnblican ticket; and they bg 
him one; and then Niver he got into a rage, and went to make. 
man vote the ticket he gave him, when this boy cnrsed him. li 
then kicked the boy, and told him if he did not look out he woold m 
him sutler the consequence. That is all I know aboot it. I attenrl 
heard some fuss to the window, but I was busy writillK. 

Q. Are you certain that Niver kicked the boy first I-A. Yes, sir I 
am certain. • 

Q. Was the election disturbed by this foss at the window f-A. ~ 
*;n~ooehl~ j 

Q. Was the election quiet and peaceable, with the exception of 1 
disturbance of which you have spoken f-A. It was, sir. .1 

Q. At what time did yon open the poll that morning t-A. 1 ~ 
recollect, because Snyder was not there iu time. I was tbere at. q~ 
ter to six. I should judge Mr. Snyder came half an hour after Igottll~ 

Q. What time did you close the poll-about what time!-A.. .At ~ 
past four. 

Q. Why did you close 80 early I-A. Because everybody had "ot~ 
and two-thirds of the board agreed to close the polls. 

Q. Did you agree to itt-A. I never did, sir. 
Q. Was there one entitled to vote wholi ved on the ialaDd tb.,did. 
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vote on that day!-A. One man by the name of William Mattis, whose 
"ife was sick and died about six o'clock the same day. 

Q. Do yon know John Bird, and was he preRent on that day!-A. 
Yes, ~ir. 

Q. Was he put out of the school.house, and, if so, by whom, and 
under what circumstance8!-A. If he was put out I don't know. 

Q. How many Democratic votes were there polled '-A. Twelve. 
Q. How many white voters are there on the island f-A. Six. 
Q. Could the colored men have voted the Democratio ticket there­

without being disturbed f-A. They could. 
Q. Do you mean to say that every man voted there as he pleased f­

A. I do, sir. 
Q. Do you swear that every voter had ample time to vote and did 

vote except the man referred to f-A. Yes, sir; they were done voting 
by 2 o'olock p. m. 

Q. Abont how far is the farthest voter on the island to the pollsf­
A. About two miles. 

Q. Wbat is tbe average distance voters had to travel to tbe polls f­
A. About a half a mile. 

Q. Do you mean to say that moat of the votels lived close to the 
polls f-A. Yes, sir. 

Cross·examined : 
Q. How many people were in the room at the time of this difficulty f-

A. Don't know. 
Q. Were they few or many!-A. There were many. 
Q. Was the room pretty well filled f-A. About two·thirds fnl1. 
Q. Were they not around the table f-A. They were in front, voting. 
Q. How far was Mr. Niver frOID yon when he handed the man the 

ticket f-A. About seven feet. 
Q. Did you examine the ticket f-A. I did not; but the man showed 

the ticket to others who showed it to me. 
Q. When f-A. After it was discovered. 
Q. Did yon see Nivers give him a ticket f-A. I did, sir. 
Q. Was it in tbe room f-A. It was. 
Q. Bow long after he gave him the ticket was it discovered '-A. The 

same time. 
Q. Do yon swear that John Bnrns or Bull did not strike Mr. Nivel'8'':'''' 

A. He did not strike him as I know of. He did not in the bouse. 
Q. Don't yon know that he struck at him f-A. I do not. 
Q. Did you not stop the voting for a time in consequence of the row 

and confusion f-A. We did not. 
Q. Do not the people from Spring and other islands nsua11y vote at 

that polJ f-A. No, sir. 
Q. Why do you call John Burns or Bull a boy f Is he a boy!-A. 

Because he is under age. 
Q. How old is he and how large f-A. I don't know; he is a pretty 

large fellow. 
Q. How many times did he vote that day '-A. He did not vote at all. 
The letter" W" (page 163) and tlie words" school-hoUse" were inter­

lined before signing, and the word "chnroh" erased before signing. 
RICHARD W. SOOTT, JR. 

Sworn and snbscribed to this 6th day April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, &utla OarolifUI. 
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S. P. De Veaux (colored) sworn. 
Question. State your age, residence. and occupation.-An8wer. Age, 

about twenty· six ; residence, Paris Island, and occupation, a farmer. 
Q. Where were yon on the 7th day of November, the day of the lut 

general election '-A. Paris Island precinct. 
Q. Did yon \"ote there that day '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What portion of the day were yon at the polls I-A. From d:ay­

light in the morning nntil the poll was closed and the box went. oft'. 
Q. Do yon know C. W. Nivers I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Was he there that day I-A. Yes, sir. He would come there 0c­

casionally and go back. 
Q. Did he have any difficulty there that day, and with whom, and 

what aboutf-A. With a boy. I can't remember what it was about ex­
actly. 

Q. What was Niver doing at the time the difficulty occnrred I-A. 1 
do remember now what it was about; I could not think of it before. 
Niver had a Democratic ticket that resembled those of the Republicans, 
and he tried to fool a man that it was a Republican ticket, and after it 
was fonnd ont, Niver and John Bull got inw a contact about it. 

Q. Did you see the ticket I-A. I did. 
Q. Could you recognize the Democratic and Republican tickets if yOll 

were to see them '-A. Yes, sir. 
(Counsel for contestee here gave witness two tickets.) 
Q. Do you recognize these as the respective tickets to which you hare 

referred; and, if so, which ticket did Niver give the man I-A. I dOj 
Niver gave the mau a ticket of this kind: 

(Hereunto attached is ticket referred to, marked Exhibit A.) 

EXHmlT A. 

Union &p"bliclln ticket. 

For Pre8ident.-Samuel J. Tilden. 
For Vice-Pre8idtmt.-Thomas A. Hendricks. 
}'or Presidential electors.-At large: Thea. G. Barker, Samuel McGowan. Fil'll& dit­

triot, Johu W. Harrington. Second di8trict, John Isaac Ingram. Third diltric" Will· 
iam Wallace. Fourth di8trict, John B. Erwin. Fifth district, Robert Aldrich. 

For gover&or.-Wade Hamptou. 
)o'or lieutenant-govemor.-W. D. Simpson. 
For secretary of state.-R. M. SimI. 
}'or comptroller-general.-Johnson Hagood. 
For State treasurer.-S. L. Leapbart. 
}'or attomey-general.-James Couner. 
For State superintendent of education.-H. S. Tbompeon. 
For adjutant and inspector general.-E. W. Moise. 
For }<'orty-fiftb Congress, fiftb distriot.-G. D. Tillman. 
For 8Olicitor, BeCOnd circnit.-F. Hay Gantt. 
For State senator.-William Elliott. 
For house of repreaentatives.-James W. Moo1'e, John Lawton, C. J. C. RateoD, 

Daniel Wasbington, Abram P. Jenkins, William J. Gooding. 
Sberilf.-Owen F. Dllke. 
}<'orcJerk ofcourt.-H. G. Judd. 
For judge of probate.-Cbarles E. Bell. 
}'or BCbool-commiMioner.-B. Jo'. Buckner. 
For county commiMioners.-Henry R. Williams, William Rassell, Cnpid Hey"ard. 
For coroner.-W. S. Wasbington. 
CODBtitutional amendment.-Y E'8. 

Q. Do you recognize this ticket as the regular Republicao tickctf­
A. Yes, sir. 

(Hereunto attached is ticket referred to, marked Exhibit B.) 
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EXBmIT B. 

UnfoR Rep"bllcara tial-,t. 

For President.-Rntherrord B. Hayel!. 
For Vice-Pre8ident.-William A. Wheeler. 
For Presidential electors.-At large: Chri8topber C. Bowen, John Wiusmith. First 

dilltriet, Thomas B. Johnllton. Second dilltrict, Timothy Hnrley. Third di8trlct, 
William B. Nuh. Fonrth district, Wilson Cook. ~'ifth district, William ~'. M,ers. 

F"r governor.-Danlel H. Chamberlain. 
For lieuteuaut-goverDor.-Richard H. Gleaves. 
For 860retary of state.-Hllnry E. Hayne. 
For cowptroller-general.-Thomas C. Dnnn. 
For State treaanrer.-Fraoeia L. Cardozo. 
For attoroey-general.-Robert B. Elliott. 
For State snperiotendent of edncatioo.-Johu R. Tolbert. 
For adjutant aod Inspector general.-James Kennedy. 
For Forty-fifth Congreaa, fifth diatriet.-Robert SmaUa. 
For solicitor, IJeCOnd circuit.-Samnel J. Lee. 
For State eenate.-Samuel Green. 
For house of repreaentativ6ll.-Thomas Hamilton, Hastin~ Gantt, Josepb Robinson, 

George A. Reed, Nathaniel B. Myers, Thowas E. MUler. 
For sherilf.-WiUiam Wilson. 
For clerk of court.-Samuel J. Bamplleld. 
For judge of probate.-A. B. Addison. 
For achool cowmiuiooer.-Thomas H. Wheeler. 
For county co:nmiuiouera.-Robert J. Martin, RentyF. Greaves, Vincent S. Scott. 
For coroner.-Allen W. MukenfnRS. 
Coutitutional amendment.-Y 68. 

Q. Who struck first in the melee that followed the presentation of the 
ticket to this man f-A. I saw Nh'er strike at him, (the boy,) but cannot 
say that he hit him. 

Q. Was there any other difficulty around the polls that day f-A. 
No, sir. 

Q. Was it otherwise quiet and peaceablef-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Are you acquainted with John Bird, and was he there that day!­

A. Yes, sir; and be was there. 
Q. Was he put out of the school.housei and, if 80, by whom and under 

what circumstances f-A. He was pnt out by some women; I think they 
were funning, (for they laughed and talked,) so far as I could see; I 
know they were funning. . 

Q. Was Bird laughing and funning, too f-A. Yes. 
Q. Did the fuss between Ni~er and the boy disturb the election T-A. 

No, sir; it did not. 
Q. Did all the voters in the island have ample opportnnity to vote, 

and did they vote f-A. All looted excel>t one man, who did not vote 
because his wife was at the point of death, and she died the same day. 

Cross·exa mined: 
Q. How much larger is John Bull than you aref-A. He is not as 

large as I am; he is a boy; I don't believe he is any stouter than IBm. 
Q. Is he not about the size of most grown men f-A. No, sir. I 

Q. How tall do you take him to be I-A. Not as tall as 1 am. 
Q. Where was Niver when he gave the man the ticket f-A. Niver 

was coming from his store, and was at the school-house. 
Q. 'Vhere was the man f-A. The man had just arrived at the school­

house. 
Q. Where was the man standingf-A. The man went in the school­

house, and jt1st as he got in Niver took him aside and ga~e him the 
ticket. and told him it was a Uepublican ticket. 

Q. Where were you at that time f-A. I was right there, in the 
house. 
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Q. Did you not soo John Bull strike Niverf-A. I did not. 
Q. Don't you know that he did strike him !-A. I do not. 
Q. When John Bird was put out was there not a good deal of noise!-

A. No, sir. 
Q. How many women did it take to put him outt-A. Not many. 
Q. How large was this room !-A. About 25 by 20. 
Q. Could everybody in the room soo them put Bird ouU-A.. No, sir. 
Q. Did the managers interfere to stop it !-A. No, sir; I don't know 

as they knew about it. They were funuing. 
Q. Are you a Republicau I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you hold any office in the Republican party at that time f­

A. No, sir; I helped distribute tickets. 
A. To what party does Richard W. Scott,jr., belong I-A. I think he 

is a Republican. 
Redirect examinatiou : 

Q. How much dD you weigh !-A. One hundred and thirty-be 
pounds. 

The word" about," p.174, erased before signing. The word" about,", 
p. 180, erased before signing. ' 

S. P. DEVEAUX. 
Sworn and subscribed to this 6th April, 1877, before me. 
[BEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

JACOB PETTIGRU sworn. 
Notary Public, &"'1 Carol_ 

Question. State your age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. Are, i 

53; live ou Paris Islaud, and am a farmer. 
Q. Were you at the polls on Paris Island on the 7th day of November! 

last, the day of the lastgeueral electiQn I-A. Yes, sir. ; 
Q. What portion of the day were you at the polls I-A. I wa8 there! 

before the sun was up in the morning, and remained until after 5 or 6 i 
o'clock p. m. , 

Q. What time in the day did the poll close I-A. Nobody TOted alt.' 
4: o'clock p. m., for all the voting was done in the morning. I 

Q. Do you or do you not know whether all the people entitled W TOt8 
did vote on Paris Island that day I-A. Everybody who intended to i 

vote, or was going to Yote, voted. I 

Q. Did you see any disturbance at the poll that day I-A. I ... ODe 
distnrbance there. I 

Q. What was that disturbance I Please state all about it.-A. It WIll 
betweeu Niver and the boy he had employed. 

Q. Please state just what that disturbance W88, aud how it toot! 
place.-A. I cannot tell how the disturbance arose, for I was outdoor. 
and came in in the distnrbance, and saw a man have hold of me boy to 
keep him from going to Niver. 

Q. Did this boy get to Niver I-A. He did not get to him at all ; t»YI 
took him out of the house. 

Q. Was everything peaceable after they wok the boyout of the boaef 
-A. Everything was 88 pleasant 88 it could be. 

Q. What time of day did this disturbance between Mr. Niver and l1e 
boy take place I-A. As near 88 my recollection can bring me, I daiDt 
it 988 betwoon twelve aud one o'clock. 

Q. Do you know if the boy went back to Niver'.s store after tile dII­
turbance I-A. Yes; I met him iu the store as 000188 a cucumber. 

Q. Did you meet the boy in Niver's store on the same day, or a day 
after the disturbance I-A. The same day. 
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Q. How many white men live on Paris Island f-A. Not but two at 
that time. 

Q. Do yoo koow how many Democratic votes were polled in Paris 
Island on the day of the electiou '-A. I do not, sir, how many votes 
were polled, bot I do know that foor colored men voted that ticket. 

Q. Do you know of any colored men being threatened in any way 
whatsoever for voting the Democratic ticket '-A. Not in my hearing, 
air. 

Q. Did anybody ever ask you to go and testify in behalf of Mr. Till· 
man in reg'11'd to any fuss iu Paris Island '-A. Yes. 

Q. Who was that person, and what did he say to you f-A. It was 
Mr. Snyder. He said if I knew anything about the fuss at the school· 
hoose I could get pay for it. 

Q. Did he tell you who you must report it to T-A. Yes; to Mr. 
Elliott, aud he woold see into it. 

Q. Did you report it to Mr. Elliott '-A. I could not report what I 
did not see. 

Q. Did yoo ever see a more quiet election in Parid Island than the 
one held Oil the 7th day of November last!-A. No. 

Cross-examined : 
Q. You say you were at the polls from sun-up until to six o'clock. 

Were you immediately at the polls all of that time '-A. Yes; I was im· 
mediately a' the polls all day, except wheu I went to the stere to get a 
piece of tobacco, and that was the time I met the boy. 

Q. Do yoo know when the poll closed '-A. I do not; but I left the 
polIs betweeu half past five and six o'clock, and there was no one there 
except the managers. 

Q. Bow far is it from Niver's store to the polls '-A. About four or 
five hundred yards as near as I can guess at it. 

Q. What time of day was it when yoo went to the store f-A. That 
I cannot tell. It was before dinner. 

Q. What time did you eat dinner I-A. About one or half past one. 
Q. How long were you at the storef-A. About five minutes. 
Q. Where were yoo when the disturbance with Niver commenced f­

A. At the door. At the school-house door. I could not get in for the 
crowd. 

Q. Did the disturbance commence before yoo got in '-A. Yes. 
Q. Was the poll inside the house '-A. Yes, sir. 
The erasure" you," p. 183, and the e1'88Dre and interlineation p. 189, 

were made before signing. 
hi. 

JACOB + PETTIGRU. 
mark. 

SWOrD aad subscribed to this 7th day of April, 1877, before me. 
[SEAL.] L. S. LANGLEY, 

Notary Public, 80utA CaroltfItJ. 

BEAUFORT, S. O.tApril7, 1877. 
I hereby certify tba~ the f~Dg on& hundred and niDety.one pages. 

(191 pages) contain COl'l'ect qaeetioos and 8Ilswers as propounded by 
Il8IlDlel and answered by witnesaes, together with sDch objectioDs ... 
oouoael from time to tiae made. 

(OAL.j L. S. LANGLEY, 
Nota,., Public, Bout" Oarolina. 
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No.10. 
Tas STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA., 

Richland Oounty: 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 
"',. 

ROBERT SlULLB, CONTESTEE. 

Appearances: For the contestant, W. K. Bachman; for the contestee, 
N. R. Williams. 
Testimony taken by Henry B". Johnson, a notary public in and for the 

State of South Oarolina, in the above·entitled cause, at Colombia, on 
the 7th day of April, 1877. 
N. R. WILLIAMS, being duly sworn, says: 
I reside in Aiken Connty; have resided there eight years. On the 

7th of November last was at Beach Island precinct, in Aiken Coonty. 
Was there in the capacity of United States deputy marshal. I arrived 
at the poll about half past eight o'clock in the morning. I was met by 
Samuel P. Picksley, who informed me that in the end of the building 
where the voting was going on there were some two or three hundred 
guns stored. I went to Mr. nanbar Lamar, a proininent citizen, and in· 
formed him that according to my printed instructions from the United 
States marshal, I should require the guns to be removed. He said he 
would go and consult with the captain of the club. I went then and con· 
suited with Lieutenant Quintin, commanding the United States 80ldiersat 
the poll, and he came up with me to the front of the store in which the 
poll was. When we got in front of the store Mr. Dunbar Lamar came 
to where we were standing, and said to me, "Long Nath., I will be God 
damned if you or your soldiers can take those guns ont." He said, " My 
blood is too precious to have any God damned nigger to spill it ont forme. 
We ain't going to have any Cainhoy in ours." Lieutenant Quintio then 
placec:l a guard of two men over the guns. Milledge Oooper, one of the 
managers, called me to the poll and asked me my construction of the 
law in regard to persons who had not lived in the State one year voting 
for electors, State and Oongressional officers. I told him that they had 
to live in the State one year and in the county sixty days before they 
would be entitled to "'ot~. He said that people could vote for thoee 
officers whether they lived in the State one year or not. I said, if tha& 
is the way you are going to vote the men. you will please make a Dote 
of their names on the margin of the poll.list, so that when it came be­
fore the board of conuty canvassers it would be brought to their atten· 
tion. 

I was clerk to the board of county canvassers. On the 3d day of 
November the commissioners of election of Aiken County organized by 
electing Samuel B. Spencer, chairman, and myself clerk. The mana­
gers for the different precincts in the county were sworn in, the instruc­
tions for conducting the election and the ballot· boxes were given them, 
and the commissioners adjourned ,ine die. 

The board of county cau,'assers met and elected Samuel B. Spencer 
chairman and myself secretary. The board ordered me, as clerk, 
and Mr. Edmondston, one of the canvassers, to take the boxes and 
place them in a cell in the jail, seal the lock, and to take them oot 
again in the presence of the full board on Tuesday the 14th of Novem· 
ber. Mr. George W. Croft, chairman of the Democratic party of Aiken 
Oounty, oltiected to the boxes being deposited, on the ground that the 
electIon law of the State was not definite in regard to the day on which 
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the votes should be counted. Mr. Croft telegraphed Mr. Haskell, and 
the answer came, "Oount the voles immediately, and be sure and get 
them bere by Momlay night." Mr. Spencer telegrapbed to Attorney. 
General Stone, and the answer was, "You are right." The board then 
adjourned to meet on Tuesday, the 14th. On Sunday, the 12th, Ire· 
ceived notice privately that the ballots would be counted the next morn· 
ing. I went to General Rivers's honse that night at half-past seven, and; 
npon the advice of Mr. Spencer, I assisted in filling out the returns, so far 
as the names of the different officers are concerned. After the names 
were written in, I did the papers up and started to hand them to Mr. 
Spencer, when Mr. Edmondston, Mr. Croft, and O. C. Jordon tried to tak& 
them away from me forcibly. I managed to get them to Mr. Spencer, 
and said to him, "Mr. Spencer, the board of coonty canvassers have· 
a~journed ontil the 14th. What do yo mean by doing this 1" He said, 
"Never mind; I will tell you to-morrow night in Columbia." The next 
morning about fifteen minotes past six 1 went to the coort-hoose, in 
the clerk of court's office, and found there Mr. George W. Croft, Mr. 
Williams, candidate for proba.te judge on the Democratic ticket, Mr. 
St. Julien Yates, Mr. James Aldrich, Mr. Hutson, General P. R. 
Rivers, and Mr. SIlencer and Mr. Edmondston. On the table there 
was a pile of papers, pnrporting to be the returns of the election at 
the several precincts in Aiken County. Mr. Oroft asked me, "Mr. 
Williams, are yon clerk of the board of connty canvassers1" He 
said, "Will yon please examine these retorns 1" I said, " 1 will, as a 
private citi:ten, but not as clerk." I examined them; there were nine 
precincts there. I found that the retnrns from the precincts of Fount­
ain Academy and Silverton were not there. I said to Mr. Croft that 
these precincts were missing. Mr. Edmondston spoke np and said, 
"Oarlson has taken Fonntain Academy out to get Fuller Ooortney 
to sign it. He was the Democratic manager at the pon. In aboot ten 
minntes Mr. Oartson bronght it in and laid it 00 the table. I looked at 
it. It was the retorn from Fonntain Academy. Silverton I never did 
see. Mr. Yates and Mr. Jordon sat on one side of the room; Mr. Ald­
rich and Mr. Hntson sat in front of me; Mr. Edmondston next. I opened 
the Fonntain Academy box at the request of Mr. Croft. The return was 
not there. There was about twenty-five or thirty ballots in the box. Mr. 
Croft commenced to call off the returns;' one wan kept the tally of the 
electors, another kept the tally for go\'ernor and lieutenant-governor, 
and another the State officers. They were added up by these gentlemen 
and handed to Mr. Edmolldston, who put down the total on the returu 
which was to be sent to the State canvassers. Mr. Spencer was in the 
back yard dnring this time trying to get a man to go after George Wash· 
ington, the other Republican canvasser. Before they commenced can­
vassing the connty officers Mr. Washington came in and asked me if 
I was acting officially, and, if so, to read my minutes. I read the minutes, 
showing where the board had adjonrned 8S county canvassers, according 
to law, until the 14th. Mr. Washington then went ont, refusing to have 
anything to do with it as acountycan\""asser, on the gronnd that the board 
had adjourned to meet on the 14th. Mr. Croft then proceeded to call off' 
the connty officers, the diff~rent parties mentioned keeping tally. Mr; 
Wm. M. Hutson kept the tally forCongrt'ssman. After be had added them 
up, Mr. Oroft asked me to "see if Hutson has added them np right." 
There were ten rows of Ogures for Mr. Smalls and eleven for Mr. Tillman. 
I said, Mr. Croft, Smalls has got left off' here once. He replied, "I have 
called t.hem off right; acId them up." Mr. Smalls was 298 votes behind 
the ticket according to the count handed me l>y Mr. Oroft. I mentioned 
this to him. He went o\'er it again but made 110 change. He said it 
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was fifteen minutes before train time, and he woold make the changes 
when he got in Oolombia. Mr. Spencer, the Republican ooonty can· 
vasser and chairman of the board, never saw a figure pot down ou the 
aggregate or return which went to the State canvassers; never saw a 
figure of the precinct managers' returns, but signed them without seeing 
anything bot the last page, which had the certificate on it. He called 
me off to one corner of the room and said, " I will mMt YOIl io Oolumbia 
to-night and tell YOIl why I signed those retoros." He told me why he 
signed the returns, and made ao affidavit which will be found in Aiken 
Coonty testimooy, marked Exhibit B aod O. I never signed the return 
Is clerk, oor did I see a figure, nor any of the totals. 

N. R. WILLIAMS. 
Sworn to before me this April 7th, 1877. 
[L. s.] HENRY B. JOHNSON, 

Notary Public, &utA CaroliJIIJ. 
Or08s·examio~tion waived. 

Hon. H. E. HA. YNE, beiog duly sworn, deposes and answers as follows: 
Examination by Mr. Williams: 

Question. State yoor name, residence, and occupation.-Aoawer. H. 
E. Hayne, Columbia; secretary of state. 

Q. How long ha"e yoo been secretary of state '-A. Foor years. 
Q. What was the vote that Robert Sma)]a received for Congress in 

Edgefield County in 1874'-A. Thirty·three hundred aod ninety·six 
votes. 

Q. How many did Mr. Epping receive '-A. Twenty·eight hundred 
and se\"enty·nioe votes. 

Q. What did Mr. Smalls receive in Colleton Coooty in 1874, and boW' 
many Mr. Eppiog'-A. Smalls received 3,515; Epping, 85. 

Q. What did Mr. Smalls receive in Aiken Connty in 1874, and wbat 
did Mr. Epping '-A. Smalla, 2,002; Epping, none. 

Q. What did Mr. Smalls receive in Barnwell in 1814, and what did 
Mr. Epping I-A. SmaJ,ls, 3,110; Epping, 78. 

Q. What did Mr. Smalls receive in Beaufort in 1814, and what did 
Mr. Epping '-A. Smalls, 5,009; Epping, 1,419. 

Q. What is the total Mr. Smalls received, and what Mr. Epping!-A. 
Smalls, 17,752; Epping, 4,461. Mr. Smalls majority was 13,291. Thede 
figures are taken from the records in my office. 

Q. What is the white and colored vote of the several counties in the 
fifth district aecording to the census of 1875 '-A. Edgefield: whitAl, 
2,722; colored, 4,400. Aiken: white, 2,49'; colored,3,413. BarDwell: 
white, 2,583; colored, 4,134. Oolleton: white, 2,418; colored, 4,211' 
Beaufort: white, 1,160; colored,8,241. All this is from the oftlcial rec­
orda in my office. 

Q. What was the vote received by Smalls and Tillman, respectively, 
in the fifth district in 1876 !-A. Aiken: Smalls, 2,194; Tillman, 3,190. 
Oo11eton: Smalls, 4,"-32; Tillman,2,904. Beaufort: Smalla, 7,616; Till· 
man,2,231. Bani well : Smalls, 2,192' Tillman, 3,939. Edgefield: SiDaIJa, 
3,120; Tillman,6,252. Total, Smalis, 19,954; total, Tillman, 18,516. 

Q. Were you a member of the board of State canvaasera in 18167-
A. Yes. 

Q. In declaring the election, did the board inclnde the vote of Edp 
lleld Oounty for Congressman !-A. They did. 

Q. What was the white and colored vote in the several counties in tbe 
fifth district in 1876 !-A. Ool1eton: white, 2,440; colored, 4,128. Beau· 
fort: white, 1861; colored,8,096. Barnwell: white, 2,999 ; colored,3,'j63-
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Aiken: white. 2,614; coloreti,2,685. This does not include the precinctot 
Wllldsor, in Aiken Oounty, where the managers did not distinguish as to 
color. The managers of Edgefield County also failed to preserve the 
distinotion. 

Q. In Aiken Oounty, what was the vote by precincts in 1876 '-A. 
Precinct •. 

Beech Islnnd ..•••••••.••.•...•....•••.••.•••••. 
Joroan's Mills ••.••••••.••••..••.•..••••••••.••• 
Boyd'" Store .••••••••••••••.••••••••..•.•......• 
Fountaiu Academy ............................. . 
Merritt's Bridge ••• o •••••••••• o ••••• 0 •••• 0 • 00 ••• 

Silverton ....................................... . 
Windsor 0 •••• 0 ................................. 0 

Hamburg ••••••••.•••••..•••••••••••••••..•...• 
Miles's Mill ....•••••••••.•..•••••••••.....••....• 
Aiken Oonrt-House .•••••••.••••••••••••••••••• 0' 

Graniteville, (no return.) 

Small .. 
302 
124 
266 
86 
68 

232 
71 

535 
35 

698 

Tillman. 
236 
274 
100 
163 
312 
182 
377 
246 
142 
371 

(Examination closed here, and cross·examination waived.) 
H. E. BAYNE. 

SWOM} to before me this 7th day of April, 1877. 
[L. s.] HENRY B. JOHNSON, 

Notary Public, South Oarolina. 
The accompanying papers, marked A, B, 0, D, and E, were produced 

in evidence and need in examination. 
BENRY B. JOHNSON, 

Notary Public, South Oarolina. 

A. 
8ttJtement ,howing tie tlumber of 'Dotes caBt by 'Whit8 atld colored per,oIU for 

Oongreumft from tAe flft'" diatrict of Bouth Oarol.CI At tk6 e18ction 
of 1876. 

CODntie8 • 

. Colleton .................... _0' ... _.. ...... ...... ...... ...... .... 2,440 4,728 
Beanfort ............................................ e............ 1,867 8,096 
Barnwell .............................................. .... ...... 2,999 3,763 
Edgefield· ...................................................................... .. 
ABient..... ...... ...... .............. .... ...... ...... ...... .... •• 2,614 2,685 

Total.... .... .... .... ........ ...... .... .... .... .... .... .... 9,920 19,272 

• 'rbe number of votes cast by white and colored perlOn8 re&peotively, not returned 
b;y tbe oommill8ionerl. 

t Thi8 8tatemen$ doee not inclnde the vote at WindlOr precinct. 

SOUTH OA.ROLINA, 
OjJW6 Secretary of State : 

I, H. E. Hayne, secretary of state, do hereby oertify that the forego· 
ing is a true and correct statement of the number of white and colored 
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persons voting for Congressman from the fifth district of Sooth Caro­
lina at the election held on the 7th day of November, 1876, as appears 
by the retnrns now on file in this office. 

Given nnder my hand and the seal of the State,at Colombia, this 6th 
day of April, 1877, and ill the one hnndred and first year of American 
Independence. 

[SEAL.] H. E. HAYNE, 
&cretary of State. 

B. 
Vote for OongreBBman, jifth, district election of 1876. 

~ cii 
II 

~ a .-
Counties. = a 

1: E:: 1: 
3 

f ,:i .. • 
ClII ci tZ -- -

Colleton ...... ...... •• • ••• •• .... ....... .. .... ...... ...... .... 4,232 2,9O'l 
Beaufort..................................... ...... .......... 7,616 2,231 1 
Barnwell .......... ...... ...... ...... ...... ... ••• ...... ...... 2,792 3,9'.19 .. .. 
Edgefield...... ...... ...... .... ...... ...... ...... ...... .. .... 3, 100 6,252 •.•. 
Aiken...... ...... ...... ...... . ...... ...... ...... ...... ...... 2, 194 3,190 1 

Total ................................................. 'I~ 18,SiG",2 

SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Office Secretary of State: 

I, H. E. Hayne, secretary of state, do hereby certify that tho forego· 
ing is a troe and correct statement of the vote for member of Congre8s 
from the fifth district of Sonth Carolina at the election held on the 7th 
day of November, 1876, as appears by the retorns of the commissioners 
'of election of the several con n ties, now on file in this office. 

Given nnder my hand and the seal of the State, at Colnmbia, this 6th 
day of April, 1877, and in the one hnndred and first year of American 
Independence. 

[SEAL.j 

C. 

H. E. HAYNE, 
&cretary of State. 

Vote for Oongre88man, jifth, district, el6ctwn 1814. 

.!i 
'iii 

Counties. 
a 

Ul 
.oa ... 

! ---
Colleton ...... .... .... .. .. ...... •• .... .... .. ... • .... • . .. .. .. • 3,515 
Beaufort.... ...... ...... ...... ...... • ...... ...... ...... ...... 5,069 
Barnwell .... ...... ...... .... .... ...... .. .... .... ............ 3,770 
Edg6field .... .. .. .. .......... ...... .... .... •••••• ............ 3, 396 
Aiken.... ....... ........................................... 2, 002 

e; 
CI 

'So I Co 
r&I II :i 
~ .. Ig 
..; lID 

-'-I 
85 1 ... . 

1,·U9 I .. .. 

78 .. .. 
2,879 I 1 

•••••••• 1 US .. 
Total .................................................. I7,'752'I4.461 iW 
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SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Offiu Secretary oj State : 

I, H. E. Hayne, tlecretary of state, do hereby certify that the forego. 
ing is a true and correct statement of the vote for member of Congress 
from the fifth district of South Carolina, at the election held on the 3(1 
\lay of November, 1874, as appears by the returns thereof, now on file in 
this office. 

Given under m~ hand and the seal of the State, at Columbia., this 6th 
day of April, 1877, and in the one hundred and first year of American 
Independence. 

[SEAL.] 

D. 

H. E. HAYNE, 
Secretary oj Statt. 

Vote jor Oongressman, fifth district South Carolina, election 1876. 

Aiken Connty. 

---------------------------
Beeeh Island ... _ • .. • ••• ...... ... .. • • ...... ... ••• .. .. .. •• ...... ...... 236 302 
Jordan's Mills.... . .. ... ...... ...... .... ............. . .......... •••••• 274 124 
Boyd'8 Store.... .•• • .... .... .... .... ...... ...... . .... •••• .... .... .... 100 266 
Fouutain Academy ....... ••• .... .... .•.. •••• .... . .... .... ••.• .... .... 163 86 
Merritt's Bridge.:.. .. ••.• .... •••• ••.• .... .. .. .... .. .. •••• .... .... .... 312 68 
ilverton .... .... .. .. •••• •••• .... •• •• •••• .... •••• •••• •••• •••• ...... •• 18'..! 2.12 

Wiudsor ........... ..................................... , .... .. •• .. .. a77 71 
Hamburg .... ...... .... ...... ...... .... •••• .......... .... •••• ........ 246 535 
Miles' MilL....... .. ................................................. 142 35 
Aik u Court·House. .......... •••• ........................ ............ 371 698 
Graniteville, (no returu) .......................................................... . 

Total ................... '" ................. , ............... , .. 2, 403 I 2,417 

SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Ojfice Secretary of State: 

I, H. E. Hayne, secretary of state, do hereby certify that the forego. 
ing is a true and correct statement of the vote cast for Congressma.n 
from the fifth district at the several precincts in Aiken County, at the 
election beld on the 7th day of November, 1876, as appears from the 
managers' returns, now on file in this office. 

Given under my hand and the seal of the State, at Columbia, this 26th 
day of March, 1877. 

[SEAL.] n. E. HAYNE, 
Secreta,,, of State. 

E. 
Report oj the secretary of 8tate of South Oarolina to the general assembly, 

at regular session, 1875. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

OFFICE SECRETARY OF STATE, 
Oolumbia, S. 0., November 20, 1875. 

To the honorable the 8enate and house of representatives of the State of 
South Oarolina: 

GENTLE:MEN: I have the honor to submit herewith, in accordance 
with law, the annual report of the dnties performed in this office during 
the fiscal year ending October 31, 1875. 
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Commissions have been issued to the following officers appointed by 
the governor: 
Trial:j ustices ••••••..•.••..••••.•.••••.•••••.•. , ••.••••••• , . . .. 324 
Notaries pu bUc . • . . • • • • • • . • . • •• • • • • •• ••.•• .• . • • • •• ••••• • • • • • . .• 152 
Connty treasnrers •.•..•••. , ••••• _.. •••••• ••.••• •••• •••••..•..• M 
County auditors. • • • •• •• • • •• •• • . • • • . • • • • • • . . . . . • • • • •• • • • • •• . . •. 33 
Census· takers • • • . .. • . . • • • • • • • • • • . • . • • • • • • • . . • • • • • . . • . . •••• • • • . 32 
CommiHSioners of deeds............................... • . • . • • . • • 24 
Jury com missioners. • • • . . . • .• •• • • • • • • • • . • • • • • •• • • . • • • • • •• . . .. • 22 
Commissioners of pilotage...... .... ...... ........... .... ....... 5 
Health officers... . • • • • • • •• . . . • . . . . . . • • • ••• . . • • . . . . . • • • •. •.•. • 2 

The following notices have been issued: 
Notices of appointment to office ............. " ................. 557 
Notices of removal from office .................................. 2U 
Acceptances of resignation .................................. ~.. 37 
Snspensions from office.......................... • . . • . • • • . . .. .. 1 

The following documents have been recorded: 
Pardons .•..••••••..•••.•.•••.•.•• " .••••.••••.•••.••• -• • . • . .• III 
Mortgages ...•.••••••••••.•....•....•.••..•••..••••.•••. _ •... _ 75 
Official bonds ••.••••.•.....••...••.•••••... __ . • • . • . . . • . . • • • . . • 35 
Liens ............•....•..................................... _. 21 
Trust·deeds . . . • . . . . . • . • • . . . . • . • • • . . • . • . .• •• • . . • • . • • . . • • • • . • . . • 9 
Deeds of conveyance.... •• • • •• . . • • • . . • . . . • • . • • •• • • .. .••. • • . . .• 7 
Bills of !!Iale •.••••..••••..••••••..••••...• ' .....•.•.. ' .•••••.. ,. , 
Marriage settlements .......... _ • • • • • • . • • • . • • •• • • • • • • • • • • •• • • •• 5 
Releases.... ...... •.. • .... ..•••••. .... •••• .............. ...... 2 

The seal of the State bas been affixed to ninety-seven tax·deeds. 
The fees of the office for the year amount to two thousand six hundred 

. and sixty.four dollars and fifty cents, (t2,664:.50,) which -sum I have 
turned over to the State treasurer, and hold his receipts therefor. 

Exhibit A, annexed hereto, gives a tabular statement of the poor 
returns as made by the several boards of county commissioners, ill 
accordance with the provisions of au act entitled "Au act to provide 
for the care of the poor," approved February 28, 1870. 

Exhibit B gives a detailed statement of expenditures on account or 
contingent fund, appropriated for this office for the fiscal year ending 
October 31. 1875. 

Exhibit C shows the deeds issoed by me to parties who have com· 
pleted payments due ou the lands purchasecl by them from the State. 

I have appended hereto exhibits marked D, E, F, G and H, wbich 
comprise a complete compilation of the census returns reech'ed from 
the census·takers of the several conn ties. 

Exhibit D shows the entire population of the State by counties, sub· 
divided under the captions: "Nnmber of children under six years or 
age," "Number of children between six and sixteen years of age," " N Ilm· 
ber ofperaoDs between sixtee oand twenty-one years of age," and" Nllm· 
ber of per SODS over twenty-one years of age." 

It will be seen that tbe total population of the State is 925,145, 
which is an inorease of 219.539, as compared with the United States 
('.ensos of 1870. Tbis abnormal iu::rease caonot be accounted for in au1 
satisfactory manner; and while I have no doubt but that there haa beell 
an increase in the population, I would not for a moment assert that it is 
to the extent retnrned by the censos-takers. 
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As a test of accnracy, the present census will doubtless be compared 
with the last made by tbe United States. This, however, will not be a 
fair criterion, as tbe United States census is full of inaccuracies. Take, 
for example, the county of Orangeburg. Iu 1870, by the United States 
cen8us, the population is fixed at 16,865, while the vote of the cOllnty 
for governor in the same yt'ar was 5,490; wbile, allowing the 0811al pro­
portion, (one voter to every five inhabitants,) the county could not have 
contained less than 27,450 people. Let us go further. It mlly be ad­

'vanced that the vote for governor in 1870 ht no criterion by whicb to 
judge of tbe population, as there were doubtless many illegal votes cast 
at tbe election in that year. 

Accepting this as true, let us look at the vote (or governor in 1874-
admittedly a fair and impartial election-8nd we find the vote of Orange­
burg to be 5,793, an increase of 303, and a corft'spollding increase in tbe 
population, following tbe usual ratio, of 1,515, making the total nlJmber 
of inhabitauts 28,965. or 13,100 more than returned in the United States 
census. The same will be found of Charleston and other counties, which 
I have not enumerated. 

In regard to the" returns of crops and other statistics," I think I can 
vouch for their accuracy, with 80me exr.eptions. which I here notp. The 
acreage of "peas and beans" and" potatoeK" cannot be relied 011 as 
correct; for, in nearly every instance, the farmer plnnts his peas Illong 
with his com; and the cemlUs"takers, finding that tht'y wt're ullahle to 
condense and separate tbe area plantt'd in each, ill nearly e,"ery instance 
reported the whole as corn, and took no lIote whatever of the acrt'llge ill 
peas. The quantity, however, will be found correct, as al&o will the 
potatoes. In all respects, other than these here mentioned, tbe l'eturns 
are as nearl)" right as possible. 

Exhibit E shows the crops raised by the colored farmers of the State. 
This statement includes only such as are producers in their own right, 
with the absolute power of disposal. LaborPrs working for a h share of 
the crop" are not included, for the reason that the sbare to whicb they 
are entitled is given as Hn equivalent for wages merely, and tht'y have 
no interetlt whatever in the crop itself, other than that existing in the 
proceeds of sale. The product of their labor i8, therefore, credited io 
every instance to their employer. 

Exhibit F, in like manner, shows the crops raised by the white farmers_ 
Exhibit G is the aggregate of crops produced in the State, and is, 

consequently, Exhibits F and G combined. 
Exbibit B shows the llopulation of some of the principal cities, towns, 

and villages in the State. 
The ct>nRus-takt'rs lIllpointed by the governor havt>, with a flingJe ex­

ception, made reports of their work to this omct'. It is trut'! that Kome 
of the returns were not received until tbe 15th instant, whpn tht'ly Mhould 
properly have been in on the 1st of October. Thp reasons gh-t'n fur tbe 
delay, however, were in al1 cases good and sufficient; and the only in­
convenience wbich has resulted therefrom has bt'en my cOIIMeqnent ina­
bility to report to your honorable bodies sooner the result of the work 

LAND-COMMISSION DEPARTMENT. 

There has been no mnterial change in the workings of thi" dppart­
menlo The settlers, as a gent'ral rulp, pa.y promptly, and mHuil"'st a 
gratifying ambition to obtain deeds for their lauds, and thus liIl'cure to 
tbem8t'lvt's the bent'tits of a bomestt'acl. 

Tbe co11t'ctiolls for the year amounted to $17,3U.09. Of this I have 
B. Mis. 11-34 
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paid to the State treasorer 111,400, paid agents' expenses and commis· 
sions, aDd expenses of sarveying, ejecting trespasseI1l, &c., 82,267.27, 
and have a balance on hand of *3,646.82. 

The voochers for the amounts disbursed, and turned over to tbe State 
treasurer, are on file, and sabject to your inspection. 

I am again prompted to urge upon your honorable bodies the lll'Cessity 
of making an appropriation of, say, 13,000 for rebinding the books in 
this office. I make this recOmmeadatiou because if the books are al· 
lowed to remain in thelr present condition much longer they will be be· • 
yond repair, by reason of the constant attacks of moths and book· 
worms. • 

A comparatively small outlay now will prove a lasting benefit, and be 
the weans of preventing serions inconvenience to the people of the State, 
by the pl'686rvation of these valnable records. I UUltt that you will see 
At to make the appropriation. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servaut, 
H. E. HAYNE, 

Secretary of b't4te. 
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1874. 
Nov. 16 

18 
21 
23 
26 
2fi 
30 
30 

Dec. 2 
21 
2"l 

1875. 
Jan. 4 

18 
19 
2~ 

Feb. 9 
12 
25 

Karch 2 
9 

27 
April 1 

9 
19 
2'2 
26 

May 5 
31 

Jone 7 
11 
29 

.Joly 12 
28 

Aag. 5 
7 

Sept, 1 
3 

Oct. 1 

TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 

EXHIBIT B.-.EzpeRdilliru OR _lIlIt OOJatill9etlt/".d. 

By R. A. Keenan, coaL ........................................ . 
R. L. Bryan, stationery ..................................... . 
Colombia Gae·Lijtbt Company, gas ........................ .. 
Western Union Telegraph Company ........................ , 
Postage-stamps ............................................ . 
Subfocription to News and Courier .......................... .. 
William Vaughn, meB88oger ................................ . 
Sondries .................................................. .. 
P08tage·stampe ............................................ . 
P08tage.stampe ............................................ , 
Stationery ................................................ .. 

WesliPrn Union Telegraph Company ......................... . 
Postage-s·.amps ............................................ . 
T. J. Harper, coal ......................................... .. 
Sundries .................................................. .. 
Postage·stamps ........................................... .. 
Wesklrn Uniou Telegraph Compaoy ........................ .. 
T. J. Harper, coal ......................................... .. 
Poetag~ .. tampe ............................................ . 
Repairing State seal. ...................................... .. 
P08tage·stampe ............................................ . 
City directory ............................................. .. 
Howie & Allen ........... , ., .............................. .. 
Postac_tampe ........................................... . 
W. S. Scott ................................................ .. 
E. B. Stokes .............................................. .. 
T. J. Gregory, janitor ..................................... .. 
A. Palmer ................................................ .. 
T. J. Gregory, janitor ...... " ............................... . 
Poetage-atampa ............................................ . 
Poet-olBce bolt· rent ........................................ . 
Weottern Union Telegraph Company ........................ . 
Postage-atampe ........................................... .. 
Wea&..rn Union Telegraph Company ........................ .. 
Thomas Gregory, janitor ................................... .. 
Thomas Gregory, janitor ................................... .. 
Poet~tampa ........................................... .. 
T. J. Gregory, janitor ..................................... .. 

538 

$25 00 
100 00 
1~ 00 
2.') 00 
41 20 
1000 
]000 
600 
700 

1000 
1500 

915 
1000 
2500 
2 00 

10 00 
1165 
2.') 00 
1000 
1750 
]0 00 
{l00 
900 

1000 
100 
150 
5 00 
1 50 
5 Oll 

1000 
4 4~ 

24 80 
1000 

1 01) 
500 
500 
500 

1000 

Total ............ ' • .... •••• .... ••••••• ...... .. .. .. .. .. 502 81 
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EXHIBIT C.-Deeds i4lsued since No"elllber 1, 1874. 

Name oC Purcballtlr. Date oC deed. count~·- -;~'I. I 

Thomas Murphy . .............. •••..•..••.••••••••••. 
Hilliard Trezevant ..... d •••• •• ••••••••• , •• , ........ . 

Scipio Greell ................... .................... .. 
'Villiarn Brown ..... . ... . ...... ..................... . 
Z. T. Melton ... . .. . ....... ..... •••••.••.••.••.••••••. 
A. A. Sanders . ...• , ............ .••••••..•.••••.•.•... 
D. '1'. Redfl·arne ................ ..................... . 
'V.A. SpirLs .................. ...................... . 
Mary Worrel!. . ................ ..................... . 
Jllnles Fieldtl ................... .•••• , •••••• ••••••.•.. 
Ben Deane ..................... ..................... , 
James Bnrrows ................ ..................... . 
ISllao K. Hnnter ................ ..................... . 
Frida.y Kennedy ......... . ..... ..................... . 
Joel Blltler .....••.•.•. " ...... .... : •••.•••••••••.•• • 
Peter MOolley ...... . ............ ........... .......... . 
Eli Spires ..................... ..................... . 
David Boneplute ... , ........... .................... . 
Pbillie John80n, ot Ill. .. , ....... ..................... . 
Andrew Hollington ............ ..................... . 
Maria Hen(ll'ix ................ ...................... . 
Hercules Smith .............. , .... . ................ . 
Trn~tee8 O'HalJloD Seboo1. ..... ........ . ........... .. 
IlNIlab Fay ................ , ... .. .................... . 
Jemel AlitlerllOn ............... ..................... . 
JAmM Orant .................. .. .................... . 
·lktnJAmlli Hopkins .... , ........ ..................... . 
'Peter Jo\lnllOo ................ .. .................... . 
,BenjAOllu F.. Taylor ........... .. .................... . 
'llenJAIllln IInllkln ............. .. .................... . 

I
FrIUI_T.,lur ....................... , .... . ......... . 
P.ulJolI ........ .............. .. .................... . 
",ObD A4d'" .... ...... ....... • , ... . . ............... .. 

November 30, 1874. 1 Ricbland .•.• 
December 2,1874 .. Orallgeburg. 
December )2,1874 .. Riebland .. .. 
December 15.1"74.. Richland .. .. 
December 17, 11:174 .. CbCl!terlie)d . 
D .. cember 17, 11:174 •. Cbe8tlnfi .. ld . 
})ecelllber17.1874 •. Cbesterlield. 
Janu .ry 4. Ib7r..... Lexington .. . 
January 8,11:175.... Marion ..... . 
January 8. 1875 .... Abbeville .. .. 
January S, Itr.5 .... Uconee .... .. 
January 8,1875 .... Ktlrsbaw .. .. 
Jauuary lA, 1875 .•• Ononee ..... . 
January HI, 1875 .•. Orangeburg . 
January 18,1875 ... Orallgtlburg. 
Jannary HI, 1875... Oraug .. burg. 
Jauuary It!. 1875... Lexiugton .•. 
January 20, 1875... Orolljl;tlburg. 
January 2'J, 1875.. . Cbarl08wu .. 
January 23. 1R15 ... Charlestou .. 
Jauuary 28,1875 ... Lexiugton ... 
January 28, 11:175 ••• Rlehlanfl ... . 
}'ebroary 6, 1875... Richland .. .. 
}'ebruary 24, 1870.. Rlcblaud .. .. 
Mareh 14, U!7fi ..... Lexiugton ••. 
April 1, It!7fi ....... Beaufort .. .. 
April 1, 1~1;'...... Boaufon .. .. 
April 1, 187........ Beaufort .. .. 
April I.IR1IL ...... \ 8oanlon .. . 
Allflt 1,1R16 ....... O"oaururt .. .. 
AI'''') I, Ilnl'>.. ..... 1t.. .. II(urt ... . 
Avril " 1~1\' ..... ' 1 D.au'''r~ .••. 
Al,rU 1~.I~C; ...... OCUu ......... 

O'HBuloo ...• 
'l'ynab •••••• 
Adaws ..... . 
Adams ..... . 
Long ...... .. 
Long ...... .. 
Loog ...... .. 
Geiger ..... . 
Moody .... .. 
Marshall .. .. 
Lewis . .... .. 
Bnrrowe .... . 
Lewie ...... . 
Tynab ..... . 
Tynab ..... . 
Tynab .... .. 
Gtliger ..... . 
Tyoab ..... . 
RUlibland ••. 
Rushlaud ... 
Geiger ...... 
Hickory Hill. 
O'llanlou •••. 
Hickory Hill. 
EnlOr ...... . 
Jubnson .... . 
JobnllOD ... .. 
JohnllOn ... .. 
JohlllMln .... . 
JobnlOn .•••• 
JohOllOn . .. .. 
Jubn .... n . ... . 
I.ew ....... . . 

" 

Number of 
acrell. 

100 
49 
4/i! 
61 
9'..! 
76i 90. 
64 
1~ 
100 
47 
94 

1"36 
45 
53 
52 
35 
52 
10 
10 
:n 
35 

1 
5~t 
61 
41J 
87i 
41 
n6 
36 
60 .... 
40 

Nnmberof 
lot. 

23 
17 aud 44 

6 
2 

7 and 8 
5alld 6 

11 and 12 
part of 2 . 

1 
5~ 
21 
24 
27 

22 and 45 
19 and 40 
16 and 47 
part of 23 
18 and 41 

3 
i of 8 

1 
8 and ioC 10 

16 
7,16.3'.l 

7 .. 
13 and 14 

7 
12 
10 
6 
9 .. 

Amount. 

$700 00 
14700 
211 00 
:!44 00 

U'..! 00 
7700 

113 12 
l:.!8 00 
(j()() 00 
tiOO 00 
141 00 
153 16 
lOB 00 
180 00 
212 00 
20t! 00 
70 00 

208 00 
9& 1I0 

100 00 
31 00 

17500 
100 

211 00 
256 00 
7200 

130 ~ 
61 60 
1:1400 
4" 00 
00 00 
(\6 00 

1H4 00 

t1t 
~ 
~ 

~ ... 
t" 
t" 
r::: 
~ 

~ 
IJI 

~ 
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Abraham I.twln ...................................... AprI124.18711 .... __ Beaufort •• __ \ Gilbert "" __ 
S .. IIClhoWbit ........... , .......... __ .......... __ •••• __ Aprilll6.11!175 .... __ Charl .. 8wD •• Greenwich .. 
Carolina Holman """ •••••• """ .••••••••••••••••• April 29, 1875 •••••. Hal·Dw .. 1I •••• Norland •••• , 
James White ••••••••••••.•••••.••••••••••••••••••••. Apri12ti,11'r.5 .••••. Cbal'ltl8wn .. Woollvillo ... 
Mary WlI8binlitoD .•••••••••• _ •••••• .•• ••• .••••• •••••. April 26, 1875 .•••• _ Charle8ton.. Greenwich .. 
M. A. and H. W. Smith ............................... May 6,1875 .••••••. BarDwell .••• Nerlanl\ ..••. 
William Real...... •••••• •••••• •• •••. •••••• •••• •••••. May 5, 1875.. •••••. Cbarll!8toll.. Greellwillh __ 
Edward Heyward .••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••. May 26, It:!75 .•••••. Cbarlellwn •. Greenwich .. 
Thomas Thompson. •••• .••••• ••• ••• •••••• .••••• .••••. June 2,1875 .•••••. Greenville... .'arr No. 1. •. 
Gabriel Thompson .•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.••••. June:l, It17r. .•.••. Greenville... .'arr No.1.. 
JamflllWalker .••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••.••••••••• Septembtlr29,1875 Richland •••• Hickory Hill. 
Rial Brown...... •••••• •••• •• .••••• .••••• •••••• •••••• October 1:r, 1875.... RiohllUld.... Hickory Hill. 

2» 
211 
6Ii 
:H 
:lU 
41 
15 
10 
5:i 
60 
31i 
:l7i 

:18 
16 
t! 

11 
1 

House tract. 
11:1 

• of 4 
3 
2 

10and i of 13 
19 aod 36 

12() 00 
2:1000 
208 00 
11300 

200 00 
164 00 
14400 
70 00 

42400 
480 00 
15750 
136 ~ 
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EXHIBIT D.-Population of the State b-y counties-Oensus of 1875. . 
Number of ohildren unrler6 y081"11 

of age. 
Number of children between 61 Number of persons botweeu 16 

and 16 yeal·& of ago. and :n yeam of age. 

---

I \ 

-

Conntiea. Males. Females. Males. Females. Males. Females. 

---

3 
.,; 

! l ci 
.,; 

ci I .,; 
lIS 1 .,; I . ! j oW ~ ~ ~ ... I 2: S :a :a I :E ~ J ~ I ~ 

.Q "'S "'S 
I 

"'S ~ 0 
~ ~ ~ 0 0 0 0 

I 
123 1 

-------
Abbeville •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 1,271 3,290 1,170 3,21\9 1,442 3,213 I 1,433 3,114 1,096 I 664 984 
Aiken ••• e •••• ee ••••• e •• "'ee ••••••••• _. 1,279 2,la6 1,ltol9 2,044 1,42'l 2,1~J 1,4Sf, 2, 106 719 1,127 , 842 I 1,126 
Anderson .................. e e e •••••••••• 1,801 1,722 1,690 1,659 1,976 1,712 1,769 1,58:1 814 6~ I 791 i 552 
Barnwell •••••••••••••••• e •••••••••• e ••• 1,4CJO 3,580 1,301 3,41">9 1,454 3,177 1,307 2,946 594 1,051 I 517 I 9(;7 
Beanfort • 'e •••••••• eee. "'e ••••• e •••••• 788 4,048 797 4.2'l:J 8-a 4,OMI 746 4,201 30'l 1,057 :«11 9:1!:! 
Charleston ••••••••••• '" •••••••••••• e •• 2,H84 9,886 3,OIi9 9,9-.15 3,661 9,196 4,042 10,476 1,84:1 4,714 2,005 I 5,407 
Chester •••••••••• e •••• ee ••••••••••••••• 665 2,248 600 2,216 71'l1 2, 101 779 1,911 :J65 7:i'J 39-l 6e4 
Cheaterlleld ••••••• e ••• e ••••••••••••• e •• 79'l 605 71i1 tit6 1,070 796 1,014 8:13 a:lf> :105 :ml 241'l 
Clarendon ••••••••• e ................... _ 568 1,492 r':i6 1, rlfJ.1 618 1,301 59'l 1, 100 271 4~6 262 I :151 
Colleton • '" ••••••••••••••••• e •••••••••• 1,462 2,640 1,3:1O 2,482 1.51;, 2,l!72 1,568 2,709 51n 9713 1 744 I 1,:!!",7 
Darlington _ •••• e ••••• e ••••••••••••••••• '1,3Oti 2,492 l,ll!7 2,406 I, :Jll6 2,64:.! 1.261 2,:155 flOO 1i1'!2 I 5:Rl U28 
Ed~fteld ••••••• e ....................... 1,29'l 2,735 1,295 2,8.5 1,607 a, 109 1,:)50 2,9'a 645 9:J:1 I 58'l b77 
}t' rfteld ............................... 590 2,1:J:I 1">91'l 2,091 701'1 2,061 6:16 1,71l6 3:ll:! Ii~ 2rltl 542 
Georgetown ••• e •••••••••••••••••••••••• WJ 1,688 21;0 1,8-.lO 421"> 1,531 369 1,700 1m I 415

1 

151 511 
Greenville ....... e ••••••••••••••••••• ee. 2,292 1,736 2,257 1,6'.l6 2,371 1;451 2,073 1,377 I,OO'J 634 1,000 6,',3 
H~ .......... e •• ' •••••••••••••••••••• 975 465 926 472 1,115 467 993 4t!0 369 122 381 140 
Ken aw . .•••.•...••.....•....•....•••. 774 l,Il62 730 1,006 840 2,004

1 

740 1,850 I 310 5!)tol 272 460 
LaDcuter .............................. 776 1,161 747 1,034 861 99'.l 754 t\90 359 343 28,; 341) 
wareDI .•..•...••••...........•.•••... 1,060 2,2'48 1,014 2,263 1,072 2,153 1,03"1 1,9r.11 609 729 519 liH7 

LexlnpD .............................. 1,06H tI'.ll 1,036 H3II 1.137 87:J I 1,0411 1'149 474 31H 442 29Ii 
Mlrlon ••••• e ••• e ....................... l,t!OlJ 2,11:10 1,676 2.4W, 1,7r.8 l,ool'l 1,11&'1 2,0:13 71i~ I 740 7M 6411 = .... boroOlh ••••••••••••••••••••••••••. 1¥17 I, :1M 7"'ll 1.421 OOH I, :14:1 ?1lI> 1,1M :\1",2\ 4'l4 :I~I 41li 

(lIt'.I l,II4M 647 ll.OIO 707 II. OM. 714 1.9411 :Jil) IIIl3 :1I'!l! r.r,o •• ben, ............. '" ••.•••....•••. 1M 0-.. ................................. 1,1141 r.:I:I 1.011:1 4-111 I. ",7 4:1" I. lZtl7 4S~, 447 1M rotH} 
.. r.II '7tlll ............................... 1,38It :J,1iUO I. :t4O a,a" .. 1,~11I 11.1<\'" t.117 'l.7:111 r,~r- 110 .. 

Ot 
~ 
cr" 

..:) .... 
t"' 
t"' 
t=!: 
~ 
< 
f'.l 

g: 
II>­
t"' 
t"' 
!1.1 
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"Okoua .................................... 
Richland ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••. 
Spartauburg •••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Sumter •••• , •••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Uuion ....................................... 
William.burg ........................... 
York ................................... 

Totals ............................ 

1,03-t 
I,O:n 
2, 148 

897 
951 
H'l"J 

1,223 
--
37,387 

407 991 36.') 1,02\1 
3,17;) 9f.tl 3, OClll Ui.\f 
1,369 2,1311 1,452 2,449 
2,9O'l 869 3,000 1,0111 
1,497 992 If5~ 1,100 
1,921 725 1,916 940 
2, 126 1,209 2,~0 1,684 ------------

72,234 36,066 72,035 41,366 

411 959 :l1i0 4~ 1:f7 
\l,U~ UtID 2,!:4~;) 6:11 1, lOS 
1,345 2,407 1,~ 1,O8ll 620 
3, 171 004 2,tH7 410 9'..14 
1,6.')6 990 1,421 526 638 
2,OHO ~rl 2,Or.O 293 3lH 
2,&l? 1,6tl2 2,2rlO 906 1,252 

70;" o-J3i39, 09916;,"6461~ o-l? 
--
25,363 

378 
Ii66 

1,1»2 
4~6 
485 
~7 
817 

---
17,789 

99 
949 
400 
810 
669 
3111 
939 --

U,215 

~ ... 

E 
12: 

~ 
!JI 
!lII 
Ii:: 
~ 

~ 
po 

~ 
~ 
-.1 



EXHIBIT D.-Population of tM 8tat8 by COURtie8-0eftl'tl. of 1875-Continoecl. 

Number of perIOD over 21yeanJ of age. Total Dumber of perIODS, all agee. 

Malee. Femalee. Malee. Females. 

Counties. 

1 1 1 1 .s .s . 
~ ! 

~ .2 ~ 
Q 

8 8 .c:I '0 Q 

~ 0 0 
-

00 

Abbeville ..................................... 2,928 4,951 3,404 6,026 6,364 12,550 6,671 13,383 
AikeD ......................................... 2,494 3,473 2,997 3,766 0,1114 tj,865 6,483 9.04:l 
AudereoD ...................................... 3,329 2,215 4,~ 2,6M 7,9'lO 6,27:l 8,48i 6,44~ 
Barnwell ...................................... 2,583 4,734 2,860 CJ,633 6,091 12,542 5,980 12,905 
Beaufort ...................................... 1,760 8,241 1,663 9,094 3,67:l 17,427 3,507 18,456 
Charleston ................................... 0 7,398 17,687 tl,704 22,59-.l 15,786 41,41ol3 17,8'.lO 48,400 
Chester ....................................... 1,604 3,290 1,943 3,917 3,410 8,371 3,813 8,1l'J5 
Cheeterfteld .................................. 0 1,543 1,199 1,974 1,334 3,740 2,90.', 4,120 . 3,061 
ClarendoD .................................... 1,171 2,2O'l 1,299 2,40'..1 2,~ 5,421 2,&9 5,505 
Colleton ...................................... 2,47.8 4,217 2,797 4,168 6,016 10,7111 6,444 10,716 
DarliD~D .................................... 2,362 3,747 2,609 4,260 5,654 9,56:) 5,095 9,649 
~fted ..................................... 2,722 4,400 2,973 4,972 6,266 11,177 6,200 11,396 
Fa rtleld ...................................... 1,451 3,370 1,648 3,966 3,077 tj,l89 3,140 8,385 
GeorgelOWD ................................... 643 3,119 630 3,H34 1,014 6,75:) 1,415 7,964 
GreeDville ..................................... 4,161> 2,146 0,046 2,870 9,t!37 u,9b'7 10, :)76 6,526 
Borr, ••••••••.•••• """"" •• ,, ..• ,," " .... ,,"" "",," •• " •• " 1,6\16 71j 1,&"15 844 4, J{,a 1,766 4. Hi5 1,936 
KeN a • .• ; .......•........................... 1,2H5 2,421 1,5(;t 3,148 3,W9 6,975 3.2~4 7.494 
LaaJouter ••••••••••••••••••• ,,"" •••••••• " ••••• " 1,330 1,364 1,750 . 1,740 3,3ia6 3,t;tiO 3,1)36 4.013 
x..areD ........................................ \1,200 2,844 2,H07 3,:iK4 4,900 7,9f14 6,:178 1'4.17:1 
~ ..................................... 11,031 1,37t1 2,664 1,~ 4.700 a,:n3 0,001 3,449 

.......................... '" ............. 3,081 1,8li3 3,400 3.417 7,406 1:1, 1~1 7,606 1:1, r,1l1 

~.:::::::::::::::~:::::::::::::::::: 1,&13 1,W6 1,7111 1,:Nl 3,1170 u.046 3,664 1'>,313 
1.711/) 3,!II\4 1.1100 3.731 a • .,lIa 7.IHO 3,641'4 11.1146 
V,U4t1 ,~ ~:~ 

H·tl) r •• oll t. >lltl 6.:11',6 1. """ ................................................................ 
t"J"auu tl,lJlIloI 6 ..... 11 11. H..:J ............................................................ ii, lal 4,' 4.1h1d 

----- - ---

';i .... .s 
og 

! 
0 

38,968 
30,304 
29,127 
37,523 
43,062 

123,489 
24,227 
13,826 
16,243 
33,883 
30,461 
35,039 
22,791 
17,646 
32,706 
12,012 
2O,9Oil 
14,736 
26,406 
16,613 
31,1164 
17,6H.1 
II:I,:~ 
14, ()71\ 
3",070 

.01 
C» 
QO 

~ 

~ 
~. 

~ 
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Uiublaml:::::: ::::::::::::: ::::: ::::::::::: ::: 
Spananburg .................................. 
Sumter .•.•..........•....•................... 
UnloD ......................................... 
Willl~urg ................................. 
York ......................................... 

ToaIa. .................................. 

I, !'/III 
»,16:4 
4,3t17 
1, i:l27 
1,979 
1,412 
2,789 

74,1!Jg 

046 11,1111> 669 
1i,Q36 2,17fi 5,719 
i,OI/') 1>,621 9,365 
4,~ 2.056 6,091 
2,356 2,4:17 2,743 
2,576 1,550 2.!hl9 
~,990 3,0180 3,511 

----
130,;11 110,744 tj(i,9'lj 

4,993 1,500 I 4,64!) 
4,t1811 12.303 4, flOO 
10,~ 5,!l49 11, lld.'i 
4,100 11,359 4,244 
4,rJ66 6,147 4,004 
3,467 6,96~ 3,354 
6,flOl 9,000 7,13t1 I 

170, 8781 279,2.'l4
1 

179,876 : 

J,471 I 11l,f)I)7 
r.,r,9/i 

11.727 
6, 368 1 
7,276 
8,900 I 

I 

295,137 \ 

11,1:107 
34,24& 
32, ltl4 
31,480 
21,966 
21,055 
31,6:W 

9'25,145 

~ 
Z 

< 
!J2 
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t" 
!J2 
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tIo:I 
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EXHmIT E.-Crop8 produced by, and otller 8tati8tic8 concerning, the colored inhabitants of the State.-Cen8U8 of 1875. 

CII ., 
Cotton . .. 

~ci 
.~ ....... CII ~e CII '" 

CII 
0'" fl ""- "" J..!.e: ~P< ~P< ~ . 0 ~;; ~"" Conn ties. 
., ... = . ~ '" o ., ..0- "" 0_ o a; • 

~~ 6 g ... '" P<P< P< "" 0'" d 
., 

'" .. .. p ~U;'i 
0 .. p 

p '" ",= ~t!,g '" 0 ..... "" ..0- ..0 bOo ..0 0 0 ..o~ 
~p sP< S c p s.P .. So 
0'" '" ",.5:"" ",ClIP< '" 0 

Eo< Z Z Z Z 

Abbeville .............................. 26,332 13, 611 ............ 1, 870,346 6,740,69'2 
Aiken................ •.••••.• .... .••••• 25.120 11,392 .••••. ...... 1,670,762 5, 230,526 
Anderson .•..• •••••• .......... .......... 5.481 2,326.. .... .... .. 365, 8:l:l 731 , 666 
Baruwell............................... 20,480 8,570 ...... ...... 1.256, 963 2.:l27,7:l(j 
Beanfort .... ......... ...... ............ 44, t!15 17,109 466,416 770,050 3, tHO, 7~8 
Cbarleston ............................. 41,329 13,171 710,856 619,7604, 702,704 
Che8ter ...... ...... ...... ...... ........ 13,159 6,085 ...... ...... 863,550 1,727,100 
Chesterfield ............................ R,3U:I 3,607 ............ 52'.l, 610 1,04f1,2'.!0 
Clarendon ...... ........ ...... .......... 2,489 1,047 ............ 153,515 460,545 
Colleton ............................... 11,274 1,154 ............ 196,500 478,150 
Darllngtou ................................................................................. . . .. 
Edgl'II1l1d .............................. 45,99'2 23,421 ............ 3,439,760 7,601,000 
:Falrtield ........ .............. ......... 19,0'23 11,416...... ...... 1,652,000 3, ~O, 800 

IGeorgetown ............................ 1,176 2& ............ 4,200 I,MO 
Greenville...... ........................ 6,80:.1 1,901 ............ 276,417 6S9,9:l4 

;HOITJ.... .... .... ...... ...... ...... .... ),34:1 11 ............ 1,470 2,940 
jK8I'Iba,.. .......... ....... ...... ........ 6,OaO 3,962...... ...... ()29,560 1,059,120 
ilAlulMter .......... ...... .... ...... .... tI, ~4:J 4,069...... ...... 6~.l, 695 1,244,810 
Laur.n....... ...................... .... fi,740 2, tl8:i ...... ...... 4:17,000 H7r), 'l00 
Le.la"".............................. 7,:145 2,r,9'J ............ :J61,2r)~ 75:J,!l:J7 

Rice. 

..= '" . 
CII 

~ 
~] 

","" ..0'" o 
... c 0"" .. 0 ., .. ~~ 

..o-p. 

~ 
..oP< 
S CII 
c-Z., Z 

11 I 111 

141 I 1,342 
1, 917 36,755 
2, 183 50, 390 

251 256 
2,990 38,240 

5 I 20 

548 I 11, f!58 

138 I 1,112 

4 1 4fl 
laO 1,200 KarIoi ........ ...... ........ ........... 1~, 4~l 4, tl:l~ ............ OC.9,OIlIl .......... . 

..... boro.... .......... .......... ..... ..1~, :Ilfl 0, fc:11I •• ,......... 1,0,\1, GOO !.!. O>l:l. 200 I ... ..... I .. ...... .. .. re.._~ .................. ,...... ...... :J, ,4r.r. I,ill? ...... .... .. l.!-l:I, II! I() 
I,~I .. "'. . . ........ .. i:J,It>1I - - ,Ttll, 

~ = . 
"" ~~ .. '" "' -..op< 

S 
c 
Z 

CorJ.l. 

)0.453 
12,459 
2 458 
9: 613 

21,311 
19739 

4:94;.\ 
4,261 
1,384 
0,969 

18,562 
6,473 

403 
3,424 

1187 
2,462 
3, 3t!\) 
3, 125 
:1,04:1 
7,1:10 
1i,4'lr) 
J, UI":I 
1, :I'.!l1 

\1:1, a·1I1 

~ . 
c"g 
..00 
... c 
0"" .. 0 '" ... ..oP< 
E,!!l 
i'" 

68,24:J 
142,413 
26, 7GO 
(;:.1,462 

158,6.')7 
271,303 
4),31~ 
37 061 
10: 895 
62,661 

142,460 
59,540 

6,679 
47,79S 
5,77;1 

2'.2, 004 
32,lHl 
2u,CI!I'.l 
26,41!4 
:15,0711 
lID, ~!li, 
10, !.!f~1 
Jr., 1'I1~ 

1Ht1,1117 

CI 
~ o 

"'l .... 
t' 
t' 

~ 
Z 

~ 
!1.1 
Ql 
I:( 
~ 
t' 
t'" 
!1.1 
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· .~ _., ................................................ ............. 
Uicb 1 .. 1111 ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
81)lU'tauburg ........................... 
SUllltllr ................................ 
Union .................................. 
Williamilburg .......................... 
york ................................... 

Totale ............................ 

J, tnl. 
1&, !lO? 

478 
4:1,8:10 
4,2IJ'l 

11,461 
1l,I:!aO 

459,896 

OU'J ........... oo ........ lll(,,610 
8,~J¥ .................... 1, :lUI, "r,o 

1!l7 ................. n,MO 
18,7i»t! ............. 3,141,lM 
2,IIOil .oooo .. oo ...... oo .. 342,!lUO 
2,1lt6 ..... oooooo ...... 4~\2Rll 
2,540 ............ 285,9'l5 

1OO,7!!4 1,177,732 27,153,871 

U17,7Hl ................ 
2,7~,41!j() 10 108 

ao,400 •••••• oo. .. ................ 
6, 2I-!'J, 3:16 964 9,43ij 

6811,600 .. ..... oo •• • oo.oo ....... 

850,678 8lH 8,681 
674,300 . ...... . ............. --------

61,801,479 11,459 176,194 

1,141 
6,6011 

164 
21,704 
1,9ll3 
7,397 
2,850 ---

214,1191 

14, 
64, 

I, 
179, 

Hl, 
64, 
2tt, ---

1,!l03, 

9:W 
o 
,9 
1 

35 
1 
3 

993 

~ 
~ 
G:I 

~ 
t" 
1» 

c;n 
~ .... 
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ExumIT E.-Orop' produced by, and other ,tatilticl concerning, tM colored in1uWitantl, &7c.-Oontinued. 

e'l11 n t i I'~ . 

WheM. 

.., 
f: 
<:) co • 

"" ... ., 
0 ... .... e 4> .• 

'8P-
c 
z 

..6 ., . 
c"" .04> <J 

o...C 0"" .... 0 " .... .0'" 
8~ 
:: " 
Z 

:l'l .. 
" co • ... ~ 
o£ 
.... c .,'" ,=,-
8'" 
CI 
Z 

Rye. 

J:, 
II) • 

c""d 
.o~ 
... c 
o~ 
.... 0 " .... 
.0'" 
E '" cOl 
Z 

1 
.., 
~ 
g . 

"" .... ~ 
o c .. '" 4>_ 
'='", 
13 
c z 

Oats. 

..6 '" . c"" ,=," .... ~ 
0.0 
.. 0 .,,, 
.0'" 
13'" co; 
Z 

Barley. 

:l'l .. 
1il'tl ... ., 
o~ 

~§ 
oOp­
S 
c 
Z 

..6 '" . c"" .o~ 

... c 0"" .... 0 ., .. 

.0'" 
8'" 
~Ol 

Buckwheat. 

., ., .. 
o 
"''tl ... ., 
0..-

i;~ 
.o-
S"" 
c 
Z 

J:, 
II) • 

c'" .o~ 
... c 0"" .... 0 ,," 
.0'" 
Sit.> 
~Ol 

:B .... 
<J 

Hay. 

os • 
... 1$ 
0 ... 
.. c ",os 
.0 .... 
S'" 
c 
z 

.., 
c 
o 
""'-:;j ... ., 
eo 

C .. "" 4> 0 
.0 .. 
S'" c 
Z 

Peaso and beans. 

.., 
~ 
~ . 
... 1$ 
o~ 

~~ 
"SP-
CI 
z 

J:, '" . C"" 
.0'" <J 
... C 0"" .. 0 "' .... .0'" 
8~ 

" '" Z 
__________ _ 1----1--- 1----1--- -1.----1----1 ---1---- '----,----,----,----·-- --,----

.... ·~l~~~ ~~~ :1 
Ahheville .•• ,... .•••• . 1,090 6,677 
Aiken ......••...••... . 2441,789 
Alldor8011 .••.. •.•••.. 501 3,197 
Baruwt)1l .••••. ..•.... 31i 14:1 
Beullfort ....•.•••• "" :l 17 
CIUHltltItoll .••.••.•.••...•.•....•• , •... 

31 1 561 
Cheew ....... .••••. .. 861 4,771 
Cuesttlrliehl ..•• . .••• .. 101 400 
Clarolldou ., .••••••••..••••. . .••••... , .•••••. , .•••••. . 
,Clllleton .. .••••. •.•. .. 100 539 . .•••••..•.•... . 
1!u rliujttoll .••• .••••. . . .••. .... . •.• : .•..•.••.•..••..•.. 
E.lgetlt.ld .••.. •••• •••. tlt!8 5, ti81 .••••.•..••••••. 

991 
78 

139 
!JO 
7 

1,107 
1:l'J 

146 

2,213 
5<11 

7 5,645 
420 

44 I···· ... . , ...... ·l ····· 'l' " 'i2' .................................................................. 
710 
2'7U 
35 

6,426 
640 

2,724 

16, 045 , .•• •••. '1' ...... '1" ..... . 
3,529 . ••••• , .. ••••••..•••••• 

103 
I:S 

570 
!) 

5 

763 

7 

71 

15 
1,900 
1,465 
3,21:'. 

134 
20 

621 

197 
17,451 

JG 
4,2tlO 

14,835 
39,611 

518 
4,981 

9,465 

IFairHeld •. ••.. •••• ••.. 27 J 1,41;14 
10' orgololl'lI .••••..• , ...••••... . ••••.• • •••••• • 1 •••••••• 1 •••••••• 1 ......... , ••••••• ••••• ••••• , •••••••• 

[,62 
138 

17 

5,64:1 
0114 

1,5n 
146 . Oreeu ville .•••..••••.. 21J6 1,729 33 I. 143 

:jUnrry •••.•••• ,. •••. .. ... ...... . •••.• .-. ••.•••• . . ..•.•.. 
. ,Kur.h.. •••• .• • • •• .••• 1.1 61.1 . •• ••• . . . •••• -•.. t lAoollet.er •.•••• ,..... . 3'J 1 I, 4~O •••• , ..•. • ••••••. 
, .... N1ItI •••••• •• •••••• al7 1,710 ..•. " •• . ..•.•••. 

...-In,aoD •••••••••••• :10:1 1 , ~ 1 
~ .... :.=.,:........... . .. 1 tr. II II'J 

~J1_""_~ .. ::.:'.:::::: .... ~ . 
.. !I!!!e.............. lOA --.. ".............. ., 

........ \ ...... ··l········ 1,4" ................. . 
MI4I (10 111.1 
U.. 1. "711 

79 407 I ••• ••••• 1 •••••••• 1 •••••••• 

.••• ••.. , .....•.. 1·· •••••. , ........ , .•.••••. 
8 

110 
9 

I, l!)l 
o 

8(i 
60:1 
2'J 

!l,070 
till 

], flje; 
Zt7 

20 
298 
:J71l 
iii, 
r.t 
r,1/ 

V;l:1 
1/11 
8. 

76 
1,G2d 

········,········,········,········,······i 
2, :1M ..•••••••.••••••• 

co 
4l-i!J •••••• : •••••• •• 3 

~::,:, .••••••••••••••• ••••••• J •••••••. 1 .... ····1·· .... , 
1l,r.M .. I 61'1 . g 1 01 

14:1 •••• ••• • •• •• ••• • ••••• • .••••••• 
.. td ,.. ••••• •••••••• ••••••• • •••••••• •••••••• ••• ••• •• '"11 I 1:.1.1&3 

Ot 
~ 
t.:) 

...:J ..... 

E z 

~ 
III 

~ 
~ 
~ 



643 

"S~~!i!ro 

I~ 
00 0 15 ... 

ct rr5 ..; .. 
f:3 :oQt · I~ .... · .... · : · . · 1= ... · : : · 

§: : : : : 

I~ · · · .. · · · · · , , , · , · · : , · · 
.~ : : : : Ii · · · : -· · , , , · · · , · : · · 
: : ; ; ; · · . · · · · · . · · · , · · . · · , · · . : : , : : 
: : : : · · · · · · · · · · · · · . · · · · : : 

~!i! : Of 

· · · ... · -· · · · · · · · : · : 
; : co: · I: : · · · · · · : : · · 
.......... :80~ 
)!ilat= ...... ~ I~ 
i~::1BS..,~ I~ . 

• · ~C! : · : Ii • · · · · · · · 1..;-· · : · · · 
· 
: :2 · : : I!! · · · · · · · · · · 1 · · · · · · 

= .. ,.. ...... 
l~ I~ ~::: ... $ .-· 

~; ... ~ :". 
~ ... :t'; , 
uS · · 

: : 
: : : : : 
: · · · · · · · : : : · · : : · : 
:!:t : :2." .. ." . :..; 1 . : · oc.= : . ., : = .... = foo 
.!.:3=~ 
'::"-0-..111 ':::"E= ~ 
:::l'ii:;~>-

Digitized by Coogle 



o 
cg 
N 
1l. 
rr 
'< 

CJ o 
·0 

00 
~ 

EXHmIT E.-Orop. produced by, and other .tatistics concerning, the colored inllabitants of the State.-Oell8U8 of 1875-CoDcluded. 
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EXHIBIT E.-Crops produced by, and other statistics concerning, tile colored inhabitant8, &;c.-Continned. 
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EXmDI'l'-F.-Crops p)'oduced by, and otller statistics concerning, tile w!tite inhabitants of the A~tate.-Ccnsu~ of 1875. 
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I'io·k.·" .. ________________ . __________ ./ :1'1.7'" ( ".:100 

J\iflhJu,lul ....... ......... ............. _ ... _._ ....... I I;). C;;ll) 7. f"'~ 
S"ono" ... ""g ___________ .•. ___ a , ••••• : 7!1.767 lltl.;IHlJ 
I'hlmtor •••. """ , .•••. """ ...... ' 411.4,.9 HI. 4:1-1 
11n ion .. __ .. __ .... •••• •••• •• •••• .. .. i'l.44:1 I :14.547 
Williamsburg .... ...... ...... ...... 2:1,11·11 I 6,010 
York _ ............. , .............. ' t-!l'l.:1f)7 I :17,467 

1

_-1--
Tot.als.. .... ................ .. I, f.:.lO, 54ti I H'lI,41:J 

___ - - ___ __ _. __ . I .______ ! 

· .... · ...... · .. -1 1.n~H) .... ur-~ I 3.:t!l7,7'Ul I· .. ··· ··r·· ...... · ...... i 1,...·.7"" ~~1 a'-'u 
......... ........ 1, U7H. M~fi I ~. U4t •• fif,~ r, ~:, 7 1,14 74" !j:,_ 
.......... 4.Ml~.fi\!1 I V,7!Il,101 ....... ........ 3":~'1 471'9:~ 
.o..... ........... 5,030, .,71) 10, OfH, :lr)~ I 42'J 41 ~3H ~~t V51 ~17: rl~n 
•••• ...... 6, 4a9, r.\!'.! I Ill, 1.119, ()44 I ....... I..... .... 30,6:11 ;IW, !J'J" 
""" .... : I,Or>4j,(i06 I 2,lI:1,'l12 I flU:'j 8.1ll9 tr.,'l:!/,! 1~,444 
.......... 1 i),HflO,7llf' l 11,:17:1,910 I •••••• · ...... •••• :l7,7U1 44!1.!'''';! 

644,2;.7 !U2. 7S;), i.H71 2-JO,' 9t'!7. G!.kl I :10, M4 1'7:l0, 9;i2 7:1O.9U:I --7 ~[,(), :l41'! 
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EXHIBIT F.-Orops produced by, atld othe-r statistics concerning, the white inhabitants ojtT,e State, &c.-Contiuned. 

1 _ _ ~heat. Rye. Oats. llarley. !lluekwbeat. __ _ H~ Pease arid bean~ 
:J ..c. ~ ..c gj ..c. gj ..c. ~ ..c. gj ~ ~ ..c. 
.... tIl_ '"' aD..... CEI_.... tG_ .... ct)"'CI.... 0 " ~_ 
CJ C -i00i Co) =' -.... Co) C -..., Q C .. Co) C c ~.. CJ :::z ..... 

Counties. 011· ..08 ..s . ..08 ..s . ..08 01 • ..o~ ..s . ..o8..s.,; 1l ..s . ..08 
...1l ... = ... 1l ... c ... 'i ... = "'il ... = ... 1l ... c .... ~ .... 0., ... 1l .... = 
o~ O"CI o~ o~ o~ 0'0 o~ 0'0 o~ o~ o~ c 0_ O"CI 
.... g .... 0 .... = .... 0 .... ~ '"'2 ..,.c -..:2 .... 5:1 .... e ... g .... '2 ,..c .... e 
Jl-a, Jl ~ Jli Jl ~ Jl-a Jl &:>. Jl-a, Jl &:>. ;-a, Jl &:>. Jl-a Jl [ Jli Jl &:>. 
a Ei.!l 8 C.!l 8 e.!l 6 8.!l 8 6~ 8 Ei Ei E.!l 
~ ~4) ~ ~4) ~ ~4) ~ ~4) ~ ~4) i ~ i I ~" 

Abboville ...... ........... \ 
Aiken .......... .......... . 
Anderson ....... .... __ .... . 
llarnwell ....... .......... . 
Beaufort ...... __ ........ . . 
Uht~rle8ton .... .. ......... . 

7,229 
:I 697 11: 120 

320 
5 

Chester ........ ........... 1 4,994 
Chesterfield .... .. .... .... . 1,616 
Clarendon...... ...... .... . 1 
Colleton ........ . ................ .. 
Darlington .... .. ....... " . 
Jo:uj;efield ...... .. ..... __ ... 6,068 
~'atrllold .... .... .......... 1,547 
Georgetown ... .. ................. . 
Greenvillo...... .... ....... 7,840 
Horry .......... ................. . 
l\urllhtlW ...... .. .... ...... 1118 
J .lw('lI"lllT ...... ...... .... . 2,111',2 
J,III1f11I111 ...... .......... . 1 5.700 
I.""illj(tnn ...... ... ...... II, t!6H 
",,,1" 11... .... .. ......... . :104 

.Alltlhornll"h .. .. .. ........ 406 
Nllwl"'rry .... .. .......... 4,7117 
• 'CQIH·tt........ . .... ....... ~.;"'11. 
OI·ull~rlJllr" __ " , " ..... . .. r"'l 

49,519 
18,751 
H'.!,4tiO 
1, f>GO 

12 

2'J,I00 
6837 
'25 

2,786 

------ - --- -- ---I - --1 - ---- ------
62 289 9,521 75,885 177 1,059 , .••• ..1 .. .... ...... ........ 161 2G:I 

212 1,298 907 6,875 .. .... ...... 91 stl 40,434 
18 87 5,256 35,308 3:1 4!kl...... ...... 4 il 336 1,261 

213 tl77 1,204 tl,7W ........ ...... ...... ...... 10,031 HI,a74 
45 

2"J 
70 

251 446 3,378 .... .... ...... ........... 1,1413 9,090 

89 
157 

[>8 
6,504 
2,515 

2:l7 

670 .............. . ..... ...... 294 I):\[. 2,0"4
1 

71,2:17 
43,3t .. .! 7 85 . ..... ...... 1:1 ~o 2,169 7.4:12 
1:1, 885 .. .... ........ ...... ...... II 3tl :l'lf, 2"2, 1~0 
2, !roO ...... ...... ...... 2 160 

14. fm ...... ...... ...... 2.440 !l4!1 13,419 
...... O' ............................ ......................... '" ........ .................... .. ..................... \ .......... . 

• 85,384 45 120 14.532 !1l,O'J3 tl 210 , ............ 1 2 4 6:10 tl,r.r.2 
9,6/')5 2 10 2,826 19,120 2 \!O I ............ I...... III 1,0'21 2, !)H!I 

.......... .. ........................ .............. !...... ...... ...... :\2 I"!I() 
45,4MY 559 2,344 2,!Y0J5 18, :179 I 27 16:1 1 3 17 I··.... 10:1,579 

.......... 2".! f,s 17 140 .............. i ............ ,...... :10 4H."l 
80<1 :J4j 136 298 2,214 I . ............. 1 ............ I...... :12 :lH2 

12 il32 20 Ij;I 4,~)oj 2!'),:145 I .............. , · .... • ..... 1 15 241:1 :100 2,f~4 
35' 641'! 17 76)oj 396 61l 711:! I 106 1,96:1' ...... ...... ...... 1:IH 2firl 
~:lil{1 :IH I~.! 3:!I!Hi :m:ml., 1 1[, I ............ 1 ~ 1~ 10.ti4H I!l,:l()~ 
.. '\ "60 U'I" 4 1"" 4" "'6 1 I H I., I 311 ~. 1'41 \! ,. 7~ ~ ' . ~ uv .. . .. )) .... · ·1· ...... · ' · .. ·.. ...... . I"' , .... .. , . ' I 1 fll! 'II ~) C' . ... n 
V. fl12 :I!'I 1U!l 3. m IIf., !lIlt I " .. . ' 1" .. " • .-' ....... ''''-;' ' , • I ;H' 'I',lO 4 'l""'1 

3O.IHN', 1~1 1.012 tl,:Hrl 117.41.11 U:l I 1.1h.l , .1 .1:; 4~ r,:\ I 'r,1 ':1':1 
III.r,1II 4:1"', l.r,71 1,:l\IlI I 7,,",hr, ............. i 1 '-!II \/;1:1 \>:Ir. :I'.l",nr • 
4.4"7 III I , \/·1'1 7"'1 7. -lin .. .. .. , ...... . 

e,,-. 
e,,-. 
o 

"'l -t" 
t" 
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1·lek ......................... 1 :1.11111 lJ4,700 2tl8 1.091 1.217 li,llf>tJ Il' 70 .••••• ' .••••....•.. 1.1r.2 40 9!l\ 
Uiohlllllll •••.•••••• '" •••••• loI40 I 111, l.!.,)11 •••••••• •••• •••• 1'l14 11,705 60 I 1100 •• '" ••• "'1 ~ HJ 4:l 2 ~ 
8plntl\ubnrg .••••• .••••... 8,7115 I ur;,7lo10 18/i 524 5,2\0 26,000 ll'l I ~8:l ...... 1...... 159 2'16 4' 241 
Sumter •.....••• •.•• ..•••. [iH \ 3Ul 26 256 1,Oi3 H,3U6 1 I 100 ............ 1 .............. I! 520 17'448 
Union ........... ;. . ..... .. 3, 700 ~l, 007 2:1 16,', 3,070 20,:J07 :J 25 ...... 1...... 'l1 40 ' 119 '972 
Williamsburg ............. 1:, 03 10 50 !IaIl 2,rllili ...... 1.. ...... ...... ...... ...... ........ 7& 8,2!J'l 
YOl,k ...................... 7,249 I 31:1,206 10 52 5,519 3~,994 1 I 6 •••••• 1 ...... : .............. 1 ............... . 

Totuls ..••••..••..... ~i6:l6~ 2,"916l2,O75 "97.465 725,035I646"i"6,2W -7-156"1819 6.4:il36."004 ~ 
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EXHIBIT F.-Orops produced by, and other statistics concerlling, t/te white inhabitants of the State, &c.-Continued. 

rD • • , , '1l IJ'J 

f .;]B .;]8 f og 
~ . .E~. $"= ~. g-ci 
'0] tt-t.;J'" .... ~ ~i: ~~ = c"C. O~. C = 
t,! t ..... 1i t ~-g t,! t'5 .,; 

.r:J ~ ,t:i~... .r:J~... .r:J ~ .r:J!::. !I! 
S S.!! cs S.!! :0 8 8'" C 
." :0 al'O :0 ... "::1 c \ = 0 

:z; I :z; :z; :z; Z I ~ --- ,- -~---,'---' -,--- i 
Ahbeville ...... ..... 328 ........ 1 28,473 .... :.1.... .... 2,1[>6 
Aiken.... ...... ..... 1,31~ 1,339 I 71,409 ...... I.... .... 1.395 
ADdcr~ou............ 2!J5 2,371 I 76,222 11 1 1,793 2,055 
Barn well... .. ....... 443 300 33,208 1 30 1,612 
Beaufort ............ 453 2,989 36,81!1 ...... .... .... 973 
Charlcston ...... .... 1, 136 46,59'.l 36,525 ...... I.... .... 1, &J9 
Chester ............. 240 2,979 10,008 .............. 1, 154 
Chesterfield ......... ~ 11 105,621 ...... I.... .... 838 
Clarendon.... . .. .. .. 22'J 20, 700 ......... ..... 246 
Colleton ...... .... .. . 6:.!3 5, 174 45,506 .. .... .... .... 7:n 
DarlinJtton ...... .... ........ ........ ............ .. ................. .. 
Edgefield ........... 1 676 'I 3, 034 48, 660 r, 2, SiO 2, 176 
Fairfield ............ IH.9 lIol9 I 9.033 ... ... ........ 776 
Georptown ......... 113 7~ I 4,858 ...... ........ 209 
Greenville........... 70] I 2,21',3! 5~, 798 ...... I 4(1i! I 1,087 

1, r...:1 ~ 1,4:13! 00. 6~!I! ~,2, 645 IiIO I 
14~ .. •• .... fI,737 , ...... , .. • .. • .. 1 147 I 
14:1· 1,6O'J, 11, 4~ i 10. 1, :11;2 ~.JU I 
1)[,:1 1 5,1041':1: !.!'J, ~r,l ....... 1, 41i:1 
7fJI:I ; 714' :IIi. :lrlfl ; 1 ~10 1, :I~'" 

t.Wil! !.I.MI r,O.IClr, :...... l.r'!'1 
Iii -1M;. :"'. 0:11 :...... "'Mil 

·11:1 I ~.""" lll. 41l'oI '...... 1.2117 
:I-U ll. '1'111 :1"'.1I7ll , 1 r •• u I I. 11111 1 

I, '''If :mr. n.:I'" I...... 1 ..... 11 

Counties. 

I '--

Potatoes. Tobacco. 

--------

,. III 

Livo Btock. I -; og 
,t:i ." 

----- - --- ------ --- III 0 • 

.,; log. ~~ 

... gal III 

;I 2 &.'; ... a 
III • H a 0 

- ~ Q ... ~ .~ ~ , 0 ~ 

~ g ~ ~~ ~§ 
~ Jl ;;;i ~ 8 $~ $..= 
c; oS :g :l .- 8 a 
::;I ::i ~ ;J ~ i :;; ----I I ,-

2,4461 5,067 I 978 4,334 10,286 I 140,385 10,068 
1.844 4,6a4 1 1,168 2, 1i06 16,524 47,704' 19.691 
1.771 4,141i I 8()tJ 7,375 I' 11,045 I 162,442

1 

15,408 
1,774 2.990 2fi4 1.789 13,4f,O ' 2'.!, tlfi4 1,864 

966 I 4,214 1 120 • 2,495 8,223 1 11,946 1,804 
I,4!i0 I 4.111: 404 2,408 I 5, a73 1 4,608 I If,l 
1,~4, 2.43:\ I 3fi J,326 1 4,967 117,3!14 5,776 

516 I 2,400 1,040 3,9'.l7 9, :':;7 64.3:l!i 1,281 
418 806 1 21 46 3,047 ' 8,37:1 70r. 
593 I 4,015 I 319 3,354 I 8.3f17 1 6,164 5,333 

........ 1 ....................................................... .. 

2,41~ I 4,804' 4~ 5.97~ I 1.1,911;! 11:J,~~21 9,5~ 
1.71a 1 1,006, lli9 1. ~4;1 I :I.2'.l7 6,6:J6 I,IO;} 

212 1 903 :113 M:J 1,2·17 • 270 10 
1.1;;)2 1 3, H:l!i I 7!1i, ! ri.777 1 l!1,509 148.2'.l8 14,820 

2 .. 7 I 2.4,,9' 1, :Iflr, r" Utl7 IM,04!' 2. 27~ I 1:1, 1:!46 
Hr, 1 4:1-1' \1:1 I 42:; 1.414 ! 11.2r11 ' 100 
~M7 I 2,090 31.i!.l I 3.1il:l· II. !!II 4"'.1.147 I 3.r,~8 

2.2:1:.! :1,415 I'!tl , :i,~I:1 7.21i4 I 1II2.0!17 :J.()!~) 
1.1:W; ~,tI:la· :12·-11 4,14:,1 t7,14~ 1O.i'!:1~1 ~.~III 
1. :!'Jl :1,6\:1. 1.1'.!fI :1.7:ill 11M. :lOti II'!, ~(l.I. ,'.I~~ 

V:I:I I 1.l.!Ii4. Uti I fIIi:! H. ·II~J 11, ~,..t7 1 1."';;'; 
1 r,r.'11 2117', 4111 1I.'lflH I. !I.711f, -17".\0 l~'~IO~ 
'r,.':\ I OJ' ,,,,,'\ \1:111 fl. !.III'" II, r~11 V"'. !.IiU """j 

I,lJ;.:1 a:~7H lUI :t.U'J'" IH,WJU lU.:"1' I 7 •••• 

01 
C7I 
t.:I 

j 
t" 
t" 
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I ~':I\""'" ........ ..... ~ :;::~' ~~;~' ~~II;~'.! I ~ I 'J,017: 1,'J:l:'"l I 7.17 I '2,~~f) {in'.? I ;',171 I 1l.'JUI: 7!',HU7'!f 'lfi:~ 
HII hhll"\.. . ••.• .••• ...1.1 "w,1 l~, ,II'; .............. 1 rlM!1 1 fl4ll ~,lli'll :l711 I I, I·m :I 4:lli 7 ,IHI; ] , 4'II'! 
SllIlrtnublll,jt ........ \ t:!:\.1, 7,0:10 I H:I,UKI' 3:41 4,!J4(: 1 'l,rI24I 2,:147 :I,:ml '~';I'! I to,liO:1 1~,'rI14' l!li~Jl l""~'" 
I:! t ,'t"\' 41' f'" ' 1 1 1 00' 97 t '0') , "", ",,,., ,.,In!"\lr .... ......... . II, , •••• :.. I, ),,-< ," .... I .. • .. • .. 1 • ,I 2, Ow 271'! HIli '7,9:,7 4, i!46 I, :1;,2 
tT"'c~II...... ......... 2~7 4,to!,~ I 12,4\10 I ...... '........ 1,519 i 2,14!l :1,986 ~~ii I 3,:ml M,H·I;I 1211,1)(17 2:1,47;) 
Wi1hI\IIIHbnt'~ ...... -1 640 ........ I 4li,tkQ I· ............ ,1 770 I :12:1 2,6:1~ !'l:l7 I 4,!j1l\ lI,O:«i 23,680 :IJO 
yurk ................ 1 :{~O I 8;)0 I :n,504 ...... ; ........ 1 l,t-!B4 2,r.09 4,11!ti l:H r.,:I!l:\ 10,4~'2 IHf(,U:l'l l,!)OO 

Totals ........ 117.';.0;\ !l9,7tili I l,2U6,i:n '--;;-:w,641 1 :IH,6:ltl ll :I!I, 76!1 1 93,0134 M,!)tll 11'07,'701 I 301,649 1 1,90:J,4134 204,'l'l2 
i ~~ .. ~I __ I 1 __ ._I __ ~ __ ~. ____ . ________ ' _ ' 

8 ... 
t" 
t" 
Is: 
"" Z 

-< 
?= 
r:T> 

~ 
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~ 

01 
01 
C/o) 



EXHIBIT F.-Crop8 produced by, and other 8tatistic8 concerning, the tchite inhab'itants of the State, wc.-Ooncluded. 01 
01 
.;:.. 

-- .--~-.----.... .... ... .... .... , '00 .... .... ~ ~c/, ~ = ;.. 0 0 0 0 0= 0 0 .. c:1_ '" '" III .. 8 os 01'" .. .~ ~ .. III III '" ~8 
", '" . .CI bI:.5 

4l .... 
~. ~. ":l § .. c:1 8 'i c'" ~cD 

... 01 . '0-0 ~~ §i ::: . =" 0" .... . o~ .CI 1:4:'" ::: ., _Ol ,,-= =-= .... '" _os 0::: = ~.; = lIIal 8.8 0"'" c;~ "'~ 
-::I 'i3'= s..g OelQ ~~cP 0:- 0 ... 0 

~ CIS ~~ "' .... 
.1:>01 1:4:", -'- os- 4>~ §" -a ::: i . .... 8 

_ .. 
.. Ol _CII 

Couutill8. .... ~ .... ~~ = CIIQ oS'- 1113 .!II", ... .., 
o~ 

...... .... - .... '" ....~'" 0::: ..... - ::: .... = .... . Ej 
.. ::I ....... 0", 00 0::: o=~ oog S 0'" .... -g CII~ 0'" 0 ",,':; "".~ = .... os. OoS =f N 

.... 111 .... 104 .. > .. Clla "CII~ .. '" 0 .. 0.= ~ t= '" ., .8.a "' ... '" ... 4l«> "' .. Sif' '" '" .1:>,8 .:> .I:> .8:g .. .1:>= .1:> . -" '" ",Q= '" '" .1:>'" 
8 S e 8 8C11C11 eClloS 8 s ... " :s"'''' " :s e 

" " :s :s ClQI:C :sQ- :s _ 
Z Ii lias d Ii CI 

Z Z Z Z Z Z Z > > > > z ..., 
------~ - -- , 

-~ --_ . . --- - ---- .... 
I -$~: 805/ 

t" 
Ahbeville . ... .. .. :136 8,19;) 399 315 ...... 2d. 1 ·•• .. • .. 50· 1 $;)9,630 $55,3(lo2 i $1, r,sf) 1,764 t" 

Aik e u . .......... . 66i 2 7,070 171 553 346 7,139 2,6d4 63,:139 1,281 1,8801 tiC 
AnuenlOn . ....... . 1,4t!2 20 11,184 5'l7 2,642 I 9.394 80,847 106,701 7 2,946 ~ ............ -. _ ... . -.- ... Z 
Blll'llwell ....... . 378 1,004 2,890 11,326 .......... . -............ 1,2e1 100,598 49,421 20 2,O55! 
Beaufort ..... .. .. 212 4 3,tl70 131:1 12,270 16,360 2'<1,186 160,36:1 273 1()2,~43 24,4fl8 3,313 2,9'<13 <l 
Charleston ....... 2'J 3,350 94 61 52,354 :~7,802 1,049 ~, 713 118,715 }[,5.6G8 12,826 ?l 
Chester .......... 554 3,330 117 ............. .... _ .......... 11,781; 72,2>39 ~,669 325 3,214 IZl 
Chesterfield .••.• . 112 5,449 315 :10 66 23,175 198, 120 I,O'J2 28,856 88,097 ............ - 1,490 a:: 
Clarendon .•••••. . fl9 ......... 80 296 20,600 241,200 _ ............ 29,864 18,761 . .......... .. 1,564 ~ CollatoD .......... 1,483 1,970 2,589 1,681 HI, 000 27,950 3.425 15,473 15,}(\0 ......... -.- 540 

0 Darlington ....... 
t" 

",. .. .. ........ ........ . ..... •••••• .. .. 0 .............. .......... . ...... ......... ~ 
'" Edgefield ......... 545 15,087 16.') 1,000 595 1,8IlO 2,044 !.I,71-f1 46,301 31,40~ 1,670 3,0031 N· 
CD Fairfield ......... 14 7 280 200 721 17,855 1,367 545 531 0. ... ......... .......... .......... ....... . ..... 
IT Oeorgetown .... .. 1 taO 41 .......... 43,657 :J6:1,335 41 H, 0'~1 455 100 24 '< 

CJ Grcllllvillo ...... .. 1,0t*l 9,493 260 3,416 ......... ..... ...... 2,2[,1 53,644 10~, 144 I 5,396 1, 2031 
lIurry .. .. ..... ... tjO:J 8,347 1,006 200 502 .. ~'. ~::.I, .. ~~~:~~:.: ..... :~~. I 42,Ii23 69,72:1 ...... , .. :'17[, 

0 KaI'llIJllw ...... .. M 8If6 70 4, !If"l 7,lll7 I ......... 493 
0 ,LIIIII'liNler . , .. .... :\Ii:1 1,9011 49 7f,4 ..... .... ............. 1. IftO . tr" 7()~i 21i, 711 ........ Hfo!I 

OQ :I.llIIlI.·"H .. .. ...... 7~ 10,470 If.i 115 ......... . .. , ........... 12, :\lJ1:! I (;2, ,;r,r. flO, 471) I I,I\.tO 1, !165 - 3,4W I 1, I~.!4 ~,6~t 
~ T.~xltiIlWII .. ...... ftl'll) 6,_ 1M 1, 177 2,1100 :\11,000 411.74:1 I .a:\.40:1 

)\111111111 .......... , 4f,\) 1,4. 1, !j'.ld HI) 16,41/(', 2W,71'4 7,1i:l6 i 7Ii,!I!H I 111", tJlI(I I .... • .... ~,536 

M'lfll .. ,rnllgh ...... ?l 411/', 140 4,1100 .... :~~'. ~:~~.I lHlu I 4'l,I~.lr, . 1111, ?r,o,! ......... \ 1, IjIO 

'l1l.W'l1 :I'J.7.1:1 \10:1 I, II/f, 
ZOhlwhN,y .. ,." •• 1M 7~ aw ..,4:t ........ 0. 

\1. Hl4 ' r.'.!. rtf;"'" , :hW J, ~r):' 
(,7.1 ,eI:I .~: ~ I'"'' i,: ~,oi}-I .•• ,~: ti.t".i.· I 

nrotl I ~~: ~:I~ I 4. 7V-~ 
:1:1\' 

.... .,Ii,. uur, :.ztr,J 7. 'Jur • :tr., .... :,;, el, O~1'i 
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Uiob)"ud. ~ _ _ ~ ....... 
1S!, .. rt .. L uurg ...•. 
Sumter .•••••••••. 
Unioll •.•••••••••• 
Williamsburg •••. 
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EXIlIBIT G.-Aggregate oj crops produced, and other statistics.-Oenslls oj 1875-Continued. 

... 
Potatoes. Tobacco. Live stock. I 0 

'" '0 '" . '" '" . .ao '" <Xl ai ::> '" '" ~'O ... '0 0'0 ... '" '" 00'" ... '" . '" ::i :::.'" <J ,c", ::>:::. '" '" 1'>'0 00 '" '-s ~ . "'I'> .:> ~ e • .., ::"" 'Oi '0 o ., ~ 

~ 
~ 

..... ., ':>0 ... ., :::.'" .., '" 0'" c .... ... C-'"' I'> <l to ... ~ ... 0 ... :::. ""~-O ... 0 .... '0 0 ., ~ ., . Q,')<D~ ., as ., '" ' ai ~ '" " "," 

.:>~ .:>.c .:> <J .:>~ ,a ... '" 00 ..=, ;Q C- ol .:>1'> 
5"" S.:!? ;~.5 2:::' SA 00 ... ., " 

_,a ... :; '" ... 
'" := 

::> - ... :: " 0 
~ 

0 
.::l :: " z Z~ z ~ z ~ ::s ;:; en en Z 

--- ---
. ................. 34,033 2,944 3,409 ~,114 1,439 4,471 15, 581 188,34fi 

1,8:16 10:1,716 1 9U 1,958 2,475 6, U)4 1,518 2,9dO 24.1&l 60,071 
:l,4U6 80,20d 11 1,79:3 2,306 1,99:! 5,0".25 H4G 7,595 1:3,037 Hi\I,lG!1 

300 &l,1I9 2 50 1,908 2,093 3,fi13 :l;;4 1,91 :1 W,27G 26,051 
3,053 47,920 1,991 1,439 6,673 !l08 2,5t6 14,451 12,9i2 

64,2.19 10!J,8:m 3,244 2,525 6, l56 lifi7 ~, f,75 9,6:!1 5,837 
3,190 10,711 1,433 2,243 3,108 tiS • 1, -412 5,974 14:1,794 

11 1:I1,9d3 974 631 l!,7d5 l,&O:! 4,097 11,268 74,972 
............ 2:!,G44 285 474 861 4l "46 3,272 8,867 

5,707 70,29".2 1,O~9 !:l05 &,O9!l 602 3,700 14,729 7,971 
.......... ........ ......................... .. .. .. .. ~ .......... .......... -. - ......... ......... ...... 

a, 5--9 64, or>4 5 2,550 2,951 :l,410 6,4'29 712 6,10H 12,670 141',007 
11:<1.) la,25-'i !J4t:1 2,212 2,7:.!9 a2:! 2,028 4,067 5,ti:Ui 

1,119 7,304 308 23:~ 1,269 (j!J0 54;} 1,708 :11)) 
!.l, :,W:I [17,200 414 2,1:16 1,72::1 4,12!) 87:1 5,8~:; 20,3M Hi7,770 
1,1:1:1 101,77'l Z7 2,766 r.:~.j 2!l2 2,615 l,(J.H 5,!:!53 19,7 14 2, :340 

22;) !.lCO Gr>8 :107 431 1,724 !I,71l:! 
1Ii l,8:17 ono 1,101 2,746 ['71 3, :kl(i 7, (j7l1 au, ()!17 

1, (iOa 2,4;1l :1, t'Ol !JI :1,213 7,84U 177, :117 ............ 
410 ,1, lHli ttl,2:1:! W, <lnr) 210 I, 12:1 1,:.IIi!J '.l.~4 

1, it;:' 1,:IIJ:l :1,1171 1,71tl at 7 t7 21,10:) til, !.!~u 

I, lUI I,I'.!!I I, HIli '.,!t!tI 1~12 10,11;,-:- Pl,O'17 

1. r, .. ~ :.!,1I1l1:! :1, Ir, ... 111:1 ~,:I:I;I H, :117 711,:1,"," 
ll-.., I ... .!~, 

';7:1 ~.t:~~ I 1. It.l;t n.·!~ • \U "a,,~ 

'Itkl r.\t!;p tI.ll:l1 t.:;',. '7 ~ •. lUll 

.... 
0 
., 
]45 
::'0 
o~ :::.-

'" .... 1-> 
0'" 

::> ... c 
~.c 
a 
" Z 

10,575 
31,150 
16,3!;2 
2,172 
2,254 

600 
6,272 
1, :105 

70& 
5,9~3 

.. ............ ...... 
10,320 
J,lOfi 

44 
15,025 
v, u·~tI 

1(10 
4,17:1 
a,uar. 
7, fi!lf. 
(.,Hftl 
1 ,~Hr) 
1,:1,.0" 

\!t., i,~ '''' 
t :,tU 

01 
C':l 
o 

.., .... 
to< 
to< 
If!:: 
I»-
Z 

< 
!l2 
rTJ 
If!:: 

~ 
to< 
!l2 



111'''1'1111 ••••••• 

Itil'hlnud .•••• 
SI,artanburg ... 
SUlIIttlr •••••••. 

~ Union ....•.••. 
• W i1li31Uliburg. 
~ York ..•..••... .... 

"'1.' 
4 iii 
!J77 

1,&1'10 
240 
111'!7 
34:1 

t'l 

I 
Totalll ..•.. 1 :l9, ~ 

o 
cg: 
N· 

~ 
IT 
'< 

CJ 
o 
~ -rv 

,lUll 

7~"'. 
7, ~1:l9 

&0 
4, ":18 

... oo ............. 

850 

1:.l'J,461 

aIIIU·, H lI,~),J 

~i,r~O .oo ....... ....... ........ 
7:l.9U:J 37 fi,M4 
79,!J76 ...... ........ ...... 
1:1, ori, ...... ................ 
ti5,OO6 :::::: I:::: :::: 33.021 -----

1, 56.'3. 63:J 1091lB,476 

1,2&1 711U 'l, :I!)I:I GOO 
Mtill l,O:n 3,01:19 671:1 

2,7tS4 !l,600 6,668 I!OO 
1.8'.14 I. Dt!7 3.391 770 
1,1i22 2.290 4,293 256 
1 034 665 3,316 1,419 
2:0'J6 2,650 4,413 194 

--------
49,069 50,013 1113,337 22,346 

r"II'4? II, r.r.7 
1, :lUf, »,10:1 

10,761 17.857 
1,111) 14,007 
3,:178 9,276 
4,937 15,12'" 
6,545 11,094 

111,557 379,834 

Afl, .Hl7 
HI,773 

221,693 
7,689 

134,~t2 
!l8,O30 

200,177 ----
2,223,422 

!),m:1 
I, tIC':l 

16,00ll 
1,:397 

23,850 
3U] 

1,900 
---

2'l4,677 

~ .... 
~ 
~ 
Z 

<l 
rn 

! 
t" 
t" 
rn 

g: .... 



r 

o 
<is. 

'" N· 

~ 
.!?" 

CJ o 
~ -rv 

Conn tieR. 

EXHIBIT G.-Aggregate of C1'Op8 produced, and othcr 8tatistics.-OenSU8 of 1875-CoDchlded. 
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SOUTH CAROLINA, 
OjJice Secretar!l of State: 

I, H. E. Hayne, secretary of state, do hereby certir.r that the fore­
going report contains a true statement of the oenSU8 of the State of 
South Oarolina, as made in the yea.r 1875, and that the same is correct. 

Giveu under my hand and the seal of the State at Columbia this 6th 
day of April, 1877, and tbe 10Ist year of Amerioa.n Independt>nce. 

rSEAL.] H. E. BAYNE, 
. &cretar!l of 8t.te. 

No.ll. 

CO~TESTANT IN REBUTTAL. 

No. I.-EDGEFIELD COUNTY. 

~Yotice to t.ake depositions in Edg6Jil:ld Couty. 

STA1'E OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Edgefield Count!l: 

ROBERT SMALLS, Esq.: 
Yon are hereby notified that I ,vill examine t.he following-namoo 

witnesses, all of whom reside in Edgefield Connty, relative to and in 
rebuttal of the evidence procluoed by you to support your answer to my 
notice to you that I would oontest your right to a seat in the Congreaa 
of the United States, to which you olaim to have been elected at tbe 
November election of 1876, for the fifth Congressional district of tbe 
State of South Carolina, before C. L. B. Marsh, esq., intendant in and 
for the village of Edgefield, State of Sonth Carolina, at Edgefield Court­
House, in the conrt·house building. in said connty of Edgefield, of thf 
said State on tbe 9th, 10th, 11th, 12th, 13th, 14th, 16th, 17th, and lS~ 
days of April inolusive, or so mnch thereof as may be neceasary for the 
examination of said witneslles, to wit: 

Author Glover. W. T. Gary, James Cobb, William B. Pf>nn, John C. 
Sheppard, Francis Ryan, D. R. })urisoe,James Richanlson, T. J. Adams., 
John C. Swearingen, D. H. Tompkins, George Haltiwanger, Frank V. 
Uooper, G. H. Brooks, John R. Watson, Samuel Oartledge, A. D. Bates, 
J. T. Gaston, Dr. H. A. Sbaw, Joseph Meriweather, Dionysins Hancock, 
James M. Lanham, B. R. Tillman, James Coleman, Thomas Jones, Jolt_ 
Gibson, Abraham Jones, B. P. Covar, Pickens Delaoght~r, John Briggs. 
John Cheatham, George Sheppard. 

Respectfully, &c., 
G. D. TILL\(AY, 

Per B. W. BETTIS, JR., aad 
L. CHARLTON, 

Attorney,for ('~. 

Ser,-ile of the above notice accepted 4th April, 1877. 
GEO. W. HOLLAND, 

Attonte,r pro CoaUlttt. 
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TILLMAN VB. SMALLS. 567 

In the matter of the contest of G. D. Tillman against Robert Smalls. 

STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Edgeji8ld Oounty: 

To Author Glover, W. T. Gary, James Cobb, William n. Penu, John 
O. Sbeppard, Francis Ryan, D. R. Durisoo, James Richardson, T. J. 
Adams, John C. Swearingen, D. H. Tompkins, George Haltiwanger, 
Frank V. Cooper, G. H. Brooks, John B. Watson, Samuel Cartledge, 
A. D. Bates, J. T. Gaston, Dr. H. A. Shaw, Joseph Meriweather, 
Dionysius Hancock, James .M. Lanham, B. R. Tillman, James Cole­
man, Thomas Jones, John Gibsou, Abraham Jones, B. P. Covar, 
Pickeus Delaughter, John Briggs, John Cheatham, Thomas, Jones: 
Yon and each of you are hereby summoned to appear before me at 

Edgeliehl Court·House, in said county and State, on the 9th, 10th, 11th, 
12th, 13th, 14th, 16th, 17th, 18th days of April, A. D. 1875, at eight 
o'clock, to be then and there examined uuder oath by me respectiug the 
contest by G. D. Tillman of the right of Robert Smalls to a seat in the 
Congress of the United States. You will uot fail herein under the 
penalty of twenty dollars each. 

Given under my hand aud official seal this 3d day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 
STATE OP SoUl'H OAROLINA., 

Edgefield Oounty: 
I, C_ S. B. Marsh, intendant of the town of Edgeftelrl, of Edgefield 

Connty, of the State of South Oarolina, do hereby certify that the an­
np..xed depositions of D. R. Dnrisoe, J. C. Sheppard, T. J. Adam!.', W. H. 
Brnnson, Author Glover, John C. Swearingen, D. H. 'fompkins, G. H. 
Brooks, J. R. WAtson, Samuel Oartledge, J. T. Gaston, Joseph Meri­
wether, Thomas Jones, Abraham Jones, B. P. Covar, Pickens Delaugh­
ter, John Briggs, J. T. Oheatham, George Sheppard, were taken on the 
9th, 10th, 11th, 12th, 13th, Utb, and 16th days of April, 1877, pursnant 
and in all things conformable to the attached notice, between the 
hours of 8 a. m. and 6 p. m. of said days, and that contestant was pres· 
ent himself at the examination, and that contestee was present by 
oounsel; and that the said witnesses, whose depositions are hereunto 
attached aud whose names are contained in said notice, were by me 
first duly sworn according to law to tell the truth and nothing bu~ the 
troth touching the matter in controversy between the parties, and their 
examination and testimony, together with the questions propollnded to 
them by the parties, and reduced to writing by me, aDd in my presence 
and in the presence of the attorney for contestaut. That is all, except 
the witnesses, and after being carefully read over to witnesses, \\""ere by 
them attested by signing their namaH or making their mark to their 
rl'spective depositions in my presence. 

Signed and sealed by me this the 16th day of April, A. D. 1877. 
[SEAL.J O. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
. Smalls for a seat ill the United States Congress. 

JOBl" R. W A.T80N, a witness of legal age, sworn, depo.IJes as follows: 
Question. State your age and occnpation, aDd your place of residence, 

as weH as where you ,·oted attbe election on November 7 last.-Auswer. 
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568 TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 

Twenty-eight; merchant and farmer; near Ridge Spring, Edgdeltl 
Court-House, at Ridge Spring precinct. 

Q. Were you an officer of the election; and if 80, what time did you 
go to the polls, aud how long did yoo remain there t-A. I was a man· 
ager of the election. I W38 there about 4: o'clock a. m. lind remained 
nntil the returns were made out that night. 

Q. Did yoo witness any intimidation of. Republican voters by Demo­
crats there that day '-A. I did not., 

Q. Between the election in 1874: and that of 1876, did not a great 
many colored Republican voters who bad been in the habit of t"Otiog at 
Ridge Spring, go away from that section of the county t-A. I hal"i~ 
been told that a great many did; 1. know of some few who did. 

Q. Since 1874, have not a great many, say seventy-five or one hondred ' 
white voters come into that neighborhood from Newberry, and Lexing· I 

ton Center, and from elsewhere, and did not those white men vote tbe ' 
Democratic ticket at Ridge Spring at the last election I-A. There bas 
seventy· five or one hundred come into that section since the election of 
1874, and did vote at Ridge Spring the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Did not a great many colored men, say nearly half of those wbo 
voted at Ridge Spring at the last election, vote the Democratic ticketf­
A. I think they diu. 

Q. During the last two or three years have not the villages of Bate,;· 
burg. Ridge Spring, Johnston, and Pine Hoose, the four depou ou 
the O. C. & A. R. R., grown largely in population !-A. They have. 

Q. What is the distance between Pine House and Batesburg f-A. 
About thirty miles. 

Q. Does not that railroad run thr.ougb a level, fertile, desirable, and 
proAperous country t-A. It does. 

Q. Have not the large plantations within five or six miles on ei~r 
side of that railroad been much subdivided into small farms and BOlli 
to new·comers, who voted at the 13.'3t election !-A. I think they bart 
to a great extent been so divided and sold; and I suppose the parties 
buying them voted at the last election. 

Q. In connting the ballots, how often did you find two and three 
tickets folded together, and when you unfolded them, for wbich party 
were most of those double or treble tickets cast, Democrat or Bt>publi­
can T-A. I uon't know of a great many, but they were equally dhided. 

Cross·examined: 
Q. You stated that there were a great many farms di\"ided and sold 

to new-comers. Give the Ilames of 8S many of these parties as you can 
who have bought these farms.-A. One named White, one named Fal· 
low; that is all I remember right now. There are none right around 
me. 

Q. Give the names of some colored men who have bought farms in 
your neigh borhood.-A. I know of none except Tom Watson, who "Okd 
the Democrat ticket. I do remember of two others now; James Lott 
and Burt Lott, colored men. 

Q. Have not the colored people settled in and near the villages of 
Batesburg, Ridge Springs, Johnston's, and Pine House in great Dam· 
bers, as well as the white people T-A. I suppose a few have, buli DOt a 
peat many. 

Q. You have stated that seventy-five or one hundred white meD (rom 
Newberry and Lexington Counties, and elsewhere, have settled in Ridge 
Springs and vicinity. Were any of these parties living in your pI80ef 
-A. None now; there were some there on last Novembel' the 7t1t. 
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TII.LMAN VS. SMALLS. 569 

Q. Please give the names of as many of these seventy·five or one 
hundred new·comers as you can.-A. Noah Kelley, Levy Kelley, several 
of the Ricard family, Enry Paddeyed, and one other Paddeyed, Preu 
Hodson. I cannot remember any more now. 

Q. Did not a great number of the white laborers who took the places 
of the colored laborers who left the Ridge since 1874, reside in the county 
of Edgefield prior to'the eleotion of 1872 i-A. Very few. 

Q. You say you think that half of the coJored men who voted at the 
Ridge in 1876, voted the Democratic ticket. What meanA had you of 
knowing how they voted; were not their ballots folded t-A. They told 
me they voted the Democratic ticket. A good many told me the next 
day they voted the Democratic. All who voted first voted the Demo· 
cratic ticket. 

Q. You stated that a good many colored laborers had left the Ridge 
Springs since 1874. Were not these colored men proscribed and refused 
employment because of their poilitical proclivities t-A. Not tbat I 
know of. 

Redirect: 
Q. Were not those colored men discharged and refused employment 

because there was no profit iu the labor, and they could not feed tbem· 
selves, and the white people were not able to fee(l them '-A. They were, 
or I know some were. 

JNO. R. WATSON. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 14th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 
In tbe matter of the contest of George D. Tillman agaiDst Robert Smalls 

for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 
JOHN T. OHEATHAM, a witne88 of legal age, introdnced by contestant 

after dne notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions propounded 
:0 him: 

Question. Where do vou livet-Answer. Edgefie1<1 County. 
Q. Where were you on November 7th last, the day of election t-A. 

U Liberty Hill precinct. 
Q. Did you hold any office '-A. I did; supervisor. 
Q. Were you there from the opening of the polls to the (Ilosing of the 

ame t-A. I was. . 
Q. Did you 8t!e the votes counted t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you see any votes taken from the box after the' poll· list was 

lIn; if 80, what was done with them t-A. I saw no ballots taken from 
be box at all. 
Q. ",Vere you in a position to see the box during the entire day T-A. 
was. 
Q. If Mr. George Sheppard had taken any ballots from the box would 

ou not have seen him '-A. I certainly know he did not. I was tbere all . 
Ite time, and would have seeu him if he had done so. I was preseut all 
1e time during the counting. 
Q. Do you know William M. Gilcbrist, Wade H. Gilchrist, and 

bomas Bettes '-A. I do. 
Q. State what office they fille<l that day, jf aDy.-A. Wade H. Gil· 
~rist was manager, William M. Gilchrist was the supervisor, and 
bomas Bettes was marshal. 
Q. Were those three officers there all day and nntil after the counting 
as finished I-A. They were. 
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Q. Did you hear William Oheney, alitu W. M. Gilchrist, tell Mr. George 
Sheppard that he had taken ballots from the box '-A. I did not. 

Q. Were you or were you not in a position to have heard it if he had 
so said f-A. I was. 

Q. Did you hear him tell Mr. George Sheppard that there were IIOme 
tickets down on the floor behind the coontt'r I-A. I did not. 1 .. 11 
there all the time, and did not hear him tell Mr. Sheppard liny lOch 
thing. 

Q. Did yon hear William Cheney, alitu W. M. Gilchrist: tell Mr. 
George Sheppard that he had thrown those tickets 00 the floor behind 
the coonter f-A. I did not. 

Q. Were any tickets discovered on the Hoor behind the coonter f-A. 
I did not see them. 

Q. Did you see William Oheney, alia. W. 1\1. Gilchrist, take any tickets 
from the floor and put them in the box f-A. I did not. 

Q. Would yon not have seen him if he bud f-A. I coold not have 
helped seeing him if he had done so. 

Q. Did yon see William Cheney, alia. W. M. Gilchrist., after tellinlt 
]\fr. George Sheppard that he had taken tickets from the box, did you 
see him take a laDlp and look onder t.he counter for them I-A. I did not 
hear him tell Mr. Sheppard 80, therefore did not see bim look for them. 

Q. Did you see Tom Bettes before the polls wete ope~ed, or after, go 
behind the counter f-A. I did not. 

Q. Where was the box placed '-A. In the piazza, when they were 
voting, and when we were counting the vote, on the couoter ill the 
store. 

Q. Did William Cheney, alia. W. M. Gilchrist, Wade H. Gilchrist, or 
Thomas Bettes go behinll the counter during the entire collDting of the 
vote f-A. They did not. 

Q. Was it possible for anyone standing on the outside of the cooom 
to have seen anything onller the coooter, much leas a ticket I-A.. It 
was not possible. 

Q. Was any Republican or Democratic voter prevented from vOtiDg 
at that precinct on the 7th day of November last '-A. It was qoietaod 
peaceable all day, and they were not denied the right to vote. 

Q. Do yon state now that it was a. fair election, a fair coont, aDd a 
fair declaration of the resolt !-A. It was. 

JOHN T. CBEATHAM. 
Sworn to and sobscribed to before Ole this tbe 16th day of April,1871. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

I.tnde,,'-

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Bobert 8malla 
for a seat in the Congress of tbe United States. 

GEORGE J. SHEPPARD, a witness of legal a2e, introduced by contest­
ant, deposes as follows to qoestions propoonded to him: 

Question. Where do you live '-Answer. Liberty Bill, in Edgefield 
Coonty. 

Q. Where were yon on the 7th day of Nov('mber last, the day of elec­
tion f-A. Manager at Liberty Bill precinct. 

Q. Were yon there all day from the time the polls opeDecI nutil the 
counting was finished t-A. I was; all day and all night. 

Q. Did you see the yotes counted t-A. I did. 
Q. Did you see any votes taken from tbe box after the poU-Jist " •• 

full; if so, state what was done with tbem.-A. There waa nODe tAkea 
from the box. 
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Q. Yoo being chairman of the board of managers, were you or were 
you not, during tbe entire day, in a position to see what was going 
on with reference to the box '-A. I was. 

Q. Did yoo take any ballots from that box before the counting was 
commenced '-A. I did not. 

Q. Did you, after the counting was commenced, except by virtue of 
your position 88 manager, count them f-A. I did not. 

Q. By what other name is William M. Gilchrust known in his neigh. 
borbood f-A. He is called Bill Cheney. 

Q. Do yoo know William M. GiJcbrust alias Bill Cheney, 'Wade H. 
ii1cbrust, aod Thomas Bettes T-A. Yes; I do. 
Q. State what offices they filled on the day of the last election, if any. 

-A. W. H. Gilchrost was manager; W.1\-1. Gilchrust, or Bill Cheney, 
as supervisor, and Tom Bettes was marshal. 
Q. Were these three officers there aU day and until the counting was 
lished f-A. Generally, they were there. 
Q. Did or did not William Cheney, alias W. 1\1. Gilchrnst, tell you on 
It day that you had taken ballots from the box' -A. He did not; he 
~w better than to do it, for he knew it could have been proven to the 
trary right then. 
'. Did you take any ballots from the box before the polls were closed 
before you were ready to proceed to CODnt them I-A. I did not. 
Did Bill Cheney, alias W. M. GilchrDst, tell you that there were 

, tickets down on the floor below the counter '-A. He did DOt. 
Did be tell you that you had thrown those tickets there '-A. He 

lot. 
Did you see William Oheney, alias W.lf. GilchrDst, tuke any tickets 
the floor behind the counter and put them in the box T-A. I did 
be was not behin8 the counter. 
Would you not have seell him if he had '-A. Well, I would. 
)id Tom Bettes, either before the polls were opened or after they 
losed, go behind YODr counter T-A. He did n~t, to my knowl· 

id Bill Oheney, alias W. M. Gilchrllst, or Wade H. Gilchru~t go 
tile counter during the entire counting of the vote f-A. Tiley 

liS it possible for anyone standing in front of the counter to 
ill an.vthing under the cODnter, much less so slUalla thing as a 
-A. Not possible. 
t8 any Republican or Democratic voter l)re\"ented from voting 
r cause at that precinct Oil that day '-A. Yes; tllere were 
s, two colored and one white one, after lJeing chaUenged, reo 
I privilege of voting, and after bein~ advi~e(llqllietly with· 
ause tbey were known to be boys. No question was asked 1\8 
ey intended to vote. 
you ask eitber of these three boys before·mentioned how they 
o ,,"-ote if they had voted T-A. No, I did not. 
it a fair election at that precinct; was it a peaceable election; 
e count fairly and squarely made '-A. As much so as I ever 

~-examined : 
o remember ha"ing seen allY '\'otes at all on the Hoor while 
onting the votes or bebilld the CODnter I-A. I did 1I0t. 
rstood .. hat not one word was said to you by Wade H. Gil· 
~_ Gilchrust, or Thomas Bettes about '\'otes bei ng on the floor 
oonter !-A. Not one word. 
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Q. How often hlwe you acted as manager at that precinct f-A. 
Abont four times since the war. 

Q. What was the difference between the Republican and Democratic 
vote at Liberty Hill in 1870, 1872, and 1874 f 

(Objected to on the ground that there is, or ought to be, a record of 
the vote taken at this poll, and all other polls, filed in the office of the 
clerk of court of this county and secretary of state of South Carolina, 
which is the highest evidence in answer to the question propounded, and 
therefore seconuary evidence cannot be introduced.) 

A. I kept no record of it, and cannot say. 
Q. You are well.acqoainted in the neighborhood of Liberty Hill f-A. 

I am. 
Q. Did you see a great many strangers on the day of election, at Lib· 

erty Hill, of 1876 f-A. I don't think I did. 
G. I. SHEPPARD. 

Sworn to and tmbscribed before me this the 16th day of April, 187i. 
[SEAL.] C. s. B. MARSH, 

Illtendallt. 

In the matter of the contest of Geo. D. Tillman against Robert Small~ 
for a seat io the Congress of the United States. 

J. P. DELuGB'l'ER, a witness of legal age, sworn. 
Question. Where do yon reside, and where were you on the 7th of 

November the day of the election f-Answer. Thirty-seven years old; 
Jive in Edgefield Couoty; I was manager at Curry ton p~inct on the 
7th of last November. 

Q. Was the precinct at Corryton established as a voting.place by the 
legislature, and was not the polls hf:'ld there ItLst electiou by order of 
the commissiouers of election for Edgefield County f-A. It was so 
designated, aud the poll was held there· by order of the commissioners 
of election. 

Q. ,"Vere all the managers appointed for that precinct presentt-A. 
None bnt myself that day. 

Q. Yon will state the officers appointed by the law who were present. 
and how you organized.-A. I swore in the clerk; the United States 
marshal ancl sopervisor were present. 

Q. How long did you wait for the other managers f-A. About tbree­
quarters of an hour. I had a trial-justice there to swear them in, as I 
had promised to commissioners. I understood before the election tbat 
oue of th(',Dl was nuller arrest for highway robbery, and asked to bare 
another one appointed; but no otber was, that I know of. I told the 
United States officer in command of the troops the day before tba' 
there wonld be no other managers there; he told me to go on n'yself. 

Q. Was there any intimidation there that dayf-A. NODe; the most 
quiet election I evet· saw. 

Q. Who was present when the votes were counted I-A. The 8opem· 
sors and United States marshal all were there, and I showed them e\"'ery 
ticket for thelUselvt's. so that there !1Iboold be no fraud. 

Q. Was the returns received by t.he couuty commissioners and 
colin ted f-A. The returns were received from me, and I understood 
they were counted. 

Q. Where did the colorecl Republicans of that Yicinity \"'ote on the 
last election f-A. Some of the colored Repnblicans came tht're to \·ott'. 
but finding no tickets, left. I heard thf:'y \'ote(1 at Sbaw'~ liill. I sen' 
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ADd got tickets for the United States marshal and Republican supervi­
sor to vote. 

Q. Did you hear of any person being intimidated on the road t-A. 
~o; did not. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. Who was it you sent for the tickets '-A. It was a white man, to 

Shaw's Mill; he brougbt them, and they voted. 
Q. Abont what. time was it you opened tbe polls '-A. At six o'clock 

we openeli the polls, but waited three-quarters of an honr for the other 
manager; only expected one; but he did not come, and we started to 
rote. 

Q. You said you heard that the Republican manager was under arrest; 
did you appoint one in his place '-A. I did not. 

J. P. DELAUGHTER. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 16th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

JOHN BRIGGS, a witness of legal age, sworn, deposes as follows: 
Question. Tell us your age, residence, and where were you on the 7th 

If November last, the day ot' election f-Answer. I am thirty-nine; re­
licle in Edgefield County; I was at Shaw's Mill from 8 o'clock a. m. until 
'p.m. 

Q. Did you see any arms, and who had them '-A. I saw 1I0me col­
Ired men or boys on the brink of the creek near the polls, on an island, 
lave abont six or seven gnns, or about six or seven }lersons with guns. 
Q. Did you see any intimidation on the part of the Democrats there 

hat day'-A. No, sir;. all voted llS he wished, as far as I could see. 
Cross-examined: 

Q. Did you see any Democrats have arms there tbat day'-A. I s,w 
o gnns, bnt am not certain ubout pistols. 
Q. Could yon see what kind of guns those six or set'en boys or men 

ad t-A. No, sir. 
Q. You are not posith'e as to whether they were boys or men !-A. 

'0; cannot say; they were large enough to nse them if they had chose 
)do so. 
Q. Do you know whether these six or set'en men came ot'er anli tried 

I "ote there !-A. I don't know. 
JOHN BRIGGS. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 16th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 
THOMAS JONES, a witness of legal age, sworn: 
Question. Where do you reside, and where ·were you on the 7th of 
ol'ember last !-Answer. Fifty-eight years old; reside(l in Edgefield 
l'eral years, say forty years; at Jobnstone Depot, as one of the board 
. managers of that precinct. 
Q. Are you acquainted with Oharles Cobb, United States marshal at 
.at precinct f-A. He informed me that day that he was. and I told 
m I wonld render him all the assistance in my power, and that I ex­
'Cted him to see that we had a quiet and peaceable election. 
Q. Was there any effort at intimidation toward him that dayt-A. 
~; I know of none. There was a boy who tried to "ote, and was too 
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young; be hall two tickets in his hand, folded together, and said Charlet 
Cobb gave thelJl to bim. Mr. Huett, one of the supervisors of eleetiuD, 
told Cbarles Cobb that, as a United States mar"bal, be could not give 
tickets out and that way, and must not do it, but did not tbreaten him; 
only said it was a very poor way for an officer of the law to do. I!!a. 
no more of Charles Cobb tbat da\". 

Q. Do you know of any colored Republican being intimidated tbat 
day'-A. No; on tbe contrary, the Republican manage1'8 gave nre a 
certificate to the effect that it was the most quiet and peaceable electioD 
ever held there, and entirely in accoruallce with law. 

Cross·examine(l : 
Q. You were near tbe box lluring the entire day, were-yon notl-A. 

Yes, sir, all day; never left tbe room. 
Q. You stated that Charles Cobb was not tbreatened that day; could 

he not have been so threatened while you were in tbe room and be onto 
dOOfS '-A. I don't think likely be could have been. I bad deputy COD· 
stables outside, with instructions to report to me any disturbance whieb 
might occur, and they did not report. 

Q. From where you were sitting could you see tbe arrivals and 
departure of all trains t-A. Yes, sir j perfect \"iew of tbe road, both 
ways, for a quarter of a mile. 

Q. Did a great many men get off the train there that day wbo were 
strangers to yon '-A. No; there was not a wbite man there "b~ 
name I did not know. 

lBEAL.] THOMAS JO~"'Es. 
Sworn to aud subscribe!l before me this the 16th day of April, IS;;. 
fSEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

I.Wlldcat. I 

In the matter of tbe contest of George D. Tillman against Robert ~mall~.: 
for a seat in Congress of tbe United States. 

D. U. DURISOE, a. witness of legal a,ge, introduced by contestant.; 
after due notice to contestee, deposed as follows to questions pro' 
pounded to him: I 

Question. State your name, age, residence. and office, if yon beld an~ 
on the laRt electioD.-Answer. D. R. Durisoe; 45 years; Edgefield YiI· 
lage; one of the board of can\'assers of election for Edgefield Oonnty. . 

Q. State whether, or not, you objected to tbe remonl of the box ~ 
the treasurer's office to tbe school·honse near Macedonia cbnrcb.-'!, 
I did. 

Q. Did you ever consent to its being moved '-A. I raised DO objee-, 
tiOD to its" being moved near here, but never consented to ita bein~ 
the school·house near Macedonia church. 

Q. Do you know the distance from the treasurer's oftlee to the d 
bouse wbere box No.2 was held; and, if so, wbat is the distance f-A. 
Yes; nine hundred and fifty yards. I 

Cross-examined by L. Cain: 
Q. You stated, Mr. DUl'isoe, tbat yOU never did agree to the remo~ 

of tbe box to the school-honse. State wbether yoo" agreed to mOYfI~" 
to any place from the treasurer's office.-A. I agreed to moving it 
Holland's house, about one hondred yards distant from the treasarer'l. 
office, or to the barber·shop; a.lso oue hundred yards from the treasur.: 
er's office. 
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Q. Were you not, as commi88ioner of election, informed by Mrs. Ryan, 
the owner of the property where box No.2 was to be held, or by her 
agent, tbat you should not hold the election in the treasurer's office f­
A. I was noti1led by Oaptain F. H. Bellanger, Mrs. Ryan's son.in.law, 
tbat we could not hold it there. ' 

Q. After snch notification did not 8 majority of the board commis-
8ioners of election decide upon holding box No.2 at the school·houee 
near Macedonia chorch f-A. They, without coDsulting me, posted a 
notice to that effect. 

Q. Do yoo mean to say that the commi88ioners of election never held 
l meeting lit all, bot that two of them selected the school·house with­
tut consulting yoo f-A. I mean to say we had several meetings, but 
bat in regard to the removal of the box to Macedonia school·house the 
aan) bad agreed to have a meeting in the afternoon previous to the 
ection at foor o'clock for the purpose of consulting in regard to the 
m(\\"al of the box to that point; but previous to that hour I came to 
e court-house, and to my surprise found a notice posted on the court· 
use door, signed by G. W. Holland and Jesse Jones, aunouncing that 
I No. :4 would be held at the school· house. 
J. What position did G. W. Holland and Jesse JODes hold '-A. 
'y, with myself, coustituted the board of commissioners for Edgefield 
'uty . 
. Did you not, in one of the meetings you IiIpeak of, give your assent 
Ie remo\'al of the box to the school·house and subsequently chauge 
, mind about it Y-A. I never consented. but always strenously 00· 
d to its being carried there. . 
You say the distance from the treasurer's office is uine hundred 

ifty yard!!; if you strike an air· line from the court-house to the 
I·house what distance would it be '-A. An air·line from the court-
to the school·house is not an accessible route. I would, though, 

se it to be about seven hundred and lifty yards. 
:'he Macedonia school· bouse, ~,"here the box No.2 was held, is in 
lOrporate limits, is it not T-A. Yes, but near four hundred yards 
)e public highway. 
J Dot there a wide lane leading from thepnblic highway which 
it accessible for voters '-A. Ye~. 
:etlirect by B. Bettes: 
d Dot tbe county commi88ioner have the treasurer's office rented 
s. Ryan for the year 1876, and did the board of commi88ioners 
)Q apply to the board of county commissioners for the use of it f 
ted [0, 88 b~ing new matter.) 
s the duty of the county commissioners to provide an office for 
IJrer, and the treasurer was occupying the office iu that build· 
as chairman of the board of commissioners of election, I made 
• tiOD to them to hold the election in the treasurer's office. 
vhat day and at wlJat time of the day was notice of the re­
be box No.2 posted f-A. On the 6th of November, the day 
:> the election, between 12 m. and 4 p. m. 

. D. R. DURISOE. 

" llefore me this the 9th day of April, 1877. 
A. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 
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In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Bobert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

T. J. ADAMS, a witness of legal age, introdnced by contestant after 
due notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions propounded to 
him: 

Question. State your name, age, and residence.-Answer. T. J. Adam8; 
30 years old; Edgefield Court-Honse. 

Q. How long have yon lived in Edgefield Connty'-A. Twenty.nine. 
Q. Where were yon on the 7th day of November last I-A. In Edge-

field Village. . 
Q. Which box did you "\"ote at that day!-A. At box No.2, the 

school-house. 
Q. State, Mr. Adams, wbat you saw while standing in the school. 

house waiting to vote.-A. I saw Lieutenant Hoyt jump iu the window; 
from three to five soldiers followed him; he went up very near the bOI 
and drew bis asaber and had the soldiers fix their bayonets. 

Q. When he drew his sword was his attitude a threatening ODe '-A. 
It was; it would have frightened a timid man, to say the least of it. 

Q. Wbat did the soldiers do after they fixed their bayonets '-.A. 
Tbey remained in tbat attitude until I left. I was there about thirty 
minutes. There was a company outside of tbe house in plain view of the 
building. 

Q. Did you at any time during the day see anybody brandisliing any 
arms '-A. No, I did not. I saw a good many clubs and sticks. 

Q. Who had those clubs '-A. They were in the bands of colored men. 
They were too large for walking purposes, and I sUPllOsed tbey were 
weapons. 

Cross examined by L. Cain: 
Q. What time on tbe morning of the 7th did you reach box No. 21-

A. About between teu and eleven. 
Q. How long were you t.here before the troops arri"\"ed I-A. Tbey 

were there when I arrived. 
Q. You say Lieutenant Hoyt drew his sword in a threatening atti· 

tude. Did he make an effort to stlike anyone, or did he threaten any 
otie '-A. He made no threats or any eftort to strike; the threat was in 
the act of drawing hiR sword. 

Q. Wben Lieutenant Hoyt and his file of soldiers arrived, was Dot the 
scbool·honse densely crowded, and were they not wbite men '-A. There 
was a crowd ontside; not many inside. J remember only three in the 
house; they were white men, and can give their names, except the 
managers. 

Q. Did not Lieutenant Hoyt and his file of men come in at tbe wiD· 
dow and go out of the door '-A. They came in at the window, And I 
left before they went out of the bouse, or I did not see them go ont. 

Q. You say tbat the drawing of bis sword had the tendenc1 to 
frighten a tiDlid man. Do you know of your own knowledge that any 
man did become alarmed and leave the polls without voting I-A. I do 
not. 

Q. When you reacbed box No.2, were not the grounds in front of the 
entrance of the school.house, and both sides, densely crowded; aDd 
were tbere no~ a great many horsemen in the crowd I-A. There was. 
crowd in front of the bonse; not many on the sides. I tbink there "' .. 
twenty or thirty horsemen in front of tbe house. 
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Q, Were not the men on those horses white men '-A. The large ma­
jority of them were. 

Q, Did you see any pistols in the hands of these men !-A.. Did not 
see 30,V j doo't remember to have seen any that day. 

Q, How far from the school-house is it to the ftmce in front of the 
bouse f-A. I think it about thirty yards. N ever went there. 

Q. Were not these men on horses standing as near the door as they 
could get f-A. I think so; they were, I think, struggling to get in to 
mte. 

Q. Yon say you saw a gnn there that day. Who had it '-A. I did 
IIOt 800 the gnD there, bnt. I am certain I saw a man with a gun that 
~ay. It was a white man. 

Q. The clubs that yon speak of being in tbe bands of colored men­
rere they newly Cllt f-A. I did not see wbetber they were or not. 
'bey had them by the little end, and I thought that looked like busi· 
eSii. 

Q. Ahol1t bow many clnbs dill yon see there that day t-A. I can't 
,'; it looked like a general arming witb clnbs. 
Q. Did you see any clubs or ax-bandies in the hands of white men 
It da.\' f-A. I don't remember to have seen any. 
'J. Did JOU not see during the day a great many white men rilling up 
I down the streets that clay, and was not their demeanor a very threat· 
t1g one f-A. I saw quite a number of hor~emen. I diclllot see any· 
Ig threatening; they were boisterous and happy. 

Redirect: 
. How long did you remain on the street that day t-A. I was here 
aYe 

THOS. J. ADAMS. 

e matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Oongress of the United States. 

rN O. SHEPPARD, a witness of legal age, introduced by the contest· 
Iter due notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions pro· 
ed to him: 
\rhat is your namt', age, and residence I-A. J. O. Sheppard, 27 
.'d, and reside in Edgefield Village. 
ow long have you lived here '-A. All my life, except when off 
01. 
'here were you on the 7th of November last t-A. In the village 
long. 
o 001. Cain with other colored men come to you any time during 
" and say that there were some colored men there who ha.d had 
~e to vote' If so, state what you said to them, and the circum· 
:oonected therewith.-A. As well as I remember, I was in the 
Ise from the time of the opening of the polls to abont three or 
ck p. 01.; between about tbree and four o'clock in the afternoon, 
:)wo towards my office. When I got to the headquarters of 
fjranbam, which is in fifteen steps of my office, my attention 
~ted to a crowd in front of General Branham's office. Seeing 
·r, Dr. -W. S. Shepparli, in the crowd, I went iu myself and in· 
'.0 the canse of the seeming excitement. I requested my brother 
7', and stated to bim I would do the talking if any was neces-
marked. that if there was any colored man there who had not 
day, I wonld go with him to the court· house and see him vote 
s being molested. Oo\onel Oain said, "Well, sir, all these 
lis. 11--37 
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people have not voted." I said, " Well, let them follow me to the court· 
h<.ouse and I will see that they \"ote." 

" I then went up the alley which leatls from law-range to the public 
square; and when I reached the end of the alley, between the stores 
occupied by W. E. Lynch and O. F. Oheatham, some one inquired where 
I was going. I stated that these people said that they had not had an 
opportunity of voting, and that I was going with them to show tbem 
that they could vote peaceably and without interference; wherenpon 
he replied, "This man," (pointing to a colored man im!Dediately behind 
me,) "This man has voted at precinct No.2 to·day, for I saw him, and 
I'll be damned if he sh~ll vote any more." I said, " If he has voted 
before he shall not vote any more, and we call examine him as to that.~ 
He replied, "Well, I saw him vote at precinct No.2, and I know he has 
voted." No denial was made of the charge, but the entire party tumed 
around and went back down the alley. In the entire matter I acted in 
perfect good faith, and was only actuated by a desire to do jnlltioe in 
the premises, and to promote the fairness of the election, as far as I \l"U 
able, e\-ery word of which Oain himself will corroborate, if he tells tbe 
truth. There was no occnrrence sufficient to prevent the party then 
following me from going to the" polls, so far as my knowledge enables 
me to form a belief. 

Q. State which portion of the day you were on the street, and if you 
saw any parties with pistols.-A • .As I before stated, I do not think I 
went out of the court· bouse before three o'clock in the afternoon, and was 
in the court·honse and in front of the court· house off and 011 from that 
time till about the time the poll closed. During that time, to the best 
of my recollection, I did not see a gun in the streets, but I saw pistols 
buckled around the bodies of numbers of men, both white alld colored. 

Q. State if it is not customary for citizens to carry pistols witb 
them.-A. It is a matter of reputation that it is. 

Q. Did you, at any time during the day of election,.forbid D. B.eot· 
ton, the clerk at precinct No.1, from leaving the court·house f-A.. Any 
statement that I did, by him or any other l)arty, is unqualifiedly false, 
and 1 defy bim to tell me so. My whole purpoge during the entire day 
was to see to it, as far as I could. that the proceedings at lll-ecinct Yo. 
1 was regularly, fairly,and lawfully conducted, and in my judgment they 
were so conducted. 

Q. Did you interfere with the clerk, or did anyone e]se interfere witb 
him in the counting of the votes1-A. I did not intertere, nor did any 
one else, so far as I know. Tbe true Rtate of tbe case was this: Wben 
I returned to the court-bouse, after the polls had been closetl, the ballots 
bad been taken from the box and were laid out on the table in appro­
priate piles. When the tally begun it was ascertained that tbere was 
a discrepancy of a single ballot, and there was a re·examination of 
the ballots in my presence. It was thereupon concluded that one 
Democratic ballot had been destroyed more thau was right, and by 
the consent of the managers, with the approval of Lieutenant White, 
of the United States Army, the ballot was restored. This resnlt 
was acquiesced in by all parties engaged in the connt.· The return 
of the managers was therenpon prepared in the preseoce aod without 
objection on the part of the managers or any other party or parties, 
and the return thus prepared was signed by each and every of thE' 
managers, without objection, and, so far as I could see, willingly aDd 
cheerfnlly. 

Cross· examined : 
Q. You stated that when you were going t.o your office you saw your 
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brother in a crowd in front of General Brannau's office. Do you re­
member what Doctor Sheppard was saying, and to whom he was talk· 
ing'-A. I do 1I0t remember what he said, but as well as [ know he was 
talking to L. Cain, an(1 seemed to be exc:ited, and I told him to get 
away and I would do the talking it' any was necessary. 

Q. Do you not remember hearing him cursing and threatening L. 
Cain, and using these words toward L. Oaiu: "God damn your soul, I 
wonld give one hundred dollars to get hold of you." And did you not 
at tbe time walk up to him and ask him to hush '-A. I dill do all in my 
power to keep the peace, aud did hear Doctor Sheppard use profaue 
Janguage at that time, bnt cannot recall his phraseology or his expl't~s­
sions; do not remember whether he did or did not ma.ke llse of the lan­
guage referred to in the quetltion. 

Q. Did yon ~ee General Butler in General Brannau',,; office at I be 
ime I-A. I did. 
Q. Did YOIl bear General Butler say that box No.2 had been given 

p to the Republicans to vote at f-A. I dul not, as well as I remember. 
Q. Yon SR.V when you went with Caiu to ~Irs. Adams's gate, this crowd 
a~ pointed out by bim, and he told you they bad not ,'oted; ahout how 
any men were in this crowdf-A. It was not a large crowd, as well as 
-elllembl'r, but cannot say how many there were. 
Q. Have you any idea how mallY followed you up the alley T-A. I 
not undertake to say how many there were who followed me up the 
~y between Lynch & Cheatham's store; nor do I remember a name 
one of them at this time. 
~. You stated when you reached the end of the alley between Lynch 
Jheatbam's store, some one inquired of you where YOll were going, 
that you said to the party that those people said to you that they 
not had a chance to vote, that you was going with 'them to show them 
they could \'ote without molestation; do you know who 'his man 
who 6poke to you '-A. I cannot remember wbo it was, and can-

flOW recall the name of a single white man I saw there; he was a 
" man. 
lVas there not a crowd of men with him 7-A. I tIo not know that 
was any ona with bi~ for tbe purpose of that inquiry; there were 
u the street near by, but no crowd with him. 
Yon sas that this man pointed at a colored man between you, and 
, This man has yoted." Do you know the name of the colored man 
c1 at I-A. A,s I have already stated, I do not recall the name of a 
colored man who followed me. . 
)id not a man near the one wpo addressed the inquiry to you say 
that it was none of your business if these men have not voted" 

1 my jnc1gment, the white men that were there knew that I knew 
was doing, but I don't remember whether the remark was made 

)u say that when you came up the alley-way that there was a 
f men in the street, in front of the court-house; was this crowd 
r still or moving about Y-A. I have no idea that every man in 
'd was standing still. 
I you see pistols in the hands of any of this crowd '-A. I did 
pistol in the hands of a single man, and I believe if anyone 

(lad drawn a pistol I would have seen it. 
any of this crowd, or any other party or parties, except the man 
already spoken of, make any hostile demonstratiou toward the 
~h you I-A. I have not spoken of any man as having made a 
TDonstration toward me or any other party there; according to 
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my understanding of the term hostile no such demonstration of the 
kind was marIe by any party or parties in that immediate vicinity. 
At that time of the performance our party hat! no interest in nor dis­
position to violent demonstrations, but were unalterably and solemnly 
determined at any risk to protect the box at precinct Yo.!. 

Q. You stated you did not see any guns in the street that day!-A. 
I did not mal~e such a statement; but did state that I do not remember 
to have seen a gun in the streets after about three o'clock in the afternoon. 

Q. Did yun s('e any gUlls in the hands of any parties before tbree 
o'clock that afternoonf-A. As I hal"e already stated, I was within the 
court-house, almost without intermission, from the timEl of the opening 
of the polls to abont three o'clock in the afternoon. About the time 
the polls opened,and as I was going therp, I do think that I saw one gon 
in the streets. There might ha\'e been others without my seeing them. 

Q. Do you know who had the gun !-A. A white Dlan had it. I don't 
know who he was. 

Q. Wht'n you wt'nt in the court-house early in the morning, were not 
the gronnds around the court· house steps densely crowded with horse­
men !-A. I do not remem ber that it was densely crowded with borse­
men, but there was a good crowd of footmen there. There were some 
horsemen there. At that time by far the greater portion of the cro..-d 
was on foot. 'Ve nnticipated a repetition of the scheme of the Repub­
licans in taking possession of the ]lolls at the beginning, which bas been 
their practice heretofore at every I::)tate election that I have attended at 
Edgefield Court-House. 

Q. How near toO the court-house steps were the horsemen you sa .. 
there '-A. The qut'Rtion is nonsenRical, impertinl'nt, and too imlefioite 
to admit of an intelligent answer. It so happened that I did lIot measure 
the distance from e\-ery horse to the steps. 

Q. \Vl're 1I0t thl'se men standing between the square aml the court­
house srops !-A. Some of them might ha\'e been and some of them 
were not. 

Q. 'Vhen ~-ou wellt ill the court-room did you soo any gnns where hoI 
No.1 was held I-A. So far as my personal knowledge is concerned I 
do not klloW' that there waR one there; any additionlll statement would 
be bas('d upon information derived fmm others. 

Q. You stated that your whole purpose during the entire day was to 
see to it, "as far as I could, that the procel'dings at precinct No.1 
were regularly, fairly, ~nd lawfully conducted." Were you in any way 
connected with the election officially'-A. I was not, but as a citizen 
of the country I was interested in its results, and desired to see that no 
fraud should be perpetJ'ated, as I had reason to believe had been some­
thing of a heritage in the UepublicRn party of this county. I desired 
to prevent an application of the law of eight to seven, although that laW' 
bad 1I0t been enacted. 

Q. It has been stated tbat yon delivered a public sllcech on the court­
house steps before the polls were closed that day. Is this statement 
true T-A. It is. 

Q. Were not the court-house steps and the gronnds around the court­
house steps so densely crowded by white men while you were delh'erinlt 
that speech that it was impossible for voters to ,lasS in and out of tbe 
conrt-house to vote '-A. No, sir, most emphatically; on the contrary. 
at that time six colored IDen passed fr~ly and without obstmctiOD 
through the crowd and up the court-house steps and into the court-boose. 
and, as I am informed, voted the Republican ticket, and came down 
again. I did not see anything done, nor did I hear anything said, lba 
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could in any way have impeded their passage or interfered with their 
comfort. 

Q. Were not these six men led by J. A. Beatty, United States mar· 
shalf-A. I do not know that they were led by, but they were with a­
United States marshal. 

Q. You were in the conrt·room where box No.1 was held from the 
closing of the poll until the completing of the count, were you not T-A. 
I was not in the court-room when the polls closed, and did not get there 
until the box had been opened and the ballots taken thence and arranged 
upon the table in appropriate piles. 

Q. After you arri\'ed there did you assist in any way in the cOllnting 
,Cthe l"otesf-A. There seemed to be the discrepancy of one ballot, and 
assisted indifferently, with the knowledge and WithOllt objection on the 
art of the managers or any of them, in nndertaking to detect the 
ifi'ereoC6. 
Q. Were you requested by the manag('rs to assist them in this under· 
king '-A. I do not remem ber whether I was or was not, and do not care, 
t think that ~Ir. Glover, one of the managers, asked me to assist. At 
f rate no manner of objection was made. 
'J. Did any other parties other than the managers, supervisors, and 
Irselfassistin the counting of the vote '-A. I think thatD.B. Cotton, 
olored rellUblican, and 'V. T. Gary had more or less to do with it. 
J. M. Cobb also sat near, but I do not think he did more than keep 
Jly as the coon t progressed. I understood that D. B. Cotton was 
{ of the board of managers. 

Was not W. T. Gary, the man you speak of here, a resident of 
~tate of Georgia, and had he not been tbere more than one year pre­
g the day of election T-A. I do not remember how long he bad 
living in the State of Georgia, but had gone there to practice law 
bly more than one year before that time; at any rate I think he 
J citizenship in Georgia. 

J. C. SHEPPARD. 

rn to before me this the 10th day of April, 1877. 
L.1 O. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 
pard recalIe<l anel states: 
lix men spoken of as having gone to the polls in company with 
ted States m8rRhai could, I do not doubt, have gone 8S well with· 
presence. 

J. C. SHEPPARD. 
to before me this 10th day of April, 1877. 

] C. S. B. MARSH. 

'ltter of the contest of George D. TiI1m811 against Robert Smalls 
tor a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

KIN P. COYAH, a. witness of l('gal age, introduCf'd by contestant 
notice to con testee, deposes as follows to questions propounded 

D. Tell us your age, relddence, and where you were on the 7th 
ber la8t~ the day of electioD.-Answer. Twenty·eight years 
n Edgefield Village; I was in the village on the 7th of last 

was sh eriff on Noyember 7, the day of election T-A. L. A. 
l. 
you his deputy; and, if yon were, how long ha¥e you been 
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such '-A. I was his deputy from the 2211 of last June, 18i6, until the 
present sheriff took charge. 

Q. Did Sheriff Richardson appoint a number of special dE"puties to 
keep the peace on November 7, last; if so, how mallY ~-A. He did, 
sir; he appointed ten or twelve. 

Q. Name some of them.-A. T. B. Cheatham, F. Cheatham, J.J. Har· 
rison, Phil Johnson, Robert Green, Moses Eidson, S. C. Swaringen, 
Abner Covar, John R. Bee, Scott Allen. 

Q. Did yon have any occasion during the day at EdgE"field ViUa~ to 
exercise your authority as deputy sherifff-A. I did not . 
. Q. Was the court·house steps so crowded dnring the whole day as to 

prevent voters from reaching box No.1 and casting their votes ~-.!. 
They were not. . 

Q. Was not this the reason that colored Republicans did not vote­
that they had concentrated from different parts of the count\" too many 
voters at box No.2 !-A. It was. I saw a man from Shaw's llill \"ot~ 
here; he had served his time out injail, and I challenged his vot('. 

Cross· examined by L. Cain: 
Q. YOIl speak of seeing one colored man here from Shaw's Mill; did 

you not see white men here from Dark Corner, Lib('rty Hill, and Kirl;:· . 
sey's Cross·Roads 7-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Are not there several polling.places between here and tbose pla('t'S, 
and were tbt\y not open on November 7 IUtlt t-Q. I know of oll~)lr. 
Cheatham's store. 

Q. Are not Talbert's store and Libert.y Hill nearer to the people of 
Dark Corner than the court· house 7-A. Liberty Hill is, but I do no., 
know anything about Talbert's store. : 

Q. You have stated that you were a deputy sberiff appointed by J.! 
A. Hichardson; have you your appointment signed by him as sheriff!-: 
A. I have. . I 

Q. You were principal of all the others appointed on the .th of ~o-i 
vember last '-A. They were not.. ' 

Q. Was not General M. W. Gary also a deputy sheriff that day!-.!. 
I~~k~w~ : 

Q. You have stated that Phil Johnson, Robert Greeo, aod l108tSi 
Eidson were deputy sheriffs; do YOll know whether these parties weni 
notified of their appointment, and did tbE'Y act that day f-A. I 8t'n-t'\~ 
them with the written appointment myself, signed by J. A. Richardson;1 
don't know whether they served or not. I 

Q. W 8S not a colored man arrested and lodged in jail that day !-.l., 
I don't remember now. i 

Q. Were you at or near box Xo.l during the entire day!-.\. 11 

~~ ~. Q. About how long at anyone time wpre you absent f-A. Abont 
two hours and a half. 

Q. You say now you were absent about two hours and a half; could 
not the steps have been crowded during this time 80 that voten eou! 
not pass up and vote without your knowing itT-A. Yes. 1 

Q. Were YOll at box No.2 at any time during the daY'-A. I.-as. 
Q. It has been stated to this court that several colored meD tr 

struck over the head tbere; did you see any of this !-A. I did not. 
B. P. CO'.!.R. 

Sworn to before me this the 10th day of April, ]8i7. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. lIARSH. 

I .. tt:7tdut. 
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Iu the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the United States 

J. C. SWA.RINGEN, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestant, 
after dne notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions pro· 
pounded : 

Question. State your. age, residence, and where yon were on N ovem­
ber 7 last, the day of election.-Answer. Thirty·five years old; Edge­
field County. I was at box No.2, at the school-house. 

Q. Who was sheriff of Edgefield on that day'-A. J. A. Richardson. 
Q. Did sou recei\-p. an appointment as deputy sheriff, to keep the peace, 

from him f-A. I did. 
Q. At what time did you arrh'e at the box No. 2f-At five o'clock iu 

the morning. 
Q. Was the business of the election organized quietly and peace­

ably'-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. At what hour did the military appear t-A. About 10 a. m. 
Q. Did the mLitary then take charge of the box and votingf-A. Yes, 

sir. 
Q. How were voters admitted to the box f-A. The officer in com, 

mand Relected ten at a time, aUlI admitted them . 
. Q. Hid you have occasion to exercise your authority as deputy sheriff 
during the whole day '-A. I did not. 

Q. Did colored Republicans come t.o the polls with clubs, pistols, 
!ticks, and such things, curslDg and swearing around f-A. Yes, sir; 
tb~y did. 

Q. Were these clubs, pistols, swearing, and so forth, iutellded to in­
timidate the Democrats I-A. They were. 

Q. Was this not the reason that a great number of colored Republi­
~an ,"otel'S did not vote on the day of election: that they had massed in 
iUch great numbers that there was not time fQr them to vote T-A. It 
lral!. 

Q. Were they not assembled there from every section of the county f­
l. I know they were from my section, llnd believe they were from all 
)fer the count.y. 

Q. Did you strike auy one there that day; and, if so, wby did you do 
t T-A. I did 1 because th£'y looked like th£'y wanted to run o\'er me. 
:t was altogether a personal matter, which was soon settled. 

Cross·examined L. Cain: 
Q. How many men did you strike that day, Mr. Swaringenf-A. I 

hiuk, two. 
Q. Were these colored men T-A. They were. 
Q. Bill you have any difficulty with anyone oftbesemen prior to the 

:Iection '-A. No. 
Q. Did you not, as deputy sheriff', assist in arresting a colored man 

here that day f-A. Ther~ was one said to haTe been arrested. I knew 
lothing about it. 

Q. You say colored men were there from your section, and yon be· 
ie'-e they were there from all over the county. State whether or not 
here were any white men from your section-from Dark Corner, Lib· 
:rty Hill, Kirksey's Cross· Roads, Johnson's Depot, and Ridge Springs.­
~. There were !!ome there from my section; some from Dark Corner. I 
:an't say as to the othtlr places. Tb£'y may have been there. 

Q. Yon say that the colored men were so massed at box No.2 that 
hey could not yote. Do you know that some of those men made free 
luent application to vote at box No.1 T-A. I do not. 
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Q. Befol'e the arrh-al of the troops at box No.2, was uot the groond 
immediately in front of the school-house door occupied by horsemen, 
and were not you on your horse in this crowd !-A. Yes; there were 
some horsemen there, aud some ou foot. I went there myself on foot, 
but afterwards did send for my horse aud was on my horse there aboot 
nine o'clock and after that. 

Q. Did you see any white men there with ax-handles and pistols f­
A. I saw them there with pistols and sticks; saw no ax-bandies that I 
recollect. 

Q. You stated that the military took charge of the box Bud voting. 
In what way'did they take charge of the box and voting f-A. Tbey 
placed a guard around the door and then admitted ten or twel\"'e at a 
time to vote. 

Q. When they entered the school-house, did they go out the door and 
clear away in front of the door '-A. They did. 

Q. In admitting the ten or twelve voters did they admit colored men 
exclusively, or white and colored together T-A. They very often weut 
in together. 

Q. Were you at Landrum's store at any time during the day!-A. I 
was not. 

J. C. SWEARINGE~. 
Sworn to before me this the 10th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. llARSH, 

I nte1ldant. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

'V. H. BRUNSON, a witness of legal age, introduced by contestant 
after due notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions propounded 
to him: 

Question. State your' age, residence, and where ,,'ere you on the 7th 
of November last, the day of election T-Answer. Forty years old; in 
Edgefield. I was supervisor at box No.1. 

Q. Did you remaiu there all day f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. ·Was the court-house or steps so crowded as to prevent t'oten 

from voting any time during the day I-A. I passed in and out during 
the day, aud found no difficulty in doing so. 

Q. Uould not any \"oter have voted freely and without restraint!­
A. Yes, they could. 

Q. Did you see aoy arms in the court-house or on the steps !-A. I 
saw no arms. 

Q. Was there any messenger sent out to invite voters in to vote!­
A. I bat'e no recollection of that. 

Q. Was you present at the counting and certifying of the votes f­
A. I was. 

Q. Was tbis done in order and in accordance with law T-A. All orderly 
and according to law. 

Q. Do you know the fact that W. T. Gary, J. M. Cobb, and J. C. 
Sbeppard were invited to assist in counting by the managers, or by tbeir 
consent T-A. I think it was at the request of the managers, and I 
heard no objections, and was near enougb to bln'"e heard if tbere bad 
heen. 

Cross-examined by Cain: 
Q. As 8upervisor did you not stay in the court-room daring the most 

of the day' While you were in tbe court-room could yon bat'e seen 
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everytbing going on-see any move outside on the steps T-A. I don't 
klJow tbat I could. 

Q. At times wben you would pass out, was not there a crowd of horse­
men near tbe steps, and were the steps not crowded densely with white 
men f-A. At timfls tile steps were crowded; at one time of the day I 
saw horsemen around the steps. 

Q. Who assisted in the counting of the vote besides the clerk, man­
agers, and supervisors t-A. Mr. W. T. Gary, J. O. Sheppard, and Lieu­
tenant Wbite was present; 110 far as the actual counting of the vote was 
concerned, it was done by the clerk, managers, and Mr. W. T. Gary. 

Q. Is Mr. W. T. Gary a resident of the State of Georgia '-A. I think 
be is. 

Q. Neither Mr. Gary or Mr. Sheppard had any official connection 
wit.b the election, did they f-A. I think not. 

Q. Are you positive that the managers requested tbese men to act ,­
~. I don't know that they were reqnested by the managers, but know 
'ley raised no objection. 

Redirect by Mr. Oharlton : 
Q. Did not W. T. Gary reside at Edgefield Court-House and practice 

IV for teu years, and is be not well known here f-A. Yes. 
W. H. BRUNSON. 

,worn to before me this the 10th day of April, 1877. 
;EAL.] U. S. B. l\[ARSII, 

Intendant. 

lie matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress ot' the United States. 

A. GLOVER, a witness of I('gat age, intr()(luced by contestant after 
lotice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions propounded to 

~stjon. State YOllr age, residence, and wbere were yon on the 7th 
,vember, the day of election '-Answer. Forty-three years old; 
ieJd Court-House; and was at Edgefield Court-House, and man­
t box No.1. 
)n your organization of tbe business for the day, was tbere any 
~emeDt between YOll and the Republican managers as to where 
c should be located I-A. Not on that day. 
Tas not tile conrt-room the place where the voting bas been done 
precinct for years pastT-A. Yes; it has for se,"eral years. 
'd you have notice that the election was to be beld at another 
-A. Not that day. 
d you take the ballot-box from under tho arcb of tbe conrt-house 
m the other managers against their will up in the conrt-house!­
) k I did not carry the box up-stairs; one of the others did 80. 
was under the arcb. 
s the court-room too much crowded for busineSl'l, or tbe steps 
d in any way to pre\"ent Republican or Democratic yoters from 
leir votes without fear!-A. Not that I know of. 
\ there auy arms in the court-house or armed men on the steps 
a.te U-epublican Yoters from the pollst-A. Not to my know 1-
lad Illy double-barrel gun up ill the back room, but no one 
bu t the managers. I said to them, "We will take this up for 
le." 
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Q. Was any lawful voter denied the privilege of \"oting that dayf­
A. Yone. 

Q. Were messengers sent to invite Republicans to come up and \"000'­
A. Yes; and one squad did come and vote. 

Q. Did W. T. Gary and J. O. 8ht."ppard assist in counting and Cf'rtify· 
ing the vote T-A. They did; they did it in this way: myself and Wiley 
Williams took out the votes and these parties kept the talley. 

Q. Did they do this at the request and by the consent of the managers 
and clerk '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Is not W. T. Gary a lawyer, and well known in Edgefield Court· 
House !-A. He is. 

Q. Was not the election held in accordance with the law antI osages 
of the State !-A. It was. 

Oross·examined by Oain : 
Q. Mr. Glover, you stated there was no (lisagreement with the mana· 

gers about the moving of the box on that day. Was there at any other 
time '-A. Very little. We talked it over, and I told them I did not 
want to set tbem in the cold, and they did not object, and 'We moved it. 

Q. Were yon not notified that box No.1 'Was to be beld nnder the 
arch of the court·bouse by tbe commissioners f-A. I receh-ed no notice. 
Jessie .Jone.~ Sl)oke of it, but it was only in conversation. 

Q. 'Vb en yoo and the Republican managers talked o\"er the matter 
first, did not they hold to the desire of hoMing it where the commission 
designated Y-A. Don't think they did; they raised no serious objection 
to holding it 10 the court·room. 

Q. What time of the morning did you go in tbe court-room to open 
the box f-A. About half an honr before six o'clock. I 'Was in there 
several times doring the night before the box was opened; but we ne\"ef 
carried tbe box tbere until six o'clock. 

Q. What was the condition of the court-room wheu you entered to 
opeu the box '-A. There was forty or fifty Dlell in there at that time. 

Q. Wt're they white or colored men T-A. White men. 
Q. Did you pass out of the court-house any time during tbe day f­

A. I did not. 
Q. Could yoo, f1tandin~ where yoo were acting as manager, 8ee the 

conditiou of things ou the steps and around the court-boose !-A. I 
could not. 

Q. How many Republican votes were polled at box No.1 !-A. I can­
not remember. 

Q. Do YOLl remember how many Democratic \"otes were polled !-.\. 
I do not. 

Q. Were any pnblic speeches delivered on the stt."ps of the court-boose 
during the day t-A. I heard speaking, but do not know whetber it was 
on the steps or on the gronnd-the door was closed. 

Q. Yoo say that a messenger was sent out to invite voters io to vote. 
By whom was this messenger sent !-A. He was sent by the maDager. 
We heard they could not vote at box :No.2. One of the messengers 
was Gus Senkins and the United States marshal, Batey. After that 
there was some came np and voted with Batey. He said he had beard 
that they could not vote there, and he would pot it to the test. 

Q. Did not the voting' at the court-house almost cease about one or 
two o'clock f-A. It almost ceased aboot that time. That's the reason 
'We sent after them to come up; we 'Were doing nothing. 

Q. You stated that W. T. Gary was well known in this connt\". Was 
he not, on the 7th of November, a resident of Georgia f-A. He was. 
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Q. Bad either be or Mr. Sht'ippard any official connectio'n with the 
election '-A. None; they acted by consent of the managers, and by 
request of tbem. 

A. A. GLOVER. 
Sworn to before me this the 11th day of April, I8i7. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In tbe matter of the contest of George n. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Oongress of the United States. 

DANIEL H. TOlIPK[NS, a witness of legal age, introduced by contest­
ant after due notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions pro­
pronnded to him: 

Question. What is your age, and where were yon born and reared !­
lllllwer. I am thirty ~-ears, and was born and reared in Edgefield. 

Q. Where were you on the 7th of November last, aBd whl\ti official 
lrinection did yon ba\"e with the election, if any I-A. At Holtewan­
~r's stOl'e, and a manager. 
Q. Did you open the polls later than a legal hour; and, if 80, state, 
lY they were opened later than six o'clock.-A. 'Ve opened the polls 
se"en o'clock,;and the reason was that Oarroll and Graham, the Repnb­
m managers, did not get there with the box: nutil that time. 
~. Did you raise allY objection to opening the polls and beginning 
election when the iwo U,epnblican mau3gers came with the box: !-

1 told them that they wp.re too late, an hour or more, and I was 
tid the box: wouM be thrown out. They said, " Well, we ",ill let that 
ried at Edgefield Court-House." 
, Did you elect a clerk of election who refnsed to ser\"e; and, if so, 
was he Y-A. Yes; they elected Oaptain Brooks, who refuseU to 

e. 
In refnsing,did Capt. J. H. Brooks do so simplyby declining,or did 

) so by oaths and threatll to the Republican managers !-A. He sim­
eclilletl the clerkship, but after doing so he spoke to Tom Oarroll 
I Jy, olle of the I«'Jluulican managers, about riding through his planta· 
, day or two before the election with ritles aud pistols, threawning 
m<ls for promising or saying they were going to stay away from 
.11s. He sa.id nothing to Graham, the other Republican manager. 
,'s or not ,!\'Ir. BrookR a middle-aged man and in feeble health; Rnd 
it not have tax:ed hill energies to have acted as clerk f-A. Yes, 

lid not l\fr. Brooks complAin more of Oarroll threatening Brooks's 
s tln .. n of an~·thing ellie I-A. Yes; that is all he talked of. I 
rn out and told him he could settle that with Carroll some other 

:-ter you elected the chairman and the clerk of the election, did 
:1ot proceed to hold the election in a small room or the store· 
t the window of 'the room I-A. No. ,"Ve held the election in 
I room of the store,house, at the window. 
18 the door of the store-house open all day, or especially in the 
f-A. I t was open all day; never shllt. The store-room was 
<l.Jl day with men passing in and out. They voted on the piazza, 
.dow. Both colored and white men were iu the store. The 
1.0S came in a body, and remained 80 all the time outside. It 
~d DeIDocrats who were in the store, but no oue was (,xcluded 
,tore at any time. 
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Q. Did yon hear any Democrats singing, "We'll bang T"ID Carroll 
OIl a sour-apple tree," at Bny time, and particularly 38 Tom Carroll ap­
proached the polls that morning f-A.. Wheu Tom came in sight I 
thought he had two hundred Rt-publicans with him; he said one hun­
dred and twenty-five. He had kept tbis body of men at General Dono­
vant's plantation all night, making speeches to th 'm_ They came in 
sight, singing. yelling, aud hallooillg, alld the Democrats went out hal­
looing and yelling too. I don't know the wortls of the song. It was 
more in fun tban in auger; don't tbink allY one iutended to burt sny­
body, and no one expected to get hnrt. They were singing that old 
song, "We'll hang Jeff Davis," and substituting Tom Carroll for Jell 
Davis. I am certain no Republican was rUII off, and I am certain there 
was never more than thirty-fixe or forty white men there during the day 
at anyone time. 

Q. Was the door of the room in the store-house where they were 
holding the polls violently kicked open at any time by Democrats!-A., 
The door of the store was never shut where the polls was held, but Tom 
asked me to go in a room to organize, and the door was shut. Some : 
white man came and pushed it open, alld looked in, ao(l I told him t.o 
go back. He did so, and I went out of the door to call the clerk; did 
not leave the door out of sight. Wheu I came back I found Tom oat I 

of the window talking to a body of Repnblicans outside. When I came ; 
in the room he got back in the window again. We swore the clerk then, 
and went out in the body of the honse and opened the polls. 

Q. Did the man who opened the door of the room in which were the I 

managers ha,-e a pistol in his hand, and say or do anything to Carroll 
or any other manager !-A. He had no pistol and did not 8peak to any 
of the managers at all. 

Q. Was there any violence or intimidation, by word or act, praetiefd 
by Democrats there that dllY toward repubJicans!-A.. No; I did not 
see or hear of any. 

Q. State if you saw any fire-arms in the body of the store that day. 
or iu the room.-A. Did not see any. 

Q. Did you hear Mr. Eldred Addison or any-one else except )fr. 
Brooks speak harshly to Tom Carroll that day '-A. No; 1 did DOE 
hear anybody else speak harsh to him exeept Mr. Brooks, and be spoke 
to him before the polls were opened. I stai(l about the box aU day. 
Carroll went out in the crowd a time or two. No one 8poke harshly to 
him at the box, and I don't think any Democrats !Spoke to him at all 
outside. 

Q. Was anything said by white or colored Democrats about New­
berry cavalry coming over to help them at that precinct I-A. I ne\"er 
heard anything of the kind; don't think it was. 

Q. Did you hear any Democrats say they intended to vote as they 
damned pleased, and as many times as th~y pleased, and if Tom Car­
roll refused to certify that the election was fair and square that: lht'y 
intended to put a light hole through him !-A. No, sir; no one sop­
posed that he would refuse to certify until aft.er he left. 

Q. About what time in day did he leave, and did he vote before he 
left f-A. He left about twel"e o'clock, and voted jost before he It>t't. 

Q. Did every voter entitled to vote deposit his ballot there that day 
without molestation, and was or not the voting about o'·er whea Tom 
Carroll left !-A. Yes; all voted without molestation eXf'Jept a Ie­
Democrats who went down to Tropp's Mill and voted. We took DO 
votes after the Republican mallRgels left. We kept the box open uatil ax 
o'clock, but no one offered to vote. 
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Q. Did anyone threaten Tom Carroll with violence before he left !­
A. No; Tom was sitting down talking to me pleasantly just before he 
Jell; he asked me bow I thought the election was going; I told bim I 
thongbt we bad about a hundred the advantage of him. Some onfl else 
came in and asked bim how he was getting along; he said the Demo, 
erats were beating them. 

Q. Did Levy Graham, the other Republican manager, vote bt>fore he 
left, and bow long did he remain after Carroll lJad quit tho polls f-A. 
Yes; he voted before he left. He remained about fifteen minutes after 
Tom left the house. 

Q. Give us tbe particulars of how Carroll and Graham left the polls.­
A. Carroll went out of the house, I suppose, for water, or something of 
'he kind; in a few minute~ Graham's father-in-law came to the window 
'nd held a whispered conversation with Graham; he came to me and 
sked me to watch the box until he came back. I told him he had bet­
el' wait until Ollrroll came in; tlJat I had heard Jesse Jones, commis­
oner of election, tell them to watch the clerk and Democratic manager 
1 tbe day of election, alld I prefer he would stay until Tom come in. 
a few minutes he came to me again, and said he was compelled to go 
t. 1 told bim then to tell Lewis Williams, the UepubJican sU(lCrvisor, 
come in and watch the box until he came back. Lewis sut in the 

!lUOW and Graham went onto In a few moments Lewis walked out on 
, piazza and I saw 110 more of him. 1 walked to the door to see what 
I oocome of' them all, aud there was not a Rel'uhlican on the hill 
ept the United States marshal, Crist Harris. He came back and 
aiued on tbe piazza until uight. 
'. '''bat cauNed the l{.ellublic3n managers and supervisors to quit 
polls f-A. I think they left because tlley thought if they did so the 
would be thrown out. 
Who was llreseut when the votes were counted, and who helped 

to count the votes, and who signed the returns T-A. There were a 
~ many reople in the honse. The clerk, 1\[r. Boltewanger, the Dem­
ie supervisor, Mr. Cooper, and myself were the officials who did the 
mg. 1 siglJed the returns myself, bot DO one else did. 
\Vas the election at Boltewanger's a fair and square one, and con­
II accoroillg to law in counting the ballots 1L1lc1 making out the 
t8 f-A. Yes, it was, except Tom Carroll and Levy Graham, Re­
an managers, and Lewis Williams, Republican supervisor, ab­
IIg. 
)id aoy Democrats, as far as you obser,'ed that day, \'ote more 
!lce at that 1>011 t-A. No, they did not. 
~o you know Mr. D. B. I. Bell, of that township; and, if so, did 
, bim vote that day !-A. 1 don't think there is any man named 
jug in the township. 
o you know :Mr. ~\.b\ley Klegg f-A. Don't know him. 
") yon know Pierce .Mathews, andldid he \'ote there that day!­
lid not 'Tote there. I know him. 
d either of these men vote there in an assumed name or in their 
ae, and did you observe faces and namesr-A. Nobody ever 
ere that day under an assumed name. I asked everyone his 
arly, and swore everyone, of course. I did not ask a man his 
en I knew it. 
, Tom Carroll, one of the Republican managers, complain to you 
n repeatiug their ,"otes that dayt-A. :Xo; he ne\"er said any­
ut it. 
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Q. Did you see any guns in any part of the store-hoose that day t­
A_ No; I don't think there was any in there. 

Q. Did the Republicans, when they came up in a body, have clubs and 
walking-sticks !-A. I did not notice about the sticks. 

Q. Dave yoo visited Holtewanger's store before the election, and did 
you see any more guns there than usual T-A. Did not see any there 
at all. 

(~. Were there not a great many colored Democrats voted there that 
dby !-A. Yes; a great lUany were afraid to come in at tbe door and 
crawled in at the window. 

Q. Did you Clirry your gun with you to the polls; if so, tell U8 the 
reason why.-A. I carried my gun to the neighborhood and left it at a 
farm-bouse. 1 carried it because I heard' that the colored people were 
going to meet at Gl'neral Donovant's plantation and go in a solid body 
to the polls, and 1 thought I migbt have use for it, as tbey threatened 
to ba\-e tbings tbeir own way. 

Cross-examined b~- L. CAIN: 
Q. How near were YOll to ?lIr. Brooks when be was talking to Tom 

Carroll !-A. Right by his side. 
Q. When talking to Carroll about riding across bis field, did he 

threat(>n him f-A. No; he jU8t abused him. 
Q. Did Carroll make any reply to Captain BrooksT-A. No; he did not 

open his mouth. 
Q. Do you know Captain Brooks's age !-A. About forty-sc\"eo or 

eight; he is a middle-aged man. 
Q. Do you know wbether hi~ eyes are affected in any way!-A. Do 

not know it. 
Q. I understood you to say colored Democrats were in tbe room where 

the polls were beld. 'Yere there any colored Republicans in tbere !-A. 
Yes, there were a few in there; they came in wben they wanted to. 

Q. Dow do you know t.hat the colored lDen you speak of were Demo­
crats '-A. They belonged to tbe club. 

Q. How many colored men belonged to the Democratic club in that 
vicinity 7-A. Don't know; ba\"e 110 idea. 

Q. "~ere you at General Dono\"ant's plantation on the nigbt previous 
to the election !-A. No. 

Q. How do you know, then, that Carroll kept the colored people there 
all night making speeches to them !-A. It is a notorions fact; you 
don't deny it, or those who were with him. 

Q. Did YOll ever hear Carroll say he had them there !-A. No; neTer 
heard Carroll say so, but they said they were ordered there by Car­
roll, and Mr. Donovant left because they did come. 

Q. All you know about the assembling of these men was from bear­
say, was it nolt-A. The Uepnblicans themselves told me they were 
going to assemble there. 

Q. You stated in your direct examination that as Carroll's crowd w88 
approacbing the store they were met by a crowd of Democrats. How far 
from the store-house did t he crowd go to meet Carr:oll's crowd '-A. About 
one hundred yards. 

Q. Did you on any day pre\"'ious to the election hear the men singing, 
" Bang Tom Carroll on a sonr apple tree T "-A. I heard tbem 8inging 
hang Jeff Davis, anel substituting Tom Carroll for Jeff Dayh~. 

Q. You stated that Tom Carroll was talking to a crowd onUiide the 
window. Was this before or after the opening of the polls !-A. Before 
the opening of the polls. 
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Q. Did you hear wbat he was saying to this crowd !-A. No; did not 
hear. 

Q. I understand that you went to or near the polling-place on the day 
previous to the election. Did you carry your gun wit.h you T-A. I went 
uear the polling-place and staid all night and left my gun there:; did 
Dot carry it with me to the polls next day. . 

Q. At whose bouse did you stay that night T-A. At Mr. William 
Holtewang('r's. 

Q. Does he not own the store-house wbere the election was held!­
A. YeM; it is saill he doeN. 

Q. How far is itfrom 1\lr. William HoltewRlIger's dwelling-honse where 
yon staid that night to where yon opened the polls next morning !-A. 
Oue huudred and fifty or two hundred yards. 

Q. Do you know, Mr. Tompkinl'l, wbether any otber parties carried 
their guns there with them '-A. I don't know; it was a special order 
of the club that no arms should be carried to the polls. I carried mine 
because I expected to come to the Court-House with the box and wanted 
to bring mine with me, and did bring it with me to the Court-House. 

Q. You stated that Carroll was gone before you knew it. llo\v long 
was Graham gone before you knew it !-A. A very short time. 

Q. Did anyone assist yon in the counting of the \"otes but the clerk 
and super\"itlor T-A. Two other parties assorted them, but we counted 
them. . 

Q. Who were those parties T-A. 1\lr. Townsend and Trial·Justice 
Walker, Republican. . 

Q. Had any of these parties any official connection with t he elec­
tion f-A. No. 

Q. You stated that Pierce Mathews did not vote there that (lay I-A. 
He did not, and was not there. 

Q. Does Mr. Pierce Mathews live in your neighborhood !-A. He Jives 
six or seven miles from me. 

Q. Were you acquainted with all the men who \"oted there that day T­
A. No. 

Q. Were there not quite a number of strangers there that day !-A. 
I don't know all the men in my township, but there was more strange 
negroes than white men. 

Q. Yon stated that some colored Democrats came in the window to 
\"ote becanse they were afraid to come in at the door; did any of these 
colored Democrats tell you this '-A. Yes. • 

Q. You stated that the general rumor was that the colored people 
were going to have things their own way; did any of them make these 
threats to yon T-A. No; they did not. 

Q. What is the name of the township in which yon live '-A. Cooper. 
Q. What is the name of the township which joins that on the south !­

A. Dean's. 
Q. Does not Gray Township also join yours '-A. Yes; think it does. 
Q. Do not voters from all three of these to~nships vota at Holtewan­

ger's storef-A. A great many from Gray did, but if any from Dean's did 
I don't know it. 

Q. Are yon certain 8S to whether there is a man named Bell in either 
of tile townships named above I-A: There may be, bnt I don't know it. 

Redirect by George D. Tillman: 
Q. Is not the Donovant plantation a large and fertile one, witbont 

any white person living on it to exercise control over it T-A. General 
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Donovant's son lives there; but there were so many colored persons 
gathered there on that night he had to leave, as I stilted before. 

Q. Did you not kE'ep a close eye on those who helped you couut the 
votes to see they did nothing wrong f-A. The clerk and myself counted, 
and they only assorted them out for us. 

D. H. TOMPKI~S. 
Sworn to before me this the 11 th day of April, 18j7. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman allainst Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

J. B. BROOKS, a witness of legal aile, introduced by contestant, after 
dne notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions proponnd~: 

QUE'stion. State yonr age, residence, and where you were on the 7th 
of November last, election-day.-Answer. Forty-three years; Edgefield 

. Court-Honse, and have resided bere all my life; at Holtewanger's store 
on the day of election. 

Q. Are you a brother of the Bon. Preston S. Brooks, formerly a Con­
gressmnn from this State f-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you held any official position on the day of election '-A. ~o, 
sir. 

Q. Were you present at the opening of the polls at Holtewanger'a 
store '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was there any dispute or difference of opinion about organizing 
the business of the day, that is, holding the election' If 80, state it.­
A. Yes, sir j the Republican managers were late-1 suppose from a 
half to one boor behind the time. They had possession of the baUot­
box, and the Democrats hesitated and discu88f'd the propriety of hold­
ing the election at all. The managers discussed the point, and con­
cluded to open the polls. 

Q. Did you use any profane or abusive language that day' If so, to 
whom, and for what cause, when, and where I-A. I only remember to 
have used language of that kind once during the day; that was to a 
man named Tom Uarroll. The issue was I)Urely personal. In reference 
to the point of time, it was very early, in a back room of the store­
honse. 

Q. Where was the ballot held, and could voters, white aod colored. 
go in and out without intimidation and deposit their voteT-A. The 
box was placed in the front room of the store, near a front window, 
and near the door, and voters could go in and out with perfect facility-

Q. Was there any body of armed Democrats there, and was there 
any intimidation by that party that day'-A. There were no armed 
Democrats there, and I can state most positively that there was no 
intimidation or attempted intimidation. 

Q. Do yon know whether there were any arms in the store, left there 
by the militia before the war f-A. Upon that occasion, I do not kn01l'. 
Previous to this I had seen several old shot-guus, without locks and 
without rammers, lying about the store, and was told they had been 
left there by members of militia companies. 

Q. Was there many colored Democrats who voted at that box that 
day~-.A. Yes, sir; a ~ood many. 

Q. Did Thomas Carroll and Levy Graham, managers of election, to­
gether with about oue hundred aud twenty-five or two hundred Uepub-
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Jieao8, come charging and whooping around the polls '-A. I don't re­
mt'mber any whooping. They came in two bodies, in company style. 

Q. Was Dot many of these men armed with pistols or clubs '-A. I 
saw a great maoy with clubs; some few with pistols. 

Q. Was oot this d~monstration made to intimidate white and colorod 
DemOOl8ts f-A. I saw no demonstration made that seemed to be indic­
ative of aoything of that sort. 

Q. Did YOD bpar Democrats singing" We'll hang Tom Carroll on a 
8Oor-appJe tree t "-A. I heard two or three young men singing it. 

Q. Was tbe door of tbe store-house violently broken open that day, or 
an.v molestation of those holding tbe election by any one'-A. No, sir. 

Q. Do you know of any repeating at tbat box '-A. NOlie, sir. 
Q. Did you hear anything of tbe Newberry Oavalry'-A. I did not; 

IDd did not see a man froll) Newberry tbere, and I am very well ac­
luainted with the people of Newberry. 
Q. Did YOD hear Democrats say they would vote as the.v damned 

leased, and as often; and if Tom Carroll did not certify to the returns 
ley would blow a bole through bim '-A. I heard no such remarks. 
Q. Do you know any cause wby Grllham and Carroll left the box'-
None whatevl'r; and was very mnch surprised when I heard they 

re /COne. 
~. Have YOD witnessed many elections in Edgefield County hereto­
~ I-A. Yes, liir. 
J. Was not the cll'Ction on the 7th of November last at Holtewanger's 
a fair and lawful one in every respect '-A. As far as I could ob­

'(!, as fair an (llection as I ever witnessed. It seemed to me that there 
Jesli challenging and more fl'ee intercourse among voters than I ever 
before, and I was at aOlI about the polls .aU day, except when I 
. to dinner, when t11e Republican managers left. Early in tbe morn­
bere .seemed to be an inclination to crowd the polls in order to vote 
!Jut very soon they dispersed, when the negroes carne forward and 
freely l1'itbout interruption or hinderance, and I am satisfied that 
man who desired to vote, and who was entitled to it, of either 
voted that day. A few of the white men did not vote because 

.ere afraid tlJey would lose their vote on account of the man­
'ea\'illg. Tb~y tben went to anotber precinc~ and voted. Even 
r the Republican managers and the supervisor voted before they 
tt polls. 
Oil have stated that you bad a personal difficulty with Thomas 
ODe of the &publican managers. When did that occur, what 
bout, and wllat was tlaid and donet-A. It occurred vl!ry early 
IOl'uing when he first arrived, chiefly about his having, contrary 
'uers, \isited my premises and openly displaying army gUlls on 

I dOll't remember what was said .. I abused him, and wa.tlnot 
!>out the words I used. 
, matter was theu dropped, was it not t-A. He having expressed 
:~ appreheusion aftel'wards, as was repeated to me by a friend, 
lJiJD and told hiw to proceed with his duties. I had no idea of 
g with him, and tltated that. it was a personal matter altogether. 
\:!) the character ot'Thomas Carroll as to industry and hU:J gen­
trueD t-bisgeneral clmracter.-A. Heis regarded by tbe white 
ueiug a t.urbulent and bad character, and by the blacks us a 
for-not.hing politician. 

s-examined by Oain : 
.ay, Mr • .Hrooks, that the issue between you .. nd Tom C:.uroll 
·.is. 11----38 
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was pUl'l'ly pC'rsonal, and it was brought about chiefly by his displayiof 
arms on your placE'; how long before the election was it that he made 
this display T-A. I think it was tbe Sunday previous. . 

Q. Did ~'0t1 Sf'e him at 81lY time arter he was making these dil'plays 
on ~undflY before Tuesday morning T-A. No. 

Q. Did you see bim making these displays yourseIU-A. I W88 told 
so by a white mau who lives on my place, and also by one of the colored 
men in my f'mploy. 

Q. Tbis colorE'd man, does he claim to be a Democrat or a Republi. 
can T-A. Be claillls to he a neutral. 

Q. Have ~ou any idea how he voted in the last election T-A. I know 
he di(l not vote at all. 

Q. Were you with tbe crowd of men wbo went to meet Tom Carroll 
a8 they were approaching the polling·place T-A: I was there, but not 
with, the crowd. 

Q. I understood you to say thE'Y did sing tbe song" Haoll Tom Car· 
roll ou a sour·apple tree." 'Vho were tbey singingT-A. Three youog 
wen. 

(~. 'Yere these three young men wbite or colored WE'n T-A. They 
WE'r~ wbite men. 

Q. Can you give thf'ir names f-A. Yes, two; George Addison and 
PrE'ston Brooks. 

Q. Have you IJad anything to say to Tom Carroll since the election 
about your persrnal difficulties T-A. No; I told bim that day I bad said 
all I intended to say. 

Q. I undt'rstand you to say, tben, that you bad nothing to say to him 
prior to the election, nor 8ubsequent to the election, but that on the day 
of elt'ction, wben at the polling-place. you accosted him tbere and used 
abusive language toward him T-A. I state in reference to that: A sbort 
time before the election I met him on my place, and I told him mildly 
that his presence was disagreeable to me, and that I would 1'8ther be 
would keep away. After that, this Sunday "isit was paid with the arms, 
and on the day of election was the first occasion of my meeting him. 

Q. Was not Tom Carroll formerly owned by yon or your mother I-A. 
~o. . 

Q. lIas he not been in your employ nearly et"cr since the war, and 
did he not reside on the premises you forbade his coming on '-A. He 
was in my employment for several years after the war, and during tbat 
time did resided on the premises. 

Q. To whom did he belong before the war '-A. A man name Williams. 
Q. Was not Tom Carrolls father owned by your mother, and has be not 

resided on your place ever since tbe war I-A. Yas; and is a tenant now 
of mine, lil"illg on the outskirts of my plantation. 

Q. On the Sunday previous to tbe election, when Tom Carroll wason 
your premises, do you know whether he l"isited his fatbert-A. I do 
not know, though I think it doubtful, from the fact that he was io a 
buggy, anliJ it is inconvenient to get to bis father's hoose in a boggy. 

Q. You say Carroll is r('garded by the white peol,le as being a turbo· 
lent and bad character; has he ever, to yoor knowlp.dge, been tried alld 
convicted of theft or of pC'rjury T-A. I don't know that he has been eoD­
vided of eithl'r, but has bt't:'Il been cbarged with both. 

Q. Yoo say you saw colored men with llistolll that day; did you 800 
allY white men with pistols T-A. Yes. 

(~. Did yoo see any white mell' with cluus or walking·sticks f-A. 
)\ot that I remember. 

~. You stated that YOIl saw colored IOl'n with clubs; did you notice 
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particnlarly to see IVhether they w .. re clubs or walking-sticks '-A_ lob­
sPrVtl! that they were huge, fresh-cut sticks, larger than a walking­
stick; don't remember how long they were. 

Q. Were yon acqoainted with all the men you saw there f-A. Nearly 
all the wbite men, bot not a great lDany of the colored men. 

Q. Might not white men ha,"e been there from the county of Yew­
berry, and yon not have seen them f-A. Undoubtedly. 

Q. Yon said that the whites showed a disposition early in the morn­
'og to crowd the polling-place. bnt subsequently they dh~persed; about 
vb at time did they disperse '-A. Very shortly after the polls were 
pel/M. 
Q. Did not a nomber of colored men lel\ve there while these white 

'ell wtlre crowding 80 '-A. I did not see one go off or leave the place. 
Q. Were you present at the counting of the votes '-A. I was not. 

Redirect by Mr. Charleton : 
Q. Wben tbe two ,bodies of voters, Democratic and Republican, met 
the pollK, were Dot their manlier that of frolic and fun more than 
tile f-A. Tbe otmost goud humor prevailed on both sides, and inter-
I1ge of laughter and occasional cheers. _ 
'. Was Dot tbe matter of singiug the song that of amusement '-A. 
'getber, I think. • 

Was there any other cause of difference, excppt the display of 
!d force on your premises, between you and T. Carroll '-A. Yes; 
l he was lllieriff I had made advances to his family, which he refused 
.r for, or be did not pay, and refused to give his note for. 

J. H. BROOK~ • 
.1Tn tQ before me this the 12th day of April, 1877. 
lL.1 O. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Oongress of the United States. 

~HA.M JONES, a witnetls of legal age, introduced by contestant, 
Ie notice to contestee, deposes as follows to questions propounded 

ion. Name yonr age, residence, and where were you on the 7th 
lUber, the day of election f-.inswer. I am seventy years; was 
I raised in ~dgefield Oounty; was at Edgefield Oourt-Honse on 
".Jf eJection. 
\-e you not been a member of the legislature, and have you not 
er offices in the coullty '-A. I was elecwd to the legislature 
. and ha\"e heltI other offices ever since from the time I was 
IC. 
you vote, and, if you· did, where did you \'ote T-A. At Mor­
!ool-house that day. 
long did yon relllllin there that day'-A. I was there from, 2 

sil nearly dark. 
e .l"OIl were there did you st'e any intimidation by the whites ,­
lid Dot. I saw men with red shirts riding about the streets 
)u t .tid [lot st'e any intimidation attempted by them. 
ou notice anything peculiar about the way the election was 

If so, state it fully.-A. I saw the United soldiers as 
II nd tbe door ontside and 1\ cl'Owd of voters outsil1e pressing 
.~·bo kept them back with their guus. aUti an officer iu com­
bis sword drawn; alld he would sel~ct with his sword by 
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tooching those who were to go in next to vote. As the colored man at the 
door would call out, "Send in ten men," the officer would again select by 
touchiug with his sword those to go, uot taking them as they came, bat 
selecting them from the crowd, sometimes reaching over to touch ODe 
behind anotber, and sometimes skipping two or three. I was selected 
from the crowd with another \vhit.e man at the same time, aod OODe 
dared go in bot those who were 80 tooched by this officer. When they 
had voted, they were let out of a window. 

Q. When you were returning home from the polla, about dark, did YOD 
meet a crowd of colored voters, or rather overtake such a crowd. anel did 
you have any conversation with tbem I And, if 80, state the substance 
of that couversation.-A. We overtook a crowd of twenty-fit'e or 
thirty. I asked them if they bad aU voted. Qne of them spoke and said, 
"None of os. did vote." Another one said, " Yoo're a liar; I voted,1/ 
and the other said, "We]), if yoo voted, you are the only one." Then I 
asked them, " Why did yoo not ,"ote I" and they said, ., There were 80 
many there we could not get in." Then I asked them, " Where did you 
come from," They said, " From the other side of Cu~o." I .. ked 
why they did not vote at Curry ton. Baid, ,. We were all told to COIDfl 
here to vote, at Edgefield." I said, "Yoo came right from Red Hill" 
They said they heard the box was broken npat Red Hill. I asked them 
why tb .. y did not \'ote at Landrum's. They said, "We were told to come 
to Edgefield, and we came here." They said they came right by Lan­
drom's store. I asked them who told them to come here. They lllid 
Cain sent them word to come; "that the Yankees were here, and we 
woold ha\'e protection; but they were not Yankees; they are damned 
rebels." 

Q. Did yon recognize any of the men io that crowd !-A. No; I did 
not; they were strangers to me ; it was so dark I coold not see them, 
but I did not recoguiz.e any of them. 

Q. Were those wen not on tbe direct road to Aiken, and on a righ\­
angle road from the direct route to Curry ton !-A. They were. 

Cross-examined: 
Q. How far were these men from the court-house when you ol"ertoot 

them '-A. Aboot a mile. 
Q, What time in the evening was it yoo overtook them' Was it 80 

dark you could not distinguish their faces T-A. Yes; I only know they 
were colored men. 

Q. You are positive there were no white men with them !-A. Yone 
only myself and Mr. Kirksey, wbo was in the buggy with me. 

Q. Did I understand you to say that these men came from the other 
side of Corryton and Shaw's mill f-A. Shaw'8 mill was not mentioned; 
I said from the other side of Curry ton. 

Q. Do yon know the distance from Shaw~s mill to Curry ton !-A. To 
my knowledge it is five or six miles. 

Q. You Sll~' that one of tbis party you ovprtook said to yoo tbat he 
was told that Cain said be most come to Edgefield Coort-Hoo!le be­
cao>!e tbe Yankees were here; were not troops stationf.'d at Shaw's 
mill t-A. I don't know; I know that tbey were sent oot, bot never 
knew wbere they weot. 

Q. Did yon see any white meo bere from a distance, say twenty or 
thirty miles I-A. I did Dot; they may have been herl', bot I did Dol 
sef'tbpm. I R~W persons here from Pine Hoose and Johosoo'$, and bf. 
tween these points. 

Q. Did you see I. P. Black't"ell Rll'l John Swarpngpn !-A. I saw Yr. 
Sawrengen, bot oot the other. 
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Q. Bow far does Mr. Swarengen Jive from Landrum's store, the vot­
ing·precinct f-A. Between two and three miles. 

Q. Yon say you saw parties here from Johnson's. Is not Johnson's a 
voting-precinct, and was not the box opened there on NO\'ember 7th 
lasH-A. I believe 80, from what I heard. I did not see it. 

Q. Did you not Ree persons bere from Ri«lge Springs that day t-A. I 
do not remember that I did. -

Q. Yon say tbat the officer, in pointing ont ten men, would sometimes 
skip some and take others. Did they skip wbite as well as black I-A. 
Tbere were more black than wh!te meo, a great many more, but some­
times one and 80metimes two white men would go in to make ten. 

Q. In yonr opiniou did this officer have any regard for either political 
)arty in hi8 8electing the ten t-A. I think not; he seemed to skip those 
rbo seemed more anxions togo and select those who were more quiet. 
Q. Wben the ten men would come in to vote, did Y"u notice how long 

. took to vote !-A. No; I had no time· piece, but I thought it took 
,me time to do it. I thought that the Republican manager wanted to 
lal/eoge all the white men, and the Democrat managers the same with 
e colored voters. They killed more time than anbody else. The Re· 
blican manager, I mean, wou1<1 challenge all whom he thonght too 
[Ing or who was a stranger. Some he did not challenge. He did not 
l/lenge me. And the same way with the Democratic manager. I 
8t say tbat-they occupied more time than W8S absolutt\ly necessary. 
!. Did yon at any time during that day hear the Repnblican mana­
ask any white man had he been convicted ot" any crime f-A. I did 

, Did you not, on the other hand, hear the Democratic manager or • 
,rvisor ask this question to colored men: "Don't you live in Aiken 
Jtyf Have you not served a term in the penitentiary f Dill you 
ive in Georgia last year f Are you certain that yon are tweuty-

And ha\"e you not already '\"oted to·day tn_A. I heard them ask, 
you live in Edgefield County f H"ve you not voted before at this 
~n , ADd have you not been convicted of any crime !" And 
tbey would ask if they were twenty·one years old, if they looket.l 
lioos. 
00 yon not remember that on several occasiolls, when colored 
mold attempt to vote, some white man would say, ,; That man 
ted;" then the voting would stop until the poll.list W88 perused 
his name '-A. I think I did in two instances. 

10 yon not remember that they failed, and then let them vote !­
;; I remember the two instances. 
·hat time in the day did yon reach box No. 2 t-A. Abont 2 
p. m. 
)u said you saw men with red 8hirts riding up and down the 
Was not their demeanor rather a boisterou8 one f-A. They 

to be having their fnn. They were laughing, talking, and hol­
I did Dot see them interfere with anybody. 
I yon see any pi8tol8, gnns, or sticks with the crowd !-A. r 
~DS or pistols only those the soldiers had. I saw John SW8r­
,va a large stick. I did not see him use it in a good humor. 
you were going np the lane to the school· house, did you not 
rea,1i many red·shirterR riding toward the court-housel-A. I 
,r three together riding abont both ways. Saw no crowd of 
t up at the scbool-house there were forty or fifty sitting on 
as 00 tside the crowd. They were forty yards from the door. 
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Q. Do you remember seeing a covered wagon Deaf that plaee that 
day'-A. No, I did not; don't think there was any wagon there. 

Q. Wben you left tbere bow many meD did yon leave there tryiog to 
vote '-A. 1 think there were two bundred, or Dear~ three bUDdred,oo 
tbe palings and around tbe place. 

Q. Did voters, 3S. soon as they deposited their ballots, linger arouDd 
tbere or go bome !-A. Yes, tbey did. I lingered myself; did not leave 
until dark. I tbink the most of them lingered around there. 

Q. Have you any reason to believe, from all you saw aDd.bearo, bot 
what most of t1.&e crowd whom you left at the polls had voted !-A. I 
don't know, but ha\"e no reason to heJie\"e .th~y had not. I saw 80_ 
8tanding at the line witb tickets in tbeir bands or papers. I thougbt 
them tickets. 

ABHM. JOSE5. 
Sworn to b.·fore me this t1.H~ 12th day of April, 1877. 
fSEAL.j C. S. B. MARSH, 

Inteltdtaf. 

In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against R~bPrt 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the Uuited States. 

JOEL :MERIWETHER, a witness of IE'gal agE', introduced by cootest· 
ant, after due notice to contestee, deposes AS follows to questions pro­
pounded to him: 

Question. State your age~ residence, and where you were on the 'jlh 
of NovE'mber last, the day of election.-Answer. Fifty-five yeal'8 old; 
live in Edgefif'ld CourtHouse all my life, and was at Shaw's mill pre· 
cinct on 7th Novembf'r last as manager of election. 

Q, You were the Democratic manager, were you not !-A. I wall. 
Q. WE're there two Rf'publican managers! If not, why!-.o\. There 

wasoneRepublican managf'r. One was said to be appointed, which I ban 
no proof of except a blank oath sworn to and subscribE'd to bt>fore lIr. 
Jesse JOlles, C. C. C. P.-which letters mean, clerk of the court of COlli· 
mon pleas-.:-dated November 4, A. D. 1876. He (the clt.ark) being at 
Edgetielu Court-House; the Republican manager said to be (Jerrit 
Mar:kef') twent.y-two miles off. 

Q. not's not the law of South Carolina require 8 manag~r of election 
before he can act to subscribe to a written oath, and for that oatb to be 
filed· immediately in the clerk's office of that county !-A. Tbat is my 
understanding of the law, And what I was requirt'd as manager to do 
by Jones, the clerk, who was altm commissioner of election. 

Q. Did Seaborn l\leriweth(>r act as manager for the Republicans and 
did he subloocribe to a written oath before the day of election, like your· 
selft-A. He diu act as manager tor tbe Republicans with me at Sba .. "s 
mills, and did subscribe to the oath likewise before the election, and file 
it with Jones, the clerk of the county, as I did. 

Q. When you and Seaborn Meriwether qualified 8S managers before 
Jones, was anything sai4i about Jerrie l\lackee qualifying IUS the otber 
Republican manager; and, if so, what and by whom !-A. There W88 

this said by Jones, holding the oath in his hand, to Seaborn Meriwether, 
which 1 now show, "Make him sign this and send it to roo to place 011 
IDe." 

(Paper marked "Exhibit A" offered by contestant'li counsel, purport­
ing to be the oath spokeD of.) 

Q. Did you see Jones hand a paper to Seaborn Meriwether that day; 
and, if 80, do ~'ou idE'utify it as the l)aper you bave produced in 00011 f­
A. I did; and this Exbibit A is the papel': 
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"EXHIBIT A.-O. S. B. Marsh. 

"EDGEFIELD, S. 0., November, 1876. 
"I do solemnly swear that I am duly qualified according to the Oon­

stitution of the United States and of this State to exercise the duties 
of the office to which I have been appointed, and that I will faith"fully 
discharge, to the best of my abilities, the duties thereof; that I recog­
nize the supremacy of the Oonstitution and laws of the Uuited States 
over the constitution and laws of any State; and that I will au pport, . 
protect, and defend the Ooustitution of the United States 3ncl the con­
stitution of South Carolina as ratified by the people on the 16th day of 
April, 1868: So"help me God. 

------. 
"Sworn toandsobscribed before me this 4th day of No,'emberr A. D . 

.876. 
[SEAL.1 "JESSE JO~ES, 

"Olerk of the CO/trt of Common Pleas." 

Q. Who I're\"ented Jerrie Mackee, the other Republican mlmager, 
)10 acting aR lIuch that day, and what was said allll done about it f-
It was referred to Oolonel Falck, cODlmanding the post, and he 

3ided that II" could not act. 
J. Who was elected chairman of the board and by what vot.e f-A. 
"as, and by Seaborn Meriwether's vote. 
~. Who was t>lected clerk of the board, and by what vote?-A. H. 
Scott; and by the vote of Seaborn Meriwether and myself . 
. Did you see any gUlls in the hands of the white people at. any time 
og that day '-A. I did not see one gun except those in the hands 
"oited States soldiers. 

Did you sec, Bob Holsonback, the colored Democrat, ancl Tom 
wether, not far from Shaw's Mill, at their camps, with gun:>, or did 
'arty with whom they were camping have guns, on the morning of 
~Iection '-A. I was at the camp at night and saw no gl1n~. 
How many men were in that camp; aud what causeu thbm to go 
, polls on the night before T-A. There were twenty-five or thirty, 
bly more ata distance from their homes at the polls to vote; they had 
Ie, some of th(>m, twenty miles at least, being hemmed up between 
;evens Creek and the Savannah H.iver, the Rocky Pond precinct 
l.bolisbed for no reasonable canse why it should have beeu. 
Ind tbe men at that camp been in the habit of voting at Rocky 
precinct; and by what political party had that precinct been 
ed I-A. They had j and it was abolisht'd by the thieving rule 
II ueen in South Olll'Olina for the last ten yt'ars, for the pllrpo~e, 
ldgment, of allowing the colored Rt'publicllns a chance to repeat 
JaW'd l\1ill, Ollrryton, and Lawrence's Store, tbretl precincts in 
nsbip, in a right line of eight or ten mileM. 
!JS any in timidation or viulenc:e pmcticed by Democrats there 
toward Hepublicans f-_\. ~one whatever tbl,t I sa,,'. 
you or not codsider that the election at that poll was a fair 

III of the people's will '-A. I do think so. 
10 participated in counting the votes, and if any cheating was 
1 w h i Ie the count was going 011, who did it, and what was it ,­
I'D Meriwether, Republicllll manager, H. H. Scott, th" "lerk 
n~ Dennis Sullivan, the Republican supervisor, D. O. Han­
.. oeratic snpervisor, and mY8tM. Deunis Sullivan, an infernal· 
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tbief, stole tbree vo~ wbile counting, threw tbem out of tbe box, and 
were picked up under bis feet; tbo!le votes were an Democrat votes. 

Q. What time did you get through tbe count, ami wbat time were 
tbe returns signed '-A. I suppose betweeu two and tbree o'clock at 
nigbt. I being very unwell tbe wbole day and nigbt, closed and fin­
ished tbe next morning, giving Seaborn Meriwether tbe key and I kept 
tbe box. 

Q. Were tbe returns written out and signed early tbe next morning, 
and did you not finish tbe count before returning the ballots ro the box 
and locking it '-A. They were written out and signed early the next 
morning. Everytbing was finished up so far as the cou~ting was con­
cerned before the box was looked aud the key given to the other mana­
ger. 

Q. Do you remember three colored mpn, respectively namell RAndal 
Middleton, Conway Lamar, and Robert Kinner, who attempted to vote 
there that day, and if they did not vote can you state the reason wby'­
A. I remember Kinner and Middleton, being under age, one of my own 
knowledge and the other from tbe knowledge of another person who 
said he was under age. COllway Lamar was recently frolD Georgia, 
witbin tbree or four weeks, and tbey were refused to vote for tbe rea-
80n stated. 

Q. Of wbich race did yon see tbe most strangers to you there that 
day, wbite or colored i-A. The colored, and large numbers of tbem_ I 
a few years ago knew every colored lOan within ten miles of tbat place, 
or nearly 80. 

Q. Was tbe box removed at any time from wb('!re yon first propostd 
to bave tbe voting, and, if so, by wbose order '-A. It was, and by the 
order of the commander of the post. 

Q_ At whose inlltance did the commandant of the post order tbe boI 
to be removed to anotber place '-A. At tbe instance of united States 
Deputy Field-Marshal Oolonel Kinn('!r. 

Q_ Had the voting commenced when the commamlant of tbe post 
ordered the box to be removed to another place '-A. It bad not; it 
bas been 80 stated. but it's a willful, maliciotls, nnmitigated lie. 

Q. Where was it proposed to open the polls at first, and for wbat rea-
80n was the place selected '-A. It was proposed to he beld on a plat­
form between the packing-room and cotton-press, which was six feet 
from tbe ground, and was proposed to pnt the box there to keep from 
being crowcled, for it is a notorious fact that wben negroes get to the 
polls they all want to vote at once. 

Q. When the box was brought down from the platform, did you carry 
it bebind any house or bave it in your prh-ate keeping, aCter it bad been 
cleaned out preparatory to receiving tbevotes after it bad been looked!­
A. I did not carry it behind any bonse, for there was no house CODVl'O­

ient to carry it bebind. Nor diel I have it in my possession prh'ately 
or exclusively that day; and Dennis Sullivau, wben be 80 stated, toe.­
tbat be was telling a willfnl, malicious, nnmitigated lie. 

Q. Which party, Democratic or Republican, was most disorderly that 
day'-A. The Republican party; I could not keep them off'my feet. I 
requested the Unit('!d States marshal and supervisor, Rnd they could 
do notbing with them; they broke down the barrier we erected aod 
crowded on ns. 

Cross-examined by L. Cain: 
Q. Did you not read the names of all the managers appointed by the 

commissioners of election in the Edgefield ..ldvertiser, a week or teD 
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days beCore tbe elt'ction !-A. To the best of my recollection I did not 
or neVEU' ha,e. 

Q. Had yon any knowledge of the appointment of Jerry Mackee as 
maoagt'13tSbaw's Mill before the morning of the 7th of Novembert­
A. Except tbis thing of Jesse Jones; and from hearsay; that was on 
Saturday before the election. 

Q. Were yon not at Edgefield Court-House on Saturday previous to 
the election, and were you not informed by one of the commissioners of 
election that Jerry Mackee had been appointed one of the managers at 
Sbaw's Mill T-A. I was at Edg('lfield Court· House ou the 4th of Novem· 
ber, Saturday. No commissioner gave me any information concerning 
Jerry Mackee, whatever. . 

Q. You have exhibited a blank oath here, purporting to have been 
signed by Jesse Jones, clerk of the court of common pleas. Did you see 
Jesse Jones when he affixed his name to that blank oath '-A. Jones 
held the blank oath in his hand when he ha.nded it to Seaborn Meriwether, 
and said, II This is for the other man, JelTY Mackee, to sign and return ~ 
me." I did not see him sign it. . 

Q. Did yon, Mr. Meriwether, notice that blank oath to see whether 
rerry Mackee's name Wa<J on it when Jones handed it to Seaborn l\Ieri­
rether, or can yon inform me as to whether or not Jerry Mackee's name 
j on the blank oath you exhibited bere '-A. It never was j was not 
'ben Jones banded it ~o Seborn Meraiwether, and is not now. 
Q. Are you familiar with Jesse Jones's signature T-A. I am not, aud 

!ver want to be. 
Q. Did Jerry Mackee. on the morning of the 7th of November, apply 
you as manager to administer the oath to him '-A. My recollection 
t.bat Jerry Mackee asked me where Mr. W. G. HarriS, trialjustice, was, 
1 8ske<J if he could not qllali(y him, and did not apply to me, as I 
)(~rnb('r. I told him we could qualify him, and I did not know where 
, Harris was. 
!. What time in the morning was it yOIl told Jerry Mackee this'-A. 
m't know positively. It was early in the morning, before the polls 
~ opened. 
, Did Jerry l\Iackee apply to you a second time almot taking the 
and entering upou his duties·as manager!-A. He did not in per· 

Did you refer the matter about Jerry Mackee to Colonel Falck, or 
ou go to Colonel Falck and see him youraeln-A. I did not go to see 
leI Falck; if I referred it, it was through another party. I only sent 
be election law. I have no recollection of sending any party. 
Are yon positi\'"e that Colonel Falck decided that Jerry Mackee 
not act T-A. Only from the evidence of D. O. Hancock, Demo· 
supervisor, and Dennis Snllivan, Republican supervisor, and Jerry' 
dsting to serve as manager after the decision ot' the commandant 
post. 
r OIt say that Mr. H. B. Scott was elected clerk of the board of 
era. Is he a native of South Oarolina I-A. He was born and 
within seven or eight miles of Shaw's Mills. 
id he not reside in the State of Georgia a short while before the 
T-A. He resided in Augusta, Ga., t\VO or three years, bot has 
ck to Sooth Carolina four or five years. 
)11 I'tated in your direct examination that white men oame from 
~ond, twenty miles distant, to ,-ote. Did any men cross the creek 
"!'J side to vote at Shaw's Mill that day f-A. Lots of Republioan 
~d some white men. 
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Q. The crt'ek was not so high they could not cross over-I mean Big 
Stevelllil Creek-from thiM side to vote f-A. No, it waM low. 

Q. At how many elections since the war have you known the polls 
to be held at Rocky Pond f-A. I know it lias beeu held tbere twice 
siDc~ the war, but not siuce that thieving ring has been in power; I mean 
the Republicaus. 

Q. You May that in establishing tbe voting-precincts, Shaw's, Corryton, 
and Landrum's, that, in your judgment, the Radical party did so in Of­

der tbat their party migbt repeat. Have yoo ever known aoy of the 
Radical voters to repeat at these precincts; anel, if so, have you reported 
tbem to any of the authorities f-A. The election of November, lSa, 
I was supervisor at Shaw's Mill precinct. Two cases were reported to 
me as having voted at Cnrryton, three miles and a half from Sbaw'lI 
Mill, after being refused at Shaw's Mill for being nnder age; ooe of tbem 
to DIy certain knowledge was-having raised him. Other cases bafing 
been reported, the poll-list being destroyed, there was no evidence from 
poll-list that woulll couvict, nor no judge bonest elJough to punisb. 

-Q. Are these the kind of cases you call repeating i-A. Otber caseg 
voting at Landrum's Store the same way and at !Shaw's ~lil1. 

Q. Do you know this to be a fact, or were you so informed by Eome 
one else T-A. I was so informed through lists of names sent back and 
forth. 

Q. Did you ever examine tbe poll-list at Landrnm's Rtore to see iC yon 
could find tbe same names on as those at Shaw's Mill when you were 
sopervisor f-A. I never did. 

Q. Were you not a manager at Shaw's Mill in 1810 and 18j2 j aOll, if 
you were not manager, were you iu aoy way officially counected with 
tbe election there !-A. I was never manager or supervisor or officially 
connected with tbe election, except in 1814 and 1816. 

Q. Do you know anything about how the vote stood there in 1810 and 
187j '-A. I have uo recollection of the election in 1810 and 18j2. 

Q. Did yon see Sullivan when he took the votes ont of the box which 
you claim he had stolen !-A. I did not see him, but saw tbe votes uuder 
his feet, wbere there was no necessity for tbe Democratic votes to be, or 
any other votes. 

Q. Was the box not immediately in your front !-A. Not tbat bebeld. 
The votes were drawn from the polling-box and put in anotber box, 
which he held. 

Q. As you were drawing them from the polling-box and putting them 
in the box be beld, were you not counting them '-A. Yes; aud that ill 
the way we fouud out the missing Yotes. 

Q. I understood you to state that you met early next morDing Cor tbe 
purpose of certifying to the returDS. Was the box containing the ,-ote!! 
sealed that night, or did you not seal it until next morning !-A. Sext 
morning. 

Q. Did the managers, supervisors, antI clerk all reassemble the Dext 
morning for the purpose of certifying to tbe election aud stlaliug the 
box T-A. Oue of the supervisors, Daniel Sullivan, refused to ha\'eany­
thing to do with it. The other supervisor, D. O. Hancock, tbe manager, 
Seaborn Meriwether, met. The box was opened in tbe Pre8CDce of 011 
all. The clerk being sick, he was not there. 

Q. Did you aud these parties reassemble at the polling-placeT-A. 
No; we al:tsembled at Mr. Rives's, one mile from the polling place, where 
I staid all night, beiug very sick; and we reopened the box. 

Q. Y OD stated that some colored mell attempted to vote, and were 
refused on account of being minors. Did they vote f-A. :Xo. 
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Q. You S8Y colored men stepped on your toes and crowded you. Did 
any white men step on your toes'-A. Not one. . 

JOS. MERIWETHER. 
Sworn to before me this the 12th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

In the mattf'r of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
8malls for a seat iu the Congress of the United States. 

JOHN T. GASTON, a witness of legal age, introduce(l by contestant 
after due notice to contestee, deposes as fol1ows to qnestions propoonded 
to him: 

Question. What is yoor age, residence, and where were you on the 
7th of November last, the day of election '-Answer. Thirty-six years 
old; born near Ridge 8pring, and was at Ridge Spring on 7th of Novem­
ber last. 

Q. Were the pons opf'ne(l according to law, anti did the yoting pro­
ceed quietly and orderly doring the day !-A. According to my judg­
IDt'nt they did, and the po)]s were opened according to law. 

Q. Were you present at the box during the whole day I-A. I was on 
the groonds all day; sometimes at the box and sometimes outdoors. 

Q. Were yoo present whe:) the counting of the vote and the retorns 
were made by the officers of the election I-A. I was present when the 
polls closed, and was asked by the managers to leave the room with 
the balance of the crowd, and did so. 

Q. What manager requested it '-A. First and the 8upcrl"isor, (the 
Republican,) after consulting with others; all agreed to leave bot the 
officials. 

Q, Was th('re any dispote or disagreement in regard to the count 
or signing the returus, as far as you know T-A. None that I heard of. 

Q. State if you saw a demonstration made by about two hundred 
Republican voters that day, and what was said and done aboot it; give 
os the fun particulars.-A. It was, I suppose, aboot 10 o'clock a. In.; 
some two hundred colored lDen came up the road hollowing and cursing­
cheering Chamberlain and corsing Hampton. The crowd had clubs 
and sticks; one man had a foot-adze, with a long handle to it; two 
vehicles behind the crowd both had guns in them; the crowd went over 
to the po)]s, and I suppose all voted; going to the polls I met them; I 
told them that they could hollow for Ollamberlain, but must not curse 
Wade Hampton again; if they did, those who did it would be sorry for 
it; no other man that I know of said anything to them but myself. 
Robert Watson came up and said to me, "Let them Ray what they please, 
for it is the last chance they will ever ha\"e to honow." He went through 
the crowd patting the men on the shoulder, and teJIing them to cheer for 

'Chamberlain as much as they please. 1\[1'. Watson is a white democrat, 
and employs a large number of colored Olen on his plantation. 

Q. Who was the leader of this large crowd, and what was the bear­
ing of this leader !-A. It is generally known that George Jackson, the 
Republican supervisor, was the leader of them, but he was not with 
them that morning. lie arrived there Kome little time before they 
came up. 

Q. Was not this demonstration intended to intimidate tile colored 
Democratic clubs as well as the whites, and to take possession of the 
poUs, as they had done at preYious election s , Did they not say, "Clear 
the way, we are coming," or something to that eft'ect !-A. I fu)]y believe 
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it was intended to intimidate the colored Democratic clnbs 88 wen as the 
white men. Some one bollowed out, "Clear the way, we are coming.' 
It had been tbeir custom be(ore to take poss(>ssiou of the polls at pre 
vious elections. 

Q. Did they not approach the polls in a threatening and menacing 
manner, and was there many white men there at any time during tbe 
·day f-A. They diel advance to the polls in a body. crowding around 
the door, yelling and hollowing., as they did up the road. Do not tblnk 
there was exceeding one hundred white men there at anyone time duro 
ing the day. 

Q. Do you know of any intimidation there by white men that day to­
'Ward Republicans I-A. I do not, unless what Mr. Oarwile said to Boney. 
Every body was of the impression that the coloreel Republicans were 
going to get up a difficulty. We had beard so several times from ReV· 
-eral coloreel Democrats. Memhers of my club-in fact one of them bad 
been beaten the day or two before that by Republicans on account of 
politics. This is the reason why Mr. Oarwile saiel what be did to this 
colored man. Baiel he, (Oarwile,) go tell Boney that if he and George 
·Jackson gets up the difficulty here to.day, that 1 hear they intend to do, 
I intend to kill him, (Boney.) 

Q. \Vas not H. U. Boney around that day; and, if so, what was his 
deportment f-A. I am uot certain about his arms; think he hall a pis· 
tol in his overcoat pocket. He walkeel about there just as be pleased; 
DO one disturbed him; I shook hands with bim myself. 

Q. How many colored Democrats voted at that box that day !-A. I 
don't know how many. I had thirty in my club, and there were otbers 
in the neighborhood. Mr. Nicholson had a club of ten, anel a great 
many carne in with citizens that did not belong to any club and voted. 

Q. Was any man, legally entitled to vote, denied the privilege of 
voting that day at that box I-A. Not that I know or heard. of. 

Q. Did you see a large number of strangers at that box that day, 
both colored and white f-A. I don't know that I saw many wbite meD 
whom I did not know. I saw lots of colored people there whom I did 
not know. I saw one man (colored) from Billknight's f~rry, twenty.five 
miles away, whom I knew; he lives on Banknight's place now. 

Q. Did you see any colored Republica.ns from Aiken, Lexington, or 
any other county than Edgefield, wbo tried to vote at that box tbat 
day I-A. I saw a few from Aiken, a few from Lexington, and twelve 
got oft' the train, wbom, the conductor informed me, got on in Oolum· 
bia,and five from Leesville, in Lexington Oounty; he called myatten· 
tiou to them, and told me to watch them, and the Rev. 1\11'. KilOlfman 
followed tho1\8 five from Leesville, in Lexington Oounty, and saiel they 
had voted in Leesville before they left. 

Q. Did not the Democratic manager and superviRor object to those 
men voting there, especially those from Aiken and Lflxington Oountiesf 
-A. I don't know that thcy did; don't know that they knew them or 
not. 

Q. Was not some colored Repoblica.ns refused the privilege of voting 
because they were nOIl·residents of Edgefiehl Oounty and not entitlt>d 
to vote I-A. Those who lived nearest there, but out of the county. 
One or two from Aiken Oounty, ODe or two from Lexington Oounty, 
who were known to the omears of election, were refused; anll they were 
also known to me, and I challenged two of their votes myself:. 

Q. Was there not from one hundred and twenty· five to one hundred 
and seventy.five colored Republicans who moved away from Ridge 
Spring vicinity and adjoillillg townships of Edgefieltl Oounty in the 
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years 1874 and 1875 '-A. Suppose tbere were at least tbat many. Jl 
know of Uobert Watson sending off from bis plantation twenty· five or 
thirty, and T. Watson sent oft' a large lot, alld it was a general tbin~ 
throughout the neighborhood to send them off. 

Q. Was not tbe place of this labor sl1ppliec:l in a great measure by 
the introduction of white labort'rs from Newberry Rnd Lexington Coun· 
ties and otber places who voted the Democratic ticket on November 7 
last T-A. It was. 

Cross-examined by L. Cain. 
Q. You stated it was a general unc.lerstanding aiDong tbe planters to­

send the laborers off; when was this agreed upon' and state why tbis 
sJstem was inangurated.-A. It was some time after the electioll of 
1814. They claimed that umler the Radical rule tbey would not be able­
to feed them, and that everything was going to destruotion. 

Q. Did not about as many white laborers come in to take tlleir place 
as those you sent off!-A. I suppose pretty much tbe same. 

Q. Is it oheaper to feed white laborers than colored, or dot's it oot 
cost moreY-A. The laborers that was brought there-a large portion of 
it fed themselves. 

Q. You stated that the colored laborers were sent oft'; in what way; 
did they pay their way, or did you assist them, or just discharge them 
from their 1arms I-A. I made no inquiry as to tbe way they left; I 
know theS went. 

Q. Were not the colored laborers that you speak of, in a great meas· 
Ilte, proscribed a1111 refusetl employmellt 011 account of their political 
lroclivitiea '-A. Not tbat I know of. 

Q. You say their places were fi1lt'd by wbite lnborers; were oot a 
uge number of the wbite labort'fs found in Edgefit'ld Oounty and in the 
icinityof the Ridge !-A. Some came from Newberry and some from. 
exiogton. None from Edgefield, that I remember, or in the "icinity 
, the Ridge. 
Q. You stated that Mr. Robert Watson sent off twenty·five or thirty. 
ave aU them been sent off since tbe ele(~tion of 1874 Y-A. Tht'y bave •. 
Q. Has be employed fully that Dlany wbite laborers in tbeir stead ,-
His place is all in cultivation, autl the greater portion of it by white 

n; and the colored men on bis place ditl not vote at all, or voted the 
mocratic ticket at the last election. 
~. Give as many of tbe names of the wbite laborers on Mr. Watson's­
ce as you can, who came from Newberry.-A. n. O. Dominick, Preston 
kard, Levy Rickard, John Hickard. I don't. remember the others 

. Name as many us you can who came from Lexington to Mr .. 
:son's.-A. Spradleys, I don't know how mallY, anu Folun. I don't 
~ In ber til e rest. 
How many white men have been emplo~'ed on Maj. T. Watson's 

~ in lieu of the colored ones sellt olIt-A. 1 don't kllow how many. 
e arc some of the Pildgetts, from Georgia, on bis lliace, ullder the 
"'ision of Mr. James Padgett. 
Can you give the names ot' any of the white laborers on T. Wat· 
place who came from Newbl'rl',Y !-A. I dOIl't remembt'r wbere the 
~rs came from on these other places as well as I do those on lire 
'T, "W" atson's. 
~an you give the names of allY of tbe white la.borers on ?tIr. John 
,n's place 1-A. I have DOt beeu to Johll Watsou's place. Don't. 
who Ih·es 011 it. 
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Q. Are you posith-e that none of the colored laborers who left there 
since 1874 were supplanted by white laborers who resided in E 1ge1iehl 
County prior to the election in 1~74 '-A. Don't know; can't rem~mber 
any froID Edgefield at this time. 

Q. You stated that if the laborers on Robert Watson's, I mean 
colored laborers, if they voted at all voted the Democratic ticket, Wbat 
means had you of knowing if they did '-A. Th~y told me 80 them­
selves. I gave some of thelD the tickets. Mr. Robert Watson told me 
they voted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Do you know whether these colored laborers you sppa.k of resided 
on Mr. Robert Watson's place pre\'ious to and on that day '-A. 1 tbink 
they did. 

Q. You spoke of distributing tickets there that da,y; do you remem· 
ber seeing any tickets that day printed in red ink like the Republican 
tickets,except the names of the candidates !-A. I think I did. 

Q. Do you know who had those tickets or who distributed them '-A. 
Dou't know. 

Q. Yon say there where colored men there frOID Aiken a.ml Lexington 
Counties who offered to vote. Please ~ive the name of the colored 
from Aiken County.-A. Steven Cew, nob Robinson, and, I thiuk, Ste­
phen Cew voted; his name was on the poll-list. 

Q. How far is the Aiken Oounty line from Ridge Springs !-A. Abont 
a mile and a half or two miles. 

Q. Give the names of the colored men from Lexington Oounty wbo 
.attempted to vote.-A. I don't know their names. I have seen them 
on Goose Platter in that county. One of them, I think, is named Gamet. 

Q. You stated that you saw colored men get off the train, at tbe Ridge, 
from Lexington that day. Did you see allY white men get off at tbat 
time '-A. I saw two or three. The young Etbridges got oft' there; they 
are from Germanville Township in this county. No white men got 011' 
there who were strangers to me. 

Q. You stated you saw a colored man there from Banknight's ferry. 
Di(l you see any white men there from Banknight's ferry, or other dis­
tant portions of the county '-A. 1 don't remember that I did. 

Q. You stated you had a Democratic club consisting of thirty colored 
men. Are you certain all of these colored men voted the Democratic 
ticket !-A. They have all told m~ so since. 

Q. Gil-e the names of the thirty colored mell, members of the clob.­
A. George Bastin, Richard Lott, Sam Archer, Joe Barnes, Sam Holmea, 
Toney Lightsl'Y, Joe Merrett, Lewis Pompy, Lott8awyer, \VtIliam Lee, 
Peter W caver. I can't call any more namos right now. Tom Coleman, 
George Samuels, Oolumbus Blair, and others. If I had known that yoo 
'Wallted the names I could ha\-e gotten them. 

Q. You say you thought Boney had 1\ pistol in his overcoat-pocket. 
Did you see the pistol '-A. I saw 'What I thought to be the pistol, and 
from what he said; he said he had bonght two pistols, and I,aid thirty­
three dollars for them, as well as 1 remember . 

. Q. Did you see allY white men witb pistols or guns there that dayf­
A. I saw no white men with gnlls. I saw a few wbite wen witb pilltol~; 
saw tbem under tbe bottom of their coats-their coats being short; did 
not see any drawn. 

Q. You stated tbat a colored Democrat told you thai the Repnblicaos 
intellllt'd to raise a row tbere that day. Give the name of tbl'8e col­
ored Democrats.-A. Olle of them who told me has been killed lIinel', 
Richltrll Lott; the other man, 8amuel Holmes. 

Q. By whom was Richard Lott killed, and for what was he killed ,-
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A. He was killed by a. colored Republican. Reports say that it was for 
~oiug to this man's house after bis wife. Otber reports Kay he was 
killed for being a Democrat; but it is all bearsay with me. 

Q. Have you not been informed that he was killed in this man's 
wife's house f-A. I ba\'e beard 80. I know notbing of my owu knowl· 
ed~e. 

Q. You stated tbat a colored Democrat was severely beaten some 
timp previous to tbe electiou. Do you know who it was who beat him f­
A. He t~ld me tbe uame, but bave forgotten now. Dick \Vasb was 
one of them. Tht're wt're tbree of tbem-colore!1 Republicans. This 
DIaD Co'lme to me with a bole shot tbrollgb his coat and his head bleed· 
in/!. anll told me what he was beaten for. 

Q. You say tl1nt Mr. Can'il~ s('nt word to BOIlt'y that if he and 
George Jack~n got up the difficulty there that day, that he beard they 
intt'Dded to gt't up, tbnt he (Carwilt') woulll kiII Houey. At the time 
this mes...<I8ge was seut, was not George Jackson iu the room where tbe 
polls were open, attending to his official duties !-A. I dOll't know where 
III' was. Did Dot 8(>e bim. 

Q. You st.ated that once· during the day there came a crowd of col· 
o~d RepUblicans cheering Chamberlain and cursing Hampton; that 
you told them that if they curse,l llampton again they would be sorry 
for it. Did tlH>y desist after you there threatened them f-A. Tbey 
ditl not curse Hampton any more, but continut'd to hollow. 

Q. Did you hear allY white man cursing Chamberlain that day, or 
any time precefling tbe election f-A. I may have; don't remember; 
ht'ard a good many curse bim since the election. 

Q. I uuderstood you to say that you heard no threats that day ex· 
ct'pt what you sai~ to that man T-A. Yes; I said that. 

Q. You stated that sou belie\'ed it was the intention of that crowd of 
colol't'd men to take charge of the polling.place as they had doue on 
llre\"ious occasions; did you ever know tbe colored men to take posses· 
sion of the ballot· box at the Rid~e f-A. I did; in 1874 they took pos­
lIellsion of the house and 1I0x, and put gnards in the door, and up to two 
o'clock in the evening no white JIlall Imd been admitted through the 
door that I know of. Those who voted crawled in at the window; I did 
it myself. 

Q. Do yon know how many RI"}lublican \'otes were'llolIed there in 
18i4, anel how many Democratic T-A. I do not. 

Q. Was not the ballot· box that nigbt taken from the mana~ers and 
destroyed; and was it not done by white Olen '-A. I was not there; 
don't know who did it; heard it was destroyed. . 

Q. When this crowd of colored men came up hallooing were there a 
grt'at many wbite men around the poIli II g. place T-A. Not many; prin. 
cipally colored men. 

Q. The wbite men had pretty wl~11 all voted at that time, had they 
not f-A. Some had and some had 1I0t. 

Q. You say when this (lrowd came up they were accompanied by two 
\"ebielt>s witb gnns in them T-A. I did. 

Q. What kind were they, and how many f-A. I don't know what 
kind, or how many. 

Q. They made no display with them, did they f-A. None, excp-pt to 
drh'e up in a hundred and fifty yards and stop, (of the polls.) 

Q. 'Vbell the question was pnt as to whether all parties should leave 
the room when the polls were closed to canvass t.he vote, did the Demo· 
ei'.\tic manager and supen'isor agree to it '-A. They did after a while, 
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to satisfy managers; they said the crowd would coofoae them antlwe 
alllert. 

Q. You heard no threats or saw no h08tile demonstration on ,be pan 
of the Republicans that day, did you f-A. None, except what lllaYe 
already stated. 

Redirect by Captain Charlton: 
Q. Do you know whether H. N. Boney, late jodge of probatl', voted 

at that box that day or not I-A. He was there, and he told me ,iBet 
that he did vote there; he also told me that if he had had his way be 
would have beaten the Democrats; he would not have giveo them any 
manager; that Caio relied too moch on retorning-boards; that the Re· 
publican party had organized a clan of repeaters, bot they did not do 
enoogh. 

Q. Do yoo know of any colored Republicans who were entitled to 
vote that left the polls that day without voting 00 accouot of intimida· 
tion by the whites f 

(Objected to on the grooud of new matter.) 
A. I do not; on the contrary, I think every man voted tbere "bll 

was entitled to vote; from twelve o'clock until night a man stood io tbl' , 
door and called to all who had not voted to come op an(1 vote. 

JOHN T. GASTO~. , 

Sworn to before Ole this the 13th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL. J C. S. B. MARSH, 

I"""'IIL 

In the matter of the conte&t of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
. for a seat in the Congress of the United Sta~. 

WILLIAM WOODS, a witness of lepl age, introdoced by coute8tant 
after due notice to contestee, deposes as follows to qoestioos propounded 
to him: 

Question. What is .v0or age; where did you lil'e last year; what ]j 
yoor occupation f-Answt>f_ Thirty-dve years old; at GDS Glover'g, ill 
Edgefield County; plantatioo hand. 

Q. Where did you vote on the 7th of November, and what time did yoa 
go to the polls;' and did you go to more than precinct that day!­
A. I voted at Edgefield Coort-HooBe; I reached here about e1eWIL 
o'olock; I went to Landrum's Store precinct. -

Q. What time in the day did you get to Landrnm's store, and bo­
long did you stay there f-A. It was after suurille. I never staid then 
more than a qoarter of an hoor. 

Q. Did you see anything of Bob Chandler the night before or OIl tb~ 
morning of the day of the election f-A. Yes; I saw him the Dipt be­
tore, and on the morning of the election. 

Q. What time in the morning, and where did you see him I-A. Tbf 
80n was np; don't know what time it was; saw him at Henry lIay'$ 
houpe, between a balf and a quarter of a mile from Laodrum's store. 

Q. Did you have any conversatiou with Robert Chandl~j and, ifao. 
did be ten you that he had been to Landrum's store I-A. ~O, air j had 
no conversation with him. 

Q. Bad Chandler already been to Landrum's store whea you sa ... hill 
at Henry May's !-A. I can't tell yon. 

Q. When Chandler left. Henry May's, what direction did he,., f­
A. He went toward Landrnm's store. 

(~. Was lluylJO(ly wi~1.J him at tbat time !-A. No, air .. 
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Q. How long after Chandler left May's was it before you went o\"er to 
Landrum's store '-A. Abont a qnarter of an hour. 

Q. Can you not see \"ery distinctly from Henry May's house to IJan­
drum's store; and is not the land cleared between; and May's house on a 
very high hill and Landrum's Store on another, and everything open to 
fnII view!-A. Yes, sir, to aU those questions. 

Q. Did you see or bear anything more of Bob Chandler that day!­
Ao Yes, sir; I saw him at Edgefield Court· Honse, bnt did not see him 
about then. 

Q. If Chandler ha(l Itad any high words with anybody within fifty 
yards of Landrum's store, would yon not have heard it '-A. Of conrse 
I would. 

Q. Were yon at any time with Robert Chandler, near Landrum's store, 
tbe morning of the election Y-A. No, sir. I was no nearer with him 
than when at Henry May's. 

Q. Did John Swarengen, Benjamin Tillman, Jerry Whitlock, or any 
other Democrats, while or black, threaten yon or Bob Chandler to pre­
vent yon from voting at Landrum'S store, or prevent yon from going to 
Landrum's store tbat morningt-A. No, sir; I went np there myself. 

Q. Wbat prevented yon from voting at Landrum's store, if yon tried 
to vote there! - A. Tbere were no tIckets there when I got there. 

Q. Yon said you saw Bob Cbandler the night before. Where did you 
see him, and how long were you with him t-A. At my house; he came 
there to see his brother; be was there about an hour. 

Cross·examined by L. Cain: 
Q. What is Bob Chandler's brother named '-A. Cbarles Ryons. 
Q. Did be live on Mr. Glover's place, too'-A. Yes, sir; be lived 

with me. 
Q. How far is Mr. Gus Glo\"er's place from Landrum's store f­

A. About two miles. 
Q. How far is Mr. Henry May's place from Landrnm's store !-A. 

About a balf mile and a quarter. 
Q. Who left Henry May's house first, you or Chandler; abont how 

.ODg first l-A. He left first; about a half or qnarter of an hour. I 
was there footing with some girls, and was not tbinking about the mat­
er; I was not tbinking abont the election; I knew I wonld get time 
mough to vote, any way. 

Q. As Chandler left l\fr. May's a quarter or half honr before yon did, 
:ould he not have reached Landrum's store, been threatened by parties, 
.nd It'ft there, and you not know anything about it-or before you got 
here !-A. I should snppose he conld. 

Q. You are not willing to swear that he was not threatened there 
bat day f-A. I don', know what was done before I got there, and can't 
wear about it • 
. Q. 'Yhen you saw bim at Mr. lfay's, you had no conversation with 
I.m, you say; with whom was he talking !-A. He was not talking 
11th anyone; he watt waiting for a crowd of men, and they never 
arne. 
Q. As yon had no conYersation with him, how do yon know that he 

:a8 waiting for a crowd I-A. Becanse others were behind, and I was 
De of the IDen to go witb him; one of his main men. 
Q. You were waiting for a crowd, too, were you not !-A. Yes; I was 

'3iting for tbem. 
Q. Were you waiting with ChandlerY-A. No, sir. 
Q. How was it that you were waiting there at May's, and Chandler 
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waiting there too; had you and Cbandler entered into an a~reement 
for crowds of men to meet there on the morning of the election !-A 
No. sir. 

Q. What time did you get to the May's place that morning !-A 
About suu-up. 

Q. As you were one of the main mcn to meet there with Robt>rt 
Chandler, wby is it that yon had no conversation with him, or go with 
him !-A. I overslept myself, as many others do, and when I got up I 
broke and run. 

Q. Yon broke and rnn, then, from Mr. Glovt'a*> place to IIenry May's, 
did yon not f-.A.. No, I did not rnu from :Mr. G1ovN's place then. 

Q. Did yon not stay at Mr. Glo\"e1"8 place on the night previous to 
the election T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. How far did yon run the next morning, when you found you bad 
overslept yourself f-A. I don't know bow far j 1 ran till I beanl tile 
others going rouEd the road, then I went to Henry May's and waited 
for tllem. 

Q. You stated that yon and Robert Chandler were waiting at lIay's for 
a crowtl; gi \'e the names of some of the parties you were waiting 
for f-A. I was waiting for Lewis Miller, ldilledge Tompkins, William 
HarriR, Griffin Clark, and a crowd of others. 

Q. Did these men come up while you were waiting for them I-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. Did you and these men go to Landrum's store together !-A. Ye~ 
sir. . 

Q. You state(1 that yon entered into no agreement to meet parties at 
Mr. May's; as you made no such agreement, how is it you were waiting , 
there for Lewis Miller, Milledge Tompkins, and a crowd of others f-A. 
We all agreed to go togetber. 

Q. 'Where did you agree to meet at I-A. We agreed to meet there (lr 
at Brother Crafton's, at the forks of the road. 

Q. As you agreed to meet at Brother Crafton's, wby is it yoo waited 
at the 1\Iay place f-A. Becaose other men behind me gone down tilt ; 
road. 

Q. How for does Brother Crafton live fl'Om Mr. llay's hoosef-A. 
Something over a mile. 

Q. You stated that Mr. 1\Iay's hoose is on a bigh hill, and that Lu· 
drum's store is on a high hill z is there not a valley between the two 
places !-A. Up one hill and down the other; tbe bottom is cleared up. : 

Q. 00. the road from May's house to Landrum's store are there JI(l 

trees at all I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Are there not a great many trees on each side of the road '-A. 

Plenty in the woods, bnt not on the road. 
Q. You say yoo remained at Lanclrum's store about fifteen miuutft I 

and tben came to Edgefield Court-House; llow long were yoo at Ed~ I 

field Court-Honse before you saw Bob Chandler I-A. In the evening; 
can't tell what time; it was getting late in the day. 

Q. Did yoo have any conversation with llim after ,Yoo RaW him hert! 
-A. No, sir. 

Q. You stated that there was no tickets at Landrum's store when yon. 
got there; who did you ask for tickets I-A. I did not ask Bny OD~, be- i 
cause the man who llad the tickets was not there, that I saw. 

Q. Yon ha\'e been asked if you llad been threatened by John S .. 
engen, Benjamin Tillman, Jerry Whitlock, or an~' other Democrabl, whit 
or colored. Did yon see Mr. Swarengen, Mr. Ben Tillman, or Wbitloc: 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 611 

there that day '-A. I. sa.w Mr. Ben Tillman and Whitlock; did not see 
Mr. Swarengen. • 
. Q. After you came to Edgefield Court.House, did yon votet-A. Yes, 

sIr. 
Q. At what polling place did yon yote, and what ticket (lid you vote! 

-A. At the school·house, and voted the Republican ticket. 
Redirect by G. D. -Tillman: 

Q. You spoke of some trees out in the woods on the side of tbe road 
between May's house and Landl'l1m's store; is 110t the road between 
the two houses a curved one, and are not the trees to wbicb you alluded 
in a differellt direction from a straight line between tbe two houses'­
A. These trees are ill a different direction from a straight line from the 
storl'. 

his 
WILLIAl\I + WOODS. 

ma...k. 

Sworn to before me this the 14th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B. MARSH, 

Intendant. 

u the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert Smalls 
for a St!at ill the Congret;s of the United States. 

LEWIS l\fILLER, a witness of legal ag~, sworn. 
Question. How old are you, where did you live last year, and where 
1 you vote at tbe last election !-Answer. Thirty-eight or nine; at Mr. 
IS GIO\'er's plantation, Edgefield County; at the school·house in Edge. 
d Vii/age. 
l. Did you go to Landrum's store or any other precinct to vote that 
. f-A. I went to Landrum's store. 
!. Who went with you to IJandrum's store that morning; about wbat 
~ iu tbe day; and how long did you stay t-A. John Johnson and 
Ham Woods and many others; about daylight I started and got 
e a little while before sunrise; staid about fifteen minutes. 

Did you soo or hear anytbing of Bob Chandler at or near Lan· 
I'S store that morningt-A. No, sir; be left my hoose before day. 
Did you see Ohandler about Henry May's house as you passed 

-A.. No, sir; I never saw him. 
Did you see or hear anything anywhere that (lay about any Dem· 

j threatening Chandler at or near Landrum's store and driving 
way from theref-A. No, sir; I never heard nothing. . 
WJJen did you first hear tbat Chandler had been threatened at 
u m'8 store, and who told you t-A. 1 never beard it; don't remem­
aring. 
Cross-examined by L. Cain: 
~ ou stated that you went to Landrum's store that morning with 
a \Voods, Jobn Johnson, and others; did you and William Woods 
[r. Gus Glover's place togethert-A. Yes, sir. 
bout what time did you leave hOlDeT-A. Just about light. 
id you aud William Woods go directly to Landrum's store, or 
stop Oll the way t-A. 'Ve did not stop; went straight on. 
l\Ir. Henry May's place on the direct road to Lanclrmn's store 
_ Glo,?er's place, or is it off the road, and how far offr-A. A 
the road; about a hundred and fifty yards. 
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Q. When you and William Woods passed by Mr. Henry May's place, 
did not William Woods stop there and stay a half bour !-A. W hen we 
got to Landrum's he was with us in company. 

Q. And you say you started from home together 1-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did you aDd William Woods run any !-A. I did not, and we were 

all together. 
Q. Tell me if the following.named persons were with yoo when yon 

were going from Glover's to Landrum's: Lewis Miller, l\lillege Tomp­
kins, William Harris, Griffin Olark f-A. William Harris and Millege 
Tompkins W88, bot not Griffin Clark. 

Q. You say that Robert Ohandler left yoor hOllse before day; did be 
tell yoo where he was going to !-A. Yes, sir; told me he was going to 
Landrom's store. 

Q. When yoo reaehed Landrum's store was there not a large crowlI 
of men there !-A. Yes, sir; a "f'ry large crowd. 

Q. Could not Robert Chandler hs\"o been there and you not see him f­
A. Yes, sir; I SUl)pOSe be could. 

Q. You are well acqoainted with the poblic road leading from lIr. 
Henry May's to Laudrum's stora, ar~ you not I-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Are there any trees on either side of this road near to the road f­
A. No big trees; on the left.band side of the road, near Mr. Henry May's 
boose. there is a piece of woods. 

Q. If a man were to start from May'" place to Landrom's store, coold yon 
stand at May's place and see ~im all along the road, or are there not 
places along the road where the trees and bushes would screen him from 
yoo f-A. 1.'bere is a bottom between Mr. May's and Landrum's, which I 
don't think I could well see bow; but that'lS all. 

Redirect: 
Q. Is not the road between May's house and Landrum's store a con"ed 

one. and arenot the trees or woods you allude to in the bend of tbe road!­
A. You can. see from one house to the other. Yes; on the left or tbe 
road. 

Q. How many men started with you from Glover's to LandrUlo's f­
A. Ten or fifteen started with me, and ten 01' fifteen went all the way 
to Landrum's store. 

Q. Did Woods or anyone with you stop to talk to the girls at May:~ 
that you noticed !-.A. Not that I noticed. 

Q. Did you stop at any time to talk to anybody between GlOYer's and 
May's, or between May's to Landrum's store f-A. Wen t rightstraight on. 

Q. Did Woods start with you and keep with you all the way to Lao· 
drom's store, or did be stop I-A.. We started together, and when we 
got to Landrum's he was there. 

Q. You Dlentioned there was a large crowd at Landrum's wben yon 
got there; how many colored men did you see in that crowd f-A.. A 
great mauy, but the most were white people. 

Q. Did any Democrat, white or black. threaten you or your party to 
try to prevent you from ,·oting as you pleased T-A. Not whilst I was 
there. 

biB 
LEWIS + MILLEn. 

mark. 

Sworn to before me this tile 14th uay of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. n. MARSH. 
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In the matter of the contest of George D. Tillman against Robert 
Smalls for a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

SAlIUEL O. CARTLEDGE, a witness of legal age, sworn, introduced 
by contestant. 

Question. How old are you, and where do yon reside I Did you vote 
at the last election, and wbere '-Answer. Thirty·one years old; Ridge 
Spring, Edgefield Oounty. I voted at Ridge Spring. 

Q. What is your occupation, and what office did yon hold, if any, in 
the election I-A. I was at that time a merchant. and clerk of the board 
of managers of election. 

Q. Were you regularly elected clerk and sworn in b' and, if so, by 
whom I-A. I was sworn in by George Pope, the Repu lican chairman 
of the board of managers. 

, Q. Did Harrison U. Boney, latejudge of probate of Edgefield Oonnty, 
Tote there that day I-A. He did; I saw him vote myself. 

Q. Was any person who was entitled to a vote denied the privilege of 
voting there that day, as far as yon 88W '-A. There was not. 

Q. Did yon detect any persons trying to vote two or three tickets at 
the Bame time; if so, who were they, and of what politics I-A. There 
was one negro who attempted to vote his ticket; was too large to go in 
the box; it had to be nnfolded to be refolded, and there were found to 
be four RepubUcau tickets together. 

Q. Did yon notice the presence of many strangers at Ridge Springs 
that day; and, if so, were they mostly white or colored '-A. There 
were a great many there of both colors strangers to me, bnt mostly col­
ored; very few whites whom I did not know. 

Q. Were not several colored persons denied the privilege to vote on 
the gronnd that they were citizens of the neighboring conn ties of Aiken 
and LE-xington '-A. No one was denied the privilege that I know of. 
r heard there were some, but they were outSide, and I did not see them. 
George Jackson, the supervisor, Republican, heard that there was a 
crowd on tside from Lexington and Aiken; he sent them word to go back; 
they conld not vote. 

Q. When you went to count the vote, were the citizens and crowd 
prevented from being present; and,;f they were, at whose instance 
were they expelled f-A. There was no one present at the connting of 
the vote but the managers and clerk, two supervisors, and the United 
States marshal. It was at the instance of the Republican supervisor 
and at his request the United States marshal was admitted. 

Q. Were there more ballots in the box than names on the poll·list; 
an(l, if 80, how many more f-A. There was one hundred and eleven. 

Q. In counting the votes did yon sometimes find two or more tickets 
folded together at any time; and, if so, how often did yon find two 
tickets together, how often three together, &c. '-A. There were several 
instances where such was the case; do not remember how often, but do 
remember that most of them were Repnblican tickets. 

Q. Did all the officers of the election sign the returns of the election 
cheerfully and without objection f-A. They did. 

Cross·examined by L. Cain: 
Q. Of the one hnndred and eleyen tickets you found in excess of the 

[)01l·list, how many were folded togethert-A. I don't know; I was 
tmsy keepillg the tnlIy. 

Q. You stated that you were informed that there were thirty or forty 
men from adjoining counties, and that George Jackson sent them word 
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that they could not vote there; to go back. lJid they come in the room 
when the polls were open and persist in their right to vote after tbis!­
A. They did not 8S 8 body. Afterward several came in, and their ,"otes 
were challenged by tbe Rev. Mr. Kauffman, from Lexington County. lIe 
lives in Leesville. He found out before leaving home that they were 
coming to vote, and he came to challenge tbem and prevent them from 
voting. They tben were not allowed to vo~. 

Q. I understood yon to state in your direct examination that you 
knew of no one wbo was denied the privilege of \"oting; that you beard 
of some, but they were outside. You state now that Rev.l\lr.Kauffman 
challenged their \"otes, and the parties were not allowed to vote. How 
will you harmonize these two answers !-A. My memory was that no ODe 
was denied the right to vote who was eutitled to vote. After reflec­
tion, I remembered these parties did come in. I was speaking of that 
crowd who was ordered off by George Jackson. • 

Q. State how many parties came in to \"ote who were denied the pri\"· 
ilege to vote on account of being from other counties.-A. I disremem· 
ber ; some four or five. 

Q. You stated tbat a negro tried to vote four tickets but was dett>ctecl. 
Did yoo see those tickets unfolded !-A. I saw them unfolded. I don't 
know bis name. I was busy writing down names 011 the poll· list. 

Q. After it was disco\"ered tbat he tried to vote four tickets, was he 
sworn, and did he vote, and allow his Illlme to go <lown on the poll.list! 
-A. He bad already been sworn. ne cast his ballot, and his name 
was 011 tbe poll·list. 

Q. You stated that you saw very fcw strangers (white men) tbere. 
Did these strangers vote !-A. They did. 

Q. Did oot the Democratic managel' and Democratic snper\"isor COD· 
cur ill the wishes of George Jackson, Hepnblic8n 8upel'\"isor, that all 
parties other than the election offieials should lea\"e the room until the 
counting was over !-A. I think they diu. 

S. C. CARTLEDGE. 
Sworn to before me this the 14th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] C. S. B.l1ARSH. 

Ifll~nd(/"t. 

Samuel O. Cartledge recalled by contestant. 
Question. When any of the Democratic voters at Ridge Spring bad 

deposited their ballots, would they say to you, as clerk, "Yon know my 
name," or words to that effect; and, ifso, who were they and wbat did 
they mean by it !-Answer. There were no Democratic ,",oters who said 
so. There were some colored Hepoblicans who would to Mose Lott, Re­
pnblican manager, "You know my name," and he would call them out 
to me and I woulu write them down. One old colored man, a Republi· 
can, who worked for me, a good old man, said to me, "Yon know my 
name," and I wrote it down. 

Cross examined by L. Cain: 
Q. Bow near to the box in which the ballots were deposited were YOIl 

sitting, actiug as clerk f-A. Some five or six feet, perhaps. 
Q. Do you remember hearing the U,epublican managers asking wbite 

men their oam~s who refused to gi,",e tbeir names f-A. There was one 
man who came in there drunk who refu$ed to give his name, but it was 
insisted upon by both parties, bot he was too drunk to talk. After a 
while they got it ont of him. 
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Q. When asked his name by the managers, did he not curse at them' 
-A. Don't know that he cursed at the managers. He cursed generally, 
as all drunken mon will do. 

S. C. CARTLEDGE. 
Subscribed before me this the 14th (lay of April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] O. S. B. lIARSH, 

Intendant. 

No. 12. 

AIKEN COUNTY. 

Notice t.o take depositions in Aiken. 
I In the matter of the contest of G. D. Tillman against Robert Sm.llls. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

Aiken Oounty: 
To W. J. Moseley, D. S. Henderson, John Dent, J. St. Julien Yates, T. 

H. Hayne, A. P. Butler, A. P. Padgett, James Quinby, O. T. or Dock 
Howard, John Murray, George 'V. Howard, John 1\1. Bell, B. F. Lan· 
drum, .ir., J. J. Oahill, C. E. Sawyer, Oarr Hauey, ,Joseph Uion, George 
F. Wilson, WIlliam Chafeo, Henry Getzen, A. J. Butler, Toliver IIeron, 
Jerry Whitlock, John Palmer, 'V. I". Wilson, James Powell, George 
Thorpe, Uel1ben Laboard, Buck Salcher, W. M. Walker, J. W. Dun· 
har, A. P. Brown, Jabez Courtney, Fuller Courtney, Edward Segler, 
W. F. Carsten, States Lee, --- Beech, T. J. Davies, 'V. "r. l\liller, 
O. C. Jordan, James Aldrich, Charles Edmunston, G. W. Oroft, and 
W. 1I. Hutson, and .Burgess Franklin. 
You and each of yon are hereby summoned to appear before me at 

Aiken, in said county and State, on the 14th, 16th, lith, and 18th lIays 
of April, A. D. 1877, at seven o'clock, to be then and there examined under 
oath by me respecting the contest by G. D. Tillman of the right of Robert 
Smalls to a seat in the Congress of the United States. 

You will not fail herei.n under the penalty of twenty dollars each. 
Gi\"en under my hand and ofticialseal, at Aiken, this 7th day of .April, 

A.D. 1871. 
[SEAL.) W. 'V. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aikel~ COl/nty. 
STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 

Aiken Oounty: 
To ROBERT SMALLS, Esq.: 

You are bereby notified that J will examine the following·nauH'd wit· 
nesses, all of whom reside in Aiken County, I'(~lati\'e to and ill rebuttal 
of the evidence produced by you to support your answer to my notice to 
rou that I would contest your right to a seat in the Congress of the 
United States, to which you claim to have been elected at the :Sm'ember 
election of 1876, for the fifth Congressional district of the State of South 
Carolina, before W. W. Williams, esq., judge of the probate court iu 
and for the count.y of Aiken, in the State of South Carolina, in the town 
hall, in the town and county of Aiken, in the State aforesaid, on the 14th, 
16th, lith, and 18th days of April, instant, commencing at 7 o'dock in 
t~le forenoon of the firMt-mtlned dclY, and contiuuing without interrup' 
tlOn, except as may be agreed upou for lleCeSsal'Y IIdjournUlellts, or as 
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'much of these (lays as may be necessary for the examining of W. J. 
Moseley, D. S. Henderson, John Dent, J. St. Jnlien Yates, T. B. Bayne, 
A. P. Butler, A. P. Padgett, James Quinby, C. T. or Dock Howard, 
John Murray, Gp,orge W. Howard, John M. Bell, B. F. Landrum.jr., J. 
J. Cahill, C. E. Sawyer, Carr Haney, Joseph Uion, George F. Wilson, 
William Chafee, Henry Getzen, A. J. Butler, Tolh'er Heron. Jerry Whit­
lock, John Palmer, W. F. Wilson, James Powell, George Thorlle, Reo· 
ben Laboard, Buck Salcher, W.l\!. Walker, J. W. Dunbar, A. P. Brown, 
Jabez Conrtney, Fuller Courtney, Edward Segler, W. F. Carsten, States 
Lee, --- Beech, T. J. Davis, W. W. Miller. A. C. Jordan, James 
Aldrich, Charles Edmonston, G. W. Croft, and W. M. Hutson. 

April 6, 1877. 
Respectfully, &c., 

G. D. TILL~IA.....,,\, 
Per G. W. CROn" 

Attorney for OOflteatara'. 
I aCCel)t legal service of the foregoing notice upon me at Beaufort. 

S. C., this ninth day of April, A. D. 1877. 
ROBERT SMALLS, 

Per W. J. WHIPPER, 
Attorra". 

STATE OF SOUTH CA.ROLINA, 
COURty oj .Aik~,,: 

I, W. W. Williams,judge of the probate court in and for the county 
of Aiken, State aforesaid, do hereby certify that the annexed depositions 
of Jas. L. Quinby, John M. Bell, Benj. F. Laudrum, jr., N. P. Butler, R. 
A. Chafee, Toby Murphy, and John Dent were taken on the 1{th day of 
April, 1877, pursuant and in all things comformable to the attached 
notice, between the hours of 9 o'clock a. m. and 6 o'clock p. m. of uid 
day' and that contest.ant was represented by G. W. Croft, his attorney, 
at the' examination, and that contestee was neither represented by coun· 
sel or iu person 1 and that the annexed depositions of A. P. Padgett, K. 
J. Tyler C. E. /::Sawyer, D. S. Henderson, J. St. Julien Yates, and An· 
gers P. Brown were taken on the 16th and 17th days of April, 18i7, be­
tween the hours of 9.30 o'clock of the 16th, and continuously till the 
following morning to 1.30 o'clock a. m. Tuesday; that the annexed dep­
ositions of G. W. Oroft, Burgess Franklin, W. J. Courtney, John F. 
Murray, and W. F. Wilson were taken on the 17th day of April, 1877, 
between the honrs of 10 o'clock a. Ill. of said day and 3.30 o'clock a. m. 
the 18th. following; and that the annexed depositions of O. W. Eo 
Thorpe, T. J. Davies. 'Vordie B. Courtney, and Reuben LaboArd We!8 
taken on the 18th day of April, 1877, between the hours of 11 o'clock .. 
m. and 9 o'clock p. m. of said day; that W. J. Whipper represented con· 
testee AS his attorney, and the contestant was represented by G. W. 
Croft on the three last·mentioned days, namely: 16th, 17th, and 18th, 
except at the examination of G. 'V. Croft, one of the above-mentioned 
witnessf>s, during which examination the contestant was personally pres­
ent, and conducted said examination; that the said witnesses, wbose 
depositions are hereto attached, and whose names are contained in said 
notice, were first by me duly sworn according to law to tell tbe truth, 
the whole truth, and nothing bot the truth, touching the matters in con" 
tro,"ersy betwl'en the parties, and their examination and te.stimooy, to­
gether with the questions propouuded to them by the parties and re­
duced to writing by me and in my preseuce, and in the presence oftbe 
attornl'Y for the contestant, that is, all except the witnesses Jas. L. 
Quinby, John M. Bell, Benj. F. Laudrurn,jr, N. P. Butler, R. A. Chafee, 
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Toby :l\Iurphy, and John Dent, whose examinations and testimony, to· 
gether with the questions propounde(l to them by the attorney of the 
contestant, and reduced to writing by me and in my presence, was 
neither in the presence of the contestee or his attorney, who were not 
present· and, after being carefully read over to witnesses, were by them 
attested', by signing their names or making their marks to their deposi. 
tions, in my presence. 

In testimony whereof I hereunto affix my name and official seal this 
19th day of April, 1877. 

lSEAL.] 

SOUTH CAROLINA., 
Aiken Oounty: . 

W. W. WILLIAMS, 
Judge of Probate, Aiken Oounty. 

j}. D. TILLMAN, <JON'fESTA.N'!', ~ For a seat in the Forty·fitl.h Congress 
t'8. of the United States from fifth dis· 

ROBERT SMALLS, OONTESTEE. trict of South Carolina. 
JAMES L. QUINBY, being duly sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 

JameR L. Quinby; twenty·five years; Graniteville; clerk in store. 
Q. Where were you on 7th November last, day of last general elec­

tion T-A. 1 was at Hatcher's store, in Graniteville, where the election 
was held. 

Q. Had you any official capacity connected with that election; and, 
if any, state what '-A. Clerk of board of managers of election. 

Q. Bow was that election conducted at that poll on that day I-A. 
Peaceably, quietly, and orderly. 

Q. State the number of votes cast for G. D. Tillman for Congress and 
Robert Smalls for Congress.-A. Seven hundred and eightY'Beven for 
G. D. Tillman and seventy-seven for Robert Smalls. 

Q. State how wany Republicans and how many Democrats composed 
the board of managers at that poll.-A. Two Republicans and one 
Democrat. 

Q. 'Vhat WM the complexion of the Republican managers, an(l give 
their names '-A. John Wooley, white, Alexander Williams, colored. 

Q. ln deciding the right to vote, was the board governed by a major­
ity of the managers '-A. Yes, sir. Wooley seemed to manage every­
thing, the others acquiescing. 

D. Do you know of any Democratic voters who were refuRed the right 
to vote that yon knew were of age '-One; Robf'rt Gibbes. 

Q. How was he prevented from voting1-A. Wooley argued that he 
was not old enough, and he was not allowed to vote. 

Q. Did he offer to swear that he was old enough, and to bring evidence 
to prove it f-A. Be did; offered to prove it by his mother. 

Q. Do you know of any parties there who voted that were underageT­
A. Yes, sir; Gus Homes; voted the Republican ticket. 

Q. From the a·ppearance of all other voters, would yon judge that 
they were of full age; those I Olean thah'oted there '-A. They appeared 
to be so, except two or three, but these I knew to be of age-twenty·ono 
years. 

Q. Did not the people from Langley vote there f-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. What is the population of Langley, white or black !-A. Almost 

entirely white. 
Q. How did the people from Langley vote; that is, what ticket '-A. 

I feel sure that they voted the Democratic ticket, both white and black. 
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Q. What ticket did a majority of the voters, that is the colored por· 
tion, vote at Granileville on tbat day T-A. A small majority ,"oted 
Democratic tickets. 

Q. Did not the people turn ont more generally at the last election 
than at any previous election you have ever attended f-A. Yes, sir; 
they did. 

Q. Were there not fewer white Republicans who voted the Republican 
ticket than at any previous election since reconstruction f-A. Yes; I 
only know one, John Wooley. 

Q. Were you present when the votes were connte<l, and the returns 
footed up and signed '-A. I was; footed them up myself, and saw the 
managers sign them. 

Q. Were they sent to the board of county canvassers at Aiken; and, 
if so, by whom T-A. They ,vere i by one of tbe managers .• 

Q. When were they sent to Aiken t-A. On the morning after the 
election. 

Q. Did you proceed to count the votes, foot Ul) retarns, and the 
managers sign the same immediately after the }lolls ,vere closed !-A. 
We did. •. 

Q. State whetber John Wooley kept a list of the voters who voted at 
Graniteville on the 7th November last T-A. He did not i it 'vas impose 
sible for bim to do 80, as he was cbairman of the board of managers, aod 
condncted the swearing, voting, &e. 

Q. 'Vas the wbite vote at Graniteville at the election in Novem\)('r 
last larger than at previolls elections; and, if so, wby f-A. It was, 00 

account of the village of Langley havin g been built in the last fonr or 
five years, and there was no polling-precinct there during the last elec­
tion, as there had previously been. 

J.\S. L. QUIYBf. 
Sworn to before me this 14th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Jlulge of Probate, Aikelt COll1lty. 

NOTE BY 'V. W. WILLlAlls.-Thcre was no coun,*,l representing 
Robert Smalls, contestee, nor was he represented in person. 

JOHN M. BELL, sworn, says: 
QueRtion. State your name, age, rCtlideoce, and occnpation.-Anll1\"eI. 

John M. Bell j thirty·eight yea:rs old; Aiken County i farmer. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th November last, the day of last general 

election t-A. At Miles Mill precinct, Aiken County. 
Q. Had you any official position at that election t If 80, state wbat.­
A. I was manager at that poll-?tliles Mill. 

Q. Who were the other managers t-A. Joe Coleman and B..ooie. 
both colored. 

Q. What was their politics !-A. Republicans. 
Q. How were all questions decided that caUle before the board I-A. 

By a majori'y of tbe board. 
Q. State the manner in which the election was conducted at that pre­

cinct.-A. Everything was peaceable, everyone voting as he 881\" fit, 
and no one left without voting, except those refused by the board. 

Q. Was there any intimidations shown toward any one oft'erio~ to 
votet-A. None. Joe Coleman, (colored,) chairman ot the boanl, seemed 
to be worried at seeing so many colored voters vote the Democratic 
ticket. 

Q. How many colored Democrats voted at that precinct T-A. From 
twenty to thirty. .. 
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Q. Was there any repeating done at that poll '-A. None tbat I 
know of. 

Q. Were you at that poll the entire day Y-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did any bands of armed men visit that poll during the day '-A. 

No; I sa'N some few with side-arms. both white and colored. 
Q. Is it customary for persons to carry pistols Y-A. It is very com­

mon. 
Q. Did you see a white man take any tickets from Joe Coleman that 

day I-A. I did; he aaked "'Vhere are your tickets'" I replied, "There 
are some on the table; I don't know that they will suit; you may look at 
them." He looked at them and says," Haven't you got any moret I want 
to see all yon bave." I told him probably Joe Coleman has some others, 
and Joe pulled out some two or three hundred tickets out of his pocket' 
and handed them to him, from which he got about half dozen; he looked 
.at them and folded them op, and tore· them in two, and remarked, "They 
are not worth a damn; I'll look at those on the table again," and says, 
"They will do." and voted. 

Q. What was the manner of this man in getting the tickets from 
Coleman '-A. It was done in a good-natured way, withont any violence 
whatever. 

Q. Did you see Joe Coleman challenge the vote of anyone that day! 
-A. I did, on sel'eral occasions. 

Q. Was anything done to frighten the managers or prevent them from 
(loing their duty f-A. Nothing whatever. 

Q. Was not the proportion of colored persolls who voted the Demo­
cratic ticket at the lust election larger than at any previons election 1-
A. Yes, sir; far greater. 

Q. Did Horton H. Jordan vote there that day Y-A. He <lid not. 
Q. Did any person ,-ote at that precinct who was under age~-A. 

~one that I know of; several persons were challenged on that grol1nd 
by Joe Coleman; but they looked to be twenty'one yenrs of age, swore 
to that, Rond the chairman allowed them to vote. 

Q. Was there any person whipped in sight of or in hearing of the 
managers on that day anywhere in the VIcinity of the precinct '-A. 
No. sir; there were none threatened that I know of. 

Q. How long have you resided in Aiken County !-A. Since it became 
a county. 

Q. Are you familiar with the roads leading to and from Miles' Mill t 
-A. I am. 

Q. Is there any direct road leading from Miles' Mill to Fountain 
Academy!-A. None that I know of. No; there is no direct road. 

Q. Had any bands of armed meu visited that poll that day, would you 
not have seen them !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you bear anyone ask for tbe long-legged manager or a son of 
a bitch, or tell anyone tha.t they could come out and make water; tbat 
their bladders must be near bursting !-A. No, sir. 

Q. If such language had been used in the presence or hearing of the 
managers, would yon not have benrd itT-A. It strikes me that I 
would. 

JOHN M. BELL. 
Sworn to before me this 14th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.J - W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Pl'obate, Aiken County. 
NOTE.-Robert Smalls was not present or represented by connsel. 

• W. W. WILLIAMS • 
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BENJ. F. LANDRUM, jr., sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 

Benj. F. Landrum, jr. ; abont thirty years; Aiken Connty; farmer. 
Q. Where were you on the 7th day of last November, day of last 

general election I-A . .At Miles's lim precinct, in this connty. 
Q. Were yon there the entire day'-A. I was, sir. 
Q. Did any bands of armed men visit that precinct on that day '-A. 

No; I saw a few with pistols. 
Q. Were these men who had the pistols white or colored, Democrats 

or Republicans'-A. Both white and colored. both Democrats and Be· 
pnblicans. 

Q. Was there any violence or threats used toward anyone there on 
that day'-A. None. 

Q. Was there any repeatin~ done there on that day '-A. None tbat 
I know of. 

Q. Were there any parties under age of 21 years who voted there'­
A. None that I know of. 

Q. From the appearance of the voters who voted there, wonld yoo. 
jndge that they were of age '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What was the conduct of the election at that poll on that day'­
A. Very peaceable, quiet, and orderly. The deputy United States mar· 
shal, who was a Republican, James Powell, remarked to me, after the 
polls were closed, that everything was peaceable and quiet. 

Q. Did anyone interfere with the ballot-box during the day'-A. 
None at all. The manager, Brodie, had his hand on it, and kept it 
under his control all the time. 

Q. Did anyone say to Delevan Yates that if he would just cheep be 
would come in aud mash his mouth, or that he might come ont and 
make water, that his bladder might burstY-A. No, sir; no such lane 
guage was used. 

Q. Had it been used, would you not have heard it '-A. Yes j for I 
was near the box the entire day. 

Q. Did you hear anyone curse the managers that day'-A. I did not, 
sir. 

Q. Were any guns brought there or near the poUs that day'-A. 
There was not; I never saw a gun. 

Q. Was anything done to prevent the managers from doing their 
duty that day'-A. There was not. 

Q. Were all the men who voted properly sworn in due form of law!­
A. They were. 

Q. Was there any man who\'oted who refused to recognize the oathf-
A. No, sir; there was not. 

Q. Who dist.rlbnted the Uepnblican ticket.s'-A. Tom W. West. 
Q. Did Horton H. Jordan vote at that precinct !-A.. He did not. 
Q. Was any colored man told that it would not be safe to vote the 

Republican ticket at that precinct that day t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was there any act done or words nsed at that precinct on that 

day that was calculated to intimidate or frighten anyone'-A. No,siri 
there was not. 

Q. Was the voting free and fair, and did everyouevote as he chosef-
A. It was; and they voted as they chose. . 

Q. Was there any cursing going on while the oath was being admin· 
istered !-A. No, Rir. 

Q. Did not a large proportion of the colored voters vote the Demo· 
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cratic ticket '-A. Yes, sir; a good many who voted the Democratic 
ticket-from twenty to thirty. 

B. l!'. LANDRUM, JR. 
Sworn to before me this 14th day of April, 1877. 
rSEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken County. 
NOTE.-Robert Smalls was not represented by counselor in person. 

JOHN M. BELL recalled. 
Qnestion. Were all persons sworn who voted at Miles's Mill pre­

cinct '-Answer. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did any person who voted there refuse to be sworn T-A. No, sir. 

JOHN M. BELL. 
Sworn to and snb~cribed before me this 14th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS. 

Judge of Probate, Aiken County. 

NOTE.-Robert Smalls was not represented by connsel or iu person. 
W. W. WILLIAMS. 

NELSON P. BUTLER, being sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answcr_ 

Nelson P. Butler; twenty-nine years; Aiken Village; porter. 
Q. What are your politics T-A. Democrat. 
Q. How long have you been a DemocratT-A. For fonr year~. 
Q. Have you ever been abused or threatened on acconnt of yuur polio 

tics! If so, state by whom and in what way were you abused or threat­
t>ned.-A. Yes, sir; I have been, by a colored man named Harrison 
Volnntine, who told me that he intended to wait till election.day and 
see if I voted the Democratic ticket, and j( so, he had a militia gun and 
forty rounds of cartridges to keep me from walking the road by hiM 
house. I asked him if he was drunk or in earnest, and he said that" I 
am in earnest, God knows I am." In a short time after that I was 
brickbated by a crowd near Dabney Dickerson's, on my way from a 
Democratic meeting shortly before the election in last November. 
The cry among the parties who brick bated me was, U Kill the damn 
Democratic son of a bitch." I had to run to save myself. I am quite 
sure that Pierce and George Smith (brothers-in-law of Harrison Volun· 
tiue) and tbe Dickerson boys, all colored, were of the party. On the 
day of election Charles Neal, colored, drew a pistol ou Ole and called me 
a damned lyiug Democrat son of a bitch wbile I was going with another 
colored man to vote, and took the ticket from tbe man I was carrying 
up to vote. I have been abused and threatened on various occasions 
on account of my being a colored Democrat. 

Q. Were the parties who threatened and abused you all Republi­
cans !-A. They were all Republicans; and I remember Isaac Johnson, 
a colored Republican, drawing a knife on me because I was a Democrat, 
and some white men~ Mr. Henderson, lIr. Sam. Conrtney, and Mr. Lloyd 
Courtney, made them leave me alone. 

Q. State whether you know of any other colored Democrats being 
abnsed and threatened on account of their politics.-A. I saw my 
brother, Henry Peterson, caught hold of by colored Republicans and 
taken off from me, and they told him that if he voted the ticket I gave 
him he shonld never go back to Captain Seigler's alive. Willis James 
was one of the party, also Major Miller, and others whose names I do 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



.. 

622 TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 

Dot now remember. I have seen Tom Hayne, Toby Murphy, John Dent' 
colored Democrats, threatened and abused by colored Republicans on 
several occasions. On the day of election I saw July Lythgoe, who W18 
brought to toWIl by Julius Brown, attempt to vote, but the colored pe0-
ple got around him and threatened bim so that tbe old colored man be­
came 80 frigbtened that :rtf.'. Brown had to carry him to Graniterille to 
vote. I also saw some four colored men witb red shirts, wbo wereDem­
ocrats, attempt to vote bere in Aiken. but they were immediately sur­
rounded by colored Republicans and "were abused so tbat they were 
compelled to go to Graniteville to vote. Any colored man who was a 
Democrat was subject to continuous abuse and threats on accouut of 
bis politics, before and during the election; it was actually not sarli tor 
them to declare their politics. 

Q. Do you know of any colored men who voted the Democratic ticket 
~ecretly on account of being afraid to avow their politica openly!-.\. 
Yes, sir; I do kuow several. Mills Samuels, Major Samuels, and Jofoh 
Serenar were among them, aud several otbers. 

:N. P. BCTLER. 
Sworn to before me this 14th day of April. 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WII ... LJAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aike,. CONAty. 
NOTE DY W. W. WILLIAlIS.-Uobert Smalls was not represented by 

counselor ill person. 

RODERT A. CHAFEE, being sworn, says: 
Q. State where you voted in Aiken County in the last general electi\ln 

on the 7th November last.-A. At Graniteville. 
Q. It has been stated by witnesses for the contl'stee that you l'ottd 

more than once. Is that true or not !-A. It is a willful falsehood. 
Q. Have you a brother by name of William Chafee T-A. I b3\"e. 
Q. Have you not another brother by name of W. II. Chafee, who i. 

a competent voterY-A. I bave. 
Q. Did W. H. Cbafee, your brother, vote at Graniteville at last general 

election '-A. He did not, to my own knowledge. 
R. A. CHAFEE. 

Sworn to before me this 14th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probat~, Aik61& COil"". 
NOTE DY W. W. WILLIAllS.-Robert Smalls was not represented by 

counselor in"person. I 

. TODY MURPHY, (colored,) sworn, says: 
Q. State your name, residence, age, and occopation.-A. Toby Murphy; 

Aiken; thirty-one; carpenter. 
Q. Wbat are your politics '-A. It has always been Democratic since 

I bave been a voter. 
Q. State whether you have el'er been abused or threatened by colorE'll 

RepUblicans on account of your being a colored Deolocrat I-A. I hano, 
sir. 

Q. State when and by whom.-A. Before the last general election. 
by Tbornton Morris, a colored Uepublican. 

Q. Has any oue else ever abused you on account of yoor polities!­
A. Yes, sir, frequently, by a number of colored people, aDd Tborotoa 
Morris drew a pilltol on me, presented it against my side, aoll threatened 
to shoot me. 
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Q. Have YOD e\"er seen any other colored Democrats abused or threat­
ened on account of their politics !-A. I ha\"e frequently. Nelson Butler, 
Willis Watson, March Harrison, and Dave Harrison aud all of the col· 
ored men who voted that ticket threatened and abused. 

Q. What were the politics and complexion of the parties who abused 
them T-A. Colored; Republicans. 

Q. Do you know of any colored people who voted the Democratic 
ticket, but who were afraid to declare their votes open).v T-A. Yes, sir. 
John Scott and his two brothers and several others wh08(1 namel! I do 
not now r(lmember, who voted the Democratic ticket, but were afraid to 
do it openly. 

Q. At what precinct did you vote on the 7th of November last T-A. 
At Aiken preciuct. 

Q. Did you see any colored Democrats abused or threatened that day 
on account of their voting the Democratic ticket Y-A. I did, sir. Somo 
were so abused and threatened that they were compelled to go to Granite­
ville to yote. Jake Oliphant was oue, and several wbose names I ha\"e 
forgotten. 

(1. Was it safe for a colored man to declare himself fI Democrat 
openly previous to the election t-A. It was not; he was Hable to be 
beat or mobbed at allY time; my reasolls for sa~'iug so is, that I was 
jerked down by two colored Republicaus a tew nights before the last 
general election. 

bis 
TOBY + MURPHY. 

mark. 
Sworn to before me this 14tb April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken County. 
Note by'Y. W. WILLIAlls.-Uobert Smalls was not represented by 

connsel or in person. 

JOHN DENT, (colored,) being sworn, says: 
Question. State yonr name, age, re.sidence, and occupation.-Answcr. 

John Hent; about 28 years; Aiken, S. C.; porter. 
Q. What are YO:lr politics !-A. I am a Democrat. 
Q. How long have you been a Democrat t-A. Five years. 
Q. Where did you vote on the 7th of November last, the day of the 

last general election t-A. I \"oted at Graniteville. 
Q. Why did you vote at Graniteville instead of at Aiken, where you 

ff.>side t-A. Because the colored Republicans threatened 'me so I was 
afraid to vote in Aiken, where there were so many colored people, but I 
went to Graniteville, where I knew the Democrats were largely in the 
majority. I was afraid to go home that night, because I was afraid of 
the Republicans, and staid in Mr. Hahn's kitcben; my reasons for being 
afraid that night was that I had been previously beaten on account of 
my politics, and on one occasiou Tom Cheatam cut me with a knife 
severely. 

Q. Was it safe for a colored mlln before and during the election to 
declare himself openly a Democrat Y-A. It was not, for he was liable to 
be beaten and mobbed at any time for declaring himself a Democrat. 

Q. Do you know of any other colored Democrats who weut to Gran­
iteville to vote because they were afraid to vote ill Aiken '-A. Yes, 
sir; I do. # Douglas Robinson was one, Ephraim Smith, l\1iles Samuels, 
Major I:)amuels, Sumter 8amllels, Robert Scholil'ld, allli several other 
colored Democrat~ that I know of. 
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Q. Did not more colored people vote the Democratic ticket at the laRt 
general election than at any previons election that you know off-A. 
Yes, sir; a great many more. 

Q. Did not a great many colored people vote the Democratic ticket 
who were afraid to declare their politics openly t-A. Yes, sir; I kno,," 
a great many who yoted that ticket and were afraid to do 80 openly. 

Q. Do you know of any colored people who would have yoted tbe 
Democratic ticket, bnt were afraid and staid away 011 account of baviDIt 
been threatened. by colored Republicans !-A. Yes, sir; I know a good 
many. 

hi. 
JOHN + DE~T. 

mark. 

Sworn to before me this 14th April, 1811. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILL[AMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aikm C01I7I#Y. 

NOTE.-Uobert SmanA was not represented by counselor in person. 

STA.TE OP SOUTH OAROLINA., 
County of Aiken: 

G. D. TII..LM~, CONTESTANT, ~ Contested election for seat in Forty. 

ROBERT sums, CONTESTER. S fifth Oongress. 

W. J. Whipper, counsel for contestee, objects to all the testimony 
taken in this case on Saturday, the 14th of April, A. D. 1811, on the 
gronnds that legal notice to take such testimony was not ser'-ed on COD­
testee or his counsel. A notice was 88rred on the 9th of April, aDd 
under the law contestant could not take testimony before tbe 15th da, 
of April, A. D. 1811, at which time the connsel for contestant arri\'ed 
at the place designated for taking testimony. 

W. J. WHIPPER, 

AIKEN, S. 0., April 18, 187'1. 
A torney for Conitstu. 

A. P. PADGETr, being duly sworn, says: 
Question. State your namt', age, residence, and occupation.-Answt'l'. 

A. P. Padgett; thirty·one; Granite\'iIle, Aiken County, South Oarolioa; 
merchant. . 

Q. Where were you on the 7th of Ncyember last-the day of last 
general election T-A. At Graniteyille. 

Q. Did you hold any official position connected with that election ,­
A. [was a manager at Graniteville. 

Q. State the conduct of tha't election on that day at GraniteYiIlt'.­
A. Generally everything was very qllitlt; no disturbance or anythiug 
of the kind. 

Q. State the num ber of votes that were giYen for G. D. Tillman for COD· 

gress aud the number of yotes that were given for Robert Smalls for 
Congress.-A. Seven hundred and eighty-seven fot G. D. Tillman aDd 
seventy-seven for Robert Smalls. . 

Q. Were you present when the votes were counted, the returns (ootf'l 
up, and signed by the managers '-A. J was, Rir. 

(~. Were these ret.urns signed by all the managerR, 8S J't"C}nired by 
law f-A. They were. 
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Q. Were these returns and the box containing the poll-list and tbe 
ballots sent to Aiken, to tbfl board of count,\' canvassers f 

(Question objected to by General W. J. Whipper, on the ground that 
it is not in rebuttal to testimony given by the contestee.) 

A. They were. 
Q. By whom w('re tht'y brought to Aiken, and by whose authority 

did that person bring them '-A. They were brought by myself and the 
other two managers-John Wooley and Alexander Williams. 

Q. Wbo did ~'ou deposit the box returns, &c., with, and where !-A. 
Witb Obarles E,lmonston, one of tbe bOlml of county cannlssers of 
election for Aiken County, at the Court-House. 

Q. State which oue of the managers administered the oath to the 
voters at Graniteville and controlled voting generally.-A. John Wooley, 
chairman of the boarel. 

Q. What were bis politics, and what were the politics of the other 
manager, Alexander Williams, colored f-A. Republican. 

Q. You have stated that John Wooley did the swearing of the voters 
and managed the voting generally; now state whether he kept a list of 
tbe voters himself, and whether it was possible for him to do so.-A. 
He kept no list; it was impossible for him to do so. 

Q. Did John Wooley compare any private list of the voters with the 
list tbat was kept by your clerk !-A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Were you not at the polls until tbe poll· list was sealed up in the 
ballot-box, and if any list was compiued with the regular list kept by 
the clerk would you have not seen it being so compared !-A. I was 
there until the ballot· box was sf>aled, and put the poll-list in it myself, 
and if any comparison made with the list I would have seen it. 

Q. State whether any repeating was done at that box. or any boys 
onder age voting that you or the managers had any knowledge of!­
A. There was no repeating to my knowledge; no boys under age voted 
to my knowledge. 

Q. Did not a majority of your managers decide whether party offer­
ing to \'ote was eutitled to vote or not I-A. Yes, sir; a majority decided. 

Q. Were or were not the managers satisfied with every vote cast 
tbere '-A. I think they were' I heard no complaint. 

Q. What was the politics of a majority of the managers!-A. Repub­
lican. 

(The cross-examination was conducted by General W. J. Whipper, 
::aonse1 for contestee.) 

Q. Wbat are your politics !-A. Democrat. 
Q. In stating the number of votes for the two candidates, do you state 

them frOID memory or from memoranda f-A. From memorandum. 
Q. Have you that memorandum uow with you !-A. I have by figures. 
Q. Have you looked at it or referred to it in giving this testimony ,­

A. I have. 
Q. Will you let us soo it !-A. I will. (Witness produces paper with 

rillmau having 787 and Smalls 71.) 
Q. At what time aud from wbat were tbose figures obtained !-A. 

rhey were obtained from a memorandum of the returns this morning. 
Q. By whom WitS the memorandum kept from which those figures 

were obtained !-A. Kept by Mr. O. W. Croft. 
Q. State, if yon know, whf=re Mr. Croft obtained bis memorandum ,­

A. He obtained it from a memorandum I took from the returns. 
Q. At what time did he obtain it from you !-A. Next morning after 

~lectioD, November 8,1876. 
H. Mis. 11-40 
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Q. Have you ever seen it from tllat time until this morning f-A. 1 
don't remember whether I have or not. 

Q. Who besides yourself was present at the counting and footing up 
the vote7-A. John Wooley, Alex. Williams, and the super\"isor8 of 
election and the clerk of the board. 

Q. You state tbatJohn Wooley controlled tbings generally; what do 
you mean by that 7-A. He was chairmau; administered the oath to 
voters. 

Q. Is it not the custom for the chairman to administer the oath '-A. 
Don't know. Nevt>r was a manag~r before. 

Q. Beyond the administering tbe oath, had he nny more control thaD 
the rest of you; and, if so, whatf-A. He was chairman of board, and 
I don't know that he had any authOrity otherwisl>. 

Q. Who was your clerk t-A. Jumes L. Quinby. 
Q. Did lle keep the poll·list f-A. Yes, sir; he did. 
Q. Did any other party or parties keep a poll·list T-A. There was bot 

one that I saw-the clerk's. 
Q. Did you not see other party or parties there keeping tally, whpther 

you saw their list or not t-A. All through tbe way parties would ask 
how the vote stood, and would take it from our clerk. 

Q. Where was tbe election h .. ld '-A. Iu Hatcher's (G. W.) store. 
Q. Do you say that there was 110 one in the Mtore that took down a 

list, or kept tally of the votes that day 7-A. No one, to my knowledge, 
exct'pt onl' clerk. . 

Q. Could it have been doue without your knuwledge I-A. It might 
have been done, but I don't see how it could be done without my knowl· 
edge. 

Q. State, if you kno\v, whether you know if your clerk certi6ed to 
another return than the one placed in the box 7-A. I dou't koow 
whether he did or not. 

Q. When was it that the managers brought the box with retorDS to 
Aiken 7-A. On the 8th day of N ovem bel', 1876. 

Q. By whom were they delivered, and to whom7-A. To Mr. Ed· 
mondston, one of the board of canvassers, by myself and John Wooley, 
and Alex. Williams, I t~jllk; am positive by Wooley and myself. 

Q. Which of the three actually handed the box to Mr. Edmondston!­
A. 1 can't exactly say; we were all present; the box was set on the 
floor, and Mr. Edmondston says, I will take charge of it. 

Q. Do you remember which of you ~et the box 011 the Hood-A. I 
can't say posi ti vely . 

Q. Did either of you take a receipt for it I-A. I don't remember if a 
receilit was given or not. I think 1 asked for one, aud Mr. NdmoniliitoD 
said it was not necessary. 

Q. How long have you lived ill Graniteville f-A. Some eight or ten 
years. 

Q. Was there allY question raised as to the illegality of votes 00 tbat 
day, either as to age, repeating, or ot,herwise 7-A. None for repeating; 
a tew, three or four, on account of age, were rejected; some were re­
jected because they could not show naturalization papers. 

Q. About how many were challenged on account of age 7-A. I can~t 
exactly say; three, or lDay be more. 

Redirect by Mr. Uroft. for contestant: 
Q. Did the partiel! who were rejected on the ground of Dot having 

their naturalization papers ofter to swear that they wert! legal voters f­
A. In two cases they did. 

Q. What were their 110Iiti<lS; those who were rejected on acconDt 01 
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oot having naturalizatioo pilpers '-A. They wanted to vote the Dem­
ocratic tickt·t. 

Q. Did these parties who were rejeoted on account of their age offer 
to IIwear that theJ were legal \'0001'8 I-A. They did in one or two cases. 

Q. What ticket did they want to vote f-A. Democratic ticket. 
Q. Were they rejected by a majority vote of yonr boal·d; and, if so, 

state who voted to reject their votes t-.A. Yes, sir; th('y were rejected 
by a majority; .John Wooley and Alex. Williams voted to reject them. 

Q. Were any Rt'publican voters ohjected to on acclluut of age' 
(General Whippt>r objects to the qUt'stion as not being in rebuttal.) 
A. A good many were objected to Oil that I!rouncJ. 
Q. Wt're t.ht>y allow('cl to vote in all cases where they offered to swear 

they were of age' I mean those RepulJlicans' 
«( )bjectecl to hy couusel for contestee 011 same ground as above.) 
A. I don't lcnow of any that were prevented; all were allowe,1 to vote. 

A. R. PADGETT. 
Sworn to and sub!'lcribed before me this 16th April. 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Oounty. 
NOTE.-The erasure made in the 17th line because witness did oot 

oodt!rRtand question. 
W. W. WILLIAMS. 

W. J. Whipper appeared for contestee. 
K. J. TYLER, sworn, says: 

Qnt'!'Ition. State your name, age, re8idence, and occllpation.-Answer. 
K. J. Tyler; 27 years; Aiken (Jounty; farmer. 

Q. Alex. Williams, one of the managers of election at. Graoiteville 
precioct on the 7th N ovem ber last, the day of last general el~ctioo, bas 
sworn that YOll voted there on that day under the assumed name of La­
mar; is that true or fals,,'-A. It is false. 

Q. Did you vote at Graniteville at all '-A. I did not, sir. 
Q. At wbat precinct did you vote on that day I-A. Aiken. 
Q. Are there not a good many people in tbis county by the name of 

Lamarf-A. Yes; a good many. 
Cross-examined by General Whipper for contestee: 

Q. How do you spell your first name '-A. K-a·y. 
Q. How do you ~pen your middle oameY-A. J-e,n-n-i.n.g-s. 
Q. LaKt nalDe '-A. 'J'.y·l·e-r. 
Q. From wbat time to wbat time were 3"on in Aiken 00 that day ,­

A. I was here pretty well all day. 1 came about daylight that moro­
ing and left after Ntmdown, near dark. 

Q. In what portion of the county do you live Y-A. I live seven and a 
halt mileH 80uth of Aiken. 

Redirect: 
Q. State in what directioo Graniteville is from Aikeo.-A. Nearly 

west. 
Q. Ba\"e you ever heard or known of a man in Aiken County by 

oame of K. J. Taylor! 
(Objected to by coon8E'!1 for contestee as not being in rebuttal.) 
A. 1 bave not, sir. 

K. J. TYLER. 
Sworn to and snbs(lribed before me this 16th April, 1877. 
rSEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Oounty. 
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W. J. Whipper appears for contestee. 

O. E. SAWYER, being sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation '-Answer. 

O. E. Sawyer; twenty·fh?e years; Merritt's Bridge post· office, Aiken 
Oounty; farmer. 

Q. Were you elected a member of the house of representatives from 
Aiken Oounty at the last general election, held on the 7th da,)" of No­
vember last T-A. I was. 

Q. On what ticket were you elected !-A. Democratic. 
Q. Joseph Coleman, a colored man, who was a manager of election 

at Miles's Mill at the last general election, held on the 7th day of No­
vem,ber last, has stated that you were at or near Miles's Mill on that 
day with a party of armed men. Is that true or false !-A. It is false. 

Q. State 'whether you were near or at Miles's Mill precinct on tbat 
day.-,A. I was not at it nor near it. 

Q. Where were you on that dayf-A. I was in the town of Aiken 
during the whole day. 

Q. Were you anywhere on the road leading frow Granite\"ilIe to 
Miles's Mill on that day T-A. I was not; no nearer thun the town of 
Aiken. 

Cross·examined by General W. J. Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
No questions put by coun~l for coutestee. ' 

O. E. SAWYER. 
Sworn to and subscribed betore me this 16th day of April, 18n. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

'Judge of Probate, ~ Co,,,.,,. 
General W: J. Whipper appeared tor contestee. li~f ; 
D. S. HENDERSON, sworn, says : '"<l~:'" 
Qnestion. State your name, age, residence, and ocoupatiob.-ADswer. 

D. S. Henderson; twenty·seven years; Aiken; attoruey at law. . 
Q. How long have ,)"ou resided in Aiken 7-A. Ever since it has been 

a county. , 
Q. Were you in Aiken Oounty at the general election beld in 187-1 f­

:A.. Yes, sir. 
Q. Had Jon any official connection at that election! And, if any, 

state what.-A. I was chairman of the DemOt'ratic party for this county; 
and chairmau of the board of county canvassers of election for this 
count,\'. 

Q. Will YOll state how many precincts were in Aiken Oounty at that 
election f-A. Fifteen. 

Q. In what township is Graniteville precinct; and was there any other 
precinct in the same township in 1874 f-A. Graniteville is in Gregg 
Township; Langley, ih the same township. was a voting·precinct in 1874-

Q. Do yOll know whether or not if there was any voting.precinct in 
Langley at the general election held on 7th Yovember, 1816f-A. There 
was not. 

Q. You have stated that tbere were fifteen voting·precincts in tbiJ 
county at the general election held in 1874. Can you tltate how many 
precincts there were at the election held on the 7th No\"ember last f­
A. Eleven. 

Q. Do you know the Democratic vote at Graniteville at the general 
election held in 1874 I-A. The average vote was 384. 
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Q. State the Democratic vote at r~angley precinct the same year.-A. 
One hundred and sixty·eight. 

Q. Was lIontmorenci a precinct at the general election heM in 1874' 
-A. Yt>8, sir. 

Q. Was there a precinct at }[ontmorenci at the general election held 
on the 7th November last '-A. There was not. 

Q. State the Democratic vote at Montmorenci at the general election 
held in H74.-A. One hundred and "four Democratic votes, and 2 Re· 
publican votes. 

Q. Was there a precinct at Barney Glover's mill at tht> general elec· 
tion held in 18747 If so, state the Democratic vote at that precinct 
polled there that year.-A. There was a precinct there that year. Sixty· 
one Democratic votes and 17 Republican votes polled there that year. 
There was no pr{'cinct there at last general election. 

Q. Was there a precinct at Lybrand's store at the general t>lection 
beld in 1874'" And, if so, state the vote.-A. There was. Democratic 

~ vote, 105; Republican, 18. There was Ill) precinct th~re in 1876. 
Q. Do you know the locality of the Bath paper-mill J-A. Yes~ sir. 

The Bath paper.mill is one mile to two miles below Langley, and be· 
tween three and four miles from Graniteville. 

Q. There being no poll at Langley in 1876, which is the nearest pre· 
cinct then left to the Bath paper-mill '-A. Graniteville. The instruc· 
tions from Democratic executive committee of this county (of which 
I was amember) were that Bath and Langley should go to Graniteville 
to vote." In fact, the Democratic vote was concentrated there. 

Q: State the total vote at Graniteville in 1874.-A. Total, 451; aver· 
age, 384 .white and 66 colored. 

Q. John Woolley, Republican manager at Graniteville at the last elec· 
tion, has accounted for the incr~ased vote at that prt>cinct at that elec· 
tion by repeating. Can YOIl account for or give a reason why it should 
be greater at Graniteville at that election than it was at previous elec· 
tions f 

(General Whipper, counsel for contestee, objects to question.) 
A. There are many reasons which would account for the Democratic 

vote at Graniteville being larger in 1876 than in 1874 or in previous 
years. A great many of the colored people there who voted the Repub· 
lican ticket in previous years voted the Democratic ticket in 1876. It 
being a large Deinocratic poll, orders were given to concentrate much 
of the Democratic force there. In 1874 the \'oters at Bath amI Langley 
voted at Langley, While in 1876 they voted at Graniteville. In 18i4 the 
voters ill a region up above Graniteville voted at Lybrand's store and 
at Miles's Mill. In 1876, as there was no precinct at Lybrand's, they 
were instructed to vote at l\IiIt>s's Mill and Graniteville. A great many 
colored Democrats, who were afraid of voting where the Republicans 
were ill the majority, snch all Aiken, were carried to Graniteville and 
voted. The town!! of Langley, Grallitfwille, aud Bath nre thriving 
manufacturing towns, and their population increases yearly. The pop· 
nlation of these towns are white, alld their politics Democratic. I think 
all these reasons will account for the illcrease of vote in 1876. 

Q. Is not the factory and village at Langley a new enterprise that 
has only been in active operation in the last fonr or five years 1-A. I 
think the Langley factory went iuto operation in 1868 or 1869, but the 
population has steadily increased for the last four or five years, the 
manufacturing power of the factory having been increased within that 
time. 

Q. Is bot the population of Langley made up almost exclusively of 
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white inhabitants '-A. :Yes; factory employ~s; a few colored bands; 
and they vote the Democratic ticket; so I am informed by the sup~rin. 
tendent of the factory. 

Q. Were t.here fewer or more white Republican voters in Aiken 
County at .tbe lallt general election, behI on the 7tb of November last, 
as compared with previous elections in this county '-A. There were a 
great many less wbite Republicans who voted thf> Republican ticket 
at last £>\ection tban previously; a good many of their leaders came 
ov£>r to the D£>mocrats, bringing with them their followers; notably tbe 
high sheriff of tbe connty. 

Q. Are you acquainted with olle Nathan R. Williams, who was clerk 
of the board of county canvassers at the gen£>ral election held in this 
county on the 7th of November lasH-A. I aUl, and have known him 
since October, 1872. 

Q. Do you know bis general reputation for veracity in this commo· 
nity '-A. I do. 

Q. Is it good or bad 1 
(General Whipper, couDs£>1 for contestef>, ollj{'cts to qu£>stion. on the 

grollnd that yon cannot impeach veracity of witnesses ill prOC(>eding8 
of this kiud.) 

A .. Very bad. 
Q. Would you feel bound to believe him on his oath, where he con· 

ceives himself interested f 
(General Whipper objects{ on the ground that witness's character 

cannot be impeached on rebuttal, where he bas not an opportunity of 
defending himself.) 

A. I woold 110t. 
A. Was not the canvass before the last general election more t.hor· 

ough, and did not the voters of the Democratic party turn out more 
than at any previous election since reconstruction I-A. They did. The 
reallon is this: the Democratic party neVl'r before bad a leader in South 
Carolina that they would follow, all previous canvasses being ron on 
compromise candidates for governor and State officers. In the last 
canvass they had leaders of their own party,and everybody turned 00& 
at the polls. 

Cross·examined by General W. J. Wbipper, for the contestee: 
Q. What was the total vote in 1874 of Aiken County '-A. Four 

thousand seven hundred and twenty·£>igilt. 
Q. WIJat was tbe proportion of.white and colored t-A. I can't gi\"e 

it from the table I have before me; can approximate; it was about 
2,370 colored to about 2,310 white, or thereahoot. 

Q. What was the proportion of Republicans and Democrats I-A. 
Aboot the same. 

Q. What was tbe total '\"ote of 1876 T-A. I ha'\"e not the figures before 
me, and cannot testify to it only from recollectioo. 

Q. You state that Langley Mills wellt into operation in 1868 or '69. 
Had they not been in operation before that time !-A. Not to my knowl· 
edge. 

Q. State, if you know, what was the ,"oting pOlmlation of Granite­
ville, Langley, and Bath in 1874 and what in 1876 I-A. I canDot say 
definitely. 

Q. Do you know what the actoal population was in either of those 
years, and what, if any, the increaNe f-A. I cannot state the actual 
popolation in nombers in eitht'r of those years, but I know there has 
been an increase, especially at Langley and Graniteville, on accoont of 
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the increase of tbe manufacturing power, and bence the necessity of an 
increase of banlls. 

Q. Statl', i( you know, what has heen the increase in manufacturing 
capacity in eit.bl'r of those places.-A. I do not know exactly the in· 
creas~; am informed it is consillt'rable. 

(~. Do ;\"ou know whether their reports show a great~ramount of work 
done during the ~ear 1~7() than in the yearN IS74 and '75; and, if so, 
how much f-A. As attorn~y of the Graniteville Company, I was in· 
formed by the superintendent, not more than a week ago, that their 
sales for the last year and their a!lKe~S were larger than in previous 
years. As to Langley I cannot speak. 

Q. State, if you know, how milch greater, and if those goods were 
made in 1876 or previotlsIJ.-A. I do not know how much greater. The 
sales spokt'n of were sales made during the last fiscal year. Don't 
.know wht'n the goodR were made. 

Q. Do you know of yonr OWII knowledge if there were a greater nnm· 
ber of employes in 1876 than in 1874; and, if so, how many f-A. I do 
not know how many. I know a considerahle force has been added. 

Q. Don't yon know that a large portion of their operatives are ft'males' 
-A. I know that tht're are some females in the factor~', and that was 
80 in 1874 8S well as 1876. 

Q. Do you know if this increase that you speak of was males or 
females '-A. I do not. 

Q. You have stated that the Democratic vote in 1874 was 384 at 
Graniteville and 168 at Langley. Do you state that from memory or 
from memoranda '-A. I state that from a printed copy of the official 
count, published in the Aiken Tribune of November 14,1874, and my 
recollection of the official count corresponds with this. I made out 
the official count myself. 

Q. Is that account signed as an official accoulltt-A. No, it is headed 
official accouut, but I am sure that it corresponds with the official ac· 
count. 

Q. Is this nothing more than a newspaper item '-A. It is a state· 
ment of the official count in the local paper. As chairman of the board 
of count~, canvassers, I furnished to Mr. Sl'arnick, editor of that paper, 
a (>.opy of that count. 

Q. Wby (lid you not sign it officially '-A. I did not think it neces· 
sary; I merely gave it as a newspaper item. 

Q. Have ~ou had occasion to examine it; if so, when and how often' 
-A. I remember noticing it at the time it was published; did not notice 
any discrepancy; did not compare it with official count; according to 
my recollection it was correct. 

Q. Ha\-e yon ever seen it from the time ~Oll first eXl;l.mined it until 
YOIl got it to refresh your memory I-A. I did once, just previous to last 
election. 

Q. In the 168 vott's cast by the DE'mocrats in 1874, did not that 
include Bath T-A. In 18i4 I tbink the Bath people voted at Hamburg 
88 well as at Langll'Y. 

Q. How do yon know that, ami what numher of them' ·A. What 
numbt'r I cannot say, but in 1874. as there was a poll at [Jangley anu 
one at Hamburg, the Bath voters were allowed to go to Lallgle~- or Ham­
burg, as tbt'~' pleased, not being instl'Ucted wbere to go; uut ill 1876, as 
it was tbe desire of tbe Democratic pl,rty to concentrate their vote at 
Graniteville, the people of Bath were requested allll instructed to go to 
Graniteville, there being no poll at Langlev. 

Q. How far is Hamburg from Bath I-A.. Not more than six miles. 
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There were wagon-teams employed to carry the yoters from Langley 
and Bath to Graniteville in this last election, hired by the Dewocr-.ttic 
party. 

Q. You stated that Hamburg is six miles from Bath, aud Langley 
froID one to two miles; whllt could have been the inducement for the 
voters to go to Hamburg frOID Bath instead of Langley T-A. The 
voters of Bath are factory people, gf'uerally speaking; having the whole 
day before them, many of them would like to go to Augusta, where t.hey 
trade, and of course would pass directly through IIambul'~. Bl'sides 
that, there is au accommodation-train running to Augusta daily, by 
which they could go to Hamburg and vote, go to Augusta and come 
back. 

Q. Was there 110t a trnin also that comes from Bato this way in the 
morning anel returns to Bath in the afternoon T-A. Yes; but Langley 
is not a trading-town of much capacity. 

Q. Do ~'011 kllOw of actual installces of parties going to Hamburg to 
vote, or do you form it from the rf'asons gin'lI T-A. Being surprised 
at the small vote at La.ngley in 1874, it being smaller than I bad ex­
pected, I inquired of some of the officers of the Bath company where 
their operatives voted, aud they told me some voted at Langley, some 
at Hamburg, and some did not yote at all. 

Q. What was the Democratic vote at Hamburg that year f-A. One 
hundred and olle. 

Q. Was or was there not a Democratic ticket fur the house and for 
all the vacant officl"s ill the counts in that election I-A. There was. 

Q. Was it not well known that the vote was vers close pre\-ious to 
election 7-A. It was genl"rnlly believed that the Democrats would beat, 
and there was no general turning out of the Democratic Yote, as that 
party bat! no candidate for governor. If we bad then lIael Hampton on 
the ticket the election would have been certain for the Democrats, as it 
was in the laRt election. 

Q. You stated that in no previous election that the D('mocrats bad no 
leader that they conlll trust. ITave the DemocratR ever pnt up a can­
didate for governor; did they ever conduct a campaign before and since 
reconstruction; and, if so, when '-A. There hilS not bf'eu a I!ampaign, 
as a Democratic campaign, since reconstruction in which the Democrats 
had their hearts, previous to the last. 

Q. You haye stated that in no previous election did the Democrats 
bave a leader whom they would follow; that they were all compromise 
candidates. What compromise candidate bav(' they bad since recon· 
strnction; who is h(', or who are they Y-A. R. B. Oal'lwnter in 1870, 
Reuhen TomliKon in 1872, John T. Gref'u in 1874, were all callt!idates 
for ;.!Overuor, acqlliesced in by some Democrats as compromise and re­
pUlliated by a great many others, and such is my fl'iendllr. Tillman. 
It took such men as Governor Hampton and Mr. Tillmau to bring ont 
the white vote. 

Q. Do you not know that John T. Green was nominated by a Relmb­
can convention, which adopteel the identical platform which his oppo· 
nent ran upon, without u Democratic delegate in the com'ention, and 
was he not an avowed Republican during the entire campaign f--A. I 
know that he was nominated by a convention representing t,hose Repub­
licans who were opposed to the corrupt riug of the Repllulican pllrty of 
South Carolina, and that the Democratic convention which met sbortly 
afterwards, of which I was a member, declined to make any nomina­
tionL thinking it was best to aUy themselves with the honest wing of 
the .uepublican party; but there were some Republicans who came with 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 633 

Judge Green tbat the people did not trust, and this movement bad no 
following among the Iwople worth anythillg. 

Q. Do I understand, tben, that you call him your candidate!-A. 
Judge Oreen was the cUlHlida.te of the Demucratic Jlnrt~' and I voted 
for him. He waM not nominat,ed by the Democratic party, but his nomi· 
nation was acquiesCt'd in by them. 

Q. Do [ under~tand YOIl to say that Renben Tomlison '~as a candi· 
date of the Dt'Dlocratic lmrty T-A. He was regardt>d in the same light 
as Judge Grt>en; looked upon as the choice of two evils, ueillg better 
than Moses, bis opponent. 

Q. Is the same true of Carpenter 1-A. I so regard it, thougb myexpe· 
rience in politics does not date back to that time actively. 

Redirect: 
Q. Did the Republican party poll a foll colored vote in 1874' 
(General Whipper, counsel for contestee, objects on the ground that 

new matter is being brought out in the redirect.) 
A. 1'hey did, and I'll give the reaSOll that compelled them to do it: 

they were lead in this county by R. B. Elliott, who desired to be speaker 
of the house of representatives, and every effort possible was made to 
secure his election. 

D. S. HENDERSON. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 16th April. 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Coutlty. 
Oontestee was represented by W. J. Whipper. 

J. ST. JULIEN YATES, being sworn, says: 
Questi()n. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 

J. St .• Julien Yates; 24 years; Aiken; attomey at law. 
Q. How long have you rt'sided in Aiktm COllnty f-A. Since May, 

1872. 
Q. Were you in Aiken Coonty during the political canvaSR the sum· 

mer aud fltll of 1876 I-A. I was, and tuok an active part in that can, 
vass, 011 the Democratic sidt>, being ol1e of the Democratic cam'assers 
for thiR couutS. 

Q. Dill you attend any political meetingR during the canvass in the 
county Y-A. I was present at e\'ery Democratic meeting in the lower 
campaign, and all but two of the Republicans. 

(~. Did you lUeet any United States soldiers at thoRe meetings. 
(General Whipper objects on ground that the question is not in reo 

buttal.) 
A. I lJIet a squad of Unitel1 States soldiers at every Republican meet· 

ing, and two United States mnrshalM ut most of the meetings. 
Q. Sta.te whether the Democrats who attended those meetings were 

interfered with by the soldiel·8; and, if so, state in what manner. 
(General 'Vhipper, cOllluwl for contcstel:', objects 011 the ground that 

it is bringing Ollt afth·mative testimony, and by all the rules governing 
such case~ they are strictly confined to rebuttal. Thll contestee has not 
brought out anything about public meetings, Democrat or Uepublican, 
in Aiken Coullty. Further object8. because they have not ill their notice 
of contest informed U8 of their intention to take affirmative testimony 
in this collnty, either generally or specifically.) 

A. At House's Bridge, sl'yeral of us being sent there by the Demo· 
cratic executive committee to ask for a reply, made such a. request ill as 
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polite language as we knew how, but were refused. Upon our asking 
questions of the speakers the United States marshal stopped Ull, and said 
if we didn't desist they would arrest us. Tbis was not quite a month 
before election. At Silverton, two weekslawr, I was present at another 
meeting; made similar reqnest to the former to be allowed to reply. when 
I was stopped by United States soldiers, threatening 1U6 that if I con· 
tinued to put any questions that he would arrest me alll1 the parties 
with me. Abont fRn df!.ys before the election this bappened. A few 
days later I was at Beech bland, attending another Repuldican meeting; 
someof the lUost rabid Republicans,colored people, saitt that they wauted 
to bear Oapt. Panl F. Hammond (JalJles Wigfall, Milledge Oooper, aod 
others were of tile numbtlr) and myself. Dr. Palmer said tbat lie would 
not consent to any such proposition, and called Lieutenant Hinton, io 
command of a detacllmE'nt of soldiers, to him, and told him that I was 
a great source of annoyance to him, WbefrlUpOn Lieutenant Hinton told 
me that he had come with a dt·taehment of United States 1l0ldiel'l5 to 
keep us away from Repnl>licall meetings; that we were neither to ask 
questions nor to atteud the meetiug; til at if these orders wer6 disoheyed 
he wonld arrest us and take us to jail in Aikeu. Whereupon mauy of 
the whites, being ignorant countl'y people, dillpersed and left the meet­
ing. 

Q, How many soldiers were in the detachment at !{ouse's Bridge f­
A. At Silverton there was a lieutenant and six or eight pri\"ates. 

Q. Were these soldiers armed aod equipped with their bayonets and 
oartridges T-A. The soldiers were armed and equipped with bayonets 
fixed aud gUllS 10iKIed; they had their cartridge boxes. 

Q. State how many soldiers were at BeE'cll Island, aod if they we.re 
equippt'd as those at Silverton '-A. Lieutenant Hinton, with aboot 
same number of soldiers, witb guns, cartridge·boxes, and their bayoneta 
fixed. 

Q. Did yon meet soldiers at allY other meetings' aud, if so, s~ 
wht'u and where.-A. A f't'w days previous to the election at a Demo­
cratic meeting at Rouse's Bridge, while I was addressiug a large crowd, 
a lientt'!nant aud deta(lhment of soldiers (Lieutenant Goodwin) came to 
the meeting and arreKted a large number of my hearers, who were Demo­
crats, wbieh scared mallY of the others to such an extent tbat they left 
the ground. W. E. Hankinson, a number of Dicks-Setb Dicks, Jack 
Dicks, Captain Dicks-one of tbe Dunbars, and many others that I cao, 
not call the names of. 

Q. St.ate whether or \lot any arrE'st with soldiers wal'l made duriog 
the night·time in this l~ounty previous to the elt'ction f-A. A few days 
previous to tbe .. leet.ion the hOllse of AIrs. Simkins was surrounded by 
United States soldiers, and two United StateK' deputy marshals weot 
into the house and dt'maluieti of Mrs. Simkins her two sons; tbt·y were 
bronght to Aiken and placE'li in jail. 

Q. Wbat E'1l'ect did thil'l concillct of the United Statt·s Foldiers hare 
upon the Democratic ,'oters of this county '-A. A few days aftt'r I wll8 
going tbrongh that section of countr~·. It was hard to meet a single man. 
ThOMe tbat I did meet appt'ared ver,V much alarmed and terrifiE'd, and 
inquired of me if they went out to vote 011 elt'ction .clay would the.'" be 
arrested by the soldiers. Many of thern alRO told me that their SOOS 

anti brotherH had fied to the swamps aud others had ~olle to Gt>Orgia to 
pre"E'ut thems('lves from being 81TE'sted hy the soldiers. Two or three 
days b('forp the election this oCCltrrt'd. Tbat night I stopped with ~r. 
I8aac Foreman's family, who bad a SOli auti se\"eral young men ht'side8 
myself stopping with bim. About bed·time it was remarked that Uoited 
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States soldiers were in the neighborhood for making arrests. The in· 
mates of the honse became panic stricken and alarmed. The men were 
beyond all reasoning power, and fled to the State of Georgia. These 
were Seth Dicks, Myers, and Jacob Foreman. 

Q. Have you had any coU\'ersation with any commissioned officer 
previous to and about the election' If so, Iltate who with and the pur· 
port of it.-A. I did a few days previout! to the election. I wat! converso 
ing with Lieutenant Catley, of this post, at Aiken. During tbat conver· 
sation Li .. utenant Oatley became very much warmed up about politics 
and said that if Tilden was elected that such men as Hampton, Gary, 
Tillman, and Butler would hang up tbe negroes on the roadt!ille like so 
many blackbirds. I told him that he ougbt to be ashamed of himself, 
occupying the position he did, to expretls t!uch sentimentt!, though he be· 
lieved them. Be said that he watl a little excited in the al'gument, but 
that Bayes was an intimate friend of bis, and that he knew it' he was 
elected that he would 110 something for hitl (Jatley's) promotion, and 
that was his reason for manifesting nn interest iu the campaign. 

Q. Do yon know Nathau H. Williams, clerk of the board of county 
canvasser~, at the election held 7tb November last '-A. I am sorry to 
say that I do. 

Q. How long have you known him '-A. Since the fall of 1873. 
Q. Do you know his general reputation for veracity in tbis commu· 

nity'-A. I do, ·sir. 
Q, It! it good or bad T-A. It is notoriously bad. 
Q. Would you feel bound t{) belie\'e him on his oath in any matter in 

which be conceives himself to be interested f-A. I would not believe 
him nnder aoy circumstances; not even uneler hit! oath. 

Q. Where is Mr. N. R. Williams from !-A. From the North. 
Q. State by what name you would class bim in socit'ty.-A. He is a 

carpet· bagger. 
Q. Did you ever know of his doing any work except office-holding 

under the Radical partyf-A. No, sir. 
(General Whipper, for contestt~e. objects to the entire matter f!'OlD last 

objectioll to the attempted impeacbment of N. R. \Villiams, inclusive, 
upon the ground that it is not in rebuttal, and the largest portion of it is 
hearsay, and to so mucb as refers to tbe attempt to ilDpeach N. H.,' WiJ]· 
iams, upun the gruund tt.at a man cannot be impeached on rebuttal, 
where be has no opportullity of defending himself.) 

Cross-examined by General Whipper: 
Q. You 'state that you were present ill all the Dpmocrat.ic meetings in 

the lower campaign, lLud lIome Republican. How mallY Democratic 
meetillgs \vere there ill tbe lower T-A. Tu the best of Ill,\' recollection, 
eight. Tbe county was c1ividl'd into two campaiglls, callt'tl the upper 
and tbe lower, the South Carolina Railroad the tlh'idillg liue. North of 
the railroad ~as called the upper alld Knuth of it the lower. 

Q. Bow many Republican meetings did you attend f-A. Six or seven, 
I think. 

Q. At what time did your lower campaign open '-A. About the 12th 
01' 15th of October, to tbe bt'st of' Illy recollection. 

Q. 'Was that your tirst met'ting, and where was itt-A. My first meet· 
ing was at the Levels on the South CaroliJJ!\ Rililroad. 

Q. Wbere was it that ,YOU first attellded a Republican meeting '-A. 
At Ronse's Bridge, about the middle of October last. 
. Q. \Vhat were the qnestions that you were propounding tbere when 
you were informed that you must desist or be nrrested '-A. I asked Dr. 
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Palmer, the spiritualist, why tbe affinity was not sufficient to warrant 
him with living with his colored wife in Florida, as it was sufficient to 
warrant bim in taking her money and leaving her. I asked )Ir. Palmer 
to explain his cOllnections with Mr. Keyser, in the Tweed ring. I also 
asked if be hael saill wben he first came South that his mind was on· 
settleel with which party he would fall in with. I asked Mr. Storey, 
candidate for the senl\te, to explain to the people what he ball done 
with the Barnwell fumls he hall embezzled, and for which he was i.· 
dieted. rtlay have put some more, but don't remembt'r. 

Q. Did you porsue this course at all the Republican meetings that yoo 
attended T-A. No, sir; I was stopped by United States troops, and 
threatc>ned with impri!!onment if I did. 

Q. This was doue, then, at Rouse's Bridge T-A. It was, and at Silo 
verton. 

Q. Had you not already asked for a division of time and been re­
fused before you put these questions T-A. I had, and while they would 
not consent to a division of time, they did consent that we should ask 
them questions. 

Q. Do I understand, then, that Dr. Palmer and Mr. Storey ga"e you 
permission to ask those questiont;f-A. I mean to say that Dr. Palmer 
acted as spokesman for the Republican party and consented for me to 
ask questions. . 

Q. At whose instance, then, did the troops interfereT-A. When Dr. 
Palmer found tbat be could not answer tbe questions with satisfactiou 
to his bearers, he called on the troops to come to his rescue. 

Q. Did he call on these soldiers without requesting you to desist after 
giving you permission '-A. I do not recollect. 

Q. Did the soldiers or officers approach you T-A. An officer. 
Q. Did he not. first ask ~'ou 'to desist, or WaR his first salutation, stop 

or I'll put you iu jail Y-A. The first illformation tbat I received was 
that my questions were distasteful to Dr. Palmer or other Republican 
speakers, was from a United States officer, that I was l)articular dis­
tast~ful to Dr. Palmer and his colleagues; this to the best of my recol· 
lection. 

Q. Were your questions selected with a view to good taste; had you 
any idea that they would be pleasant to Dr. Palmer and his associat~' 
-A. On all oecabions 1 endeavor to use such language that will be in 
accordance with good taste. 

Q. 'fhis you say was about a month before election !-A. I think 
about a month. 

Q. Was this before or after the difficulty in that portion of the country 
known as the Ellenton riot 1-A. Some time after. 

Q. 'Vere ther~ allY soldier!:l ill that portion of the country before the 
Ellenton riot that you know on-A. I cannot say, as I was neTer in 
that section of country previous to the occasion mentioned aoo,"e. 

Q. Wben was your ~ilverton meeting; before or aftN the Rouse's 
Bridge meeting !-A. Some time after •• 

Q: ~\" ere tbe questiolls that you pl'Ol)oundt'd at Sih"ertoll the same 
or SImIlar to those you propounded at Rouse's Bridge t-A. To the same 
effect. 

Q. Ha(} you obtained permission to ask them there before asking 
them '-A. I was so informed by Oapt. Paul Hammond, when I arrived 
upon tbe ground. 

Q. 'Vas the !:lame officer in com maud there 8S at Rouse's Bridge; if 
not, who was f-A. I don't remember. 

Q. Was you approached by the officers or soldiers in the same man" 
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ner and told to desist or yoo would be arrested t-A. Pretty much the 
Bame way. To the best of my recollection, a United States marshal 
approached me at Silverton. 

Q. Do you know who it was t-A. Bardeen. 
Q. Had you not on both those o(',cnsionR interrnpted the meetin~ by 

asking qoestions before ~'ou were intt'rfered with by the soldiers t-A. 
Ir I asked questions, it was by the consent of the speakers, and I am not 
aware that I interrupted anyone. 

Q. How long before election was it that arrests were made, when you 
were addl'essing a Democratic meeting at Imuse's Bridge t-A. But a 
very few days. 

Q. How many were arrested t-A. Quite a number; can't exactly say. 
Q. Do you know the names of any of the parties that were arrested I 

-A. At the time I uid; since then, their names have escaped my 
~~ry. . 

Q. Oan't you approximate the number that was then arresteu '-A. 
About twelve or fifteen. 

Q. You say that you knew the names of them all at that time; can't 
you call the names of any now I-A. I cannot. 

Q. State, if you know, for what they were arrested.-A. I do not know 
of my own knowledge, hut I believe for the purpose of encouraging the 
Republicans and intimidating the Democrats, both classes of whom be­
ing uninformed country people. 

Q. Do you know what was done with them after they were arrested t 
-A. They wele brought to A.iken. I found them in jail next day, and 
many of them said they hall been without.t'ood since their arrest. 

Q. Did you ascertain then what, if anything, they were charged with I 
-A. I did not; and many of the prisoners themselves said they did not 
know for what they had been arrested. 

Q. Are they still in jail t If not, how did they get out7-A. To my 
knowledge they are not in jail now. As to the reasons of their dis­
charge, I do not, of my own knowledge, know. . 

Q. Are you not aware that from shortly after the Ellenton riot till 
election or thereabouts that United States marshals and soldiers were 
engaged in arresting men charged with complicity in said riot !-A. I 
have been so informed. 

Q. Are you not aware that United States District Attorney D. T. 
Corbin was then in this town shortly after Ellenton riot till about elec­
tion, taking testimony and binding over to United States court personR 
chargt>d with complicity in Ellenton riot t-A. I have been so informed, 
but never saw District Attorney Corbin but once; that was wben he 
was lea\'ing here some time before t>lection. 

Q. Do you not know that a large number were bound over 3!1d are 
still booDtl over to United St.ates conrt for alleged complicity ill Ellen­
ton riots T-A. I have been so informt>d. 

Q. Have you not also been informed that there are a number of war­
rants for parties who are now in Georgia or in the swamps '-A. I have 
not; nor do I believe, nor do I know of any such parties. 

Q. Was or was there not warrants out for those young men wbo left 
the house at Mrs. Simkins' the night you mention !-A. As to one of 
them I do not know; as to the other two I do know that warrants were 
never issued for them then or since. 

Q. You state that you ne'\'er knew N. R. Williams to do anything but 
hold office in the Radical party; what office has he lield in ,that party t­
A. He has been clerk of the county commissioners of tbis county and 
elerk of the legislature-committee clerk. 
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Q. What evidence have you that he was ever committee clerk for leg· 
islature Y-A. He told me that he was clerk for railroad committRe and 
have charge of tickets; offered to take me to Columbia whenever I 
wanted to go. 

Q. Is that the only evidence that you have of his being committee 
clerkf-A. It is not; I have B.een him in Colnmbia in the committee­
rooms performing the duties of clerk. 

Redirect: 
Q. You stated tha.t YOIl ba\"e been informed tbat a number of men 

were arre8ted previous to election on the charge of complicit.y in tbe 
Ellenton riots; were not those arrests stoPl)ed as !loon as tbe election 
was OVtlr '-A. For whatever purpose those arrests were made. tbey eer 
tain1y ended with the election. Nothing bas been seen of the United 
StateR marshala in their official-cupacity since the ell~ction. 

Q. Do you not kuow that both white and colored Democrats were ar­
rested upon that charge '-A. I do. 

Q. Do you not know that no Republican, white or colored, has ever 
been arrested or charged with complicity in tbe Ellenton riots'-A. I 
know of 1I0ne. 

Q. Do you not know that the testimony ta~en by District Attorney 
Corbin was entirely ex·parte, and takE.'n from~one political partyt-A. I 
have been so informed; from the Republican party. 

J. ST. JULIEN YATES. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this April 16, 1877. 
rSEAL.] W. W. WILLlAlfS, 

Judge of P"obate, Aiken COUflty. 

W. J. Whipper represented the contestee. 

ANGUS P. BROWN, geillg sworn, says: 
Question. State your Dame, age, residence, alld occupation.-Answer· 

Angus P. Brown; fifty-one years; Aiken, S. C.; clerk courtAiken County. 
Q. State whether you know a man by the naDle of William Watson 

living ill Aiken County.-A. I do. 
Q. It has been alleged by J oileph Coleman, a colored manager of elec­

tion of Miles's Mill precinct, that said William Watson voted at tbat pre­
cinct on the 7t.h November last, and that he was under the age of a 
legal voter. Will you state of your own knowledge whether tbe said 
William Watson was above the age of twenty-one years T-A. He is abo"e 
tht> age of twenty. one years, and did not \'ote at Miles's Mill on 7th ~o .. em­
ber last. 

Q. Did he vote at the general election held in 1874!-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you know of a young mao by the Dame of Buddie Brown in 

Aiken County '-A. Yes; for the last twenty-t.bree or twenty-four 
years. 

Q. Joseph Coleman. manager of election at Miles's Mill precinct. 
alleges that he voted at that precinct on 7th November last, add that 
he was untler the age of a legal voter. Can you say of your own knowl­
edge whether he was at Miles's :\Iill that day f If not, state where be 
was.-A. He is a legal yoter above the age of twenty-one years. He 
did not vote at Miles's Mill on the 7th November last; that he \"oted 
at Silverton and no other precinct. 

Q. Did he, of your own knowledge, remain at Silverton all tbat day f­
A. He was witb Ole all that da)·. 
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Q. Where were yon on the day of that election t-A. I was at Silver· 
ton the whol~ of tbat day. 

Q. Did you see anything of Unitell States soldiers that day at or 
Dear the voting·precinctf-A. I did. 

Q. Were they armed and equipped with gnus and cartridge·boxes t-
A. They wer(l. . 

Q. Did tllt'y or any of them at any time come up to where the bal· 
lot·boxes were kept T-A. Y t'S; four of them were brought up and 
placed immediately in front of the door o( the hOllse in which the 
box was, and where the election was held. 

Q. State whether they came up to or inter-fereu with the ballot· box 
that day.-A. After they had closed the box it was l>laced in a wagoll, 
and m.f atteution waH called to some words passing between Mr. Dun· 
bar, the Democratic manager at that precinct, and a soldier, who had 
seated himself on the ballot-box and apparently had taken possession 
of it. Upon some remonstration by Mr. Dunbar he got off. 

Q. How many !>oldiers were stationed at that precinct that day, and 
who was in' command of them T-A. I think there were eight, uuder 
command of a lieutenant; but I don't know who he was. 

Q. State what effect their appearance and tbis interference at that 
precinct had upon the election that day.-A. From the arrests just 
previoos to the election, and tbe appearance of troops there tbat day, 
it was calculated to intimidate the Democratic party, these arrests hav· 
ing been confined to that party and in that section of country. 

Cross-examined by General Wbipper: 
Q. You say you kuow William Watson, of Aiken County t-A. I do. 
Q. About bow old is he, and where does he reside 7-A. I don't know 

how old he is. He is of age, and resides in Hammond Townsbip. 
Q. \Vhat is the polling-precinct of Hammond Townsllip i-A. Beech 

Islaml; but he resides much nearer the Silverton precinct than the 
Beech Island precinct. 

Q. How far do('s be live from Miles's Mill t-A. I suppose about 
twenty-five or twenty-six miles. 

Q. Is he a wbite or colored Illan t-A. He is white. 
Q. Do you know whether or not he is the man J. E. Coleman referred 

to '-A. 1 do not. He is the only William Watson I know in Aiken 
County. 

Q. Do you know whether tbe man J. E. Coleman referred to was a 
white or colored man t-A. I do not. 

Q. Do yoo know all the men, white or colored, in this county Y-A. I 
do 110t. Can corne as near as anybody else. 

Q. Where uot's Buddie Bl'Own live, and wha.t is his age t-A. Lives 
in Silverton Township, and is about twenty-three or twenty-four years 
old. 

Q. How far does he live from Miles's Mill V-A. About twenty-seven 
miles. 

Q. Wbat is his given name T-A. G R. Brown, but always called 
Buddie Brown. 

Q. Is be a white or colored man 7-A. A white man. 
Q. Do you know whether or not be is the same Buddie Brown that 

Ooleman referred to T-A. I do not. I know many Browns, but he is 
the only Boddie Brown 1 know. 

Q. You say they both voted at Silverton t-A. Yes. 
Q. What time tbat day did they vote 7-A. I CRu't tell you. I know 

it was late in tbe day, as he was watching a colored Republican from 
Georgia who was trying to vote. 
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Q. What portion of the day did they put in at that precinct !-A. 
Buddie Brown was there wilen the polls opened and William Watson 
came soon after. Buddie Brown remained till after the polls Were closed. 
William Watson left just before sunset. 

Q. How far is it from Silverton, where the poll was kept, to Miles's 
Mill Y-A. About twenty-eight miles. 

Q. It is impossible, then, forthem to be the men that Coleman sa",'­
A. It is impossible for either of them to have voted at Miles's Mill on 
the 7th of November last. 

Q. Yon say there was four soldiers bronghtnp in front the door. Why 
were they bronght there I-A. I can't ~y; do !lot know. 

Q. From where were they brought when they were bronght there'­
A. From their camp, which was bnt a short distance off •. 

Q. Was there any tlisturbance that caused them to be bronght there ,­
A. There was no difficulty there that day. 

Q. Were they not placed there to clear the polls in order that all par. 
ties might have a chlince to vote I-A. They were not. 

Q. Do you know of no reason why they were placed there I-A. I do 
not. 

Q. How long did they remain there I-A. About an hour, I reckon; 
perhaps longer. 

Q. What, then, was done with them I-A. An officer took command 
of them, aUtI I don't know what was done wit,h them. 

Q. You don't know whether they were taken back to camp or not!­
A. I do not. 

A. They were taken away from the polls, were they not I-A. They 
were. 

Q, About what time were they taken away I-A. About time the polls 
closed. 

Q. Were they taken away before the vote was connted I-A. I think 
not. 

Q. Was there any reason to suppose that the box would be disturbed 
by either party!-A. I don't tbink so. 

Q. Did the soldiers come away in the same wagon the box was iu !­
A. I cau't say they were in it.. 

Q. Did you hear the words that pastted bp.twC6n Mr. Dunbar and tbe I 
soldier '-A. I heanl DnHbar tell him that he had no right to take pos­
session of the box, that it belongf\tl to the managers. 

Q. The soldier at that time was sitting on the box, was he not '-A­
He waR. 

Q. Did you hf'ur what, if any, repl.\' he made to Mr. Dunbar'-.A. 
Never heard him make any. !'tIr. Dlluuar made some expleti\"t~s; th&t 
is, spoke croRsly, cursed him, ami the soldier left the box. 

Q. Do you know what the votl' was in 1876 at Silverton I-A. 1 do DOt. 
The Republieans bad the majority. 

Q. Was not the DemocratIc vote at that poll larger than ever before 
at the last election '-A. It must ba,'e been larger. for a good many 
color.-d people votetl the Demooratic ticket and II good many staid at 
home. 

Q. Do ~'oo not know that tbe Republican ,"ote was larger, also I-.\. 
It could lIot have been as large, for a good many voted tbe Democratic 
ticket ancl 1\ good many staid at home. 

Q. When, if ever, was the l{epublican vote larger tban iD 1~76!-.!.. 
It was larger in 1874. 

Q. What was the Republican vote in 1874 and 18761-.&. I eaa't Tee­
ollect the exact fignres. 
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Q. Can you state how mllny hnndreds in each yead-A. In 1874 there 
was three hundred and some odd, and in 1876 there was two hundred 
aDd some odd. . 

Q. YOD say that the arrests previous to the election was calculated to 
intimidate the white \"oters. If we judge by the increased \"ote it did 
not have that effect, did itT-A. No, sir; it did not intimidate a good 
many colored people who did vote the Democratic ticket. 

Q. How maDY colored men voted the Democratic ticket that day T­
A. A good many, to my personal knowledge; don't know how many. 

Q. State yoor politics.-A. A full-blooded Democrat, from the crown 
of my head to the sole of my feet. 

Rodirect: 
Q. Have you not a thorough knowledge of th~ people of Aiken T­

A. I am. My reason for so saying is that I have bt'en a call1lidate for 
the last three election!!, and attended the meetings througb every cam: 
paign. 

Q. Is your homestead place within the limits of the coonty of Aiken T­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State how long yoo have lived there.-A. Since 1847 in that im­
meuiate neighborhood . 

. Q. Within this period, from 1847 to the present date, have yoo ever 
beard of any other William Watson or Buddie Brown, white or colored, 
black or brown, other than those yoo mentioned just now I-A. I have 
never known any other in Aiken County. 

Q. 'Vith your knowledge of Aiken (Jounty, and your acquaintance 
with the inhabitants thereof, woold yoo not have known or heard of any 
other William Watson or Buddie Brown had sue:h persons ever ex­
isted f-A. I would have, if they were citizens of this coonty. 

Q. \Yere there not a great many more colored people wbo voted the 
Democratic ticket at Sil\"erton at the election beld Oil 7th November 
last than at any otber previous election since reconstruction f-A. It is 
the first time any e,-er voted there, and a great Dlany voted it. More 
would have voteel hall they not been intimidated by colored Repub. 
licans. . 

ANGUS P. DROWN. 
Sworn to and subsCI'ibed before Ole this 16th April, 1877. 
(SEA.L.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

JdgfJ of P,-ob:Jte, Aik81l O,Juntg. 
W. J. \Vhipper represented t,he contestee. 

G. W. CROFT, being sW"orn, says: 
Question. 8tate your name, age, residence, amI occupatioll.-Answer. 

Georgp. W. Croft; thirty years; Aiken; attorney at law. 
Q. How long have you resided in Aiken County, and wbere did YOll 

,-ote ou the 7th November last '-A. I have resided in Aiken County 
con.tinuous)y for the last seven yeSl·S. A great part of my boybood was 
spent within four miles of the town of Aiken. I voted at Aiken pre­
cinct at tbe election on 7th November last. 

Q. Did you have any official connection with tbe last election t And if 
so, please state what.-A. I was chairman of the Democratic party of 
Aiken COllnty. 

Q. Do yoo know of any intimidation that was practiced by either po 
litical party toward the other at or before the last election f And, if so, 
state IUlrticulars, and mention what connection United States troop s 

H. Mis.l1--11 
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had with it, if any.-A. I do. I know that colored Democrats on many 
i)ccasions were abused and cursed, and in several instances \'iolence was 
used against tbem by colort'd Republicans on account of their political 
opinions. I !tnow of John Dent, in the month of September last, being 
beat Rnd cut witb a knife by Thomas Chl'atbam, a colored Rel)Ublican~ 
at Aiken prpcin(~t, within the corporate limits of tbe town of Aiken, on 
account of his (Dt'nt.) being a Democrat. I also know of Thomas H. 
Bayne being abused and threatent>d, and on one occasion preceding tbe 
election some two or t,hr(~e days, caDle near being mobbed in the town 
of Aiken by a number of colored Rt'publicans, noticeably among them 
Charley Neal, on account of his (Haynl') being a Democrat; lID mnch 
so that Hayne became fri~htt'nec1, and asked me to 10l1n him a pistol to 
l)rotect bimself. whicb I did. On that same occasion Hayne would bave 
beC'n beaten luid lIot a number of onr citi7Rns come to his assistance. 

On the day of election 1 know of Jake Oliphant and John Dent and 
four negroes, who came to Aiken in company with n lORn by name 
of Beron, going to Graniteville to vote, because tbey were afrnid to \"ote 
at tbis precinct on account of the abnse and threats that bere in presence 
of the polls were made against them by colored Republicans. On many 
occasions. I know of colored men "oting the Democratic ticket who were 
afraid to announce their political opinion openly, among tbese Josh 
Screwn, Sumpter Sa III uels, Miles Samuels. I know of one man (colored) 
by name of John Jolifer, who would ha\"e \"oted tbe Democratic ticket 

• at the last election at this precinct, but was afraid to, and ratber than 
yote against it, nnd to keep a way from the abuse that he would have 
had from the colored Republica.ns at tbe polls, he s~creted himself in the 
woods all dar. There are many othl'r instanc('s of intimhlation of col· 
ored Democrats that occurred at this precinct beside those that 1 ha\"e 
enum~rated. 

In regard to the United States soldiers I will say this, tbat at the 
election held in l;ovember last, and for some time previous tb~reto, 
there were quartered in this county some five or six: companies j tbat 
preceding the election some four weeks the United States marsbals, 
accompanied by soldiers, nnd many timelS in the night, paraded the 
lower p.ortion of our connty. making numerous arrests of olll and young. 
white and colored Democrats. In OIany instances th('se men were con· 
fined in jail, and \\""ere on no occasion furnished meals by the United 
States Government or the marshals repre~enting the United States 
Government, but were entirely dependent for their food upon the public 
spirit of our community. These men, a part of them, were carried to 
Columbia and lodged in jail, were not even furnished their meals by 
tbe marshal who bad t·hem in charge, but tbere, a8 at this place, were 
dependent upon tbe public spirit of the citizens for their food. I will 
state further that, to avoid this parade oyer the county making R.JTe8ts, 
I offered for myself and the parties who were cbarged with being impli· 
cated in the Ellenton riots, to come forward volnntarily aud surrender, 
if the authorities would give me the names of those parties wbo were 
charged, and let me know the place and day they wished them to come 
forward. This United States Deput.y Marshal Blackwell promised to 
do, and I advised many of the people of his promise; but in bad faitb 
and without my knowledg~ on the night of the second day thereafter, 
nnd about the middle of uctober, he started detacbments of soldiel1l 
from Aiken, nnder cover of night, to make the arrest of the very parries 
who had offered to gh"e th('msel\'e8 up on being notified. 

I then called on Oapt. William Mills, who at that time commanded 
the p08t at Aiken, and told him that the ('fleet of these KOldiW'tl pantd. 
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ing the country immediately before the election would intimidate the 
Democratic voters, and again offered to him, if he would have the names 
gi\"en to me whom he desired to.arrest, that I would have the parties 
to come forward on such day aud at such place as he might designate. 
He answered that his orders were to furnish the United ~tates deputy 
marshals with soldiers whene\"er they called for them; that they had 
called upon him for sol«liers; that he had furnished them 8S caHed for, 
and beyoml that he had 110 control of the matter. These arrests were 
continued to be made until within a very few dll)'s pre\"ious to the elec-
tion, and none have ever been made sincl'. . 

On the day that we had the meeting at the Court-House, when Gov· 
('rnor Hampton ad(lresse(l us, which was the 20th day of October last, 
numerous arrests were made of Dem:>cratic voters, who had come to 
attend that meeting, who were ready and willing to gh'e their bonds 
upon the spot, but, to suit the conveni~nce aud purposes of United 
States Oommissioner Boozer, were detained under the custody of the 
marshal for a day or two before they were bailed. I will also state that: 
many of the colored people who were willing to join with us and vote 
the Democratic ticket at the last election were detewed fr.:>m doing so 
by this display of force by the United States authorities against the 
Democratic party. 

On the day of election, United States troops were stationed at the 
following precincts in the county:' Aiken, Hamburg, Beech Island, 
Sil\"erton, Boyd's Store, and Jordan's Mills. 1 will further state that 
United States troops, armed and equipped, were freely furnished the 
Republican party to attend their llOlitical meetings in the county; that 
this fact alone had a great moral effect to deter the colored people from 
aHying themselves with t,he Democratic party, because they conceived 
the United States Governmel,tand its Army were hostile to that party. 
I will further state that United States Marshal Wallace, for the district 
of South Oarolina, made numerous appointments of deputy marshals in 
this county, but in no instance did he appoint a rlemocrat to that posi. 
tion. I will further state that numerous complaints were made by the 
Democratic citizens of this county of those officers overstepping their 
duty under the law, but we were l)Owerless to prevent it. I will further 
state that some of the deputy marshals who had entire control of' the 
different polls in the county at the last election were the candidates for 
different offices iu the county. I will mention particularly one William 
Peel, a worthless, drunken fellow, who was a candidate for sheriff and 
a deputy marshal at Jordan's Mill; also Dr. E. R. Hardeen. who was 
the candidate for probate judge on the Republican ticket, was the chief 
depoty United States marshal in the county. Dr. Bllrdeen had com, 
plete control of the Aiken box on day of last election; let no man 
vote unless as he saw fit. 

Q. SO far from the democrats having practiced intimidation on the 
day of election or previous to tbat time toward Republicans, eitht>r in 
detail at the different precincts or ill the county as a whole, do you not 
consider that the intimidation u~d in the election in this county was 
really practiced by Uepublicans toward Democrats !-A. I do. The 
Democrats practiced no intimidation toward the Republican voters 
either in detail or at large; but, to the contrary, the whole civil1'orce 
of the State and United States, and the military power of the United 
States, was oppressively used for the purpose of intimidating the voters 
belonlting to the Democratic party. 

Q. Do yoo kuow anything of it having been industriollsly circulated 
among the colored people that it was against the constitutiolJ and the 
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laws of South Carolina for a colored man to yote the Democratio ticket, 
and that the United States troops had been sent hither to prevent col­
ored men from voting the DeOlOcratic ticket !-A. I do not know that 
anything was said that it was against the constitution or the law8 of 
South Carolina for the colored people to vote the Democratic ticket, 
bnt I do know it was industriously clrcolat('d and spokeo in their po. 
litical meetings that the D('mocratic party, if pnt in power, would put 
the colored people back into slavery, and that General Grant bad the 
soldiers spnt here to prev('nt the colored p(>Ople from vOtiDg the Demo­
eratic ticket, and after the soldiers came I believe their l)resenC8 bad 
the effect to confirm that report with the colored people, becaose up to 
that time tht'y w~re joining our clubs rapidly, and after that they were 
deterred from clolDg 150. 

Q. D~s it Dot come withiD your knowledge that a great many col­
ored men \\"('re afraid to affiliate op('nly with the Democracy before the 
election,Dnd voted the Dt'mocratic ticket slyly on the day ot election !­
A. I answer yes; I have already stated several instances of tbat kinc4 
and now recall to my mind two other instances, namely: this man Mid­
dleton Sh('pberd is one, and another colored man by name of Nat But­
ler. The last named, on day of election, came to my office and told me 
that he wanted to vote the Democratic ticket, but was afraid to do so at 
Aiken, and requested me to send him to Graniteville to "ote. At Aiken 
the Republicans had concentrated' more than a fourth of their vot~ in 
the entire county, and this precinct therefore was Republican by a large 
majority. At Uraniteville the Democrats had concent.rated a large 
number of their votes, aDd he felt a88urred that he would there be pro­
tected in the full exercise of his franchise. I accordingly got a vebicle 
and sent him over. Middleton Shepherd told me some two or three 
weeks before the election that be inteuded to ,·ote the Democratic ticket, 
but begged that I would not mention it, for if it were known, it would 
subject him to abuse and bad treatment from the hands of the Repub­
licans of this county. 

Q. Do Dot the great bulk of the colored voters of Aiken County reside 
in tbe lower, or Savannah River, section of the county, and were not 
the United States troops employed, before anti on the day of election, 
almost exclusively in that section of the county and in tbe town of 
Aiken, to control the colored vote in tbe whole interest of the Republi. 
can party!-A. A great bulk of the colored people wbo reside in tbia 
county are confined to the Savannah River section and to the lower 
portion of the county. 'Ibe United States soldiers ",pre used herore tbe 
election exclusively in tbat section and at Aiken on the day of tbe ~lec· 
tion. Jordan's Mills was the only precinct north of the ~ontb Carolina 
Railroad that United States troops were stationed at, all of tbe other 
detachmt'nt of troops being at Aiken and the Savannah River sectiOD 
and tbe lower part of the county, and tbe colored population at and 
around Jordan's Mill precinct is more dense than in any other portioD 
of the county that lies north of the Soulh Carolina Railroad. 

(Objections by General Whipper, counsel for contestee. The entire 
testimony thus lar given by G. W. Croft is objected to on tbe grollDds 
that it is lIot in rebuttal, but affirmative t&ltimony, and that no notice 
has been given contestee tbat affirmative testimony would be taken in 
this county. A large portion of it relates to polls at wbich, and io 
regard to which, the contestee took no testimony whatever.) 

Q. Can rOll approximate the r ... lative vote of Tillmau aud SmaUs_t 
the Graniteville precinct at the lallt election !-A. I can. G. D. TilhoaD 
receiYed at that precinct 787 votes, and Hobert Smalls receh-ed 7 •. 
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Q. Was any proper return of the election at Graniteville precinct 
made ont and 8igned by tbe officers wbo held the election last Novem· 
ber and delivered to tbe board of county canvassers; and does it or not 
come within your knowledge that the election returns of tbe Uranite· 
ville pl"f'cinct were delivered to the secretary of 8tate, in Columbia, in 
the month of November last '-A. I know of my own knowledge that a 
proper election return, duly made out according to law by the autbor· 
ized officers who managed Gni.niteville precinct at the last election, was 
sent to the county board of canvaR8er~ here at Aiken, and by tbem sent 
to B. E. Hayne, sl'Cretary of state, at Oolumbia, and in my presence to 
him personally delivered. 

Q. Are you per80nally acqnainted with one N. R. Williams, ('lerk of 
the board of county canvassers of election, at tbe election held in No· 
vember last; and, if so, bow long have yon known bim '-A. I am per· 
sonally acqol)inted with bim, and bat'e known him for npwards of five 
years. 

Q. Are yon well acqnainted with bis general character for veracity in 
this community '-A. I know his general character for veracity in this 
community. 

Q. Is that reputation good or bad '-A. It is bad. 
Q. From you knowledge of bis general reputation would you feel 

bound to believe bim on his oath in any matter in which he was person· 
ally interested or felt himself interested '-A. I would not. 

(General Whipper objects to the question on ground as before.) 
Q. I will read to yon BOW the testimony of N. R. WilliamR, lately 

taken in Columbia, before Henry B. Jobnson, notary public, in the mat· 
ter of tbi8contested election of Tillman "8. Smalls. Please 8tate in wbat 
particulars you know tbis testimony to be false.-A. So much of the 
testimony. of N. R. Williams as alleges tbat force was used upon him by 
O. C. Jordan, Oharles Edmondston, and myself, to take away from him 
the blank returns of the county board of canvassers, is false. These 
blanks }lfoperly belonged to aJld should be in the custody of the county 
board of canvassers, and on tbe night of tbe 12th of November 18st, 
when they were filled up, as Williams alleges, and by law were com· 
pelled to be in Oolumbia the next day, Williams desired to take tbem 
out of tbe custody of the board of county canvassers. Knowing the de­
pravity of tbe man's character, and feeling sure, as 1 have since 
learned, that he intended to llisappear with said blanks in ordpr to pre· 
vent the board of county canvassers from making out a return for 
Aiken COUl1ty, I requested S. B. Spencer, chairman of tbe board, and 
Charles Edmoudston, a.nother member, to retain th08e blank~ and 
prevent Williams from carrying them ofi·. 

They did so request him, but Williams, notwithstanding, made to· 
ward8 the door with the returns. Mr. Edmonston tbereupon stooll be· 
tween tbe door and Williams, and told him that he could not carry the 
blanks oft'; Spencer also demanded that the retarns be made to him; it 
is absolutely false that any force was used upon bim, but at Spencer's 
demand he handed up to Spencer tbe blanks. As to what occurred in 
the clerk's office when the votes were being canvassed the next morn· 
ing, his entire statement, with one or two minor exceptions, is false. I 
del1Y that he e\"er called to my attention any mistake tbat occurred in 
adding np the vote for Robert Smalls. I never beard of any mistake in 
tbat addition until the testimony was taken in tbis contested case. 
WiIlia1D8 bas 8tated that there were but about t\'fenty-five or tbirty bal· 
lots in the Fountain Academy box. His statement in tbat respect was 
entirely false, for the box was properly locked and sealed; and wben we 
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opened it, from the appearance of tbe ballots, I am sure the number of 
votes as returned by the managers of election from that precinct agreed 
witb tbe number of ballots in the box. 

It is true that, owing to the fault of George Washington and S. B. 
Spencer, the two Republican members of the county board of canvassers, 
that the time for them to get their returns to Oolumbia. became limited, 
yet all that Williams says concerning Spencer's connection with that 
return is false; for I allege, to the contrary,'tbat Spencer was pretieotand 
he stood by my side, and wejoiutly looked over and inspec'fld the returns 
from each precinct, and that Spencer was present and saw tbe addi­
tions that were made for the respective candidates and signed the re­
turns, and did himself carry them to Columbia and dali"oer them to the 
secretary of the State aud the governer, in my presence, Spencer being 
appointed messeuger by the board to carry the returns to Columbia. 
George Washington, the other Republican manager of the board of can­
vassers, did come in~o the room where theyotes were being counted very 
soon after the count first commenced. Williams read no minutes to 
him, and he staid bllt a little while, and left of hls own accord. 

On the Saturday previous, when the board of canvassers wt're in 
Aiken, I did telegraph Mr. Haskell, and receiyed an answer that the 
returns should be made out at once anll sent to Columbia. I urged 
them, the board of canvassers, to declare the vote at once; but Spencer 
and Washington, Republican members, and who constituted a majority 
of the board, for some reason refused to do so. I got Spencer, at my 
expense, to telegraph Attorney.General William Stone concerning the 
same matter. The answer came," You should declare tbe vote at once." 
It was then a few minutes before four o'clock in the afternoon. Instead 
of counting the votes then, Spellcer insisted on returning to Hamburg 
that evening. I caused notices to be given Washin~ton and Spencer to 
meet in the clerk's office on Mouday morning at eight o'clock. At that 
hour Spencer met with Edmondston, and tbe vote was declarell. \Vash· 
ington came in, as I above stated. N. U. Williams was also notified to 
appear. I will state further that in the first of the vote I detected N. B. 
Williams, in the count, of an error in 100 votes in favor of Chamberlain 
against Hampton. After tbat I did not trost him any more, bot got 
Mr. James Aldrich and l\Ir. W. W. Williams to notice bim. 

Q. Has not the said N. R. Williams been a carpet-bag resident of 
Aiken for many years, and, as far as yon know, does he not still regard 
the town of Aiken as his bome; Bnd, if so, is it not oousoal, if not SU8-
picioos, that he should go to Colombia to be examined in this contested 
election of Tillman VB. Smalls, instead of being examined in Aiken, wbere 
the contestee has been taking a great deal of tt>stimonyf 

(Objected to by General Whipper as being irrelevant and lIot in rebut­
tal.) 

A. I should style him a carpet·bagger. He has never made hislit'ing 
outside of office·holding onder the Uepublicao party since he has been 
in this State. He does no work, and brought nothing with him. His 
home is at Aiken, at his mother's homestead. It is unusual for a wit­
ness to be carried many miles from his bome to be examined. The eon· 
testee examined many witnesses bere, and Williams was present. 

Q. Did yoo, as couoty chairman of the Democratic party of .A,iken 
County, during tbe last election, have occasion to require an accurate 
ceusus or roster to be made of tbe wbite voters and of the colored voters 
of the coonty f And, if so, please state as near as you can the relatit'8 
nnmber of voters of each race in the county.-A. I did. I am unable to 
8ay now the exact number of the voters of each race, bot I can al'proxi. 
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mate it. The colored vote was between twenty-three and four hundred, 
and the white vote exceeded that by one hundred and fifty, making 
about twenty.five hundred. The State censns as shown in the evidence 
of H. E. Hayne, secretary of state, taken in this contested-election case 
for Aiken County, affirms that the colored voting population exceeds 
the white voting population by almost 1,000. That is plainly an error, 
and I desire to call attention to the Oompendium of the Census of the 
United States for 1870, at pages 325, 326, and 327, where the popUlation 
by races is given of the various townships now composing the county 
of Aiken, but those in the counties of Barnwell, Edgefield, Lexington, 
and Orangeburg, in the county of Barnwell, refer to the townships of 
Aiken, Millbrook, Silverton, Sleepy Hollow, and Windsorz in Edge­
field County, refer to the townships of Gregg, Hammond, Schultz, 
Sbaw's Oreek; in Lexingtou, refer to the tbwnships of Chinquapin,. 
Giddy Swamp, McTice, Rocky Spring; and, in the county of Orange­
burg, refer to the townships of Hopewell, Rocky Grove, and Ta.bernacle. 
By reference to those townships it will bo seen .that the white popula­
tion of Aik~n County exceeds that of the colored by about two hundred. 
The line diviuing the counties of Edgefield and Aiken runs in a direct 
course from the mouth of Fox's o reek , on the Savannah River, to where 
the South branch of Chinquapin Falls Oreek, a tributary of the North 
Edisto River, intersects the Edgefield and Lexington line. This line 
di\"idiog the counties of Aiken and Edgefield also divides the townships 
of Shaw and Ward, as appears on the mall of Edgefield Connty ma.cle 
for Isaac Bowles in 1871. The part of those townships lying north of 
that lioe is still in Edgefield County, and the part of those townships 
lying sonth of that line is DOW in Aiken County; and those parts in 
Edgefield are better lands, and are more densely settled, by both white 
and colored, than those portions in Aiken County; in the Aiken portion 
of thoKe two townships the white population far exceeds that of the 
coloretl. . 

Q. Can you approximate the number of colored men who "'oted the 
Democratic ticket in this county at last election Y-A. 1 can. I am cer­
tain that at least fonr hundred of them voted with us, and may be more. 
We had over three hundred on our club-rolls, and a great many voted 
who were not 011 our ralls. 

Q. Do you or not regard the general electioll of last November as a 
fair expresllion of the popular will, as regards the conduct of the Demo­
cratic party, in the election t-A. I do. 

Q. Can you say as lUnch for the Repnblican party, at that election in 
this county Y-A. I cannot. I know of intimidation beillg practic8d 
npon colored Democratic voters. I know of repeating by colored Repub­
lican voters at Aiken precinct. One Robert Moore, a colored Uepublican, 
voted three times at this precinct. I know of one Republican voter who 
was uuder age who votetlj he admitted to Ole that he was under age, bnt 
was persuatleu to take the oath, and voted. At every precinct in this 
county two of the luanugers of election were Republican and olle 
Democrat. 

(General Whipper objectR to the last three qnestiolls as 1I0t being iu 
rebuttal.) 

Cross-examineu by W. J. Whipper for contestee: 
Q. You stated that you knew of instances where color('{l Domocrats 

were cursed and abused by coloretl Republicaulil. Do you know of any 
others, besides those .\,ou lu\\'e already cited '-A. I might recall some 
others Oil reBection. I do know of one March Hal'l'isoll heing abused, 
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and of Nelson P. Butler, both colored, being abused on the streets. 
Oases of violence against him (Butler) has been before the city council 
of which I am a member. 

Q. Will you state in each case in what the abuse or violeuce, if any, 
consisted t-A. In the case of Dent of actual violence to the pel'8OD; 
in case of Bayne a show of violence, and threats to beat him, which was 
prevented by white Democrats who interfered to keep the peace. I did 
not see the violence perpetrated against Harrison and Butler; know of 
them being abused; but I know of Butler bringing up a case before 
O()Qncil for violence. 

Q. Did you as member of conncil hear that case '-A. I did not hear 
the case on 'trial; only know of t.he complaint being made. 

Q. In the case of Butler, do you know who made the first assault ,­
A. I could not teU. 

Q. Was the cause of the assault not personal rather than political' 
Was his polities npt a mere incident rather than a cause '-A. Iooly 
know what Butler has told me; be told me it was on account of his 
politics. 

Q. By whom was Dent cut '-A. Thomas Cheatham. 
Q. Was it hot a personal quarrel, neither of them repreMDtiog a 

party t-A. It grew out of a quarrel, commenced by Cheatham cursing 
him on account of his politics. 1 may say that Oheatham went into his 
yard, too. 

Q. Are you speaking of your own knowledge, or what Dent told '-A. 
I speak from seeing the wound of Dent; from Dent's own statement; 
and from conversations had with Thomas Cbeatham himself concern­
ing it. 

Q. Then yon saw no portion of the difticulty yourselft-A. No. 
Q. From any or all of the sonrces, do yon know who commenced the 

difficulty Y-A. I am satisfied from what the parties have told me it was 
bronght on by Oheatham cursing Dent 00 account of his being aDem· 
ocrat. 

Q. Are you not also satisfied that Dent committed tbe first as880lt f­
A. I am not abou~ tbat; I can only believe as I was told. 

Q. Did you see tbe attack upon Hayne '-A. I did. 
Q. Who was it that attacked Hayne t-A. Tbere were several parties; 

among them was Charles Neal. 
Q. Was that parely in relatioll to politics '-A. It was. 
Q. Is there anything unusual in seeing a show of violence in political 

Uscussions '-A. It was unusual to see such show of violence 88 t.hat 
was. I do think it unusual for violence to be shown when political ml&t· 
ters are being discussed. 

Q. Did you see the difficulty with Harrison t-A. I have seen no aet· 
ual violence to Harrison, only seen him abused and cursed. 

Q. Wbat was tbis abuse, and stiLte whether or not to his fat'e f-A. 
He was cursed for a damned Democrat in his hearing. This was in front 
of Hahn's store, not long before election, when he would come iu to at­
tend our Democratic meetings. 

Q. Please stat('l, if you know, what ticket Dent, Harrison, Botler, and 
Ha.yne voted, and wbere.-A. I do not know of my own knowledge 
Where tln>y ,"oted. I am satisfied they voted the Democratic ticket. 

Q. Then tht'y. ''fere not intimidated so as to prevent t.he free exercise 
of their franchise T-A. It appears DOt; but from Dent's own statement 
he was afraid to vote here where he lived, but went to Graniteville. 

Q. lIow long before election was it you beard these parties abusing 
Butler, cut Dellt, show of violence toward Bayne, and abuse of Harri· 
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BOn '-The abu80 of Butler and HarriRon occurred in the month of Octo· 
ber last; tbe violence against Dent in September, aud the show of vio· 
lence against Hayne was the 8th November last. 

Q. You speak of Olipbant, Dent, and four. negroes who came to 
Aiken with Heron, and went to Graniteville to vote because they were 
afmid to vote here. Do you know of anything being said to either of 
them on the day of election; anything abusive '-A. I know 01 these 
four colored men who came with Heron being abulled and ridiculed to 
their hearing. They had on red sbirts. A crowd of colored Republi· 
cans immediately got around them and abused them. As to those 
other two, Olipbant and Dent-and I remember particularly Oliphant­
came to me on day of eleotion and said that he wanted to vote for os, 
but would go to Graniteville and vote, and that he would not vote at 
Aiken because he would ba abused for so doing. He seemed afraid to 
vote here. 

Q. Were not the Instructions given by the omcers of party organiza­
tions of the Democrats to concentrate the colored Democratio vote at 
Graniteville '-A. That instruction was given to carry the colored 
Democrats to Granite\'i11e who lived at a distance from the preoinct, 
aOfI to keep tbem from Aiken; but it was our plan to vote as soon 8S 
the polls were opened the colored Democrats wbo 1'esifll'd in tbe t.own 
of Aiken. Some of them did vote here, but others insisted on going 
to Graniteville. 

Q. Yon state that yon know colored men who would bave voted the 
Democratio ticket if tbey were not afraid; among t,bem Jobn Jolifar. 
How do yon know .hat be wonld have voted tbe Democratic ticket ,­
A. Simply- because he said so, and I believe it. 

Q. And the only evidence that be did not vote the other ticket was 
his say so '-A .. He did not vote here] to mr certain knowledge, and I 
never heard of his voting anywhere else. . 

Q. Yon stated that there were some five or six companies in the town 
and countr previous to and during the election. About how many men 
did these companies average Y-A. That I ca.n't sal". Tbey were infan· 
try companies, and belonged to the Second, Fourteenth, and Eighteenth 
Infantry regiments. 

Q. Do you not know that ther were far from fnll companies I-A. I 
saw one company from Eighteenth Rp.giment drilling, and I should say 
it contained Ilt that time about thirty·six men, I think. Oan't say as to 
tbe others. Ne\'el' heaNI their roll called or saw them parade. 

Q. You don't know if that would be an average company or not'-
A. 1 cannot say. . 

Q. How many companies of soldiers were quartered here at time of 
the Ellenton riot '-A. Tbere were two companies here at Aiken and 
part of one at Hamburg . 

. Q. Were there any soldiers in Aiken Connty before the Hamburg 
riot' If so, how many I-A. None. 

Q. Tbose arrests made by tbe depnty United States marshals, and 
assisted by United States soldiers, were made after tbe Ellenton riot, 
and the parties therein, Wf:'re they not f-A. They were made after the 
Ellenton riots, and of parties who were charged with complicity in that 
riot; bnt some of the p1uties who were arrested were oandidates upon 
the Democratic ticket and prominent Democratic citizens of Aiken 
Oonntr, who it was well known had never left the town of Aiken, and 
who bad no participation in that riot. 

Q. Are you not aware that an examination was made by the district 
attorney, and only s11eb pa.rties arrested as witnesses appeared against' 
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A. I am aware that District-Attorney Corbin came here for the avowed 
pnrpose of making an impartial inquiry in that matter; and after hear­
ing the witnesses who pjrticipated on one side of the riot, and without 
an opportunity given to a single witness who participated on the other 
side in that riot, he made an ex-parte statement to the governor, hall 
printed affidavits struck off promiscuously, and arrested Democratic 
citizens, both white and colored, indiscriminately. 

Q. Who was the marshal that had charge of the jail here, in which 
those prisoners were kept, and did not feed them I-A. E. U. BardeeD. 

Q. About how many were in the jail t-A. From ten to fifteen. 
Q. When you say that they were not fed, do you mean to say that 

they were not allowed anything t-A. I mean to say that marshal did 
Dot provitle for them; thflY were fed by the citizens; and while in Col­
umbia, in open court before Judges Bond and Bryan, this complaint was 
made on that account by their attorney, in behalf of these prisoners. 

Q. Are you not aware throughout this ant! other States, where there 
is no place of confinement nnder the control of the United States. to 
place the United States prisoners in the connty jail, \vhere they rE"ceive 
the regular jail fare, and that it is paid for by the United States T-A. 
I have nev~ had occasion to look into this matter, and do not know 
whether it be the law or not; and I do know on two occasions that pris· 
oners were kept in the Lyceum Hall in this town, whell they were io 
nowise under the control or management of the sherifI' of this connty, 
without being fed except by the citizens. 

Q. Do you know whether they were kept there by the orders of the 
marshal or at their own instance to keep from going to jail f-A. On ODe 
occasion they were put there at their OWII instance, ami on another oc· 
casion under instruction from the marshal. As far as I am personally 
concerned, Dr. Bardeen treated me with kindness, but grevious com­
plaints were made against him by others. 

Q. How long were those kept there that were put there by his or­
derst-A. All of them until the next day, and a part of them for two 
days. 

Q. Did they wake any request to be fed, or did they feed themselves f­
A. I have been informed by some of them that they called upon the mar­
shal to be fed. Some of them I am not aware ever made that request of 
him. 

Q. Do not you kllow what, if any, reply the marshal made to that de­
mand !-A. Only what I have been infurmed; they said that he was not 
prepared to furnish them with meals. 

Q. Do you know whether or not jail-fare was tendered to tbose in jail Y­
A. I do know that some of the men were in jail for several days, and 
wel'e neither fet! by the sheriff nor marshal, bnt by the citizens of Aiken; 
but some time afterward there were other parties put in jail in Aiken, 
and meals were furnished them by Sheriff Jordan. Before meals were 
furnished by the sheriff, I myself proposed to a depoty marshal, named 
Canton, that the sheriff should feed them, and that the sheriff be al­
lowed such fees therefor as was allowed the marshal; and after that tbe 
sheriD' did feed some of the prisoners who were in his charge; before tbat 
I am certain he did not. 

Q. After you made that arrangement they received th"ir meals, not 
regular jail-faret-A. I am unable to say what fare they receh·ed. 

Q. Do you say that they could not even have got the ordinary jail, 
fare before this arrangement was madet-A. I am certain they did oot 
get it, and were dependent upon the citizens. 

Q. Was i~ becaose thflY 'could not get it, or WRS it because tbl'Y pre-. , 
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ferred that which the citizens gave 7-A. In many of these cases it was 
because the marshal failed to llrovide for them. 

Q. Which of the marshals was it that promised you he would give 
o you the names af the parties wanted, if you would have them give 0117-

A. Mr. Blackwell. 
Q. At the time that IIorrangement was made, was you not charged with 

complicity in those riotR and boumlover for it Y-t,\.. No, sir; no arrests 
had beeu made at that time. 

Q. Were you at the time you went to Oaptain Mills Y-A. No, sir; I 
was not arrested' until the second day after the arrests had begun in 

. the county. 
Q. Did not they commence the investigation which led to these arrests 

immediately after the riot Y-A. Investigations were commenced soon 
after the riot by Mr. Blackwell, then claiming to act under instructious 
from Governor Chamberlain, but no arrests were made after that inves· 
tigation, nor have any been made at all hy the State authorities; but 
some time after that, about the 2d or3d of October, Mr. Corbin commenced 
to investigate, and, as well as I can recollect, the arrests were commenced 
about the middle of October. Mr. Blackwell, while acting for Governor 
Chamberlain, took evidence Crom both sides of the parties that were im· 
plicated in the Ellenton riots, and no arrests whatever were made under 
the State authorities after his investigation. 

Q. You state that these arrests stopped just before the election. Had 
they not arrested all the parties that lived in this State against whom 
complaint had been made, or all that they could find T-A. They claimed 
to hal'e had six hundred more warrants against parties residing in Aiken, 
Edgefield, and Barnwell CO'I1nties. If any of these parties against 
whom they bad warrants had left the State I am not aware of it, for 
they would not S8Y who the warrants were.against. 

Q. You state that some parties arrested on the 20th October, the day 
Hampton spoke here, were detained tleveral days to suit the convenience 
of the commissioner; who were they I-A. I can't name them all. W. 
W. Miller was one, Mr. Thomas Page another, and a number of others 
whose names I cannot now recall. Col. A. P. Butler, ~'rank Dunbar, 
Claude Hammond, T. F. Dicks wt're also -of the number. . 

Q. State whether ;you know if this was the fault of the commissioner, 
or was it because District Attorney Oorbin was considering the question 
whether or not those parties should be bailed at all.-A. District At· 
torney Corbin withheld his consideration and determination upon that 
matter, as regards Col. Butler and Frank Dunbar, for s('Overal days; but 
as to the other parties, nothing was ever sRid about his considering their 
cases. I think Col. Butler and Frank Dunbar were beld for sowe six 
or eight (lays. 

Q. Have you any way of accounting for the delay in their easel-A. 
I am satisfied it was from Ro disregard of their rigbts as American citi­
zens, and for the purpose of political ends. 

Q. On the part of the marshals, or whoY-A. On the parties higher 
in authority, I believe. The commissioner WRoS nothing but a cat's·pa.w, I 
think. 

Q. You ha\'e also stated that there were many colored Republicans 
who would have joined and voted with you had it not been for this dis­
play of United States force. Have you any evidence of that, or is it a 
mere conclusion of yours T-A. My reason for saying that is this, that. 
after this display of the troops in the campaign the number of colored 
Repnblicans who nnited themselves with our club became suddenly aDd 
very much It'ss; indeed some of them deserted l1S. 
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Q. You have stated that numerous complaints had been made against 
United States deputy marshals overstepping their bounds. Who were 
they, and in what way did they overstep their bounds f-A. William M. 
Peel was one, either Blackwell or Canton another in the lower part of 
our county at a meeting. The nature of the complaints were, that 00 
one occasion a Republican and Democratic meeting was advertised to 
take place at Silverton, both on the same day; and both parties at same 
time put up speakers and began to speak at same time in hearing dis­
tance of each other. Tbe Democratic meeting waH ordered to be re­
moved, allowing the Republicans to remain in their same position. Tbis 
the Democrats complained of as wrong, as the meeting was in a public 
place. Complaints were made against several of these United States 
marshals for stopping free speech in not allowing questions to be pro­
pounded to Republican speakers. The Democrl\ts claimed that the 
deputy mRrshals were peace-officers, and shOUld not act in the interest 
of any political party. 

Q. You have also stated that some of these marshals were candidates 
for office in this connty. You do not claim that that disqualilles a maD 
from being marshal, snpervi!!Or, or manager of election, do yoo f-A. It 
would not disqnalify them, but I would say is neither fair nor just, and 
is calculated to make an officer biased in bis official duties. 

Q. You speak of Dr. Bardeen, chief deputy for this connty, and caD­
didate for probate judge of this county, taking control of this precinct 
and doing as be saw tit. Did he interfere with the managers in the dia­
charge of their duties iu any way; and, if so, how'-A. He did not inter­
fere with the managers, bnt-he directed in what manner the voters should 
go to the polls, and in what direction they-should leave after they had 
voted; and whenever he saw proper be would allow such voters 88 be 
saw fit to approach the poll from that direction in which the voters were 
to leave after they had deposited their ballots, and he would allow no 
one else to take this liberty besides himself. 

Q. Did the course Dr. Bardeen took impede or facilitate the voting ,­
A. It would impede the voting for a short time, because it stopped the 
regular order of the voting. 

'. Q. Would it not ultimately facilitate the votingt-A. Jt. wonld not; 
... .', it was done to favor such persons whom be saw llt to faT'or in that 

·:manner. 
Q. You say that you know it was industriously circulated that if the 

D~moerats got in power the colored people would be placed in slavery, 
and that it was spoken at their publio meetings. By whom was it 
spoken f-A. I have heard that it came from several of their speakers. 
but especially Dr. Palmer, a candidate on the Republican ticket, and 
Warren Driver, another candidate on same ticket. 

Q. Did you ever hear either of them say so in pnblio speeches '-A. 
No; I never was at their meetings, but I have beeu 80 informed by 
credible witnesses who did attend their meetings. 

Q. You state that the vote for Tillman at Graniteville is 787, and for 
Small 77. Do you speak from memory or memoranda f-A. From both. 

Q. You have stated that the returns from Graniteville, properly signed 
and attested, were sent to the county board of canvassers, and throogh 
the regular channel to H_ E. Hayne, secretary of state, in yoar pre8en08 
delivered to him. Did you see him open the box t-A. He had no bo~ 
the'returns were in a hundle; I sa.w him cou-nt them in the presence of 
Spencer and myself. 

Q. Did be receipt for them f-A. Am onder the impression that he 
did not. 
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Q. Are )·ou not aware that he furuished a receipt at that time or 
since, and that the returns trom GJ'aniteville were not iu it Y-A. I am 
not aware of it. 

Q. At the time of the controversy concerning the blanks in counting 
of the votes, did no one lay hauds on N. R. Williams at all Y-A. I 
have no recollection of anyone laying their hands on him at all; if theoy 
did it was uot in 8 forcibie mallner; no force used at all. 

Q. You state that the blanks properly belonged to the board of t'Ounty 
canvassers, and should be in their custody. Is not the properly·elected 
clerk their custodiau for all intents aud purposes '-=-A. I simply refer 
you to the election law; my construction is that the board should take 
into their possession all property belongiug to the elf>ctioD. 

Q. Is not a paper or papers in the hands. of a duly·appoiuted clerk, by, 
their directiou, actllally in the hands of the board itselt"-A. If yon 
mean by actua)]y that it is physically in their hunds, I sbould say no; 
and they were not in his custody up to that time; and when they were 
completed they were put in the bands of a me&JeJlger, as directed by 
law. 

Q. You state that you aftf>rwards learnl'd that it was his iDteotion to 
disappear with the blanks. How did you learu that Y-A. Myauthonty 
is Charles Edmondstoll, one of the couuty board of canvassers. 

Q. YOH state that WillialDs BeVer called your attentiou to any mi&-. 
takes in the addition of the vote for Small. From what you have since 
learned was there a mistake Y-A. I believe there was. 

Q. Are you able to state from auy intormation in your possession how 
great that mistake was '-A. I could approximat.e by comparing the 
data I have, which is not lOoted up; I should tbink that the en'or 
would be 250. 

Q. Is that an estimate, or the result obtained from yoor data. !-A. It 
is the reslllt 'obtained from my data, except the returns from Fountain 
Academy and Windsor, and tbose two precincts I take trom tbe testi· 
mony of the secretary of state; this is not a close figuring; it may be 
more aud it lDay be less. 

Q. You state that you telf'graphed Mr. Haskell as to the time of de· 
cta-ring the vote. What if any position did lir. Haskell bold, I-A. He­
was chairman of the State executive committee of the Democratic 
party. 

Q. Did you have any official capacity in connection with tbe cam"a!!s 
made by the board of county canvassers Y-A. I had 110 Jegal position 
oonneocted with that. I was COllDty chairman of the Demoeratic party 
of Aiken COUIlt,y and conceived- it my right and privilege to see that 
this vote was conn ted and decl8l'ed according to law; that C()Untiog 
under the law is to be open, and as a citizen of this county I had a right· 
nnder the law to be present. 

Q. Wben you caused notices to be served upon Washington Williams, 
who was it callSed you to do it 7-A. I got Mr. EdlDllJ)dstoo, one of the 
board of county cauV8lIsers, to make out and sign a notice to be served 
on Washington and Spencer, and I saw that those notiees were sent to 
those parties. I do not know whether WillialD8's was a similar notice, 
but I ('ansed him to be notified. 

Q. By whom were those notices sent and at what timeY-A. The 
notice to S. B. Spencer was delivered to him by myself on the mornillg 
of the 12th of November, the day before election was declared. The 
notice to George Washington was sent by Frank Comn; it W8S sent on 
the 12th of N()vember, to his place of rl'sidence some 7 or 8 miles froUL 
Aikeu. 
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Q. 'Vas Ooffin sent as a special messenger or W8S he going that way' 
-A. He was sent as a special messenger; he li .. -es in town. 

Q. Washington stated in his testimony that he never receh"ed aoy 
notice till he came in town the morning the vote was declared; can you 
explain thaU-A. I think Washington testified that he ne\"er had re­
ceived that notice. I cannot explain anything he says. 

Q. You state that all N. R. Williams said about Spencer is false 
except in one or two minor particulars. Do you mean to include what 
Williams says Spencer did in Columbia or what be says he di(l heref­
A. I mean what Williams says Spencer did here at the court-holl86 on 
the day the vote waa counted and rleclared. I know notbing Abont 
what Spenct>r and Williams did in Oolumbia. 

Q. You stated tbat it is unusual to take a witness many miles from 
home to testify, and that contel:ltee examined many witnesses at Aiken, 
and Williams was preEient; are you not aware that all the witnesses 
examint>d in Aiken and Barnwell were examint>d before Williams him­
selft-A. Those who were examine(l ill Aiken I know were examined 
before Williams himself. I was not present in Barnwell, and know not 
who took it. 

Q. Was not the notice to take testimony in Barnwell served 011 yoo 
8S attorney for contestant, and was not Willian,. mentioned as the officer 
in that notice bp,fore whom the testimony would be taken f-A. It was. 

Q. Are you not aware that contestee has taken testimony in this C88e 
on two difterent occasions in Oohllnbia, and that that is the nearest 
point, except Edgefield, to Aiken, the residence of Williams, at which 
this contestee has taken testimony, except where it was taken before 
Williams himself; and are you not also aware that there is no railroad 
communication between Aiken and Edgefield f-A. 1 am only aware 
that the contestee took testimony in Columbia once in this case, and 
that W88 on the 7th day of April instant, when N. R. Williams and H. 
E. HaYIJe were examined, and my knowledge of that is derived from a 
copy of the testimony taken there, sent to me by Mr. Youmans, connsel 
for contestant. I have heard that testimony in tbis case was taken also 
in the countit>s of Beaufort and Colleton; not knowing in what part of 
those coonties testimony walS taken, I am unable to say if it was as far 
from Aiken as Columbia is. The railroad passes within six miles of 
Edgefield, and a daily back rnns to Edgefield from the railroad. 

Q. In stating the townships taken from Edgefield, Barnwell, Lexing­
ton, and Orangeburg, of which the county of Aiken is now composed, 
you refer to tbe census taken in Its70, pages 325-327, to show the IlOllO­
lation of those townsbips. Are you not aware that in laying off tbe 
county of Aiken several of those townships were cut so as to materially 
cbange tbe popnlation of those townsbips, 80 as to rp.nder the popula­
tion of those townships in this county incorrect in the census of 1~70 f 
Are you not also aware that since the formation of Aiken County a por" 
tion of territory taken from Barnwell for the purpose of increasing. and 
that it did increase the colored population of tbis county f-A. I am 
aware that in forming the county of Aiken the townsbips of Ward's and 
Shaw, as appears in the census"book referred to, were 80 cnt by tb" 
di viding line between Aiken and Edgefield so as to leave a portion of tbose 
townsbips still in Edgefield and a portion of them in Aiken, but the por­
tion of those townships which still remain in Edgefield contains by far 
the greater portion, and indeed almost all tbe colored portion of the 
people that lived in those townships and the parts of those townships in 
Aiken are inhabited almost exclusively by white persons. 80 that the 
actual majority of the wbite llollulation in Aiken County o,"er the col" 
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ored population would be considerably more tban appears from tbe fig. 
ures of those townsbips, as set forth in tbe said census·book. I do know 
that in the year 1874 the Republican legislature of Soutb Oarolina cut off 
a small portion from tbe upper part of Barnwell Oount.yand added it to 
Aiken, for the avowed purpose of increasing tbe comparative colored 
vote in tbis county, but the increasffi colored vote added to Aikeu by 
tbat piece cut from Barnwell in 1874 would not counterbalance for the 
num bel' of colored \'otes tbat are computed in the census·book in Shaw's 
and Ward's Townships tbat now actnally belong to Edgefiehl. 

Q. You state that there were four hundred colored voters at least in 
Aiken Oounty that voted the Dl'mocratic ticket at last election. How 
do yon know this '-A. I know it from the numbers that voted the Dem· 
ocratic ticket at several of the precincts, there being between 80 and 90 
at Graniteville, being about 100 at Bl'ech Island, a number at Silverton, 
at Fl.lontaill Academy, at Wimlsor, lliled's Mill, and at Hamburg, and 
at Aiken; 

Q. How do :\'011 know there 'Were 80 or 90 at Graniteville, or 100 at 
Beech Island '-A. The poll· list at Graniteville shows 161 colored peo· 
pIe voted there, and there were only 74 colored Republican votes polled 
tbere; take 74 from 161, and it leaves 87. By actual comparison of tbe 
poll.list-the number of colored people who voted there and the num· 
ber who voted the Democratic aud Republican ticket-subtract the one 
from the other, you will find the colored Democratic '·ote. 

Q. What is your political faith '-A. I am a Democrat. 
Redirect: 

Q. Are not United States troops now quarterell in the heart of the 
to\vn of Aiken; and have not tbe bugle, tbe fife, and the drum been 
familiar sounds to the people of this county for the last seven or eight 
months I-A. Yes, sir; 'We have had soldiers quartered in our town 
since the mouth of July, 1876. 

Q. In the cross· examination you have been asked a great lOany ques· 
tions about the Ellenton riot. Please state the occasion on which that 
riot occurred, and cause of the riot.-A. That riot was caused by two 
colored men, olle named Frederick Pope, the other Peter ---, enter· 
ing, on or about tbe 15th ot September last, the house of a Mr. Alonzo 
Harley, in this county, during his absence, and 'Wbile there was no one 
on.bis premises but his wife and a new·born infant and two small boys, 
tbe eldest. being under teD years of age, for the purpose of robbing; 
and they did then and tbere strike her and her little son with a club i 
and by tbe resistance of the colored population to the arrl'st of saill 
Frederick Pope for that offense, upon a warrant duly issued for him. 

Q. Do you mean to say tbat said riot was brougbt about by the reo 
sistance to the constituted ch·n authorities of the State by tbe c910red 
population '-A. I have already said tbat was the origin aud cause of 
tbat riot. 

Q. After the riot had occurred, did not Hiram Jordan, high sheriff of 
Aiken Oonnty, botb telegraph and write to Governor Ohamberlain that 
be could enfor~ any legal process in Aiken Oounty against those riot· 
ers, or against any other person in said county, without the help of 
United States troops '-A. He did not so telegraph Governor Obam· 
berlain but he telegraphed the snbstance what you have stated to 
Oolonel Haskell, and for this reason Governor Ohamberlain had falsely 
pnulisbed that the Rheriff of Aiken Oounty was powerless to arrest the 
Jlarti.'s charged with thl't ofl"t'nRe. Oolonel Haskell telegrapbed tbe 
sheriff IIlId Ilel<iretl to know if thut was true. Tbe sbetift· answered 
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Colonel HaskeH by telegram, the substance of what you have said, aud 
this besides, tbat no warrants in those cases had ever been delivered to 
him for service; that. if they were he could serve them or any other 
proceK8 that he might be required to serve; that he had never been 
resisted in the discbarge of bis duties as sherift: 

Q. Bas there ever been a time since the Ellenton riot occurred, up to 
the present hour, when the sheriff of Aiken County could not hal"e en· 
forced any legal process without the intervention of the Army t-A. I 
answt'r no; the sheriff of this county has never been resillted, and has 
always beeu able to serve any legal I'rocess that might have been given 
him to serl"e. 

Q. Has any Republican in politics ever beeu arrested or had a warrant 
issued for him, by either Federal or State authorities, for complicity in 
the Ellenton riot !-A. No. 

Q. In the cross·examination something was said about the last State 
census of 1875. Was not that census very inaccurately taken by incom· 
petent Pt'rsoos, who were paid per capita for their labor in taking iU­
A. I should say that the census-taker for this couoty was fully compe­
tent, but he was paid per capita for the work fione, aud that he is thor· 
oughly a dishonest man, who has appropriated to his own uses alm08t 
every dol1ar that came into his hands while acting as probate judge for 
this county for the last four years, and is now under indictment for his 
malfeasance in office. 

(The redirect is objecte(l to by COUUMel for contestee as entirely new 
matter from the direct, and not in rebuttal.) 

G. W. CROFT. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 17th April. 1877. 
fSEAL.) W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aikm COUrtt,. 
W. J. Whipper represented contestee. 

BURGES FRANKLIN sworn. 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Aoswer 

My name is Burges Franklin; age, fifty-five; residenoe, in Aiken Connty; 
my occupation is that of a farmer. 

Q. Where did you yote 7th :Nol"ember last '-A. At Miles Mill pre­
cinct, in this connty. 

Q. Did two of your sons vote at that precinct, on that day, with yon f 
-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Joseph Coleman, colored manager, and also one of the ~publican 
manage-rs of election at that precinct, has stated that your soos were 
under the legal age to vote; is that true or talse I-A. It is flAlse. 

Q. Will JOu state whether or not both of your son8 who voted there 
that day were of legal age to vote 7-A. I do say they were abo'-e the 
age of twenty-olle years. 

Q. Is tht're any other man besides yonrself in this county by the uame 
of Burges Fra.nklin !-A. No other that I know of. 

Q. Bow long have you resided at your present homestead I-A. I can­
not tell exactly, but I reckon about forty years. 

Q. You say your name is Burges ~'ranklio, aud your two SODS t'oted 
at l\nJes Mill that day; hat'e you ever koown a man named Virge8 
Franklin I-A. No, sir. 

Q. Are you acquainted with Bock Satcher alld Reuben Taboor,il' f­
A. 1 am 1I0t. 
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Cross·examined by Mr. Whipper: 
Q. ITow far do you live from the po!ls-I mean Miles Brills f-A. I 

suppose some eight or nille miles. 
Q. What are the nameR of your two sons that voted there that 

day!-A. One is named l\lillcge Blanford and the other John Marshall 
Franklin. 

Q. Have you any other sons t-A. Have one more. 
Q. What is his name T-A. James Tillman Franklin. 
Q. How old is Millege Blanford T-A. He was born in 1854:. 
Q. How old is John Marshall Y-A. He \vas born in 1855. 
Q. How old is your youngest son Y-A. I disremember when he was 

horn, hilt about 1856-'57. 
Q. How much of the day did you spend at the polls T-A. I cannot 

exactly say; it may have been an hour and a half or more. 
Q. Have you ever heard of any other Burges Franklin T-A. I do not 

know of any other Burges Franklin. 
Q. Do you know all the people in' a scope of ten miles around there Y­

A. I do not, but I would know a Burges Franklin if one were that close. 
Q. Do ~'ou know whether ColemQu meant your children when he 

spoke of Burgis Franklin'!:! SOilS Y-A. I do not know. 
BURGES FRA.NKLIN. 

Sworn to amI subscribed before me this 17th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] , 

Judge of ProbatfJ, Aiken Ooun(y. 

W. J. Whipper represented the contestee. 

'V. J. COURTNEY, sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation f-An· 

swer. W. J. Courtney; 45 years; Aikeu (Jounty; farmer. 
Q. 'Vhat, if any, official capacity had you at the general election 

held on the 7th November lastT-A. Uuited States supervisor of elec· 
tion at Fountain Academy precinct, in this county. 

Q. Were you at that poll during the whole of that dayT-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Were you at that poll till the box was closed in the afternoon T­

A. Yes. 
Q. Did any band of armed men come to that poll on that dayf-A. 

No; saw nothing of the kind. 
Q. 'Vas not your position such that you would have seen them had 

they come to that poll f-A. 1 certainly should have seen them had they 
come. 

Q. Did anyone intimidate or curse D. N. Johnson, G. G. Brodie, on 
that day, managers of election Y-A. No, sir; I heard nothing of the 
kind. 

Q. Had they have been intimidated or cnrsed that day would you 
not ha\'e seen it or heard it T-A. I would, for I was there all day and 
never left the box. 

Q. You were in company with D. N .• Johnson, G. G. Brodie, all day, 
were you not Y-A. I was. . 

Q. Was anything said or done toward those managers, either or both 
of them, that prevented them from discharging their duties as mana· 
gel's Y-A. Nothing at all; not a harsh word was passed. 

Q. They have stated that the Democratic voters would not allow that 
box to be closed at the proper hours; is that true or false t-A. It is 
falSE.". 

H. Mis. 11-42 
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Q. W 8S not that box closed at six o'clock in the afternoon I-A. It 
was clo~ed at six o'clock. 

Q. Will you state which one of the managers kept his hanel on the 
box all the time f-A. Brodie. 

Q. Brodie and .10hnson ha'\"e stated that after that box had been 
closed at six o'clock in the evening, a body of Democrats came op and 
pushed tbe latch from over the hole, and voted anyhow, and against 
tha wish of the chairman, Johnson; is that true or false I-A. It is 
false. 

Q. Was not all of the voting at that box conducted io a legal and or­
derly manner, and within the legal hours I-A. Yes, 8S much so as any 
elt>ction I was ever at; and tbe voting was in tbe legal bours. 

Q. Wt're you present wben the votes were counted and retorns footed 
up and signed I-A. Yes; I belped to count tbem myself. 

Q. Did the managers of election count those votes, foot op and sign 
those returns, freely, voluntarily, anel of their own accord I-A. Yes, 
they did; there was one remark that D. N. Johnson, chairman ef tbe 
board, matle, whicb was this: that every thing went on so smooth and 
quiet. 

Q. Was any tbing s8i(1 to or done toward either D. N. Johnson or 
G. G. Brodie, or both of tbem, that induced them to count those '\"otes. 
foot up, and sign those returns '-A. No, they did it of their own accord 
and free will. 

Q. They have said that they signed these returns to get away aJi'\"e i 
was anything done or said to induce such fear or belief on their part !­
A. I saw nothing of the kind. 

Q. They have stated tbat there were a hondred or more white men at 
and around those polls, and some of them armed, and but three colored 
men, counting themselves, after the box was closed Rnd until after the 
returns were signed. State whether this be true or false, and the nnm· 
ber of w bite and colored men that were around those po])s at that time, 
and if any wt>re armed; and, if so, who I-A. There was a big fire jnst 
outside the door, and the coloretl people were around it thick; more 
colored people tban whites were there. I saw one man with a gun i 
some had pistols, both white and black. Jim Walker had the gun; be 
had been hunting and came by tbere; he lives in that neighborhood. 

Q. Was it after the pons were closed that you saw him with the gun f­
A. Before and after too. 

Q. Is this James Walker a son of F. L. Walker I-A. He is. 
Q. Will you state if F. L. Walker is a Republican or Democrat, and 

if he has held office in this connty I And, if he has, ooder wbat 
party f-A. He is a Republican; he was coroner, elected by Republican 
party and held his office up to this last election. 

Q. 'You havtlseen Mr. John Morray and Mr. W. F. Wilson jnst no". 
State whether or not they voted at Fountain Academy at the election 
in November last.-A. I have no recollection of seeing those men there, 
and I don't think they voted there. 

Q. Did you not see everyone who voted there '-A. I did; and knew 
nearly every man who voted there. 

Q. If they had voted you would have seen them there I-A. Yes, sir; 
I should have seen them, as I stood just io front of the box all day. 

Q. Did George W. Howard vote at that precinct that day I-A. No; 
I don't think he did; there are no Howards in my settlement, and if be 
had been there I should ha,-s noticed the name. 

Q. During the voting, did aoy man walk into the room where yon.bad 
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the box, Rmllean his gun upT-A. No, sir; if it had happene(l I would 
ba\"e seen it. -

Q. Do you know W. F. Carsten; was be Republican supervisor of 
election that day' Did not D. W. Johnson exercise tbe right to cbal­
lenge any \"ote whenever they saw proper I-A. He did; he challenged 
all day till the \"ery last. 

Q. Did you see E. L. Anderson, Unitecl States marshnl, at that poll 
that day Y-A. I did; he claimed to be deputy United State~ marshal; 
he is\a colored man. 

Q. Did you see on that day a crowd of men come in that honse with 
pistols in their hands f-A. No, sir; no such a crowd came ill there. 

Cross·examined by W. J. Whipper, for contestee: 
Q. 'Vas there a crowd of men came up there at all, armlHl or unarmed, 

about six o'clock I-A. No; some who went home during th~ day carne 
back in tbe afternoon. 

Q. 'Vas there anyone offered to vote after Johnson claimed it was 
six o'clock T-A. No; ~obnson beld the watch in his hand, and when 
it was six the box was closed; Johnson said he had opened by that 
watch amI would close by it.. -

Q. Did you say anything to Johnson about his hR,-iug moved his 
watch up T-A. No; it was another Oourtney; his watch did gain ten 
minntes on my watch, but whether be pnshed it up I do not know. 

Q. About what time was it the other Oourtney charged him with run­
ning bis watch up T-A. It was late in the evening; 1 think near time 
to close. 

Q. Was there no one came up tbere about the time the box was closed, 
. or a little before, and said the Langley box was brokell, and that they 

had been to Graniteville and it was so crowded they could not \"ote 
there, bot they would vote at your poll !-A. No, sir; there was no 
crowd came at all. 

Q. Was there not one or two men came up and said there was a 
crowtl coming behiud '-A. I was in the house all the time; heard noth­
ing of tbe kind. 

Q. Did you or not hear some men whooping and hallooing somewhere 
off, and did not Johnson ask you who they were, and you stated that 
they were bad peop]e f-A. No such talk occurred. 

Q. 'Vas there or not a man came there aud offered to vote, when asked 
where he was from, first said from Augu8ta and afterward said he was 
from Lang]ey, and when asked to be 8worn went out and would not 
\"ote f-A. I never saw a man refuse to be 8worn a11 day. , 

Q. Didn't Johnson 8ay to one or more men offering to vote, "It is six 
o'clock, and you can't vote tn-A. I didn't hear him say it; he had his 
watch in bis haud, and when six came he said, "No more voting." 

Q. Do you say that Johnson did not close or attempt to c]ose the poll 
and afterward con8ent to let it remain openf-A. As I before said. 
Johnson showed his watch at six o'lhck and 8aid, "No more voting,' 
and there was no voting after that, nor was anything sRid about voting. 

Q. Didn't be attempt to close the polls before he said it was six o'clock' 
-A. He didn't attempt to close them until he did close them, aOll that 
was at six o'clock:. 

Q. Did you see Peter Waggles there'-A. Yes; I S8W him. 
Q. Was he acting as United States marshal '-A. Not there. 
Q. Didn't he attempt to act there, and was he not told by yourself that 

he had no authority to act Y-A. Don't remember anything of the kind; 
he was in the way of the voters once, and I told him to move out of the 
way. 
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Redirect: 
Q. It is not nnnsullI for men to wear pistols in this country, is itt-A. 

No; it is very common with both black and white. 
W. J. COURTXEY. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 17th day of April, 1877. 
[SEAL. J W. W. WILLIMIS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Conty. 

W. J. Whipper represented contestee. 
JOHN F.l\IuRRAY, being sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 

John F. Murray; twenty·three years; Langley, S. C.; merchant. 
Q. How long have yon resided in Aiken Countyt-A. Since 1870. 
Q. Are yon the son of Mr. Frank Murray t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did YOIl vote in this county at the general election held on the 7th 

NoveUlb~r last' And, if so, state where.-A. 1 did, at Graniteville, my 
neare"t precinct. 

Q. It has been alleged by Joe Coleman that yoo voted at Miles's Mill 
precinct that day. Is it true or f{llse t-A. It is fa.lse. 

Q. Were you at Miles's Mill precinct on that day at all, sir f-.!.. I was 
not. 

Q. It has been stated by Peter Wagglf's that yon were also at Fount· 
ain Academy precinct on that day, and, after being sworn~ yoo were 
identified as John Murray, and therenpon yon refused to vote. State 
whether that be true or false, and whether or not yon were ,at Fountain 
Academy on that day or not.-A. That is also false. I have no idea 
where Fountain Academy is. 

Q. Does any other John Morray live at Langley I-A. No, sir. 
Q. There are plenty of other Murral's in this connty, ain't there !-A. 

There are. 
Q. ])0 you know jf there are any other John 1\:[urrays, or do yon koo .. 

the initials of any other l\Iurrays f-A. There is a Joe Murray, and a 
Joseph E. Murray, who lives in Beech Island, and a sewing-machine 
agent named J. P. Murray. 

Q. Are you acquainted with Arthur Burton !-A. I am well acquainted 
with one Arthur Bnrton that used to live in Graniteville. 

Q. Do you know whether he has moved outside of Graniteville '-A. 
I am not positive; think he has. 

Q. In what portion does he liveT-A. Toward Vancluse, in the direc­
tion of Miles'/:! mill. 

Q. That direction is in the vicinity of Vanclnse, is it not !-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. State whether you know him to be above the age of 21 years.-..\. 
Be is fully as large as I am and I think as old. 

Q. How long have you known him, sir t-A. Since 1864. 
Q. Was he then a boy of your size and apparently of your &e,"'8 '-A. 

He was working in the Graniteville factory at that time; abont my size 
and age. 

Q. How long had he been in the factory t-A. Have no idea. 
Q. What age is the earliest they are nsnally entered in the factory T­

A. Some at Langley they take in at 9 years of age; these are exceptional 
cases, nnless they are hardy boys. 

Q. Is that the earliest age that they are ever taken in the factory ,­
A. It is the earliest I have ever known. 

Q. The same rules as regards this prevail at Graniteville, do they 
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not '-A. Well, I can't say for certain, but don't think they would take 
them uuder nine; it is tough work for a child, anyhow. 

Q. From what you know of Arthur Burton, would you say that he 
was of tbe age of 21 years at the last general election held on 7th No· 
'\"'ember last '-A. I should think he was, sir. 

Q. Do yon know Stephen Hill, a colored man T-A. I know one that 
used to work on the Langley dam. . , 

Q. Was he a resident of Aiken Oounty at the time of the general 
election held in November last !-A. When be left the Langley Mill, he 
went up above Miles's Mill to work on a farm; something over a year 
ago. He was then a resideut of Aiken Oounty. 

Q. Did he arrange to make a crop with Mr. Brandt that year T-A. I 
don't know; think he hired to him. 

Q. It is not probable that a crop could be malle, gathpred, housed, 
and disposed of that same year before 7th November, is it T-A. Unless 
it were all pease. . 

Q. The last you knew of or heard of S.tephen Hill, he was then a resi­
dent of Aiken Oounty'-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State whether you are acquainted with George 'V. Howard '-A. 
Yes, sir. 

Q. Were you at Graniteville the whole of the 7th day of November 
last !-A. I was there from nine in the morning till about fi'{e o'clock in 
the evening. 

Q. Did you see Mr. Geo'tge Howard at that precinct on that day' __ 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was he there all the time that yon were there T-A. I would see 
him at short periods during the whole day. 

Q. Do you know the distance from Graniteville tQ Miles's Milll-A. 
To the best of my knowledge, 10 or 12 miles. 

Q. Would it have been possible for Mr. Howard to have left Granite­
nIle and gone as far as Miles's Mill and returned between the intervals 
at which you saw him that day 7-A. No, sir; it waa not possible. 

Q. It has been proven in this case, that Fountain Aoademy is some 
eight miles beyond Miles's Mill; state whether it would have been pos­
sible for Mr. Howard to have gone from Graniteville to Fountain Aeai­
emy and return between the intervals at which you saw him in Gran· 
iteville that day T-A. He could not possibly have gone there in that 
time. . 

Q. Were you arrested at any time last fall by United States Ileputy 
marsbal with soldiers T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. State when and wbere you were arrested T-A. I was arrested at 
Lauglpy, in November, about 22d or 23d. 

Q. Were you carried to Columbiaf-A. I was carried to this Aiken 
jail first on Wednesday; was arrested and carried to Columbia on follow­
ing Saturday; kept in Columbia jail till next Tuesday. 

Q. State what treatment you received at the hands of the United 
States marshal while in his custody.-A. When I was arrested at Lang­
ley I was carried to Aiken jail and turned over to Dr. Bardeen by Silas 
Yates, who made the arrest .. Bardeen put me in jail without bedclothf\s 
or anything. Mr. Robert Dunbar offered me a part of his. The next 
morning, when breakfast came, I could not stomach it. So I made ar· 
rangements with parties outside to bring my meals. I was guarded 
every ni8ht by United States soldiers. Saturday morning had break­
fast and took train for Colum bja under custody of Bardeen, deputy United 
States marshal. As we were approaching Branchville he would not let 
me get something to ent, nor would be furnish me with it. The first 
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meal we had after leaving Aikt.'n was Sunday morning, elel"en o'clock; fnr· 
nisbed meal by sheriff of Columbia. We were locked iu cells witbootbed· 
ding. Dent got four blankets for six of us. I t was a l"ery cold night. 
and my feet got frost·bitten froID that night's exposure. The citizens 
of Columbia brought us bedding Suliday evening. 

Q. Did you call on United States marshal for coverings !-A. We 
did, but he did not furnish it. Tbey kept me in jaill'1ix days. 

Q. What was your treatment in that jail outside the treatment from 
the citizens of Columbia !-A. It was very rough. When we com plaiDed 
to Bardeen, Sunday morning, he said he would get us some, bot be nefer 
returned. We got some fare that the jailer fed bis prisoners on. 

Q. How many soldiers came with the sq aad to arrest. you I-A. ElenD. 
besides detective and deputy marshal. 

Q. You were not cbarged as being implicated in the Ellenton riot, 
were you !-A. No, sir. There was no affidavit attacbed to the warrant. 
I asked for a copy of the warrant and his authority, and Yates pointed 
to the soldiers and said, "There is myautholity." 1 was ad\"ised not 
to give up, because the affidavit did not accompany the warrant. R. J. 
Southall, H. L. Allen, advised me, but I did give up. 

Cross-examination wail"ed. 
(Counsel for contestee objects to so mu~h of the testimony as refen; 

to the arrest as being afiirmati ve testimony without notice, and Dot in 
rebuttal.) 1 

JQHX F. Mt:RRAY. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 18th day of April, lSii. 
[SEAL.] W. W. 'YILLIAlIS, 

Judge of Probate, .A iken COURt,. 
W. J. Whipper represented contestee. 

WILLIAM F. WILSON sworn. 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 

William F. Wilson; twenty.six years old; reside at Langley Factory, 
in Aiken County; clerk in store. 

Q. Did yon vote at the election held on 7th day November last in this, 
connty !-A. Yes, sir; at Miles's lIm. I 

Q. It has been stated that you also voted at Fountain Academy pre-' 
cinct, in this county; is that trne !-A. I did not vote there. 

Q. Were you at Fountain Academy at all that day t-A. No, l'ir. 
Q. Are you acquainted with George W. Howard !-A. Yes. sir. 
Q. Has he a store or place of business at Langley t-A. Yes, sir; a~ 

store and a farm near Langley. 
Q. For whom do yon clerk at Langley!-A. For Messrs. A. lit .. ',;; 

G. W. Howard. 
Q. Is this G. W. Howard the same yon spoke of at first t-y~ sir. 
Q. State whether G. W. Howani is a resident of South C&1-oliua vr: 

not.--A. Yes, sir; he is. 
Q. State whether he is abo~e the age of twenty·one years or uot.-

A. I suppose he is about thirty. , 
Q. Does one "Doc" Howard do busibess in South Carolina !-A., 

" Doc" is a nickname of Mr. A. G. Howard, the senior partner of t.m l 

firm for whom I clerk at Langley, and therefore he does do busine&i in! 
South Carolina. I 

Q. Do you know of any such man as C. T. Howard in Aiken County!­
A. I do not. 

Q. Were you at Miles's Mill 011 the 7th day of ~o\'ember last I-A. 
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Yes, sir; I was there the best part of the day; was there from about 
ten o'clock until about (h'e in the evening. 

Q. Did George W. Howard vote at that precinct on that day !-A. 
No. sir. 

Q. Of what State is this man" Doc" Howard, and where does he ex· 
ercise the right of voting Y-A. He does busiuess in both Georgia and 
South Oarolina, but lives in Georgia. I do uot know where he votes, 
but presume in Georgia. 

Q. What are his right initials '-A. "A. G." Howard. 
Q. Do ~ou know a colored man by the name of John Jacobs f-A. 

Yes, sir; 1 kuow him. 
Q. Did any such man as as John Jacobs vote at Miles'sllill while you 

were tht>re t-A. No, ~ir. 
Q. Was he a resident of this county last yeur at time of last election T­

A. Y(>!I, sir; be was. 
Q. ])0 you know Horton H. Jordnn !-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did he yote at Miles's Mill while you were there f-A. No, sir; I 

did not see him vote there. ' 
Q. Do you know Gar Haney t-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did he vote at Miles's Mill while you were there 1-A. No, sir. 
Q. ])0 :rou know States Lee '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Hid he vote at Miles's Mill while you were there !-A. No, sir'; he 

did Dot. 
Q. Do yon know Joe Rider l-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did Joe Rider vote at l\1ill'S'S Mill while you wt>re there I-A. No, 

sir. 
Q. Repeat again from what hour in the morning you were there and 

until what hour in the afternoon T-A. From ten till fh'e. 
Cross·examination wah'ed by l\Ir. 'Whipper, for contestee. 

W. F. WILSO~. 
Sworn to and subscribed before Ole this 18th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS. 

Judge of p,.ooot6, Aiken Oounty. 
W. J. Whipper represented contestee. 

GEORGE W. E. THORPE, being sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, resilIence, and occnpation.-Answer. 

George W. E. Thorpe; Ilinet~en years; Graniteville; bookkt>eper. 
Q. 'Vere you at Miles' Mill precinct on the 7th da.y of November last, 

the day of last general election '-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Will you state from what time in the mornlllg until what time in 

the afternoon or night yon were there T-A. From six o'clock in the 
morning until shortly after nille in the evening. 

Q. State whether you had any official capacity at that t>lection at 
that precinct on that day f-A. I was clerk of the board of managers 
at that precinct. 

Q. Did yon remain at that box from six o'clock in the morning, when 
the polls were first opened, nntil the box was closed in the evening, the 
yotes connted, the returns footed up and signed T-A. I did, sir. 

Q. Were those returns dnly signed by aU the managers T-A. Yes, 
sir. 

Q. What was the conduct of the election at that poll on that day T­
A. Peaceable, orderly, and quiet. 

Q. Did you remain at the box with the managers the whole time the 
voting was going on T-A. I was there tlJe wbole time. 
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Q. It bas been alleged by Joseph Coleman, one of the colorefl Repub. 
lican managers at that pon on that day, that he was cursed and abused 
by Democrats to such an extent that he could not discharge his duty 8S 
manager; is that true or false !-A. It is not true. Mr. Colemau 
swore all the voters and exercised his duties as chairman of the board 
of managers quietly, and challenged ,"oters all day. 

Q. Joseph Coleman and other witnesses for the contestee have sworn 
that two different bands of armed men visited that }loll that day; is 
that true or false T-A. I do not believe they did: I did not see them. 

Q. Was your position such that you would have seen any armed men 
had th(>y visited that poll T-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Was anything said to or done towards Joseph Coleman or Ferman 
L. Brodie, the two Republican managers at that poll, that was calcn· 
lated to prevent them from discharging their duties as managers of 
election T-A. No, sir; Brodi~ opened and sh ut the box: when each man 
voted; had charge of it the whole tim(>. 

Q. They ha,"e stated that they were put in fear for their safety, and 
believed that it would not have been safe for them to have discharged 
their duty as managers. Was anything said or done towards them that 
could have induced such fear or belief on their part T-A. No, sir; they 
did not seem afraid while I was there. 

Q. Did any oue vote at that box: on that day who refused to ~ sworn 
or who did not take the oath !-A. I don't rememuer seeing anyone 
vote who refnsed to take the oath; am pretty sure th(>y did not. 

Q. Did anyone move or push that box about on that day; I mean 
the ballot· box !-A. I did not spe anyone do it. 

Q. If it had beeu done wouldn't Y0!l have seen it !-A. I certainly 
would. . 

Q. Did you, as clerk, keep the pon.list and write the names down of 
all the voters that '·oted there that dayT-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Coleman, Republican manager, has stated that m(>n by the fonow· 
ing names: George W. Howard, John Murray, States Lee, and JOSt'ph 
U. Rivon. voted at that precinct on that day. Is that true or falsef­
A. I don'L rem(>mber their voting tht're. 

Q. Brodie stated that Horton H. Jordan voted at that precinct that 
day. Is that true or false f-A. I did IIOt see him ther(>. 

Q. Have Sou any recollection of seeing auy of these parties wbose 
Dames I have above mentioned at that poll ou that day I-A. No, sir. 

Q. From your position as clerk, would not you have seen them bad 
they have been there '-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. JOlleph Coleman and F. L. Brodie have stated that a man wid 
Delevan Yates, Republican supervisor of election at that precinct, tbat 
he dared Yates to cheep; if he did he would whip Lim. Was any such 
threat made towards Mr. Yates t-A. I did not hear it. 

Q. If any such threat had been made to him in the room where yon 
k(>pt the box, wonl(1 you not have h(>ard it !-A. Yes, sir; I would. 

(~. Joseph Coleman states that a white Democrat came up to the box 
and pu!\hed the latch f.'om o\"er the hole in it. Is that true or falsef­
A. I did not see it; if it had been done I would have seen it. 

Q. Josepb Coleman states that a party of five white men. with their 
guns laying acr08S their saddles, (they being mounted,) cnrsed the man· 
agers and supen-isors of election. Is that true or false I-A. I didn't 
hear anything of the kind; if such language had been used I certainly 
would bave beard it. 

Q. Coleman has stated that a man came up to that box: and told him, 
Coleman, to say to Yates that he might come out and make water if 
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he wanted to; that tbey bad kept us (meaning the managers and super· 
visors of election) in tbere long enougb; tbat he guessed our bladders 
would burst directly; that we might come out; that they were not 
going to bother us any more. Was any such remark made to Coleman 
at that box on that day f-A. If there was I didu't hear it; I certainly 
wonld have heard it if it had been made. 

Q. Did any crowd of eight or ten men, among whom were a young 
Getzen, a son·in·law of R{)bert Butler, and A. J. Butler, say to a colored 
man by name of Sam Stuart that he could not vote at that box f-A. 
No, sir; no such remarks were made. 

Q. Was any man, white or colored, prevented from voting at that 
poll who was legally entitled to vote '-A. No, sir. 

Q. Was not J. E. Coleman the chairman of the board of managers, 
and did he not administer the oath to the voters and direct the mallner 
of voting through the entire day i-A. Yes, sir. 

Cross· examined by General Whipper, for contestee: 
Q. You have stated that you were there all day. Do you mean that 

yon were there at the box without leaving it all day!-A. No, sir; I 
went out a few times for a few minutes. 

Q. About how ofteu during the day did you leave the box f-A. 
About four or five times. 

Q. Ahout how far did you leave it at anyone time, and about how 
long did you leave it at anyone time !-A. About the farthest I went 
was about twenty·five to thirty·five yards, and not exceeding five or 
ten minutes each time. . 

Q. You state that you did not see Joe Coleman cursed and abused. 
Was there not ample opportunity while you were away for him to bave 
been cursed and abused-while you were away T-A. I don't think there 
was. Whene,'er I saw anyone approach the box I went there. 

Q. When you were twent.y·five to thirty yards from the box, what 
were you doing '-A. I went out several times for private purposes. 

Q. Were you on any of those occasions that you left the polls engaged 
in conversations or mingling with the crowd T-A. Only once, I believe. 

Q. You went out on several occasions on private pnrposes, on one 
occasion mingling with the crowd or engaged in con versation, the period 
of your absence ranging from five to ten minutes, the distance that you 
were from the poll twenty·five to thirty·five yards, and yet do you mean 
to say that you heard everything that went Oll at the polls f-A. While I 
was at the polls I heard everything; there was no one around the polls 
when I was away but the managers and supervisors. 

Q. You have stated that Mr. Coleman challenged as he pleased all 
day. About how many did he challenge that day f-A. About one or 
two. 

Q. Who were they, and what time of day was it when he challenged 
them t-A. One of them, I remember, was a yellow fellow, don't remem· 
ber his name; can't tell exactly the time of day-think about noon. 

Q. When you said he challenged all day as he pleased, you simply 
meant that he challenged thel:le one or two men T-A. I suppose he chal· 
lenged as he saw fit. 

Q. You saw no armed men there that day!-A. No, sir. 
Q. About how many men were there there at auy oue time f-A. About 

seven or eight when they voted; others were lounging arouud. 
Q. I mean how many were at the poll, including those scattered 3n<1 

lonnging around, at anyone time.-A. About 3 dozen; can't exactly 
tell, as they were always going and coming. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



666 TILLMAN VB. SMALLS. 

Q. How many votes was there polled there that day I-A. One hUD' 
dred and seventy-seyen. 

Q. Who was the Democratic snper\"isor there t-A. B. F. Llondrnm, jr. 
Q. Who was the Republican supervisor f-A.. n. Yates. 
Q. Where was the poll held Y-A. In a room of the saw-mill. 
Q. Was Yates in that room; if so, what portion of the day was he 

there'r-A. All through the day, I believe. 
Q. What am I to understand by all through t he day '-A. I mean in 

the room; so was Oaptain Bell. 
Q. Was tbere anybody cursed or threatenell bim (Ya.tes) that dayr­

A. 1 didn't hear him cursed or threatened. 
Q. Did anyone say to him if he came ont of there he woold break 

his mont.h f-A. I did not hear anyone say so. 
Q. Are you acquainted witb Willie Chafee '-A. No, sir. 
Q. V\T as tbere not a crowd of six: or eight men armed or unarmed that 

came to tbe poll about an hour after it was opened, asked for some JW. 
publican tickets, got them, and tore them up f-A. It may hal'e been 
later in the day, but there was one young man that asked for some Re­
pUblican tickets; Goleman gave them to him. He kept about half-dozen 
iu his band, and laid balance on the table, and said, in a joking , "I 
don't want tbose," and t{)re up abont half-dozen; that was all that paesed. 

Q. Did he not say the idea of a damned SOli of a bitch handing a whiu, 
gentleman such tickets f-A. I did not hear him use any soch lan­
guage. 

Q. How many we-re with him at the time be got those tickets and tore 
them up f-A. To the best of my recollection, about five or six. 

Q. Didn't this same party go away aud then come back again about 
the middle of the day f-A. I don't remember. 

Q. Didn't this party try to get D. Gates to come out of the bnild­
ing f-A. I don't believe they did. 

Q. Didn't they ha"e some talk of some kind or character with Gaw, 
or to him Y-A. No, sir; not in my presence. 

Q. Did he not ask Coleman, chairman of board of managers, hoW" be 
liked his tearing up those tickets, or words to that effect !-A. I didn't 
hear him. 

Q. Did he at any time come to the poll and call for" that long-legged 
managerf"-A. No, sir; not to my recollection. 

Q. Were there nobody at the polls that day with gons I-A. I did not 
see anyone with guns. 

Q. When you said that there were no armed men that came to the 
polls, do you know whether they had pistols or 1I0t '-A. I do not. 

Q. Do you know Sandy or Sam Stoart Y-A. Ooly by sight. 
Q. Was he there that dRY '-A. I do not remember. 
Q. Do you koow A. P. Butler and Henry Getzen '-A. No, sir. 
Q. When these men left the polls, did they go off cheering, yelling, 

and halloaing, saying they intended to have a white man's government, 
or words to that effect T-A. I do not. remember bearing any Boch re­
marks as those; don't remember hearing any yelling or halloaiug. 

Q. Do you know O. N. Bntle-r T-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know Jessie Napier, John Napier, and George Palmerf­

A.ldo. 
Q. Were they there that day, and did tbey yote there T-A. I think 

thpy did. 
Q. Are you not certaiu they did yote there f-.A. Can't say posi. 

tively. . 
Q. Do yon know John Palmer, Tolil'er Heron, Jerry 'Whitlock, Rea-
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ben Labord, Arthur Burton, M. B. :r.Iedlock, John Jacobs, John Mur­
ray, W. F. Wilson, George ,V. Howard, Dr. or C. T. Howard, States or 
H. Lee, or any of them f-A. J know John Palmer, Toliver Heron, John 
Murra,-, but not very well; W. F. WilSOll, by sight. 

Q. Were either those you say yon know at Miles's Mill on 7th No­
vember last, day of election; and, if so, who and bow many of them t­
A. To the best of my recollection, Toliver Heron and John Palmer 
were there. . 

Q. Did they or either of them ,-ote th«>re t-A. I don't recoUect. 
Q. Do you know George Fagin, Ned Fagin, Joseph W. Rion, Stephen 

Hill, Buck Satcher, Dowling Ja.ckson, William Napier, Kerr Hany, W. 
W. Walker, Horton Quarles, Peter Rouen, or any of them t-A. I don't 
know any of them. 

Q. Did you hear no conversation between the chairman, Coleman, and 
Mr. Bell, manager, about challenging "otes !-A. Don't remember. 

Q. Was there not a controversy b«>tween ?tIro Ooleman and two yonng 
men who presented themsel\"es there to vote, as to their age f-A. Don't 
remember two, only the one I spoke of before. 

Q. Do you know Stephen Hill t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know William Watson t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do JOU know Burgiss :Franklin t-A. No, sir. 
Q. Do yon know whether or not any parties by name of Franklin 

voted there that dayt-A. 1 don't remember any. 
Q. Do you know Buddie Brown !-A. No, sir. 
Q. Was there nobody that shoved the box about that day, and didn't 

Mr. Coleman call the marshal's attention to it Y-A. I did not. see it, 
nor did I hear Coleman say anything about it. 

Q. Are you certain that there was no one who refused to be sworn 
that day I-A. I never saw one who refused. 

Q. You stated in your direct examination, George W. Howard, States 
Lee, and Joseph W. mon did not vote at Miles's Mill precinct on last 
election.day, as you remember. You state in your cross·examination 
that you don't know either of them. Then you don't know whether 
they voted or not, do you T-A. No, sir; don't know anything about 
them. 

Q. Do you know Horton H. JOl'dant-A. No, sir. 
Q. In answer to the question in your direct examination, as to whether 

Horton H. Jordan vott'd at Miles's.MiIl precinct last election.day, you 
said, " I did not see him." If you don't know him, how do yon know 
whether he voted or not T-A. I don't. know anything abont it, where 
he voted. 

Q. In your direct examination, speaking of George W. Howard, States 
Lee, and Hort{)n H. Jordan, you said you did not recollect seeing any 
of them that dAY. From your position as clerk yon would have seen 
them had they been there. In your cross·examination you state that 
yon do not know any of them. Wuat am I, thell, to understand you mean 
by saying, that from your pORition as clerk you would ha.ve seen them 
jf they had been there f-A. That does not infer that I know them. I 
could have seen anybody there. 

Q. Then you do not know whether they were there or not, or whether 
they voted or not t-A. No, sir; I do not. 

Q. As a matter of fact, you don't know anything about them, do you t 
-A. No, sir. 

Q. Yon stated in your direct examination that tbere was no man pre­
vented from voting who was It>gally entitled to vote there that day. , 
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Was anybody prevented from 'f'oting; if so, who, and ho\v many!-A· 
There was nobody prevented from voting. 

Q. You are not a voter yourself, are you '-A. :No, sir. 
Q. With what political party do you sympathize I-A. Democratic. 

Redirect: 
Q. In your cross-examination you havA said that you did not know 

Horton H. Jordan, States Lee, George W. lIowarll, Joseph Rion. Al­
though you do not know sucll individuals personally, do you not knoll' 
that their names do not appt>ar on the poll-list' 

(Question objected to by W. J. Whipper, on ground that it is a lead­
ing question.) 

A. I do not remember hearing any such names called out. 
Q. Did you not hear the names of all parties that-were called out as 

they voted !-A. I wrote them down as they were called out. 
Q. You stated that you reside iu the town of Aiken. How far is it 

from the town of Aiken to Miles's l\Ull, w here you acted as clerk of elee· 
tion '-A. I don't know how far it is. 

Q. Did you not have but a very slight acquaintance with most of the 
voters at Miles's Mill on day of election' 

(Objected to as strictly leading.) 
A. Only slightly acquainted with a few of them. 
Q. Being only nineteen years of age, and comparatively a stranger at 

Miles's MIll, were you not selected 8S clerk of election by reason of yoOl 
expertness 0.8 a penman !-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did not the other managers and supervisors of election at :Miles's 
Mill freely challenge voters whenever they were mind to, just as Cole­
man did !-A. Yes, sir; they challenged whenever they saw proper. 

G. W. E. THORPE. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 18th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAlfS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Oounty. 
Contestee was represented by W. J. Whipper. 
THOMAS J. DAVIES, sworn, says: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation.-Answer. 

Thomas J. Davies; forty-five years of nge; residence iu Hammond 
Township, of Aiken Coonty; planter and manufacturer. 

Q. Had you any official connection with the IRst general election in 
this State !-A. I was a manager at Beech Island precinct for the Dem· 
ocratic party. 

(Objected to any testimony being taken in regard to Beech Island 
precinct by the contestant, on the ground that no notice whatever has 
been given to contestee or his counsel, and because the contestee has 
taken no testimony at that precinct; withdraw so much as relates to 
contestee not taking testimony at Beech Island precinct.) 

Q. State when you went to that box, and how long yon remained 
there.-A. I went thither at 6 a. m., and remained ontil Dear midnigbt. 

Q. Were you there when the polls were first opened, and did yOD stay 
until the box was closed an<l the ballots counted, and the work of tbe 
managers completed I-A. I was. 

Q. State in what building or room you conducted the voting.-A. It 
was in a store house of Messrs. Honkerson & Page. 

Q. N. R. Williams, who waR the United States deputy marshal ~t 
that preci nct on that day, has stated, in his testimony taken in tb'5 
case, that there were between two and threehundred guns in the end of 
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the building where the voting was carried on. Is that true or falset­
A. I utterly deny that. I should certainly have seen that ifit had been 
there. 

Q. Did Lieutenant Quinton, who commanded the detachment of 
United States soldiers stationed at that precinct on the day of election, 
have any conversation with Dunbar Lamar in front of the polls while 
the voting 'was going on t-A. I know nothing of that at all. 

Q. Did Lieuteuant Quinton place a guard of two men over any guns 
at that poll t-A. I never heard of it before. I would state also that I 
never saw or heard of any soldiers at the polls at all. The officers and 
soldiers were stationed about three hundred yards from the polls. 

Q. Ha(l a gnard of two men beeu placed in that building to guard 
guns, or for any other purpose, would you know it or not t-A. Most 
assuredly I would have known it. The soldiers were in the woods, not 
visible. 

Q. N. R. Williams has stated that the board of managers at that pre­
cinct, at the last general election, allowed persons to vote for Presi­
dential electors and Oongressional canditlates who had not resided in 
the State one year and in the county sixty days. Is it true '-A. That 
is utterly false, except as to Presidential electors. Voters were chal­
lenged in every instance in Oongressional elections as to whether they 
had been in the State one year and county sixty days. 

Q. Did you allow any person to vote for a candidate to Congress who 
bad not resided withiu the State for one year and in the county sixty 
days T-A. We did not allow such voting knowingly, and we challeuged 
every stranger. 

Q. Do you know how many soldiers were in that detachment at Beech 
Island '-A. About eight. 

Q. You have stated that they were about three hundred yards from 
where the voting was carried on. Oan you state how long they reo 
mained there I-A. Cannot state. 

Q. Do you know N. R. Williams, who was United States deputy 
marshal at Beech Island precinct on the day of the last general elec­
tion !-A. I do. 

Q. Do you know his general reputation for veracity in this commu­
nity!-A. Yes, sir i only from hearsay. 

Q. Is it good or Dad !-A. It is very bad. 
Q. Would you feel bound to believe bim under oath in a matter 

where he considered himself interested '-A. I certainly would not. 
Cross-examined by Mr. Smalls, the contestee, in person: 

Q. In regard to allowing parties to vote at Beech Island, did you al­
low anyone to vote for President at that election who were not citizens 
of the State '-A. We did, after consultation with Mr. Williams himself. 

Q. About how many votes did you allow to be cast for Presidential 
electors where the voters were not citizeus of this State f-A. I do not 
recollect just now, but do not think more than half a dozen. 

Q. You stated that you would not believe N. R. Williams on his oath. 
Have yon ever had any business transactious with him f-A. I never 
have had. 

Q. Do you know of auy one who has, to whom he has proven false!­
A. I do not. 

Q. Do you kuow what l\Ir. Williams's politics are '-A. I do not, but 
infer that he is a Republican. 

Q. Will you pleRS6 state what are your politics !-A. I am a Demo­
erato 
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Q. It5 it not generally circulated among the Democrats that a Repub­
lican cannot be believed on his oath f-A. I am not aware of it. 

(~. Were you at the poll all day without leaving it at all '-A. Ont\" 
about twenty minutes during the day, when I stepped ont. • 

Q. Do you state positively that no guns were in that bnilding that 
day'-A. 1 do not, as I did see one gnn-a donble·barrel shot·gnn. 
. Q. Oould not those gnns that Mr. Williams speaks of have been in 
that building, and yon not have seen them '-A. Not that nnmber. 

Q. Oonld there have been any number stored in the building withoot 
your seeing them '-A. There might have been two or three placed in Ii 
corner without my seeing thew, but a larger number wonld have 
attracted my atten tion. 

Q. Do yon state positively that the ofticer in charge of the United 
States soldiers was at no time in the building where the voting ,vas done 
that day '-A .. l\'1ost positively, he was not in the building. 

Q. Was he at the building or around it'-A. I did not see or hearof 
it, but I was in the building myself. . 

Q. Was there any interference at the poll that day at al1 '-A. Not 
the !:Iligbtest disturbance. 

Q. What w{'re the number of votes cast at the Beeeh Island box f-A. 
Total about 538, of which ~mall8 l'ecciv{'t1, for Congress, 302, and Till· 
man 236. 

THOS. J. DAVIES. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 18th day of Allril, 1877. 
[SEAL.J W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Cou,",. 
W. J. Whipper represented contestee, and cross·examined by Smalls, 

the contestee, in person. 
W. B. COURTNEY, being sworn, says: 
Qnestion. State yonr name, age, residence, and occnpation.-AusweJ'. 

W. B. Conrtney; 21 years; Aiken Connty; farmer. 
Q. Were yon at Fountain Academy precint at any time dnring the day 

on the 7th November last, the day of last general election !-A. I was. 
Q. At what time did you get to that preeinct, and how long did yoo 

stay there '-A. Abont half-l>3st six o'clock in the morning when I got 
there, and left about teo o'clock at night. 

Q. Were you there when the votes were counted, the returns footed 
np, and signed I-A. I was. 

Q. Were yon there at the time the polls were closed I-A. I was. 
Q. Will you state whether or not they were promptly closed at six 

o'clock in the evening f-A. They were closed by D. W. Johoson'. watAlh 
at six o'clock; the watch they were opened by. J obnsoo was chairman of 
the board of ma.nagers; is a colored mao, and a Republican. 

Q. Do you know John Murray, George W. Howard, W. F. Wilson, 
K{'rr Haney, and States or H. Lee I-A. I know Kerr Haney and nOlle 
of the rest. 

Q. Did Kerr Haney vote at Fonntain Academy that day '-A. I was 
there two hours at least before the polls closed, aud he never voted there 
while I was there. 

Q. Did any baud of armed men come to that preeinct during the time 
that you were there '-A. I did not see any. 

Q. Were you immediately at and near the polls within the period em· 
braced between five o'clock and half past six o~clock iu the afternoon f­
A. Yes; 1 was very near the polls. 

Q. Did you see all who approached the polls within that period '-A. 
I think that I sawall. 
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~. Did auy' band of armed men come up to the poll within that 
period '-A. There was nQt. 

Q. Were any persoos allowed to vote at that precinct at or near six 
o'clock iu the evening witbout being sworn '-A. There were not. 

Q. Did any persou$ Tote at tbat precinct after six o'clock in tbe even­
ing I-A. Tbere was no voting after six o'clock. 

Q. Did anyone curse or abuse either of tbe managers at or about six 
o'clock in the eveni,ng'-A. No one cursed or abnsed them. 

Q. In what room or building was the voting conducted '-A. In the 
Fountain Academy scbool·boulle. 

Q. You have said that you were immediately at the polls from two or 
three hours before it was closed nntil tbe voting was stopped. State 
whether within that time any band of wen went in the building with 
pistols in their hands '-A. They did not. There was no baud of men 
went in tbe building with pistols in their hands. 

Q. lJid any man within that time carry a gun into the room where the 
box was aodlesn it up against the ~ide or wall of the room f-A. I saw 
no gon in the house. 

Q. Wonld you not have seen it had it been carried in tbere at that 
time '-A. I think I would have seen it. 

Q. D. W. Johnson and G. G. Brodie, colored managers of elt-ction at 
that precinct, said that they were induced to sign tbose retnrns in order 
to get away alive, and that they believed it would have been unsafe for 
them not to have signed the retnrns. Was anything said or done toward 
them, or either of them, that was calcnlated to induce tbem to lorm snch 
belief or bave sucb fear I-A. There was nothing done to them or said 
ont of the way. 

Q. State as Dear as yon can how many men were at or near those polls 
after the box W88 closed and nntil tbe returns were signed '-A. I sup­
pose abont 60 or 60, of wbicb about balf of tbem were colored, and prob­
ably more. 

Q. It has been stated tbat those white men, or a part of thllln, were 
armed with gons. Is that trne or false '-A. It is false. 

Q. Do you know who was chairman of tbe board of managers '-A. 
D. W. Jobnson. 

Q. Did you see him cballenging parties who otTered to vote there wbile 
you were at the boxY-A. Yes; I saw bim challenge whenever he saw fit. 

Cross·examined by General Whipper: 
Q. You state that Kerr Haney did not vote at Fountain Academy 

while yon were there. Was tbere not ample time for him to vote while 
yon were not there, or before you got there '-A. I suppose so. 

Q. Did you see him tbere that day at all '-A. I did not. I was there 
from half past six till the polls closed. 

Q. Was tbere any men came up here at all about six: o'clock '-A. I 
don't think there was. Nobody came about the closing of the polls. 

Q. Was there a crowd that came up at time during the day f-
A. '£here were persons coming to vote all day. 

Q. Were not those men generally armed '-A. I ImW no armed men. 
Q. Were yon immediately around the polls all day '-A. I was, aDd 

saw everything that went on. 
WORDI:N B. COURT:NEY. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 18th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Oounty. 
W. J. Whipper represented contestee. 
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REUBEN LABOARD, sworn, say!!: 
Question. State your name, age, residence, and occupation, and 

whether white or colored.-Answer. Reuben Laboard: 21 years; Edge­
field County, with George Tur~er; work at steam.mill; colored. 

Q. Did you vote at Miles's Mill on 7th November last, at geueral 
election held in this county'-A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Were you a citizen of this county at that time I-A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How old are you '-A. Jam 21 years old; was 21 last gone Jnly. 
Q. How tall are you I-A. Six feet and three inches high. 
Q. What ticket did you vote at Miles's Mill Y-A. Democrat ticket. 

Cross-examined by General Whipper, counsel for contestee: 
Q. Do you know what year you were born in I-A. Yes; I did know, 

but have forgotten. 
Q. How long ago was it that your mother told you your age T-A. 

Before the last election; about six months ago. 
Q. Where is your mother now '-A. I left her at home in Edgefield 

County. 
Q. Where did you live when you voted at last election !-A. I lil"ed 

at George Turner's place, in Aiken County. 
Q. How long had you been working in Aiken County before the 

election ?-A. 1 had been working there from 1st January before, and 
worked until this last January, when I went to Edgefield. 

Q_ Do you know on what day in July you were born '-A. I do not. 
his 

REUBEN + LABOARD. 
mark. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 18th April, 1877. 
[SEAL.] W. W. WILLIAMS, 

Judge of Probate, Aiken Oounty. 
W. J. Whipper represented contestee. 

G. W. Croft, for contestant, offers in testimony the population of the 
-counties of Barnwell, Edgefield, Beaufort, and Coneton, and also the 
populations of the townships of Chinquapin, Giddy Swamp, McTier, 
and Rocky Springs, in the county of Lexington, and the townships of 
Hopeweld, Rocky Groove, and Tabernacle, in the county of Orange­
bnrg, as contained in the compendium of the Ninth Censns of the 
United States, 1870, at pages 325, 326, and 327 in said book, said 
counties and townships being in the State of South Carolina; aud also 
the population of the conn ties of Barnwell, Beaufort, CoUeton, and 
Edgefield, in the State of South Carolina, as appears at pages 88 aDd 
89 in said censns book above-referred to. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Aiken: 

'Contested seat to the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States from 
the fifth Congressional district in South Carolina. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, ~ 'V,. 
ROBERT SMALLS, CONTESTEE. 

Please take notice that the contestant will use at the trial or investi­
gation herein before the Congress of the United States, and before the 
·committees thereof, certified copies of the poll-lists from the secretarY 
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of state's office of the State of Sooth Oarolina, of the precincts of 
Graniteville, Miles's l\Iills, ancl Fountain Academy, in the said connty 
of Aiken, of the general .election held in said State and county on the 
7th clay of November, 1876. 

Dated at Aiken, S. 0., this 18th day of April, 1877. 
G. W. CROFT, 

Oou718el for OOlltutant. 
To RoBERT SMALLS, OonteBUe: 

Doe Rnd legal service of a copy of the foregoing accepted at Aiken, 
S. C., this 18th day of April, 1877. 

STATE OF SOUTH OAROLINA, 
Oountyof Aiken: 

W. J. WHIPPEU, 
A ttorney for Oontestee. 

Contested seat to the Forty-fifth Congress of the United States from the' 
fifth Congressional district in South Carolina. 

G. D. TILLMAN, CONTESTANT, 1 
1'8. 

ROBERT SllALLS, CONTESTEE. 

Please tnke notice that the contestee will use in the trial or investiga­
tion for the Congress of the United States, and before the committee 
tbereof, certified copies of the poll-list from the secretary of state of 
Sooth Carolina, of the precincts of Windsor aud Sih'erton, in the said 
coon ty of Aiken, of the general election hAld in said State and county on 
the 7th day of November, A. D. 1876; also certified copies of the State 
census of South Carolina so far I\S the same relates to Aikf'll Connty. 

AIKEN, S. C., April 18,1877. 

W. J. WHIPPER, 
Oou718el for Oontestee. 

Doe. and It/gal service of a copy of the foregoing accepted at Aiken, 
S. C., this 18th day of April, 1877. 

STATE OF SOU1.'n CAROLINA, 
A-ike-n County: 

Per.;onally apPf'ared M. J. 'Vhippel', who, being duly sworn, deposes 
alld says: That be has this day sen'ed on O. W. Ct'oft, attorney for con· 
testant, a copy of the within notice during the legal l1On1'8 of sf'rvh~e. 

M. J. WHIPPER. 

Sworn to before me this 18th day of April, A. n. 11i77. 
W. W. WILLIA:\IS, 

Judge of Probate, .4 iken County. 

The following corrections were made during the namination by me 
in the }>resence of the respective attornt'ys, G, ,,'. Croft, for contest· 
Rnt, and 1\1. J. Whipper, for contestt'e, and i>l'fore each witnt'Ks sub­
scribed his name to his deposition, to wit: On page 4, line 2~, the 
word ., last" interlined; on page 10, line 18, t.he word "white" emseeI 
on page 12, line :.n, the word ,. at", erased and "on" written instead; 
page 14, line 2, "nalUe" interlined; page 15, line 11, "ull colored" 
interlined; page 10, thirteenth line," colored" interlined; same page, 

H. Mis. 11-43 . 
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fourteenth ilne, "Democrat" interlined j page 19, line 16, "general" 
erased; page 20, line 26," to vote" interlined j page 23, line 6,"Albert" 
erased; on page 23, line 13, "at" interlined; page 25, lines 23 and 
24, "S. D." and" Rob't" interlined; page 29, liue 12, "S. W." inter· 
lined j Rame page, line 26, "of election;" page 3~, Hne 11, "tbree 
or four" interlined; page 4, line 27, read" were that Bath and Lang. 
ley," &c.· page 41, line 21, "first" erased; page 46, line 8, "if any" 
interlined; page 55, line 17, II colored" interlined; page 61, line 10, 
., arrested" interlined; page 66, line 14, " consent" interlined; page 72, 
Une 14, "but hold office " interlined; on page 85, line 29, "or before" 
interlined; page 123, line 13, "altering" erased; page 130, line 23, "is 
false" interlined; page 130, line 25, "Williams says" interlined; page 
132, line 7, " in Col umbia once" interlined; page 133, ]jne 14, "colored" 
interlined j page 138, line 18, "yes there has" erased; page 146, line 22, 
"returns" interlined j page 148, line 22, "John aud W. F." interlined; 
page 167, line 15, "seven" erased; page 168, line 19, " manager" erased 
and ., voters" interlined; page 173, line 20, "to 35" interlined; I,a(;e 
176, line 21, "through tbe" interlined. 

Gh'en ulldl.'r my hand and seal of office at Aiken, S. C., this 19th day 
of April, 1877. 

[SEAL.J W. W. WILLIAllS, 
Ju.iJge of Probate, Aiken Conty. 

No. 13. 
B.A.B.NWELL COUNTY: 

Notice to take depositions at A llefldale in the matte,. of ti,e contest of G. 
D. Tillman agailUlt Robert SmalllJ. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oounty of Barmcell: 

To ROBERT SMALLS, Esq.: 
You are hereby notified that I will examine the following-named wit­

nesses, all of whom live in Barnwell Connty, relative to, and in rebuttal 
of, the evidence produced by you to support your answer to my notice 
to you that I would Contest your right. to " seat in the Congress of the 
United States, to which you claim to have been elected at the ~o\"em­
bar election of 1876, for the fifth .Congressional district of the State of 
South Carolina, before Joseph Erwin, esq., a notary public for South 
Carolina, at Allendale, in the county and ~tate aforesaid, in the office 
of said Joseph Erwin, hetween the hours of 7 a. m. and 7 p. m., on 
the 1tith, 17th, and 18th days of April, 1877, inclusin', or as muth 
thereof as may be necessary for the examination of said witnesses, to 
wit: J. T. Hogg, J. S. Mixson, H. T. Farmer, J. C. Da,-ant, and Dr. J. 
W. Ogilvie. 

Resllectfnlly, &c_, 
G. n. TILLMAN, 

Per JNO. BELLl~G BR, 
Attorneg for Oorrtuuud. 

I accept legal service of the fOf('going notice npon IDe at Beaufort, 
S. C., this 9th dJly of April, 1877. 

P ROBERT SMALLS, 
Per M. J. WHIPPER, 

.AttONleJ· 
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Notice to take d.epositioAII. 
In the matter of the contest of G. D. Tillman against Robert Smans. 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 

• Barnll'eZl Oounty: 
To J. T. Hogg, J. S. Mixson, H. T. Farmer, J. C. Davant, aUlI Dr. J. 

W. Ogilvie: 
You and each of you are bereby summonetl to appear before me at 

Allendale, in said county and State, on the 16th, 17th, and 18th days of 
April, instant, A. D. 1877, between the hours of seven o'clock in the fore­
noon and se\"en o'clock in the evening of each of said clays, to be then and 
there examined under oath in rebuttal by me respectiug the contest by 
George D. Tillman of the rights of Itobert 8ml\lls to a seat in the Con­
gress of the United States. 

You will not fail herein under penalty of twenty dollars each. 
Given under my hand alld official seal at Allendale, this 10th day of 

April,1877. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
00unt9 of BarnU'eli : 

JOS. ERWIN, 
Notary Public. 

I, Josep~ Erwin, a notary public in and for the State of South Caro­
lina, do hereby certify that the annexEd. depositions of J. S. Mixson, 
J. O. Davant, H. T. Farmer, and J. W. Ogilvie, were taken on the 16th. 
and 17th days of April, illstant, A. D. 1871, pursuant and in all things 
conformable to the attached notice, between the hours of 7 o'olock a. m. 
and 7 o'clock p. m. on each of said days, excc.>pt the deposition of H. T. 
Farmer, which \vas taken by consent of contestant and contestee be­
tween the hours of 7 p. m. and 10 p. m. on the 16th instant; and that 
contestant was represt'ntet! at such examination by John R. Bellinger, 
his couusel, and that contl'stee was present himself at the examination 
of J. C. Davant and J. W. Ogil'\"ie, and was rc.>presented by his counsel, 
T. H. Wheeler, at the examination of all of the witnesses; that the said 
witllc.>sses whose depositions are hereto attached, and whose names are 
contained ill saiel notice, "'t're by me first duly sworn according to law 
to tc.>U the trnth, the wbole truth, and nothing but tbe troth, touch­
ing the matters in controvt'rsy betwell the partit's, and their examination 
and testimony, together with questions propoonded to them by the 
parties and reduced to writing by me, and in roy presence, and in the 
presence of the attorney for contestant. and contestee and in presence 
of contestee himself when there; anti after being carefully read over to 
witnesses were by them attelllted by siguiug their namelt to thc.>ir respec-
til'e depositions in my presenct'. . 

In tellltimony whereof I hereby affix my nRme and official seal this 17th 
day of April, A. D. 1X77. 

[SEAL.] JOS. ERWIN, 
Notary Public. 

EXpe/lBes at Allendale. BlIrn/rell Oounty. SOllt'" Ollroli-/la, in a,e matter of 
G. lJ. Tillman t'S. Robert Smalls. 

'Vitllt'sses: 
.J. S. l\lixson, olle day .. ___ . " _. , ... _ .. _ .. __ . _ ••.. _ .• __ . _. _ ..• 0 75 
H. T. j<'arlller, one day. __ . _ .. _ .... _. _. __ . _. _. _ . _., •. ___ .• _ •. _ 75 
J. C. DI\'-SlIt, !H)e da.\' .......... _ _ _ .. ___ . _. . .•• ••• • .. _. _ • _ _ _ 75 
J. 'V. Ogilvie, olle lIuy .. _ ................ _ " ... _. _ .• _ ••• _ .• _ 75 

300 
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In the matter of the conte8t between G. D. Tillman and Robert SDlallS 
for a seat in the Congress of tbe United States. 

STATE OF SOUl'H CAROLINA, 
Oountyof Barnwell: • 

J. O. DAVANT, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant upon 
due notice to the contestee, in rel)Ott31, depose8 8S follow8 in reference 
to que8tions propounded by contestant'd attorney: 

Question. Wbere do you reside !-Answer. I re8ide in Bull Pond 
Townsbip, in this county, about four miles from Allendale Station. 

Q. Where were you on tbe day of the last general election, the 7th of 
November la8t f-A. 1 WAS at tbis )llace, AJlendale. 

Q. Did you see B. G. HOllhes during that llay, and, if so, what W88 
he doing 1-A. I saw B. G. Hugbes during tbe entire day and night of 
the 7tb of November last; do not lIlesn to say uninterruptedly. During 
tbeday B. G. Hughes was representing himself a8 deputy United States 
mar8hal, and wasa part of the time immediately at tbe polling-box with 
the mauagers and supervisors. Afterward, I saw a colulDn of ('.olored 
citizens drawn up near the raih'Oau, between the railroad and tbe polling­
place. I was attracted by tbe voice of Hughetl proclaiming to them; be 
was calling tllecolored men to fall ill and to rally. He formed a column of 
several bundred colore(l men aOlI marcbed tbem by twos, piacing biOI­
&elfin front. He marcbed tbem about where the \"oters were as~mbled, 
and in one intltance marcbed his column througb the \"oters of white 
mt'n, and at anotber time HlIglie." with the column of colon>d men 
marched as if intending to marcb througb the center of the crowll; they 
then changed direction and marchell \'cry much as they bad marched 
before, Hugbes, with his crowd, marcbcu and countermarcbed for 
some time-an hour or two; after which I saw Hugbes again o,-er the 
ballot-box, playing United States marshal; and througb the day be was 
alternately over tbe box amI through tbe crowd. Hughes was with the 
managers when I invited them into my office to count tbe ballots; he 
went witb the managers and Ruper\'isors, and was with tbem during the 
entire counting tbat night. Hugbes, during the counting of tbe ballots, 
became much disturbed by one Vlarence Brown, a colored man of this 
coonty, (very appropriately named,) telling bim tbat the Df'mocra1i8 had 
pre\"ailed, and tbat he (Brown) would no\v open the slave trade with 
Hugbes 8S bis first subject. Brown kept this up for a long time; his 
remarks were 1I0t addressed to Hughes, lJUt Sl)oken generally. All 
present were amusIL'd at it eXCI.'pt Hughes. Hugbed would at tilul's 
quarrel, threaten, and then appeal to Brown'R sense of decorum. After 
Hughes had bee~ fretted and worried by Brown, (Hugbes hall been 
dl'itlking whisky,) I fl~member bis expression of some tear to go out_ I 
dou't remember w1lt'ther he expressed fear of any indi\'iunal, or burt 
generally. .My impression is that tbe ft'ar was of oue or two men. \Vitb 
t1le conflict of emotions, tragic aud comic, and possibly intiuellces hu­
bilwd, lIugbes was moved to teal's, eithel' llit'ectly in my office or imDle­
diatel.v without. 

Q. Did' you see any violt'nce offered to Hughes on the day of l"1E't'. 
tion T-A. I did not. ~o far from it, I beard IJltlll SIlY that he should not· 
be harmed in any wlIy. 

Q. Had Hughes bet'n chased from the polls (luring the election, wonltl 
you IIOt have known it f-A. I was around tbe polls from the time tbe 
box was opened until it was closed, among the crowd. I don't think it 
possible for such an occurrence without DIy knowing it. 
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Q. Was anything done there that day to prevent tbe Republicans from 
voting '-A. I did not see a Republican hindered from voting at all. 

Q. 'It has been stated that between two hundred and fifty and three 
hundred Rf'publicaus went away from the polls without voting. Is 
that true '-A. ~'rolJl my actual observation, I should say no such 
number of either political party went away without voting, and my 
conviction is confirmed by the number of votes Jlolled. I heard that 
a little party of about twenty·five persons came by rail fron Brunson's 
toO vote, but they did not yote. I dou't believe they voted; think I 
I would have known if they had voted. A teh'gram was received from 
Brnnson's telling us that this party was from Beaufort County; do not 
know how they w?uld have voted. 

Cross-examined by T. H. Wheeler ou the part of Robert Smalls: 
Q. Did you at auy time during the day leave the poll; and, if so, bow 

long did you stay I-A. I was not in immediate attendance at the box 
after the crowd began to assem ble, but was in the neigh borhood of the 
polls all day,· except twice, that I now recollect, probably oftener, wheo. 
I was absent from the crowd for a short while. Once my absence was 
more extended, to perhaps an hour or an hour and a half. This was 
once in the forenoon, and in the afternoon. The absence iu the after­
noon was about half past four o'clock. 

Q. During your abtlence anything might have occurred without your 
seeing it '-A. Yes; of course. 

Q. You speak of the crowd at the polls. Of whom did they consist; 
were ~he'y white or colored f-A. That crowd consisted of the voters 
assembled. They were not distinctly divided as to color; that is, not 
absolutely. At the time of the marching aronnd of Hughes, the crowd 
assembled at the polls was composed mostly of whites; but there were 
colored voters intermixed with them at that time. 

Q. Did that crowd remain at the polls the greater or most part of'the 
day f-A. I should say that the crowd did not perceptibly lessen until 
past noon. As the afternoon came on the crowd lessened. 'When the 
polls closed at six o'clock, my recollection is that there were not more 
than a dozen persons in the vicinity of the poUti. When I say that, I 
meaD standing whele the voters approach the polls. 

Q. Were there any disturbances there that day T-A. I remember 
none at all involving aoy personal or general conflict. 

Q. Were you there when one man was put out of the room where the 
voting was progressing '-A. I was there when such an instance 
occurred late in the afternoon. He was recognized as having voted 
previously nnder a diBerent name, and annouoced that he wanted to 
vote the Democratic ticket. He was pot oot without personal injury. 

Q. Were yon there when one man was put out Yiolentlyf-A. Strictly 
speaking, the man was put out violently; tbat is, he was pushed ont 
without opportunity of exercising his volition. I remember no other 
instance of expUlsion. . 

Q. Doring that day, did you hear any expression of a character likely 
to intimidate, either of violence or threats of losing employment, nsed 
by anyone to the voters '-A. I do not recall any I heard tbat day. I 
was talking to a colored boy Ion('.6 owned, persuading him to vote as 
rvoted, when a young white man approached and rudely interrupted 
me, with the remark, addressed to the colored man, " If you were staying 
at his (my) gate, he ought not to render yon aoy assistance," or some 8uch 
expression, "if you vote against him;" the colored man said "that would 
Dot be the result." The colored man was provoked, angered, not intimi· 
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dated, and said that was not the way to talk to him. This insianC8 
approaches more nearly to any I recall the character referred to. 

Q.At what tilDe did most of the colored men votet-A. My impres­
sion i~, (although haw colored voters approaching the polls at all parts of 
the day, I cannot speak positively, as I was outside most of the time) 
but my impression is that they voted more generally toward and during 
the afternoon. 

Q. Were they at the polls during the earlier portion of the day T-A. I 
went to the polling-place before the box: was opened, and saw colored 
men standing there then. I know that B. G. Hugbes was there, and was 
the first man who cast his vote; he is a colored man. 

Q. Did any colored man who was knowu t.o have voted the Republi­
can ticket vote in the morning f-A. B. G. Hughes ,"oted in the morn­
ing, and voted the Republican ticket; he is tbe only one I know of or 
remem ber now. 

Q. Did not tbe Democrats continue in force in and aroond the poJ1ing. 
place during all tbe morning and part of tha afternoon t-A. Tbere 
were a great many Democratic voters around tbe polling-place duriog 
almost the entire day, if not quite. But my impression is, from memory, 
that nona were in the polling-place except tbe offieers of the .. lection. 

Q. Were there not complaints ma<1t' by the Republicans that they 
could not get to the poll I-A. I do not know that 1 beard auy soch com­
plaint from any Repnblican. 

Q: What is your profession '-A. The law. 
Q. What is your politics t-A. I am identified with the Deblocratic 

party of the last campaign. 
Q. On the day of the last election were you not electioneering for tbat 

party t-A. Wherever an opportunity off~l'ed I improved it. 
Q. Did Brown go out of your office before Hughes f-A. I do Dot re­

member. 
Q. Was Hughes drnnk when in yonr office that night t-A. I cooBfd­

ered him under the iuOuence; he had not lost con'trol of himself pbysi­
cally. 

Q. Had be lost mental control f-A. Certainly, not entirely, but COD­
sidered bis nervous system affected. 

Q. Having lost neith~r mental nor pbysical control, you say be W88 
nnder the inOllence of liquor. 'V"hat do yon mean by "control t"_A. 
I mean to say that he had not lost the power of lucomotion; that rea80D 
.as not absolutely dethroned; but that he was in an unnatnra), excitable 
condition. 

Q. Does liquor generally have a tendency to make men cowardlyt­
A. I believe it llrodoces widely different effects upon diftereut tempera­
ments. I have seen men wbo were made bellicose. I don't know tbe 
temperament of B. 6. Hughes. 

In reply: 
Q. You stated that B. G. Hughes voted the Republican ticket io the 

morning; do you mean to say that no one else voted it f-A. I do not. 
I mean to say that I know no one else; he being the first voter I remem­
ber bis vote; this fact impreseed it upon my memory. 

J. C. DA V ~"'T. 
Sworn and snbscribed to before me tbls the 16th day of April, 1871, 

at Allendale, S. C. 
JOS. ERWIN, 

Nuto.,., .PN6,.,. 

Digitized by Goog Ie 



TILLMAN VS. SMALLS. 679 

In the matter of the contest bet wen 6. D. Tillman and Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Oongress of the United states. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
County of Barntoell : 

H. T. F ARlIER, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant upon 
dne notice to the contestee, in rebuttal, dl'}loses as follows in reference 
to qnestions propounded by con testant's attorney: 

Question. 'Vhere do you resitle '-Answer. In the town of Al1endale. 
Q. Where were yon on the 7th of N ovent ber last, the day of election !­

A. In the town of AlIt'n<lale. 
Q. Did you fill any office connected with the election on that day ,­

A. I was acting as clerk for the board of managers. 
Q. Was there any violence shown to the Republicans by the Democrats 

on that day f-A. None that I saw, except in one case. In the latter 
part of the afternoon there was a yonng colored man detected in having 
voted twice, which he acknowledged; he was pushed out of the door 
rudely. I saw nothing more. 

Q. Did you see anyone make an attack on B. G. Hughes or chase 
him away that day from the polls 7-A. I did not. 

Q. Was Hughes much Ilrollnd the polls during the day !-A. He was 
there most of the time, oft· and on, from the time the polls opened ontil 
the polls were closed. 

Q. It has been stated that Hughes was at tIle polls at about twelve 
o'clock meridian, and was not seen there again until after the closing of 
the polls. Was he there any time during that interim '-A. He was 
there, oft' and on, dnring the entire afternoon. My recollection is that 
he was there most of the time. • 

Q. Were any Republican voters prevented from voting by the Demo· 
crats'-A. None that I coold see, except a few who were said to be 
from Beaufort County, who so acknowledged upon examination' by the 
managers, who objected to their voting. 

Q. Did any Republicans go away that day without having an oppor· 
tnnity to vote'-A. None that I saw. 

Q. Were there any who went a.way without voting '-A. None that I 
know of. 

Q. Did Thomas H. Moses make any remark to you as to the condnc­
tion of the election' 

(This question is excepted to, on the ground that it is hearsay.) 
A. After the polls were closed and we were canvassing the votes I 

remarked to Moses that the election had passed off very quietly. He 
replied that he thought it had. 

Q. Do yoo know why :McKnight dill not arrive at the polls nntil eight 
o'clock '-A. I inqoired of McKnight that morning why he arrived at 
the polls 80 late. He replied that he had a long ride, and it was impos. 
sible for him to get there any earlier, a.nd that he did not think it was 
80 late. 

(Answer excepted to, on the ground of hearsay.) 
Q. Die} he say where he had come from that morning '-A. My 

impression is he said he came from Barnwell; he brought the poll·box: 
with him. 

(The question and answer excepted to, on the grounds of hearsay and 
that the testimouy is matter of impression only.) 

Q. Did he say anything of the roads being blocked by Democrats or 
whites f-A. He did not. 
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Cross-examined by T. H. Wheeler, attorney for contestee: 
Q. Were yon in the room during the entire day. and were you not 

busy acting as clerk T-A. I was in the room the entire day, from the 
time the polls were opened nntil they were closed. 

Q. Then you could not see what was going on outside f-A. The place 
where the election was held was an open-lattice room. and the outside 
was surrounded by men, both white and colored. Beyond that I coold 
not see. 

Q. or whom did the men outside consist T-A. On my left there were 
all or mostly colored men. and on my right and in front were whites 
and colored-mostly whites on the right of the building. 

Q. About how many Republican votes were polled in the forenoon T­
A. It is impossible for me to tell what votes were polled. 

Q. How many colored votes were polled in the forenoon !-A. About 
two hundred or more. 

Q. How many whites f-A. My impression is about three hnndred 
and fifty. 

Q. Then nearly an the white voters had voted before twelve o'clock 
meridian f-A. The majority of them had. 

Q. About how many votes were there polled T-A. About 550. 
Q. Most of the colored people voted in the afternoon, did they not!­

A. The majority of them did. 
Q. At whRt time did your paper give out f-A. About four o'clock in 

the afternoon the paper on which the pon-list was kept gave out. 
Q. You say you know of no violenct>, except the incident which you 

mf'ntioned; did you not hear threats of discharging persons who would 
not vote with their employers f-A. I heard none. 

Q. Ditl you at any t.ime hear it; and, if so, when T-A. Before the 
day of election I hpard indi viduals say that they would not assist those 
who voted against them. 

Q. Do you mean employ by the term a8sist!-A. Some Maid they 
would neither employ nor a88ist. 

Q. What do you mean by the term assist T-A. To give aid in any 
way. 

Q. Did not some threaten to discharge T-A. I don't rernem ber of any 
saying they would discharge immediately; that they would not employ 
or assist alter January. 

Q. Was that the general expression and opinion '-A. Can't say it 
was general; good deal of opposition. 

Q. Was it not so decided by the club at this place T-A. The club first 
passed proscription resolutions, and subsequently they were modified. 

In reply: 
Q. Were colored people present when you heard the remarks of not 

employing aod assisting them T-A. There were none. 
Q. When was that modification in the proscription re80luti~n enacted' 

-A. 1\ly impression is that it was after the election. 
H. T. FARMER. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me til is 16th day of April. 18i7. 
[SEAL.] JOS. ERWIN. 

Sotary Public. 
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In the matter of the contest between G. D. Tillman and Robert Smalls 
for 3 seat in the Congress of the United States. 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oountg of Bat'nlcell: 

J. S.l\IIXSON, a witness of legal age, produced by contestant upou due 
notice to the contestee, in rebuttal, deposes 88 follows in reference to 
questions propounded by contestant: 

Answer. I reside in the town of Allendale, in the county of Barn well, 
State of South Carolina. 

Q. Where were you on the 7th of last No'\"emberT-A. From 6 o'clock 
a. m. to 6 o'clock p. m. on that day I was at the polls of election at 
Allendale, wbeu election for State and Federal offices were beld. 

Q. What official position did you till on that dayT-A. I was super· 
visor of election at Allendale. 

Q. Were the voters at this pn>cinct sworn or not on tbat dayT-A. 
They were not sworn, 1108 a general thing, only when charges were made. 

Q. Why were they not sworn T-A. The managers did not require it. 
Q. Did the managers have any consultation as to whether they would 

swear the voters or not T-A. They did, and concluded not to do 80. 
Q. State the politics of the managers.-A. One was an out and ont 

Democrat, one was an out and out Republican, the other, I do not know 
Q. When (~hallenges were made, wbo decided as to whether the vote 

shonld be taken or noU-A. Tbe supervisors and managers consulted 
together and agreed, and in some cases ordered the clerk to mark the 
vote on the poll.list as challenged. . 

Q. Were any ones prevented from Yoting by other persons than officers 
of the election T-A. Not to my knowledgp. 

Q. Did the challengers, or parties IUlving in possesion the book en· 
titled" List of qualified negro "oters," prevent anyone from yotingt­
A. No, sir, did not prevent any olle from voting. When the voter· 
pronounced bis name reference was made to th~ book, and if his name 
was found then no ohjection was made, and be was allowed to ,"ote. If 
his Ilame was not fonnd, the sopprvisors and managers took snch evi· 
dence as tbey could get, and either refused or allowed tbe applicaut 
to vote or not, as they saw fit frOID tbe e\·illence. 

Q. Do you know wby McKnight and Cave were late in getting to the 
polls'-A. Only from McKnight's statements. He said he had to go for 
tbe ballot-box to Barnwell, aud could not get back any earlier. 

Q. Did he say anything aboot the ro:,ds being blocked by white peo· 
pIe as tbe reason he could not get back '-A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Have you ever heard of the road being so blocked I-A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you see B. G. Hughes ot the polls on the day of electioll T-A. 

I did. He claimed to be United States marshal; saw him pretts often. 
(~. Did yon see any party or parties chasing Hughes from the polls 

that day I-A. I did not. 
Q. Haye you ever heard of it being (tone '-A. Yes; heard it was 

done in fnn. He was not then at the polls. 
Q. Was he interfered with tbat day in the discharge of bis dllties 1-

A. Not to my knowledge. 
Q. Did anything occur during the day of the election which necessi· 

tated the callin'g upon of the troops f-A. Nothing tbat I know of. 
Q. Were the polls so crowded at 8ny time 80 as to render it impracti. 

cable for the voters to vote '-A. The entrance to the polls was at all 
times very much crowdf'd, bot there was no intermission in the voting 
on that account. 
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Q. Was it any more difficult for the blacks than the wbites to vo~ ,­
A. No. I think not. 

Q. Did the board of managers during the day, at any time, call upon 
Hughes to fix a way for the blacks to vote '-A. The board of maoagers 
did not, to my knowledge; but I heard voices in the crowd, outside of 
the polls, calling upon him. 

Q. Do you know of any Rp.publicans going away that day without 
voting'-A. I do not; don't think there were auy. Toward the conolu­
sion of th~ voting, the voting was ,lone more slowly. Several minors 
presented themselves to vote and were refused. 

Q. Before the polls were closed, had all parties an opportunity to 
vote '-A. After the polls were closed one man presented himself to 
vote and was told that he was too late. 

Q. Do you know of anything done there that day tending to prevent 
tbe colored people from voting for wbom tbey pleased !-A. I heard 
such expressions as," Remember the mule," "Look out for another 
home." This did Ilot prevent them from voting for whom they chose. 
The most that was done ·by way of intimiuatiou was done by B. O. 
Hughes. I felt compelled, as supervisor, to call him to order. 

Q. Is B. G. Hugbes a Republican or Demoorat I-A. He is a Repub· 
lican; it is notorious. 

Q. How many votes were polled at Allendale that day '-A. Eleven 
hundred and twenty-seven. The highest number ot' votes for a Uemo­
cratic candidate was 678. The highest number of votes for a Republi­
can candidate was 451. 

Cross· examined by T. H. Wheeler on the part of contestee: 
Q. What is your' politics '-A. I am a Democrat. 
Q. Was there a large crowd collected at the polls that day '-A. 

There was. 
Q. About how Dlany white men do you tbink were there that day t­

A. About four hundred. 
Q. Did you see any armed men at the polls that day i and, if 50, how 

many '-A. I did not see any arms displayed that day at the polls. 
Q. Did you see any near tbe polls '-A. I did not. I let't the polls 

but once that day, about five minutes. 
Q. When you speak of the polls, do you mean the building in which 

the box was situated; and, if so, describe the building.-A. I mean the 
building and the immediate vicinity-whatever was in sight. The poll­
ing-place was in the basement of the town-hall, and was inclosed by 
lattice-work, having a door for the entrance of the voters and an aper­
ture for their exit. One of the town marshals was stationed at the pilUle 
of exit to preven t persons from en tt>ring there, so that the stream of voters 
1J.owed in one direction. 

Q. At what time did most of the colored men vote '-A. They were 
voting all day, but the majority of the colored votes W6I'tl taken in the 
afternoon. 

Q. You speak of bearing of such expret!8ions lUI "Remember the 
mule" and "Look oot for another home." Do you or not know by whom 
theRe expressions were used '-A. Don't remember the DalD.8I of the 
individuals, but know that they were white Democrats. 

Q. Bow often did you hear these expressions '-A. Two or three 
times. 

Q. Was tbere aoy disturbaoce at the po1l8, or the appearance of a01, 
that day !-A. I remember that a person presented himself w vote at 
the poll that day who was notoriously unqualified, be living in Beaufort. 
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County. He was taken from tbe polls in a rude manner by some by. 
standers after Iris vote bad been refused. That is the only case Ire· 
member. " . 

Q. Who were the by-standers !-A. The by·standers spoken of were 
white Democrats. 

Q. Who receh-ed the largest Republican vote at this place '-A. The 
candidates for President eleetors. 

Q. At what time dill you hear the colored people hi the crowd asking 
Hoghes, the United States marshal, to clear a way for them tip vote '1-
A. In the afternoon. Soon after I saw Hughes heading a crowd of col­
ored men and march up near the entrance of the polling-place. 

Q. At what time did you hear Hogh6IJ was ron from the polls T-A. 
It was just at the time, it was said, that the incident above spoken of 
occurred. 

(To this Mr. Bellinger, attorney for G. D. Tillman, excepts, on the 
ground that this matter is hearsay.) 

Q. You speak of a book in the hands of the Democratic challengers. 
Was it received as evidence by the managers f-A. Not as conclusive 
evidence. Several persons were allowed to vote whose names were not 
on the list. 

Q. Was it prima-facie e,-idence !-A. It was taken as evidence so far 
as when a person's name was enrolled there he was allowed to vote 
without any question. 

Q. By whom was the book compiled !-A. I think by James M. Ryan. 
Q. WhoisJamesM.Ryan; what are his politics '-A. JamesM.Ryan 

is a citizen of Barnwell Oounty, is present judge of probate, and in 
politics a Democrat. 

Q. Was James M. Ryan a candidate on the Democratic ticket for 
judge of probate !-A. He was. 

Q. Were you inside the building the most of the day T-A. I was there 
all day, except about five minntes. . 

Q. What were your opportunities for seeing what was done outside?-
A. My opportunities were not favorable. . 

Q. Then there conld have been a disturbance without your knowing 
it !-A. Yes; if not too loud. 

o Reply: 
Q. You speak of the large crowd that was outside; was this crowtl 

difterent from those usua))y at elections Y-A. No; only that there were 
more white men than usoally turn out at elections. 

Q. You said that there were about four huodred whites; bow many 
colored were there present !-A. About seven hundred. 

Q. Were there any colored men, if so how many, voted the Democratio 
ticket! 

(Question objecteel to on the ground that it is not in reply to any new 
matter in cross-examination.) 

A. There were more than two hundred colored men who voted the 
Democratio ticket. 0 

Q. When you say that James M. Ryan compiled the little book spoken 
ot~ what do you mean by II compiled" I-A. 1 mean that he aggregated 
the ceosus as taken by local township olubs and sent up to the Demo­
cratic executi¥e committee of the county. 

J. S. MIXSON. 
Sworn to this the 16th dayof April, 1877, befure me, aod subscribed 

by witnesa. 
[aUL.J JOB. ERWIN, 

Notary Public. 
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In the matter of the contest between G. D. Tillman and Robert Smalls 
for a seat in the Coogress of the United States • 

. STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 
Oo'Untg of B4r1&well: 

JOHN W. OGELVIE, a witness of legal agt', produced by contestaot 
upon due notice to the contestee in rebuttal, deposes as follows in refer· 
ence to questions propounded by contestant: 

Question. Where do you reside '-Answer. In Allendale Township, 
Barnwt'll County. 

Q. Where were you on the 7th of last Hovt'mber, the day of tbe last 
general election '-A. I was at Allendale precinct. 

Q. Did you hear on that day anyone say that no one should ,-ote the 
Republican ticket t-A. No; I did not. 

Q. Did B. U. Ilughes call your attention to any such fact I-A. He 
did not. 

Q. Did you see anyone make an attack on n. G. Hugbes that day or 
night t-~. I did not. 

Q. Hughes stated that you said to the white~, " )Ien, you are about 
done voting"-it was about eleven or twel ve o'clock-" let the colored pe0-
ple come iu and vote;" and that they replied, " Do you go to hell; we will 
do no such damn thing;" did auy such circumstauce occurt-A. My 
recollection is that at about one o'clock I went out aud asked the colored 
Republicaus why they did not press forward and vote; the reply was, 
"We are afraid." I said, "it is an n011sense, for over t\VO huudred of your 
men have already pressed in and voted; there is no danger." I then 8aid 
to some white men, " Gentlemen, gh-e these colored men 8n opportunity 
to vote." The reply was, " 'Ve will, when we get through." If there was 
any going to hell I did not hear it. It may have been said; I did not 
bear it. I don't think there is anybody in this country who would make 
such a reply to me. 

Q. B. U. Hughes stated that be was cha~d away from the polls by 
seventy-five or one hundred white men wit·b pistols. Did yon see any­
thing of this !-A. I did not. Never beard of it except through B. G. 
Hughes, who told me of it that night when he had me np before the cap­
tain. I voluntarily went before the captain at the request of gentlemen 
and of Hughes. 

Q. What occurred at tIle captain's office '-A. J was twice at the cap­
tain's office, once about two o'clock in the afternoon, last time after night­
fall, after the closing of the polls; B. G. Hughes told me that tbe 
captain wanted to see rue; when in the captain's presence, in this office, 
he said that he was informed by Hughes that the Republicans were Dot 
allowe(l to vote. I told him that it was a grand mistake; the voters were 
running into the polls as griNt into a mill ; these were the words I used 
to the captain. In one-half hour the Democratic gri8t would be ground 
or through. To prove the correctness of my position, at my solicitation 
the captain walked to the polls with Hughes and myself. OD our ar­
rival there was not.a white man obstructing the pa88age; the Bepu~ 
lieans had ful1 8weep of the door. I said, "You see, cal)tain, I am cor­
rect;" to which he said, "Yes." I now appealed to the captain in tbis 
language: "Captain, one hour and forty minutes was lost this morning 
because the Rl'pu blicft.n managers were not here. I insist it i8 not eqnity 
for the Repu blicaD8 to prevent us from voting any voters that may Dot 
have yet voted." "That is trot'," said the captain; "Hughes, yoo will 
have to give the doctor the last half-hoor at tbe polls." Hughes re­
plied, "I'll tell you whatl'l1 do, doctor; 1'111et yon vote yoar meo occa-
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sionally through the side door." I replied, "Very well; only let us uu­
derstand what 'occasionally' rut-ans. You let me vote every fourth 
voter as ofteu as I have them, and I will be sati!lfted." He assented to 
this, and that compromise was rigidly followed until the closing of the 
polls. Tbis ended the first interview befo're the captain. 

Q. Did you see Mr. O'Bryan make an attack on Hughes that night in 
the Cal)tain's office f-A. I did not;' never heard of it before. 

Q. Did you hear Mr. O'Bryan tell him that he did not care a damn 
for the Federal Government or any of its marshals '-A. I did not. 
O'Bryan was not there. If he was, I don't recollect it. No snch Inn­
guage was used while I was present. I am positive of it. I was the only 
man who did any talking at that interview except the captain and 
Hughes. 

Q. Who do you mean by" the captain nt_A. I mean Captain l\f~­
Laughlin, who was in COlDmand of a company of United ~tates soldiers 
stationed at this place. 

Q. Do you know of any Republicans who left tbe polls that- day with­
out having an opportunity to vote' Hugbes said some two bundred 
and fifty or three hundred had so Ie ft.-A. }<'roru the number of boys 
under age which the challengers detected and the number of repeaters 
that were ofl'ered during the last hour of polling, I think it reasonable 
that every legal voter voted who desired to do so. I know the fact that 
some professed Republicans bpt up the appearance of being anxious to 
vote who really dill not wish to vote. I do not llelieve a man left the 
polls without voting who desired so to do. 

Cross-examined by T. H. Wheeler on the part of contestee: 
Q. How long did the Democrats have absolute control of the poll Y­

A. They never at any time had absolute control of the poll, for there 
was no one hour during the whole polling in which .Republican votes 
were not polled. 

Q. Was not the (loor·way It'aJing to the polls surrounded the greater 
part of the day by Democrats T-A. Up to one o'clock the larger portion 
of the crowd at the door· way was Democratic. 

Q. Up to that time had there been many Republican votes cast '-A. 
There had. When the Democrats had voted between 250 and 300 
votes the Republicans had voted 60. I state this to the best of my 
knowledge. I draw this conclusion from Hammond's talls"sheet; this 
is my rccol1ection of it. I remember being surprised tbat at an early 
hour in the day, when we thought Democrats were making a straight 
run, the Republicans had polled so large a vote. 

Q. How many colored men do you think were there that dayt-A. It 
is bard for me to answer. There were men, women, and children there. 
I estimate the number to be between 600 and 650 legal voters. 

Q. Do you predicate your estimate upon the Yote actually cast, or 
froOl your recolh,'ction of the appearance of those there assembled t-A. 
No estimate could be formed from the appearance of the crowd, as they 
wel"e coming alld going. 

Q. Then you predicate your estimate upon the number of votes wbich 
you remember to hl\\"e been cast t-A. I do; and from a certain num· 
ber that did not care to vote. 

{.l. How do you know they d ill not care to vote '-A. It is well 
known among Democrats that certain colOl'ed men took that method of 
avoiding a vote. I myself can name, just now, one inst.tIlce; think I 
conld timl 1\ good many more. 

Q. Who was that man '-A. Daniel Best, sr. 
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Q. Was he there f-A. He 'was there and told me that he inteoofd 
to vote the Republican ticket. This was said in a crowd of colored 
men. Yet he- did not vote. 

Q. How many men were th~re whom you say did not intend to vote!­
A. I can only guess. About fifty. 

Q. Knowing of only one instance yonrself, how can yon pretend to 
ans\ver that there were fifty men there who did not intend to vote I-A. 
Please bear in mind that I guessed. 

Q. Your guess was rather libfral, was it llot I-A. Guesses are gen. 
erally libera.l on the side on which they are made. 

Q. Why was " compromise considered necessary' -A. 'Ybat com· 
promi~e do you refer to' 

Q. You have said in your direct examination that you told the captain 
commanding the troops stationed there that the DemOOl'atic grist8, mean· 
ing the Democratic ,'oters, would soon be finished and tile Republi~s 
would have an opportunity to vote. What cause was there for a com­
promise if the Democrats had not previously had possession of tbe 
polls '-A. That is explained at that point. One h~ur and forty miD­
utes had been lost in the morning on account of the absence of the Re­
publican managers, as you will see in my statement made to CaptaiD 
McLaughlin. 

Q. If the Democrats had possession of the polls at any time, say 80. 
-A. I have already stated that there was not an hoor during the day 
in which Republican votes were not (lOlled. It was the object and polic.y 
of the Democratic party to "ote its strength as early as po88ible 80 as 
to liberate white and colored Democrats as 800n as possible to engage 
in electioneering for their party. 

Q. In carrying out t.hat policy did not the Democrats at this poll bave 
at least the apparent control of the same until or about the time yon 
came from the captain's office t-A. The Democrats, white and colored, 
were certainly in the majority at the entrance. The getting into the 
polls was a mere question of squeezing; he that could stand squeezing 
best voted first. 

Q. Were not those in front of tbe poll composed almost entil'(>lyof 
Democrats '-A. The mass of them in the forenoon were Democratic. 

Q. How did Hammond know the politics of those who voted '-A. By 
the tickets. The Republican tickets were on larger and coarser paper. 
The red prints showed plainer through them. Another way of knowing 
them was by the voter trying to conceal them. 

Q. Did yon hear any threats of loss of work used by anyone t-A. I 
heard nothing except this remark, which I made myself repeatedl;r, 
"Remember who are your friends." 

Q. Did this sentence, "Remember who nre your friends," ha~e any 
peculiar significance !-A. It did. Our colored people had been told 
by their speakers that we white people could not H\'e without them. 
A public speaker had said til·at if God Almighty would rain down flour, 
lard, bacon, and sugar that there was not a white woman in the land 
that could cook a decent breakfast. The HOIl. Mr. Smalls had said. 
"I'll take care of you; come down to Beaufort." This l'(>mark, that was 
often made, referred to-meant that it was a common thing for us to wI! 
colored men who voted against us that they would ha"e to look to the 
Hon. Mr. Smalls and General 'Yhipper for assistance uext year. 

Q. 'Vhat do you mean by assistlluoo f-A. Bread and meat aDd a 
house to live in. 

Q. Do you give bread and meat aDd a house to lin'! in in this c.'oDntry 
'without remuneration Y-A. No. 'We ad,'ance it to employes. 
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Q. Wbich they have to pay for '-A. It is always expected for them 
to do so but they do not always do it. 

Q. Tbl'n wbat was really ml'ant by the expreasion, "Remember who 
are yoor friends," was tbat they should not be employed or longer coo· 
tioue in employment who did 1Iot vote with their employers the Demo­
cratic tickeU-A. It meaot that we expected to remember who our 
friends were. 

Q. Then, if it only meaot that you woold only remember who your 
friend!:! were, bow came such an awkward expression as "Remember 
who are your friends," as applied to the colorl'd people T-A. We meant 
to reft'r those colored pl'ople who voted against us to Messrs. Swails 
ami Whipper, and to the balance of the Republican party. 

Q. Then it had no reference to the proscription policy decided hy the 
club at this place T-A. 1 have never said 80. It did mean that we 
would prefer our friends. 

Q. Then it was the expression that ml'ant the carrying out the pro· 
scription policy decided upon by the club at this place t-A. Proscrip. 
tion and preference are relative terms. If we expected to rigidly ad· 
here to our frienus, we expected to let alone most postively our political 
enemies. 

Q. What do you mean by proscription and preference T-A. That I'll 
lueler my fl'iends and proscribe my political enemies. 

Q. How long were you at the polls that day T-A. All day. 
Q. At what time were the polls opened T-A. Twenty minutes to 

eigbt. 
Q. The speeches to which you refer, dill YOll hear them yourself, or 

did you bear of them '-A. I heard of them. 
Q. Then, from your own knowledge, you know nothiug of it !-A. I do 

not; I heard of them. 
Q. Hid yonJeave the polls duriug that day, (I do not mean the time of 

inter\'iew with the captain;) if so, how long were you absent I-A. Per­
haps, on three or four occasions, from five to ten minutes only. 

Q. Were the vowrs at that poll sworn T-A. Only those who were 
challenged, of which there were a larg., number on both sides. 

Q. Does not the law require tbat all voters should be sworn before 
voting T-A. If that bl'l law, aurl the law be carried out, there would 
have to be two or three more polling.places at Allendale precinct. 

Q. State if you know such is law i-A. I have heard so. 
Q. A t what time did most of the colored people vote T-A. Bet,ween 

one and two o'clock tlJey had full possession of the polls. 
In reply, by Mr. BelJinger : 

Q. How long did tbl'lY keep posse8sion t-A. Without interruption 
until the close of the polls, except as before stated-that I was permitted 
to slip in every fourth voter froUl the side door aM before stated, as long 
88 I had them. • 

Q. Bow many Dt>mocratic \·Ot .. 11 do you think were polled after one or 
two o'clock f-A. Jo'I'OIll thirty to fifty. 

Q. How did Hamwond's tally.sheet compare with the offioial count T­
A. It gave tbe Democrats forty-one more votes than they got, out of a 
total \'ote of eleveu huudrl'd and twenty·seven. 

JOHN W. OGILVIE. 
Sworn and subscribed to before me thi8 the 17th day of April, 1877:, 

.at Allendale, S. O. 
JOS. ERWIN, 

J!,"otary Public. 
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No.4. 

THE STA.TE OF SOUTH OA.ROLINA.: 

To the Honse of Representatives of the Ooogress of the United States: 
The Hon. Henry E. Hayne, late secretary of state, as I am informed, 

bas furnished to Robert Smalls a certificate that, according to the re­
turns of the board of State canvassers then in office, be, tbe said Robert 
Smalls, bas been (prima facie) elected to the Forty·fifth Oongress of the 
United States as the Represantative of the fifth Oongressional district of 
the State of South Oarolina. . 

In the discbarge of what I deem an imperative duty, and as showiDg 
the ,·jews I entertain of the actual and substantial merits of the claim 
of said Smalls, and of the contestant, George D. Tillman, to tbe seat, I 
make the following statement of facts connected with the case, witll a 
view of conducing to a proper decision of the case when. submitted to 
yoor honorable body, which is to render final judgment thereon: 

First. The board of State canvassers, upon whose retarns said certifi· 
cates of election to said Smalls was based, was, at the time when said 
r~turns were made, under prohibition, issued from the supreme court of 
the State, enjoined and prohibited from making and certitsing said reo 
turns as to members of tbe State legislature, and said returns were 
made by tbem in contravention of the said order of the supreme conrt 
of the State. 

Secondly. That on the 14th day of No"ember 1he counsel for the 
Democratic party notified the said board of canvassers that he had AJ)­
plied to the supreme court of the State for a writ of prohibitiou aod 
mandamus in every case of election coming before said board; in conse· 
quence of which notification the said board adjourned to await tbe 
result of said npplication; and that at their next meeting on the follow· 
ing day, 15th Novemher, the said board nnanimously adopted the fol· 
lowing resolution, .which was filed in the supreme court, viz: "&solred, 
That this board will not act upon any propo~ition until the qut-stion of 
its jurisdiction and duties be decided by the supreme conrt." That, 
notwithstanding such resolution of the board of State cnn\"assers, aDd 
the }lending of the proceedings in prohibition in the supreme court of 
the State, the board of State C8n\"assers proceeded to declare the result 
of the general election held on the 7th of November, 1876. And for such 
iIIf>gal action the said board of State canvassers were adjudged guilty 
of contempt, and punish~d by fine and impl'isoumcnt. 

Thh'dly. That said board of State can\'assers, making the said returns 
upon which said certificate of election was certified to said Smalls, was 
composed of persons who themselves wel'e ca.ndidates npon the same 
gellt'ral tickl't' as said Smalls, and did thus pass upon and certil)· to 
their own election 8S well as that of said Smalls, but that each person 
composing said board who had so certitied to his own el~ction, aftt'rfull 
invt'stigation and proof untler proceedings had iu the sUJlreme court of 
the State as to the correctuestl of snid returns Rnd their rights to the 
offices claimed thereunder, has been ousted by the judgmeut of the ~n· 
preme court of the Stltto of the severul offices to which they had certified 
thl'llIse)ves el~cted. 

Fourthly. That said board of State canvassers retllrned that George 
D. Tillman, the cont~stant, received eighteen thousand ti\"t~ huudred 
and sixteen \'otes at saill el~ction for said sl'at, and that Robert Smalls, 
according to bis answer to the protest of said George D. Tillman to rue 
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shown, has admitted that the said Tillman received said nnmbe(of legal 
ToteS. 

Fifthly. I find that eighteen thonsand five hnndred and sixteen votes 
is, accordin g to the last United States census, a mlijority of all the legal 
votes in said Oongressional district, and from the evidence within my 
knowledge aud snbmitted to me I firmly and confidently believe that 
eighteen thousand five hundred and sixteen legal votes is a mlijority 
of all the legal votes cast at said election for said seat in said Oongres­
sional district. 

Sixthly. I further fiud, upon evidence submitted to me and within my 
knowledge, that the eleotion at which said Smalls appears by said re­
turns to have been elected was. accompanied by such widespread intim­
idation, resulting from the intrusion and presence in the State and in the 
said Oougressional district of United States troops, as well as with such 
disorder, outrages, and frauds on the part of the political friends of said 
Smalls, as to satisfy me that the certificate held by said Robert Smalls 
hased upou the said election returns is false as a certificate that he was 
duly elected by a majority of the legal and qualified votes of said Oon­
gressional district. Abnndant and conclusive evidence of the facts aud 
vjews above stated will be presented in due time to the Oongress of the . 
United States; but the certificate of election having been issued to the 
said Robert Smalls, I deem it due to truth and justice as well as to the 
contestant, George D. Tillman, Rnd the constituency voting for him, that 
I should certify this statement that the whole case may be fully stated 
and expla.ined. 

Witness my hand and seal of State at Oolumbia, this 10th day October, 
1877, and in the one hundred and second year of American Independence. 

[SEAL.J R. M. SIMS, 
Bec,-eta", of 8tat6. ' 

H. Mis. 11--44 

, 
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